RETURN OF THE NATIVE

Webster's Thesaurus Edition for PSAT®, SAT®, GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT®, and AP® English Test Preparation

Thomas Hardy

PSAT® is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT® is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE®, AP® and Advanced Placement® are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT® is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT® is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

Return of the Native

Webster's Thesaurus Edition for PSAT®, SAT®, GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT®, and AP® English Test Preparation

Thomas Hardy

PSAT® is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT^{\otimes} is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE^{\otimes} , AP^{\otimes} and Advanced Placement® are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, $GMAT^{\otimes}$ is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, $LSAT^{\otimes}$ is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

ICON CLASSICS

Published by ICON Group International, Inc. 7404 Trade Street San Diego, CA 92121 USA

www.icongrouponline.com

Return of the Native: Webster's Thesaurus Edition for PSAT®, SAT®, GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT®, and AP® English Test Preparation

This edition published by ICON Classics in 2005 Printed in the United States of America.

Copyright ©2005 by ICON Group International, Inc. Edited by Philip M. Parker, Ph.D. (INSEAD); Copyright ©2005, all rights reserved.

All rights reserved. This book is protected by copyright. No part of it may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without written permission from the publisher.

Copying our publications in whole or in part, for whatever reason, is a violation of copyright laws and can lead to penalties and fines. Should you want to copy tables, graphs, or other materials, please contact us to request permission (E-mail: iconedit@san.rr.com). ICON Group often grants permission for very limited reproduction of our publications for internal use, press releases, and academic research. Such reproduction requires confirmed permission from ICON Group International, Inc.

PSAT® is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT® is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE®, AP® and Advanced Placement® are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT® is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT® is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

ISBN 0-497-25323-2

Contents

PREFACE FROM THE EDITOR	1
PREFACE.	3
BOOK ONE THE THREE WOMEN	5
1 A FACE ON WHICH TIME MAKES BUT LITTLE IMPRESSION	7
2 HUMANITY APPEARS UPON THE SCENE, HAND IN HAND WITH TROUBLE	13
3 THE CUSTOM OF THE COUNTRY	21
4 THE HALT ON THE TURNPIKE ROAD	43
5 PERPLEXITY AMONG HONEST PEOPLE	49
6 THE FIGURE AGAINST THE SKY	63
7 QUEEN OF NIGHT	79
8 THOSE WHO ARE FOUND WHERE THERE IS SAID TO BE NOBODY	87
9 LOVE LEADS A SHREWD MAN INTO STRATEGY	93
10 A DESPERATE ATTEMPT AT PERSUASION	105
11 THE DISHONESTY OF AN HONEST WOMAN	115
BOOK TWO THE ARRIVAL	125
1 TIDINGS OF THE COMER	127
2 THE PEOPLE AT BLOOMS-END MAKE READY	133
3 HOW A LITTLE SOUND PRODUCED A GREAT DREAM	139
4 EUSTACIA IS LED ON TO AN ADVENTURE	145
5 THROUGH THE MOONLIGHT	157
6 THE TWO STAND FACE TO FACE	165
7 A COALITION BETWEEN BEAUTY AND ODDNESS	177
8 FIRMNESS IS DISCOVERED IN A GENTLE HEART	187
BOOK THREE THE FASCINATION	199
1 "MY MIND TO ME A KINGDOM IS"	201
2 THE NEW COURSE CAUSES DISAPPOINTMENT	207
3 THE FIRST ACT IN A TIMEWORN DRAMA	217
4 AN HOUR OF BLISS AND MANY HOURS OF SADNESS	233
5 SHARP WORDS ARE SPOKEN, AND A CRISIS ENSUES	243
6 YEOBRIGHT GOES, AND THE BREACH IS COMPLETE	251
7 THE MORNING AND THE EVENING OF A DAY	259

BOOK FOUR THE CLOSED DOOR	281
1 THE RENCOUNTER BY THE POOL	283
2 HE IS SET UPON BY ADVERSITIES BUT HE SINGS A SONG	291
3 SHE GOES OUT TO BATTLE AGAINST DEPRESSION	303
4 ROUGH COERCION IS EMPLOYED	317
5 THE JOURNEY ACROSS THE HEATH	325
6 A CONJUNCTURE, AND ITS RESULT UPON THE PEDESTRIAN	331
7 THE TRAGIC MEETING OF TWO OLD FRIENDS	343
8 EUSTACIA HEARS OF GOOD FORTUNE, AND BEHOLDS EVIL	351
BOOK FIVE THE DISCOVERY	361
1 "WHEREFORE IS LIGHT GIVEN TO HIM THAT IS IN MISERY"	363
2 A LURID LIGHT BREAKS IN UPON A DARKENED UNDERSTANDING	371
3 EUSTACIA DRESSES HERSELF ON A BLACK MORNING	383
4 THE MINISTRATIONS OF A HALF-FORGOTTEN ONE	393
5 AN OLD MOVE INADVERTENTLY REPEATED	399
6 THOMASIN ARGUES WITH HER COUSIN, AND HE WRITES A LETTER	407
7 THE NIGHT OF THE SIXTH OF NOVEMBER	415
8 RAIN, DARKNESS, AND ANXIOUS WANDERERS	425
9 SIGHTS AND SOUNDS DRAW THE WANDERERS TOGETHER	437
BOOK SIX AFTERCOURSES	449
1 THE INEVITABLE MOVEMENT ONWARD	451
2 THOMASIN WALKS IN A GREEN PLACE BY THE ROMAN ROAD	461
3 THE SERIOUS DISCOURSE OF CLYM WITH HIS COUSIN	465
4 CHEERFULNESS AGAIN ASSERTS ITSELF AT BLOOMS-END, AND CLYM FINDS HIS VOCATION	
GLOSSARY	483

PREFACE FROM THE EDITOR

Designed for school districts, educators, and students seeking to maximize performance on standardized tests, Webster's paperbacks take advantage of the fact that classics are frequently assigned readings in English courses. By using a running thesaurus at the bottom of each page, this edition of *Return of the Native* by Thomas Hardy was edited for students who are actively building their vocabularies in anticipation of taking PSAT®, SAT®, AP® (Advanced Placement®), GRE®, LSAT®, GMAT® or similar examinations.

I support the seeking to maximize performance on standardized tests, which is a support to the seeking to maximize performance on standardized tests, which is a support to the support that the seeking to maximize performance on standardized tests, which is a support to the support t

Webster's edition of this classic is organized to expose the reader to a maximum number of synonyms and antonyms for difficult and often ambiguous English words that are encountered in other works of literature, conversation, or academic examinations. Extremely rare or idiosyncratic words and expressions are given lower priority in the notes compared to words which are "difficult, and often encountered" in examinations. Rather than supply a single synonym, many are provided for a variety of meanings, allowing readers to better grasp the ambiguity of the English language, and avoid using the notes as a pure crutch. Having the reader decipher a word's meaning within context serves to improve vocabulary retention and understanding. Each page covers words not already highlighted on previous pages. If a difficult word is not noted on a page, chances are that it has been highlighted on a previous page. A more complete thesaurus is supplied at the end of the book; Synonyms and antonyms are extracted from Webster's Online Dictionary.

Definitions of remaining terms as well as translations can be found at www.websters-online-dictionary.org. Please send suggestions to websters@icongroupbooks.com

The Editor Webster's Online Dictionary www.websters-online-dictionary.org

¹ PSAT® is a registered trademark of the College Entrance Examination Board and the National Merit Scholarship Corporation neither of which sponsors or endorses this book; SAT® is a registered trademark of the College Board which neither sponsors nor endorses this book; GRE®, AP® and Advanced Placement® are registered trademarks of the Educational Testing Service which neither sponsors nor endorses this book, GMAT® is a registered trademark of the Graduate Management Admissions Council which is neither affiliated with this book nor endorses this book, LSAT® is a registered trademark of the Law School Admissions Council which neither sponsors nor endorses this product. All rights reserved.

PREFACE

The date at which the following events are assumed to have occurred may be set down as between 1840 and 1850, when the old watering place herein called "Budmouth" still retained sufficient afterglow from its Georgian gaiety and prestige to lend it an absorbing attractiveness to the romantic and imaginative soul of a lonely dweller inland.

Under the general name of "Egdon Heath," which has been given to the sombre scene of the story, are united or typified heaths of various real names, to the number of at least a dozen; these being virtually one in character and aspect, though their original unity, or partial unity, is now somewhat disguised by intrusive strips and slices brought under the plough with varying degrees of success, or planted to woodland.

It is pleasant to dream that some spot in the extensive tract whose southwestern quarter is here described, may be the heath of that traditionary King of Wessex--Lear.

July, 1895.

"To sorrow I bade good morrow, And thought to leave her far away behind;

But cheerly, cheerly, She loves me dearly; She is so constant to me, and so kind.

I would deceive her, And so leave her, But ah! she is so constant and so kind."

BOOK ONE THE THREE WOMEN

1

A FACE ON WHICH TIME MAKES BUT LITTLE IMPRESSION

A Saturday afternoon in November was approaching the time of twilight, and the vast tract of unenclosed wild known as Egdon Heath embrowned itself moment by moment. Overhead the hollow stretch of **whitish** cloud shutting out the sky was as a tent which had the whole heath for its floor.

The heaven being spread with this **pallid** screen and the earth with the darkest vegetation, their meeting-line at the horizon was clearly marked. In such contrast the heath wore the appearance of an **instalment** of night which had taken up its place before its astronomical hour was come: darkness had to a great extent arrived **hereon**, while day stood distinct in the sky. Looking upwards, a furze-cutter would have been inclined to continue work; looking down, he would have decided to finish his **faggot** and go home. The distant rims of the world and of the **firmament** seemed to be a division in time no less than a division in matter. The face of the heath by its mere complexion added half an hour to evening; it could in like manner **retard** the dawn, **sadden** noon, anticipate the frowning of storms scarcely generated, and intensify the **opacity** of a moonless midnight to a cause of shaking and dread.

Thesaurus

faggot: (*n*) fagot, queer, queen, fairy, pansy, poof, bobbing, log, fascine, fascicle, wisp.

firmament: (n) sphere, welkin, heaven, heavens, celestial sphere, expanse, arena, field, vault of heaven, domain, area

hereon: (*adv*) hereupon. **instalment**: (*n*) episode, in

instalment: (*n*) episode, installment, allotment, fascicle, part, fascicule, cliffhanger, division, programme, text, program.

opacity: (*n*) opaqueness, obscurity, cloudiness, murkiness, indistinctness, muddiness, fogginess, opaque, dark, quality, dullness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) clarity, transparency.

pallid: (adj) ghastly, wan, bloodless, lurid, cadaverous, sickly, ashen, white, pasty, livid, watery. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, rosy,

retard: (*adj*, *v*) hinder, check, obstruct, deaden; (*v*) slow, detain, impede,

arrest, decelerate; (n, v) lag, defer. ANTONYMS: (v) expedite, hasten, prompt

sadden: (v) aggrieve, distress, pain, grieve, afflict, sad, hurt, oppress, dishearten, trouble, weigh down. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage, gladden, please, cheer, comfort. whitish: (adj) pale, milklike, fair, milk, creamy, light, colorless, not clear, achromatic, opaque, blond. ANTONYMS: (adj) rosy, dark.

In fact, precisely at this transitional point of its nightly roll into darkness the great and particular glory of the Egdon waste began, and nobody could be said to understand the heath who had not been there at such a time. It could best be felt when it could not clearly be seen, its complete effect and explanation lying in this and the succeeding hours before the next dawn; then, and only then, did it tell its true tale. The spot was, indeed, a near relation of night, and when night showed itself an apparent tendency to **gravitate** together could be perceived in its shades and the scene. The sombre stretch of rounds and hollows seemed to rise and meet the evening gloom in pure sympathy, the heath **exhaling** darkness as rapidly as the heavens precipitated it. And so the obscurity in the air and the obscurity in the land closed together in a black **fraternization** towards which each advanced halfway.

The place became full of a watchful **intentness** now; for when other things sank blooding to sleep the heath appeared slowly to awake and listen. Every night its Titanic form seemed to await something; but it had waited thus, unmoved, during so many centuries, through the crises of so many things, that it could only be imagined to await one last crisis--the final overthrow.

It was a spot which returned upon the memory of those who loved it with an aspect of peculiar and kindly **congruity**. Smiling champaigns of flowers and fruit hardly do this, for they are permanently harmonious only with an existence of better reputation as to its issues than the present. Twilight combined with the scenery of Egdon Heath to evolve a thing majestic without severity, impressive without **showiness**, emphatic in its admonitions, grand in its simplicity. The qualifications which frequently invest the facade of a prison with far more dignity than is found in the facade of a palace double its size **lent** to this heath a **sublimity** in which spots renowned for beauty of the accepted kind are utterly wanting. Fair prospects wed happily with fair times; but alas, if times be not fair! Men have oftener suffered from, the mockery of a place too smiling for their reason than from the oppression of surroundings oversadly **tinged**. Haggard Egdon appealed to a subtler and scarcer instinct, to a more recently **learnt** emotion, than that which responds to the sort of beauty called charming and fair.

Thesaurus

congruity: (n) accord, conformity, consonance, coherence, correspondence, consistency, congruence, compatibility, coincidence, harmony, identity. exhaling: (adj) expiring, ending, dying, breathing.

fraternization: (adj) cordiality, good understanding, rapprochement, sympathy, response, welcomeness; (n) fraternisation, fellowship, intimacy, camaraderie, entente

cordiale.
gravitate: (v) tend, slip, slide, descend,
cumber, drift; (adj) load, press, weigh.
ANTONYM: (v) rise.

intentness: (adj, n) earnestness, zeal; (adj) ardor, empressement; (n) concentration, absorption, engrossment, intentiveness, earnest, complete attention, handsel. **learnt**: (adj) learned.

lent: (*n*) Quadragesima, Lententide. **showiness**: (*n*) floridness, gaiety,

display, glitter, flashiness, pretension, flamboyance, splendor, pomp, affectation, pomposity. ANTONYMS: (n) classiness, modesty, tastefulness. sublimity: (adj, n) nobility, elevation, majesty, loftiness, splendor; (n) magnificence, dignity, greatness, sublimeness; (adj) solemnity, heroism.

tinged: (*adj*) plausible, bright, painted, fey, touched, specious, colorful, stained, tined, dyed, tinct.

Indeed, it is a question if the exclusive reign of this orthodox beauty is not approaching its last quarter. The new Vale of Tempe may be a gaunt waste in Thule; human souls may find themselves in closer and closer harmony with external things wearing a sombreness distasteful to our race when it was young. The time seems near, if it has not actually arrived, when the chastened sublimity of a moor, a sea, or a mountain will be all of nature that is absolutely in keeping with the moods of the more thinking among mankind. And ultimately, to the commonest tourist, spots like Iceland may become what the vineyards and myrtle gardens of South Europe are to him now; and Heidelberg and Baden be passed unheeded as he hastens from the Alps to the sand dunes of Scheveningen.

The most thoroughgoing ascetic could feel that he had a natural right to wander on Egdon--he was keeping within the line of legitimate indulgence when he laid himself open to influences such as these. Colours and beauties so far subdued were, at least, the birthright of all. Only in summer days of highest feather did its mood touch the level of gaiety. Intensity was more usually reached by way of the solemn than by way of the brilliant, and such a sort of intensity was often arrived at during winter darkness, tempests, and mists. Then Egdon was aroused to reciprocity; for the storm was its lover, and the wind its friend. Then it became the home of strange phantoms; and it was found to be the hitherto unrecognized original of those wild regions of obscurity which are vaguely felt to be compassing us about in midnight dreams of flight and disaster, and are never thought of after the dream till revived by scenes like this.

It was at present a place perfectly accordant with man's nature--neither ghastly, hateful, nor ugly; neither commonplace, unmeaning, nor tame; but, like man, slighted and enduring; and withal singularly colossal and mysterious in its swarthy monotony. As with some persons who have long lived apart, solitude seemed to look out of its countenance. It had a lonely face, suggesting tragical possibilities.

This obscure, obsolete, superseded country figures in Domesday. Its condition is recorded therein as that of heathy, furzy, briary wilderness--

Thesaurus

accordant: (adj) consonant, consistent, compatible, congruous, conformable, agreeable, concordant, consentient, unanimous, suitable; (adj, v) congenial. ANTONYM: (adj) discordant. briary: (adj) barbellate, barbed, thorny, bristling, bristly, spiny, burred, burry, muricated, pectinated, studded.

myrtle: (n) Vinca minor. slighted: (adj) hurt, injured, insulted,

heedless, careless, not regarded, offended, regardless, upset. sombreness: (n) gloominess, gloom, gravity, graveness, glumness, semidarkness, sobriety, soberness. thoroughgoing: (adj) exhaustive, complete, utter, total, unqualified, systematic, painstaking, absolute, very thorough, consummate; (adj, adv) downright. ANTONYMS: (adj) careless, halfhearted, feeble. tragical: (v) ruinous, disastrous,

calamitous; (n) sadder; (adj) tragedious, like tragedy, sad. unmeaning: (adj) insignificant, meaningless, senseless, nonsensical, irrational, expressionless, gibberish, foolish, peanut, weetless, undistinguished. withal: (adv) nevertheless, notwithstanding, however, even so,

all the same, nonetheless, with; (adj) likewise; (n) sufficiency, adequacy,

"Bruaria." Then follows the length and breadth in leagues; and, though some uncertainty exists as to the exact extent of this ancient **lineal** measure, it appears from the figures that the area of Egdon down to the present day has but little diminished. "Turbaria Bruaria"--the right of cutting heath-turf--occurs in charters relating to the district. "Overgrown with heth and mosse," says Leland of the same dark sweep of country.

Here at least were intelligible facts regarding landscape--far-reaching proofs productive of genuine satisfaction. The untameable, Ishmaelitish thing that Egdon now was it always had been. Civilization was its enemy; and ever since the beginning of vegetation its soil had worn the same antique brown dress, the natural and **invariable** garment of the particular formation. In its venerable one coat lay a certain vein of satire on human vanity in clothes. A person on a heath in **raiment** of modern cut and colours has more or less an anomalous look. We seem to want the oldest and simplest human clothing where the clothing of the earth is so primitive.

To recline on a stump of thorn in the central valley of Egdon, between afternoon and night, as now, where the eye could reach nothing of the world outside the summits and shoulders of heathland which filled the whole circumference of its glance, and to know that everything around and underneath had been from prehistoric times as unaltered as the stars overhead, gave ballast to the mind adrift on change, and harassed by the irrepressible New. The great inviolate place had an ancient permanence which the sea cannot claim. Who can say of a particular sea that it is old? Distilled by the sun, kneaded by the moon, it is renewed in a year, in a day, or in an hour. The sea changed, the fields changed, the rivers, the villages, and the people changed, yet Egdon remained. Those surfaces were neither so steep as to be destructible by weather, nor so flat as to be the victims of floods and deposits. With the exception of an aged highway, and a still more aged barrow presently to be referred to--themselves almost crystallized to natural products by long continuance--even the trifling irregularities were not caused by pickaxe, plough, or spade, but remained as the very finger-touches of the last geological change.

Thesaurus

crystallized: (adj) crystalized, candic crystalline. ANTONYM: (adj) uncrystallized. destructible: (adj) perishable. ANTONYM: (adj) indestructible. heathland: (n) barren. invariable: (adj) fixed, consistent, even, immutable, steady, unchanging, stable, uniform, set, undeviating, unchanged. ANTONYMS: (adj) changing, dynamic, erratic, irregular, varied.

crystallized: (adj) crystalized, candied, crystalline. ANTONYM: (adj) sacred, sacrosanct, whole, entire, pure; (v) in petto, clandestine, auricular, close, privy.

ANTONYM: (adj) indestructible.

inviolate: (adj, v) intact; (adj) sacred, sacrosanct, whole, entire, pure; (v) in petto, clandestine, auricular, close, privy.

lineal: (adj, v) linear; (adj) ancestral,

lineal: (adj, v) linear; (adj) ancestral, hereditary, straight, directly, racial, extended senses, exact. pickaxe: (n) pickax, mattock, option,

pickaxe: (n) pickax, mattock, option, edge tool, cream, choice, filling, raiment: (n, v) dress, garb, apparel, garment, clothes; (n) costume, attire, clothing, array, habit; (v) clothe. recline: (v) lean, repose, lounge, loll, couch, slant, lay, tilt, lean back, recumb; (n, v) rest.

trifling: (adj) paltry, slight, petty, negligible, immaterial, worthless, trivial, minor, small; (adj, v) inconsequential; (adj, n) frivolity.

ANTONYMS: (adj) significant, worthwhile, major, considerable, crucial, enormous, great, mature, profound, substantial; (n) importance.

The above-mentioned highway traversed the lower levels of the heath, from one horizon to another. In many portions of its course it overlaid an old vicinal way, which branched from the great Western road of the Romans, the Via Iceniana, or Ikenild Street, hard by. On the evening under consideration it would have been noticed that, though the gloom had increased sufficiently to confuse the minor features of the heath, the white surface of the road remained almost as clear as ever.

Thesaurus

above-mentioned: (adj) prior, preceding.

branched: (adj) bifurcate, branching, ramous, ramose, divided, biramous, branchy, prongy, bearing branches, split, pronged.

confuse: (v) baffle, confound, muddle, jumble, agitate, disconcert, derange, obscure, blur, disturb; (adj, v) perplex. ANTONYMS: (v) enlighten, elucidate, explain, simplify, distinguish, organize, soothe,

sharpen, order, straighten, encourage.

gloom: (n) desolation, dark, darkness, blackness, depression, dimness, dusk, dreariness, despair, dejection; (n, v)cloud. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness,

joy, optimism, cheer.

heath: (n) heathland, ling, moor, steppe, barren, wild, bush, prairie, waste, downs, desert.

highway: (n) highroad, way, path,

route, street, thoroughfare, course, main road, expressway, bus, freeway. **horizon**: (n) ambit, reach, purview, vista, view, perspective, prospect, skyline, arena, celestial horizon, amphitheater.

happiness, cheerfulness, glee, ecstasy, sufficiently: (adv) fully, satisfactorily, enough, amply, quite, properly, competently, decently, abundantly, goodly, completely. ANTONYM: (adv) inadequately.

vicinal: (adj) neighboring, vicine.

2

HUMANITY APPEARS UPON THE SCENE. HAND IN HAND WITH TROUBLE

Along the road walked an old man. He was white-headed as a mountain, bowed in the shoulders, and faded in general aspect. He wore a glazed hat, an ancient boat-cloak, and shoes; his brass buttons bearing an anchor upon their face. In his hand was a silver-headed walking stick, which he used as a veritable third leg, perseveringly dotting the ground with its point at every few inches' interval. One would have said that he had been, in his day, a naval officer of some sort or other.

Before him stretched the long, laborious road, dry, empty, and white. It was quite open to the heath on each side, and bisected that vast dark surface like the parting-line on a head of black hair, diminishing and bending away on the furthest horizon.

The old man frequently stretched his eyes ahead to gaze over the tract that he had yet to traverse. At length he discerned, a long distance in front of him, a moving spot, which appeared to be a vehicle, and it proved to be going the same way as that in which he himself was journeying. It was the single atom of life

Thesaurus

appeared: (n) appearing. buttons: (n) bellboy, peyote. diminishing: (adj) abating, declining, dwindling, lessening, waning; (n) decrease, shrinking, reducing, reduction; (adv) diminishingly; (v) diminish. ANTONYMS: (adj) increasing, growing, burgeoning. furthest: (adj) furthermost, extreme, farthermost, remotest, ultimate, utmost, uttermost, most remote, final, outermost; (adv) most. ANTONYMS: perseveringly: (adv) patiently,

(adj) nearest, near. journeying: (adj) itinerant, wayfaring, vagabond; (n) excursion, digression, expedition, travelling, movement, outing, passage, pilgrimage. laborious: (adj) hard, arduous, backbreaking, heavy, industrious, diligent, grueling, assiduous, exhausting, formidable, tough. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, effortless, undemanding, light, brisk.

doggedly, tenaciously, persistently, determinedly, constantly, resolutely, steadily, insistently, busily, stubbornly.

traverse: (v) travel, walk, crisscross, track, thwart, contradict, deny; (n, v)journey, range; (n) crossing, traversal. veritable: (adj, v) real, true, actual, very; (adj) genuine, authentic, bona fide, unquestionable, factual, truthful, right. ANTONYMS: (adj) false, unreal.

that the scene contained, and it only served to render the general loneliness more evident. Its rate of advance was slow, and the old man gained upon it sensibly.

When he drew nearer he perceived it to be a spring van, ordinary in shape, but singular in colour, this being a lurid red. The driver walked beside it; and, like his van, he was completely red. One dye of that tincture covered his clothes, the cap upon his head, his boots, his face, and his hands. He was not temporarily overlaid with the colour; it permeated him.

The old man knew the meaning of this. The traveller with the cart was a reddleman--a person whose vocation it was to supply farmers with redding for their sheep. He was one of a class rapidly becoming extinct in Wessex, filling at present in the rural world the place which, during the last century, the dodo occupied in the world of animals. He is a curious, interesting, and nearly **perished** link between obsolete forms of life and those which generally prevail.

The **decayed** officer, by degrees, came up alongside his fellow-wayfarer, and wished him good evening. The reddleman turned his head, and replied in sad and occupied tones. He was young, and his face, if not exactly handsome, approached so near to handsome that nobody would have contradicted an assertion that it really was so in its natural colour. His eye, which glared so strangely through his stain, was in itself attractive--keen as that of a bird of prey, and blue as autumn mist. He had neither whisker nor moustache, which allowed the soft curves of the lower part of his face to be apparent. His lips were thin, and though, as it seemed, compressed by thought, there was a pleasant twitch at their corners now and then. He was clothed throughout in a tightfitting suit of corduroy, excellent in quality, not much worn, and well-chosen for its purpose, but deprived of its original colour by his trade. It showed to advantage the good shape of his figure. A certain well-to-do air about the man suggested that he was not poor for his degree. The natural query of an observer would have been, Why should such a promising being as this have hidden his prepossessing exterior by adopting that singular occupation?

After **replying** to the old man's greeting he showed no inclination to continue in talk, although they still walked side by side, for the elder traveller seemed to

clothed: (adj) dressed, wrapped, cloaked, robed, covered, attired, vested, absorbed, decent; (v) accustomed, arrayed. ANTONYM: (adi) unclothed. corduroy: (n) fabric, cloth. decayed: (adj) spoiled, corrupt, dilapidated, rank, rusty, rotting, decaying, rotted, putrid; (adj, v) wasted; (v) stale. ANTONYMS: (adj) matured, restored, strengthened.

dodo: (n) fogey, fogy, raphus

Thesaurus

cucullatus, oldster, dolt, columbiform tincture: (n, v) dye, tint, taste; (n)bird, fossil, oaf, dunce, dummy; (adj)

perished: (adj) decayed, emperished, rotting, annihilated, fallen, lost, moldy, nonexistent, putrefied, dead, decomposed.

prepossessing: (adj) engaging, winning, handsome, appealing, lovely, captivating, charming, nice, graceful, winsome; (v) inviting. replying: (adj) respondent, responsive.

shade, color, hue, tinct; (adj, n, v)smack, dash; (adj) spice; (v) impregnate.

twitch: (n, v) twinge, pull, yank, pluck, tug, tweak, wrench, pinch, start; (v) draw, nip.

well-chosen: (adj) felicitous. whisker: (adj, n) hair; (adj) beard, shag, brush, mane; (n) moustache, sensory hair, vibrissa, bristle, mustache; (v)

desire company. There were no sounds but that of the booming wind upon the stretch of tawny herbage around them, the crackling wheels, the tread of the men, and the footsteps of the two shaggy ponies which drew the van. They were small, hardy animals, of a breed between Galloway and Exmoor, and were known as "heath-croppers" here.

Now, as they thus pursued their way, the reddleman occasionally left his companion's side, and, stepping behind the van, looked into its interior through a small window. The look was always anxious. He would then return to the old man, who made another remark about the state of the country and so on, to which the reddleman again abstractedly replied, and then again they would lapse into silence. The silence conveyed to neither any sense of awkwardness; in these lonely places wayfarers, after a first greeting, frequently plod on for miles without speech; contiguity amounts to a tacit conversation where, otherwise than in cities, such contiguity can be put an end to on the merest inclination, and where not to put an end to it is intercourse in itself.

Possibly these two might not have spoken again till their parting, had it not been for the reddleman's visits to his van. When he returned from his fifth time of looking in the old man said, "You have something inside there besides your load?"

"Yes."

"Somebody who wants looking after?"

"Yes."

Not long after this a faint cry sounded from the interior. The reddleman **hastened** to the back, looked in, and came away again.

"You have a child there, my man?"

"No, sir, I have a woman."

"The **deuce** you have! Why did she cry out?"

"Oh, she has fallen asleep, and not being used to traveling, she's uneasy, and keeps dreaming."

Thesaurus

abstractedly: (adv) absently, distractedly, distantly, pensively, separately, preoccupiedly, abstractly, removedly, dreamily, absentmindedly, scatterbrainedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) carefully, clearly, contiguity: (n) contact, vicinity,

awkwardness: (n) embarrassment, stiffness, unwieldiness, inconvenience, gawkiness, inelegance, troublesomeness, ineptitude, ineptness, gaucherie; (adj, n) delicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) gracefulness, grace, comfort, coordination, pride, urbanity, ease, assurance, liveliness, confidence, cooperation.

contiguousness, touch, closeness, proximity, abuttal, neighborhood, propinguity, approximation, liaison. deuce: (n) devil, couple, two, dyad, demon, duo, duet, Twain, Dickens, brace, craps.

hastened: (adj) careless. herbage: (n) herb, grass, pasture, pasturage, foliage, herbaceous plant, forage, flora, eatage, vegetable

plod: (v) tramp, trudge, toil, slog, drudge, labor, pad, grind, footslog; (n, v) clump, march.

traveling: (n) travel, journey, travelling, commuting, commutation, peregrination, circumnavigation; (adj) riding, touring, nomadic, road.

"A young woman?"

"Yes, a young woman."

"That would have interested me forty years ago. Perhaps she's your wife?"

"My wife!" said the other bitterly. "She's above **mating** with such as I. But there's no reason why I should tell you about that."

"That's true. And there's no reason why you should not. What harm can I do to you or to her?"

The reddleman looked in the old man's face. "Well, sir," he said at last, "I knew her before today, though perhaps it would have been better if I had not. But she's nothing to me, and I am nothing to her; and she wouldn't have been in my van if any better **carriage** had been there to take her."

"Where, may I ask?"

"At Anglebury."

"I know the town well. What was she doing there?"

"Oh, not much--to **gossip** about. However, she's tired to death now, and not at all well, and that's what makes her so **restless**. She dropped off into a nap about an hour ago, and 'twill do her good."

"A nice-looking girl, no doubt?"

"You would say so."

The other **traveller** turned his eyes with interest towards the van window, and, without **withdrawing** them, said, "I **presume** I might look in upon her?"

"No," said the reddleman abruptly. "It is getting too dark for you to see much of her; and, more than that, I have no right to allow you. Thank God she sleeps so well, I hope she won't wake till she's home."

"Who is she? One of the neighbourhood?"

"'Tis no matter who, excuse me."

"It is not that girl of Blooms-End, who has been talked about more or less **lately**? If so, I know her; and I can guess what has happened."

Thesaurus

carriage: (*n*) attitude, conveyance, cab, air, walk, position, mien, shipping; (*n*, *v*) transport, behavior, port. gossip: (*n*, *v*) chatter, rumor, chitchat, gab, talk, babble, natter, tattle; (*n*) chatterbox, conversation, small talk. ANTONYM: (*n*) truth. lately: (*adv*) tardily, newly, freshly, belatedly, slowly, latterly, deadly; (*adj*, *adv*) anew, late, afresh; (*adj*) recent.

mating: (n) union, pairing,

conjugation, crossing, marriage, cross, hybridization, service, copulation, sex, crossbreeding. nice-looking: (adj) neat, attractive, handsome.

presume: (v) dare, consider, believe, think, infer, guess, expect, esteem, conclude, suppose, conjecture.

ANTONYMS: (v) appreciate, despair, speculate wanderer, voyager, wayfarer, mover, itinerant, courier, entrant, swimmer, outlander.

withdrawing: (adj) receding, outgoing, retiring, moving back, modest lowly:

restless: (adj) fidgety, uneasy, impatient, restive, agitated, fretful,

turbulent, feverish; (adj, n) nervous, apprehensive; (adj, v) unquiet.
ANTONYMS: (adj) relaxed, peaceful, lethargic, unbroken, still, contented. traveller: (n) passenger, tourist, wanderer, voyager, wayfarer, mover, itinerant, courier, entrant, swimmer, outlander.
withdrawing: (adi) receding, outgoing.

withdrawing: (adj) receding, outgoing, retiring, moving back, modest, lowly; (n) departure, privacy, seclusion, cancellation.

"Tis no matter....Now, sir, I am sorry to say that we shall soon have to part company. My ponies are tired, and I have further to go, and I am going to rest them under this bank for an hour."

The elder traveller nodded his head indifferently, and the reddleman turned his horses and van in upon the turf, saying, "Good night." The old man replied, and proceeded on his way as before.

The reddleman watched his form as it diminished to a speck on the road and became absorbed in the thickening films of night. He then took some hay from a truss which was slung up under the van, and, throwing a portion of it in front of the horses, made a pad of the rest, which he laid on the ground beside his vehicle. Upon this he sat down, leaning his back against the wheel. From the interior a low soft breathing came to his ear. It appeared to satisfy him, and he **musingly** surveyed the scene, as if considering the next step that he should take.

To do things musingly, and by small degrees, seemed, indeed, to be a duty in the Egdon valleys at this transitional hour, for there was that in the condition of the heath itself which resembled protracted and halting **dubiousness**. It was the quality of the repose **appertaining** to the scene. This was not the repose of actual stagnation, but the apparent repose of incredible slowness. A condition of healthy life so nearly resembling the **torpor** of death is a noticeable thing of its sort; to exhibit the **inertness** of the desert, and at the same time to be exercising powers akin to those of the meadow, and even of the forest, **awakened** in those who thought of it the **attentiveness** usually engendered by understatement and reserve.

The scene before the reddleman's eyes was a gradual series of ascents from the level of the road backward into the heart of the heath. It embraced hillocks, pits, ridges, acclivities, one behind the other, till all was finished by a high hill cutting against the still light sky. The traveller's eye hovered about these things for a time, and finally settled upon one noteworthy object up there. It was a barrow. This bossy projection of earth above its natural level occupied the **loftiest** ground of the loneliest height that the heath contained. Although from

Thesaurus

appertaining: (adj) appertinent.
attentiveness: (n) alertness, courtesy,
thoughtfulness, consideration,
attention, application, care,
cautiousness, regard, heed, notice.
ANTONYMS: (n) inattentiveness,
distraction, neglect, negligence,
unconsciousness, rudeness,
carelessness, laziness.
awakened: (adj) excited, aroused,

awakeneu: (*auj*) excited, aroused, awakens, awoke, interested. **dubiousness**: (*n*) doubtfulness,

dubiety, uncertainness, disbelief, misgiving, incertitude, suspense, uncertainty, distrust, suspiciousness, question. ANTONYMS: (n) reliability, honesty, probability, certitude.

inertness: (n) dullness, inaction, inactivity, lethargy, indifference, laziness, stupor, torpor, apathy, languor, sluggishness.

loftiest: (adj) uppermost, top, sovereign.

musingly: (adv) thoughtfully, ponderingly, meditatively, contemplatively, reflectively, ruminatively, broodingly, deep in thought. ANTONYM: (adv) unthinkingly.

torpor: (*n*) lethargy, lassitude, stupor, languor, indolence, sluggishness, listlessness, torpidity, torpidness; (*adj*, *n*) inactivity, inertia.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) energy, vigor, activity.

the vale it appeared but as a **wart** on an Atlantean brow, its actual bulk was great. It formed the pole and axis of this heathery world.

As the resting man looked at the barrow he became aware that its summit, hitherto the highest object in the whole prospect round, was **surmounted** by something higher. It rose from the semiglobular mound like a **spike** from a helmet. The first instinct of an imaginative stranger might have been to suppose it the person of one of the Celts who built the barrow, so far had all of modern date withdrawn from the scene. It seemed a sort of last man among them, **musing** for a moment before dropping into eternal night with the rest of his race.

There the form stood, motionless as the hill beneath. Above the plain rose the hill, above the hill rose the barrow, and above the barrow rose the figure. Above the figure was nothing that could be mapped elsewhere than on a celestial globe.

Such a perfect, delicate, and necessary finish did the figure give to the dark pile of hills that it seemed to be the only obvious justification of their outline. Without it, there was the dome without the lantern; with it the architectural demands of the mass were satisfied. The scene was strangely homogeneous, in that the vale, the upland, the barrow, and the figure above it amounted only to unity. Looking at this or that member of the group was not observing a complete thing, but a fraction of a thing.

The form was so much like an organic part of the entire motionless structure that to see it move would have impressed the mind as a strange phenomenon. Immobility being the chief characteristic of that whole which the person formed portion of, the **discontinuance** of **immobility** in any quarter suggested confusion.

Yet that is what happened. The figure **perceptibly** gave up its **fixity**, shifted a step or two, and turned round. As if alarmed, it descended on the right side of the barrow, with the glide of a water-drop down a bud, and then vanished. The movement had been sufficient to show more clearly the characteristics of the figure, and that it was a woman's.

The reason of her sudden displacement now appeared. With her dropping out of sight on the right side, a newcomer, bearing a burden, **protruded** into the

Thesaurus

ending, stoppage, desistance, intermission, interruption, pause, halt, disjunction, separation, end. ANTONYMS: (*n*) continuance, continuation. **fixity**: (*n*) fixedness, fastness, firmness, fixing, immutability, constancy, inalterability, inflexibility, immobility, stronghold, fixture. **immobility**: (*adj*, *n*) fixity; (*n*)

fixedness, stillness, stationariness,

discontinuance: (n) discontinuation,

motionlessness, immovability, immovableness; (adj) vitality, stiffness, stabiliment, solidity. ANTONYMS: (n) bustle, movement. musing: (adj) contemplative, meditative, thoughtful, pensive; (n) meditation, consideration, reflection, rumination, reverie, thought, cogitation. perceptibly: (adv) discernibly, apparently, appreciably, manifestly, clearly, sensibly, markedly,

conspicuously, recognizably, really, patently. ANTONYMS: (adv) inaudibly, invisibly.

protruded: (adj) extant, outstanding.

spike: (n) pin, barb, ear, needle, prickle; (adj, n) point; (v) pierce, nail, transfix, spear, lace.

surmounted: (adj) beaten.

wart: (n) verruca, condyloma acuminatum, bulge, tit, growth, lump, swelling, exostosis, bump, protuberance, venereal wart.

sky on the left side, ascended the **tumulus**, and deposited the burden on the top. A second followed, then a third, a fourth, a fifth, and ultimately the whole barrow was **peopled** with **burdened** figures.

The only **intelligible** meaning in this sky-backed pantomime of silhouettes was that the woman had no relation to the forms who had taken her place, was **sedulously** avoiding these, and had come **thither** for another object than theirs. The imagination of the observer clung by preference to that vanished, solitary figure, as to something more interesting, more important, more likely to have a history worth knowing than these newcomers, and unconsciously regarded them as intruders. But they remained, and established themselves; and the lonely person who hitherto had been queen of the **solitude** did not at present seem likely to return.

Thesaurus

burdened: (adj) loaded, encumbered, oppressed, overburdened, overloaded, beleaguered, heavy, haggard, gestant; (adv) dishonestly, unfairly. ANTONYMS: (adj) lacking, unburdened, carefree; (adv) genuinely.

intelligible: (adj) clear, understandable, articulate, luminous, apprehensible, graspable, simple, lucid, definite, distinct, perspicuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) difficult, illegible. peopled: (adj) multinominal, multiple, manifold, multiplied, multitudinous, populous, inhabited, thick, studded, teeming, crowded. ANTONYM: (adj) uninhabited.

sedulously: (adv) industriously, assiduously, studiously, earnestly, attentively, intently, painstakingly, perseveringly, laboriously, fixedly, eagerly.

solitude: (*n*) desolation, loneliness, seclusion, privacy, aloneness,

isolation, retirement, lonesomeness, retreat, desert, solitariness. ANTONYMS: (n) companionship, closeness.

thither: (adv) hither, whither, on that point, in that respect, at that place, in that location; (adj) further, ulterior, remoter, succeeding, more distant. tumulus: (n) burial mound, mound, tope, grave mound, cromlech, hill, lawn cart, garden cart, barrowful, cairn.

3

THE CUSTOM OF THE COUNTRY

Had a **looker**-on been **posted** in the immediate vicinity of the **barrow**, he would have learned that these persons were boys and men of the neighbouring hamlets. Each, as he ascended the barrow, had been heavily **laden** with **furze** faggots, carried upon the shoulder by means of a long stake **sharpened** at each end for impaling them easily--two in front and two behind. They came from a part of the heath a quarter of a mile to the rear, where furze almost exclusively prevailed as a product.

Every individual was so involved in furze by his method of carrying the faggots that he appeared like a bush on legs till he had thrown them down. The party had marched in trail, like a travelling flock of sheep; that is to say, the strongest first, the weak and young behind.

The loads were all laid together, and a **pyramid** of furze thirty feet in **circumference** now occupied the crown of the tumulus, which was known as Rainbarrow for many miles round. Some made themselves busy with matches, and in selecting the driest tufts of furze, others in **loosening** the **bramble** bonds which held the faggots together. Others, again, while this was in progress, lifted their eyes and swept the vast **expanse** of country **commanded** by their position,

Thesaurus

commanded: (adj) lawful.

barrow: (*n*) tumulus, wheelbarrow, barrowful, cart, containerful, swine, handbarrow; (*adj*) knoll, hummock, hillock, mole.

bramble: (*n*) nettle, thorn, blackberry bush, briar, sting, bush, tang; (*adj*, *n*) thistle; (*adj*) brier, beard, porcupine. circumference: (*n*) circuit, border, perimeter, boundary, periphery, outline, brim, compass, circle, edge, rim. ANTONYMS: (*n*) middle, inside, interior, center.

expanse: (n) breadth, expansion, space, region, compass, extent, orbit, latitude, acreage, dilation, length. ANTONYM: (n) closeness. furze: (n) gorse, Irish gorse, Ulex europaeus, Needle furze, shrub, bush, bramble, dyeweed.

laden: (adj) burdened, full, loaded, ladened, filled, hampered, heavy, charged, encumbered; (v) lade, load. ANTONYMS: (adj) empty, lacking. looker-on: (*n*) bystander, spectator, eyewitness, witness.

loosening: (n) relaxation, unfastening, ease, undoing, liberalization, adjustment, alteration, liberalisation, easiness; (adj) solutive, laxative. posted: (adj) knowledgeable, learned. pyramid: (n) pile, mass, heap, lump, prism, congeries, stack, pyramis; (adj) spire, steeple; (v) raise.

sharpened: (*adj*) acute, pointed, acuate, sharper, better, sensual.

now lying nearly obliterated by shade. In the valleys of the heath nothing save its own wild face was visible at any time of day; but this spot commanded a horizon enclosing a tract of far extent, and in many cases lying beyond the heath country. None of its features could be seen now, but the whole made itself felt as a vague stretch of remoteness.

While the men and lads were building the pile, a change took place in the mass of shade which denoted the distant landscape. Red suns and tufts of fire one by one began to arise, flecking the whole country round. They were the bonfires of other parishes and hamlets that were engaged in the same sort of commemoration. Some were distant, and stood in a dense atmosphere, so that bundles of pale straw-like beams radiated around them in the shape of a fan. Some were large and near, glowing scarlet-red from the shade, like wounds in a black hide. Some were Maenades, with winy faces and blown hair. These tinctured the silent bosom of the clouds above them and lit up their ephemeral caves, which seemed thenceforth to become scalding caldrons. Perhaps as many as thirty bonfires could be counted within the whole bounds of the district; and as the hour may be told on a clock-face when the figures themselves are invisible, so did the men recognize the locality of each fire by its angle and direction, though nothing of the scenery could be viewed.

The first tall flame from Rainbarrow sprang into the sky, attracting all eyes that had been fixed on the distant conflagrations back to their own attempt in the same kind. The cheerful blaze streaked the inner surface of the human circlenow increased by other stragglers, male and female--with its own gold livery, and even overlaid the dark turf around with a lively luminousness, which softened off into obscurity where the barrow rounded downwards out of sight. It showed the barrow to be the segment of a globe, as perfect as on the day when it was thrown up, even the little ditch remaining from which the earth was dug. Not a plough had ever disturbed a grain of that stubborn soil. In the heath's barrenness to the farmer lay its fertility to the historian. There had been no **obliteration**, because there had been no tending.

Thesaurus

barrenness: (n) infertility, unproductiveness, fruitlessness, poverty, poorness, sterility, dryness, aridness, bareness, quality, infecundity. ANTONYMS: (n) fruitfulness, humidity. downwards: (adv) down, downhill, downwardly. ANTONYM: (adv) up. ephemeral: (adj) passing, temporary, transient, brief, momentary, transitory, cursory, evanescent, fugacious, fugitive, impermanent.

ANTONYMS: (adj) lasting, enduring, eternal, everlasting. luminousness: (n) illumination, luminescence, glow, light, brightness, stelliform, penciled, diffuse. incandescence, luminance, light source, clearness, flawlessness, Christ Within. ANTONYM: (n) dirtiness. obliteration: (n) annihilation, eradication, abolition, deletion, devastation, destruction, demolition, extinction, atomization; (adj) extirpation, extinguishment.

ANTONYMS: (n) construction, creation, protection. radiated: (adj) radial, stellular, **scalding**: (*adj*) boiling, hot, torrid, burning, scorching, broiling, blistering, fiery, searing, baking, steaming. ANTONYM: (adj) cold. thenceforth: (adv) thenceforward, thence, elsewhere, absent, not there, winy: (adj) tasteful.

It seemed as if the bonfire-makers were standing in some radiant upper story of the world, detached from and independent of the dark stretches below. The heath down there was now a vast abyss, and no longer a continuation of what they stood on; for their eyes, adapted to the blaze, could see nothing of the deeps beyond its influence. Occasionally, it is true, a more vigorous flare than usual from their faggots sent darting lights like aides-de-camp down the inclines to some distant bush, pool, or patch of white sand, kindling these to replies of the same colour, till all was lost in darkness again. Then the whole black phenomenon beneath represented Limbo as viewed from the brink by the sublime Florentine in his vision, and the muttered articulations of the wind in the hollows were as complaints and petitions from the "souls of mighty worth" suspended therein.

It was as if these men and boys had suddenly dived into past ages, and fetched therefrom an hour and deed which had before been familiar with this spot. The ashes of the original British pyre which blazed from that summit lay fresh and undisturbed in the barrow beneath their tread. The flames from funeral piles long ago **kindled** there had shone down upon the lowlands as these were shining now. Festival fires to Thor and Woden had followed on the same ground and duly had their day. Indeed, it is pretty well known that such blazes as this the heathmen were now enjoying are rather the lineal descendants from jumbled Druidical rites and Saxon ceremonies than the invention of popular feeling about Gunpowder Plot.

Moreover to light a fire is the instinctive and resistant act of man when, at the winter ingress, the curfew is sounded throughout Nature. It indicates a spontaneous, Promethean rebelliousness against that fiat that this recurrent season shall bring foul times, cold darkness, misery and death. Black chaos comes, and the **fettered** gods of the earth say, Let there be light.

The brilliant lights and sooty shades which struggled upon the skin and clothes of the persons standing round caused their lineaments and general contours to be drawn with Dureresque vigour and dash. Yet the permanent moral expression of each face it was impossible to discover, for as the nimble

Thesaurus

darting: (adj) arrowy, moving; (v) fettered: (adj) bound, in fetters, in bonds, responsible. ingress: (n) access, entrance, entry, entree, admission, entering, admittance, incoming, door, arrival, gateway. ANTONYM: (n) exit. jumbled: (adj) confused, disorganized, lineaments: (v) exposition, tract, disordered, untidy, muddled, mixed, cluttered, incoherent, chaotic, promiscuous; (adj, adv) topsy-turvy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) tidy, systematic, coherent, clear, organized, sound. kindled: (adj) enkindled, lighted, lit, burning.

kindling: (n) combustion, firing, ignition, lighting, tinder, fire, firewood, dismissal; (v) ignite, agitate, kindle.

length, expanse, area, extent; (n) face. **pyre**: (n) pile, heap, funeral, funeral pyre, stake, wake, mound, hair, fire,

funeral pile. rebelliousness: (n) defiance, disobedience, noncompliance, contumacy, willfulness, unruliness, obstreperousness, naughtiness, intractableness, intractability, insolence. ANTONYMS: (n) obedience, compliance, loyalty. therefrom: (adv) therefore, thereof, hence; (adj) redundance, strictly, exact, expected, likeness, deportment, coincidence, accurate.

flames towered, nodded, and swooped through the surrounding air, the blots of shade and flakes of light upon the countenances of the group changed shape and position endlessly. All was unstable; quivering as leaves, evanescent as lightning. Shadowy eye-sockets, deep as those of a death's head, suddenly turned into pits of lustre: a lantern-jaw was cavernous, then it was shining; wrinkles were emphasized to ravines, or obliterated entirely by a changed ray. Nostrils were dark wells; sinews in old necks were gilt mouldings; things with no particular polish on them were glazed; bright objects, such as the tip of a furze-hook one of the men carried, were as glass; eyeballs glowed like little lanterns. Those whom Nature had depicted as merely quaint became grotesque, the grotesque became **preternatural**; for all was in extremity.

Hence it may be that the face of an old man, who had like others been called to the heights by the rising flames, was not really the mere nose and chin that it appeared to be, but an appreciable quantity of human countenance. He stood complacently sunning himself in the heat. With a speaker, or stake, he tossed the outlying scraps of fuel into the **conflagration**, looking at the midst of the pile, occasionally lifting his eyes to measure the height of the flame, or to follow the great sparks which rose with it and sailed away into darkness. The beaming sight, and the penetrating warmth, seemed to breed in him a cumulative cheerfulness, which soon amounted to delight. With his stick in his hand he began to jig a private **minuet**, a bunch of copper seals shining and swinging like a pendulum from under his waistcoat: he also began to sing, in the voice of a bee up a flue--

"The king' call'd down' his no-bles all', By one', by two', by three'; Earl Mar'-shal, I'll' go shrive'-the queen', And thou' shalt **wend'** with me'.

"A boon', a boon', quoth Earl' Mar-shal', And fell' on his bend'-ded knee',

Thesaurus

cavernous: (adj) profound, concave, echoing, resonant, sepulchral, yawning, huge, deep, depressed, sunken, vast. ANTONYMS: (adj) cramped, claustrophobic, convex, crowded, shallow, small, tiny, confined, narrow. complacently: (adv) contently, conceitedly, self-satisfiedly, graciously, arrogantly, satisfiedly, contentedly, virtuously, sanctimoniously.

conflagration: (n) blaze, inferno, flame, wildfire, combustion, holocaust, burning, bonfire, empyrosis, flagration; (n, v)deflagration.

evanescent: (adj) passing, temporary, fleeting, transitory, fugitive, momentary, transient, cursory, temporal, intangible, short-lived. minuet: (n) waltz, polka, ballroom dance, ballroom dancing.

obliterated: (adj) obliterate, destroyed, wrinkles: (n) crow's feet.

lost, forgotten, invisible; (v) erased, effaced

preternatural: (adj) unearthly, occult, outlandish, miraculous, uncanny, transcendental, extraordinary, abnormal, weird, nonnatural, otherworldly.

quoth: (v) quod.

wend: (v) go, pass, repair, proceed, cruise; (n) walk, tread, step, pace, plod, march.

That what'-so-e'er' the queen' shall say', No harm' there-of' may be'."

Want of breath prevented a **continuance** of the song; and the breakdown attracted the attention of a firm- standing man of middle age, who kept each corner of his crescent-shaped mouth rigorously drawn back into his cheek, as if to do away with any suspicion of **mirthfulness** which might **erroneously** have attached to him.

"A fair **stave**, Grandfer Cantle; but I am **afeard** 'tis too much for the **mouldy weasand** of such a old man as you," he said to the wrinkled **reveller**. "Dostn't wish th' wast three sixes again, Grandfer, as you was when you first learnt to sing it?"

"Hey?" said Grandfer Cantle, stopping in his dance.

"Dostn't wish wast young again, I say? There's a hole in thy poor **bellows** nowadays seemingly."

"But there's good art in me? If I couldn't make a little wind go a long ways I should seem no younger than the most aged man, should I, Timothy?"

"And how about the new-married folks down there at the Quiet Woman Inn?" the other inquired, pointing towards a dim light in the direction of the distant highway, but considerably apart from where the reddleman was at that moment resting. "What's the rights of the matter about 'em? You ought to know, being an understanding man."

"But a little **rakish**, hey? I own to it. Master Cantle is that, or he's nothing. Yet 'tis a gay fault, neigbbour Fairway, that age will cure."

"I heard that they were coming home **tonight**. By this time they must have come. What besides?"

"The next thing is for us to go and wish 'em joy, I suppose?"

"Well, no."

Thesaurus

afeard: (adj) afraid.
bellows: (n) blower, lung, bellowing,
blowpipe, organ; (v) air blower, air
pump, fan, punkah, ventilator.
continuance: (n) duration, abidance,
existence, endurance, protraction,
adjournment, resumption,
prolongation, time, standing,
perseverance. ANTONYMS: (n)
discontinuation, destruction.
erroneously: (adv) mistakenly, falsely,
incorrectly, faultily, inaccurately,

fallaciously, wrong, inexactly, untruely, misguidedly, amiss. ANTONYMS: (adv) accurately, rightly.

mirthfulness: (n) mirth, glee, gleefulness, gaiety, merriment, gloat, gloating, great merriment, malicious satisfaction.

mouldy: (adj) moldy, mildewy, fusty, musty, stale, trite, hackneyed, wellworn, putrid, mould, frowsty. rakish: (adj) dissolute, debauched, raffish, dapper, profligate, licentious, dashing, gallant, stylish, dissipated, fast. ANTONYM: (adj) upright.

reveller: (n) merrymaker, roisterer, celebrant, celebrater, celebrator.

stave: (n) rung, round, pole, verse, stick, stanza, brace, lag; (v) box, justle, fib.

tonight: (adv) this night. weasand: (n) throat, trachea, nostril, nozzle, sucker, shaft, orifice, vent, funnel, chimney, muzzle. "No? Now, I thought we must. I must, or 'twould be very unlike me--the first in every spree that's going!

> "Do thou' put on' a fri'-ar's coat', And I'll' put on' a-no'-ther, And we' will to' Queen Ele'anor go', Like Fri'ar and' his bro'ther.

I met Mis'ess Yeobright, the young bride's aunt, last night, and she told me that her son Clym was coming home a' Christmas. Wonderful clever, 'a believe-ah, I should like to have all that's under that young man's hair. Well, then, I spoke to her in my well-known merry way, and she said, 'O that what's shaped so venerable should talk like a fool!'--that's what she said to me. I don't care for her, be jowned if I do, and so I told her. 'Be jowned if I care for 'ee,' I said. I had her there--hey?"

"I rather think she had you," said Fairway.

"No," said Grandfer Cantle, his countenance slightly flagging. "'Tisn't so bad as that with me?"

"Seemingly 'tis, however, is it because of the wedding that Clym is coming home a' Christmas--to make a new arrangement because his mother is now left in the house alone?"

"Yes, yes--that's it. But, Timothy, hearken to me," said the Grandfer earnestly. "Though known as such a joker, I be an understanding man if you catch me serious, and I am serious now. I can tell 'ee lots about the married couple. Yes, this morning at six o'clock they went up the country to do the job, and neither vell nor mark have been seen of 'em since, though I reckon that this afternoon has brought 'em home again man and woman--wife, that is. Isn't it spoke like a man, Timothy, and wasn't Mis'ess Yeobright wrong about me?"

"Yes, it will do. I didn't know the two had walked together since last fall, when her aunt forbad the banns. How long has this new set-to been in mangling then? Do you know, Humphrey?"

Thesaurus (adv) indifferently, insincerely,

banns: (n) announcement. countenance: (n) aspect, expression, brow, complexion; (n, v) face, sanction, support, favor; (v) allow, tolerate, uphold. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, oppose, discourage, disapprove, prohibit. **don't**: (adv) not; (n) taboo, prohibition. earnestly: (adj, adv) seriously; (adv) ardently, fervently, heartily, gravely, warmly, passionately. ANTONYMS:

unconcernedly, jokingly. flagging: (adj) tired, fading, lazy, slack, failing, remiss, pendulous; (v) lame, halting, enervate; (n) pavement. revelry, prank, orgy, bout, ANTONYM: (adj) prompt. hearken: (v) hark, harken, attend, listen, hear, heed, list, listen in, listen to, regard, look out. eagerly, intently, zealously, solemnly, joker: (n) comic, comedian, wit, clown, buffoon, trickster, zany, tease, wild card; (v) humorist; (n, v) wag.

set-to: (n) quarrel, altercation, fray, scrap, wrangle, contention, contest, melee, squabble, row, fracas. spree: (n, v) frolic; (n) revel, fling, merriment, glee, mirth; (v) splurge. venerable: (adj) ancient, reverend, estimable, August, respectable, aged, distinguished, sacred, worthy, of long standing, revered. ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy, unimpressive, undignified, disreputable.

"Yes, how long?" said Grandfer Cantle smartly, likewise turning to Humphrey. "I ask that question."

"Ever since her aunt altered her mind, and said she might have the man after all," replied Humphrey, without removing his eyes from the fire. He was a somewhat solemn young fellow, and carried the hook and leather gloves of a furze-cutter, his legs, by reason of that occupation, being **sheathed** in **bulging leggings** as stiff as the Philistine's **greaves** of brass. "That's why they went away to be married, I count. You see, after kicking up such a nunny-watch and forbidding the banns 'twould have made Mis'ess Yeobright seem foolish-like to have a **banging** wedding in the same parish all as if she'd never gainsaid it."

"Exactly--seem foolish-like; and that's very bad for the poor things that be so, though I only guess as much, to be sure," said Grandfer Cantle, still **strenuously** preserving a sensible bearing and mien.

"Ah, well, I was at church that day," said Fairway, "which was a very curious thing to happen."

"If 'twasn't my name's Simple," said the Grandfer emphatically. "I ha'n't been there to-year; and now the winter is a-coming on I won't say I shall."

"I ha'n't been these three years," said Humphrey; "for I'm so dead sleepy of a Sunday; and 'tis so terrible far to get there; and when you do get there 'tis such a mortal poor chance that you'll be chose for up above, when so many bain't, that I bide at home and don't go at all."

"I not only happened to be there," said Fairway, with a fresh collection of emphasis, "but I was sitting in the same pew as Mis'ess Yeobright. And though you may not see it as such, it fairly made my blood run cold to hear her. Yes, it is a curious thing; but it made my blood run cold, for I was close at her elbow." The speaker looked round upon the bystanders, now drawing closer to hear him, with his lips gathered tighter than ever in the **rigorousness** of his descriptive **moderation**.

"'Tis a serious job to have things happen to 'ee there," said a woman behind.

Thesaurus

banging: (n) battering, flap; (adj)
 humongous, noisy.
 bide: (v) abide, await, endure, bear, remain, last, dwell; (adj, v) tarry, wait
 moderation: (n) abstinence, abstemiousness, moderate go, move, hurry.

bulging: (*adj*) convex, bellied, bulgy, swollen, gibbous, protuberant, baggy, bellying, round, inflated, protrusive.

greaves: (*n*) jambeau, giambeux, armour plate, armor plating, armor

plate.

leggings: (n) gramashes, pedal pushers.

moderation: (n) abstinence, abstemiousness, moderateness, abatement, measure, alleviation, sobriety, patience, restraint, soberness, easing. ANTONYMS: (n) intemperance, overindulgence, excess, increase, immoderation, strength, extremism, indulgence, impatience, harshness, abandon.

rigorousness: (n) rigor, harshness, asperity, inclemency, rigour, strictness, difficulty, hardship, exactness, grimness, sternness. ANTONYMS: (n) ease, lenience, leniency, negligence.

sheathed: (adj) invaginated, enclosed. ANTONYM: (adj) unsheathed.

strenuously: (adv) energetically, zealously, arduously, severely, forcefully, earnestly, laboriously, busily, toilsomely, forwardly, hardly.

"'Ye are to declare it,' was the **parson's** words," **Fairway** continued. "And then up stood a woman at my side--a-touching of me. 'Well, be damned if there isn't Mis'ess Yeobright a-standing up,' I said to myself. Yes, **neighbours**, though I was in the temple of prayer that's what I said. 'Tis against my conscience to curse and swear in company, and I hope any woman here will overlook it. Still what I did say I did say, and 'twould be a lie if I didn't own it."

"So 'twould, neighbour Fairway."

"'Be damned if there isn't Mis'ess Yeobright a-standing up,' I said," the narrator repeated, giving out the bad word with the same **passionless** severity of face as before, which proved how entirely necessity and not **gusto** had to do with the **iteration**. "And the next thing I heard was, 'I forbid the banns,' from her. 'I'll speak to you after the service,' said the parson, in quite a **homely** way--yes, turning all at once into a common man no holier than you or I. Ah, her face was pale! Maybe you can call to mind that monument in Weatherbury church--the cross-legged soldier that have had his arm knocked away by the schoolchildren? Well, he would about have matched that woman's face, when she said, 'I forbid the banns.'"

The audience cleared their throats and tossed a few stalks into the fire, not because these deeds were urgent, but to give themselves time to weigh the moral of the story.

"I'm sure when I heard they'd been forbid I felt as glad as if anybody had gied me sixpence," said an earnest voice--that of Olly Dowden, a woman who lived by making heath brooms, or besoms. Her nature was to be civil to enemies as well as to friends, and grateful to all the world for letting her remain alive.

"And now the maid have married him just the same," said Humphrey.

"After that Mis'ess Yeobright came round and was quite agreeable," Fairway resumed, with an **unheeding** air, to show that his words were no **appendage** to Humphrey's, but the result of independent reflection.

"Supposing they were ashamed, I don't see why they shouldn't have done it here-right," said a wide-spread woman whose stays creaked like shoes whenever

Thesaurus

appendage: (n) increment, adjunct, appendix, accessory, accompaniment, annex, limb, attachment, tailpiece, extra, addendum. ANTONYM: (n) head.

fairway: (n) channel, tract, site, parcel, path, route, seaway, narrows.

gusto: (n) relish, enjoyment, zest, pleasure, gust, taste, enthusiasm, delight, delicacy, flavour; (n, v) glow. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, sluggishness.

homely: (adj) plain, common, rustic, artless, home, snug, homelike, domestic; (adj, adv) ugly; (adv) plainly, simplely. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, striking, uncomfortable, bleak.

iteration: (n) iterance, reiteration, run, succession, frequency, repeating, recurrence, rehearsal, backbone,

stereotypy, grit. **neighbours**: (*n*) neighborhood. **parson**: (*n*) cleric, clergyman, rector,

pastor, curate, preacher, ecclesiastic, divine, priest, vicar, father.

passionless: (adj) frigid, indifferent, emotionless, soulless, spiritless, dispassionate, impassive, apathetical, unimpassioned, calm, unemotional.

unheeding: (adj) regardless, heedless, inattentive, unmindful, unobservant, deaf to, unthinking, neglectful, inadvertent; (adj, n) careless; (n) incautious. ANTONYM: (adj)

she **stooped** or turned. "'Tis well to call the neighbours together and to hae a good racket once now and then; and it may as well be when there's a wedding as at tide-times. I don't care for close ways."

"Ah, now, you'd hardly believe it, but I don't care for gay weddings," said Timothy Fairway, his eyes again travelling round. "I hardly blame Thomasin Yeobright and neighbour Wildeve for doing it quiet, if I must own it. A wedding at home means five and six-handed **reels** by the hour; and they do a man's legs no good when he's over forty."

"True. Once at the woman's house you can hardly say nay to being one in a jig, knowing all the time that you be expected to make yourself worth your victuals."

"You be bound to dance at Christmas because 'tis the time o' year; you must dance at weddings because 'tis the time o' life. At christenings folk will even **smuggle** in a reel or two, if 'tis no further on than the first or second chiel. And this is not **naming** the songs you've got to sing....For my part I like a good **hearty** funeral as well as anything. You've as splendid victuals and drink as at other parties, and even better. And it don't wear your legs to stumps in talking over a poor fellow's ways as it do to stand up in hornpipes."

"Nine folks out of ten would own 'twas going too far to dance then, I suppose?" suggested Grandfer Cantle.

"Tis the only sort of party a **staid** man can feel safe at after the mug have been round a few times."

"Well, I can't understand a quiet **ladylike** little body like Tamsin Yeobright caring to be married in such a mean way," said Susan Nunsuch, the wide woman, who preferred the original subject. "'Tis worse than the **poorest** do. And I shouldn't have cared about the man, though some may say he's goodlooking."

"To give him his due he's a clever, learned fellow in his way--a'most as clever as Clym Yeobright used to be. He was brought up to better things than keeping the Quiet Woman. An engineer--that's what the man was, as we know; but he

Thesaurus

hearty: (adj) heartfelt, healthy, genial, sturdy, cheering, fervent, wholehearted, lusty, enthusiastic, convivial; (adj, n) well. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhealthy, frail, old, weak, sluggish, unwholesome, meager. ladylike: (adj) feminine, refined, gentle, womanly, genteel, maidenly, matronly, wifely, dainty, well-bred, mannerly. ANTONYM: (adj) coarse. naming: (n) appointment, identification, denomination,

appellation, nomination, indication, delegacy, assignment, mention; (*adj*, *n*) appellative; (*adj*) designating, poorest: (*adj*) lowest, least, worst. reel: (*n*, *v*) coil, roll; (*v*) waver, rock, stagger, totter, spin, teeter, falter; (*n*) bobbin, spool.

smuggle: (v) run, poach, insinuate, contraband, bootleg, sneak, mold, manage, cast, sell, shape.
staid: (adi, v) serious, sedate, grave,

staid: (*adj*, *v*) serious, sedate, grave, solemn, sober, demure; (*adj*) calm,

quiet, composed, somber, decorous. ANTONYMS: (adj) frivolous, exciting, funny, daring, playful, bright, relaxed.

stooped: (adj) hunched, stoop, stooping, crooked, bended, not straight, inclined, not erect, arched, asymmetrical, droopy.

victuals: (n) food, fare, viands, victual, edible, provender, grub, sustenance, support, diet, nutriment. threw away his chance, and so 'a took a public house to live. His learning was no use to him at all."

"Very often the case," said Olly, the besom-maker. "And yet how people do strive after it and get it! The class of folk that couldn't use to make a round O to save their bones from the pit can write their names now without a sputter of the pen, oftentimes without a single blot--what do I say?--why, almost without a desk to lean their stomachs and elbows upon."

"True--'tis amazing what a polish the world have been brought to," said Humphrey.

"Why, afore I went a soldier in the Bang-up Locals (as we was called), in the year four," chimed in Grandfer Cantle brightly, "I didn't know no more what the world was like than the commonest man among ye. And now, jown it all, I won't say what I bain't fit for, hey?"

"Couldst sign the book, no doubt," said Fairway, "if wast young enough to join hands with a woman again, like Wildeve and Mis'ess Tamsin, which is more than Humph there could do, for he follows his father in learning. Ah, Humph, well I can mind when I was married how I zid thy father's mark staring me in the face as I went to put down my name. He and your mother were the couple married just afore we were and there stood they father's cross with arms stretched out like a great banging scarecrow. What a terrible black cross that was--thy father's very likeness in en! To save my soul I couldn't help laughing when I zid en, though all the time I was as hot as dog-days, what with the marrying, and what with the woman a-hanging to me, and what with Jack Changley and a lot more chaps grinning at me through church window. But the next moment a strawmote would have knocked me down, for I called to mind that if thy father and mother had had high words once, they'd been at it twenty times since they'd been man and wife, and I zid myself as the next poor stunpoll to get into the same mess....Ah--well, what a day 'twas!"

"Wildeve is older than Tamsin Yeobright by a good-few summers. A pretty maid too she is. A young woman with a home must be a fool to tear her **smock** for a man like that."

Thesaurus

forwards, formerly, beforehand, previously; (adj) erewhile, aforehand, theretofore, preceding. brightly: (adv) vividly, luminously, radiantly, gaily, clearly, shiningly, intensely, cheerfully, smartly, bright, lustrously. ANTONYMS: (adv) gloomily, drearily, bleakly, stupidly, dully, blankly, seriously, pessimistically. chaps: (n) chops, fauces, crack.

afore: (adv) ahead, along, before,

image, affinity, similarity, correspondence, facsimile; (adj, n) figure, form, semblance. ANTONYMS: (n) difference, diversity, dissimilarity, unlikeness, oftentimes: (adv) frequently, ofttimes, oft, frequent, repeatedly, much, a great deal. ANTONYM: (adv) rarely. scarecrow: (n) hobgoblin, bugaboo, simulacrum, malkin, frump, ogre,

likeness: (n) resemblance, copy, effigy, jackstraw, shewel, goblin, ragamuffin; (adj) octopus. smock: (n) duster, shirt, chemise, gaberdine, sark, dust coat, overalls, dress, blouse, smicket, coverall. **sputter**: (v) spit, sizzle, crackle, expectorate, babble, fizz; (n, v)splutter, spatter; (n) sputtering, splatter, splash. strive: (v) endeavor, contend, contest, struggle, fight, attempt, combat,

strain, work, aspire, aim.

The speaker, a peat- or turf-cutter, who had newly joined the group, carried across his shoulder the **singular** heart-shaped **spade** of large dimensions used in that species of labour, and its well-whetted edge gleamed like a silver bow in the beams of the fire.

"A hundred maidens would have had him if he'd asked 'em," said the wide woman.

"Didst ever know a man, neighbour, that no woman at all would marry?" inquired Humphrey.

"I never did," said the turf-cutter.

"Nor I," said another.

"Nor I," said Grandfer Cantle.

"Well, now, I did once," said Timothy Fairway, adding more firmness to one of his legs. "I did know of such a man. But only once, mind." He gave his throat a thorough rake round, as if it were the duty of every person not to be mistaken through thickness of voice. "Yes, I knew of such a man," he said.

"And what ghastly gallicrow might the poor fellow have been like, Master Fairway?" asked the turf-cutter.

"Well, 'a was neither a deaf man, nor a dumb man, nor a blind man. What 'a was I don't say."

"Is he known in these parts?" said Olly Dowden.

"Hardly," said Timothy; "but I name no name....Come, keep the fire up there, youngsters."

"Whatever is Christian Cantle's teeth a-chattering for?" said a boy from amid the smoke and shades on the other side of the blaze. "Be ye a-cold, Christian?"

A thin jibbering voice was heard to reply, "No, not at all."

"Come forward, Christian, and show yourself. I didn't know you were here," said Fairway, with a humane look across towards that quarter.

Thus **requested**, a **faltering** man, with **reedy** hair, no shoulders, and a great quantity of wrist and ankle beyond his clothes, advanced a step or two by his

Thesaurus

blaze: (n, v) flash, glare, flame, mark, scintillation; (n) fire, light, burning, inflammation, sheen; (adj, v) burn. **carried**: (adj) conveyed, imported. **faltering**: (*n*) falter, pause, vacillation; (adj) tentative, vacillating, doubtful, irresolute, hesitant, uncertain, unsure; (adv) falteringly. ANTONYMS: (adj) decided, firm, eloquent, decisive, sure. **firmness**: (adj, n) constancy; (n)determination, resolution, assurance, reedy: (adj) thin, tenuous, slender,

consistency, obstinacy, steadfastness, resolve, confidence, courage, backbone. ANTONYMS: (n) softness, instability, vacillation, unsteadiness, yielding, irresoluteness, droopiness, indefiniteness, indecisiveness, indecision, leniency. rake: (n, v) tilt; (adj, v) comb; (v) hoe, harrow, graze, draw, plow; (n) debauchee, roue, slant, blood. ANTONYM: (v) glance.

slight, high, shrill, arundineous, calamiferous, lean, noisy, weak. requested: (adj) demanded. **singular**: (adj, n) extraordinary; (adj) odd, individual, particular, peculiar, phenomenal, rare, queer, single, quaint, exceptional. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, normal, together, usual, customary.

spade: (v) grub, delve, scoop, excavate; (n) nigger, coon, nigra, jigaboo, boy, black person, spit.

own will, and was pushed by the will of others half a dozen steps more. He was Grandfer Cantle's youngest son.

"What be ye **quaking** for, Christian?" said the **turf-cutter** kindly.

"I'm the man."

"What man?"

"The man no woman will marry."

"The deuce you be!" said Timothy Fairway, enlarging his gaze to cover Christian's whole surface and a great deal more, Grandfer Cantle meanwhile staring as a hen stares at the duck she has **hatched**.

"Yes, I be he; and it makes me afeard," said Christian. "D'ye think 'twill hurt me? I shall always say I don't care, and swear to it, though I do care all the while."

"Well, be damned if this isn't the queerest start ever I know'd," said Mr. Fairway. "I didn't mean you at all. There's another in the country, then! Why did ye reveal yer **misfortune**, Christian?"

"Twas to be if 'twas, I suppose. I can't help it, can I?" He turned upon them his painfully circular eyes, surrounded by **concentric** lines like targets.

"No, that's true. But 'tis a **melancholy** thing, and my blood ran cold when you spoke, for I felt there were two poor fellows where I had thought only one. 'Tis a sad thing for ye, Christian. How'st know the women won't hae thee?"

"I've asked 'em."

"Sure I should never have thought you had the face. Well, and what did the last one say to ye? Nothing that can't be got over, perhaps, after all?"

"'Get out of my sight, you slack-twisted, slim-looking maphrotight fool,' was the woman's words to me."

"Not encouraging, I own," said Fairway. "Get out of my sight, you slacktwisted, slim-looking maphrotight fool, is rather a hard way of saying No. But even that might be overcome by time and patience, so as to let a few grey hairs show themselves in the hussy's head. How old be you, Christian?"

Thesaurus

concentric: (adj) homocentric, unrelieved, coaxial, axial, focal, azygous, umbilical. **cutter**: (n) carver, knife, clipper, cutting tool, pinnace, cutting off table, foist, yawl, diner; (adj) billhook, enlarging: (adj) growing, augmenting, increscent, expanding; (n)amplification, addition. fellows: (n) fellow, membership, faculty.

hairs: (n) hair. hatched: (adj) crosshatched, born, **melancholy**: (adj, v) dreary; (adj, n)gloom, melancholic; (adj) depressed, dejected, dismal, gloomy, doleful; (n, v) low spirits; (n) gloominess, depression. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, cheerfulness, hopefulness, optimism; (adj) happy, bright, cheery, turf: (n) sward, greensward, ground, misfortune: (n) accident, hardship,

misadventure, disaster, calamity, mischance, catastrophe, mishap, bad luck, misery, affliction. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, bonus, opportunity, privilege, success, happiness. quaking: (adj) shaky, quivering,

trembling, shaking, wobbly, unsteady, jarring, vibrant, uncertain, insecure; (n) fright.

grass, field, peat, lawn, green, divot, Corso, race course.

"Thirty-one last tatie-digging, Mister Fairway."

"Not a boy--not a boy. Still there's hope yet."

"That's my age by **baptism**, because that's put down in the great book of the Judgment that they keep in church **vestry**; but Mother told me I was born some time afore I was christened."

"Ah!"

"But she couldn't tell when, to save her life, except that there was no moon."

"No moon--that's bad. Hey, neighbours, that's bad for him!"

"Yes, 'tis bad," said Grandfer Cantle, shaking his head.

"Mother know'd 'twas no moon, for she asked another woman that had an **almanac**, as she did whenever a boy was born to her, because of the saying, 'No moon, no man,' which made her afeard every man-child she had. Do ye really think it serious, Mister Fairway, that there was no moon?"

"Yes. 'No moon, no man.' 'Tis one of the truest sayings ever **spit** out. The boy never comes to anything that's born at new moon. A bad job for thee, Christian, that you should have showed your nose then of all days in the month."

"I suppose the moon was terrible full when you were born?" said Christian, with a look of hopeless admiration at Fairway.

"Well, 'a was not new," Mr. Fairway replied, with a disinterested gaze.

"I'd sooner go without drink at Lammas-tide than be a man of no moon," continued Christian, in the same shattered **recitative**. "'Tis said I be only the rames of a man, and no good for my race at all; and I suppose that's the cause o't."

"Ay," said Grandfer Cantle, somewhat **subdued** in spirit; "and yet his mother cried for scores of hours when 'a was a boy, for fear he should **outgrow** hisself and go for a soldier."

"Well, there's many just as bad as he." said Fairway.

"Wethers must live their time as well as other sheep, poor soul."

Thesaurus

almanac: (n) calendar, annual, yearbook, schedule, yearbook, almanack, record, instruction book, index, address list, annual report.

baptism: (n) affusion, aspersion, chrism, sacrament, immersion, designation, entrance, introduction, initiation, blessing; (v) baptize.

disinterested: (adj) indifferent, detached, fair, unbiased, objective, neutral, dispassionate, equitable, evenhanded, uninterested,

impassive. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) biased, interested, prejudiced, eager, passionate, riveted, concerned, partial, personal.

spew, drool, spike, spatter; (*n*) broach, saliva, cape; (*n*, *v*) skev subdued: (*adj*) quiet, muffled, dropters (*n*) overgrow, surpassion to the context of the context

outgrow: (v) overgrow, surpass, surmount, outstrip, outmatch, outgo, become overgrown, grow over, exceed, develop, outdo. recitative: (n) arioso, ballad, bravura, cantata, canticle, canzonet, carol,

cantata, canticle, canzonet, carol, ditty, pastoral, solfeggio, passage. **spit**: (v) drizzle, expectorate, sprinkle, spew, drool, spike, spatter; (n) broach, saliva, cape; (n, v) skewer. subdued: (adj) quiet, muffled, dull, restrained, muted, tame, faint, repressed, low, meek; (adj, v) resigned. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, lively, uninhibited, unsubdued, rebellious, noisy, bright, elaborate, frivolous, upbeat. vestry: (n) nave, quire, convocation, consistory, synod, choir, chapter, chancel, transept, aisle, conclave.

"So perhaps I shall rub on? Ought I to be afeared o' nights, Master Fairway?"

"You'll have to lie alone all your life; and 'tis not to married couples but to single sleepers that a ghost shows himself when 'a do come. One has been seen lately, too. A very strange one."

"No--don't talk about it if 'tis agreeable of ye not to! 'Twill make my skin crawl when I think of it in bed alone. But you will--ah, you will, I know, Timothy; and I shall dream all night o't! A very strange one? What sort of a spirit did ye mean when ye said, a very strange one, Timothy?--no, no--don't tell me."

"I don't half believe in spirits myself. But I think it **ghostly** enough--what I was told. 'Twas a little boy that zid it."

"What was it like?--no, don't--"

"A red one. Yes, most ghosts be white; but this is as if it had been **dipped** in blood."

Christian drew a deep breath without letting it expand his body, and Humphrey said, "Where has it been seen?"

"Not exactly here; but in this same heth. But 'tisn't a thing to talk about. What do ye say," continued Fairway in brisker tones, and turning upon them as if the idea had not been Grandfer Cantle's--"what do you say to giving the new man and wife a bit of a song tonight afore we go to bed--being their weddingday? When folks are just married 'tis as well to look glad o't, since looking sorry won't unjoin 'em. I am no drinker, as we know, but when the womenfolk and youngsters have gone home we can drop down across to the Quiet Woman, and strike up a ballet in front of the married folks' door. 'Twill please the young wife, and that's what I should like to do, for many's the skinful I've had at her hands when she lived with her aunt at Blooms-End."

"Hey? And so we will!" said Grandfer Cantle, turning so briskly that his copper seals swung extravagantly. "I'm as dry as a kex with biding up here in the wind, and I haven't seen the colour of drink since nammet- time today. 'Tis said that the last **brew** at the Woman is very pretty drinking. And, neighbours, if

Thesaurus

biding: (n) residence, habitation. brew: (n) beer, drink, concoction, blend, mixture, ale; (v) concoct, make, drinker: (n) tippler, drunkard, saturate, prepare, knead. ANTONYM: (v) erupt. **crawl**: (adv, v) grovel, lag; (n, v)clamber, climb; (v) sneak, fawn, cringe, teem, swarm, scramble, inch. ANTONYMS: (v) fly, rush, hurry, hasten, dart, dash, lead, soothe, dipped: (adj) immersed, unfit,

swaybacked, lordotic, curved in, swayback.

imbiber, toper, guzzler, bacchanal, bacchant, carouser, alcoholic, boozer,

extravagantly: (adv) excessively, immoderately, inordinately, luxuriously, prodigally, wastefully, profligately, profusely, ostentatiously, improvidently, unrestrainedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) economically, stingily, reasonably, meagerly, cheaply, modestly,

ghostly: (adj) uncanny, eerie, weird, spiritual, spectral, ghostlike, supernatural, macabre, phantasmal; (adj, adv) ghastly; (adv) spectrally. ANTONYMS: (adj) tangible, natural. **nights**: (adj) nightly; (n) night. twill: (adj, v) curl, wrinkle; (adj) corded, crisp; (v) braid, plexus, felt,

plat, plait, mesh; (n) cloth.

we should be a little late in the finishing, why, tomorrow's Sunday, and we can sleep it off?"

"Grandfer Cantle! you take things very careless for an old man," said the wide woman.

"I take things careless; I do--too careless to please the women! Klk! I'll sing the 'Jovial Crew,' or any other song, when a weak old man would cry his eyes out. Jown it; I am up for anything.

"The king' look'd o'-ver his left' shoul-der', And a grim' look look'-ed hee', Earl Mar'-shal, he said', but for' my oath' Or hang'-ed **thou'** shouldst bee'."

"Well, that's what we'll do," said Fairway. "We'll give 'em a song, an' it please the Lord. What's the good of Thomasin's cousin Clym a-coming home after the deed's done? He should have come afore, if so be he wanted to stop it, and marry her himself."

"Perhaps he's coming to bide with his mother a little time, as she must feel lonely now the maid's gone."

"Now, 'tis very odd, but I never feel lonely--no, not at all," said Grandfer Cantle. "I am as brave in the **nighttime** as a' admiral!"

The **bonfire** was by this time beginning to sink low, for the fuel had not been of that substantial sort which can support a blaze long. Most of the other fires within the wide horizon were also **dwindling** weak. Attentive observation of their **brightness**, colour, and length of existence would have revealed the quality of the material burnt, and through that, to some extent the natural produce of the district in which each bonfire was **situate**. The clear, **kingly effulgence** that had characterized the majority expressed a heath and furze country like their own, which in one direction extended an unlimited number of miles; the rapid flares and extinctions at other points of the compass showed the lightest of fuel---straw,

Thesaurus

bonfire: (*n*) fire, balefire, blaze, conflagration, firecracker, fireworks, salute, beacon, campfire, feu de joie, flames.

brightness: (*n*) luminance, light, shine, clarity, lustre, glow, glare, glitter, luminosity; (*n*, *v*) illumination, gloss. ANTONYMS: (*n*) cloudiness, murkiness, dimness, darkness, mistiness, softness, sadness, bleakness, dirtiness, pessimism; (*adv*) seriously.

dwindling: (adj) decreasing, declining, abating, diminishing, waning; (n) lessening, narrowing, dwindlement, shrinking; (v) dwindle; (adv) diminishingly. ANTONYMS: (n) growth; (adj) burgeoning, high.

effulgence: (n) brilliance, brightness, radiange; leave radiange, butter.

radiancy, glow, radiance, luster, burnish, glory, shine, sheen, refulgence.

kingly: (*adj*, *adv*) stately; (*adj*) August, noble, regal, imperial, sovereign,

majestic, royal; (adv) royally, majestically, regally.

nighttime: (n) night, dark, period, nightertale, darkness, iniquity; (adj) nocturnal, nightly. ANTONYM: (adj) daytime.

situate: (*v*) place, locate, put, lay, position, posit, deposit, lodge, localize, post; (*adj*, *v*) set. **thou**: (*n*) chiliad, grand, m, g, one thousand gramme gram gm

thousand, gramme, gram, gm, gigabyte, Gb, curtilage.

beanstalks, and the usual waste from arable land. The most enduring of all-steady unaltering eyes like Planets--signified wood, such as hazel-branches, thorn-faggots, and stout billets. Fires of the last-mentioned materials were rare, and though comparatively small in magnitude beside the transient blazes, now began to get the best of them by mere long continuance. The great ones had perished, but these remained. They occupied the **remotest** visible positions--sky-backed summits rising out of rich **coppice** and plantation districts to the north, where the soil was different, and heath foreign and strange.

Save one; and this was the nearest of any, the moon of the whole shining throng. It lay in a direction precisely opposite to that of the little window in the vale below. Its **nearness** was such that, notwithstanding its actual **smallness**, its glow infinitely transcended theirs.

This quiet eye had attracted attention from time to time; and when their own fire had become **sunken** and dim it attracted more; some even of the wood fires more recently **lighted** had reached their decline, but no change was perceptible here

"To be sure, how near that fire is!" said Fairway. "Seemingly. I can see a fellow of some sort walking round it. Little and good must be said of that fire, surely."

"I can throw a stone there," said the boy.

"And so can I!" said Grandfer Cantle.

"No, no, you can't, my sonnies. That fire is not much less than a mile off, for all that 'a seems so near."

"'Tis in the heath, but no furze," said the turf-cutter.

"'Tis cleft-wood, that's what 'tis," said Timothy Fairway. "Nothing would burn like that except clean timber. And 'tis on the **knap** afore the old captain's house at Mistover. Such a queer mortal as that man is! To have a little fire inside your own bank and ditch, that nobody else may enjoy it or come anigh it! And what a **zany** an old chap must be, to light a bonfire when there's no **youngsters** to please."

Thesaurus

coppice: (*n*) copse, brush, brake, underwood, thicket, wood, spinney, underbrush, undergrowth, grove, canebrake.

knap: (*v*) chip, rap, break off, cut off, break, come off; (*adj*) butte, hill alto, fell, monticle; (*n*) knoll.

lighted: (*adj*) illuminated, lit, light, ablaze, bright, ignited, burn, burning, ignite, kindled, lighten.

nearness: (*n*) closeness, contiguity, vicinity, familiarity, adjacency,

proximity, propinquity, presence, immediacy, neighborhood, nearby. ANTONYMS: (*n*) distance, farness, remoteness.

remotest: (*adj*) furthest, uttermost, endmost, extreme, last, utmost. smallness: (*n*) diminutiveness, minuteness elichtness puniness

minuteness, slightness, puniness, insignificance, scantiness, delicacy, scantness, narrowness; (adj) meagerness, slenderness.

ANTONYM: (n) tallness.

sunken: (*adj*) concave, depressed, submerged, empty, underwater, cavernous, recessed, gaunt, low, depression, submarine. ANTONYM: (*adj*) convex.

youngsters: (*n*) teenagers, young people, youth.

zany: (*adj*) foolish, silly, clownish, crazy, fool, ridiculous; (*n*) buffoon, clown, fathead, jackass, joker. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) serious, normal, sensible.

"Cap'n Vye has been for a long walk today, and is quite tired out," said Grandfer Cantle, "so 'tisn't likely to be he."

"And he would hardly afford good fuel like that," said the wide woman.

"Then it must be his granddaughter," said Fairway. "Not that a body of her age can want a fire much."

"She is very strange in her ways, living up there by herself, and such things please her," said Susan.

"She's a well-favoured maid enough," said Humphrey the furze-cutter, "especially when she's got one of her **dandy** gowns on."

"That's true," said Fairway. "Well, let her bonfire burn an't will. Ours is **well**-nigh out by the look o't."

"How dark 'tis now the fire's gone down!" said Christian Cantle, looking behind him with his hare eyes. "Don't ye think we'd better get home-along, neighbours? The heth isn't **haunted**, I know; but we'd better get home....Ah, what was that?"

"Only the wind," said the turf-cutter.

"I don't think Fifth-of-**Novembers** ought to be kept up by night except in towns. It should be by day in **outstep**, ill-accounted places like this!"

"Nonsense, Christian. Lift up your spirits like a man! Susy, dear, you and I will have a jig--hey, my honey?--before 'tis quite too dark to see how well-favoured you be still, though so many summers have passed since your husband, a son of a witch, snapped you up from me."

This was addressed to Susan Nunsuch; and the next circumstance of which the beholders were conscious was a vision of the matron's broad form **whisking** off towards the space whereon the fire had been kindled. She was lifted bodily by Mr. Fairway's arm, which had been flung round her waist before she had become aware of his intention. The site of the fire was now merely a circle of **ashes flecked** with red embers and **sparks**, the furze having burnt completely away. Once within the circle he whirled her round and round in a dance. She was a woman **noisily** constructed; in addition to her **enclosing** framework of

Thesaurus

ashes: (n) dust, cinders, remains, cinder, clay, earth, embers, clinker; (adj) scoriae, mother, precipitate. dandy: (n) beau, fop, coxcomb, dude, buck, clipper, cockscomb; (adj) nifty, capital, fine, peachy. ANTONYMS: (adj) terrible, ghastly, awful, inferior. embers: (v) cinder, ash, scoriae; (n) fire, ashes. enclosing: (n) enclose, inclosure, boxing, encasement, introduction, insertion, intromission, surrounding,

incasement, grip, envelopment. flecked: (adj) speckled, dappled, spotted, mottled, stippled, multicolored, stained, freckled, variegated, rainbow; (v) fleckered. ANTONYMS: (adj) unblemished, plain, uniform. haunted: (adj) ghostly, ghostlike, plantom, taken up, proccupied.

haunted: (adj) ghostly, ghostlike, phantom, taken up, preoccupied, possessed, unearthly, magical, mad, infatuated, concerned. noisily: (adv) clamorously, boisterously, vociferously, riotously, raucously, uproariously, loudly, blatantly, rowdily, stridently, vocally. ANTONYMS: (adv) noiselessly, silently, calmly, peacefully, softly. outstep: (v) outjump, outgo, outleap, surpass, exceed, outride, outstrip, outdo, outrival.

sparks: (n) fire.
well-nigh: (adv) nearly, most; (adj)
practically.
whisking: (adj) switchy.

whalebone and **lath**, she wore pattens summer and winter, in wet weather and in dry, to preserve her boots from wear; and when Fairway began to jump about with her, the **clicking** of the pattens, the **creaking** of the stays, and her screams of surprise, formed a very audible concert.

"I'll crack thy **numskull** for thee, you mandy chap!" said Mrs. Nunsuch, as she helplessly danced round with him, her feet playing like drumsticks among the sparks. "My ankles were all in a fever before, from walking through that **prickly** furze, and now you must make 'em worse with these vlankers!"

The **vagary** of Timothy Fairway was infectious. The turf-cutter seized old Olly Dowden, and, somewhat more gently, poussetted with her likewise. The young men were not slow to imitate the example of their elders, and seized the maids; Grandfer Cantle and his stick jigged in the form of a three-legged object among the rest; and in half a minute all that could be seen on Rainbarrow was a **whirling** of dark shapes amid a boiling confusion of sparks, which leapt around the dancers as high as their waists. The chief noises were women's shrill cries, men's laughter, Susan's stays and pattens, Olly Dowden's "heu-heu-heu!" and the strumming of the wind upon the furze-bushes, which formed a kind of tune to the **demoniac** measure they trod. Christian alone stood aloof, uneasily rocking himself as he murmured, "They ought not to do it--how the vlankers do fly! 'tis tempting the Wicked one, 'tis."

"What was that?" said one of the lads, stopping.

"Ah--where?" said Christian, hastily closing up to the rest.

The dancers all **lessened** their speed.

"'Twas behind you, Christian, that I heard it--down here."

"Yes--'tis behind me!" Christian said. "Matthew, Mark, Luke, and John, bless the bed that I lie on; four angels guard--"

"Hold your tongue. What is it?" said Fairway.

"Hoi-i-i-i!" cried a voice from the darkness.

"Halloo-o-o-o!" said Fairway.

Thesaurus

clicking: (n) tick.

creaking: (adj, v) creaky; (adj)

squeaking, harsh, screaky, noisy,
arthritic; (v) rickety; (n) screak.

demoniac: (adj) diabolic, devilish,
possessed, demoniacal, amuck,
amok, berserk, violent; (n) fiend,
monster, ogre.

lath: (*n*) fillet, spline, batten, plank, list, ribbon, strip, rod, flat timber, spill; (*v*) frame.

lessened: (adj) diminished, hurt,

lower, mitigated, pointed, tapering, vitiated, atrophied, short, attenuate, attenuated.

numskull: (n) loggerhead, blockhead, dummy, ass, bonehead, dolt, dunderhead, booby, dullard, fool, stupid.

prickly: (adj) barbed, thorny, briery, sharp, irritable, scratchy, cantankerous, spiky, biting, waspish, splenetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) easygoing, affable, easy, comfortable,

blunt, calm, gentle, mild.

vagary: (n, v) freak, crotchet, fancy,
humor; (n) fad, whim, impulse,
maggot, quirk, notion, prank.

whalebone: (n) baleen, latex,
caoutchouc, rubber, India rubber,
dice, bone, gum elastic, horn, Indian
rubber, natural rubber.

whirling: (adj) rotary, revolving,
dizzy, giddy, lightheaded, rotating,
vortical; (n) rotation, gyration,
revolution; (adj, n) swirling.

"Is there any cart track up across here to Mis'ess Yeobright's, of Blooms-End?" came to them in the same voice, as a long, slim **indistinct** figure approached the barrow.

"Ought we not to run home as hard as we can, neighbours, as 'tis getting late?" said Christian. "Not run away from one another, you know; run close together, I mean." "Scrape up a few stray locks of furze, and make a blaze, so that we can see who the man is," said Fairway.

When the flame arose it revealed a young man in tight raiment, and red from top to toe. "Is there a track across here to Mis'ess Yeobright's house?" he repeated.

"Ay--keep along the path down there."

"I mean a way two horses and a van can travel over?"

"Well, yes; you can get up the **vale** below here with time. The track is rough, but if you've got a light your horses may pick along wi' care. Have ye brought your cart far up, neighbour reddleman?"

"I've left it in the bottom, about half a mile back, I stepped on in front to make sure of the way, as 'tis night-time, and I han't been here for so long."

"Oh, well you can get up," said Fairway. "What a turn it did give me when I saw him!" he added to the whole group, the reddleman included. "Lord's sake, I thought, whatever **fiery** mommet is this come to trouble us? No slight to your looks, reddleman, for ye bain't bad-looking in the **groundwork**, though the finish is **queer**. My meaning is just to say how curious I felt. I half thought it 'twas the devil or the red ghost the boy told of."

"It gied me a turn likewise," said Susan Nunsuch, "for I had a dream last night of a death's head."

"Don't ye talk o't no more," said Christian. "If he had a **handkerchief** over his head he'd look for all the world like the Devil in the picture of the Temptation."

"Well, thank you for telling me," said the young reddleman, smiling faintly. "And good night t'ye all."

Thesaurus

fiery: (adj, n) burning, passionate, glowing; (adj) fervent, ablaze, hot, fervid, impassioned, peppery; (adj, v) fierce, violent. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, passionless, dispassionate, indifferent, placid, gentle, cool; (adv) easygoing.

groundwork: (*n*) bottom, basis, base, foundation, bed, ground, footing, bedrock, fundament, background, substructure.

handkerchief: (n) hankie, kerchief,

bandanna, cravat, hanky, wipe, bandana, collar, shawl; (*n*, *v*) napkin; (*v*) sudary

indistinct: (adj) indefinite, inarticulate, faint, dull, fuzzy, indeterminate, hazy, neutral; (adj, n) confused, cloudy, dark. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, slight, separate, certain, precise, audible, strong, definite.

queer: (*adj*) fantastic, odd, eccentric, funny, curious, gay, peculiar, strange, quaint, fishy, outlandish.

ANTONYMS: (adj) conventional, normal, well.

scrape: (*n*, *v*) scratch, graze, score, mark; (*v*) rub, pare, rake, grate, chafe, abrade; (*n*) abrasion.

stray: (v) wander, ramble, range, digress, straggle, meander, depart, deviate, rove, drift, err. ANTONYM: (v) settle.

vale: (n) dale, glen, hollow, ravine, dingle, vail, valediction, earth, holler, dell, gully. ANTONYM: (n) hill. He withdrew from their sight down the barrow.

"I fancy I've seen that young man's face before," said Humphrey. "But where, or how, or what his name is, I don't know."

The reddleman had not been gone more than a few minutes when another person approached the partially revived bonfire. It proved to be a well-known and respected widow of the neighbourhood, of a standing which can only be expressed by the word genteel. Her face, **encompassed** by the **blackness** of the receding heath, showed **whitely**, and with-out half-lights, like a **cameo**.

She was a woman of middle-age, with **well**-formed features of the type usually found where **perspicacity** is the chief quality enthroned within. At moments she seemed to be regarding issues from a Nebo denied to others around. She had something of an estranged **mien**; the solitude exhaled from the heath was concentrated in this face that had risen from it. The air with which she looked at the heathmen betokened a certain **unconcern** at their presence, or at what might be their opinions of her for walking in that lonely spot at such an hour, thus indirectly implying that in some respect or other they were not up to her level. The explanation lay in the fact that though her husband had been a small farmer she herself was a curate's daughter, who had once dreamt of doing better things.

Persons with any weight of character carry, like planets, their atmospheres along with them in their orbits; and the matron who entered now upon the scene could, and usually did, bring her own tone into a company. Her normal manner among the heathfolk had that reticence which results from the consciousness of superior communicative power. But the effect of coming into society and light after lonely wandering in darkness is a **sociability** in the comer above its usual pitch, expressed in the features even more than in words.

"Why, 'tis Mis'ess Yeobright," said Fairway. "Mis'ess Yeobright, not ten minutes ago a man was here asking for you--a reddleman."

"What did he want?" said she.

"He didn't tell us."

Thesaurus

blackness: (n) black, darkness, sable, gloom, nigritude, night, inkiness, dark, murk, murkiness, obscurity. cameo: (n) relief, relievo, anaglyph, jewelry, chiaroscuro, camaieu. encompassed: (adj) bounded. mien: (n, v) deportment, carriage, bearing, demeanor; (n) look, countenance, appearance, guise, manner, aspect, air. perspicacity: (n) intelligence, judgment, insight, discrimination,

astuteness, judgement, discernment, shrewdness, perception, wisdom; (adj) penetration. ANTONYMS: (n) stupidity, dullness.

asciability: (n) conviviality, joviality, affability, openness, extroversion, comradery, ambiversion, camaraderie, civility, amicability; (adj) sociality. ANTONYMS: (n) unfriendliness, hostility, unsociability, reserve, rudeness. unconcern: (n) apathy, nonchalance,

insouciance, coldness, detachment, impassiveness, insensibility, disregard, phlegm, carelessness, lethargy. ANTONYMS: (n) responsiveness, worry, anxiety, interest.

well-formed: (adj) symmetrical, beautiful, shapely.

whitely: (adv) ashenly, bloodlessly, pallidly, silverly, hoarily, purely, achromatically, graily, brightly, goodly, silverily. "Something to sell, I suppose; what it can be I am at a loss to understand."

"I am glad to hear that your son Mr. Clym is coming home at Christmas, ma'am," said Sam, the turf-cutter. "What a dog he used to be for bonfires!"

"Yes. I believe he is coming," she said.

"He must be a fine fellow by this time," said Fairway.

"He is a man now," she replied quietly.

"'Tis very **lonesome** for 'ee in the heth tonight, mis'ess," said Christian, coming from the **seclusion** he had hitherto maintained. "Mind you don't get lost. Egdon Heth is a bad place to get lost in, and the winds do huffle queerer tonight than ever I **heard** 'em afore. Them that know Egdon best have been pixy-led here at times."

"Is that you, Christian?" said Mrs. Yeobright. "What made you hide away from me?"

"'Twas that I didn't know you in this light, mis'ess; and being a man of the mournfullest make, I was scared a little, that's all. Oftentimes if you could see how terrible down I get in my mind, 'twould make 'ee quite nervous for fear I should die by my hand."

"You don't take after your father," said Mrs. Yeobright, looking towards the fire, where Grandfer Cantle, with some want of originality, was dancing by himself among the sparks, as the others had done before.

"Now, Grandfer," said Timothy Fairway, "we are ashamed of ye. A **reverent** old patriarch man as you be--seventy if a day--to go hornpiping like that by yourself!"

"A **harrowing** old man, Mis'ess Yeobright," said Christian **despondingly**. "I wouldn't live with him a week, so playward as he is, if I could get away."

"Twould be more **seemly** in ye to stand still and welcome Mis'ess Yeobright, and you the venerablest here, Grandfer Cantle," said the besom-woman.

"Faith, and so it would," said the reveller checking himself **repentantly**. "I've such a bad memory, Mis'ess Yeobright, that I forget how I'm looked up to by the

Thesaurus

despondingly: (adv) sombrely.
harrowing: (adj) agonizing,
excruciating, painful, distressing,
torturous, disturbing, tormenting,
traumatic, frightful, terrible; (v)
rending. ANTONYMS: (adj)
heartening, pleasing, safe.
heard: (n) hearing.
lonesome: (adj) lone, desolate, forlorn,
dreary, dismal, solitary, secluded,
gloomy, unfrequented; (adj, n)
isolated, alone. ANTONYM: (n) foe.

repentantly: (adv) remorsefully, contritely, sorrily, regretfully, penitentially, ruefully, apologetically, sorrowfully, diffidently, ashamedly. ANTONYM: (adv) impenitently. reverent: (adj, v) pious, devout, religious; (adj) respectful, holy, deferential, godly, reverential, worshipful, pietistic; (v) devotional. ANTONYMS: (adj) blasphemous, disrespectful, impious, irreverent. seclusion: (n) retreat, segregation,

retirement, isolation, secrecy, concealment, insulation, separation, hermitage; (adj, n) solitude, loneliness. ANTONYMS: (n) company, closeness, inclusion. seemly: (adj, v) befitting, becoming; (adj, adv) comely; (adj) respectable, decorous, decent, fitting, fit, appropriate; (adv) becomingly, properly. ANTONYMS: (adj) unseemly, unbecoming, unsuitable, inappropriate.

rest of 'em. My **spirits** must be wonderful good, you'll say? But not always. 'Tis a weight upon a man to be looked up to as **commander**, and I often feel it."

"I am sorry to stop the talk," said Mrs. Yeobright. "But I must be leaving you now. I was passing down the Anglebury Road, towards my **niece's** new home, who is returning tonight with her husband; and seeing the bonfire and **hearing** Olly's voice among the rest I came up here to learn what was going on. I should like her to walk with me, as her way is mine."

"Ay, sure, **ma'am**, I'm just thinking of moving," said Olly.

"Why, you'll be safe to meet the reddleman that I told ye of," said Fairway. "He's only gone back to get his van. We heard that your niece and her husband were coming straight home as soon as they were married, and we are going down there shortly, to give 'em a song o' welcome."

"Thank you indeed," said Mrs. Yeobright.

"But we shall take a **shorter** cut through the furze than you can go with long clothes; so we won't trouble you to wait."

"Very well--are you ready, Olly?"

"Yes, ma'am. And there's a light **shining** from your niece's window, see. It will help to keep us in the path."

She **indicated** the **faint** light at the bottom of the valley which Fairway had pointed out; and the two **women descended** the tumulus.

Thesaurus

pungent, invigorated, hearty,

commander: (n) chief, leader, commandant, head, governor, chieftain, commanding officer, conductor, major, skipper, master. ANTONYMS: (n) underling, follower, subordinate.

descended: (v) extraught.
faint: (adj, n, v) swoon; (adj) dim, feeble, dizzy, indistinct, vague, soft, dull; (adj, v) weak; (v) languish, pass out. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinct, clear, obvious, loud, considerable,

energetic, defined; (v) revive.

hearing: (n) audition, ear, auditory
sense, trial, consultation, reach,
auscultation, inquiry; (n, v) earshot,
sound; (adj, n) audience.
indicated: (adj) numbered.
ma'am: (n) lady, madam,
gentlewoman, milady, woman,
madame, Grande dame, doll, chick,
brothel keeper, bird.
niece: (n) grandniece, aunt, brother's

daughter, uncle, kinswoman.

shining: (adj, v) brilliant; (adj) lustrous, radiant, glossy, luminous, glorious, glowing; (adj, n) lucid, resplendent, clear; (v) shine. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, pale, blemished.

shorter: (adj) smaller, inferior.

spirits: (n) alcohol, booze, humor, frame of mind, liqueur, strong drink, hard drink; (adj) cheer, geniality, good humor; (v) wine.

women: (n) sex, gentle sex.

4

THE HALT ON THE TURNPIKE ROAD

Down, downward they **went**, and yet further down--their descent at each step seeming to outmeasure their advance. Their skirts were scratched noisily by the furze, their shoulders **brushed** by the ferns, which, though dead and dry, stood erect as when alive, no sufficient winter weather having as yet arrived to beat them down. Their Tartarean situation might by some have been called an **imprudent** one for two **unattended** women. But these **shaggy recesses** were at all seasons a familiar surrounding to Olly and Mrs. Yeobright; and the addition of darkness lends no **frightfulness** to the face of a friend.

"And so Tamsin has married him at last," said Olly, when the incline had become so much less steep that their foot-steps no longer required **undivided** attention.

Mrs. Yeobright answered slowly, "Yes; at last."

"How you will miss her--living with 'ee as a daughter, as she always have."

"I do miss her."

Olly, though without the tact to perceive when remarks were **untimely**, was saved by her very simplicity from rendering them offensive. Questions that

Thesaurus

brushed: (adj) napped, fleecy.
frightfulness: (n) dreadfulness,
horror, horridness, terribleness,
terror, gruesomeness, ghastliness,
grimness, atrociousness. ANTONYM:
(n) pleasantness.

imprudent: (adj) foolish, foolhardy, indiscreet, hasty, improvident, impolitic, heedless, unadvised, injudicious, unwary, unwise.

ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, prudent, cautious, wise, deliberate, discreet,

guarded, judicious, advisable. recesses: (n) penetralia, bowels, inside. shaggy: (adi) bushy, hirsute, hairy, bearded, shagged, pilous, brushy, unkempt, hispid; (adi, n) ragged; (n) rugged. ANTONYMS: (adj) sleek, tidv.

unattended: (adj) ignored, neglected, alone, solitary, abandoned, disregarded, not safeguarded, lonely. undivided: (adj) complete, whole, unbroken, total, single, integral, continuous, united, full, exclusive, solid. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, separate, broken, imperfect, individual.

untimely: (adj) early, unseasonable, inopportune, inappropriate, awkward, immature, previous, ill timed, inconvenient, improper, belated. ANTONYMS: (adj) timely, appropriate, opportune, convenient, overdue.

went: (v) walked, proceeded.

would have been resented in others she could ask with impunity. accounted for Mrs. Yeobright's acquiescence in the revival of an evidently sore subject.

"I was quite strook to hear you'd agreed to it, ma'am, that I was," continued the besom-maker.

"You were not more struck by it than I should have been last year this time, Olly. There are a good many sides to that wedding. I could not tell you all of them, even if I tried."

"I felt myself that he was hardly solid-going enough to mate with your family. Keeping an inn--what is it? But 'a's clever, that's true, and they say he was an engineering gentleman once, but has come down by being too outwardly given."

"I saw that, upon the whole, it would be better she should marry where she wished."

"Poor little thing, her feelings got the better of her, no doubt. 'Tis nature. Well, they may call him what they will--he've several acres of heth-ground broke up here, besides the public house, and the heth-croppers, and his manners be quite like a gentleman's. And what's done cannot be undone."

"It cannot," said Mrs. Yeobright. "See, here's the wagon-track at last. Now we shall get along better."

The wedding subject was no further dwelt upon; and soon a faint diverging path was reached, where they parted company, Olly first begging her companion to remind Mr. Wildeve that he had not sent her sick husband the bottle of wine promised on the occasion of his marriage. The besom-maker turned to the left towards her own house, behind a spur of the hill, and Mrs. Yeobright followed the straight track, which further on joined the highway by the Quiet Woman Inn, whither she supposed her niece to have returned with Wildeve from their wedding at Anglebury that day.

She first reached Wildeve's Patch, as it was called, a plot of land redeemed from the heath, and after long and laborious years brought into cultivation. The

Thesaurus

acquiescence: (n) compliance, consent, resignation, permission, sanction, approval, accord, agreement, submission, conformity; (n, v) assent. **impunity**: (n) impune, come off, ANTONYMS: (n) disagreement, insubordination, rebellion, defiance,

begging: (n) mendicancy, request, plea; (v) asking, beg; (adj) beseeching, entreating, mendicant, imploring, suppliant, vagabond. diverging: (adj) branching,

divergingly, centrifugal, divaricate, dwelt: (v) dwell, inhabit. freedom, immunity, permission, outwardly: (adv) exteriorly, superficially, apparently, outside, seemingly, without, ostensibly, evidently, extrinsically, outerly, outsidely. ANTONYMS: (adv) internally, underneath.

redeemed: (adj) ransomed, blessed. remind: (v) recollect, prompt, recall, commemorate, call up, memorialize, hint, jog, inform, think; (n, v) mind. **spur**: (*n*) inducement, incentive, forgiveness. ANTONYM: (n) liability. impulse, stimulus; (n, v) prod, prick, incite, prompt; (v) provoke, impel, animate. ANTONYMS: (n) discouragement, disincentive, deterrent; (v) calm, delay, inhibit. whither: (adv) hither, thither, whereunto, whereto, for.

man who had discovered that it could be tilled died of the labour; the man who succeeded him in possession **ruined** himself in **fertilizing** it. Wildeve came like Amerigo Vespucci, and received the **honours** due to those who had gone before.

When Mrs. Yeobright had drawn near to the inn, and was about to enter, she saw a horse and vehicle some two hundred yards beyond it, coming towards her, a man walking alongside with a **lantern** in his hand. It was soon evident that this was the reddleman who had inquired for her. Instead of **entering** the inn at once, she **walked** by it and towards the van.

The **conveyance** came close, and the man was about to pass her with little notice, when she turned to him and said, "I think you have been **inquiring** for me? I am Mrs. Yeobright of Blooms-End."

The reddleman started, and held up his finger. He stopped the horses, and beckoned to her to **withdraw** with him a few yards aside, which she did, wondering.

"You don't know me, ma'am, I suppose?" he said.

"I do not," said she. "Why, yes, I do! You are young Venn--your father was a dairyman somewhere here?"

"Yes; and I knew your niece, Miss Tamsin, a little. I have something bad to tell you."

"About her--no! She has just come home, I believe, with her husband. They arranged to return this afternoon--to the inn beyond here."

"She's not there."

"How do you know?"

"Because she's here. She's in my van," he added slowly.

"What new trouble has come?" murmured Mrs. Yeobright, putting her hand over her eyes.

"I can't explain much, ma'am. All I know is that, as I was going along the road this morning, about a mile out of Anglebury, I heard something trotting after me

Thesaurus

conveyance: (*n*) transfer, vehicle, assignment, alienation, transference, delivery, transportation, negotiation, portage; (*n*, *v*) carriage, ecstasy. dairyman: (*n*) granger, fieldhand, husbandman, sodbuster, farmhand, farmer, milkman. entering: (*n*) entry, entrance,

entering: (n) entry, entrance, admission, enrollment, penetration, ingress, registration, encroachment, entree; (adj, n) incoming; (v) go in. fertilizing: (n) fertilization, farming. **honours**: (*n*) first, honors, degree, academic degree. **inquiring**: (*adi*) inquisitive, quizzi

inquiring: (adj) inquisitive, quizzical, interested, analytical, probing, intrusive; (adj, n) questioning; (v) inquire; (n) enquiry, question, examination. ANTONYM: (adj) uninquiring.

uninquiring. **lantern**: (*n*) beacon, light, dormer, tube, lighting fitting, bedside light, street light, street lamp, oil lamp, lime light, lanthorn.

ruined: (adj, v) lost; (adj) dilapidated, desolate, broke, broken, bankrupt, finished, devastated, desolated, insolvent, spoiled. ANTONYMS: (adj) solvent, pure, rich, whole.

walked: (adj) exempt; (v) yode.

withdraw: (v) retire, remove, retract, retreat, abandon, pull out, disengage, draw, cancel, leave, recede.

ANTONYMS: (v) propose, give, advance, extend, offer, deposit, remain, engage, allow, permit, stay.

like a doe, and looking round there she was, white as death itself. 'Oh, Diggory Venn!' she said, 'I thought 'twas you--will you help me? I am in trouble.'"

"How did she know your Christian name?" said Mrs. Yeobright doubtingly.

"I had met her as a lad before I went away in this trade. She asked then if she might ride, and then down she fell in a faint. I picked her up and put her in, and there she has been ever since. She has cried a good deal, but she has hardly spoke; all she has told me being that she was to have been married this morning. I tried to get her to eat something, but she couldn't; and at last she fell asleep."

"Let me see her at once," said Mrs. Yeobright, hastening towards the van.

The reddleman followed with the lantern, and, stepping up first, assisted Mrs. Yeobright to mount beside him. On the door being opened she perceived at the end of the van an **extemporized** couch, around which was hung apparently all the **drapery** that the reddleman possessed, to keep the **occupant** of the little couch from contact with the red materials of his trade. A young girl lay **thereon**, covered with a cloak. She was asleep, and the light of the lantern fell upon her features.

A fair, sweet, and honest country face was revealed, **reposing** in a nest of wavy chestnut hair. It was between pretty and beautiful. Though her eyes were closed, one could easily imagine the light necessarily shining in them as the culmination of the luminous workmanship around. The groundwork of the face was **hopefulness**; but over it now I ay like a foreign substance a film of anxiety and grief. The grief had been there so shortly as to have **abstracted** nothing of the bloom, and had as yet but given a dignity to what it might eventually undermine. The scarlet of her lips had not had time to **abate**, and just now it appeared still more intense by the absence of the neighbouring and more transient colour of her cheek. The lips frequently parted, with a murmur of words. She seemed to belong rightly to a madrigal--to require viewing through rhyme and harmony.

One thing at least was obvious: she was not made to be looked at thus. The reddleman had appeared conscious of as much, and, while Mrs. Yeobright looked in upon her, he cast his eyes aside with a delicacy which well became

Thesaurus

abate: (v) bate, weaken, decline, remit, slack, slake, wane, relax, lessen, diminish, allay. ANTONYMS: (v) rise, grow, magnify, surge, intensify, expand, enlarge, enhance, amplify, prolong, extend.
abstracted: (adj) absentminded, expected abstract

abstracted: (adj) absentminded, separate, absent-minded, abstract, distrait, inattentive, pensive, preoccupied, remote, lost, vacant. ANTONYM: (adj) alert.

drapery: (n) drape, clothing, dress,

blind, raiment, costume, toilette, furnishings, trim, guise, toilet. extemporized: (adj) impromptu, unarranged, unrehearsed, unprepared, unplanned, informal, ad lib, ad-lib, spontaneous, off the cuff, unpremeditated.

hastening: (n) quickening, speed, hurrying, speeding up, faster, fast, stepping up.

hopefulness: (*n*) optimism, anticipation, hope, confidence,

enthusiasm, aspiration, buoyancy, cheerfulness, condition, happiness, heart of grace. ANTONYMS: (n) despair, disappointment, pessimism. occupant: (n) tenant, inhabitant, dweller, denizen, occupier, inmate, holder, citizen, householder, dalesman, coaster.

reposing: (adi) calm, asleep.

thereon: (*adv*) on that, thereupon, afterward, at once, early, immediately, therefore.

him. The **sleeper** apparently thought so too, for the next moment she opened her own.

The lips then parted with something of anticipation, something more of doubt; and her several thoughts and fractions of thoughts, as signalled by the changes on her face, were exhibited by the light to the utmost **nicety**. An **ingenuous**, transparent life was disclosed, as if the flow of her existence could be seen passing within her. She understood the scene in a moment.

"O yes, it is I, Aunt," she cried. "I know how frightened you are, and how you cannot believe it; but all the same, it is I who have come home like this!"

"Tamsin, Tamsin!" said Mrs. Yeobright, **stooping** over the young woman and kissing her. "O my dear girl!"

Thomasin was now on the verge of a sob, but by an unexpected **self**-command she uttered no sound. With a gentle **panting** breath she sat upright.

"I did not expect to see you in this state, any more than you me," she went on quickly. "Where am I, Aunt?"

"Nearly home, my dear. In Egdon Bottom. What dreadful thing is it?"

"I'll tell you in a moment. So near, are we? Then I will get out and walk. I want to go home by the path."

"But this kind man who has done so much will, I am sure, take you right on to my house?" said the aunt, turning to the reddleman, who had withdrawn from the front of the van on the **awakening** of the girl, and stood in the road.

"Why should you think it necessary to ask me? I will, of course," said he.

"He is indeed kind," murmured Thomasin. "I was once **acquainted** with him, Aunt, and when I saw him today I thought I should prefer his van to any conveyance of a stranger. But I'll walk now. Reddleman, stop the horses, please."

The man regarded her with tender reluctance, but stopped them

Thesaurus

acquainted: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, aware, cognizant, conversant, hand and glove, intimate, thick; (adv) abreast; (v) inform, acquaint.

awakening: (n) arousal, waking up,

awakening: (n) arousal, waking up, revival, disenchantment, awakenment, introduction, provocation; (adj) arousing, moving, animating; (v) awake. ANTONYM: (n) suppression.

ingenuous: (adj, n) frank; (adj) naive,

guileless, honest, forthright, innocent, straight, artless, downright, green, hearty. ANTONYMS: (adj) disingenuous, dishonest, cunning, sophisticated, scheming, worldly, jaded, hesitant, experienced.

nicety: (n) detail, exactness, fastidiousness, nuance, refinement, exactitude, justness, precision, correctness, daintiness, elegance.

panting: (adj) gasping, breattless,

blown, winded, puffed; (v)

palpitation; (*n*) heaving, gasp, asthma, heave, puff. **self-command**: (*n*) self-control, selfgovernment, self-restraint, discipline,

sleeper: (n) railroad tie, crosstie, tie, noctambulist, baggage car, slumberer, dreamer, Pullman car, freight car, parlor car, express car. stooping: (adj) hunched, crooked, asymmetrical, not erect, not straight, corrupt; (n) patronage.

Aunt and niece then descended from the van, Mrs. Yeobright saying to its owner, "I quite recognize you now. What made you change from the nice business your father left you?"

"Well, I did," he said, and looked at Thomasin, who blushed a little. "Then you'll not be wanting me any more tonight, ma'am?"

Mrs. Yeobright glanced around at the dark sky, at the hills, at the **perishing** bonfires, and at the lighted window of the inn they had neared. "I think not," she said, "since Thomasin **wishes** to walk. We can soon run up the path and reach home--we know it well."

And after a few further words they **parted**, the reddleman moving **onwards** with his van, and the two women remaining standing in the road. As soon as the vehicle and its driver had **withdrawn** so far as to be beyond all possible reach of her voice, Mrs. Yeobright turned to her niece.

"Now, Thomasin," she said **sternly**, "what's the meaning of this **disgraceful** performance?"

Thesaurus

disgraceful: (adj) dishonorable, scandalous, shocking, degrading, disreputable, infamous, base, ignominious, outrageous, black, ignoble. ANTONYMS: (adj) admirable, honorable, reputable, exalted, commendable, respectable, noble, glorious.

onwards: (adv) onward, ahead, forward, forwards, forrader, forth, before, frontward, frontwards, in anticipation; (adj) beyond. parted: (adj) divided, separate, distributed, separated, divisible, disunited, compounder, compound, dividable.

perishing: (*adj*) chilly, cold and damp, crumbly, starving, inclement; (*n*) decay.

sternly: (adv) severely, strictly, austerely, harshly, rigidly, grimly, rigorously, stringently, seriously, relentlessly, solemnly. ANTONYMS: (adv) leniently, lightheartedly, kindly,

warmly, cheerfully.
wishes: (n) desires, requirements, requests, needs, will.
withdrawn: (adj) reserved, retiring, solitary, indrawn, cloistered, reclusive, uncommunicative, taciturn, unsociable, lonely, shy.
ANTONYMS: (adj) visible, forthcoming, forward, friendly, known, sociable, uninhibited, extroverted, seen, approachable, extrovert

5

PERPLEXITY AMONG HONEST PEOPLE

Thomasin looked as if quite overcome by her aunt's change of manner. "It means just what it seems to mean: I am--not married," she replied **faintly**. "Excuse me--for **humiliating** you, Aunt, by this mishap--I am sorry for it. But I cannot help it."

"Me? Think of yourself first."

"It was nobody's fault. When we got there the parson wouldn't marry us because of some trifling **irregularity** in the license."

"What irregularity?"

"I don't know. Mr. Wildeve can explain. I did not think when I went away this morning that I should come back like this." It being dark, Thomasin allowed her **emotion** to escape her by the silent way of tears, which could roll down her cheek unseen.

"I could almost say that it serves you right—if I did not feel that you don't **deserve** it," continued Mrs. Yeobright, who, **possessing** two distinct moods in close contiguity, a gentle mood and an angry, flew from one to the other without the least warning. "Remember, Thomasin, this business was none of my seeking;

Thesaurus

deserve: (v) rate, warrant, gain, earn, to deserve, demand, justify, bear; (n, v) reward; (n) richly deserve, worth. emotion: (n) love, feeling, passion, heart, commotion, mood, pathos, excitement, sensibility; (n, v) sensation; (v) impression.

ANTONYMS: (n) detachment, coldness, unfeelingness, calmness. faintly: (adv) dimly, vaguely, indistinctly, lightly, weakly, hazily, slightly, softly, shadowily, infirmly,

palely. ANTONYMS: (*adv*) clearly, intensely, distinctly, overpoweringly, harshly, considerably, powerfully, strongly, brightly, obviously, audibly.

humiliating: (adj) humbling, embarrassing, mortifying, demeaning, shameful, disgraceful, ignominious, abject, dishonorable; (v) humiliate; (n) infra dignitatem. ANTONYMS: (adj) dignified, honorable, glorious, reassuring, mild.

irregularity: (n) abnormality, anomaly, eccentricity, inequality, deviation, aberration, constipation, exception, unevenness, variation; (adj, n) deformity. ANTONYMS: (n) symmetry, normality, regularity, dependability, equality, frequency, evenness, consistency, predictability, smoothness.

possessing: (adj) fruitive.

from the very first, when you began to feel **foolish** about that man, I warned you he would not make you happy. I felt it so strongly that I did what I would never have believed myself capable of doing--stood up in the church, and made myself the public talk for weeks. But having once consented, I don't submit to these **fancies** without good reason. Marry him you must after this."

"Do you think I wish to do otherwise for one moment?" said Thomasin, with a heavy **sigh**. "I know how wrong it was of me to love him, but don't pain me by talking like that, Aunt! You would not have had me stay there with him, would you?—and your house is the only home I have to return to. He says we can be married in a day or two."

"I wish he had never seen you."

"Very well; then I will be the miserablest woman in the world, and not let him see me again. No, I won't have him!"

"It is too late to speak so. Come with me. I am going to the inn to see if he has returned. Of course I shall get to the bottom of this story at once. Mr. Wildeve must not suppose he can play **tricks** upon me, or any belonging to me."

"It was not that. The **license** was wrong, and he couldn't get another the same day. He will tell you in a moment how it was, if he comes."

"Why didn't he bring you back?"

"That was me!" again sobbed Thomasin. "When I found we could not be married I didn't like to come back with him, and I was very ill. Then I saw Diggory Venn, and was glad to get him to take me home. I cannot explain it any better, and you must be angry with me if you will."

"I shall see about that," said Mrs. Yeobright; and they turned towards the inn, known in the **neighbourhood** as the Quiet Woman, the sign of which represented the figure of a **matron** carrying her head under her arm, beneath which **gruesome** design was written the **couplet** so well known to frequenters of the inn:--

SINCE THE WOMAN'S QUIET

Thesaurus

couplet: (n) distich, verse, twosome, stanza, pair, canto, rhyme, triplet, quatrain, deuce, two. fancies: (n) stock. foolish: (adj) childish, fool, crazy, dumb, daft, fatuous, stupid, unwise, preposterous, dopey; (adj, n) silly. ANTONYMS: (adj) wise, sensible, shrewd, prudent, visionary, diplomatic, levelheaded, sane, rational, mature, judicious. gruesome: (adj) ghastly, terrible,

grisly, macabre, appalling, grim, horrendous, monstrous, forbidding, dreadful, dire. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, lovely, wonderful. license: (n, v) permit, allow, licence; (n) allowance, freedom, permission, liberty, authority, authorization, certificate; (v) certify. ANTONYMS: (v) decertify; (n) restriction. matron: (n) lady, head nurse, dame, housewife, dowager, woman, wife, Donna Belle, matriarch, married

woman; (v) matronhood. ANTONYM: (n) patron. neighbourhood: (n) neighborhood, adjacency, locality, near, nearness, proximity, place, community, street, vicinity, nearby.

sigh: (*n*, *v*) groan, suspire, murmur; (*v*) breathe, languish, pine; (*n*) breath, wail, whinper, whine, suspiration. **tricks**: (*n*) actions, behavior, thing, clowning around, fooling, magic, plunder, possession, activities.

LET NO MAN BREED A RIOT.

The front of the house was towards the heath and Rainbarrow, whose dark shape seemed to threaten it from the sky. Upon the door was a neglected brass plate, bearing the unexpected inscription, "Mr. Wildeve, Engineer"--a useless yet cherished relic from the time when he had been started in that profession in an office at Budmouth by those who had hoped much from him, and had been disappointed. The garden was at the back, and behind this ran a still deep stream, forming the margin of the heath in that direction, meadow-land appearing beyond the stream.

But the thick obscurity permitted only skylines to be visible of any scene at present. The water at the back of the house could be heard, idly spinning whirpools in its creep between the rows of dry feather-headed reeds which formed a stockade along each bank. Their presence was denoted by sounds as of a congregation praying humbly, produced by their rubbing against each other in the slow wind.

The window, whence the **candlelight** had shone up the vale to the eyes of the bonfire group, was uncurtained, but the sill lay too high for a pedestrian on the outside to look over it into the room. A vast shadow, in which could be dimly traced portions of a masculine contour, blotted half the ceiling.

"He seems to be at home," said Mrs. Yeobright.

"Must I come in, too, Aunt?" asked Thomasin faintly. "I suppose not; it would be wrong."

"You must come, certainly--to confront him, so that he may make no false representations to me. We shall not be five minutes in the house, and then we'll walk home."

Entering the open passage, she tapped at the door of the private parlour, unfastened it, and looked in.

Thesaurus

candlelight: (adj) rushlight, firelight, starlight; (n) candlelighting. contour: (n) contour line, outline, form, profile, shape, line, configuration, silhouette, curve, circuit, edge. ANTONYM: (n) core. humbly: (adv) lowly, meanly, modestly, submissively, low, shyly, lowlily, naturally, regretfully, remorsefully, repentantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) conceitedly, haughtily, pompously,

ostentatiously, unrepentantly, affluently, brashly, pretentiously. praying: (n) prayer. reeds: (n) Poaceae, grass family, Graminaceae, family Gramineae, family Graminaceae, bamboo, Gramineae. relic: (n, v) memento, souvenir, keepsake; (n) token, trace, remainder,

remains, antique, relict, vestige,

stockade: (n) fence, penal institution,

fortification, concentration camp, enclosure, penitentiary, prison, barricade, parapet, laager; (v) haha. traced: (adj) graphic. uncurtained: (adj) curtainless. ANTONYM: (adj) curtained. unfastened: (adj) open, movable, loose, unbuttoned, overt, opened, opened out, slack, undecided, undetermined, assailable. ANTONYMS: (adj) buttoned, fixed, The back and shoulders of a man came between Mrs. Yeobright's eyes and the fire. Wildeve, whose form it was, immediately turned, **arose**, and advanced to meet his visitors.

He was quite a young man, and of the two properties, form and motion, the latter first attracted the eye in him. The grace of his movement was singular--it was the **pantomimic** expression of a lady-killing career. Next came into notice the more material qualities, among which was a **profuse** crop of hair **impending** over the top of his face, **lending** to his forehead the high-cornered outline of an early Gothic shield; and a neck which was smooth and round as a cylinder. The lower half of his figure was of light build. Altogether he was one in whom no man would have seen anything to **admire**, and in whom no woman would have seen anything to dislike.

He discerned the young girl's form in the passage, and said, "Thomasin, then, has reached home. How could you leave me in that way, darling?" And turning to Mrs. Yeobright--"It was useless to argue with her. She would go, and go alone."

"But what's the meaning of it all?" demanded Mrs. Yeobright haughtily.

"Take a seat," said Wildeve, placing **chairs** for the two women. "Well, it was a very stupid mistake, but such mistakes will happen. The license was useless at Anglebury. It was made out for Budmouth, but as I didn't read it I wasn't aware of that."

"But you had been staying at Anglebury?"

"No. I had been at Budmouth--till two days ago--and that was where I had intended to take her; but when I came to fetch her we decided upon Anglebury, forgetting that a new license would be necessary. There was not time to get to Budmouth afterwards."

"I think you are very much to blame," said Mrs. Yeobright.

"It was quite my fault we chose Anglebury," Thomasin pleaded. "I proposed it because I was not known there."

Thesaurus

admire: (v) revere, look up to, idolize, appreciate, adore, wonder, praise, worship, admiring, esteem, honor. ANTONYMS: (v) despise, loathe, scorn, hate, condemn, abhor, disrespect, detest, disregard, disapprove, deprecate.

arose: (v) happen, occur.

chairs: (n) seats.

forgetting: (v) forget; (adj) oblivious; (n) disregard.

haughtily: (adv) proudly, loftily,

superciliously, imperiously, overbearingly, scontfully, condescendingly, snobbishly, disdainfully, superiorly, pompously. ANTONYMS: (adv) humbly, modestly, feebly, meekly. impending: (adj) forthcoming, close, future, coming, approaching, near, prospective, pending, at hand, upcoming, threatening. ANTONYMS: (adj) distant, unlikely, past.

lending: (n) lend, loaning, borrowing, usury, disposal, disposition.
pantomimic: (v) pathognomonic, symptomatic, representative, symbolic, typical; (adj) pantomime, emblematic, diagnostic, armorial.
profuse: (adj, n) generous, liberal; (adj) plentiful, ample, copious, lavish, bounteous, exuberant, excessive, full, prodigal. ANTONYMS: (adj) sparse, meager, thin, scanty, restrained, unhealthy, small.

"I know so well that I am to blame that you need not remind me of it," replied Wildeve shortly.

"Such things don't happen for nothing," said the aunt. "It is a great slight to me and my family; and when it gets known there will be a very unpleasant time for us. How can she look her friends in the face tomorrow? It is a very great injury, and one I cannot easily forgive. It may even reflect on her character."

"Nonsense," said Wildeve.

Thomasin's large eyes had flown from the face of one to the face of the other during this discussion, and she now said anxiously, "Will you allow me, Aunt, to talk it over alone with Damon for five minutes? Will you, Damon?"

"Certainly, dear," said Wildeve, "if your aunt will excuse us." He led her into an **adjoining** room, leaving Mrs. Yeobright by the fire.

As soon as they were alone, and the door closed, Thomasin said, turning up her pale, tearful face to him, "It is killing me, this, Damon! I did not mean to part from you in anger at Anglebury this morning; but I was frightened and hardly **knew** what I said. I've not let Aunt know how much I **suffered** today; and it is so hard to command my face and voice, and to smile as if it were a slight thing to me; but I try to do so, that she may not be still more **indignant** with you. I know you could not help it, dear, whatever Aunt may think."

"She is very unpleasant."

"Yes," Thomasin murmured, "and I suppose I seem so now....Damon, what do you mean to do about me?"

"Do about you?"

"Yes. Those who don't like you whisper things which at moments make me doubt you. We mean to marry, I suppose, don't we?"

"Of course we do. We have only to go to Budmouth on Monday, and we marry at once."

"Then do let us go!--O Damon, what you make me say!" She hid her face in her handkerchief. "Here am I asking you to marry me, when by rights you ought

Thesaurus

adjoining: (adj) contiguous, neighbor, near, abutting, touching, conterminous, neighboring, immediate, next, vicinal; (adj, v) close. remit, pardon, justify, to forgive, ANTONYMS: (adj) separate, divided, detached, apart, far. anxiously: (adv) uneasily, restlessly, carefully, worriedly, fearfully, nervously, concernedly, solicitously, timidly, keenly, enthusiastically. ANTONYMS: (adv) calmly, confidently, merrily, indifferently,

fearlessly, nonchalantly, patiently, unconcernedly.

forgive: (v) absolve, excuse, acquit, exonerate, overlook, clear, to excuse. ANTONYMS: (v) condemn, punish, castigate.

gets: (n) getting.

indignant: (adj) angry, incensed, furious, enraged, wrathful, hurt, rage, provoked, hot, anger, irate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cool, content,

knew: (adj) known; (v) recognize, wist. suffered: (adj) permitted, permissive. tearful: (adj) dolorous, maudlin, watery, weeping, teary, sad, dolourous, wet, whimpering, sorrowful; (v) mournful. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, tearless. **whisper**: (n, v) murmur, hum, mumble, suggestion, hint, inkling; (v) breathe, hiss; (n) rustle, trace, breath. ANTONYM: (n) information.

to be on your knees **imploring** me, your cruel mistress, not to refuse you, and saying it would break your heart if I did. I used to think it would be pretty and sweet like that; but how different!"

"Yes, real life is never at all like that."

"But I don't care personally if it never takes place," she added with a little dignity; "no, I can live without you. It is Aunt I think of. She is so proud, and thinks so much of her family respectability, that she will be cut down with **mortification** if this story should get abroad before—it is done. My cousin Clym, too, will be much wounded."

"Then he will be very unreasonable. In fact, you are all rather unreasonable."

Thomasin **coloured** a little, and not with love. But whatever the momentary feeling which caused that flush in her, it went as it came, and she humbly said, "I never mean to be, if I can help it. I merely feel that you have my aunt to some extent in your power at last."

"As a matter of justice it is almost due to me," said Wildeve. "Think what I have gone through to win her consent; the insult that it is to any man to have the banns forbidden--the double insult to a man unlucky enough to be cursed with **sensitiveness**, and blue demons, and Heaven knows what, as I am. I can never forget those banns. A harsher man would **rejoice** now in the power I have of turning upon your aunt by going no further in the business."

She looked wistfully at him with her **sorrowful** eyes as he said those words, and her aspect showed that more than one person in the room could **deplore** the possession of sensitiveness. Seeing that she was really suffering he seemed disturbed and added, "This is merely a reflection you know. I have not the least intention to refuse to complete the marriage, Tamsie mine--I could not bear it."

"You could not, I know!" said the fair girl, **brightening**. "You, who cannot bear the sight of pain in even an insect, or any disagreeable sound, or unpleasant smell even, will not long cause pain to me and mine."

"I will not, if I can help it."

"Your hand upon it, Damon."

Thesaurus

brightening: (n) blooming, polishing, limb, illumination, first blush, break of day.
coloured: (adi) colorful, biased, black.

coloured: (*adj*) colorful, biased, black, partial, painted, dyed, unfair, blue, hued, color, artificial.

deplore: (v) bemoan, regret, bewail, mourn, wail, moan, weep, condemn, grieve, censure, deprecate. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, rejoice, delight, support.

imploring: (adj) appealing, begging,

suppliant, pleading, entreating, piteous, importunate, entreating urgently; (v) supplicate, plead; (n) prayer.

mortification: (n) chagrin, feeler, reembarrassment, shame, gangrene,
disappointment, disgrace, corruption,
necrosis, degradation; (adj, n) sorrowful
vexation; (adj) grievance. sad, ruef
rejoice: (v) cheer, gladden, triumph,

revel, jubilate, gratify, gloat, please; (n, v) delight, glory, joy.

ANTONYMS: (v) lament, mourn, complain.

sensitiveness: (n) sensitivity, susceptibility, antenna, sensibleness, feeler, responsiveness, keenness, sensation, acumen; (adj) softness, delicacy.

sorrowful: (*adj*) melancholy, doleful, sad, rueful, lugubrious, gloomy, dreary, grievous, piteous, unhappy, mournful. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) cheerful, content, joyful, successful.

He carelessly gave her his hand.

"Ah, by my crown, what's that?" he said suddenly.

There fell upon their ears the sound of numerous voices singing in front of the house. Among these, two made themselves prominent by their **peculiarity**: one was a very strong bass, the other a wheezy thin piping. recognized them as belonging to Timothy Fairway and Grandfer Cantle respectively.

"What does it mean--it is not skimmity-riding, I hope?" she said, with a frightened gaze at Wildeve.

"Of course not; no, it is that the heath-folk have come to sing to us a welcome. This is intolerable!" He began pacing about, the men outside singing cheerily—

> "He told' her that she' was the joy' of his life', And if she'd con-sent he would make her his wife: She could' not refuse' him; to church' so they went', Young Will was forgot', and young Sue' was content'; And then' was she kiss'd' and set down' on his knee', No man' in the world' was so lov'-ing as he'!"

Mrs. Yeobright burst in from the outer room. "Thomasin, Thomasin!" she said, looking indignantly at Wildeve; "here's a pretty exposure! Let us escape at once. Come!"

It was, however, too late to get away by the passage. A rugged knocking had begun upon the door of the front room. Wildeve, who had gone to the window, came back.

"Stop!" he said imperiously, putting his hand upon Mrs. Yeobright's arm. "We are regularly besieged. There are fifty of them out there if there's one. You stay in this room with Thomasin; I'll go out and face them. You must stay now, for my sake, till they are gone, so that it may seem as if all was right. Come, Tamsie dear, don't go making a scene--we must marry after this; that you can see

Thesaurus

cheerily: (adv) merrily, pleasantly, cheerfully, joyfully, gaily, brightly, happily, mirthfully, jovially, sunnily, blithely. ANTONYMS: (adv) nastily, sulkily, seriously, miserably, sadly. imperiously: (adv) overbearingly, arrogantly, commandingly, magisterially, dictatorially, masterfully, haughtily, imperatively, authoritatively, domineeringly, insolently. ANTONYMS: (adv) meekly, feebly.

indignantly: (adv) irately, angrily, wrathfully, enragedly, sorely, acrimoniously, cynically, sulkily, hotly, exasperatedly, furiously. **knocking**: (n) sound, bang, beating, hit, rap, strike, belt, criticism, bash. pacing: (n) accelerando, andante, allegro, allegretto, pace, walk, tempo, voices: (n) chorus. musical time, maneuvering alongside wheezy: (adj) asthmatic, wheezing, another vessel, cardiac pacing. **peculiarity**: (n) idiosyncrasy, distinction, particularity, oddness,

eccentricity, distinctiveness, abnormality, characteristic, attribute, difference, individuality. ANTONYM: (n) similarity. **piping**: (*n*) pipe, pipage, conduit, line, chimneypot, drainpipe, main, edging; (adj) high, shrill, reedy.

reedy, panting, noisy, gasping, puffing, reedlike, short of breath, winded, breathless.

as well as I. Sit still, that's all--and don't speak much. I'll manage them. Blundering fools!"

He pressed the agitated girl into a seat, returned to the outer room and opened the door. Immediately outside, in the passage, appeared Grandfer Cantle singing in concert with those still standing in front of the house. He came into the room and nodded abstractedly to Wildeve, his lips still parted, and his features excruciatingly strained in the emission of the chorus. This being ended, he said heartily, "Here's welcome to the new-made couple, and God bless 'em!"

"Thank you," said Wildeve, with dry resentment, his face as gloomy as a thunderstorm.

At the Grandfer's heels now came the rest of the group, which included Fairway, Christian, Sam the turf-cutter, Humphrey, and a dozen others. All smiled upon Wildeve, and upon his tables and chairs likewise, from a general sense of friendliness towards the articles as well as towards their owner.

"We be not here afore Mrs. Yeobright after all," said Fairway, recognizing the matron's bonnet through the glass partition which divided the public apartment they had entered from the room where the women sat. "We struck down across, d'ye see, Mr. Wildeve, and she went round by the path."

"And I see the young bride's little head!" said Grandfer, peeping in the same direction, and discerning Thomasin, who was waiting beside her aunt in a miserable and awkward way. "Not quite settled in yet--well, well, there's plenty of time."

Wildeve made no reply; and probably feeling that the sooner he treated them the sooner they would go, he produced a stone jar, which threw a warm halo over matters at once.

"That's a drop of the right sort, I can see," said Grandfer Cantle, with the air of a man too well- mannered to show any hurry to taste it.

"Yes," said Wildeve, "'tis some old **mead**. I hope you will like it."

Thesaurus

came: (v) arrive, come. discerning: (adj) apprehensive, perceptive, acute, shrewd, discriminating, discreet, penetrating, refined, judicious, sharp, conscious. ANTONYMS: (adj) indiscriminate, undiscriminating, disregardful, negligent, overlooking, undiscerning, heartily: (adv) cordially, sincerely, unobservant, unperceptive, insensitive, obtuse, tasteless. **dozen**: (adj, n) XII; (n) dozens, boxcars. excruciatingly: (adv) painfully,

torturously, intensely, unbearably, intolerably, sharply, harrowingly, torturingly, dreadfully, extremely, rackingly. ANTONYM: (adv) mildly. **halo**: (n) halation, aura, glory, ring, circle, corona, nimbus, hoop, aureola, band, anchor ring.

enthusiastically, warmly, strongly, earnestly, vigorously, ardently, soundly, devoutly, eagerly. ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly,

languorously. mannered: (adj) affected, unnatural, stiff, ponderous, pretentious, conscious, ceremonial, contrived, accustomed, theatrical, thewed. ANTONYMS: (adj) unpretentious,

mead: (n) field, metheglin, hydromel, lea, meadow, sweet wine, grassland, sward, pasture, green, pasturage. **peeping**: (n) cheeping, tweeting, chirping; (adj) inquisitive.

"O ay!" replied the guests, in the hearty tones natural when the words demanded by politeness coincide with those of deepest feeling. "There isn't a prettier drink under the sun."

"I'll take my oath there isn't," added Grandfer Cantle. "All that can be said against mead is that 'tis rather heady, and apt to lie about a man a good while. But tomorrow's Sunday, thank God."

"I feel'd for all the world like some bold soldier after I had had some once," said Christian.

"You shall feel so again," said Wildeve, with condescension, "Cups or glasses, gentlemen?"

"Well, if you don't mind, we'll have the beaker, and pass 'en round; 'tis better than heling it out in dribbles."

"Jown the slippery glasses," said Grandfer Cantle. "What's the good of a thing that you can't put down in the ashes to warm, hey, neighbours; that's what Lask?"

"Right, Grandfer," said Sam; and the mead then circulated.

"Well," said Timothy Fairway, feeling demands upon his praise in some form or other, "'tis a worthy thing to be married, Mr. Wildeve; and the woman you've got is a dimant, so says I. Yes," he continued, to Grandfer Cantle, raising his voice so as to be heard through the partition, "her father (inclining his head towards the inner room) was as good a feller as ever lived. He always had his great indignation ready against anything underhand."

"Is that very dangerous?" said Christian.

"And there were few in these parts that were upsides with him," said Sam. "Whenever a club walked he'd play the **clarinet** in the band that marched before 'em as if he'd never touched anything but a clarinet all his life. And then, when they got to church door he'd throw down the clarinet, mount the gallery, snatch up the bass viol, and rozum away as if he'd never played anything but a bass viol. Folk would say--folk that knowed what a true stave was--'Surely, surely that's never the same man that I saw handling the clarinet so **masterly** by now!"

Thesaurus

beaker: (n) goblet, bail, bowl, canakin, feller: (n) chap, faller, fella, fellow, Billy, chalice, tumbler, cup, glass, container, jar. circulated: (adj) disseminated, diffuse, heady: (adj) hot, intoxicating, exciting, dispersed, distributed. clarinet: (n) basset horn, bass clarinet. condescension: (n) arrogance, lordliness, disparagement, patronage, dull, mild, weak, bland. affability, disdain, pride, superciliousness, contempt, stoop, depreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) respect, acceptance, admiration.

lumberjack, logger, dude, Dick, woodcutter, guy, comrade. keen, headstrong, strong, acute, quick, rude, vehement, brash. ANTONYMS: (adj) bored, cautious, masterly: (adj) masterful, expert, crack, proficient, consummate, accomplished, adroit, skillful, dexterous; (adv) principally, expertly. string, bass viol.

politeness: (n) civility, courteousness, courtliness, manners, decorum, gentility, good manners, niceness, refinement, gallantry, decency. ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, rudeness, incivility, neglect. **snatch**: (n, v) pinch, snap, catch, grip; (v) abduct, clutch, kidnap, seize, jerk, capture, pluck. ANTONYM: (v) viol: (n) bowed stringed instrument,

"I can mind it," said the furze-cutter. "'Twas a wonderful thing that one body could hold it all and never mix the fingering."

"There was Kingsbere church likewise," Fairway recommenced, as one opening a new vein of the same mine of interest.

Wildeve breathed the breath of one **intolerably** bored, and glanced through the partition at the prisoners.

"He used to walk over there of a Sunday afternoon to visit his old acquaintance Andrew Brown, the first clarinet there; a good man enough, but rather **screechy** in his music, if you can mind?"

"A was."

"And neighbour Yeobright would take Andrey's place for some part of the service, to let Andrey have a bit of a nap, as any friend would naturally do."

"As any friend would," said Grandfer Cantle, the other listeners expressing the same accord by the shorter way of nodding their heads.

"No sooner was Andrey asleep and the first **whiff** of neighbour Yeobright's wind had got inside Andrey's clarinet than everyone in church feeled in a moment there was a great soul among 'em. All heads would turn, and they'd say, 'Ah, I thought 'twas he!' One Sunday I can well mind--a bass viol day that time, and Yeobright had brought his own. 'Twas the Hundred-and-thirty-third to 'Lydia'; and when they'd come to 'Ran down his beard and **o'er** his **robes** its costly moisture shed,' neighbour Yeobright, who had just **warmed** to his work, drove his bow into them strings that glorious grand that he e'en a'most sawed the bass viol into two pieces. Every **winder** in church rattled as if 'twere a **thunderstorm**. Old Pa'son Williams lifted his hands in his great holy **surplice** as natural as if he'd been in common clothes, and seemed to say hisself, 'O for such a man in our parish!' But not a soul in Kingsbere could hold a candle to Yeobright."

"Was it quite safe when the winder shook?" Christian inquired.

He received no answer, all for the moment sitting **rapt** in admiration of the performance described. As with Farinelli's singing before the princesses,

Thesaurus

intolerably: (adv) excruciatingly, unbearably, insufferably, unendurably, insupportably, unfeasibly, impossibly, horribly, unpardonably, inexcusably, unforgivably. ANTONYMS: (adv) tolerably, excusably, bearably, acceptably, pleasantly, understandably. o'er: (adv) on, upon, across. rapt: (adj) engrossed, intent, ecstatic, preoccupied, spellbound, captive,

enthralled, attentive, fixed, enwrapped; (v) engrossed in. ANTONYMS: (adj) detached, inattentive, uninterested, bored. robes: (n) garb, fine clothes, costume, best clothes. screechy: (adj) squeaky, screaky, creaky, creaking, squealing, higher, high, squeaking.

surplice: (*n*) robe, Geneva gown frock, gown, pallium.

thunderstorm: (n) storm, electrical

storm, electric storm, tempest, hurricane, gale, downpour, rainstorm, shower, snowstorm; (adj) earthquake.

warmed: (adj) warmer, warm, baked. whiff: (n, v) blow, smell, drag; (n) scent, breath, aroma, odor, trace, taste, touch; (v) sniff.

winder: (n) key, winding engine, tonality, paint, watch key, Francis Scott key, mechanical device, Florida Keys, cay, kg, kilo. Sheridan's renowned Begum Speech, and other such examples, the fortunate condition of its being for ever lost to the world invested the deceased Mr. Yeobright's tour de force on that memorable afternoon with a **cumulative** glory which comparative criticism, had that been possible, might considerably have shorn down.

"He was the last you'd have expected to drop off in the prime of life," said Humphrey.

"Ah, well; he was looking for the earth some months afore he went. At that time women used to run for smocks and gown-pieces at Greenhill Fair, and my wife that is now, being a long-legged slittering maid, hardly husband-high, went with the rest of the maidens, for 'a was a good, runner afore she got so heavy. When she came home I said--we were then just beginning to walk together--'What have ye got, my honey?' 'I've won--well, I've won--a gown-piece,' says she, her colours coming up in a moment. 'Tis a smock for a crown, I thought; and so it turned out. Ay, when I think what she'll say to me now without a mossel of red in her face, it do seem strange that 'a wouldn't say such a little thing then....However, then she went on, and that's what made me bring up the story. Well, whatever clothes I've won, white or figured, for eyes to see or for eyes not to see' ('a could do a pretty stroke of modesty in those days), 'I'd sooner have lost it than have seen what I have. Poor Mr. Yeobright was took bad directly he reached the fair ground, and was forced to go home again.' That was the last time he ever went out of the parish."

"'A faltered on from one day to another, and then we heard he was gone."

"D'ye think he had great pain when 'a died?" said Christian.

"O no--quite different. Nor any pain of mind. He was lucky enough to be God A'mighty's own man."

"And other folk--d'ye think 'twill be much pain to 'em, Mister Fairway?"

"That depends on whether they be afeard."

Thesaurus blues, guard, propensity, eyen.

cumulative: (adj) collective, additive, increasing, aggregate, total, growing, summative, amassed, overall, aggregated, comprehensive. ANTONYM: (adj) decreasing. deceased: (adj, n) departed; (n) dead person, cadaver, decedent; (adj) defunct, asleep, passed away, passed on, extinct, lifeless, late. ANTONYMS: (adj) living, awake, eves: (n) sight, eye, vision, view, baby

figured: (adj) figurative, glyptic, conjectural, implied. modesty: (n) reserve, bashfulness, humility, diffidence, humbleness, demureness, coyness, gentleness, continence; (adj, n) decency, honesty. ANTONYMS: (n) arrogance, immodesty, spectacle, flamboyance, abandon, bigheadedness, pretension, decadence, boldness.

renowned: (adj, n) illustrious, glorious;

(adj) famous, famed, notable, noted, eminent, distinguished, great, notorious, well-known. ANTONYMS: (adj) obscure, anonymous, undistinguished. runner: (n) offset, sprinter, jogger, messenger, contrabandist, offshoot, smuggler, contestant, envoy, racer,

shorn: (adj) sheared, hairless, bald, stubbed, Shearn, Sheard, shear, clipped, not, Nott, shaven.

"I bain't afeard at all, I thank God!" said Christian strenuously. "I'm glad I bain't, for then 'twon't pain me....I don't think I be afeard--or if I be I can't help it, and I don't deserve to suffer. I wish I was not afeard at all!"

There was a solemn silence, and looking from the window, which was unshuttered and unblinded, Timothy said, "Well, what a **fess** little bonfire that one is, out by Cap'n Vye's! 'Tis burning just the same now as ever, upon my life."

All glances went through the window, and nobody noticed that Wildeve disguised a brief, telltale look. Far away up the sombre valley of heath, and to the right of Rainbarrow, could indeed be seen the light, small, but steady and persistent as before.

"It was lighted before ours was," Fairway continued; "and yet every one in the country round is out afore 'n."

"Perhaps there's meaning in it!" murmured Christian.

"How meaning?" said Wildeve sharply.

Christian was too scattered to reply, and Timothy helped him.

"He means, sir, that the lonesome dark-eyed creature up there that some say is a witch--ever I should call a fine young woman such a name--is always up to some odd **conceit** or other; and so perhaps 'tis she."

"I'd be very glad to ask her in **wedlock**, if she'd hae me and take the risk of her wild dark eyes ill-wishing me," said Grandfer Cantle **staunchly**.

"Don't ye say it, Father!" implored Christian.

"Well, be **dazed** if he who do marry the maid won't hae an uncommon picture for his best parlour," said Fairway in a liquid tone, placing down the cup of mead at the end of a good pull.

"And a partner as deep as the North Star," said Sam, taking up the cup and finishing the little that remained. "Well, really, now I think we must be moving," said Humphrey, observing the emptiness of the vessel.

"But we'll gie 'em another song?" said Grandfer Cantle. "I'm as full of notes as a bird!"

Thesaurus

conceit: (n) pretension, vanity, selfesteem, pride, assumption, egotism, fancy, haughtiness, conception, caprice, quip. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, timidity, selflessness, humbleness, reserve. dazed: (adj) bewildered, stunned, dumbfounded, muzzy, stupefied, dizzy, stupid, groggy, amazed, astounded, bleary. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, unimpressed, conscious. disguised: (adj) cloaked, concealed, masked, secret, hidden, veiled, in disguise, incognito, blind; (adj, v) private; (n) groggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) recognizable, unmasked, uncovered, uncloaked, revealed, open, obvious.

fess: (v) confess, disclose, relate. sombre: (adj) dismal, dreary, dark, shadowy, mournful, morose, murky, gloomy, sober, dull, glum. staunchly: (adv) stanchly, solidly, firmly, strongly, faithfully, steadily, steadfastly, resolutely, hardily, sturdily, devotedly.

telltale: (*n*) taleteller, tattletale, tattler, gossip, newsmonger, blabbermouth, check, babbler; (*adj*) telling, revealing, signifying. ANTONYM: (*adj*) secretive.

wedlock: (*n*, *v*) marriage, matrimony; (*n*) union, wedding, polygyny, bigamy, intermarriage, exogamy, endogamy, polyandry, misalliance.

"Thank you, Grandfer," said Wildeve. "But we will not trouble you now. Some other day must do for that--when I have a party."

"Be jown'd if I don't learn ten new songs for't, or I won't learn a line!" said Grandfer Cantle. "And you may be sure I won't **disappoint** ye by biding away, Mr. Wildeve."

"I quite believe you," said that gentleman.

All then took their leave, wishing their **entertainer** long life and happiness as a married man, with recapitulations which occupied some time. Wildeve attended them to the door, beyond which the **deep**-dyed upward stretch of heath stood awaiting them, an amplitude of darkness **reigning** from their feet almost to the **zenith**, where a definite form first became visible in the lowering forehead of Rainbarrow. Diving into the dense obscurity in a line headed by Sam the turfcutter, they pursued their **trackless** way home.

When the scratching of the furze against their leggings had fainted upon the ear, Wildeve returned to the room where he had left Thomasin and her aunt. The women were gone.

They could only have left the house in one way, by the back window; and this was open.

Wildeve laughed to himself, remained a moment thinking, and **idly** returned to the front room. Here his glance fell upon a bottle of wine which stood on the mantelpiece. "Ah--old Dowden!" he murmured; and going to the kitchen door shouted, "Is anybody here who can take something to old Dowden?"

There was no reply. The room was empty, the lad who acted as his **factotum** having gone to bed. Wildeve came back put on his hat, took the bottle, and left the house, turning the key in the door, for there was no guest at the inn tonight. As soon as he was on the road the little bonfire on Mistover Knap again met his eye.

"Still waiting, are you, my lady?" he murmured.

However, he did not proceed that way just then; but leaving the hill to the left of him, he stumbled over a **rutted** road that brought him to a cottage which,

Thesaurus

deep-dyed: (*adj*) dyed-in-the-wool. **disappoint**: (*v*) fail, defeat, balk, baffle, disenchant, betray, circumvent, bilk, mock, foil; (*n*, *v*) put out. ANTONYMS: (*v*) please, satisfy, encourage, fulfill, succeed, comfort, inspire.

entertainer: (n) host, performer, comedian, actor, humorist, artist, musician, bombshell, busker, artiste, comic.

factotum: (n) housekeeper, retainer,

seneschal, shepherd, servant, servant of all work, maid, drudge, croupier, agent, laboring oar. idly: (adj, adv) foolishly; (adv) vainly,

vaguely, listlessly, forgetfully, distractedly; (adj) thoughtlessly.
ANTONYM: (adv) energetically.

reigning: (adj) regnant, predominant, overruling, reign, sovereign, controlling, royal, dominant, ascendant, prevalent, chief.

rutted: (adj) uneven, not smooth, lined,

jagged, irregular, rough, furrowed, crumpled, potholed, not level, bumpy. ANTONYM: (adj) level. trackless: (adj) shoreless, roadless, unaccessible, inaccessible, lacking pathways, untracked, untrodden, untrod.

zenith: (*n*) apex, peak, top, height, acme, pinnacle, summit, climax, vertex, culmination, prime. ANTONYMS: (*n*) base, bottom, trough

like all other habitations on the heath at this hour, was only saved from being visible by a faint **shine** from its bedroom window. This house was the home of Olly Dowden, the besom-maker, and he entered.

The lower room was in darkness; but by feeling his way he found a table, whereon he placed the bottle, and a minute later emerged again upon the heath. He stood and looked **northeast** at the **undying** little fire--high up above him, though not so high as Rainbarrow.

We have been told what happens when a woman deliberates; and the **epigram** is not always **terminable** with woman, provided that one be in the case, and that a fair one. Wildeve stood, and stood longer, and **breathed perplexedly**, and then said to himself with **resignation**, "Yes--by Heaven, I must go to her, I suppose!"

Instead of turning in the direction of home he pressed on rapidly by a path under Rainbarrow towards what was evidently a signal light.

Thesaurus

breathed: (*adj*) unvoiced, inaudible, breathing, aphonic.

epigram: (n) aphorism, joke, witticism, expression, locution, saying, crack, wisecrack, moral, jeu d'esprit, smart saying.

northeast: (adj) northeasterly, New York; (n) NE, geographic region, neon, Nebraska, geographical area, geographic area, cornhusker state, compass point, geographical region. perplexedly: (adv) puzzledly, intricately, complicatedly, lostly, confusedly, bemusedly, bewilderedly, impassively, uncomprehendingly, vacantly, distractedly.

resignation: (*n*) endurance, surrender, patience, renunciation, abdication, submission, acquiescence, compliance, renouncement, demission, cession. ANTONYM: (*n*) defiance.

shine: (n, v) light, sheen, flash, glitter,

sparkle, polish, rub; (v) burnish, gleam, blaze; (n) radiance. terminable: (adj) impermanent, temporary, finite, endable. undying: (adj) eternal, perpetual, everlasting, deathless, permanent, imperishable, endless, unending, lasting, abiding; (adj, v) indestructible. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, mortal, impermanent, ending, inconstant.

6

THE FIGURE AGAINST THE SKY

When the whole egdon **concourse** had left the site of the bonfire to its accustomed loneliness, a closely wrapped female figure approached the barrow from that quarter of the heath in which the little fire lay. Had the reddleman been watching he might have recognized her as the woman who had first stood there so **singularly**, and vanished at the approach of **strangers**. She ascended to her old position at the top, where the red **coals** of the perishing fire greeted her like living eyes in the **corpse** of day. There she stood still around her stretching the vast night atmosphere, whose incomplete darkness in comparison with the total darkness of the heath below it might have represented a **venial** beside a mortal sin.

That she was tall and straight in build, that she was lady-like in her movements, was all that could be learnt of her just now, her form being wrapped in a **shawl** folded in the old **cornerwise** fashion, and her head in a large **kerchief**, a protection not **superfluous** at this hour and place. Her back was towards the wind, which blew from the **northwest**; but whether she had avoided that aspect because of the chilly gusts which played about her exceptional position, or because her interest lay in the southeast, did not at first appear.

Thesaurus

coals: (n) ashes, fire, residue, embers. concourse: (n) assemblage, swarm, multitude, throng, company, merging, crowd, aggregation, meeting, gathering, legion. cornerwise: (adv) cornerways. scorpse: (n) carcass, body, carcase, dead person, stiff, dead body, remains, corse, clay, dry bones; (adl) lich. serchief: (n) napkin, neckerchief, hood, snood, headscarf, muffler, scarf, shawl, coif, babushka, Kercher.

northwest: (*adj*) northwestern, Idaho; (*n*) nW, geographic region, geographical area, geographical region, geographic area, compass point.

shawl: (*n*) wrap, mantle, cape, muffler, scarf, pall, mantlet Mantua, wrapper, kerchief, headscarf, stole.

singularly: (adv) peculiarly, uniquely, unusually, curiously, rarely, uncommonly, oddly, solely, exceptionally, individually; (adj, adv)

remarkably. strangers: (n) stranger. superfluous: (adj, v) spare; (adj) needless, extra, excess, excessive, unnecessary, surplus, pointless, superabundant, supernumerary, supererogatory. ANTONYMS: (adj) indispensable, important, essential, basic, pertinent.

venial: (*adj*) excusable, pardonable, forgivable, minor, veniable, small, underage, modest, nonaged.

Her reason for standing so dead still as the pivot of this circle of heath-country was just as obscure. Her extraordinary fixity, her conspicuous loneliness, her **heedlessness** of night, betokened among other things an utter absence of fear. A tract of country unaltered from that sinister condition which made Caesar anxious every year to get clear of its glooms before the **autumnal equinox**, a kind of landscape and weather which leads travellers from the South to describe our island as Homer's Cimmerian land, was not, on the face of it, friendly to women.

It might reasonably have been supposed that she was listening to the wind, which rose somewhat as the night advanced, and laid hold of the attention. The wind, indeed, seemed made for the scene, as the scene seemed made for the hour. Part of its tone was quite special; what was heard there could be heard nowhere else. Gusts in innumerable series followed each other from the northwest, and when each one of them raced past the sound of its progress resolved into three. Treble, tenor, and bass notes were to be found therein. The general **ricochet** of the whole over pits and prominences had the gravest pitch of the **chime**. Next there could be heard the **baritone** buzz of a holly tree. Below these in force, above them in pitch, a dwindled voice strove hard at a husky tune, which was the peculiar local sound alluded to. Thinner and less immediately **traceable** than the other two, it was far more impressive than either. In it lay what may be called the linguistic peculiarity of the heath; and being audible nowhere on earth off a heath, it afforded a shadow of reason for the woman's **tenseness**, which continued as unbroken as ever.

Throughout the blowing of these plaintive November winds that note bore a great resemblance to the ruins of human song which remain to the throat of fourscore and ten. It was a worn whisper, dry and **papery**, and it brushed so distinctly across the ear that, by the accustomed, the material minutiae in which it originated could be realized as by touch. It was the united products of **infinitesimal** vegetable causes, and these were neither stems, leaves, fruit, blades, prickles, lichen, nor moss.

Thesaurus

autumnal: (adj) maturer, vespertine. ANTONYMS: (adj) summery, vernal, wintry.

baritone: (n) brass, singer, vocalist, baritone voice, baritone horn. chime: (n) carillon, melody; (adj) harmonize; (v) go, jingle, clang, peal, tinkle, buzz, ring, chimb. equinox: (n) cosmic time, celestial point, autumnal equinox.

heedlessness: (*n*) neglect, rashness, carelessness, inattention,

inadvertence, recklessness, indifference, inattentiveness, foolhardiness, disregard, temerity. ANTONYMS: (n) mindfulness,

infinitesimal: (adj) microscopic, tiny, insignificant, little, evanescent, atomic, minuscule, inappreciable, negligible, fractional, imperceptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) gigantic, enormous, huge, immeasurable. papery: (adj) chartaceous, thin,

papyraceous, thinner, sleazy, paper, flimsy. ANTONYM: (*adj*) tough. **ricochet**: (*n*, *v*) rebound, boom; (*v*) recoil, bound, jump, kick, glance, reverberate, skip, leap; (*n*) carom. **tenseness**: (*n*) tension, tensity, tautness strain tightness condition

tautness, strain, tightness, condition, intensity, accent, accentuation, anxiety, breaking point. ANTONYM: (*n*) calmness.

traceable: (*adj*) trackable, attributable, derivable; (*adv*) noticeable.

They were the mummied heathbells of the past summer, originally tender and purple, now washed colourless by Michaelmas rains, and dried to dead skins by October suns. So low was an individual sound from these that a combination of hundreds only just emerged from silence, and the myriads of the whole declivity reached the woman's ear but as a shrivelled and intermittent recitative. Yet scarcely a single accent among the many afloat tonight could have such power to impress a listener with thoughts of its origin. One inwardly saw the infinity of those combined multitudes; and perceived that each of the tiny trumpets was seized on entered, scoured and emerged from by the wind as thoroughly as if it were as vast as a crater.

"The spirit moved them." A meaning of the phrase forced itself upon the attention; and an emotional listener's fetichistic mood might have ended in one of more advanced quality. It was not, after all, that the left-hand expanse of old blooms spoke, or the right-hand, or those of the slope in front; but it was the single person of something else speaking through each at once.

Suddenly, on the barrow, there **mingled** with all this wild rhetoric of night a sound which modulated so naturally into the rest that its beginning and ending were hardly to be distinguished. The bluffs, and the bushes, and the heatherbells had broken silence; at last, so did the woman; and her articulation was but as another phrase of the same discourse as theirs. Thrown out on the winds it became **twined** in with them, and with them it flew away.

What she uttered was a **lengthened** sighing, apparently at something in her mind which had led to her presence here. There was a **spasmodic** abandonment about it as if, in allowing herself to utter the sound. the woman's brain had authorized what it could not regulate. One point was evident in this; that she had been existing in a suppressed state, and not in one of **languor**, or stagnation.

Far away down the valley the faint shine from the window of the inn still lasted on; and a few additional moments proved that the window, or what was within it, had more to do with the woman's sigh than had either her own actions or the scene immediately around. She lifted her left hand, which held a closed telescope. This she rapidly extended, as if she were well accustomed to the

Thesaurus

declivity: (n) decline, fall, downhill, downgrade, incline, dip, slope; (n, v)gradient; (v) acclivity, ascent, bank. languor: (adj, n) inactivity, inertia, feebleness; (n) lethargy, fatigue, infirmity, lassitude, weakness, indifference, ennui; (adj) atony. ANTONYM: (n) energy. lengthened: (adj) elongated, prolonged, long, protracted, expanded, elongate, longer, lingering, extensive, stretched out,

indiscriminate, heterogeneous, medley, confused, eclectic, motley, different; (v) blended, blent. rains: (n) wet. scoured: (adj) worn, windswept, wrinkled, weathered, tough, gnarled, trumpets: (n) Sarracenia flava, yellow

battered, craggy. shrivelled: (adj) shriveled, withered, wizened, shrunken, sere, sear, thin, lean, dry, shrunk, dryer.

skins: (n) cash, folding money. mingled: (adj) miscellaneous, complex, spasmodic: (adj) spastic, convulsive, intermittent, erratic, broken, irregular, sporadic, desultory, sudden, discontinuous; (v) inconsonant. ANTONYM: (adj)

pitcher plant, pitcher plant, yellow

twined: (adj) bent, coiled, contorted, distorted, misrepresented, perverted. operation, and raising it to her eye directed it towards the light beaming from the inn.

The handkerchief which had hooded her head was now a little thrown back, her face being somewhat elevated. A profile was visible against the dull monochrome of cloud around her; and it was as though side shadows from the features of Sappho and Mrs. Siddons had converged upwards from the tomb to form an image like neither but suggesting both. This, however, was mere superficiality. In respect of character a face may make certain admissions by its outline; but it fully confesses only in its changes. So much is this the case that what is called the play of the features often helps more in understanding a man or woman than the earnest labours of all the other members together. Thus the night revealed little of her whose form it was embracing, for the mobile parts of her countenance could not be seen.

At last she gave up her spying attitude, closed the telescope, and turned to the decaying embers. From these no appreciable beams now radiated, except when a more than usually smart gust brushed over their faces and raised a fitful glow which came and went like the blush of a girl. She stooped over the silent circle, and selecting from the brands a piece of stick which bore the largest live coal at its end, brought it to where she had been standing before.

She held the brand to the ground, blowing the red coal with her mouth at the same time; till it faintly illuminated the sod, and revealed a small object, which turned out to be an hourglass, though she wore a watch. She blew long enough to show that the sand had all slipped through.

"Ah!" she said, as if surprised.

The light raised by her breath had been very fitful, and a momentary irradiation of flesh was all that it had disclosed of her face. That consisted of two matchless lips and a cheek only, her head being still enveloped. She threw away the stick, took the glass in her hand, the telescope under her arm, and moved on.

Along the ridge ran a faint foot-track, which the lady followed. Those who knew it well called it a path; and, while a mere visitor would have passed it unnoticed even by day, the regular haunters of the heath were at no loss for it at

Thesaurus

decaying: (adj) rotten, decayed, rotting, stale, decadent, stinking, decomposed, smelly, shabby, seedy; (n) fading. ANTONYM: (adj) pristine. **fitful**: (adj) erratic, fickle, changeable, spasmodic, uncertain, intermittent, irregular, variable, sporadic, desultory, flickering. ANTONYMS: (adj) regular, unbroken. gust: (n) eruption, flurry, blow, blast, puff, flare, explosion, gale, storm, breeze; (adj, n) whiff.

hourglass: (n) dial, horologe, gnomon, sandglass, sundial; (adj, v) neck; (v) glass, goblet, systole; (adj) isthmus, middle constriction.

matchless: (adj) inimitable, peerless, consummate, unique, unmatched, unrivaled, unequaled, unparalleled, superlative, unbeatable, unsurpassed. superficiality: (n) frivolity, glibness, ANTONYMS: (adj) common, vulnerable, abysmal, mediocre,

monochrome: (adj) monochromatic,

monochromous, colorful, coloured, constant; (n) painting, photo, camaieu, cameo, exposure; (v) polychrome.

passed: (adj) accepted, approved, legal, gone.

siddons: (n) Sarah Kemble Siddons. depth, glitter, feebleness, ostentation, showiness, disregard, slenderness, glitziness, indifference. ANTONYM: (n) profundity.

midnight. The whole secret of following these **incipient** paths, when there was not light enough in the atmosphere to show a **turnpike** road, lay in the development of the sense of touch in the feet, which comes with years of night-rambling in little-trodden spots. To a walker practised in such places a difference between impact on maiden herbage, and on the crippled stalks of a slight **footway**, is perceptible through the thickest boot or shoe.

The solitary figure who walked this beat took no notice of the windy tune still played on the dead heathbells. She did not turn her head to look at a group of dark creatures further on, who fled from her presence as she skirted a **ravine** where they fed. They were about a score of the small wild ponies known as heath-croppers. They roamed at large on the undulations of Egdon, but in numbers too few to detract much from the solitude.

The pedestrian noticed nothing just now, and a clue to her abstraction was afforded by a trivial incident. A bramble caught hold of her skirt, and checked her progress. Instead of putting it off and hastening along, she **yielded** herself up to the pull, and stood passively still. When she began to **extricate** herself it was by turning round and round, and so **unwinding** the prickly switch. She was in a **desponding** reverie.

Her course was in the direction of the small undying fire which had drawn the attention of the men on Rainbarrow and of Wildeve in the valley below. A faint illumination from its rays began to glow upon her face, and the fire soon revealed itself to be lit, not on the level ground, but on a salient corner or **redan** of earth, at the junction of two **converging** bank fences. Outside was a ditch, dry except immediately under the fire, where there was a large pool, bearded all round by heather and **rushes**. In the smooth water of the pool the fire appeared **upside** down.

The banks meeting behind were bare of a hedge, save such as was formed by disconnected tufts of furze, standing upon stems along the top, like impaled heads above a city wall. A white mast, fitted up with spars and other nautical tackle, could be seen rising against the dark clouds whenever the flames played

Thesaurus

converging: (n) convergency, convergence, meeting, joining, connection, coming together, connexion; (adj) concurrent, connivent, connecting, coming. desponding: (adj) despairing, despondent.

extricate: (v) clear, evolve, disengage, rid, untangle, disembarrass, absolve, enfranchise, free, deliver, dislodge. ANTONYMS: (v) entangle, embroil, hamper, hinder, involve, fasten,

footway: (n) footpath, path, sidewalk, walk, walkway, pavement, ladderway.
incipient: (adj) initial, budding, nascent, imperfectly formed, commencing, first, undeveloped; (adj, v) introductory; (v) inceptive; (n) beginning.
ravine: (n, v) gap, cleft; (n) chasm, canyon, dell, defile, gully, glen, pass, abyss, valley.

banquette, bastion, ravelin.

rushes: (n) rush, grasses.

turnpike: (n) superhighway,
motorway, freeway, expressway,
road, pike, highway, hayfork, pick,
royal road, state highway.
unwinding: (adj) moving.
upside: (n) crest, crown, poll, top side,
upper side, pate, round top, acme,
summit, superlative, teetotum.
yielded: (v) yold, yolden.

redan: (v) curtain, breastwork,

brightly enough to reach it. Altogether the scene had much the appearance of a **fortification** upon which had been kindled a beacon fire.

Nobody was visible; but ever and anon a whitish something moved above the bank from behind, and vanished again. This was a small human hand, in the act of lifting pieces of fuel into the fire, but for all that could be seen the hand, like that which troubled Belshazzar, was there alone. Occasionally an ember rolled off the bank, and dropped with a hiss into the pool.

At one side of the pool rough steps built of clods enabled everyone who wished to do so to mount the bank; which the woman did. Within was a paddock in an uncultivated state, though bearing evidence of having once been tilled; but the heath and fern had **insidiously** crept in, and were reasserting their old supremacy. Further ahead were dimly visible an irregular dwelling-house, garden, and outbuildings, backed by a clump of firs.

The young lady--for youth had revealed its presence in her buoyant bound up the bank--walked along the top instead of descending inside, and came to the corner where the fire was burning. One reason for the permanence of the blaze was now manifest: the fuel consisted of hard pieces of wood, cleft and sawn--the **knotty** boles of old thorn trees which grew in twos and threes about the hillsides. A yet **unconsumed** pile of these lay in the inner angle of the bank; and from this corner the upturned face of a little boy greeted her eves. He was dilatorily throwing up a piece of wood into the fire every now and then, a business which seemed to have engaged him a considerable part of the evening, for his face was somewhat weary.

"I am glad you have come, Miss Eustacia," he said, with a sigh of relief. "I don't like biding by myself."

"Nonsense. I have only been a little way for a walk. I have been gone only twenty minutes."

"It seemed long," murmured the sad boy. "And you have been so many times."

Thesaurus

anon: (adv) directly, immediately, early, readily, soon, instantly, again, forthwith, promptly, shortly, rath. cleft: (adj, n) split; (n) fissure, cleavage, crevice, rift, fracture, aperture, breach, chap, chink, crack. ANTONYM: (adj) united. dilatorily: (adv) lately, slowly, slackly, sluggishly, laggardly, remissly, pokily, backwardly, lethargically, lingeringly, negligently. ember: (n) coal, embers, clinker,

fragment, glow, ashes, flash, flicker, glimmer.

fortification: (n) castle, fort, bastion, consolidation, defense, bulwark, stronghold, barrier, entrenchment, fortress, safeguard.

insidiously: (adv) subtlely, craftily, treacherously, secretly, wily, sly, snakily, astutely, perniciously, stealthily, trickily.

knotty: (adj) gnarled, intricate, complex, involved, gnarly,

convoluted, troublesome, elaborate, hard, baffling; (adj, n) difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, straightforward, easy. unconsumed: (adj) unexhausted,

undrunk, residual, odd, leftover,

uncultivated: (adj) savage, ignorant, uneducated, wild, fresh, uncivilized, rude, untutored, uncultured, artless, lowbrow. ANTONYMS: (adj) cultivated, familiar, refined.

"Why, I thought you would be pleased to have a bonfire. Are you not much obliged to me for making you one?"

"Yes; but there's nobody here to play wi' me."

"I suppose nobody has come while I've been away?"

"Nobody except your grandfather--he looked out of doors once for 'ee. I told him you were walking round upon the hill to look at the other bonfires."

"A good boy."

"I think I hear him coming again, miss."

An old man came into the **remoter** light of the fire from the direction of the **homestead**. He was the same who had overtaken the reddleman on the road that afternoon. He looked **wistfully** to the top of the bank at the woman who stood there, and his teeth, which were quite **unimpaired**, showed like parian from his parted lips.

"When are you coming indoors, Eustacia?" he asked. "'Tis almost **bedtime**. I've been home these two hours, and am tired out. Surely 'tis somewhat childish of you to stay out playing at bonfires so long, and wasting such fuel. My precious **thorn roots**, the rarest of all firing, that I laid by on purpose for Christmas--you have burnt 'em nearly all!"

"I promised Johnny a bonfire, and it pleases him not to let it go out just yet," said Eustacia, in a way which told at once that she was absolute queen here. "Grandfather, you go in to bed. I shall follow you soon. You like the fire, don't you, Johnny?"

The boy looked up **doubtfully** at her and murmured, "I don't think I want it any longer."

Her grandfather had turned back again, and did not hear the boy's reply. As soon as the white-haired man had vanished she said in a tone of **pique** to the child, "Ungrateful little boy, how can you contradict me? Never shall you have a bonfire again unless you keep it up now. Come, tell me you like to do things for me, and don't deny it."

Thesaurus

bedtime: (n) night, gloaming, going down of the sun, dewy eve.
doubtfully: (adj, adv) hesitantly, distrustfully; (adv) suspiciously, uncertainly, doubtingly, tentatively, indecisively, unsurely, skeptically, precariously, shadily. ANTONYMS: (adv) indisputably, surely, trustingly, inevitably, confidently, optimistically, plausibly.
homestead: (n, v) farm; (n) home, abode, farmhouse, farmstead,

dwelling, habitation, estate, demesne, homestall, house. sticker, fang; (adj, n) sting. unimpaired: (adj) unbroker

pique: (*v*) nettle, insult, outrage, irritate, fret; (*n*) grudge, annoyance, umbrage, irritation; (*n*, *v*) anger, spite.

remoter: (adj) ulterior, further, more

roots: (*n*) heredity, family, origin, line, extraction, ancestry.

thorn: (*n*) barb, prickle, bramble, spike, point, brier, pricker, needle,

sticker, fang; (adj, n) sting. unimpaired: (adj) unbroken, intact, clean, sound, healthy, entire, complete, undamaged, uninjured; (v) unmarred, unsinged. ANTONYM: (adj) impaired.

wistfully: (adv) pensively, meditatively, desirously, longingly, yearningly, broodingly, reflectively, wishfully, melancholy, thoughtfully, nostalgically. ANTONYM: (adv) contentedly. The **repressed** child said, "Yes, I do, miss," and continued to stir the fire perfunctorily.

"Stay a little longer and I will give you a crooked six-pence," said Eustacia, more gently. "Put in one piece of wood every two or three minutes, but not too much at once. I am going to walk along the ridge a little longer, but I shall keep on coming to you. And if you hear a frog jump into the pond with a **flounce** like a stone thrown in, be sure you run and tell me, because it is a sign of rain."

"Yes, Eustacia."

"Miss Vye, sir."

"Miss Vy--stacia."

"That will do. Now put in one stick more."

The little slave went on feeding the fire as before. He seemed a mere **automaton**, galvanized into moving and speaking by the wayward Eustacia's will. He might have been the brass statue which Albertus Magnus is said to have animated just so far as to make it chatter, and move, and be his servant.

Before going on her walk again the young girl stood still on the bank for a few instants and listened. It was to the full as lonely a place as Rainbarrow, though at rather a lower level; and it was more sheltered from wind and weather on account of the few firs to the north. The bank which enclosed the homestead, and protected it from the **lawless** state of the world without, was formed of thick square clods, dug from the ditch on the outside, and built up with a slight **batter** or incline, which forms no slight defense where hedges will not grow because of the wind and the wilderness, and where wall materials are **unattainable**. Otherwise the situation was quite open, commanding the whole length of the valley which reached to the river behind Wildeve's house. High above this to the right, and much nearer thitherward than the Quiet Woman Inn, the blurred contour of Rainbarrow **obstructed** the sky.

After her attentive survey of the wild slopes and hollow ravines a gesture of impatience escaped Eustacia. She vented **petulant** words every now and then, but there were sighs between her words, and sudden listenings between her

Thesaurus

android, mechanism, automata, zombi, zombie, anomaly.

batter: (v) hammer, baste, break, club, slam, beat, mangle, buffet, smite, pound; (n) batsman.

flounce: (v) fling, flounder, bob, bounce, dance; (n) ruffle, frill, fringe, trimming, furbelow, frame.

lawless: (adj) disorderly, illicit, anarchical, illegitimate, anarchic, unlawful, unruly, illegal, mutinous,

automaton: (n) robot, machine,

wrongful, seditious. ANTONYM: (adj) orderly. obstructed: (adj) blind, blocked,

oostructed: (adj) blind, blocked, congested, impeded, impedite, foiled, tight, thwarted, stymied, frustrated, impassable. ANTONYM: (adj) unobstructed.

petulant: (adj) irritable, peevish, cross, testy, irascible, cranky, fractious, fretful, pettish, touchy, choleric. ANTONYMS: (adj) easygoing, amiable, calm, affable, cheerful.

repressed: (adj) inhibited, suppressed, pent-up, forgotten, subconscious, inner, composed, reserved, unconscious.

unattainable: (adj) impossible, inaccessible, impracticable, impractical, unapproachable, unobtainable, out of print, not possible, unassailable, unavailable, unbeatable. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, accessible, possible, attainable, feasible.

sighs. Descending from her perch she again sauntered off towards Rainbarrow, though this time she did not go the whole way.

Twice she reappeared at intervals of a few minutes and each time she said--

"Not any flounce into the pond yet, little man?"

"No, Miss Eustacia," the child replied.

"Well," she said at last, "I shall soon be going in, and then I will give you the crooked sixpence, and let you go home."

"Thank'ee, Miss Eustacia," said the tired stoker, breathing more easily. And Eustacia again strolled away from the fire, but this time not towards Rainbarrow. She skirted the bank and went round to the wicket before the house, where she stood motionless, looking at the scene.

Fifty yards off rose the corner of the two converging banks, with the fire upon it; within the bank, lifting up to the fire one stick at a time, just as before, the figure of the little child. She idly watched him as he occasionally climbed up in the **nook** of the bank and stood beside the brands. The wind blew the smoke, and the child's hair, and the corner of his pinafore, all in the same direction; the breeze died, and the pinafore and hair lay still, and the smoke went up straight.

While Eustacia looked on from this distance the boy's form visibly started--he slid down the bank and ran across towards the white gate.

"Well?" said Eustacia.

"A hopfrog have jumped into the pond. Yes, I heard 'en!"

"Then it is going to rain, and you had better go home. You will not be afraid?" She spoke hurriedly, as if her heart had **leapt** into her throat at the boy's words.

"No, because I shall hae the crooked sixpence."

"Yes. here it is. Now run as fast as you can--not that way--through the garden here. No other boy in the heath has had such a bonfire as yours."

The boy, who clearly had had too much of a good thing, marched away into the shadows with alacrity. When he was gone Eustacia, leaving her telescope

Thesaurus

alacrity: (n) rapidity, speed, promptness, activity, preparedness, velocity, haste, swiftness, quickness, expedition; (adj) life. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion, reservation, reluctance, indifference, hesitance, dullness, disinclination, apathy, tardiness,

crooked: (adj) bent, corrupt, dishonest, curved, unfair, deformed; (adj, n, v) awry; (adj, v) irregular, askew, wry, indirect. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight,

honest, principled, even, aboveboard, perch: (adj, n, v) roost; (v) light, settle, lawful, level, moral, flat, aligned, honorable.

leapt: (adj) sprung.

motionless: (adj) inactive, inert, immobile, stationary, fixed, unmoving, quiescent, dead, torpid; (adj, adv) calm, at rest. ANTONYMS: (adj) mobile, active, alive, flowing. nook: (n) angle, niche, recess, hole, coign, bay, compartment, oriel, cove, refuge, haven.

sit, alight, squat, land; (adj, v) lodge, abide, dwell; (n) pole.

pinafore: (n) apron, tier, pinny, jumper, bustle, panier, kilt, jupe, crinoline, farthingale, apparatus. sixpence: (n) bender, coin, teston,

stoker: (n) Abraham stoker, guard, fire fighter, railroad man, Bram stoker, boilerman, firefighter, railway man, relief pitcher, railroader, railwayman. and hourglass by the gate, brushed forward from the wicket towards the angle of the bank, under the fire.

Here, screened by the **outwork**, she waited. In a few moments a splash was audible from the pond outside. Had the child been there he would have said that a second frog had jumped in; but by most people the sound would have been likened to the fall of a stone into the water. Eustacia stepped upon the bank.

"Yes?" she said, and held her breath.

Thereupon the contour of a man became dimly visible against the low-reaching sky over the valley, beyond the outer margin of the pool. He came round it and leapt upon the bank beside her. A low laugh escaped her--the third utterance which the girl had indulged in tonight. The first, when she stood upon Rainbarrow, had expressed anxiety; the second, on the ridge, had expressed impatience; the present was one of triumphant pleasure. She let her joyous eyes rest upon him without speaking, as upon some wondrous thing she had created out of chaos.

"I have come," said the man, who was Wildeve. "You give me no peace. Why do you not leave me alone? I have seen your bonfire all the evening." The words were not without emotion, and retained their level tone as if by a careful **equipoise** between imminent **extremes**.

At this unexpectedly **repressing** manner in her lover the girl seemed to repress herself also. "Of course you have seen my fire," she answered with languid **calmness**, artificially maintained. "Why shouldn't I have a bonfire on the Fifth of November, like other denizens of the heath?"

"I knew it was meant for me."

"How did you know it? I have had no word with you since you--you chose her, and walked about with her, and deserted me entirely, as if I had never been yours life and soul so irretrievably!"

"Eustacia! could I forget that last autumn at this same day of the month and at this same place you lighted exactly such a fire as a signal for me to come and

Thesaurus

calmness: (n) calm, composure, quietness, poise, serenity, stillness, quiet, silence, placidity, peace; (adj, n) coolness. ANTONYMS: (n) anxiety, nervousness, restlessness, panic, fury, unrest, intensity, discomposure, bustle, annoyance, noise.

equipoise: (v) poise, offset; (n, v) balance, counterweight; (n) equilibration, counterbalance, symmetry, counterpoise, balancing, equiponderance, equalizer.

extremes: (*n*) excess; (*adv*) overboard. **outwork**: (*v*) advance work, horn work; (*n*) bulwark, frontier, defence, homework, defense, defensive structure.

repress: (v) inhibit, crush, quash, control, suppress, put down, bridle, keep down, subdue, restrain, reduce. ANTONYMS: (v) declare, liberate, incite.

repressing: (*adj*) inhibiting, insolent, discouraging, aggressively haughty,

overbearing, arrogant, dictatorial, domineering, restrictive, repressive, overpowering.

thereupon: (*adv*) hereupon, next, then, immediately, therefore, therewith, in the sequel, close upon, upon which, whereupon, accordingly.

wondrous: (adj) marvelous, miraculous, marvellous, astonishing, tremendous, fantastic, phenomenal, extraordinary, rattling; (adv) wonderfully, marvellously. see you? Why should there have been a bonfire again by Captain Vye's house if not for the same purpose?"

"Yes, yes--I own it," she cried under her breath, with a **drowsy fervour** of manner and tone which was quite **peculiar** to her. "Don't begin speaking to me as you did, Damon; you will drive me to say words I would not wish to say to you. I had given you up, and resolved not to think of you any more; and then I heard the news, and I came out and got the fire ready because I thought that you had been faithful to me."

"What have you heard to make you think that?" said Wildeve, astonished.

"That you did not marry her!" she murmured **exultingly**. "And I knew it was because you loved me best, and couldn't do it....Damon, you have been cruel to me to go away, and I have said I would never forgive you. I do not think I can forgive you entirely, even now--it is too much for a woman of any spirit to quite overlook."

"If I had known you wished to call me up here only to **reproach** me, I wouldn't have come."

"But I don't mind it, and I do forgive you now that you have not married her, and have come back to me!"

"Who told you that I had not married her?"

"My grandfather. He took a long walk today, and as he was coming home he **overtook** some person who told him of a broken-off wedding--he thought it might be yours, and I knew it was."

"Does anybody else know?"

"I suppose not. Now Damon, do you see why I lit my signal fire? You did not think I would have lit it if I had imagined you to have become the husband of this woman. It is **insulting** my pride to suppose that."

Wildeve was silent; it was evident that he had supposed as much.

"Did you indeed think I believed you were married?" she again demanded earnestly. "Then you **wronged** me; and upon my life and heart I can hardly bear

Thesaurus

drowsy: (adj, n) sleepy; (adj) lazy, comatose, somnolent, slow, lethargic, sluggish, dull, indolent, soporific, listless. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, awake, lively, vigorous, vivacious, refreshed.

exultingly: (adv) triumphantly, jubilantly, rejoicingly, pridefully, triumphally.

fervour: (n) ardour, fervidness, fervency, fervor, ardor, enthusiasm, eagerness, zest, elan, ardency, fire. insulting: (adj) contemptuous, insolent, injurious, offensive, scurrilous, defamatory, opprobrious, rude, disgraceful, disdainful, impolite. ANTONYMS: (adj) courteous, conciliatory, polite, generous, cordial.

generous, cordial.

overtook: (v) overtake.

peculiar: (adj) particular, odd,
exceptional, different, extraordinary,
curious, eccentric, characteristic,
anomalous, abnormal, distinctive.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) normal, typical, common, universal, explicable, conventional.

reproach: (*n*, *v*) blame, rebuke, charge, abuse, disgrace, reprimand, invective; (*v*) accuse, chide, condemn; (*n*) condemnation. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) praise; (*v*) commend, approve; (*n*) compliment, commendation, approval.

wronged: (*adj*) upset, hurt, indignant, offended.

to recognize that you have such ill thoughts of me! Damon, you are not worthy of me--I see it, and yet I love you. Never mind, let it go--I must bear your mean opinion as best I may....It is true, is it not," she added with ill-concealed anxiety, on his making no demonstration, "that you could not bring yourself to give me up, and are still going to love me best of all?"

"Yes; or why should I have come?" he said **touchily**. "Not that fidelity will be any great merit in me after your kind speech about my **unworthiness**, which should have been said by myself if by anybody, and comes with an ill grace from you. However, the curse of **inflammability** is upon me, and I must live under it, and take any **snub** from a woman. It has brought me down from engineering to innkeeping--what lower stage it has in store for me I have yet to learn." He continued to look upon her gloomily.

She **seized** the moment, and throwing back the shawl so that the **firelight** shone full upon her face and throat, said with a smile, "Have you seen anything better than that in your travels?"

Eustacia was not one to commit herself to such a position without good ground. He said quietly, "No."

"Not even on the shoulders of Thomasin?"

"Thomasin is a pleasing and innocent woman."

"That's nothing to do with it," she cried with quick **passionateness**. "We will leave her out; there are only you and me now to think of." After a long look at him she resumed with the old **quiescent** warmth, "Must I go on weakly **confessing** to you things a woman ought to conceal; and own that no words can express how gloomy I have been because of that dreadful belief I held till two hours ago--that you had quite deserted me?"

"I am sorry I caused you that pain."

"But perhaps it is not wholly because of you that I get gloomy," she **archly** added. "It is in my nature to feel like that. It was born in my blood, I suppose."

"Hypochondriasis."

Thesaurus

archly: (adv) mischievously, sly, wickedly, playfully, waggishly, roguishly, shrewdly, wily, consummately, roundly, craftily. confessing: (v) confess. firelight: (adj) light, rushlight, starlight: inflammability: (n) combustibility, inflammableness, accendibility, passionateness: (n) fire, ardor, fervor, fervency, passion, warmth, wildness, mania, love, ardour, passion of

Christ. **quiescent**: (adj) dormant, calm, passive, inert, immovable, serene, immobile, latent, placid, stationary, quiet. ANTONYM: (adj) active. **seized**: (adj) confiscate, appropriated, condemned, apprehended, grasped, taken, held, seised, detained, obtained, arraught. **snub**: (n, v) repulse, insult, cut, slight, put down; (v) disregard, offend, ignore, check, humiliate; (n) rebuke.

ANTONYMS: (v) accept, acknowledge, notice, boost, include; (n) acceptance.

touchily: (adv) grumpily, petulantly, cantankerously, crossly, peevishly, moodily, edgily, temperamentally, crabbily, sensitively, techily.

unworthiness: (n) baseness, despicability, despicableness, badness, unworth, shamefulness, ignominiousness, disgracefulness, bad. ANTONYM: (n) worthiness.

"Or else it was coming into this wild heath. I was happy enough at Budmouth. O the times, O the days at Budmouth! But Egdon will be brighter again now."

"I hope it will," said Wildeve **moodily**. "Do you know the consequence of this recall to me, my old darling? I shall come to see you again as before, at Rainbarrow."

"Of course you will."

"And yet I declare that until I got here tonight I intended, after this one goodbye, never to meet you again."

"I don't thank you for that," she said, turning away, while indignation spread through her like subterranean heat. "You may come again to Rainbarrow if you like, but you won't see me; and you may call, but I shall not listen; and you may tempt me, but I won't give myself to you any more."

"You have said as much before, sweet; but such natures as yours don't so easily adhere to their words. Neither, for the matter of that, do such natures as mine."

"This is the pleasure I have won by my trouble," she whispered bitterly. "Why did I try to recall you? Damon, a strange warring takes place in my mind occasionally. I think when I become calm after you woundings, 'Do I embrace a cloud of common fog after all?' You are a chameleon, and now you are at your worst colour. Go home, or I shall hate you!"

He looked absently towards Rainbarrow while one might have counted twenty, and said, as if he did not much mind all this, "Yes, I will go home. Do you mean to see me again?"

"If you own to me that the wedding is broken off because you love me best."

"I don't think it would be good policy," said Wildeve, smiling. "You would get to know the extent of your power too clearly."

"But tell me!"

"You know."

Thesaurus harlequin, quicksilver, shifting sands,

absently: (adv) absentmindedly, missingly, lackingly, inattentively, wantingly, offly, deficiently, lostly, removedly, preoccupiedly, outly. **adhere**: (v) abide, cleave, accede, bond, **moodily**: (adv) morosely, peevishly, cling, attach, stick, bind, persist, sustain; (adj, v) agree. ANTONYMS: (v) separate, repel, unfasten, loose, chameleon: (n) Chamaeleon, chamleo, tortoise shell, lizard, peacock,

rainbow; (adj) weathercock,

good-bye: (n) bye, farewell, goodbye, goodby, vale, adios, cheerio. glumly, sulkily, grumpily, capriciously, temperamentally, petulantly, saturninely, crossly, erratically. ANTONYM: (adv)

subterranean: (adj) underground, backdoor, profound, subaqueous,

submarine, subterrene, subterrestrial, deep, hole-and-corner, subterraneous, subterrany. tempt: (adj, v) attract, allure; (v) entice, decoy, charm, inveigle, invite, coax, seduce, fascinate, attempt. ANTONYMS: (v) discourage, appall,

warring: (adj) militant, fighting, hostile, opposed, inconsistent, war, brawling, factious, opposing, oppugnant, rebellious.

"Where is she now?"

"I don't know. I prefer not to speak of her to you. I have not yet married her; I have come in obedience to your call. That is enough."

"I merely lit that fire because I was dull, and thought I would get a little excitement by calling you up and triumphing over you as the Witch of Endor called up Samuel. I determined you should come; and you have come! I have shown my power. A mile and half hither, and a mile and half back again to your home--three miles in the dark for me. Have I not shown my power?"

He shook his head at her. "I know you too well, my Eustacia; I know you too well. There isn't a note in you which I don't know; and that hot little bosom couldn't play such a cold-blooded trick to save its life. I saw a woman on Rainbarrow at dusk looking down towards my house. I think I drew out you before you drew out me."

The **revived** embers of an old passion glowed clearly in Wildeve now; and he **leant** forward as if about to put his face towards her cheek.

"O no," she said, intractably moving to the other side of the decayed fire. "What did you mean by that?"

"Perhaps I may kiss your hand?"

"No, you may not."

"Then I may shake your hand?"

"No."

"Then I wish you good night without caring for either. Good-bye, good-bye."

She returned no answer, and with the bow of a dancing-master he vanished on the other side of the pool as he had come.

Eustacia sighed--it was no fragile maiden sigh, but a sigh which shook her like a shiver. Whenever a flash of reason darted like an electric light upon her lover- -as it sometimes would--and showed his imperfections, she shivered thus. But it was over in a second, and she loved on. She knew that he trifled with her; but she loved on. She scattered the half-burnt brands, went indoors

Thesaurus

daybreak, morning, afternoon.

bosom: (n) heart, interior, boob, thorax, chest, bust, tit; (n, v) embrace; hither: (adv) here, whither, (v) cherish, hug; (adj) intimate. ANTONYMS: (n) outside, exteriority. intractably: (adv) mulishly, cold-blooded: (adj) emotionless, hardhearted, unfeeling, inhuman, callous, cruel, stony, heartless, ruthless, unsympathetic, savage. dusk: (n) nightfall, twilight, darkness, gloaming, sunset, gloom, night, shade, shadow, sundown; (adj) dusky. ANTONYMS: (n) dawn, light,

hitherward, thither. obdurately, inflexibly. leant: (adj) inclined. maiden: (n) maid, girl, demoiselle, damosel, wench, fille, lass, miss; (adj) first, initiatory, unmarried. revived: (adj) fresh, refreshed, animated, revitalized, alive, invigorated, new.

shiver: (n, v) shake, tremble, shudder, fragment, thrill, splinter, tingle; (v) quake, shatter, palpitate; (adj, v)

triumphing: (n) boast, gloriation; (v)triumphal, celebrating victory, exultant.

vanished: (adj, v) extinct, lost; (adj) disappeared, departed, missing, died out, absent, dead, wiped out, bygone; (v) exhausted. ANTONYMS: (adj) found, living.

immediately, and up to her **bedroom** without a light. Amid the rustles which denoted her to be undressing in the **darkness** other **heavy** breaths **frequently** came; and the same kind of **shudder occasionally** moved through her when, ten minutes later, she lay on her bed asleep.

Thesaurus

bedroom: (*n*) bedchamber, dormitory, sleeping room, apartment, assembly, berth, boudoir, master bedroom; (*adj*) sexy.

darkness: (n) dark, shade, shadow, blindness, gloom, blackness, duskiness, murk, cloud, blackout, dimness. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, lightness, glow, comprehension, knowledge, day, clearness.

frequently: (adv) usually, repeatedly,

continually, generally, regularly, habitually, ordinarily, commonly, often, incessantly, constantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) infrequently, unusually, seldom, intermittently, occasionally, spasmodically.

occasionally, spasmodically. **heavy**: (adj, n) dull; (adj) deep, fat,
dense, grave, dark, full, gross, thick,
bulky; (adj, adv) hard. ANTONYMS:
(adj) slim, easy, thin, slight, skinny,
puny, gentle, insubstantial, animated,
nimble, entertaining.

occasionally: (adv) now and then, from time to time, accidentally, every so often, now and again, sometimes, irregularly, uncommonly, casually, every now and then, fortuitously. ANTONYMS: (adv) regularly, usually, often, recurrently, constantly.

shudder: (adj, n, v) shake, quake, tremble; (n, v) quiver, twitch, thrill; (n) quivering, shivering, chill, frisson; (v) flutter.

7

QUEEN OF NIGHT

Eustacia Vye was the raw material of a divinity. On Olympus she would have done well with a little preparation. She had the passions and instincts which make a model goddess, that is, those which make not quite a model woman. Had it been possible for the earth and mankind to be entirely in her grasp for a while, she had handled the distaff, the spindle, and the shears at her own free will, few in the world would have noticed the change of government. There would have been the same inequality of lot, the same heaping up of favours here, of contumely there, the same generosity before justice, the same perpetual dilemmas, the same captious alteration of caresses and blows that we endure now.

She was in person full-limbed and somewhat heavy; without ruddiness, as without pallor; and soft to the touch as a cloud. To see her hair was to fancy that a whole winter did not contain darkness enough to form its shadow--it closed over her forehead like nightfall **extinguishing** the western glow.

Her nerves extended into those tresses, and her temper could always be softened by stroking them down. When her hair was brushed she would instantly sink into stillness and look like the Sphinx. If, in passing under one of

Thesaurus

captious: (adj, n, v) critical; (adj) peevish, cantankerous, irritable, hypercritical, faultfinding, fastidious, fretful, querulous, caviling; (adj, n) exacting. ANTONYMS: (adj) praising, commendatory, complimentary, encouraging, flattering. contumely: (n) insult, affront, contempt, scorn, indignity, discourtesy, disgrace, insolence, disdain; (n, v) invective; (v)vituperation.

distaff: (adj) female, rack; (v) dizen; (n) whiteness, sallowness. ANTONYMS: sphere, domain, area, arena. extinguishing: (n) quenching, dampen ruddiness: (n) flush, rosiness, glow, out, extermination, stamp out, conclusion, extinguished, experimental extinction, ending, destruction, defunctness, complete annihilation.

noticed: (adj) noted. pallor: (n) pallidness, wanness, complexion, achromasia, lividity, lividness, luridness, pale, skin color, (n) rosiness, coloration, bloom. complexion, skin color, rubicundity, redness, color, complection, high color, pinkness. ANTONYM: (n)

spindle: (n) axle, mandrel, pivot, arbor, shaft, mandril, axis, pin, hinge, bobbin, main spindle.

tresses: (n) locks, mop, head of hair.

the Egdon banks, any of its thick skeins were caught, as they sometimes were, by a prickly tuft of the large Ulex Europoeus--which will act as a sort of hairbrush-she would go back a few steps, and pass against it a second time.

She had pagan eyes, full of nocturnal mysteries, and their light, as it came and went, and came again, was partially hampered by their oppressive lids and lashes; and of these the under lid was much fuller than it usually is with English women. This enabled her to indulge in reverie without seeming to do so--she might have been believed capable of sleeping without closing them up. Assuming that the souls of men and women were visible essences, you could fancy the colour of Eustacia's soul to be flamelike. The sparks from it that rose into her dark pupils gave the same impression.

The mouth seemed formed less to speak than to quiver, less to quiver than to kiss. Some might have added, less to kiss than to curl. Viewed sideways, the closing-line of her lips formed, with almost geometric precision, the curve so well known in the arts of design as the cima-recta, or ogee. The sight of such a flexible bend as that on grim Egdon was quite an **apparition**. It was felt at once that the mouth did not come over from Sleswig with a band of Saxon pirates whose lips met like the two halves of a muffin. One had fancied that such lipcurves were mostly lurking underground in the South as fragments of forgotten marbles. So fine were the lines of her lips that, though full, each corner of her mouth was as clearly cut as the point of a spear. This keenness of corner was only **blunted** when she was given over to sudden fits of gloom, one of the phases of the night-side of sentiment which she knew too well for her years.

Her presence brought memories of such things as Bourbon roses, rubies, and tropical midnight; her moods recalled lotus-eaters and the march in Athalie; her motions, the ebb and flow of the sea; her voice, the viola. In a dim light, and with a slight rearrangement of her hair, her general figure might have stood for that of either of the higher female deities. The new moon behind her head, an old helmet upon it, a diadem of accidental dewdrops round her brow, would have been adjuncts sufficient to strike the note of Artemis, Athena, or Hera

Thesaurus

apparition: (n) ghost, phantom, spirit, spectre, hallucination, spook, shade, eidolon, wraith, advent; (n, v) vision. blunted: (adj) dulled, rounded, beaten, benumbed, dunted, duller. diadem: (n) crown, coronet, tiara, circlet, sovereignty, headdress, crest, power, capitulum, cap of maintenance, crown jewels. **flamelike**: (adj) blazing, flamy. keenness: (n) ardor, eagerness, enthusiasm, acumen, sharpness, zeal, ogee: (n) cyma, curve.

acuity, quickness, diligence, fervor; (n, v) edge. ANTONYMS: (n) unwillingness, dullness, indifference, faintness, dislike, patience, reluctance. **lids**: (*n*) lid.

marbles: (n) wit, sanity, mind, reason, jackstones, jacks, cods. muffin: (n) gem, cake, jewel,

gemstone, English muffin, bran muffin, corn muffin.

quiver: (adj, n, v) shudder, shiver, tremble, shake; (v) flicker, flutter, vibrate; (n, v) palpitate, quaver; (n)vibration, tremor.

reverie: (n) dream, fantasy, air castle, brown study, revery, trance, abstraction, castle in Spain, castle in the air; (adj) preoccupation, distraction. ANTONYM: (n) reality. tuft: (n) wisp, crest, cluster, truss, knot, fagot, tassel, strand, thicket, curl; (adj, n) feather.

respectively, with as close an approximation to the antique as that which passes muster on many respected canvases.

But celestial **imperiousness**, love, wrath, and fervour had proved to be somewhat thrown away on netherward Egdon. Her power was limited, and the consciousness of this limitation had **biassed** her development. Egdon was her Hades, and since coming there she had imbibed much of what was dark in its tone, though inwardly and **eternally** unreconciled thereto. Her appearance accorded well with this smouldering rebelliousness, and the shady splendour of her beauty was the real surface of the sad and stifled warmth within her. A true Tartarean dignity sat upon her brow, and not **factitiously** or with marks of constraint, for it had grown in her with years.

Across the upper part of her head she wore a thin **fillet** of black velvet, restraining the **luxuriance** of her shady hair, in a way which added much to this class of majesty by irregularly **clouding** her forehead. "Nothing can **embellish** a beautiful face more than a narrow band drawn over the brow," says Richter. Some of the neighbouring girls wore coloured ribbon for the same purpose, and sported metallic ornaments elsewhere; but if anyone suggested coloured ribbon and metallic ornaments to Eustacia Vye she laughed and went on.

Why did a woman of this sort live on Egdon Heath? Budmouth was her native place, a fashionable seaside resort at that date. She was the daughter of the **bandmaster** of a regiment which had been **quartered** there--a Corfiote by birth, and a fine musician--who met his future wife during her trip thither with her father the captain, a man of good family. The marriage was scarcely in accord with the old man's wishes, for the bandmaster's pockets were as light as his occupation. But the musician did his best; adopted his wife's name, made England permanently his home, took great trouble with his child's education, the expenses of which were defrayed by the grandfather, and throve as the chief local musician till her mother's death, when he left off thriving, drank, and died also. The girl was left to the care of her grandfather, who, since three of his ribs became broken in a **shipwreck**, had lived in this airy perch on Egdon, a spot which had taken his fancy because the house was to be had for next to nothing,

Thesaurus

bandmaster: (n) director. biassed: (adj) prejudiced. clouding: (n) vaporization, vapor, evaporation, vaporisation, clouding

embellish: (v) dress, adorn, decorate, deck, beautify, ornament, embroider, trim, bedeck, gild, garnish.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) deface, understate, disfigure, mar, spoil, uglify.

eternally: (*adv*) always, permanently, incessantly, perpetually, constantly,

ceaselessly, endlessly, unendingly, unceasingly, lastingly; (adj, adv) forever. ANTONYMS: (adv) briefly, sporadically.

factitiously: (adv) synthetically, fictitiously, supposititiously, manmadely, unnaturally, shamly, surreptitiously.

fillet: (n) band, strip, cincture, list, stripe, fascia, molding, girdle, sash, roller, lemniscus.

imperiousness: (n) haughtiness,

domineeringness, lordliness, overbearingness, tyranny, assumption.

luxuriance: (*n*) exuberance, copiousness, abundance, lushness, affluence, wealth, luxury, excess, luxuriancy, rampancy; (*adj*) fecundity.

quartered: (*n*) quartering, quarters. **shipwreck**: (*n*, *v*) ruin; (*adj*, *v*) sink; (*v*) defeat, scuttle, destroy, fail; (*n*) hulk, accident, wreckage, wrack, ruination.

and because a remote blue tinge on the horizon between the hills, visible from the cottage door, was traditionally believed to be the English Channel. She hated the change; she felt like one banished; but here she was forced to abide.

Thus it happened that in Eustacia's brain were **juxtaposed** the strangest assortment of ideas, from old time and from new. There was no middle distance in her perspective--romantic recollections of sunny afternoons on an **esplanade**, with military bands, officers, and gallants around, stood like gilded letters upon the dark tablet of surrounding Egdon. Every bizarre effect that could result from the random intertwining of watering-place glitter with the grand **solemnity** of a heath, was to be found in her. Seeing nothing of human life now, she imagined all the more of what she had seen.

Where did her dignity come from? By a latent vein from Alcinous' line, her father hailing from Phaeacia's isle?--or from Fitzalan and De Vere, her maternal grandfather having had a cousin in the **peerage**? Perhaps it was the gift of Heaven--a happy convergence of natural laws. Among other things opportunity had of late years been denied her of learning to be **undignified**, for she lived lonely. Isolation on a heath renders **vulgarity** well-nigh impossible. It would have been as easy for the heath-ponies, bats, and snakes to be vulgar as for her. A narrow life in Budmouth might have completely **demeaned** her.

The only way to look **queenly** without realms or **hearts** to queen it over is to look as if you had lost them; and Eustacia did that to a triumph. In the captain's cottage she could suggest mansions she had never seen. Perhaps that was because she frequented a vaster mansion than any of them, the open hills. Like the summer condition of the place around her, she was an embodiment of the phrase "a populous solitude"--apparently so **listless**, void, and quiet, she was really busy and full.

To be loved to madness--such was her great desire. Love was to her the one cordial which could drive away the eating loneliness of her days. And she seemed to long for the abstraction called passionate love more than for any particular lover.

Thesaurus ANTONYMS: (adj) lively, animated,

demeaned: (adj) ashamed. esplanade: (n) walkway, park, parade, mall, public walk, place, boulevard, path; (adj, n) terrace; (adj) parterre, estrade. hearts: (n) Black Maria, spades. juxtaposed: (adj) close, closer, contiguous, adjoining. listless: (adj) indifferent, dull, indolent, careless, languid, inert, inattentive, dispirited, slow,

uninterested, spiritless.

energetic, strong, spirited. **peerage**: (*n*) aristocracy, baronage,
nobility, peerdom, gentry, noblesse. **queenly**: (*adj*) queenlike, royal, noble,
dignified, regal, majestic, imperial,
sovereign. **solemnity**: (*n*) seriousness, sobriety,
earnestness, formality, ceremony,
impressiveness, austerity, sedateness,
display, pomp, grandeur.

ANTONYMS: (n) humor, levity,

cheerfulness, understatement. undignified: (adj) low, inappropriate, humiliating, rude, indign, impolite, demeaning, degrading, improper, debasing. ANTONYMS: (adj) dignified, distinguished, polite. vulgarity: (n) indecency, vulgarism, grossness, inelegance, crudeness, commonness, obscenity, rudeness, crudity, boorishness, indelicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, purity, classiness, civility, taste, decency.

She could show a most **reproachful** look at times, but it was directed less against human beings than against certain creatures of her mind, the chief of these being Destiny, through whose interference she dimly fancied it arose that love alighted only on gliding youth--that any love she might win would sink simultaneously with the sand in the glass. She thought of it with an evergrowing consciousness of cruelty, which tended to breed actions of reckless **unconventionality**, framed to snatch a year's, a week's, even an hour's passion from anywhere while it could be won. Through want of it she had sung without being merry, possessed without enjoying, outshone without triumphing. Her loneliness **deepened** her desire. On Egdon, coldest and **meanest** kisses were at famine prices, and where was a mouth matching hers to be found?

Fidelity in love for fidelity's sake had less attraction for her than for most women; fidelity because of love's grip had much. A blaze of love, and extinction, was better than a lantern glimmer of the same which should last long years. On this head she knew by **prevision** what most women learn only by experienceshe had mentally walked round love, told the **towers** thereof, considered its palaces, and concluded that love was but a doleful joy. Yet she desired it, as one in a desert would be thankful for **brackish** water.

She often repeated her prayers; not at particular times, but, like the **unaffectedly** devout, when she desired to pray. Her prayer was always spontaneous, and often ran thus, "O deliver my heart from this fearful gloom and loneliness; send me great love from somewhere, else I shall die."

Her high gods were William the Conqueror, Strafford, and Napoleon Buonaparte, as they had appeared in the Lady's History used at the establishment in which she was educated. Had she been a mother she would have christened her boys such names as Saul or Sisera in preference to Jacob or David, neither of whom she admired. At school she had used to side with the Philistines in several battles, and had wondered if Pontius Pilate were as handsome as he was frank and fair.

Thus she was a girl of some **forwardness** of mind, indeed, weighed in relation to her situation among the very **rearward** of thinkers, very original. Her

Thesaurus

brackish: (adj) salt, saline, bracky, stagnant, nauseous, briny.
deepened: (adj) concentrated, gathered.
forwardness: (adj) alacrity, readiness, earnestness; (n) precocity, impudence, presumption, cockiness, bumptiousness, impertinence, cheekiness, temerity.
meanest: (adj) last, least.
prevision: (n) prescience, anticipation, forecast, foreknowledge, prophecy,

prognostication, vision, prediction, forethought, forecasting; (v) foresee. rearward: (adj, adv) back; (adj, n) rear; (adv) astern, backwards, abaft, aback, after, rearwards, aft; (n) backside; (adj) reverse.

reproachful: (adj, v) condemnatory, disparaging, vituperative; (adj) admonitory, opprobrious, disgraceful, shameful, reproving, objurgatory, contumelious; (v) denunciatory.

towers: (n) edifice.
unaffectedly: (adv) artlessly,
untouchedly, sincerely, genuinely,
unsophisticatedly, impassively,
naively, spontaneously, unfeignedly,
plainly, simplely. ANTONYM: (adv)
pretentiously.

unconventionality: (n) abnormality, eccentricity, anomaly, abnormity, informality, nonconformity, oddity, heterodoxy. ANTONYMS: (n) conventionality, normality.

instincts towards social non-comformity were at the root of this. In the matter of holidays, her mood was that of horses who, when turned out to grass, enjoy looking upon their kind at work on the highway. She only valued rest to herself when it came in the midst of other people's labour. Hence she hated Sundays when all was at rest, and often said they would be the death of her. To see the heathmen in their Sunday condition, that is, with their hands in their pockets, their boots newly **oiled**, and not laced up (a particularly Sunday sign), walking leisurely among the turves and furze-faggots they had cut during the week, and kicking them critically as if their use were unknown, was a fearful **heaviness** to her. To relieve the tedium of this untimely day she would overhaul the cupboards containing her grandfather's old charts and other rubbish, humming Saturday-night ballads of the country people the while. But on Saturday nights she would frequently sing a psalm, and it was always on a weekday that she read the Bible, that she might be unoppressed with a sense of doing her duty.

Such views of life were to some extent the natural begettings of her situation upon her nature. To dwell on a heath without studying its meanings was like wedding a foreigner without learning his tongue. The subtle beauties of the heath were lost to Eustacia; she only caught its **vapours**. An environment which would have made a contented woman a poet, a suffering woman a **devotee**, a pious woman a **psalmist**, even a **giddy** woman thoughtful, made a rebellious woman **saturnine**.

Eustacia had got beyond the vision of some marriage of **inexpressible** glory; yet, though her emotions were in full vigour, she cared for no meaner union. Thus we see her in a strange state of isolation. To have lost the **godlike** conceit that we may do what we will, and not to have acquired a homely zest for doing what we can, shows a grandeur of temper which cannot be objected to in the abstract, for it denotes a mind that, though disappointed, forswears compromise. But, if congenial to philosophy, it is apt to be dangerous to the commonwealth. In a world where doing means **marrying**, and the commonwealth is one of hearts and hands, the same peril attends the condition.

Thesaurus worship, deified, elysian, foreboding,

devotee: (n) admirer, buff, enthusiast, fan, addict, follower, lover, adherent, groupie; (adj) convert, Christian.

ANTONYMS: (n) skeptic, adversary, enemy, foe, opponent, detractor.

giddy: (adj, v) flighty; (adj) dizzy, faint, silly, changeable, vertiginous, featherbrained, light, fickle, capricious; (adv) careless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, dull.

godlike: (adj) celestial, heavenly, seraphic, holy, angelic, godly, divine

divine songs.

heaviness: (n) dullness, fatness,
sadness, ponderosity,
ponderousness, weightiness, weight,
darkness, gloom, wideness, pressure.
ANTONYMS: (n) slenderness,
nimbleness, weightlessness.
inexpressible: (adj, v) indescribable;
(adj) ineffable, unspeakable,
unutterable, indefinable,
incommunicable, nameless, untold,

beyond description, unexpressible, undefinable. ANTONYM: (adj) definite. marrying: (adj) married.

oiled: (adj) intoxicated, oily.
ANTONYM: (adj) unoiled.
psalmist: (n) composer.
saturnine: (adj) dour, moody, morose,
sullen, dark, glum, gloomy, heavy,
dismal; (v) melancholic, bilious.
vapours: (n) vapors, megrims, blue
devils, blues.

And so we see our Eustacia--for at times she was not altogether unlovable-arriving at that stage of **enlightenment** which feels that nothing is worth while, and **filling** up the spare hours of her existence by **idealizing** Wildeve for want of a better object. This was the sole reason of his **ascendency**: she knew it herself. At moments her pride rebelled against her passion for him, and she even had longed to be free. But there was only one **circumstance** which could **dislodge** him, and that was the advent of a greater man.

For the rest, she suffered much from depression of spirits, and took slow walks to recover them, in which she carried her grandfather's **telescope** and her grandmother's hourglass--the latter because of a peculiar pleasure she derived from watching a material representation of time's gradual **glide** away. She seldom schemed, but when she did scheme, her plans showed rather the comprehensive strategy of a general than the small arts called **womanish**, though she could utter oracles of Delphian ambiguity when she did not choose to be direct. In heaven she will probably sit between the Heloises and the Cleopatras.

Thesaurus

ascendency: (n) ascendant, predominance, sway, ascendance, advantage, ascendent, control, dominance, dominion, influence, mastery.

circumstance: (*n*) affair, incident, matter, event, occasion, chance, accident, opportunity, adventure, casualty, fact.

dislodge: (v) bump, shift, throw, extrude, banish, discharge, dislocate, expel, eject, free, move. ANTONYMS:

(*v*) wedge, root, seat, replace, plant, embed, stick, restore.

enlightenment: (n) light, information, education, culture, civilization, instruction, wisdom, illumination, notice, Age of Reason; (n, v) knowledge.

filling: (*n*) filler, weft, contents, loading, plug, packing, pad, replenishment, padding, impletion, stuffing. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) light, insufficient.

glide: (adj, n, v) slide; (n, v) coast, slip; (v) float, run, fly, flow, drift, lapse, slink, skid. ANTONYMS: (v) lurch, hurtle, flounder, sink. idealizing: (v) idealise. telescope: (n) scope, collimator, setting, tube, reach, range, pipe, perspicil, oscilloscope; (v) shrivel, reduce in size. ANTONYM: (v) grow. womanish: (adj) tender, feminine, female, womanlike, womanly, weak, unmanly.

8

THOSE WHO ARE FOUND WHERE THERE IS SAID TO BE NOBODY

As soon as the sad little boy had withdrawn from the fire he clasped the money tight in the palm of his hand, as if thereby to fortify his courage, and began to run. There was really little danger in allowing a child to go home alone on this part of Egdon Heath. The distance to the boy's house was not more than three-eighths of a mile, his father's cottage, and one other a few yards further on, forming part of the small hamlet of Mistover Knap: the third and only remaining house was that of Captain Vye and Eustacia, which stood quite away from the small cottages and was the loneliest of lonely houses on these thinly populated slopes.

He ran until he was out of breath, and then, becoming more courageous, walked leisurely along, singing in an old voice a little song about a sailor-boy and a fair one, and bright gold in store. In the middle of this the child stopped-from a pit under the hill ahead of him shone a light, whence proceeded a cloud of floating dust and a **smacking** noise.

Only unusual sights and sounds frightened the boy. The shrivelled voice of the heath did not alarm him, for that was familiar. The thornbushes which arose

Thesaurus

began: (v) Gan. courageous: (adj, n) bold; (adj) audacious, fearless, valiant, gallant, intrepid, spirited, heroic, undaunted, manly, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) timid, wimpy, weak, spineless, pusillanimous, fearful, fainthearted, afraid, despicable.

fortify: (*n*, *v*) brace, nerve, invigorate; (v) build up, confirm, consolidate, secure, buttress, encourage, reinforce, enhance. ANTONYMS: (v) subdue,

disarm, enfeeble, demoralize, undermine. leisurely: (adj) slow, deliberate, easygoing, leisure, at ease, unhurried, thinly: (adv) flimsily, slightly, slimly, measured, idle; (adv) deliberately, slowly, at leisure. ANTONYMS: (adj) rushed, hurried, formal, vigorous, speedy, fast; (adv) formally, quickly. populated: (adj) populous, thick. ANTONYM: (adj) uninhabited. **proceeded**: (v) proceed, yode. smacking: (n) smack, brisk, shit, scag,

diacetylmorphine, heroin, horse. thereby: (adv) whereby, hereby. slenderly, weakly, diaphanously, rarely, leanly, finely, tenuously; (adj) thin. ANTONYMS: (adv) densely, thickly, loudly, liberally. whence: (adv) wherefrom, hence, because, for, why, wherefore, how, then, then thence so, how comes it, how happens it.

savor, beating, h, savour,

in his path from time to time were less satisfactory, for they whistled **gloomily**, and had a ghastly habit after dark of putting on the shapes of jumping madmen, **sprawling** giants, and hideous cripples. Lights were not uncommon this evening, but the nature of all of them was different from this. Discretion rather than terror prompted the boy to turn back instead of passing the light, with a view of asking Miss Eustacia Vye to let her servant accompany him home.

When the boy had reascended to the top of the valley he found the fire to be still burning on the bank, though lower than before. Beside it, instead of Eustacia's solitary form, he saw two persons, the second being a man. The boy crept along under the bank to ascertain from the nature of the proceedings if it would be prudent to interrupt so splendid a creature as Miss Eustacia on his poor trivial account.

After listening under the bank for some minutes to the talk he turned in a **perplexed** and **doubting** manner and began to withdraw as silently as he had come. That he did not, upon the whole, think it advisable to interrupt her conversation with Wildeve, without being prepared to bear the whole weight of her **displeasure**, was obvious.

Here was a Scyllaeo-Charybdean position for a poor boy. Pausing when again safe from discovery, he finally decided to face the pit phenomenon as the lesser evil. With a heavy sigh he retraced the slope, and followed the path he had followed before.

The light had gone, the rising dust had disappeared—he hoped for ever. He marched resolutely along, and found nothing to alarm him till, coming within a few yards of the **sandpit**, he heard a slight noise in front, which led him to halt. The halt was but momentary, for the noise resolved itself into the steady bites of two animals **grazing**.

"Two he'th-croppers down here," he said aloud. "I have never known 'em come down so far afore."

The animals were in the direct line of his path, but that the child thought little of; he had played round the fetlocks of horses from his infancy. On coming nearer, however, the boy was somewhat surprised to find that the little creatures

Thesaurus

displeasure: (n) resentment, discomfort, dissatisfaction, dislike, discontent, exasperation, disfavor, annoyance, offense, pique, disapproval. ANTONYMS: (n) satisfaction, pleasure, enjoyment, happiness, delight, contentment, equanimity, approval. doubting: (adj) doubtful, distrustful, disbelieving, incredulous, doubt, skeptical, suspicious, sceptical, wary, doubts, distrusting, ANTONYM: (adj) credulous. gloomily: (adv) murkily, obscurely, drearily, darkly, somberly, morosely, sadly, sorrowfully, despondently, unhappily, glumly. ANTONYMS: (adv) brightly, favorably, happily, optimistically, contentedly; (adj) auspiciously.

grazing: (n) pasturage, feeding, shaving, farming, Estancia, eating, skimming.

perplexed: (adj) confused, puzzled,

baffled, confounded, doubtful, distracted, disconcerted; (adj, v) intricate, complicated, lost, involved. ANTONYMS: (adj) unperplexed, assured, clear, knowing. sandpit: (n) cavity.

sprawling: (adj) sprawled, roomy, sizeable, untidy, straggling, expansive, sprawly, wide, extensive; (adv) asprawl; (n) attitude.

ANTONYM: (adj) narrow.

did not run off, and that each wore a clog, to prevent his going astray; this signified that they had been broken in. He could now see the interior of the pit, which, being in the side of the hill, had a level entrance. In the **innermost** corner the square outline of a van appeared, with its back towards him. A light came from the interior, and threw a moving shadow upon the vertical face of gravel at the further side of the pit into which the vehicle faced.

The child assumed that this was the cart of a gipsy, and his dread of those wanderers reached but to that mild pitch which titillates rather than pains. Only a few inches of mud wall kept him and his family from being gipsies themselves. He skirted the gravel pit at a respectful distance, ascended the slope, and came forward upon the brow, in order to look into the open door of the van and see the original of the shadow.

The picture alarmed the boy. By a little stove inside the van sat a figure red from head to heels--the man who had been Thomasin's friend. He was darning a stocking, which was red like the rest of him. Moreover, as he darned he smoked a pipe, the stem and bowl of which were red also.

At this moment one of the heath-croppers feeding in the outer shadows was audibly shaking off the clog attached to its foot. Aroused by the sound, the reddleman laid down his stocking, lit a lantern which hung beside him, and came out from the van. In sticking up the candle he lifted the lantern to his face, and the light shone into the whites of his eyes and upon his ivory teeth, which, in contrast with the red surrounding, lent him a startling aspect enough to the gaze of a juvenile. The boy knew too well for his peace of mind upon whose lair he had lighted. Uglier persons than gipsies were known to cross Egdon at times, and a reddleman was one of them.

"How I wish 'twas only a gipsy!" he murmured.

The man was by this time coming back from the horses. In his fear of being seen the boy rendered detection certain by nervous motion. The heather and peat stratum overhung the brow of the pit in mats, hiding the actual verge. The boy had **stepped** beyond the solid ground; the heather now gave way, and down he rolled over the **scarp** of grey sand to the very foot of the man.

Thesaurus

astray: (adj, adv) adrift, off course; (adj) lost, wrong, disoriented, awry; (adv) amiss, widely, far, afield, aside. ANTONYM: (adj) accurate. audibly: (adv) loudly, clearly, out loud. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, inaudibly, indistinctly, silently. clog: (n, v) block, bar, glut; (v) choke, obstruct, foul, hinder, encumber, back up; (n) obstruction, patten. ANTONYMS: (v) free, clear, open,

darned: (adj) blasted, deuced, damn, cursed, goddamned, aeonian, goddamn, irritating, infernal, ageless, hiding place, hideout, cell, retreat,

darning: (n) darn, repair, stitching, embroidery, needlework, restoration, scarp: (n) escarpment, escarp, tapestry, hemming, healing, renovation, needlepoint. innermost: (adj) inward, intimate,

inner, interior, close, internal, middle, **stepped**: (v) advanced, gone, stopen. center, hint, hearty; (adj, n) inside.

ANTONYMS: (adj) external, outermost, outer. lair: (n) burrow, hole, hideaway, earth, sanctum sanctorum; (adj) sty, sink of corruption. protective embankment, cliff, fortification; (v) rampart, battlement, circumvallation, vallum.

whites: (n) thirds.

The red man opened the lantern and turned it upon the figure of the **prostrate** boy.

"Who be ye?" he said.

"Johnny Nunsuch, master!"

"What were you doing up there?"

"I don't know."

"Watching me, I suppose?"

"Yes, master."

"What did you watch me for?"

"Because I was coming home from Miss Vye's bonfire."

"Beest hurt?"

"No."

"Why, yes, you be--your hand is **bleeding**. Come under my **tilt** and let me tie it up."

"Please let me look for my sixpence."

"How did you come by that?"

"Miss Vye gied it to me for keeping up her bonfire."

The sixpence was found, and the man went to the van, the boy behind, almost holding his breath.

The man took a piece of rag from a **satchel** containing **sewing** materials, **tore** off a strip, which, like everything else, was tinged red, and proceeded to **bind** up the wound.

"My eyes have got foggy-like--please may I sit down, master?" said the boy.

"To be sure, poor chap. 'Tis enough to make you feel fainty. Sit on that bundle."

The man finished **tying** up the **gash**, and the boy said, "I think I'll go home now, master."

Thesaurus

bind: (adj, v) attach, fix, fasten, affix; (n) band; (v) bandage, lace, fetter, bundle, truss, combine.

ANTONYMS: (v) untie, unbind, free, unfasten, unravel, permit, loosen, loose, let; (n, v) release; (n) pleasure.

bleeding: (adj) bloody, gory, blasted; (n) haemorrhage, bloodletting, runout, cupping, leeches, venesection, phlebotomy; (v) bleed.

gash: (n, v) slash, scratch, tear, wound, slit, break, rip, slice, crack, score; (n)

johnny: (n) Johnnie, reb, Johnny Reb, freedom fighter, grayback, insurgent, rebel, insurrectionist, can. prostrate: (adj, v) prone, exhaust, level, fatigue; (v) fell, overwhelm, overcome, floor, overthrow; (adj) needlecraft, stitch, stitching, fancywork, mend, gathering, binding. gathering, binding. gathering, binding. tilt: (n, v) slant, slope, lean, list, rock, careen, sway; (v) pitch, tip, cant, lurch. ANTONYMS: (n, v) surrende

overcome, floor, overthrow; (adj) deject, knock down. ANTONYM: (adj) upright.

satchel: (*n*) knapsack, wallet, luggage, scrip, haversack, pouch, case, briefcase, schoolbag, suitcase, knit.

sewing: (n) embroidery, sew, needlecraft, stitch, stitching, fancywork, mend, gather, patch, gathering, binding. tilt: (n, v) slant, slope, lean, list, rock, careen, sway; (v) pitch, tip, cant, lurch. ANTONYMS: (n, v) surrender; (n) agreement; (v) yield. tore: (v) tare; (n) moulding, molding. tying: (n) ligation, bundling, attachment, knotting, lacing; (adj) binding; (v) restrict.

"You are rather afraid of me. Do you know what I be?"

The child surveyed his **vermilion** figure up and down with much **misgiving** and finally said, "Yes."

"Well, what?"

"The **reddleman**!" he faltered.

"Yes, that's what I be. Though there's more than one. You little children think there's only one **cuckoo**, one fox, one giant, one **devil**, and one reddleman, when there's lots of us all."

"Is there? You won't carry me off in your bags, will ye, master? 'Tis said that the reddleman will sometimes."

"Nonsense. All that reddlemen do is sell reddle. You see all these bags at the back of my **cart**? They are not full of little boys--only full of red stuff."

"Was you born a reddleman?"

"No, I took to it. I should be as white as you if I were to give up the tradethat is, I should be white in time--perhaps six months; not at first, because 'tis grow'd into my skin and won't wash out. Now, you'll never be afraid of a reddleman again, will ye?"

"No, never. Willy Orchard said he **seed** a red **ghost** here t'other day--perhaps that was you?"

"I was here t'other day."

"Were you making that dusty light I saw by now?"

"Oh yes, I was **beating** out some bags. And have you had a good bonfire up there? I saw the light. Why did Miss Vye want a bonfire so bad that she should give you sixpence to keep it up?"

"I don't know. I was tired, but she made me bide and keep up the fire just the same, while she kept going up across Rainbarrow way."

"And how long did that last?"

"Until a hopfrog jumped into the pond."

Thesaurus

beating: (n) reverse, defeat, whipping, thrashing, battery, flogging, pounding, pulsation, pulse, rout; (adj) pulsing. ANTONYMS: (n) victory, win.

cart: (n) car, carriage, handcart, barrow, applecart, wagon; (v) haul, drag, bear, take, transfer.

cuckoo: (n) nut, fathead, goose, jackass, zany, goof, ani, coucal; (v) chirrup, cheep, chirp.

devil: (n) fiend, demon, ghost,

monster, Lucifer, Satan, Beelzebub, deuce, daemon; (v) torment, rag. ANTONYM: (n) angel. dusty: (adj) dirty, sandy, mealy, dry, unclean, pulverulent, branny, uninteresting, vague, psammous; (adj, v) sooty. ANTONYMS: (adj) dusted, clean.

ghost: (*n*, *v*) apparition, specter; (*n*) shade, spirit, demon, soul, spook, spectre, goblin, appearance, monster. **misgiving**: (*adj*, *n*) apprehension, care;

(n) fear, dread, distrust, doubt, hesitation, mistrust, suspicion, uncertainty, scruple. ANTONYMS: (n) confidence, certainty, trust. reddle: (n) raddle, ruddle. seed: (n) issue, posterity, root, progeny, offspring, origin, nucleus, brood, embryo; (v) inseminate, plant. vermilion: (n) scarlet, vermily, orange red, vermeil, lake, redness; (adj, n) cinnabar; (v) redden; (adj) vermillion, chromatic

The reddleman suddenly **ceased** to talk idly. "A hopfrog?" he inquired. "Hopfrogs don't **jump** into ponds this time of year."

"They do, for I heard one."

"Certain-sure?"

"Yes. She told me afore that I should hear'n; and so I did. They say she's clever and deep, and perhaps she **charmed** 'en to come."

"And what then?"

"Then I came down here, and I was afeard, and I went back; but I didn't like to speak to her, because of the gentleman, and I came on here again."

"A gentleman--ah! What did she say to him, my man?"

"Told him she supposed he had not married the other woman because he liked his old **sweetheart** best; and things like that."

"What did the gentleman say to her, my sonny?"

"He only said he did like her best, and how he was coming to see her again under Rainbarrow o' nights."

"Ha!" cried the reddleman, **slapping** his hand against the side of his van so that the whole **fabric** shook under the blow. "That's the secret o't!"

The little boy jumped clean from the stool.

"My man, don't you be afraid," said the **dealer** in red, suddenly becoming gentle. "I forgot you were here. That's only a curious way reddlemen have of going mad for a moment; but they don't hurt anybody. And what did the lady say then?"

"I can't mind. Please, Master Reddleman, may I go home-along now?"

"Ay, to be sure you may. I'll go a bit of ways with you."

He **conducted** the boy out of the **gravel** pit and into the path leading to his mother's **cottage**. When the little figure had vanished in the darkness the reddleman returned, resumed his seat by the fire, and proceeded to **darn** again.

Thesaurus

ceased: (adj) finished.
charmed: (adj) enchanted, delighted,
fascinated, spellbound, entranced,
captive, beguiled, infatuated,
absorbed, enamored, captive hours.
conducted: (adj) directed, guided.
cottage: (n) cabin, bungalow, crib, hut,
villa, lodge, shanty, chalet, country
house, house, cot.
darn: (n, v) mend, damn, repair; (v)
stitch, restore, patch, fix; (n) darning,

worthlessness, euphemism; (adj)

dealer: (n) merchant, trader, monger, vendor, seller, marketer, barterer, broker, agent, trafficker, chandler. ANTONYM: (n) buyer. fabric: (n) composition, cloth, construction, material, framework, fiber, performance, anatomy; (n, v) edifice, building, structure. gravel: (adj, v) nonplus, bother; (v) bedevil, rag, chevy, flummox, bewilder, puzzle; (adj) grating; (adj, n)

dirt; (*n*) grit. **jump**: (*n*, *v*) bound, start, bounce, hop, caper, startle, dive, rise; (*v*) spring, hurdle; (*adj*, *v*) skip. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) decrease; (*v*) surface, drop, hesitate. **slapping**: (*adj*) slapper. **sweetheart**: (*n*) dear, girl, darling, mistress, flame, beloved, boyfriend.

sweetheart: (*n*) dear, girl, darling, mistress, flame, beloved, boyfriend, love, steady; (*adj*, *n*) beau, admirer. ANTONYMS: (*n*) foe, enemy.

9

LOVE LEADS A SHREWD MAN INTO STRATEGY

Reddlemen of the old school are now but seldom seen. Since the introduction of railways Wessex farmers have managed to do without these Mephistophelian visitants, and the bright **pigment** so largely used by shepherds in preparing sheep for the fair is obtained by other routes. Even those who yet survive are losing the poetry of existence which **characterized** them when the pursuit of the trade meant **periodical** journeys to the pit whence the material was dug, a regular camping out from month to month, except in the depth of winter, a **peregrination** among farms which could be counted by the hundred, and in spite of this Arab existence the preservation of that respectability which is **insured** by the **never**-failing production of a well-lined purse.

Reddle spreads its lively hues over everything it lights on, and stamps **unmistakably**, as with the mark of Cain, any person who has handled it half an hour.

A child's first sight of a reddleman was an **epoch** in his life. That blood-coloured figure was a **sublimation** of all the horrid dreams which had **afflicted** the juvenile spirit since imagination began. "The reddleman is coming for you!"

Thesaurus

afflicted: (adj) miserable, distressed, stricken, pitiful, sorrowful, ill, woeful, dejected, sorry; (v) afflict, displeased.

characterized: (adj) affected, formed, molded, cast.

epoch: (*n*) era, date, period, day, season, time, term, cycle, crisis, date of reference, times.

insured: (*adj*) guaranteed, certain, indubitable; (*n*) policyholder.

never-failing: (adj) steady, sure, fixed,

unfaltering, unqualified, firm, steadfast, unwavering, wholehearted.

peregrination: (n, v) trip, journey, stour; (n) ramble, travel, vagabondage, perambulation, pilgrimage, travelling, jaunt; (v) excursion.

periodical: (n) journal, magazine, newspaper, review, organ,

publication, book; (*adj*) intermittent, cyclic, recurrent, annual. **pigment**: (*n*, *v*) color; (*n*) paint,

coloring, colorant, stain, hemosiderin,

alizarin, bole, alizarine, phycocyanin, phycocrythrin.

sublimation: (*n*) exaltation, transmutation, transformation, purification, elevation, paragon, alteration, change, condensation, modification, shift.

unmistakably: (adv) undoubtedly, manifestly, decidedly, signally, remarkably, evidently, apparently, visibly, palpably, unambiguously, markedly. had been the formulated threat of Wessex mothers for many generations. He was successfully supplanted for a while, at the beginning of the present century, by Buonaparte; but as process of time rendered the latter **personage** stale and ineffective the older phrase resumed its early prominence. And now the reddleman has in his turn followed Buonaparte to the land of worn-out bogeys, and his place is filled by modern inventions.

The reddleman lived like a gipsy; but gipsies he **scorned**. He was about as thriving as travelling basket and mat makers; but he had nothing to do with them. He was more **decently** born and brought up than the cattledrovers who passed and repassed him in his **wanderings**; but they merely nodded to him. His stock was more valuable than that of pedlars; but they did not think so, and passed his cart with eyes straight ahead. He was such an unnatural colour to look at that the men of roundabouts and **waxwork** shows seemed gentlemen beside him; but he considered them low company, and remained aloof. Among all these squatters and folks of the road the reddleman continually found himself; yet he was not of them. His occupation tended to isolate him, and isolated he was mostly seen to be.

It was sometimes suggested that reddlemen were criminals for whose misdeeds other men **wrongfully** suffered--that in escaping the law they had not escaped their own consciences, and had taken to the trade as a lifelong penance. Else why should they have chosen it? In the present case such a question would have been particularly **apposite**. The reddleman who had entered Egdon that afternoon was an instance of the pleasing being wasted to form the ground-work of the singular, when an ugly foundation would have done just as well for that purpose. The one point that was forbidding about this reddleman was his colour. Freed from that he would have been as agreeable a specimen of rustic manhood as one would often see. A keen observer might have been inclined to think--which was, indeed, partly the truth--that he had relinquished his proper station in life for want of interest in it. Moreover, after looking at him one would have hazarded the guess that good nature, and an **acuteness** as extreme as it could be without **verging** on craft, formed the framework of his character.

Thesaurus

acuteness: (n) acuity, sharpness, acumen, discrimination, gravity, insight, sensitivity, perspicacity, penetration, keenness, intensity. ANTONYMS: (n) faintness, insignificance, dullness.

apposite: (adj) pertinent, appropriate, opportune, apropos, suitable, fit, applicable, adequate, correct, germane, fitting. ANTONYM: (adj) wrong.

decently: (adv) becomingly,

decorously, fairly, correctly, seemly, fitly, courteously, justly, appropriately, rightly, right. ANTONYMS: (adv) rudely, improperly, disreputably, inappropriately, immorally. personage: (n) person, notable, celebrity, personality, individual, bigwig, figure, somebody, human, character, being. scorned: (adj) detested, hated, abject, neglected, contemptuous, despicable,

insolent, undesirable, unloved, unpopular, mean.

verging: (adj) marginal, adjoining.

wanderings: (n) peregrination.

waxwork: (n) Celastrus scandens, wax

figure, staff vine, puppet, model,
doll, mammet, aglet, American
bittersweet, bittersweet, figurine.

wrongfully: (adv) unjustly, injuriously,
de jure, legally, lawfully, wrongly,
mischievously, hurtfully, unlawfully,
lawlessly, illegally.

While he darned the **stocking** his face became rigid with thought. Softer **expressions** followed this, and then again recurred the tender sadness which had sat upon him during his drive along the highway that afternoon. Presently his needle stopped. He laid down the stocking, arose from his seat, and took a leathern **pouch** from a hook in the corner of the van. This contained among other articles a brown-paper packet, which, to judge from the hinge-like character of its worn **folds**, seemed to have been carefully opened and closed a good many times. He sat down on a three-legged milking **stool** that formed the only seat in the van, and, examining his packet by the light of a **candle**, took **thence** an old letter and spread it open. The writing had originally been traced on white paper, but the letter had now assumed a pale red **tinge** from the accident of its situation; and the black **strokes** of writing thereon looked like the **twigs** of a winter hedge against a vermilion **sunset**. The letter bore a date some two years previous to that time, and was signed "Thomasin Yeobright." It ran as follows:--

DEAR DIGGORY VENN,--

The question you put when you overtook me coming home from Pond-close gave me such a surprise that I am afraid I did not make you exactly understand what I meant. Of course, if my aunt had not met me I could have explained all then at once, but as it was there was no chance. I have been quite uneasy since, as you know I do not wish to pain you, yet I fear I shall be doing so now in contradicting what I seemed to say then. I cannot, Diggory, marry you, or think of letting you call me your sweetheart. I could not, indeed, Diggory. I hope you will not much mind my saying this, and feel in a great pain. It makes me very sad when I think it may, for I like you very much, and I always put you next to my cousin Clym in my mind. There are so many reasons why we cannot be married that I can hardly name them all in a letter. I did not in the least expect that you were going to speak on such a thing when you followed me, because I had never thought of you in the sense

Thesaurus

candle: (*n*) candela, light, taper, bougie, CD, candlepower, lamp, wax light, Standard candle; (*v*) examine, illuminate.

expressions: (*n*) vocabulary, terms, language.

folds: (n) laps.

pouch: (*n*, *v*) bag; (*n*) pocket, poke, mailbag, sac, pod, purse, sack, bladder; (*v*) bulk, bulge.

stocking: (*n*) hosiery, boothose, trunk hose, supplying, stocking level,

tights, silk stocking, nylons, nylon stocking, rayon stocking; (adj) stockinged.

stool: (*n*) seat, bench, footstool, feces, dejection, faeces, ordure, fecal matter, droppings, bowel movement, form.

strokes: (*n*) approval, reward, recognition, prize, acclaim, credit, brownie points.

sunset: (*n*) dusk, sundown, nightfall, twilight, night, sunsetting, periodic event, crepuscule, atmospheric

phenomenon, hour, recurrent event. ANTONYMS: (n) sunrise, daybreak. **thence**: (adv) therefore, thus, therefrom, thereof, consequently,

then, so, thereafter, thenceforth, since, on account of.

tinge: (*n*, *v*) color, hue, tint, dye, stain, touch, tincture; (*n*) shade, cast, undertone; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) dash. ANTONYMS: (*v*) whiten, pale; (*n*) white, information, pallor.

twigs: (n) sprays.

of a lover at all. You must not becall me for laughing when you spoke; you mistook when you thought I laughed at you as a foolish man. I laughed because the idea was so odd, and not at you at all. The great reason with my own personal self for not letting you court me is, that I do not feel the things a woman ought to feel who consents to walk with you with the meaning of being your wife. It is not as you think, that I have another in my mind, for I do not encourage anybody, and never have in my life. Another reason is my aunt. She would not, I know, agree to it, even if I wished to have you. She likes you very well, but she will want me to look a little higher than a small dairy-farmer, and marry a professional man. I hope you will not set your heart against me for writing plainly, but I felt you might try to see me again, and it is better that we should not meet. I shall always think of you as a good man, and be anxious for your well-doing. I send this by Jane Orchard's little maid,-And remain Diggory, your faithful friend,

THOMASIN YEOBRIGHT.
To MR. VENN, Dairy-FARMER.

Since the arrival of that letter, on a certain autumn morning long ago, the reddleman and Thomasin had not met till today. During the interval he had **shifted** his position even further from **hers** than it had originally been, by adopting the reddle trade; though he was really in very good circumstances still. Indeed, seeing that his expenditure was only one-fourth of his income, he might have been called a **prosperous** man.

Rejected suitors take to **roaming** as naturally as unhived **bees**; and the business to which he had **cynically** devoted himself was in many ways **congenial** to Venn. But his wanderings, by mere stress of old emotions, had frequently taken an Egdon direction, though he never intruded upon her who attracted him thither. To be in Thomasin's heath, and near her, yet **unseen**, was the one ewe-lamb of pleasure left to him.

Thesaurus

bees: (n) Apoidea, superfamily Apoidea. congenial: (adj, v) concordant, consonant, accordant; (adj) compatible, affable, kindred, genial, kind, pleasant, pleasing, delightful. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncongenial, unfriendly, disagreeable, hostile, incompatible, despicable, abominable, unsavory, reserved. cynically: (adv) sarcastically, derisively, scornfully, mockingly,

doubtfully, contemptuously, skeptically, suspiciously, negatively, incredulously, satirically.

ANTONYMS: (adv) optimistically, kindly.

hers: (pron) she, his; (adj) own.

prosperous: (adj, n) lucky, auspicious, fortunate; (adj) flourishing, favorable, opulent, easy, comfortable, affluent, advantageous, successful.

ANTONYMS: (adj) depressed, unsuccessful, failing,

underprivileged, impoverished.
roaming: (adj) wandering, roving,
errant, itinerant, Peripatetic,
traveling, vagabond, astray; (n)
ramble, journey, ubiquity.
shifted: (adj) disordered, gone.
unseen: (adj, v) unknown; (adj)
invisible, concealed, hidden,
unobserved, secret, veiled, latent; (v)
unheeded, unperceived; (n) spiritual
world. ANTONYMS: (adj) seen,
visible, open, famous, noticeable.

Then came the incident of that day, and the reddleman, still loving her well, was excited by this accidental service to her at a critical **juncture** to vow an active devotion to her cause, instead of, as hitherto, sighing and holding aloof. After what had happened it was impossible that he should not doubt the honesty of Wildeve's intentions. But her hope was apparently centred upon him; and dismissing his **regrets** Venn determined to aid her to be happy in her own chosen way. That this way was, of all others, the most distressing to himself, was awkward enough; but the reddleman's love was generous.

His first active step in watching over Thomasin's interests was taken about seven **o'clock** the next evening and was dictated by the news which he had learnt from the sad boy. That Eustacia was somehow the cause of Wildeve's **carelessness** in relation to the marriage had at once been Venn's conclusion on hearing of the secret meeting between them. It did not occur to his mind that Eustacia's love signal to Wildeve was the tender effect upon the deserted beauty of the intelligence which her grandfather had brought home. His instinct was to regard her as a **conspirator** against rather than as an **antecedent** obstacle to Thomasin's happiness.

During the day he had been exceedingly anxious to learn the condition of Thomasin, but he did not venture to **intrude** upon a threshold to which he was a stranger, particularly at such an unpleasant moment as this. He had occupied his time in moving with his ponies and load to a new point in the heath, **eastward** to his previous station; and here he selected a nook with a careful eye to shelter from wind and rain, which seemed to mean that his stay there was to be a comparatively extended one. After this he returned on foot some part of the way that he had come; and, it being now dark, he diverged to the left till he stood behind a holly bush on the edge of a pit not twenty yards from Rainbarrow.

He watched for a meeting there, but he watched in vain. Nobody except himself came near the spot that night.

But the loss of his labour produced little effect upon the reddleman. He had stood in the shoes of Tantalus, and seemed to look upon a certain mass of

Thesaurus

antecedent: (adj, n, v) precedent; (n) precursor, forerunner, forebear, forefather, predecessor; (adj) anterior, past, former, preceding, prior. ANTONYMS: (adj) subsequent, after, following, later, posterior; (n) successor.

carelessness: (n) negligence, inattention, indifference, nonchalance, thoughtlessness, abandon, incaution, disregard, omission, forgetfulness, dereliction. ANTONYMS: (n) attention, caution, alertness, vigilance, carefulness, thoughtfulness, assiduousness, economy, regard, prudence, forethought.

conspirator: (n) accomplice, traitor, confederate, betrayer, archtraitor, coconspirator, malefactor, crook, felon, outlaw, criminal.

eastward: (adj) eastbound, eastern; (adv) eastwards.

intrude: (v) interfere, trespass,

encroach, infringe, impose, obtrude, disturb, interrupt, impinge, barge in, butt in. ANTONYM: (v) disregard. juncture: (n, v) joint; (adj, n) crisis; (n) articulation, event, junction, connection, affair, point, time, conjuncture; (v) joining. o'clock: (n) period, hours. regrets: (n) regret, declination, RSVP regrets only, acknowledgement, acknowledgement, celestial latitude,

excuse, Dec.

disappointment as the natural preface to all realizations, without which preface they would give cause for alarm.

The same hour the next evening found him again at the same place; but Eustacia and Wildeve, the expected trysters, did not appear.

He **pursued** precisely the same course yet four nights longer, and without success. But on the next, being the day-week of their previous meeting, he saw a female shape floating along the ridge and the outline of a young man **ascending** from the valley. They met in the little ditch **encircling** the tumulus--the original excavation from which it had been thrown up by the ancient British people.

The reddleman, **stung** with suspicion of wrong to Thomasin, was aroused to strategy in a moment. He instantly left the bush and crept forward on his hands and knees. When he had got as close as he might safely venture without discovery he found that, **owing** to a cross-wind, the conversation of the **trysting** pair could not be overheard.

Near him, as in divers places about the heath, were areas strewn with large turves, which lay **edgeways** and upside down awaiting removal by Timothy Fairway, previous to the winter weather. He took two of these as he lay, and dragged them over him till one covered his head and shoulders, the other his back and legs. The reddleman would now have been quite invisible, even by daylight; the turves, standing upon him with the heather upwards, looked precisely as if they were growing. He crept along again, and the turves upon his back crept with him. Had he approached without any covering the chances are that he would not have been perceived in the dusk; approaching thus, it was as though he burrowed underground. In this manner he came quite close to where the two were standing.

"Wish to consult me on the matter?" reached his ears in the rich, **impetuous** accents of Eustacia Vye. "Consult me? It is an **indignity** to me to talk so--I won't bear it any longer!" She began weeping. "I have loved you, and have shown you that I loved you, much to my regret; and yet you can come and say in that **frigid** way that you wish to consult with me whether it would not be better to marry

Thesaurus

assurgent, climbing, ascendent; (n) ascension, ascent, rise, advance, movement; (v) go up. edgeways: (adv) edgewise, sideways, barely; (adj) lateral. encircling: (adj, prep) surrounding; (prep) around; (adj) comprehensive, encompassing, roundabout, circuitous, rotary, circumferential, inclusive; (v) encircle. frigid: (adj, n) cold, chilly, dull,

ascending: (adj) uphill, rising,

distant; (adj) chill, freezing, icy, cool, arctic, frosty, bleak. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, hot, burning, torrid. impetuous: (adj) boisterous, hasty, fiery, headlong, heady, hot, brash, foolhardy, dashing, fierce; (adj, v) impulsive. ANTONYMS: (adj) considered, careful, slow, sensible, patient. indignity: (n) dishonor, contumely,

indignity: (n) dishonor, contumely, humiliation, contempt, outrage, disdain, offence, disgrace, degradation; (n, v) insult, abuse. ANTONYMS: (n) honor, glory, pride. owing: (adj) due, unpaid, unsettled, outstanding, overdue, owed, payable, undischarged, indebted, fulfilling obligation, lawful. ANTONYM: (adj) settled.

pursued: (n) hunted person.
stung: (adj) sting, bit, annoyed, roiled,
irritated, nettled, peeved, pissed,
riled, stings, thrust.
trysting: (n) appointment.

Thomasin. Better--of course it would be. Marry her--she is nearer to your own position in life than I am!"

"Yes, yes; that's very well," said Wildeve **peremptorily**. "But we must look at things as they are. Whatever blame may attach to me for having brought it about, Thomasin's position is at present much worse than yours. I simply tell you that I am in a strait."

"But you shall not tell me! You must see that it is only harassing me. Damon, you have not acted well; you have sunk in my opinion. You have not valued my courtesy--the courtesy of a lady in loving you--who used to think of far more ambitious things. But it was Thomasin's fault.

She won you away from me, and she deserves to suffer for it. Where is she staying now? Not that I care, nor where I am myself. Ah, if I were dead and gone how glad she would be! Where is she, I ask?"

"Thomasin is now staying at her aunt's shut up in a bedroom, and keeping out of everybody's sight," he said **indifferently**.

"I don't think you care much about her even now," said Eustacia with sudden joyousness, "for if you did you wouldn't talk so coolly about her. Do you talk so coolly to her about me? Ah, I expect you do! Why did you originally go away from me? I don't think I can ever forgive you, except on one condition, that whenever you desert me, you come back again, sorry that you served me so."

"I never wish to desert you."

"I do not thank you for that. I should hate it to be all smooth. Indeed, I think I like you to desert me a little once now and then. Love is the dismallest thing where the lover is quite honest. O, it is a shame to say so; but it is true!" She indulged in a little laugh. "My low spirits begin at the very idea. Don't you offer me tame love, or away you go!"

"I wish Tamsie were not such a confoundedly good little woman," said Wildeve, "so that I could be faithful to you without injuring a worthy person. It is I who am the **sinner** after all; I am not worth the little finger of either of you."

Thesaurus

confoundedly: (adj) tremendously, severely, desperately, with a vengeance; (adv) confusedly, accursedly, abashedly, bewilderedly, cursedly, puzzledly, extremely. harassing: (adj) troublesome, carking, galling, thorny, vexatious; (v) bothering, pestering, tormenting, worrying, annoy, harass. indifferently: (adv) carelessly, coldly, nonchalantly, listlessly, unconcernedly, uninterestedly,

neutrally, middlingly, casually, unbiasedly, disinterestedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) passionately, obsessively, carefully, eagerly, energetically, warmly, anxiously, enthusiastically, sympathetically. indulged: (adj) pet, privileged, cherished, admired. joyousness: (n) joyfulness, mirth, joy, exhilaration, exultation, gaiety, cheerfulness, excitement, exuberance, staying: (n) stays, arrest; (adj) glee, gladness. ANTONYMS: (n)

unhappiness, sadness. peremptorily: (adv) absolutely, positively, imperatively, flatly, dogmatically, magisterially, commandingly, imperiously, authoritatively, decidedly, decisively. sinner: (n) criminal, miscreant, culprit, sinful, trespasser, transgressor, evildoer, magdalen, rascal, villain,

continual, old, left.

"But you must not sacrifice yourself to her from any sense of justice," replied Eustacia quickly. "If you do not love her it is the most merciful thing in the long run to leave her as she is. That's always the best way. There, now I have been unwomanly, I suppose. When you have left me I am always angry with myself for things that I have said to you."

Wildeve walked a pace or two among the heather without replying. The pause was filled up by the intonation of a pollard thorn a little way to windward, the breezes filtering through its unvielding twigs as through a strainer. It was as if the night sang dirges with clenched teeth.

She continued, half sorrowfully, "Since meeting you last, it has occurred to me once or twice that perhaps it was not for love of me you did not marry her. Tell me, Damon--I'll try to bear it. Had I nothing whatever to do with the matter?"

"Do you press me to tell?"

"Yes, I must know. I see I have been too ready to believe in my own power."

"Well, the immediate reason was that the license would not do for the place, and before I could get another she ran away. Up to that point you had nothing to do with it. Since then her aunt has spoken to me in a tone which I don't at all like."

"Yes, yes! I am nothing in it--I am nothing in it. You only trifle with me. Heaven, what can I, Eustacia Vye, be made of to think so much of you!"

"Nonsense; do not be so passionate....Eustacia, how we roved among these bushes last year, when the hot days had got cool, and the shades of the hills kept us almost invisible in the hollows!"

She remained in moody silence till she said, "Yes; and how I used to laugh at you for daring to look up to me! But you have well made me suffer for that

"Yes, you served me cruelly enough until I thought I had found someone fairer than you. A blessed find for me, Eustacia."

"Do you still think you found somebody fairer?"

Thesaurus

filtering: (n) filtration, straining, refinement; (v) to filter. merciful: (adj) humane, gracious, lenient, compassionate, kind, clement, benign, kindly, gentle, beneficent, forgiving. ANTONYMS: (adj) pitiless, merciless, unforgiving, spiteful, harsh, impatient, severe, hardhearted. pollard: (v) poll, lop, crop, cut back, top, canvas, Bolling; (adj) truncate,

stunt; (n) bran, pollards.

sorrowfully: (adv) dolefully, mournfully, gloomily, woefully, unhappily, sorrily, ruefully, dejectedly, grievously, forlornly, contritely. ANTONYMS: (adv) happily, unrepentantly, joyfully, cheerfully.

strainer: (n) colander, sieve, screen, cullender, stretcher, riddle, trapping sieve, leach, percolator, sifter, screw cleaning machine.

unyielding: (adj) obdurate, stubborn,

unbending, uncompromising, relentless, firm, obstinate, resolute, hard, inexorable, inflexible. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, compliant, soft, surrendering, yielding, bouncy, loose, limp, unrelenting, gentle, fragile. windward: (adv) downwind; (n) weatherboard, to windward, weather side, direction; (adj) tempestuous, flatulent, empty, airy, windy, boisterous.

"Sometimes I do, sometimes I don't. The **scales** are balanced so nicely that a **feather** would turn them."

"But don't you really care whether I meet you or whether I don't?" she said slowly.

"I care a little, but not enough to break my rest," replied the young man **languidly**. "No, all that's past. I find there are two flowers where I thought there was only one. Perhaps there are three, or four, or any number as good as the first....Mine is a curious fate. Who would have thought that all this could happen to me?"

She interrupted with a **suppressed** fire of which either love or anger seemed an equally possible issue, "Do you love me now?"

"Who can say?"

"Tell me; I will know it!"

"I do, and I do not," said he **mischievously**. "That is, I have my times and my seasons. One moment you are too tall, another moment you are too **do**-nothing, another too melancholy, another too dark, another I don't know what, except-that you are not the whole world to me that you used to be, my dear. But you are a pleasant lady to know and nice to meet, and I dare say as sweet as ever-almost."

Eustacia was silent, and she turned from him, till she said, in a voice of suspended **mightiness**, "I am for a walk, and this is my way."

"Well, I can do worse than follow you."

"You know you can't do otherwise, for all your moods and changes!" she answered **defiantly**. "Say what you will; try as you may; keep away from me all that you can--you will never forget me. You will love me all your life long. You would jump to marry me!"

"So I would!" said Wildeve. "Such strange thoughts as I've had from time to time, Eustacia; and they come to me this moment. You hate the heath as much as ever; that I know."

Thesaurus

defiantly: (adv) insubordinately, insolently, rebelliously, disobediently, boldly, obstinately, recalcitrantly, brazenly, mutinously, audaciously, stubbornly. ANTONYMS: (adv) passively, submissively, respectfully, loyally, discreetly, amenably, meekly. do-nothing: (adj) inactive; (n) sluggard. feather: (n) pen, feathering, pinion, nib, plumage, quill, kind, spline; (n,

v) plume; (adj, n, v) fringe; (v) fledge. languidly: (adv) languorously, listlessly, wearily, lethargically, slowly, dreamily, limply, weakly, torpidly, indolently, impassively. ANTONYMS: (adv) dynamically, vigorously.

mightiness: (n) power, force, strength, powerfulness, potency, greatness, excellency, index, king, magnate, major power.

mischievously: (adv) roguishly, badly,

impishly, wickedly, puckishly, playfully, perniciously, disobediently, destructively, waywardly, hurtfully. ANTONYM: (adv) obediently. scales: (adj) balance, weighbridge; (n) steelyard, mill Scales.

suppressed: (*adj*) stifled, smothered, strangled, repressed, downtrodden, buried, hidden, pent-up, latent, untold; (*n*) subordinate.

ANTONYMS: (adj) publicized, overt.

"I do," she murmured deeply. "'Tis my cross, my shame, and will be my death!"

"I abhor it too," said he. "How mournfully the wind blows round us now!"

She did not answer. Its tone was indeed solemn and pervasive. Compound utterances addressed themselves to their senses, and it was possible to view by ear the features of the neighbourhood. Acoustic pictures were returned from the darkened scenery; they could hear where the tracts of heather began and ended; where the furze was growing **stalky** and tall; where it had been recently cut; in what direction the fir-clump lay, and how near was the pit in which the hollies grew; for these differing features had their voices no less than their shapes and colours.

"God, how lonely it is!" resumed Wildeve. "What are picturesque ravines and mists to us who see nothing else?" Why should we stay here? Will you go with me to America? I have **kindred** in Wisconsin."

"That wants consideration."

"It seems impossible to do well here, unless one were a wild bird or a landscape-painter. Well?"

"Give me time," she softly said, taking his hand. "America is so far away. Are you going to walk with me a little way?"

As Eustacia uttered the latter words she retired from the base of the barrow, and Wildeve followed her, so that the reddleman could hear no more.

He lifted the turves and arose. Their black figures sank and disappeared from against the sky. They were as two horns which the sluggish heath had put forth from its crown, like a **mollusc**, and had now again drawn in.

The reddleman's walk across the vale, and over into the next where his cart lay, was not **sprightly** for a slim young fellow of twenty-four. His spirit was **perturbed** to aching. The breezes that blew around his mouth in that walk carried off upon them the accents of a **commination**.

He entered the van, where there was a fire in a stove. Without lighting his candle he sat down at once on the three-legged stool, and pondered on what he

Thesaurus

abhor: (v) hate, detest, abominate, execrate, despise, dislike, nauseate, disdain, scorn, resent, dread. ANTONYMS: (v) adore, approve, like, cherish, embrace, relish, treasure, admire. commination: (n) threat, denunciation

commination: (*n*) threat, denunciation, malediction, ban, curse, comminate, menace, maranatha, fulmination, prayer, petition.

kindred: (adj) cognate, akin, similar, joyfully. allied, related; (n) kin, consanguinity, **perturbed**: (adj) disturbed, agitated,

relation, folk, folks, kin group.

mollusc: (n) shellfish, mollusk,
gastropod, bivalve, lamellibranch,
cephalopod, chiton, invertebrate,
cephalopod mollusk, univalve.
mournfully: (adv) sadly, sorrowfully,
glumly, woefully, unhappily,
plaintively, grievously, funereally,
dejectedly, dolorously, poignantly.
ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully,
joyfully.

hot and bothered, confused, uneasy, concerned, worried, unsettled, troubled, upset, distraught.

ANTONYMS: (adj) untroubled, relaxed.

sprightly: (adj) spirited, cheerful, alive, blithe, agile, airy, keen; (adj, v) nimble, active; (adj, n) brisk; (adj, adv) jolly. ANTONYMS: (adj) inactive, slow, clumsy, sluggish. stalky: (adj) thin, fibrous.

wants: (*n*) need, necessities.

had seen and heard **touching** that still-loved one of his. He **uttered** a sound which was neither sigh nor sob, but was even more **indicative** than either of a **troubled** mind.

"My Tamsie," he **whispered heavily**. "What can be done? Yes, I will see that Eustacia Vye."

Thesaurus

heavily: (adv) seriously, weightily, severely, ponderously, hard, firmly, thickly, grievously, sadly, strongly, compactly. ANTONYMS: (adv) gently, nimbly, briskly, sparsely, thinly, slightly.

indicative: (adj, n) declarative; (adj) significant, suggestive, meaningful, demonstrative, significative, indicatory, reminiscent; (n) indicative mood, common mood; (v) indicating. ANTONYMS: (adj) hidden, secretive.

touching: (adj, v) affecting; (adj)
poignant, pitiful, pathetic, adjacent,
adjoining, emotional; (n) touch,
contact; (prep) concerning, about.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unaffecting,
everyday, heartwarming, unmoving,
heartbreaking, emotionless,
unemotional, impassive.
troubled: (adj, v) concerned, solicitous;

unemotional, impassive. **troubled**: (adj, v) concerned, solicitous; (adj) distressed, anxious, worried, uneasy, uncomfortable, disconcerted, upset, apprehensive, restless.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) unconcerned, composed, calm, easy, relaxed, tranquil, assured, carefree, brave, stable, unaffected.

uttered: (adj) expressed, express, verbalised, verbalized, vocal, explicit, oral; (v) spoke, quoth, said. whispered: (adj) low, voiceless, unvoiced, nonvocal, weak, unheard, surd, supposed, sharp, thought, quiet.

10

A DESPERATE ATTEMPT AT PERSUASION

The next morning, at the time when the height of the sun appeared very insignificant from any part of the heath as compared with the altitude of Rainbarrow, and when all the little hills in the lower levels were like an **archipelago** in a fog-formed Aegean, the reddleman came from the brambled nook which he had adopted as his quarters and ascended the slopes of Mistover Knap.

Though these shaggy hills were apparently so solitary, several keen round eyes were always ready on such a **wintry** morning as this to **converge** upon a **passer**-by. **Feathered** species sojourned here in hiding which would have created wonder if found elsewhere. A bustard haunted the spot, and not many years before this five and twenty might have been seen in Egdon at one time. Marsh-harriers looked up from the valley by Wildeve's. A cream-coloured **courser** had used to visit this hill, a bird so rare that not more than a dozen have ever been seen in England; but a **barbarian rested** neither night nor day till he had shot the African **truant**, and after that event cream-coloured **coursers** thought fit to enter Egdon no more.

Thesaurus

archipelago: (n) Oceania, Austronesia, Aleutians; (adj) Hebridean, Australasian.
barbarian: (n) Goth, vandal, brute; (adj) heathen, barbaric, barbarous,

(adj) heathen, barbaric, barbarous, uncivilized, uncultured, wild, rude, foreign. ANTONYMS: (adj) cultured, refined; (n) native, citizen. converge: (v) concentrate, approach, meet assemble, come together.

meet, assemble, come together, congregate, join, merge, concur, collect, huddle. ANTONYMS: (v)

disperse, separate, scatter, split, divide, deviate. **courser**: (*n*) shorebird, steed, hunter,

courser: (n) shorebird, steed, hunter thoroughbred, palfrey, nag, Galloway, blood horse, beast of burden, beast; (adj) eagle.
coursers: (n) Charadrii, suborder

Charadrii, avocets, genus Cursorius. **feathered**: (*adj*) plumy, plumelike, featherlike, plumose, plumed, plumaged, fledged, plumigerous, flighted, decorated; (*v*) fledge.

passer-**by**: (*n*) eyewitness.

rested: (adj) comfortable. truant: (n) deserter, hooky player, nonattender, fugitive, wrongdoer, idler, absentee, absenter, offender; (v)

shirk; (adj) AWOL. wintry: (adj, v) frosty, glacial, freezing, icy; (adj) arctic, frigid, wintery, frozen, chilly, chill, hibernal. ANTONYMS: (adj) mild, summery, hot, vernal, autumnal, balmy,

tropical, warm.

A traveller who should walk and observe any of these visitants as Venn observed them now could feel himself to be in direct communication with regions unknown to man. Here in front of him was a wild mallard--just arrived from the home of the north wind. The creature brought within him an amplitude of Northern knowledge. Glacial catastrophes, snowstorm episodes, glittering auroral effects, Polaris in the zenith, Franklin underfoot--the category of his commonplaces was wonderful. But the bird, like many other philosophers, seemed as he looked at the reddleman to think that a present moment of comfortable reality was worth a decade of memories.

Venn passed on through these towards the house of the isolated beauty who lived up among them and despised them. The day was Sunday; but as going to church, except to be married or buried, was exceptional at Egdon, this made little difference. He had determined upon the bold stroke of asking for an interview with Miss Vye--to attack her position as Thomasin's rival either by art or by storm, showing **therein**, somewhat too **conspicuously**, the want of **gallantry** characteristic of a certain astute sort of men, from clowns to kings. The great Frederick making war on the beautiful Archduchess, Napoleon refusing terms to the beautiful Queen of Prussia, were not more dead to difference of sex than the reddleman was, in his peculiar way, in planning the displacement of Eustacia.

To call at the captain's cottage was always more or less an undertaking for the inferior inhabitants. Though occasionally **chatty**, his moods were erratic, and nobody could be certain how he would behave at any particular moment. Eustacia was reserved, and lived very much to herself. Except the daughter of one of the cotters, who was their servant, and a lad who worked in the garden and stable, scarcely anyone but themselves ever entered the house. They were the only **genteel** people of the district except the Yeobrights, and though far from rich, they did not feel that necessity for preserving a friendly face towards every man, bird, and beast which influenced their poorer neighbours.

When the reddleman entered the garden the old man was looking through his glass at the stain of blue sea in the distant landscape, the little anchors on his buttons **twinkling** in the sun. He recognized Venn as his companion on the

auroral: (adj) bright. chatty: (adj) gabby, garrulous, loquacious, familiar, informal, communicative, gossipy, voluble, talky, conversable, expansive. ANTONYMS: (adj) taciturn, quiet, formal, silent, laconic, reticent, restrained, reserved. conspicuously: (adv) prominently, eminently, remarkably, obviously, clearly, outstandingly, evidently, manifestly, plainly, strikingly; (adj,

Thesaurus

adv) noticeably. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, unnoticeably, vaguely.

gallantry: (adj, n) prowess, daring, spirit, fearlessness; (n) heroism, bravery, valor, courage, chivalry, courtesy, courageousness.
ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, cowardliness, rudeness.

genteel: (*adj*) elegant, polite, cultured, refined, graceful, courtly, courteous, fashionable, nice, civil, ladylike.

ANTONYMS: (adj) uncouth, improper, vulgar.

regions: (*n*) area, region, parts. **snowstorm**: (*n*) blizzard, squall, flurry, snowfall, tempest, tornado, thunderstorm, rainstorm, hurricane, gale.

therein: (*adv*) in this, in there. twinkling: (*n*) moment, jiffy, minute, second, flash, trice, twinkle, wink, split second, breath; (*adj*) sparkling. ANTONYM: (*adj*) dull. highway, but made no remark on that circumstance, merely saying, "Ah, reddleman--you here? Have a glass of grog?"

Venn declined, on the plea of it being too early, and stated that his business was with Miss Vye. The captain surveyed him from cap to **waistcoat** and from waistcoat to leggings for a few moments, and finally asked him to go indoors.

Miss Vye was not to be seen by anybody just then; and the reddleman waited in the window-bench of the kitchen, his hands hanging across his **divergent** knees, and his cap hanging from his hands.

"I suppose the young lady is not up yet?" he presently said to the servant.

"Not quite yet. Folks never call upon ladies at this time of day."

"Then I'll step outside," said Venn. "If she is willing to see me, will she please send out word, and I'll come in."

The reddleman left the house and loitered on the hill adjoining. A considerable time **elapsed**, and no request for his presence was brought. He was beginning to think that his scheme had failed, when he **beheld** the form of Eustacia herself coming leisurely towards him. A sense of novelty in giving audience to that singular figure had been sufficient to draw her forth.

She seemed to feel, after a bare look at Diggory Venn, that the man had come on a strange **errand**, and that he was not so mean as she had thought him; for her close approach did not cause him to **writhe** uneasily, or shift his feet, or show any of those little signs which escape an ingenuous **rustic** at the advent of the uncommon in **womankind**. On his inquiring if he might have a conversation with her she replied, "Yes, walk beside me," and continued to move on.

Before they had gone far it occurred to the **perspicacious** reddleman that he would have acted more wisely by appearing less **unimpressionable**, and he resolved to correct the error as soon as he could find opportunity.

"I have made so bold, miss, as to step across and tell you some strange news which has come to my ears about that man."

"Ah! what man?"

Thesaurus

beheld: (adj) visual. divergent: (adj) dissimilar, differing, distinct, diverging, unlike, conflicting, disparate, diverse, abnormal, separate; (v) diverge. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, convergent, alike, parallel, agreeing, central, indistinct. elapsed: (adj) gone, forgotten, lapsed,

clapsed: (adj) gone, forgotten, lapsed back, beyond, onwards, over and done.

errand: (n) chore, mission, job, task,

assignment, embassy, duty, charge, messenger, communication, work. perspicacious: (adj) acute, astute, shrewd, perceptive, wise, penetrating, keen, sagacious, sharp, incisive, intelligent. ANTONYMS: (adj) inattentive, dense, stupid. rustic: (n) countryman, peasant; (adj) rural, pastoral, boorish, country, bucolic, provincial, hick, agrestic, countrified. ANTONYMS: (adj) town, urbane, cultured, city, sophisticated.

unimpressionable: (adj)
unimpressible, callous. ANTONYM:
(adj) impressionable.
waistcoat: (n) CHUDDER, barbe,
garment, jerkin, jubbah, oilskins,
pilot jacket, pajamas, cardigan,
singlet, talma jacket.
womankind: (n) womanhood, gentle

sex, people.

writhe: (adj, v) distort, wrest; (v)
contort, wriggle, squirm, wrench.

contort, wriggle, squirm, wrench, worm, coil, wiggle, thrash, warp.

He jerked his elbow to the southeast--the direction of the Quiet Woman.

Eustacia turned quickly to him. "Do you mean Mr. Wildeve?"

"Yes, there is trouble in a household on account of him, and I have come to let you know of it, because I believe you might have power to drive it away."

"I? What is the trouble?"

"It is quite a secret. It is that he may refuse to marry Thomasin Yeobright after all."

Eustacia, though set **inwardly pulsing** by his words, was equal to her part in such a drama as this. She replied coldly, "I do not wish to listen to this, and you must not expect me to interfere."

"But, miss, you will hear one word?"

"I cannot. I am not interested in the marriage, and even if I were I could not **compel** Mr. Wildeve to do my bidding."

"As the only lady on the heath I think you might," said Venn with subtle **indirectness**. "This is how the case stands. Mr. Wildeve would marry Thomasin at once, and make all matters smooth, if so be there were not another woman in the case. This other woman is some person he has picked up with, and meets on the heath occasionally, I believe. He will never marry her, and yet through her he may never marry the woman who loves him **dearly**. Now, if you, miss, who have so much **sway** over us menfolk, were to insist that he should treat your young neighbour Tamsin with honourable kindness and give up the other woman, he would perhaps do it, and save her a good deal of misery."

"Ah, my life!" said Eustacia, with a laugh which **unclosed** her lips so that the sun shone into her mouth as into a **tulip**, and lent it a similar scarlet fire. "You think too much of my influence over menfolk indeed, reddleman. If I had such a power as you imagine I would go straight and use it for the good of anybody who has been kind to me--which Thomasin Yeobright has not particularly, to my knowledge."

"Can it be that you really don't know of it--how much she had always thought of you?"

discursiveness, characteristic,

Thesaurus

compel: (v) force, coerce, pressure, necessitate, enforce, command, oblige, require, make, obligate, press. ANTONYMS: (v) impede, deter, check, block, request, prevent. dearly: (atv) affectionately, preciously, darlingly, sweetly, petly, expensively, belovedly, intimately, highly, heartfeltly, lovely. indirectness: (n) allusiveness, obliqueness, dishonesty, crookedness, obliquity,

circumlocution, deviousness, dishonest practices, mediacy. ANTONYM: (n) candor. inwardly: (adv) inside, interiorly, innerly, within, secretly, intimately, privately, spiritually, incomingly; (adj) inwards. ANTONYM: (adv) openly.

pulsing: (adj) beating, pulsating; (n)
 pulse, pulsation, impulse, caprice,
 heartbeat, impulsion, beat, nerve

impulse, heart rate.

sway: (n, v) command, rule, control,
rock, stagger, roll; (v) oscillate, reel,
lurch, shake; (n) reign. ANTONYMS:
(v) stay, dissuade, discourage.

tulip: (n) iris, rainbow, cottage tulip,
candlestick tulip, chameleon, dwarf
tulip; (adj) lily, asphodel, anemone,
buttercup, daffodil.

unclosed: (v) ajar, unstopped; (adj)

sincere, public, plain, obvious, frank,

exposed, evident, artless, apparent.

"I have never heard a word of it. Although we live only two miles apart I have never been inside her aunt's house in my life."

The superciliousness that lurked in her manner told Venn that thus far he had utterly failed. He inwardly sighed and felt it necessary to unmask his second argument.

"Well, leaving that out of the question, 'tis in your power, I assure you, Miss Vye, to do a great deal of good to another woman."

She shook her head.

"Your **comeliness** is law with Mr. Wildeve. It is law with all men who see 'ee. They say, 'This well- favoured lady coming--what's her name? How handsome!' Handsomer than Thomasin Yeobright," the reddleman persisted, saying to himself, "God forgive a rascal for lying!" And she was handsomer, but the reddleman was far from thinking so. There was a certain **obscurity** in Eustacia's beauty, and Venn's eye was not trained. In her winter dress, as now, she was like the tiger-beetle, which, when observed in dull situations, seems to be of the quietest neutral colour, but under a full illumination blazes with dazzling splendour.

Eustacia could not help replying, though conscious that she endangered her dignity thereby. "Many women are lovelier than Thomasin," she said, "so not much attaches to that."

The reddleman suffered the wound and went on: "He is a man who notices the looks of women, and you could twist him to your will like withywind, if you only had the mind."

"Surely what she cannot do who has been so much with him I cannot do living up here away from him."

The reddleman wheeled and looked her in the face. "Miss Vye!" he said.

"Why do you say that--as if you doubted me?" She spoke faintly, and her breathing was quick. "The idea of your speaking in that tone to me!" she added, with a forced smile of hauteur. "What could have been in your mind to lead you to speak like that?"

Thesaurus

comeliness: (n) charm, grace, loveliness, fairness, beauteousness, attractiveness, pulchritude, goodliness, blondness, mense, form. dazzling: (adj) brilliant, blinding, splendid, glaring, vivid, stunning, dazzlingly, striking, sparkling, fulgent, resplendent. ANTONYMS: (adj) dim, ugly, uninspired, unremarkable, unexceptional, gradual, abysmal, humdrum, dark. doubted: (adj) distrusted, suspected.

hauteur: (n) arrogance, pride, disdain, conceit, assumption, conceitedness, insolence, loftiness, lordliness, airs, elegance. ANTONYM: (n) modesty. **obscurity**: (n) gloom, darkness, shade, dimness, obscureness, night, oblivion, haze, ambiguity, shadow, cloudiness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, fame, light, simplicity, prominence, celebrity, brightness.

rascal: (n) villain, rapscallion, monkey, miscreant, knave, scoundrel, scamp,

rogue, varlet, vagabond, brat. superciliousness: (n) arrogance, haughtiness, condescension, disdainfulness, pride, contemptuousness, condescendingness, airs, conceit, insult, loftiness. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, respect. unmask: (v) uncloak, expose, reveal, debunk, uncover, unfold, unkennel, detect, disclose, unseal, bare. ANTONYMS: (v) mask, conceal.

"Miss Vye, why should you make believe that you don't know this man?--I know why, certainly. He is beneath you, and you are ashamed."

"You are mistaken. What do you mean?"

The reddleman had decided to play the card of truth. "I was at the meeting by Rainbarrow last night and heard every word," he said. "The woman that stands between Wildeve and Thomasin is yourself."

It was a **disconcerting** lift of the curtain, and the mortification of Candaules' wife glowed in her. The moment had arrived when her lip would tremble in **spite** of herself, and when the gasp could no longer be kept down.

"I am unwell," she said hurriedly. "No--it is not that--I am not in a humour to hear you further. Leave me, please."

"I must speak, Miss Vye, in spite of paining you. What I would put before you is this. However it may come about--whether she is to blame, or you--her case is without doubt worse than yours. Your giving up Mr. Wildeve will be a real advantage to you, for how could you marry him? Now she cannot get off so easily--everybody will blame her if she loses him. Then I ask you--not because her right is best, but because her situation is worst--to give him up to her."

"No--I won't, I won't!" she said **impetuously**, quite **forgetful** of her previous manner towards the reddleman as an **underling**. "Nobody has ever been served so! It was going on well--I will not be beaten down--by an inferior woman like her. It is very well for you to come and **plead** for her, but is she not herself the cause of all her own trouble? Am I not to show favour to any person I may choose without asking permission of a parcel of cottagers? She has come between me and my inclination, and now that she finds herself rightly punished she gets you to plead for her!"

"Indeed," said Venn earnestly, "she knows nothing whatever about it. It is only I who ask you to give him up. It will be better for her and you both. People will say bad things if they find out that a lady secretly meets a man who has illused another woman."

Thesaurus

disconcerting: (adj) disquieting, upsetting, baffling, alarming, disconcertingly, disturbing, in worrying, embarrassing, discomfitting, shocking, confusing. ANTONYMS: (adj) soothing, comforting, pleasing. forgetful: (adj) oblivious, inattentive, negligent, lax, absent-minded, casual, unmindful, neglectful, heedless, unaware; (adj, v) remiss.

ANTONYMS: (adj) mindful,

watchful, alert, remembering, retentive.

impetuously: (adv) rashly, impulsively, vehemently, precipitately, fiercely, headily, passionately, intensely, fierily, spontaneously, thoughtlessly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deliberately, sensibly, patiently.

plead: (*v*) entreat, implore, beg, adjure, petition, ask, appeal, defend, invoke, sue; (*n*, *v*) allege. ANTONYMS: (*v*)

answer, demand.

spite: (n) malice, grudge, hatred,
malevolence, rancour, venom, rancor,
maliciousness, ill will, animosity; (n,
v) pique. ANTONYMS: (v) please; (n)
benevolence, goodwill, love,
affection, harmony.
underling: (n) subordinate, subsidiary,
man, subaltern, menial,

underling: (n) subordinate, subsidiary man, subaltern, menial, understrapper, lout, cub, follower, gaffer, loon. ANTONYM: (n) superior.

"I have not injured her--he was mine before he was hers! He came back-because--because he liked me best!" she said wildly. "But I lose all self-respect in talking to you. What am I giving way to!"

"I can keep secrets," said Venn gently. "You need not fear. I am the only man who knows of your meetings with him. There is but one thing more to speak of, and then I will be gone. I heard you say to him that you hated living here--that Egdon Heath was a jail to you."

"I did say so. There is a sort of beauty in the scenery, I know; but it is a jail to me. The man you mention does not save me from that feeling, though he lives here. I should have cared nothing for him had there been a better person near."

The reddleman looked **hopeful**; after these words from her his third attempt seemed promising. "As we have now opened our minds a bit, miss," he said, "I'll tell you what I have got to propose. Since I have taken to the reddle trade I travel a good deal, as you know."

She inclined her head, and swept round so that her eyes rested in the misty vale beneath them.

"And in my travels I go near Budmouth. Now Budmouth is a wonderful place--wonderful--a great salt sheening sea bending into the land like a bow-thousands of gentlepeople walking up and down--bands of music playing-officers by sea and officers by land walking among the rest--out of every ten folks you meet nine of 'em in love."

"I know it," she said disdainfully. "I know Budmouth better than you. I was born there. My father came to be a military **musician** there from abroad. Ah, my soul, Budmouth! I wish I was there now."

The reddleman was surprised to see how a slow fire could blaze on occasion. "If you were, miss," he replied, "in a week's time you would think no more of Wildeve than of one of those he'th-croppers that we see yond. Now, I could get you there."

"How?" said Eustacia, with intense curiosity in her heavy eyes.

Thesaurus

bending: (n) bow, bend, deflection, deflexion, refraction, flexure, crook; (adj) flexible, supple, winding, pliant. hopeful: (adj) confident, auspicious, ANTONYM: (adj) stiff. disdainfully: (adv) contemptuously, superciliously, haughtily, proudly, cavalierly, derogatorily, contumeliously, sneeringly, arrogantly, insultingly, condescendingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) misty: (adj) hazy, foggy, cloudy, humbly, hopefully. folks: (n) people, folk, tribe, relations,

household, house, relatives, relative, kindred, lineage, kin. bright, optimistic, sanguine, rosy, probable, likely, expectant, upbeat; (n, v) candidate. ANTONYMS: (adj) desperate, pessimistic, gloomy, pained, doubtful, bad, unhopeful, unlikely, unpromising, down. brumous, dim, indistinct, nebulous, fuzzy, dark, dull, blurred.

ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, distinct. musician: (n) singer, composer, instrumentalist, minstrel, clarinettist, lutenist, director, choirmaster, accompanist, harpsichordist, harpist. scenery: (n) scene, prospect, panorama, landscape, outlook, nature, picture, vista, set, backdrop, background. self-respect: (n) pride, self-esteem, dignity, face, honesty. travels: (n) actions, expedition.

"My uncle has been for five and twenty years the **trusty** man of a rich widow-lady who has a beautiful house facing the sea. This lady has become old and lame, and she wants a young company-keeper to read and sing to her, but can't get one to her mind to save her life, though she've advertised in the papers, and tried half a dozen. She would jump to get you, and Uncle would make it all easy."

"I should have to work, perhaps?"

"No, not real work--you'd have a little to do, such as reading and that. You would not be wanted till New Year's Day."

"I knew it meant work," she said, **drooping** to languor again.

"I confess there would be a trifle to do in the way of amusing her; but though idle people might call it work, working people would call it play. Think of the company and the life you'd lead, miss; the **gaiety** you'd see, and the gentleman you'd marry. My uncle is to inquire for a trustworthy young lady from the country, as she don't like town girls."

"It is to wear myself out to please her! and I won't go. O, if I could live in a gay town as a lady should, and go my own ways, and do my own doings, I'd give the wrinkled half of my life! Yes, reddleman, that would I."

"Help me to get Thomasin happy, miss, and the chance shall be yours," urged her companion.

"Chance--'tis no chance," she said proudly. "What can a poor man like you offer me, indeed?--I am going indoors. I have nothing more to say. Don't your horses want feeding, or your reddlebags want mending, or don't you want to find buyers for your goods, that you stay **idling** here like this?"

Venn spoke not another word. With his hands behind him he turned away, that she might not see the hopeless disappointment in his face. The mental **clearness** and power he had found in this lonely girl had indeed filled his manner with misgiving even from the first few minutes of close quarters with her. Her youth and situation had led him to expect a simplicity quite at the beck of his method. But a system of **inducement** which might have carried weaker

Thesaurus

clearness: (n) clarity, brightness, distinctness, perspicuity, lucidity, explicitness, sharpness, simplicity, purity, limpidity, intelligibility. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, opacity, dirtiness, vagueness, unclearness, obscureness, indistinctness, clutter, haziness, mustiness.

doings: (n) conduct, behavior, behaviour, deportment, demeanour,

proceeding, episode, traffic; (v) act,

deed, job.

drooping: (adj) flabby, pendulous, limp, flaccid, cernuous, flagging, languid, floppy, lax, tired; (n) droop. ANTONYMS: (adj) taut, firm. gaiety: (n) fun, cheerfulness, exhilaration, mirth, glee, merriment, hilarity, happiness, joy, joviality, jollity. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, misery, sadness.

idling: (n) idleness, loafing, faineance, dalliance, idle motion, dolce far niente, idling speed; (v) to slide; (adj)

trifling.

inducement: (n) enticement,
attraction, cause, incitement, impulse,
temptation, bait, impetus, occasion,
motive, goad. ANTONYMS: (n)
disincentive, deterrent.
trusty: (adj) trustworthy, honest,
faithful, dependable, responsible,
constant, loyal, true, authentic, solid,
sure. ANTONYMS: (adj)
untrustworthy, inconstant, corrupt,

country lasses along with it had merely repelled Eustacia. As a rule, the word Budmouth meant fascination on Egdon. That Royal port and watering place, if truly mirrored in the minds of the heathfolk, must have combined, in a charming and indescribable manner a Carthaginian bustle of building with Tarentine **luxuriousness** and Baian health and beauty. Eustacia felt little less extravagantly about the place; but she would not sink her independence to get there.

When Diggory Venn had gone quite away, Eustacia walked to the bank and looked down the wild and picturesque vale towards the sun, which was also in the direction of Wildeve's. The mist had now so far collapsed that the tips of the trees and bushes around his house could just be discerned, as if boring upwards through a vast white **cobweb** which cloaked them from the day. There was no doubt that her mind was inclined thitherward; indefinitely, fancifully--twining and untwining about him as the single object within her horizon on which dreams might **crystallize**. The man who had begun by being merely her amusement, and would never have been more than her hobby but for his skill in deserting her at the right moments, was now again her desire. Cessation in his love-making had revivified her love. Such feeling as Eustacia had idly given to Wildeve was dammed into a flood by Thomasin. She had used to tease Wildeve, but that was before another had **favoured** him. Often a drop of irony into an indifferent situation renders the whole **piquant**.

"I will never give him up--never!" she said impetuously.

The reddleman's hint that rumour might show her to disadvantage had no permanent terror for Eustacia. She was as unconcerned at that contingency as a goddess at a lack of linen. This did not originate in inherent **shamelessness**, but in her living too far from the world to feel the impact of public opinion. Zenobia in the desert could hardly have cared what was said about her at Rome. As far as social ethics were concerned Eustacia approached the savage state, though in emotion she was all the while an **epicure**. She had advanced to the secret recesses of **sensuousness**, yet had hardly crossed the threshold of **conventionality**.

Thesaurus

cobweb: (*n*) web, filament, entanglement, mouse trap, tissue, fibril, pitfall; (*adj*) chaff, straw, cork; (*adj*, *n*) gossamer.

conventionality: (*n*, *v*) convention; (*n*) conventionalism, conformity, orthodoxy, formality, unoriginality, formula, pattern, usage, beauty, decency. ANTONYM: (*n*) unconventionality.

crystallize: (*v*) clear, shape, crystallise, effloresce, clarify, clear up, interpret;

(adj) candy, cake, cohere, clot.

epicure: (n) epicurean, bon vivant,
sensualist, gastronome, hedonist,
glutton, gastronomer, foodie,
gourmand, voluptuary, connoisseur.
favoured: (adj) preferred, preferential.
luxuriousness: (n) sumptuousness,
opulence, sybaritism, extravagance,
grandeur, lavishness, lewdness,
lushness, effeminacy, splendor,
sensuality. ANTONYMS: (n)
shabbiness, bareness.

piquant: (adj) peppery, spicy, engaging, tasty, salty, strong, sharp, gamy; (adj, n) pungent, racy, trenchant. ANTONYMS: (adj) bland, dull, insipid, faint.

sensuousness: (*n*) sensibility. **shamelessness**: (*n*) brazenness, insolence, effrontery, boldness, audacity, impertinence, rudeness, face, audaciousness, front, barefacedness. ANTONYM: (*n*) restraint.

11

THE DISHONESTY OF AN HONEST WOMAN

The reddleman had left Eustacia's presence with desponding views on Thomasin's future happiness; but he was awakened to the fact that one other channel remained **untried** by seeing, as he followed the way to his van, the form of Mrs. Yeobright slowly walking towards the Quiet Woman. He went across to her; and could almost perceive in her anxious face that this journey of hers to Wildeve was undertaken with the same object as his own to Eustacia.

She did not **conceal** the fact. "Then," said the reddleman, "you may as well leave it alone, Mrs. Yeobright."

"I half think so myself," she said. "But nothing else remains to be done besides pressing the question upon him."

"I should like to say a word first," said Venn firmly. "Mr. Wildeve is not the only man who has asked Thomasin to marry him; and why should not another have a chance? Mrs. Yeobright, I should be glad to marry your niece. and would have done it any time these last two years. There, now it is out, and I have never told anybody before but herself."

Mrs. Yeobright was not **demonstrative**, but her eyes **involuntarily** glanced towards his singular though **shapely** figure.

Thesaurus undemonstrative, shy, unemotional,

conceal: (v) hide, disguise, bury, screen, cloak, smother, shield, suppress, mask, obscure; (n, v) veil. ANTONYMS: (v) reveal, show, expose, divulge, clarify, uncover, disclose, tell, admit, spotlight, flaunt. demonstrative: (adj, v) characteristic, typical; (adj) outgoing, explanatory, expansive, demonstrable, effusive, illustrative, indicative, expressive; (n) demonstrative pronoun. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold,

restrained, inexpressive, inconclusive, impassive, distant, cool, mysterious. involuntarily: (adv) unconsciously, unintentionally, inadvertently, automatically, forcedly, mechanically, unthinkingly, reluctantly, accidentally, automaticly, unwillingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) voluntarily, consciously, willingly,

purposely.

shapely: (adj) symmetrical, comely, graceful, neat, fit, curvaceous, slim, pleasing, busty, seemly, beautiful. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, misshapen, unshapely.
untried: (adj) raw, new, untested, unseasoned, fresh, untrodden, unsalted, young, unverified, untouched; (v) undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) proven, seasoned, familiar, experienced.

"Looks are not everything," said the reddleman, **noticing** the glance. "There's many a calling that don't bring in so much as mine, if it comes to money; and perhaps I am not so much worse off than Wildeve. There is nobody so poor as these professional fellows who have failed; and if you shouldn't like my redness-well, I am not red by birth, you know; I only took to this business for a **freak**; and I might turn my hand to something else in good time."

"I am much obliged to you for your interest in my niece; but I fear there would be objections. More than that, she is devoted to this man."

"True; or I shouldn't have done what I have this morning."

"Otherwise there would be no pain in the case, and you would not see me going to his house now. What was Thomasin's answer when you told her of your feelings?"

"She wrote that you would object to me; and other things."

"She was in a measure right. You must not take this unkindly--I merely state it as a truth. You have been good to her, and we do not forget it. But as she was unwilling on her own account to be your wife, that settles the point without my wishes being concerned."

"Yes. But there is a difference between then and now, ma'am. She is **distressed** now, and I have thought that if you were to talk to her about me, and think **favourably** of me yourself, there might be a chance of winning her round, and getting her quite independent of this Wildeve's **backward** and forward play, and his not knowing **whether** he'll have her or no."

Mrs. Yeobright shook her head. "Thomasin thinks, and I think with her, that she ought to be Wildeve's wife, if she means to appear before the world without a **slur** upon her name. If they marry soon, everybody will believe that an accident did really prevent the wedding. If not, it may cast a **shade** upon her character—at any rate make her ridiculous. In short, if it is **anyhow** possible they must marry now."

"I thought that till half an hour ago. But, after all, why should her going off with him to Anglebury for a few hours do her any harm? Anybody who knows

Thesaurus anxious, sad, disturbed, downcast,

hurt, distracted, wretched, shocked,

anyhow: (adv) somehow, at any rate, in any case, whatever, in any event, regardless, however, though, besides, nonetheless, one way or another. backward: (adj, adv) late, behindhand; (adj) tardy, retarded, reluctant, coy, slow, laggard, dilatory; (adv) behind, backwardly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) ahead; (adv) onward; (adj) quick, developing, advanced, confident, brilliant, bold. distressed: (adj) worried, distraught,

troubled. ANTONYMS: (adj) composed, content, euphoric, happy, comforted, glad, joyful, collected, unconcerned, unaffected. favourably: (adv) advantageously, well. freak: (n, v) crotchet, caprice; (adj, n) eccentric; (n) oddity, crank, fanatic, nut, monster, fit, whim, fad.

noticing: (n) observation, look; (adj)

(n) brightness, glare; (v) brighten, clarify, expose. slur: (adj, n) blot, brand, stigma, reproach; (n, v) libel, disgrace, insult, vilify; (n) affront, defamation; (adj, v) blur. ANTONYMS: (v) focus, compliment; (n) praise. whether: (pron) where.

shade: (n, v) screen, tinge, shadow,

tint, color, cloud; (n) ghost, hue,

blind, conceal, tone. ANTONYMS:

how pure she is will feel any such thought to be quite unjust. I have been trying this morning to help on this marriage with Wildeve--yes, I, ma'am--in the belief that I ought to do it, because she was so wrapped up in him. But I much question if I was right, after all. However, nothing came of it. And now I offer myself."

Mrs. Yeobright appeared **disinclined** to enter further into the question. "I fear I must go on," she said. "I do not see that anything else can be done."

And she went on. But though this conversation did not divert Thomasin's aunt from her purposed interview with Wildeve, it made a considerable difference in her mode of conducting that interview. She thanked God for the weapon which the reddleman had put into her hands.

Wildeve was at home when she reached the inn. He showed her silently into the parlour, and closed the door. Mrs. Yeobright began--

"I have thought it my duty to call today. A new proposal has been made to me, which has rather astonished me. It will affect Thomasin greatly; and I have decided that it should at least be mentioned to you."

"Yes? What is it?" he said **civilly**.

"It is, of course, in reference to her future. You may not be aware that another man has shown himself anxious to marry Thomasin. Now, though I have not encouraged him yet, I cannot **conscientiously** refuse him a chance any longer. I don't wish to be short with you; but I must be fair to him and to her."

"Who is the man?" said Wildeve with surprise.

"One who has been in love with her longer than she has with you. He proposed to her two years ago. At that time she refused him."

"Well?"

"He has seen her lately, and has asked me for permission to pay his addresses to her. She may not refuse him twice."

"What is his name?"

Thesaurus

addresses: (n) wooing, suit, courtship. civilly: (adv) politely, respectfully, graciously, complaisantly, urbanely, polishedly, considerately, domestically, genteelly, obligingly, refinedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) abruptly, uncivilly. conscientiously: (adv) carefully, thoroughly, painstakingly, faithfully, religiously, meticulously, dutifully, assiduously, closely, diligently, industriously. ANTONYMS: (adv)

irresponsibly, hastily. disinclined: (adj) reluctant, loath, averse, indisposed, loth, backward, not content, opposed, dubious, afraid, not in the vein. ANTONYMS: (adj) tending, willing, leaning, eager, bent, keen, disposed. divert: (adj, v) distract; (v) entertain, avert, delight, deflect, deviate,

beguile, depart, disport, digress, sidetrack. ANTONYMS: (v) bore, irritate, maintain, set, upset, stay,

displease, sadden. mentioned: (adj) spoken. purposed: (adj, v) intended; (adj) deliberate, designed, forcible, betrothed, made tense, extended, undesigned; (v) free, not accidental,

unjust: (adj) partial, injurious, wrong, inequitable, unrighteous, wicked, foul, wrongful, improper, unmerited, unjustified. ANTONYMS: (adj) just, equitable, rightful, reasonable, good.

Mrs. Yeobright declined to say. "He is a man Thomasin likes," she added, "and one whose **constancy** she **respects** at least. It seems to me that what she refused then she would be glad to get now. She is much annoyed at her awkward position."

"She never once told me of this old lover."

"The gentlest women are not such fools as to show every card."

"Well, if she wants him I suppose she must have him."

"It is easy enough to say that; but you don't see the difficulty. He wants her much more than she wants him; and before I can encourage anything of the sort I must have a clear understanding from you that you will not interfere to **injure** an arrangement which I promote in the belief that it is for the best. Suppose, when they are engaged, and everything is smoothly arranged for their marriage, that you should step between them and renew your suit? You might not win her back, but you might cause much unhappiness."

"Of course I should do no such thing," said Wildeve "But they are not engaged yet. How do you know that Thomasin would accept him?"

"That's a question I have carefully put to myself; and upon the whole the probabilities are in favour of her accepting him in time. I flatter myself that I have some influence over her. She is **pliable**, and I can be strong in my recommendations of him."

"And in your disparagement of me at the same time."

"Well, you may depend upon my not **praising** you," she said drily. "And if this seems like manoeuvring, you must remember that her position is peculiar, and that she has been hardly used. I shall also be helped in making the match by her own desire to escape from the humiliation of her present state; and a woman's pride in these cases will lead her a very great way. A little managing may be required to bring her round; but I am equal to that, provided that you agree to the one thing indispensable; that is, to make a distinct declaration that she is to think no more of you as a possible husband. That will pique her into accepting him."

Thesaurus

constancy: (n) allegiance, devotion, resolution, fidelity, loyalty, steadfastness, faithfulness, steadiness, firmness, perseverance, unchangeableness. ANTONYMS: (n) inconstancy, inconsistency, changefulness, instability, disloyalty, unfaithfulness, unreliability, dishonesty.

disparagement: (*n*, *v*) detraction, dispraise; (*n*) aspersion, derogation, calumny, contempt, depreciation,

defamation, degradation, disgrace, scorn. ANTONYMS: (*n*) adoration, credit, commendation, acclaim, compliment, admiration, glorification, respect. injure: (*n*, *v*) damage, harm, impair; (*v*) contuse, disfigure, maim, bruise, blemish, wound, insult; (*adj*, *v*) abuse. ANTONYMS: (*v*) heal, enable, repair, protect, help.

pliable: (*adj*) elastic, ductile, soft, malleable, flexile, susceptible,

yielding; (adj, v) plastic, lithe, pliant, limber. ANTONYMS: (adj) stiff, inflexible, intractable, firm, hard, unyielding, wild.

praising: (adj) praiseful, commending, praise, flattering, admiring, kind, complimentary, bestowing praise, eulogistic, commendatory, encomiastical.

respects: (*adj*) abord, welcome; (*n*) compliments, greeting, compliment, baisemains, devoir, duty.

"I can hardly say that just now, Mrs. Yeobright. It is so sudden."

"And so my whole plan is interfered with! It is very inconvenient that you refuse to help my family even to the small extent of saying distinctly you will have nothing to do with us."

Wildeve reflected uncomfortably. "I confess I was not prepared for this," he said. "Of course I'll give her up if you wish, if it is necessary. But I thought I might be her husband."

"We have heard that before."

"Now, Mrs. Yeobright, don't let us disagree. Give me a fair time. I don't want to stand in the way of any better chance she may have; only I wish you had let me know earlier. I will write to you or call in a day or two. Will that suffice?"

"Yes," she replied, "provided you promise not to communicate with Thomasin without my knowledge."

"I promise that," he said. And the interview then **terminated**, Mrs. Yeobright returning **homeward** as she had come.

By far the greatest effect of her simple strategy on that day was, as often happens, in a quarter quite outside her view when arranging it. In the first place, her visit sent Wildeve the same evening after dark to Eustacia's house at Mistover.

At this hour the lonely dwelling was closely **blinded** and **shuttered** from the chill and darkness without. Wildeve's **clandestine** plan with her was to take a little gravel in his hand and hold it to the **crevice** at the top of the window shutter, which was on the outside, so that it should fall with a gentle **rustle**, resembling that of a mouse, between shutter and glass. This precaution in attracting her attention was to avoid **arousing** the suspicions of her grandfather.

The soft words, "I hear; wait for me," in Eustacia's voice from within told him that she was alone.

He waited in his customary manner by walking round the enclosure and idling by the pool, for Wildeve was never asked into the house by his proud though **condescending** mistress. She showed no sign of coming out in a hurry.

Thesaurus

arousing: (adj, n) stirring; (adj)
moving, stimulating, affecting,
animating, hopeful, pitiful, poignant;
(n) awakening, start, beginning.
blinded: (adj) blindfolded, blinder,
blindfold, dizzy.
clandestine: (adj) surreptitious,
undercover, underhand,
underground, hidden, stealthy,
underhanded, furtive, covert; (adj, v)
private, privy. ANTONYMS: (adj)

public, forthright, overt, aboveboard, known, transparent, blatant.

condescending: (adj) arrogant, snobbish, superior, haughty, gracious, patronizing, supercilious, arch, benign, affable, merciful.

ANTONYMS: (adj) humble, unassuming, approachable, unpretentious, friendly, admiring, modest, respectful, deferential.

crevice: (n) cleft, break, chink, cranny, chap, fissure, interstice, rift, gap,

hole, fracture. homeward: (adj) oriented, orientated. rustle: (n, v) whisper; (v) lift, buzz, steal, pilfer, whiz, pinch, abstract, thieve, purloin; (n) rustling. shutter: (n, v) close, shade; (n) curtain, shut, blind, window, skylight, deadlight, lid, louver, jalousie. terminated: (adj) complete, all over, over, extinct, accomplished, closed, highly skilled; (adj, adv) ended, finished, done; (adv) completed.

The time wore on, and he began to grow **impatient**. In the course of twenty minutes she appeared from round the corner, and advanced as if merely taking an airing.

"You would not have kept me so long had you known what I come about," he said with bitterness. "Still, you are worth waiting for."

"What has happened?" said Eustacia. "I did not know you were in trouble. I too am **gloomy** enough."

"I am not in trouble," said he. "It is merely that affairs have come to a head, and I must take a clear course."

"What course is that?" she asked with attentive interest.

"And can you forget so soon what I proposed to you the other night? Why, take you from this place, and carry you away with me abroad."

"I have not forgotten. But why have you come so unexpectedly to repeat the question, when you only promised to come next Saturday? I thought I was to have plenty of time to consider."

"Yes, but the situation is different now."

"Explain to me."

"I don't want to explain, for I may pain you."

"But I must know the reason of this hurry."

"It is simply my ardour, dear Eustacia. Everything is smooth now."

"Then why are you so ruffled?"

"I am not aware of it. All is as it should be. Mrs. Yeobright--but she is nothing to us."

"Ah, I knew she had something to do with it! Come, I don't like reserve."

"No--she has nothing. She only says she wishes me to give up Thomasin because another man is anxious to marry her. The woman, now she no **longer** needs me, actually shows off!" Wildeve's **vexation** has **escaped** him in spite of himself.

Thesaurus

ardour: (n) fervency, fervidness, fervor, fervour, fire, elan, zeal, violence, ardency, assiduity, application.

attentive: (adj) assiduous, diligent, heedful, watchful, observant, advertent, mindful, careful, aware, alert, respectful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfocused, negligent, neglectful, forgetful, heedless, unobservant, rude, unprepared, unconscious, uncaring, inconsiderate. **escaped**: (*adj*) at large, at liberty, loose, on the loose, runaway, easy, wild; (*n*) freer; (*v*) escaping.

gloomy: (adj) black, desolate, dejected, cheerless, depressing, dismal, downcast, disconsolate, melancholy, funereal, downhearted.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) encouraging, cheery, cheerful, bright, hopeful, light, promising, uplifting, joyful, sunny, clear.

impatient: (adj) eager, anxious,

petulant, fidgety, vexed, keen, edgy, quick, avid, irritable, fretful.

ANTONYMS: (adj) patient, enduring, unenthusiastic, calm, happy, relaxed,

unenthusiastic, calm, happy, relaxed, slow.

longer: (adj) longest, better, lengest;

(adv) farther; (n) yearner, thirster.

vexation: (adj, n) annoyance, nuisance;
(n) irritation, worry, aggravation,
displeasure, chagrin, chafe, anger,
frustration, botheration.

Eustacia was silent a long while. "You are in the awkward position of an official who is no longer wanted," she said in a changed tone.

"It seems so. But I have not yet seen Thomasin."

"And that irritates you. Don't deny it, Damon. You are actually nettled by this slight from an unexpected quarter."

"Well?"

"And you come to get me because you cannot get her. This is certainly a new position altogether. I am to be a stop-gap."

"Please remember that I proposed the same thing the other day."

Eustacia again remained in a sort of **stupefied** silence. What curious feeling was this coming over her? Was it really possible that her interest in Wildeve had been so entirely the result of antagonism that the glory and the dream departed from the man with the first sound that he was no longer **coveted** by her rival? She was, then, secure of him at last. Thomasin no longer required him. What a humiliating victory! He loved her best, she thought; and yet--dared she to murmur such treacherous criticism ever so softly?--what was the man worth whom a woman inferior to herself did not value? The sentiment which lurks more or less in all animate nature--that of not desiring the undesired of others-was lively as a passion in the supersubtle, epicurean heart of Eustacia. Her social superiority over him, which hitherto had scarcely ever impressed her, became unpleasantly insistent, and for the first time she felt that she had stooped in loving him.

"Well, darling, you agree?" said Wildeve.

"If it could be London, or even Budmouth, instead of America," she murmured languidly. "Well, I will think. It is too great a thing for me to decide offhand. I wish I hated the heath less--or loved you more."

"You can be painfully frank. You loved me a month ago warmly enough to go anywhere with me."

"And you loved Thomasin."

Thesaurus

anywhere: (adv, n) anyplace; (adv) someplace, wherever, everywhere. coveted: (adj) sought after, desirable, in demand. ANTONYM: (adj) unpopular. desiring: (adj) envious, insatiable, desirous, eager; (adv) fleshly. epicurean: (n) gastronome, gourmet, bon vivant, sensualist, hedonist, connoisseur; (adj) sybaritic, voluptuary, voluptuous, luxurious,

luscious. ANTONYMS: (adj) austere,

humble, modest, plain, simple. nettled: (adj) annoyed, harried, stung, steamed, roiled, riled, pissed, peeved, stupefied: (adj) stunned, amazed, miffed, loaded, huffy. ANTONYM: (adj) unconcerned.

offhand: (adj, adv) impromptu, extemporaneous, extempore; (adj) casual, extemporary, careless, cavalier, nonchalant, brusque, abrupt, improvised. ANTONYMS: (adj) careful, considerate, warm, serious, civil, cautious, conscientious, concerned, caring, intended, prepared.

astonished, bewildered, astounded, dumbfounded, stupid, confused, flabbergasted, dumfounded, groggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) precise, unimpressed.

undesired: (adj) unwanted, unalluring, unattractive, unwished, unvalued, needless, not desired, not requested, unasked, unsolicited, unsought.

"Yes, perhaps that was where the reason lay," he returned, with almost a sneer. "I don't hate her now."

"Exactly. The only thing is that you can no longer get her."

"Come--no taunts, Eustacia, or we shall quarrel. If you don't agree to go with me, and agree shortly, I shall go by myself."

"Or try Thomasin again. Damon, how strange it seems that you could have married her or me indifferently, and only have come to me because I am-cheapest! Yes, yes--it is true. There was a time when I should have exclaimed against a man of that sort, and been quite wild; but it is all past now."

"Will you go, dearest? Come secretly with me to Bristol, marry me, and turn our backs upon this dog-hole of England for ever? Say Yes."

"I want to get away from here at almost any cost," she said with weariness, "but I don't like to go with you. Give me more time to decide."

"I have already," said Wildeve. "Well, I give you one more week."

"A little longer, so that I may tell you decisively. I have to consider so many things. Fancy Thomasin being anxious to get rid of you! I cannot forget it."

"Never mind that. Say Monday week. I will be here precisely at this time."

"Let it be at Rainbarrow," said she. "This is too near home; my grandfather may be walking out."

"Thank you, dear. On Monday week at this time I will be at the Barrow. Till then good-bye."

"Good-bye. No, no, you must not touch me now. Shaking hands is enough till I have made up my mind."

Eustacia watched his shadowy form till it had disappeared. She placed her hand to her forehead and breathed heavily; and then her rich, romantic lips parted under that homely impulse--a yawn. She was immediately angry at having betrayed even to herself the possible evanescence of her passion for him. She could not admit at once that she might have **overestimated** Wildeve, for to perceive his mediocrity now was to admit her own great folly heretofore. And

Thesaurus

decisively: (adv) resolutely, conclusively, firmly, finally, fatefully, heretofore: (adv) formerly, as yet, crucially, definitively, positively, absolutely, definitely, flatly. ANTONYMS: (adv) irresolutely, unconvincingly, indecisively, aimlessly, insignificantly, halfheartedly, hesitantly. evanescence: (n) ephemerality, evaporation, occultation, volatility, fugacity, caducity, transience, transiency, fugitiveness,

ephemeralness. before, so far, yet, already, until now, previously, once, hereunto; (adv, n)

mediocrity: (n) indifference, medium, balance, averageness, mean, person, somebody, someone, soul, ordinariness; (adj, n) moderation. ANTONYM: (n) excellence. overestimated: (adj) inflated, exaggerated, overvalued.

sneer: (n, v) deride, jeer, scorn, flout, ridicule, scoff, mock, leer, grimace, gird; (n) smirk. taunts: (n) mocking, jeers. weariness: (n) exhaustion, tiredness, lassitude, languor, asthenopia, defatigation, grogginess, listlessness, boredom, ennui, prostration. yawn: (v) open, ope, yaw, look

stupidly, breathe; (n) yawning, nod, get sleep, tedium, bore, boredom.

the discovery that she was the owner of a disposition so purely that of the dog in the **manger** had something in it which at first made her ashamed.

The fruit of Mrs. Yeobright's diplomacy was indeed remarkable, though not as yet of the kind she had anticipated. It had **appreciably** influenced Wildeve, but it was influencing Eustacia far more. Her lover was no longer to her an exciting man whom many women strove for, and herself could only retain by striving with them. He was a **superfluity**.

She went indoors in that peculiar state of misery which is not exactly grief, and which especially attends the dawnings of reason in the latter days of an **ill**-judged, transient love. To be conscious that the end of the dream is approaching, and yet has not absolutely come, is one of the most **wearisome** as well as the most curious stages along the course between the beginning of a passion and its end.

Her grandfather had returned, and was busily engaged in pouring some gallons of newly arrived rum into the square bottles of his square **cellaret**. Whenever these home supplies were exhausted he would go to the Quiet Woman, and, standing with his back to the fire, **grog** in hand, tell remarkable stories of how he had lived seven years under the **waterline** of his ship, and other naval wonders, to the natives, who hoped too earnestly for a treat of ale from the **teller** to exhibit any doubts of his truth.

He had been there this evening. "I suppose you have heard the Egdon news, Eustacia?" he said, without looking up from the bottles. "The men have been talking about it at the Woman as if it were of national importance."

"I have heard none," she said.

"Young Clym Yeobright, as they call him, is coming home next week to spend Christmas with his mother. He is a fine fellow by this time, it seems. I suppose you remember him?"

"I never saw him in my life."

"Ah, true; he left before you came here. I well remember him as a promising boy."

Thesaurus ill-judged: (adj) imprudent, impolitic,

injudicious, incautious.

appreciably: (adv) markedly, perceptibly, noticeably, evidently, substantially, much, observably, obviously, plainly, prominently, sensibly. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, invisibly. cellaret: (n) counter, cellarette, cupboard, buffet, commode, minibar, closet, bar cabinet. grog: (n) liquor, grog grain, toddy, bishop, rumbo; (v) blue ruin, port

wine, purl, wassail, negus.

rack, flume, feed bunk, bowl, container.

superfluity: (n) plethora, redundancy, superabundance, nimiety, overabundance, overplus, embarrassment, redundance, extravagance, surplus, glut.

ANTONYM: (n) shortfall.

teller: (n) narrator, accountant,

manger: (n) crib, cage, bunk, gutter,

paymaster, storyteller, steward, questor, liquidator, receiver, almoner, banker; (v) informant.

waterline: (n) water line, water level, watermark, water table, groundwater level, line, load line.

wearisome: (adj, v) tiresome, irksome, troublesome; (adj) tedious, dull, monotonous, boring, laborious, trying, slow, annoying. ANTONYMS:

(adj) satisfying, soothing, exciting,

refreshing, easy.

"Where has he been **living** all these years?"

"In that rookery of pomp and vanity, Paris, I believe."

Thesaurus

living: (adj) alive, live, extant, animated, active, fresh, animate, quick; (n) livelihood, life, being. ANTONYMS: (adj) inanimate; (n) death, leisure. pomp: (n) grandeur, parade, ostentation show ceremony glory

death, leisure.

pomp: (n) grandeur, parade,
ostentation, show, ceremony, glory,
luxury, pageantry, magnificence,
state, splendor. ANTONYMS: (n)
understatement, modesty.
rookery: (n) lair, cell, hole, hiding
place, heronry, evry, aerie, cave,

breeding ground, sanctum sanctorum; (adj) slum. vanity: (n) egotism, pride, emptiness, arrogance, futility, inanity, vainglory, conceitedness, pretension, pomposity; (adj, n) amour propre. ANTONYMS: (n) selflessness, humility, importance, value, effectiveness.

BOOK TWO THE ARRIVAL

1

TIDINGS OF THE COMER

On the fine days at this time of the year, and earlier, certain ephemeral operations were apt to disturb, in their trifling way, the majestic calm of Egdon Heath. They were activities which, beside those of a town, a village, or even a farm, would have appeared as the **ferment** of stagnation merely, a creeping of the flesh of somnolence. But here, away from comparisons, shut in by the stable hills, among which mere walking had the novelty of pageantry, and where any man could imagine himself to be Adam without the least difficulty, they attracted the attention of every bird within **eyeshot**, every reptile not yet asleep, and set the surrounding rabbits curiously watching from hillocks at a safe distance.

The performance was that of bringing together and building into a stack the furze faggots which Humphrey had been cutting for the captain's use during the foregoing fine days. The stack was at the end of the dwelling, and the men engaged in building it were Humphrey and Sam, the old man looking on.

It was a fine and quiet afternoon, about three o'clock; but the winter solstice having stealthily come on, the lowness of the sun caused the hour to seem later than it actually was, there being little here to remind an **inhabitant** that he must

Thesaurus

eyeshot: (n) sight, view, reach, horizon, range, purview, perspective, lowness: (n) depression, baseness, eyereach, aspect, stone's throw. ferment: (n) agitation, excitement, barm, tumult, unrest, disturbance; (adj, v) stew, pother; (v) effervesce, turn, brew. ANTONYMS: (v) quiet, defuse, soothe.

inhabitant: (n) denizen, resident, occupant, citizen, tenant, occupier, population, native, liver, indweller; (v) habitant. ANTONYM: (n)

tallness, meanness, deepness, sordidness, baby blues, completeness, dejection, truncation,

pageantry: (n) ostentation, grandeur, glitter, pomp, display, glory, magnificence, spectacle, show, splendor, ceremony. ANTONYMS: (n) modesty, understatement. rabbits: (n) order Lagomorpha, pikas,

Lagomorpha. solstice: (n) height, cosmic time. somnolence: (n) drowsiness, sleepiness, somnolency, drowse, lethargy, coma, rest, stupor, hypersomnia. stealthily: (adv) furtively, sneakily,

surreptitiously, covertly, clandestinely, underhandly, underhandedly, in secret, privately, sneakingly; (adj, adv) noiselessly. ANTONYM: (adv) brazenly.

unlearn his summer experience of the sky as a dial. In the course of many days and weeks **sunrise** had advanced its quarters from northeast to southeast, sunset had receded from northwest to **southwest**; but Egdon had hardly heeded the change.

Eustacia was indoors in the dining-room, which was really more like a kitchen, having a stone floor and a **gaping** chimney-corner. The air was still, and while she lingered a moment here alone sounds of voices in conversation came to her ears directly down the chimney. She entered the recess, and, listening, looked up the old irregular shaft, with its cavernous hollows, where the smoke blundered about on its way to the square bit of sky at the top, from which the daylight struck down with a pallid glare upon the **tatters** of **soot** draping the **flue** as **seaweed drapes** a rocky **fissure**.

She remembered: the furze-stack was not far from the chimney, and the voices were those of the workers.

Her grandfather joined in the conversation. "That lad ought never to have left home. His father's occupation would have suited him best, and the boy should have followed on. I don't believe in these new moves in families. My father was a sailor, so was I, and so should my son have been if I had had one."

"The place he's been living at is Paris," said Humphrey, "and they tell me 'tis where the king's head was cut off years ago. My poor mother used to tell me about that business. 'Hummy,' she used to say, 'I was a young maid then, and as I was at home ironing Mother's caps one afternoon the parson came in and said, "They've cut the king's head off, Jane; and what 'twill be next God knows.""

"A good many of us knew as well as He before long," said the captain, **chuckling**. "I lived seven years under water on account of it in my boyhood--in that damned surgery of the Triumph, seeing men brought down to the cockpit with their legs and arms blown to Jericho....And so the young man has settled in Paris. Manager to a diamond merchant, or some such thing, is he not?"

"Yes, sir, that's it. 'Tis a blazing great business that he belongs to, so I've heard his mother say--like a king's palace, as far as diments go."

Thesaurus

chuckling: (n) laughter.
drapes: (n) drapery, attire, array,
garment, long curtains.
fissure: (n) crevice, chasm, cranny,
break, cleft, breach, rift, chap, chink,
cleavage, aperture. ANTONYMS: (n)
repair, mend.
flue: (adj) down, cobweb, dust; (n)
fluff, flue pipe, shaft, smokestack,
tunnel, uptake, vent, chimneystack.
gaping: (adj, n) agape; (adj) vast,
yawning, cavernous, discontinuous,

wide, ajar, drowsy, hollow, wide open; (adj, v) oscitant. ANTONYMS: (adj) cramped, narrow.

seawed: (n) algae, wrack, tang, seamoss, seaware, sea wrack, heed, sea tang, seagrass, ware, reit.

soot: (n) smut, lampblack, carbon black, grime, carbon, crock, dirt; (adj) ink, ebony, coal pitch, jet.

southwest: (adj) southwestern, Colorado, California, Arizona; (n) Sw, geographic area, geographical

region, geographic region, geographical area, compass point; (adv) sou'west.

sunrise: (n) dawn, sunup, daybreak, daylight, aurora, first light, dayspring, twilight, dawning, break of day, crack of dawn. ANTONYMS: (n) sunset, sundown, nightfall. tatters: (n) rags, clothing.

unlearn: (v) forget, toss, fling, cast out, toss out, cast away, cast aside, bury, chuck out, dispose, overcome.

"I can well mind when he left home," said Sam.

"Tis a good thing for the feller," said Humphrey. "A sight of times better to be selling diments than nobbling about here."

"It must cost a good few shillings to deal at such a place."

"A good few indeed, my man," replied the captain. "Yes, you may make away with a deal of money and be neither drunkard nor glutton."

"They say, too, that Clym Yeobright is become a real **perusing** man, with the strangest notions about things. There, that's because he went to school early, such as the school was."

"Strange notions, has he?" said the old man. "Ah, there's too much of that sending to school in these days! It only does harm. Every gatepost and barn's door you come to is sure to have some bad word or other chalked upon it by the young rascals--a woman can hardly pass for shame sometimes. If they'd never been taught how to write they wouldn't have been able to scribble such villainy. Their fathers couldn't do it, and the country was all the better for it."

"Now, I should think, Cap'n, that Miss Eustacia had about as much in her head that comes from books as anybody about here?"

"Perhaps if Miss Eustacia, too, had less romantic nonsense in her head it would be better for her," said the captain shortly; after which he walked away.

"I say, Sam," observed Humphrey when the old man was gone, "she and Clym Yeobright would make a very pretty pigeon-pair--hey? If they wouldn't I'll be dazed! Both of one mind about niceties for certain, and learned in print, and always thinking about high doctrine--there couldn't be a better couple if they were made o' purpose. Clym's family is as good as hers. His father was a farmer, that's true; but his mother was a sort of lady, as we know. Nothing would please me better than to see them two man and wife."

"They'd look very natty, arm-in-crook together, and their best clothes on, whether or no, if he's at all the well-favoured fellow he used to be."

"They would, Humphrey. Well, I should like to see the chap terrible much after so many years. If I knew for certain when he was coming I'd stroll out

Thesaurus

chap: (n) fellow, blighter, guy, crevice, cranny, crack, lad, man, scissure, beau, chink. drunkard: (n) alcoholic, drinker,

boozer, dipsomaniac, rummy, inebriate, toper, sot, bibber, lush,

gatepost: (n) post, shutting post. natty: (adj) smart, spruce, jaunty, chic, stylish, dashing, trim, snappy, rakish, neat, elegant. ANTONYMS: (adj) messy, unattractive, scruffy,

niceties: (*n*) details, facts, information, **perusing**: (*n*) poring over, studying. ins and outs, particulars, propriety, workings, trivia, minutiae. **nonsense**: (n) bosh, absurdity, humbug, balderdash, foolishness, drivel, folderol, baloney, falderal, jargon, claptrap. ANTONYMS: (n) sense, wisdom, substance, fact. notions: (n) belief, thinking, thought, sundries, opinion, concept, ideas, ribbon, philosophy, odds and ends;

scribble: (n, v) scrawl, scratch, sketch; (v) scrabble, doodle, write, compose; (n) squiggle, cacography, scribblement, scrape. stroll: (n, v) ramble, saunter, walk, amble, wander, promenade, tramp, hike; (v) roam, go for a walk, range. villainy: (n) evil, infamy, crime,

villany, misdeed, baseness, enormity,

atrocity, evildoing, evilness, injustice.

(adj) irrational.

three or four miles to meet him and help carry anything for'n; though I suppose he's altered from the boy he was. They say he can talk French as fast as a maid can eat blackberries; and if so, depend upon it we who have stayed at home shall seem no more than scroff in his eyes."

"Coming across the water to Budmouth by steamer, isn't he?"

"Yes; but how he's coming from Budmouth I don't know."

"That's a bad trouble about his cousin Thomasin. I wonder such a nice-notioned fellow as Clym **likes** to come home into it. What a nunnywatch we were in, to be sure, when we heard they weren't married at all, after singing to 'em as man and wife that night! Be dazed if I should like a relation of mine to have been made such a fool of by a man. It makes the family look small."

"Yes. Poor maid, her heart has ached enough about it. Her health is suffering from it, I hear, for she will bide entirely indoors. We never see her out now, **scampering** over the furze with a face as red as a rose, as she used to do."

"I've heard she wouldn't have Wildeve now if he asked her."

"You have? 'Tis news to me."

While the furze-gatherers had **desultorily** conversed thus Eustacia's face gradually bent to the hearth in a profound reverie, her toe unconsciously tapping the dry turf which lay burning at her feet.

The subject of their discourse had been **keenly** interesting to her. A young and clever man was coming into that lonely heath from, of all contrasting places in the world, Paris. It was like a man coming from heaven. More singular still, the heathmen had instinctively coupled her and this man together in their minds as a pair born for each other.

That five minutes of **overhearing** furnished Eustacia with visions enough to fill the whole blank afternoon. Such sudden alternations from mental **vacuity** do sometimes occur thus quietly. She could never have believed in the morning that her **colourless** inner world would before night become as **animated** as water under a microscope, and that without the arrival of a single visitor. The words of Sam and Humphrey on the harmony between the unknown and herself had on

Thesaurus

ramblingly, irregularly,

immethodically, erratically,

animated: (adj) alive, lively, animate, perky, spirited, sprightly, brisk, cheerful, quick, vivacious, airy. ANTONYMS: (adj) lethargic, dull, blank, lifeless, spiritless, stiff, unanimated, bored, impassive, unexciting, dead. colourless: (adj) colorless, drab, pale, neutral, wan, pallid, ashen, clear, white, washy, bloodless. ANTONYM: (adj) colorful. desultorily: (adv) disconnectedly,

indiscriminately, spasmodically, discursively, fitfully, purposelessly, capriciously.

keenly: (adv) eagerly, zealously, piercingly, acutely, cuttingly, ardently, strongly, lively, penetratingly, fervently, avidly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) unenthusiastically, apathetically, faintly, reluctantly, patiently,

passively, halfheartedly, vaguely. likes: (n) kind, sort, type. overhearing: (n) silent listening. scampering: (n) running. steamer: (n) steamship, boat, liner, ship, Mya Arenaria, steam engine, sports car, roadster, clam, paddle steamer, cruise ship. vacuity: (n) inanity, vacancy, vacuum, void, blankness, gap, nothingness, pointlessness, vacuousness,

mindlessness, senselessness.

her mind the effect of the invading Bard's prelude in the Castle of Indolence, at which myriads of imprisoned shapes arose where had previously appeared the stillness of a void.

Involved in these imaginings she knew nothing of time. When she became conscious of externals it was dusk. The furze-rick was finished; the men had gone home. Eustacia went upstairs, thinking that she would take a walk at this her usual time; and she determined that her walk should be in the direction of Blooms-End, the birthplace of young Yeobright and the present home of his mother. She had no reason for walking elsewhere, and why should she not go that way? The scene of the **daydream** is sufficient for a pilgrimage at nineteen. To look at the **palings** before the Yeobrights' house had the dignity of a necessary performance. Strange that such a piece of idling should have seemed an important errand.

She put on her **bonnet**, and, leaving the house, descended the hill on the side towards Blooms-End, where she walked slowly along the valley for a distance of a mile and a half. This brought her to a spot in which the green bottom of the dale began to widen, the furze bushes to recede yet further from the path on each side, till they were diminished to an isolated one here and there by the increasing fertility of the soil. Beyond the irregular carpet of grass was a row of white palings, which marked the verge of the heath in this latitude. They showed upon the dusky scene that they bordered as distinctly as white lace on velvet. Behind the white palings was a little garden; behind the garden an old, irregular, thatched house, facing the heath, and commanding a full view of the valley. This was the obscure, removed spot to which was about to return a man whose latter life had been passed in the French capital--the centre and vortex of the fashionable world.

Thesaurus

bonnet: (n) cap, protection, chapeau, tile, wimple, beret, lid, cowling, castor, poke bonnet, sunbonnet. bordered: (adj) fringed, edged, delimited, surrounded. daydream: (v) fantasize, envisage, imagine; (n) vision, revery, reverie, fantasy, air castle, castle in the air, daydreaming; (n, v) fancy. ANTONYMS: (n) substantiality, tangibility, alertness. dusky: (adj) dark, cloudy, gloomy,

black, swarthy, dull, murky, obscure, palings: (n) inclosure, fencing, dingy, sooty, somber. ANTONYMS: (adj) light, bright, sunny, radiant, clear

invading: (adj) invade, incursive, attacking, impertinent, abhorrent, abusive, aggressive, assailant, disgusting, disagreeable, distasteful. latitude: (n) freedom, scope, breadth, room, expanse, range, compass, climate, clime, space, reach. ANTONYM: (n) constraint.

enclosure.

recede: (v) decline, withdraw, retire, fall back, diminish, retreat, abate, give, draw back, decrease, lose. ANTONYMS: (v) approach, gain, proceed, surge, stay, increase, appear, level.

vortex: (n) swirl, convolution, whirl, maelstrom; (n, v) whirlpool; (v)undercurrent, storm, heavy sea, ground swell, reflux, indraught.

2

THE PEOPLE AT BLOOMS-END MAKE READY

All that afternoon the expected arrival of the subject of Eustacia's ruminations created a **bustle** of preparation at Blooms-End. Thomasin had been persuaded by her aunt, and by an **instinctive** impulse of loyalty towards her cousin Clym, to **bestir** herself on his account with an alacrity unusual in her during these most sorrowful days of her life. At the time that Eustacia was listening to the rick-makers' conversation on Clym's return, Thomasin was climbing into a **loft** over her aunt's fuelhouse, where the store-apples were kept, to search out the best and largest of them for the coming holiday-time.

The loft was lighted by a **semicircular** hole, through which the **pigeons** crept to their **lodgings** in the same high quarters of the premises; and from this hole the sun shone in a bright yellow patch upon the figure of the maiden as she knelt and plunged her naked arms into the soft brown **fern**, which, from its abundance, was used on Egdon in packing away stores of all kinds. The pigeons were flying about her head with the greatest unconcern, and the face of her aunt was just visible above the floor of the loft, lit by a few stray motes of light, as she stood halfway up the ladder, looking at a spot into which she was not **climber** enough to venture.

Thesaurus

bestir: (v) activate, agitate, stir, actuate, turn on, arouse, provoke, move, excite, wake, awaken. bustle: (adj, n, v) hurry; (n, v) flurry, ado, fuss, hustle; (adj, n) stir, movement; (n) bother, commotion, disorder; (adj, v) hasten.

ANTONYMS: (n) inactivity, stillness, idleness; (v) laziness, relaxation. climber: (n) cragsman, social climber, jock, rock climber, upstart, creeper, vine, rambler, mountain climber,

trekker, hiker.

fern: (n) maidenhair, davallia,
christella, pteridophyte, fan fern,
bristle fern, button fern, buckler fern,
cliff brake, beech fern, canker brake.
instinctive: (adj) inherent, inborn,
automatic, natural, mechanical,
spontaneous, intuitive, unconscious,
gut, reflex; (adj, v) involuntary.
ANTONYMS: (adj) learned, stilted,
deliberate, factual, systematic,
trained, spiritual.

lodgings: (n) digs, accommodation, domiciliation, lodging, billet, housing, quarters, residence, pad, living quarters, launchpad.

loft: (n) garret, cockloft, hayloft, upper story, story, storey, farmhouse, igloo, cottage; (v) propel, impel.

pigeons: (n) order Columbiformes, Columbiformes.

semicircular: (adj) curved, semicircled, crescentic, crescent.

"Now a few russets, Tamsin. He used to like them almost as well as ribstones."

Thomasin turned and rolled aside the fern from another nook, where more **mellow** fruit greeted her with its ripe smell. Before picking them out she stopped a moment.

"Dear Clym, I wonder how your face looks now?" she said, **gazing** abstractedly at the pigeon-hole. which admitted the sunlight so directly upon her brown hair and transparent tissues that it almost seemed to shine through her.

"If he could have been dear to you in another way," said Mrs. Yeobright from the ladder, "this might have been a happy meeting."

"Is there any use in saying what can do no good, Aunt?"

"Yes," said her aunt, with some warmth. "To thoroughly fill the air with the past misfortune, so that other girls may take warning and keep clear of it."

Thomasin lowered her face to the apples again. "I am a warning to others, just as thieves and drunkards and gamblers are," she said in a low voice. "What a class to belong to! Do I really belong to them? 'Tis absurd! Yet why, Aunt, does everybody keep on making me think that I do, by the way they behave towards me? Why don't people judge me by my acts? Now, look at me as I **kneel** here, picking up these apples--do I look like a lost woman?...I wish all good women were as good as I!" she added **vehemently**.

"Strangers don't see you as I do," said Mrs. Yeobright; "they judge from false report. Well, it is a silly job, and I am partly to blame."

"How quickly a **rash** thing can be done!" replied the girl. Her lips were **quivering**, and tears so crowded themselves into her eyes that she could hardly distinguish apples from fern as she continued **industriously** searching to hide her weakness.

"As soon as you have finished getting the apples," her aunt said, descending the ladder, "come down, and we'll go for the holly. There is nobody on the heath this afternoon, and you need not fear being stared at. We must get some berries, or Clym will never believe in our preparations."

Thesaurus

gazing: (adj) fixed.
industriously: (adv) diligently,
painstakingly, busily, sedulously,
tirelessly, untiringly, eagerly,
studiously, laboriously, carefully,
conscientiously. ANTONYMS: (adv)
wearily, carelessly.

kneel: (v) genuflect, cringe, stoop, bob, cry for quarter, dip, duck, humble oneself; (n) kneeling, knee, movement.

mellow: (adj, v) ripe, mollify, smooth,

soften; (adj) gentle, luscious, mild, soft, juicy; (v) melt, ripen.

ANTONYMS: (adj) harsh, frantic, fresh, bright, strict, young, frenetic.

quivering: (adj, n) trembling, tremor, quaking, trepidation; (n) palpitation, quiver, vibration; (adj) flutter, quavering, shivering, tremulous.

ANTONYM: (adj) steady.

rash: (adj, n) foolhardy, hasty, precipitate, eruption; (adj) imprudent, reckless, impetuous, heedless,

audacious, sudden; (adj, adv) thoughtless. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, careful, sensible, wise, considered, deliberate, prudent, modest, slow, responsible, patient. vehemently: (adj, adv) ardently; (adv) violently, zealously, strongly, fervently, passionately, ferociously, fervidly, keenly, intensely, furiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, gently, impassively.

Thomasin came down when the apples were collected, and together they went through the white palings to the heath beyond. The open hills were airy and clear, and the remote atmosphere appeared, as it often appears on a fine winter day, in distinct planes of illumination independently **toned**, the rays which lit the nearer tracts of landscape streaming visibly across those further off; a **stratum** of ensaffroned light was **imposed** on a stratum of deep blue, and behind these lay still remoter scenes wrapped in frigid grey.

They reached the place where the hollies grew, which was in a **conical** pit, so that the tops of the trees were not much above the general level of the ground. Thomasin stepped up into a fork of one of the **bushes**, as she had done under happier circumstances on many similar occasions, and with a small **chopper** that they had brought she began to lop off the heavily **berried boughs**.

"Don't scratch your face," said her aunt, who stood at the edge of the pit, regarding the girl as she held on amid the **glistening** green and scarlet masses of the tree. "Will you walk with me to meet him this evening?"

"I should like to. Else it would seem as if I had forgotten him," said Thomasin, **tossing** out a bough. "Not that that would matter much; I belong to one man; nothing can alter that. And that man I must marry, for my pride's sake."

"I am afraid--" began Mrs. Yeobright.

"Ah, you think, 'That weak girl--how is she going to get a man to marry her when she chooses?' But let me tell you one thing, Aunt: Mr. Wildeve is not a **profligate** man, any more than I am an improper woman. He has an unfortunate manner, and doesn't try to make people like him if they don't wish to do it of their own accord."

"Thomasin," said Mrs. Yeobright quietly, fixing her eye upon her niece, "do you think you **deceive** me in your defence of Mr. Wildeve?"

"How do you mean?"

Thesaurus

berried: (adj) bacciferous, baccate, fruitful.
bough: (n) arm, limb, bow, member, tigella, ramage, offshoot, ramification, spray, sprig, stem.
bushes: (n) underbrush, thicket, undergrowth, minor league.
chopper: (n) helicopter, axe, cleaver, whirlybird, mincer, chop, grounder, knife, copter, hatchet, tooth.
conical: (adj) pyramidal, tapering, copped, conelike, coniform, taper,

cone, tapered, coppled, pointed. deceive: (v) cheat, circumvent, bamboozle, pretend, hoax, fool, cozen, trick, beguile; (n, v) dupe; (n) fraud. ANTONYMS: (v) guide, inform, undeceive, protect. glistening: (adj) shining, glossy, shiny, glisten, brilliant, beaming, sleek, lustrous, sparkling, reflecting light, gleaming. ANTONYM: (adj) dull. imposed: (adj) compulsory, obligatory. profligate: (adj) debauched, lavish,

corrupt, extravagant, immoral, wasteful, abandoned; (adj, n) prodigal, licentious, spendthrift, libertine. ANTONYMS: (adj) frugal, upright, moral, economical, parsimonious, sensible, cautious, innocent.

stratum: (*n*) layer, bed, level, seam, floor, ply, stage, story, horizon, class, plane. **toned**: (*adj*) pastel.

tossing: (n) cast; (adj) moving.

"I have long had a suspicion that your love for him has changed its colour since you have found him not to be the saint you thought him, and that you act a part to me."

"He wished to marry me, and I wish to marry him."

"Now, I put it to you: would you at this present moment agree to be his wife if that had not happened to **entangle** you with him?"

Thomasin looked into the tree and appeared much disturbed. "Aunt," she said **presently**, "I have, I think, a right to refuse to answer that question."

"Yes, you have."

"You may think what you choose. I have never implied to you by word or **deed** that I have grown to think otherwise of him, and I never will. And I shall marry him."

"Well, wait till he repeats his offer. I think he may do it, now that he knows-something I told him. I don't for a moment dispute that it is the most proper thing for you to marry him. Much as I have objected to him in **bygone** days, I agree with you now, you may be sure. It is the only way out of a false position, and a very **galling** one."

"What did you tell him?"

"That he was standing in the way of another lover of yours."

"Aunt," said Thomasin, with round eyes, "what do you mean?"

"Don't be **alarmed**; it was my duty. I can say no more about it now, but when it is over I will tell you exactly what I said, and why I said it."

Thomasin was perforce content.

"And you will keep the secret of my **would**-be marriage from Clym for the present?" she next asked.

"I have given my word to. But what is the use of it? He must soon know what has happened. A mere look at your face will show him that something is wrong."

Thesaurus

alarmed: (*adj*) afraid, scared, frightened, apprehensive, horrified, anxious, uneasy, agitated, shocked, terrified, concerned. ANTONYM: (*adj*) carefree.

bygone: (adj) ancient, former, gone, obsolete, outmoded, previous, archaic, old, late; (n) preterite, antique. ANTONYMS: (adj) future, current, coming, modern. deed: (n) accomplishment, act, feat, behavior, action, exploit, covenant,

doing, document, title, fact. ANTONYM: (n) failure. entangle: (n, v) tangle; (v) embrangle, complicate, involve, snarl, entwine, mat; (adj, v) enmesh, embarrass, confuse, bewilder. ANTONYMS: (v) disentangle, disengage, extricate, free, unravel, untangle, explain, undo.

galling: (*adj*, *v*) irritating; (*v*) aggravating, provoking; (*adj*) exasperating, bitter, vexatious,

vexing, maddening, infuriating, bothersome, harassing. ANTONYM: (adj) pleasing.

perforce: (*n*) on compulsion; (*adv*) needs.

presently: (adv) instantly, directly, currently, before long, shortly, soon, now, at present, readily, just, actually. ANTONYMS: (adv) later, now, formerly.

would-be: (adj) quasi, aspiring.

Thomasin turned and regarded her aunt from the tree. "Now, hearken to me," she said, her delicate voice expanding into firmness by a force which was other than physical. "Tell him nothing. If he finds out that I am not worthy to be his cousin, let him. But, since he loved me once, we will not pain him by telling him my trouble too soon. The air is full of the story, I know; but gossips will not dare to speak of it to him for the first few days. His closeness to me is the very thing that will hinder the tale from reaching him early. If I am not made safe from sneers in a week or two I will tell him myself."

The earnestness with which Thomasin spoke prevented further objections. Her aunt simply said, "Very well. He should by rights have been told at the time that the wedding was going to be. He will never forgive you for your secrecy."

"Yes, he will, when he knows it was because I wished to spare him, and that I did not expect him home so soon. And you must not let me stand in the way of your Christmas party. Putting it off would only make matters worse."

"Of course I shall not. I do not wish to show myself beaten before all Egdon, and the sport of a man like Wildeve. We have enough berries now, I think, and we had better take them home. By the time we have decked the house with this and hung up the mistletoe, we must think of starting to meet him."

Thomasin came out of the tree, shook from her hair and dress the loose berries which had fallen thereon, and went down the hill with her aunt, each woman bearing half the gathered boughs. It was now nearly four o'clock, and the sunlight was leaving the vales. When the west grew red the two relatives came again from the house and plunged into the heath in a different direction from the first, towards a point in the distant highway along which the expected man was to return.

Thesaurus

closeness: (n) tightness, proximity, familiarity, parsimony, nearness, adjacency, affinity, propinquity, fidelity, compactness, meanness. ANTONYMS: (n) isolation, distance, farness, dryness, openness, space, animosity, inaccuracy, freshness, remoteness.

decked: (adj) bedecked, decked out, ornamented, decorated, festooned. earnestness: (n) seriousness, sincerity, gravity, fervor, devotion, graveness,

staidness, honesty; (adj, n) ardor, zeal, delay; (n, v) bar; (adj) posterior, hind. intentness. ANTONYMS: (n) slackness, lightness, carelessness, frivolousness, cheerfulness, insincerity, flippancy.

expanding: (adj) growing, expansive, getting higher, getting bigger, intumescent, intensifying, cultural, going up, mounting; (n) addition,

hinder: (v) impede, resist, check, hamper, obstruct, curb, handicap,

ANTONYMS: (v) help, facilitate, assist, prompt, encourage, promote, allow, support, accelerate. **mistletoe**: (*n*) viscum album, false mistletoe, Loranthus europaeus, parasitic plant, missel, misletoe, old world mistletoe.

sunlight: (n) sunshine, daylight, the sun, positive, solar, sunbeam, brightness, sunbeams, rays, shaft,

3

HOW A LITTLE SOUND PRODUCED A GREAT DREAM

Eustacia stood just within the heath, **straining** her eyes in the direction of Mrs. Yeobright's house and premises. No light, sound, or movement was **perceptible** there. The evening was **chilly**; the spot was dark and lonely. She **inferred** that the guest had not yet come; and after **lingering** ten or fifteen minutes she turned again towards home.

She had not far retraced her steps when sounds in front of her betokened the approach of persons in conversation along the same path. Soon their heads became visible against the sky. They were walking slowly; and though it was too dark for much discovery of character from aspect, the **gait** of them showed that they were not workers on the heath. Eustacia stepped a little out of the foot-track to let them pass. They were two women and a man; and the voices of the women were those of Mrs. Yeobright and Thomasin.

They went by her, and at the moment of passing appeared to **discern** her dusky form. There came to her ears in a masculine voice, "Good night!"

She murmured a reply, glided by them, and turned round. She could not, for a moment, believe that chance, **unrequested**, had brought into her presence the

Thesaurus

chilly: (adj, adv) unfriendly; (adv) coolly, frigidly; (adj) cool, bleak, algid, freezing, frozen, icy, frosty; (adj, n) cold. ANTONYMS: (adj) hot, tropical, responsive, mild, welcoming, friendly, balmy, torrid. discern: (v) differentiate, see, comprehend, detect, distinguish, make out, perceive, find, note; (n, v) descry; (adj, v) recognize.

ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, neglect, disregard, observe, overlook.

gait: (n, v) pace, step, tread, footstep, rate, stride, action; (n) walk, carriage, movement, velocity.

inferred: (adj) subtle, tacit, assumed, incidental, latent, unsaid, unspoken, understood, contingent, implied, derivative. ANTONYM: (adj) explicit. lingering: (adj) long, chronic, extended, dilatory, protracted, prolonged, residual, lengthy, inactive, dull; (n) delay. ANTONYM: (adj) quick.

perceptible: (adj) conspicuous, appreciable, evident, discernible, obvious, visible, palpable, apparent, detectable, manifest, observable. ANTONYMS: (adj) intangible, unclear, inaudible, inconspicuous, obscure, undetectable, invisible. straining: (n) effort, push, exertion, distortion, overrefinement, tension, endeavor, torture, twisting; (adj) arduous; (v) tighten. unrequested: (adj) unsolicited.

soul of the house she had gone to inspect, the man without whom her inspection would not have been thought of.

She strained her eyes to see them, but was unable. Such was her intentness, however, that it seemed as if her ears were performing the functions of seeing as well as hearing. This extension of power can almost be believed in at such moments. The deaf Dr. Kitto was probably under the influence of a parallel fancy when he described his body as having become, by long endeavour, so sensitive to vibrations that he had gained the power of **perceiving** by it as by ears.

She could follow every word that the ramblers uttered. They were talking no secrets. They were merely **indulging** in the ordinary **vivacious** chat of relatives who have long been parted in person though not in soul. But it was not to the words that Eustacia listened; she could not even have recalled, a few minutes later, what the words were. It was to the **alternating** voice that gave out about one-tenth of them--the voice that had wished her good night. Sometimes this throat uttered Yes, sometimes it uttered No; sometimes it made inquiries about a time worn **denizen** of the place. Once it surprised her notions by remarking upon the friendliness and **geniality** written in the faces of the hills around.

The three voices passed on, and decayed and died out upon her ear. Thus much had been granted her; and all besides withheld. No event could have been more exciting. During the greater part of the afternoon she had been **entrancing** herself by imagining the fascination which must attend a man come direct from beautiful Paris--laden with its atmosphere, familiar with its **charms**. And this man had greeted her.

With the departure of the figures the profuse articulations of the women wasted away from her memory; but the accents of the other stayed on. Was there anything in the voice of Mrs. Yeobright's son--for Clym it was--startling as a sound? No; it was simply comprehensive. All emotional things were possible to the speaker of that "good night." Eustacia's imagination supplied the rest-except the solution to one riddle. What *could* the tastes of that man be who saw friendliness and geniality in these shaggy hills?

Thesaurus

alternating: (adj) intermittent, recurrent, irregular, regular, every other, blinking, successive; (adv) back and forth. ANTONYM: (adj) direct. charms: (n) trinkets, jewelry, jewels. denizen: (n) occupant, inhabitant, citizen, inmate, dweller, liver, occupier, borderer, cottager, native, indweller. ANTONYMS: (n) immigrant, foreigner, alien. entrancing: (adj) captivating, enthralling, bewitching, fascinating,

charming, attractive, magnetic, glamorous, tempting, engaging, enticing. ANTONYM: (adj) boring. geniality: (n) cordiality, amiability, bonhomie, affability, goodness, hospitality, cheerfulness, kindness, conviviality, warmth, amiableness. ANTONYMS: (n) nastiness, frostiness, meanness, hostility. indulging: (n) pampering, excess, indulgence, orgy, folly, foolery, gratification.

perceiving: (n) feeling, sensing, hearing, looking at, recognition, thought, vision, lipreading; (adj) conscious, percipient, reasonable. secrets: (n) secrecy. vivacious: (adj) lively, animated, sprightly, vibrant, spry, effervescent, gay; (adj, v) cheerful, active, buoyant, brisk. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, lethargic, listless, compliment, inactive, praise, languid, lifeless, serious, sluggish.

On such occasions as this a thousand ideas pass through a highly charged woman's head; and they indicate themselves on her face; but the changes, though actual, are minute. Eustacia's features went through a **rhythmical** succession of them. She glowed; remembering the **mendacity** of the imagination, she flagged; then she freshened; then she fired; then she **cooled** again. It was a cycle of aspects, produced by a cycle of visions.

Eustacia entered her own house; she was excited. Her grandfather was enjoying himself over the fire, raking about the ashes and exposing the red-hot surface of the turves, so that their lurid glare **irradiated** the chimney-corner with the hues of a furnace.

"Why is it that we are never friendly with the Yeobrights?" she said, coming forward and stretching her soft hands over the warmth. "I wish we were. They seem to be very nice people."

"Be hanged if I know why," said the captain. "I liked the old man well enough, though he was as rough as a hedge. But you would never have cared to go there, even if you might have, I am well sure."

"Why shouldn't I?"

"Your town tastes would find them far too **countrified**. They sit in the kitchen, drink mead and elder-wine, and sand the floor to keep it clean. A sensible way of life; but how would you like it?"

"I thought Mrs. Yeobright was a ladylike woman? A curate's daughter, was she not?"

"Yes; but she was obliged to live as her husband did; and I suppose she has taken kindly to it by this time. Ah, I **recollect** that I once accidentally offended her, and I have never seen her since."

That night was an **eventful** one to Eustacia's brain, and one which she hardly ever forgot. She dreamt a dream; and few human beings, from Nebuchadnezzar to the Swaffham tinker, ever dreamt a more remarkable one. Such an elaborately developed, **perplexing**, exciting dream was certainly never dreamed by a girl in Eustacia's situation before. It had as many ramifications as the Cretan labyrinth,

Thesaurus

cooled: (adj) refrigerated, frozen; (n) cooler.
countrified: (adj) rural, provincial, pastoral, country, countryfied, boorish, bucolic, bumpkinly, Arcadian, leafy; (adj, prep) rude.
eventful: (adj) fateful, weighty, lively, important, momentous, memorable, notable, hectic, significant; (n) stirring; (v) full of incident.
ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, insignificant, ordinary, slow, empty.

irradiated: (*adj*) bright, exposed, irradiate.

mendacity: (n) falsehood, falsity, deception, lie, deceit, falseness, fabrication, untruth, untruthfulness; (v) perjury; (adj) untrue. ANTONYM: (n) veracity.

perplexing: (*adj*) enigmatic, puzzling, embarrassing, intricate, complex, baffling, complicated, bewildering, knotty, troublesome; (*adj*, *n*) difficult. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) simple,

enlightening, soothing, understandable, explicable. recollect: (v) recall, remember, recognize, call to mind, remind, mind, think, call up, reminisce, refresh, retrieve. ANTONYM: (v) forget.

rhythmical: (*n*) measured, rhythmics; (*adj*) numerose, cyclical, recurrent, cadenced, periodic, serial, diatonic, poetic, numerous. ANTONYM: (*adj*) unrhythmical.

as many fluctuations as the northern lights, as much colour as a **parterre** in June, and was as crowded with figures as a coronation. To Queen Scheherazade the dream might have seemed not far removed from commonplace; and to a girl just returned from all the courts of Europe it might have seemed not more than interesting. But amid the circumstances of Eustacia's life it was as wonderful as a dream could be.

There was, however, gradually evolved from its transformation scenes a less extravagant episode, in which the heath dimly appeared behind the general **brilliancy** of the action. She was dancing to wondrous music, and her partner was the man in silver armour who had accompanied her through the previous fantastic changes, the **visor** of his helmet being closed. The mazes of the dance were ecstatic. Soft whispering came into her ear from under the **radiant** helmet, and she felt like a woman in Paradise. Suddenly these two wheeled out from the mass of dancers, dived into one of the pools of the heath, and came out somewhere into an **iridescent** hollow, arched with **rainbows**. "It must be here," said the voice by her side, and **blushingly** looking up she saw him removing his **casque** to kiss her. At that moment there was a cracking noise, and his figure fell into fragments like a pack of cards.

She cried aloud. "O that I had seen his face!"

Eustacia **awoke**. The cracking had been that of the window shutter downstairs, which the maid-servant was opening to let in the day, now slowly increasing to Nature's meagre allowance at this sickly time of the year. "O that I had seen his face!" she said again. "'Twas meant for Mr. Yeobright!"

When she became cooler she perceived that many of the phases of the dream had naturally **arisen** out of the images and fancies of the day before. But this detracted little from its interest, which lay in the excellent fuel it provided for newly kindled fervour. She was at the **modulating** point between indifference and love, at the stage called "having a fancy for." It occurs once in the history of the most gigantic passions, and it is a period when they are in the hands of the **weakest** will.

Thesaurus

arisen: (adj) risen.
awoke: (adj) awakened.
blushingly: (adv) blush, ruddily,
rosily, blushfully, redly, shily,
overmodestly.
brilliancy: (n, v) brightness; (n)
brilliance, lustre, luster, splendor,
glitter, glory, radiance, splendour;
(adj, n) gorgeousness; (v) gloss.
casque: (v) helm, headpiece, siege cap,
carapace, cowcatcher, hauberk,
salade, scutum, morion, mask, mail.

iridescent: (adj) opalescent, pearly, chatoyant, changeable, shimmering, colorful, shining, prismatic, pavonine, opaline, clear. modulating: (v) modulate; (n)

modulation.

parterre: (adj) esplanade, estrade; (n) shrubbery, seats, seating, plantation, pinery, pinetum, orchard, ledge, avenue.

radiant: (*adj*, *v*) bright, glittering, lustrous, beamy, glorious; (*adj*)

beaming, luminous, effulgent, lucid, glowing, beautiful. ANTONYMS: (adj) gloomy, dark, pale, unhappy. rainbows: (n) rainbow.

visor: (n) eyeshade, peak, vizor, disguise, bill, vizard, shade, screen, armor plating, armor plate, head

weakest: (adj) ridiculous, suggestion, supposes, notions, plainly, irrational, incongruous, project, foolish, fatuity, inconsistent.

The perfervid woman was by this time half in love with a vision. fantastic nature of her passion, which lowered her as an intellect, raised her as a soul. If she had had a little more self-control she would have attenuated the emotion to nothing by sheer reasoning, and so have killed it off. If she had had a little less pride she might have gone and circumambulated the Yeobrights' premises at Blooms-End at any maidenly sacrifice until she had seen him. But Eustacia did neither of these things. She acted as the most **exemplary** might have acted, being so influenced; she took an airing twice or thrice a day upon the Egdon hills, and kept her eyes employed.

The first occasion passed, and he did not come that way.

She promenaded a second time, and was again the sole wanderer there.

The third time there was a dense fog; she looked around, but without much hope. Even if he had been walking within twenty yards of her she could not have seen him.

At the fourth attempt to encounter him it began to rain in **torrents**, and she turned back.

The fifth sally was in the afternoon; it was fine, and she remained out long, walking to the very top of the valley in which Blooms-End lay. She saw the white paling about half a mile off; but he did not appear. It was almost with heart-sickness that she came home and with a sense of shame at her weakness. She resolved to look for the man from Paris no more.

But Providence is nothing if not coquettish; and no sooner had Eustacia formed this resolve than the opportunity came which, while sought, had been entirely withholden.

Thesaurus

airing: (n, v) drive, ride, outing; (n)aeration, stroll, saunter, walk, expedition, improvement, turn, journey.

attenuated: (adj) weakened, shriveled, rawboned, marcid, barebone, tabid, extenuated, diminished, reduced, rare, decreased.

coquettish: (adj) flirtatious, coy, kittenish, charming, coquet, arch,

exemplary: (adj) model, typical,

representative, classic, admonitory, ideal, warning, commendable, worthy, excellent, virtuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) awful, lousy, poor, unconventional, reprehensible, wrong, substandard, blameworthy. maidenly: (adj) chaste, maidenlike, feminine, virgin, womanly, ladylike, virginal, wifely; (adv) virginly, firstly,

paling: (n) fence, pale, picket fence, balustrade, fencing, enclosure, bar, barrier, ring fence, quickset hedge; (adj) fading.

perfervid: (adj) impassioned, fiery, fervent, ardent, fervid, torrid, burning, keen, passionate, flaming,

thrice: (adv) three times, thirdly. torrents: (n) white water, rapids. wanderer: (n) vagabond, roamer, tramp, nomad, drifter, traveler, wayfarer, stranger, hobo, traveller; (n, v) rambler.

4

EUSTACIA IS LED ON TO AN ADVENTURE

In the evening of this last day of expectation, which was the twenty-third of December, Eustacia was at home alone. She had passed the recent hour in lamenting over a rumour newly come to her ears--that Yeobright's visit to his mother was to be of short duration, and would end some time the next week. "Naturally," she said to herself. A man in the full swing of his activities in a gay city could not afford to linger long on Egdon Heath. That she would behold face to face the owner of the awakening voice within the limits of such a holiday was most unlikely, unless she were to haunt the environs of his mother's house like a robin, to do which was difficult and unseemly.

The customary **expedient** of provincial girls and men in such circumstances is churchgoing. In an ordinary village or country town one can safely calculate that, either on Christmas day or the Sunday contiguous, any native home for the holidays, who has not through age or ennui lost the appetite for seeing and being seen, will turn up in some pew or other, shining with hope, selfconsciousness, and new clothes. Thus the congregation on Christmas morning is mostly a Tussaud collection of celebrities who have been born in the neighbourhood. Hither the mistress, left neglected at home all the year, can steal

Thesaurus

behold: (v) see, view, contemplate, regard, perceive, observe, look, consider, discern, descry, watch. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, disregard, ignore, overlook.

churchgoing: (adj) religious. ennui: (n) fatigue, tedium, weariness, melancholy, monotony, tediousness, dissatisfaction, listlessness, apathy; (v) bore, pall. ANTONYMS: (n) variation, liveliness, enthusiasm, energy, interest.

environs: (adj, n) purlieus; (n) vicinity, **lamenting**: (adj) weeping, wailing, confines, outskirts, environment, entourage, precincts, scene, surround, surroundings; (adj)

expedient: (adj) fit, advisable, becoming, desirable, adequate, apt, convenient, suitable; (n) contrivance, resource, artifice. ANTONYMS: (adj) inappropriate, inexpedient, impractical, futile, detrimental, inconvenient, foolish.

sad, whining; (adj, n) plaintive; (adj, v) bewailing, querulous; (n, v)complaining; (n) grief, sorrow; (v) dissatisfied.

linger: (v) loiter, delay, dally, hover, stay, hesitate, hang around, procrastinate, dawdle, tarry, saunter. ANTONYMS: (v) hurry, end, rush, depart, lead.

self-consciousness: (n) embarrassment, inhibition. and observe the development of the returned lover who has forgotten her, and think as she watches him over her prayer book that he may **throb** with a renewed fidelity when **novelties** have lost their charm. And hither a comparatively recent **settler** like Eustacia may **betake** herself to **scrutinize** the person of a native son who left home before her advent upon the scene, and consider if the friendship of his parents be worth **cultivating** during his next absence in order to secure a knowledge of him on his next return.

But these tender schemes were not feasible among the scattered inhabitants of Egdon Heath. In name they were **parishioners**, but virtually they belonged to no parish at all. People who came to these few isolated houses to keep Christmas with their friends remained in their friends' chimney-corners drinking mead and other comforting liquors till they left again for good and all. Rain, snow, ice, mud everywhere around, they did not care to **trudge** two or three miles to sit wet-footed and **splashed** to the **nape** of their necks among those who, though in some measure neighbours, lived close to the church, and entered it clean and dry. Eustacia knew it was ten to one that Clym Yeobright would go to no church at all during his few days of leave, and that it would be a waste of labour for her to go driving the **pony** and gig over a bad road in hope to see him there.

It was dusk, and she was sitting by the fire in the dining-room or hall, which they occupied at this time of the year in preference to the parlour, because of its large **hearth**, constructed for turf-fires, a fuel the captain was partial to in the winter season. The only visible articles in the room were those on the window-sill, which showed their shapes against the low sky, the middle article being the old hourglass, and the other two a pair of ancient British urns which had been dug from a barrow near, and were used as flowerpots for two razor-leaved cactuses. Somebody knocked at the door. The servant was out; so was her grandfather. The person, after waiting a minute, came in and tapped at the door of the room.

"Who's there?" said Eustacia.

"Please, Cap'n Vye, will you let us----"

Thesaurus

betake: (v) wend, apply, address, accost, get, obtain, refer, acquire, aim, beget, attach. cultivating: (adj) educating, taming, cultivating: (adj) educating, taming,

humanizing, calming.

hearth: (*n*) fire, oven, fireside, stove, chimney, focus, furnace, dwelling, kiln, home, abode.

nape: (*n*) nucha, scruff, occiput, rear, back end, backside, chine. novelties: (*n*) odds and ends. parishioners: (*n*) people attending

worship, worshippers.

pony: (n) crib, nag, trot, mustang,
clavis, cayuse, jigger, rendering,
racehorse, translation, version.

scrutinize: (v) inspect, examine,
review, consider, audit, investigate,
explore, search, analyze, check; (adj,
v) scan. ANTONYM: (v) ignore.

settler: (n) migrant, colonist,
immigrant, inhabitant, homesteader,
squatter, planter, newcomer,
colonizer, sockdolager, standish.

ANTONYM: (n) native. splashed: (adj) dabbled, bespattered, besplashed, spattered, marked, unclean, dirty, splattered, distributed, showy, dotted. throb: (n, v) quiver, ache, pulse, pound, thrill, tingle; (v) pulsate, palpitate, flutter, shudder; (n) pulsation.

trudge: (*n*, *v*) tramp, trek, hike, slog, ramble, march, walk, wander; (*v*) trail, pad, shack.

Eustacia arose and went to the door. "I cannot allow you to come in so boldly. You should have waited."

"The cap'n said I might come in without any fuss," was answered in a lad's pleasant voice.

"Oh, did he?" said Eustacia more gently. "What do you want, Charley?"

"Please will your grandfather lend us his fuelhouse to try over our parts in, tonight at seven o'clock?"

"What, are you one of the Egdon mummers for this year?"

"Yes, miss. The cap'n used to let the old mummers practise here."

"I know it. Yes, you may use the fuelhouse if you like," said Eustacia languidly.

The choice of Captain Vye's fuelhouse as the scene of rehearsal was dictated by the fact that his **dwelling** was nearly in the centre of the heath. The fuelhouse was as **roomy** as a barn, and was a most desirable place for such a purpose. The lads who formed the company of players lived at different scattered points around, and by meeting in this spot the distances to be traversed by all the comers would be about equally **proportioned**.

For mummers and mumming Eustacia had the greatest contempt. The mummers themselves were not afflicted with any such feeling for their art, though at the same time they were not enthusiastic. A traditional **pastime** is to be distinguished from a mere revival in no more striking feature than in this, that while in the revival all is excitement and fervour, the survival is carried on with a **stolidity** and absence of stir which sets one wondering why a thing that is done so **perfunctorily** should be kept up at all. Like Balaam and other unwilling prophets, the agents seem moved by an inner compulsion to say and do their **allotted** parts whether they will or no. This **unweeting** manner of performance is the true ring by which, in this refurbishing age, a **fossilized** survival may be known from a spurious reproduction.

The piece was the well-known play of Saint George, and all who were behind the scenes **assisted** in the preparations, including the women of each household.

Thesaurus

allotted: (adj) agreed, chosen, fixed, selected.
assisted: (adj) aided.
dwelling: (n) domicile, home, residence, house, place, accommodation, address, building, lodge, habitation; (adj, n) dwell. fossilized: (adj) ossified, outmoded, fossil.
pastime: (n) game, avocation,

pastime: (n) game, avocation, entertainment, recreation, hobby, distraction, interest, fun, pursuit, amusement, sideline.

perfunctorily: (adv) superficially,
automatically, carelessly, as a
formality, involuntarily, quickly,
hastily, unthinkingly, passingly,
automaticly, fleetingly. ANTONYM:
(adv) thoroughly.

proportioned: (adj) attemperate, shapely, regular, properly adapted, even, balanced. ANTONYM: (adj) asymmetrical.

roomy: (adj, n) capacious; (adj) broad,

extensive, large, commodious, ample, voluminous, expansive, big, rangy, comprehensive. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, narrow, airless, tiny, tight. stolidity: (n) indifference, phlegm, impassiveness, impassivity, emotionlessness, stoicism, lethargy, languor, obtuseness, inactivity; (adj) stupidity.

unweeting: (adj) unknowing, unaware, unapprized, unacquainted, unwitting, unconscious, unapprised. Without the co-operation of sisters and sweethearts the dresses were likely to be a failure; but on the other hand, this class of assistance was not without its drawbacks. The girls could never be brought to respect tradition in designing and decorating the armour; they insisted on **attaching** loops and bows of silk and velvet in any situation pleasing to their taste. Gorget, **gusset**, **basinet**, **cuirass**, gauntlet, sleeve, all alike in the view of these feminine eyes were practicable spaces whereon to sew scraps of fluttering colour.

It might be that Joe, who fought on the side of Christendom, had a sweetheart, and that Jim, who fought on the side of the Moslem, had one likewise. During the making of the costumes it would come to the knowledge of Joe's sweetheart that Jim's was putting brilliant silk **scallops** at the bottom of her lover's **surcoat**, in addition to the ribbons of the visor, the bars of which, being invariably formed of coloured strips about half an inch wide hanging before the face, were mostly of that material. Joe's sweetheart straight-way placed brilliant silk on the scallops of the hem in question, and, going a little further, added ribbon tufts to the shoulder pieces. Jim's, not to be **outdone**, would **affix** bows and rosettes everywhere.

The result was that in the end the Valiant Soldier, of the Christian army, was distinguished by no peculiarity of **accoutrement** from the Turkish Knight; and what was worse, on a casual view Saint George himself might be mistaken for his deadly enemy, the Saracen. The guisers themselves, though inwardly regretting this confusion of persons, could not afford to offend those by whose assistance they so largely profited, and the innovations were allowed to stand.

There was, it is true, a limit to this tendency to uniformity. The Leech or Doctor preserved his character intact--his darker **habiliments**, peculiar hat, and the bottle of **physic** slung under his arm, could never be mistaken. And the same might be said of the conventional figure of Father Christmas, with his gigantic club, an older man, who accompanied the band as general protector in long night journeys from parish to parish, and was bearer of the purse.

Seven o'clock, the hour of the rehearsal, came round, and in a short time Eustacia could hear voices in the fuelhouse. To dissipate in some trifling measure

Thesaurus

accoutrement: (n) accouterment, accessory, clothes, wear, clothing, vesture, attachment, appointment, accessary, belt, apparatus.
affix: (n, v) annex; (adj, v) attach, fix;

(v) adjoin, append, add on, fasten, join, connect, stick; (n) addition.

ANTONYMS: (v) unfasten, remove,

loosen, delete.

attaching: (*n*) fastening; (*adj*) adhesive. **basinet**: (*n*) bassinet, bascinet, helmet. **cuirass**: (*v*) breastplate, fender, armor,

mask, thimble, shield, scutum, aegis; (n) coat of mail, hauberk, body armor.

gusset: (*n*) inset; (*v*) articulation, commissure, stitch, suture, joining, joint, juncture, pivot, hinge; (*n*, *v*) seam.

habiliments: (n) clothes, garb, apparel, clothing, costume, dress, equipage, material, tackle, thing, apparatus. outdone: (adj) beaten, vanquished, worsted, defeated; (v) outdo.

physic: (*n*) medicine, aperient, cathartic, medication, healing, medicament, drug; (*n*, *v*) cure, doctor, remedy; (*v*) heal.

scallops: (n) class Pelecypoda, Pectinidae, oysters, mussels, Lamellibranchia, clams, Bivalvia, family Pectinidae, class Bivalvia. surcoat: (n) chesterfield, capote, greatcoat, tunic, coat, great coat, Ulster, hooded coat, overcoating, raincoat, topcoat. her **abiding** sense of the **murkiness** of human life she went to the "linhay" or **lean**-to shed, which formed the root-store of their dwelling and abutted on the fuelhouse. Here was a small rough hole in the mud wall, originally made for pigeons, through which the interior of the next shed could be viewed. A light came from it now; and Eustacia stepped upon a stool to look in upon the scene.

On a **ledge** in the fuelhouse stood three tall rushlights and by the light of them seven or eight lads were marching about, **haranguing**, and confusing each other, in endeavours to perfect themselves in the play. Humphrey and Sam, the furze-and turf-cutters, were there looking on, so also was Timothy Fairway, who leant against the wall and prompted the boys from memory, interspersing among the set words remarks and anecdotes of the superior days when he and others were the Egdon mummers-elect that these lads were now.

"Well, ye be as well up to it as ever ye will be," he said. "Not that such mumming would have passed in our time. Harry as the Saracen should **strut** a bit more, and John needn't **holler** his inside out. Beyond that perhaps you'll do. Have you got all your clothes ready?"

"We shall by Monday."

"Your first outing will be Monday night, I suppose?"

"Yes. At Mrs. Yeobright's."

"Oh, Mrs. Yeobright's. What makes her want to see ye? I should think a middle-aged woman was tired of mumming."

"She's got up a bit of a party, because 'tis the first Christmas that her son Clym has been home for a long time."

"To be sure, to be sure--her party! I am going myself. I almost forgot it, upon my life."

Eustacia's face flagged. There was to be a party at the Yeobrights'; she, naturally, had nothing to do with it. She was a stranger to all such local gatherings, and had always held them as scarcely appertaining to her sphere. But had she been going, what an opportunity would have been afforded her of seeing the man whose influence was **penetrating** her like summer sun! To

Thesaurus

abiding: (adj) immortal, stable, constant, everlasting, lasting, enduring, perpetual, eternal, perennial, continuing, imperishable. ANTONYMS: (adj) ephemeral, fleeting, impermanent, temporary, passing, mortal, erratic, inconstant. haranguing: (n) declamation. holler: (n, v) cry, scream, call, shout, yell, bawl, hollo, shriek, bellow; (v) exclaim, screech. ANTONYM: (v) whisper.

lean-to: (n) camp, house.

ledge: (n) projection, bulge, jetty,
board, shelf, rack, bench, hummock,
protrusion, rim; (adj) escarpment.
ANTONYM: (n) depression.

murkiness: (n) murk, gloom, fog,
cloudiness, muddiness, haziness,
mistiness, opacity, dimness, haze,
fogginess. ANTONYMS: (n)
brightness, clarity, cleanness, light.
outing: (n) excursion, jaunt, journey,
junket, ride, trip, tour, airing, drive,

promenade, voyage. **penetrating**: (adj) astute, sharp,
cutting, discerning, incisive, piercing,
perceptive, discriminating, trenchant;
(adj, v) biting, acute. ANTONYMS:
(adj) mild, soft, mellow, low, gentle,
dull, dense.

strut: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) swagger; (*n*, *v*) stalk, prance, stride, support; (*n*) buttress, brace, prop; (*v*) parade, boast, cock. ANTONYM: (*v*) conceal.

increase that influence was coveted excitement; to cast it off might be to regain **serenity**; to leave it as it stood was tantalizing.

The lads and men prepared to leave the premises, and Eustacia returned to her fireside. She was immersed in thought, but not for long. In a few minutes the lad Charley, who had come to ask permission to use the place, returned with the key to the kitchen. Eustacia heard him, and opening the door into the passage said, "Charley, come here."

The lad was surprised. He entered the front room not without **blushing**; for he, like many, had felt the power of this girl's face and form.

She pointed to a seat by the fire, and entered the other side of the chimneycorner herself. It could be seen in her face that whatever motive she might have had in asking the youth indoors would soon appear.

"Which part do you play, Charley--the Turkish Knight, do you not?" inquired the beauty, looking across the smoke of the fire to him on the other side.

"Yes, miss, the Turkish Knight," he replied **diffidently**.

"Is yours a long part?"

"Nine speeches, about."

"Can you repeat them to me? If so I should like to hear them."

The lad smiled into the glowing turf and began -

"Here come I, a Turkish Knight, Who learnt in Turkish land to fight,"

--continuing the discourse throughout the scenes to the concluding catastrophe of his fall by the hand of Saint George.

Eustacia had occasionally heard the part recited before. When the lad ended she began, precisely in the same words, and ranted on without hitch or divergence till she too reached the end. It was the same thing, yet how different. Like in form, it had the added softness and finish of a Raffaelle after Perugino,

Thesaurus

blushing: (adj) rosy, coy, blushful, flushed, red, shy, bashful, overmodest, ruddy; (adv) blushingly, ablush. ANTONYM: (adj) pale. catastrophe: (n) disaster, adversity, tragedy, cataclysm, misfortune, bale, denouement, misery, misadventure, woe, finale. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, miracle, wonder, success. diffidently: (adv) modestly, timidly, reservedly, shily, retiringly, timorously, hesitantly, reluctantly,

unassumingly, coyly, fearfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) confidently, brashly, arrogantly, decisively. fireside: (n) fireplace, home, family, habitation, dwelling, abode, domicile, serenity: (n) quiet, peace, calm, country, dwelling house, fire, habitat. **hitch**: (v) fasten, attach; (n, v) catch, limp, hobble, arrest; (n) hindrance, drawback, barrier, difficulty, check. ANTONYMS: (n) advantage, ease, help; (v) detach, undo. immersed: (adj) submerged,

engrossed, deep, underwater, sunk, dipped, covered, engaged, profound, rapt, riveted. ANTONYMS: (adj) detached, superficial, bored. quietness, equanimity, calmness, quietude, repose; (adj, n) composure, tranquility, placidity. ANTONYMS: (n) anxiety, uproar, chaos, anger, panic, bustle, disturbance, impatience, turbulence, turmoil. yours: (adj) own.

which, while **faithfully reproducing** the original subject, entirely distances the original art.

Charley's eyes **rounded** with surprise. "Well, you be a clever lady!" he said, in admiration. "I've been three weeks learning mine."

"I have heard it before," she quietly observed. "Now, would you do anything to please me, Charley?"

"I'd do a good deal, miss."

"Would you let me play your part for one night?"

"Oh, miss! But your woman's gown--you couldn't."

"I can get boy's clothes--at least all that would be wanted besides the mumming dress. What should I have to give you to **lend** me your things, to let me take your place for an hour or two on Monday night, and on no account to say a word about who or what I am? You would, of course, have to excuse yourself from playing that night, and to say that somebody--a cousin of Miss Vye's--would act for you. The other mummers have never spoken to me in their lives so that it would be safe enough; and if it were not, I should not mind. Now, what must I give you to agree to this? Half a crown?"

The youth shook his head

"Five shillings?"

He shook his head again. "Money won't do it," he said, **brushing** the iron head of the **firedog** with the **hollow** of his hand.

"What will, then, Charley?" said Eustacia in a disappointed tone.

"You know what you **forbade** me at the Maypoling, miss," murmured the lad, without looking at her, and still **stroking** the firedog's head.

"Yes," said Eustacia, with a little more hauteur. "You wanted to join hands with me in the ring, if I recollect?"

"Half an hour of that, and I'll agree, miss."

Thesaurus

brushing: (n) brush, slashing, hairdressing, rub, striking, combing; (adj) ripping. ANTONYM: (n) set. faithfully: (adv) exactly, accurately, sincerely, staunchly, precisely, truly, authentically, dutifully, literally, steadfastly, truely. ANTONYMS: (adv) unfaithfully, approximately, falsely, insincerely, carelessly, inaccurately. firedog: (n) dog, dogiron, support,

firedog: (*n*) dog, dogiron, support, blackguard, Canis familiaris, click,

detent, domestic dog, fellow, cad, bounder.

forbade: (v) prohibit, to prohibit.
hollow: (adj, n) blank; (n) cavity,
depression, cave, dell; (adj) empty,
false; (adj, n, v) concave; (n, v)
excavate, dent, scoop. ANTONYMS:
(adj) convex, sincere, true, full,
meaningful, cramped, valid; (n)
hump, bump, hill, lump.
lend: (v) grant, give, advance, impart,
bestow, contribute, borrow, bring,

add, confer; (n) lending.
reproducing: (adi) fruitful, fecund.
rounded: (adi) round, curved, circular,
orbicular, full, globular, rotund,
spherical, blunt, fat, obtuse.
ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, sharp,
bony, concave, angular, thin.
stroking: (v) caress, strike, blow; (n)
cam stroke, feeling, effleurage,
diagonal, CVA, commendation,
glide, slash.

Eustacia regarded the youth steadfastly. He was three years younger than herself, but apparently not backward for his age. "Half an hour of what?" she said, though she guessed what.

"Holding your hand in mine."

She was silent. "Make it a quarter of an hour," she said

"Yes, Miss Eustacia--I will, if I may kiss it too. A quarter of an hour. And I'll swear to do the best I can to let you take my place without anybody knowing. Don't you think somebody might know your tongue, miss?"

"It is possible. But I will put a pebble in my mouth to make is less likely. Very well; you shall be allowed to have my hand as soon as you bring the dress and your sword and staff. I don't want you any longer now."

Charley departed, and Eustacia felt more and more interest in life. Here was something to do: here was some one to see, and a charmingly adventurous way to see him. "Ah," she said to herself, "want of an object to live for--that's all is the matter with me!"

Eustacia's manner was as a rule of a slumberous sort, her passions being of the massive rather than the vivacious kind. But when aroused she would make a dash which, just for the time, was not unlike the move of a naturally lively person.

On the question of recognition she was somewhat indifferent. By the acting lads themselves she was not likely to be known. With the guests who might be assembled she was hardly so secure. Yet detection, after all, would be no such dreadful thing. The fact only could be **detected**, her true motive never. It would be instantly set down as the passing freak of a girl whose ways were already considered singular. That she was doing for an earnest reason what would most naturally be done in jest was at any rate a safe secret.

The next evening Eustacia stood punctually at the fuelhouse door, waiting for the dusk which was to bring Charley with the trappings. Her grandfather was at home tonight, and she would be unable to ask her confederate indoors.

Thesaurus

charmingly: (adv) pleasingly, prettily, detected: (adj) apparent, convicted, alluringly, attractively, fascinatingly, pleasantly, enchantingly, temptingly, **guessed**: (adj) rude, inscrutable. engagingly, sweetly, beautifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) unpleasantly, unattractively, horribly, awkwardly. confederate: (n) accomplice, accessory, pebble: (n) boulder, crystal, flint, rock, partner, collaborator, colleague, assistant; (n, v) ally, auxiliary; (adi)allied; (v) league, conspire. ANTONYMS: (n) opponent, foe, enemy, adversary.

jest: (n) gag, gibe, quip, game; (n, v)jape; (v) banter, jeer, deride, gird, sneer, clown. scree, cobblestone, calculus, crag, granite, pebblestone; (adj) quartz. punctually: (adv) precisely, exactly, duly, accurately, correctly, on time, regularly, timely, punctiliously,

strictly, sharp. slumberous: (adj) soporific, somnolent, drowsy, sleepy, lethargic, quiet, somniferous, heavy, soporiferous, sluggish, torpid. steadfastly: (adv) steadily, solidly, unwaveringly, resolutely, unfalteringly, unswervingly, determinedly, faithfully, persistently, permanently, staunchly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unreliably, irresolutely, unfaithfully.

He appeared on the dark ridge of heathland, like a fly on a Negro, bearing the articles with him, and came up breathless with his walk.

"Here are the things," he whispered, placing them upon the threshold. "And now, Miss Eustacia--"

"The payment. It is quite ready. I am as good as my word."

She leant against the door-post, and gave him her hand. Charley took it in both his own with a **tenderness** beyond description, unless it was like that of a child holding a captured **sparrow**.

"Why, there's a **glove** on it!" he said in a **deprecating** way.

"I have been walking," she observed.

"But, miss!"

"Well--it is hardly fair." She pulled off the glove, and gave him her bare hand.

They stood together minute after minute, without further speech, each looking at the **blackening** scene, and each thinking his and her own thoughts.

"I think I won't use it all up tonight," said Charley **devotedly**, when six or eight minutes had been passed by him **caressing** her hand. "May I have the other few minutes another time?"

"As you like," said she without the least emotion. "But it must be over in a week. Now, there is only one thing I want you to do--to wait while I put on the dress, and then to see if I do my part properly. But let me look first indoors."

She vanished for a minute or two, and went in. Her grandfather was safely asleep in his chair. "Now, then," she said, on returning, "walk down the garden a little way, and when I am ready I'll call you."

Charley walked and waited, and presently heard a soft **whistle**. He returned to the fuelhouse door.

"Did you whistle, Miss Vye?"

Thesaurus

blackening: (n) blackened, density, alkaline blackening, character assassination.

caressing: (adj) caressive, soft; (n) petting, foreplay, stimulation, dalliance, smooching, snuggling, arousal, hugging, cuddling.

deprecating: (adj) deprecatory, belittling, ironic, deprecative, slighting, deadpan, critical, captious, depreciatory, depreciative, insulting.

devotedly: (adv) affectionately,

lovingly, zealously, faithfully, piously, fondly, religiously, passionately, enthusiastically, eagerly, dutifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) coldly, apathetically, unfaithfully, unenthusiastically, carelessly, disobediently. glove: (n) boxing glove, gloves, mitt, mitten, baseball mitt, baseball glove, handwear, wristband, sleeve, mittens, batting glove. sparrows (n) hedge sparrow, sparrows,

true sparrow, spur, snag, passeriform bird, incitement. **tenderness**: (*n*) fondness, soreness, love, affection, sympathy; (*adj*, *n*) clemency, mildness, compassion, gentleness, softness, delicacy. ANTONYMS: (*n*) pleasure, dryness, hatred, strength, detachment. **whistle**: (*v*) sing, twitter, hiss, warble, tweet, cheep, chirp, wheeze; (*n*, *v*)

cry; (n) whistling, tin whistle.

passerine, house sparrow, accentor,

"Yes; come in," reached him in Eustacia's voice from a back quarter. "I must not strike a light till the door is shut, or it may be seen shining. Push your hat into the hole through to the wash-house, if you can feel your way across."

Charley did as commanded, and she struck the light revealing herself to be changed in sex, brilliant in colours, and armed from top to toe. Perhaps she quailed a little under Charley's vigorous gaze, but whether any shyness at her male attire appeared upon her countenance could not be seen by reason of the strips of ribbon which used to cover the face in mumming costumes, representing the barred visor of the mediaeval helmet.

"It fits pretty well," she said, looking down at the white overalls, "except that the tunic, or whatever you call it, is long in the sleeve. The bottom of the overalls I can turn up inside. Now pay attention."

Eustacia then proceeded in her delivery, striking the sword against the staff or lance at the minatory phrases, in the orthodox mumming manner, and strutting up and down. Charley seasoned his admiration with criticism of the gentlest kind, for the touch of Eustacia's hand yet remained with him.

"And now for your excuse to the others," she said. "Where do you meet before you go to Mrs. Yeobright's?"

"We thought of meeting here, miss, if you have nothing to say against it. At eight o'clock, so as to get there by nine."

"Yes. Well, you of course must not appear. I will march in about five minutes late, ready-dressed, and tell them that you can't come. I have decided that the best plan will be for you to be sent somewhere by me, to make a real thing of the excuse. Our two heath-croppers are in the habit of straying into the meads, and tomorrow evening you can go and see if they are gone there. I'll manage the rest. Now you may leave me."

"Yes, miss. But I think I'll have one minute more of what I am owed, if you don't mind."

Eustacia gave him her hand as before.

Thesaurus

attire: (n, v) array, garb, apparel, wear; minatory: (adj) ominous, minacious, (n) costume, garment, outfit, clothes; (v) enrobe, clothe, dress up. ANTONYMS: (v) disrobe, bare, strip, unclothe; (n) nakedness. gave: (v) deliver, allow, allot, provide, furnish, impart, administer; (n) gives. lance: (n) pike, javelin, shaft, lancet, assegai, fishgig, fizgig; (v) dart, impale, open, gore. mediaeval: (adj) medieval, knightly, chivalric, nonmodern.

forbidding, threatening, sinister, ugly, baleful, comminate, grim, denunciatory, accusing. seasoned: (adj) veteran, flavoured, flavored, mature, ripe, versed, hardened, confirmed, practised, accustomed, sophisticated. ANTONYMS: (adj) green, unseasoned, inexperienced, mild. **shyness**: (n) diffidence, modesty, bashfulness, humility, shame,

timidity, coyness, pudency, timorousness, backwardness, timidness. ANTONYMS: (n) sociability, brashness, confidence, urbanity, arrogance. straying: (n) digression, departure, error; (adj) errant, mistaking, containing error, incorrect, misleading, astray, mistaken, strutting: (n) boasting, stiffening,

bracing; (adj) boastful.

"One minute," she said, and counted on **till** she reached seven or eight minutes. Hand and person she then withdrew to a distance of several **feet**, and **recovered** some of her old **dignity**. The contract **completed**, she raised between them a **barrier impenetrable** as a wall.

"There, 'tis all gone; and I didn't mean quite all," he said, with a sigh.

"You had good measure," said she, turning away.

"Yes, miss. Well, 'tis over, and now I'll get home-along."

Thesaurus

barrier: (n) bar, bulwark, dam, rampart, hurdle, restraint, obstruction, handicap, partition, frontier, constraint. ANTONYMS: (n) advantage, opening, passage, aid. completed: (adj, adv, v) done; (adj) accomplished, perfect, ready, whole, through, terminated, fulfilled; (adj, adv) finished, over, ended. dignity: (n) degree, prestige, glory, decorum, face, distinction, honor, majesty, eminence, solemnity; (adj, n)

decency. ANTONYMS: (n) lowliness, indecency, impropriety, simplicity, cheerfulness, austerity. feet: (v) legs, pegs, pins, trotters; (n) foots, ft, fete, meter, rescue. impenetrable: (adj) impassable, thick, incomprehensible, hard, mysterious, unfathomable, unintelligible, impervious, opaque, heavy, obscure. ANTONYMS: (adj) penetrable, readable, straightforward, apparent, simple, sparse, vulnerable, accessible,

transparent, understandable, open. recovered: (adj) cured, retrieved, well, well again, healthier, aged, improved, whole, better, corned. ANTONYM: (adj) worse.
till: (conj, prep) until, unto; (v) plow, hoe, farm, dig; (adj) up to; (n) tiller, drawer; (adv) so far; (prep) to. turning: (n) turn, revolution, bend, rotation, deviation, gyration, conversion, veering; (adj) rotating, revolving, rotary.

5

THROUGH THE MOONLIGHT

The next evening the mummers were **assembled** in the same **spot**, **awaiting** the entrance of the Turkish Knight.

"Twenty minutes after eight by the Quiet Woman, and Charley not come."

"Ten minutes past by Blooms-End."

"It wants ten minutes to, by Grandfer Cantle's watch."

"And 'tis five minutes past by the captain's clock."

On Egdon there was no absolute hour of the day. The time at any moment was a number of varying doctrines **professed** by the different hamlets, some of them having originally grown up from a common root, and then become divided by **secession**, some having been **alien** from the beginning. West Egdon believed in Blooms-End time, East Egdon in the time of the Quiet Woman Inn. Grandfer Cantle's watch had numbered many **followers** in years gone by, but since he had grown older faiths were **shaken**. Thus, the mummers having gathered hither from scattered points each came with his own **tenets** on early and late; and they waited a little longer as a compromise.

Thesaurus

alien: (n) foreigner, outsider; (adj) strange, extrinsic, remote, exotic, extraneous, unfamiliar; (n, v) alienate; (adj, n) unknown; (v) estrange.

ANTONYMS: (adj) familiar, akin, ordinary; (adj, n) native; (n) citizen, local.

assembled: (adj) amassed, collected, collective, concentrated, united, gather, assembling, gathered, massed, built, aggregate.
awaiting: (adj) looming, imminent, in

the near future, pending, expectant. **followers**: (*n*) adherents, people, entourage, claque, faithful, disciples, supporters, multitude, attendants, support, suite.

professed: (adj) alleged, declared, apparent, avowed, pretended, seeming, supposed, affected, feigned, so-called, purported.

secession: (adj, n) defection; (n) severance, withdrawal, desertion, isolation, abruption, detachment,

retreat, disconnection, separation, breach.

shaken: (*adj*) jolted, agitated, dilapidated, frayed; (*v*) passe, lame, broken, threadbare, wilted, shaky, vibrate.

spot: (*n*, *v*) place, speck, blemish, speckle, fleck, dirty, dapple; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) stain, soil; (*n*) dot, space.

tenets: (*n*) doctrine, system of belief, view, canon, code of belief, credenda, belief, ideology.

Eustacia had watched the **assemblage** through the hole; and seeing that now was the proper moment to enter, she went from the "linhay" and boldly pulled the **bobbin** of the fuelhouse door. Her grandfather was safe at the Quiet Woman.

"Here's Charley at last! How late you be, Charley."

"'Tis not Charley," said the Turkish Knight from within his visor. "'Tis a cousin of Miss Vye's, come to take Charley's place from curiosity. He was obliged to go and look for the heath-croppers that have got into the meads, and I agreed to take his place, as he knew he couldn't come back here again tonight. I know the part as well as he."

Her graceful gait, elegant figure, and dignified manner in general won the mummers to the opinion that they had gained by the exchange, if the newcomer were perfect in his part.

"It don't matter--if you be not too young," said Saint George. Eustacia's voice had **sounded** somewhat more juvenile and fluty than Charley's.

"I know every word of it, I tell you," said Eustacia decisively. Dash being all that was required to carry her triumphantly through, she adopted as much as was necessary. "Go ahead, lads, with the try-over. I'll challenge any of you to find a mistake in me."

The play was hastily **rehearsed**, whereupon the other mummers were delighted with the new knight. They **extinguished** the candles at half-past eight, and set out upon the heath in the direction of Mrs. Yeobright's house at Bloom's-End.

There was a slight **hoarfrost** that night, and the moon, though not more than half full, threw a **spirited** and **enticing** brightness upon the fantastic figures of the mumming band, whose plumes and ribbons rustled in their walk like autumn leaves. Their path was not over Rainbarrow now, but down a valley which left that ancient elevation a little to the east. The bottom of the vale was green to a width of ten yards or **thereabouts**, and the shining facets of frost upon the blades of grass seemed to move on with the shadows of those they

Thesaurus

assemblage: (*n*) meeting, collection, congregation, set, multitude, crew, confluence, gathering, gang, convention, convocation.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) dispersal, scattering.

hobbin: (*n*) coil reel, arbor, spindle.

bobbin: (n) coil, reel, arbor, spindle, pin, axle, roll, roller, drum, winder, quill.

enticing: (adj, v) alluring; (adj) tempting, attractive, beguiling, inviting, seductive, engaging, fetching, appealing, fascinating, enthralling. ANTONYMS: (adj) unappealing, unattractive, revolting. extinguished: (adj) extinct, out, dead, quenched, allayed, destroyed; (n) defunctness, complete annihilation, experimental extinction, extermination, extinction.

extermination, extinction.

hoarfrost: (n) frost, rime, hoar, freeze, white frost, ice, fissure, crack, chink.
rehearsed: (adj) prepared.
sounded: (adj) measured, oral.

spirited: (adj) animated, frisky, energetic, racy, bold, gritty, quick, enthusiastic, dashing, peppy, brave. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritless, lifeless, feeble, cowardly, apathetic, lethargic, spineless, dull, solemn, sluggish, lackluster.

thereabouts: (*adj*, *adv*) about; (*adv*) nearly, generally, around, approximately, in the region of, more or less, something like, almost, so; (*adv*, *n*) hereabouts.

surrounded. The masses of furze and heath to the right and left were dark as ever; a mere half-moon was powerless to silver such sable features as theirs.

Half-an-hour of walking and talking brought them to the spot in the valley where the grass riband widened and led down to the front of the house. At sight of the place Eustacia who had felt a few passing doubts during her walk with the youths, again was glad that the adventure had been undertaken. She had come out to see a man who might possibly have the power to deliver her soul from a most deadly oppression. What was Wildeve? Interesting, but inadequate. Perhaps she would see a sufficient hero tonight.

As they drew nearer to the front of the house the mummers became aware that music and dancing were briskly flourishing within. Every now and then a long low note from the serpent, which was the chief wind instrument played at these times, advanced further into the heath than the thin treble part, and reached their ears alone; and next a more than usual loud tread from a dancer would come the same way. With nearer approach these fragmentary sounds became pieced together, and were found to be the salient points of the tune called "Nancy's Fancy."

He was there, of course. Who was she that he danced with? Perhaps some unknown woman, far beneath herself in culture, was by the most subtle of lures sealing his fate this very instant. To dance with a man is to concentrate a twelvemonth's regulation fire upon him in the fragment of an hour. To pass to courtship without acquaintance, to pass to marriage without courtship, is a **skipping** of terms reserved for those alone who tread this royal road. She would see how his heart lay by keen observation of them all.

The **enterprising** lady followed the mumming company through the gate in the white paling, and stood before the open porch. The house was encrusted with heavy thatchings, which dropped between the upper windows; the front, upon which the moonbeams directly played, had originally been white; but a huge **pyracanth** now darkened the greater portion.

It became at once evident that the dance was proceeding immediately within the surface of the door, no apartment intervening. The brushing of skirts and

Thesaurus

doubts: (adj) doubting. ears: (n) antenna. encrusted: (adj) crusted, crustlike, covered, smudged, dirty, filthy, peeling, grubby, soiled, flaking, curmudgeonly. ANTONYM: (adj) enterprising: (adj) bold, energetic, active, aggressive, courageous, vigorous, ambitious, go-ahead, brave, pyracantha, bush. pushing; (adj, n) daring. ANTONYMS: (adj) lethargic,

unenterprising, passive, inactive, indolent, lazy, cautious, cowardly. fragmentary: (adj) broken, scrappy, incomplete, partial, fragmental, unfinished, odd, fractionary, inconsiderable, fragmented; (adj, adv) piecemeal. ANTONYM: (adj) entire. half-moon: (n) curve, arc.

pyracanth: (n) firethorn, shrub,

riband: (n) ribbon, fascia, band, ribband, spill, slip, shred, strip,

wreath, medal, list. sable: (adj) black, dark, dusky, sombre, murky, mournful; (n) ebony, fur, blackness, marten, pitch black. sealing: (n) Spiritual wife, jointing, packing, seal, weatherstrip, waterproofing, protection, aerosol closure, leakproofing, cementation,

skipping: (n) jumping, leaping, absenteeism; (adv) skippingly, leapingly.

elbows, sometimes the bumping of shoulders, could be heard against the very panels. Eustacia, though living within two miles of the place, had never seen the interior of this **quaint** old **habitation**. Between Captain Vye and the Yeobrights there had never existed much acquaintance, the former having come as a stranger and purchased the long-empty house at Mistover Knap not long before the death of Mrs. Yeobright's husband; and with that event and the departure of her son such friendship as had grown up became quite broken off.

"Is there no passage inside the door, then?" asked Eustacia as they stood within the **porch**.

"No," said the lad who played the Saracen. "The door opens right upon the front sitting-room, where the spree's going on."

"So that we cannot open the door without stopping the dance."

"That's it. Here we must bide till they have done, for they always bolt the back door after dark."

"They won't be much longer," said Father Christmas.

This assertion, however, was hardly borne out by the event. Again the instruments ended the tune; again they recommenced with as much fire and **pathos** as if it were the first strain. The air was now that one without any particular beginning, middle, or end, which perhaps, among all the dances which **throng** an inspired fiddler's fancy, best conveys the idea of the interminable--the celebrated "Devil's Dream." The fury of personal movement that was kindled by the fury of the notes could be approximately imagined by these outsiders under the moon, from the occasional **kicks** of toes and heels against the door, whenever the **whirl** round had been of more than customary velocity.

The first five minutes of listening was interesting enough to the mummers. The five minutes extended to ten minutes, and these to a quarter of an hour; but no signs of **ceasing** were **audible** in the lively "Dream." The bumping against the door, the laughter, the **stamping**, were all as vigorous as ever, and the pleasure in being outside lessened considerably.

Thesaurus

audible: (adj) plain, hearable, distinct, detectable, sounding, sharp, sonic, definite, discernible, perceptible, sensory. ANTONYMS: (adj) inaudible, unintelligible, undetectable, silent, faint. ceasing: (n) stopping, subsidence. habitation: (adj, n) abode; (n) domicile, residence, house, home, habitat, lodging, place, occupancy, inhabitation, inhabitancy. ANTONYM: (n) vacancy.

kicks: (n) elation, thrill, excitement, fulfillment, gratification, pleasure.

pathos: (v) emotion, inspiration, impression, affection; (n) poignancy, pity, ruth, commiseration, grief, poignance, sympathy.

porch: (n) lobby, hall, vestibule, veranda, door, entrance, deck, gallery, portico, balcony, inlet.

quaint: (adj) odd, funny, picturesque, comical, fanciful, curious, whimsical, strange, queer, peculiar, droll.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) modern, ordinary, dull. **stamping**: (*n*) impression, blocking, coin, postage, stamping of rail. **throng**: (*n*, *v*) swarm, herd, mob, flock, press; (*n*) multitude, host, horde, mass, assembly, concourse. ANTONYMS: (*n*) trickle, few; (*v*) disperse. whirl: (*n*, *v*) spin, turn, eddy, roll, wheel, twist, swirl; (*v*) reel, gyrate; (*n*)

go, fling.

"Why does Mrs. Yeobright give parties of this sort?" Eustacia asked, a little surprised to hear merriment so pronounced.

"It is not one of her bettermost parlour-parties. She's asked the plain neighbours and workpeople without drawing any lines, just to give 'em a good supper and such like. Her son and she wait upon the folks."

"I see," said Eustacia.

"Tis the last strain, I think," said Saint George, with his ear to the panel. "A young man and woman have just swung into this corner, and he's saying to her, 'Ah, the pity; 'tis over for us this time, my own.'"

"Thank God," said the Turkish Knight, stamping, and taking from the wall the conventional lance that each of the mummers carried. Her boots being thinner than those of the young men, the hoar had damped her feet and made them cold.

"Upon my song 'tis another ten minutes for us," said the Valiant Soldier, looking through the keyhole as the tune modulated into another without stopping. "Grandfer Cantle is standing in this corner, waiting his turn."

"Twon't be long; 'tis a six-handed reel," said the Doctor.

"Why not go in, dancing or no? They sent for us," said the Saracen.

"Certainly not," said Eustacia authoritatively, as she paced smartly up and down from door to gate to warm herself. "We should burst into the middle of them and stop the dance, and that would be unmannerly."

"He thinks himself somebody because he has had a bit more schooling than we," said the Doctor.

"You may go to the deuce!" said Eustacia.

There was a whispered conversation between three or four of them, and one turned to her.

"Will you tell us one thing?" he said, not without gentleness. "Be you Miss Vye? We think you must be."

Thesaurus

authoritatively: (adv) commandingly, imperatively, imperiously, peremptorily, domineeringly, dictatorially, overbearingly, officially, hoar: (n) frost, rime, hoarfrost, definitively, legitimately, haughtily. ANTONYMS: (adv) weakly, informally.

gentleness: (adj, n) kindness, courtesy, keyhole: (n) hole, mousehole, benignity, compassion; (n) kindliness, lenity, mildness, sweetness, softness, benevolence, mercy. ANTONYMS: (n) severity, harshness, fierceness,

cruelty, ferocity, brusqueness, abruptness, rage, callousness, sharpness, roughness. hoariness; (adj) gray, hoary, canescent, grizzly, greyish, frosty,

pigeonhole, porthole, loophole, free throw line, peephole, knothole, pinhole, small hole. merriment: (n) fun, amusement,

cheerfulness, hilarity, glee, jollity, frolic, gaiety, happiness, festivity; (adj, n) mirth. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, gloom, seriousness, despondency, boredom. thinner: (n) dilutant, solvent, reducer, rarefied, phenylic acid, phenol, propanone, perchloromethane, resolvent, oxybenzene, methylbenzene. workpeople: (n) working class.

"You may think what you like," said Eustacia slowly. "But honourable lads will not tell tales upon a lady."

"We'll say nothing, miss. That's upon our honour."

"Thank you," she replied.

At this moment the fiddles finished off with a screech, and the serpent emitted a last note that nearly lifted the roof. When, from the comparative quiet within, the mummers judged that the dancers had taken their seats, Father Christmas advanced, lifted the **latch**, and put his head inside the door.

"Ah, the mummers, the mummers!" cried several guests at once. "Clear a space for the mummers."

Humpbacked Father Christmas then made a complete entry, swinging his huge club, and in a general way clearing the stage for the actors proper, while he informed the company in smart verse that he was come, welcome or welcome not; concluding his speech with

"Make room, make room, my gallant boys, And give us space to rhyme; We've come to show Saint George's play, Upon this Christmas time."

The guests were now arranging themselves at one end of the room, the fiddler was mending a string, the serpent-player was emptying his mouthpiece, and the play began. First of those outside the Valiant Soldier entered, in the interest of Saint George -

"Here come I, the Valiant Soldier; Slasher is my name";

and so on. This speech concluded with a challenge to the **infidel**, at the end of which it was Eustacia's duty to enter as the Turkish Knight. She, with the rest who were not yet on, had hitherto remained in the moonlight which streamed

Thesaurus kyphotic, deformed, gibbose, unfit.

fiddler: (n) Fiddler's money, trumpeter, fifer, instrumentalist, infidel: (adj, n) heathen, pagan, musician, player, piper, violin player, twiddler, tinkerer, drummer. gallant: (adj) fearless, brave, daring, courageous, chivalrous, bold, manly, heroic, dashing, courteous, fine. ANTONYMS: (adj) boorish, rude, humpbacked: (adj) hunchbacked, gibbous, humped, hunchback,

crookbacked, round-backed,

unbeliever, skeptic, deist; (n) gentile, idolater, freethinker, paynim, miscreant; (adj) pyrrhonist. **latch**: (v) bar, fasten, grab; (n, v) bolt; (adj, n, v) lock; (n) hasp, clasp, door latch, hook; (adj) link, yoke. mending: (n) fix, repair, fixing, maintenance, restoration, reparation, improvement, darning, mend, amendment, correction.

mouthpiece: (n) embouchure, spokesman, interpreter, speaker, aperture, gumshield, delegate; (v) authority, informant, exponent, intelligencer. screech: (n, v) cry, shout, shriek, yell, screak, yelp, yowl, roar; (n) screaming; (v) squawk, pipe. serpent: (n) snake, ophidian, viper, snake in the grass, reptile, rattlesnake, colubrid, contrafagotto, cor anglais, hautboy; (v) goose.

under the porch. With no apparent effort or **backwardness** she came in, beginning—

"Here come I, a Turkish Knight, Who learnt in Turkish land to fight; I'll fight this man with courage bold: If his blood's hot I'll make it cold!"

During her **declamation** Eustacia held her head erect, and spoke as roughly as she could, feeling pretty secure from observation. But the concentration upon her part necessary to prevent discovery, the **newness** of the scene, the shine of the candles, and the confusing effect upon her vision of the ribboned visor which hid her features, left her absolutely unable to perceive who were present as spectators. On the further side of a table bearing candles she could faintly discern faces, and that was all.

Meanwhile Jim Starks as the Valiant Soldier had come forward, and, with a glare upon the Turk, replied —

"If, then, thou art that Turkish Knight, Draw out thy sword, and let us fight!"

And fight they did; the issue of the combat being that the Valiant Soldier was **slain** by a **preternaturally** inadequate thrust from Eustacia, Jim, in his ardour for genuine **histrionic** art, coming down like a log upon the stone floor with force enough to **dislocate** his shoulder. Then, after more words from the Turkish Knight, rather too faintly delivered, and statements that he'd fight Saint George and all his crew, Saint George himself magnificently entered with the well-known flourish—

"Here come I, Saint George, the **valiant** man, With naked sword and spear in hand,

Thesaurus

abnormality, amentia, stupidity, arrearage, diffidence, bashfulness, shyness, lag, mongoloid, subnormality. **declamation**: (*n*) speech, recitation, oration, rhetoric, elocution, ranting, oratory, public speaking. **dislocate**: (*v*) displace, move, disturb, disjoint, muddle, wrench, transfer,

jumble, splay, disorganize, dislodge.

ANTONYMS: (v) restore, unite, join,

backwardness: (n) reserve,

organize, replace, wedge. histrionic: (adj) melodramatic, dramatic, play, scenic, artificial, affected, histrionical, tragic, tragicomic, operatic, stagy. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, restrained.

newness: (*n*) freshness, recency, originality, innovation, inexperience, new, uniqueness, age, novity, recentness, new state. ANTONYMS: (*n*) mustiness, oldness.

preternaturally: (adv) supernaturally, irregularly, transcendentally, extraordinarily, occultly, abnormally, strangely, outlandishly, uncannily, miraculously.

slain: (v) slay; (adj) overthrown, mat, fallen, dejected, cast down.

valiant: (adj) brave, courageous, intrepid, fearless, heroic, audacious, gallant, daring, dauntless, stout, stalwart. ANTONYMS: (adj) afraid, despicable. Who fought the dragon and brought him to the slaughter, And by this won fair Sabra, the King of Egypt's daughter; What mortal man would dare to stand Before me with my sword in hand?"

This was the lad who had first recognized Eustacia; and when she now, as the Turk, replied with suitable defiance, and at once began the combat, the young fellow took **especial** care to use his sword as gently as possible. Being wounded, the Knight fell upon one knee, **according** to the direction. The Doctor now entered, restored the Knight by giving him a **draught** from the bottle which he carried, and the fight was again resumed, the Turk sinking by degrees until quite overcome--dying as hard in this venerable drama as he is said to do at the present day.

This gradual sinking to the earth was, in fact, one reason why Eustacia had thought that the part of the Turkish Knight, though not the **shortest**, would suit her best. A direct fall from upright to horizontal, which was the end of the other fighting characters, was not an elegant or **decorous** part for a girl. But it was easy to die like a Turk, by a **dogged** decline.

Eustacia was now among the number of the slain, though not on the floor, for she had managed to sink into a **sloping** position against the clock-case, so that her head was well elevated. The play proceeded between Saint George, the Saracen, the Doctor, and Father Christmas; and Eustacia, having no more to do, for the first time found leisure to observe the scene round, and to search for the form that had drawn her hither.

Thesaurus

according: (adj) pursuant, consonant, equal, agreeable, harmonious, conformable, consistent, corresponding, respondent; (adv) correspondingly, accordingly. decorous: (adj) decent, appropriate, conventional, sedate, correct, modest, prim, proper; (adj, v) becoming, seemly, comely. ANTONYMS: (adj) impolite, improper, misbehaving, unsuitable, unrefined, relaxed, inappropriate, rowdy, undignified,

defiant, unseemly.

dogged: (adj) obdurate, stubborn,
willful, bullheaded, insistent,
obstinate, tenacious, wilful, untiring,
resolute, persistent. ANTONYMS:
(adj) yielding, compromising,
indifferent, undetermined.
draught: (n, v) draft, sketch, design,
potation, plan; (n) dose, air current,
wind, gulp, outline; (v) blueprint.
especial: (adj) extraordinary, special,
specific, chief, individual, distinct,

distinctive, characteristic, appropriate, peculiar, express. ANTONYMS: (adj) general, normal, common, unexceptional, usual. shortest: (adj) direct, brusk, brusque, choleric, curt, directer, hotheaded, least, irascible, lowest, most direct. sloping: (adj, v) oblique, slope; (adj) slanting, inclined, slanted, diagonal, leaning, sloped; (adj, adv) aslope, aslant; (v) slant. ANTONYMS: (adj) horizontal, upright.

6

THE TWO STAND FACE TO FACE

The room had been arranged with a view to the dancing, the large oak table having been moved back till it stood as a breastwork to the fireplace. At each end, behind, and in the **chimney**-corner were **grouped** the **guests**, many of them being warm-faced and panting, among whom Eustacia cursorily recognized some well-to-do persons from beyond the heath. Thomasin, as she had expected, was not visible, and Eustacia recollected that a light had shone from an upper window when they were outside--the window, probably, of Thomasin's room. A nose, chin, hands, knees, and toes projected from the seat within the chimney opening, which members she found to unite in the person of Grandfer Cantle, Mrs. Yeobright's occasional assistant in the garden, and therefore one of the invited. The smoke went up from an Etna of peat in front of him, played round the notches of the chimney-crook, struck against the salt-box, and got lost among the flitches.

Another part of the room soon riveted her gaze. At the other side of the chimney stood the settle, which is the necessary supplement to a fire so open that nothing less than a strong breeze will carry up the smoke. It is, to the hearths of old-fashioned cavernous fireplaces, what the east belt of trees is to the exposed

Thesaurus

breastwork: (n) balustrade, parapet, bastion, banister, handrail, railing, rampart; (v) mantlet, redan, ravelin, curtain.

chimney: (n) fireplace, smokestack, shaft, flue, hearth, vent, lamp chimney, chimneys, nostril, throat,

cursorily: (adv) rapidly, quickly, hastily, shallowly, speedily, sketchily, riveted: (adj) immovable, immobile, casually, fleetingly, carelessly, passingly, perfunctorily.

ANTONYMS: (adv) slowly, thoroughly.

fireplace: (n) chimney, fire, hearth, oven, stove, fire place, fireside, kitchen, niche, recess, furnace. grouped: (adj) sorted, classified,

collective, gather. guests: (n) guest, visitors.

knees: (n) knee.

irremovable, rooted, wrapped up, intent; (v) wrapped in, engrossed in,

rapt, absorbed, transfixed. ANTONYM: (adj) detached. unite: (v) associate, meet, connect, link, blend, join, coalesce, unify, tie, amalgamate; (adj, v) fuse. ANTONYMS: (v) divide, cut, disband, disconnect, diverge, segregate, split, undo, unpick. well-to-do: (adj) rich, well-off, affluent, opulent, prosperous, moneyed, substantial, comfortable, easy,

country estate, or the north wall to the garden. Outside the settle candles gutter, locks of hair wave, young women shiver, and old men sneeze. Paradise. Not a symptom of a draught disturbs the air; the sitters' backs are as warm as their faces, and songs and old tales are drawn from the occupants by the comfortable heat, like fruit from melon plants in a frame.

It was, however, not with those who sat in the settle that Eustacia was concerned. A face showed itself with marked distinctness against the darktanned wood of the upper part. The owner, who was leaning against the settle's outer end, was Clement Yeobright, or Clym, as he was called here; she knew it could be nobody else. The spectacle constituted an area of two feet in Rembrandt's intensest manner. A strange power in the lounger's appearance lay in the fact that, though his whole figure was visible, the observer's eye was only aware of his face.

To one of middle age the countenance was that of a young man, though a youth might hardly have seen any necessity for the term of immaturity. But it was really one of those faces which convey less the idea of so many years as its age than of so much experience as its store. The number of their years may have adequately summed up Jared, Mahalaleel, and the rest of the antediluvians, but the age of a modern man is to be measured by the intensity of his history.

The face was well shaped, even excellently. But the mind within was beginning to use it as a mere waste tablet whereon to trace its idiosyncrasies as they developed themselves. The beauty here visible would in no long time be ruthlessly over-run by its parasite, thought, which might just as well have fed upon a plainer exterior where there was nothing it could harm. Had Heaven preserved Yeobright from a wearing habit of meditation, people would have said, "A handsome man." Had his brain unfolded under sharper contours they would have said, "A thoughtful man." But an inner strenuousness was preying upon an outer symmetry, and they rated his look as singular.

Hence people who began by beholding him ended by perusing him. His countenance was overlaid with legible meanings. Without being thought-worn he yet had certain marks derived from a perception of his surroundings, such as

Thesaurus

beholding: (n) fusion, seeing, visual perception, look. distinctness: (n) clearness, sharpness, definition, otherness, perspicuity, discreteness, articulate sound, separation, uncloudedness, dissimilarity; (adj) conspicuousness. ANTONYM: (n) indistinctness. excellently: (adv) splendidly, beautifully, exquisitely, magnificently, finely, marvelously, goodly, worthily, grandly, primely,

badly, terribly. immaturity: (n) immatureness, childhood, babyhood, adolescence, puerility, crudity, youth, juvenility, callowness, state, viridity. ANTONYMS: (n) maturity, adulthood, experience. legible: (adj) readable, distinct, fair, plain, clean, definite, explicit,

understandable, direct, cloudless, light. ANTONYM: (adj) unreadable.

superbly. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, preying: (adj) predatory; (n) predation, pillaging, depredation.

sneeze: (n) sneezing, physiological reaction, reflex; (v) arrest, despise, loathe, act involuntarily, Neese, act reflexively.

strenuousness: (n) effortfulness, extreme effortfulness, might, difficulty, strenuity, activity. tablet: (n) slab, pad, pill, lozenge, monument, capsule, pellet, dragee, abacus; (adj) plate; (v) parchment.

are not **unfrequently** found on men at the end of the four or five years of endeavour which follow the close of placid **pupilage**. He already showed that thought is a disease of flesh, and indirectly bore evidence that ideal physical beauty is incompatible with emotional development and a full recognition of the coil of things. Mental luminousness must be fed with the oil of life, even though there is already a physical need for it; and the pitiful sight of two demands on one supply was just showing itself here.

When standing before certain men the philosopher regrets that thinkers are but **perishable** tissue, the artist that perishable tissue has to think. Thus to deplore, each from his point of view, the mutually destructive interdependence of spirit and flesh would have been instinctive with these in critically observing Yeobright.

As for his look, it was a natural **cheerfulness** striving against depression from without, and not quite succeeding. The look suggested isolation, but it revealed something more. As is usual with bright natures, the deity that lies **ignominiously chained** within an ephemeral human **carcase** shone out of him like a ray.

The effect upon Eustacia was palpable. The extraordinary pitch of excitement that she had reached beforehand would, indeed, have caused her to be influenced by the most commonplace man. She was troubled at Yeobright's presence.

The remainder of the play ended--the Saracen's head was cut off, and Saint George stood as victor. Nobody commented, any more than they would have commented on the fact of **mushrooms** coming in autumn or snowdrops in spring. They took the piece as **phlegmatically** as did the actors themselves. It was a phase of cheerfulness which was, as a matter of course, to be passed through every Christmas; and there was no more to be said.

They sang the **plaintive** chant which follows the play, during which all the dead men rise to their feet in a silent and awful manner, like the ghosts of Napoleon's soldiers in the Midnight Review. Afterwards the door opened, and Fairway appeared on the threshold, accompanied by Christian and another.

Thesaurus

carcase: (n) body, skeleton, dead body.
chained: (adj) in chains, enchained,
bound.
cheerfulness: (n) glee, happiness,
exhilaration, hilarity, mirth,
merriment, gladness, cheer, good
spirits, pleasure, joviality.
ANTONYMS: (n) sadness, grimness,
seriousness, misery, resentment,
uncheerfulness, solemnity, lethargy,
bleakness, gravity, gloominess.
ignominiously: (adv) disgracefully,

shamefully, discreditably, dishonorably, scandalously, dishonourably, opprobriously, infamously, basely, vilely, foully. mushrooms: (n) fungi. perishable: (adj) mortal, temporary, frail, corruptible, transitory, dying words, dying day, caduke, dying; (adj, v) unstable; (v) precarious. ANTONYM: (adj) durable. phlegmatically: (adj, adv) phlegmaticy; (adv) indifferently,

stolidly, unconcernedly, impassively, listlessly, sluggishly, passively, inertly, carelessly, lackadaisically. **plaintive**: (adj) pathetic, piteous, lugubrious, doleful, sad, wistful, sorrowful, woeful, elegiac, dolorous, lamentable.

pupilage: (n) cradle, nursery, pupilarity, childhood, wardship, guardianship, pucelage, puberty. **unfrequently**: (adv) not much, not often, unoften, rarely. They had been waiting outside for the conclusion of the play, as the players had waited for the conclusion of the dance.

"Come in, come in," said Mrs. Yeobright; and Clym went forward to welcome them. "How is it you are so late? Grandfer Cantle has been here ever so long, and we thought you'd have come with him, as you live so near one another."

"Well, I should have come earlier," Mr. Fairway said and paused to look along the beam of the ceiling for a **nail** to hang his hat on; but, finding his **accustomed** one to be occupied by the mistletoe, and all the nails in the walls to be burdened with bunches of holly, he at last relieved himself of the hat by **ticklishly balancing** it between the candle-box and the head of the clock-case. "I should have come earlier, ma'am," he resumed, with a more composed air, "but I know what parties be, and how there's none too much room in folks' houses at such times, so I thought I wouldn't come till you'd got settled a bit."

"And I thought so too, Mrs. Yeobright," said Christian earnestly, "but Father there was so eager that he had no manners at all, and left home almost afore 'twas dark. I told him 'twas barely decent in a' old man to come so **oversoon**; but words be wind."

"Klk! I wasn't going to bide waiting about, till half the game was over! I'm as light as a **kite** when anything's going on!" crowed Grandfer Cantle from the chimneyseat.

Fairway had meanwhile concluded a critical gaze at Yeobright. "Now, you may not believe it," he said to the rest of the room, "but I should never have knowed this gentleman if I had met him anywhere off his own he'th--he's altered so much."

"You too have altered, and for the better, I think Timothy," said Yeobright, surveying the firm figure of Fairway.

"Master Yeobright, look me over too. I have altered for the better, haven't I, hey?" said Grandfer Cantle, rising and placing himself something above half a foot from Clym's eye, to **induce** the most searching criticism.

Thesaurus balancing, balancing accountancy,

accustomed: (adj, n) habitual; (adj) familiar, normal, wonted, usual, natural, everyday, ordinary, habituated, common, traditional. ANTONYMS: (adj) unusual, green, unseasoned, unconventional, untrained, abnormal, uncharacteristic, exceptional. balancing: (adj, n) matching; (n) bringing into state of equilibrium, adjustment, equalization, equipoise, reconciliation, redress, wheel

comparison; (adj) libratory.
induce: (v) generate, tempt, cause, impel, bring, create, draw, engender, beget, get, infer. ANTONYMS: (v) prevent, restrain.
kite: (n) flash note, base coin, plaything, parachute, airplane, bird of prey, letter, former, slip, accommodation bill; (v) scram.
nail: (n, v) arrest, capture; (v) catch, collar, apprehend, hook, strike, hit,

fasten, nab; (adj, n) pin. ANTONYMS: (v) unfasten, detach.

oversoon: (adj) untimely, previous, premature.

surveying: (n) mensuration, measurement, investigation,

measurement, investigation, triangulation; (v) inspect, examine; (adj) observant. ticklishly: (adv) trickily, delicately,

nicely, precariously, touchily, tenderly, unsteadily, difficultly, sensitively, awkwardly, uncertainly. "To be sure we will," said Fairway, taking the candle and moving it over the surface of the Grandfer's countenance, the subject of his scrutiny irradiating himself with light and pleasant smiles, and giving himself jerks of juvenility.

"You haven't changed much," said Yeobright.

"If there's any difference, Grandfer is younger," **appended** Fairway decisively.

"And yet not my own doing, and I feel no pride in it," said the pleased ancient. "But I can't be **cured** of my **vagaries**; them I plead guilty to. Yes, Master Cantle always was that, as we know. But I am nothing by the side of you, Mister Clym."

"Nor any o' us," said Humphrey, in a low rich tone of admiration, not intended to reach anybody's ears.

"Really, there would have been nobody here who could have stood as decent second to him, or even third, if I hadn't been a soldier in the Bang-up Locals (as we was called for our smartness)," said Grandfer Cantle. "And even as 'tis we all look a little scammish beside him. But in the year four 'twas said there wasn't a finer figure in the whole South Wessex than I, as I looked when dashing past the shop-winders with the rest of our company on the day we ran out o' Budmouth because it was thoughted that Boney had landed round the point. There was I, straight as a young poplar, wi' my firelock, and my bagnet, and my spatterdashes, and my stock sawing my jaws off, and my accoutrements sheening like the seven stars! Yes, neighbours, I was a pretty sight in my soldiering days. You ought to have seen me in four!"

"'Tis his mother's side where Master Clym's figure comes from, bless ye," said Timothy. "I know'd her brothers well. Longer coffins were never made in the whole country of South Wessex, and 'tis said that poor George's knees were crumpled up a little e'en as 'twas."

"Coffins, where?" inquired Christian, drawing **nearer**. "Have the ghost of one appeared to anybody, Master Fairway?"

Thesaurus

accoutrements: (*n*) accouterments, trappings, paraphernalia, equipment, gear, dress, clothes, apparel, attire. appended: (*adj*) added, affixed, additional. cured: (*adj*) recovered, corned, aged, mellow, whole better nickle cured.

cured: (adj) recovered, corned, aged, mellow, whole, better, pickle cured, salted, vulcanised, well, vulcanized. dashing: (adj) stylish, dapper, gallant, showy, smart, snappy, impetuous, rakish, raffish, brave; (adj, n) spruce. ANTONYMS: (adj) boring, unstylish,

dull, bumbling, bland, awkward, drab, graceless. **finer**: (*adj*) superior, advanced, bigger,

higher, more, greater. **firelock**: (*n*) flintlock, matchlock,

firelock: (*n*) flintlock, matchlock, musketry, musket.

jaws: (n) jaw, chops, fauces, chaps, mandible, maw, lips, holding device; (v) mazard.

nearer: (adj) adjacent, narre, hither; (adv) more rapidly, sooner, quicker, nigher, NER, faster, earlier, Neer. poplar: (n) poplar tree, abele, cottonwood, hackmatack, wood, white poplar, angiospermous tree, gray poplar, flowering tree, black poplar, balsam poplar.

soldiering: (n) goldbricking, slacking, shirking, soldiership, skill, accomplishment, escape, evasion, dodging, attainment, acquisition.

vagaries: (n) whims, disposition, facetiousness, freaks, humor, ill

humor, mood, temper, caprices.

"No, no. Don't let your mind so mislead your ears, Christian; and be a man," said Timothy reproachfully.

"I will." said Christian. "But now I think o't my shadder last night seemed just the shape of a coffin. What is it a sign of when your shade's like a coffin, neighbours? It can't be nothing to be afeared of, I suppose?"

"Afeared, no!" said the Grandfer. "Faith, I was never afeard of nothing except Boney, or I shouldn't ha' been the soldier I was. Yes, 'tis a thousand pities you didn't see me in four!"

By this time the mummers were preparing to leave; but Mrs. Yeobright stopped them by asking them to sit down and have a little supper. To this invitation Father Christmas, in the name of them all, readily agreed.

Eustacia was happy in the opportunity of staying a little longer. The cold and frosty night without was doubly frigid to her. But the lingering was not without its difficulties. Mrs. Yeobright, for want of room in the larger apartment, placed a bench for the mummers halfway through the pantry door, which opened from the sitting-room. Here they **seated** themselves in a row, the door being left openthus they were still virtually in the same apartment. Mrs. Yeobright now murmured a few words to her son, who crossed the room to the pantry door, striking his head against the mistletoe as he passed, and brought the mummers beef and bread, cake pastry, mead, and elder-wine, the waiting being done by him and his mother, that the little maid-servant might sit as guest. mummers doffed their helmets, and began to eat and drink.

"But you will surely have some?" said Clym to the Turkish Knight, as he stood before that warrior, tray in hand. She had refused, and still sat covered, only the sparkle of her eyes being visible between the ribbons which covered her face.

"None, thank you," replied Eustacia.

"He's quite a youngster," said the Saracen apologetically, "and you must excuse him. He's not one of the old set, but have jined us because t'other couldn't come."

Thesaurus

apologetically: (adv) contritely, penitently, regretfully, repentantly, ruefully, sorrily, ashamedly, compunctiously. **doubly**: (adv) twice, twofold, two times, in two ways, dualistically. frosty: (adj, v) icy, glacial; (adj) frigid, freezing, wintry, arctic, chill, frozen, chilly, bleak, cool. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, pleasant, hot, torrid, tropical, balmy, approachable. mislead: (v) betray, deceive, cheat,

astray, hoodwink, trick. pantry: (n) buttery, store, basement, kitchen, stowage, scullery, store cupboard, covey, storeroom, stomach, stillroom. reproachfully: (adv) critically, abusively, admonitorily, vituperatively, disapprovingly, wearily, contemptuously, disparagingly, disdainfully,

witheringly, shamefully.

beguile, misinform, fool, con, lie, lead ANTONYMS: (adv) approvingly, hopefully. ribbons: (n) cavesson, hackamore, jaquima, lines, streamer, streamers, ticker tape, paper chain, decoration, decorations, bunting. seated: (adj) sat, sedentary. sparkle: (n, v) flicker, flash, shimmer, spark, shine, blaze, fizz, gleam, glitter; (v) blink, glare. ANTONYMS:

(n) apathy, dullness, lifelessness.

"But he will take something?" persisted Yeobright. "Try a glass of mead or elder-wine."

"Yes, you had better try that," said the Saracen. "It will keep the cold out going home-along."

Though Eustacia could not eat without **uncovering** her face she could drink easily enough beneath her disguise. The elder-wine was accordingly accepted, and the glass vanished inside the ribbons.

At moments during this performance Eustacia was half in doubt about the security of her position; yet it had a fearful joy. A series of attentions paid to her, and yet not to her but to some imaginary person, by the first man she had ever been inclined to adore, complicated her emotions indescribably. She had loved him partly because he was exceptional in this scene, partly because she had determined to love him, chiefly because she was in desperate need of loving somebody after wearying of Wildeve. Believing that she must love him in spite of herself, she had been influenced after the fashion of the second Lord Lyttleton and other persons, who have dreamed that they were to die on a certain day, and by stress of a morbid imagination have actually brought about that event. Once let a maiden admit the possibility of her being stricken with love for someone at a certain hour and place, and the thing is as good as done.

Did anything at this moment suggest to Yeobright the sex of the creature whom that fantastic guise **inclosed**, how extended was her scope both in feeling and in making others feel, and how far her compass transcended that of her **companions** in the band? When the disguised Queen of Love appeared before Aeneas a preternatural perfume accompanied her presence and betrayed her quality. If such a mysterious **emanation** ever was projected by the emotions of an earthly woman upon their object, it must have signified Eustacia's presence to Yeobright now. He looked at her wistfully, then seemed to fall into a reverie, as if he were forgetting what he observed. The momentary situation ended, he passed on, and Eustacia sipped her wine without knowing what she drank. The man for whom she had pre-determined to **nourish** a passion went into the small room, and across it to the further **extremity**.

Thesaurus

adore: (*v*) worship, idolize, admire, glorify, cherish, appreciate; (*n*, *v*) honor; (*adj*) adoring, worshipping, worshipping; (*adv*) adoringly.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) detest, despise, condemn, loathe, disrespect, abhor, scorn.

companions: (*n*) circle, entourage, people.

emanation: (n) emission, effluvium, effusion, effluence, efflux, radiation, excretion, exhalation, flow, egress, ectoplasm.

extremity: (n) end, member,
boundary, bound, close, appendage,
limit, limb, ending, fringe,
conclusion. ANTONYMS: (n) trunk,
average, minimum, head, leniency.
inclosed: (adj) confined, entrails,
included, internal, intestine.
indescribably: (adv) unspeakably,
incredibly, inconceivably, beyond
words, unbelievably, unutterably,
unthinkably.

nourish: (v) foster, keep, bring up, nurture, sustain, aliment, cherish, feed, maintain, cultivate; (n, v) cradle. ANTONYMS: (v) starve, sap. **uncovering**: (n) breakthrough, detection, revelation, baring, find, denudation, disforestation, espial, catching, husking, stripping. **wearying**: (adi) exhausting, wearing, monotonous, tiring, fatiguing, trying, boring, dull, wearisome, deadly, effortful.

The **mummers**, as has been stated, were seated on a bench, one end of which extended into the small apartment, or pantry, for want of space in the outer room. Eustacia, partly from shyness, had chosen the midmost seat, which thus commanded a view of the interior of the pantry as well as the room containing the guests. When Clym passed down the pantry her eyes followed him in the gloom which prevailed there. At the remote end was a door which, just as he was about to open it for himself, was opened by somebody within; and light streamed forth.

The person was Thomasin, with a candle, looking anxious, pale, and interesting. Yeobright appeared glad to see her, and pressed her hand. "That's right, Tamsie," he said heartily, as though recalled to himself by the sight of her, "you have decided to come down. I am glad of it."

"Hush--no, no," she said quickly. "I only came to speak to you."

"But why not join us?"

"I cannot. At least I would rather not. I am not well enough, and we shall have plenty of time together now you are going to be home a good long holiday."

"It isn't nearly so pleasant without you. Are you really ill?"

"Just a little, my old cousin--here," she said, playfully sweeping her hand across her heart.

"Ah, Mother should have asked somebody else to be present tonight, perhaps?"

"O no, indeed. I merely stepped down, Clym, to ask you--" Here he followed her through the doorway into the private room beyond, and, the door closing, Eustacia and the mummer who sat next to her, the only other witness of the performance, saw and heard no more.

The heat flew to Eustacia's head and cheeks. She instantly guessed that Clym, having been home only these two or three days, had not as yet been made acquainted with Thomasin's painful situation with regard to Wildeve; and seeing her living there just as she had been living before he left home, he naturally suspected nothing. Eustacia felt a wild jealousy of Thomasin on the instant.

Thesaurus

suite, place, dwelling, chamber, room, abode, house, home, accommodation. cheeks: (n) Gemini, twins, couple, posterior, pair, deuce, two, duet. containing: (adj) including, comprehensive. **instant**: (adj, n) present; (adj) immediate, prompt; (n) flash, minute, mummer: (n) mime, pantomimist, jiffy, point, second; (adj, v) exigent;

(adj, n, v) pressing, urgent.

apartment: (n) residence, lodging,

ANTONYMS: (n) age, eternity; (adj) considered, delayed, slow. jealousy: (n) suspicion, jealous, jealousness, envy, envious, alertness, distrust, contention, competition, scruple, qualm.

midmost: (adj) central, middle, middest, median; (adv) in the midst, in the middle.

mimer, guiser, thespian, player, pantomime, masque, clown, dumb

show, guisard. playfully: (adv) sportively, jocularly, puckishly, impishly, merrily, naughtily, roguishly, frolicsomely, lightheartedly, archly, skittishly. sweeping: (adj) broad, extensive, radical, wholesale, indiscriminate, exhaustive, blanket, thorough, general, wide; (adv) sweepingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) narrow, restricted, exclusive, specific, modest, Though Thomasin might possibly have tender sentiments towards another man as yet, how long could they be expected to last when she was shut up here with this interesting and travelled cousin of hers? There was no knowing what affection might not soon break out between the two, so constantly in each other's society, and not a **distracting** object near. Clym's boyish love for her might have languished, but it might easily be revived again.

Eustacia was nettled by her own contrivances. What a sheer waste of herself to be dressed thus while another was shining to advantage! Had she known the full effect of the encounter she would have moved heaven and earth to get here in a natural manner. The power of her face all lost, the charm of her emotions all disguised, the fascinations of her **coquetry** denied existence, nothing but a voice left to her; she had a sense of the doom of Echo. "Nobody here respects me," she said. She had overlooked the fact that, in coming as a boy among other boys, she would be treated as a boy. The slight, though of her own causing, and self-explanatory, she was unable to dismiss as unwittingly shown, so sensitive had the situation made her.

Women have done much for themselves in histrionic dress. To look far below those who, like a certain fair personator of Polly Peachum early in the last century, and another of Lydia Languish early in this, have won not only love but ducal coronets into the bargain, whole **shoals** of them have reached to the initial satisfaction of getting love almost whence they would. But the Turkish Knight was denied even the chance of achieving this by the fluttering ribbons which she dared not brush aside.

Yeobright returned to the room without his cousin. When within two or three feet of Eustacia he stopped, as if again arrested by a thought. He was gazing at her. She looked another way, **disconcerted**, and wondered how long this **purgatory** was to last. After lingering a few seconds he passed on again.

To court their own **discomfiture** by love is a common instinct with certain perfervid women. Conflicting **sensations** of love, fear, and shame reduced Eustacia to a state of the utmost **uneasiness**. To escape was her great and immediate desire. The other mummers appeared to be in no hurry to leave; and

Thesaurus

coquetry: (v) captation,
obsequiousness, sentimentalism,
sycophancy, mock modesty,
minauderie, toadeating, flunkeyism,
prudery; (n) dalliance, invitation.
discomfiture: (n) embarrassment,
confusion, perturbation, discomfort,
discomfit, disconcertion,
discomposure, humiliation,
consternation; (adj) rebuff, rout.
ANTONYMS: (n) contentment,
honor.

disconcerted: (adj) confused, confounded, bewildered, blank, embarrassed, disturbed, troubled, worried, ashamed, discombobulated, bemused. ANTONYMS: (adj) composed, soothed, unabashed, relaxed. distracting: (adj) unsettling,

distracting: (adj) unsettling, vociferous, unruly, troublesome, troublemaking, misleading, embarrassing, divulsive, disruptive; (v) riveting, exciting. purgatory: (n) limbo, abyss, purgation, hell, situation, imaginary place, living death, punishment, Gehenna, grief. sensations: (n) feelings, vibrations, ambiance.

shoals: (n) shelf.

uneasiness: (*n*) disquiet, discomfort, inquietude, anxiety, unease, malaise, disquietude, apprehension, unrest, impatience; (*n*, *v*) agitation. ANTONYMS: (*n*) peace, calm, confidence.

murmuring to the lad who sat next to her that she preferred waiting for them outside the house, she moved to the door as **imperceptibly** as possible, opened it, and slipped out.

The calm, lone scene reassured her. She went forward to the palings and leant over them, looking at the moon. She had stood thus but a little time when the door again opened. Expecting to see the remainder of the band Eustacia turned; but no--Clym Yeobright came out as softly as she had done, and closed the door behind him.

He advanced and stood beside her. "I have an odd opinion," he said, "and should like to ask you a question. Are you a woman--or am I wrong?"

"I am a woman."

His eyes lingered on her with great interest. "Do girls often play as mummers now? They never used to."

"They don't now."

"Why did you?"

"To get excitement and **shake** off depression," she said in low tones.

"What depressed you?"

"Life."

"That's a cause of depression a good many have to put up with."

"Yes."

A long silence. "And do you find excitement?" asked Clym at last.

"At this moment, perhaps."

"Then you are **vexed** at being discovered?"

"Yes; though I thought I might be."

"I would **gladly** have asked you to our party had I known you wished to come. Have I ever been acquainted with you in my youth?"

"Never."

"Won't you come in again, and stay as long as you like?"

Thesaurus

expecting: (adj) pregnant, confident, with child, heavy, hopeful; (n) family **gladly**: (adv, v) happily; (adv) gleefully, contentedly, cheerfully, fain, joyfully, **lone**: (adj) forlorn, lonely, only, jovially, cheerily, delightedly, gladsomely, readily. ANTONYMS:

resentfully, miserably. imperceptibly: (adv) unnoticeably, gradually, slightly, invisibly, gently, quietly, softly, observably,

(adv) reluctantly, unwillingly, sadly,

indistinctly, scarcely, hardly. ANTONYMS: (adv) obviously, visibly, audibly, conspicuously, perceptibly, heavily, clearly, strongly. **shake**: (n, v) jolt, beat, jar, quiver, solitary, individual, single, sole, separate, isolated, one, solo. ANTONYM: (adj) attached. murmuring: (n) murmuration, murmur, complaint, grumble, muttering, mutter, murmur vowel; (adj) whispering, humming, droning,

murmurous. reassured: (adj) hopeful, reinsured, secure, confident. wave; (v) agitate, excite, disturb; (adv, v) brandish; (adj, v) quake, totter. ANTONYMS: (v) soothe, steady. vexed: (adj) troubled, irritated, angry, pestered, peeved, harassed, sore, harried, uneasy, cross, offended. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, uncomplicated.

"No. I wish not to be further recognized."

"Well, you are safe with me." After remaining in thought a minute he added gently, "I will not intrude upon you longer. It is a strange way of meeting, and I will not ask why I find a cultivated woman playing such a part as this." She did not volunteer the reason which he seemed to hope for, and he wished her good night, going thence round to the back of the house, where he walked up and down by himself for some time before re-entering.

Eustacia, warmed with an inner fire, could not wait for her companions after this. She flung back the ribbons from her face, opened the gate, and at once struck into the heath. She did not hasten along. Her grandfather was in bed at this hour, for she so frequently walked upon the hills on moonlight nights that he took no notice of her comings and goings, and, enjoying himself in his own way, left her to do likewise. A more important subject than that of getting indoors now engrossed her. Yeobright, if he had the least curiosity, would infallibly discover her name. What then? She first felt a sort of exultation at the way in which the adventure had terminated, even though at moments between her exultations she was abashed and blushful. Then this consideration recurred to chill her: What was the use of her exploit? She was at present a total stranger to the Yeobright family. The unreasonable nimbus of romance with which she had encircled that man might be her misery. How could she allow herself to become so infatuated with a stranger? And to fill the cup of her sorrow there would be Thomasin, living day after day in **inflammable** proximity to him; for she had just learnt that, contrary to her first belief, he was going to stay at home some considerable time.

She reached the wicket at Mistover Knap, but before opening it she turned and faced the heath once more. The form of Rainbarrow stood above the hills. and the moon stood above Rainbarrow. The air was charged with silence and frost. The scene reminded Eustacia of a circumstance which till that moment she had totally forgotten. She had promised to meet Wildeve by the Barrow this very night at eight, to give a final answer to his pleading for an **elopement**.

Thesaurus

abashed: (adj, v) discomfited; (adj) mortified, sheepish, embarrassed, ashamed, confused, humiliated, afraid, shamefaced, confounded; (v) dashed. ANTONYMS: (adj) proud, undaunted, reassured, pleased, heartened, emboldened, cool, confident, composed, relaxed, unabashed.

blushful: (adj) bashful, chromatic, rosy, blooming, discomposed, blush Colored.

elopement: (n) escape, flight, running exultation: (n) jubilation, joy, delight,

ecstasy, elation, rejoicing, revelling, transport, joyousness, bliss, glee. ANTONYMS: (n) depression, desolation, misery, sorrow. infallibly: (adv) unerringly, unfailingly, inerrably, assuredly,

certainly, firmly. infatuated: (adj, n) fanatical; (adj, v) besotted; (adj) gaga, crazy, mad,

dotty, in love, obsessed, smitten, taken with; (v) illiberal.

inflammable: (adj) combustible, burnable, ignitable, quick-tempered, incendiary, fiery, fractious, choleric, excitable, ignitible, peevish. ANTONYMS: (adj) nonflammable,

nimbus: (adj, n, v) halo; (n, v) glory; (adj, n) aureole; (n) aura, rain cloud, aureola, messenger, gloriole; (adj) nimbose, honor; (v) flush.

She herself had fixed the evening and the hour. He had probably come to the spot, waited there in the cold, and been greatly disappointed.

"Well, so much the better--it did not hurt him," she said **serenely**. Wildeve had at present the rayless outline of the sun through smoked glass, and she could say such things as that with the greatest facility.

She remained deeply **pondering**; and Thomasin's winning manner towards her **cousin** arose again upon Eustacia's mind.

"O that she had been married to Damon before this!" she said. "And she would if it hadn't been for me! If I had only known--if I had only known!"

Eustacia once more lifted her deep **stormy** eyes to the **moonlight**, and, sighing that tragic sigh of hers which was so much like a shudder, entered the shadow of the roof. She threw off her **trappings** in the **outhouse**, rolled them up, and went **indoors** to her chamber.

Thesaurus

cousin: (n) nephew, cousins, friend, cousinship, relation, akin, relative, full cousin, companion. indoors: (adv) at home, inwards,

indoors: (adv) at home, inwards, within, inwardly, internally, deep down, at heart, at bottom, in reality, arrived, here. ANTONYMS: (adv) out, outdoors.

moonlight: (*adj*, *n*) moonshine; (*n*) moonbeam, moonglade, occupation, lunation, lunar month, labor; (*n*, *v*) work; (*v*) pilfer, do work; (*adj*)

moonshiny.

outhouse: (n) outbuilding, privy,
jakes, barn, penthouse, bathroom,
can, John, lav, lavatory.

pondering: (adj) pensive, musing,
meditative, contemplative,
thoughtful, reflective; (n)
consideration, deliberation,
cogitation, reflection, lucubration.
serenely: (adv) calmly, composedly,
quietly, placidly, stilly, steadily,
impassively, peacefully, Pacifically,

clearly, coolly. ANTONYMS: (adv) nervously, agitatedly, boisterously, manically.

stormy: (adj, n) inclement, boisterous, rough, severe; (adj) fierce, windy, wild, dirty, foul, tempestuous, blustering. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, still, pleasant, fair, mild, relaxed. trappings: (n) equipment, rigging, caparison, embroidery, trapping, tackle, suit, skirt, accouterment, lappet, flap.

7

A COALITION BETWEEN BEAUTY AND ODDNESS

The old captain's **prevailing indifference** to his granddaughter's movements left her free as a bird to follow her own courses; but it so happened that he did take upon himself the next morning to ask her why she had walked out so late.

"Only in search of events, Grandfather," she said, looking out of the window with that drowsy latency of manner which discovered so much force behind it whenever the trigger was pressed.

"Search of events--one would think you were one of the bucks I knew at oneand-twenty."

"It is lonely here."

"So much the better. If I were living in a town my whole time would be taken up in looking after you. I fully expected you would have been home when I returned from the Woman."

"I won't conceal what I did. I wanted an adventure, and I went with the mummers. I played the part of the Turkish Knight."

"No, never? Ha, ha! Good gad! I didn't expect it of you, Eustacia."

adventure: (n, v) venture, chance; (n)accident, escapade, incident, event, undertaking, consequence, essay; (v)risk, jeopardize. ANTONYMS: (n) stillness, passiveness, inactivity, inaction, avoidance, inertia, bore. bucks: (n) money, cash. indifference: (adj, n) coldness, phlegm; (n) detachment, impassiveness, disregard, aloofness, nonchalance, neglect, unconcern, impassivity, disinterest.

Thesaurus

ANTONYMS: (n) fervor, interest, eagerness, dedication, sympathy, favorite, compassion, anxiety, responsiveness, forcefulness, care. latency: (n) potency, suspension, waiting, potential, dormancy, delitescence, potentiality, waiting time, rotational delay, response time, trigger: (v) initiate, start, spark, reaction time.

pressed: (adj) compact, urgent, printed, pressing, press, stamped, pushed, impelled, incited, bound,

prevailing: (adj) prevalent, rife, dominant, common, current, overriding, popular, general, influential, epidemic, powerful. ANTONYMS: (adj) insignificant, rare,

motivate, incite, set off, provoke, stir; (n, v) spur; (n) release, heft. ANTONYMS: (v) block, stop, check, defuse, retard.

"It was my first performance, and it certainly will be my last. Now I have told you--and remember it is a secret."

"Of course. But, Eustacia, you never did--ha! ha! Dammy, how 'twould have pleased me forty years ago! But remember, no more of it, my girl. You may walk on the heath night or day, as you choose, so that you don't bother me; but no **figuring** in **breeches** again."

"You need have no fear for me, Grandpapa."

Here the conversation ceased, Eustacia's moral training never exceeding in severity a dialogue of this sort, which, if it ever became profitable to good works, would be a result not dear at the price. But her thoughts soon **strayed** far from her own personality; and, full of a passionate and **indescribable solicitude** for one to whom she was not even a name, she went forth into the amplitude of **tanned** wild around her, restless as Ahasuerus the Jew. She was about half a mile from her residence when she beheld a sinister **redness** arising from a ravine a little way in advance--dull and **lurid** like a flame in sunlight and she guessed it to signify Diggory Venn.

When the farmers who had wished to buy in a new stock of reddle during the last month had inquired where Venn was to be found, people replied, "On Egdon Heath." Day after day the answer was the same. Now, since Egdon was populated with heath-croppers and furze-cutters rather than with sheep and shepherds, and the downs where most of the latter were to be found lay some to the north, some to the west of Egdon, his reason for camping about there like Israel in Zin was not apparent. The position was central and occasionally desirable. But the sale of reddle was not Diggory's primary object in remaining on the heath, particularly at so late a period of the year, when most travellers of his class had gone into winter quarters.

Eustacia looked at the lonely man. Wildeve had told her at their last meeting that Venn had been thrust forward by Mrs. Yeobright as one ready and anxious to take his place as Thomasin's **betrothed**. His figure was perfect, his face young and well outlined, his eye bright, his intelligence keen, and his position one which he could readily better if he chose. But in spite of possibilities it was not

Thesaurus

betrothed: (adj) affianced, intended, bespoken, busy, occupied, contracted, attached, bargained for; (n) fiance, fiancee; (v) engage. breeches: (n) knickers, inexpressibles, knickerbockers, brogues, short, smalls, overalls, small clothes, pants, trousers, pantaloons. figuring: (n) calculation, reckoning, estimation, computing, figure, approximation, conversion, derivative, differential, estimate,

derived function.

indescribable: (adj) indefinable,
ineffable, unutterable, vague, beyond
expression, nameless, inexpressible,
nondescript, terrible, intangible,
termless. ANTONYMS: (adj)
explainable, conceivable, concrete.
lurid: (adj) ghastly, grisly, gruesome,
loud, frightful, sharp, shocking,
gaudy, sensational, hideous, horrific.
ANTONYMS: (adj) subtle, muted,
bland, dull, modest.

redness: (n) red, blush, glow, crimson, carmine, catarrh, cellulitis, cerise, mastoiditis, colitis, enteritis.
solicitude: (n) care, consideration, anxiety, thought, apprehension, regard, attention, fear, disquietude, heed, fret. ANTONYMS: (n) negligence, serenity, thoughtlessness. strayed: (v) stray.
tanned: (adj) bronzed, suntanned,

tanned: (adj) bronzed, suntanned, browned; (n) brunette. ANTONYMS: (adj) pale, untanned.

likely that Thomasin would accept this Ishmaelitish creature while she had a cousin like Yeobright at her elbow, and Wildeve at the same time not absolutely indifferent. Eustacia was not long in guessing that poor Mrs. Yeobright, in her anxiety for her niece's future, had mentioned this lover to stimulate the zeal of the other. Eustacia was on the side of the Yeobrights now, and entered into the spirit of the aunt's desire.

"Good morning, miss," said the reddleman, taking off his cap of hareskin, and apparently bearing her no ill- will from recollection of their last meeting.

"Good morning, reddleman," she said, hardly troubling to lift her heavily shaded eyes to his. "I did not know you were so near. Is your van here too?"

Venn moved his elbow towards a hollow in which a dense brake of purplestemmed brambles had grown to such vast dimensions as almost to form a dell. Brambles, though churlish when handled, are kindly shelter in early winter, being the latest of the **deciduous** bushes to lose their leaves.

The roof and chimney of Venn's caravan showed behind the tracery and tangles of the brake.

"You remain near this part?" she asked with more interest.

"Yes, I have business here."

"Not altogether the selling of reddle?"

"It has nothing to do with that."

"It has to do with Miss Yeobright?"

Her face seemed to ask for an armed peace, and he therefore said frankly, "Yes, miss; it is on account of her."

"On account of your approaching marriage with her?"

Venn flushed through his **stain**. "Don't make sport of me, Miss Vye," he said.

"It isn't true?"

"Certainly not."

Thesaurus

churlish: (adj) rude, rough, impolite, loutish, gruff, curt, abrupt, brusque, blunt, brutish, discourteous. ANTONYMS: (adj) agreeable, civil, courteous, nice, polite.

deciduous: (adj) transient, short-lived; (v) labent, undermined.

dell: (n) vale, valley, dingle, clearing, gorge, holler, ravine, hollow, glen, cove, basin.

guessing: (adv) guessingly; (n) dead reckoning, guesswork,

approximation, supposition, gibe, shot, blastoff, barb, estimation, dig. shaded: (adj) dark, shads, sheltered, shadowed, umbrageous, twilight, sunless, subdued, soft, colored, darksome. ANTONYM: (adj)

stain: (n, v) spot, blemish, tarnish, blot, **zeal**: (adj, n) eagerness; (n) fervor, dye, smear, disgrace, mark, soil, dirt, defile. ANTONYMS: (v) enhance, dignify, clean.

tracery: (v) grille, lattice, gridiron,

grating, plait, trellis; (n) design, decoration, molding, mesh, listel. troubling: (adj) worrying, disquieting, distressing, distressful, disconcerting, alarming, perturbing, bad, annoying, sad, worrisome. ANTONYM: (adj)

enthusiasm, devotion, passion, vehemence, fire, fervency, heat, fervour, ardour. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, lethargy, patience.

She was thus convinced that the reddleman was a mere pis **aller** in Mrs. Yeobright's mind; one, moreover, who had not even been informed of his promotion to that **lowly** standing. "It was a mere notion of mine," she said quietly; and was about to pass by without further speech, when, looking round to the right, she saw a painfully well-known figure serpentining upwards by one of the little paths which led to the top where she stood. Owing to the necessary windings of his course his back was at present towards them. She glanced quickly round; to escape that man there was only one way. Turning to Venn, she said, "Would you allow me to rest a few minutes in your van? The banks are damp for sitting on."

"Certainly, miss; I'll make a place for you."

She followed him behind the dell of brambles to his wheeled dwelling into which Venn mounted, placing the three-legged stool just within the door.

"That is the best I can do for you," he said, stepping down and retiring to the path, where he resumed the smoking of his pipe as he walked up and down.

Eustacia **bounded** into the vehicle and sat on the stool, **ensconced** from view on the side towards the **trackway**. Soon she heard the brushing of other feet than the reddleman's, a not very friendly "Good day" uttered by two men in passing each other, and then the dwindling of the foot-fall of one of them in a direction onwards. Eustacia stretched her neck forward till she caught a glimpse of a **receding** back and shoulders; and she felt a wretched **twinge** of misery, she knew not why. It was the **sickening** feeling which, if the changed heart has any generosity at all in its composition, accompanies the sudden sight of a onceloved one who is beloved no more.

When Eustacia descended to proceed on her way the reddleman came near. "That was Mr. Wildeve who passed, miss," he said slowly, and expressed by his face that he expected her to feel vexed at having been sitting unseen.

"Yes, I saw him coming up the hill," replied Eustacia. "Why should you tell me that?" It was a bold question, considering the reddleman's knowledge of her past love; but her **undemonstrative** manner had power to repress the opinions of those she treated as remote from her.

Thesaurus

aller: (adj) alder.
bounded: (adj) restricted, limited,
delimited, encircled, enclosed,
confined, leap, spring, bordered,
circumscribed, constrained.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unbounded,
unconfined, unlimited, free.
ensconced: (v) imbedded, situate,
posited.
lowly: (adj) base, lower, low, inferior,
baseborn; (adv) meekly, meanly,
modestly, poorly, softly, humbly.

ANTONYMS: (adj) noble, privileged, high, aristocratic, refined, exalted, comfortable.

receding: (n) disappearance, fadeout, recession, niche; (adj) moving back, low, hairless, balding, going out, recessive, retiring.

sickening: (adj) revolting, nauseous, offensive, repulsive, foul, nauseating, noisome, obnoxious, loathsome, repugnant, abominable. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, pleasant, delightful, wholesome, light, appealing, wonderful. **trackway**: (*n*) strip road, track. **twinge**: (*n*, *v*) pinch, sting; (*n*) pang, pain, stab, hurt, throb, qualm; (*v*) nip, prick, prickle.

undemonstrative: (adj) unemotional, calm, restrained, unresponsive, retiring, reticent, uncommunicative, inhibited, quiet, placid, mild. ANTONYMS: (adj) emotional, energetic.

"I am glad to hear that you can ask it," said the reddleman **bluntly**. "And, now I think of it, it agrees with what I saw last night."

"Ah--what was that?" Eustacia wished to leave him, but wished to know.

"Mr. Wildeve stayed at Rainbarrow a long time waiting for a lady who didn't come."

"You waited too, it seems?"

"Yes, I always do. I was glad to see him disappointed. He will be there again tonight."

"To be again disappointed. The truth is, reddleman, that that lady, so far from wishing to stand in the way of Thomasin's marriage with Mr. Wildeve, would be very glad to promote it."

Venn felt much **astonishment** at this **avowal**, though he did not show it clearly; that exhibition may **greet** remarks which are one remove from expectation, but it is usually **withheld** in complicated cases of two removes and upwards. "Indeed, miss," he replied.

"How do you know that Mr. Wildeve will come to Rainbarrow again tonight?" she asked.

"I heard him say to himself that he would. He's in a regular temper."

Eustacia looked for a moment what she felt, and she murmured, lifting her deep dark eyes anxiously to his, "I wish I knew what to do. I don't want to be **uncivil** to him; but I don't wish to see him again; and I have some few little things to return to him."

"If you choose to send 'em by me, miss, and a note to tell him that you wish to say no more to him, I'll take it for you quite privately. That would be the most straightforward way of letting him know your mind."

"Very well," said Eustacia. "Come towards my house, and I will bring it out to you."

She went on, and as the path was an infinitely small **parting** in the shaggy **locks** of the heath, the reddleman followed exactly in her trail. She saw from a

Thesaurus

bluffly, coarsely, forthrightly,

astonishment: (n) admiration, wonder, wonderment, surprise, marvel, stupefaction, confusion, consternation, awe, alarm, startle. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, belief, contempt.

avowal: (*n*) declaration, assertion, affirmation, admission, statement, recognition, acknowledgement, announcement, confession, testimony; (*n*, *v*) profession.

bluntly: (*adv*) frankly, directly, rudely,

candidly, curtly, brusquely, gruffly, openly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deceitfully, hesitantly, indirectly, guardedly, politely.
greet: (n, v) receive; (v) address, acknowledge, hail, welcome, cry, salute, bid, weep, meet, recognize.
locks: (n) hair, tresses, head of hair.
parting: (n) adieu, division, leave, departure, disunion, goodbye, leaving, segregation, dying, rupture;

(adj) valedictory. ANTONYMS: (n) joining, meeting, connection, Reunion.

uncivil: (adj) discourteous, disrespectful, impolite, coarse, brusque, curt, blunt, barbarous, short; (adj, n) rough, harsh. ANTONYMS: (adj) polite, courteous, gracious.

withheld: (*adj*) hidden, uncommitted. ANTONYM: (*adj*) ongoing.

distance that the captain was on the bank sweeping the horizon with his telescope; and bidding Venn to wait where he stood she entered the house alone.

In ten minutes she returned with a parcel and a note, and said, in placing them in his hand, "Why are you so ready to take these for me?"

"Can you ask that?"

"I suppose you think to serve Thomasin in some way by it. Are you as anxious as ever to help on her marriage?"

Venn was a little moved. "I would sooner have married her myself," he said in a low voice. "But what I feel is that if she cannot be happy without him I will do my duty in helping her to get him, as a man ought."

Eustacia looked curiously at the singular man who spoke thus. What a strange sort of love, to be entirely free from that quality of selfishness which is frequently the chief constituent of the passion, and sometimes its only one! The reddleman's **disinterestedness** was so well **deserving** of respect that it overshot respect by being barely **comprehended**; and she almost thought it absurd.

"Then we are both of one mind at last," she said.

"Yes," replied Venn gloomily. "But if you would tell me, miss, why you take such an interest in her, I should be easier. It is so sudden and strange."

Eustacia appeared at a loss. "I cannot tell you that, reddleman," she said coldly.

Venn said no more. He pocketed the letter, and, **bowing** to Eustacia, went away.

Rainbarrow had again become **blended** with night when Wildeve ascended the long **acclivity** at its base. On his reaching the top a shape grew up from the earth immediately behind him. It was that of Eustacia's **emissary**. He slapped Wildeve on the shoulder. The **feverish** young inn-keeper and ex-engineer started like Satan at the touch of Ithuriel's spear.

Thesaurus

acclivity: (n) rise, raise, incline, upgrade, climb, elevation, gradient, hill, inclination; (v) KHUDD, rising ground.

blended: (adj) mixed, miscellaneous, comparite, accorted alloyed.

blended: (adj) mixed, miscellaneous, composite, assorted, alloyed, amalgamated, beaten, adulterate, conglomerate; (n) medley; (v) mingle. bowing: (n) obeisance, playing, gesticulation, capitulation, genuflection, scraping, submission; (adj) bowed, bent, fawning,

submissive.

comprehended: (adj) understood,
apprehended.
deserving: (adj) meritorious,
admirable, creditable, commendable,
laudable, fit, good, deserved,
condign; (v) deserve, worthy of.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy,
undeserving, unimpressive.
disinterestedness: (n) fairness,
disinterest, nonpartisanship,
detachment, indifference, equity,

aloofness, neutrality, disadvantage, unfriendliness.

emissary: (n) ambassador, courier, agent, spy, messenger, delegate, representative, legate, diplomat, detective, deputy.

feverish: (*adj*) febrile, feverous, fiery, frenzied, fevered, excited, sick, fanatical; (*adj*, *v*) hot, flushed; (*adj*, *n*) hysterical. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) calm, afebrile, collected, composed, mellow.

"We three?" said Wildeve, looking quickly round.

"Yes; you, and I, and she. This is she." He held up the letter and parcel.

Wildeve **took** them **wonderingly**. "I don't quite see what this means," he said. "How do you come here? There must be some mistake."

"It will be cleared from your mind when you have read the letter. Lanterns for one." The reddleman struck a light, kindled an inch of tallow-candle which he had brought, and sheltered it with his cap.

"Who are you?" said Wildeve, discerning by the candle- light an obscure **rubicundity** of person in his companion. "You are the reddleman I saw on the hill this morning--why, you are the man who----"

"Please read the letter."

"If you had come from the other one I shouldn't have been surprised," murmured Wildeve as he opened the letter and read. His face grew serious.

TO MR. WILDEVE.

After some thought I have decided once and for all that we must hold no further communication. The more I consider the matter the more I am convinced that there must be an end to our acquaintance. Had you been **uniformly** faithful to me throughout these two years you might now have some ground for accusing me of **heartlessness**; but if you calmly consider what I bore during the period of your **desertion**, and how I **passively** put up with your **courtship** of another without once **interfering**, you will, I think, own that I have a right to consult my own feelings when you come back to me again. That these are not what they were towards you may, perhaps, be a fault in me, but it is one which you can scarcely reproach me for when you remember how you left me for Thomasin.

Thesaurus

courtship: (*n*) courting, wooing, love, bundling, the soft impeachment, prayer, entreaty, gallantry, addresses, cause, affection.

desertion: (*n*) abandonment, defection, apostasy, dereliction, withdrawal, secession, rejection, decampment, exposure, leaving, disappearance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) appearance, attention, preservation.

heartlessness: (*n*) coldheartedness, hardheartedness, callousness,

mercilessness, unkindness, atrocity, pitilessness, brutality, malice, meanness, coldness. ANTONYMS: (n) sensitivity, humanity. interfering: (adj, n) meddling; (adj) officious, busy, disturbing, meddlesome, nosy, busybodied, curious, overbearing, domineering; (n) hindrance.

passively: (adv) inactively, inertly, quiescently, unresistingly, patiently, acquiescently, compliantly, meekly,

tamely, dormantly, dutifully.
ANTONYMS: (adv) vigorously, actively, assertively, defiantly.
rubicundity: (adj) rubification, ruddiness.
took: (adj) taken; (v) receive.
uniformly: (adv) equally, evenly, consistently, regularly.

uniformly: (adv) equally, evenly,
consistently, regularly,
homogeneously, identically, steadily,
unvaryingly; (adj, adv) ever, always,
invariably.

wonderingly: (adv) quizzically.

The little articles you gave me in the early part of our friendship are returned by the bearer of this letter. They should rightly have been sent back when I first heard of your engagement to her.

EUSTACIA.

By the time that Wildeve reached her name the blankness with which he had read the first half of the letter intensified to mortification. "I am made a great fool of, one way and another," he said **pettishly**. "Do you know what is in this letter?"

The reddleman hummed a tune.

"Can't you answer me?" asked Wildeve warmly.

"Ru-um-tum-tum," sang the reddleman.

Wildeve stood looking on the ground beside Venn's feet, till he allowed his eyes to travel **upwards** over Diggory's form, as **illuminated** by the candle, to his head and face. "Ha-ha! Well, I suppose I deserve it, considering how I have played with them both," he said at last, as much to himself as to Venn. "But of all the odd things that ever I knew, the oddest is that you should so run counter to your own interests as to bring this to me."

"My interests?"

"Certainly. 'Twas your interest not to do anything which would send me courting Thomasin again, now she has accepted you--or something like it. Mrs. Yeobright says you are to marry her. 'Tisn't true, then?"

"Good Lord! I heard of this before, but didn't believe it. When did she say so?"

Wildeve began **humming** as the reddleman had done.

"I don't believe it now," cried Venn.

"Ru-um-tum-tum," sang Wildeve.

"O Lord--how we can imitate!" said Venn **contemptuously**. "I'll have this out. I'll go straight to her."

bearer: (n) holder, carrier, messenger, porter, courier, envoy, traveller, griever, hamal, lamenter, mourner. blankness: (n) void, emptiness, vacancy, nothingness, space, bareness, inanition, vacuity, vacuum, humming: (adj) droning, zippy, disbelief, barrenness. contemptuously: (adv) scornfully, sneeringly, insultingly, disparagingly, superciliously, derisively, condescendingly, disrespectfully, haughtily,

Thesaurus

contumeliously, sardonically. ANTONYM: (adv) approvingly. courting: (n) wooing, courtship, bundling, appeal, attraction, case, causa, cause, flirtation, suit. reeking, bustling, grunting, stinking; (n) buzzing, vocalizing, sound, murmur, growling. illuminated: (adj) lit, lighted, luminous, enlightened, clear, light, shining, irradiated, lighter, Lighty,

intensified: (adj) intense, resonant, pettishly: (adv) testily, irritably, crossly, tetchily, peevishly, techily, huffily, touchily, fractiously, fretfully, sang: (n) panax quinquefolius, sing, herb, herbaceous plant.

upwards: (adj, adv) upwardly, up; (adv) over; (adj) improving, open. ANTONYM: (adv) down.

Diggory withdrew with an emphatic step, Wildeve's eye passing over his form in withering derision, as if he were no more than a heath-cropper. When the reddleman's figure could no longer be seen, Wildeve himself descended and plunged into the rayless hollow of the vale.

To lose the two women--he who had been the well-beloved of both--was too ironical an issue to be endured. He could only decently save himself by Thomasin; and once he became her husband, Eustacia's repentance, he thought, would set in for a long and bitter term. It was no wonder that Wildeve, ignorant of the new man at the back of the scene, should have supposed Eustacia to be playing a part. To believe that the letter was not the result of some momentary pique, to infer that she really gave him up to Thomasin, would have required previous knowledge of her transfiguration by that man's influence. Who was to know that she had grown generous in the greediness of a new passion, that in coveting one cousin she was dealing liberally with another, that in her eagerness to appropriate she gave way?

Full of this resolve to marry in haste, and wring the heart of the proud girl, Wildeve went his way.

Meanwhile Diggory Venn had returned to his van, where he stood looking thoughtfully into the stove. A new vista was opened up to him. But, however promising Mrs. Yeobright's views of him might be as a candidate for her niece's hand, one condition was indispensable to the favour of Thomasin herself, and that was a renunciation of his present wild mode of life. In this he saw little difficulty.

He could not afford to wait till the next day before seeing Thomasin and detailing his plan. He speedily plunged himself into toilet operations, pulled a suit of cloth clothes from a box, and in about twenty minutes stood before the van-lantern as a reddleman in nothing but his face, the vermilion shades of which were not to be removed in a day. Closing the door and fastening it with a padlock, Venn set off towards Blooms-End.

He had reached the white palings and laid his hand upon the gate when the door of the house opened, and quickly closed again. A female form had glided

Thesaurus

coveting: (n) longing, envy; (adj) envious. fastening: (n) clasp, clip, buckle, attachment, lock, catch, link, bonding; (n, v) bond; (v) tie, bind. greediness: (n) avarice, cupidity, covetousness, eagerness, gluttony, selfishness, avidity, miserliness, hunger, stinginess, voracity. ANTONYM: (n) moderation. ironical: (adj) sarcastic, satirical, dry, burlesque, wry, sardonic, satiric,

derisive, caustic, quizzical; (n) humorous. padlock: (n) bolt, bar, holdfast, rail, rivet, wall, security device, deadbolt, combination lock, closure; (v) secure. withering: (adj) devastating, repentance: (n) contrition, penance, remorse, regret, compunction, sorrow, guilt, contriteness, grief, attrition, atonement. ANTONYMS: (n) shamelessness, brazenness. transfiguration: (n) metamorphosis, extreme unction, conversion,

canonization, subpanation, impanation, invocation of saints, seven sacraments, mutation, auricular confession, viaticum. extortionate, grinding; (v) dry, sarcastic, sharp, severe, satirical, sardonic, cutting; (n) shrinkage. ANTONYM: (adj) hopeful. wring: (n, v) squeeze; (v) twist, wrench, wrest, torture, torment, distort, extract, twine, contort, rack. in. At the same time a man, who had seemingly been standing with the woman in the porch, came forward from the house till he was face to face with Venn. It was Wildeve again.

"Man alive, you've been quick at it," said Diggory sarcastically.

"And you slow, as you will find," said Wildeve. "And," lowering his voice, "you may as well go back again now. I've claimed her, and got her. Good night, reddleman!" Thereupon Wildeve walked away.

Venn's heart sank within him, though it had not **risen unduly** high. He stood leaning over the palings in an **indecisive** mood for nearly a quarter of an hour. Then he went up the garden path, knocked, and asked for Mrs. Yeobright.

Instead of requesting him to enter she came to the porch. A discourse was carried on between them in low measured tones for the space of ten minutes or more. At the end of the time Mrs. Yeobright went in, and Venn sadly retraced his steps into the heath. When he had again regained his van he lit the lantern, and with an apathetic face at once began to pull off his best clothes, till in the course of a few minutes he reappeared as the confirmed and irretrievable reddleman that he had seemed before.

Thesaurus

apathetic: (adj) indifferent, uninterested, cool, impassive, perfunctory, dull, spiritless, nonchalant, casual, lukewarm, lazy. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, inquisitive, fervent, energetic, concerned, interested, keen, excited, passionate, ambitious, caring. claimed: (adj) personal. indecisive: (adj) undecided, hesitant, unsure, inconclusive, weak, irresolute, dubious, indefinite, vague,

(adj) decisive, conclusive, resolute, consistent, determined, focused, confident, sure. irretrievable: (adj) irrecoverable, irremediable, irreversible, remediless, irreclaimable, irrevocable, unrecoverable, incurable, irredeemable, desperate; (v)indefeasible. ANTONYMS: (adj) superficial, flexible, impermanent, temporary.

precarious, hesitating. ANTONYMS: risen: (v) uprise. sarcastically: (adv) satirically, mordantly, sharply, bitingly, ironically, tartly, cynically, scornfully, mockingly, scathingly, derisively. ANTONYM: (adv) gently. unduly: (adv) too, overly, illegally, inordinately, immoderately, unfairly, unreasonably, extremely, irrationally, over, unjustly. ANTONYMS: (adv) reasonably, sensibly, moderately, duly, justifiably, fairly.

8

FIRMNESS IS DISCOVERED IN A GENTLE HEART

On that evening the interior of Blooms-End, though **cosy** and comfortable, had been rather silent. Clym Yeobright was not at home. Since the Christmas party he had gone on a few days' visit to a friend about ten miles off.

The **shadowy** form seen by Venn to part from Wildeve in the porch, and quickly withdraw into the house, was Thomasin's. On entering she threw down a **cloak** which had been **carelessly** wrapped round her, and came forward to the light, where Mrs. Yeobright sat at her work-table, drawn up within the settle, so that part of it **projected** into the chimney-corner.

"I don't like your going out after dark alone, Tamsin," said her aunt quietly, without looking up from her work. "I have only been just outside the door."

"Well?" inquired Mrs. Yeobright, struck by a change in the tone of Thomasin's voice, and **observing** her. Thomasin's cheek was **flushed** to a pitch far beyond that which it had reached before her troubles, and her eyes glittered.

"It was he who knocked," she said.

"I thought as much."

Thesaurus

carelessly: (adv) incautiously, hastily, recklessly, heedlessly, casually, sloppily, imprudently, inconsiderately, rashly, negligently, unwarily. ANTONYMS: (adv) thoroughly, diligently, carefully, warily, laboriously, thoughtfully, attentively, daintily, methodically, discreetly, economically.

cloak: (n, v) veil, mask, camouflage, wrap, masquerade, screen, pall; (n) cape; (v) conceal, dissemble, hide.

ANTONYMS: (v) reveal, uncloak, unmask; (n, v) uncover.

cosy: (v) comfortable; (adj) comfy, companionable, sociable, snug, convenient, conversable, clubbable, easeful, intimate; (n) cosey.

ANTONYMS: (adj) formal, tense.

flushed: (adj, n) red, sanguine; (adj) feverish, glowing, aroused, aflame, burning, exultant, exulting; (n) flush, elated. ANTONYM: (adj) cool.

observing: (adj) observant, mindful,

watchful, commemorative, conscious, observative, perceptive, thoughtful; (n) investigation.

projected: (adj) proposed, jutting, planned, deliberate, protruding, protrusive, sticking, sticking out, likely, anticipated, expected.

shadowy: (adj) indistinct, misty, dark, faint, obscure, hazy, gloomy, vague, shady, insubstantial, dusky.

ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, palpable, light, distinct, open.

"He wishes the marriage to be at once."

"Indeed! What--is he anxious?" Mrs. Yeobright directed a searching look upon her niece. "Why did not Mr. Wildeve come in?"

"He did not wish to. You are not friends with him, he says. He would like the wedding to be the day after tomorrow, quite privately; at the church of his parish--not at ours."

"Oh! And what did you say?"

"I agreed to it," Thomasin answered firmly. "I am a practical woman now. I don't believe in hearts at all. I would marry him under any circumstances since-since Clym's letter."

A letter was lying on Mrs. Yeobright's work-basket, and at Thomasin's words her aunt reopened it, and silently read for the **tenth** time that day:--

What is the meaning of this silly story that people are circulating about Thomasin and Mr. Wildeve? I should call such a scandal humiliating if there was the least chance of its being true. How could such a gross **falsehood** have arisen? It is said that one should go abroad to hear news of home, and I appear to have done it. Of course I contradict the tale everywhere; but it is very vexing, and I wonder how it could have originated. It is too ridiculous that such a girl as Thomasin could so mortify us as to get jilted on the wedding day. What has she done?

"Yes," Mrs. Yeobright said sadly, putting down the letter. "If you think you can marry him, do so. And since Mr. Wildeve wishes it to be unceremonious, let it be that too. I can do nothing. It is all in your own hands now. My power over your welfare came to an end when you left this house to go with him to Anglebury." She continued, half in bitterness, "I may almost ask, why do you consult me in the matter at all? If you had gone and married him without saying a word to me, I could hardly have been angry--simply because, poor girl, you can't do a better thing."

Thesaurus

circulating: (v) circulate; (adj) cyclic, circulative, moving; (n) distribution. contradict: (v) deny, oppose, belie, conflict, confute, controvert, contravene, disprove, refute, invalidate, impugn. ANTONYMS: (v) mortify: (v) humble, disgrace, abase, agree, match, correspond, approve, corroborate, prove, support, reinforce.

falsehood: (n) fable, fabrication, deception, untruth, lie, fib, fiction, invention, dishonesty; (adj, n) deceit, falsity. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, honesty, reality.

jilted: (v) crossed in love, lovelorn; (adj, v) rejected; (adj) abandoned, spurned, unloved.

crush, embarrass, degrade, shame, demean, depress; (n, v) chagrin; (adj,

tenth: (adj, n) tithe; (adj) denary, decimal, decuple, tenfold; (n) ten percent, tenth part, simple fraction,

common fraction, disme. unceremonious: (adj) informal, familiar, casual, abrupt, uncivil, ungracious, rough, sharp, curt, unceremonial, bluff. ANTONYMS: (adj) formal, gracious. vexing: (adj) irritating, infuriating, maddening, annoying, galling, troublesome, bothersome, aggravating, exasperating, irksome, pestiferous.

"Don't say that and dishearten me."

"You are right--I will not."

"I do not plead for him, Aunt. Human nature is weak, and I am not a blind woman to insist that he is perfect. I did think so, but I don't now. But I know my course, and you know that I know it. I hope for the best."

"And so do I, and we will both continue to," said Mrs. Yeobright, rising and **kissing** her. "Then the wedding, if it comes off, will be on the morning of the very day Clym comes home?"

"Yes. I decided that it ought to be over before he came. After that you can look him in the face, and so can I. Our concealments will matter nothing."

Mrs. Yeobright moved her head in thoughtful **assent**, and presently said, "Do you wish me to give you away? I am willing to undertake that, you know, if you wish, as I was last time. After once **forbidding** the banns I think I can do no less."

"I don't think I will ask you to come," said Thomasin reluctantly, but with decision. "It would be unpleasant, I am almost sure. Better let there be only strangers present, and none of my relations at all. I would rather have it so. I do not wish to do anything which may touch your credit, and I feel that I should be uncomfortable if you were there, after what has passed. I am only your niece, and there is no necessity why you should concern yourself more about me."

"Well, he has beaten us," her aunt said. "It really seems as if he had been playing with you in this way in **revenge** for my **humbling** him as I did by standing up against him at first."

"O no, Aunt," murmured Thomasin.

They said no more on the subject then. Diggory Venn's knock came soon after; and Mrs. Yeobright, on returning from her interview with him in the porch, carelessly observed, "Another **lover** has come to ask for you."

"No?"

"Yes, that queer young man Venn."

assent: (n) acceptance, acquiescence, approval, agreement, compliance, admission, approbation; (v) accede, accord, agree; (adj, v) acquiesce. ANTONYMS: (v) resist, disagree, disapprove, reject, refuse; (n) disagreement, refusal, resistance. dishearten: (adj, v) discourage; (v) depress, daunt, sadden, deject, intimidate, deter, disappoint, dispirit, frustrate, unnerve. ANTONYMS: (v) cheer, hearten, inspirit, rouse,

Thesaurus

embolden, inspire, please. forbidding: (adj) grim, ominous, dismal, dour, austere, abominable, ugly, hard, repulsive, redoubtable; (n) banning. ANTONYMS: (adj) alluring, inviting, pleasant, hospitable, friendly, favorable, comforting.

humbling: (adj) humiliating, demeaning, abject, amazing, astounding, awesome, breathtaking, critical, embarrassing; (n) comedown, debasement.

kissing: (n) hugging, cuddling, fondling, arousal, foreplay, necking; (adj) embracing, adhering closely, billing, clinging, interosculant.

lover: (n) dear, darling, fan, devotee, beau, buff, love, admirer, beloved, amorist, man.

revenge: (*n*) retribution, vengeance, reprisal, retaliation, repayment, grudge, punishment; (*v*) retaliate, repay, requite, vindicate.

"Asks to pay his addresses to me?"

"Yes; and I told him he was too late."

Thomasin looked silently into the candle-flame. "Poor Diggory!" she said, and then **aroused** herself to other things.

The next day was passed in mere mechanical **deeds** of preparation, both the women being anxious to immerse themselves in these to escape the emotional aspect of the situation. Some wearing apparel and other articles were collected anew for Thomasin, and remarks on domestic details were frequently made, so as to obscure any inner **misgivings** about her future as Wildeve's wife.

The appointed morning came. The arrangement with Wildeve was that he should meet her at the church to guard against any unpleasant curiosity which might have affected them had they been seen walking off together in the usual country way.

Aunt and niece stood together in the bedroom where the **bride** was dressing. The sun, where it could catch it, made a mirror of Thomasin's hair, which she always wore braided. It was braided according to a calendar system--the more important the day the more numerous the strands in the braid. On ordinary working-days she braided it in threes; on ordinary Sundays in fours; at Maypolings, gipsyings, and the like, she braided it in fives. Years ago she had said that when she married she would braid it in sevens. She had braided it in sevens today.

"I have been thinking that I will wear my blue silk after all," she said. "It is my wedding day, even though there may be something sad about the time. I mean," she added, anxious to correct any wrong impression, "not sad in itself, but in its having had great disappointment and trouble before it."

Mrs. Yeobright breathed in a way which might have been called a sigh. "I almost wish Clym had been at home," she said. "Of course you chose the time because of his absence."

Thesaurus (adj, v) embroider, lace; (v) plat; (n)

tress, pigtail, ribbon, band.

anew: (adv) again, newly, lately, recently, over again, once more, once again, new; (adj) only yesterday, the other day, just now. **apparel**: (n, v) garb, attire, garment, array, vesture; (n) clothing, finery, costume, clothes; (v) adorn, clothe. aroused: (adj) ablaze, aflame, passionate, hot, agitated, inflamed, susceptible, tense, fascinated, emotional, elated. **braid**: (adj) knit, string, tie; (n, v) twine;

tressed, breaded. bride: (n) fiance, Bridget, Brigid, saint Brigid, saint Bridget, honeymooner, prioress, newlywed, participant, wife, bridegroom. ANTONYMS: (n) bridegroom, groom. deeds: (n) works, activity, actions, conduct, background, events, happenings, performance, activities.

fives: (n) LA grace, battledore and shuttlecock, rackets, court game. braided: (adj) curled, decorated, artful, immerse: (v) douse, plunge, drench, dunk, absorb, drown, engross, bury, engulf, steep, submerge. misgivings: (n) anxiety, doubt, misgiving, apprehension, fear, suspicion, doubts, concern, consternation, disbelief, foreboding. ANTONYM: (n) equanimity. sevens: (n) parliament, fantan, cards, card game.

"Partly. I have felt that I acted **unfairly** to him in not telling him all; but, as it was done not to **grieve** him, I thought I would carry out the plan to its end, and tell the whole story when the sky was clear."

"You are a practical little woman," said Mrs. Yeobright, smiling. "I wish you and he--no, I don't wish anything. There, it is nine o'clock," she interrupted, hearing a **whizz** and a dinging downstairs.

"I told Damon I would leave at nine," said Thomasin, hastening out of the room.

Her aunt followed. When Thomasin was going up the little walk from the door to the wicket-gate, Mrs. Yeobright looked reluctantly at her, and said, "It is a shame to let you go alone."

"It is necessary," said Thomasin.

"At any rate," added her aunt with forced cheerfulness, "I shall call upon you this afternoon, and bring the cake with me. If Clym has returned by that time he will perhaps come too. I wish to show Mr. Wildeve that I bear him no ill-will. Let the past be forgotten. Well, God bless you! There, I don't believe in old superstitions, but I'll do it." She threw a slipper at the retreating figure of the girl, who turned, smiled, and went on again.

A few steps further, and she looked back. "Did you call me, Aunt?" she **tremulously** inquired. "Good-bye!"

Moved by an uncontrollable feeling as she looked upon Mrs. Yeobright's worn, wet face, she ran back, when her aunt came forward, and they met again. "O--Tamsie," said the elder, weeping, "I don't like to let you go."

"I--I am--" Thomasin began, giving way likewise. But, **quelling** her grief, she said "Good-bye!" again and went on.

Then Mrs. Yeobright saw a little figure wending its way between the scratching furze-bushes, and diminishing far up the valley--a pale-blue spot in a vast field of neutral brown, solitary and **undefended** except by the power of her own hope.

Thesaurus

grieve: (*n*, *v*) distress, aggrieve, afflict, sorrow, annoy; (*v*) trouble, lament, deplore, bemoan, fret, bewail.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) rejoice, celebrate, encourage.

ill-will: (*n*) enmity.

quelling: (*n*) crushing, suppression, stifling, quell, forceful prevention, inhibition, curtailment, appeasement, bar, prevention.

retreating: (n) flight; (adj) moving

slipper: (*n*) mule, sandal, pump, boot, carpet slipper, bootee, slider, patten, scuffs, slipshoe, vertical synchronized slipper. **tremulously**: (*adv*) fearfully,

shiveringly, tremblingly, shakingly, quiveringly, quaveringly, fidgetily, vibratingly.

undefended: (adj) unprotected, undefendable, exposed, assailable, vulnerable, open, unguarded, undecided, unarmed, overt, opened out. ANTONYMS: (adj) secure, defensible.

unfairly: (adv) dishonestly, deceitfully, partially, unequally, deceptively, wrongly, wrongfully, unduly, fraudulently; (adv, v) foully, shamefully. ANTONYMS: (adv) honestly, justly, reasonably, evenly, genuinely.

whizz: (*n*, *v*) whiz; (*v*) whir, zoom, birr, whirr, speed, purr, rain cats and dogs; (*n*) magician, ace, puzzle.

But the worst feature in the case was one which did not appear in the landscape; it was the man.

The hour chosen for the ceremony by Thomasin and Wildeve had been so timed as to enable her to escape the awkwardness of meeting her cousin Clym, who was returning the same morning. To own to the partial truth of what he had heard would be **distressing** as long as the humiliating position resulting from the event was **unimproved**. It was only after a second and successful journey to the **altar** that she could lift up her head and prove the failure of the first attempt a pure accident.

She had not been gone from Blooms-End more than half an hour when Yeobright came by the meads from the other direction and entered the house.

"I had an early breakfast," he said to his mother after **greeting** her. "Now I could eat a little more."

They sat down to the repeated meal, and he went on in a low, anxious voice, apparently **imagining** that Thomasin had not yet come downstairs, "What's this I have heard about Thomasin and Mr. Wildeve?"

"It is true in many points," said Mrs. Yeobright quietly; "but it is all right now, I hope." She looked at the clock.

"True?"

"Thomasin is gone to him today."

Clym pushed away his breakfast. "Then there is a **scandal** of some sort, and that's what's the matter with Thomasin. Was it this that made her ill?"

"Yes. Not a scandal--a misfortune. I will tell you all about it, Clym. You must not be angry, but you must listen, and you'll find that what we have done has been done for the best."

She then told him the circumstances. All that he had known of the affair before he returned from Paris was that there had existed an **attachment** between Thomasin and Wildeve, which his mother had at first discountenanced, but had since, owing to the arguments of Thomasin, looked upon in a little more

Thesaurus

altar: (n) shrine, Communion table, sanctuary, table, structure, sanctum sanctorum, sacristy, construction, examination hall, holy of Holies. attachment: (n) appendix, addition, accessory, adherence, regard, link, bond, fitting, devotion, liking, connection. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion, estrangement, repulsion, separation, dislike. distressing: (adj) sorrowful, deplorable, pitiful, painful, bad,

depressing, disturbing, sore, lamentable, hurtful, worrying. ANTONYMS: (adj) reassuring, heartwarming, pleasing, unemotional, soothing, comforting, comfortable, cheerful, appealing, happy.

greeting: (n) welcome, salutation, address, greet, compliments, acknowledgment, accost, hello, hullo, nod; (v) salute. ANTONYM: (n) goodbye.

imagining: (n) conception, daydream, fantasy, opinion; (v) imagine; (adj) imaginant.

scandal: (n) disgrace, dishonor, gossip, outrage, discredit, rumor, infamy, disrepute, ignominy, detraction, shame.

unimproved: (adj) unkempt, uncleared. ANTONYM: (adj) improved. favourable light. When she, therefore, proceeded to explain all he was greatly surprised and troubled.

"And she determined that the wedding should be over before you came back," said Mrs. Yeobright, "that there might be no chance of her meeting you, and having a very painful time of it. That's why she has gone to him; they have arranged to be married this morning."

"But I can't understand it," said Yeobright, rising. "'Tis so unlike her. I can see why you did not write to me after her **unfortunate** return home. But why didn't you let me know when the wedding was going to be--the first time?"

"Well, I felt vexed with her just then. She seemed to me to be **obstinate**; and when I found that you were nothing in her mind I **vowed** that she should be nothing in yours. I felt that she was only my niece after all; I told her she might marry, but that I should take no interest in it, and should not bother you about it either."

"It wouldn't have been **bothering** me. Mother, you did wrong."

"I thought it might **disturb** you in your business, and that you might throw up your situation, or injure your prospects in some way because of it, so I said nothing. Of course, if they had married at that time in a proper manner, I should have told you at once."

"Tamsin actually being married while we are sitting here!"

"Yes. Unless some accident happens again, as it did the first time. It may, considering he's the same man."

"Yes, and I believe it will. Was it right to let her go? Suppose Wildeve is really a bad fellow?"

"Then he won't come, and she'll come home again."

"You should have looked more into it."

"It is useless to say that," his mother answered with an impatient look of **sorrow**. "You don't know how bad it has been here with us all these weeks, Clym. You don't know what a mortification anything of that sort is to a woman.

Thesaurus

bothering: (v) teasing, tormenting, carking; (n) harassment, provocation. disturb: (v) trouble, disorder, disconcert, distress, perturb, disquiet, distract, discompose, disrupt, upset, concern. ANTONYMS: (v) calm, please, soothe, smooth, order, reassure, sort, settle, respect, quiet, organize.

obstinate: (*adj*) obdurate, inflexible, intractable, determined, inveterate, disobedient, willful, stubborn,

contrary, wayward, dogged. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, amenable, irresolute, cooperative, easygoing, docile, biddable, agreeable, accommodating, malleable, gentle.

sorrow: (*n*, *v*) regret, lament, grieve; (*v*) mourn; (*n*) mourning, heartache, repentance, remorse; (*adj*, *n*) sadness, misery; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) distress.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) joy, delight, happiness, peace, hopefulness,

cheerfulness, shamelessness, calm, content; (v) rejoice.

unfortunate: (adj) inauspicious, sad, hapless, bad, inopportune, disastrous, adverse, deplorable, infelicitous, untoward, lamentable. ANTONYMS: (adj) lucky, auspicious, good, opportune, joyous, timely, appropriate, successful, easy, privileged.

vowed: (v) promised, named, benempt.

You don't know the **sleepless** nights we've had in this house, and the almost bitter words that have passed between us since that Fifth of November. I hope never to pass seven such weeks again. Tamsin has not gone outside the door, and I have been ashamed to look anybody in the face; and now you blame me for **letting** her do the only thing that can be done to set that trouble straight."

"No," he said slowly. "Upon the whole I don't blame you. But just consider how sudden it seems to me. Here was I, knowing nothing; and then I am told all at once that Tamsie is gone to be married. Well, I suppose there was nothing better to do. Do you know, Mother," he continued after a moment or two, looking suddenly interested in his own past history, "I once thought of Tamsin as a sweetheart? Yes, I did. How odd boys are! And when I came home and saw her this time she seemed so much more **affectionate** than usual, that I was quite reminded of those days, particularly on the night of the party, when she was **unwell**. We had the party just the same--was not that rather cruel to her?"

"It made no difference. I had arranged to give one, and it was not worth while to make more gloom than necessary. To begin by **shutting** ourselves up and telling you of Tamsin's **misfortunes** would have been a poor sort of welcome."

Clym remained thinking. "I almost wish you had not had that party," he said; "and for other reasons. But I will tell you in a day or two. We must think of Tamsin now."

They **lapsed** into silence. "I'll tell you what," said Yeobright again, in a tone which showed some **slumbering** feeling still. "I don't think it kind to Tamsin to let her be married like this, and **neither** of us there to keep up her spirits or care a bit about her. She hasn't **disgraced** herself, or done anything to deserve that. It is bad enough that the wedding should be so hurried and unceremonious, without our keeping away from it in addition. Upon my soul, 'tis almost a shame. I'll go."

"It is over by this time," said his mother with a sigh; "unless they were late, or he--"

Thesaurus

affectionate: (adj) fond, tender, kind, mild, devoted, ardent, warm, cordial, caring, brotherly; (adj, adv) fatherly. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, callous, undemonstrative, aloof, cool, disapproving, reserved, antagonistic, paternal, rough.

disgraced: (adj) shamed, dishonored, abashed, ashamed, damaged, dishonest, humiliated, mortified, disfigured.

lapsed: (adj) fallen, elapsed, slip,

defunct, forgotten, invalid, irreligious, lost, nonchurchgoing, finished.

letting: (*n*) lease, rental, let, renting, hire, leasing, rent, belongings, permission; (*adj*) lenient.

misfortunes: (n) misfortune. neither: (conj) either, no-one, not either, nor, nother.

shutting: (*n*) closing, conclusion, end, closure, ending, finish, mop up, culmination, closedown; (*adj*)

confining, claudent. ANTONYM: (n)

sleepless: (adj) insomniac, lidless, vigilant, wakeful, awake, watchful, disturbed, alert, unquiet, uneasy, restive.

slumbering: (adj) dormant, asleep, latent. ANTONYM: (adj) awake. **unwell**: (adj) sick, ill, poorly, ailing, sickly, unhealthy, seedy, bad, diseased, frail; (adj, v) indisposed. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, well, fit.

"Then I shall be soon enough to see them come out. I don't quite like your keeping me in ignorance, Mother, after all. Really, I half hope he has failed to meet her!"

"And ruined her character?"

"Nonsense--that wouldn't ruin Thomasin."

He took up his hat and hastily left the house. Mrs. Yeobright looked rather unhappy, and sat still, deep in thought. But she was not long left alone. A few minutes later Clym came back again, and in his company came Diggory Venn.

"I find there isn't time for me to get there," said Clym.

"Is she married?" Mrs. Yeobright inquired, turning to the reddleman a face in which a strange **strife** of wishes, for and against, was apparent.

Venn **bowed**. "She is, ma'am."

"How strange it sounds," murmured Clym.

"And he didn't disappoint her this time?" said Mrs. Yeobright.

"He did not. And there is now no slight on her name. I was hastening ath'art to tell you at once, as I saw you were not there."

"How came you to be there? How did you know it?" she asked.

"I have been in that neighbourhood for some time, and I saw them go in," said the reddleman. "Wildeve came up to the door, punctual as the clock. I didn't expect it of him." He did not add, as he might have added, that how he came to be in that neighbourhood was not by accident; that, since Wildeve's resumption of his right to Thomasin, Venn, with the thoroughness which was part of his character, had determined to see the end of the episode.

"Who was there?" said Mrs. Yeobright.

"Nobody hardly. I stood right out of the way, and she did not see me." The reddleman spoke **huskily**, and looked into the garden.

"Who gave her away?"

"Miss Vye."

Thesaurus

crooked, arciform, arching, arced, bandy, arcuate, twisted, bended. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, concave, episode: (n) affair, incident, chapter, event, occurrence, occasion, installment, happening, circumstance, subdivision, anecdote.

bowed: (adj) arched, curved, inclined,

huskily: (adv) raucously, gruffly, harshly, throatily, stoutly, strongly, roughly, strappingly, beefily,

sturdily, powerfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) softly, gently. punctual: (adj) accurate, exact,

punctilious, prompt, timely, definite, rigorous, precise, nice, mathematical; (adj, v) regular. ANTONYMS: (adj) early, unpunctual, slow.

resumption: (n) recovery, renewal, recommencement, restoration, resume, resurrection, recover, repossession, comeback, regain, recapture.

strife: (n) discord, disagreement, dissension, conflict, competition, feud, fight; (adj, n, v) dispute, debate; (n, v) controversy; (adj, n) quarrel. ANTONYMS: (n) accord, cooperation, calm, peace. thoroughness: (n) completeness, resolution, assiduousness, determination, care, caution, comprehensiveness, detail, attention to detail, resolve, meticulousness.

ANTONYM: (n) negligence.

"How very remarkable! Miss Vye! It is to be considered an honour, I suppose?"

"Who's Miss Vye?" said Clym.

"Captain Vye's granddaughter, of Mistover Knap."

"A proud girl from Budmouth," said Mrs. Yeobright. "One not much to my liking. People say she's a witch, but of course that's absurd."

The reddleman kept to himself his acquaintance with that fair personage, and also that Eustacia was there because he went to fetch her, in accordance with a promise he had given as soon as he learnt that the marriage was to take place. He merely said, in continuation of the story----

"I was sitting on the **churchyard** wall when they came up, one from one way, the other from the other; and Miss Vye was walking thereabouts, looking at the headstones. As soon as they had gone in I went to the door, feeling I should like to see it, as I knew her so well. I pulled off my boots because they were so noisy, and went up into the gallery. I saw then that the parson and clerk were already there."

"How came Miss Vye to have anything to do with it, if she was only on a walk that way?"

"Because there was nobody else. She had gone into the church just before me, not into the gallery. The parson looked round before beginning, and as she was the only one near he beckoned to her, and she went up to the rails. After that, when it came to signing the book, she pushed up her veil and signed; and Tamsin seemed to thank her for her kindness." The reddleman told the tale thoughtfully for there lingered upon his vision the changing colour of Wildeve, when Eustacia lifted the thick veil which had concealed her from recognition and looked calmly into his face. "And then," said Diggory sadly, "I came away, for her history as Tamsin Yeobright was over."

"I offered to go," said Mrs. Yeobright regretfully. "But she said it was not necessary."

Thesaurus

accordance: (n) harmony, agreement, conformity, unison, concordance, coincidence, accordancy, admission, fitness, consensus, concent. **acquaintance**: (n) connection, friend, acquaintanceship, mate, awareness, associate, buddy, friendship, intercourse, companion; (n, v)knowledge. ANTONYMS: (n) ignorance, inexperience, unfamiliarity, animosity, enemy. churchyard: (n) graveyard, burial

ground, yard, necropolis, cloisters, kirkyard. **liking**: (n, v) inclination; (n) fancy, appetite, taste, fondness, predilection, veil: (n, v) cover, hide, disguise, mask, affection, partiality, admiration, approval, appreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, aversion, hatred, indifference, detachment, dissatisfaction, antipathy. regretfully: (adv) remorsefully, repentantly, sadly, contritely, apologetically, penitently, unhappily,

sorrily, mournfully, sorrowfully, ashamedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unrepentantly, joyfully. cloud, shroud, camouflage; (v) cloak, conceal; (n) curtain, blind. ANTONYMS: (v) disclose, unveil,

witch: (n) hag, pythoness, sorceress, enchantress, magician, lamia; (v) charm, bewitch, glamour, hex, jinx. "Well, it is no matter," said the reddleman. "The thing is done at last as it was meant to be at first, and God send her happiness. Now I'll wish you good morning."

He placed his cap on his head and went out.

From that instant of leaving Mrs. Yeobright's door, the reddleman was seen no more in or about Egdon Heath for a space of many months. He vanished entirely. The nook among the brambles where his van had been standing was as **vacant** as ever the next morning, and scarcely a sign remained to show that he had been there, **excepting** a few straws, and a little redness on the turf, which was washed away by the next storm of rain.

The report that Diggory had brought of the wedding, correct as far as it went, was **deficient** in one significant particular, which had escaped him through his being at some distance back in the church. When Thomasin was **tremblingly** engaged in **signing** her name Wildeve had flung towards Eustacia a glance that said **plainly**, "I have punished you now." She had replied in a low tone--and he little thought how truly--"You mistake; it gives me sincerest pleasure to see her your wife today."

Thesaurus

deficient: (adj) wanting, inadequate, scanty, imperfect, short, scarce, less, lacking, low, meager, insufficient. ANTONYMS: (adj) sufficient, perfect, ample, flawless, enough, excessive, complete, present, sound, strong, confident.

excepting: (conj, prep) but, bar; (n, prep) except for, exclusive of; (prep) aside from, besides, apart from, barring, excluding, with the exception of; (v) saving. ANTONYM: (prep) including.

plainly: (adv) evidently, manifestly, clearly, distinctly, openly, obviously, patently, overtly, definitely; (adj, adv) frankly, honestly. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, vaguely, obscurely, figuratively, unclearly, politely, incoherently, implicitly, finely, ambiguously, covertly.

signing: (n) signature, signage,

signing: (n) signature, signage, linguistic communication, fingerspelling, ASL, language; (adj) signatory. tremblingly: (*adv*) quiveringly, tremulously, quakingly, shudderingly, shiveringly, shakily, quaveringly.

vacant: (adj) blank, hollow, unfilled, void, free, unoccupied, bare, idle, expressionless, open; (adj, v) devoid. ANTONYMS: (adj) full, cognizant, overflowing, inhabited, aware, comprehending, animated, solid, expressive, knowing.

BOOK THREE THE FASCINATION

1

"MY MIND TO ME A KINGDOM IS"

In Clym Yeobright's face could be **dimly** seen the typical **countenance** of the future. Should there be a classic period to art **hereafter**, its Pheidias may produce such faces. The view of life as a thing to be put up with, replacing that **zest** for existence which was so intense in early civilizations, must ultimately enter so thoroughly into the constitution of the advanced **races** that its facial expression will become accepted as a new artistic departure. People already feel that a man who lives without disturbing a curve of feature, or setting a mark of mental concern anywhere upon himself, is too far removed from modern **perceptiveness** to be a modern type. Physically beautiful men--the glory of the race when it was young--are almost an **anachronism** now; and we may wonder whether, at some time or other, physically beautiful women may not be an anachronism likewise.

The truth seems to be that a long line of disillusive **centuries** has permanently displaced the Hellenic idea of life, or whatever it may be called. What the Greeks only suspected we know well; what their Aeschylus imagined our nursery children feel. That old-fashioned **revelling** in the general situation grows less

Thesaurus

anachronism: (n) anomaly, artefact, artifact, parachronism, prochronism, timekeeping, mistiming, antichronism, misdating.
centuries: (n) century.
countenance: (n) aspect, expression, brow, complexion; (n, v) face, sanction, support, favor; (v) allow, tolerate, uphold. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, oppose, discourage, disapprove, prohibit.
dimly: (adv) obscurely, darkly, faintly,

dully, duskily, vaguely, shadowily, hazily, gloomily, somberly; (*adj*, *adv*) palely. ANTONYMS: (*adv*) clearly, strongly, distinctly.

hereafter: (adv) thereafter, from now on, hence, henceforth, hereinafter, afterwards; (n) afterlife, futurity, time to come, great beyond, future life. perceptiveness: (n) discernment, perceptivity, delicacy, judgment, discrimination, insight, culture, connoisseurship, appreciation, taste,

perception.

races: (n) racing, athletics.

revelling: (n) rejoicing, jubilation,
heyday, flush, triumph; (adj) exultant.

zest: (n) gusto, taste, savor, flavor,
enthusiasm, piquancy, energy,
enjoyment, tang, appetite; (n, v) spice.
ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy,
blandness, dullness, indifference.

and less possible as we **uncover** the defects of natural **laws**, and see the **quandary** that man is in by their operation.

The lineaments which will get embodied in ideals based upon this new recognition will probably be akin to those of Yeobright. The observer's eye was arrested, not by his face as a picture, but by his face as a page; not by what it was, but by what it recorded. His features were attractive in the light of symbols, as sounds **intrinsically** common become attractive in language, and as shapes intrinsically simple become interesting in writing.

He had been a lad of whom something was expected. Beyond this all had been chaos. That he would be successful in an original way, or that he would go to the dogs in an original way, seemed equally probable. The only absolute certainty about him was that he would not stand still in the circumstances amid which he was born.

Hence, when his name was casually mentioned by neighbouring yeomen, the listener said, "Ah, Clym Yeobright--what is he doing now?" When the instinctive question about a person is, What is he doing? it is felt that he will be found to be, like most of us, doing nothing in particular. There is an indefinite sense that he must be invading some region of **singularity**, good or bad. The **devout** hope is that he is doing well. The secret faith is that he is making a mess of it. Half a dozen comfortable market-men, who were habitual callers at the Quiet Woman as they passed by in their carts, were partial to the topic. In fact, though they were not Egdon men, they could hardly avoid it while they sucked their long clay tubes and **regarded** the heath through the window. Clym had been so inwoven with the heath in his **boyhood** that hardly anybody could look upon it without thinking of him. So the subject recurred: if he were making a fortune and a name, so much the better for him; if he were making a tragical figure in the world, so much the better for a narrative.

The fact was that Yeobright's fame had spread to an awkward extent before he left home. "It is bad when your fame outruns your means," said the Spanish Jesuit Gracian. At the age of six he had asked a Scripture **riddle**: "Who was the first man known to wear breeches?" and applause had resounded from the very

Thesaurus

youth, youthhood, infancy, girlhood, age, boyism, puberty. ANTONYM: (n) adulthood. devout: (adj) pious, devoted, saintly, heartfelt, holy, dear, devotional, hearty, earnest; (adj, v) pure; (adj, n) godly. ANTONYMS: (adj) irreligious, agnostic, impious, irreverent, unbelieving, undevout, unholy, atheistic, secular, uncommitted. intrinsically: (adv) essentially,

boyhood: (n) babyhood, adolescence,

naturally, internally, inwardly, immanently, instinctively, really, in and of itself, as such, per se; (adj, adv) innately.

laws: (n) Pentateuch, Torah. quandary: (n) predicament, plight, difficulty, puzzle, doubt, problem, embarrassment, hole, uncertainty, perplexity; (adj, n) nonplus. regarded: (adj) reputed.

riddle: (*n*) mystery, conundrum, puzzle, problem, poser; (*n*, *v*) screen,

sieve; (v) puncture, strain, filter, sift. ANTONYM: (n) explanation. singularity: (n) oddity, peculiarity, individuality, eccentricity, idiosyncrasy, oddness, abnormality, uniqueness, irregularity, identity, particularity.

uncover: (v) expose, disclose, discover, reveal, show, find, divulge, strip, bare, unearth, unfold. ANTONYMS: (v) cover, conceal, hide, suppress, wrap, bury, confuse, drape.

verge of the heath. At seven he painted the Battle of Waterloo with tiger-lily pollen and black-currant juice, in the absence of water-colours. By the time he reached twelve he had in this manner been heard of as artist and scholar for at least two miles round. An individual whose fame spreads three or four thousand yards in the time taken by the fame of others similarly situated to travel six or eight hundred, must of necessity have something in him. Possibly Clym's fame, like Homer's, owed something to the accidents of his situation; nevertheless famous he was.

He grew up and was helped out in life. That waggery of fate which started Clive as a writing clerk, Gay as a linen-draper, Keats as a surgeon, and a thousand others in a thousand other odd ways, banished the wild and ascetic heath lad to a trade whose sole concern was with the especial symbols of selfindulgence and vainglory.

The details of this choice of a business for him it is not necessary to give. At the death of his father a **neighbouring** gentleman had kindly undertaken to give the boy a start, and this assumed the form of sending him to Budmouth. Yeobright did not wish to go there, but it was the only feasible opening. Thence he went to London; and thence, shortly after, to Paris, where he had remained till now.

Something being expected of him, he had not been at home many days before a great curiosity as to why he stayed on so long began to arise in the heath. The natural term of a holiday had passed, yet he still remained. On the Sunday morning following the week of Thomasin's marriage a discussion on this subject was in progress at a hair-cutting before Fairway's house. Here the local barbering was always done at this hour on this day, to be followed by the great Sunday wash of the inhabitants at noon, which in its turn was followed by the great Sunday dressing an hour later. On Egdon Heath Sunday proper did not begin till dinner-time, and even then it was a somewhat battered specimen of the day.

These Sunday-morning hair-cuttings were performed by Fairway; the victim sitting on a chopping-block in front of the house, without a coat, and the

Thesaurus

ascetic: (adj) abstemious, austere, Spartan, ascetical, severe; (n) hermit, abstinent, monk, recluse, eisel, abstainer. ANTONYMS: (adj) sumptuous, fussy, hedonistic, lavish. battered: (adj) worn, damaged, hurt, maltreated, tattered, ragged, shabby, injured; (v) seedy, pulled down, shattered. neighbouring: (adj) adjoining,

contiguous, vicinal, abutting; (v) adjoin.

noon: (n) high noon, noonday, noontide, afternoon, hour, dinnertime, crest, twelve noon; (adj) meridian, meridional; (adj, n) culmination. pollen: (n) powder.

scholar: (n) learner, academic, student, pundit, apprentice, intellectual, brain, exhibitioner, academician, professor, disciple. ANTONYM: (n) teacher.

self-indulgence: (n) dissipation, pleasure, merriment, enjoyment,

decadence, excess. vainglory: (n) pride, vanity, boastfulness, gaudery, brag, boast, pretension, pomp, coxcombry, boasting, bragging.

verge: (n, v) edge, skirt; (n) boundary, brink, margin, limit, rim, bound, brim, side; (v) bend. ANTONYMS: (n) end, middle; (v) retreat.

waggery: (n) joke, sport, jest, fun, jocularity, pleasantry, play, mischief, waggishness, funniness, clowning.

neighbours gossiping around, idly observing the locks of hair as they rose upon the wind after the snip, and flew away out of sight to the four quarters of the heavens. Summer and winter the scene was the same, unless the wind were more than usually blusterous, when the stool was shifted a few feet round the corner. To complain of cold in sitting out of doors, hatless and coatless, while Fairway told true stories between the cuts of the scissors, would have been to pronounce yourself no man at once. To flinch, exclaim, or move a muscle of the face at the small stabs under the ear received from those instruments, or at scarifications of the neck by the comb, would have been thought a gross breach of good manners, considering that Fairway did it all for nothing. A bleeding about the poll on Sunday afternoons was amply accounted for by the explanation. "I have had my hair cut, you know."

The conversation on Yeobright had been started by a distant view of the young man rambling leisurely across the heath before them.

"A man who is doing well elsewhere wouldn't bide here two or three weeks for nothing," said Fairway. "He's got some project in 's head--depend upon that."

"Well, 'a can't keep a diment shop here," said Sam.

"I don't see why he should have had them two heavy boxes home if he had not been going to bide; and what there is for him to do here the Lord in heaven knows."

Before many more surmises could be indulged in Yeobright had come near; and seeing the hair-cutting group he turned aside to join them. Marching up, and looking critically at their faces for a moment, he said, without introduction, "Now, folks, let me guess what you have been talking about."

"Ay, sure, if you will," said Sam.

"About me."

"Now, it is a thing I shouldn't have dreamed of doing, otherwise," said Fairway in a tone of integrity; "but since you have named it, Master Yeobright, I'll own that we was talking about 'ee. We were wondering what could keep you

Thesaurus

exclaim: (v) call out, call, shout, cry

amply: (adj, adv) abundantly, sufficiently; (adv) fully, well, lavishly, plentifully, richly, generously, enough, adequately, capaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) meagerly, inadequately, illiberally, sparingly, blusterous: (adj) blustery, gusty, stormy, blustrous, noisy, breezy. comb: (v) brush, ransack, search, dress, eliminate, groom; (adj) weed;

(n) crest, combing, caruncle,

out, ejaculate, clamor, outcry, scream, desultory, discursive, erratic, shout out, speak, vociferate. flinch: (v) cower, quail, recoil, recede, blench, shrink; (n, v) cringe, start, retreat, jump, jerk. gossiping: (adj) gabby, garrulous, scandalous; (n) gossipmongering. pronounce: (v) articulate, declare, affirm, say, assert, express, vocalize,

proclaim; (n, v) allege; (adj, v) deliver,

rambling: (adj) disjointed, incoherent, excursive, meandering, diffuse, loose, errant; (adj, n) wandering. ANTONYMS: (adj) coherent, abrupt, conclusive, pithy, taciturn, compact. **snip**: (n, v) cut; (v) slice, crop, trim, nip, prune, pare, pinch, lop, sever; (n) clipping. wondering: (adj) inquisitive,

utter. ANTONYM: (v) mumble.

speculative, suspicious.

home here mollyhorning about when you have made such a world-wide name for yourself in the nick-nack trade--now, that's the truth o't."

"I'll tell you," said Yeobright. with unexpected earnestness. "I am not sorry to have the opportunity. I've come home because, all things considered, I can be a **trifle** less **useless** here than anywhere else. But I have only lately found this out. When I first got away from home I thought this place was not worth troubling about. I thought our life here was **contemptible**. To oil your boots instead of **blacking** them, to dust your coat with a switch instead of a brush--was there ever anything more ridiculous? I said."

"So 'tis; so 'tis!"

"No, no--you are wrong; it isn't."

"Beg your pardon, we thought that was your maning?"

"Well, as my views changed my course became very **depressing**. I found that I was trying to be like people who had hardly anything in common with myself. I was endeavouring to put off one sort of life for another sort of life, which was not better than the life I had known before. It was simply different."

"True; a sight different," said Fairway.

"Yes, Paris must be a taking place," said Humphrey. "Grand shop-winders, trumpets, and **drums**; and here be we out of doors in all winds and weathers--"

"But you mistake me," pleaded Clym. "All this was very depressing. But not so depressing as something I next perceived--that my business was the idlest, vainest, most **effeminate** business that ever a man could be put to. That decided me--I would give it up and try to follow some rational occupation among the people I knew best, and to whom I could be of most use. I have come home; and this is how I mean to carry out my plan. I shall keep a school as near to Egdon as possible, so as to be able to walk over here and have a night-school in my mother's house. But I must study a little at first, to get properly qualified. Now, neighbours, I must go."

And Clym resumed his walk across the heath.

Thesaurus

blacking: (n) black-wash, polish, shoe Polish, black wash.

contemptible: (adj) abject, mean, base, pitiful, little, worthless, unworthy, miserable, ignoble, abominable, shameful. ANTONYMS: (adj) estimable, admired, deserving, worthy, honorable, respectable, respectful, noble, generous, commendable, good.

depressing: (adj) sad, gloomy, dark, dismal, oppressive, desolate, blue,

bleak, grim, dreary, chill. ANTONYMS: (adj) inspiring, heartening, cheery, bright, exhilarating, uplifting, cheering, happy, encouraging, hopeful, constructive.

drums: (n) drumming.
effeminate: (adj) womanish, delicate,
epicene, sissy, emasculate, tender,
ladylike, cissy, easy, voluptuous; (adj,
v) feminate. ANTONYMS: (adj)
macho, manly, masculine.

trifle: (*n*, *v*) play; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) trinket; (*v*) dally, fiddle, flirt, fool, frivol; (*n*) nothing, triviality, detail; (*adj*, *n*) bagatelle.

useless: (adj) pointless, unnecessary, needless, worthless, fruitless, hopeless, abortive, idle, barren, superfluous, unavailing.

ANTONYMS: (adj) helpful, effective, competent, convenient, valuable, necessary, brilliant, great, meaningful, usable, worthwhile.

"He'll never **carry** it out in the world," said Fairway. "In a few weeks he'll **learn** to see **things** otherwise."

"Tis **good**-hearted of the **young** man," said another. "But, for my part, I think he had **better mind** his business."

Thesaurus

better: (adj, v) improve, mend; (adj, adv, v) best; (v) recover, ameliorate, emend, reform, advance, enhance, surpass; (n) bettor. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) worse; (adj, n) inferior; (v) worsen, deteriorate; (adj) lesser, lower, tinier, ill, unhealthy, smaller, sicker.

carry: (v) convey, bring, take, conduct, acquit, behave, accept, transport, comport, hold, pack. ANTONYMS: (v) withhold, lose, censor, fail, hold,

conceal.

good-hearted: (adj) benign, goodnatured, kindly, kindhearted. learn: (v) get, find, ascertain, hear, find out, have, determine, con, acquire, tell; (n, v) know. ANTONYM: (v) reject.

mind: (*n*, *v*) intellect, notice, regard; (*v*) care, look, attend, beware, keep, listen, look after; (*n*) disposition. ANTONYMS: (*v*) forget, neglect, disregard, disobey, Miss, ignore; (*n*)

emotion, inattention; (adj) physical. things: (n) gear, belongings, equipment, garb, garment, clothes, paraphernalia, goods, life, property, palliament.

young: (*n*, *v*) offspring; (*adj*, *n*) juvenile; (*adj*) immature, fresh, adolescent, new, raw, baby, childish, early; (*n*) progeny. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) old, mature, adult, ripe, older, late; (*adj*, *n*) aged.

2

THE NEW COURSE CAUSES DISAPPOINTMENT

Yeobright loved his kind. He had a conviction that the want of most men was knowledge of a sort which brings wisdom rather than affluence. He wished to raise the class at the expense of individuals rather than individuals at the expense of the class. What was more, he was ready at once to be the first unit sacrificed.

In passing from the **bucolic** to the intellectual life the intermediate stages are usually two at least, frequently many more; and one of those stages is almost sure to be worldly advanced. We can hardly imagine bucolic placidity quickening to intellectual aims without imagining social aims as the transitional phase. Yeobright's local peculiarity was that in striving at high thinking he still cleaved to plain living--nay, wild and meagre living in many respects, and brotherliness with clowns.

He was a John the Baptist who took **ennoblement** rather than repentance for his text. Mentally he was in a provincial future, that is, he was in many points abreast with the central town thinkers of his date. Much of this development he

Thesaurus

abreast: (adv) opposite, acquainted, off, au fait, alongside, on one side, abeam; (adj) near, aligned, knowledgeable; (prep) against. ANTONYMS: (adv) uninformed, lost, cleaved: (adj) torn.

affluence: (n) wealth, fortune, amplitude, luxury, ease, opulence, prosperity, richness, afflux, plenty; (adj, n) riches. ANTONYMS: (n) shortage, neediness.

brotherliness: (n) camaraderie.

bucolic: (adj, n) pastoral, provincial; (adj) rural, rustic, idyllic, country, countrified; (n) eclogue, idyl, idyll, peasant.

ennoblement: (n) status, exaltation, elevation, condition, nobility.

placidity: (n) peace, equanimity, calm, serenity, tranquility, calmness, tranquillity, placidness, repose, quiet,

quickening: (n) hurrying, hastening,

having life, ignited, laving; (adj) bracing, moving. worldly: (adj, adv) earthly; (adj) mundane, secular, terrestrial, temporal, carnal, sophisticated, lay, profane; (adv) mundanely, temporally. ANTONYMS: (adj)

speedup; (v) hasten, lively, flowing,

spiritual, naive, cloistered, religious, unsophisticated, unworldly, unrefined, otherworldly, low, heavenly, immaterial.

may have owed to his **studious** life in Paris, where he had become acquainted with ethical systems popular at the time.

In consequence of this relatively advanced position, Yeobright might have been called unfortunate. The rural world was not ripe for him. A man should be only partially before his time--to be completely to the **vanward** in aspirations is fatal to fame. Had Philip's warlike son been intellectually so far ahead as to have attempted civilization without bloodshed, he would have been twice the godlike hero that he seemed, but nobody would have heard of an Alexander.

In the interests of renown the forwardness should lie chiefly in the capacity to handle things. Successful propagandists have succeeded because the doctrine they bring into form is that which their listeners have for some time felt without being able to shape. A man who advocates aesthetic effort and deprecates social effort is only likely to be understood by a class to which social effort has become a stale matter. To argue upon the possibility of culture before luxury to the bucolic world may be to argue truly, but it is an attempt to disturb a sequence to which humanity has been long accustomed. Yeobright preaching to the Egdon eremites that they might rise to a serene **comprehensiveness** without going through the process of **enriching** themselves was not unlike arguing to ancient Chaldeans that in ascending from earth to the pure **empyrean** it was not necessary to pass first into the intervening heaven of **ether**.

Was Yeobright's mind well-proportioned? No. A well proportioned mind is one which shows no particular bias; one of which we may safely say that it will never cause its owner to be confined as a madman, tortured as a heretic, or crucified as a blasphemer. Also, on the other hand, that it will never cause him to be applauded as a prophet, revered as a priest, or exalted as a king. Its usual blessings are happiness and mediocrity. It produces the poetry of Rogers, the paintings of West, the statecraft of North, the spiritual guidance of Tomline; enabling its possessors to find their way to wealth, to wind up well, to step with dignity off the stage, to die comfortably in their beds, and to get the decent monument which, in many cases, they deserve. It never would have allowed

Thesaurus

blasphemer: (adj) scoffer. blessings: (n) blessing, godsend. comprehensiveness: (n) completeness, fullness, entirety, detail, intelligence, scope, range, flavor, wholeness, unity, totality. ANTONYM: (n) narrowness.

empyrean: (n) welkin, heavens, heaven, sky, firmament, celestial sphere, vault of heaven; (adj) sublime, heavenly, ethereal, celestial.
enriching: (n) enrichment; (v) enrich;

(adj) uplifting, educational, inspiring, elevating, edifying, artistic, enlightening.

ether: (adj) air, elastic fluid, anaesthetic studious: (adj) scholarly, bookish, agent, steam, flatus, fume, reek, vapor; (n) divinyl ether, firmament, vinyl ether. studious: (adj) scholarly, bookish, academic, assiduous, erudite, diligent, learned, careful, delibert (adj. v) thoughtful, reflective.

heretic: (n) schismatic, pagan, misbeliever, nonconformist, dissident, sectarian, heathen, pariah, outcast, dissenter, renegade. statecraft: (n) statesmanship, wisdom, wiseness, policy, politics, statism, queencraft, delicacy, diplomatic negotiations, discreetness, finesse. studious: (adj) scholarly, bookish, academic, assiduous, erudite, diligent, learned, careful, deliberate; (adj, v) thoughtful, reflective. ANTONYM: (adj) negligent. vanward: (adj) front; (adv) before. well-proportioned: (adj) classical, uniform, trim, statuesque, shapely, handsome, buxom, curvaceous.

Yeobright to do such a ridiculous thing as throw up his business to benefit his fellow-creatures.

He walked along towards home without attending to paths. If anyone knew the heath well it was Clym. He was permeated with its scenes, with its substance, and with its odours. He might be said to be its product. His eyes had first opened thereon; with its appearance all the first images, of his memory were mingled, his estimate of life had been coloured by it: his toys had been the flint knives and arrow-heads which he found there, wondering why stones should "grow" to such odd shapes; his flowers, the purple bells and yellow furze: his animal kingdom, the snakes and croppers; his society, its human haunters. Take all the varying hates felt by Eustacia Vye towards the heath, and translate them into loves, and you have the heart of Clym. He gazed upon the wide prospect as he walked, and was glad.

To many persons this Egdon was a place which had slipped out of its century generations ago, to intrude as an uncouth object into this. It was an obsolete thing, and few cared to study it. How could this be otherwise in the days of square fields, plashed hedges, and meadows watered on a plan so rectangular that on a fine day they looked like silver gridirons? The farmer, in his ride, who could smile at artificial grasses, look with solicitude at the coming corn, and sigh with sadness at the fly-eaten turnips, bestowed upon the distant upland of heath nothing better than a frown. But as for Yeobright, when he looked from the heights on his way he could not help indulging in a barbarous satisfaction at observing that, in some of the attempts at reclamation from the waste, tillage, after holding on for a year or two, had receded again in despair, the ferns and furze-tufts stubbornly reasserting themselves.

He descended into the valley, and soon reached his home at Blooms-End. His mother was **snipping** dead leaves from the window-plants. She looked up at him as if she did not understand the meaning of his long stay with her; her face had worn that look for several days. He could perceive that the curiosity which had been shown by the hair-cutting group amounted in his mother to concern. But she had asked no question with her lips, even when the arrival of his trunk

Thesaurus

barbarous: (adj) barbaric, savage, gothic, brutal, heathen, truculent, rude, fell, ferocious, fierce, uncivilized. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, cultured, civilized, sophisticated, refined, humane. bestowed: (adj) presented, conferred, awarded, accurate. reclamation: (n) claim, reclaim, retrieval, reformation, recovery,

rectification, improvement, redress,

requisition, renewal, rehabilitation.

ANTONYMS: (n) loss, return. snipping: (n) snippet, clipping, sniping, clip, piece. stubbornly: (adv) obdurately, mulishly, persistently, doggedly, tenaciously, unyieldingly, firmly, waywardly, contrarily, pertinaciously, insistently. ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, helpfully, openly, hesitantly. tillage: (n) agriculture, farming,

uncouth: (adj) rough, rude, barbarous, vulgar, crude, awkward, clumsy, gross, unrefined, ungainly, common. ANTONYMS: (adj) refined, couth, polite, sophisticated, pleasant, proper, genteel. watered: (adj) irriguous, dewy, cultivated land, tilth, husbandry, watermarked, moist.

farmland, plowland. turnips: (n) root crop, brassica, genus brassica, cauliflowers, potatoes.

culture, land, fallow, vintage,

suggested that he was not going to leave her soon. Her silence besought an explanation of him more loudly than words.

"I am not going back to Paris again, Mother," he said. "At least, in my old capacity. I have given up the business."

Mrs. Yeobright turned in **pained** surprise. "I thought something was amiss, because of the boxes. I wonder you did not tell me sooner."

"I ought to have done it. But I have been in doubt whether you would be pleased with my plan. I was not quite clear on a few points myself. I am going to take an entirely new course."

"I am astonished, Clym. How can you want to do better than you've been doing?"

"Very easily. But I shall not do better in the way you mean; I suppose it will be called doing worse. But I hate that business of mine, and I want to do some worthy thing before I die. As a **schoolmaster** I think to do it--a school-master to the poor and ignorant, to teach them what nobody else will."

"After all the trouble that has been taken to give you a start, and when there is nothing to do but to keep straight on towards affluence, you say you will be a poor man's schoolmaster. Your fancies will be your ruin, Clym."

Mrs. Yeobright spoke calmly, but the force of feeling behind the words was but too apparent to one who knew her as well as her son did. He did not answer. There was in his face that **hopelessness** of being understood which comes when the **objector** is **constitutionally** beyond the reach of a logic that, even under favouring conditions, is almost too coarse a vehicle for the **subtlety** of the argument.

No more was said on the subject till the end of dinner. His mother then began, as if there had been no **interval** since the morning. "It disturbs me, Clym, to find that you have come home with such thoughts as those. I hadn't the least idea that you meant to go backward in the world by your own free choice. Of course, I have always supposed you were going to push straight on, as other men

Thesaurus

constitutionally: (adv) legally, organically, naturally, innately, lawfully, inbornly, inherently, integrally, intrinsically, essentially, constituently.

hopelessness: (n) despair, despondency, discouragement.

despondency, discouragement, depression, desolation, sadness, dismay, hopeless, gloominess, gloom, dissatisfaction. ANTONYMS: (n) capability, power, worth, cheerfulness, effectiveness, joy,

possibility, competence, happiness. **interval**: (*n*) intermission, interruption, distance, break, interlude, hiatus, interim, pause, period, respite, gap. ANTONYM: (*n*) intensification. **objector**: (*n*) dissenter, contestant,

objector: (*n*) dissenter, contestant, dissident, nonconformist, opponent, person, somebody, someone, soul, militant, whiner.

pained: (adj) offended, aggrieved, distressed, displeased, sore, grieved, miserable, injured, wounded, worried, upset. ANTONYM: (adj) unaffected.

schoolmaster: (n) master, preceptor, pedagogue, headmaster, dominie, teacher, principal, educator, head, Lutjanus apodus, housemaster. subtlety: (n) refinement, elegance, nuance, delicacy, craft, finesse, nicety, niceness, penetration, polish, cunning. ANTONYMS: (n) tactlessness, coarseness, heaviness, vulgarity.

do--all who deserve the name--when they have been put in a good way of doing well."

"I cannot help it," said Clym, in a troubled tone. "Mother, I hate the **flashy** business. Talk about men who deserve the name, can any man deserving the name waste his time in that effeminate way, when he sees half the world going to ruin for want of somebody to **buckle** to and teach them how to breast the misery they are born to? I get up every morning and see the whole creation **groaning** and travailing in pain, as St. Paul says, and yet there am I, trafficking in **glittering** splendours with wealthy women and **titled** libertines, and pandering to the meanest vanities--I, who have health and strength enough for anything. I have been troubled in my mind about it all the year, and the end is that I cannot do it any more."

"Why can't you do it as well as others?"

"I don't know, except that there are many things other people care for which I don't; and that's partly why I think I ought to do this. For one thing, my body does not require much of me. I cannot enjoy **delicacies**; good things are wasted upon me. Well, I ought to turn that defect to advantage, and by being able to do without what other people require I can spend what such things cost upon anybody else."

Now, Yeobright, having inherited some of these very instincts from the woman before him, could not fail to **awaken** a **reciprocity** in her through her feelings, if not by arguments, disguise it as she might for his good. She spoke with less assurance. "And yet you might have been a wealthy man if you had only persevered. Manager to that large diamond establishment--what better can a man wish for? What a post of trust and respect! I suppose you will be like your father; like him, you are getting weary of doing well."

"No," said her son, "I am not weary of that, though I am weary of what you mean by it. Mother, what is doing well?"

Mrs. Yeobright was far too thoughtful a woman to be content with ready definitions, and, like the "What is wisdom?" of Plato's Socrates, and the "What is truth?" of Pontius Pilate, Yeobright's burning question received no answer.

Thesaurus

awaken: (v) arouse, wake, rouse, call, stir, kindle, get up, raise, wake up, waken, revive. ANTONYMS: (v) dampen, calm, retire, suppress, spoil, quench, douse, stifle.

buckle: (n, v) clasp, warp; (v) curve, crumple, distort, fasten; (adj, n) button; (n) screw, hook, fastener; (adj) strap. ANTONYMS: (v) unbuckle, flatten, smooth, straighten.

delicacies: (n) food, delices, cates, regalia.

flashy: (adj) flamboyant, cheap, loud, gaudy, brassy, glaring, flash, tasteless, tawdry, garish; (adj, v) showy. ANTONYMS: (adj) tasteful, restrained, drab, unexceptional, understated, dull, modest, inconspicuous, muted. glittering: (adj, v) brilliant; (adj) sparkling, flashing, dazzling, glistering, glistening, glinting, shining, scintillating, splendid; (adj, adv) aglitter.

groaning: (adj) moaning, groaningly, inarticulate.
reciprocity: (n) reciprocality,
mutuality, reciprocation, interaction,
interdependence, alternation,
interdependency, relation, exchange,
interplay, similarity.
titled: (adj) highborn, patrician,
coroneted, aristocratic, named,
generous, posh, upright, worthy, fair;
(n) princely. ANTONYM: (adj) petty.

The silence was broken by the clash of the garden gate, a tap at the door, and its opening. Christian Cantle appeared in the room in his Sunday clothes.

It was the custom on Egdon to begin the **preface** to a story before absolutely entering the house, so as to be well in for the body of the narrative by the time visitor and visited stood face to face. Christian had been saying to them while the door was leaving its latch, "To think that I, who go from home but once in a while, and hardly then, should have been there this morning!"

"Tis news you have brought us, then, Christian?" said Mrs. Yeobright.

"Ay, sure, about a witch, and ye must **overlook** my time o' day; for, says I, 'I must go and tell 'em, though they won't have half done dinner.' I assure ye it made me shake like a driven **leaf**. Do ye think any harm will come o't?"

"Well--what?"

"This morning at church we was all standing up, and the pa'son said, 'Let us pray.' 'Well,' thinks I, 'one may as well kneel as stand'; so down I went; and, more than that, all the rest were as willing to **oblige** the man as I. We hadn't been hard at it for more than a minute when a most terrible screech sounded through church, as if somebody had just gied up their heart's blood. All the folk jumped up and then we found that Susan Nunsuch had pricked Miss Vye with a long stocking-needle, as she had threatened to do as soon as ever she could get the young lady to church, where she don't come very often. She've waited for this chance for weeks, so as to draw her blood and put an end to the **bewitching** of Susan's children that has been carried on so long. Sue followed her into church, sat next to her, and as soon as she could find a chance in went the stocking-needle into my lady's arm."

"Good heaven, how horrid!" said Mrs. Yeobright.

"Sue pricked her that deep that the **maid** fainted away; and as I was afeard there might be some **tumult** among us, I got behind the bass viol and didn't see no more. But they carried her out into the air, 'tis said; but when they looked round for Sue she was gone. What a **scream** that girl gied, poor thing! There were the pa'son in his surplice holding up his hand and saying, 'Sit down, my

Thesaurus

bewitching: (adj, v) charming, fascinating, captivating, engaging; (adj) attractive, seductive, lovely, winning, entrancing, enthralling; (v) bewitch.

leaf: (*n*) page, folio, foliage, petal, frond, leafage, slip, verdure, leaflet; (*n*, *v*) sheet; (*v*) leave.

maid: (n) damsel, chambermaid, lass, lassie, girl, domestic, amah, virgin, maiden, housemaid, handmaid. oblige: (v) coerce, force, drive, constrain, make, bind, accommodate, obligate, necessitate, enforce, impel. ANTONYMS: (v) displease, request, hinder.

overlook: (v) disregard, excuse, omit, ignore, forget, fail, command, dominate, oversee, control, miss. ANTONYMS: (v) remember, notice, spot, acknowledge, see, accept, nunish

preface: (*n*, *v*) prelude, preamble, proem; (*n*) beginning, introduction,

preliminary, exordium, overture; (v) introduce, precede, premise. ANTONYMS: (n) addendum, conclusion, postscript. scream: (n, v) shout, call, howl, yell, screech, shriek, wail; (v) cry out, roar, bellow, hollo. ANTONYM: (n) bore. tumult: (adj, n, v) hubbub, disturbance; (n) stir, commotion, bustle, din, fuss, excitement; (n, v) clamor, disorder, brawl. ANTONYMS: (n) peace, push, serenity, order, calm.

good people, sit down!' But the deuce a bit would they sit down. O, and what d'ye think I found out, Mrs. Yeobright? The pa'son wears a suit of clothes under his surplice!--I could see his black sleeves when he held up his arm."

"'Tis a **cruel** thing," said Yeobright.

"Yes," said his mother.

"The nation **ought** to look into it," said Christian. "Here's Humphrey coming, I think."

In came Humphrey. "Well, have ye heard the news? But I see you have. 'Tis a very strange thing that **whenever** one of Egdon **folk** goes to church some rum job or other is sure to be doing. The last time one of us was there was when **neighbour** Fairway went in the fall; and that was the day you forbad the banns, Mrs. Yeobright."

"Has this cruelly treated girl been able to walk home?" said Clym.

"They say she got better, and went home very well. And now I've told it I must be moving homeward myself."

"And I," said Humphrey. "Truly now we shall see if there's anything in what folks say about her."

When they were gone into the heath again Yeobright said quietly to his mother, "Do you think I have turned teacher too soon?"

"It is right that there should be schoolmasters, and missionaries, and all such men," she replied. "But it is right, too, that I should try to lift you out of this life into something richer, and that you should not come back again, and be as if I had not tried at all."

Later in the day Sam, the turf-cutter, entered. "I've come a-borrowing, Mrs. Yeobright. I suppose you have heard what's been **happening** to the beauty on the hill?"

"Yes, Sam: half a dozen have been telling us."

"Beauty?" said Clym.

Thesaurus

cruel: (adj, v) hard, harsh, sharp, severe; (adj) barbarous, unkind, brutal, bloody, bitter, savage, atrocious. ANTONYMS: (adj) merciful, gentle, sympathetic, humane, liberal, compassionate, charitable, friendly, caring, considerate, libertarian. cruelly: (adv) harshly, ferociously, fiercely, viciously, inhumanly, mercilessly, pitilessly, heartlessly, roughly, unkindly; (adj, adv) bitterly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) kindly, mercifully, sympathetically, tamely, peacefully, humanely, compassionately, sensitively, respectfully, innocently, genially. folk: (n) family, common people, nationality, nation, country, clan, tribe, race, persons, man; (adj) popular.

happening: (*n*) incident, episode, circumstance, contingency, affair, event, fact, occurrence, experience,

occasion, eventuality. **neighbour**: (*adj*) neighboring,
neighbouring, neighborly, adjacent,
contiguous; (*v*) abut, populate,
adjoin, butt on, butt against; (*n*)
neighbourhood.

ought: (n, v) need; (v) had better, should, have, possessed, owned, owed, behoove; (n) aught, zero, duty. whenever: (n) anytime, convenience; (adv) always, whene'er. ANTONYM: (adv) immediately.

"Yes, tolerably well-favoured," Sam replied. "Lord! all the country owns that 'tis one of the strangest things in the world that such a woman should have come to live up there."

"Dark or fair?"

"Now, though I've seen her twenty times, that's a thing I cannot call to mind."

"Darker than Tamsin," murmured Mrs. Yeobright.

"A woman who seems to care for nothing at all, as you may say."

"She is melancholy, then?" inquired Clym.

"She mopes about by herself, and don't mix in with the people."

"Is she a young lady inclined for adventures?"

"Not to my knowledge."

"Doesn't join in with the lads in their games, to get some sort of excitement in this lonely place?"

"No."

"Mumming, for instance?"

"No. Her notions be different. I should rather say her thoughts were far away from here, with lords and ladies she'll never know, and mansions she'll never see again."

Observing that Clym appeared singularly interested Mrs. Yeobright said rather uneasily to Sam, "You see more in her than most of us do. Miss Vye is to my mind too idle to be charming. I have never heard that she is of any use to herself or to other people. Good girls don't get treated as witches even on Egdon."

"Nonsense--that proves nothing either way," said Yeobright.

"Well, of course I don't understand such niceties," said Sam, withdrawing from a possibly unpleasant argument; "and what she is we must wait for time to tell us. The business that I have really called about is this, to borrow the longest and strongest rope you have. The captain's bucket has dropped into the well,

Thesaurus

bucket: (n) pail, container, bucketful, scoop, tankard, pipkin, skeel, mug, pan, can; (v) rain cats and dogs. idle: (adj) lazy, indolent, inactive, free, unfounded, fruitless, baseless, groundless, frivolous, empty, disengaged. ANTONYMS: (adj) active, employed, industrious, energetic, meaningful, productive, worthwhile, diligent; (v) change, run,

inclined: (adj, v) given; (adj) prone,

willing, oblique, apt, predisposed, ready, minded, likely, liable, bowed. ANTONYMS: (adj) reluctant, unwilling, disinclined, horizontal, unbiased, vertical, impervious. mopes: (n) low spirits, gloom, doldrums, sadness, melancholy. tolerably: (adv) well enough, passably, acceptably, reasonably, enough, moderately, to a tolerable degree, pretty, to an adequate degree; (adj, adv) somewhat; (adj) pretty well.

ANTONYMS: (adv) unbearably, intolerably, unacceptably, unreasonably, insufficiently, inadequately.

uneasily: (adv) apprehensively, restlessly, worriedly, nervously, solicitously, unquietly, constrainedly, awkwardly, fretfully, unsettledly, fearfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) calmly, confidently, unconcernedly, comfortably, fearlessly.

and they are in want of water; and as all the chaps are at home today we think we can get it out for him. We have three cart-ropes already, but they won't reach to the bottom."

Mrs. Yeobright told him that he might have whatever ropes he could find in the outhouse, and Sam went out to search. When he passed by the door Clym joined him, and accompanied him to the gate.

"Is this young witch-lady going to stay long at Mistover?" he asked.

"I should say so."

"What a cruel shame to **ill**-use her, She must have suffered greatly--more in mind than in body."

"Twas a **graceless** trick--such a **handsome** girl, too. You ought to see her, Mr. Yeobright, being a young man come from far, and with a little more to show for your years than most of us."

"Do you think she would like to teach children?" said Clym.

Sam shook his head. "Quite a different sort of body from that, I reckon."

"O, it was merely something which occurred to me. It would of course be necessary to see her and talk it over--not an easy thing, by the way, for my family and hers are not very friendly."

"I'll tell you how you mid see her, Mr. Yeobright," said Sam. "We are going to **grapple** for the bucket at six o'clock tonight at her house, and you could lend a hand. There's five or six coming, but the well is deep, and another might be useful, if you don't mind **appearing** in that shape. She's sure to be walking round."

"I'll think of it," said Yeobright; and they parted.

He thought of it a good deal; but nothing more was said about Eustacia inside the house at that time. Whether this romantic **martyr** to **superstition** and the melancholy mummer he had conversed with under the full moon were one and the same person remained as yet a problem.

Thesaurus

appearing: (adj) seeming, beseen, emergent, accomplished; (n) coming into court; (prep) liking; (adj, adv) prima facie.

graceless: (adj) inelegant, clumsy, godless, depraved, gauche, abandoned, ungracious, dissolute, ungraceful, rude, barbaric.
ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, suave, elegant.

grapple: (*n*, *v*) grip, clasp, tackle, grasp; (*v*) fight, contend, grab,

struggle; (adj, n, v) lock; (adj, n) hook; (n) grappling.

handsome: (adj) fair, beautiful, fine, generous, charming, comely, attractive, bountiful, considerable, bonny, prepossessing. ANTONYMS: (adj) ugly, unattractive, meager, ungenerous, measly, plain. ill-use: (v) mistreat, maltreat, ill-treat.

martyr: (n) sufferer, victim, prey, object of compassion, wretch, shorn lamb; (v) martyrize, excruciate,

persecute, torture, afflict.

shook: (adj) shake, vibrate, addled,
barrel, cask, confused, distressed,
hurt, passionate, puzzled.

superstition: (n) superstitious, taboo,
religion, old wives' tale, superstitious
notion, lore, folklore, fanaticism,
fallacy, belief, magic. ANTONYMS:
(n) science, truth.

teach: (n) enlighten, educate, instruct.

teach: (*v*) enlighten, educate, instruct, coach, indoctrinate, drill, learn, lecture, school; (*adj*, *v*) guide, show.

3

THE FIRST ACT IN A TIMEWORN DRAMA

The afternoon was fine, and yeobright walked on the heath for an hour with his mother. When they reached the **lofty ridge** which **divided** the valley of Blooms-End from the adjoining valley they stood still and looked round. The Quiet Woman Inn was **visible** on the low **margin** of the heath in one direction, and **afar** on the other hand rose Mistover Knap.

"You mean to call on Thomasin?" he inquired.

"Yes. But you need not come this time," said his mother.

"In that case I'll branch off here, Mother. I am going to Mistover."

Mrs. Yeobright turned to him inquiringly.

"I am going to help them get the bucket out of the captain's well," he continued. "As it is so very deep I may be useful. And I should like to see this Miss Vye--not so much for her good looks as for another reason."

"Must you go?" his mother asked.

"I thought to."

Thesaurus

afar: (adv) off, away, far away, distantly, beyond, Afar off, in the distance, by far, apart; (adj) outlying, far. ANTONYMS: (adv) close, nearby, near; (prep) within. divided: (adj) cleft, detached, distributed, forked, shared,

distributed, forked, shared, separated, separate, disjointed, branched, pronged, disunited. inquiringly: (adv) enquiringly, inquisitively, nosily, curiously, pryingly, interestedly, searchingly, inquiring, quizzically, intrusively. **lofty**: (adj, v) high, elevated; (adj) exalted, eminent, arrogant, grand, tall, haughty, great, distinguished, majestic. ANTONYMS: (adj) short, lowly, base, modest, deferential, humble.

margin: (*n*, *v*) edge, border, brink, hem, verge, skirt; (*n*) boundary, brim, limit, bank, fringe. ANTONYMS: (*n*) inside, mainstream, middle. ridge: (*n*) ledge, bank, hill, shelf, dune,

swelling, projection, ridgepole, peak, ghat; (*n*, *v*) crease. ANTONYMS: (*n*) channel, depression, base. **visible**: (*adj*) obvious, conspicuous, apparent, open, evident, clear, plain,

apparent, open, evident, clear, plain, manifest, discernible; (adj, adv) noticeable, observable. ANTONYMS: (adj) invisible, imperceptible, unclear, obscured, concealed, hidden, obscure, undetectable, inconspicuous; (adv) absent.

And they parted. "There is no help for it," murmured Clym's mother gloomily as he withdrew. "They are sure to see each other. I wish Sam would carry his news to other houses than mine."

Clym's retreating figure got smaller and smaller as it rose and fell over the hillocks on his way. "He is tender-hearted," said Mrs. Yeobright to herself while she watched him; "otherwise it would matter little. How he's going on!"

He was, indeed, walking with a will over the furze, as straight as a line, as if his life depended upon it. His mother drew a long breath, and, abandoning the visit to Thomasin, turned back. The evening films began to make nebulous pictures of the valleys, but the high lands still were raked by the declining rays of the winter sun, which glanced on Clym as he walked forward, eyed by every rabbit and field-fare around, a long shadow advancing in front of him.

On drawing near to the furze-covered bank and ditch which fortified the captain's dwelling he could hear voices within, signifying that operations had been already begun. At the side-entrance gate he stopped and looked over.

Half a dozen able-bodied men were standing in a line from the well-mouth, holding a rope which passed over the well-roller into the depths below. Fairway, with a piece of smaller rope round his body, made fast to one of the standards, to guard against accidents, was leaning over the opening, his right hand clasping the vertical rope that descended into the well.

"Now, silence, folks," said Fairway.

The talking ceased, and Fairway gave a circular motion to the rope, as if he were stirring batter. At the end of a minute a dull splashing reverberated from the bottom of the well; the helical twist he had imparted to the rope had reached the grapnel below.

"Haul!" said Fairway; and the men who held the rope began to gather it over the wheel.

"I think we've got sommat," said one of the haulers-in.

"Then pull steady," said Fairway.

Thesaurus

able-bodied: (adj) strong, stout, hale, muscular, healthy, athletic, burly, well, hardy, fit, brawny. advancing: (adj) progressive, moving forward, increasing, moving, processive, thriving, ongoing, aggressive; (n) advancement, progression, proceeding. **clasping**: (adj) tendril. fortified: (adj) secure, watched over, shielded, securer, secured, carrying weapons, safeguarded, protected,

fast, equipped, defended. ANTONYM: (adj) unarmed. grapnel: (n) crampon, grapple, hook, tool, grip, grab, clamshell, crampoon, crampoons, grapnel anchor, grappler. signifying: (adj) indicative, implying, **helical**: (v) coiled; (adj) whorled, turbinate, volute, coiling, spiry, spiraling, voluted. **lands**: (*n*) park, estate, kingdom. nebulous: (adj) hazy, indistinct, dark, muddy, indefinite, vague, nebulose, dim, murky, formless, shapeless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) defined, precise, definite. reverberated: (adj) rebounding, repellent, driven back.

representative, suggestive of, demonstrating, symptomatic of, showing, indicatory, representing; (n)

splashing: (n) spatter, spattering, painting, splattering, dab, plash; (adj)

They gathered up more and more, till a regular dripping into the well could be heard below. It grew smarter with the increasing height of the bucket, and presently a hundred and fifty feet of rope had been pulled in.

Fairway then lit a lantern, tied it to another cord, and began lowering it into the well beside the first: Clym came forward and looked down. Strange humid leaves, which knew nothing of the seasons of the year, and quaint-natured mosses were revealed on the wellside as the lantern descended; till its rays fell upon a confused mass of rope and bucket dangling in the dank, dark air.

"We've only got en by the edge of the hoop--steady, for God's sake!" said Fairway.

They pulled with the greatest gentleness, till the wet bucket appeared about two yards below them, like a dead friend come to earth again. Three or four hands were stretched out, then jerk went the rope, whizz went the wheel, the two foremost haulers fell backward, the beating of a falling body was heard, receding down the sides of the well, and a thunderous uproar arose at the bottom. The bucket was gone again.

"Damn the bucket!" said Fairway.

"Lower again," said Sam.

"I'm as stiff as a ram's horn stooping so long," said Fairway, standing up and stretching himself till his joints creaked.

"Rest a few minutes, Timothy," said Yeobright. "I'll take your place."

The grapnel was again lowered. Its smart impact upon the distant water reached their ears like a kiss, whereupon Yeobright knelt down, and leaning over the well began dragging the grapnel round and round as Fairway had done.

"Tie a rope round him--it is dangerous!" cried a soft and anxious voice somewhere above them.

Everybody turned. The speaker was a woman, gazing down upon the group from an upper window, whose panes blazed in the ruddy glare from the west. Her lips were parted and she appeared for the moment to forget where she was.

Thesaurus (adj) fresh, cool, arid, temperate.

dangling: (adj) suspended, pendent, pendant, limp, floppy, pendulous; (n) jerk: (n, v) jump, yank, shake, twitch, suspension, abeyance, break, abatement; (adv) adangle. ANTONYM: (adj) upright. dank: (adj) damp, wet, moist, humid, sticky, soggy, sultry, muggy, juicy, rheumy, musty. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, parched, bright. humid: (adj) wet, moist, dank, damp, sultry, steamy, watery, wettish, clammy, sticky, soggy. ANTONYMS:

jar, tug, bump, heave, pull; (v) fling, flip. ANTONYM: (v) ease. threatening, dark, glum, murky; (n) fall, drop, cut, decline. panes: (n) Fauni.

ruddy: (adj) cherry, rubicund, rosy, flushed, florid, sanguine, reddish, glowing, blooming, crimson; (adj, adv) blushing.

thunderous: (adj) earsplitting, deafening, loud, booming, roaring, terrific, shrill, boisterous, unpropitious, turbulent, thriving. **lowering**: (adj) heavy, dismal, gloomy, **uproar**: (adj, n, v) hubbub, disturbance, tumult; (n) din, noise, turmoil, commotion, disorder, confusion; (adj, n) row; (n, v) brawl. ANTONYMS: (n)calm, peace, serenity, order. whereupon: (adv) thereupon, hereupon, upon which, at what, at

The rope was accordingly tied round his waist, and the work proceeded. At the next haul the weight was not heavy, and it was discovered that they had only secured a coil of the rope detached from the bucket. The **tangled** mass was thrown into the background. Humphrey took Yeobright's place, and the grapnel was lowered again.

Yeobright retired to the heap of recovered rope in a **meditative** mood. Of the identity between the lady's voice and that of the melancholy mummer he had not a moment's doubt. "How thoughtful of her!" he said to himself.

Eustacia, who had **reddened** when she **perceived** the effect of her **exclamation** upon the group below, was no longer to be seen at the window, though Yeobright scanned it wistfully. While he stood there the men at the well succeeded in getting up the bucket without a **mishap**. One of them went to **inquire** for the captain, to learn what orders he wished to give for mending the well-tackle. The captain proved to be away from home, and Eustacia appeared at the door and came out. She had lapsed into an easy and dignified calm, far removed from the intensity of life in her words of solicitude for Clym's safety.

"Will it be possible to draw water here tonight?" she inquired.

"No, miss; the bottom of the bucket is clean knocked out. And as we can do no more now we'll leave off, and come again tomorrow morning."

"No water," she murmured, turning away.

"I can send you up some from Blooms-End," said Clym, coming forward and raising his hat as the men retired.

Yeobright and Eustacia looked at each other for one instant, as if each had in mind those few moments during which a certain moonlight scene was common to both. With the glance the calm fixity of her features sublimed itself to an expression of refinement and warmth; it was like **garish** noon rising to the dignity of sunset in a couple of seconds.

"Thank you; it will hardly be necessary," she replied.

"But if you have no water?"

Thesaurus

exclamation: (n) clamor, ejaculation, exclaiming, utterance, whoop, interjection, shout, expletive, deuce, Dickens, ecphonesis. garish: (adj) flashy, loud, gaudy,

garish: (adj) flashy, loud, gaudy, brassy, blatant, meretricious, showy, flash, tawdry; (adj, v) gay, gairish. ANTONYMS: (adj) drab, inconspicuous, muted, restrained,

inquire: (*v*) demand, ask, explore, enquire, inspect, research, consult,

pry, request, wonder; (n, v) question. ANTONYM: (v) answer. meditative: (adj, v) thoughtful, pensive; (adj) wistful, reflective, broody, museful, ruminative, musing, brooding; (v) philosophical, sedate.

mishap: (n) adversity, misfortune, casualty, mischance, misery, calamity, misadventure, disaster, ill, bad luck, catastrophe.

perceived: (adj) sensed, apparent,

supposed, professed, ostensible. reddened: (adj) red, ablaze, aflame, flushed, crimson, inflamed, blazing, aroused, blemished, red as scarlet, spotty.

tangled: (adj) involved, complex, knotted, intricate, complicated, entangled, knotty, convoluted, disheveled, tousled, matted. ANTONYMS: (adj) tidy, straightforward, untangled, neat, cimple "Well, it is what I call no water," she said, blushing, and **lifting** her long-lashed eyelids as if to lift them were a work requiring consideration. "But my grandfather calls it water enough. I'll show you what I mean."

She moved away a few yards, and Clym followed. When she reached the corner of the **enclosure**, where the steps were formed for **mounting** the boundary bank, she sprang up with a **lightness** which seemed strange after her listless movement towards the well. It incidentally showed that her apparent languor did not arise from lack of force.

Clym ascended behind her, and noticed a circular **burnt** patch at the top of the bank. "Ashes?" he said.

"Yes," said Eustacia. "We had a little bonfire here last Fifth of November, and those are the marks of it."

On that spot had stood the fire she had kindled to attract Wildeve.

"That's the only kind of water we have," she continued, tossing a stone into the pool, which lay on the outside of the bank like the white of an eye without its pupil. The stone fell with a flounce, but no Wildeve appeared on the other side, as on a previous occasion there. "My grandfather says he lived for more than twenty years at sea on water twice as bad as that," she went on, "and considers it quite good enough for us here on an emergency."

"Well, as a matter of fact there are no **impurities** in the water of these pools at this time of the year. It has only just rained into them."

She shook her head. "I am managing to exist in a **wilderness**, but I cannot drink from a pond," she said.

Clym looked towards the well, which was now **deserted**, the men having gone home. "It is a long way to send for spring-water," he said, after a silence. "But since you don't like this in the pond, I'll try to get you some myself." He went back to the well. "Yes, I think I could do it by tying on this pail."

"But, since I would not trouble the men to get it, I cannot in conscience let vou."

"I don't mind the trouble at all."

Thesaurus

appendix, addendum, barrier,

burnt: (adj) adust, heated, baked, torrid, sunburnt, seared, scorched, well done, tempered, overdone, combust. ANTONYMS: (adj) underdone, unburned, wet. deserted: (adj) desert, solitary, empty, lonely, isolated, forsaken, lonesome, desolate, bleak, vacant; (adj, v) forlorn. ANTONYMS: (adj) occupied, packed, crowded, mobbed, populated, populous, overcrowded. enclosure: (n) appendage, annex, cage,

enclosing, pen, yard, hedge, addition. impurities: (n) dross, bastard, scum, cinder.

lifting: (n) rising, hoisting, plagiarism, restyling, copying, jacking; (adj) elating, enlivening, exciting, invigorating, thrilling.
lightness: (n) brightness, buoyancy, frivolity, flightiness, delicacy, airiness, agility, levity, light,

nimbleness, flippancy. ANTONYMS:

(n) darkness, gravity, weight, harshness, seriousness.

mounting: (n, v) mount; (adj, n) climbing; (n) ascent, setting, climb, frame, assembly, chassis, framework, ascension; (adj, adv) rising.

wilderness: (adj, n, v) desert; (adj, n) wild; (n) wasteland, solitude, badlands, wildness, frontier, boondocks, backwoods; (adj) Sahara; (v) squandering. ANTONYM: (n) metropolis.

He made fast the pail to the long coil of rope, put it over the wheel, and allowed it to **descend** by letting the rope slip through his hands. Before it had gone far, however, he checked it.

"I must make fast the end first, or we may lose the whole," he said to Eustacia, who had drawn near. "Could you hold this a moment, while I do it--or shall I call your servant?"

"I can hold it," said Eustacia; and he placed the rope in her hands, going then to search for the end.

"I suppose I may let it slip down?" she inquired.

"I would advise you not to let it go far," said Clym. "It will get much heavier, vou will find."

However, Eustacia had begun to pay out. While he was tying she cried, "I cannot stop it!"

Clym ran to her side, and found he could only check the rope by twisting the loose part round the upright post, when it stopped with a jerk. "Has it hurt you?"

"Yes," she replied.

"Very much?"

"No; I think not." She opened her hands. One of them was bleeding; the rope had dragged off the skin. Eustacia wrapped it in her handkerchief.

"You should have let go," said Yeobright. "Why didn't you?"

"You said I was to hold on....This is the second time I have been wounded today."

"Ah, yes; I have heard of it. I **blush** for my native Egdon. Was it a serious injury you received in church, Miss Vye?"

There was such an abundance of sympathy in Clym's tone that Eustacia slowly drew up her **sleeve** and disclosed her round white arm. A bright red spot appeared on its smooth surface, like a **ruby** on Parian marble.

"There it is," she said, putting her finger against the spot.

Thesaurus

abundance: (adj) plenty; (n) plenitude, **coil**: (n, v) spiral, curl, roll, circle, loop, store, richness, profusion, amplitude, exuberance, affluence, treasure, enough; (adj, n) riches. ANTONYMS: (n) scarcity, shortage, insufficiency, lack, aridity, scarceness, paucity, emptiness, fruitlessness, bareness. **blush**: (n, v) glow, color; (v) redden, crimson; (n) red, bloom, rosiness, ruddiness, redness; (adj) bashful; (adv) blushingly. ANTONYMS: (v) blanch, pale, blench; (n) paleness.

reel; (v) round, wind, involve; (adj, v) twist; (adj) coiling. ANTONYMS: (v) uncoil, untwist, unwind, straighten. **descend**: (v) settle, condescend, down, drop, deign, subside, go down, dismount, derive, get off, come down. ANTONYMS: (v) ascend, climb, float, scale, increase, level, pail: (n) bucketful, jug, tub, pailful, cannikin, pails, skeel, tankard, pot,

pipkin, vessel. ruby: (adj, n) red, crimson; (adj) jewel, ruddy, scarlet, diamond, pearl, precious stone, bijou; (n) carbuncle, **sleeve**: (*n*) arm, liner, cover, cuff, wristband, collar, socket, skin, sheath; (v) plexus, skein.

twisting: (adj) tortuous, winding, sinuous, crooked, zigzag, meandering; (n) distortion, turn, spin, torsion, overrefinement.

"It was **dastardly** of the woman," said Clym. "Will not Captain Vye get her punished?"

"He is gone from home on that very business. I did not know that I had such a magic reputation."

"And you fainted?" said Clym, looking at the **scarlet** little **puncture** as if he would like to **kiss** it and make it well.

"Yes, it frightened me. I had not been to church for a long time. And now I shall not go again for ever so long--perhaps never. I cannot face their eyes after this. Don't you think it **dreadfully** humiliating? I wished I was dead for hours after, but I don't mind now."

"I have come to clean away these cobwebs," said Yeobright. "Would you like to help me--by **high**-class teaching? We might benefit them much."

 $\mbox{\tt "}I$ don't quite feel anxious to. I have not much love for my fellow-creatures. Sometimes I quite hate them."

"Still I think that if you were to hear my scheme you might take an interest in it. There is no use in **hating** people--if you hate anything, you should hate what produced them."

"Do you mean Nature? I hate her already. But I shall be glad to hear your scheme at any time."

The situation had now **worked** itself out, and the next natural thing was for them to part. Clym knew this well enough, and Eustacia made a move of conclusion; yet he looked at her as if he had one word more to say. Perhaps if he had not lived in Paris it would never have been uttered.

"We have met before," he said, regarding her with rather more interest than was necessary.

"I do not own it," said Eustacia, with a repressed, still look.

"But I may think what I like."

"Yes."

"You are lonely here."

Thesaurus

dastardly: (adj) dastard, craven, base, fearful, low, shameful, ignoble, sneaky, timorous; (n) coward; (adv) recreantly. ANTONYM: (adj) honest. Idradfully: (adj, adv) frightfully, shockingly; (adv) fearfully, appallingly, hideously, horrendously, horribly, atrociously, ghastly, tremendously, horridly.
ANTONYMS: (adv) pleasantly, wonderfully, happilly, hardly, superbly, well.

hating: (adj) loathful, abhorring, disgusting, misanthropic, vengeful; (n) venom.

high-class: (adj) high, superior, patrician, posh, rich, cultured. kiss: (n, v) caress, brush, embrace, touch; (n) osculation, salute, lip, Kiss of peace, kiss hands; (v) osculate, love.

lonely: (*adj*) deserted, lone, dreary, solitary, forsaken, desert; (*adj*, *n*) isolated, alone; (*adv*) lonesomely,

solely, solitarily. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) sheltered, populous, cheerful, nearby; (*n*) foe.

puncture: (n, v) prick, cut, stab; (v) bore, drill, perforate, pierce, penetrate, broach; (n) sting, hole. ANTONYM: (v) inflate.

scarlet: (*adj*) crimson, ruddy, carmine, ruby, sanguine, rubicund, reddish, cerise; (*n*) vermilion, orange red, redness.

worked: (adj) elaborated, beaten.

"I cannot endure the heath, except in its purple season. The heath is a cruel **taskmaster** to me."

"Can you say so?" he asked. "To my mind it is most **exhilarating**, and strengthening, and **soothing**. I would rather live on these hills than anywhere else in the world."

"It is well enough for artists; but I never would learn to draw."

"And there is a very curious **druidical** stone just out there." He threw a pebble in the direction **signified**. "Do you often go to see it?"

"I was not even aware there existed any such curious druidical stone. I am aware that there are boulevards in Paris."

Yeobright looked thoughtfully on the ground. "That means much," he said.

"It does indeed," said Eustacia.

"I remember when I had the same longing for town bustle. Five years of a great city would be a perfect cure for that."

"Heaven send me such a cure! Now, Mr. Yeobright, I will go indoors and plaster my wounded hand."

They separated, and Eustacia vanished in the increasing shade. She seemed full of many things. Her past was a blank, her life had begun. The effect upon Clym of this meeting he did not fully discover till some time after. During his walk home his most intelligible sensation was that his scheme had somehow become **glorified**. A beautiful woman had been **intertwined** with it.

On reaching the house he went up to the room which was to be made his study, and occupied himself during the evening in unpacking his books from the boxes and arranging them on **shelves**. From another box he drew a lamp and a can of oil. He **trimmed** the lamp, arranged his table, and said, "Now, I am ready to begin."

He rose early the next morning, read two hours before breakfast by the light of his lamp--read all the morning, all the afternoon. Just when the sun was going down his eyes felt weary, and he leant back in his chair.

Thesaurus

druidical: (adj) druidic.
exhilarating: (adj) exciting,
stimulating, invigorating, thrilling,
elating, moving, exhilarative,
gladdening, brisk, glad, delighted.
ANTONYMS: (adj) boring, dull,
depressing, discouraging, dispiriting.
glorified: (adj) celebrated, holy,
overvalued, puffed up, overrated,
overestimated, hyped, haloed,
canonised, blessed, authorized.
intertwined: (prep) clasped together,

interlocked, interfolded; (adj) related, matted, inseparable, disheveled, tangled, entangled.

shelves: (n) shelf, rack, shelving.

signified: (n) common sense, acceptation, good sense, horse sense, mother wit, sensation, sense, sensory faculty, sentience, sentiency; (adj) implied.

soothing: (adj) calming, soft, smooth.

soothing: (*adj*) calming, soft, smooth, pacifying, quiet, restful, bland, calm, assuasive; (*adj*, *n*) softening; (*n*)

alleviation. ANTONYMS: (adj) upsetting, disturbing, hostile, scary, worrying, stimulating, exasperating, annoying, invigorating, painful, intimidating.

taskmaster: (*n*) moderator, overseer, employer, boss, coach, dictator, disciplinarian, foreman, principal, slave driver, supervisor. **trimmed**: (*adj*) down, slashed,

shortened, neat, mown, level, gelded, emasculated, demure, cunning, sly.

His room **overlooked** the front of the premises and the valley of the heath beyond. The lowest beams of the winter sun threw the shadow of the house over the palings, across the grass margin of the heath, and far up the vale, where the chimney **outlines** and those of the surrounding tree-tops stretched forth in long dark prongs. Having been seated at work all day, he decided to take a turn upon the hills before it got dark; and, going out forthwith, he struck across the heath towards Mistover.

It was an hour and a half later when he again appeared at the garden gate. The shutters of the house were closed, and Christian Cantle, who had been wheeling manure about the garden all day, had gone home. On entering he found that his mother, after waiting a long time for him, had finished her meal.

"Where have you been, Clym?" she immediately said. "Why didn't you tell me that you were going away at this time?"

"I have been on the heath."

"You'll meet Eustacia Vye if you go up there."

Clym paused a minute. "Yes, I met her this evening," he said, as though it were spoken under the sheer necessity of **preserving** honesty.

"I wondered if you had."

"It was no appointment."

"No; such meetings never are."

"But you are not angry, Mother?"

"I can hardly say that I am not. Angry? No. But when I consider the usual nature of the drag which causes men of promise to disappoint the world I feel uneasy."

"You deserve credit for the feeling, Mother. But I can assure you that you need not be disturbed by it on my account."

"When I think of you and your new crotchets," said Mrs. Yeobright, with some emphasis, "I naturally don't feel so comfortable as I did a twelvemonth ago. It is incredible to me that a man accustomed to the attractive women of

Thesaurus

fertilizer; (n, v) muck, soil; (v)

assure: (*n*, *v*) certify, warrant, vouch; (v) secure, persuade, satisfy, reassure, affirm, promise, ascertain; (adj, v)ensure. ANTONYMS: (v) alarm, disclaim, deny, disbelieve, undermine.

forthwith: (adv) directly, immediately, at once, now, instantly, straight, presently, straightaway, incontinently; (adj, adv) quickly; (adj) immediate.

manure: (n) compost, fertiliser,

fertilize, cultivate, plough, weed, plow; (adj) guano. outlines: (n) elements, conspectus, prospectus, syllabus, alphabet, grammar, contents, rudiments, synopsis, textbook, ABC. overlooked: (adj) ignored, neglected, unobserved, unnoted, unmarked.

preserving: (n) conservation, preservation, protection,

conservancy, embalmment, fixation;

(adj) saving, frugal, economical, protective, thrifty.

twelvemonth: (n) calendar year, civil year, financial year, common year, amount of time, time period, period of time, bissextile year, class, yr,

wheeling: (adj) rotating, revolving, moving; (n) rolling, city, metropolis, peal, propulsion, roll, transmission service, urban center.

Paris and elsewhere should be so easily worked upon by a girl in a heath. You could just as well have walked another way."

"I had been studying all day."

"Well, yes," she added more hopefully, "I have been thinking that you might get on as a schoolmaster, and rise that way, since you really are determined to hate the course you were pursuing."

Yeobright was unwilling to disturb this idea, though his scheme was far enough removed from one wherein the education of youth should be made a mere channel of social ascent. He had no desires of that sort. He had reached the stage in a young man's life when the grimness of the general human situation first becomes clear; and the realization of this causes ambition to halt awhile. In France it is not uncustomary to commit suicide at this stage; in England we do much better, or much worse, as the case may be.

The love between the young man and his mother was strangely invisible now. Of love it may be said, the less earthly the less demonstrative. In its absolutely indestructible form it reaches a profundity in which all exhibition of itself is painful. It was so with these. Had conversations between them been overheard, people would have said, "How cold they are to each other!"

His theory and his wishes about devoting his future to teaching had made an impression on Mrs. Yeobright. Indeed, how could it be otherwise when he was a part of her--when their discourses were as if carried on between the right and the left hands of the same body? He had despaired of reaching her by argument; and it was almost as a discovery to him that he could reach her by a magnetism which was as superior to words as words are to yells.

Strangely enough he began to feel now that it would not be so hard to persuade her who was his best friend that comparative poverty was essentially the higher course for him, as to reconcile to his feelings the act of persuading her. From every provident point of view his mother was so undoubtedly right, that he was not without a sickness of heart in finding he could shake her.

Thesaurus durable, perdurable, permanent,

awhile: (adj) in transitu, en passant; (adv) briefly. **becomes**: (v) become. **desires**: (*n*) requirements, needs. discourses: (n) talks. grimness: (n) asperity, austerity, rigor, profundity: (n) deepness, sternness, rigour, ghastliness, strictness, bleakness, hardness, gloominess, harshness. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, pleasantness, warmth. indestructible: (adj) immortal, eternal, everlasting, undestroyable, undying,

indelible, incorruptible, lasting. ANTONYMS: (adj) fragile, destructible, vulnerable, ephemeral, soft, perishable, temporary. profoundness, abstruseness, penetration, wisdom, obscurity, astuteness, abstrusity, erudition; (adj) profound, extensive. ANTONYMS: (n) superficiality, banality, flippancy, height, mildness, simplicity.

provident: (adj) prudent, frugal, sparing, economical, farsighted, cautious, careful, parsimonious, sagacious, wise; (v) precautionary. ANTONYM: (adj) foolish. reaches: (n) recess. uncustomary: (adj) uncommon,

unwonted, unconventional, peculiar, remarkable, unusual, exceptional,

wherein: (adv) in what, in which,

She had a singular insight into life, considering that she had never mixed with it. There are instances of persons who, without clear ideas of the things they criticize have yet had clear ideas of the relations of those things. Blacklock, a poet blind from his birth, could describe visual objects with accuracy; Professor Sanderson, who was also blind, gave excellent lectures on colour, and taught others the theory of ideas which they had and he had not. In the social sphere these gifted ones are mostly women; they can watch a world which they never saw, and estimate forces of which they have only heard. We call it intuition.

What was the great world to Mrs. Yeobright? A multitude whose tendencies could be perceived, though not its essences. Communities were seen by her as from a distance; she saw them as we see the throngs which cover the canvases of Sallaert, Van Alsloot, and others of that school--vast masses of beings, **jostling**, **zigzagging**, and processioning in definite directions, but whose features are indistinguishable by the very comprehensiveness of the view.

One could see that, as far as it had gone, her life was very complete on its reflective side. The philosophy of her nature, and its limitation by circumstances, was almost written in her movements. They had a **majestic** foundation, though they were far from being majestic; and they had a ground-work of assurance, but they were not assured. As her once elastic walk had become **deadened** by time, so had her natural pride of life been **hindered** in its **blooming** by her **necessities**.

The next slight touch in the **shaping** of Clym's destiny occurred a few days after. A barrow was opened on the heath, and Yeobright attended the operation, remaining away from his study during several hours. In the afternoon Christian returned from a journey in the same direction, and Mrs. Yeobright questioned him.

"They have dug a hole, and they have found things like flowerpots upside down, Mis'ess Yeobright; and inside these be real **charnel** bones. They have carried 'em off to men's houses; but I shouldn't like to sleep where they will bide. Dead folks have been known to come and claim their own. Mr. Yeobright had got one pot of the bones, and was going to bring 'em home--real skellington bones--but 'twas ordered otherwise. You'll be relieved to hear that he gave away

Thesaurus

blooming: (adj) rosy, thriving, flourishing, healthy, prosperous, ruddy, booming, blossoming, cherry, verdant, green. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, pale.

charnel: (*adj*) carnal, sepulchral, ghastly; (*n*) burial vault, cemetery, charnel house.

deadened: (*adj*) dead, numb, numbed, without sensation, duller, unfeeling, under, frozen, insensible, insensitive, knocked out.

hindered: (adj) obstructed, blocked, delayed, stalled, slowed down, slow, in an inferior position, in a weak position, impedite, thwarted, frustrated. jostling: (v) jarring; (adj) bustling; (n)

jostling: (*v*) jarring; (*adj*) bustling; (*n* elbowing.

majestic: (adj) grand, awesome, stately, imperial, royal, exalted, glorious, kingly, August; (adj, v) imposing; (adj, adv) regal. ANTONYMS: (adj) pathetic, pitiful, modest, lowly, undignified.

necessities: (n) supplies, necessity,
essential, wants, support,
subsistence, requirement, bread.
shaping: (adj, n) forming; (adj)
formative, molding; (n) forging,
grooving, rifling, defining, form,
organization, making, conformation.
zigzagging: (n) tortuousness,
circuitousness, roundabout nature.
ANTONYM: (n) directness.

his pot and all, on second thoughts; and a blessed thing for ye, Mis'ess Yeobright, considering the wind o' nights."

"Gave it away?"

"Yes. To Miss Vye. She has a **cannibal** taste for such churchyard furniture seemingly."

"Miss Vye was there too?"

"Ay, 'a b'lieve she was."

When Clym came home, which was shortly after, his mother said, in a curious tone, "The urn you had meant for me you gave away."

Yeobright made no reply; the current of her feeling was too pronounced to admit it.

The early weeks of the year passed on. Yeobright certainly studied at home, but he also walked much abroad, and the direction of his walk was always towards some point of a line between Mistover and Rainbarrow.

The month of March arrived, and the heath showed its first signs of awakening from winter trance. The awakening was almost **feline** in its **stealthiness**. The pool outside the bank by Eustacia's dwelling, which seemed as dead and desolate as ever to an observer who moved and made noises in his observation, would gradually disclose a state of great animation when silently watched awhile. A timid animal world had come to life for the season. Little tadpoles and efts began to bubble up through the water, and to race along beneath it; **toads** made noises like very young ducks, and advanced to the margin in twos and threes; overhead, **bumblebees** flew hither and thither in the **thickening** light, their **drone** coming and going like the sound of a **gong**.

On an evening such as this Yeobright descended into the Blooms-End valley from beside that very pool, where he had been standing with another person quite silently and quite long enough to hear all this **puny** stir of resurrection in nature; yet he had not heard it. His walk was rapid as he came down, and he went with a **springy** trend. Before entering upon his mother's premises he stopped and breathed. The light which shone forth on him from the window

Thesaurus

bumblebees: (n) genus Bombus, Apidae, Bombus, family Apidae. cannibal: (n) savage, barbarian, anthropophagus, brute; (adj) anthropophagous, carnivorous. drone: (n, v) hum, murmur; (v) whine, idler, purr; (n) dawdler, droning, laggard, sluggard, roll; (adv, n) bourdon. feline: (adj) cattish, subtle, bovine, animal, canine, insidious, fishy, vulpine; (n) felid; (v) furtive; (adj, v)

stealthy.
gong: (n) bell, carillon, chime, cymbal,
medal, Alexander Melville Bell,
handbell, English painter, doorbell,
bell shape, Alexander Graham Bell.
puny: (adj) weak, petty, feeble, frail,
tiny, small, minute, measly, runty,
paltry, trivial. ANTONYMS: (adj)
muscular, brawny, strong,
significant, fit, huge, enormous,
robust, considerable.
springv: (adj) flexible, elastic, resilient,

bouncy, yielding, whippy, pliable, spongy, lively, live, supple. ANTONYM: (adj) unyielding. stealthiness: (v) stealth; (n) sneakiness, secretiveness, closeness. thickening: (n) thickener, inspissation, growth, lymph node, pommel, indiscerptibility, node, bodying up, lymph gland, knob, indivisibility. toads: (n) caecilians, class Amphibia, frogs, newts, salamanders.

revealed that his face was flushed and his eye bright. What it did not show was something which lingered upon his lips like a seal set there. presence of this impress was so real that he hardly dared to enter the house, for it seemed as if his mother might say, "What red spot is that glowing upon your mouth so vividly?"

But he entered soon after. The tea was ready, and he sat down opposite his mother. She did not speak many words; and as for him, something had been just done and some words had been just said on the hill which prevented him from beginning a desultory chat. His mother's taciturnity was not without ominousness, but he appeared not to care. He knew why she said so little, but he could not remove the cause of her bearing towards him. These half-silent sittings were far from uncommon with them now. At last Yeobright made a beginning of what was intended to strike at the whole root of the matter.

"Five days have we sat like this at meals with scarcely a word. What's the use of it, Mother?"

"None," said she, in a heart-swollen tone. "But there is only too good a reason."

"Not when you know all. I have been wanting to speak about this, and I am glad the subject is begun. The reason, of course, is Eustacia Vye. Well, I confess I have seen her lately, and have seen her a good many times."

"Yes, yes; and I know what that amounts to. It troubles me, Clym. You are wasting your life here; and it is solely on account of her. If it had not been for that woman you would never have **entertained** this teaching scheme at all."

Clym looked hard at his mother. "You know that is not it," he said.

"Well, I know you had decided to attempt it before you saw her; but that would have ended in intentions. It was very well to talk of, but ridiculous to put in practice. I fully expected that in the course of a month or two you would have seen the folly of such self-sacrifice, and would have been by this time back again to Paris in some business or other. I can understand objections to the diamond trade--I really was thinking that it might be inadequate to the life of a man like

Thesaurus

confess: (adj, v) own, allow, admit, avow; (v) concede, profess, recognize, divulge, disclose, reveal, receive. ANTONYMS: (v) suppress, hide, dispute, conceal, repress, harbor. desultory: (adj) indiscriminate, aimless, spasmodic, purposeless, capricious, superficial, cursory, random, rambling, immethodical, fitful. ANTONYM: (adj) wholehearted. entertained: (adj) diverted, pleased.

glowing: (adj, n) enthusiastic, cordial, passionate; (adj) burning, fervent, blazing, flaming, fiery, dazzling; (adj, v) warm; (adj, adv) aglow. ANTONYMS: (adj) pale, wan, unhappy, unenthusiastic, derogatory, troubles: (n) dilemma, evils, harms, dispassionate, unwell. **impress**: (n, v) mark, print, stamp; (v)move, affect, inscribe, instill, touch, emboss, inculcate; (n) impression.

self-sacrifice: (n) martyrdom, renunciation.

taciturnity: (n) reserve, silence, uncommunicativeness, military reserve, modesty, secrecy, oblivion, substitute, pauciloquy, quietness,

wasting: (n) homicide, atrophy, slaughter, slaving, cachexia, assassination, cachexy, amyotrophy, carnage; (adj) consuming, consumptive.

you even though it might have made you a **millionaire**. But now I see how mistaken you are about this girl I doubt if you could be correct about other things."

"How am I mistaken in her?"

"She is lazy and dissatisfied. But that is not all of it. Supposing her to be as good a woman as any you can find, which she certainly is not, why do you wish to connect yourself with anybody at present?"

"Well, there are practical reasons," Clym began, and then almost broke off under an **overpowering** sense of the weight of argument which could be brought against his statement.

"If I take a school an educated woman would be invaluable as a help to me."

"What! you really mean to marry her?"

"It would be premature to state that plainly. But consider what obvious advantages there would be in doing it. She----"

"Don't suppose she has any money. She hasn't a farthing."

"She is excellently educated, and would make a good matron in a boarding-school. I **candidly** own that I have modified my views a little, in deference to you; and it should satisfy you. I no longer adhere to my intention of giving with my own mouth rudimentary education to the lowest class. I can do better. I can establish a good private school for farmers' sons, and without stopping the school I can manage to pass examinations. By this means, and by the assistance of a wife like her----"

"Oh, Clym!"

"I shall ultimately, I hope, be at the head of one of the best schools in the county."

Yeobright had enunciated the word "her" with a fervour which, in conversation with a mother, was **absurdly indiscreet**. Hardly a maternal heart within the four seas could in such circumstances, have helped being irritated at that **ill**-timed betrayal of feeling for a new woman.

Thesaurus

absurdly: (adv) ridiculously, foolishly, ludicrously, nonsensically, idiotically, silly, stupidly, inconsistently, comically, illogically, irrationally. ANTONYMS: (adv) solemnly, impressively, rationally, harmoniously.

candidly: (adv) openly, ingenuously,

candidly: (adv) openly, ingenuously, sincerely, outspokenly, honestly, forthrightly, straightforwardly, plainly, bluntly, directly; (adj, adv) freely. ANTONYMS: (adv)

deceitfully, hesitantly, dishonestly, untruthfully, guardedly, ambiguously, shyly.

Ill-timed: (adj) untimely, inopportune, undue, inappropriate, inept, inadmissible, disadvantageous.

indiscreet: (adj) careless, imprudent, incautious, ill-advised, rash, unadvised, unwise, impolitic, hasty, tactless, inadvisable. ANTONYMS: (adj) thoughtful, tactful, judicious, guarded.

millionaire: (n) nabob, millionnaire, wealthy person, rich person, plutocrat, millionairess, Croesus, Timon of Athens, affluent, dives, man of means.

overpowering: (adj) overwhelming, oppressive, resistless, compelling, intense, heavy, strong, onerous, devastating, uncontrollable, depressing. ANTONYMS: (adj) light, subtle, imperceptible, insignificant, shallow, weak, faint, bland.

"You are blinded, Clym," she said warmly. "It was a bad day for you when you first set eyes on her. And your scheme is merely a castle in the air built on purpose to justify this **folly** which has seized you, and to **salve** your conscience on the **irrational** situation you are in."

"Mother, that's not true," he firmly answered.

"Can you maintain that I sit and tell untruths, when all I wish to do is to save you from sorrow? For shame, Clym! But it is all through that woman--a hussy!"

Clym reddened like fire and rose. He placed his hand upon his mother's shoulder and said, in a tone which **hung** strangely between **entreaty** and command, "I won't hear it. I may be led to answer you in a way which we shall both regret."

His mother parted her lips to begin some other **vehement** truth, but on looking at him she saw that in his face which led her to leave the words **unsaid**. Yeobright walked once or twice across the room, and then suddenly went out of the house. It was eleven o'clock when he came in, though he had not been further than the **precincts** of the garden. His mother was gone to bed. A light was left burning on the table, and supper was spread. Without stopping for any food he secured the doors and went upstairs.

Thesaurus

entreaty: (n) plea, prayer, request, petition, adjuration, supplication, suit, demand, desire, invocation; (v) solicitation.

folly: (*n*) fatuity, foolishness, silliness, tomfoolery, nonsense, stupidity, craziness, density, freak; (*adj*, *n*) irrationality, trifling. ANTONYM: (*n*) sense.

hung: (n) hanging; (v) Heng; (adj)
fatigued, puzzled, decorated.
irrational: (adj) absurd, inconsistent,

silly, unreasonable, blind, illogical, senseless, preposterous, imprudent, unsound, thoughtless. ANTONYMS: (adj) logical, lucid, wise, sensible, worthwhile, systematic.

precincts: (n) entourage, arena, outskirts, neighbourhood, walk, neighborhood, proximity, surroundings, vicinity, limitations,

salve: (*n*) ointment, balm, unguent, liniment, oil; (*v*) relieve, salvage,

assuage, heal, soothe, appease. unsaid: (adj) implicit, unvoiced, tacit, understood, unexpressed, wordless, untold, unwritten, unverbalized; (v) unsung, untalked of. ANTONYMS: (adj) stated, explicit, expressed, spoken.

vehement: (adj) fierce, intense, violent, strong, furious, passionate, ferocious, eager, hot, fervent, fervid. ANTONYMS: (adj) impassionate, indifferent, mild, calm.

4

AN HOUR OF BLISS AND MANY HOURS OF SADNESS

The next day was gloomy enough at Blooms-End. Yeobright remained in his study, sitting over the open books; but the work of those hours was miserably **scant**. Determined that there should be nothing in his conduct towards his mother **resembling sullenness**, he had occasionally spoken to her on passing matters, and would take no notice of the **brevity** of her replies. With the same resolve to keep up a show of conversation he said, about seven o'clock in the evening, "There's an **eclipse** of the moon tonight. I am going out to see it." And, putting on his **overcoat**, he left her.

The low moon was not as yet visible from the front of the house, and Yeobright climbed out of the valley until he stood in the full flood of her light. But even now he walked on, and his steps were in the direction of Rainbarrow.

In half an hour he stood at the top. The sky was clear from verge to verge, and the moon flung her rays over the whole heath, but without sensibly lighting it, except where **paths** and water-courses had laid bare the white flints and glistening **quartz** sand, which made **streaks** upon the general shade. After standing awhile he stooped and felt the heather. It was dry, and he flung himself

Thesaurus

brevity: (n) briefness, shortness, succinctness, transience, terseness, abruptness, crispness, duration, economy, length, brevities.

ANTONYMS: (n) lengthiness, length.

eclipse: (v) darken, overshadow, cloud, shade, outdo, surpass, dim, transcend, outshine, outweigh; (n) disappearance. ANTONYMS: (n) rise; (v) fail, brighten, clear, disclose.

overcoat: (n) greatcoat, coat, cloak, robe, topcoat, surcoat, coating,

overcoating, capote, chesterfield, gown.

paths: (n) path.
quartz: (adj) flint, fossil, crag, marble, pebble; (n) quartz glass, citrine, chalcedony, lechatelierite, aventurine, cairngorm.

resembling: (adj, prep) like; (adj) analogous, parallel, similar, conformable, approximate, semblative, other, probable; (prep) similar to, reminiscent of.

ANTONYM: (prep) unlike.
scant: (adj) insufficient, scanty,
skimpy, poor, few, inadequate,
narrow, little; (adj, v) meager, bare;
(v) skimp. ANTONYMS: (adj)
plentiful, extensive.
streaks: (n) stripes, cords.
sullenness: (n) glumness, moroseness,
moodiness, resentment, sourness,
gloominess, brusqueness, sulk,
gloom, doggedness, mumps.
ANTONYM: (n) cheeriness.

down upon the barrow, his face towards the moon, which depicted a small image of herself in each of his eyes.

He had often come up here without stating his purpose to his mother; but this was the first time that he had been ostensibly frank as to his purpose while really concealing it. It was a moral situation which, three months earlier, he could hardly have credited of himself. In returning to labour in this **sequestered** spot he had anticipated an escape from the **chafing** of social necessities; yet behold they were here also. More than ever he longed to be in some world where personal ambition was not the only recognized form of progress--such, perhaps, as might have been the case at some time or other in the silvery globe then shining upon him. His eye travelled over the length and breadth of that distant country--over the Bay of Rainbows, the sombre Sea of Crises, the Ocean of Storms, the Lake of Dreams, the vast Walled Plains, and the wondrous Ring Mountains--till he almost felt himself to be **voyaging** bodily through its wild scenes, standing on its hollow hills, **traversing** its deserts, descending its vales and old sea **bottoms**, or mounting to the edges of its craters.

While he watched the **far**-removed landscape a **tawny** stain grew into being on the lower verge—the eclipse had begun. This marked a preconcerted moment—for the remote celestial phenomenon had been pressed into **sublunary** service as a lover's signal. Yeobright's mind flew back to earth at the sight; he arose, shook himself and listened. Minute after minute passed by, perhaps ten minutes passed, and the shadow on the moon perceptibly widened. He heard a **rustling** on his left hand, a **cloaked** figure with an **upturned** face appeared at the base of the Barrow, and Clym descended. In a moment the figure was in his arms, and his lips upon hers.

"My Eustacia!"

"Clym, dearest!"

Such a situation had less than three months brought forth.

They remained long without a single utterance, for no language could reach the level of their condition--words were as the rusty implements of a by-gone barbarous epoch, and only to be occasionally tolerated.

bottoms: (*n*) swamp, lees, residue. **chafing**: (*n*) abrasion, soreness, tenderness, rubbing, resistance, roughness; (*v*) irritate, to chafe; (*adj*) impatient.

impatient. cloaked: (adj) veiled, covered, hidden, covert, disguised, concealed, furtive, hidden away, draped, clothed, absorbed. ANTONYM: (adj) overt. far-removed: (adj) faraway. rustling: (n) rustle, whispering,

whisper, larceny; (adj) murmurous,

Thesaurus

susurrous, active, soughing.
sequestered: (adj) retired, private,
lonely, reclusive, cloistered, recluse,
quiet, withdrawn, monastic, seeking
solitude, privy.

sublunary: (adj) earthly, terrestrial, upside-down, broken, disordered disquieted, distressed, disturbed confused, topsy-turvy, shapely. telluric, tellurian. upside-down, broken, disordered disquieted, distressed, disturbed confused, topsy-turvy, shapely. voyaging: (n) traveling around,

tawny: (*n*) tan, buff; (*adj*, *n*) brown, auburn; (*adj*) luteous, golden, sallow, russet, chestnut, creamy, moderately

black.

traversing: (*n*) traverse, perambulation, crossing; (*adj*) moving.

upturned: (adj) retrousse, overturned, upside-down, broken, disordered, disquieted, distressed, disturbed, confused, topsy-turvy, shapely. voyaging: (n) traveling around, movement, travel, journey, exploration, adventure, discovery, journeying; (adj) wayfaring.

"I began to wonder why you did not come," said Yeobright, when she had withdrawn a little from his embrace.

"You said ten minutes after the first mark of shade on the edge of the moon, and that's what it is now."

"Well, let us only think that here we are."

Then, holding each other's hand, they were again silent, and the shadow on the moon's disc grew a little larger.

"Has it seemed long since you last saw me?" she asked.

"It has seemed sad."

"And not long? That's because you **occupy** yourself, and so blind yourself to my absence. To me, who can do nothing, it has been like living under **stagnant** water."

"I would rather bear **tediousness**, dear, than have time made short by such means as have **shortened** mine."

"In what way is that? You have been thinking you wished you did not love me."

"How can a man wish that, and yet love on? No, Eustacia."

"Men can, women cannot."

"Well, whatever I may have thought, one thing is certain--I do love you--past all **compass** and description. I love you to oppressiveness--I, who have never before felt more than a pleasant passing fancy for any woman I have ever seen. Let me look right into your **moonlit** face and **dwell** on every line and curve in it! Only a few hairbreadths make the difference between this face and faces I have seen many times before I knew you; yet what a difference--the difference between everything and nothing at all. One touch on that mouth again! there, and there, and there. Your eyes seem heavy, Eustacia."

"No, it is my general way of looking. I think it arises from my feeling sometimes an **agonizing** pity for myself that I ever was born."

"You don't feel it now?"

Thesaurus

continue, be, settle. ANTONYM: (v)

live, stay, lodge, delay, occupy,

agonizing: (adj, v) excruciating; (adj) painful, harrowing, poignant, grievous, agonising, torturous, heartbreaking, sore, anguished, aching. ANTONYMS: (adj) restful, painless, enjoyable, easy, bearable, wonderful, unemotional. compass: (n) scope, range, room, extent, area, circumference, reach; (n, v) round, grasp, circle; (v) get. ANTONYM: (v) lose. dwell: (adj, v) inhabit; (v) reside, bide,

wander.

moonlit: (adj) moony, dreamy, bright.

ANTONYM: (adj) moonless.

occupy: (v) have, engross, get, invade, employ, possess, inhabit, absorb; (n, v) engage, entertain; (adj, v) fill.

ANTONYMS: (v) abandon, bore, quit, surrender, vacate, desert,

remove. **shortened**: (adj) abridged, cut, short, condensed, curtailed, reduced, cut short, scarce, unfinished, truncated, telescoped

stagnant: (*adj*) quiet, motionless, inert, dead, slow, still, standing, immobile, inactive, stagnate, stationary.

ANTONYMS: (*adj*) active, moving. **tediousness**: (*n*) boredom, dullness, monotony, flatness, ennui, dulness, prosiness, tediosity, tiresomeness,

irksomeness; (adj) wearisomeness.

"No. Yet I know that we **shall** not love like this always. Nothing can ensure the continuance of love. It will **evaporate** like a spirit, and so I feel full of fears."

"You need not."

"Ah, you don't know. You have seen more than I, and have been into cities and among people that I have only heard of, and have lived more years than I; but yet I am older at this than you. I loved another man once, and now I love you."

"In God's mercy don't talk so, Eustacia!"

"But I do not think I shall be the one who wearies first. It will, I fear, end in this way: your mother will find out that you meet me, and she will influence you against me!"

"That can never be. She knows of these meetings already."

"And she **speaks** against me?"

"I will not say."

"There, go away! **Obey** her. I shall ruin you. It is foolish of you to meet me like this. Kiss me, and go away forever. Forever--do you hear?--forever!"

"Not I."

"It is your only chance. Many a man's love has been a curse to him."

"You are desperate, full of fancies, and **wilful**; and you **misunderstand**. I have an additional reason for seeing you tonight besides love of you. For though, unlike you, I feel our affection may be eternal. I feel with you in this, that our present mode of existence cannot last."

"Oh! 'tis your mother. Yes, that's it! I knew it."

"Never mind what it is. Believe this, I cannot let myself lose you. I must have you always with me. This very evening I do not like to let you go. There is only one cure for this anxiety, dearest--you must be my wife."

She started—then endeavoured to say calmly, "Cynics say that cures the anxiety by **curing** the love."

Thesaurus

curing: (n) hardening, ageing, drying, rectification, vulcanization, preservation; (adj) curative, remedial, corrective, comforting, medicinal. curse: (n, v) blight, plague; (n) anathema, blasphemy, malediction, denunciation; (adj, v) beshrew; (v) swear, ban, damn, vituperate. ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, benediction, making; (v) communicate. evaporate: (v) disappear, dissolve,

dissipate, dry, melt away, exhale, vaporize, concentrate, pass; (n) vapor; (adj, v) fade. ANTONYMS: (v) appear, wet, dampen, soak, drench. misunderstand: (v) misinterpret, misconstrue, mistake, misread, misjudge, miscomprehend, miscalculate, confuse, misapply; (n, v) misconceive; (n) misunderstanding. ANTONYMS: (v) grasp, appreciate, interpret. obey: (v) comply, listen, keep, fulfill,

hear, conform, abide by, serve, comply with; (n, v) mind, heed. ANTONYMS: (v) disobey, defy, break, transgress, infringe, challenge, denv.

shall: (*n*) must, necessity; (*v*) require, bequeath, leave.

speaks: (n) talks.

wilful: (adj) headstrong, deliberate, intentional, knowing, designed, wayward, obstinate, willful, stubborn, studied, persistent. "But you must answer me. Shall I claim you some day--I don't mean at once?"

"I must think," Eustacia murmured. "At present speak of Paris to me. Is there any place like it on earth?"

"It is very beautiful. But will you be mine?"

"I will be nobody else's in the world--does that satisfy you?"

"Yes, for the present."

"Now tell me of the Tuileries, and the Louvre," she continued evasively.

"I hate talking of Paris! Well, I remember one sunny room in the Louvre which would make a fitting place for you to live in--the Galerie d'Apollon. Its windows are mainly east; and in the early morning, when the sun is bright, the whole apartment is in a perfect blaze of **splendour**. The **rays bristle** and **dart** from the encrustations of **gilding** to the magnificent **inlaid coffers**, from the coffers to the gold and silver plate, from the plate to the **jewels** and precious stones, from these to the enamels, till there is a perfect network of light which quite dazzles the eye. But now, about our marriage----"

"And Versailles--the King's Gallery is some such **gorgeous** room, is it not?"

"Yes. But what's the use of talking of gorgeous rooms? By the way, the Little Trianon would suit us beautifully to live in, and you might walk in the gardens in the moonlight and think you were in some English **shrubbery**; It is laid out in English fashion."

"I should hate to think that!"

"Then you could keep to the lawn in front of the Grand Palace. All about there you would doubtless feel in a world of historical romance."

He went on, since it was all new to her, and described Fontainebleau, St. Cloud, the Bois, and many other familiar haunts of the Parisians; till she said--

"When used you to go to these places?"

"On Sundays."

Thesaurus

bristle: (*n*) fiber, hair, whisker; (*v*) teem, burn, seethe, rage, arise, fume, blow up; (*n*, *v*) brustle. ANTONYM: (*v*) calm.

coffers: (*n*) treasury, purse, exchequer, coffer, funds, assets.

dart: (n, v) dash, run, flit; (v) bound, flash, shoot, rush, race, gallop; (adj, n) unattractive, detestab arrow, rocket. ANTONYMS: (v) plod, trudge, slog, linger, dawdle, dally, delay, amble; (n) tonic. (adj, v) rich. ANTONYM unattractive, detestab **inlaid**: (adj) decorated. **jewels**: (n) jewelry, ger hoops, Perrie, riches, so

gilding: (n) embellishment, ormolu,

plating, beautification, cosmetics, decoration, enamel, adornment, prettification, coat, gold plating, gorgeous: (adj) luxurious, gaudy, attractive, brilliant, wonderful, glorious, gay, florid, palatial, dressy; (adj, v) rich. ANTONYMS: (adj) ugly, unattractive, detestable, shabby. inlaid: (adj) decorated.

jewels: (*n*) jewelry, gems, wealth, hoops, Perrie, riches, studs, fortune, fineness, earrings, decoration.

rays: (n) light, sunlight, Selachii, dogfishes, elasmobranch, Elasmobranchii, emission, daylight, sunshine, selachian, subclass Elasmobranchii.

shrubbery: (*n*) brush, plantation, flora, parterre, shrub, scrub, brushwood, hedge, thicket, bushes, area. **splendour**: (*n*) pomp, magnificence,

spiendour: (1) pomp, magnificence, lustre, splendor, luster, brilliancy, resplendence, luxury, grandeur, grandness, brilliance. "Ah, yes. I **dislike** English Sundays. How I should chime in with their **manners** over there! Dear Clym, you'll go back again?"

Clym shook his head, and looked at the eclipse.

"If you'll go back again I'll--be something," she said **tenderly**, putting her head near his breast. "If you'll agree I'll give my promise, without making you wait a minute longer."

"How extraordinary that you and my mother should be of one mind about this!" said Yeobright. "I have vowed not to go back, Eustacia. It is not the place I dislike; it is the occupation."

"But you can go in some other capacity."

"No. Besides, it would interfere with my scheme. Don't press that, Eustacia. Will you marry me?"

"I cannot tell."

"Now--never mind Paris; it is no better than other spots. Promise, sweet!"

"You will never adhere to your education plan, I am quite sure; and then it will be all right for me; and so I promise to be yours for ever and ever."

Clym brought her face towards his by a gentle pressure of the hand, and kissed her.

"Ah! but you don't know what you have got in me," she said. "Sometimes I think there is not that in Eustacia Vye which will make a good **homespun** wife. Well, let it go--see how our time is **slipping**, slipping, slipping!" She pointed towards the half-eclipsed moon.

"You are too mournful."

"No. Only I **dread** to think of anything beyond the present. What is, we know. We are together now, and it is unknown how long we shall be so; the unknown always fills my mind with terrible **possibilities**, even when I may reasonably expect it to be cheerful....Clym, the eclipsed moonlight shines upon your face with a strange foreign colour, and shows its shape as if it were cut out in gold. That means that you should be doing better things than this."

Thesaurus

dislike: (*n*) disapproval, disaffection, antipathy, disdain, disfavor, revulsion; (*n*, *v*) hate, disinclination, aversion, distaste; (*v*) detest. ANTONYMS: (*n*) liking, fondness, taste, attraction, enjoyment, preference, longing; (*v*) like, enjoy, approve, adore.

dread: (n, v) apprehension, fear, panic; (n) anxiety, awe, consternation, alarm, trepidation, dismay, foreboding, terror. ANTONYMS:

(adj) pleasing, welcomed, pleasant; (v) welcome, want; (n) reassurance, fearlessness, confidence, security, ease, calm.

homespun: (adj) ordinary, artless, frugal, rustic, plain, russet, coarse, folksy, tweedy, slubbed, nubby. ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary, sophisticated.

manners: (*n*) conduct, etiquette, propriety, behavior, deportment, manner, courtesy, custom, decorum, good manners, usage. ANTONYM: (n) vulgarity. possibilities: (n) potential, field. slipping: (n) skidding, slippage; (adj) slithering, gliding, down, labent. tenderly: (adv) softly, kindly, delicately, affectionately, fondly, warmly, painfully, sensitively, caringly, sympathetically, gently. ANTONYMS: (adv) roughly,

severely, disapprovingly, harshly.

"You are ambitious, Eustacia--no, not exactly ambitious, luxurious. I ought to be of the same vein, to make you happy, I suppose. And yet, far from that, I could live and die in a **hermitage** here, with proper work to do."

There was that in his tone which implied **distrust** of his position as a **solicitous** lover, a doubt if he were acting fairly towards one whose tastes touched his own only at rare and **infrequent** points. She saw his meaning, and whispered, in a low, full accent of eager assurance "Don't mistake me, Clymthough I should like Paris, I love you for yourself alone. To be your wife and live in Paris would be heaven to me; but I would rather live with you in a hermitage here than not be yours at all. It is gain to me either way, and very great gain. There's my too **candid** confession."

"Spoken like a woman. And now I must soon leave you. I'll walk with you towards your house."

"But must you go home yet?" she asked. "Yes, the sand has nearly slipped away, I see, and the eclipse is **creeping** on more and more. Don't go yet! Stop till the hour has run itself out; then I will not press you any more. You will go home and sleep well; I keep sighing in my sleep! Do you ever dream of me?"

"I cannot recollect a clear dream of you."

"I see your face in every scene of my dreams, and hear your voice in every sound. I wish I did not. It is too much what I feel. They say such love never lasts. But it must! And yet once, I remember, I saw an officer of the Hussars ride down the street at Budmouth, and though he was a total stranger and never spoke to me, I loved him till I thought I should really die of love-- but I didn't die, and at last I left off caring for him. How terrible it would be if a time should come when I could not love you, my Clym!"

"Please don't say such reckless things. When we see such a time at hand we will say, 'I have outlived my faith and purpose,' and die. There, the hour has expired--now let us walk on."

Thesaurus

candid: (adj) blunt, outspoken, ingenuous, direct, sincere, open, forthright, artless, equitable, honest, guileless. ANTONYMS: (adj) scheming, tricky, artful, deceitful, dishonest, guarded, indirect, insincere, inhibited, disingenuous, evasive.

creeping: (*n*) creep, crawl, locomotion, spreading; (*v*) lentor; (*adj*) reptile, slow, reptant, reptatory, serpiginous, moving.

distrust: (*n*, *v*) mistrust, discredit; (*n*) suspicion, misgiving, disbelief, uncertainty, hesitation; (*v*) suspect, disbelieve, question; (*adj*) distrustful. ANTONYMS: (*n*) confidence, faith, trustingness, certainty, belief, optimism; (*v*) believe, entrust, depend, confide.

hermitage: (n) alcove, bower, grotto, greenhouse, arbor, retreat, cloister, seclusion, safe house, ivory tower; (adi) cell.

infrequent: (adj) few, rare, scarce, seldom, exceptional, occasional, unwonted, sparse, sporadic, unusual, deficient. ANTONYMS: (adj) common, regular, usual. solicitous: (adj) eager, attentive, apprehensive, careful, anxious, jealous, considerate, avid, thoughtful, fervent; (n) desirous. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, serene, thoughtless.

Hand in hand they went along the path towards Mistover. When they were near the house he said, "It is too late for me to see your grandfather tonight. Do you think he will object to it?"

"I will speak to him. I am so accustomed to be my own mistress that it did not occur to me that we should have to ask him."

Then they **lingeringly** separated, and Clym descended towards Blooms-End.

And as he walked further and further from the charmed atmosphere of his Olympian girl his face grew sad with a new sort of sadness. A perception of the dilemma in which his love had placed him came back in full force. In spite of Eustacia's apparent willingness to wait through the period of an unpromising engagement, till he should be established in his new pursuit, he could not but perceive at moments that she loved him rather as a visitant from a gay world to which she rightly belonged than as a man with a purpose opposed to that recent past of his which so interested her. It meant that, though she made no conditions as to his return to the French capital, this was what she secretly longed for in the event of marriage; and it robbed him of many an otherwise pleasant hour. Along with that came the widening breach between himself and his mother. Whenever any little occurrence had brought into more prominence than usual the disappointment that he was causing her it had sent him on lone and moody walks; or he was kept awake a great part of the night by the turmoil of spirit which such a recognition created. If Mrs. Yeobright could only have been led to see what a sound and worthy purpose this purpose of his was and how little it was being affected by his devotions to Eustacia, how differently would she regard him!

Thus as his sight grew accustomed to the first **blinding** halo kindled about him by love and beauty, Yeobright began to perceive what a **strait** he was in. Sometimes he wished that he had never known Eustacia, immediately to **retract** the wish as brutal. Three antagonistic growths had to be kept alive: his mother's trust in him, his plan for becoming a teacher, and Eustacia's happiness. His **fervid** nature could not afford to relinquish one of these, though two of the three

Thesaurus

blinding: (adj) dazzling, blazing, amazingly impressive, bisson, blatant, fulgent, glary; (n) clogging, blind blocking, blindage. fervid: (adj) ardent, burning, hot, vehement, eager, passionate, impassioned, fiery, enthusiastic; (adj, v) warm, glowing. lingeringly: (adv) slowly, longly, longly

chronically, dilatorily, extendedly, leisurely.

retract: (v) abjure, rescind, cancel,

renounce, repudiate, forswear, repeal, recoil, reverse, revoke, recall. ANTONYMS: (v) maintain, validate,

robbed: (*adj*) plundered, rubato, fleeced, borrowed, bereft. **strait**: (*adj*) narrow; (*n*) pinch, pass, inlet, need, channel, crisis, poverty, difficulty; (*adj*, *n*) quandary; (*n*, *v*) dilemma.

turmoil: (n, v) commotion; (n) disturbance, agitation, disorder,

hubbub, confusion, excitement, flurry, mess, hullabaloo, disruption. ANTONYMS: (n) order, calm, peace, accord.

unpromising: (adj) unpropitious, hopeless, worrying, bleak, warning, bad, ominous, threatening, unattractive, unfavorable, gloomy. ANTONYMS: (adj) optimistic, hopeful, encouraging. visitant: (n) visitor, apparition,

traveler, invitee, arrival, traveller.

were as many as he could hope to **preserve**. Though his love was as **chaste** as that of Petrarch for his Laura, it had made **fetters** of what previously was only a difficulty. A position which was not too simple when he stood **whole**-hearted had become indescribably **complicated** by the **addition** of Eustacia. Just when his mother was beginning to **tolerate** one scheme he had introduced another still bitterer than the first, and the combination was more than she could bear.

Thesaurus

addition: (n) accession, accessory, increase, extension, addendum, accretion, attachment, appendage, annex, extra; (n, prep) accumulation. ANTONYMS: (n) removal, estimation, deduction, exclusion, decline, erosion, loss, setback. chaste: (adj) virtuous, moral, virgin, modest, unsullied, austere, vestal, severe, continent, spotless, decent. ANTONYMS: (adj) corrupt, wanton, lewd, sleazy, promiscuous, immoral,

dirty, defiled, impure, tainted. complicated: (adj, v) intricate; (adj) elaborate, hard, complicate, difficult, sophisticated, awkward, convoluted, obscure, deep; (v) involved. ANTONYMS: (adj) straightforward, clear, easy, plain, primitive, direct, amicable, basic.

fetters: (*n*) chains, captivity, bond, restraint, irons, handcuffs, iron, enduring; (*v*) confine, fee, embellish. ANTONYM: (*n*) liberation.

preserve: (v) maintain, keep, save, guard, hold, defend, uphold, keep up; (n) jam, jelly, conserves.

ANTONYMS: (v) neglect, discontinue, damage, lose, attack, endanger, use, end.

tolerate: (adi. v) accept: (v) let. bear.

tolerate: (adj, v) accept; (v) let, bear, take, permit, endure, support, brook, stand, abide, allow. ANTONYMS: (v) veto, disapprove, disallow. whole-hearted: (adj) true, warm.

5

SHARP WORDS ARE SPOKEN, AND A CRISIS ENSUES

When Yeobright was not with Eustacia he was sitting **slavishly** over his books; when he was not reading he was meeting her. These meetings were carried on with the greatest secrecy.

One afternoon his mother came home from a morning visit to Thomasin. He could see from a **disturbance** in the lines of her face that something had happened.

"I have been told an **incomprehensible** thing," she said mournfully. "The captain has let out at the Woman that you and Eustacia Vye are **engaged** to be married."

"We are," said Yeobright. "But it may not be yet for a very long time."

"I should hardly think it *would* be yet for a very long time! You will take her to Paris, I suppose?" She **spoke** with **weary** hopelessness.

"I am not going back to Paris."

"What will you do with a wife, then?"

"Keep a school in Budmouth, as I have told you."

Thesaurus

disturbance: (n, v) commotion, brawl; (n) disorder, turmoil, upset, derangement, dislocation, disruption, turmult, din; (adj, n, v) trouble.

ANTONYMS: (n) stillness, peace, satisfaction, serenity, respect, accord. engaged: (adj) occupied, betrothed, employed, affianced, engrossed, reserved, absorbed, working, pledged, involved, committed.

ANTONYMS: (adj) free, unengaged, unemployed, uncommitted,

unattached, single, detached, idle. incomprehensible: (adj) inapprehensible, inscrutable, inarticulate, abstruse, cryptic, unfathomable, puzzling, obscure, inexplicable, inconceivable, unaccountable. ANTONYMS: (adj) comprehensible, explicable, understandable, intelligible, legible, obvious, straightforward. slavishly: (adv) obsequiously, subserviently, submissively,

fawningly, menially, abjectly, cringingly.

spoke: (*n*) bar, rung, radius, rule, shoe, skid, rundle, line, clog, round; (*v*) said.

weary: (adj, n, v) fatigue; (v) exhaust, tire out; (adj) tired, exhausted, fatigued, aweary, beat, languid; (n, v) jade, bore. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, fresh, lively, untiring, hopeful, refreshed; (v) refresh, enliven, energize, activate, rally.

"That's **incredible**! The place is **overrun** with schoolmasters. You have no special qualifications. What possible chance is there for such as you?"

"There is no chance of getting rich. But with my system of education, which is as new as it is true, I shall do a great deal of good to my fellow-creatures."

"Dreams, dreams! If there had been any system left to be **invented** they would have found it out at the universities long before this time."

"Never, Mother. They cannot find it out, because their teachers don't come in contact with the class which **demands** such a system--that is, those who have had no **preliminary** training. My plan is one for **instilling** high knowledge into empty minds without first cramming them with what has to be uncrammed again before true study begins."

"I might have believed you if you had kept yourself free from entanglements; but this woman--if she had been a good girl it would have been bad enough; but being----"

"She is a good girl."

"So you think. A Corfu bandmaster's daughter! What has her life been? Her **surname** even is not her true one."

"She is Captain Vye's granddaughter, and her father merely took her mother's name. And she is a lady by instinct."

"They call him 'captain,' but anybody is captain."

"He was in the Royal Navy!"

"No doubt he has been to sea in some tub or other. Why doesn't he look after her? No lady would **rove** about the heath at all hours of the day and night as she does. But that's not all of it. There was something queer between her and Thomasin's husband at one time--I am as sure of it as that I stand here."

"Eustacia has told me. He did pay her a little attention a year ago; but there's no harm in that. I like her all the better."

Thesaurus

demands: (*n*) strain, weight, stress, anxiety.

incredible: (adj, n) astonishing, marvelous; (adj, v) inconceivable; (adj) fabulous, extraordinary, unbelievable, implausible, fantastic, unlikely, preposterous, wonderful. ANTONYMS: (adj) credible, believable, conceivable, unspectacular, likely, mundane, unremarkable, plausible, awful, sensible, real.

instilling: (*n*) inculcation, ingraining, indoctrination.

invented: (adj) fictional, fabricated, imaginary, unreal, fake, mythical, legendary, fictive, fancied, fabulous, ben trovato. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, factual, true, actual. overrun: (n, v) overflow; (v) invade, flood, occupy, infest, deluge, inundate, overwhelm, devastate, brim over; (n) excess. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, tidy; (v) make.

preliminary: (adj) prefatory, early, inaugural, elementary, preparatory, first; (n) prelude, prelim, preface, introduction, overture. ANTONYMS: (n) finale, closing; (adj) concluding. rove: (v) gad, ramble, wander, range, gallivant, stray, stroll, tramp, drift, err, meander. ANTONYM: (v) settle. surname: (n) cognomen, name, sobriquet, family name, soubriquet, last name, nickname, maiden name, moniker, first name, agnomen.

"Clym," said his mother with firmness, "I have no proofs against her, unfortunately. But if she makes you a good wife, there has never been a bad one."

"Believe me, you are almost exasperating," said Yeobright vehemently. "And this very day I had intended to arrange a meeting between you. But you give me no peace; you try to **thwart** my wishes in everything."

"I hate the thought of any son of mine marrying badly! I wish I had never lived to see this; it is too much for me--it is more than I dreamt!" She turned to the window. Her breath was coming quickly, and her lips were pale, parted, and trembling.

"Mother," said Clym, "whatever you do, you will always be dear to me--that you know. But one thing I have a right to say, which is, that at my age I am old enough to know what is best for me."

Mrs. Yeobright remained for some time silent and shaken, as if she could say no more. Then she replied, "Best? Is it best for you to injure your prospects for such a **voluptuous**, idle woman as that? Don't you see that by the very fact of your **choosing** her you prove that you do not know what is best for you? You give up your whole thought--you set your whole soul--to please a woman."

"I do. And that woman is you."

"How can you treat me so flippantly!" said his mother, turning again to him with a tearful look. "You are **unnatural**, Clym, and I did not expect it."

"Very likely," said he **cheerlessly**. "You did not know the measure you were going to **mete** me, and therefore did not know the measure that would be returned to you again."

"You answer me; you think only of her. You stick to her in all things."

"That proves her to be worthy. I have never yet supported what is bad. And I do not care only for her. I care for you and for myself, and for anything that is good. When a woman once dislikes another she is merciless!"

"O Clym! please don't go setting down as my fault what is your obstinate wrongheadedness. If you wished to connect yourself with an **unworthy** person

Thesaurus

cheerlessly: (adv) gloomily, depressingly, drearily, grimly, comfortlessly, drably, darkly, desolately, sadly, joylessly, melancholy. ANTONYM: (adv) brightly.

choosing: (*n*) picking, pick, selection, option, election, appointment, volition; (*v*) choose.

mete: (*v*) measure, allot, share, detail, cast, billet, distribute, allocate, assign; (*n*) boundary, border.

thwart: (adv, v) cross; (v) frustrate, prevent, oppose, baffle, obstruct, hinder, impede, defeat, disappoint, bilk. ANTONYMS: (v) promote, assist, encourage, aid, help, please, permit.

unnatural: (adj) affected, artificial, grotesque, supernatural, forced, abnormal, eccentric, uncanny, stilted, mannered, anomalous. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, normal, real, unaffected, commonplace, genuine, sincere.

unworthy: (adj) undeserving, base, disgraceful, ignoble, low, contemptible, despicable, ugly, unmerited, unseemly, shameful. ANTONYMS: (adj) deserving, valuable, honorable, estimable, reputable.

voluptuous: (adj) luscious, voluptuary, sensual, carnal, sybaritic, epicurean, buxom, sexy, sensuous, lascivious, erotic. ANTONYM: (adj) underdeveloped. why did you come home here to do it? Why didn't you do it in Paris?--it is more the fashion there. You have come only to distress me, a lonely woman, and shorten my days! I wish that you would bestow your presence where you bestow your love!"

Clym said huskily, "You are my mother. I will say no more--beyond this, that I beg your pardon for having thought this my home. I will no longer inflict myself upon you; I'll go." And he went out with tears in his eyes.

It was a sunny afternoon at the beginning of summer, and the moist hollows of the heath had passed from their brown to their green stage. Yeobright walked to the edge of the basin which extended down from Mistover and Rainbarrow.

By this time he was calm, and he looked over the landscape. In the minor valleys, between the hillocks which diversified the contour of the vale, the fresh young ferns were luxuriantly growing up, ultimately to reach a height of five or six feet. He descended a little way, flung himself down in a spot where a path emerged from one of the small hollows, and waited. Hither it was that he had promised Eustacia to bring his mother this afternoon, that they might meet and be friends. His attempt had utterly failed.

He was in a nest of vivid green. The **ferny** vegetation round him, though so abundant, was quite uniform--it was a grove of machine-made foliage, a world of green triangles with saw-edges, and not a single flower. The air was warm with a vaporous warmth, and the stillness was unbroken. Lizards, grasshoppers, and ants were the only living things to be beheld. The scene seemed to belong to the ancient world of the carboniferous period, when the forms of plants were few, and of the fern kind; when there was neither bud nor blossom, nothing but a monotonous extent of leafage, amid which no bird sang.

When he had reclined for some considerable time, gloomily pondering, he discerned above the ferns a drawn bonnet of white silk approaching from the left, and Yeobright knew directly that it covered the head of her he loved. His heart awoke from its apathy to a warm excitement, and, jumping to his feet, he said aloud, "I knew she was sure to come."

Thesaurus

bestow: (v) give, confer, grant, impart, leafage: (n) leaf, frond, verdure, contribute, donate, apply, award; (adj, v) accord, allow, present. ANTONYMS: (v) deprive, refuse, withhold, retrieve, withdraw. **carboniferous**: (n) period; (adj) carbonaceous, carbonic. diversified: (adj) diverse, different, heterogeneous, manifold, divers, varied, altered, multifarious, motley, assorted, miscellaneous. ferny: (adj) ferned, braky.

greenery, cotyledon, blade, bladed, entire leaf, amplexicaul leaf, dandelion green, emarginate leaf. luxuriantly: (adv) abundantly, opulently, plentifully, richly, profusely, generously, bountifully, thickly, riotously, exuberantly, copiously. monotonous: (adj) dull, flat, boring, dreary, tedious, insipid, monotone,

monotonic; (adj, v) dry, uninteresting,

varied, stimulating, lively, exotic, enthralling, brilliant, flexible. shorten: (v) condense, reduce, abbreviate, clip, abridge, cut, curtail, cut back, contract, compress, dock. ANTONYMS: (v) expand, prolong, extend, complicate. vaporous: (adj) hazy, foggy, vaporific, ethereal, cloudy, vaporish, steamy,

stupid. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting,

airy, unsubstantial, evaporable, cobwebby.

She vanished in a hollow for a few moments, and then her whole form **unfolded** itself from the brake.

"Only you here?" she exclaimed, with a disappointed air, whose hollowness was proved by her rising redness and her half-guilty low laugh. "Where is Mrs. Yeobright?"

"She has not come," he replied in a subdued tone.

"I wish I had known that you would be here alone," she said seriously, "and that we were going to have such an idle, pleasant time as this. Pleasure not known beforehand is half wasted; to anticipate it is to double it. I have not thought once today of having you all to myself this afternoon, and the actual moment of a thing is so soon gone."

"It is indeed."

"Poor Clym!" she continued, looking tenderly into his face. "You are sad. Something has happened at your home. Never mind what is--let us only look at what seems."

"But, darling, what shall we do?" said he.

"Still go on as we do now--just live on from meeting to meeting, never minding about another day. You, I know, are always thinking of that--I can see you are. But you must not--will you, dear Clym?"

"You are just like all women. They are ever content to build their lives on any incidental position that offers itself; whilst men would fain make a globe to suit them. Listen to this, Eustacia. There is a subject I have determined to put off no longer. Your sentiment on the wisdom of Carpe diem does not impress me today. Our present mode of life must shortly be brought to an end."

"It is your mother!"

"It is. I love you none the less in telling you; it is only right you should know."

"I have feared my bliss," she said, with the merest motion of her lips. "It has been too intense and consuming."

Thesaurus

beforehand: (adv) previously, ahead, in advance, in anticipation, first; (adj, adv) early, aforehand; (adj) advance, already, afore; (n) prior. ANTONYMS: (adv) afterwards, afterward, later, late, subsequently. fain: (adj) willing, prepared, ready, favorable, heart and soul, prone; (adv) contingent, adventitious, collateral, gladly, lief, readily, willingly; (v) **globe**: (n) earth, world, orb, circle, eyeball, round, planet, bolus, fireball,

bulb; (adj, n) sphere. hollowness: (n) hollow, concavity, insincerity, cavity, futility, blank, concaveness, void, nothingness, vacuum, vacuity. ANTONYMS: (n) solidity, validity.

incidental: (adj) fortuitous, accidental, chance, occasional, incident, attendant, concomitant, episodic. ANTONYMS: (adj) basic, direct, intended, significant.

lives: (n) life, living, estate, existence, earnest living.

minding: (adj) intent.

sentiment: (n) emotion, mind, notion, feeling, persuasion, opinion, judgment, sense, judgement, attitude, impression.

unfolded: (adj) extended, stretched, outspread, outstretched, widely spread, stretched out, explicate, evolved, displayed, expanded, detailed.

"There is hope yet. There are forty years of work in me yet, and why should you despair? I am only at an awkward turning. I wish people wouldn't be so ready to think that there is no progress without uniformity."

"Ah--your mind runs off to the philosophical side of it. Well, these sad and hopeless obstacles are welcome in one sense, for they enable us to look with indifference upon the cruel satires that Fate loves to indulge in. I have heard of people, who, upon coming suddenly into happiness, have died from anxiety lest they should not live to enjoy it. I felt myself in that whimsical state of uneasiness lately; but I shall be spared it now. Let us walk on."

Clym took the hand which was already **bared** for him--it was a favourite way with them to walk bare hand in bare hand--and led her through the ferns. They formed a very comely picture of love at full flush, as they walked along the valley that late afternoon, the sun sloping down on their right, and throwing their thin spectral shadows, tall as poplar trees, far out across the furze and fern. Eustacia went with her head thrown back **fancifully**, a certain glad and voluptuous air of triumph **pervading** her eyes at having won by her own unaided self a man who was her perfect complement in attainment, appearance, and age. On the young man's part, the **paleness** of face which he had brought with him from Paris, and the incipient marks of time and thought, were less perceptible than when he returned, the **healthful** and energetic **sturdiness** which was his by nature having partially recovered its original proportions. They wandered onward till they reached the nether margin of the heath, where it became marshy and merged in moorland.

"I must part from you here, Clym," said Eustacia.

They stood still and prepared to bid each other farewell. Everything before them was on a perfect level. The sun, resting on the horizon line, streamed across the ground from between copper-coloured and lilac **clouds**, stretched out in flats beneath a sky of pale soft green. All dark objects on the earth that lay towards the sun were **overspread** by a purple haze, against which groups of wailing **gnats** shone out, rising upwards and dancing about like sparks of fire.

Thesaurus

bared: (adj) naked, unclothed, exposed.

clouds: (*n*) exhaust, fumes, gas, smoke, vapors.

fancifully: (adv) fantasticly, fantastically, chimerically, unreally, imaginarily, freakishly, bizarrely, visionarily, ideally, notionally, fancily.

gnats: (n) fungus gnats, Nematocera, suborder Nematocera.
healthful: (adj) healthy, hale,

salubrious, beneficial, hygienic, sanitary, wholesome, salutary, remedial, good, nourishing.
ANTONYMS: (adj) unhealthful, unsanitary, unhealthy.

overspread: (v) cover, spread, disseminate, distribute, scatter, diffuse, disperse, broadcast, overlay, mantle, clothe.

paleness: (adj, n) pallor; (n) pallidness, wanness, whiteness, achromasia, blondness, lividity, luridness, lividness, fairness, pale. ANTONYM: (*n*) strength.

pervading: (adj) penetrating, general, profound, permeating, permeant, overmastering, lowly, deeply felt, intellectually deep, deep, almighty. sturdiness: (n) robustness, strength, hardiness, heftiness, solidity, toughness, stoutness, solidness, hardness, resistance, stability.

ANTONYMS: (n) flimsiness, frailty,

"O! this leaving you is too hard to bear!" exclaimed Eustacia in a sudden whisper of **anguish**. "Your mother will influence you too much; I shall not be **judged** fairly, it will get **afloat** that I am not a good girl, and the witch story will be added to make me blacker!"

"They cannot. Nobody dares to speak disrespectfully of you or of me."

"Oh how I wish I was sure of never losing you--that you could not be able to desert me anyhow!"

Clym stood silent a moment. His feelings were high, the moment was passionate, and he cut the knot.

"You shall be sure of me, darling," he said, **folding** her in his arms. "We will be married at once."

"O Clym!"

"Do you agree to it?"

"If--if we can."

"We certainly can, both being of full age. And I have not followed my **occupation** all these years without having **accumulated** money; and if you will agree to live in a tiny cottage somewhere on the heath, until I take a house in Budmouth for the school, we can do it at a very little expense."

"How long shall we have to live in the tiny cottage, Clym?"

"About six months. At the end of that time I shall have finished my reading-yes, we will do it, and this heart-aching will be over. We shall, of course, live in absolute seclusion, and our married life will only begin to **outward** view when we take the house in Budmouth, where I have already addressed a letter on the matter. Would your grandfather allow you?"

"I think he would--on the understanding that it should not last longer than six months."

"I will guarantee that, if no misfortune happens."

"If no misfortune happens," she repeated slowly.

"Which is not likely. Dearest, fix the exact day."

Thesaurus

happiness, calm, euphoria,

accumulated: (adj) amassed, assembled, collected, accumulate, aggregate, gathered, hoarded, store, concentrated, massed, increased. afloat: (adj) buoyant, floating, current, in circulation, directionless, undirected, rudderless; (adv) adrift, aboard; (v) afoot; (n) on foot. anguish: (n, v) pain, ache; (n) torment, agony, torture, distress, misery, suffering, despair, grief, sorrow. ANTONYMS: (n) pleasure,

joyfulness, ecstasy, content, peace, hopefulness. disrespectfully: (adv) impudently, insolently, rudely, irreverently, impertinently, flippantly, impiously, discourteously, cheekily, uncivilly, boldly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deferentially, politely. folding: (n) foldaway, plication, foldable, bend, crease, bending, flexure, pleating, collapsable,

collapsible, doubling.

judged: (n) judging; (adj) guilty,
deliberate, legal, lawful.

occupation: (n) occupancy, business,
craft, calling, job, place, vocation,
career, function, line; (n, v) affair.

ANTONYM: (n) surrender.

outward: (adj) external, apparent,
extrinsic, outer, superficial, surface,
outside, ostensible, foreign, outdoor;
(adv) out. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv)
inward; (adj) inner, internal, deep.

And then they consulted on the question, and the day was chosen. It was to be a fortnight from that time.

This was the end of their talk, and Eustacia left him. Clym watched her as she retired towards the sun. The luminous rays wrapped her up with her increasing distance, and the rustle of her dress over the sprouting sedge and grass died away. As he watched, the dead flat of the scenery overpowered him, though he was fully alive to the beauty of that untarnished early summer green which was worn for the **nonce** by the poorest **blade**. There was something in its oppressive horizontality which too much reminded him of the arena of life; it gave him a sense of bare equality with, and no superiority to, a single living thing under the sun.

Eustacia was now no longer the goddess but the woman to him, a being to fight for, support, help, be maligned for. Now that he had reached a cooler moment he would have preferred a less hasty marriage; but the card was laid, and he determined to abide by the game. Whether Eustacia was to add one other to the list of those who love too hotly to love long and well, the forthcoming event was certainly a ready way of proving.

Thesaurus

abide: (v) endure, bide, undergo, tolerate, take, suffer, stomach, bear, brook; (adj, v) stay, dwell. ANTONYMS: (v) check, depart, disallow, disapprove, disbelieve, journey, dodge, leave, migrate, move, nonce: (n) hour, nowadays, crisis,

blade: (n) knife, beau, foil, falchion, cutlass, sword, leaf, shaft, razor, brand, steel.

hotly: (adv) heatedly, passionately, fervidly, fervently, pepperily,

sultrily, intensely, sharply, torridly; (adj, adv) violently, vehemently. ANTONYMS: (adv) impassively, mildly.

maligned: (adj) reviled.

moment, instant, epoch, present, time being, minute, day.

overpowered: (adj) beaten, conquered, inundated, engulfed, flooded, routed, vanquished, subdued, subjugated, overflowing, mild.

sedge: (n) rush, nutsedge, papyrus, nutgrass, chufa, galingale, galangal, weed, rush nut, nut sedge, nut grass. sprouting: (n) germination, growth, shooting, ontogenesis, maturation; (adj) growing, evolving, green, embryonic, emergent, nascent. untarnished: (adj) unblemished, unstained, pure, stainless, guiltless, unsullied, clean, perfect, immaculate, clear, untainted. ANTONYMS: (adj) blemished, flawed, guilty, used.

6

YEOBRIGHT GOES, AND THE BREACH IS COMPLETE

All that evening smart sounds **denoting** an active **packing** up came from Yeobright's room to the ears of his mother downstairs.

Next morning he departed from the house and again proceeded across the heath. A long day's march was before him, his object being to secure a dwelling to which he might take Eustacia when she became his wife. Such a house, small, secluded, and with its windows boarded up, he had casually observed a month earlier, about two miles beyond the village of East Egdon, and six miles distant altogether; and thither he directed his steps today.

The weather was far different from that of the evening before. The yellow and vapoury sunset which had wrapped up Eustacia from his parting gaze had presaged change. It was one of those not infrequent days of an English June which are as wet and boisterous as November. The cold clouds hastened on in a body, as if painted on a moving slide. Vapours from other continents arrived upon the wind, which **curled** and parted round him as he walked on.

At length Clym reached the margin of a fir and beech plantation that had been enclosed from heath land in the year of his birth. Here the trees, laden

Thesaurus

arrived: (adv) here, at home; (adj) accepted. beech: (n) Black beech, copper beech,

tree, common beech, wood, beech tree, beech wood.

loud, noisy, fierce, raucous, wild, rude, vociferous; (adj, v) tempestuous, rampant. ANTONYMS: (adj) remaining, alive. (adj) restrained, orderly, calm, dignified, silent, tranquil, gentle, placid.

curled: (adj) coiled, curling, having curls, round, braided, twisted, bowed, wreathy, Crull, curled up, tressed.

denoting: (adj) significant. boisterous: (adj, n) rough; (adj) furious, departed: (adj) dead, bygone, late, former, bypast, defunct, past, left; (adj, v) gone, extinct; (n) decedent. packing: (n) boxing, package, gasket, bundling, fill, pad, pack, envelopment, wadding, wrap,

backpacking.

plantation: (n) orchard, farm, garden, shrubbery, hacienda, planting, settlement, colony, parterre, grove,

secluded: (adj) remote, secret, reclusive, privy, cloistered, isolated, lonely, retired, sequestered, solitary; (adj, v) hidden. ANTONYMS: (adj) nearby, near, exposed, busy, accessible.

trees: (n) foliage.

heavily with their new and humid leaves, were now suffering more damage than during the highest winds of winter, when the boughs are especially disencumbered to do battle with the storm. The wet young beeches were undergoing amputations, bruises, cripplings, and harsh lacerations, from which the wasting sap would bleed for many a day to come, and which would leave scars visible till the day of their burning. Each stem was wrenched at the root, where it moved like a bone in its socket, and at every onset of the gale convulsive sounds came from the branches, as if pain were felt. In a neighbouring brake a finch was trying to sing; but the wind blew under his feathers till they stood on end, twisted round his little tail, and made him give up his song.

Yet a few yards to Yeobright's left, on the open heath, how **ineffectively** gnashed the storm! Those gusts which tore the trees merely waved the furze and heather in a light caress. Egdon was made for such times as these.

Yeobright reached the empty house about midday. It was almost as lonely as that of Eustacia's grandfather, but the fact that it stood near a heath was disguised by a belt of firs which almost enclosed the premises. He journeyed on about a mile further to the village in which the owner lived, and, returning with him to the house, arrangements were completed, and the man undertook that one room at least should be ready for occupation the next day. Clym's intention was to live there alone until Eustacia should join him on their wedding-day.

Then he turned to pursue his way homeward through the drizzle that had so greatly transformed the scene. The ferns, among which he had lain in comfort yesterday, were dripping moisture from every **frond**, **wetting** his legs through as he brushed past; and the fur of the rabbits leaping before him was **clotted** into dark locks by the same watery surrounding.

He reached home damp and weary enough after his ten- mile walk. It had hardly been a **propitious** beginning, but he had chosen his course, and would show no **swerving**. The evening and the following morning were spent in concluding arrangements for his departure. To stay at home a minute longer

Thesaurus

beeches: (n) Fagus.
bleed: (v) run, ooze, phlebotomize,
leak, percolate, shed blood, trickle,
hemorrhage, fleece; (n) ache, smart.
clotted: (n) clammy, ropy, mastic,
glutenous, gelatin; (adj) thick,
clogged, grumous, bloody, choked,
fleamy.
convulsive: (adj) spastic, galvanic,

convulsive: (*adj*) spastic, galvanic, fitful, paroxysmal, violent, choreic, unsteady, hysterical; (*v*) unquiet, restless, saltatory.

disencumbered: (adj) unencumbered, unburdened, unembarrassed. frond: (n) foliage, leaf, leafage. ineffectively: (adv) inefficiently, emptily, inefficaciously, futilely, uselessly, unsuccessfully, unproductively, powerlessly, fruitlessly, pointlessly, vainly. ANTONYMS: (adv) persuasively, efficaciously, fruitfully, powerfully, usefully, effectively, convincingly, efficiently.

propitious: (adj) fortunate, lucky, good, benign, happy, opportune; (adj, v) auspicious; (adj, n, v) friendly; (adj, n) promising, advantageous, kind. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfortunate, unlucky, unpropitious, inopportune, hopeless.

swerving: (n) veering.

swerving: (*n*) veering. **wetting**: (*n*) moistening, damping, watering, splash, leak, passing water, ducking, making water, immersion, dousing, leakage.

than necessary after having once come to his determination would be, he felt, only to give new pain to his mother by some word, look, or deed.

He had **hired** a conveyance and sent off his goods by two o'clock that day. The next step was to get some furniture, which, after serving for temporary use in the cottage, would be available for the house at Budmouth when increased by goods of a better description. A mart extensive enough for the purpose existed at Anglebury, some miles beyond the spot chosen for his residence, and there he resolved to pass the coming night.

It now only remained to wish his mother good-bye. She was sitting by the window as usual when he came downstairs.

"Mother, I am going to leave you," he said, holding out his hand.

"I thought you were, by your packing," replied Mrs. Yeobright in a voice from which every **particle** of emotion was painfully excluded.

"And you will part friends with me?"

"Certainly, Clym."

"I am going to be married on the twenty-fifth."

"I thought you were going to be married."

"And then--and then you must come and see us. You will understand me better after that, and our situation will not be so **wretched** as it is now."

"I do not think it likely I shall come to see you."

"Then it will not be my fault or Eustacia's, Mother. Good-bye!"

He kissed her cheek, and departed in great misery, which was several hours in **lessening** itself to a **controllable** level. The position had been such that nothing more could be said without, in the first place, breaking down a barrier; and that was not to be done.

No sooner had Yeobright gone from his mother's house than her face changed its rigid aspect for one of blank despair. After a while she wept, and her tears brought some relief. During the rest of the day she did nothing but walk up and down the garden path in a state bordering on stupefaction. Night came,

Thesaurus

bordering: (adj) abutting, adjoining, conterminous, contiguous, frontier, next, neighboring, nearby, near, approximate, fringent. controllable: (adj) manageable, navigable, tractable, restrainable, obedient, harmless, convenient,

hired: (adj) leased, chartered, mercenary, hackneyed, hack; (v) contented, compensated, paid. lessening: (n) diminution, cutback,

alleviation, contraction, abatement, mitigation, shrinking, reduction, cut; (adj) decreasing, diminishing. ANTONYMS: (n) growth, restoration; (adj) increasing. mart: (n) emporium, market, marketplace, bazar, agora, forum, grocery, sale, center, outlet, store. miles: (adj) far.

particle: (n) molecule, grain, speck, iota, fragment, jot, bit, mite, corpuscle, spot; (adj, n) atom.

stupefaction: (adj, n) stupor; (n) astonishment, daze, amazement, shock, bewilderment, perplexity, surprise, awe, grogginess, semiconsciousness.

wretched: (adj) unfortunate, pitiful, sad, pitiable, woeful, pathetic, piteous, lamentable; (adj, v) poor, unhappy, forlorn. ANTONYMS: (adj) fine, strong, fortunate, overjoyed, nice, admirable, good, cheery, joyous, lucky, comfortable.

and with it but little rest. The next day, with an **instinct** to do something which should reduce **prostration** to **mournfulness**, she went to her son's room, and with her own hands arranged it in order, for an imaginary time when he should return again. She gave some attention to her flowers, but it was perfunctorily bestowed, for they no longer charmed her.

It was a great relief when, early in the afternoon, Thomasin paid her an unexpected visit. This was not the first meeting between the relatives since Thomasin's marriage; and past blunders having been in a rough way rectified, they could always greet each other with pleasure and ease.

The oblique band of sunlight which followed her through the door became the young wife well. It illuminated her as her presence illuminated the heath. In her movements, in her gaze, she reminded the **beholder** of the feathered creatures who lived around her home. All **similes** and allegories concerning her began and ended with birds. There was as much variety in her motions as in their flight. When she was musing she was a **kestrel**, which hangs in the air by an invisible motion of its wings. When she was in a high wind her light body was blown against trees and banks like a heron's. When she was frightened she darted **noiselessly** like a **kingfisher**. When she was serene she **skimmed** like a swallow, and that is how she was moving now.

"You are looking very **blithe**, upon my word, Tamsie," said Mrs. Yeobright, with a sad smile. "How is Damon?"

"He is very well."

"Is he kind to you, Thomasin?" And Mrs. Yeobright observed her narrowly.

"Pretty fairly."

"Is that honestly said?"

"Yes, Aunt. I would tell you if he were unkind." She added, blushing, and with hesitation, "He--I don't know if I ought to complain to you about this, but I am not quite sure what to do. I want some money, you know, Aunt--some to buy little things for myself--and he doesn't give me any. I don't like to ask him;

Thesaurus

beholder: (n) witness, looker, observer, onlooker, viewer, eyewitness, bystander, auditor, audile, passer by, watcher.
blithe: (adj) cheerful, lighthearted, breezy, pleasant, merry, carefree, buoyant, facetious, gay, happy, animated. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhappy, sorrowful, miserable, downhearted, depressed, anxious, sad, heavy, gloomy, serious, troubled.

instinct: (n) impulse, urge, aptitude, gift, feeling, sixth sense, inherent aptitude, knack, inspiration, talent, genius.

kestrel: (n) castril, castrel, accipiter nisus, sparrow hawk, falcon. kingfisher: (n) coraciiform bird. mournfulness: (n) woe, grief, sorrow, distress, sorrowfulness, dejection, melancholy, ruthfulness, woefulness, blues.

noiselessly: (adv) silently, soundlessly, skimmed: (v) flet, flotten.

stilly, softly, mutely, delicately, wordlessly, gently, speechlessly; (adj, adv) stealthily; (adj) noiseless.
ANTONYMS: (adv) heavily, audibly.
prostration: (n) depression,
exhaustion, kneeling, breakdown,
weakness, dejection, inanition,
genuflexion, curtsy; (adj) decline; (adj, n) syncope.
similes: (n) imagery, images,
metaphors.

and yet, perhaps, he doesn't give it me because he doesn't know. Ought I to mention it to him, Aunt?"

"Of course you ought. Have you never said a word on the matter?"

"You see, I had some of my own," said Thomasin **evasively**, "and I have not wanted any of his until lately. I did just say something about it last week; but he seems--not to remember."

"He must be made to remember. You are aware that I have a little box full of spade-guineas, which your uncle put into my hands to divide between yourself and Clym whenever I chose. Perhaps the time has come when it should be done. They can be turned into **sovereigns** at any moment."

"I think I should like to have my share--that is, if you don't mind."

"You shall, if necessary. But it is only proper that you should first tell your husband distinctly that you are without any, and see what he will do."

"Very well, I will....Aunt, I have heard about Clym. I know you are in trouble about him, and that's why I have come."

Mrs. Yeobright turned away, and her features worked in her attempt to conceal her feelings. Then she ceased to make any attempt, and said, **weeping**, "O Thomasin, do you think he hates me? How can he bear to grieve me so, when I have lived only for him through all these years?"

"Hate you--no," said Thomasin soothingly. "It is only that he loves her too well. Look at it quietly--do. It is not so very bad of him. Do you know, I thought it not the worst match he could have made. Miss Vye's family is a good one on her mother's side; and her father was a romantic wanderer--a sort of Greek Ulysses."

"It is no use, Thomasin; it is no use. Your intention is good; but I will not trouble you to argue. I have gone through the whole that can be said on either side times, and many times. Clym and I have not parted in anger; we have parted in a worse way. It is not a passionate **quarrel** that would have broken my heart; it is the steady opposition and **persistence** in going wrong that he has shown. O Thomasin, he was so good as a little boy--so tender and kind!"

Thesaurus

evasively: (adv) shiftily, deceptively, elusively, indirectly, deceitfully, shufflingly, falsely, misleadingly, ambiguously, cautiously, carefully. ANTONYM: (adv) carelessly. hate: (v) abhor, detest, loathe, abominate; (n) enmity, abhorrence, detestation, hatred, animosity, antipathy, aversion. ANTONYMS: (n, v) like; (v) adore, cherish, admire; (n) attraction, liking, delight, adoration. persistence: (n) continuity, endurance,

constancy, stubbornness, durability, doggedness, continuation, continuance, patience, perseveration, tenacity. ANTONYMS: (n) laziness, indifference, flexibility, impatience, feebleness.

quarrel: (adj, n, v) dispute; (n, v) fight, feud, brawl, row, altercation, argue, conflict, squabble; (n) dissension, difference. ANTONYMS: (n) agreement, reconciliation, acceptance, concord, consensus; (v)

agree.
soothingly: (adv) softly, quietly,
calmingly, lullingly, lightly, tenderly,
kindly, blandly, calmly,
comfortingly, sedatively.
sovereigns: (n) crowned heads, royals,
royalty.

weeping: (adj) tearful, lachrymose, dolourous, dolorous; (n, v) lament, lamentation; (v) wailing; (n) sobbing, tears, cry; (adj, n) howling.

ANTONYM: (n) celebration.

"He was, I know."

"I did not think one whom I called mine would grow up to treat me like this. He spoke to me as if I opposed him to injure him. As though I could wish him ill!"

"There are worse women in the world than Eustacia Vye."

"There are too many better that's the agony of it. It was she, Thomasin, and she only, who led your husband to act as he did--I would **swear** it!"

"No," said Thomasin eagerly. "It was before he knew me that he thought of her, and it was nothing but a mere flirtation."

"Very well; we will let it be so. There is little use in unravelling that now. Sons must be blind if they will. Why is it that a woman can see from a distance what a man cannot see close? Clym must do as he will--he is nothing more to me. And this is maternity--to give one's best years and best love to ensure the fate of being despised!"

"You are too unyielding. Think how many mothers there are whose sons have brought them to public shame by real crimes before you feel so deeply a case like this."

"Thomasin, don't lecture me--I can't have it. It is the excess above what we expect that makes the force of the blow, and that may not be greater in their case than in mine--they may have **foreseen** the worst....I am **wrongly** made, Thomasin," she added, with a **mournful** smile. "Some widows can guard against the wounds their children give them by turning their hearts to another husband and beginning life again. But I always was a poor, weak, one-idea'd creature--I had not the compass of heart nor the enterprise for that. Just as **forlorn** and stupefied as I was when my husband's spirit flew away I have sat ever since-never attempting to **mend** matters at all. I was comparatively a young woman then, and I might have had another family by this time, and have been **comforted** by them for the failure of this one son."

"It is more noble in you that you did not."

"The more noble, the less wise."

Thesaurus

comforted: (adj) thankful, pleased, comfortable, calmed.
foreseen: (v) foresee, long expected; (adj) envisioned, foretold, contingent, concourse, coming, casual, adventitious, accidental, predictable. forlorn: (adj) hopeless, desolate, despairing, unhappy, miserable, deserted, disconsolate, downcast, cheerless, wretched, abject.
ANTONYMS: (adj) happy, hopeful, fine.

mend: (adj, v) improve; (v) correct, cure, heal, doctor, better, amend, restore, convalesce; (n, v) fix, patch. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen, tear, smash, decline, deteriorate; (n) fracture.

mournful: (adj) sad, miserable,

mournful: (adj) sad, miserable, melancholy, funereal, dolorous, dark, pensive, gloomy, lugubrious, lamentable; (adj, n) plaintive. ANTONYMS: (adj) joyful, happy, emotionless.

swear: (v) declare, assure, assert, affirm, curse, pledge; (n, v) promise, avow, depone, depose, aver. ANTONYMS: (v) distrust, refute, deny, compliment. wrongly: (adv) incorrectly, mistakenly,

wrongly: (adv) incorrectly, mistakenly, improperly, wrong, falsely, badly, unjustly, inaccurately, faultily, fallaciously, amissly. ANTONYMS: (adv) suitably, justifiably, rightly, right, ethically, appropriately, justly, accurately, fairly, perfectly.

"Forget it, and be soothed, dear Aunt. And I shall not leave you alone for long. I shall come and see you every day."

And for one week Thomasin literally **fulfilled** her word. She endeavoured to make light of the wedding; and brought news of the preparations, and that she was invited to be present. The next week she was rather unwell, and did not appear. Nothing had as yet been done about the guineas, for Thomasin feared to address her husband again on the subject, and Mrs. Yeobright had insisted upon this.

One day just before this time Wildeve was standing at the door of the Quiet Woman. In addition to the **upward** path through the heath to Rainbarrow and Mistover, there was a road which branched from the highway a short distance below the inn, and ascended to Mistover by a circuitous and easy incline. This was the only route on that side for vehicles to the captain's retreat. A light cart from the nearest town descended the road, and the lad who was driving pulled up in front of the inn for something to drink.

"You come from Mistover?" said Wildeve.

"Yes. They are taking in good things up there. Going to be a wedding." And the driver buried his face in his mug.

Wildeve had not received an inkling of the fact before, and a sudden expression of pain overspread his face. He turned for a moment into the passage to hide it. Then he came back again.

"Do you mean Miss Vye?" he said. "How is it--that she can be married so soon?"

"By the will of God and a ready young man, I suppose."

"You don't mean Mr. Yeobright?"

"Yes. He has been creeping about with her all the spring."

"I suppose--she was **immensely** taken with him?"

Thesaurus

circuitous: (adj) roundabout, winding, immensely: (adv) highly, infinitely, devious, tortuous, meandering, oblique, complicated, labyrinthine, crooked, collateral, circumlocutional. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, direct. fulfilled: (adj) complete, finished, done, satisfied, accomplished, completed, whole, delighted, concluded, happy, full of pride. ANTONYMS: (adj) incomplete, unfulfilled, frustrated, ashamed, dissatisfied.

greatly, enormously, tremendously, extremely, mightily, hugely, massively, immeasurably, monstrously.

incline: (v) cant, dispose, bend; (n, v)slope, bias, dip, tilt; (n) ascent, gradient, grade, inclination. ANTONYMS: (v) indispose, level; (n) hollow, descent.

inkling: (n, v) hint, suggestion; (n)clue, allusion, idea, glimpse, notion, indication, cue, intimation, implication. ANTONYMS: (n) trust,

invited: (adj) welcomer, wanted, cherished.

soothed: (adj) composed.

upward: (adv) upwards, upwardly, aloft; (adj) overhead, rising, upper, increasing, open, vertical, mounting, upright. ANTONYMS: (adj) descending, downward; (adv) down. "She is crazy about him, so their general servant of all work tells me. And that lad Charley that looks after the horse is all in a **daze** about it. The **stun**- poll has got fond-like of her."

"Is she lively--is she glad? Going to be married so soon--well!"

"It isn't so very soon."

"No; not so very soon."

Wildeve went indoors to the empty room, a curious **heartache** within him. He rested his elbow upon the **mantelpiece** and his face upon his hand. When Thomasin entered the room he did not tell her of what he had heard. The old **longing** for Eustacia had reappeared in his soul--and it was mainly because he had discovered that it was another man's intention to possess her.

To be **yearning** for the difficult, to be weary of that offered; to care for the remote, to dislike the near; it was Wildeve's nature always. This is the true mark of the man of sentiment. Though Wildeve's **fevered** feeling had not been **elaborated** to real **poetical** compass, it was of the standard sort. His might have been **called** the Rousseau of Egdon.

Thesaurus

called: (adj) named, titled, chosen, known as; (v) nempt, ycleped. **daze**: (v) astonish, bedazzle, astound, amaze, befuddle, bewilder, dazzle; (n, v) fog, shock; (n) stupor, trance. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, clarify; (n) alertness, clarity. **elaborated**: (adj) elaborate, careful,

finished, wrought.

fevered: (*adj*) febrile, hectic, hot, fiery. **heartache**: (*n*) sorrow, distress, anguish, woe, heartbreak, dolor,

affliction, pain, brokenheartedness, concern, bitterness.

longing: (*n*, *v*) desire, aspiration; (*adj*) eager, wistful, nostalgic; (*n*) nostalgia, wish, hankering, urge, appetite; (*adj*, *n*) yearning. ANTONYMS: (*n*) apathy, disinclination; (*adj*) satisfied, unconcerned.

mantelpiece: (n) chimneypiece, mantlepiece, shelf, chimneybreast, blanket, cape, sill, clavy, curtain, drape, drapery. poetical: (adj) imaginative, rhetorical, poematic, figurative, inventive. stun: (v) amaze, bewilder, shock, baffle, daze, flabbergast, stagger; (adv, v) startle, surprise; (adj, v) astound; (n, v) deaden.
yearning: (n) hankering, aspiration, thirst, craving, desire, hunger, nostalgia, eagerness; (adj) wistful, pining, desirous. ANTONYMS: (adj) disinterested; (n) dislike, disinclination, apathy.

7

THE MORNING AND THE EVENING OF A DAY

The wedding morning came. Nobody would have imagined from appearances that Blooms-End had any interest in Mistover that day. A solemn stillness prevailed around the house of Clym's mother, and there was no more animation indoors. Mrs. Yeobright, who had declined to attend the ceremony, sat by the breakfast table in the old room which communicated immediately with the porch, her eyes listlessly directed towards the open door. It was the room in which, six months earlier, the merry Christmas party had met, to which Eustacia came secretly and as a stranger. The only living thing that entered now was a sparrow; and seeing no movements to cause alarm, he hopped boldly round the room, endeavoured to go out by the window, and fluttered among the potflowers. This roused the lonely sitter, who got up, released the bird, and went to the door. She was expecting Thomasin, who had written the night before to state that the time had come when she would wish to have the money and that she would if possible call this day.

Yet Thomasin occupied Mrs. Yeobright's thoughts but slightly as she looked up the valley of the heath, alive with **butterflies**, and with grasshoppers whose **husky** noises on every side formed a whispered chorus. A domestic drama, for

Thesaurus

animation: (adj, n) life, vivacity; (n) liveliness, vitality, activity, spirit, exhilaration, dash, energy, buoyancy; (adj) alacrity. ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, lifelessness, inertness, inertia, sluggishness, boredom. boldly: (adj, adv) courageously, valiantly, heroically; (adv) fearlessly, daringly, bravely, intrepidly, impudently, audaciously, shamelessly, brashly. ANTONYMS: (adv) discreetly, modestly, nervously,

hesitantly, shyly, fearfully, meekly, submissively, secretly, respectfully, diffidently.

butterflies: (adj) anxious, apprehensive, frightened; (n) trepidation, nervousness, anxiety. declined: (adj) less.

husky: (adj) hoarse, gruff, burly, big, dry, raucous, beefy, strapping, brawny, sturdy; (n) Eskimo dog. ANTONYMS: (adj) high, puny, small, smooth, soft.

listlessly: (adv) sluggishly, spiritlessly, indifferently, languidly, slowly, weakly, indolently, supinely, lazily, inanimately, slackly. ANTONYMS: (adv) brightly, nimbly.

roused: (*adj*) excited, awake, susceptible, emotional, elated, interested.

sitter: (n) babysitter, model, nurse, janitor, baby sitter, Willem de sitter, superintendent, keeper, guardian, custodian, caretaker. which the preparations were now being made a mile or two off, was but little less vividly present to her eyes than if enacted before her. She tried to dismiss the vision, and walked about the garden plot; but her eyes ever and anon sought out the direction of the parish church to which Mistover belonged, and her excited fancy **clove** the hills which divided the building from her eyes. The morning wore away. Eleven o'clock struck--could it be that the wedding was then in progress? It must be so. She went on imagining the scene at the church, which he had by this time approached with his bride. She pictured the little group of children by the gate as the pony carriage drove up in which, as Thomasin had learnt, they were going to perform the short journey. Then she saw them enter and proceed to the **chancel** and kneel; and the service seemed to go on.

She covered her face with her hands. "O, it is a mistake!" she groaned. "And he will rue it some day, and think of me!"

While she remained thus, overcome by her forebodings, the old clock indoors whizzed forth twelve strokes. Soon after, faint sounds floated to her ear from afar over the hills. The breeze came from that quarter, and it had brought with it the notes of distant bells, gaily starting off in a **peal**: one, two, three, four, five. The ringers at East Egdon were **announcing** the **nuptials** of Eustacia and her son.

"Then it is over," she murmured. "Well, well! and life too will be over soon. And why should I go on scalding my face like this? Cry about one thing in life, cry about all; one thread runs through the whole piece. And yet we say, 'a time to laugh!"

Towards evening Wildeve came. Since Thomasin's marriage Mrs. Yeobright had shown him that grim **friendliness** which at last arises in all such cases of undesired affinity. The vision of what ought to have been is thrown aside in sheer weariness, and **browbeaten** human endeavour listlessly makes the best of the fact that is. Wildeve, to do him justice, had behaved very **courteously** to his wife's aunt; and it was with no surprise that she saw him enter now.

Thesaurus

announcing: (n) publicity,
communication; (adj) annunciative.
browbeaten: (adj) afraid, timid,
cowed, bullied, hangdog, broken; (v)
humbled in the dust.
chancel: (n) sanctuary, Golgotha,
quire, transept, vestry, crypt, nave,
presbytery, choir, calvary, asylum.
clove: (n) syzygium aromaticum, clove
tree, Eugenia aromaticum, garlic,
gulch, gap, chasm, ravine, garlic
clove; (v) cleave.

courteously: (adv) graciously, civilly, considerately, decorously, decently, gallantly, obligingly, urbanely, suavely, thoughtfully, kindly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coarsely, uncooperatively, disrespectfully, impolitely.

friendliness: (n) friendship, geniality, amiability, affability, amicability, affection, hospitality, cordiality, brotherhood, amicableness, accessibility. ANTONYMS: (n)

cruelty, aloofness, nastiness, hostility, aggression, resistance, resentment, frostiness, formality, contention, belligerence.

nuptials: (*n*) wedding, matrimony, bridal, wedding ceremony, marriage ceremony, spousal, wedding party, ceremonial, ceremony, espousal, hymeneals. ANTONYM: (*n*) divorce. **peal**: (*n*) ding, noise, clang, dingdong, blast; (*v*) chime, knell, toll, echo; (*adi*, *n*) swell; (*n*, *v*) bang.

"Thomasin has not been able to come, as she promised to do," he replied to her inquiry, which had been anxious, for she knew that her niece was badly in want of money.

"The captain came down last night and personally pressed her to join them today. So, not to be unpleasant, she determined to go. They **fetched** her in the pony-chaise, and are going to bring her back."

"Then it is done," said Mrs. Yeobright. "Have they gone to their new home?"

"I don't know. I have had no news from Mistover since Thomasin left to go."

"You did not go with her?" said she, as if there might be good **reasons** why.

"I could not," said Wildeve, **reddening** slightly. "We could not both leave the house; it was rather a busy morning, on account of Anglebury Great Market. I believe you have something to give to Thomasin? If you like, I will take it."

Mrs. Yeobright hesitated, and wondered if Wildeve knew what the something was. "Did she tell you of this?" she inquired.

"Not particularly. She **casually** dropped a **remark** about having arranged to fetch some article or other."

"It is hardly necessary to send it. She can have it whenever she chooses to come."

"That won't be yet. In the present state of her health she must not go on walking so much as she has done." He added, with a faint **twang** of **sarcasm**, "What wonderful thing is it that I cannot be **trusted** to take?"

"Nothing worth troubling you with."

"One would think you doubted my honesty," he said, with a laugh, though his colour rose in a quick **resentfulness** frequent with him.

"You need think no such thing," said she **drily**. "It is simply that I, in common with the rest of the world, feel that there are certain things which had better be done by certain people than by others."

Thesaurus

casually: (adv) incidentally,
haphazardly, fortuitously, carelessly,
occasionally, by chance, cursorily,
nonchalantly, adventitiously,
contingently, indifferently.
ANTONYMS: (adv) anxiously,
formally, politely, seriously,
distantly, considerately, attentively.
drily: (adv) parchedly, thirstily,
waterlessly, monotonously, stalely,
driedly, sharply, sardonically,
tediously, hardly, plainly.

fetch: (*v*) carry, bring, bring in, convey, draw, elicit, deliver, catch, get, attract; (*adj*, *n*) feint. **reasons**: (*n*) proof.

reddening: (n) flush, rubescence; (v)

remark: (*n*, *v*) comment, notice, note, mention, regard, mind; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) observe; (*v*) perceive, mark, discern; (*n*) observation.

resentfulness: (*v*) peeve; (*n*) bad blood, rancour, envy, bitterness,

animosity, implacableness. sarcasm: (adj, n) irony, ridicule, satire, humor; (n) gibe, bitterness, jeer, scorn, insinuation, taunt; (adj) sarcastic. ANTONYM: (n) kindness. trusted: (adj) intimate, confidential, sure, bosom, beloved, cherished, familiar, trustworthy, indisputable, trusty, reliable.

twang: (*n*, *v*) flavor; (*n*) accent, tang, strong taste; (*v*) jar, strum, play, smack, taste, smatch, savor.

"As you like, as you like," said Wildeve laconically. "It is not worth arguing about. Well, I think I must turn homeward again, as the inn must not be left long in charge of the lad and the maid only."

He went his way, his farewell being scarcely so courteous as his greeting. But Mrs. Yeobright knew him thoroughly by this time, and took little notice of his manner, good or bad.

When Wildeve was gone Mrs. Yeobright stood and considered what would be the best course to adopt with regard to the guineas, which she had not liked to entrust to Wildeve. It was hardly credible that Thomasin had told him to ask for them, when the necessity for them had arisen from the difficulty of obtaining money at his hands. At the same time Thomasin really wanted them, and might be unable to come to Blooms-End for another week at least. To take or send the money to her at the inn would be **impolite**, since Wildeve would pretty surely be present, or would discover the transaction; and if, as her aunt suspected, he treated her less kindly than she deserved to be treated, he might then get the whole sum out of her gentle hands. But on this particular evening Thomasin was at Mistover, and anything might be conveyed to her there without the knowledge of her husband. Upon the whole the opportunity was worth taking advantage of.

Her son, too, was there, and was now married. There could be no more proper moment to render him his share of the money than the present. And the chance that would be afforded her, by sending him this gift, of showing how far she was from bearing him ill-will, cheered the sad mother's heart.

She went upstairs and took from a locked drawer a little box, out of which she poured a hoard of broad unworn guineas that had lain there many a year. There were a hundred in all, and she divided them into two **heaps**, fifty in each. Tying up these in small canvas bags, she went down to the garden and called to Christian Cantle, who was loitering about in hope of a supper which was not really owed him. Mrs. Yeobright gave him the moneybags, charged him to go to Mistover, and on no account to deliver them into any one's hands save her son's and Thomasin's. On further thought she deemed it advisable to tell Christian

Thesaurus

conveyed: (v) borne, sent. entrust: (v) deposit, depute, commission, commend, delegate, surrender, trust, assign, hand over, commit, confide. ANTONYM: (v)

heaps: (adj, n) lots, much; (n) masses, oodles, piles, stacks, many, tons, plenty, lot, accumulation. ANTONYM: (adj) inadequate. hoard: (v) amass, gather, collect,

garner; (n, v) cache, store, stock, heap, succinctly, shortly, curtly, dryly,

bank, stash; (n) accumulation. ANTONYMS: (v) squander, disperse,

impolite: (adj) coarse, gruff, disrespectful, impertinent, brusque, churlish, uncivilized, rude, insolent, improper, blunt. ANTONYMS: (adj) respectful, courteous, pleasant, gracious, correct, decent, genteel, sensitive, excusable.

laconically: (adv) pithily, tersely,

concisely, briefly, sententiously, summarily, compendiously. **loitering**: (n) delay, dalliance; (adj) slow, dilatory, delaying, inactive, truant, trifling, tardy; (v) loiter; (adv)

moneybags: (n) financier, capitalist. unworn: (adj) unallayed, unwithered, unshaken, not habituated, not familiar, lately manifested, fresh, modern, new, new scenes, recent. ANTONYM: (adj) worn.

precisely what the two bags contained, that he might be fully impressed with their importance. Christian pocketed the moneybags, promised the greatest **carefulness**, and set out on his way.

"You need not hurry," said Mrs. Yeobright. "It will be better not to get there till after dusk, and then nobody will notice you. Come back here to supper, if it is not too late."

It was nearly nine o'clock when he began to **ascend** the vale towards Mistover; but the long days of summer being at their climax, the first obscurity of evening had only just begun to tan the landscape. At this point of his journey Christian heard voices, and found that they proceeded from a company of men and women who were traversing a hollow ahead of him, the tops only of their heads being visible.

He paused and thought of the money he carried. It was almost too early even for Christian seriously to fear robbery; nevertheless he took a **precaution** which ever since his boyhood he had adopted whenever he carried more than two or three shillings upon his person--a precaution somewhat like that of the owner of the Pitt Diamond when filled with similar misgivings. He took off his boots, **untied** the guineas, and emptied the contents of one little bag into the right boot, and of the other into the left, spreading them as **flatly** as possible over the bottom of each, which was really a spacious **coffer** by no means limited to the size of the foot. Pulling them on again and **lacing** them to the very top, he proceeded on his way, more easy in his head than under his **soles**.

His path converged towards that of the noisy company, and on coming nearer he found to his relief that they were several Egdon people whom he knew very well, while with them walked Fairway, of Blooms-End.

"What! Christian going too?" said Fairway as soon as he recognized the newcomer. "You've got no young woman nor wife to your name to gie a gownpiece to, I'm sure."

"What d'ye mean?" said Christian.

Thesaurus

ascend: (n, v) mount; (v) arise, scale, uprise, climb, go up, come up, increase, elevate; (n) ascending, ascent. ANTONYMS: (v) descend, drop, decline, fall, lower, set, sink. carefulness: (n) care, precision, conscientiousness, prudence, diligence, cautiousness, discretion, frugality, thrift, attentiveness, exactness. ANTONYMS: (n) recklessness, negligence, impulsiveness, incaution,

extravagance, foolishness, neglect, messiness.

coffer: (*n*) box, chest, case, caisson, casket, trunk, safe, strongbox, treasury, crate, coffers.

flatly: (*adv*) categorically, smoothly, plainly, levelly, insipidly, evenly, firmly, monotonously, horizontally, peremptorily, directly. ANTONYM: (*adv*) animatedly.

lacing: (*n*) seaming, shoelace, cord, whipping, bootlace, beating, licking,

twist, lashing, flogging, string. precaution: (n) foresight, care, prevention, discretion, anticipation, caution, circumspection, prudence, safeguard, protection; (adj) precautionary. soles: (n) family Soleidae. untied: (adj) unfastened, unchained, unshackled, unlaced, unbound, unfettered, free, unsewed, open, unconnected, rambling. ANTONYMS: (adj) tied, laced.

"Why, the raffle. The one we go to every year. Going to the raffle as well as ourselves?"

"Never knew a word o't. Is it like **cudgel** playing or other **sportful** forms of bloodshed? I don't want to go, thank you, Mister Fairway, and no offence."

"Christian don't know the fun o't, and 'twould be a fine sight for him," said a buxom woman. "There's no danger at all, Christian. Every man puts in a shilling apiece, and one wins a gown-piece for his wife or sweetheart if he's got one."

"Well, as that's not my fortune there's no meaning in it to me. But I should like to see the fun, if there's nothing of the black art in it, and if a man may look on without cost or getting into any dangerous wrangle?"

"There will be no uproar at all," said Timothy. "Sure, Christian, if you'd like to come we'll see there's no harm done."

"And no ba'dy gaieties, I suppose? You see, neighbours, if so, it would be setting father a bad example, as he is so light moral'd. But a gown-piece for a shilling, and no black art--'tis worth looking in to see, and it wouldn't hinder me half an hour. Yes, I'll come, if you'll step a little way towards Mistover with me afterwards, supposing night should have closed in, and nobody else is going that way?"

One or two promised; and Christian, diverging from his direct path, turned round to the right with his companions towards the Quiet Woman.

When they entered the large common room of the inn they found assembled there about ten men from among the neighbouring population, and the group was increased by the new contingent to double that number. Most of them were sitting round the room in seats divided by wooden elbows like those of crude cathedral stalls, which were carved with the initials of many an illustrious drunkard of former times who had passed his days and his nights between them, and now lay as an alcoholic cinder in the nearest churchyard. Among the cups on the long table before the sitters lay an open parcel of light drapery--the gownpiece, as it was called--which was to be raffled for. Wildeve was standing with

Thesaurus

apiece: (adj, adv) each; (adj) one by one; curvaceous, shapely, full, crummy, (pron) all, both, each one; (adv) individually, singly, for each, for each one, from each one, to each one. ANTONYM: (adv) together.

bloodshed: (n) blood, slaughter, massacre, bloodletting, murder, killing, homicide, gore, bloodbath, fighting, battue. ANTONYM: (n)

friendliness.

buxom: (adj) bosomy, chubby, bonny, plump, sonsy, voluptuous,

fat. ANTONYMS: (adj) skinny, bony. cinder: (n) clinker, scoria, charcoal, scum, ashes, ember, dross, slag, chark, bastard.

cudgel: (n) bludgeon, truncheon, stick, staff, switch, mace, baton; (v) beat, bat, hit, drub.

illustrious: (adj, n) glorious, celebrated, excellent, grand; (adj) famous, bright, eminent, famed, distinguished, brilliant, well-known. ANTONYMS: (adj) unknown, obscure, ordinary, undistinguished,

parcel: (n) bale, pack, bundle, package, packet, section, division, batch; (n, v)portion; (v) distribute, apportion. raffle: (v) raffle off, shuffle the cards, pillage, set on a cast, grove, channel;

(n) lottery, draw, sweepstake, game of chance, gamble.

sportful: (adj) frolicsome, playful, merry, sportive.

his back to the fireplace smoking a cigar; and the promoter of the raffle, a **packman** from a distant town, was expatiating upon the value of the fabric as material for a summer dress.

"Now, **gentlemen**," he continued, as the newcomers drew up to the table, "there's five have entered, and we want four more to make up the number. I think, by the faces of those gentlemen who have just come in, that they are shrewd enough to take advantage of this rare opportunity of **beautifying** their ladies at a very trifling expense."

Fairway, Sam, and another placed their **shillings** on the table, and the man turned to Christian.

"No, sir," said Christian, drawing back, with a quick gaze of misgiving. "I am only a poor chap come to look on, an it please ye, sir. I don't so much as know how you do it. If so be I was sure of getting it I would put down the shilling; but I couldn't otherwise."

"I think you might almost be sure," said the **pedlar**. "In fact, now I look into your face, even if I can't say you are sure to win, I can say that I never saw anything look more like winning in my life."

"You'll anyhow have the same chance as the rest of us," said Sam.

"And the extra luck of being the last comer," said another.

"And I was born wi' a **caul**, and perhaps can be no more ruined than drowned?" Christian added, beginning to give way.

Ultimately Christian laid down his shilling, the raffle began, and the **dice** went round. When it came to Christian's turn he took the box with a trembling hand, shook it **fearfully**, and threw a pair-royal. Three of the others had thrown common low pairs, and all the rest mere points.

"The gentleman looked like winning, as I said," observed the chapman **blandly**. "Take it, sir; the article is yours."

"Haw-haw!" said Fairway. "I'm damned if this isn't the quarest start that ever I knowed!"

Thesaurus

decoration.

blandly: (adv) dully, insipidly, mildly, suavely, flatly, uninterestingly, tamely, weakly, boringly,

beautifying: (adj) cultural, fancy; (n)

flavorlessly, oily. ANTONYMS: (adv) meaningfully, interestingly, admirably.

caul: (n) veil, omentum, gastrocolic omentum, greater omentum, embryonic membrane, Calle, pressure equalising plate. dice: (v) cube, cut, chop, cut up, play dice, bet; (n) die, dice box, bone, dees. fearfully: (adv) timidly, timorously, awfully, apprehensively, horrendously, hideously, anxiously, appallingly, terribly; (adj, adv) shockingly, dreadfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) bravely, calmly, confidently, wonderfully, rationally, unconcernedly.

gentlemen: (*n*) sirs, messieurs. **packman**: (*n*) chapman, hawker,

pedlar, peddler, vendor, vender, drug dealer, drug peddler, drug trafficker, falconer, pitchman. pedlar: (n) chapman, hawker, huckster, packman, cadger, seller, coster, costermonger, vender, vendor, street vendor.

shilling: (n) York shilling, Tanzanian shilling, British shilling, Kenyan shilling, Ugandan shilling, Somalian shilling, dock, cork, farthing, coin, cheat.

"Mine?" asked Christian, with a vacant **stare** from his target eyes. "I--I haven't got neither maid, wife, nor widder **belonging** to me at all, and I'm afeard it will make me laughed at to ha'e it, Master Traveller. What with being curious to join in I never thought of that! What shall I do wi' a woman's clothes in *my* bedroom, and not lose my decency!"

"Keep 'em, to be sure," said Fairway, "if it is only for luck. Perhaps 'twill tempt some woman that thy poor carcase had no power over when standing empty-handed."

"Keep it, certainly," said Wildeve, who had idly watched the scene from a distance.

The table was then cleared of the articles, and the men began to drink.

"Well, to be sure!" said Christian, half to himself. "To think I should have been born so lucky as this, and not have found it out until now! What curious creatures these dice be--powerful rulers of us all, and yet at my command! I am sure I never need be afeared of anything after this." He handled the dice **fondly** one by one. "Why, sir," he said in a **confidential** whisper to Wildeve, who was near his left hand, "if I could only use this power that's in me of **multiplying** money I might do some good to a near relation of yours, seeing what I've got about me of hers--eh?" He **tapped** one of his money-laden boots upon the floor.

"What do you mean?" said Wildeve.

"That's a secret. Well, I must be going now." He looked anxiously towards Fairway.

"Where are you going?" Wildeve asked.

"To Mistover Knap. I have to see Mrs. Thomasin there-- that's all."

"I am going there, too, to fetch Mrs. Wildeve. We can walk together."

Wildeve became lost in thought, and a look of **inward illumination** came into his eyes. It was money for his wife that Mrs. Yeobright could not trust him with. "Yet she could trust this fellow," he said to himself. "Why doesn't that which belongs to the wife belong to the husband too?"

Thesaurus warmly, kindly, caringly, adoringly,

belonging: (adj) appertaining, appertinent, apropos, apposite; (n) household, family, appendage, appurtenance, intimacy, commodity, closeness. ANTONYM: (n) antipathy. confidential: (adj) secret, classified, private, intimate, privileged, clandestine, furtive, thick, inner, esoteric, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) open, familiar, known, external, accessible, official, unrestricted. fondly: (adv) lovingly, tenderly,

devotedly, amorously, dearly, dotingly, foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coldly, ill. illumination: (n) brightness, illuminance, lighting, light, explanation, elucidation, edification, luminousness, luminosity, illustration; (adj, n) irradiation. ANTONYMS: (n) education, knowledge, confusion.

inward: (adj) inner, intrinsic, internal,

interior, intestine, inherent, domestic; (adv) inwardly, inwards, in; (n) innards. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) outward; (adj) outgoing, external. **multiplying**: (adj) cumulative; (n) generation, calculation.

stare: (*n*, *v*) gaze, look; (*v*) gape, glare, peer, squint, goggle, see, outface; (*n*) regard, contemplation. ANTONYM: (*v*) glance.

tapped: (*adj*) poor, powerless, helpless. ANTONYM: (*adj*) untapped.

He called to the pot-boy to bring him his hat, and said, "Now, Christian, I am ready."

"Mr. Wildeve," said Christian **timidly**, as he turned to leave the room, "would you mind lending me them wonderful little things that carry my luck inside 'em, that I might **practise** a bit by myself, you know?" He looked wistfully at the dice and box lying on the mantlepiece.

"Certainly," said Wildeve carelessly. "They were only cut out by some lad with his knife, and are worth nothing." And Christian went back and privately pocketed them.

Wildeve opened the door and looked out. The night was warm and **cloudy**. "By Gad! 'tis dark," he continued. "But I suppose we shall find our way."

"If we should lose the path it might be awkward," said Christian. "A lantern is the only shield that will make it safe for us."

"Let's have a lantern by all means." The stable lantern was fetched and lighted. Christian took up his gownpiece, and the two set out to ascend the hill.

Within the room the men fell into chat till their attention was for a moment drawn to the chimney-corner. This was large, and, in addition to its proper **recess**, contained within its jambs, like many on Egdon, a receding seat, so that a person might sit there absolutely **unobserved**, provided there was no fire to light him up, as was the case now and throughout the summer. From the **niche** a single object protruded into the light from the candles on the table. It was a clay pipe, and its colour was **reddish**. The men had been attracted to this object by a voice behind the pipe asking for a light.

"Upon my life, it fairly **startled** me when the man spoke!" said Fairway, handing a candle. "Oh--'tis the reddleman! You've kept a quiet tongue, young man."

"Yes, I had nothing to say," observed Venn. In a few minutes he arose and wished the company good night.

Meanwhile Wildeve and Christian had plunged into the heath.

Thesaurus

cloudy: (adj) dull, gloomy, nebulous, murky, dark, turbid, foggy, muddy, misty, sunless, vaporous.

ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, bright, sunny, cloudless.

niche: (n) alcove, hole, bay, recess, nook, compartment, recession, opening, place, ecological niche, fireplace.

practise: (v) execute, practice, perform, exercise, drill, do, rehearse, learn, take, work out, read.

recess: (n) niche, pause, intermission, holiday, nook, vacation, hollow, alcove, interval, interruption; (n, v) break. ANTONYM: (n) continuation. reddish: (adj) ruddy, rosy, crimson, cherry, rufescent, rufous, rubicund, scarlet, rubedinous, ruby, colorful. startled: (adj) dumbfounded, dismayed, distressed, aghast, frightened, astonished, amazed, terrified, afraid, shocked, astounded. timidly: (adv) fearfully, timorously,

cautiously, shyly, diffidently, anxiously, nervously, shily, gingerly, modestly, apprehensively.

ANTONYMS: (adv) confidently, bravely, daringly, brashly, fearlessly, decisively, brazenly.

unobserved: (adj, v) unseen; (v) unheeded, unregarded, unthought of, unperceived; (adj) ignored, not noticed, hidden, unmarked, unnoted; (adv) secretly. ANTONYM: (adj) evident.

It was a stagnant, warm, and misty night, full of all the heavy perfumes of new vegetation not yet dried by hot sun, and among these particularly the scent of the fern. The lantern, dangling from Christian's hand, brushed the feathery fronds in passing by, disturbing moths and other winged insects, which flew out and alighted upon its horny panes.

"So you have money to carry to Mrs. Wildeve?" said Christian's companion, after a silence. "Don't you think it very odd that it shouldn't be given to me?"

"As man and wife be one flesh, 'twould have been all the same, I should think," said Christian. "But my strict documents was, to give the money into Mrs. Wildeve's hand--and 'tis well to do things right."

"No doubt," said Wildeve. Any person who had known the circumstances might have perceived that Wildeve was mortified by the discovery that the matter in transit was money, and not, as he had supposed when at Blooms-End, some fancy nick-nack which only interested the two women themselves. Mrs. Yeobright's refusal implied that his honour was not considered to be of sufficiently good quality to make him a safer bearer of his wife's property.

"How very warm it is tonight, Christian!" he said, panting, when they were nearly under Rainbarrow. "Let us sit down for a few minutes, for Heaven's sake."

Wildeve flung himself down on the soft ferns; and Christian, placing the lantern and parcel on the ground, perched himself in a cramped position hard by, his knees almost touching his chin. He presently thrust one hand into his coat-pocket and began shaking it about.

"What are you rattling in there?" said Wildeve.

"Only the dice, sir," said Christian, quickly withdrawing his hand. "What magical machines these little things be, Mr. Wildeve! 'Tis a game I should never get tired of. Would you mind my taking 'em out and looking at 'em for a minute, to see how they are made? I didn't like to look close before the other men, for fear they should think it bad manners in me." Christian took them out and examined them in the hollow of his hand by the lantern light. "That these little

Thesaurus

mortified: (adj) humiliated,

cramped: (adj) cramp, limited, close, constrained, contracted, crowded, narrow, poky, restricted, small, tight. ANTONYMS: (adj) roomy, open, uncrowded, vast, liberated. **feathery**: (adj) light, fluffy, plumy, soft, downy, featherlike, plumose, plumelike, velvety, creamy, tender. ANTONYM: (adj) rough. **horny**: (adj) corneous, hornlike, hard, hot, excited, ruttish, randy, lecherous, lascivious, aroused, cornuted.

embarrassed, abashed, gangrenous, sheepish, chagrined, feeling shame, feeling guilty, guilty, hangdog, humbled. ANTONYM: (adj) unabashed. perched: (adj) perked, alert, on the edge, balanced, poised, on the brink, suspended, perked up. rattling: (adj) lively, brisk, racy,

vegetation: (n) growth, plants, thicket, shrubbery, scrub, groundcover, foliage, copse, coppice, chaparral, brushwood. winged: (adj) swift, rapid, speedy, marvelous, fantastic, zippy, snappy, quick, flying, alate, sublime, lofty, spanking, merry; (adv) very, real. alated, aligerous, composed.

transit: (n) passage, travel,

conveyance, movement,

across, pass over.

transportation, transport, transfer,

public transit, lockage; (v) pass

things should carry such luck, and such charm, and such a spell, and such power in 'em, passes all I ever heard or zeed," he went on, with a **fascinated** gaze at the dice, which, as is frequently the case in country **places**, were made of wood, the points being burnt upon each face with the end of a wire.

"They are a great deal in a small compass, You think?"

"Yes. Do ye suppose they really be the devil's playthings, Mr. Wildeve? If so, 'tis no good sign that I be such a lucky man."

"You ought to win some money, now that you've got them. Any woman would marry you then. Now is your time, Christian, and I would recommend you not to let it slip. Some men are born to luck, some are not. I belong to the latter class."

"Did you ever know anybody who was born to it besides myself?"

"O yes. I once heard of an Italian, who sat down at a **gaming** table with only a **louis**, (that's a foreign sovereign), in his pocket. He played on for twenty-four hours, and won ten thousand pounds, **stripping** the bank he had played against. Then there was another man who had lost a thousand pounds, and went to the broker's next day to sell stock, that he might pay the debt. The man to whom he owed the money went with him in a hackney-coach; and to pass the time they tossed who should pay the **fare**. The ruined man won, and the other was tempted to continue the game, and they played all the way. When the **coachman** stopped he was told to drive home again: the whole thousand pounds had been won back by the man who was going to sell."

"Ha--ha--splendid!" exclaimed Christian. "Go on--go on!"

"Then there was a man of London, who was only a **waiter** at White's **clubhouse**. He began playing first half-crown **stakes**, and then higher and higher, till he became very rich, got an appointment in India, and rose to be Governor of Madras. His daughter married a member of Parliament, and the Bishop of Carlisle stood **godfather** to one of the children."

"Wonderfull wonderfull"

Thesaurus

building, ball club, casino, cabaret. **coachman**: (*n*) teamster, cabman,
 charioteer, carter, carman, Jehu,
 postboy, drayman, wagoner,
 postilion; (*v*) whip. **fare**: (*n*, *v*) do; (*n*) food, aliment, board,
 table, charge, chow, menu, traveller;
 (*v*) come, eat. ANTONYM: (*v*) stop. **fascinated**: (*adj*) captivated, absorbed,
 gripped, engrossed, interested,
 attentive, preoccupied, entranced,

clubhouse: (n) edifice, baseball club,

attracted, enchanted, enthralled. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) indifferent, disinterested, disenchanted, detached.

gaming: (n) play, game, diversion, speculation, wager, frolic, bet, gamble, recreation, vice, betting. godfather: (n) godchild, supporter, patron, godparent, godmother, gangster, executive; (v) christen. louis: (n) Joe Louis.

places: (n) chairs, seating, spaces.

stakes: (*n*) stake, ante, wager, kitty, jackpot, pool, pot, gamble, prize, interest, fence.

stripping: (n) baring, denudation, striping, removal, disforestation, scrubbing, strippingly, uncovering, find, back washing, cornhusking. waiter: (n) lackey, valet, waitress, attendant, salver, lurcher, counterman, lurker, servant, tray, steward.

"And once there was a young man in America who gambled till he had lost his last dollar. He staked his watch and chain, and lost as before; staked his umbrella, lost again; staked his hat, lost again; staked his coat and stood in his shirt-sleeves, lost again. Began taking off his breeches, and then a looker-on gave him a trifle for his pluck. With this he won. Won back his coat, won back his hat, won back his umbrella, his watch, his money, and went out of the door a rich man."

"Oh, 'tis too good--it takes away my breath! Mr. Wildeve, I think I will try another shilling with you, as I am one of that sort; no danger can come o't, and you can afford to lose."

"Very well," said Wildeve, rising. Searching about with the lantern, he found a large flat stone, which he placed between himself and Christian, and sat down again. The lantern was opened to give more light, and it's rays directed upon the Christian put down a shilling, Wildeve another, and each threw. Christian won. They played for two, Christian won again.

"Let us try four," said Wildeve. They played for four. This time the stakes were won by Wildeve.

"Ah, those little accidents will, of course, sometimes happen, to the luckiest man," he observed.

"And now I have no more money!" explained Christian excitedly. "And yet, if I could go on, I should get it back again, and more. I wish this was mine." He struck his boot upon the ground, so that the guineas chinked within.

"What! you have not put Mrs. Wildeve's money there?"

"Yes. 'Tis for safety. Is it any harm to raffle with a married lady's money when, if I win, I shall only keep my winnings, and give her her own all the same; and if t'other man wins, her money will go to the lawful owner?"

"None at all."

Wildeve had been **brooding** ever since they started on the mean **estimation** in which he was held by his wife's friends; and it cut his heart severely. As the minutes passed he had gradually drifted into a revengeful intention without

Thesaurus

contemplative, hatching, meditative, pensive, wistful; (v) brewing, batching; (n) chick management, parturition. ANTONYMS: (adj) shallow, cheerful. estimation: (n) deference, assessment, calculation, approximation, appraisal, attention; (n, v) esteem, consideration, regard, reputation, credit. ANTONYMS: (n) calculation,

disbelief, doubt.

brooding: (adj) pondering, thoughtful, excitedly: (adv) passionately, feverishly, wildly, frantically, nervously, ardently, enthusiastically, eagerly, animatedly, fervently, cheerfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) lifelessly, patiently, peacefully, nonchalantly, indifferently, despondently, unenthusiastically. **pluck**: (adj, n) nerve; (v) cull, jerk, gather, pick, fleece, grab; (n) grit, courage, boldness; (n, v) pull. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice,

gutlessness; (v) undercharge. revengeful: (adj) vengeful, vindictive, punitive, unforgiving, vindicative, resentful, despiteful, spiteful, implacable, rancorous, vengeable. ANTONYM: (adj) charitable. winnings: (n, v) earnings; (n) win, prize, profits, net profit, gain, acquisition, financial gain, pickings, reward, innings. ANTONYM: (n)

losings.

knowing the precise moment of forming it. This was to teach Mrs. Yeobright a lesson, as he considered it to be; in other words, to show her if he could that her niece's husband was the proper guardian of her niece's money.

"Well, here goes!" said Christian, beginning to **unlace** one boot. "I shall dream of it nights and nights, I suppose; but I shall always swear my flesh don't crawl when I think o't!"

He thrust his hand into the boot and withdrew one of poor Thomasin's precious guineas, piping hot. Wildeve had already placed a sovereign on the stone. The game was then resumed. Wildeve won first, and Christian ventured another, winning himself this time. The game fluctuated, but the average was in Wildeve's favour. Both men became so absorbed in the game that they took no **heed** of anything but the **pigmy** objects immediately beneath their eyes, the flat stone, the open lantern, the dice, and the few illuminated fern-leaves which lay under the light, were the whole world to them.

At length Christian lost rapidly; and presently, to his horror, the whole fifty guineas belonging to Thomasin had been handed over to his **adversary**.

"I don't care-I don't care!" he moaned, and desperately set about **untying** his left boot to get at the other fifty. "The devil will **toss** me into the flames on his three-pronged fork for this night's work, I know! But perhaps I shall win yet, and then I'll get a wife to sit up with me o' nights and I won't be afeard, I won't! Here's another for'ee, my man!" He **slapped** another guinea down upon the stone, and the dice-box was **rattled** again.

Time passed on. Wildeve began to be as excited as Christian himself. When **commencing** the game his intention had been nothing further than a bitter practical joke on Mrs. Yeobright. To win the money, fairly or otherwise, and to hand it contemptuously to Thomasin in her aunt's presence, had been the dim outline of his purpose. But men are drawn from their intentions even in the course of carrying them out, and it was extremely doubtful, by the time the twentieth guinea had been reached, whether Wildeve was conscious of any other intention than that of winning for his own personal benefit. Moreover, he was

Thesaurus regard, mind, attention, notice; (n)

caution, advertence, advertency; (v)

adversary: (n) antagonist, foe, enemy, competitor, rival, opposition, opposer, contestant, match, somebody; (adj) hostile.

ANTONYMS: (n) ally, supporter, friend, partner, helper, assistant. commencing: (adj) initial, incipient; (v) commence; (adv) startingly; (prep) starting, from; (n) start, initiation, commencement, origination, inauguration.

heed: (n, v) consideration, concern,

attend, hear. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) disregard; (*n*) inattentiveness. **pigmy**: (*adj*, *n*) pygmy; (*adj*) tiny, exiguous, petty, minikin, pigwidgeon, urchin, elfin; (*n*) elf, manikin, atom. **rattled**: (*adj*) hot and bothered, perturbed, upset, unsettled, puzzled, disconcerted, discomposed, bewildered, beside oneself, abashed,

addled. ANTONYM: (*adj*) calm. **slapped**: (*adj*) mistreated. **toss**: (*n*, *v*) throw, fling, pitch, chuck, cast, flip; (*v*) agitate, hurl, shake, convulse, discard. ANTONYM: (*v*) catch. **unlace**: (*v*) loosen, untie, unbrace, unlash, unlashed, unloose. **untying**: (*n*) undoing, unfastening, unraveling, loosening, disentanglement, unscrambling, opening.

now no longer **gambling** for his wife's money, but for Yeobright's; though of this fact Christian, in his **apprehensiveness**, did not inform him till afterwards.

It was nearly eleven o'clock, when, with almost a **shriek**, Christian placed Yeobright's last gleaming **guinea** upon the stone. In thirty seconds it had gone the way of its companions.

Christian turned and flung himself on the ferns in a **convulsion** of **remorse**, "O, what shall I do with my wretched self?" he groaned. "What shall I do? Will any good Heaven hae mercy upon my wicked soul?"

"Do? Live on just the same."

"I won't live on just the same! I'll die! I say you are a--a----"

"A man **sharper** than my neighbour."

"Yes, a man sharper than my neighbour; a regular sharper!"

"Poor chips-in-porridge, you are very unmannerly."

"I don't know about that! And I say you be unmannerly! You've got money that isn't your own. Half the guineas are poor Mr. Clym's."

"How's that?"

"Because I had to gie fifty of 'em to him. Mrs. Yeobright said so."

"Oh?...Well, 'twould have been more graceful of her to have given them to his wife Eustacia. But they are in my hands now."

Christian pulled on his boots, and with heavy breathings, which could be heard to some distance, dragged his limbs together, arose, and tottered away out of sight. Wildeve set about shutting the lantern to return to the house, for he deemed it too late to go to Mistover to meet his wife, who was to be driven home in the captain's four-wheel. While he was closing the little horn door a figure rose from behind a neighbouring bush and came forward into the lantern light. It was the reddleman approaching.

8 - A New Force Disturbs the Current

Thesaurus

apprehensiveness: (adj) fearfulness; (n) fear, presentiment, premonition, misgiving, foreboding, worry, concern, uneasiness, diffidence, unease. ANTONYM: (n) serenity. convulsion: (adj, n, v) spasm; (n) fit, paroxysm, commotion, attack, clonus, shake, seizure, upheaval, cramp; (adj, n) disturbance. ANTONYM: (n) peace. gambling: (adj, n) gaming; (n) play, speculation, recreation, vice,

hazardry, bid; (adj) betting, dissipated, sporting, clean. guinea: (n) greaseball, Republic of Guinea, poultry, change, shilling, penny, doit, domestic fowl, farthing, fowl, French Guinea.

remorse: (n) penitence, contrition, repentance, regret, guilt, penance, sorrow, grief, qualm, ruefulness, compassion. ANTONYM: (n) shamelessness.

sharper: (n, v) cheat; (n) rogue,

impostor, swindler, chiseler, deceiver, cheater, welsher, sharpie; (v) shark, fraud.

shriek: (*n*, *v*) screech, cry, shout, call, howl, yell, yowl, screak; (*v*) bellow, caterwaul, shrill. ANTONYM: (*v*) sigh.

unmannerly: (adj) impolite, unmannered, uncivil, impertinent, insolent, ill-mannered, discourteous, ungracious, rustic, disrespectful, churlish.

Wildeve stared. Venn looked coolly towards Wildeve, and, without a word being spoken, he deliberately sat himself down where Christian had been seated, thrust his hand into his pocket, drew out a sovereign, and laid it on the stone.

"You have been watching us from behind that bush?" said Wildeve.

The reddleman nodded. "Down with your stake," he said. "Or haven't you pluck enough to go on?"

Now, gambling is a species of amusement which is much more easily begun with full pockets than left off with the same; and though Wildeve in a cooler temper might have prudently declined this invitation, the excitement of his recent success carried him completely away. He placed one of the guineas on a slab beside the reddleman's sovereign. "Mine is a guinea," he said.

"A guinea that's not your own," said Venn sarcastically.

"It is my own," answered Wildeve haughtily. "It is my wife's, and what is hers is mine."

"Very well; let's make a beginning." He shook the box, and threw eight, ten, and nine; the three casts amounted to twenty-seven.

This encouraged Wildeve. He took the box; and his three casts amounted to forty-five.

Down went another of the reddleman's sovereigns against his first one which Wildeve laid. This time Wildeve threw fifty-one points, but no pair. reddleman looked grim, threw a raffle of aces, and pocketed the stakes.

"Here you are again," said Wildeve contemptuously. "Double the stakes." He laid two of Thomasin's guineas, and the reddleman his two pounds. Venn won again. New stakes were laid on the stone, and the gamblers proceeded as before.

Wildeve was a nervous and excitable man, and the game was beginning to tell upon his temper. He writhed, fumed, shifted his seat, and the beating of his heart was almost audible. Venn sat with lips impassively closed and eyes reduced to a pair of unimportant twinkles; he scarcely appeared to breathe. He might have been an Arab, or an automaton; he would have been like a red sandstone statue but for the motion of his arm with the dice-box.

Thesaurus

aces: (adj) peerless, worthy, perfect, fine, fabulous, great, personable; (n) cooler: (n) beverage, freezer, drinkable, potable, drink, air conditioner, penitentiary, choky, prison, chokey, clink. excitable: (adj) nervous, irritable, combustible, hasty, edgy, fiery, sensitive, volatile, passionate, warm,

quick. ANTONYMS: (adj)

unexcitable, calm, unflappable,

easygoing, easy, tranquil, reliable,

impassively: (adv) apathetically, dispassionately, emotionlessly, indifferently, calmly, stoically, serenely, unconcernedly, unfeelingly, sandstone: (n) gritstone, bluestone, coldly, phlegmatically. ANTONYMS: (adv) fervently, passionately, expressively, animatedly. prudently: (adv) wisely, cautiously,

judiciously, discreetly, shrewdly, sparingly, charily, sagaciously,

warily, frugally, circumspectly. ANTONYMS: (adv) recklessly, imprudently, extravagantly, generously, indiscreetly, immaturely, stupidly.

firestone, gritrock, greensand, brownstone, holystone, arenaceous rock, stonework, building material,

writhed: (adj) crooked, writhen, distorted, twisted.

The game fluctuated, now in favour of one, now in favour of the other, without any great advantage on the side of either. Nearly twenty minutes were passed thus. The light of the candle had by this time attracted heath-flies, moths, and other winged creatures of night, which floated round the lantern, flew into the flame, or beat about the faces of the two players.

But neither of the men paid much attention to these things, their eyes being concentrated upon the little flat stone, which to them was an arena vast and important as a battlefield. By this time a change had come over the game; the reddleman won continually. At length sixty guineas--Thomasin's fifty, and ten of Clym's--had passed into his hands. Wildeve was reckless, frantic, exasperated.

"'Won back his coat," said Venn slily.

Another throw, and the money went the same way.

"Won back his hat," continued Venn.

"Oh, oh!" said Wildeve.

"Won back his watch, won back his money, and went out of the door a rich man," added Venn sentence by sentence, as stake after stake passed over to him.

"Five more!" **shouted** Wildeve, dashing down the money. "And three casts be hanged--one shall decide."

The red automaton opposite lapsed into silence, nodded, and followed his example. Wildeve rattled the box, and threw a pair of sixes and five points. He clapped his hands; "I have done it this time--hurrah!"

"There are two playing, and only one has thrown," said the reddleman, quietly bringing down the box. The eyes of each were then so intently converged upon the stone that one could fancy their beams were visible, like rays in a fog.

Venn lifted the box, and behold a **triplet** of sixes was disclosed.

Wildeve was full of fury. While the reddleman was grasping the stakes Wildeve seized the dice and hurled them, box and all, into the darkness, uttering

Thesaurus

battlefield: (n) field, arena, battle, cockpit, tract, parcel, front line, combat zone, field of battle, Armageddon, athletic field. exasperated: (adj) incensed, annoyed, enraged, angered, indignant, mad, irate, irritated, cheesed off, testy; (adj, prep) provoked. ANTONYM: (adj) pleased. favour: (n) relief, goodness, assistance, office, favoritism, benignity; (v)

choose, prefer, privilege, facilitate,

frantic: (adj) desperate, crazy, excited, distraught, frenetic, distracted; (adj, v) frenzied, furious, wild, raging; (n) maniac. ANTONYMS: (adj) mellow,

grasping: (adj) avaricious, covetous, acquisitive, greedy, avid, voracious, rapacious, grabby, mercenary, stingy; triplet: (n) three, triad, threesome, (n) seizing. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, altruistic.

intently: (adv) fixedly, attentively,

seriously, raptly, intensely, closely, steadily, eagerly, absorbedly, hard, steadfastly. ANTONYM: (adv) absently.

shouted: (adj) screamed, loud. sixty: (adj) threescore; (n) three score, large integer, lux.

slily: (adj) on the sly. tercet, trio, trinity, trine, ternary, line, leash, stanza.

a fearful **imprecation**. Then he arose and began stamping up and down like a **madman**.

"It is all over, then?" said Venn.

"No, no!" cried Wildeve. "I mean to have another chance yet. I must!"

"But, my good man, what have you done with the dice?"

"I threw them away--it was a **momentary** irritation. What a fool I am! Here-come and help me to look for them--we must find them again."

Wildeve snatched up the lantern and began anxiously prowling among the furze and fern.

"You are not likely to find them there," said Venn, following. "What did you do such a crazy thing as that for? Here's the box. The dice can't be far off."

Wildeve turned the light eagerly upon the spot where Venn had found the box, and mauled the herbage right and left. In the course of a few minutes one of the dice was found. They searched on for some time, but no other was to be seen.

"Never mind," said Wildeve; "let's play with one."

"Agreed," said Venn.

Down they sat again, and recommenced with single guinea stakes; and the play went on smartly. But Fortune had unmistakably fallen in love with the reddleman tonight. He won steadily, till he was the owner of fourteen more of the gold pieces. Seventy-nine of the hundred guineas were his, Wildeve possessing only twenty-one. The aspect of the two opponents was now singular. Apart from motions, a complete **diorama** of the fluctuations of the game went on in their eyes. A **diminutive** candle-flame was mirrored in each pupil, and it would have been possible to distinguish therein between the moods of hope and the moods of **abandonment**, even as regards the reddleman, though his facial muscles betrayed nothing at all. Wildeve played on with the **recklessness** of despair.

Thesaurus

abandonment: (n) resignation, renunciation, desertion, neglect, withdrawal, surrender, exposure, forsaking, relinquishment, rejection, leaving. ANTONYMS: (n) attention, accomplishment, arrival, acceptance. diminutive: (adj) minute, Lilliputian, small, petite, tiny, bantam, baby, exiguous, short, miniature, midget. ANTONYMS: (adj) big, huge, gigantic, large, giant, tall. diorama: (n) cyclorama, ikon, icon,

georama, illuminated poster, cosmorama, aspect.
imprecation: (n) curse, anathema, execration, cuss, blasphemy, bane, ban, oath, prayer, malison, denunciation.
madman: (n) bedlamite, maniac, crazy,

loony, nut, madcap, looney, loco, sufferer, raver, nutcase.

momentary: (adj) brief, fugitive, transient, short, instantaneous, ephemeral, passing, momentaneous,

temporary, impermanent, temporal. ANTONYMS: (adj) lasting, lengthy, long.

recklessness: (n, v) imprudence; (n) rashness, carelessness, desperation, extravagance, heedlessness, negligence, temerity, adventurism, audacity, neglect. ANTONYMS: (n) care, carefulness, consideration, forethought, parsimony, deliberation, discretion, regard, restraint, thoughtfulness.

"What's that?" he suddenly exclaimed, hearing a rustle; and they both looked up.

They were surrounded by dusky forms between four and five feet high, standing a few paces beyond the rays of the lantern. A moment's inspection revealed that the encircling figures were heath-croppers, their heads being all towards the players, at whom they gazed intently.

"Hoosh!" said Wildeve, and the whole forty or fifty animals at once turned and galloped away. Play was again resumed.

Ten minutes passed away. Then a large death's head moth advanced from the obscure outer air, wheeled twice round the lantern, flew straight at the candle, and extinguished it by the force of the blow. Wildeve had just thrown, but had not lifted the box to see what he had cast; and now it was impossible.

"What the infernal!" he shrieked. "Now, what shall we do? Perhaps I have thrown six--have you any matches?"

"None," said Venn.

"Christian had some--I wonder where he is. Christian!"

But there was no reply to Wildeve's shout, save a mournful whining from the herons which were nesting lower down the vale. Both men looked blankly round without rising. As their eyes grew accustomed to the darkness they perceived faint greenish points of light among the grass and fern. These lights dotted the hillside like stars of a low magnitude.

"Ah--glowworms," said Wildeve. "Wait a minute. We can continue the game."

Venn sat still, and his companion went hither and thither till he had gathered thirteen glowworms--as many as he could find in a space of four or five minutes--upon a fox-glove leaf which he pulled for the purpose. The reddleman vented a low humorous laugh when he saw his adversary return with these. "Determined to go on, then?" he said drily.

"I always am!" said Wildeve angrily. And shaking the glowworms from the leaf he ranged them with a trembling hand in a circle on the stone, leaving a

Thesaurus

blankly: (adj, adv) inanely, vacuously, expressionlessly; (adv) emptily, hollowly, voidly, cleanly, impassively, stupidly, whitely, inexpressively. ANTONYM: (adv)

dotted: (adj) speckled, dappled, specked, spotted, dashed, stippled, scattered, spotty, dot, mottled,

greenish: (adj) green, virescent, viridescent, fleeceable, envious,

covetous, chromatic, porraceous. herons: (n) Ardeidae, bitterns, egrets, family Ardeidae. hillside: (n) acclivity, slope, bank, declivity, hill, gradient, hill-side, mountain waist, the area half way up **nesting**: (n) interleaving. a mountain, mountainside, side. humorous: (adj) comical, funny, comic, (adj) wheelless. droll, playful, hilarious, jocose, farcical, jocular; (adj, n) facetious, witty. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, tragic, humorless, dull.

moth: (n) gelechiid, bombycid, geometrid, helminth, lasiocampid, lymantriid, arctiid, moth and rust, moths, worm-eaten, lasiocampid

wheeled: (adj) on wheels. ANTONYM:

whining: (adj) whimpering, whiny, sniveling pitiful, Snively, tearful, whiney, singing, peevish; (v) fretful, lamenting; (n) sniveling.

space in the middle for the descent of the dice-box, over which the thirteen tiny lamps threw a pale **phosphoric** shine. The game was again renewed. happened to be that season of the year at which glowworms put forth their greatest brilliancy, and the light they yielded was more than ample for the purpose, since it is possible on such nights to read the handwriting of a letter by the light of two or three.

The incongruity between the men's deeds and their environment was great. Amid the soft **juicy** vegetation of the hollow in which they sat, the motionless and the uninhabited solitude, intruded the chink of guineas, the rattle of dice, the exclamations of the reckless players.

Wildeve had lifted the box as soon as the lights were obtained, and the solitary die proclaimed that the game was still against him.

"I won't play any more--you've been **tampering** with the dice," he shouted.

"How--when they were your own?" said the reddleman.

"We'll change the game: the lowest point shall win the stake--it may cut off my ill luck. Do you refuse?"

"No--go on," said Venn.

"O, there they are again--damn them!" cried Wildeve, looking up. The heathcroppers had returned noiselessly, and were looking on with erect heads just as before, their timid eyes fixed upon the scene, as if they were wondering what mankind and candlelight could have to do in these haunts at this untoward hour.

"What a plague those creatures are--staring at me so!" he said, and flung a stone, which scattered them; when the game was continued as before.

Wildeve had now ten guineas left; and each laid five. Wildeve threw three points; Venn two, and raked in the coins. The other seized the die, and clenched his teeth upon it in sheer rage, as if he would bite it in pieces. "Never give inhere are my last five!" he cried, throwing them down.

"Hang the glowworms--they are going out. Why don't you burn, you little fools? Stir them up with a thorn."

Thesaurus

chink: (v) jingle, tinkle; (n) cleft, crevice, Chinaman, aperture, hiatus, scissure, blunt; (n, v) clink, break. incongruity: (n) disharmony, contradiction, disagreement, incongruence, disparity, discrepancy, rattle: (n, v) jingle, jangle, clatter; (n) discord, unconformity, disproportion, absurdity, paradox. ANTONYMS: (n) congruity, normality, agreement. juicy: (adj) fat, succulent, gamy, liquid, luscious, fluid, rich, spicy, sappy,

moist, racy. ANTONYMS: (adj) bland, dull, juiceless, tasteless, uninteresting, limp. phosphoric: (adj) phosphorous, phosphorical. click, clang, clack; (v) bang, confuse, shake, patter, disconcert. tampering: (n) meddling, change of state, interference; (adj) meddlesome, uninhabited: (adj) empty, desert,

desolate, vacant, unoccupied, unpopulated, uninhabitable, lonely, untenanted, unsettled, waste. ANTONYMS: (adj) inhabited, overcrowded, populous. untoward: (adj) unlucky, unfortunate, inauspicious, unbecoming, inopportune, indecent, unfavorable, unseemly, improper, clumsy, stubborn. ANTONYMS: (adj) auspicious, suitable, lucky, acceptable, happy, fortunate.

He probed the glowworms with a bit of stick, and rolled them over, till the bright side of their **tails** was upwards.

"There's light enough. Throw on," said Venn.

Wildeve brought down the box within the shining circle and looked **eagerly**. He had thrown ace. "Well done!--I said it would turn, and it has turned." Venn said nothing; but his hand shook slightly.

He threw ace also.

"O!" said Wildeve. "Curse me!"

The die smacked the stone a second time. It was ace again. Venn looked gloomy, threw--the die was seen to be lying in two pieces, the cleft sides **uppermost**.

"I've thrown nothing at all," he said.

"Serves me right--I split the die with my teeth. Here--take your money. Blank is less than one."

"I don't wish it."

"Take it, I say--you've won it!" And Wildeve threw the stakes against the reddleman's chest. Venn gathered them up, arose, and withdrew from the hollow, Wildeve sitting stupefied.

When he had come to himself he also arose, and, with the extinguished lantern in his hand, went towards the **highroad**. On reaching it he stood still. The silence of night pervaded the whole heath except in one direction; and that was towards Mistover. There he could hear the noise of light wheels, and presently saw two carriagelamps **descending** the hill. Wildeve **screened** himself under a bush and waited.

The vehicle came on and passed before him. It was a hired carriage, and behind the coachman were two persons whom he knew well. There sat Eustacia and Yeobright, the arm of the latter being round her **waist**. They turned the sharp corner at the bottom towards the temporary home which Clym had hired and **furnished**, about five miles to the eastward.

Thesaurus

descending: (v) descend; (adj) downhill, down, descendent, decreasing, dropping, falling, sloping, degressive, occasive; (adv) downward. ANTONYM: (adj) upward.

eagerly: (adv) zealously, readily, keenly, fervently, avidly, greedily, enthusiastically, intently, earnestly, impatiently, actively. ANTONYMS: (adv) apathetically, nonchalantly, grudgingly, patiently, halfheartedly,

reluctantly, unenthusiastically. **furnished**: (*adj*) fitted, arranged, privileged, instruct, carrying weapons, equipt, enlightened; (*v*) provide, furnish, begone, beset. **highroad**: (*n*) main road, trunk road, a highway

screened: (adj) covered, shielded, sheltered, concealed, isolated, select, invisible, shady, hazy, secluded, not exposed.

tails: (n) dress suit, tail coat, full dress,

tail, waste, evening dress, dress coat, coat, morning coat, cutaway, formalwear.

uppermost: (*adj*) top, upmost, upper, highest, chief, maximum, supreme, greatest, major, outermost; (*n*) main. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) bottom, lowest, trivial, lower.

waist: (n) waistline, shank, middle, belly, isthmus, hourglass, undersurface; (adj) stricture, middle constriction, neck, wasp.

Wildeve forgot the loss of the money at the sight of his lost love, whose preciousness in his eyes was increasing in geometrical progression with each new incident that reminded him of their hopeless division. Brimming with the subtilized misery that he was capable of feeling, he followed the opposite way towards the inn.

About the same moment that Wildeve stepped into the highway Venn also had reached it at a point a hundred yards further on; and he, hearing the same wheels, likewise waited till the carriage should come up. When he saw who sat therein he seemed to be disappointed. Reflecting a minute or two, during which interval the carriage rolled on, he crossed the road, and took a short cut through the furze and heath to a point where the turnpike road bent round in ascending a hill. He was now again in front of the carriage, which presently came up at a walking pace. Venn stepped forward and showed himself.

Eustacia started when the lamp shone upon him, and Clym's arm was involuntarily withdrawn from her waist. He said, "What, Diggory? You are having a lonely walk."

"Yes--I beg your pardon for stopping you," said Venn. "But I am waiting about for Mrs. Wildeve: I have something to give her from Mrs. Yeobright. Can you tell me if she's gone home from the party yet?"

"No. But she will be leaving soon. You may possibly meet her at the corner."

Venn made a farewell obeisance, and walked back to his former position, where the byroad from Mistover joined the highway. Here he remained fixed for nearly half an hour, and then another pair of lights came down the hill. It was the old-fashioned wheeled nondescript belonging to the captain, and Thomasin sat in it alone, driven by Charley.

The reddleman came up as they slowly turned the corner. "I beg pardon for stopping you, Mrs. Wildeve," he said. "But I have something to give you privately from Mrs. Yeobright." He handed a small parcel; it consisted of the hundred guineas he had just won, roughly twisted up in a piece of paper.

Thesaurus

brimming: (adj) teeming, brimful, brimful of, full, brimfull, brimfull of, replete, overflowing, chock-full, spilling over, packed. ANTONYMS: (adj) empty, unfilled. byroad: (n) crossroad, byway, road,

route, side road. farewell: (int, n) adieu; (n) bye, leave, valediction, adios, parting, goodbye, separation, departure, aloha; (int) bon voyage. ANTONYMS: (n) hello, salutation, welcome.

mathematical. nondescript: (adj) indescribable, dull, ordinary, vague, indefinite, indefinable, unremarkable; (n) soul, someone, somebody, person. ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary,

distinctive, exciting, special. obeisance: (n) homage, curtsy, deference, bowing, reverence, obedience, respect, courtesy; (v) genuflexion, kowtow, genuflection.

geometrical: (adj) nonrepresentational, **preciousness**: (n) invaluableness, value, valuableness, pricelessness, preciosity, costliness, love, glory, fondness.

> progression: (n) advance, headway, chain, course, train, development, series, sequence; (n, v) improvement, advancement, furtherance. ANTONYM: (n) decay.

wheels: (n) vehicle, truck, car, brush, force.

Thomasin recovered from her surprise, and took the packet. "That's all, ma'am--I wish you good night," he said, and vanished from her view.

Thus Venn, in his anxiety to **rectify** matters, had placed in Thomasin's hands not only the fifty guineas which rightly belonged to her, but also the fifty intended for her cousin Clym. His mistake had been based upon Wildeve's words at the opening of the game, when he indignantly denied that the guinea was not his own. It had not been comprehended by the reddleman that at halfway through the performance the game was continued with the money of another person; and it was an error which afterwards helped to cause more misfortune than **treble** the loss in money value could have done.

The night was now somewhat advanced; and Venn plunged deeper into the heath, till he came to a ravine where his van was standing--a spot not more than two hundred yards from the site of the gambling **bout**. He entered this **movable** home of his, lit his lantern, and, before closing his door for the night, stood reflecting on the circumstances of the preceding hours. While he stood the dawn grew visible in the northeast quarter of the heavens, which, the clouds having cleared off, was bright with a soft sheen at this midsummer time, though it was only between one and two o'clock. Venn, thoroughly weary, then shut his door and flung himself down to sleep.

Thesaurus

based: (adj) founded. bout: (n, v) round; (n) attack, spell, turn, competition, fight, battle, fighting, effort, game, fit. **grew**: (v) become, develop; (adj)

halfway: (adj, n) middle; (adj) central, center, intermediate, partial, mean, median; (adv) partly, imperfectly, nearly; (prep) between. ANTONYM: (adj) extreme.

heavens: (n) firmament, heaven, sky,

welkin, sphere, atmosphere, celestial sphere, space, skies, area, vault of

midsummer: (n) summer, solstice, June solstice, June.

movable: (adj) portable, transferable, mercurial, adjustable, ambulatory, changeable, transportable, moveable, flexible, active; (v) shifting. ANTONYMS: (adj) immovable, unchangeable.

packet: (n) bundle, bale, container,

parcel, pack, wad, carton, mail boat, wrap, deck, envelope.

rectify: (v) amend, improve, better, adjust, refine, reform, mend, emend, remedy, redress; (adj, v) straighten. **sheen**: (n, v) shine, gleam; (n) polish, gloss, light, glow, lustre, glitter, brightness, brilliance; (v) burnish. ANTONYM: (n) dullness.

treble: (adj) threefold, ternary, triplex, thribble, double, dual, high, voce di testa, shrill; (adj, v) triple; (v) sing.

BOOK FOUR THE CLOSED DOOR

1

THE RENCOUNTER BY THE POOL

The July sun shone over egdon and fired its **crimson** heather to scarlet. It was the one season of the year, and the one weather of the season, in which the heath was gorgeous. This **flowering** period represented the second or **noontide** division in the cycle of those superficial changes which alone were possible here; it followed the green or young-fern period, representing the **morn**, and preceded the brown period, when the heathbells and ferns would wear the **russet** tinges of evening; to be in turn **displaced** by the dark hue of the winter period, representing night.

Clym and Eustacia, in their little house at Alderworth, beyond East Egdon, were living on with a **monotony** which was delightful to them. The heath and changes of weather were quite blotted out from their eyes for the present. They were enclosed in a sort of luminous mist, which hid from them surroundings of any **inharmonious** colour, and gave to all things the character of light. When it rained they were charmed, because they could remain indoors together all day with such a show of reason; when it was fine they were charmed, because they could sit together on the hills. They were like those double stars which **revolve** round and round each other, and from a distance appear to be one. The absolute

Thesaurus

crimson: (*adj*, *n*) carmine, ruby, scarlet, maroon; (*v*) blush, flush, redden; (*adj*) bloody, ruddy, cherry; (*n*) deep red. **displaced**: (*adj*) disjointed, homeless, gone, extendant, disordered, deranged.

flowering: (adj) blooming, abloom, efflorescent, flourishing; (n) bloom, blossom, flower, anthesis, inflorescence, efflorescence, florescence.

inharmonious: (adj) dissonant,

incompatible, unharmonious, incongruous, jarring, improper, harsh, cacophonous, unmusical, tuneless, inconsistent.

monotony: (*n*) boredom, dullness, evenness, sameness, tediousness, flatness, dreariness, tautophony, tiresomeness; (*adj*) dull work, humdrum. ANTONYMS: (*n*) variety, variation.

morn: (*n*) dawn, daybreak, forenoon, period, prime, aurora, a, amount of

time, break of dawn, break of day, break of the day.

noontide: (*n*) noon, midday, high noon, summit, top, apex, zenith, acme, pinnacle, climax, culmination. **revolve**: (*v*) consider, meditate, deliberate, ponder, circle,

deliberate, ponder, circle, contemplate, return, circulate, orbit, rotate; (n, v) gyrate.

russet: (*adj*, *n*) auburn; (*adj*) tan, dun, drab, leaden, livid, pearly, dingy, brunette, bay, russety.

solitude in which they lived intensified their reciprocal thoughts; yet some might have said that it had the disadvantage of consuming their mutual **affections** at a fearfully **prodigal** rate. Yeobright did not fear for his own part; but recollection of Eustacia's old speech about the evanescence of love, now apparently forgotten by her, sometimes caused him to ask himself a question; and he recoiled at the thought that the quality of **finiteness** was not foreign to Eden.

When three or four weeks had been passed thus, Yeobright resumed his reading in earnest. To make up for lost time he studied **indefatigably**, for he wished to enter his new profession with the least possible delay.

Now, Eustacia's dream had always been that, once married to Clym, she would have the power of inducing him to return to Paris. He had carefully withheld all promise to do so; but would he be proof against her coaxing and argument? She had calculated to such a degree on the probability of success that she had represented Paris, and not Budmouth, to her grandfather as in all likelihood their future home. Her hopes were bound up in this dream. In the quiet days since their marriage, when Yeobright had been poring over her lips, her eyes, and the lines of her face, she had mused and mused on the subject, even while in the act of returning his gaze; and now the sight of the books, indicating a future which was antagonistic to her dream, struck her with a positively painful jar. She was hoping for the time when, as the mistress of some pretty establishment, however small, near a Parisian Boulevard, she would be passing her days on the skirts at least of the gay world, and catching stray wafts from those town pleasures she was so well fitted to enjoy. Yet Yeobright was as firm in the contrary intention as if the tendency of marriage were rather to develop the fantasies of young philanthropy than to sweep them away.

Her anxiety reached a high pitch; but there was something in Clym's **undeviating** manner which made her hesitate before sounding him on the subject. At this point in their experience, however, an incident helped her. It occurred one evening about six weeks after their union, and arose entirely out of the unconscious **misapplication** of Venn of the fifty guineas intended for Yeobright.

Thesaurus determinedly, unrelentingly,

affections: (n) bosom.
coaxing: (n) blarney, flattery, sweet
talk, temptation, enticement, soft
soap; (adv) coaxingly; (adj)
ingratiatory, persuasive, oily.
finiteness: (n) boundedness, quality,
finite quantity. ANTONYM: (n)
infiniteness.
indefatigably: (adv) persistently,
remorselessly, inexorably,
assiduously, insistently, mercilessly,
pitilessly, inexhaustibly,

unremittingly.
misapplication: (n) embezzlement,
abuse, misemployment,
misappropriation, misusage,
misacceptation, defalcation, thieving,
thievery, theft, stealing.
philanthropy: (n) charity, generosity,
humanity, kindness, philanthropic
gift, beneficence, altruism,
charitableness, humanitarianism,
largesse, gift. ANTONYMS: (n)

nastiness, selfishness.

prodigal: (adj) extravagant,
improvident, generous, lavish,
wasteful, excessive, exuberant,
liberal, profuse, dissipated; (adj, n)
profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj)
economical, cautious.
undeviating: (adj) straight,
unswerving, invariable, direct,
consistent, stable, unchanged,
unvarying; (adj, n) fixed, steady, firm.
ANTONYM: (adj) temporary.

A day or two after the receipt of the money Thomasin had sent a note to her aunt to thank her. She had been surprised at the **largeness** of the amount; but as no sum had ever been mentioned she set that down to her late uncle's **generosity**. She had been strictly charged by her aunt to say nothing to her husband of this gift; and Wildeve, as was natural enough, had not brought himself to mention to his wife a single particular of the **midnight** scene in the heath. Christian's terror, in like manner, had tied his tongue on the share he took in that **proceeding**; and hoping that by some means or other the money had gone to its proper destination, he simply asserted as much, without giving details.

Therefore, when a week or two had passed away, Mrs. Yeobright began to wonder why she never heard from her son of the receipt of the present; and to add gloom to her **perplexity** came the possibility that resentment might be the cause of his silence. She could hardly believe as much, but why did he not write? She questioned Christian, and the confusion in his **answers** would at once have led her to believe that something was wrong, had not one-half of his story been **corroborated** by Thomasin's note.

Mrs. Yeobright was in this state of uncertainty when she was informed one morning that her son's wife was visiting her grandfather at Mistover. She determined to walk up the hill, see Eustacia, and **ascertain** from her daughter-in-law's lips whether the family guineas, which were to Mrs. Yeobright what family jewels are to wealthier dowagers, had miscarried or not.

When Christian learnt where she was going his concern reached its height. At the moment of her departure he could **prevaricate** no longer, and, confessing to the gambling, told her the truth as far as he knew it--that the guineas had been won by Wildeve.

"What, is he going to keep them?" Mrs. Yeobright cried.

"I hope and trust not!" moaned Christian. "He's a good man, and perhaps will do right things. He said you ought to have gied Mr. Clym's share to Eustacia, and that's perhaps what he'll do himself."

To Mrs. Yeobright, as soon as she could calmly reflect, there was much likelihood in this, for she could hardly believe that Wildeve would really

answers: (*n*) replies; (*adj*) answering. ascertain: (*v*) determine, find out, learn, discover, check, tell, control, find, ensure, detect; (*adj*, *v*) establish. ANTONYM: (*v*) disprove. corroborated: (*adj*) corroborate, substantiated, verified. generosity: (*n*, *v*) charity, liberality; (*adj*, *n*) bounty, kindness, beneficence,

favor; (n) benevolence, bounteousness, chivalry, nobility, munificence. ANTONYMS: (n)

Thesaurus

stinginess, greed, meanness, thrift, thriftiness, avarice, unfriendliness, bareness, malevolence, miserliness, nastiness.

largeness: (n) size, bigness, vastness, fullness, ampleness, bulkiness, immensity, grandness, extent, magnitude, volume. ANTONYMS: (n) compactness, shortness. midnight: (n) dark, noon, hour. perplexity: (n) confusion, dilemma, bewilderment, maze, labyrinth,

embarrassment, quandary, complication, enigma; (adj, n) difficulty, distress. ANTONYM: (n) understanding.

prevaricate: (*v*) evade, palter, lie, fib, stall, tergiversate, shuffle, quibble, hedge, cavil, fence.

proceeding: (n) matter, transaction, affair, procedure, lawsuit, proceedings; (v) deed, act; (n, v) measure; (adv, n) happening; (adj, adv, v) going on.

appropriate money belonging to her son. The intermediate course of giving it to Eustacia was the sort of thing to please Wildeve's fancy. But it filled the mother with anger none the less. That Wildeve should have got command of the guineas after all, and should **rearrange** the disposal of them, placing Clym's share in Clym's wife's hands, because she had been his own sweetheart, and might be so still, was as **irritating** a pain as any that Mrs. Yeobright had ever borne.

She instantly **dismissed** the wretched Christian from her employ for his conduct in the affair; but, feeling quite **helpless** and unable to do without him, told him afterwards that he might stay a little longer if he chose. Then she hastened off to Eustacia, moved by a much less promising emotion towards her daughter-in-law than she had felt half an hour earlier, when planning her journey. At that time it was to inquire in a friendly spirit if there had been any **accidental** loss; now it was to ask plainly if Wildeve had privately given her money which had been intended as a sacred gift to Clym.

She started at two o'clock, and her meeting with Eustacia was hastened by the appearance of the young lady beside the pool and bank which bordered her grandfather's premises, where she stood surveying the scene, and perhaps thinking of the romantic enactments it had witnessed in past days. When Mrs. Yeobright approached, Eustacia surveyed her with the calm stare of a stranger.

The mother-in-law was the first to speak. "I was coming to see you," she said.

"Indeed!" said Eustacia with surprise, for Mrs. Yeobright, much to the girl's mortification, had refused to be present at the wedding. "I did not at all expect you."

"I was coming on business only," said the visitor, more **coldly** than at first. "Will you excuse my asking this--Have you received a gift from Thomasin's husband?"

"A gift?"

"I mean money!"

"What--I myself?"

Thesaurus

accidental: (adj) casual, unintentional, adventitious, unintended, incidental, chance, random, unforeseen, unexpected, contingent, haphazard. ANTONYMS: (adj) deliberate, designed, intended, planned, premeditated. coldly: (adv) frigidly, icily, coolly, indifferently, frostily, distantly, gelidly, reservedly, bleakly, wintrily, frozenly. ANTONYMS: (adv) warmly, affectionately, sympathetically,

sensitively, kindly, cheerfully, emotionally. dismissed: (adj) discharged, unemployed, clear, convalescent. helpless: (adj, v) forlorn, destitute, abandoned; (adj) powerless, weak, defenseless, disabled, impotent, feeble, hopeless, unable. ANTONYMS: (adj) strong, independent, capable, invulnerable, armed, powerful, impervious. irritating; (adj) infuriating,

bothersome, annoying, exasperating, irksome, irritative, vexatious, aggravating, troublesome, irritant; (v) stinging. ANTONYMS: (adj) soothing, calming, delightful, pleasant.

mother-in-law: (n) grandmother.
rearrange: (v) reform, shift, reorganize,
restructure, change, reorder, alter,
arrange, edit, reverse, switch.
ANTONYMS: (v) continue, leave,
remain, scatter.

"Well, I meant yourself, privately--though I was not going to put it in that way."

"Money from Mr. Wildeve? No--never! Madam, what do you mean by that?" Eustacia fired up all too quickly, for her own consciousness of the old attachment between herself and Wildeve led her to jump to the conclusion that Mrs. Yeobright also knew of it, and might have come to **accuse** her of receiving **dishonourable** presents from him now.

"I simply ask the question," said Mrs. Yeobright. "I have been----"

"You ought to have better opinions of me--I feared you were against me from the first!" exclaimed Eustacia

"No. I was simply for Clym," replied Mrs. Yeobright, with too much emphasis in her earnestness. "It is the instinct of everyone to look after their own."

"How can you imply that he required **guarding** against me?" cried Eustacia, passionate tears in her eyes. "I have not injured him by marrying him! What sin have I done that you should think so ill of me? You had no right to speak against me to him when I have never wronged you."

"I only did what was fair under the circumstances," said Mrs. Yeobright more softly. "I would rather not have gone into this question at present, but you compel me. I am not ashamed to tell you the honest truth. I was firmly convinced that he ought not to marry you--therefore I tried to **dissuade** him by all the means in my power. But it is done now, and I have no idea of **complaining** any more. I am ready to welcome you."

"Ah, yes, it is very well to see things in that business point of view," murmured Eustacia with a **smothered** fire of feeling. "But why should you think there is anything between me and Mr. Wildeve? I have a spirit as well as you. I am indignant; and so would any woman be. It was a condescension in me to be Clym's wife, and not a **manoeuvre**, let me remind you; and therefore I will not be treated as a **schemer** whom it becomes necessary to bear with because she has crept into the family."

Thesaurus

accuse: (v) charge, incriminate, arraign, denounce, defame, criminate, indict, fault, betray, condemn, inculpate. ANTONYMS: (v) absolve, exculpate, exonerate, praise, support, clear. complaining: (adj) irritable, peevish, petulant, whining, moaning, complaintive, repining; (adj, v) querulous; (n, v) lamenting; (adv) complainingly; (n) plaintive. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm,

uncomplaining, cheerful, willing.
dishonourable: (adj) base, disgraceful,
shabby, dishonest, sordid,
discreditable, ignoble, shameful,
crooked, opprobrious, black.
dissuade: (v) discourage, deter, advise,
remonstrate, divert, expostulate,
dehort, hinder, repress, reason,
detain. ANTONYMS: (v) persuade,
encourage, induce, influence.
guarding: (n) surveillance,
conservation, precaution, shielding,

marking, civil defense, patrol, accompaniment, guardianship; (adj) preserving, defensive.

manoeuvre: (n) device, gambit, artifice, ruse, stratagem, ploy, tactic; (v) direct, guide, steer, go.

schemer: (n) plotter, politician, contriver, conspirator, designer, machinator, projector, deviser, intriguer, planner, angler.

smothered: (adj) strangled, stifled, smothers, pent-up, covered.

"Oh!" said Mrs. Yeobright, vainly endeavouring to control her anger. "I have never heard anything to show that my son's lineage is not as good as the Vyes'-perhaps better. It is amusing to hear you talk of condescension."

"It was condescension, nevertheless," said Eustacia vehemently. "And if I had known then what I know now, that I should be living in this wild heath a month after my marriage, I--I should have thought twice before agreeing."

"It would be better not to say that; it might not sound truthful. I am not aware that any deception was used on his part--I know there was not--whatever might have been the case on the other side."

"This is too exasperating!" answered the younger woman huskily, her face crimsoning, and her eyes darting light. "How can you dare to speak to me like that? I insist upon **repeating** to you that had I known that my life would from my marriage up to this time have been as it is, I should have said no. I don't complain. I have never uttered a sound of such a thing to him; but it is true. I hope therefore that in the future you will be silent on my eagerness. If you injure me now you injure yourself."

"Injure you? Do you think I am an evil-disposed person?"

"You injured me before my marriage, and you have now suspected me of secretly favouring another man for money!"

"I could not help what I thought. But I have never spoken of you outside my house."

"You spoke of me within it, to Clym, and you could not do worse."

"I did my duty."

"And I'll do mine."

"A part of which will possibly be to set him against his mother. It is always so. But why should I not bear it as others have borne it before me!"

"I understand you," said Eustacia, breathless with emotion. "You think me capable of every bad thing. Who can be worse than a wife who encourages a

Thesaurus

breathless: (adj, adv) out of breath; (adj) panting, inanimate, breathtaking, winded, choking, puffing; (v) all agog, aghast; (adj, n) eager; (*n*) in hysterics. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, expected, boring. eagerness: (n, v) desire, aspiration; (n)enthusiasm, avidity, cupidity, readiness, passion, keenness, ambition, fervor, avidness. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, unwillingness, aloofness, disinterest, truthful: (adj) honest, genuine, frank,

lethargy, listlessness, patience, gloom, reluctance.

lineage: (adj, n) pedigree; (n, v) family, house; (n) descent, extraction, ancestry, birth, stock, line, origin; (adj, n, v) genealogy.

repeating: (n) repeat, iteration, renewal, repetition, redundancy, copying, reduplication; (adj) repetitious, iterating, iterative,

real, candid, sincere, guileless, realistic, reliable, faithful, honorable. ANTONYMS: (adj) dishonest, inaccurate, fictional, guarded, lying, improbable, deceptive, deceitful, false, wrong, evasive. vainly: (adv) uselessly, futilely, fruitlessly, conceitedly, in vain, worthlessly, abortively, bootlessly, arrogantly, unproductively; (adj, adv) foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) fruitfully, successfully, effectively.

lover, and poisons her husband's mind against his relative? Yet that is now the character given to me. Will you not come and drag him out of my hands?"

Mrs. Yeobright gave back heat for heat.

"Don't rage at me, madam! It ill becomes your beauty, and I am not worth the injury you may do it on my account, I assure you. I am only a poor old woman who has lost a son."

"If you had treated me honourably you would have had him still." Eustacia said, while scalding tears trickled from her eyes. "You have brought yourself to folly; you have caused a division which can never be healed!"

"I have done nothing. This **audacity** from a young woman is more than I can bear."

"It was asked for; you have suspected me, and you have made me speak of my husband in a way I would not have done. You will let him know that I have spoken thus, and it will cause misery between us. Will you go away from me? You are no friend!"

"I will go when I have spoken a word. If anyone says I have come here to question you without good grounds for it, that person speaks **untruly**. If anyone says that I attempted to stop your marriage by any but honest means, that person, too, does not speak the truth. I have fallen on an evil time; God has been unjust to me in letting you insult me! Probably my son's happiness does not lie on this side of the grave, for he is a foolish man who neglects the advice of his parent. You, Eustacia, stand on the edge of a precipice without knowing it. Only show my son one-half the temper you have shown me today--and you may before long--and you will find that though he is as gentle as a child with you now, he can be as hard as steel!"

The excited mother then withdrew, and Eustacia, panting, stood looking into the pool.

attempted: (adj) unsuccessful. audacity: (n) nerve, audaciousness, effrontery, arrogance, temerity, cheek, impertinence, insolence, courage; (n, v) impudence; (adj, n)presumption. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, propriety, decorum, circumspection, courtesy, fear, respect, spinelessness, reticence. excited: (adj, v) animated, ardent; (adj) ablaze, enthusiastic, emotional, frantic, warm, heated, delirious,

Thesaurus

fervent, passionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cool, unexcited, bored, tranquil, easygoing, disappointed, despairing, comatose, apathetic, sedate,

honourably: (adv) uprightly, worthily, precipice: (n) abyss, chasm, honestly, creditably, commendably. **insult**: (*n*, *v*) contumely, affront, abuse, flout, outrage, wound, taunt; (n) disgrace, indignity, contempt; (v) cut. ANTONYMS: (n, v) compliment, praise; (v) flatter, consecrate; (n)

madam: (n) dame, lady, ma'am, gentlewoman, missis, Mrs, brothel keeper, madames, signora, female,

escarpment, gulf, steep, crag, verge, brink, abysm, ravine, drop. untruly: (adv) faithlessly, disloyally, erroneously, mistakenly, falsely, inaccurately, untrue, incorrectly, unfaithfully.

2

HE IS SET UPON BY ADVERSITIES BUT HE SINGS A SONG

The result of that **unpropitious** interview was that Eustacia, instead of passing the afternoon with her grandfather, hastily returned home to Clym, where she arrived three hours earlier than she had been expected.

She came indoors with her face flushed, and her eyes still showing traces of her recent excitement. Yeobright looked up **astonished**; he had never seen her in any way approaching to that state before. She passed him by, and would have gone upstairs unnoticed, but Clym was so concerned that he immediately followed her.

"What is the matter, Eustacia?" he said. She was standing on the hearthrug in the bedroom, looking upon the floor, her hands clasped in front of her, her bonnet yet unremoved. For a moment she did not answer; and then she replied in a low voice--

"I have seen your mother; and I will never see her again!" A weight fell like a stone upon Clym. That same morning, when Eustacia had arranged to go and see her grandfather, Clym had expressed a wish that she would drive down to Blooms-End and inquire for her mother-in-law, or adopt any other means she

Thesaurus

approaching: (adj) future, forthcoming, impending, imminent, oncoming, near; (adj, n) coming; (n, v)approach; (adv) nearly, almost; (prep) toward. astonished: (adj) astonish, dumbfounded, flabbergasted, stunned, aghast, bewildered, astounded, taken aback, thunderstruck, astonied; (v) amaze. grandfather: (n) gramps, grandad,

grandpapa, grandpa, grandsire,

paternal grandfather, father, hastily: (adv) hurriedly, rapidly, quickly, rashly, promptly, suddenly, thoughtlessly, impetuously, swiftly, imprudently, speedily. ANTONYMS: (adv) carefully, unhurriedly, industriously, sensibly, prudently, late, calmly, thoroughly, patiently, gradually, cautiously. hearthrug: (n) carpeting.

granddaddy, ancestor, father's father, unnoticed: (v) unheeded, unthought of, unregarded; (adj) disregarded, unmarked, hidden, neglected, ignored, obscure; (adj, v) unremarked, unobserved. ANTONYMS: (adj) evident, seen, noticeable, noted, obvious. unpropitious: (adj) inauspicious, adverse, unlucky, unfavorable, inopportune, evil, sinister, disastrous, infelicitous; (adj, v) cross, hostile.

might think fit to bring about a reconciliation. She had set out gaily; and he had hoped for much.

"Why is this?" he asked.

"I cannot tell--I cannot remember. I met your mother. And I will never meet her again."

"Why?"

"What do I know about Mr. Wildeve now? I won't have wicked opinions passed on me by anybody. O! it was too humiliating to be asked if I had received any money from him, or encouraged him, or something of the sort-- I don't exactly know what!"

"How could she have asked you that?"

"She did."

"Then there must have been some meaning in it. What did my mother say besides?"

"I don't know what she said, except in so far as this, that we both said words which can never be forgiven!"

"Oh, there must be some misapprehension. Whose fault was it that her meaning was not made clear?"

"I would rather not say. It may have been the fault of the circumstances, which were awkward at the very least. O Clym--I cannot help expressing it--this is an unpleasant position that you have placed me in. But you must improve it-yes, say you will--for I hate it all now! Yes, take me to Paris, and go on with your old occupation, Clym! I don't mind how humbly we live there at first, if it can only be Paris, and not Egdon Heath."

"But I have quite given up that idea," said Yeobright, with surprise. "Surely I never led you to expect such a thing?"

"I own it. Yet there are thoughts which cannot be kept out of mind, and that one was mine. Must I not have a voice in the matter, now I am your wife and the sharer of your doom?"

Thesaurus

encouraged: (adj) optimistic, confident, enthused, expectant, inspired, pleased, positive, stimulated, stirred, moved. ANTONYM: (adj) pessimistic. **expressing**: (adj) significant; (n) gaily: (adv, v) happily; (adv) gladly, jovially, joyfully, cheerfully, mirthfully, joyously, gleefully, sunnily, blithely, lively.

ANTONYMS: (adv) sadly, anxiously,

dully, despondently. misapprehension: (n) delusion, mistake, misunderstanding, fallacy, misconception, misinterpretation, fault, misconstruction, misreading, illusion, false impression. ANTONYM: (n) fact. rapprochement, pacification,

reconciliation: (n, v) concord, peace, harmony; (n) adjustment, agreement, reconcilement, conciliation, appeasement, mediation.

ANTONYMS: (n) incitement, war. **sharer**: (n) participator, participant, partner, associate, copartner, individual, accomplice, companion, comrade, guest, mate. wicked: (adj) bad, sinful, atrocious, evil, vile, depraved, mischievous, immoral, unholy, nasty, naughty. ANTONYMS: (adj) innocent, pure, pious, moral, kind, admirable, kindhearted, helpful, decent, assisting, aiding.

"Well, there are things which are placed beyond the pale of discussion; and I thought this was specially so, and by mutual agreement."

"Clym, I am unhappy at what I hear," she said in a low voice; and her eyes drooped, and she turned away.

This indication of an unexpected mine of hope in Eustacia's bosom disconcerted her husband. It was the first time that he had confronted the fact of the indirectness of a woman's movement towards her desire. But his intention was **unshaken**, though he loved Eustacia well. All the effect that her remark had upon him was a resolve to chain himself more closely than ever to his books, so as to be the sooner enabled to appeal to substantial **results** from another course in arguing against her **whim**.

Next day the mystery of the guineas was explained. Thomasin paid them a **hurried** visit, and Clym's share was delivered up to him by her own hands. Eustacia was not present at the time.

"Then this is what my mother meant," exclaimed Clym. "Thomasin, do you know that they have had a bitter quarrel?"

There was a little more **reticence** now than formerly in Thomasin's manner towards her cousin. It is the effect of marriage to **engender** in several directions some of the reserve it annihilates in one. "Your mother told me," she said quietly. "She came back to my house after seeing Eustacia."

"The worst thing I **dreaded** has come to pass. Was Mother much disturbed when she came to you, Thomasin?"

"Yes."

"Very much indeed?"

"Yes."

Clym leant his **elbow** upon the post of the garden gate, and covered his eyes with his hand.

"Don't trouble about it, Clym. They may get to be friends."

Thesaurus

dreaded: (adj) awful, terrible, cowardly, causing horror, dire, direful, desperate, dreadful, fearful, fearsome; (v) drad.
elbow: (n, v) poke, nudge, jolt; (n) cubitus, elbow joint, angle, articulation; (v) jostle, push, shove,

engender: (v) cause, breed, generate, bring about, make, bring forth, create, produce, procreate, father, bring. ANTONYMS: (v) stop,

destroy, halt, finish. hurried: (adj) fast, sudden, speedy, rapid, quick, swift, headlong, abrupt, cursory, precipitate, prompt. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhurried, leisurely, considered, patient, meticulous, thorough.

results: (n) consequences, outcome, return, aftermath, data.
reticence: (n) reserve, reservation, uncommunicativeness, taciturnity, silence, reticency, restraint, secrecy,

reservedness, muteness, humility. ANTONYMS: (n) chattiness, honesty, nerve, boldness, openness, arrogance, brashness.

unshaken: (adj) steady, firm, constant, undismayed, undaunted, unallayed, unworn, unwavering, unmoved, steadfast, calm.

whim: (n, v) fancy, vagary, humor, freak; (n) notion, impulse, fad, mood, whimsy, thought, idea. ANTONYMS: (n) plan, reality, aversion.

He shook his head. "Not two people with inflammable natures like theirs. Well, what must be will be."

"One thing is cheerful in it--the guineas are not lost."

"I would rather have lost them twice over than have had this happen."

Amid these **jarring** events Yeobright felt one thing to be indispensable--that he should speedily make some show of progress in his **scholastic** plans. With this view he read far into the small hours during many nights.

One morning, after a severer strain than usual, he awoke with a strange sensation in his eyes. The sun was shining directly upon the window-blind, and at his first glance thitherward a sharp pain obliged him to close his eyelids quickly. At every new attempt to look about him the same **morbid** sensibility to light was manifested, and excoriating tears ran down his cheeks. He was obliged to tie a bandage over his brow while dressing; and during the day it could not be abandoned. Eustacia was thoroughly alarmed. On finding that the case was no better the next morning they decided to send to Anglebury for a surgeon.

Towards evening he arrived, and pronounced the disease to be acute inflammation induced by Clym's night studies, continued in spite of a cold previously caught, which had weakened his eyes for the time.

Fretting with impatience at this interruption to a task he was so anxious to **hasten**, Clym was transformed into an invalid. He was shut up in a room from which all light was excluded, and his condition would have been one of absolute misery had not Eustacia read to him by the **glimmer** of a shaded lamp. He hoped that the worst would soon be over; but at the surgeon's third visit he learnt to his dismay that although he might venture out of doors with shaded eyes in the course of a month, all thought of **pursuing** his work, or of reading print of any description, would have to be given up for a long time to come.

One week and another week wore on, and nothing seemed to **lighten** the gloom of the young couple. Dreadful imaginings occurred to Eustacia, but she carefully refrained from uttering them to her husband. Suppose he should become blind, or, at all events, never recover sufficient strength of sight to

Thesaurus

fretting: (*adj*) irritable, dissatisfied, peevish; (*n*) festering, friction, exulceration.

glimmer: (adj, n, v) flicker, twinkle; (n, v) gleam, shimmer, flash, sparkle, beam, glow, shine; (v) blink; (n)

hasten: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) speed, quicken; (*v*) expedite, advance, hurry, hie, dash, rush; (*n*, *v*) further, forward, dispatch. ANTONYMS: (*v*) linger, retard, amble.

jarring: (adj, n) harsh, dissonant, inconsistent; (adj) rough, inharmonious, strident, grating, jolting, raucous, cacophonous, bumpy. ANTONYMS: (adj) soft,

lighten: (*v*) assuage, alleviate, light, illuminate, brighten, lessen, allay, clear, mitigate, relieve, illumine. ANTONYMS: (*v*) darken, intensify, increase, dye, depress, aggravate, exacerbate.

morbid: (*adj*) diseased, gruesome, macabre, corrupt, pathologic, unwholesome, peccant, sick, unhealthy, pathological; (*adj*, *v*) sickly.

pursuing: (*n*) pursuit, search, hunt; (*adj*) coming, engaged.

scholastic: (adj, n) academic; (adj) scholarly, pedantic, school, learned, erudite; (n) pedant, purist; (v) savant, blue, enlightened.

engage in an occupation which would be congenial to her feelings, and conduce to her removal from this lonely dwelling among the hills? That dream of beautiful Paris was not likely to cohere into substance in the presence of this misfortune. As day after day passed by, and he got no better, her mind ran more and more in this mournful groove, and she would go away from him into the garden and weep despairing tears.

Yeobright thought he would send for his mother; and then he thought he would not. Knowledge of his state could only make her the more unhappy; and the seclusion of their life was such that she would hardly be likely to learn the news except through a special messenger. Endeavouring to take the trouble as philosophically as possible, he waited on till the third week had arrived, when he went into the open air for the first time since the attack. The surgeon visited him again at this stage, and Clym urged him to express a distinct opinion. The young man learnt with added surprise that the date at which he might expect to resume his labours was as uncertain as ever, his eyes being in that peculiar state which, though affording him sight enough for walking about, would not admit of their being strained upon any definite object without incurring the risk of reproducing **ophthalmia** in its acute form.

Clym was very grave at the intelligence, but not despairing. firmness, and even cheerfulness, took possession of him. He was not to be blind; that was enough. To be doomed to behold the world through smoked glass for an indefinite period was bad enough, and fatal to any kind of advance; but Yeobright was an absolute stoic in the face of mishaps which only affected his social standing; and, apart from Eustacia, the humblest walk of life would satisfy him if it could be made to work in with some form of his culture scheme. To keep a cottage night-school was one such form; and his affliction did not master his spirit as it might otherwise have done.

He walked through the warm sun westward into those tracts of Egdon with which he was best acquainted, being those lying nearer to his old home. He saw before him in one of the valleys the gleaming of whetted iron, and advancing, dimly perceived that the shine came from the tool of a man who was cutting

Thesaurus

affliction: (*n*, *v*) adversity; (*n*) distress, regret, martyrdom, torment, curse, trial, bane, misadventure, sorrow, agony. ANTONYMS: (n) gift, godsend, solace, blessing. cohere: (v) cleave, cling, agree, hold, hold fast, bind, cement, stick; (adj) candy, cake, clot. ANTONYMS: (v) dispute, divide, separate, disagree. conduce: (v) go, lead, tend, concur, bestow, advance, redound, encourage, result, verge, extend.

despairing: (adj) hopeless, desperate, despondent, forlorn, desolate, dejected, pessimistic, sad, brokenhearted, miserable, inconsolable. ANTONYMS: (adj) hopeful, optimistic, rosy, happy, confident, cheerful. hills: (n) home, dry land, foothills, earth, ground. ophthalmia: (n) pinkeye, conjunctivitis. philosophically: (adv) calmly,

rationally, reflectively, thoughtfully, stoic: (adj) stoical, matter-of-fact, stolid, apathetic; (n) unemotional person, philosopher. weep: (v) wail, bawl, lament, sob, blubber, moan, howl, drip, greet, whimper; (n) tear. westward: (adv) west, westwards; (adj, adv) westerly; (adj) westbound,

western; (v) to the west.

furze. The worker recognized Clym, and Yeobright learnt from the voice that the speaker was Humphrey.

Humphrey expressed his sorrow at Clym's condition, and added, "Now, if yours was low-class work like mine, you could go on with it just the same."

"Yes, I could," said Yeobright musingly. "How much do you get for cutting these faggots?"

"Half-a-crown a hundred, and in these long days I can live very well on the wages."

During the whole of Yeobright's walk home to Alderworth he was lost in reflections which were not of an **unpleasant** kind. On his coming up to the house Eustacia spoke to him from the open window, and he went across to her.

"Darling," he said, "I am much happier. And if my mother were **reconciled** to me and to you I should, I think, be happy quite."

"I fear that will never be," she said, looking afar with her beautiful stormy eyes. "How *can* you say 'I am happier,' and nothing changed?"

"It arises from my having at last discovered something I can do, and get a living at, in this time of misfortune."

"Yes?"

"I am going to be a furze- and turf-cutter."

"No, Clym!" she said, the slight hopefulness previously apparent in her face going off again, and leaving her worse than before.

"Surely I shall. Is it not very **unwise** in us to go on spending the little money we've got when I can keep down **expenditures** by an honest occupation? The **outdoor** exercise will do me good, and who knows but that in a few months I shall be able to go on with my reading again?"

"But my grandfather offers to assist us, if we require assistance."

"We don't require it. If I go furze-cutting we shall be fairly well off."

"In comparison with **slaves**, and the Israelites in Egypt, and such people!" A bitter **tear rolled** down Eustacia's face, which he did not see. There had been

Thesaurus

scroll, coiled, resonant, trilled,

expenditures: (n) spending, outlay, expense, extravagance.

outdoor: (adj) outside, outdoors, out, outward, outlying, outer, external, overseas, abroad, out of doors, without. ANTONYMS: (adj) inside, interior, internal.

reconciled: (adj) consistent, resigned, serger meet: (n) made friends.

reconciled: (adj) consistent, resigned, serene, meet; (v) made friends, affriended. ANTONYM: (adj) unreconciled. rolled: (adj) rolling, furled, involute,

reverberative, reverberating, resounding, spiral. slaves: (n) helotry, bondsmen. tear: (n, v) rip, break, split, rupture, crack, run, slit; (v) pull, rend, lacerate; (adj, v) rush. ANTONYMS: (v) wait, mend, idle, fix, amble, dawdle. unpleasant: (adj, n) harsh; (adj) disagreeable, obnoxious, ugly, nasty, sour, awkward, repulsive, forbidding, bad, hard. ANTONYMS:

(adj) delightful, agreeable, wonderful, nice, enjoyable, attractive, comfortable, charming, inoffensive, amicable, cordial.

unwise: (adj, n) silly, stupid, absurd,

amicable, cordial.

unwise: (adj, n) silly, stupid, absurd, indiscreet; (adj) imprudent, injudicious, ridiculous, senseless, inadvisable, impolitic, unreasonable.

ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, prudent, thoughtful, sagacious, judicious, advisable.

nonchalance in his tone, showing her that he felt no absolute grief at a **consummation** which to her was a positive horror.

The very next day Yeobright went to Humphrey's cottage, and **borrowed** of him leggings, gloves, a **whetstone**, and a hook, to use till he should be able to purchase some for himself. Then he sallied forth with his new fellow-labourer and old acquaintance, and selecting a spot where the furze grew thickest he struck the first blow in his adopted calling. His sight, like the wings in Rasselas, though useless to him for his grand purpose, sufficed for this strait, and he found that when a little practice should have hardened his palms against **blistering** he would be able to work with ease.

Day after day he rose with the sun, **buckled** on his leggings, and went off to the rendezvous with Humphrey. His custom was to work from four o'clock in the morning till noon; then, when the heat of the day was at its highest, to go home and sleep for an hour or two; afterwards coming out again and working till dusk at nine.

This man from Paris was now so disguised by his leather accoutrements, and by the goggles he was obliged to wear over his eyes, that his closest friend might have passed by without recognizing him. He was a brown spot in the midst of an expanse of olive-green gorse, and nothing more. Though frequently depressed in spirit when not actually at work, owing to thoughts of Eustacia's position and his mother's **estrangement**, when in the full swing of labour he was cheerfully disposed and calm.

His daily life was of a curious microscopic sort, his whole world being limited to a circuit of a few feet from his person. His familiars were creeping and winged things, and they seemed to **enroll** him in their band. Bees hummed around his ears with an intimate air, and tugged at the heath and furze-flowers at his side in such numbers as to weigh them down to the sod. The strange amber-coloured butterflies which Egdon produced, and which were never seen elsewhere, quivered in the breath of his lips, alighted upon his bowed back, and sported with the glittering point of his hook as he flourished it up and down. Tribes of emerald-green grasshoppers leaped over his feet, falling awkwardly on

Thesaurus

blistering: (*adj*) burning, boiling, vitriolic, caustic, scorching, acid, acrid, blazing, bitter, torrid, acerb. ANTONYM: (*adj*) cold. **borrowed**: (*adj*) foreign, rubato,

secondary.

buckled: (v) wreathy, frizzly, crepe; (adj) warped, misshapen, malformed, distorted, askew, deformed. consummation: (n) accomplishment, completion, fulfillment, fruition,

performance, execution, climax,

attainment, perfection, end, realization.

realization.

enroll: (v) enlist, enter, draft, enrol, record, join, matriculate, recruit, list, insert, inscribe. ANTONYMS: (v) omit, withdraw, pass, neglect, disregard, discard, reject, leave.

estrangement: (n) disaffection, separation, rift, coolness, isolation, break, split, rupture, withdrawal, breach; (v) estrange. ANTONYMS: (n) reconciliation, propitiation,

conciliation.

nonchalance: (n) indifference, apathy, composure, disregard, impassiveness, equanimity, negligence, casualness; (adj, n) unconcern; (adj) insouciance, indifferent. ANTONYMS: (n) anxiety, interest.

whetstone: (*n*) oilstone, rub, friction, fault, imperfection, chance, caoutchouc, failing, hindrance, whetstone test, unevenness.

their backs, heads, or hips, like unskilful acrobats, as chance might rule; or engaged themselves in noisy flirtations under the fern-fronds with silent ones of homely hue. Huge flies, ignorant of larders and wire-netting, and quite in a savage state, buzzed about him without knowing that he was a man. In and out of the fern-dells snakes glided in their most brilliant blue and yellow guise, it being the season immediately following the shedding of their old skins, when their colours are brightest. Litters of young rabbits came out from their forms to sun themselves upon hillocks, the hot beams blazing through the delicate tissue of each thin-fleshed ear, and firing it to a blood-red transparency in which the veins could be seen. None of them feared him. The monotony of his occupation soothed him, and was in itself a pleasure. A forced limitation of effort offered a justification of homely courses to an unambitious man, whose conscience would hardly have allowed him to remain in such obscurity while his powers were unimpeded. Hence Yeobright sometimes sang to himself, and when obliged to accompany Humphrey in search of brambles for faggot-bonds he would amuse his companion with sketches of Parisian life and character, and so while away the time.

On one of these warm afternoons Eustacia walked out alone in the direction of Yeobright's place of work. He was busily **chopping** away at the furze, a long row of faggots which stretched downward from his position representing the labour of the day. He did not observe her approach, and she stood close to him, and heard his **undercurrent** of song.

It shocked her. To see him there, a poor afflicted man, **earning** money by the sweat of his brow, had at first moved her to tears; but to hear him sing and not at all rebel against an occupation which, however satisfactory to himself, was **degrading** to her, as an educated lady-wife, wounded her through. Unconscious of her presence, he still went on singing:--

"Le point du jour A nos bosquets **rend** toute leur parure; Flore est plus belle a son retour;

Thesaurus

buzzed: (n) woozy; (adj) intoxicated, drunk.
chopping: (adj) jolly.
degrading: (adj) shameful, debasing, derogatory, humiliating, dishonorable, ignominious, disgraceful, corrupting, vile, scandalous; (n) infra dignitatem.
ANTONYMS: (adj) humane, reputable.
earning: (n) proceeds; (v) get.

disguise, fashion, pretense, camouflage, attire, figure, color. rend: (v) pull, lacerate, break, divide, rive, tear, disrupt, mangle; (n, v) rip, split, slash.

shedding: (*n*) molting, abscission, fluffing, effusion, moulting, biological process, desquamation, sloughing, emission; (*adj*, *n*) peeling; (*adj*) flaking.

earning: (*n*) proceeds; (*v*) get. **unambitious**: (*adj*) ambitionless, **guise**: (*n*) form, dress, aspect, costume, unsolicitous, unaspiring, unattracted,

undesirous, humble, unassuming, unpretentious.

undercurrent: (n) undertow, stream, tinge, cross fire, feeling, underset, vortex, flow, undertide; (v) indraught, reflux.

unimpeded: (adj) free, unrestrained, free-flowing, unhampered, move without being impeded, expedite, unchecked, speedily, quick, prompt, unrestricted. ANTONYM: (adj) restricted L'oiseau reprend doux chant d'amour; Tout celebre dans la nature Le point du jour.

"Le point du jour Cause parfois, cause douleur extreme; Que l'espace des nuits est court Pour le berger brulant d'amour, Force de **quitter** ce qu'il aime Au point du jour!"

It was bitterly plain to Eustacia that he did not care much about social failure; and the proud fair woman bowed her head and wept in sick despair at thought of the **blasting** effect upon her own life of that mood and condition in him. Then she came forward.

"I would starve rather than do it!" she exclaimed vehemently. "And you can sing! I will go and live with my grandfather again!"

"Eustacia! I did not see you, though I noticed something moving," he said gently. He came forward, pulled off his huge leather glove, and took her hand. "Why do you speak in such a strange way? It is only a little old song which struck my fancy when I was in Paris, and now just applies to my life with you. Has your love for me all died, then, because my appearance is no longer that of a fine gentleman?"

"Dearest, you must not question me unpleasantly, or it may make me not love you."

"Do you believe it possible that I would run the risk of doing that?"

"Well, you follow out your own ideas, and won't give in to mine when I wish you to leave off this **shameful** labour. Is there anything you dislike in me that you act so contrarily to my wishes? I am your wife, and why will you not listen? Yes, I am your wife indeed!"

"I know what that tone means."

Thesaurus

blasting: (adj) ruinous, blaring, cold, destructive; (n) grit blasting, burst, explosion, excavation, mining, getting, advertising. contrarily: (adv) oppositely, perversely, inversely, reversely, stubbornly, adversely, inconsistently, discordantly, waywardly, hostilely, opposedly.

quitter: (n) abdicator, apostate, soul, someone, somebody, person, mortal, recreant, pessimist, human,

individual. shameful: (adj) scandalous, dishonorable, opprobrious, shocking, unpleasantly: (adv) distastefully, ignominious, disreputable, despicable; (adj, v) foul, base, gross, black. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, noble, dignified, admirable, faultless, reputable, glorious, compassionate, praiseworthy, commendable,

starve: (v) fast, crave, lust, hunger, thirst, perish, be hungry, deprive, benumb; (adj, v) pinch; (adj) gripe. ANTONYMS: (v) feed, eat. disagreeably, rudely, obnoxiously, bitterly, painfully, awfully, troublesomely, offensively, hardly, displeasingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) delightfully, agreeably, kindly, politely, graciously, attractively, sweetly, well, humbly.

"What tone?"

"The tone in which you said, 'Your wife indeed.' It meant, 'Your wife, worse luck.'"

"It is hard in you to **probe** me with that remark. A woman may have reason, though she is not without heart, and if I felt 'worse luck,' it was no **ignoble** feeling-- it was only too natural. There, you see that at any rate I do not attempt untruths. Do you remember how, before we were married, I warned you that I had not good **wifely** qualities?"

"You **mock** me to say that now. On that point at least the only noble course would be to hold your tongue, for you are still queen of me, Eustacia, though I may no longer be king of you."

"You are my husband. Does not that content you?"

"Not unless you are my wife without regret."

"I cannot answer you. I remember saying that I should be a serious matter on your hands."

"Yes, I saw that."

"Then you were too quick to see! No true lover would have seen any such thing; you are too severe upon me, Clym--I won't like your speaking so at all."

"Well, I married you in spite of it, and don't regret doing so. How cold you seem this afternoon! And yet I used to think there never was a **warmer** heart than yours."

"Yes, I fear we are cooling--I see it as well as you," she sighed mournfully. "And how **madly** we loved two months ago! You were never tired of contemplating me, nor I of contemplating you. Who could have thought then that by this time my eyes would not seem so very bright to yours, nor your lips so very sweet to mine? Two months--is it possible? Yes, 'tis too true!"

"You sigh, dear, as if you were sorry for it; and that's a hopeful sign."

"No. I don't sigh for that. There are other things for me to sigh for, or any other woman in my place."

Thesaurus

ignoble: (adj) contemptible, abject, base, dishonorable, disgraceful, beggarly, mean, humble, degraded, despicable, caddish. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, glorious.

madly: (adv) insanely, furiously, sorely, frantically, wildly, devilishly, deadly, dementedly, foolishly, distractedly; (adj, adv) rabidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) sensibly, calmly, sanely, carefully; (adj) slightly.

mock: (adj, v) counterfeit; (n, v)

ridicule, jeer, gibe, laugh at, flout; (adj, n, v) burlesque, sham; (v) mimic, ape, taunt. ANTONYMS: (adj) real, natural; (v) praise, applaud, respect, approve.

probe: (*v*) explore, inspect, fathom, investigate, search, look into, check; (*n*) investigation; (*n*, *v*) examination, research, inquiry.

regret: (*n*, *v*) grieve, sorrow; (*v*) bewail, lament, mourn, bemoan, deplore; (*n*) remorse, penitence, compunction,

contrition. ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, praise; (n) idealism, shamelessness, joy, satisfaction. warmer: (n) stove, oilstove, deicer, defroster, brasier, radiator, brazier, warming, warmed, demister, gas heater

wifely: (adj) womanly, ladylike, uxorial, matronly, feminine, maidenly, domestic.

"That your chances in life are ruined by marrying in **haste** an unfortunate man?"

"Why will you force me, Clym, to say bitter things? I deserve pity as much as you. As much?--I think I deserve it more. For you can sing! It would be a strange hour which should catch me singing under such a cloud as this! Believe me, sweet, I could weep to a degree that would **astonish** and **confound** such an **elastic** mind as yours. Even had you felt careless about your own affliction, you might have refrained from singing out of sheer pity for mine. God! if I were a man in such a position I would curse rather than sing."

Yeobright placed his hand upon her arm. "Now, don't you suppose, my **inexperienced** girl, that I cannot rebel, in high Promethean fashion, against the **gods** and fate as well as you. I have felt more steam and smoke of that sort than you have ever heard of. But the more I see of life the more do I perceive that there is nothing particularly great in its greatest walks, and therefore nothing particularly small in mine of furze-cutting. If I feel that the greatest blessings vouchsafed to us are not very valuable, how can I feel it to be any great hardship when they are taken away? So I sing to pass the time. Have you indeed lost all tenderness for me, that you **begrudge** me a few cheerful moments?"

"I have still some tenderness left for you."

"Your words have no longer their old flavour. And so love dies with good fortune!"

 $\mbox{\tt "I}$ cannot listen to this, Clym--it will end bitterly," she said in a broken voice. $\mbox{\tt "I}$ will go home."

Thesaurus

astonish: (adj, v) astound; (adj, n, v) surprise; (adj) astonishing, surprised; (v) flabbergast, daze, confound, dazzle, stun, alarm, nonplus. ANTONYMS: (v) expect, bore. begrudge: (v) envy, covet, resent, stint, hang fire; (adj, v) pinch; (adj) hold back, screw, gripe, withhold, starve. ANTONYMS: (v) congratulate, wish. confound: (v) bewilder, baffle, nonplus, perplex, astonish, puzzle, amaze, astound, mistake; (adj, v)

confuse, stupefy. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, clarify, comfort, lose, distinguish; (n) understanding. elastic: (adj) flexible, springy, soft, pliable, resilient, limber, pliant, yielding, ductile, buoyant; (n) rubber band. ANTONYMS: (adj) rigid, stiff, inflexible, inelastic, unadaptable, intolerant, firm, hard, unyielding. gods: (n) gallery.

haste: (*n*, *v*) hurry, dash, dispatch, rush; (*n*) celerity, expedition,

rapidity, speed, bustle, hastiness, quickness. ANTONYMS: (n) delay, patience, forethought, caution.

inexperienced: (adj) naive, young, callow, ignorant, unsophisticated, new, unexperienced, clumsy; (adj, v) raw; (v) green; (n) inexperience.

ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, sophisticated, skilled, knowledgeable, expert, accustomed, sharp, seasoned.

3

SHE GOES OUT TO BATTLE AGAINST DEPRESSION

A few days later, before the month of August has expired, Eustacia and Yeobright sat together at their early dinner.

Eustacia's manner had become of late almost apathetic. There was a forlorn look about her beautiful eyes which, whether she deserved it or not, would have excited pity in the breast of anyone who had known her during the full flush of her love for Clym. The feelings of husband and wife varied, in some measure, inversely with their positions. Clym, the afflicted man, was cheerful; and he even tried to comfort her, who had never felt a moment of physical suffering in her whole life.

"Come, **brighten** up, **dearest**; we shall be all right again. Some day perhaps I shall see as well as ever. And I **solemnly** promise that I'll leave off cutting furze as soon as I have the power to do anything better. You cannot seriously wish me to stay idling at home all day?"

"But it is so dreadful--a furze-cutter! and you a man who have lived about the world, and speak French, and German, and who are fit for what is so much better than this."

Thesaurus

breast: (*n*) boob, udder, tit, titty, chest, **deserved**: (*v*) merited, richly deserved; poor. knocker, mammilla, bust, pap, heart; (n, v) front.

brighten: (adj, v) clear up; (v) light, illuminate, burnish, clear, gild, glow, perk up, cheer, irradiate, enliven. ANTONYMS: (v) upset, sadden, overcast, fade, dim, depress, blacken,

dearest: (n) dear, darling, love, honey, lover, sweetheart, loved one, baby; (adj) precious, intimate, sweet.

(adj) appropriate, due, fitting, just, earned, suitable, rightful, adequate, required.

expired: (adj) lapsed, deceased, invalid, dead, overdue, extinct, elapsed, out.

flush: (adj, n, v) blush, glow; (adj) flat, affluent, rich; (adj, v) even, smooth, level; (n) bloom; (n, v) color; (v)redden. ANTONYMS: (n) pallor; (v) blanch, blench; (adj) empty, low,

inversely: (adv) reciprocally, reversely, contrarily, invertedly, reversedly, conversely, vice versa, contrary, in

solemnly: (adv) earnestly, gravely, majestically, stately, sternly, staidly, thoughtfully, soberly, formally, ceremoniously, importantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, flippantly.

"I suppose when you first saw me and heard about me I was wrapped in a sort of golden halo to your eyes--a man who knew glorious things, and had mixed in brilliant scenes--in short, an **adorable**, delightful, distracting hero?"

"Yes," she said, sobbing.

"And now I am a poor fellow in brown leather."

"Don't **taunt** me. But enough of this. I will not be depressed any more. I am going from home this afternoon, unless you greatly object. There is to be a village picnic--a gipsying, they call it--at East Egdon, and I shall go."

"To dance?"

"Why not? You can sing."

"Well, well, as you will. Must I come to fetch you?"

"If you return soon enough from your work. But do not inconvenience yourself about it. I know the way home, and the heath has no terror for me."

"And can you cling to gaiety so eagerly as to walk all the way to a village **festival** in search of it?"

"Now, you don't like my going alone! Clym, you are not jealous?"

"No. But I would come with you if it could give you any pleasure; though, as things stand, perhaps you have too much of me already. Still, I somehow wish that you did not want to go. Yes, perhaps I am jealous; and who could be jealous with more reason than I, a half-blind man, over such a woman as you?"

"Don't think like it. Let me go, and don't take all my spirits away!"

"I would rather lose all my own, my sweet wife. Go and do whatever you like. Who can forbid your **indulgence** in any whim? You have all my heart yet, I believe; and because you bear with me, who am in truth a drag upon you, I owe you thanks. Yes, go alone and shine. As for me, I will stick to my **doom**. At that kind of meeting people would **shun** me. My hook and gloves are like the St. **Lazarus** rattle of the **leper**, warning the world to get out of the way of a sight that would sadden them." He kissed her, put on his leggings, and went out.

Thesaurus

adorable: (adj) lovely, attractive, delightful, endearing, pleasing, glamorous, delicious, wonderful, winning, appealing, cute. ANTONYMS: (adj) despicable, disgusting, wicked, unappealing, repulsive, monstrous, gross. doom: (n, v) sentence, destine, fate; (v) condemn, convict, damn; (n) destiny, day of reckoning, chance, luck, lot. ANTONYMS: (n) plan; (v) absolve. festival: (n) feast, carnival, fair,

celebration, festivity, holiday, fte, jubilee, fiesta, party; (*n*, *v*) fete. **indulgence**: (*adj*, *n*) gratification, delight; (*n*) allowance, extravagance, debauchery, hobby, tolerance, luxury, enjoyment, leniency, pardon. ANTONYMS: (*n*) denial, virtue, intolerance, uprightness, necessity, indifference, dismay, severity. **lazarus**: (*n*) Dives, pauper. **leper**: (*n*) lazar, outcast, leprous, sufferer, pariah, refugee, mesel,

invalid, castaway, derelict, diseased person.

shun: (v) evade, escape, elude, dodge,

flee, refuse, shirk, ostracize, banish, parry; (adj, v) eschew. ANTONYMS: (v) befriend, invite, seek, welcome, woo, court, participate, include. taunt: (n, v) ridicule, gibe, flout, insult, mock, deride, sneer, twit, quip; (n) scoff; (v) bait. ANTONYMS: (n, v) respect, compliment; (v) applaud,

When he was gone she rested her head upon her hands and said to herself, "Two wasted lives--his and mine. And I am come to this! Will it drive me out of my mind?"

She cast about for any possible course which offered the least improvement on the existing state of things, and could find none. She imagined how all those Budmouth ones who should learn what had become of her would say, "Look at the girl for whom nobody was good enough!" To Eustacia the situation seemed such a mockery of her hopes that death appeared the only door of relief if the **satire** of Heaven should go much further.

Suddenly she aroused herself and exclaimed, "But I'll shake it off. Yes, I *will* shake it off! No one shall know my suffering. I'll be bitterly merry, and ironically gay, and I'll laugh in **derision**. And I'll begin by going to this dance on the green."

She ascended to her bedroom and dressed herself with **scrupulous** care. To an **onlooker** her beauty would have made her feelings almost seem reasonable. The gloomy corner into which accident as much as **indiscretion** had brought this woman might have led even a moderate partisan to feel that she had **cogent** reasons for asking the Supreme Power by what right a being of such exquisite finish had been placed in circumstances calculated to make of her charms a curse rather than a blessing.

It was five in the afternoon when she came out from the house ready for her walk. There was material enough in the picture for twenty new conquests. The rebellious sadness that was rather too apparent when she sat indoors without a bonnet was cloaked and softened by her outdoor attire, which always had a sort of **nebulousness** about it, devoid of harsh edges anywhere; so that her face looked from its environment as from a cloud, with no noticeable lines of demarcation between flesh and clothes. The heat of the day had scarcely declined as yet, and she went along the sunny hills at a leisurely pace, there being ample time for her idle expedition. Tall ferns buried her in their leafage whenever her path lay through them, which now formed miniature forests, though not one stem of them would remain to bud the next year.

Thesaurus

cogent: (adj) weighty, powerful, pithy, strong, telling, persuasive, forcible, forceful, compelling, conclusive; (adj, v) convincing. ANTONYMS: (adj) confused, weak, ineffective, impotent, invalid, irrational. derision: (n) contempt, mockery, scorn, banter, jeering, disdain, scoff, insult, irony, sport, gibe.

ANTONYMS: (n) applause, esteem, admiration, praise, approval.

indiscretion: (n) foolishness, fault,

rashness, inconsideration, carelessness, injudiciousness, faux pas, hastiness, indiscreetness, flippancy; (adj, n) temerity.
ANTONYMS: (n) discretion, diplomacy, forethought.
nebulousness: (n) mistiness, nebula, cloudiness.
onlooker: (n) beholder, bystander, spectator, witness, looker-on,

eyewitness, viewer, watcher, passer

by, sightseer, curious person.

ANTONYM: (*n*) participant. **satire**: (*n*) sarcasm, lampoon, mockery, parody, ridicule, caricature, burlesque, quip, spoof, derision; (*v*) squib. **scrupulous**: (*adj*) careful, punctilious,

scrupulous: (adj) careful, punctilious, exact, conscientious, particular, painstaking, accurate, prudent, meticulous, rigorous, cautious. ANTONYMS: (adj) sloppy, unscrupulous, slapdash, relaxed, guilty, deceitful.

The site chosen for the village festivity was one of the lawnlike oases which were occasionally, yet not often, met with on the plateaux of the heath district. The brakes of furze and fern terminated abruptly round the margin, and the grass was unbroken. A green cattletrack skirted the spot, without, however, emerging from the screen of fern, and this path Eustacia followed, in order to reconnoitre the group before joining it. The lusty notes of the East Egdon band had directed her unerringly, and she now beheld the musicians themselves, sitting in a blue wagon with red wheels scrubbed as bright as new, and arched with sticks, to which boughs and flowers were tied. In front of this was the grand central dance of fifteen or twenty couples, flanked by minor dances of inferior individuals whose gyrations were not always in strict keeping with the tune.

The young men wore blue and white rosettes, and with a flush on their faces footed it to the girls, who, with the excitement and the exercise, blushed deeper than the pink of their numerous ribbons. Fair ones with long curls, fair ones with short curls, fair ones with lovelocks, fair ones with braids, flew round and round; and a beholder might well have wondered how such a prepossessing set of young women of like size, age, and disposition, could have been collected together where there were only one or two villages to choose from. In the background was one happy man dancing by himself, with closed eyes, totally oblivious of all the rest. A fire was burning under a pollard thorn a few paces off, over which three kettles hung in a row. Hard by was a table where elderly dames prepared tea, but Eustacia looked among them in vain for the cattledealer's wife who had suggested that she should come, and had promised to obtain a courteous welcome for her.

This unexpected absence of the only local resident whom Eustacia knew considerably damaged her scheme for an afternoon of reckless gaiety. Joining in became a matter of difficulty, notwithstanding that, were she to advance, cheerful dames would come forward with cups of tea and make much of her as a stranger of superior grace and knowledge to themselves. Having watched the company through the figures of two dances, she decided to walk a little further,

Thesaurus

brakes: (n) brake system. courteous: (adj, v) civil; (adj) affable, attentive, gracious, decorous, chivalrous, bland, thoughtful, urbane, mannerly, gentlemanly. ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, impolite, boorish, insulting, unmannerly, gruff, **musicians**: (n) musical group. improper, vulgar, unhelpful, neglectful, graceless. **curls**: (*n*) hair, tresses, ringlets. **festivity**: (n) feast, festival, celebration, joy, conviviality, mirth, party, gala,

banquet; (adj, n) jollity; (adj) joviality. footed: (adj) pedate. lusty: (adj) energetic, stout, lustful, corpulent, potent, virile, vigorous, hearty, sturdy, bouncing, dynamic. ANTONYM: (adj) feeble. reconnoitre: (v) explore, scout, reconaissance, investigate, examine, inspect, probe, survey, observe, make a reconnaissance. scrubbed: (adj) deferred, clean,

unbroken: (adj) continuous, entire, complete, continual, constant, intact, incessant, endless, whole, undivided, solid. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, temporary, plowed, discontinuous, disturbed, sporadic, unerringly: (adv) surely, accurately,

faithfully, exactly, certainly, infallibly, inerrantly, literally, perfectly, closely, inerringly.

to a cottage where she might get some **refreshment**, and then return homeward in the **shady** time of evening.

This she did, and by the time that she retraced her steps towards the scene of the gipsying, which it was necessary to repass on her way to Alderworth, the sun was going down. The air was now so still that she could hear the band afar off, and it seemed to be playing with more spirit, if that were possible, than when she had come away. On reaching the hill the sun had quite disappeared; but this made little difference either to Eustacia or to the revellers, for a round yellow moon was rising before her, though its rays had not yet outmastered those from the west. The dance was going on just the same, but strangers had arrived and formed a ring around the figure, so that Eustacia could stand among these without a chance of being recognized.

A whole village-full of **sensuous** emotion, scattered abroad all the year long, surged here in a focus for an hour. The forty hearts of those waving couples were beating as they had not done since, twelve months before, they had come together in similar **jollity**. For the time **paganism** was revived in their hearts, the pride of life was all in all, and they adored none other than themselves.

How many of those **impassioned** but temporary embraces were destined to become perpetual was possibly the wonder of some of those who indulged in them, as well as of Eustacia who looked on. She began to envy those pirouetters, to hunger for the hope and happiness which the fascination of the dance seemed to engender within them. Desperately fond of dancing herself, one of Eustacia's expectations of Paris had been the opportunity it might afford her of indulgence in this favourite pastime. Unhappily, that expectation was now extinct within her for ever.

Whilst she abstractedly watched them spinning and **fluctuating** in the increasing moonlight she suddenly heard her name whispered by a voice over her shoulder. Turning in surprise, she beheld at her elbow one whose presence instantly caused her to flush to the **temples**.

It was Wildeve. Till this moment he had not met her eye since the morning of his marriage, when she had been loitering in the church, and had startled him by

Thesaurus

fluctuating: (adj) variable, unpredictable, unstable, erratic, inconstant, irresolute, mutable, unsteady, irregular, fickle; (v) fluctuate. ANTONYMS: (adj) constant, fixed.
impassioned: (adj) fervent, fanatical, fiery, burning, passionate, hot, torrid, vehement, keen, zealous; (adj, v)

fiery, burning, passionate, hot, tort vehement, keen, zealous; (adj, v) enthusiastic. ANTONYMS: (adj) impassive, indifferent, calm. jollity: (adj, n) glee, joviality; (n)

merriment, cheerfulness, festivity, frolic, gladness, hilarity, mirth, gaiety; (*adj*) jocundity. ANTONYMS: (*n*) seriousness, misery.

paganism: (n) heathenism, heresy, pagan religion, idolatry, atheism, religion, faith, barbarism, ethnicism, gentilism, gentility.

gentilism, gentility. **refreshment**: (*n*) bite, drink,

recreation, collation, repose, relief,

rest, entertainment, treat; (*v*)

invigoration; (*n*, *v*) regalement.

sensuous: (adj) sensitive, sensual, lush, luxurious, voluptuous, epicurean, carnal, sensational, sexy, esthetic, esthetical.

shady: (adj) questionable, dark, fishy, doubtful, queer, suspicious, dim, uncertain, obscure, disreputable, dishonest. ANTONYMS: (adj) sunny, trustworthy, bright, reputable, aboveboard.

temples: (n) brow.

lifting her veil and coming forward to sign the register as witness. Yet why the sight of him should have instigated that sudden rush of blood she could not tell.

Before she could speak he whispered, "Do you like dancing as much as ever?"

"I think I do," she replied in a low voice.

"Will you dance with me?"

"It would be a great change for me; but will it not seem strange?"

"What strangeness can there be in relations dancing together?"

"Ah--yes, relations. Perhaps none."

"Still, if you don't like to be seen, pull down your veil; though there is not much risk of being known by this light. Lots of strangers are here."

She did as he suggested; and the act was a tacit acknowledgment that she accepted his offer.

Wildeve gave her his arm and took her down on the outside of the ring to the bottom of the dance, which they entered. In two minutes more they were involved in the figure and began working their way upwards to the top. Till they had advanced halfway thither Eustacia wished more than once that she had not yielded to his request; from the middle to the top she felt that, since she had come out to seek pleasure, she was only doing a natural thing to obtain it. Fairly launched into the ceaseless glides and whirls which their new position as top couple opened up to them, Eustacia's pulses began to move too quickly for long rumination of any kind.

Through the length of five-and-twenty couples they threaded their giddy way, and a new vitality entered her form. The pale ray of evening lent a fascination to the experience. There is a certain degree and tone of light which tends to disturb the equilibrium of the senses, and to promote dangerously the tenderer moods; added to movement, it drives the emotions to rankness, the reason becoming sleepy and unperceiving in inverse proportion; and this light fell now upon these two from the disc of the moon. All the dancing girls felt the symptoms, but Eustacia most of all. The grass under their feet became trodden away, and the hard, beaten surface of the sod, when viewed aslant towards the

Thesaurus

acknowledgment: (n) admission, acknowledgement, acceptance, confession, greeting, credit, allowance, declaration, agreement, thanks, gratitude. ANTONYMS: (n) rejection, ungratefulness, oversight, snub, ignoring, invoice, blame,

aslant: (adj) oblique, inclined, slanting, diagonal, sloping, wry, awry; (adj, adv) aslope; (adv) slantingly, obliquely, athwart. ANTONYMS:

(adj) level; (adv) straight. ceaseless: (adj) eternal, uninterrupted, rumination: (n) contemplation, constant, perpetual, everlasting, endless, continuous, unremitting, continual, unending, nonstop. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, temporary, sporadic, completed, restricted, limited, fleeting, finished, concluded, ending, inconstant. rankness: (n) foulness, malodourousness, overgrowth, scent, smell, exuberance, odour, odor, body

odor, plenty, profusion. musing, consideration, reflexion, meditation, introspection, thought; (v) deglutition, epulation, gulp, manducation. **symptoms**: (n) syndrome.

unperceiving: (adj) unseeing, blind, blinder, inattentive, lacking perception, unobservant, unperceptive.

moonlight, shone like a polished table. The air became quite still, the flag above the wagon which held the musicians clung to the pole, and the players appeared only in outline against the sky; except when the circular mouths of the trombone, ophicleide, and French horn gleamed out like huge eyes from the shade of their figures. The pretty dresses of the maids lost their subtler day colours and showed more or less of a misty white. Eustacia floated round and round on Wildeve's arm, her face rapt and **statuesque**; her soul had passed away from and forgotten her features, which were left empty and quiescent, as they always are when feeling goes beyond their register.

How near she was to Wildeve! it was terrible to think of. She could feel his breathing, and he, of course, could feel hers. How badly she had treated him! yet, here they were treading one measure. The enchantment of the dance surprised her. A clear line of difference divided like a tangible fence her experience within this maze of motion from her experience without it. Her beginning to dance had been like a change of atmosphere; outside, she had been **steeped** in arctic **frigidity** by comparison with the tropical sensations here. She had entered the dance from the troubled hours of her late life as one might enter a brilliant chamber after a night walk in a wood. Wildeve by himself would have been merely an agitation; Wildeve added to the dance, and the moonlight, and the secrecy, began to be a delight. Whether his personality supplied the greater part of this sweetly compounded feeling, or whether the dance and the scene weighed the more therein, was a nice point upon which Eustacia herself was entirely in a cloud.

People began to say "Who are they?" but no **invidious** inquiries were made. Had Eustacia mingled with the other girls in their ordinary daily walks the case would have been different: here she was not inconvenienced by excessive inspection, for all were wrought to their brightest grace by the occasion. Like the planet Mercury surrounded by the lustre of sunset, her permanent brilliancy passed without much notice in the temporary glory of the situation.

As for Wildeve, his feelings are easy to guess. Obstacles were a ripening sun to his love, and he was at this moment in a delirium of exquisite misery. To

Thesaurus

delirium: (n) craze, insanity, mania, disturbance, fever, ecstasy, derangement; (adj, n) fury; (adj) furor, rage, distraction. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, dejection.

frigidity: (n) cold, coldness, coolness, chill, iciness, indifference, frostiness, chilliness, distance, frigidness, sang Froid.

invidious: (adj) obnoxious, hateful, discriminatory, offensive, outrageous, jealous, abominable,

odious, loathsome, covetous; (adj, v)spiteful. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, statuesque: (adj) shapely, Junoesque,

lustre: (n) brilliance, gloss, brilliancy, grandeur, splendour, effulgence, splendor, shininess, shine, sheen, brightness.

ophicleide: (n) bugle, clarion, cornet, cornopean, trombone, trumpet. ripening: (n) ageing, maturement, development, mellowing, aging, maturing, mature, growing, growth, gestation, organic process.

noble, imposing, monumental, trim, tall, formal, elegant, courtly,

steeped: (adj) seasoned, experienced. trombone: (n) bugle, clarion, cornet, cornopean, horn, sackbut, brass, ophicleide.

wrought: (adj) shaped, done, worked, worked up, formed.

clasp as his for five minutes what was another man's through all the rest of the year was a kind of thing he of all men could appreciate. He had long since **begun** to sigh again for Eustacia; indeed, it may be asserted that signing the marriage register with Thomasin was the natural signal to his heart to return to its first quarters, and that the extra complication of Eustacia's marriage was the one addition required to make that return compulsory.

Thus, for different reasons, what was to the rest an exhilarating movement was to these two a riding upon the **whirlwind**. The dance had come like an irresistible attack upon whatever sense of social order there was in their minds, to drive them back into old paths which were now doubly irregular. Through three dances in succession they **spun** their way; and then, **fatigued** with the **incessant** motion, Eustacia turned to quit the circle in which she had already remained too long. Wildeve led her to a **grassy** mound a few yards distant, where she sat down, her partner standing beside her. From the time that he addressed her at the beginning of the dance till now they had not **exchanged** a word.

"The dance and the walking have tired you?" he said tenderly.

"No; not greatly."

"It is strange that we should have met here of all places, after missing each other so long."

"We have missed because we tried to miss, I suppose."

"Yes. But you began that proceeding--by breaking a promise."

"It is scarcely worth while to talk of that now. We have formed other ties since then--you no less than I."

"I am sorry to hear that your husband is ill."

"He is not ill--only incapacitated."

"Yes--that is what I mean. I sincerely **sympathize** with you in your trouble. Fate has treated you cruelly."

Thesaurus

begun: (adj) present.
clasp: (n, v) embrace, hug, grip, grasp,
squeeze, clutch, buckle, brooch; (adj,
n, v) pin; (v) stick, cling.
ANTONYMS: (v) unbuckle, loose,
unclasp, relax, detach.
exchanged: (adj) counterchanged,
bartered, substituted.
fatigued: (adj) tired, weary, beat,
worn, tired out, jaded, spent, worn
out, done in, fagged, run-down.
ANTONYMS: (adj) refreshed, alert,

lively, energized, energetic. grassy: (adj) verdant, gramineous, weedy, herby, woody, fertile, blossoming, abundant, leafy, lush, flourishing. ANTONYMS: (adj) grassless, urban, withering, incessant: (adj) endless, continual, everlasting, eternal, constant, continuous, perpetual, unremitting, interminable, persistent; (adj, v) frequent. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, occasional, sporadic,

broken, finite. **spun**: (*adj*) spined; (*v*) rotate, revolve. **sympathize**: (*v*) pity, understand, condole, compassionate, feel, sympathise, identify with, empathize, have compassion, feel sorry for, feel for. ANTONYMS: (*v*) disapprove, disregard. **whichwind**: (*v*) torpado hurricane

whirlwind: (n) tornado, hurricane, twister, gale, tempest, cyclone, typhoon, waterspout, windstorm, flurry, dust devil.

She was silent awhile. "Have you heard that he has chosen to work as a furze-cutter?" she said in a low, mournful voice.

"It has been mentioned to me," answered Wildeve **hesitatingly**. "But I hardly believed it."

"It is true. What do you think of me as a furze- cutter's wife?"

"I think the same as ever of you, Eustacia. Nothing of that sort can **degrade** you--you **ennoble** the occupation of your husband."

"I wish I could feel it."

"Is there any chance of Mr. Yeobright getting better?"

"He thinks so. I doubt it."

"I was quite surprised to hear that he had taken a cottage. I thought, in common with other people, that he would have taken you off to a home in Paris immediately after you had married him. 'What a gay, bright future she has before her!' I thought. He will, I suppose, return there with you, if his sight gets strong again?"

Observing that she did not reply he regarded her more closely. She was almost weeping. Images of a future never to be enjoyed, the revived sense of her bitter disappointment, the picture of the neighbour's suspended **ridicule** which was raised by Wildeve's words, had been too much for proud Eustacia's **equanimity**.

Wildeve could hardly control his own too forward feelings when he saw her silent **perturbation**. But he affected not to notice this, and she soon recovered her calmness.

"You do not intend to walk home by yourself?" he asked.

"O yes," said Eustacia. "What could hurt me on this heath, who have nothing?"

"By diverging a little I can make my way home the same as yours. I shall be glad to keep you company as far as Throope Corner." Seeing that Eustacia sat on

Thesaurus

degrade: (*v*) cheapen, demean, corrupt, decrease, dishonor, disparage; (*n*, *v*) disgrace, reduce; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) abase; (*adj*, *v*) debauch, lessen. ANTONYMS: (*v*) honor, admire, aggrade, elevate, uplift, worship, respect, promote, praise, dignify, purify.

ennoble: (*n*, *v*) dignify, honor; (*v*) elevate, advance, glorify, exalt, aggrandize, refine, gentle, enhance, sublime.

equanimity: (n) aplomb, poise, calmness, calm, temper, peace, imperturbability, temperament, serenity, tranquility; (adj, n) stoicism. ANTONYMS: (n) panic, anger, excitableness, fear, hysteria, nervousness, agitation, anxiety. hesitatingly: (adv) indecisively, irresolutely, hesitating, waveringly, doubtfully, undecidedly, vacillatingly, falteringly. ANTONYM: (adv) unhesitatingly.

perturbation: (*n*) commotion, agitation, fuss, emotion, excitement, confusion, dislocation, discomposure, interruption; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) trepidation; (*adj*, *n*) flutter.

ridicule: (*n*, *v*) laugh at, deride, banter, insult, taunt, scorn, scoff; (*n*) derision, mockery; (*adj*, *n*) irony; (*v*) jeer. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) praise, respect; (*v*) approve; (*n*) approval, admiration.

in hesitation he added, "Perhaps you think it unwise to be seen in the same road with me after the events of last summer?"

"Indeed I think no such thing," she said haughtily. "I shall accept whose company I choose, for all that may be said by the miserable inhabitants of Egdon."

"Then let us walk on--if you are ready. Our nearest way is towards that holly bush with the dark shadow that you see down there."

Eustacia arose, and walked beside him in the direction signified, brushing her way over the damping heath and fern, and followed by the strains of the merrymakers, who still kept up the dance. The moon had now waxed bright and silvery, but the heath was proof against such illumination, and there was to be observed the striking scene of a dark, rayless tract of country under an atmosphere charged from its zenith to its extremities with whitest light. To an eye above them their two faces would have appeared amid the expanse like two pearls on a table of ebony.

On this account the irregularities of the path were not visible, and Wildeve occasionally stumbled; whilst Eustacia found it necessary to perform some graceful feats of balancing whenever a small tuft of heather or root of furze protruded itself through the grass of the narrow track and entangled her feet. At these junctures in her progress a hand was invariably stretched forward to steady her, holding her firmly until smooth ground was again reached, when the hand was again withdrawn to a **respectful** distance.

They performed the journey for the most part in silence, and drew near to Throope Corner, a few hundred yards from which a short path branched away to Eustacia's house. By degrees they discerned coming towards them a pair of human figures, apparently of the male sex.

When they came a little nearer Eustacia broke the silence by saying, "One of those men is my husband. He promised to come to meet me."

"And the other is my greatest enemy," said Wildeve.

"It looks like Diggory Venn."

Thesaurus awkward, vigorous, jerky, ugly,

stilted, heavy, coarse, strenuous.

heather: (n) heath, ling, Calluna

damping: (n) attenuation, moisture penetration, dampening, cushioning, damping of oscillations. drew: (n) move, John Drew. entangled: (adj) complicated, intricate, embroiled, complex, foul, confused, matted, tangled, inextricable, knotty; (v) entangle. graceful: (adj) beautiful, delicate, amiable, easy, fine, charming, fair,

airy, becoming, lovely, lithe.

vulgaris, broom, Scots heather, field, greensward, burbot, Hadder, eelpout, cusk. **pearls**: (n) beads, jewelry, jewellery. respectful: (adj) deferential, mannerly, dutiful, courteous, attentive, obedient, reverential, regardful, reverent, polite, humble. ANTONYMS: (adj) inelegant, stocky, ANTONYMS: (adj) cheeky,

impudent, insolent, rude, contemptuous, disobedient, scornful, nasty, sneering, irreverent, impolite. silvery: (adj) silvern, argent, bright, white, gray, rich, silverish, melodious, fair, Argentine, clear. strains: (n) tension, tenseness. tract: (n) region, area, expanse, essay, pamphlet, section, extent, district, dissertation, plot, lot. waxed: (adj) resembling wax, soft, waxen; (v) wex.

"That is the man."

"It is an awkward meeting," said she; "but such is my fortune. He knows too much about me, unless he could know more, and so prove to himself that what he now knows counts for nothing. Well, let it be--you must deliver me up to them."

"You will think twice before you direct me to do that. Here is a man who has not forgotten an item in our meetings at Rainbarrow--he is in company with your husband. Which of them, seeing us together here, will believe that our meeting and dancing at the gipsy party was by chance?"

"Very well," she whispered gloomily. "Leave me before they come up."

Wildeve **bade** her a tender farewell, and plunged across the fern and furze, Eustacia slowly walking on. In two or three minutes she met her husband and his companion.

"My journey ends here for tonight, reddleman," said Yeobright as soon as he perceived her. "I turn back with this lady. Good night."

"Good night, Mr. Yeobright," said Venn. "I hope to see you better soon."

The moonlight shone directly upon Venn's face as he spoke, and revealed all its lines to Eustacia. He was looking suspiciously at her. That Venn's keen eye had discerned what Yeobright's feeble vision had not--a man in the act of withdrawing from Eustacia's side--was within the limits of the probable.

If Eustacia had been able to follow the reddleman she would soon have found striking confirmation of her thought. No sooner had Clym given her his arm and led her off the scene than the reddleman turned back from the beaten track towards East Egdon, whither he had been strolling merely to accompany Clym in his walk, Diggory's van being again in the neighbourhood. Stretching out his long legs, he crossed the pathless portion of the heath somewhat in the direction which Wildeve had taken. Only a man accustomed to nocturnal rambles could at this hour have descended those shaggy slopes with Venn's velocity without falling headlong into a pit, or snapping off his leg by jamming his foot into some rabbit burrow. But Venn went on without much

Thesaurus

bade: (v) bid, command, bad. burrow: (adj, v) delve, dig, gouge, mine; (n, v) tunnel, earth; (n) lair, den, **jamming**: (n) interference, electronic hole, cavity; (v) nestle. ANTONYMS: gipsy: (n) Gypsy, Romany, bohemian,

warping end, tzigane, vagrant, Rommany.

headlong: (adj, adv) headfirst; (adv) directly, hastily, precipitately; (adj) rash, hurried, desperate, precipitous, impetuous, sudden, precipitate.

ANTONYMS: (adj) cautiously, considered; (adv) carefully. jamming, disturbance, obstruction, blocking, overcrowding, hole, fix, crush, canting; (adj) extemporaneous. **nocturnal**: (adj) nightly, vespertine, nighttime, nocturnals, overnight, night, autumnal. ANTONYM: (adj)

pathless: (adj) impenetrable, wayless, impassable, imperviable, impervious, inaccessible, lacking pathways, roadless, shoreless, unaccessible, untracked.

snapping: (adj) noisy. suspiciously: (adj, adv) doubtfully, skeptically, hesitantly, unbelievingly; (adv) mistrustfully, warily, uncertainly, shadily, dubiously, watchfully, questioningly. ANTONYMS: (adv) carelessly, gullibly, thoughtlessly, certainly,

inconvenience to himself, and the course of his **scamper** was towards the Quiet Woman Inn. This place he reached in about half an hour, and he was well aware that no person who had been near Throope Corner when he **started** could have got down here before him.

The lonely inn was not yet closed, though scarcely an individual was there, the business done being **chiefly** with travellers who passed the inn on long journeys, and these had now gone on their way. Venn went to the public room, called for a mug of ale, and inquired of the maid in an **indifferent** tone if Mr. Wildeve was at home.

Thomasin sat in an inner room and heard Venn's voice. When **customers** were present she seldom showed herself, owing to her inherent dislike for the business; but perceiving that no one else was there tonight she came out.

"He is not at home yet, Diggory," she said **pleasantly**. "But I expected him sooner. He has been to East Egdon to buy a horse."

"Did he wear a light wideawake?"

"Yes."

"Then I saw him at Throope Corner, leading one home," said Venn drily. "A beauty, with a white face and a **mane** as black as night. He will soon be here, no doubt." Rising and looking for a moment at the pure, sweet face of Thomasin, over which a shadow of sadness had passed since the time when he had last seen her, he ventured to add, "Mr. Wildeve seems to be often away at this time."

"O yes," cried Thomasin in what was intended to be a tone of gaiety. "Husbands will play the truant, you know. I wish you could tell me of some secret plan that would help me to keep him home at my will in the evenings."

"I will consider if I know of one," replied Venn in that same light tone which meant no lightness. And then he bowed in a manner of his own invention and moved to go. Thomasin offered him her hand; and without a sigh, though with food for many, the reddleman went out.

When Wildeve returned, a quarter of an hour later Thomasin said simply, and in the abashed manner usual with her now, "Where is the horse, Damon?"

Thesaurus

chiefly: (adv) principally, primarily, above all, especially, headly, mostly, largely, primely, predominantly; (adj, adv) mainly, particularly.

ANTONYM: (adv) partially.

customers: (n) trade.

inconvenience: (n, v) trouble, incommode; (v) discommode, disoblige, annoy, disturb, disquiet; (n) disadvantage, difficulty, nuisance, unsuitableness. ANTONYMS: (n) expediency, advantage; (v) help, primarily, advantage; (v) help,

indifferent: (adj) apathetic, impassive, cold, cool, callous, fair, insensible, unconcerned, careless, dull, average. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, fervent, keen, obsessive, energetic, eager, involved, surprised, exceptional, concerned, shocked. mane: (n) encolure, head of hair, crest, wool, tresses; (adj) brush, beard, ringlet, whisker, tress, moustache. pleasantly: (adv) pleasingly, nicely,

cheerily, enjoyably, agreeably, delightfully, sunnily, genially, gratifyingly, kindly; (adv. v) happily. ANTONYMS: (adv) disagreeably, offensively, awfully, discordantly, dreadfully, shockingly, unkindly, irritably, harshly, curtly, nastily. scamper: (v) dash, sprint, dart, scuttle, skitter, skip, bustle, hasten, bolt; (n, v) run; (n) haste.

started: (*adv*) happening, in progress, ongoing; (*v*) stert, leaped.

"O, I have not bought it, after all. The man asks too much."

"But **somebody** saw you at Throope Corner leading it home--a **beauty**, with a white face and a mane as black as night."

"Ah!" said Wildeve, **fixing** his eyes upon her; "who told you that?"

"Venn the reddleman."

The expression of Wildeve's face became **curiously condensed**. "That is a mistake--it must have been someone else," he said slowly and **testily**, for he perceived that Venn's countermoves had begun again.

Thesaurus

beauty: (n) attractiveness, beaut, charm, pulchritude, loveliness, exquisiteness, grace, grandeur, looker, good looks; (adj) beautiful. ANTONYMS: (n) hag, plainness, shortcoming, flaw, witch, dog, disadvantage, detraction, repulsiveness, eyesore, awkwardness.
bought: (n) crook, hook.

bought: (n) crook, hook.**condensed**: (adj) concise, compressed, concentrated, succinct, compact,

summary, compendious, short, shortened; (adj, v) condense; (n) tabloid. ANTONYMS: (adj) loose, uncondensed, diluted, expanded, convoluted, long.

curiously: (adv) inquisitively, peculiarly, unusually, strangely, nosily, pryingly, queerly, funnily, weirdly; (adj, adv) singularly, particularly. ANTONYMS: (adv) ordinarily, typically.

fixing: (n) fixation, fix, adjustment,

repair, mending, altering, emasculation, castration, furniture, fastener, fitting.

somebody: (n) person, personage, mortal, man, creature, notable, human; (n, pron) someone; (adj, n) celebrity; (pron) anybody; (adj) notability. ANTONYM: (n) nonentity.

testily: (adv) irritably, pettishly, peevishly, grumpily, fretfully, waspishly, tetchily, crankily, touchily, snappishly, cantankerously.

4

ROUGH COERCION IS EMPLOYED

Those words of Thomasin, which seemed so little, but meant so much, remained in the ears of Diggory Venn: "Help me to keep him home in the evenings."

On this occasion Venn had arrived on Egdon Heath only to cross to the other side--he had no further connection with the interests of the Yeobright family, and he had a business of his own to attend to. Yet he suddenly began to feel himself **drifting** into the old track of manoeuvring on Thomasin's account.

He sat in his van and considered. From Thomasin's words and manner he had plainly gathered that Wildeve **neglected** her. For whom could he neglect her if not for Eustacia? Yet it was scarcely **credible** that things had come to such a head as to indicate that Eustacia **systematically** encouraged him. Venn resolved to reconnoitre somewhat carefully the lonely road which led along the vale from Wildeve's dwelling to Clym's house at Alderworth.

At this time, as has been seen, Wildeve was quite innocent of any **predetermined** act of **intrigue**, and except at the dance on the green he had not once met Eustacia since her marriage. But that the spirit of intrigue was in him had been shown by a recent romantic habit of his--a habit of going out after dark

Thesaurus

credible: (adj) convincing, likely, plausible, reasonable, faithful, specious, conceivable, persuasive, possible, probable; (adj, n) authentic. ANTONYMS: (adj) unbelievable, incredible, unconvincing, unlikely, impossible, doubtful, inaccurate, unrealistic.

drifting: (adj, adv) aimless, wandering; (adv) adrift; (adj) floating, nomadic, vagabond, rootless, roaming, wayfaring, migratory; (n) running with the regulator closed. ANTONYM: (adi) resident. intrigue: (n, v) cabal, contrivance, scheme; (v) fascinate, connive, captivate, attract, charm; (n) conspiracy, trick, plot. neglected: (adj) dilapidated, disregarded, ignored, deserted, derelict, forsaken, obsolete, antiquated, antique, shabby, unnoticed. ANTONYM: (adj) salubrious.

predetermined: (adj) preset, fixed, set, doomed, preordained, fated, appointed, black, bound, bringing death, bringing ruin. ANTONYMS: (adj) infinite, uncertain, variable. systematically: (adv) consistently, tidily, logically, orderly, precisely, regularly, exactly, neatly, carefully, organizedly; (adj) seriatim. ANTONYMS: (adv) inconsistently, unsystematically, haphazardly, unevenly, illogically, carelessly.

and strolling towards Alderworth, there looking at the moon and stars, looking at Eustacia's house, and walking back at leisure.

Accordingly, when watching on the night after the festival, the reddleman saw him ascend by the little path, lean over the front gate of Clym's garden, sigh, and turn to go back again. It was plain that Wildeve's intrigue was rather ideal than real. Venn **retreated** before him down the hill to a place where the path was merely a deep groove between the heather; here he mysteriously bent over the ground for a few minutes, and retired. When Wildeve came on to that spot his ankle was caught by something, and he fell headlong.

As soon as he had recovered the power of **respiration** he sat up and listened. There was not a sound in the gloom beyond the **spiritless** stir of the summer wind. Feeling about for the obstacle which had flung him down, he discovered that two tufts of heath had been tied together across the path, forming a loop, which to a traveller was certain overthrow. Wildeve pulled off the string that bound them, and went on with tolerable **quickness**. On reaching home he found the cord to be of a reddish colour. It was just what he had expected.

Although his weaknesses were not specially those akin to physical fear, this species of coup-de-Jarnac from one he knew too well troubled the mind of Wildeve. But his movements were unaltered thereby. A night or two later he again went along the vale to Alderworth, taking the precaution of keeping out of any path. The sense that he was watched, that craft was employed to **circumvent** his **errant** tastes, added **piquancy** to a journey so entirely sentimental, so long as the danger was of no fearful sort. He imagined that Venn and Mrs. Yeobright were in league, and felt that there was a certain legitimacy in **combating** such a coalition.

The heath tonight appeared to be totally deserted; and Wildeve, after looking over Eustacia's garden gate for some little time, with a cigar in his mouth, was tempted by the fascination that emotional **smuggling** had for his nature to advance towards the window, which was not quite closed, the blind being only partly drawn down. He could see into the room, and Eustacia was sitting there alone. Wildeve **contemplated** her for a minute, and then retreating into the

Thesaurus

besiege, cheat, skirt, escape, dodge, outwit; (adv, v) surround, compass. ANTONYMS: (v) assist, confront, aid, help.

combating: (adj) militant, rival, opposed; (n) hostility.

contemplated: (adj) intended, willful.

errant: (adj) devious, vagabond, erring, erroneous, perverse, fallible, mistaken, migrant, fugitive; (adj, n) notorious; (adv) adrift. ANTONYMS:

circumvent: (v) elude, avoid, evade,

(adj) reliable, right, pure, inerrant, correct, trustworthy, righteous. piquancy: (n) pungency, zest, tang, flavour, spice, nip, taste, galvanism, flavor, bite; (adj) antithesis. quickness: (n) celerity, expedition, promptness, alacrity, agility, speed, dispatch, dexterity, fleetness, hurry, readiness. ANTONYMS: (n) awkwardness, delay, ineptness. respiration: (n) breathing, breath, breathe, aspiration, respire,

inspiration, wind, breathing place, periodic breathing, panting, exercising, retreated: (adj) withdrawn, people. smuggling: (n) poaching, importing, importation, gunrunning, contrabandism. spiritless: (adj) listless, inanimate, languid, flat, cheerless, soulless, dead, depressed; (adj, v) feeble, low; (v) soft. ANTONYMS: (adi) brave,

lively, happy, decisive.

heath beat the ferns lightly, whereupon moths flew out alarmed. Securing one, he returned to the window, and holding the moth to the chink, opened his hand. The moth made towards the candle upon Eustacia's table, hovered round it two or three times, and flew into the flame.

Eustacia started up. This had been a well-known signal in old times when Wildeve had used to come **secretly wooing** to Mistover. She at once knew that Wildeve was outside, but before she could consider what to do her husband came in from upstairs. Eustacia's face burnt crimson at the unexpected **collision** of incidents, and filled it with an animation that it too frequently lacked.

"You have a very high colour, dearest," said Yeobright, when he came close enough to see it. "Your appearance would be no worse if it were always so."

"I am warm," said Eustacia. "I think I will go into the air for a few minutes."

"Shall I go with you?"

"O no. I am only going to the gate."

She arose, but before she had time to get out of the room a loud rapping began upon the front door.

"I'll go--I'll go," said Eustacia in an **unusually** quick tone for her; and she glanced eagerly towards the window whence the moth had flown; but nothing appeared there.

"You had better not at this time of the evening," he said. Clym stepped before her into the passage, and Eustacia waited, her **somnolent** manner covering her inner heat and **agitation**.

She listened, and Clym opened the door. No words were uttered outside, and presently he closed it and came back, saying, "Nobody was there. I wonder what that could have meant?"

He was left to wonder during the rest of the evening, for no explanation offered itself, and Eustacia said nothing, the additional fact that she knew of only **adding** more mystery to the performance.

Thesaurus

adding: (n) addition, calculation, reckoning.agitation: (n) disturbance, exciter turnuls of tirring convulsion etim

agitation: (n) disturbance, excitement, tumult, stirring, convulsion, stir, commotion, emotion, unrest, shake, turmoil. ANTONYMS: (n) serenity, calm, equanimity, rest, peace, deterrent.

collision: (n) clash, hit, conflict, crash, smash, clashing, accident, rencounter, jar, striking, hitting.

quietly, stealthily, surreptitiously, furtively, in secret, darkly, secretively, clandestinely, occultly. ANTONYMS: (adv) publicly, deliberately, brazenly. somnolent: (adj) sleepy, lethargic,

somnolent: (adj) sleepy, lethargic, soporific, slumberous, slumbrous, somniferous, asleep, dreamy, lazy, slumbery; (adj, v) drowsy.
ANTONYMS: (adj) awake, vigorous,

secretly: (adv) privately, confidentially, unusually: (adi, adv) uncommonly,

particularly, outstandingly, remarkably, singularly, curiously; (adv) rarely, peculiarly, extraordinarily, signally, abnormally. ANTONYMS: (adv) usually, regularly, typically, frequently, slightly, commonly, ordinarily. wooing: (n) courting, suit, bundling, suit of clothes, the soft impeachment, entreaty, prayer, cause, causa, case; (adi) amatory.

Meanwhile a little drama had been acted outside which **saved** Eustacia from all possibility of **compromising** herself that evening at least. Whilst Wildeve had been preparing his moth-signal another person had come behind him up to the gate. This man, who carried a gun in his hand, looked on for a moment at the other's operation by the window, walked up to the house, knocked at the door, and then vanished round the corner and over the hedge.

"Damn him!" said Wildeve. "He has been watching me again."

As his signal had been rendered futile by this **uproarious** rapping Wildeve withdrew, passed out at the gate, and walked quickly down the path without thinking of anything except getting away unnoticed. Halfway down the hill the path ran near a knot of **stunted** hollies, which in the general darkness of the scene stood as the pupil in a black eye. When Wildeve reached this point a report startled his ear, and a few spent gunshots fell among the leaves around him.

There was no doubt that he himself was the cause of that gun's discharge; and he rushed into the clump of hollies, beating the bushes furiously with his stick; but nobody was there. This attack was a more serious matter than the last, and it was some time before Wildeve recovered his equanimity. A new and most unpleasant system of menace had begun, and the intent appeared to be to do him grievous bodily harm. Wildeve had looked upon Venn's first attempt as a species of **horseplay**, which the reddleman had indulged in for want of knowing better; but now the boundary line was passed which divides the annoying from the perilous.

Had Wildeve known how thoroughly in earnest Venn had become he might have been still more alarmed. The reddleman had been almost exasperated by the sight of Wildeve outside Clym's house, and he was prepared to go to any lengths short of absolutely shooting him, to **terrify** the young **innkeeper** out of his **recalcitrant** impulses. The doubtful legitimacy of such rough coercion did not disturb the mind of Venn. It troubles few such minds in such cases, and sometimes this is not to be regretted. From the **impeachment** of Strafford to Farmer Lynch's short way with the scamps of Virginia there have been many triumphs of justice which are mockeries of law.

Thesaurus

compromising: (adj) conciliatory, moderate, vulnerable, awkward, intermediate, flexible, inculpatory; (adv) halfway.

horseplay: (*n*) play, fooling, prank, ridicule, sport, wile, monkey business, high jinks, fun; (*n*, *v*) joke; (*n*) cayout

impeachment: (*n*) charge, accusation, arraignment, censure, impeach, indictment, prosecution, citation, instrument, blame, complaint.

innkeeper: (n) victualer, landlord, Boniface, hostess, hotel keeper, victualler, padrone, emcee, horde. recalcitrant: (adj) defiant, fractious, rebellious, intractable, obstinate, disobedient, contrary, stubborn, naughty, restive, unruly. ANTONYMS: (adj) compliant, docile, cooperative.

saved: (*adj*) protected, economized, rescued, blessed.

stunted: (adj) scrubby, little, scrawny,

diminutive, puny, short, spare, weak, underdeveloped, dwarfish; (v) strangulated. ANTONYM: (adj) tall. terrify: (n, v) frighten, alarm, fright, affright; (v) panic, dismay, startle, horrify, intimidate, terrorize, daunt. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, calm, soothe, comfort. uproarious: (adj) noisy, turbulent, riotous, boisterous, tumultuous, loud,

tempestuous, vociferous; (adj, v) rackety; (v) clamorous, obstreperous.

About half a mile below Clym's secluded dwelling lay a **hamlet** where lived one of the two constables who preserved the peace in the parish of Alderworth, and Wildeve went straight to the constable's cottage. Almost the first thing that he saw on opening the door was the constable's **truncheon** hanging to a nail, as if to assure him that here were the means to his purpose. On inquiry, however, of the constable's wife he learnt that the constable was not at home. Wildeve said he would wait.

The minutes ticked on, and the constable did not arrive. Wildeve cooled down from his state of high indignation to a restless dissatisfaction with himself, the scene, the constable's wife, and the whole set of circumstances. He arose and left the house. Altogether, the experience of that evening had had a cooling, not to say a chilling, effect on **misdirected** tenderness, and Wildeve was in no mood to **ramble** again to Alderworth after **nightfall** in hope of a stray glance from Eustacia.

Thus far the reddleman had been tolerably successful in his rude contrivances for keeping down Wildeve's inclination to rove in the evening. He had nipped in the bud the possible meeting between Eustacia and her old lover this very night. But he had not anticipated that the tendency of his action would be to divert Wildeve's movement rather than to stop it. The gambling with the guineas had not conduced to make him a welcome guest to Clym; but to call upon his wife's relative was natural, and he was determined to see Eustacia. It was necessary to choose some less untoward hour than ten o'clock at night. "Since it is unsafe to go in the evening," he said, "I'll go by day."

Meanwhile Venn had left the heath and gone to call upon Mrs. Yeobright, with whom he had been on friendly terms since she had learnt what a **providential countermove** he had made towards the **restitution** of the family guineas. She wondered at the **lateness** of his call, but had no objection to see him.

He gave her a full account of Clym's affliction, and of the state in which he was living; then, referring to Thomasin, touched gently upon the apparent sadness of her days. "Now, ma'am, depend upon it," he said, "you couldn't do a

Thesaurus

countermove: (n) onrush, onset, onslaught, countermovement, attack. hamlet: (n) dorp, community, kraal, settlement, campong, crossroads, city, place, colony, neighborhood; (adv, n) town.

lateness: (n) slowness, delay, sluggishness, timing, dilatoriness, late, slothfulness, earliness, late maturity, tarriance, posteriority. ANTONYMS: (n) promptness, punctuality, earliness. misdirected: (adj) led astray, undirected, wry. nightfall: (n) dusk, evening, twilight, sunset, gloaming, evenfall, dark, eventide, sundown, darkness, fall. ANTONYMS: (n) daybreak, sunrise. providential: (adj) lucky, happy, divine, fortuitous, opportune, miraculous, favorable, blessed, seasonable; (adj, v) auspicious; (v) propitious. ANTONYM: (adj) unfortunate.

ramble: (n, v) journey, stroll, saunter, wander, roam, meander, excursion, hike, tramp, walk, promenade. ANTONYM: (v) settle. restitution: (n) restoration, return, reparation, recompense, refund, amends, redress, atonement, repayment, regeneration, renovation. ANTONYMS: (n) abolition, decline. truncheon: (n) stick, cudgel, Billy, nightstick, baton, mace, bludgeon, staff, bat, switch, billystick.

better thing for either of 'em than to make yourself at home in their houses, even if there should be a little **rebuff** at first."

"Both she and my son disobeyed me in marrying; therefore I have no interest in their households. Their troubles are of their own making." Mrs. Yeobright tried to speak severely; but the account of her son's state had moved her more than she cared to show.

"Your visits would make Wildeve walk straighter than he is inclined to do, and might prevent **unhappiness** down the heath."

"What do you mean?"

"I saw something tonight out there which I didn't like at all. I wish your son's house and Mr. Wildeve's were a hundred miles apart instead of four or five."

"Then there *was* an understanding between him and Clym's wife when he made a fool of Thomasin!"

"We'll hope there's no understanding now."

"And our hope will probably be very vain. O Clym! O Thomasin!"

"There's no harm done yet. In fact, I've persuaded Wildeve to mind his own business."

"How?"

"O, not by talking--by a plan of mine called the silent system."

"I hope you'll succeed."

"I shall if you help me by calling and making friends with your son. You'll have a chance then of using your eyes."

"Well, since it has come to this," said Mrs. Yeobright sadly, "I will own to you, reddleman, that I thought of going. I should be much happier if we were reconciled. The marriage is **unalterable**, my life may be cut short, and I should wish to die in peace. He is my only son; and since sons are made of such stuff I am not sorry I have no other. As for Thomasin, I never expected much from her; and she has not **disappointed** me. But I **forgave** her long ago; and I forgive him now. I'll go."

Thesaurus

disappointed: (adj) despondent, disgruntled, regretful, dissatisfied, depressed, sad, unhappy, frustrated, disenchanted, dejected, disappoint. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleased, satisfied, composed, happy, triumphant, fulfilled, cheerful, idealistic. forgave: (v) to excuse. rebuff: (n, v) snub, check, cut; (v) reject, ignore, decline, repel; (n) denial, defeat, rebuke, rejection. ANTONYMS: (n) acceptance,

approval, agreement; (v) welcome, acknowledge, agree.
unalterable: (adj) constant, inalterable, immutable, permanent, invariable, firm, changeless, rigid, stable, irrevocable, unchangeable.
ANTONYMS: (adj) alterable, impermanent, temporary, fluid, flexible.
unhappiness: (n) sadness, misery,

unhappiness: (*n*) sadness, misery, melancholy, distress, grief, regret, infelicity, woe, sorrowfulness,

depression, displeasure.

ANTONYMS: (n) cheerfulness, pleasure, joy, elation, contentment, satisfaction, cheer.

vain: (adj) proud, arrogant, conceited, fruitless, idle, empty, abortive, ineffectual, unproductive, narcissistic; (adj, v) useless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) shy, successful, possible, persuasive, selfless, fruitful, humble, useful, responsible, worthwhile, effective.

At this very time of the reddleman's conversation with Mrs. Yeobright at Blooms-End another conversation on the same subject was languidly proceeding at Alderworth.

All the day Clym had borne himself as if his mind were too full of its own matter to allow him to care about outward things, and his words now showed what had occupied his thoughts. It was just after the mysterious knocking that he began the theme. "Since I have been away today, Eustacia, I have considered that something must be done to **heal** up this **ghastly** breach between my dear mother and myself. It troubles me."

"What do you propose to do?" said Eustacia abstractedly, for she could not clear away from her the excitement caused by Wildeve's recent manoeuvre for an interview.

"You seem to take a very mild interest in what I propose, little or much," said Clym, with **tolerable** warmth.

"You mistake me," she answered, **reviving** at his reproach. "I am only thinking."

"What of?"

"Partly of that moth whose skeleton is getting burnt up in the **wick** of the candle," she said slowly. "But you know I always take an interest in what you say."

"Very well, dear. Then I think I must go and call upon her."...He went on with tender feeling: "It is a thing I am not at all too proud to do, and only a fear that I might **irritate** her has kept me away so long. But I must do something. It is wrong in me to allow this sort of thing to go on."

"What have you to blame yourself about?"

"She is getting old, and her life is lonely, and I am her only son."

"She has Thomasin."

"Thomasin is not her daughter; and if she were that would not excuse me. But this is beside the point. I have made up my mind to go to her, and all I wish

Thesaurus irritate: (adj, v) incense; (v) gall, fret,

chafe, harass, grate, displease, vex,

ghastly: (adj) awful, fearful, cadaverous, dreadful, grisly, gruesome, macabre, hideous, appalling, atrocious; (adv) gruesomely. ANTONYMS: (adj) wonderful, lovely, attractive, delightful.

heal: (v) mend, recover, doctor, recuperate, cicatrize, get well, fix, restore, convalesce; (n, v) remedy; (n) correct. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen,

disfigure, exacerbate.

goad, aggravate, anger.

ANTONYMS: (v) soothe, pacify, please, help, calm, encourage, placate.

reviving: (adj) bracing, restorative, renewing, refreshing, revival, brisk, enlivening, recuperative, reanimating, promoting recuperation, giving life.

ANTONYM: (adj) soothing.

tolerable: (adj) passable, mediocre, bearable, fair, middling, reasonable, adequate, respectable, endurable, sufferable; (adj, v) satisfactory.

ANTONYMS: (adj) intolerable, exceptional, unbearable, unsatisfactory, bad, inadequate, appalling, inadmissible.

wick: (n) taper, candlewick, wax light, cord, candle, sleeve bearing wick, burner.

to ask you is whether you will do your best to help me--that is, forget the past; and if she shows her willingness to be reconciled, meet her halfway by **welcoming** her to our house, or by accepting a welcome to hers?"

At first Eustacia closed her lips as if she would rather do anything on the whole globe than what he suggested. But the lines of her mouth **softened** with thought, though not so far as they might have softened, and she said, "I will put nothing in your way; but after what has passed it, is asking too much that I go and make advances."

"You never distinctly told me what did pass between you."

"I could not do it then, nor can I now. Sometimes more **bitterness** is **sown** in five minutes than can be got rid of in a whole life; and that may be the case here." She paused a few moments, and added, "If you had never returned to your native place, Clym, what a **blessing** it would have been for you!...It has altered the destinies of----"

"Three people."

"Five," Eustacia thought; but she kept that in.

Thesaurus

bitterness: (n) acerbity, animosity, gall, malice, resentment, enmity, acridity, acidity, bitter, rancor, sharpness. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, happiness, harmony, kindness, blandness, friendliness, goodwill, idealism, affection.

blessing: (n) benediction, approval, mercy, felicity, benison, benefit, luck, advantage, boon, bless, godsend. ANTONYMS: (n) curse, misfortune, disaster, condemnation, adversity, desecration, refusal, veto, disadvantage. distinctly: (adv) clearly, particularly, evidently, expressly, obviously, markedly, definitely, precisely, manifestly, separately, decidedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) inaudibly, faintly, vaguely, silently, imperceptibly, poorly.

softened: (adj) diffused, muffled, muted, quiet, slow, touched, sluggish, soften, pultaceous, subdued, low-key.

sown: (*adj*) sowed, seeded, planted, sative.

welcoming: (n) welcome, salutation; (adj) cordial, friendly, inviting, restful, attractive, pleasing, warm, affable, alluring. ANTONYMS: (adj) inhospitable, reserved, unwelcoming, unappealing, unapproachable, uncomfortable.

5

THE JOURNEY ACROSS THE HEATH

Thursday, the thirty-first of August, was one of a series of days during which **snug** houses were **stifling**, and when cool **draughts** were treats; when cracks appeared in **clayey** gardens, and were called "earthquakes" by apprehensive children; when loose spokes were discovered in the wheels of carts and **carriages**; and when **stinging** insects haunted the air, the earth, and every drop of water that was to be found.

In Mrs. Yeobright's garden large-leaved plants of a tender kind flagged by ten o'clock in the morning; **rhubarb** bent downward at eleven; and even stiff cabbages were limp by noon.

It was about eleven o'clock on this day that Mrs. Yeobright started across the heath towards her son's house, to do her best in getting reconciled with him and Eustacia, in conformity with her words to the reddleman. She had hoped to be well advanced in her walk before the heat of the day was at its highest, but after setting out she found that this was not to be done. The sun had **branded** the whole heath with its mark, even the purple heath-flowers having put on a **brownness** under the dry blazes of the few preceding days. Every valley was filled with air like that of a **kiln**, and the clean quartz sand of the winter water-

Thesaurus

branded: (adj) identified, known, proprietary, recognized. brownness: (n) buff, caramel, umber, chocolate, coffee, puce, sepia. carriages: (n) carriage. clayey: (adj) heavy, weighty, ponderous, strong, backbreaking, compacter, compact, cloggy, burdensome, burdened, bolar. ANTONYM: (adj) arenaceous. draughts: (n) solitaire, go bang, backgammon, misere chess, chess,

dominos, board game.

kiln: (n) heater, drier, stove, oven,
oast, hearth, limekiln, dry kiln,
brickkiln, dryer; (v) dry.

rhubarb: (n) pieplant, veggie, quarrel,
dispute, wrangle; (adj, n) brawl,
fracas, riot, uproar, tumult; (adj)
rumpus.

snug: (adj, v) cosy, trim; (adj) cozy, easy, comfy, tight, close, warm, secure, homely; (v) neat. ANTONYMS: (adj) baggy, uncomfortable, unwelcoming, bleak, formal, loose.

stifling: (adj) close, oppressive, sweltering, stuffy, heavy, hot, torrid, sticky; (n) crushing, quelling, suppression. ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, airy, cool, temperate.

stinging: (adj) cutting, bitter, piquant, prickling; (adj, v) caustic, acrid, piercing, poignant, biting, pungent, keen. ANTONYMS: (adj) stingless,

courses, which formed summer paths, had undergone a species of incineration since the drought had set in.

In cool, fresh weather Mrs. Yeobright would have found no inconvenience in walking to Alderworth, but the present **torrid** attack made the journey a heavy undertaking for a woman past middle age; and at the end of the third mile she wished that she had hired Fairway to drive her a portion at least of the distance. But from the point at which she had arrived it was as easy to reach Clym's house as to get home again. So she went on, the air around her **pulsating** silently, and oppressing the earth with **lassitude**. She looked at the sky overhead, and saw that the **sapphirine** hue of the zenith in spring and early summer had been replaced by a metallic violet.

Occasionally she came to a spot where independent worlds of ephemerons were passing their time in mad **carousal**, some in the air, some on the hot ground and vegetation, some in the tepid and **stringy** water of a nearly dried pool. All the shallower ponds had decreased to a vaporous mud amid which the **maggoty** shapes of innumerable obscure creatures could be **indistinctly** seen, heaving and wallowing with enjoyment. Being a woman not disinclined to **philosophize** she sometimes sat down under her umbrella to rest and to watch their happiness, for a certain hopefulness as to the result of her visit gave ease to her mind, and between important thoughts left it free to dwell on any infinitesimal matter which caught her eyes.

Mrs. Yeobright had never before been to her son's house, and its exact position was unknown to her. She tried one ascending path and another, and found that they led her astray. Retracing her steps, she came again to an open level, where she perceived at a distance a man at work. She went towards him and inquired the way.

The labourer pointed out the direction, and added, "Do you see that furzecutter, ma'am, going up that footpath yond?"

Mrs. Yeobright strained her eyes, and at last said that she did perceive him.

"Well, if you follow him you can make no mistake. He's going to the same place, ma'am."

carousal: (n) carouse, feast, binge, party, entertainment, debauchery, festivity, banquet, revelry; (n, v) revel; (adj) debauch. indistinctly: (adv) vaguely, dimly, hazily, mistily, inarticulately, shadowily, obscurely, unclearly, fuzzily, confusedly, ambiguously. ANTONYMS: (adv) precisely, audibly, coherently, distinctly. lassitude: (n) apathy, exhaustion, languor, lethargy, inanition,

Thesaurus weariness, inertia, inactivity, ennui,

tiredness, stupor.

maggoty: (adj) wormy, capricious,
mawky; (v) mildewed, tainted,
moldy, mucid, musty, rancid,
lentiginous, rotten.

philosophize: (v) think, reason,
generalize, cogitate, cerebrate.
pulsating: (adj) vibrant, beating,
vivacious, resonant, rhythmical,
rhythmic, animated, exciting, lively,
pulsatile, pulsing, ANTONYM: (adj)

listless.

sapphirine: (adj) blue.

stringy: (adj) tough, ropy, muscular, fibrous, sinewy, glutinous, brawny, thready, tenacious, sticky, filamentous. ANTONYMS: (adj) plump, luxuriant.

torrid: (adj) hot, burning, sultry, impassioned, fervent, perfervid, fervid, fiery, ardent, sweltering, passionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) freezing, cold, cool, frigid, arctic.

She followed the figure indicated. He appeared of a russet hue, not more distinguishable from the scene around him than the green caterpillar from the leaf it feeds on. His progress when actually walking was more rapid than Mrs. Yeobright's; but she was enabled to keep at an equable distance from him by his habit of stopping whenever he came to a brake of brambles, where he paused awhile. On coming in her turn to each of these spots she found half a dozen long limp brambles which he had cut from the bush during his halt and laid out straight beside the path. They were evidently intended for furze-faggot bonds which he meant to collect on his return.

The silent being who thus occupied himself seemed to be of no more account in life than an insect. He appeared as a mere parasite of the heath, fretting its surface in his daily labour as a moth frets a garment, entirely **engrossed** with its products, having no knowledge of anything in the world but fern, furze, heath, **lichens**, and moss.

The furze-cutter was so absorbed in the business of his journey that he never turned his head; and his leather- legged and gauntleted form at length became to her as nothing more than a moving **handpost** to show her the way. Suddenly she was attracted to his individuality by observing peculiarities in his walk. It was a gait she had seen somewhere before; and the gait revealed the man to her, as the gait of Ahimaaz in the distant plain made him known to the **watchman** of the king. "His walk is exactly as my husband's used to be," she said; and then the thought burst upon her that the furze-cutter was her son.

She was scarcely able to **familiarize** herself with this strange reality. She had been told that Clym was in the habit of cutting furze, but she had supposed that he occupied himself with the labour only at odd times, by way of useful pastime; yet she now beheld him as a furze-cutter and nothing more--wearing the regulation dress of the craft, and thinking the regulation thoughts, to judge by his motions. Planning a dozen hasty schemes for at once preserving him and Eustacia from this mode of life, she throbbingly followed the way, and saw him enter his own door.

Thesaurus fascinated, obsessed, thoughtful,

hooked; (adj, v) immersed.

caterpillar: (n) cutworm, larva,
Aurelia, cabbageworm, armyworm,
bollworm, cankerworm, worm,
maggot, orphan, cocoon.
distinguishable: (adj, adv) appreciable,
perceptible, definite, visible; (adj)
distinct, apparent, marked,
differentiable, recognizable; (adv)
observable, noticeable. ANTONYM:
(adj) inseparable.
engrossed: (adi) rapt, engaged, intent,

occupied, preoccupied, busy,

ANTONYMS: (adj) disinterested, bored, distracted, indifferent, unconcerned, uninterested, inattentive, carefree. equable: (adj) equal, temperate, stable, mild, balanced, peaceful, halcyon, placid, pacific, sedate, moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) spasmodic, vacillating, variable, unequal, irregular, intemperate, fluctuating,

inequable, jumpy, senseless.

familiarize: (adj, v) accustom; (v)
adapt, familiarise, habituate,
introduce, present, acquainted,
popularize, adjust, initiate, inform.
feeds: (n) feeding.
handpost: (n) signpost, fingerpost.
lichens: (n) fungi, Thallophyta.
watchman: (n) lookout, sentinel,
sentry, warden guard watcher

watchman: (n) lookout, sentinel, sentry, warden, guard, watcher, security guard, keeper, caretaker, custodian, watchdog.

At one side of Clym's house was a **knoll**, and on the top of the knoll a clump of fir trees so highly thrust up into the sky that their foliage from a distance appeared as a black spot in the air above the crown of the hill. On reaching this place Mrs. Yeobright felt **distressingly** agitated, weary, and unwell. She ascended, and sat down under their shade to recover herself, and to consider how best to break the ground with Eustacia, so as not to irritate a woman underneath whose apparent **indolence** lurked passions even stronger and more active than her own.

The trees beneath which she sat were singularly battered, rude, and wild, and for a few minutes Mrs. Yeobright dismissed thoughts of her own storm-broken and exhausted state to contemplate theirs. Not a bough in the nine trees which composed the group but was **splintered**, **lopped**, and distorted by the fierce weather that there held them at its mercy whenever it prevailed. Some were blasted and split as if by lightning, black stains as from fire marking their sides, while the ground at their feet was strewn with dead fir-needles and heaps of cones blown down in the gales of past years. The place was called the Devil's Bellows, and it was only necessary to come there on a March or November night to discover the **forcible** reasons for that name. On the present heated afternoon, when no perceptible wind was blowing, the trees kept up a perpetual moan which one could hardly believe to be caused by the air.

Here she sat for twenty minutes or more ere she could summon resolution to go down to the door, her courage being lowered to zero by her physical lassitude. To any other person than a mother it might have seemed a little humiliating that she, the elder of the two women, should be the first to make advances. But Mrs. Yeobright had well considered all that, and she only thought how best to make her visit appear to Eustacia not abject but wise.

From her elevated position the exhausted woman could perceive the roof of the house below, and the garden and the whole enclosure of the little **domicile**. And now, at the moment of rising, she saw a second man approaching the gate. His manner was peculiar, **hesitating**, and not that of a person come on business or by invitation. He surveyed the house with interest, and then walked round

Thesaurus

distressingly: (adv) painfully, worryingly, pitifully, disturbingly, sorely, pathetically, alarmingly, sorrowfully, heartbreakingly, depressingly, excruciatingly. domicile: (n) dwelling, abode, residence, home, house, address, lodging, place, habitat; (v) lodge; (n, v) sojourn. forcible: (adj) forceful, active, energetic, powerful, strong, violent,

coercive, vigorous, effective,

convincing; (prep) conclusive.
ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, gentle, peaceful.
hesitating: (adj) indecisive, irresolute, undecided, doubtful, hesitate, reluctant, faltering, unwilling, hesitancy, backward, hesitatingly.
indolence: (n) laziness, inaction, lethargy, inertia, inactivity, listlessness, slowness, torpor, sluggishness, apathy; (adj, n) sloth.
ANTONYMS: (n) energy,

nimbleness, activity, bustle, liveliness, vigor.

knoll: (n) hill, hillock, mound, hummock, mount, bank, kopje, barrow, hammock; (v) knap; (adj) mole. ANTONYM: (n) hollow.

lopped: (adj) docked, truncated, lopped off, cropped, mutilated.

splintered: (adj) shattered, broken, pixilated, split, soaked, blind drunk, soused, blotto, sozzled, cracked, plastered.

and scanned the outer boundary of the garden, as one might have done had it been the **birthplace** of Shakespeare, the prison of Mary Stuart, or the Chateau of Hougomont. After passing round and again reaching the gate he went in. Mrs. Yeobright was vexed at this, having reckoned on finding her son and his wife by themselves; but a moment's thought showed her that the presence of an acquaintance would take off the awkwardness of her first appearance in the house, by **confining** the talk to general matters until she had begun to feel comfortable with them. She came down the hill to the gate, and looked into the hot garden.

There lay the cat asleep on the bare gravel of the path, as if beds, rugs, and carpets were unendurable. The leaves of the hollyhocks hung like half-closed umbrellas, the sap almost simmered in the stems, and foliage with a smooth surface glared like metallic mirrors. A small apple tree, of the sort called Ratheripe, grew just inside the gate, the only one which throve in the garden, by reason of the lightness of the soil; and among the fallen apples on the ground beneath were wasps rolling drunk with the juice, or creeping about the little caves in each fruit which they had eaten out before stupefied by its sweetness. By the door lay Clym's furze-hook and the last handful of faggot-bonds she had seen him gather; they had plainly been thrown down there as he entered the house.

Thesaurus

birthplace: (n) place of birth, place, home town, home, source, provenance, place of origin, ancestral home, spot, root, hotbed. carpets: (n) carpeting. confining: (adj) restricting, limiting, narrow, confined, oppressive, stringent, constrictive, restrictive, closemouthed; (v) confine; (n) contraction. eaten: (v) eat. foliage: (n) verdure, foliation,

greenery, leaf, frond, cotyledon, ramage, tigella, stem, blade, leaves. juice: (n) extract, succus, blood, gravy, liquid, fluid, liquor, gasoline, fuel; (adj) humor; (adj, n) serum.

metallic: (adj) metal, harsh, metalline, metallics, hard, basic, actual, absolute, certain, chalybeate, clearly expressed. ANTONYM: (adj) soft. sweetness: (n) sugariness, sweet, redolence, pleasantness, fragrance, aroma, charm, perfume, amenity,

niceness, kindness. ANTONYMS: (n) sourness, sharpness, umpleasantness, harshness, tastelessness, unkindness. unendurable: (adj) intolerable, insufferable, insupportable, excruciating, impossible, unsupportable, uneasy, teasing, passionate, not patient, intolerant. ANTONYM: (adj) bearable. wasps: (n) hymenoptera, gall wasps, sawflies, order hymenoptera, etc, ants, ichneumons.

6

A CONJUNCTURE, AND ITS RESULT UPON THE PEDESTRIAN

Wildeve, as has been stated, was determined to visit Eustacia boldly, by day, and on the easy terms of a relation, since the reddleman had spied out and **spoilt** his walks to her by night. The spell that she had thrown over him in the moonlight dance made it impossible for a man **having** no strong **puritanic** force within him to keep away altogether. He merely calculated on meeting her and her husband in an ordinary manner, chatting a little while, and leaving again. Every outward sign was to be conventional; but the one great fact would be there to **satisfy** him--he would see her. He did not even desire Clym's absence, since it was just possible that Eustacia might **resent** any situation which could **compromise** her dignity as a wife, whatever the state of her heart towards him. Women were often so.

He went accordingly; and it happened that the time of his arrival coincided with that of Mrs. Yeobright's **pause** on the hill near the house. When he had looked round the premises in the manner she had noticed he went and knocked at the door. There was a few minutes' interval, and then the key turned in the lock, the door opened, and Eustacia herself confronted him.

Thesaurus

compromise: (n) arrangement, settlement, concession, accommodation, understanding, adjustment, deal, appeasement; (n, v) bargain; (v) compound; (adj, v) make a compromise. ANTONYMS: (n) disagreement, contention, confrontation, difference; (v) save, quarrel, protect, enhance, differ, support, contest. having: (n) estate, possession, acceptance, enjoyment.

pause: (n, v) halt, interruption, adjournment, delay, respite, stop; (adj, n, v) rest; (n) intermission, gap; (adj, v) discontinue; (v) hesitate. ANTONYMS: (n) decisiveness, continuation, start; (v) proceed. puritanic: (adj) blue, puritanical, straitlaced, naughty, patrician, grim, exaggeratedly proper, low, gentle, gamy, juicy.

resent: (v) resentful, envy, grudge, begrudge, embittered, angry, abhor,

take offense, take umbrage, take exception, loathe. ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, wish, accept. satisfy: (v) please, persuade, meet, satiate, indulge, sate, appease; (adj, v) content, fill, suffice, do. ANTONYMS: (v) intensify, displease, disappoint, disgruntle, frustrate. spoilt: (adj) spoiled, blighted, be stunted, destroyed, unsound, corrupt, disordered, reproduced fraudulently, defective, defiled, big.

Nobody could have **imagined** from her bearing now that here stood the woman who had joined with him in the impassioned dance of the week before, unless indeed he could have **penetrated** below the surface and gauged the real depth of that still stream.

"I hope you reached home safely?" said Wildeve.

"O yes," she carelessly returned.

"And were you not tired the next day? I feared you might be."

"I was rather. You need not speak low--nobody will over-hear us. My small **servant** is gone on an errand to the village."

"Then Clym is not at home?"

"Yes, he is."

"O! I thought that perhaps you had locked the door because you were alone and were afraid of tramps."

"No--here is my husband."

They had been standing in the entry. Closing the front door and turning the key, as before, she threw open the door of the adjoining room and asked him to walk in. Wildeve entered, the room appearing to be empty; but as soon as he had advanced a few steps he started. On the hearthrug lay Clym asleep. Beside him were the leggings, thick boots, leather **gloves**, and sleeve- waistcoat in which he worked.

"You may go in; you will not disturb him," she said, following behind. "My reason for fastening the door is that he may not be intruded upon by any chance **comer** while lying here, if I should be in the garden or upstairs."

"Why is he **sleeping** there?" said Wildeve in low tones.

"He is very weary. He went out at half-past four this morning, and has been working ever since. He cuts furze because it is the only thing he can do that does not put any strain upon his poor eyes." The contrast between the sleeper's appearance and Wildeve's at this moment was **painfully** apparent to Eustacia, Wildeve being **elegantly** dressed in a new summer suit and light hat; and she

Thesaurus

comer: (n) newcomer, arriver, traveler, traveller, contender, competitor, competition, visitor, whiz kid, Young Turk; (adj) fresh.
elegantly: (adv) exquisitely, tastefully, genteelly, neatly, delicately, handsomely, finely, stylishly, refinedly, polishedly, beautifully.
ANTONYMS: (adv) coarsely, clumsily, tastelessly, untidily, awkwardly, vigorously.

gloves: (n) gauntlet, mitten, mittens,

gauntlets, scarf, ornament, handbag, belt, batting glove, boxing glove, baseball mitt.

imagined: (adj) fanciful, notional, unreal, fancied, fictitious, nonexistent, unseen, hypothetical, feigned, dubious, doubtful.

painfully: (adv) sorely, grievously, distressingly, severely, tenderly, badly, agonizingly, laboriously, sadly, bitterly, poignantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) easily, tolerably. **penetrated**: (adj) perforated, entered. **servant**: (n) manservant, domestic, lackey, maid, employee, flunkey, retainer, boy, footman, flunky, menial. ANTONYMS: (n) master, mistress.

sleeping: (adj) asleep, inactive, latent, sleepy, vegetive, vegetative; (n) dormancy, noctambulism, quiescence, quiescency, short sleep. ANTONYMS: (adj) active; (n) waking.

continued: "Ah! you don't know how differently he appeared when I first met him, though it is such a little while ago. His hands were as white and soft as mine; and look at them now, how rough and brown they are! His **complexion** is by nature fair, and that **rusty** look he has now, all of a colour with his leather clothes, is caused by the burning of the sun."

"Why does he go out at all!" Wildeve whispered.

"Because he hates to be idle; though what he earns doesn't add much to our exchequer. However, he says that when people are living upon their capital they must keep down current expenses by turning a penny where they can."

"The fates have not been kind to you, Eustacia Yeobright."

"I have nothing to thank them for."

"Nor has he--except for their one great gift to him."

"What's that?"

Wildeve looked her in the eyes.

Eustacia blushed for the first time that day. "Well, I am a questionable gift," she said quietly. "I thought you meant the gift of content--which he has, and I have not."

"I can understand content in such a case--though how the outward situation can attract him puzzles me."

"That's because you don't know him. He's an enthusiast about ideas, and careless about outward things. He often reminds me of the Apostle Paul."

"I am glad to hear that he's so grand in character as that."

"Yes; but the worst of it is that though Paul was excellent as a man in the Bible he would hardly have done in real life."

Their voices had instinctively dropped lower, though at first they had taken no particular care to avoid awakening Clym. "Well, if that means that your marriage is a misfortune to you, you know who is to blame," said Wildeve.

"The marriage is no misfortune in itself," she retorted with some little **petulance**. "It is simply the accident which has happened since that has been the

Thesaurus fan, admirer, freak, aficionado,

careless: (adj) forgetful, inattentive, insouciant, haphazard, cursory, reckless, lax, unwary, sloppy; (adj, adv) thoughtless; (adj, v) heedless. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, prudent, **fates**: (adj) book of fate, Parcae, sky; (n) meticulous, thoughtful, diligent, attentive, thorough, wary, guarded, methodical, strict. **complexion**: (n, v) tint; (n) cast, character, appearance, look, hue,

aspect, flush, glow, dye, fashion.

enthusiast: (n) addict, fanatic, fiend,

advocate, fancier, buff; (adj, n) zealot. ANTONYMS: (n) skeptic, depreciator, disparager, opponent. fortune, the fates. petulance: (n) touchiness, testiness, tetchiness, crossness, choler, fretfulness, peevishness, temper, acerbity; (adj) petulant, flippancy. questionable: (adj) arguable, debatable, fishy, equivocal,

suspicious, uncertain, doubtful, moot, controversial, disputable; (adj, v) fallible. ANTONYMS: (adj) unquestionable, indisputable, certain, irrefutable, trustworthy, acknowledged, plausible, unambiguous, conclusive, strong, reputable. rusty: (adj) ancient, out of practice,

intractable, old, corroded, deaf to reason, exceptious, cantankerous; (v) moldy, raw, mildewed.

cause of my ruin. I have certainly got thistles for figs in a worldly sense, but how could I tell what time would bring forth?"

"Sometimes, Eustacia, I think it is a judgment upon you. You rightly belonged to me, you know; and I had no idea of losing you."

"No, it was not my fault! Two could not belong to you; and remember that, before I was aware, you turned aside to another woman. It was cruel **levity** in you to do that. I never dreamt of playing such a game on my side till you began it on yours."

"I meant nothing by it," replied Wildeve. "It was a mere **interlude**. Men are given to the trick of having a passing fancy for somebody else in the midst of a permanent love, which reasserts itself afterwards just as before. On account of your **rebellious** manner to me I was tempted to go further than I should have done; and when you still would keep playing the same **tantalizing** part I went further still, and married her." Turning and looking again at the unconscious form of Clym, he murmured, "I am afraid that you don't value your prize, Clym....He ought to be happier than I in one thing at least. He may know what it is to come down in the world, and to be afflicted with a great personal **calamity**; but he probably doesn't know what it is to lose the woman he loved."

"He is not **ungrateful** for winning her," whispered Eustacia, "and in that respect he is a good man. Many women would go far for such a husband. But do I desire unreasonably much in wanting what is called life-- music, poetry, passion, war, and all the beating and pulsing that are going on in the great **arteries** of the world? That was the shape of my youthful dream; but I did not get it. Yet I thought I saw the way to it in my Clym."

"And you only married him on that account?"

"There you mistake me. I married him because I loved him, but I won't say that I didn't love him partly because I thought I saw a promise of that life in him."

"You have dropped into your old mournful key."

Thesaurus

arteries: (adj) arterial.

calamity: (n) disaster, adversity,
affliction, misfortune, plague,
catastrophe, tragedy, blow, bale,
distress; (n, v) trouble. ANTONYMS:
(n) blessing, boon, luck, joy,
opportunity.

interlude: (n) intermission, interval, intermezzo, entr'acte, pause, episode, interact, adjournment, interim, recess, rest.

levity: (n) flightiness, frivolity,

flippancy, buoyancy, lightness, giddiness, inconstancy, frivolousness, humorousness, jocosity; (*n*, *v*) fickleness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) gravity, seriousness.

rebellious: (adj) insubordinate, mutinous, disaffected, defiant, disobedient, contrary, contumacious, insurgent, stubborn, unruly, malcontent. ANTONYMS: (adj) docile, conventional, obedient, conformist, content, conforming, cooperative, loyal, meek, submissive, obliging.

tantalizing: (adj) tempting, attractive, inviting, tantalising, alluring, appealing, enticing, fine; (adj, v) appetizing; (v) provoquant, spicy. ungrateful: (adj) unmindful, unthankful, unappreciative, unnatural, ingrate, unpleasant, distasteful, displeasing, unkind, disagreeable, not kind. ANTONYMS: (adj) grateful, thankful, appreciative.

"But I am not going to be depressed," she cried perversely. "I began a new system by going to that dance, and I mean to stick to it. Clym can sing merrily; why should not I?"

Wildeve looked thoughtfully at her. "It is easier to say you will sing than to do it; though if I could I would encourage you in your attempt. But as life means nothing to me, without one thing which is now impossible, you will forgive me for not being able to encourage you."

"Damon, what is the matter with you, that you speak like that?" she asked, raising her deep shady eyes to his.

"That's a thing I shall never tell plainly; and perhaps if I try to tell you in riddles you will not care to guess them."

Eustacia remained silent for a minute, and she said, "We are in a strange relationship today. You mince matters to an uncommon nicety. You mean, Damon, that you still love me. Well, that gives me sorrow, for I am not made so entirely happy by my marriage that I am willing to spurn you for the information, as I ought to do. But we have said too much about this. Do you mean to wait until my husband is awake?"

"I thought to speak to him; but it is unnecessary, Eustacia, if I **offend** you by not forgetting you, you are right to mention it; but do not talk of spurning."

She did not reply, and they stood looking musingly at Clym as he slept on in that profound sleep which is the result of physical labour carried on in circumstances that wake no nervous fear.

"God, how I **envy** him that sweet sleep!" said Wildeve. "I have not slept like that since I was a boy--years and years ago."

While they thus watched him a click at the gate was audible, and a knock came to the door. Eustacia went to a window and looked out.

Her countenance changed. First she became crimson, and then the red subsided till it even partially left her lips.

"Shall I go away?" said Wildeve, standing up.

Thesaurus

click: (*n*, *v*) clack, tick; (*n*) catch, chink, dog, detent, pawl, clink; (v) chatter, beat, cluck. envy: (v) begrudge, want; (n) enviousness, desire, heartburning, resentment, envies, heartburn, jealousy, hatred; (adj) jealous. ANTONYM: (n) generosity. **knock**: (n, v) hit, blow, bang, bump, tap, strike, whack, bash, punch, cuff; (n) crash. ANTONYMS: (n) improvement, boost; (v) encourage,

bolster, approve. merrily: (adv) gaily, cheerfully, blithely, cheerily, gladly, gleefully, mirthfully, brightly, jovially, joyfully, perversely: (adv) obstinately, gayly. ANTONYMS: (adv) sadly, anxiously, miserably, unhappily, carefully, despondently. mince: (v) chop, hash, carve, dice, tone spurn: (v) scorn, rebuff, repulse, down, slice, moderate, soften, chop up, grate; (adj) mincing. offend: (v) irritate, affront, insult, contravene, injure, disgust, infringe,

displease, abuse, wound, anger. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, praise, attract. refractorily, stubbornly, pervertedly, contrariwise, waywardly, wickedly, badly, willfully, kinkily, naughtily. disdain, reject, refuse, snub, kick, decline, deny; (n, v) slight. ANTONYMS: (v) admire, court,

respect.

"I hardly know."

"Who is it?"

"Mrs. Yeobright. O, what she said to me that day! I cannot understand this visit--what does she mean? And she suspects that past time of ours."

"I am in your hands. If you think she had better not see me here I'll go into the next room."

"Well, yes--go."

Wildeve at once withdrew; but before he had been half a minute in the adjoining apartment Eustacia came after him.

"No," she said, "we won't have any of this. If she comes in she must see youand think if she likes there's something wrong! But how can I open the door to her, when she dislikes me--wishes to see not me, but her son? I won't open the door!"

Mrs. Yeobright knocked again more loudly.

"Her knocking will, in all **likelihood**, awaken him," continued Eustacia, "and then he will let her in himself. Ah--listen."

They could hear Clym moving in the other room, as if **disturbed** by the knocking, and he uttered the word "Mother."

"Yes--he is awake--he will go to the door," she said, with a breath of relief. "Come this way. I have a bad name with her, and you must not be seen. Thus I am obliged to act by **stealth**, not because I do ill, but because **others** are pleased to say so."

By this time she had taken him to the back door, which was open, **disclosing** a path leading down the garden. "Now, one word, Damon," she remarked as he stepped forth. "This is your first visit here; let it be your last. We have been hot lovers in our time, but it won't do now. Good-bye."

"Good-bye," said Wildeve. "I have had all I came for, and I am satisfied."

"What was it?"

"A sight of you. Upon my eternal honour I came for no more."

disclosing: (n) confession, continual, communication. disturbed: (adj, v) concerned; (adj) anxious, disquieted, upset, confused, worried, restless, disordered, unsettled, distressed, turbulent. ANTONYMS: (adj) rational, relaxed, probability

unconcerned, untroubled. **eternal**: (adj) constant, perpetual, ceaseless, everlasting, lasting,

peaceful, stable, carefree,

calm, sane, unaffected, unbroken,

Thesaurus

continual, aeonian, immortal, boundless, deathless, enduring. ANTONYMS: (adj) mortal, finite, brief, ephemeral, fleeting, terminable, ending, fragile, inconstant. likelihood: (n) chance, odds, probability, eventuality, expectation, likeliness, prospect, expectancy, verisimilitude, appearance, option. ANTONYM: (n) improbability. loudly: (adv) vociferously, noisily, loud, clamorously, showily, strongly,

flamboyantly, obstreperously, luridly, boisterously; (adj, adv) forte. ANTONYMS: (adv) softly, thinly, silently, piano, pleasantly.

others: (n) rest, cessation, lie, lave, LAN, ease, acquiesce, intermission.

stealth: (n) stealing, furtiveness, stealthiness, slyness, larceny, thievery, theft, sneakiness, secretiveness, hiding; (adj) undercover. ANTONYM: (n) openness.

Wildeve kissed his hand to the beautiful girl he addressed, and passed into the garden, where she watched him down the path, over the **stile** at the end, and into the ferns outside, which brushed his hips as he went along till he became lost in their thickets. When he had quite gone she slowly turned, and directed her attention to the interior of the house.

But it was possible that her presence might not be desired by Clym and his mother at this moment of their first meeting, or that it would be superfluous. At all events, she was in no hurry to meet Mrs. Yeobright. She resolved to wait till Clym came to look for her, and glided back into the garden. Here she idly occupied herself for a few minutes, till finding no notice was taken of her she retraced her steps through the house to the front, where she listened for voices in the parlour. But hearing none she opened the door and went in. To her astonishment Clym lay precisely as Wildeve and herself had left him, his sleep apparently unbroken. He had been disturbed and made to dream and murmur by the knocking, but he had not awakened. Eustacia hastened to the door, and in spite of her reluctance to open it to a woman who had spoken of her so bitterly, she unfastened it and looked out. Nobody was to be seen. There, by the scraper, lay Clym's hook and the handful of faggot-bonds he had brought home; in front of her were the empty path, the garden gate standing slightly ajar; and, beyond, the great valley of purple heath thrilling silently in the sun. Mrs. Yeobright was gone.

Clym's mother was at this time following a path which lay hidden from Eustacia by a shoulder of the hill. Her walk thither from the garden gate had been hasty and determined, as of a woman who was now no less anxious to escape from the scene than she had previously been to enter it. Her eyes were fixed on the ground; within her two sights were graven--that of Clym's hook and brambles at the door, and that of a woman's face at a window. Her lips trembled, becoming unnaturally thin as she murmured, "'Tis too much--Clym, how can he bear to do it! He is at home; and yet he lets her shut the door against me!"

Thesaurus

ajar: (v) dissentient, unclosed, unstopped, wide open, out of tune; (adj) open, gaping, partly open, not closed.

gate: (n) door, mouth, entry, doorway, port, exit, goal, barrier, approach, inlet, threshold.

hasty: (adj) fast, abrupt, cursory, fleet, sudden, rash, impetuous, careless, speedy, hurried, quick. ANTONYMS: stile: (n) bar, flight of stairs, upright, (adj) deliberate, considered, leisurely, sensible, gradual, thorough, cautious, thrilling: (adj, n) electric; (adj) exciting,

careful, roundabout, prudent, patient.

murmur: (n, v) grumble, mumble, hum, whisper, mutter, whine, babble, drone; (v) complain, bubble, breathe. scraper: (n) rasper, squeegee,

scratcher, vane, paint scraper, knife, disc scraper, hand tool, belt cleaner,

vertical, step, barrier, montant.

sensational, exhilarating, electrifying, emotional, rousing, gripping, stimulating; (adj, v) impressive; (n, v)swelling. ANTONYMS: (adj) boring, depressing, discouraging, upsetting,

unnaturally: (adv) falsely, unusually, contrivedly, affectedly, extraordinarily, monstrously, manneredly, by artificial means, abnormally, peculiarly, cruelly. ANTONYM: (adv) normally.

In her anxiety to get out of the direct view of the house she had diverged from the straightest path homeward, and while looking about to **regain** it she came upon a little boy **gathering** whortleberries in a hollow. The boy was Johnny Nunsuch, who had been Eustacia's stoker at the bonfire, and, with the tendency of a minute body to gravitate towards a greater, he began **hovering** round Mrs. Yeobright as soon as she appeared, and trotted on beside her without perceptible consciousness of his act.

Mrs. Yeobright spoke to him as one in a **mesmeric** sleep. "Tis a long way home, my child, and we shall not get there till evening."

"I shall," said her small **companion**. "I am going to play marnels afore **supper**, and we go to supper at six o'clock, because Father comes home. Does your father come home at six too?"

"No, he never comes; nor my son either, nor anybody."

"What have made you so down? Have you seen a ooser?"

"I have seen what's worse--a woman's face looking at me through a windowpane."

"Is that a bad sight?"

"Yes. It is always a bad sight to see a woman looking out at a weary **wayfarer** and not letting her in."

"Once when I went to Throope Great Pond to catch effets I seed myself looking up at myself, and I was **frightened** and jumped back like anything."

..."If they had only shown signs of meeting my **advances** halfway how well it might have been done! But there is no chance. Shut out! She must have set him against me. Can there be beautiful **bodies** without hearts inside? I think so. I would not have done it against a neighbour's cat on such a fiery day as this!"

"What is it you say?"

"Never again--never! Not even if they send for me!"

"You must be a very curious woman to talk like that."

advances: (v) access, approach. bodies: (n) people, public. companion: (adj, n) associate; (n) colleague, buddy, mate, peer, chum, partner, fellow, comrade, assistant, brother. ANTONYMS: (n) foe, stranger, adversary. frightened: (adj) fearful, timid, startled, terrified, scared, alarmed, anxious, apprehensive, horrified, intimidated, restless. ANTONYMS:

(adj) unimpressed, confident, brave,

Thesaurus

fearless, reassured.
gathering: (n) collection,
accumulation, concourse,
congregation, assemblage, crowd,
compilation, meeting, crew, gather,
throng. ANTONYMS: (n)
dismantling, scattering.
hovering: (adj) suspended, poised,
impending, flying, high.
mesmeric: (adj) attractive,
spellbinding, enticing, mesmerizing,
interesting, fascinating, entrancing,

alluring, captivating, charming, compelling. ANTONYM: (adj) boring. regain: (v) retrieve, recoup, recuperate, reclaim, recapture, redeem, get, discover, feel, recall, get back. supper: (n) meal, tea, lunch, repast, reception, mealtime, siesta, social affair; (v) dejeuner, bever, whet. wayfarer: (n) traveler, passenger, pilgrim, itinerant, wanderer, traveller, walker, journeyer, rambler, voyager, vagrant.

"O no, not at all," she said, **returning** to the boy's **prattle**. "Most people who grow up and have children talk as I do. When you grow up your mother will talk as I do too."

"I hope she won't; because 'tis very bad to talk nonsense."

"Yes, child; it is nonsense, I suppose. Are you not nearly spent with the heat?"

"Yes. But not so much as you be."

"How do you know?"

"Your face is white and wet, and your head is hanging-down-like."

"Ah, I am exhausted from inside."

"Why do you, every time you take a step, go like this?" The child in speaking gave to his motion the jerk and **limp** of an invalid.

"Because I have a burden which is more than I can bear."

The little boy remained **silently** pondering, and they tottered on side by side until more than a quarter of an hour had elapsed, when Mrs. Yeobright, whose weakness plainly increased, said to him, "I must sit down here to rest."

When she had seated herself he looked long in her face and said, "How funny you draw your breath--like a lamb when you drive him till he's nearly done for. Do you always draw your breath like that?"

"Not always." Her voice was now so low as to be **scarcely** above a whisper.

"You will go to sleep there, I suppose, won't you? You have shut your eyes already."

"No. I shall not sleep much till--another day, and then I hope to have a long, long one--very long. Now can you tell me if Rimsmoor Pond is dry this summer?"

"Rimsmoor Pond is, but Oker's Pool isn't, because he is deep, and is never dry--'tis just over there."

"Is the water clear?"

Thesaurus

exhausted: (adj) fatigued, tired, spent, dry, empty, depleted, jaded, enervated, faint; (adj, v) gone, weak. ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, refreshed, strong, restored, vigorous, energized, invigorated, restocked. lamb: (n) sheep, lambkin, dear, hogget, kid, mutton, inexperienced person, honey, white meat, pork; (adj) **limp**: (adv, n, v) hobble; (adj, v) flabby;

(n, v) hitch; (adj) flaccid, slack, flexible, drooping, flimsy, weak, loose; (v) hop. ANTONYMS: (adj) taut, firm, hard, rigid, upright, alive, strong, stiff, tight. unexhausted, replenished, remaining, prattle: (n, v) gossip, babble, chat, gab, jabber, chitchat; (adj, n, v) chatter, prate, palaver; (v) cackle, clack.

returning: (adj) regressive, return, reversive, recurrent, coming back, ebbing, flowing back, new, newly appointed, newly elected, next.

ANTONYMS: (adj) outgoing, unique, occasional.

scarcely: (adv) narrowly, rarely, hardly, just, scarce, uncommonly, insufficiently, scantily, scantly, only just, seldom. ANTONYMS: (adv) easily, liberally.

silently: (adv) mutely, stilly, quietly, noiselessly, soundlessly, taciturnly, wordlessly, secretly, speechlessly, placidly, tacitly. ANTONYMS: (adv) loudly, audibly, openly, brazenly.

"Yes, middling--except where the heath-croppers walk into it."

"Then, take this, and go as fast as you can, and dip me up the clearest you can find. I am very faint."

She drew from the small **willow reticule** that she carried in her hand an old-fashioned china **teacup** without a handle; it was one of half a dozen of the same sort lying in the reticule, which she had preserved ever since her childhood, and had brought with her today as a small present for Clym and Eustacia.

The boy started on his errand, and soon came back with the water, such as it was. Mrs. Yeobright attempted to drink, but it was so warm as to give her nausea, and she threw it away. Afterwards she still remained sitting, with her eyes closed.

The boy waited, played near her, caught several of the little brown butterflies which abounded, and then said as he waited again, "I like going on better than biding still. Will you soon start again?"

"I don't know."

"I wish I might go on by myself," he resumed, fearing, apparently, that he was to be pressed into some unpleasant service. "Do you want me any more, please?"

Mrs. Yeobright made no reply.

"What shall I tell Mother?" the boy continued.

"Tell her you have seen a broken-hearted woman cast off by her son."

Before quite leaving her he threw upon her face a **wistful** glance, as if he had misgivings on the generosity of **forsaking** her thus. He gazed into her face in a vague, wondering manner, like that of one examining some strange old manuscript the key to whose characters is **undiscoverable**. He was not so young as to be absolutely without a sense that sympathy was demanded, he was not old enough to be free from the terror felt in childhood at beholding misery in adult quarters hither-to deemed **impregnable**; and whether she were in a position to cause trouble or to suffer from it, whether she and her affliction were something to pity or something to fear, it was beyond him to decide. He lowered his eyes

Thesaurus

broken-hearted: (adj) despairing. forsaking: (n) abandonment, desertion, apostasy, exposure, defection, bolt, renunciation, surrender, leaving, acquiescence, neglect. impregnable: (adj. n) fast: (adj) secu-

impregnable: (adj, v) fast; (adj) secure, inexpugnable, unassailable, unconquerable, invulnerable, insurmountable, unshakable, irresistible, strong, safe.

ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable,

tenuous.

reticule: (n) reticle, purse, graticule,
pocketbook, handbag, net, network,
scrip, scabbard, socket, wallet.
teacup: (n) cup, teacupful,
containerful.

undiscoverable: (adj) undecipherable, unascertainable, unaccountable, unfathomable, indiscoverable, resisting discovery, unintelligible, undeterminable, indeterminable, not discoverable.

willow: (n) willow tree, black willow, arctic willow, arroyo willow, balsam willow, bay willow, bearberry willow, white willow, silver willow; (adj) mourning, weeds.

wistful: (adj, v) reflective, meditative, thoughtful; (adj) contemplative, sad, melancholy, longing, plaintive, wishful, yearning; (v) anxious. ANTONYMS: (adj) alert, satisfied, shallow.

and went on without another word. Before he had gone half a mile he had forgotten all about her, except that she was a woman who had sat down to rest.

Mrs. Yeobright's exertions, physical and emotional, had well-nigh **prostrated** her; but she continued to creep along in short stages with long breaks between. The sun had now got far to the west of south and stood directly in her face, like some **merciless incendiary**, brand in hand, waiting to consume her. With the departure of the boy all visible animation disappeared from the landscape, though the intermittent husky notes of the male grasshoppers from every tuft of furze were enough to show that amid the prostration of the larger animal species an unseen insect world was busy in all the fullness of life.

In two hours she reached a slope about three-fourths the whole distance from Alderworth to her own home, where a little patch of shepherd's-thyme intruded upon the path; and she sat down upon the perfumed mat it formed there. In front of her a colony of ants had established a thoroughfare across the way, where they toiled a never-ending and heavy-laden throng. To look down upon them was like observing a city street from the top of a tower. She remembered that this bustle of ants had been in progress for years at the same spot--doubtless those of the old times were the ancestors of these which walked there now. She leant back to obtain more thorough rest, and the soft eastern portion of the sky was as great a relief to her eyes as the thyme was to her head. While she looked a heron arose on that side of the sky and flew on with his face towards the sun. He had come dripping wet from some pool in the valleys, and as he flew the edges and lining of his wings, his thighs and his breast were so caught by the bright sunbeams that he appeared as if formed of burnished silver. Up in the zenith where he was seemed a free and happy place, away from all contact with the earthly ball to which she was pinioned; and she wished that she could arise uncrushed from its surface and fly as he flew then.

But, being a mother, it was inevitable that she should soon cease to **ruminate** upon her own condition. Had the track of her next thought been marked by a streak in the air, like the path of a **meteor**, it would have shown a direction

Thesaurus

burnished: (*adj*) polished, bright, shiny, lustrous, shimmering, sparkly, glittery, shining; (*adj*, *v*) sunny; (*v*) meridian, orient.

incendiary: (adj) inflammatory, seditious, provocative, flammable, inflammable; (n) firebrand, agitator, arsonist, firebug, firebomb, incendiary bomb. ANTONYM: (adj) conciliatory.

merciless: (adj) brutal, pitiless, unmerciful, remorseless, heartless, implacable, inhuman, hard, grim, barbarous, unfeeling. ANTONYMS: (adj) charitable, kind, humane, soft, caring, tolerant.

meteor: (*n*) shooting star, aerolite, fireball, falling star, bolide, meteorite, meteoroid, effluvium, emanation, evaporation, exhalation.

perfumed: (adj) fragrant, odoriferous, odorous, scented, sweet, honeyed, mellifluous, angelic, angelical, fresh, gratifying. ANTONYM: (adj)

dorless

prostrated: (adj) brokenhearted,
exhausted, tired, enervated.
ruminate: (v) cogitate, contemplate,
muse, ponder, reflect, consider, mull,
deliberate, speculate, brood, think.
sunbeams: (n) sunshine, light,
daylight, rays.

thoroughfare: (n) road, street, highway, avenue, passage, way, route, path, boulevard, track, roadway. **contrary** to the heron's, and have **descended** to the **eastward upon** the **roof** of Clym's house.

Thesaurus

contrary: (adj, n) contradictory, reverse; (adj) adverse, conflicting, unfavorable, perverse, cross, disobedient, alien, different, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, harmonious, helpful, obliging, compatible, complaisant, concordant, parallel, agreeable, cooperative, favorable.

descended: (*v*) extraught. **eastward**: (*adj*) eastbound, eastern; (*adv*) eastwards. roof: (*n*, *v*) top, cover, shelter; (*n*) crown, housing, ceiling, dome, house, household, back, covering. **upon**: (*adv*, *prep*) above; (*prep*) up, onto, against, towards; (*adv*) on, on that occasion, then, before, by; (*n*) at.

7

THE TRAGIC MEETING OF TWO OLD FRIENDS

He in the **meantime** had aroused himself from **sleep**, sat up, and looked around. Eustacia was **sitting** in a chair hard by him, and though she held a book in her hand she had not looked into it for some time.

"Well, indeed!" said Clym, brushing his eyes with his hands. "How **soundly** I have slept! I have had such a **tremendous dream**, too--one I shall never forget."

"I thought you had been dreaming," said she.

"Yes. It was about my mother. I dreamt that I took you to her house to make up differences, and when we got there we couldn't get in, though she kept on **crying** to us for help. However, dreams are dreams. What o'clock is it, Eustacia?"

"Half-past two."

"So late, is it? I didn't mean to stay so long. By the time I have had something to eat it will be after three."

"Ann is not come back from the village, and I thought I would let you sleep on till she returned."

Thesaurus

crying: (adj, v) exigent, instant, pressing, urgent; (adj) insistent, clamant, imperative, blatant; (n) weeping; (v) weep; (adj, n) sniveling. dream: (n) aspiration, ambition, reverie, desire, fantasy, figment, nightmare; (n, v) vision, sleep; (v) muse, imagine. ANTONYMS: (n) alertness, nightmare.

meantime: (adv) meanwhile, in the meantime, simultaneously; (n) interval, interlude, while, at times,

whiles, mean, instrument. sitting: (n) session, seat, seance, meeting, seating, conference, posing; (adj) seated, inactive; (v) incubation, batching. ANTONYMS: (adj) standing, active.

sleep: (*n*, *v*) nap, repose, doze, kip, slumber, catnap; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) lie; (*v*) hibernate, nod; (*n*) dream; (*adj*, *v*) lodge. ANTONYMS: (*v*) awaken; (*n*) alertness, agitation.

soundly: (adv) sound, fully, solidly,

thoroughly, deeply, substantially, validly, strongly, stably, fastly, safely. ANTONYMS: (adv) harmfully, halfheartedly, fitfully, unconvincingly.

tremendous: (adj) terrific, fantastic, enormous, immense, wonderful, dreadful, huge, marvelous, gigantic, formidable, mighty. ANTONYMS: (adj) awful, unimportant, tiny, small, unremarkable, poor, dreadful, abysmal.

Clym went to the window and looked out. Presently he said, musingly, "Week after week passes, and yet Mother does not come. I thought I should have heard something from her long before this."

Misgiving, regret, fear, resolution, ran their swift course of expression in Eustacia's dark eyes. She was face to face with a monstrous difficulty, and she **resolved** to get free of it by postponement.

"I must certainly go to Blooms-End soon," he continued, "and I think I had better go alone." He picked up his leggings and gloves, threw them down again, and added, "As dinner will be so late today I will not go back to the heath, but work in the garden till the evening, and then, when it will be cooler, I will walk to Blooms-End. I am quite sure that if I make a little advance Mother will be willing to forget all. It will be rather late before I can get home, as I shall not be able to do the distance either way in less than an hour and a half. But you will not mind for one evening, dear? What are you thinking of to make you look so abstracted?"

"I cannot tell you," she said heavily. "I wish we didn't live here, Clym. The world seems all wrong in this place."

"Well--if we make it so. I wonder if Thomasin has been to Blooms-End lately. I hope so. But probably not, as she is, I believe, expecting to be confined in a month or so. I wish I had thought of that before. Poor Mother must indeed be very lonely."

"I don't like you going tonight."

"Why not tonight?"

"Something may be said which will **terribly** injure me."

"My mother is not vindictive," said Clym, his colour faintly rising.

"But I wish you would not go," Eustacia repeated in a low tone. "If you agree not to go tonight I promise to go by myself to her house tomorrow, and make it up with her, and wait till you fetch me."

"Why do you want to do that at this particular time, when at every previous time that I have proposed it you have refused?"

Thesaurus

confined: (adj) limited, cramped, imprisoned, bounded, enclosed, restricted, narrow, constrained, strict; recherche, rare, priceless, preferred, (adj, v) close, invalided. ANTONYMS: (adj) liberated, invasive, roomy, unconfined, unlimited, open, spacious, general. monstrous: (adj) huge, atrocious, heinous, monster, immense, gigantic, grievous, ugly, flagitious, dreadful; (adj, v) grotesque. ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, minute, beautiful, good, small,

lovely, attractive. picked: (adj) select, chosen, best, pointed, elected, named; (v) choose. **resolved**: (adj, v) resolute, firm, certain; **terribly**: (adv) horribly, awfully, (adj) fixed, definite, set, decided, conclusive, intent, solved, positive. ANTONYMS: (adj) undecided, flexible, irresolute, unconfirmed,

appallingly, atrociously, terrificly; (adj, adv) frightfully, shockingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) wonderfully, slightly, superbly, fortunately, swift: (adj, adv, v) fast; (adj) quick, happily, laudably, little, marvelously, fleet, speedy, alert, nimble, hasty, pleasantly, hardly, honorably.

prompt, sudden, hurried; (adj, v) rapid. ANTONYMS: (adj) considered, leisurely, sluggish, gradual, delayed,

terrifically, very, badly, awful,

"I cannot explain further than that I should like to see her alone before you go," she answered, with an impatient move of her head, and looking at him with an anxiety more frequently seen upon those of a **sanguine** temperament than upon such as herself.

"Well, it is very odd that just when I had decided to go myself you should want to do what I proposed long ago. If I wait for you to go tomorrow another day will be lost; and I know I shall be unable to rest another night without having been. I want to get this settled, and will. You must visit her afterwards-it will be all the same."

"I could even go with you now?"

"You could scarcely walk there and back without a longer rest than I shall take. No, not tonight, Eustacia."

"Let it be as you say, then," she replied in the quiet way of one who, though willing to ward off evil consequences by a mild effort, would let events fall out as they might sooner than **wrestle** hard to direct them.

Clym then went into the garden; and a thoughtful languor stole over Eustacia for the remainder of the afternoon, which her husband attributed to the heat of the weather.

In the evening he set out on the journey. Although the heat of summer was yet intense the days had considerably shortened, and before he had advanced a mile on his way all the heath purples, browns, and greens had merged in a uniform dress without airiness or graduation, and broken only by touches of white where the little heaps of clean quartz sand showed the entrance to a rabbit burrow, or where the white flints of a footpath lay like a thread over the slopes. In almost every one of the isolated and stunted thorns which grew here and there a nighthawk revealed his presence by whirring like the clack of a mill as long as he could hold his breath, then stopping, flapping his wings, wheeling round the bush, alighting, and after a silent interval of listening beginning to whirr again. At each brushing of Clym's feet white millermoths flew into the air just high enough to catch upon their dusty wings the mellowed light from the west, which

Thesaurus

airiness: (n) buoyancy, delicacy, spirit, agility, animation, weightlessness, spaciousness, roominess, life, commodiousness, capaciousness. ANTONYM: (n) heaviness. clack: (n, v) clatter, bang, tick, clap; (adj, v) chatter, cackle, palaver, prattle, prate; (v) babble, cluck. flapping: (adj) loose, detached, baggy, streaming, flying, slack; (n) fluttering, flutter, flaps, dither, disturbance. graduation: (n) gradation, completion,

commencement ceremony, commencement exercise, classification, windup; (adj) adaption, adjustment; (v) allotment, apportionment, assortment. mellowed: (adj) mature, easygoing, high, maturer, ripe. nighthawk: (n) nightbird, goatsucker, mosquito hawk, bullbat, nightjar, caprimulgid, philanderer, night bird, boozer, darning needle; (adj) dissolute.

sanguine: (adj) hopeful, optimistic, bloody, rubicund, confident, crimson, cheerful, buoyant, sanguineous; (adj, n) red, florid. ANTONYMS: (adj) pessimistic, gloomy, doubtful. whirr: (n, v) whir, hum, drone, buzz, birr, whine; (v) whiz, churr, hiss, emit; (n) murmur. whirring: (n) whirr, birr; (adj) noisy. wrestle: (v) struggle, scuffle, fight, strive, battle, wrench, tussle, contest,

scramble, clash; (n, v) grapple.

now shone across the depressions and levels of the ground without falling thereon to light them up.

Yeobright walked on amid this quiet scene with a hope that all would soon be well. Three miles on he came to a spot where a soft perfume was wafted across his path, and he stood still for a moment to inhale the familiar scent. It was the place at which, four hours earlier, his mother had sat down exhausted on the knoll covered with shepherd's-thyme. While he stood a sound between a breathing and a moan suddenly reached his ears.

He looked to where the sound came from; but nothing appeared there save the verge of the hillock stretching against the sky in an unbroken line. He moved a few steps in that direction, and now he perceived a recumbent figure almost close to his feet.

Among the different possibilities as to the person's individuality there did not for a moment occur to Yeobright that it might be one of his own family. Sometimes furze-cutters had been known to sleep out of doors at these times, to save a long journey homeward and back again; but Clym remembered the moan and looked closer, and saw that the form was feminine; and a distress came over him like cold air from a cave. But he was not absolutely certain that the woman was his mother till he stooped and beheld her face, pallid, and with closed eyes.

His breath went, as it were, out of his body and the cry of anguish which would have escaped him died upon his lips. During the momentary interval that elapsed before he became conscious that something must be done all sense of time and place left him, and it seemed as if he and his mother were as when he was a child with her many years ago on this heath at hours similar to the present. Then he awoke to activity; and bending yet lower he found that she still breathed, and that her breath though feeble was regular, except when disturbed by an occasional gasp.

"O, what is it! Mother, are you very ill--you are not dying?" he cried, pressing his lips to her face. "I am your Clym. How did you come here? What does it all mean?"

Thesaurus (adj, n) knoll, hummock; (adj) mole.

feeble: (adj) delicate, decrepit, ailing, helpless, powerless, poor, mild, lax, thin; (adj, v) faint, debilitated. ANTONYMS: (adj) strong, vigorous, hearty, tough, effective, powerful, unrelenting, robust, potent, persuasive, able. gasp: (n, v) pant; (v) puff, blow, heavily, gag; (n) inhalation, breath. hillock: (n) hill, mound, rise, barrow,

kopje, hammock, elevation, heap;

individuality: (n) character, individualism, personality, originality, distinctiveness, identity, peculiarity, selfhood, ego, disposition, independence. ANTONYMS: (n) commonality, sameness, conformity. breathe, sigh, heave, wheeze, breathe inhale: (v) absorb, imbibe, draw, suck, drag, breathe in, drink, attract, inspire, respire; (n, v) sniff. ANTONYMS: (v) blow, expire.

lips: (n) lip, inlet, logical inference per second, chops, porch, portal, portico, propylon, snout, door, orifice. moan: (n, v) grumble, gripe, whine, lament, cry, howl; (v) bewail, complain, mourn; (n) complaint, lamentation. ANTONYMS: (v) compliment; (n) praise. recumbent: (adj) prostrate, accumbent, lying, reclining, flat, procumbent, lying down, horizontal, prone, incumbent, idle.

At that moment the chasm in their lives which his love for Eustacia had caused was not remembered by Yeobright, and to him the present joined continuously with that friendly past that had been their experience before the division.

She moved her lips, appeared to know him, but could not speak; and then Clym strove to consider how best to move her, as it would be necessary to get her away from the spot before the dews were intense. He was able-bodied, and his mother was thin. He clasped his arms round her, lifted her a little, and said, "Does that hurt you?"

She shook her head, and he lifted her up; then, at a slow pace, went onward with his load. The air was now completely cool; but whenever he passed over a sandy patch of ground uncarpeted with vegetation there was reflected from its surface into his face the heat which it had imbibed during the day. At the beginning of his undertaking he had thought but little of the distance which yet would have to be traversed before Blooms-End could be reached; but though he had slept that afternoon he soon began to feel the weight of his burden. Thus he proceeded, like Aeneas with his father; the bats circling round his head, nightjars flapping their wings within a yard of his face, and not a human being within call.

While he was yet nearly a mile from the house his mother exhibited signs of restlessness under the constraint of being borne along, as if his arms were irksome to her. He lowered her upon his knees and looked around. The point they had now reached, though far from any road, was not more than a mile from the Blooms-End cottages occupied by Fairway, Sam, Humphrey, and the Cantles. Moreover, fifty yards off stood a hut, built of clods and covered with thin turves, but now entirely disused. The simple outline of the lonely shed was visible, and thither he determined to direct his steps. As soon as he arrived he laid her down carefully by the entrance, and then ran and cut with his pocketknife an armful of the dryest fern. Spreading this within the shed, which was entirely open on one side, he placed his mother thereon; then he ran with all his might towards the dwelling of Fairway.

Thesaurus

armful: (n) mouthful, containerful, capful, spoonful. chasm: (n) breach, gap, hiatus, gulf,

ravine, hole, abysm, vacancy, canyon, aperture, emptiness. ANTONYMS: (n) junction, closure.

circling: (v) snaky, serpentine; (adj) rotating, spinning, circular, spiral, moving; (n) circulation, circuit, cycling; (adv) around.

disused: (adj) antiquated, old,

outmoded, deserted, ancient, antique,

neglected, derelict, unoccupied, oldfashioned, abandoned.

irksome: (adj, v) wearisome, tiresome; (adj) boring, dull, annoying, tedious, trying, burdensome, bothersome, irritating, prosaic. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, pleasant, refreshing,

onward: (adv) ahead, forwards, before, forth, onwards, along, in advance, frontward, forrader; (adv, prep) on; (adj) progressive. ANTONYM: (adv)

backward.

pocketknife: (n) jackknife, knife, pocket knife, clasp knife, switchblade, jack knife.

restlessness: (n) anxiety, disquiet, impatience, fidget, uneasiness, disquietude, unrest, fidgetiness, agitation, insomnia; (adj, n)nervousness. ANTONYMS: (n) calm, contentment, restfulness, peace.

strove: (v) strive.

wings: (n) insignia, agency.

Nearly a quarter of an hour had passed, disturbed only by the broken breathing of the sufferer, when moving figures began to animate the line between heath and sky. In a few moments Clym arrived with Fairway, Humphrey, and Susan Nunsuch; Olly Dowden, who had chanced to be at Fairway's, Christian and Grandfer Cantle following helter-skelter behind. They had brought a lantern and matches, water, a pillow, and a few other articles which had occurred to their minds in the hurry of the moment. Sam had been despatched back again for brandy, and a boy brought Fairway's pony, upon which he rode off to the nearest medical man, with directions to call at Wildeve's on his way, and inform Thomasin that her aunt was unwell.

Sam and the brandy soon arrived, and it was administered by the light of the lantern; after which she became sufficiently conscious to signify by signs that something was wrong with her foot. Olly Dowden at length understood her meaning, and examined the foot indicated. It was swollen and red. Even as they watched the red began to assume a more livid colour, in the midst of which appeared a scarlet speck, smaller than a pea, and it was found to consist of a drop of blood, which rose above the smooth flesh of her ankle in a hemisphere.

"I know what it is," cried Sam. "She has been stung by an adder!"

"Yes," said Clym instantly. "I remember when I was a child seeing just such a bite. O, my poor mother!"

"It was my father who was bit," said Sam. "And there's only one way to cure it. You must rub the place with the fat of other adders, and the only way to get that is by **frying** them. That's what they did for him."

"'Tis an old remedy," said Clym distrustfully, "and I have doubts about it. But we can do nothing else till the doctor comes."

"'Tis a sure cure," said Olly Dowden, with emphasis. "I've used it when I used to go out nursing."

"Then we must pray for daylight, to catch them," said Clym gloomily.

"I will see what I can do," said Sam.

Thesaurus

animate: (v) inspire, encourage, quicken, invigorate, stimulate, revive, frying: (adj) burning up, boiling, hot; hearten; (adj, v) cheer, inspirit, exhilarate; (adj) live. ANTONYMS: (v) deaden, inhibit, kill, discourage; (adj) inanimate, dead, dull, dispirited, insentient, sluggish, spiritless. distrustfully: (adv) suspiciously, incredulously, cynically, doubtingly, warily, dubiously, jealously, leerily; (adj, adv) doubtfully, skeptically, hesitantly. ANTONYMS: (adv)

trustingly, confidently. (n) cookery, cooking, sauteing. helter-skelter: (adj, adv) recklessly; (adj) chaotic, haphazard, capricious, reckless, upside-down; (adv) anyhow,

livid: (adj) furious, irate, ashen, mad, blue, gray, ghastly, leaden, colorless, angry, enraged. ANTONYMS: (adj) flushed, happy, pleased. **signify**: (n, v) intend, mark; (adj, n, v)

import; (v) imply, indicate, denote, point, stand for, express, intimate,

speck: (adj, n) point, atom, particle; (n)blot, flaw, smudge, blotch, blemish, grain, mote, dot. ANTONYM: (n) lot. **swollen**: (adj, v) inflated, distended; (adj) bombastic, puffy, turgid, puffed, high, egotistic, bulging; (v) blown;

(adj, prep) pompous. ANTONYMS: (adj) contracted, shrunken.

He took a green **hazel** which he had used as a walking stick, split it at the end, inserted a small pebble, and with the lantern in his hand went out into the heath. Clym had by this time lit a small fire, and despatched Susan Nunsuch for a frying pan. Before she had returned Sam came in with three **adders**, one briskly **coiling** and uncoiling in the cleft of the stick, and the other two hanging dead across it.

"I have only been able to get one alive and fresh as he ought to be," said Sam. "These limp ones are two I killed today at work; but as they don't die till the sun goes down they can't be very **stale** meat."

The live adder regarded the assembled group with a sinister look in its small black eye, and the beautiful brown and jet pattern on its back seemed to **intensify** with indignation. Mrs. Yeobright saw the creature, and the creature saw her--she quivered throughout, and averted her eyes.

"Look at that," murmured Christian Cantle. "Neighbours, how do we know but that something of the old serpent in God's garden, that gied the apple to the young woman with no clothes, lives on in adders and **snakes** still? Look at his eye--for all the world like a **villainous** sort of black **currant**. 'Tis to be hoped he can't ill-wish us! There's folks in heath who've been overlooked already. I will never kill another adder as long as I live."

"Well, 'tis right to be afeard of things, if folks can't help it," said Grandfer Cantle. "'Twould have saved me many a brave danger in my time."

"I fancy I heard something outside the shed," said Christian. "I wish troubles would come in the daytime, for then a man could show his courage, and hardly beg for mercy of the most **broomstick** old woman he should see, if he was a brave man, and able to run out of her sight!"

"Even such an ignorant fellow as I should know better than do that," said Sam.

"Well, there's calamities where we least expect it, whether or no. Neighbours, if Mrs. Yeobright were to die, d'ye think we should be took up and tried for the manslaughter of a woman?"

Thesaurus

adder: (n) snake, summer, computer, serpent, calculator, nadder, nedder, common viper.

broomstick: (adj) spare, meager, lanky, slight; (n) broomstaft, broom handle. coiling: (v) to coil; (adj) coiled, spiral, spiraling, whorled, sinuous, volute, voluted, turbinate; (n) twisting, convolution.

currant: (*n*) currant bush, shrub, black currant, red currant, raisin, Corinth, dried currant, bush, grape, berry. hazel: (n) cobnut, hazelnut, hazel tree, wood, brown, hazelnut tree, filbert bush, cob, beaked hazelnut, auburn; (adj) chromatic.

intensify: (v) increase, aggravate, escalate, heighten, accelerate, augment, build up, deepen, raise, compound, exacerbate. ANTONYMS: (v) moderate, decrease, reduce, satisfy, lessen, improve, abate, diminish, weaken, alleviate.

snakes: (n) Ophidia, suborder

Serpentes, subclass Lepidosauria, suborder Ophidia, Lepidosauria. stale: (adj, n) musty, moldy; (adj) old, commonplace, hackneyed, insipid, trite, corny, flat, stagnant; (adj, v) dry. ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, original, innovative, airy, new, exceptional, imaginative.

villainous: (adj, v) base, infamous, vile, black, shameful; (adj) heinous, atrocious, depraved, wicked, evil, vicious. "No, they couldn't bring it in as that," said Sam, "unless they could prove we had been poachers at some time of our lives. But she'll fetch round."

"Now, if I had been stung by ten adders I should hardly have lost a day's work for't," said Grandfer Cantle. "Such is my spirit when I am on my **mettle**. But perhaps 'tis natural in a man trained for war. Yes, I've gone through a good deal; but nothing ever came **amiss** to me after I joined the Locals in four." He shook his head and smiled at a mental picture of himself in uniform. "I was always first in the most galliantest scrapes in my younger days!"

"I suppose that was because they always used to put the biggest fool afore," said Fairway from the fire, beside which he knelt, blowing it with his breath.

"D'ye think so, Timothy?" said Grandfer Cantle, coming forward to Fairway's side with sudden depression in his face. "Then a man may feel for years that he is good solid company, and be wrong about himself after all?"

"Never mind that question, Grandfer. Stir your stumps and get some more sticks. 'Tis very nonsense of an old man to prattle so when life and death's in mangling."

"Yes, yes," said Grandfer Cantle, with melancholy conviction. "Well, this is a bad night altogether for them that have done well in their time; and if I were ever such a dab at the **hautboy** or **tenor** viol, I shouldn't have the heart to play tunes upon 'em now."

Susan now arrived with the frying pan, when the live adder was **killed** and the heads of the three taken off. The remainders, being cut into lengths and split open, were tossed into the pan, which began **hissing** and **crackling** over the fire. Soon a **rill** of clear oil trickled from the carcases, whereupon Clym dipped the corner of his handkerchief into the liquid and **anointed** the wound.

Thesaurus

amiss: (adj, adv) wrong; (adj) bad, haywire, faulty, astray, guilty; (adv) badly, poorly, awry, wrongly, adrift. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) right; (adv) perfectly, properly, suitably, appropriately, correctly, well; (adj) okay, correct, good. anointed: (adj) hallowed, divine,

greasy; (v) anoint. **crackling**: (adj, n) crisp; (adj) snapping,

crepitant, cheerful, brittle, noisy; (n) crepitation, decrepitation,

crackleware, crackle China, bohemian crackle.

hautboy: (n) hautbois, corno di bassetto, basset horn, hoboe, serpent, basset oboe, bassoon, contrafagotto, cor anglais, corno Inglese, double bassoon

hissing: (adj) sibilant, sibilous, sibilatory; (n) whistling, heckling, scoffing, sibilance, taunts, sibilation, white noise; (v) fizzle. ANTONYM: (n) applause.

killed: (*n*) casualty; (*adj*) fallen. **mettle**: (*n*) heart, courage, spunk, fortitude, guts, character, spirit, bravery, valor, boldness; (*adj*, *n*) pluck.

rill: (*n*) channel, streamlet, creek, rivulet, run, runnel, stream, bourn, beck, arroyo, watercourse.

tenor: (*n*) purport, meaning, substance, tendency, spirit, tone, mood, effect, set, temper; (*adj*) soprano. 8

EUSTACIA HEARS OF GOOD FORTUNE, AND BEHOLDS EVIL

In the meantime Eustacia, left alone in her cottage at Alderworth, had become considerably depressed by the **posture** of affairs. The consequences which might result from Clym's discovery that his mother had been turned from his door that day were likely to be disagreeable, and this was a quality in events which she hated as much as the dreadful.

To be left to pass the evening by herself was irksome to her at any time, and this evening it was more irksome than usual by reason of the excitements of the past hours. The two visits had stirred her into restlessness. She was not wrought to any great pitch of uneasiness by the probability of appearing in an ill light in the discussion between Clym and his mother, but she was wrought to vexation, and her slumbering activities were quickened to the extent of wishing that she had opened the door. She had certainly believed that Clym was awake, and the excuse would be an honest one as far as it went; but nothing could save her from **censure** in refusing to answer at the first knock. Yet, instead of blaming herself for the issue she laid the fault upon the shoulders of some indistinct, colossal Prince of the World, who had framed her situation and ruled her lot.

Thesaurus

censure: (n, v) accuse, reprimand, reproach, attack, animadversion, abuse; (n) accusation, condemnation; (v) carp, condemn, berate. ANTONYMS: (v) approve, commend, allow, endorse, laud, permit, sanction; (n) approval, blessing, commendation; (n, v)compliment. colossal: (adj) huge, gargantuan,

prodigious, Brobdingnagian, vast, enormous, great, mammoth,

immense, massive, monstrous. ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, small, insignificant, minute, compact, microscopic, miniature, slight. disagreeable: (adj) nasty, offensive, uncomfortable, distasteful, cantankerous, cross, ungrateful, abhorrent, horrible, bad, painful. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, friendly, amiable, inoffensive, acceptable, desirable, easygoing, happy, pleasing, sweet, nice.

framed: (adj) counterfeit, prepared, orderly, methodical, spurious. ANTONYM: (adj) unframed. posture: (n) attitude, condition, stance, deportment, aspect, circumstance, manner, figure, mien; (n, v) pose, quickened: (adj) hasty, rapid, passionate, intoxicated. stirred: (adj) excited, agitated, moved, affected, aroused, emotional, aflame,

Stirn, horny, susceptible, stirred up.

At this time of the year it was pleasanter to walk by night than by day, and when Clym had been **absent** about an hour she suddenly resolved to go out in the direction of Blooms-End, on the chance of meeting him on his return. When she reached the garden gate she heard wheels approaching, and looking round beheld her grandfather coming up in his car.

"I can't stay a minute, thank ye," he answered to her greeting. "I am driving to East Egdon; but I came round here just to tell you the news. Perhaps you have heard--about Mr. Wildeve's **fortune**?"

"No," said Eustacia blankly.

"Well, he has come into a fortune of eleven thousand pounds--uncle died in Canada, just after hearing that all his family, whom he was **sending** home, had gone to the bottom in the Cassiopeia; so Wildeve has come into everything, without in the least expecting it."

Eustacia stood motionless awhile. "How long has he known of this?" she asked.

"Well, it was known to him this morning early, for I knew it at ten o'clock, when Charley came back. Now, he is what I call a lucky man. What a **fool** you were, Eustacia!"

"In what way?" she said, lifting her eyes in apparent calmness.

"Why, in not sticking to him when you had him."

"Had him, indeed!"

"I did not know there had ever been anything between you till lately; and, faith, I should have been hot and strong against it if I had known; but since it seems that there was some sniffing between ye, why the deuce didn't you stick to him?"

Eustacia made no reply, but she looked as if she could say as much upon that subject as he if she **chose**.

"And how is your poor **purblind** husband?" continued the old man. "Not a bad **fellow** either, as far as he goes."

Thesaurus

absent: (adj) wanting, inattentive, not present, preoccupied, lost, missing, faraway, nonexistent, absentminded, out; (adj, adv) off. ANTONYMS: (adj) alert, attendant, attending, existing, here, real, attentive; (adv) in, visible. chose: (v) choose, opt, decide; (n) thing.

fellow: (*adj*, *n*) comrade, associate; (*n*) boy, equal, brother, peer, chap, colleague, compeer, buddy; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) concomitant. ANTONYMS: (*n*)

female, woman, girl, foe, enemy, antagonist, competitor. **fool**: (*n*) blockhead, dunce, clown,

idiot, ass, booby, buffoon; (*v*) deceive, bamboozle; (*n*, *v*) joke, gull.

ANTONYM: (*n*) savant.

fortune: (*n*) estate, fate, fluke, destiny, luck, accident, means, assets, riches, abundance, doom. ANTONYM: (*n*) design.

purblind: (*adj*) obtuse, opaque, dim, dumb, myopic, nearsighted, dense,

dull, blinding, visually impaired; (v) shortsighted.

sending: (*n*) forwarding, dispatch, transmission, transmittal, send, despatch, mailing, transport, dispatching, dispatchment, conveyance.

sticking: (*n*) soldering, adhesion; (*adj*) adhering, clinging, glutinous, viscous, stuck, projected, tenacious, closefisted, cohesive.

"He is quite well."

"It is a good thing for his cousin what-d'ye-call-her? By George, you ought to have been in that galley, my girl! Now I must drive on. Do you want any assistance? What's mine is yours, you know."

"Thank you, Grandfather, we are not in want at present," she said coldly. "Clym cuts furze, but he does it mostly as a useful pastime, because he can do nothing else."

"He is paid for his pastime, isn't he? Three shillings a hundred, I heard."

"Clym has money," she said, colouring, "but he likes to earn a little."

"Very well; good night." And the captain drove on.

When her grandfather was gone Eustacia went on her way **mechanically**; but her thoughts were no longer concerning her mother-in-law and Clym. Wildeve, notwithstanding his complaints against his fate, had been seized upon by destiny and placed in the sunshine once more. Eleven thousand pounds! From every Egdon point of view he was a rich man. In Eustacia's eyes, too, it was an ample sum--one sufficient to supply those wants of hers which had been stigmatized by Clym in his more austere moods as vain and luxurious. Though she was no lover of money she loved what money could bring; and the new accessories she imagined around him clothed Wildeve with a great deal of interest. recollected now how quietly well-dressed he had been that morning--he had probably put on his **newest** suit, regardless of damage by briars and thorns. And then she thought of his manner towards herself.

"O I see it, I see it," she said. "How much he wishes he had me now, that he might give me all I desire!"

In recalling the details of his glances and words--at the time scarcely regarded--it became plain to her how greatly they had been dictated by his knowledge of this new event. "Had he been a man to bear a jilt ill-will he would have told me of his good fortune in **crowing** tones; instead of doing that he mentioned not a word, in deference to my misfortunes, and merely implied that he loved me still, as one superior to him."

Thesaurus

austere: (adj) ascetic, stern, severe, harsh, plain, rigorous, rigid, abstemious, stark, astringent, stiff. ANTONYMS: (adj) ornate, luxurious, frivolous, hedonistic, extravagant, lush, elaborate, spending, sunny, warm, indulgent.

crowing: (adj, n) bragging; (adj) boastful, braggart, big, braggy; (n) brag, jactitation, gasconade, crows, Corvus, bravado. cuts: (n) film waste.

deference: (n) homage, respect, compliance, admiration, allegiance, reverence, obedience, submission, compliancy, duty, complaisance. ANTONYMS: (n) contempt, opposition, rebellion, resistance, disobedience.

galley: (n) cookhouse, caboose, cuddy, galleyfoist, vessel, watercraft, proof, kitchen, slice, trireme. jilt: (v) betray, balk, desert, forsake,

cozen, cully; (n) woman. mechanically: (adv) mechanistically, instinctively, routinely, involuntarily, industrially, unconsciously, automaticly, intuitively, impulsively, technically, technologically. ANTONYMS: (adv) manually, consciously.

newest: (adj) last, up-to-the-minute, up-to-date, novel, fresh, hot, lowest, concluding, fashionable, stylish, final. drop, reject, walk out on, throw over, well-dressed: (adj) handsome.

Wildeve's silence that day on what had happened to him was just the kind of behaviour calculated to make an impression on such a woman. Those delicate touches of good taste were, in fact, one of the strong points in his demeanour towards the other sex. The peculiarity of Wildeve was that, while at one time passionate, **upbraiding**, and resentful towards a woman, at another he would treat her with such unparalleled grace as to make previous neglect appear as no **discourtesy**, injury as no insult, interference as a delicate attention, and the ruin of her honour as excess of **chivalry**. This man, whose admiration today Eustacia had disregarded, whose good wishes she had scarcely taken the trouble to accept, whom she had shown out of the house by the back door, was the **possessor** of eleven thousand pounds--a man of fair professional education, and one who had served his articles with a civil engineer.

So intent was Eustacia upon Wildeve's **fortunes** that she forgot how much closer to her own course were those of Clym; and instead of walking on to meet him at once she sat down upon a stone. She was disturbed in her reverie by a voice behind, and turning her head beheld the old lover and fortunate **inheritor** of wealth immediately beside her.

She remained sitting, though the **fluctuation** in her look might have told any man who knew her so well as Wildeve that she was thinking of him.

"How did you come here?" she said in her clear low tone. "I thought you were at home."

"I went on to the village after leaving your garden; and now I have come back again--that's all. Which way are you walking, may I ask?"

She waved her hand in the direction of Blooms-End. "I am going to meet my husband. I think I may possibly have got into trouble whilst you were with me today."

"How could that be?"

"By not letting in Mrs. Yeobright."

"I hope that visit of mine did you no harm."

"None. It was not your fault," she said quietly.

Thesaurus

politeness, civility.

chivalry: (n) gallantry, knighthood, generosity, courtesy, knight service, courtliness, knight errantry, principle, valiance; (adj, n) heroism; (adj) prowess. ANTONYMS: (n) impoliteness, dishonor, discourtesy, cowardiceourtesy, (v) indignity, rudaness.

discourtesy: (*n*) indignity, rudeness, incivility, affront, contempt, contumely, insult, abruptness, brusqueness, impudence, bad manners. ANTONYMS: (*n*)

fluctuation: (n) vicissitude, wavering, deviation, wobble, swing, undulation, variance, oscillation, hesitation, vibration, modification. ANTONYM: (n) resolution. fortunes: (n) adventures, fortune, personal narrative, life, journal. inheritor: (n) beneficiary, heritor, heiress, successor, recipient, progeny, offspring, legatee, inheritress,

inheritrix, heir presumptive.

ANTONYMS: (n) predecessor, ancestor.

possessor: (n) owner, holder, proprietor, householder, occupant, landowner, landholder, proprietary, somebody, someone, soul. upbraiding: (n) chewing out, bawling out, castigation, dressing down, earful; (adj) abusive, reproachful, base, expressing reproach; (v) chiding, admonish.

By this time she had risen; and they involuntarily sauntered on together, without speaking, for two or three minutes; when Eustacia broke silence by saying, "I assume I must **congratulate** you."

"On what? O yes; on my eleven thousand pounds, you mean. Well, since I didn't get something else, I must be content with getting that."

"You seem very indifferent about it. Why didn't you tell me today when you came?" she said in the tone of a neglected person. "I heard of it quite by accident."

"I did mean to tell you," said Wildeve. "But I--well, I will speak frankly--I did not like to mention it when I saw, Eustacia, that your star was not high. The sight of a man lying **wearied** out with hard work, as your husband lay, made me feel that to **brag** of my own fortune to you would be greatly out of place. Yet, as you stood there beside him, I could not help feeling too that in many respects he was a richer man than I."

At this Eustacia said, with slumbering **mischievousness**, "What, would you exchange with him--your fortune for me?"

"I certainly would," said Wildeve.

"As we are imagining what is impossible and **absurd**, suppose we change the subject?"

"Very well; and I will tell you of my plans for the future, if you care to hear them. I shall **permanently invest** nine thousand pounds, keep one thousand as ready money, and with the remaining thousand travel for a year or so."

"Travel? What a bright idea! Where will you go to?"

"From here to Paris, where I shall pass the winter and spring. Then I shall go to Italy, Greece, Egypt, and Palestine, before the hot weather comes on. In the summer I shall go to America; and then, by a plan not yet settled, I shall go to Australia and round to India. By that time I shall have begun to have had enough of it. Then I shall probably come back to Paris again, and there I shall stay as long as I can afford to."

Thesaurus

absurd: (*adj*) ridiculous, foolish, unreasonable, irrational, meaningless, inept, senseless, nonsensical, illogical, ludicrous; (*adj*, *n*) silly. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) rational, reasonable, logical, wise, weighty, sound, consistent, serious, plausible, credible, acceptable.

brag: (*n*, *v*) bluster, vaunt, crow; (*v*) pride, gasconade, blow, show off, rodomontade; (*n*) boasting, bragging;

(adj) great.

congratulate: (v) compliment, felicitate, preen, pride, celebrate, applaud, joy, salute, commemorate, approve; (n) congratulation. ANTONYMS: (v) commiserate, slur, disparage, belittle, condemn, boo. invest: (n, v) empower, endow, vest, dress; (v) clothe, commit, enthrone, endue, crown, indue, adorn. mischievousness: (n) roguery, impishness, badness, blaze, deviltry, rascality, devilry, devilment,

prankishness, balefulness, wickedness. ANTONYM: (n) seriousness.

permanently: (adv) lastingly, continuously, constantly, stably, steadfastly, everlastingly, for good, abidingly, enduringly, persistently; (adj, adv) forever. ANTONYMS: (adv) briefly, flimsily.

wearied: (adj) jaded, tired, spent, fatigued, weary, prostrate, limp, haggard, shattered, worn, fatigate. "Back to Paris again," she murmured in a voice that was nearly a sigh. She had never once told Wildeve of the Parisian desires which Clym's description had sown in her; yet here was he involuntarily in a position to **gratify** them. "You think a good deal of Paris?" she added.

"Yes. In my opinion it is the central beauty-spot of the world."

"And in mine! And Thomasin will go with you?"

"Yes, if she cares to. She may prefer to stay at home."

"So you will be going about, and I shall be staying here!"

"I suppose you will. But we know whose fault that is."

"I am not blaming you," she said quickly.

"Oh, I thought you were. If ever you *should* be inclined to blame me, think of a certain evening by Rainbarrow, when you promised to meet me and did not. You sent me a letter; and my heart ached to read that as I hope yours never will. That was one point of **divergence**. I then did something in haste....But she is a good woman, and I will say no more."

"I know that the blame was on my side that time," said Eustacia. "But it had not always been so. However, it is my misfortune to be too sudden in feeling. O, Damon, don't reproach me any more--I can't bear that."

They went on silently for a distance of two or three miles, when Eustacia said suddenly, "Haven't you come out of your way, Mr. Wildeve?"

"My way is anywhere tonight. I will go with you as far as the hill on which we can see Blooms-End, as it is getting late for you to be alone."

"Don't trouble. I am not **obliged** to be out at all. I think I would rather you did not **accompany** me further. This sort of thing would have an odd look if known."

"Very well, I will leave you." He took her hand **unexpectedly**, and kissed itfor the first time since her marriage. "What light is that on the hill?" he added, as it were to hide the **caress**.

Thesaurus

accompany: (v) attend, follow, companion, guide, company, lead, walk, associate, consort, conduct, concur. ANTONYMS: (v) desert, abandon, leave.

caress: (v) stroke, fondle, tickle, pat, pet, kiss, nuzzle, cuddle, coddle; (n, v) touch; (n) endearment.

ANTONYM: (n) hit.

divergence: (*n*) disagreement, dissimilarity, difference, deviation, contrast, departure, split, divarication, variation, digression; (adj, n) variance. ANTONYMS: (n) meeting, agreement, amalgamation, concurrence, conformity, concord, similarity.

gratify: (v) delight, please, appease, accommodate, satisfy, amuse, suit, indulge, cater; (n, v) humor; (adf) contented. ANTONYMS: (v) dissatisfy, displease, disappoint. obliged: (adj) grateful, thankful, appreciative, forced, accountable,

compelled; (adj, v) bound, under obligation; (adj, prep) indebted; (v) oblige, binding. ANTONYM: (adj) ungrateful.

unexpectedly: (adv) by chance, suddenly, abruptly, casually, unforeseenly, unawares, surprisingly, unanticipatedly, hastily, strangely, circumstantially. ANTONYMS: (adv) intentionally, gradually, normally, predictably.

She looked, and saw a **flickering** firelight proceeding from the open side of a hovel a little way before them. The hovel, which she had hitherto always found empty, seemed to be inhabited now.

"Since you have come so far," said Eustacia, "will you see me safely past that hut? I thought I should have met Clym somewhere about here, but as he doesn't appear I will hasten on and get to Blooms-End before he leaves."

They advanced to the turf-shed, and when they got near it the firelight and the lantern inside showed distinctly enough the form of a woman reclining on a bed of fern, a group of heath men and women standing around her. Eustacia did not recognize Mrs. Yeobright in the reclining figure, nor Clym as one of the standers-by till she came close. Then she quickly pressed her hand up on Wildeve's arm and signified to him to come back from the open side of the shed into the shadow.

"It is my husband and his mother," she whispered in an agitated voice. "What can it mean? Will you step forward and tell me?"

Wildeve left her side and went to the back wall of the hut. Presently Eustacia perceived that he was **beckoning** to her, and she advanced and joined him.

"It is a serious case," said Wildeve.

From their position they could hear what was proceeding inside.

"I cannot think where she could have been going," said Clym to someone. "She had evidently walked a long way, but even when she was able to speak just now she would not tell me where. What do you really think of her?"

"There is a great deal to fear," was gravely answered, in a voice which Eustacia recognized as that of the only surgeon in the district. "She has suffered somewhat from the bite of the adder; but it is exhaustion which has overpowered her. My impression is that her walk must have been exceptionally long."

"I used to tell her not to overwalk herself this weather," said Clym, with distress. "Do you think we did well in using the adder's fat?"

"Well, it is a very ancient remedy--the old remedy of the viper-catchers, I believe," replied the doctor. "It is mentioned as an infallible ointment by

Thesaurus

agitated: (adj) upset, excited, nervous, restive, tumultuous, distressed, tense, jumpy, overwrought, anxious, alarmed. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, lethargic, tranquil, relaxed, assured,

beckoning: (adj) irresistible. flickering: (adj) sparkling, aflicker, desultory, capricious, glistening, shimmering, glittering; (n) twinkling, flicker, fluttering; (adv) flickeringly. gravely: (adv) seriously, soberly,

severely, solemnly, badly, staidly, momentously, heavily, earnestly, weightily, grievously. ANTONYMS: (adv) lightheartedly, mildly, slightly;

hitherto: (adv) as yet, yet, so far, up to now, until now, thus far, before, hereunto, to date, still, all the same. **hovel**: (*n*) hut, cot, booth, hole, cottage, **reclining**: (*adj*, *v*) leaning; (*adj*) hutch, shanty, bothy, shed, shack, croft. ANTONYM: (n) mansion. infallible: (adj) sure, inevitable,

positive, inerrable, unfailing, absolute, confident, definite, dependable; (adj, v) unerring; (n)sterling. ANTONYMS: (adj) fallible,

ointment: (n) cream, salve, balm, unguent, unction, oil, lotion, grease, plaster, embrocation, liniment. recumbent, decumbent, accumbent, lying, lying down, obligatory, idle, prone, prostrate; (n) relaxation.

Hoffman, Mead, and I think the Abbe Fontana. Undoubtedly it was as good a thing as you could do; though I question if some other **oils** would not have been equally efficacious."

"Come here, come here!" was then rapidly said in anxious female tones, and Clym and the doctor could be heard rushing forward from the back part of the shed to where Mrs. Yeobright lay.

"Oh, what is it?" whispered Eustacia.

"Twas Thomasin who spoke," said Wildeve. "Then they have fetched her. I wonder if I had better go in--yet it might do harm."

For a long time there was utter silence among the group within; and it was broken at last by Clym saying, in an **agonized** voice, "O Doctor, what does it mean?"

The doctor did not reply at once; ultimately he said, "She is **sinking** fast. Her heart was previously affected, and physical **exhaustion** has dealt the finishing blow."

Then there was a weeping of women, then waiting, then **hushed** exclamations, then a strange **gasping** sound, then a painful **stillness**.

"It is all over," said the doctor.

Further back in the hut the cotters whispered, "Mrs. Yeobright is dead."

Almost at the same moment the two watchers observed the form of a small old-fashioned child entering at the open side of the shed. Susan Nunsuch, whose boy it was, went forward to the opening and silently beckoned to him to go back.

"I've got something to tell 'ee, Mother," he cried in a **shrill** tone. "That woman asleep there walked along with me today; and she said I was to say that I had seed her, and she was a broken-hearted woman and cast off by her son, and then I came on home."

A confused sob as from a man was heard within, upon which Eustacia gasped faintly, "That's Clym--I must go to him--yet dare I do it? No--come away!"

Thesaurus

agonized: (adj) distressed, painful, woeful, tormented, suffering, miserable, hurt.

exhaustion: (n) consumption, enervation, tiredness, lassitude, attrition, weakening, weariness, inanition, weakness; (adj, n) collapse; (adj) prostration. ANTONYMS: (n) vitality, pep, restoration, vim.

gasping: (adj) panting, winded, blown, out of breath, thirsty, pursy; (v) spavined, touched in the wind.

hushed: (adj) calm, silent, still, subdued, placid, muffled, noiseless, soft, soundless, tranquil, gentle. ANTONYM: (adj) noisy. oils: (n) oil paint. shrill: (adj) piercing, penetrating, strident, keen, shrewd; (v) shriek, screech, scream, yell; (adj, v) high, sharp. ANTONYMS: (adj) low, quiet, resonant. sinking: (n) sinkage, settling, fall, descent, foundering, depression,

immersion, submersion, submergence; (v) decrease, decline. ANTONYM: (adj) rising. stillness: (n) hush, calmness, immobility, serenity, silence, quietness, peacefulness; (adj, n) calm, quiet, peace, still. ANTONYMS: (n) bustle, movement, uproar, motion, turbulence, turmoil, vigor, disturbance, chaos, agitation.

When they had withdrawn from the neighbourhood of the **shed** she said huskily, "I am to **blame** for this. There is **evil** in **store** for me."

"Was she not **admitted** to your house after all?" Wildeve inquired.

"No, and that's where it all lies! Oh, what shall I do! I shall not intrude upon them--I shall go straight home. Damon, good-bye! I cannot speak to you any more now."

They parted company; and when Eustacia had reached the next hill she looked back. A melancholy **procession** was wending its way by the light of the lantern from the hut towards Blooms-End. Wildeve was **nowhere** to be seen.

Thesaurus

admitted: (v) admitting, understood, of course; (adj) acknowledged, undisputed, known, orthodox. blame: (v) arraign, chide; (n, v) reprimand, censure, attack, charge, reproach, rap, rebuke, fault; (n) onus. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise; (v) absolve, exonerate, commend, clear, acquit; (n) vindication, exoneration, honor, absolution, glory. evil: (adj) bad, criminal, corrupt, wicked, destructive, depraved; (adj,

n) ill, detriment; (n) adversity, disaster, depravity. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, righteousness, morality; (adj) kindhearted, righteous, benign, moral, pure, upright, virtuous, sinless.

nowhere: (*n*) obscurity, limbo; (*adv*) not anywhere, nowhither, without, not anywhither; (*adj*) tiresome, vapid, uninteresting, tasteless, prosaic. **procession**: (*n*) march, convoy, cortege, cavalcade, file, string,

pageant, series, sequence, progress,

shed: (v) discard, drop, moult, scatter, exuviate, molt, cast off, dismiss; (n) shack, hut, cabin. ANTONYMS: (v) keep, cover; (adj) persistent.

store: (*n*, *v*) stock, hoard, bank, cache, supply; (*n*) shop, market, business; (*v*) accumulate, garner, keep. ANTONYMS: (*v*) spend, delete; (*n*) dearth.

BOOK FIVE THE DISCOVERY

1

"WHEREFORE IS LIGHT GIVEN TO HIM THAT IS IN MISERY"

One evening, about three weeks after the funeral of Mrs. Yeobright, when the silver face of the moon sent a **bundle** of beams directly upon the floor of Clym's house at Alderworth, a woman came **forth** from within. She reclined over the garden gate as if to **refresh** herself awhile. The pale **lunar** touches which make beauties of hags lent **divinity** to this face, already beautiful.

She had not long been there when a man came up the road and with some **hesitation** said to her, "How is he tonight, ma'am, if you please?"

"He is better, though still very unwell, Humphrey," replied Eustacia.

"Is he light-headed, ma'am?"

"No. He is quite sensible now."

"Do he **rave** about his mother just the same, poor fellow?" continued Humphrey.

"Just as much, though not quite so wildly," she said in a low voice.

Thesaurus

bundle: (n, v) pack, cluster, clump, wad; (n) sheaf, pile, batch, stack, package, group, heap. ANTONYMS: (v) scatter, separate, disperse, divide. divinity: (n) God, theology, divineness, immortal, godship, godhead, spirit, demiurge, apologetics, demigod; (adj, n) the Deity. ANTONYM: (n) devil. forth: (adv) away, along, onward, ahead, before, on, off, on the high road, on the road, on the way, under

way.
hesitation: (n, v) falter, fear; (n)
hesitance, faltering, delay, hesitate,
diffidence, hesitancy, qualm,
reluctance; (v) hesitating.
ANTONYMS: (n) certainty,
resolution, confidence, decisiveness,
enthusiasm, inclination, willingness.
light-headed: (adj) dizzy, flighty,
skittish, queer, faint, lightheaded.
lunar: (adj) quartilunar, sublunar,
superlunar, astronomical,

astrophysical, astral, lunary, planetary, cosmological.

rave: (adj, n, v) fume; (n, v) rant; (adj, n) foam; (v) wander, jabber, gush, storm, tear, bluster; (adj, v) boil; (adj) flame. ANTONYM: (v) criticize.

refresh: (v) air, enliven, invigorate, update, comfort, regenerate, rejuvenate, cool, renew, restore; (adj) refreshing. ANTONYMS: (v) exhaust, tire, weary, stagnate, drain, kill.

"It was very unfortunate, ma'am, that the boy Johnny should ever ha' told him his mother's dying words, about her being broken-hearted and cast off by her son. 'Twas enough to upset any man alive."

Eustacia made no reply beyond that of a slight catch in her breath, as of one who fain would speak but could not; and Humphrey, declining her invitation to come in, went away.

Eustacia turned, entered the house, and ascended to the front bedroom, where a shaded light was burning. In the bed lay Clym, pale, **haggard**, wide awake, tossing to one side and to the other, his eyes lit by a hot light, as if the fire in their pupils were burning up their substance.

"Is it you, Eustacia?" he said as she sat down.

"Yes, Clym. I have been down to the gate. The moon is shining beautifully, and there is not a leaf stirring."

"Shining, is it? What's the moon to a man like me? Let it shine--let anything be, so that I never see another day!...Eustacia, I don't know where to look--my thoughts go through me like swords. O, if any man wants to make himself **immortal** by painting a picture of **wretchedness**, let him come here!"

"Why do you say so?"

"I cannot help feeling that I did my best to kill her."

"No, Clym."

"Yes, it was so; it is useless to excuse me! My conduct to her was too hideous-I made no advances; and she could not bring herself to forgive me. Now she is dead! If I had only shown myself willing to make it up with her sooner, and we had been friends, and then she had died, it wouldn't be so hard to bear. But I never went near her house, so she never came near mine, and didn't know how welcome she would have been--that's what troubles me. She did not know I was going to her house that very night, for she was too **insensible** to understand me. If she had only come to see me! I longed that she would. But it was not to be."

There escaped from Eustacia one of those **shivering** sighs which used to shake her like a **pestilent blast**. She had not yet told.

Thesaurus

blast: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) discharge, explosion, burst; (*n*, *v*) attack, slam, smash, boom, blight, roar; (*adj*, *v*) blow up; (*v*) detonate.

haggard: (adj) emaciated, gaunt, cadaverous, careworn, tired, worn, lean, thin, wasted, pinched, squalid. ANTONYMS: (adj) relaxed, carefree, healthy.

immortal: (adj) eternal, enduring, undying, endless, monumental; (adj, v) deathless, imperishable, celebrated; (n) deity, God, divinity.
ANTONYMS: (adj) obscure, earthly, forgettable, perishable, temporary.
insensible: (adj) imperceptible, numb, unconscious, callous, dull, unaware, apathetic, impassive, indiscernible, comatose, impassible. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, conscious, sensitive, awake, alive, compassionate, concerned, aware.
pestilent: (adj) mortal, deathly,

pestilent: (*adj*) mortal, deathly, pernicious, deadly, baneful, fatal,

harmful, noxious, pestiferous, plaguey, bothersome. ANTONYM: (*adj*) delightful.

shivering: (*adj*) quivering, shaking, trembling, shaky, quaking, tremulous, shuddering, chilled; (*n*) chill, cold, shiver. ANTONYM: (*adj*) composed.

wretchedness: (n) unhappiness, grief, distress, desolation, woe, sorrow, anguish, infelicity, tribulation, affliction, misfortune.

But Yeobright was too deeply absorbed in the ramblings incidental to his remorseful state to notice her. During his illness he had been continually talking thus. Despair had been added to his original grief by the unfortunate disclosure of the boy who had received the last words of Mrs. Yeobright--words too bitterly uttered in an hour of misapprehension. Then his distress had overwhelmed him, and he longed for death as a field labourer longs for the shade. It was the pitiful sight of a man standing in the very focus of sorrow. He continually bewailed his tardy journey to his mother's house, because it was an error which could never be rectified, and insisted that he must have been horribly perverted by some fiend not to have thought before that it was his duty to go to her, since she did not come to him. He would ask Eustacia to agree with him in his selfcondemnation; and when she, seared inwardly by a secret she dared not tell, declared that she could not give an opinion, he would say, "That's because you didn't know my mother's nature. She was always ready to forgive if asked to do so; but I seemed to her to be as an obstinate child, and that made her unvielding. Yet not unvielding--she was proud and reserved, no more....Yes, I can understand why she held out against me so long. She was waiting for me. I dare say she said a hundred times in her sorrow, 'What a return he makes for all the sacrifices I have made for him!' I never went to her! When I set out to visit her it was too late. To think of that is nearly intolerable!"

Sometimes his condition had been one of utter remorse, unsoftened by a single tear of pure sorrow: and then he writhed as he lay, fevered far more by thought than by physical ills. "If I could only get one assurance that she did not die in a belief that I was resentful," he said one day when in this mood, "it would be better to think of than a hope of heaven. But that I cannot do."

"You give yourself up too much to this wearying despair," said Eustacia. "Other men's mothers have died."

"That doesn't make the loss of mine less. Yet it is less the loss than the circumstances of the loss. I sinned against her, and on that account there is no light for me."

"She sinned against you, I think."

Thesaurus

fiend: (n) monster, devil, fanatic, brute, deuce, incubus, goblin, ogre, enthusiast, daemon, addict. ANTONYM: (n) angel. labourer: (n) laborer, toiler, peon, navvy, porter, docker, gravedigger, hodman, hewer, digger, drudge. perverted: (adj) perverse, immoral, distorted, kinky, corrupt, twisted, abnormal, debauched, deviant, reprobate, unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, moral, unchanged.

pitiful: (adj, n) abject; (adj) pathetic, lamentable, piteous, contemptible, miserable, distressing, mean, wretched, poor, sad. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, heartwarming, admirable, cheerful, fine, happy, impressive.

remorseful: (adj) penitent, regretful, apologetic, sorry, repentant, regret, sad, rueful, bad, compunctious, compassionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) glad, unremorseful. sacrifices: (n) holocaust. seared: (adj) arid, dry as a bone, recusant, parched. ANTONYM: (adj)

self-condemnation: (*n*) regret, penitence, guilt.

tardy: (adj, adv, v) late; (adj, v) slow, remiss; (adj, adv) backward, dilatory, behindhand; (adj) belated, slack, overdue, delayed, sluggish.
ANTONYMS: (adj) early, punctual, premature, speedy.

"No, she did not. I committed the guilt; and may the whole burden be upon my head!"

"I think you might consider twice before you say that," Eustacia replied. "Single men have, no doubt, a right to curse themselves as much as they please; but men with wives involve two in the doom they pray down."

"I am in too sorry a state to understand what you are refining on," said the wretched man. "Day and night shout at me, 'You have helped to kill her.' But in loathing myself I may, I own, be unjust to you, my poor wife. Forgive me for it, Eustacia, for I scarcely know what I do."

Eustacia was always anxious to avoid the sight of her husband in such a state as this, which had become as dreadful to her as the trial scene was to Judas Iscariot. It brought before her eyes the spectre of a worn-out woman knocking at a door which she would not open; and she shrank from contemplating it. Yet it was better for Yeobright himself when he spoke openly of his sharp regret, for in silence he endured infinitely more, and would sometimes remain so long in a tense, brooding mood, consuming himself by the **gnawing** of his thought, that it was imperatively necessary to make him talk aloud, that his grief might in some degree **expend** itself in the effort.

Eustacia had not been long indoors after her look at the moonlight when a soft **footstep** came up to the house, and Thomasin was announced by the woman downstairs.

"Ah, Thomasin! Thank you for coming tonight," said Clym when she entered the room. "Here am I, you see. Such a wretched spectacle am I, that I shrink from being seen by a single friend, and almost from you."

"You must not shrink from me, dear Clym," said Thomasin earnestly, in that sweet voice of hers which came to a sufferer like fresh air into a Black Hole. "Nothing in you can ever shock me or drive me away. I have been here before, but you don't remember it."

"Yes, I do; I am not delirious, Thomasin, nor have I been so at all. Don't you believe that if they say so. I am only in great misery at what I have done, and

Thesaurus

delirious: (adj) crazy, wild, frantic, wandering, demented, excited, insane, mad, frenetic, doting, drunk. ANTONYMS: (adj) unexcited, rational, composed, relaxed, reasonable, balanced, lucid, collected, imperatively: (adv) commandingly, clearheaded, calm, dejected. expend: (v) disburse, exhaust, spend, dissipate, squander, use, deplete, employ, to spend, absorb, swallow up. ANTONYMS: (v) save, hold, keep.

footstep: (n) pace, footfall, track, footmark, vestige, tread, trail, stride, degree; (n, v) step, action. gnawing: (v) corroding, biting; (n)

imperiously, urgently, pressingly, authoritatively, obligatorily, essentially, magisterially, necessarily, shrank: (v) minify. instantly, critically.

loathing: (n, v) abomination, aversion, dislike, distaste; (n) hate, hatred,

abhorrence, detestation, nausea, antipathy, execration. ANTONYMS: (n) love, adoration, liking, delight, goodwill.

refining: (n) purification, decontamination, cleansing, nuance, nicety, polish, processing; (v) clarify, refine, explain; (adj) educating.

worn-out: (adj) stale, trite, threadbare, worn, hackneyed, jaded, old, rundown, dilapidated, disabled, beat.

that, with the weakness, makes me seem mad. But it has not upset my reason. Do you think I should remember all about my mother's death if I were out of my mind? No such good luck. Two months and a half, Thomasin, the last of her life, did my poor mother live alone, distracted and mourning because of me; yet she was unvisited by me, though I was living only six miles off. Two months and a half--seventy-five days did the sun rise and set upon her in that deserted state which a dog didn't deserve! Poor people who had nothing in common with her would have cared for her, and visited her had they known her sickness and loneliness; but I, who should have been all to her, stayed away like a cur. If there is any justice in God let Him kill me now. He has nearly blinded me, but that is not enough. If He would only strike me with more pain I would believe in Him forever!"

"Hush, hush! O, pray, Clym, don't, don't say it!" implored Thomasin, affrighted into sobs and tears; while Eustacia, at the other side of the room, though her pale face remained calm, writhed in her chair. Clym went on without heeding his cousin.

"But I am not worth receiving further proof even of Heaven's reprobation. Do you think, Thomasin, that she knew me--that she did not die in that horrid mistaken notion about my not forgiving her, which I can't tell you how she acquired? If you could only assure me of that! Do you think so, Eustacia? Do speak to me."

"I think I can assure you that she knew better at last," said Thomasin. The pallid Eustacia said nothing.

"Why didn't she come to my house? I would have taken her in and showed her how I loved her in spite of all. But she never came; and I didn't go to her, and she died on the heath like an animal kicked out, nobody to help her till it was too late. If you could have seen her, Thomasin, as I saw her--a poor dying woman, lying in the dark upon the bare ground, moaning, nobody near, believing she was utterly deserted by all the world, it would have moved you to anguish, it would have moved a brute. And this poor woman my mother! No wonder she said to the child, 'You have seen a broken-hearted woman.' What a

Thesaurus

affrighted: (adj) frightful, eery; (prep) affright.

brute: (adj) brutal, harsh, gruff, brutish; (adj, n) animal, savage; (n)barbarian, fiend, creature, monster; (adv) beastly. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, refined, mild, gentle; (n) gentleman.

forgiving: (adj) compassionate, lenient, tolerant, charitable, remissive, humane, kind, magnanimous, generous, merciful, mild. ANTONYMS: (adj) unforgiving, hardhearted, impatient,

horrid: (adj) grisly, ghastly, ugly, gruesome, grim, fearful, dreadful, direful, dire, horrible, fearsome. ANTONYMS: (adj) lovely, nice, appealing, attractive, kind.

moaning: (n, v) lamentation; (adj)groaning, whining, funereal, inarticulate, dirgeful; (n) complaining, mourning.

mourning: (n) lament, lamentation, bereavement, gloom, woe, memorial, sorrowfulness, sadness, sorrow; (adj) grieving; (v) lamenting.

reprobation: (n) disapproval, condemnation, blame, reproof, expostulation, remonstrance, censure; (adj) hardening, backsliding, perversion, declension.

unvisited: (adj) unwelcome, off the beaten path, uninvited.

state she must have been brought to, to say that! and who can have done it but I? It is too dreadful to think of, and I wish I could be punished more heavily than I am. How long was I what they called out of my senses?"

"A week, I think."

"And then I became calm."

"Yes, for four days."

"And now I have left off being calm."

"But try to be quiet--please do, and you will soon be strong. If you could remove that impression from your mind--"

"Yes, yes," he said **impatiently**. "But I don't want to get strong. What's the use of my getting well? It would be better for me if I die, and it would certainly be better for Eustacia. Is Eustacia there?"

"Yes."

"It would be better for you, Eustacia, if I were to die?"

"Don't press such a question, dear Clym."

"Well, it really is but a shadowy **supposition**; for unfortunately I am going to live. I feel myself getting better. Thomasin, how long are you going to stay at the inn, now that all this money has come to your husband?"

"Another month or two, probably; until my illness is over. We cannot get off till then. I think it will be a month or more."

"Yes, yes. Of course. Ah, Cousin Tamsie, you will get over your trouble--one little month will take you through it, and bring something to **console** you; but I shall never get over mine, and no **consolation** will come!"

"Clym, you are unjust to yourself. Depend upon it, Aunt thought **kindly** of you. I know that, if she had lived, you would have been reconciled with her."

"But she didn't come to see me, though I asked her, before I married, if she would come. Had she come, or had I gone there, she would never have died saying, 'I am a broken-hearted woman, cast off by my son.' My door has always

Thesaurus

consolation: (n) comfort, relief, balm, succor, ease, cheer, solacement, encouragement, sympathy, alleviation, express sympathy. ANTONYMS: (n) grief, sorrow, distress, discouragement, aggravation.

console: (v) cheer, soothe, quiet, relieve, reassure, encourage; (n, v) solace; (n) cabinet, allay, control console, control panel. ANTONYMS: (v) hurt, discourage, grieve, sadden,

distress, dispirit, dishearten, upset. impatiently: (adv) petulantly, restlessly, keenly, intolerantly, hastily, avidly, uneasily, enthusiastically, edgily, fidgetily, restively. ANTONYMS: (adv) uncomplainingly, calmly, unenthusiastically, lightly. kindly: (adj) kind, amiable, genial, charitable; (adv) sympathetically, benevolently, tenderly; (adj, n) benign, gentle, sympathetic,

benevolent. ANTONYMS: (adv) harshly, nastily, callously, cruelly, sharply, disagreeably, grumpily, malevolently; (adj) upsetting, unfeeling, sour.

supposition: (*n*, *v*) conjecture; (*n*) assumption, hypothesis, presumption, premise, speculation, surmise, guess, supposal, thought, imagination. ANTONYMS: (*n*) fact, knowledge, proof, reality, practice.

been open to her--a welcome here has always **awaited** her. But that she never came to see."

"You had better not talk any more now, Clym," said Eustacia faintly from the other part of the room, for the scene was growing **intolerable** to her.

"Let me talk to you instead for the little time I shall be here," Thomasin said soothingly. "Consider what a **one**-sided way you have of looking at the matter, Clym. When she said that to the little boy you had not found her and taken her into your arms; and it might have been uttered in a moment of bitterness. It was rather like Aunt to say things in haste. She sometimes used to speak so to me. Though she did not come I am convinced that she thought of coming to see you. Do you suppose a man's mother could live two or three months without one forgiving thought? She forgave me; and why should she not have **forgiven** you?"

"You **laboured** to win her round; I did nothing. I, who was going to teach people the higher secrets of happiness, did not know how to keep out of that gross **misery** which the most **untaught** are wise enough to avoid."

"How did you get here tonight, Thomasin?" said Eustacia.

"Damon set me down at the end of the lane. He has **driven** into East Egdon on business, and he will come and pick me up by-and-by."

Accordingly they soon after heard the noise of wheels. Wildeve had come, and was waiting outside with his horse and gig.

"Send out and tell him I will be down in two minutes," said Thomasin.

"I will run down myself," said Eustacia.

She went down. Wildeve had alighted, and was standing before the horse's head when Eustacia opened the door. He did not turn for a moment, thinking the comer Thomasin. Then he looked, startled ever so little, and said one word: "Well?"

"I have not yet told him," she replied in a whisper.

"Then don't do so till he is well--it will be fatal. You are ill yourself."

Thesaurus

awaited: (adj) expected, appointed, scheduled, forthcoming, prospective. driven: (v) drive, impel, operate, propel; (adj) impelled, compulsive, motivated, involuntary, dynamic, successful; (n) drove. forgiven: (v) conciliatory, placable.

forgiven: (v) conciliatory, placable. intolerable: (adj) unbearable, insupportable, painful, obnoxious, detestable, inexcusable, deplorable, undesirable, hard, excruciating, difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) bearable,

tolerable, acceptable, reasonable, nice, understandable, lovable, excusable, inoffensive, manageable. laboured: (adj) labored, forced, arduous, hard, strained, difficult, laborious, grievous, grave, weighty, unnatural.

misery: (*adj*, *n*) grief; (*n*, *v*) distress; (*n*) affliction, agony, anguish, woe, hardship, evil, ill, infelicity, suffering. ANTONYMS: (*n*) joy, ecstasy, cheerfulness, fun, hopefulness, peace,

contentment, pleasure, wealth, sport,

one-sided: (adj) unfair, unilateral, unjust, unequal, uneven, prejudiced, colored, doctrinaire, dogmatic, intolerant, jaundiced.
untaught: (adj) illiterate, ignorant, unschooled, uninformed, untutored,

unschooled, uninformed, untutored, uninstructed, uncultivated, unlicked, unnurtured, unhatched, unfledged.
ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, educated, literate, economical.

"I am wretched....O Damon," she said, **bursting** into tears, "I--I can't tell you how unhappy I am! I can hardly bear this. I can tell nobody of my trouble-nobody knows of it but you."

"Poor girl!" said Wildeve, **visibly** affected at her distress, and at last led on so far as to take her hand. "It is hard, when you have done nothing to deserve it, that you should have got involved in such a web as this. You were not made for these sad scenes. I am to blame most. If I could only have saved you from it all!"

"But, Damon, please **pray** tell me what I must do? To sit by him hour after hour, and hear him reproach himself as being the cause of her death, and to know that I am the sinner, if any human being is at all, drives me into cold despair. I don't know what to do. Should I tell him or should I not tell him? I always am asking myself that. O, I want to tell him; and yet I am afraid. If he find it out he must surely kill me, for nothing else will be in proportion to his feelings now. 'Beware the fury of a patient man' sounds day by day in my ears as I watch him."

"Well, wait till he is better, and trust to chance. And when you tell, you must only tell part--for his own sake."

"Which part should I keep back?"

Wildeve paused. "That I was in the house at the time," he said in a low tone.

"Yes; it must be **concealed**, seeing what has been whispered. How much easier are hasty actions than speeches that will excuse them!"

"If he were only to die--" Wildeve murmured.

"Do not think of it! I would not buy hope of **immunity** by so **cowardly** a desire even if I hated him. Now I am going up to him again. Thomasin bade me tell you she would be down in a few minutes. Good-bye."

She returned, and Thomasin soon appeared. When she was seated in the gig with her husband, and the horse was turning to go off, Wildeve lifted his eyes to the bedroom windows. Looking from one of them he could discern a pale, tragic face watching him drive away. It was Eustacia's.

Thesaurus

bursting: (adj) explosive, teeming, chock-full, full, complete, paroxysmal, exploding, disruptive, detonating, crowded; (n) outbreak. ANTONYM: (adj) hungry. concealed: (adj) covert, clandestine, blind, occult, secret, mysterious, obscure, buried, invisible, secreted, surreptitious. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconcealed, available, overt, open, divulged, Shown, revealed, disclosed, uncovered, noticeable,

mainstream.

cowardly: (adj, adv) dastardly, scared, shrinking; (adj) timid, afraid, craven, gutless, sneaky, fainthearted, faint; (adv) recreantly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) brave, daring, bold, courageous; (adj) intrepid, fearless, strong, determined; (adv) dauntless, gutsy, unafraid.

immunity: (*n*) freedom, franchise, dispensation, privilege, exception, relief, invulnerability, exoneration,

excuse, safety, liberty. ANTONYMS: (n) susceptibility, liability, inclusion. pray: (v) beg, implore, entreat, crave, invite, plead, beseech, appeal, importune, adjure, invoke. ANTONYM: (v) reject. visibly: (adv) apparently, noticeably, manifestly, obviously, plainly, perceptibly, appreciably, clearly, discernibly, overtly, conspicuously. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly,

invisibly, secretly, ambiguously.

2

A LURID LIGHT BREAKS IN UPON A DARKENED UNDERSTANDING

Clym's **grief** became **mitigated** by wearing itself out. His strength returned, and a month after the visit of Thomasin he might have been seen walking about the garden. Endurance and **despair**, equanimity and gloom, the tints of health and the pallor of death, mingled **weirdly** in his face. He was now unnaturally silent upon all of the past that related to his mother; and though Eustacia knew that he was thinking of it none the less, she was only too glad to escape the **topic** ever to bring it up anew. When his mind had been weaker his heart had led him to speak out; but reason having now somewhat recovered itself he sank into taciturnity.

One evening when he was thus standing in the garden, abstractedly spudding up a **weed** with his stick, a **bony** figure turned the corner of the house and came up to him.

"Christian, isn't it?" said Clym. "I am glad you have found me out. I shall soon want you to go to Blooms- End and assist me in putting the house in order. I suppose it is all **locked** up as I left it?"

"Yes, Mister Clym."

Thesaurus

bony: (adj) osseous, gaunt, lean, thin, emaciated, scrawny, skinny, angular, lanky, meager, boney. ANTONYMS: (adj) plump, boneless, fat, stout. despair: (n) disappointment, desolation, dejection, melancholy, gloom, desperation, depression, dismay, discouragement, pessimism, sorrow. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, hopefulness, expectation, joy, cheer, cheerfulness, resilience, elation, joyfulness.

grief: (adj, n, v) affliction; (n) dolor, anguish, distress, agony, pain, wound, chagrin, concern; (n, v) regret; (adj) sore. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, happiness, comfort, content, peace.

locked: (adj) bolted, closed, fast, barred, blocked, fixed, guaranteed, barricaded, safe, protected, fastened. mitigated: (adj) eased, palliate, ease, relieved, disguised, cloaked. topic: (n) theme, question, matter, affair, issue, text, point, business, subject matter, substance, area. weed: (n) grass, marijuana, pot, plant, fireweed, smoke, ganja; (v) eliminate, hoe, plow; (adj) pick. weirdly: (adv) strangely, curiously, peculiarly, quaintly, uncannily, eccentrically, unusually, mysteriously, queerly, bizarrely, supernaturally. ANTONYM: (adv) ordinarily.

"Have you dug up the **potatoes** and other roots?"

"Yes, without a **drop** o' rain, thank God. But I was coming to tell 'ee of something else which is quite different from what we have lately had in the family. I am sent by the rich **gentleman** at the Woman, that we used to call the **landlord**, to tell 'ee that Mrs. Wildeve is doing well of a girl, which was born punctually at one o'clock at noon, or a few minutes more or less; and 'tis said that expecting of this increase is what have kept 'em there since they came into their money."

"And she is getting on well, you say?"

"Yes, sir. Only Mr. Wildeve is twanky because 'tisn't a boy--that's what they say in the kitchen, but I was not supposed to notice that."

"Christian, now listen to me."

"Yes, sure, Mr. Yeobright."

"Did you see my mother the day before she died?"

"No, I did not."

Yeobright's face **expressed** disappointment.

"But I zeed her the morning of the same day she died."

Clym's look lighted up. "That's nearer still to my meaning," he said.

"Yes, I know 'twas the same day; for she said, 'I be going to see him, Christian; so I shall not want any vegetables brought in for dinner."

"See whom?"

"See you. She was going to your house, you understand."

Yeobright regarded Christian with **intense** surprise. "Why did you never **mention** this?" he said. "Are you sure it was my house she was coming to?"

"O yes. I didn't mention it because I've never zeed you lately. And as she didn't get there it was all **nought**, and nothing to tell."

Thesaurus

drop: (*n*, *v*) decline, dribble, deposit, decrease, jump, ebb; (*adj*, *n*, *v*) collapse; (*v*) droop, sink, cast, drip. ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) increase; (*v*) lift, pour, sharpen, raise, recuperate; (*n*) growth, mass, lot, upswing, elevation. **expressed**: (*adi*) express, spoken,

expressed: (adj) express, spoken, phrased, explicit, voiced, expresssed, verbal, verbalized, verbalised, unequivocal, graphic. gentleman: (n) gent, Mr, male, patrician, sir, adult male, esquire, sahib, gentlemen; (adj) gentilhomme, gentlemanly.

gentlemanly.

intense: (adj) acute, deep, brilliant,
fervent, fierce, ardent, burning,
severe, furious, extreme; (adj, v)
vivid. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, calm,
weak, slight, imperceptible,
superficial, shallow, gentle, dim,
insignificant, relaxed.

landlord: (n) laird, proprietor,

landlord: (*n*) laird, proprietor, landlady, owner, landholder, land

holder, land owner, innkeeper, property owner, slumlord, publican. ANTONYM: (n) occupant. mention: (n, v) comment, name, remark, call, hint; (v) cite, observe, commend; (n) allusion, citation, reference. ANTONYM: (v) conceal. nought: (adj, n) nil, naught, zero; (n) cipher, cypher, nobody, aught, nix, null, nada; (adj) no. potatoes: (n) root crop.

"And I have been **wondering** why she should have walked in the heath on that hot day! Well, did she say what she was coming for? It is a thing, Christian, I am very **anxious** to know."

"Yes, Mister Clym. She didn't say it to me, though I think she did to one here and there."

"Do you know one person to whom she spoke of it?"

"There is one man, please, sir, but I hope you won't mention my name to him, as I have seen him in strange places, particular in dreams. One night last summer he glared at me like Famine and Sword, and it made me feel so low that I didn't comb out my few hairs for two days. He was standing, as it might be, Mister Yeobright, in the middle of the **path** to Mistover, and your mother came up, looking as pale--"

"Yes, when was that?"

"Last summer, in my dream."

"Pooh! Who's the man?"

"Diggory, the reddleman. He called upon her and sat with her the evening before she set out to see you. I hadn't gone home from work when he came up to the gate."

"I must see Venn--I wish I had known it before," said Clym anxiously. "I wonder why he has not come to tell me?" $\,$

"He went out of Egdon Heath the next day, so would not be likely to know you wanted him."

"Christian," said Clym, "you must go and find Venn. I am otherwise engaged, or I would go myself. Find him at once, and tell him I want to speak to him."

"I am a good hand at **hunting** up folk by day," said Christian, looking **dubiously** round at the **declining** light; "but as to night-time, never is such a bad hand as I, Mister Yeobright."

Thesaurus

anxious: (adj) uneasy, alarmed, thoughtful, fearful, apprehensive, agitated, keen; (adj, v) nervous, tense, solicitous, jumpy. ANTONYMS: (adj) relaxed, carefree, confident, rational, unconcerned, undisturbed, untroubled, assured, comfortable, cool, apathetic.

declining: (adj) deteriorating.

declining: (adj) deteriorating, decreasing, waning, falling, down, decadent, fading, lessening, diminishing, sloping; (n) decrease. ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, burgeoning, growing. dubiously: (adv) suspiciously, uncertainly, problematically, fishily, vaguely, incredulously, skeptically, equivocally, distrustfully, questionably, undecidedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) clearly, certainly. hunting: (n, v) chase; (v) battue; (n) exploration, pursuit, search, ducking, beagling, coursing, frisking, venery.

shooting.

path: (n, v) course, passage, line; (n) way, direction, highway, orbit, track, lane, means, walk. ANTONYM: (n) room.

wonder: (adj, n) prodigy; (n) astonishment, admiration, amazement, surprise, miracle, phenomenon, muse; (v) admire, reflect, question. ANTONYMS: (n) expectation, belief, disapproval; (v) know, believe, anticipate, decide.

"Search the heath when you will, so that you bring him soon. Bring him **tomorrow**, if you can."

Christian then departed. The morrow came, but no Venn. In the evening Christian arrived, looking very weary. He had been searching all day, and had heard nothing of the reddleman.

"Inquire as much as you can tomorrow without **neglecting** your work," said Yeobright. "Don't come again till you have found him."

The next day Yeobright set out for the old house at Blooms-End, which, with the garden, was now his own. His severe illness had hindered all preparations for his removal thither; but it had become necessary that he should go and overlook its contents, as administrator to his mother's little property; for which purpose he decided to pass the next night on the premises.

He journeyed onward, not quickly or decisively, but in the slow walk of one who has been awakened from a **stupefying** sleep. It was early afternoon when he reached the valley. The expression of the place, the tone of the hour, were precisely those of many such occasions in days gone by; and these antecedent similarities **fostered** the illusion that she, who was there no longer, would come out to welcome him. The garden gate was locked and the shutters were closed, just as he himself had left them on the evening after the funeral. He **unlocked** the gate, and found that a **spider** had already **constructed** a large web, tying the door to the **lintel**, on the supposition that it was never to be opened again. When he had entered the house and flung back the shutters he set about his task of **overhauling** the cupboards and closets, burning papers, and considering how best to arrange the place for Eustacia's reception, until such time as he might be in a position to carry out his **long**-delayed scheme, should that time ever arrive.

As he surveyed the rooms he felt strongly disinclined for the alterations which would have to be made in the time-honoured **furnishing** of his parents and grandparents, to suit Eustacia's modern ideas. The **gaunt** oak-cased clock, with the picture of the Ascension on the door panel and the Miraculous Draught of Fishes on the base; his grandmother's corner cupboard with the glass door, through which the spotted china was visible; the dumb-waiter; the wooden tea

Thesaurus lintel: (n) header, rafter, joist, Travis,

mantel, summer, trave, transom,

constructed: (adj) made, formed, synthetic.
fostered: (adj) nourished.
furnishing: (n) provision, fixture, fitting, installation, equipment, trimming, device, interior decoration, contents; (v) provide, furnish.
gaunt: (adj) lean, thin, cadaverous, desolate, bleak, dreary, meager, bony, angular, lanky, sullen.
ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, rounded, obese.

coping, corner stone, cope.

long-delayed: (adj) belated, slow.
morrow: (n) morning, future, mean
solar day, day.
neglecting: (n) neglect, disregard.
overhauling: (n) revision,
reconditioning, urban renewal, care,
maintenance, inspection and repair,
interim overhaul.
spider: (n) spiders, tarantula,

arachnid, mussuk, chatti, lota, schooner, wedge ring, spinner, star handle, terrine. stupefying: (adj) astounding, amazing, staggering, narcotic, miraculous, stupefyingly, inconceivable, stumbling, shocking, incredible, torpedinous. unlocked: (adj) unbarred, unlatched, unbolted, not closed, loose, unsecured, ajar, wide open,

unguaranteed.

trays; the **hanging fountain** with the **brass** tap--whither would these venerable articles have to be banished?

He noticed that the **flowers** in the window had died for want of water, and he placed them out upon the ledge, that they might be taken away. While thus engaged he heard **footsteps** on the gravel without, and somebody knocked at the door.

Yeobright opened it, and Venn was standing before him.

"Good morning," said the reddleman. "Is Mrs. Yeobright at home?"

Yeobright looked upon the ground. "Then you have not seen Christian or any of the Egdon folks?" he said.

"No. I have only just returned after a long stay away. I called here the day before I left."

"And you have heard nothing?"

"Nothing."

"My mother is--dead."

"Dead!" said Venn mechanically.

"Her home now is where I shouldn't mind having mine."

Venn regarded him, and then said, "If I didn't see your face I could never believe your words. Have you been ill?"

"I had an illness."

"Well, the change! When I parted from her a month ago everything seemed to say that she was going to begin a new life."

"And what seemed came true."

"You say right, no doubt. Trouble has taught you a deeper **vein** of talk than mine. All I meant was **regarding** her life here. She has died too soon."

"Perhaps through my living too long. I have had a **bitter** experience on that score this last month, Diggory. But come in; I have been **wanting** to see you."

Thesaurus

sharp, acid, malicious, caustic, virulent, sour, resentful, keen, acerbic. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) mild, charitable, hot, sugary, kind, wonderful, warm, pleasant, nice, agreeable, gentle.

brass: (*n*, *v*) face; (*adj*, *n*) boldness; (*n*) nerve, cheek, administration, audaciousness, insolence, arrogance; (*adj*) bronze; (*v*) assurance, impudence.

bitter: (adj, v) acrimonious, acrid; (adj)

flowers: (n) analecta, anthology. footsteps: (n) road, footprints, way, trail, path, track, footpath. fountain: (n, v) fount, well; (n) jet, font, source, reservoir, origin, derivation, repository, root, squirt. hanging: (n) execution, curtain, arras, wall hanging; (adj) suspended, pendent, pendant, pendulous, hung, pending; (n, v) suspension. regarding: (prep) about, as regards, for, on, towards, apropos; (adj, prep) with

regard to, with reference to; (adj) as to, in regard to, in relation to.

vein: (n) vena, strain, nervure, mine, temper, blood vessel, tone; (adj, n) mood, humor, strip, frame of mind.

wanting: (adj, v) missing; (adj) deficient, lacking, absent, defective, short, failing, insufficient, devoid, poor, incomplete. ANTONYMS: (adj) sufficient, satisfactory, adequate, full, present.

He conducted the reddleman into the large room where the dancing had taken place the previous Christmas, and they sat down in the settle together. "There's the cold fireplace, you see," said Clym. "When that half- burnt log and those **cinders** were **alight** she was alive! Little has been changed here yet. I can do nothing. My life **creeps** like a snail."

"How came she to die?" said Venn.

Yeobright gave him some **particulars** of her illness and death, and continued: "After this no kind of pain will ever seem more than an **indisposition** to me. I began saying that I wanted to ask you something, but I stray from subjects like a **drunken** man. I am anxious to know what my mother said to you when she last saw you. You talked with her a long time, I think?"

"I talked with her more than half an hour."

"About me?"

"Yes. And it must have been on account of what we said that she was on the heath. Without question she was coming to see you."

"But why should she come to see me if she felt so bitterly against me? There's the mystery."

"Yet I know she quite forgave 'ee."

"But, Diggory--would a woman, who had quite forgiven her son, say, when she felt herself ill on the way to his house, that she was broken-hearted because of his ill-usage? Never!"

"What I know is that she didn't blame you at all. She **blamed** herself for what had happened, and only herself. I had it from her own lips."

"You had it from her lips that I had *not* ill-treated her; and at the same time another had it from her lips that I *had* ill-treated her? My mother was no **impulsive** woman who changed her opinion every hour without reason. How can it be, Venn, that she should have told such different stories in close succession?"

Thesaurus

alight: (v) light, land, perch, dismount, get down, settle, get off, descend; (adj) ablaze, burning, blazing.

ANTONYM: (v) mount.

blamed: (adj) goddamned, goddamn, damned, goddam, infernal, damnable, ageless, answerable, beatified, blessed, aeonian.

cinders: (n) cinder, dust, ash, flue dust, powder, residue, slag; (adj) mother, scoriae, precipitate.

creeps: (n) fear, dread, fright, animal

disease, trepidation, nervousness, anxiety. drunken: (adj) boozy, sottish,

intoxicated, tipsy, tight, bibulous, groggy, intemperate, blotto, canned, pissed.

impulsive: (adj) capricious, hasty, driving, rash, instinctive, changeable, hotheaded, quick-tempered, impellent, headlong, passionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, considered, predictable, unflappable,

prepared, sensible, gradual, overdue, patient, placid, premeditated. **indisposition**: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) ailment; (*n*) disinclination, dislike, distaste, aversion, reluctance, hesitation; (*n*, *v*) illness, disorder, disease; (*adj*, *n*) infirmity. ANTONYM: (*n*) inclination. **particulars**: (*n*) specification, data,

particulars: (n) specification, data, nicety, minutiae, terms, consideration, workings, fine points, ins and outs.

"I cannot say. It is certainly odd, when she had forgiven you, and had forgiven your wife, and was going to see ye on purpose to make friends."

"If there was one thing wanting to **bewilder** me it was this incomprehensible thing!...Diggory, if we, who remain alive, were only allowed to hold conversation with the dead--just once, a bare minute, even through a screen of iron bars, as with persons in prison--what we might learn! How many who now ride smiling would hide their heads! And this mystery--I should then be at the bottom of it at once. But the grave has forever shut her in; and how shall it be found out now?"

No reply was returned by his companion, since none could be given; and when Venn left, a few minutes later, Clym had passed from the **dullness** of sorrow to the fluctuation of **carking** incertitude.

He continued in the same state all the afternoon. A bed was made up for him in the same house by a neighbour, that he might not have to return again the next day; and when he retired to rest in the deserted place it was only to remain awake hour after hour thinking the same thoughts. How to discover a solution to this riddle of death seemed a query of more importance than highest problems of the living. There was housed in his memory a vivid picture of the face of a little boy as he entered the hovel where Clym's mother lay. The round eyes, eager gaze, the piping voice which enunciated the words, had operated like stilettos on his brain.

A visit to the boy suggested itself as a means of **gleaning** new particulars; though it might be quite unproductive. To probe a child's mind after the lapse of six weeks, not for facts which the child had seen and understood, but to get at those which were in their nature beyond him, did not promise much; yet when every obvious channel is blocked we **grope** towards the small and obscure. There was nothing else left to do; after that he would allow the **enigma** to drop into the **abyss** of undiscoverable things.

It was about **daybreak** when he had reached this decision, and he at once arose. He locked up the house and went out into the green patch which merged in heather further on. In front of the white garden-palings the path branched into three like a broad arrow. The road to the right led to the Quiet Woman and

Thesaurus

abyss: (n) gorge, ravine, chasm, gulf, deep, purgatory, depth, hell, gap, Gehenna, pit. ANTONYMS: (n) junction, juncture. bewilder: (v) astound, amaze, puzzle, bemuse, baffle, nonplus, befuddle, stump; (adj, v) perplex, confound, stun. ANTONYMS: (v) explain,

enlighten, inform, sharpen. carking: (v) bothering, tormenting, worrying, pestering, teasing.

daybreak: (adj, n) break of day; (n)

sunrise, prime, morning, light, dawning, cockcrow, dayspring, aurora, sunup, daylight.

ANTONYMS: (n) sunset, sundown, darkness, eventide, nightfall.

dullness: (n) apathy, bluntness, boredom, dreariness, flatness, tedium, obtuseness, torpor, monotony, lethargy; (adj, n) phlegm.

ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, intensity, brilliance, excitement, intelligence, shine, asperity,

animation, gloss, clarity, variation.

enigma: (adj, n) mystery, riddle; (n)

puzzle, secret, perplexity, poser,

question, problem, closed book, nut

to crack, logogriph. ANTONYMS: (n)

clearness, explanation.

gleaning: (*n*) farming, excerption, selection, crop.

grope: (*v*) fumble, finger, grabble, search, handle, scrabble, paw, mishandle; (*n*, *v*) touch; (*adj*) groping; (*adv*) gropingly.

its neighbourhood; the middle track led to Mistover Knap; the left-hand track led over the hill to another part of Mistover, where the child lived. On **inclining** into the latter path Yeobright felt a creeping chilliness, familiar enough to most people, and probably caused by the unsunned morning air. In after days he thought of it as a thing of singular significance.

When Yeobright reached the cottage of Susan Nunsuch, the mother of the boy he sought, he found that the inmates were not yet astir. But in upland hamlets the transition from a-bed to abroad is surprisingly swift and easy. There no dense partition of yawns and toilets divides humanity by night from humanity by day. Yeobright tapped at the upper windowsill, which he could reach with his walking stick; and in three or four minutes the woman came down.

It was not till this moment that Clym recollected her to be the person who had behaved so barbarously to Eustacia. It partly explained the insuavity with which the woman greeted him. Moreover, the boy had been ailing again; and Susan now, as ever since the night when he had been pressed into Eustacia's service at the bonfire, attributed his indispositions to Eustacia's influence as a witch. It was one of those sentiments which lurk like moles underneath the visible surface of manners, and may have been kept alive by Eustacia's entreaty to the captain, at the time that he had intended to prosecute Susan for the **pricking** in church, to let the matter drop; which he accordingly had done.

Yeobright overcame his **repugnance**, for Susan had at least borne his mother no ill-will. He asked kindly for the boy; but her manner did not improve.

"I wish to see him," continued Yeobright, with some hesitation, "to ask him if he remembers anything more of his walk with my mother than what he has previously told."

She regarded him in a peculiar and criticizing manner. To anybody but a half-blind man it would have said, "You want another of the knocks which have already laid you so low."

She called the boy downstairs, asked Clym to sit down on a stool, and continued, "Now, Johnny, tell Mr. Yeobright anything you can call to mind."

Thesaurus

ailing: (adj) sickly, poorly, ill, unwell, bad, indisposed, unhealthy, invalid, morbid, weak; (n) illness. ANTONYMS: (adj) well, healthy, fit, robust, vigorous. astir: (adj) agog, lively, wakeful; (adv) afoot, abroach, about; (v) sparkling, up the qui vive, wrought up. ANTONYM: (adj) asleep. barbarously: (adv) felly, brutally, barbarically, cruelly, savagely, fiercely, ferociously, coarsely, rudely,

wildly, crudely. chilliness: (n) coldness, cold, frigidity, pricking: (adj, v) keen, poignant, chill, low temperature, cool, wintriness, frostiness, algor, iciness, algidity. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, friendliness.

inclining: (adj) oblique, shelving; (n) leaning, tendency, disposition, movement, proclivity, sentiment, propensity, predilection, partiality. **lurk**: (v) ambuscade, skulk, prowl, waylay, lie in wait, conceal, lurch,

loiter, creep, wait, sneak. sharp; (v) suffer, smart, penetrating; (adj) pointed, piercing, urchin, thistly; (n) Peter.

repugnance: (n) horror, hatred, antipathy, inconsistency, repulsion, nausea, revulsion, loathing, detestation, aversion, hate. ANTONYMS: (n) pleasantness, love, attractiveness, adoration, liking. windowsill: (n) sill.

"You have not forgotten how you walked with the poor lady on that hot day?" said Clym.

"No," said the boy.

"And what she said to you?"

The boy **repeated** the **exact** words he had used on entering the hut. Yeobright rested his elbow on the table and shaded his face with his hand; and the mother looked as if she wondered how a man could want more of what had stung him so deeply.

"She was going to Alderworth when you first met her?"

"No; she was coming away."

"That can't be."

"Yes; she walked along with me. I was coming away, too."

"Then where did you first see her?"

"At your house."

"Attend, and speak the truth!" said Clym sternly.

"Yes, sir; at your house was where I seed her first."

Clym started up, and Susan smiled in an **expectant** way which did not embellish her face; it seemed to mean, "Something **sinister** is coming!"

"What did she do at my house?"

"She went and sat under the trees at the Devil's Bellows."

"Good God! this is all news to me!"

"You never told me this before?" said Susan.

"No, Mother; because I didn't like to tell 'ee I had been so far. I was **picking** blackhearts, and went further than I meant."

"What did she do then?" said Yeobright.

"Looked at a man who came up and went into your house."

"That was myself--a furze-cutter, with brambles in his hand."

Thesaurus

attend: (n, v) tend, escort, nurse, conduct; (v) assist, serve, minister, aid, look, partake, follow.

ANTONYMS: (v) neglect, leave, ignore, disregard, desert, abandon.

exact: (adj, n) correct; (v) demand, claim, command, ask; (n, v) require; (adj, v) close, direct; (adj) precise, detailed, faithful. ANTONYMS: (adj) wrong, vague, imprecise, approximate, inexact, rough, careless, thoughtless, indeterminate; (v)

eneter, give.

expectant: (adj) hopeful, enceinte, anticipative, big, gravid, eager, heavy, confident, with child, watchful; (adj, v) pregnant.

ANTONYMS: (adj) uninterested, apathetic, indifferent.

picking: (n) option, selection, alternative, gathering, collection, choice, harvesting, leavings, collecting, indefinite quantity; (v)

repeated: (adj) continual, recurrent, frequent, persistent, repeat, double, habitual, chronic, again, common, continuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, rare, unique, alternate, unusual, spasmodic.

sinister: (adj) dark, forbidding, black, menacing, wicked, baleful, threatening, malevolent, malign, inauspicious, vicious. ANTONYMS: (adj) innocent, hospitable, good, normal, favorable. "No; 'twas not you. 'Twas a gentleman. You had gone in afore."

"Who was he?"

"I don't know."

"Now tell me what happened next."

"The poor lady went and knocked at your door, and the lady with black hair looked out of the side window at her."

The boy's mother turned to Clym and said, "This is something you didn't expect?"

Yeobright took no more notice of her than if he had been of **stone**. "Go on, go on," he said **hoarsely** to the boy.

"And when she saw the young lady look out of the window the old lady knocked again; and when nobody came she took up the furze-hook and looked at it, and put it down again, and then she looked at the faggot-bonds; and then she went away, and walked across to me, and blowed her breath very hard, like this. We walked on together, she and I, and I talked to her and she talked to me a bit, but not much, because she couldn't blow her breath."

"O!" murmured Clym, in a low tone, and bowed his head. "Let's have more," he said.

"She couldn't talk much, and she couldn't walk; and her face was, O so queer!"

"How was her face?"

"Like yours is now."

The woman looked at Yeobright, and beheld him colourless, in a cold **sweat**. "Isn't there meaning in it?" she said stealthily. "What do you think of her now?"

"Silence!" said Clym fiercely. And, turning to the boy, "And then you left her to die?"

"No," said the woman, quickly and angrily. "He did not leave her to die! She sent him away. Whoever says he forsook her says what's not true."

Thesaurus

angrily: (adv) irately, passionately, fiercely, indignantly, cholericly, resentfully, enragedly, infuriatedly, wrathfully, madly, crossly. ANTONYMS: (adv) warmly, lightly, calmly, cheerfully, gently, gladly. **blow**: (n) beat, knock, shock, wallop, gust, jolt; (adj, n, v) gasp, puff; (n, v)blast, slap; (v) squander. ANTONYMS: (n, v) calm; (v) save, conserve, store, stillness, inhale, come, arrive; (n) luck, comfort,

blowed: (n) blowen, blowzy. fiercely: (adv) violently, bitterly, strongly, savagely, brutally, intensely, wildly, cruelly, vehemently, grimly, furiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) mildly, dully, tame, docilely, tamely, calmly, feebly. tone: (n) note, accent, timbre, spirit, hoarsely: (adv) roughly, huskily, raucously, gruffly, throatily, gratingly, stridently, gutturally, thickly, croakily, raggedly.

ANTONYM: (adv) smoothly. **sweat**: (n, v) work, toil, struggle; (v)perspire, drudge, exude; (n) perspiration, lather, sudor, effort; (adj) perspiring. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore; (n) entertainment, ease,

tinge, shade, air, sound, tint, manner; (n, v) color. ANTONYMS: (n)atonicity, flaccidity; (v) jar.

"Trouble no more about that," answered Clym, with a quivering mouth. "What he did is a trifle in comparison with what he saw. Door kept shut, did you say? Kept shut, she looking out of window? Good heart of God!--what does it mean?"

The child shrank away from the gaze of his questioner.

"He said so," answered the mother, "and Johnny's a God- fearing boy and tells no lies."

"'Cast off by my son!' No, by my best life, dear mother, it is not so! But by your son's, your son's--May all murderesses get the **torment** they deserve!"

With these words Yeobright went forth from the little dwelling. The pupils of his eyes, fixed steadfastly on blankness, were vaguely lit with an icy shine; his mouth had passed into the phase more or less **imaginatively** rendered in studies of Oedipus. The strangest deeds were possible to his mood. But they were not possible to his situation. Instead of there being before him the pale face of Eustacia, and a masculine shape unknown, there was only the **imperturbable** countenance of the heath, which, having defied the **cataclysmal** onsets of centuries, reduced to **insignificance** by its **seamed** and **antique** features the wildest turmoil of a single man.

Thesaurus

antique: (adj) old, antiquated, obsolete, aged, antiquarian, musty, quaint, outmoded, antediluvian, outdated; (n) relic. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) modern; (adj) recent, fresh, current, contemporary.

cataclysmal: (*adj*) disastrous, destructive.

imaginatively: (*adv*) ingeniously, creatively, resourcefully, originally, productively, innovatively, artistically, cleverly, tangentially,

practically, agilely. ANTONYM: (adv) logically.

imperturbable: (adj) dispassionate, impassive, composed, placid, unflappable, cool, quiet, peaceful, still, equable, steady. ANTONYMS: (adj) edgy, concerned, agitated, excited, nervous.

insignificance: (*n*) unimportance, insignificancy, indifference, immateriality, inconsiderableness, slightness, smallness, meanness,

littleness, futility, inconsequentiality. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, importance, gravity, appropriateness, value, fame.

seamed: (*adj*) unsmooth, rough. **torment**: (*n*, *v*) tease, distress, harass, afflict, pain, annoy; (*n*) agony, anguish, suffering; (*v*) persecute, oppress. ANTONYMS: (*v*) please, delight, placate, comfort, soothe; (*n*) contentment, happiness, pleasure, calm, content.

3

EUSTACIA DRESSES HERSELF ON A BLACK MORNING

A consciousness of a vast **impassivity** in all which lay around him took possession even of Yeobright in his wild walk towards Alderworth. He had once before felt in his own person this overpowering of the fervid by the **inanimate**; but then it had tended to **enervate** a passion far sweeter than that which at present pervaded him. It was once when he stood parting from Eustacia in the moist still levels beyond the hills.

But **dismissing** all this he went onward home, and came to the front of his house. The blinds of Eustacia's bedroom were still closely drawn, for she was no early **riser**. All the life visible was in the shape of a solitary **thrush cracking** a small **snail** upon the door-stone for his breakfast, and his tapping seemed a loud noise in the general silence which prevailed; but on going to the door Clym found it unfastened, the young girl who attended upon Eustacia being astir in the back part of the premises. Yeobright entered and went straight to his wife's room.

The noise of his arrival must have aroused her, for when he opened the door she was standing before the looking glass in her **nightdress**, the ends of her hair

Thesaurus

cracking: (n) crack, break, fracture; (adj) splitting, swell, smashing, corking, bully, great, keen, neat. ANTONYMS: (adj) smooth, slow. dismissing: (v) dismiss; (n) acquittal, denial, dimission.
enervate: (adj, v) debilitate, weaken, enfeeble, unnerve; (v) exhaust, fatigue, break, weary, impair, devitalize; (adj) relax. ANTONYMS: (v) strengthen, empower, activate, energize, invigorate.

impassivity: (*n*) impassiveness, apathy, stolidity, lethargy, phlegm, emotionlessness, stoicism, frigidity, insensibility, unconcern, sluggishness.

inanimate: (adj) defunct, dull, breathless, inorganic, inactive, lifeless, exanimate, deceased, extinct, unconscious, spiritless. ANTONYMS: (adj) living, animate, spirited. nightdress: (n) nightclothes, nighte, nightwear, nightshirt, pajamas, night

robe, lingerie, night clothes. **riser**: (n) base, hot top, load transfer riser, riser, rising main. **snail**: (v) sluggard, loiterer, lingerer, pull together; (n) conch, hodmandod, gastropod, garden snail, edible snail, dodman; (adj) whelked. **thrush**: (n) mavis, ouzel, Whiterumped thrush, candidiasis, blackbird, bluethroat, fieldfare, merl, moniliasis, ousel, philomel.

gathered into one hand, with which she was coiling the whole mass round her head, previous to beginning toilette operations. She was not a woman given to speaking first at a meeting, and she allowed Clym to walk across in silence, without turning her head. He came behind her, and she saw his face in the glass. It was ashy, haggard, and terrible. Instead of starting towards him in sorrowful surprise, as even Eustacia, undemonstrative wife as she was, would have done in days before she burdened herself with a secret, she remained motionless, looking at him in the glass. And while she looked the carmine flush with which warmth and sound sleep had suffused her cheeks and neck dissolved from view, and the deathlike pallor in his face flew across into hers. He was close enough to see this, and the sight instigated his tongue.

"You know what is the matter," he said huskily. "I see it in your face."

Her hand **relinquished** the **rope** of hair and dropped to her side, and the pile of tresses, no longer supported, fell from the crown of her head about her shoulders and over the white **nightgown**. She made no reply.

"Speak to me," said Yeobright peremptorily.

The blanching process did not cease in her, and her lips now became as white as her face. She turned to him and said, "Yes, Clym, I'll speak to you. Why do you return so early? Can I do anything for you?"

"Yes, you can listen to me. It seems that my wife is not very well?"

"Why?"

"Your face, my dear; your face. Or perhaps it is the pale morning light which takes your colour away? Now I am going to reveal a secret to you. Ha-ha!"

"O, that is ghastly!"

"What?"

"Your laugh."

"There's reason for ghastliness. Eustacia, you have held my happiness in the hollow of your hand, and like a devil you have dashed it down!"

Thesaurus

ashy: (adj) wan, ashen, pale, sallow, pallid, grey, livid, gray, cadaverous, pasty, white. carmine: (adj, n) scarlet; (n) vermilion,

cardinal, carnation, couleur de rose, lake, maroon, pink, redness; (adj) crimson; (v) redden.

dashed: (v) ashamed, cut up, sunk; (adj) broken, done for, dejected, discouraged, dotted. deathlike: (adj) deadly, deathly,

ghastly, dead, cadaverous, thanatoid,

ghostly, pale; (v) awful, soft, solemn. dissolved: (adj) adulterate, gone, liquified, broken.

ghastliness: (n) gruesomeness, luridness, horror, dreadfulness, terribleness, horribleness, repulsiveness, misery, grimness, ghastness, frightfulness. ANTONYM: suffused: (adj) distributed, covered,

(n) pleasantness. nightgown: (n) nightie, nightclothes, nightwear, pajamas, bedgown, nightshirt, night clothes, night robe,

relinquished: (adj) forsaken, deserted, derelict, unoccupied, given, surrendered.

rope: (n, v) lasso, leash, tie, tape; (n)lariat, noose, hawser, line, string, cord, thread.

toilette: (n) dress, costume, attire, raiment, drapery, guise, trim, John, lavatory, privy, bathroom.

She started back from the dressing-table, retreated a few steps from him, and looked him in the face. "Ah! you think to frighten me," she said, with a slight laugh. "Is it worth while? I am undefended, and alone."

"How extraordinary!"

"What do you mean?"

"As there is ample time I will tell you, though you know well enough. I mean that it is extraordinary that you should be alone in my absence. Tell me, now, where is he who was with you on the afternoon of the thirty- first of August? Under the bed? Up the chimney?"

A shudder overcame her and shook the light fabric of her nightdress throughout. "I do not remember dates so exactly," she said. "I cannot recollect that anybody was with me besides yourself."

"The day I mean," said Yeobright, his voice growing louder and harsher, "was the day you shut the door against my mother and killed her. O, it is too muchtoo bad!" He leant over the footpiece of the **bedstead** for a few moments, with his back towards her; then rising again--"Tell me, tell me! tell me--do you hear?" he cried, **rushing** up to her and **seizing** her by the loose folds of her sleeve.

The **superstratum** of **timidity** which often overlies those who are daring and **defiant** at heart had been passed through, and the **mettlesome** substance of the woman was reached. The red blood **inundated** her face, previously so pale.

"What are you going to do?" she said in a low voice, regarding him with a proud smile. "You will not alarm me by holding on so; but it would be a pity to tear my sleeve."

Instead of letting go he drew her closer to him. "Tell me the particulars of-my mother's death," he said in a hard, panting whisper; "or--I'll--I'll--"

"Clym," she answered slowly, "do you think you dare do anything to me that I dare not bear? But before you strike me listen. You will get nothing from me by a blow, even though it should kill me, as it probably will. But perhaps you do not wish me to speak--killing may be all you mean?"

"Kill you! Do you expect it?"

Thesaurus

bedstead: (n) bed, berth, cot, bedframe, furniture, shakedown, pallet, stretcher, tester, stead, hatch. defiant: (adj) bold, rebellious, audacious, resistant, brazen, stubborn, unruly, mutinous, rude, recalcitrant, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) submissive, respectful, accepting, acquiescent, compliant, conforming, cooperative, loyal, meek, amenable.

inundated: (adj) swamped, awash,

overwhelmed, afloat, engulfed, submerged, fuller, weak, suffused, submersed, soaked. ANTONYM:

mettlesome: (adj) spirited, gritty, courageous, game, gamey, gamy, enthusiastic, fearless, fiery, spunky,

rushing: (adv) rushingly; (n) haste, hurry, hurrying, running, hastening, flush, movement; (adj) flowing, headlong, moving. **seizing**: (*v*) seize; (*n*) seizure, clutches, prehension, taking, apprehension, capture, infection; (*adj*) catching, galling, controlling.

superstratum: (n) exterior. timidity: (n) shyness, fear, bashfulness, nervousness, reserve, cowardice, fearfulness, timidness, modesty, humility, coyness. ANTONYMS: (n) confidence, boastfulness, swagger, brashness, security. "I do."

"Why?"

"No less degree of rage against me will match your previous grief for her."

"Phew--I shall not kill you," he said contemptuously, as if under a sudden change of purpose. "I did think of it; but--I shall not. That would be making a martyr of you, and sending you to where she is; and I would keep you away from her till the **universe** come to an end, if I could."

"I almost wish you would kill me," said she with gloomy bitterness. "It is with no strong desire, I assure you, that I play the part I have lately played on earth. You are no blessing, my husband."

"You shut the door--you looked out of the window upon her--you had a man in the house with you--you sent her away to die. The inhumanity--the treachery--I will not touch you--stand away from me--and confess every word!"

"Never! I'll hold my tongue like the very death that I don't mind meeting, even though I can clear myself of half you believe by speaking. Yes. I will! Who of any dignity would take the trouble to clear cobwebs from a wild man's mind after such language as this? No; let him go on, and think his narrow thoughts, and run his head into the mire. I have other cares."

"'Tis too much--but I must **spare** you."

"Poor charity."

"By my wretched **soul** you **sting** me, Eustacia! I can keep it up, and hotly too. Now, then, madam, tell me his name!"

"Never, I am resolved."

"How often does he write to you? Where does he put his letters--when does he meet you? Ah, his letters! Do you tell me his name?"

"I do not."

"Then I'll find it myself." His eyes had fallen upon a small desk that stood near, on which she was accustomed to write her letters. He went to it. It was locked.

Thesaurus

fallen: (adj) drop, decline, prostrate, flat, destroyed, down, lapsed, alight, degenerate, lose, get. ANTONYMS: (adj) esteemed, honorable, honored, lauded, prestigious. mire: (n, v) bog, muck; (n) filth, marsh, quagmire, dirt, sludge, clay; (adj, n, v) spare: (adj, v) free, reserve, save, thin; mud; (v) involve, bog down. **rage**: (adj, n, v) fume, bluster; (adj, n)wrath, indignation, frenzy, mania; (n) passion, anger, craze, exasperation;

(n, v) storm. ANTONYMS: (n)

gentleness, composure, calm, equanimity, pleasure, serenity. soul: (n) creature, human, person, personification, ghost, individual, mind, essence, life, self; (adj, n) heart. ANTONYMS: (n) surface, body. (adj) slender, slight, additional, lean; (adj, n) extra, excess; (v) exempt. ANTONYMS: (n) shortfall, original; (adj) principal, fat, basic, abundant, stout; (v) need, include.

sting: (n, v) bite, hurt, con, pain; (v)prick, itch, irritate, prickle, goad, provoke, smart. ANTONYMS: (v) calm; (n) honesty.

tongue: (n) lingua, speech, idiom, dialect, clapper, glossa, natural language, striker, talk; (v) lick; (adj)

universe: (n) world, creation, cosmos, population, earth, macrocosm, space, globe, existence, outer space,

"Unlock this!"

"You have no right to say it. That's mine."

Without another word he seized the desk and dashed it to the floor. The **hinge** burst open, and a number of letters tumbled out.

"Stay!" said Eustacia, stepping before him with more excitement than she had hitherto shown.

"Come, come! stand away! I must see them."

She looked at the letters as they lay, checked her feeling and moved indifferently aside; when he gathered them up, and examined them.

By no stretch of meaning could any but a harmless construction be placed upon a single one of the letters themselves. The solitary exception was an empty envelope directed to her, and the handwriting was Wildeve's. Yeobright held it up. Eustacia was **doggedly** silent.

"Can you read, madam? Look at this envelope. Doubtless we shall find more soon, and what was inside them. I shall no doubt be **gratified** by learning in good time what a well-finished and **full**-blown **adept** in a certain trade my lady is."

"Do you say it to me--do you?" she gasped.

He searched further, but found nothing more. "What was in this letter?" he said.

"Ask the writer. Am I your **hound** that you should talk to me in this way?"

"Do you brave me? do you stand me out, mistress? Answer. Don't look at me with those eyes if you would **bewitch** me again! Sooner than that I die. You refuse to answer?"

"I wouldn't tell you after this, if I were as innocent as the sweetest **babe** in heaven!"

"Which you are not."

Thesaurus

adept: (adj, n) expert; (adj) skillful, able, accomplished, experienced, capable, smart, clever, adroit; (n) virtuoso, whiz. ANTONYMS: (adj) incompetent, inept, awkward, bumbling, fumbling, unskilled. babe: (n) infant, baby, chick, sweetie, suckling, nursling, child, newborn, chit, girl, darling. ANTONYMS: (n) grownup, adult, adolescent. bewitch: (adj, n, v) fascinate; (adj, v) charm, attract; (v) enchant, entrance,

enrapture, witch, spell, beguile, enamor; (n, v) allure. ANTONYM: (v) disgust.

doggedly: (adv) stubbornly, firmly, tenaciously, persistently, resolutely, pertinaciously, perseveringly, obdurately, steadfastly, untiringly, steadily. ANTONYM: (adv) hesitantly.

full-blown: (*adj*) full-grown, ripe, mature, full-scale, all-out, unlimited, exhaustive, total.

gratified: (adj) glad, satisfied, pleased, delighted, happy, thankful, grateful, content, complacent, comfortable, cheerful.

hinge: (*n*, *v*) joint; (*n*) axis, axle, articulation, spindle, crux, fulcrum, arbor, flexible joint; (*v*) depend, inneture

hound: (v) bloodhound, chase, hunt, follow, badger, course, bait, pursue; (n) greyhound, blackguard, cad. ANTONYM: (v) soothe.

"Certainly I am not absolutely," she replied. "I have not done what you suppose; but if to have done no harm at all is the only innocence recognized, I am beyond forgiveness. But I require no help from your conscience."

"You can resist, and resist again! Instead of hating you I could, I think, **mourn** for and pity you, if you were **contrite**, and would confess all. Forgive you I never can. I don't speak of your lover--I will give you the benefit of the doubt in that matter, for it only affects me personally. But the other--had you half-killed me, had it been that you **wilfully** took the sight away from these feeble eyes of mine, I could have forgiven you. But *that*'s too much for nature!"

"Say no more. I will do without your pity. But I would have saved you from uttering what you will regret."

"I am going away now. I shall leave you."

"You need not go, as I am going myself. You will keep just as far away from me by staying here."

"Call her to mind--think of her--what goodness there was in her--it showed in every line of her face! Most women, even when but slightly annoyed, show a flicker of evil in some curl of the mouth or some corner of the cheek; but as for her, never in her angriest moments was there anything malicious in her look. She was angered quickly, but she forgave just as readily, and underneath her pride there was the meekness of a child. What came of it.?--what cared you? You hated her just as she was learning to love you. O! couldn't you see what was best for you, but must bring a curse upon me, and agony and death upon her, by doing that cruel deed! What was the fellow's name who was keeping you company and causing you to add cruelty to her to your wrong to me? Was it Wildeve? Was it poor Thomasin's husband? Heaven, what wickedness! Lost your voice, have you? It is natural after detection of that most noble trick....Eustacia, didn't any tender thought of your own mother lead you to think of being gentle to mine at such a time of weariness? Did not one grain of pity enter your heart as she turned away? Think what a vast opportunity was then lost of beginning a forgiving and honest course. Why did not you kick him out, and let her in, and say I'll be an honest wife and a noble woman from this hour?

Thesaurus

angered: (adj) enraged, annoyed, angry, furious, incensed, anger, vexed, irritated, raging, exasperated, huffy.

nutry.

contrite: (adj) apologetic, sorry,
remorseful, regretful, rueful, bad,
ashamed, humble, sorrowful, dreary;
(adj, v) repentant. ANTONYMS: (adj)
unrepentant, indifferent, hurtful,
mean, proud, unremorseful.

flicker: (n, v) waver, flare, blaze,
sparkle, glimmer, shine, flash; (v)

shake, blink, flick, shimmer.

meekness: (n) humbleness, modesty,
submission, obedience, compliance,
gentleness, tameness,
submissiveness, docility, lowliness,
tractability. ANTONYMS: (n)
arrogance, ferocity, wildness.

mourn: (v) bewail, grieve, deplore, cry,
bemoan, regret, distress, sad, wail,
mourning, weep. ANTONYMS: (v)
rejoice, celebrate, applaud.

wickedness: (n) depravity, sin,

sinfulness, iniquity, harm, ill, vice, evilness, corruption, immorality, crime. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, kindness, piety, righteousness, benevolence, religiousness, obedience, good.
wilfully: (adv) willfully, designedly, deliberately, knowingly, frowardly, headstrongly, consciously, stubbornly, purposefully,

persistently, on purpose.

Had I told you to go and quench eternally our last flickering chance of happiness here you could have done no worse. Well, she's asleep now; and have you a hundred gallants, neither they nor you can insult her any more."

"You exaggerate fearfully," she said in a faint, weary voice; "but I cannot enter into my defence--it is not worth doing. You are nothing to me in future, and the past side of the story may as well remain **untold**. I have lost all through you, but I have not complained. Your blunders and misfortunes may have been a sorrow to you, but they have been a wrong to me. All persons of refinement have been scared away from me since I sank into the mire of marriage. Is this your cherishing--to put me into a hut like this, and keep me like the wife of a hind? You deceived me--not by words, but by appearances, which are less seen through than words. But the place will serve as well as any other--as somewhere to pass from--into my grave." Her words were smothered in her throat, and her head drooped down.

"I don't know what you mean by that. Am I the cause of your sin?" (Eustacia made a trembling motion towards him.) "What, you can begin to shed tears and offer me your hand? Good God! can you? No, not I. I'll not commit the fault of taking that." (The hand she had offered dropped nervelessly, but the tears continued flowing.) "Well, yes, I'll take it, if only for the sake of my own foolish kisses that were wasted there before I knew what I cherished. How bewitched I was! How could there be any good in a woman that everybody spoke ill of?"

"O, O, O!" she cried, breaking down at last; and, shaking with sobs which choked her, she sank upon her knees. "O, will you have done! O, you are too relentless--there's a limit to the cruelty of savages! I have held out long--but you crush me down. I beg for mercy--I cannot bear this any longer--it is inhuman to go further with this! If I had--killed your--mother with my own hand--I should not deserve such a scourging to the bone as this. O, O! God have mercy upon a miserable woman!...You have beaten me in this game--I beg you to stay your hand in pity!...I confess that I--wilfully did not undo the door the first time she knocked--but--I should have unfastened it the second-- if I had not thought you had gone to do it yourself. When I found you had not I opened it, but she was

Thesaurus

infatuated, magical, ensorcelled, doomed, captive, rapt, enamored, obsessed. ANTONYM: (adj) deceived: (adj) mistaken, misguided. exaggerate: (v) boast, aggravate, amplify, dramatize, overdo, overdraw, brag, overstate, magnify, aggrandize, enhance. ANTONYMS: (v) minimize, alleviate, weaken. hind: (adj, n) rear; (adj) after, posterior,

bewitched: (adj) enchanted, fascinated, hindermost; (n) doe, clown, peasant, roe, countryman, servant; (v) hinder. inhuman: (adj) heartless, cruel, atrocious, brutal, cold, harsh, ferocious, remorseless, barbarous, relentless, barbaric. ANTONYMS: (adj) sympathetic, kind, humane. nervelessly: (adv) weakly, spinelessly, composedly, coolheadedly, flaccidly, powerlessly, nervously, unemotionally, nonchalantly,

quench: (adj, v) extinguish, allay, slake; (v) appease, quash, put out, destroy, assuage, annihilate, calm, chill. ANTONYMS: (v) stimulate,

scourging: (n) flagellation. untold: (adj) infinite, incalculable, innumerable, vast, uncounted, unnumbered, unlimited, endless; (v) unsaid, untalked of, unpublished. ANTONYMS: (adj) little, minor, small, tiny, open, slight.

gone. That's the extent of my crime--towards *her*. Best natures commit bad faults sometimes, don't they?--I think they do. Now I will leave you--for ever and ever!"

"Tell all, and I will pity you. Was the man in the house with you Wildeve?"

"I cannot tell," she said desperately through her **sobbing**. "Don't insist further--I cannot tell. I am going from this house. We cannot both stay here."

"You need not go--I will go. You can stay here."

"No, I will dress, and then I will go."

"Where?"

"Where I came from, or elsewhere."

She hastily dressed herself, Yeobright moodily walking up and down the room the whole of the time. At last all her things were on. Her little hands quivered so **violently** as she held them to her chin to **fasten** her bonnet that she could not tie the **strings**, and after a few moments she relinquished the attempt. Seeing this he moved forward and said, "Let me tie them."

She assented in silence, and lifted her chin. For once at least in her life she was totally **oblivious** of the **charm** of her attitude. But he was not, and he turned his eyes aside, that he might not be tempted to softness.

The strings were tied; she turned from him. "Do you still prefer going away yourself to my leaving you?" he inquired again.

"I do."

"Very well--let it be. And when you will confess to the man I may pity you."

She flung her shawl about her and went downstairs, leaving him standing in the room.

Eustacia had not long been gone when there came a knock at the door of the bedroom; and Yeobright said, "Well?"

It was the servant; and she replied, "Somebody from Mrs. Wildeve's have called to tell 'ee that the mis'ess and the baby are getting on wonderful well, and the baby's name is to be Eustacia Clementine." And the girl retired.

Thesaurus

charm: (*n*, *v*) allure, captivate, appeal, spell, fascinate, bewitch, conjure; (*adj*, *v*) attract; (*n*) amulet; (*v*) enchant, entrance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) ugliness, repulsion, repulsiveness, awkwardness, hatefulness, unpleasantness; (*v*) repulse, offend, irritate, disgust, bore. **fasten**: (*adj*, *v*) attach, fix, affix; (*v*) connect, bind, tie, tack, pin, stick, clasp, anchor. ANTONYMS: (*v*) detach, undo, unlock, loosen, release,

open, disconnect, untie, separate, unscrew. oblivious: (adf) careless, inattentive, mindless, heedless, neglectful, unaware, ignorant, unwitting, Lethean, deaf, blind. ANTONYMS:

(adj) aware, watchful, mindful, careful, sharp. sobbing: (adj) crying, weeping, weepy, tearful; (n) lamentation, shortness of

breath, shit, prick, motherfucker, tear,

strings: (n) string, string section, sway, control, dealings, domination, jurisdiction, terms, condition, command, provision.

violently: (adj, adv) vehemently, hotly, madly, ardently; (adv) wildly, passionately, strongly, hard, furiously, turbulently; (adv, n) vigorously. ANTONYMS: (adv) gently, nonviolently, feebly,

impassively, peacefully, tamely.

"What a mockery!" said Clym. "This **unhappy marriage** of **mine** to be **perpetuated** in that child's name!"

Thesaurus

marriage: (adj, n) bridal, nuptial; (n) matrimony, espousal, union, wedlock, intermarriage, alliance, coupling; (n, v) match; (v) marry. ANTONYM: (n) separation.
mine: (adj, v) excavate, sap; (n) excavation, pit, fund, land mine, vein; (v) exploit, burrow; (adj) my, delve.

perpetuated: (*adj*) perpetuate. **unhappy**: (*adj*) gloomy, dismal, depressed, melancholy, sad, miserable, sorrowful, distressed, disconsolate, infelicitous, low. ANTONYMS: (adj) happy, cheerful, satisfied, pleased, glad, euphoric, fortunate, contented, joyful, timely, lucky.

4

THE MINISTRATIONS OF A HALF-FORGOTTEN ONE

Eustacia's journey was at first as **vague** in direction as that of thistledown on the wind. She did not know what to do. She wished it had been night instead of morning, that she might at least have **borne** her misery without the possibility of being seen. Tracing mile after mile along between the **dying** ferns and the wet white **spiders'** webs, she at length turned her steps towards her grandfather's house. She found the front door closed and locked. Mechanically she went round to the end where the stable was, and on looking in at the stable door she saw Charley standing within.

"Captain Vye is not at home?" she said.

"No, ma'am," said the lad in a **flutter** of feeling; "he's gone to Weatherbury, and won't be home till night. And the servant is gone home for a holiday. So the house is locked up."

Eustacia's face was not visible to Charley as she stood at the **doorway**, her back being to the sky, and the stable but indifferently lighted; but the **wildness** of her manner **arrested** his attention. She turned and walked away across the enclosure to the gate, and was hidden by the bank.

Thesaurus

arrested: (adj) apprehended, halted, backward, in remission, inactive, intermittent.

intermittent.

borne: (adj) weak, wanting, spoony, soft, sappy, shallow, little, limited.
doorway: (n) door, entrance, entry, passage, entryway, way in, access, driveway, gate, gateway, lobby.
dying: (n) death, demise, decease, mortality; (adj) vanishing, moribund, last, final, ultimate, failing, ebbing.
ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, well,

opening, aborning, developing, flourishing, growing, reviving, rejuvenating; (n) birth.

flutter: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) bustle, flurry; (*n*, *v*) beat, palpitate, flap, wave, waver, quiver; (*v*) flit, flitter; (*n*) excitement.

spiders: (n) horseshoe crabs, Araneida, order Araneae, order Araneida, scorpions, Araneae. savageness, abandon, rage, extravagance, ferociousness intensity, vehemence; (v) w

vague: (adj) obscure, indistinct, indeterminate, undefined, undetermined, indefinite, uncertain, faint, ambiguous; (adj, v) loose, equivocal. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, distinct, exact, particular, precise, specific, sure, certain, defined, alert, detailed.

wildness: (*n*) fierceness, ferocity, savageness, abandon, rage, extravagance, ferociousness, intensity, vehemence; (*v*) wilderness; (*n*, *v*) waste. ANTONYMS: (*n*) tameness, order, meekness, gentleness, caution, orderliness.

When she had disappeared Charley, with misgiving in his eyes, slowly came from the stable door, and going to another point in the bank he looked over. Eustacia was leaning against it on the outside, her face covered with her hands, and her head pressing the **dewy** heather which **bearded** the bank's outer side. She appeared to be utterly indifferent to the circumstance that her bonnet, hair, and garments were becoming wet and **disarranged** by the moisture of her cold, harsh pillow. Clearly something was wrong.

Charley had always regarded Eustacia as Eustacia had regarded Clym when she first beheld him--as a romantic and sweet vision, scarcely **incarnate**. He had been so shut off from her by the dignity of her look and the pride of her speech, except at that one **blissful** interval when he was allowed to hold her hand, that he had hardly deemed her a woman, wingless and earthly, subject to household conditions and domestic jars. The inner details of her life he had only **conjectured**. She had been a lovely wonder, **predestined** to an orbit in which the whole of his own was but a point; and this sight of her leaning like a helpless, despairing creature against a wild wet bank filled him with an amazed horror. He could no longer remain where he was. Leaping over, he came up, touched her with his finger, and said tenderly, "You are poorly, ma'am. What can I do?"

Eustacia started up, and said, "Ah, Charley--you have followed me. You did not think when I left home in the summer that I should come back like this!"

"I did not, dear ma'am. Can I help you now?"

"I am afraid not. I wish I could get into the house. I feel giddy--that's all."

"Lean on my arm, ma'am, till we get to the porch, and I will try to open the door."

He supported her to the porch, and there depositing her on a seat hastened to the back, climbed to a window by the help of a ladder, and descending inside opened the door. Next he assisted her into the room, where there was an old-fashioned **horsehair settee** as large as a donkey wagon. She lay down here, and Charley covered her with a cloak he found in the hall.

"Shall I get you something to eat and drink?" he said.

Thesaurus

bearded: (adj) barbate, awny, whiskered, hairy, aristate, coniform, calamiform, gladiate, pilous, shagged, echinate. blissful: (adj) happy, heavenly, merry, joyful, delighted, glad, cheerful, delightful, ecstatic, elated, blest. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhappy, grieving, sad, sorrowful, depressed, unpleasant, down, dreadful. conjectured: (adj) supposed, opinionative.

dewy: (adj) wet, dank, bedewed, humid, moist, damp, fresh, new, roric, undried, rorid.
disarranged: (adj) disheveled, disorderly, untidy, deranged, disturbed, delirious, disordered, unkempt, tousled, topsy-turvy, mussy. ANTONYM: (adj) neat. horsehair: (n) material, animal fibre, cloth, fabric, hair of horses, hairpiece, toupee, animal fiber, wig. incarnate: (adi) embodied, bodied,

material, corporeal; (v) materialize, typify, actualize, substantiate, personify, be, body forth. predestined: (adj) fated, foreordained, certain, predestinate, intended, fatal, predetermined, ordained, meant, doomed, designed. settee: (n) sofa, bench, lounge, divan, settle, chair, form, stall, davenport, chesterfield, squab.

"If you please, Charley. But I suppose there is no fire?"

"I can light it, ma'am."

He vanished, and she heard a **splitting** of wood and a **blowing** of bellows; and presently he returned, saying, "I have lighted a fire in the kitchen, and now I'll light one here."

He lit the fire, Eustacia **dreamily** observing him from her **couch**. When it was **blazing** up he said, "Shall I wheel you round in front of it, ma'am, as the morning is chilly?"

"Yes, if you like."

"Shall I go and bring the victuals now?"

"Yes, do," she murmured languidly.

When he had gone, and the dull sounds occasionally reached her ears of his movements in the kitchen, she forgot where she was, and had for a moment to consider by an effort what the sounds meant. After an interval which seemed short to her whose thoughts were elsewhere, he came in with a **tray** on which **steamed** tea and **toast**, though it was nearly lunch-time.

"Place it on the table," she said. "I shall be ready soon."

He did so, and **retired** to the door; when, however, he perceived that she did not move he came back a few steps.

"Let me hold it to you, if you don't wish to get up," said Charley. He brought the tray to the front of the couch, where he knelt down, adding, "I will hold it for you."

Eustacia sat up and **poured** out a cup of tea. "You are very kind to me, Charley," she murmured as she sipped.

"Well, I ought to be," said he diffidently, taking great trouble not to rest his eyes upon her, though this was their only natural position, Eustacia being immediately before him. "You have been kind to me."

"How have I?" said Eustacia.

"You let me hold your hand when you were a maiden at home."

Thesaurus dreamfully, vaguely, visionarily,

blazing: (*adj*) flaming, afire, burning, ardent, aflame, glaring, bright, blatant, alight, passionate; (*n*) blaze. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) freezing, quiet. **blowing**: (*n*) processing, insufflation, bravado; (*v*) fanning, blow out; (*adj*) windy, breezy.

couch: (n) bed, sofa, settee, divan; (adj, v) lie; (v) express, put, frame, lower, repose; (adj) recline.

dreamily: (*adv*) languorously, moonily, pensively, sleepily,

slowly, shadowily, idealistically, lethargically. ANTONYMS: (adv) vigorously, alertly, calmly, carefully. poured: (adj) concrete. retired: (adj) obscure, secluded, sequestered, solitary, emeritus, secret, lonely, withdrawn, superannuated, close; (adj, v) covert. splitting: (adj) ripping; (n) fission, partition, division, schism, crack, breakup, disunion, dissociation,

cleavage; (v) to split.
steamed: (adj) squiffy, miffed,
irritated, irate, indignant, incensed,
harried, harassed, stung, sozzled,
soused.
toast: (n, v) pledge, drink, plight; (v)

toast: (*n*, *v*) pledge, drink, plight; (*v*) roast, burn, bake, wassail, parch, crisp, inflame; (*n*) rusk.
tray: (*n*) plate, salver, dish,

cheeseboard, tray bar, server, waiter, Cran, inkstand, icetray, jardiniere. "Ah, so I did. Why did I do that? My mind is lost--it had to do with the mumming, had it not?"

"Yes, you wanted to go in my place."

"I remember. I do indeed remember--too well!"

She again became utterly **downcast**; and Charley, seeing that she was not going to eat or drink any more, took away the tray.

Afterwards he occasionally came in to see if the fire was burning, to ask her if she wanted anything, to tell her that the wind had shifted from south to west, to ask her if she would like him to gather her some blackberries; to all which **inquiries** she replied in the negative or with indifference.

She remained on the settee some time longer, when she aroused herself and went upstairs. The room in which she had formerly slept still remained much as she had left it, and the recollection that this forced upon her of her own greatly changed and infinitely **worsened** situation again set on her face the **undetermined** and **formless** misery which it had worn on her first arrival. She peeped into her grandfather's room, through which the fresh autumn air was blowing from the open window. Her eye was arrested by what was a familiar sight enough, though it broke upon her now with a new significance.

It was a brace of pistols, hanging near the head of her grandfather's bed, which he always kept there loaded, as a precaution against possible burglars, the house being very lonely. Eustacia regarded them long, as if they were the page of a book in which she read a new and a strange matter. Quickly, like one afraid of herself, she returned downstairs and stood in deep thought.

"If I could only do it!" she said. "It would be doing much good to myself and all connected with me, and no harm to a single one."

The idea seemed to gather force within her, and she remained in a fixed attitude nearly ten minutes, when a certain **finality** was expressed in her gaze, and no longer the blankness of **indecision**.

Thesaurus

downcast: (adj) depressed, dejected, dispirited, blue, desolate, disconsolate, gloomy, low, sad, downhearted, discouraged.

ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, vivacious, cheery, elated, joyous, up, positive.

finality: (*n*) determination, decision, definiteness, decisiveness, conclusiveness, limit, final, ultimate, eventually, settlement, assuredness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) indecision,

uncertainty, doubt, indecisiveness. formless: (adj) shapeless, unformed, indistinct, unstructured, unbodied, nebulous, vague, indistinguishable, soft, fuzzy, rude. ANTONYMS: (adj) organized, clear, distinct. indecision: (n) hesitation, irresolution, uncertainty, indecisiveness, hesitance, qualm, vacillation, hesitancy, dubiety, infirmity of purpose; (adj, n) suspense.

ANTONYMS: (n) determination,

resolve, resolution, confidence. inquiries: (n) investigation, examination, study, enquiries, enquiry, inquiry, exploration. undetermined: (adj, v) uncertain, indefinite, vague; (adj) indeterminate, unsettled, indecisive, unresolved, irresolute, accidental, open; (v) ambiguous. ANTONYMS: (adj) determinate, definite, decided, specific.

worsened: (adj) worser.

She turned and went up the second time--softly and stealthily now--and entered her grandfather's room, her eyes at once seeking the head of the bed. The pistols were gone.

The instant quashing of her purpose by their absence affected her brain as a sudden vacuum affects the body--she nearly fainted. Who had done this? There was only one person on the premises besides herself. Eustacia involuntarily turned to the open window which overlooked the garden as far as the bank that bounded it. On the summit of the latter stood Charley, sufficiently elevated by its height to see into the room. His gaze was directed eagerly and solicitously upon her.

She went **downstairs** to the door and beckoned to him.

"You have taken them away?"

"Yes, ma'am."

"Why did you do it?"

"I saw you looking at them too long."

"What has that to do with it?"

"You have been heart-broken all the morning, as if you did not want to live."

"Well?"

"And I could not bear to leave them in your way. There was meaning in your look at them."

"Where are they now?"

"Locked up."

"Where?"

"In the stable."

"Give them to me."

"No, ma'am."

"You refuse?"

"I do. I care too much for you to give 'em up."

Thesaurus

directed: (adj) oriented, manageable, destined, concentrating, intent, formal, absorbed, prescript, focussed; (v) instruct; (adv) under. downstairs: (adv) beneath, below, underneath, down the stairs, downward, infra, at a lower place, downhill, on a lower floor; (adj) downstair; (n) floor. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) upstairs. elevated: (adj) exalted, towering,

noble, lofty, grand, great, majestic,

tall, elated, magnanimous; (adj, v)steep. ANTONYMS: (adj) base, lowly, decreased, humble, inferior, lessened, summit: (n) peak, apex, acme, top, low, sunken, undignified, lowered. **gaze**: (n, v) stare, regard, look, behold; (v) gape, see, contemplate, face, pry, view, glance. ANTONYMS: (v) glance, peek.

quashing: (n) abolition, defeating, peremption.

solicitously: (adv) considerately, concernedly, carefully, uneasily,

kindly, apprehensively, attentively, caringly, politely, jealously, earnestly. height, crown, point, crest, tip, climax, culmination. ANTONYMS: (n) nadir, bottom, dip, trough. vacuum: (n) emptiness, vacancy, vacuity, gap, nothingness, blank, inanity, chasm, vacuum cleaner; (v)Hoover, clean. ANTONYM: (v) dirty.

She turned aside, her face for the first time **softening** from the **stony** immobility of the earlier day, and the **corners** of her mouth resuming something of that **delicacy** of cut which was always lost in her moments of despair. At last she confronted him again.

"Why should I not die if I wish?" she said tremulously. "I have made a bad bargain with life, and I am weary of it--weary. And now you have hindered my escape. O, why did you, Charley! What makes death painful except the thought of others' grief?--and that is absent in my case, for not a sigh would follow me!"

"Ah, it is trouble that has done this! I wish in my very soul that he who brought it about might die and rot, even if 'tis **transportation** to say it!"

"Charley, no more of that. What do you mean to do about this you have seen?"

"Keep it close as night, if you promise not to think of it again."

"You need not fear. The moment has passed. I promise." She then went away, entered the house, and lay down.

Later in the afternoon her grandfather returned. He was about to question her **categorically**, but on looking at her he withheld his words.

"Yes, it is too bad to talk of," she slowly returned in answer to his glance. "Can my old room be got ready for me tonight, Grandfather? I shall want to occupy it again."

He did not ask what it all **meant**, or why she had left her husband, but ordered the room to be prepared.

Thesaurus

bargain: (adj, n, v) cheap; (n, v) covenant, deal; (n) agreement, treaty, arrangement, buy, chaffer; (v) exchange, stipulate, agree. ANTONYM: (adj) inflated. categorically: (adv) unconditionally, positively, absolutely, definitely, flatly, emphatically, distinctly, certainly, unequivocally, expressly, directly. ANTONYMS: (adv) partially, unconvincingly. corners: (adj) cornered.

delicacy: (adj, n) weakness, fragility, tidbit; (n) finesse, daintiness, delicate, elegance, sensitivity, luxury, treat, airiness. ANTONYMS: (n) sturdiness, toughness, durability, frankness, inelegance, ruggedness, vulgarity, tactlessness, insensitivity, inaccuracy, clumsiness.

meant: (adj) destined, implied, sincere, preordained, intentional, predestined; (v) intend, designate. softening: (adj) emollient, salving, transit, traffic, freightage.

relaxing; (v) soften; (adj, n) soothing; (n) maceration, mitigation, easement, mollification, inteneration, encouragement.

stony: (adj) rocky, hard, rough, callous, cold, pitiless, flinty, unfeeling, obdurate, bleak, icy. ANTONYMS: (adj) smooth, kind. transportation: (n, v) conveyance, carriage; (n) deportation, banishment, exile, freight, shipping, transfer, transit, traffic, freightage.

5

AN OLD MOVE INADVERTENTLY REPEATED

Charley's attentions to his former **mistress** were **unbounded**. The only **solace** to his own trouble lay in his attempts to **relieve** hers. Hour after hour he considered her wants; he thought of her presence there with a sort of gratitude, and, while uttering imprecations on the cause of her unhappiness, in some measure **blessed** the result. Perhaps she would always remain there, he thought, and then he would be as happy as he had been before. His dread was lest she should think fit to return to Alderworth, and in that dread his eyes, with all the **inquisitiveness** of affection, frequently **sought** her face when she was not observing him, as he would have watched the head of a stockdove to learn if it contemplated flight. Having once really succoured her, and possibly preserved her from the rashest of acts, he mentally assumed in addition a guardian's responsibility for her welfare.

For this reason he **busily** endeavoured to provide her with pleasant distractions, bringing home curious objects which he found in the heath, such as white trumpet-shaped mosses, redheaded lichens, stone arrowheads used by the old tribes on Egdon, and faceted crystals from the hollows of flints. These he

Thesaurus

blessed: (adj) happy, holy, cursed, sacred, damned, hallowed, blasted, fortunate, saintly, lucky, divine. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlucky, condemned, damned, disapproved, unhappy, unholy, secular. busily: (adv) actively, occupiedly, briskly, industriously, engagedly, energetically, assiduously, lively, officiously, fussily, meddlesomely. ANTONYM: (adv) inactively. inquisitiveness: (n) curiosity,

nosiness, prying, appetite for knowledge, foreignness, exactness, accuracy, elaboration, eagerness to learn, carefulness.

mistress: (n) dame, concubine, madame, inamorata, lady, lover, fancy woman, doxy, girl, kept woman, missis.

relieve: (*n*, *v*) ease, assuage, mitigate, alleviate, allay, calm, redress; (*v*) free, help, console, excuse. ANTONYMS: (*v*) burden, aggravate, exacerbate,

harbor, enforce, include, upset, depress.

solace: (*n*) consolation, relief, balm, solacement; (*v*) console, allay, relieve, recreate; (*n*, *v*) ease, cheer, support. ANTONYMS: (*n*) distress, grief. **sought**: (*adj*) required, quest, seeking, popular.

unbounded: (adj) immeasurable, limitless, endless, infinite, immense, measureless, unlimited, vast, illimitable, unmeasured, absolute. deposited on the premises in such positions that she should see them as if by accident.

A week passed, Eustacia never going out of the house. Then she walked into the enclosed **plot** and looked through her grandfather's **spyglass**, as she had been in the habit of doing before her marriage. One day she saw, at a place where the highroad crossed the distant valley, a heavily laden **wagon** passing along. It was **piled** with household furniture. She looked again and again, and recognized it to be her own. In the evening her grandfather came indoors with a **rumour** that Yeobright had removed that day from Alderworth to the old house at Blooms-End.

On another occasion when **reconnoitring** thus she beheld two female figures walking in the vale. The day was fine and clear; and the persons not being more than half a mile off she could see their every detail with the telescope. The woman walking in front carried a white bundle in her arms, from one end of which hung a long appendage of drapery; and when the walkers turned, so that the sun fell more directly upon them, Eustacia could see that the object was a baby. She called Charley, and asked him if he knew who they were, though she well guessed.

"Mrs. Wildeve and the nurse-girl," said Charley.

"The nurse is carrying the baby?" said Eustacia.

"No, 'tis Mrs. Wildeve carrying that," he answered, "and the nurse walks behind carrying nothing."

The lad was in good spirits that day, for the Fifth of November had again come round, and he was planning yet another scheme to divert her from her too **absorbing** thoughts. For two successive years his mistress had seemed to take pleasure in lighting a bonfire on the bank **overlooking** the valley; but this year she had apparently quite forgotten the day and the customary deed. He was careful not to remind her, and went on with his secret preparations for a cheerful surprise, the more **zealously** that he had been absent last time and unable to assist. At every vacant minute he hastened to gather furze-stumps, thorn-tree

Thesaurus

absorbing: (adj) fascinating, engrossing, charming, enthralling, gripping, captivating, riveting, absorbent, attractive, readable; (adj, v) exciting. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, irksome, tedious, repellent, uninteresting.

overlooking: (adj) commanding,

overlooking: (adj) commanding, dominating, ascendent, autocratic, bossy; (n) oversight, omission, neglect, general supervision; (adv) neglectingly, beside. **piled**: (*adj*) heaped, dense, aggregate, collective, concentrated, cumulous. **plot**: (*n*, *v*) plan, intrigue, cabal, plat, scheme, design, chart; (*n*) lot, patch, graph; (*v*) conspire.

reconnoitring: (*n*) exploratory survey, scouting.

rumour: (*n*, *v*) rumor; (*n*) hearsay, fame, news, story, reputation, scuttlebutt, tale; (*v*) bruit.

spyglass: (*n*) binoculars, field glass, a mirror, refracting telescope, looking

glass; (*v*) mirror, spirituous liquors, lens, hourglass, goblet, glaze.

wagon: (n) truck, wain, paddy wagon, waggon, lorry, station wagon, dray, car, chariot, Jagger wagon, beach wagon.

zealously: (adv) ardently, keenly, heartily, vehemently, fervently, earnestly, passionately, actively, fierily, avidly, strongly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) halfheartedly, apathetically.

roots, and other solid materials from the adjacent slopes, hiding them from **cursory** view.

The evening came, and Eustacia was still seemingly unconscious of the anniversary. She had gone indoors after her survey through the glass, and had not been visible since. As soon as it was quite dark Charley began to build the bonfire, choosing precisely that spot on the bank which Eustacia had chosen at previous times.

When all the surrounding bonfires had burst into existence Charley kindled his, and arranged its fuel so that it should not require **tending** for some time. He then went back to the house, and lingered round the door and windows till she should by some means or other learn of his achievement and come out to witness it. But the shutters were closed, the door remained shut, and no heed whatever seemed to be taken of his performance. Not liking to call her he went back and replenished the fire, continuing to do this for more than half an hour. It was not till his stock of fuel had greatly diminished that he went to the back door and sent in to beg that Mrs. Yeobright would open the window-shutters and see the sight outside.

Eustacia, who had been sitting listlessly in the **parlour**, started up at the intelligence and flung open the shutters. Facing her on the bank blazed the fire, which at once sent a ruddy **glare** into the room where she was, and overpowered the candles.

"Well done, Charley!" said Captain Vye from the chimney-corner. "But I hope it is not my wood that he's burning....Ah, it was this time last year that I met with that man Venn, bringing home Thomasin Yeobright--to be sure it was! Well, who would have thought that girl's troubles would have ended so well? What a **snipe** you were in that matter, Eustacia! Has your husband written to you yet?"

"No," said Eustacia, looking vaguely through the window at the fire, which just then so much engaged her mind that she did not resent her grandfather's **blunt** opinion. She could see Charley's form on the bank, shovelling and **stirring** the fire; and there flashed upon her imagination some other form which that fire might call up.

Thesaurus

blunt: (*adj*, *v*) dull, deaden; (*adj*) bluff, plain, direct, forthright, frank, candid, outspoken, round, abrupt. ANTONYMS: (*v*) hone, sharpen, point, accentuate, needle; (*adj*) devious, pointed, thoughtful, polite, guarded, gentle.

cursory: (adj) careless, passing, fleeting, perfunctory, ephemeral, superficial, slapdash, facile, evanescent, sketchy, shallow. ANTONYMS: (adj) complete, comprehensive, meticulous, long. **glare**: (*n*) glance, brilliance, radiance, brightness; (*n*, *v*) glower, flash, shine, scowl, beam, frown; (*v*) flame. ANTONYMS: (*n*) dullness, dimness. **parlour**: (*n*) living room, parlor, sitting room, front room, livingroom, room to meet guests, parlours, parlors, salon, reception room, room. **snipe**: (*v*) attack, lash out, round, sharpshoot, clapperclaw; (*n*) grouse,

plover, dowitcher, rail, blackcock,

stirring: (*adj*) lively, exciting, alive, rousing, spirited, touching, thrilling, active; (*n*) agitation; (*v*) eventful, brisk. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) depressing, boring, inactive, dull, conciliatory, asleep, uninspiring, unimpressive; (*n*)

tending: (*n*) care, hairdressing, aid, treatment, attention, babysitting, incubation; (*adj*) apt, conducive, prone, disposed.

suppression.

She left the room, put on her garden bonnet and cloak, and went out. Reaching the bank, she looked over with a wild curiosity and misgiving, when Charley said to her, with a pleased sense of himself, "I made it o' purpose for you, ma'am."

"Thank you," she said hastily. "But I wish you to put it out now."

"It will soon burn down," said Charley, rather disappointed. "Is it not a pity to knock it out?"

"I don't know," she musingly answered.

They stood in silence, broken only by the crackling of the flames, till Charley, perceiving that she did not want to talk to him, moved reluctantly away.

Eustacia remained within the bank looking at the fire, intending to go indoors, yet lingering still. Had she not by her situation been inclined to hold in indifference all things honoured of the gods and of men she would probably have come away. But her state was so hopeless that she could play with it. To have lost is less disturbing than to wonder if we may possibly have won; and Eustacia could now, like other people at such a stage, take a standing-point outside herself, observe herself as a disinterested spectator, and think what a sport for Heaven this woman Eustacia was.

While she stood she heard a sound. It was the **splash** of a stone in the pond.

Had Eustacia received the stone full in the bosom her heart could not have given a more decided **thump**. She had thought of the possibility of such a signal in answer to that which had been **unwittingly** given by Charley; but she had not expected it yet. How prompt Wildeve was! Yet how could he think her capable of deliberately wishing to renew their assignations now? An impulse to leave the spot, a desire to stay, struggled within her; and the desire held its own. More than that it did not do, for she refrained even from ascending the bank and looking over. She remained motionless, not disturbing a muscle of her face or raising her eyes; for were she to turn up her face the fire on the bank would shine upon it, and Wildeve might be looking down.

There was a second splash into the pond.

Thesaurus

honoured: (adj) esteemed, respected, worthy. impulse: (n) pulse, urge, impulsion, force, motive, whim, drive, goad, motivation, momentum, incentive. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion, disincentive, disinclination. prompt: (adj) agile, quick, nimble, punctual, expeditious; (v) actuate, incite, inspire, move, instigate; (adj, v) fleet. ANTONYMS: (adj) late, uncertain; (v) discourage, hinder,

renew: (v) renovate, rejuvenate, thump: (n, v) thud, bang, bump, restore, refresh, refurbish, modernize, knock, hit, strike, cuff, punch, crash, revive, overhaul, reinstate, reiterate, mend. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, kill. spectator: (n) eyewitness, observer, onlooker, witness, audience, beholder, viewer, watcher, spectators, looker, ogler. ANTONYM: (n) player.

unwittingly: (adv) unintentionally, unknowingly, unconsciously, accidentally, ignorantly, innocently, unawares, unawarely, unsuspectingly, uninformedly, **splash**: (n, v) spatter, dash, plash, spot, obliviously. ANTONYMS: (adv) splatter, drop; (v) spill, slop, slosh, mindfully, deliberately, knowingly.

moisten, lap.

crack; (v) pound. ANTONYM: (v)

Why did he stay so long without advancing and looking over? Curiosity had its way--she ascended one or two of the earth-steps in the bank and glanced out.

Wildeve was before her. He had come forward after throwing the last pebble, and the fire now shone into each of their faces from the bank **stretching** breast-high between them.

"I did not light it!" cried Eustacia quickly. "It was lit without my knowledge. Don't, don't come over to me!"

"Why have you been living here all these days without telling me? You have left your home. I fear I am something to blame in this?"

"I did not let in his mother; that's how it is!"

"You do not deserve what you have got, Eustacia; you are in great misery; I see it in your eyes, your **mouth**, and all over you. My poor, poor girl!" He stepped over the bank. "You are beyond everything unhappy!"

"No, no; not exactly--"

"It has been pushed too far--it is killing you--I do think it!"

Her usually quiet **breathing** had grown **quicker** with his words. "I--I--" she began, and then burst into quivering sobs, shaken to the very heart by the unexpected voice of pity--a sentiment whose existence in relation to herself she had almost forgotten.

This **outbreak** of weeping took Eustacia herself so much by surprise that she could not leave off, and she turned aside from him in some **shame**, though turning hid nothing from him. She sobbed on desperately; then the **outpour** lessened, and she became quieter. Wildeve had resisted the impulse to clasp her, and stood without speaking.

"Are you not **ashamed** of me, who used never to be a crying animal?" she asked in a weak whisper as she wiped her eyes. "Why didn't you go away? I wish you had not seen quite all that; it reveals too much by half."

Thesaurus

ashamed: (adj) hangdog, guilty, embarrassed, sheepish, remorseful, regretful, bashful, disconcerted, contrite, chagrined; (v) dashed. ANTONYMS: (adj) proud, arrogant, unremorseful, unashamed, pleased, blatant, bold, happy, unabashed, unrepentant.

breathing: (adj) animate, live, living, respiratory, alive, above ground; (v) breathe, respire; (n) respiration, instant, moment. ANTONYMS: (adj)

inanimate, breathless, dead.

mouth: (n) lip, lips, aperture, edge,
entrance, snout, entry; (n, v) grimace;
(v) articulate, pronounce, speak.
outbreak: (n) explosion, eruption,
onset, outburst, burst, mutiny, attack,
flood, rash, revolt, spate.
outpour: (n) emanation, effusion,
outpouring, effluence; (v) effuse.
quicker: (adv) more quickly, sooner,

shame: (*n*, *v*) disgrace, dishonor,

discredit, humiliate, degrade, chagrin; (n) humiliation, modesty, scandal, insult; (v) abash.

ANTONYMS: (n) pride, glorification, making, worthiness; (v) acknowledge, glorify, respect, dignify.

stretching: (n) tension, stretch, expansion, workout, reach, amplification, stretchiness, enlargement; (adj) stretched, long; (v) extend. "You might have wished it, because it makes me as sad as you," he said with emotion and deference. "As for revealing--the word is impossible between us two."

"I did not send for you--don't forget it, Damon; I am in pain, but I did not send for you! As a wife, at least, I've been straight."

"Never mind--I came. O, Eustacia, forgive me for the **harm** I have done you in these two past years! I see more and more that I have been your ruin."

"Not you. This place I live in."

"Ah, your generosity may naturally make you say that. But I am the **culprit**. I should either have done more or nothing at all."

"In what way?"

"I ought never to have **hunted** you out, or, having done it, I ought to have persisted in **retaining** you. But of course I have no right to talk of that now. I will only ask this--can I do anything for you? Is there anything on the face of the **earth** that a man can do to make you happier than you are at present? If there is, I will do it. You may command me, Eustacia, to the limit of my influence; and don't forget that I am richer now. Surely something can be done to save you from this! Such a rare plant in such a wild place it grieves me to see. Do you want anything bought? Do you want to go anywhere? Do you want to escape the place **altogether**? Only say it, and I'll do anything to put an end to those tears, which but for me would never have been at all."

"We are each married to another person," she said faintly; "and assistance from you would have an evil sound--after--"

"Well, there's no preventing slanderers from having their fill at any time; but you need not be afraid. Whatever I may feel I promise you on my word of **honour** never to speak to you about--or act upon--until you say I may. I know my duty to Thomasin quite as well as I know my duty to you as a woman unfairly treated. What shall I assist you in?"

"In getting away from here."

"Where do you wish to go to?"

Thesaurus

altogether: (adv) absolutely, all, wholly, perfectly, purely, all in all, completely, entirely, totally, simply, ensemble. ANTONYMS: (adv) incompletely, partially.

assist: (n, v) aid, help, support; (v) abet, serve, contribute, boost, relieve, encourage, to help, facilitate.

ANTONYMS: (n, v) impede, oppose; (v) thwart, disrupt, hamper, hurt, stop, worsen, shun; (n) hindrance, counteract.

culprit: (adj, n) convict; (n) delinquent, accused, malefactor, perpetrator, transgressor, prisoner, sinner, offender; (adj) guilty, felon.
earth: (n) world, dust, ground, land, lair, dry land, terra firma, clay, creation, ball, country.
harm: (adj, n, v) damage, hurt; (adj, n) evil, detriment, injury; (n, v) abuse, wound, blemish, disadvantage; (n) bruise; (adj, v) injure. ANTONYMS: (n, v) benefit, respect, help; (n)

reparation, service; (v) enable, spoil, protect, defend, repair.

honour: (n) fame, award, dignity, homage, celebrity, accolade, reputation; (n, v) honor; (v) respect, celebrate, dignify. ANTONYMS: (n, v) dishonor; (v) disrespect.

hunted: (adj) coursed, afraid, wanted, required, sought, sought after; (n) victim.

retaining: (*adj*) retentive; (*n*) employment, reservation.

"I have a place in my mind. If you could help me as far as Budmouth I can do all the rest. Steamers **sail** from there across the Channel, and so I can get to Paris, where I want to be. Yes," she pleaded earnestly, "help me to get to Budmouth **harbour** without my grandfather's or my husband's knowledge, and I can do all the rest."

"Will it be safe to leave you there alone?"

"Yes, yes. I know Budmouth well."

"Shall I go with you? I am rich now."

She was silent.

"Say yes, sweet!"

She was silent still.

"Well, let me know when you wish to go. We shall be at our present house till December; after that we remove to Casterbridge. Command me in anything till that time."

"I will think of this," she said **hurriedly**. "Whether I can **honestly** make use of you as a friend, or must close with you as a lover--that is what I must ask myself. If I wish to go and decide to accept your company I will **signal** to you some evening at eight o'clock punctually, and this will mean that you are to be ready with a **horse** and **trap** at **twelve** o'clock the same night to drive me to Budmouth harbour in time for the morning boat."

"I will look out every night at eight, and no signal shall escape me."

"Now please go away. If I decide on this escape I can only meet you once more unless--I cannot go without you. Go--I cannot bear it longer. Go--go!"

Wildeve slowly went up the steps and descended into the darkness on the other side; and as he walked he glanced back, till the bank blotted out her form from his further view.

Thesaurus

harbour: (*n*, *v*) harbor; (*v*) conceal, entertain, cherish, contain, bear, shield; (*n*) anchorage, pier, sanctuary, haven.

honestly: (adj, adv) justly, sincerely, candidly, fairly, genuinely, really; (adv) openly, directly, faithfully, plainly, truthfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) misleadingly, deceitfully, unfairly, insincerely, hesitantly, untruthfully, guardedly, ambiguously, politely.

horse: (*n*, *v*) mount; (*n*) buck, heroin, junk, charger, knight, pony, rider, trestle, eohippus, dog. hurriedly: (*adv*) rapidly, quickly, swiftly, abruptly, promptly, fast, in haste, suddenly, speedily, rashly, precipitately. ANTONYMS: (*adv*) calmly, unhurriedly, patiently,

carefully, gradually, thoroughly. **sail**: (*n*, *v*) cruise, float, voyage, sheet;

(*v*) navigate, run, glide, drift, cross, sweep, travel. ANTONYM: (*v*)

struggle.

signal: (*n*, *v*) omen, gesture, presage, wave, alert; (*n*) indication, flag, alarm; (*v*) indicate; (*adj*, *n*) salient, prominent. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) inconspicuous, ordinary.

trap: (*n*, *v*) net, catch, ambush, mesh, trick; (*v*) entrap, ensnare, entangle; (*n*) gin, noose, entanglement. ANTONYM: (*v*) release.

twelve: (*adj*, *n*) dozen, XII; (*n*) boxcars, large integer.

6

THOMASIN ARGUES WITH HER COUSIN, AND HE WRITES A LETTER

Yeobright was at this time at Blooms-End, hoping that Eustacia would return to him. The **removal** of furniture had been **accomplished** only that day, though Clym had lived in the old house for more than a week. He had spent the time in working about the premises, sweeping leaves from the garden paths, cutting dead stalks from the **flower** beds, and nailing up **creepers** which had been displaced by the autumn winds. He took no particular pleasure in these deeds, but they formed a screen between himself and despair. Moreover, it had become a religion with him to preserve in good condition all that had lapsed from his mother's hands to his own.

During these operations he was **constantly** on the watch for Eustacia. That there should be no mistake about her knowing where to find him he had ordered a notice board to be **affixed** to the garden gate at Alderworth, signifying in white letters whither he had removed. When a leaf floated to the earth he turned his head, thinking it might be her foot-fall. A bird **searching** for worms in the **mould** of the flower-beds sounded like her hand on the latch of the gate; and at dusk, when soft, strange ventriloquisms came from **holes** in the ground, hollow stalks,

Thesaurus

accomplished: (adj) proficient, able, skillful, gifted, finished, experienced, completed, adept, fine, versed, competent. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfinished, amateur, untrained, unskilled, unseasoned, unable, inexpert, green, clumsy, bad, mediocre.

affixed: (adj) additional.

constantly: (adv) continually, firmly,
incessantly, eternally, steadily,
endlessly, unremittingly, ceaselessly,

steadfastly; (adj, adv) always, forever. ANTONYMS: (adv) inconsistently, intermittently, acutely, erratically, infrequently.

creepers: (*n*) Certhiidae. flower: (*n*, *v*) blossom, blow; (*v*) effloresce, flourish; (*adj*, *n*) prime; (*n*) efflorescence, elite, cream, bouquet, floret, florescence. ANTONYMS: (*n*) residue; (*v*) wither.

holes: (n) cavity, holes tow. mould: (n, v) mildew, cast, form, model; (v) make, frame, knead, fashion, forge; (n) molding, matrix. removal: (n) transfer, expulsion, elimination, dismissal, exclusion, shift, remove, ablation, move, withdrawal, abatement. ANTONYMS: (n) insertion, addition, provision, arrival, return, inclusion. searching: (adj) piercing, inquisitive, probing, acute, exhaustive, curious, inquiring, profound, exploratory; (adj, v) cutting; (v) excruciating.

curled dead leaves, and other crannies wherein breezes, worms, and insects can work their will, he fancied that they were Eustacia, standing without and breathing wishes of reconciliation.

Up to this hour he had persevered in his resolve not to invite her back. At the same time the severity with which he had treated her lulled the **sharpness** of his regret for his mother, and awoke some of his old solicitude for his mother's **supplanter**. Harsh feelings produce harsh usage, and this by reaction quenches the sentiments that gave it birth. The more he reflected the more he softened. But to look upon his wife as innocence in distress was impossible, though he could ask himself whether he had given her quite time enough--if he had not come a little too suddenly upon her on that sombre morning.

Now that the first flush of his anger had paled he was disinclined to **ascribe** to her more than an indiscreet friendship with Wildeve, for there had not appeared in her manner the signs of **dishonour**. And this once admitted, an absolutely dark interpretation of her act towards his mother was no longer forced upon him.

On the evening of the fifth November his thoughts of Eustacia were intense. Echoes from those past times when they had exchanged tender words all the day long came like the **diffused** murmur of a **seashore** left miles behind. "Surely," he said, "she might have brought herself to communicate with me before now, and confess honestly what Wildeve was to her."

Instead of remaining at home that night he determined to go and see Thomasin and her husband. If he found opportunity he would **allude** to the cause of the separation between Eustacia and himself, keeping silence, however, on the fact that there was a third person in his house when his mother was turned away. If it proved that Wildeve was **innocently** there he would doubtless openly mention it. If he were there with unjust intentions Wildeve, being a man of quick feeling, might possibly say something to reveal the extent to which Eustacia was compromised.

But on reaching his cousin's house he found that only Thomasin was at home, Wildeve being at that time on his way towards the bonfire innocently lit by

Thesaurus

intimate, suggest, touch, bring up, mean, notice, pertain.

ascribe: (v) assign, impute, accredit, arrogate, attach, lay, refer, anthropomorphize, blame, lay claim, claim.

diffused: (adj) spread, dispersed, dim, distributed, softened.

allude: (v) advert, refer, hint, glance,

dishonour: (v) discredit, disgrace, attaint, shame, degrade, desecrate, violate, rape, outrage; (n) stigma,

opprobrium.
innocently: (adv) innocuously,
ingenuously, inoffensively, naively,
purely, simplely, artlessly,
unsophisticatedly, blamelessly,
spotlessly, cleanly. ANTONYMS:
(adv) artfully, meaningfully,
indecently, immorally, illicitly,
intentionally, knowingly, unkindly,
suspiciously, offensively,
deliberately.

seashore: (n) beach, coast, shore,

seaboard, seacoast, coastline, shoreline, seaside, landfall, litoral; (*adj*) marine.

sharpness: (*n*, *v*) keenness, edge; (*n*) severity, bitterness, asperity, acumen, poignancy, pungency, quickness, perspicacity; (*adj*, *n*) roughness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) dullness, haziness, softness, slowness, indistinctness, gentleness, evenness, courtesy, blandness, stupidity, kindness.

supplanter: (n) usurper.

Charley at Mistover. Thomasin then, as always, was glad to see Clym, and took him to **inspect** the sleeping baby, carefully **screening** the candlelight from the infant's eyes with her hand.

"Tamsin, have you heard that Eustacia is not with me. now?" he said when they had sat down again.

"No," said Thomasin, alarmed.

"And not that I have left Alderworth?"

"No. I never hear **tidings** from Alderworth unless you bring them. What is the matter?"

Clym in a disturbed voice related to her his visit to Susan Nunsuch's boy, the revelation he had made, and what had resulted from his **charging** Eustacia with having wilfully and **heartlessly** done the deed. He suppressed all mention of Wildeve's presence with her.

"All this, and I not knowing it!" murmured Thomasin in an **awestruck** tone, "Terrible! What could have made her--O, Eustacia! And when you found it out you went in hot haste to her? Were you too cruel?--or is she really so wicked as she seems?"

"Can a man be too cruel to his mother's enemy?"

"I can fancy so."

"Very well, then--I'll admit that he can. But now what is to be done?"

"Make it up again--if a quarrel so deadly can ever be made up. I almost wish you had not told me. But do try to be reconciled. There are ways, after all, if you both wish to."

"I don't know that we do both wish to make it up," said Clym. "If she had wished it, would she not have sent to me by this time?"

"You seem to wish to, and yet you have not sent to her."

"True; but I have been tossed to and fro in doubt if I ought, after such strong **provocation**. To see me now, Thomasin, **gives** you no idea of what I have been; of what depths I have descended to in these few last days. O, it was a bitter

Thesaurus

awestruck: (*adj*) awestricken, awed, aghast, in awe of, blank, fascinated, spellbound, enthralled; (*v*) moonstruck, thunderstruck. **charging**: (*n*) filling, feeding, power drive, decree.

gives: (*n*) give, offer, provide, grant, accord.

heartlessly: (adv) mercilessly, pitilessly, ruthlessly, inhumanly, callously, unkindly, unfeelingly, brutally, unsympathetically, harshly, insensitively. ANTONYMS: (adv) sympathetically, sensitively, mercifully, humanely.

inspect: (v) overhaul, overlook, survey, watch, scrutinize, view, explore, look, review, inquire, monitor. ANTONYMS: (v) skim, ignore.

provocation: (n) challenge, aggravation, exasperation, incitement, instigation, annoyance, excitement, stimulation, affront, incentive, defiance. ANTONYMS: (*n*) conciliation, arbitration, deterrent, disincentive, pleasure.

screening: (n) screen, masking, concealment, cover, covering, viewing, shield, grading, showing, hiding, display.

tidings: (*n*) intelligence, information, message, report, word, advice, communication, dispute, wind, statement, tiding.

shame to shut out my mother like that! Can I ever forget it, or even agree to see her again?"

"She might not have known that anything serious would come of it, and perhaps she did not mean to keep Aunt out altogether."

"She says herself that she did not. But the fact remains that keep her out she did."

"Believe her sorry, and send for her."

"How if she will not come?"

"It will prove her guilty, by showing that it is her habit to nourish enmity. But I do not think that for a moment."

"I will do this. I will wait for a day or two longer-- not longer than two days certainly; and if she does not send to me in that time I will indeed send to her. I thought to have seen Wildeve here tonight. Is he from home?"

Thomasin blushed a little. "No," she said. "He is merely gone out for a walk."

"Why didn't he take you with him? The evening is fine. You want fresh air as well as he."

"Oh, I don't care for going anywhere; besides, there is baby."

"Yes, ves. Well, I have been thinking whether I should not consult your husband about this as well as you," said Clym steadily.

"I fancy I would not," she quickly answered. "It can do no good."

Her cousin looked her in the face. No doubt Thomasin was **ignorant** that her husband had any share in the events of that tragic afternoon; but her countenance seemed to signify that she concealed some suspicion or thought of the reputed tender relations between Wildeve and Eustacia in days gone by.

Clym, however, could make nothing of it, and he rose to depart, more in doubt than when he came.

"You will write to her in a day or two?" said the young woman earnestly. "I do so hope the wretched separation may come to an end."

Thesaurus

consult: (v) consider, negotiate, deliberate, advise, refer, discuss, ask, reason, look up, canvass; (n, v) talk. ANTONYMS: (v) ignore, bypass. **depart**: (v) go, deviate, decease, diverge, start, stray, wander, leave, die, vary, part. ANTONYMS: (v) stay, arrive, enter, come, abide, conform, continue, remain, appear, converge,

enmity: (n, v) animosity; (n)antagonism, animus, hostility, hatred, war, dislike. ANTONYMS: (n) friendship, friendliness, affinity, love, kindness, affection, adoration, amity, cooperation, goodwill. rude, illiterate, uneducated, blind, dull, unaware, uninformed, unlearned, innocent. ANTONYMS: (adj) conscious, versed, cultured, educated, informed, wary, literate, aware, polite.

aggression, rancor, ill will, antipathy, reputed: (adj) supposed, renowned, famous, conjectural, assumed, famed, eminent, prominent, alleged, wellknown, distinguished. ANTONYM:

ignorant: (adj) unconscious, unwitting, **tender**: (n, v) offer, proffer, bid; (adj, v) affectionate; (adj) painful, sensitive, soft, loving, sore; (v) propose, present. ANTONYMS: (adj) hardhearted, rubbery, hard, rough, uncaring, healthy, mature, unfeeling, cold, experienced; (v) withdraw.

"I will," said Clym; "I don't rejoice in my present state at all."

And he left her and climbed over the hill to Blooms-End. Before going to bed he sat down and wrote the following letter:--

MY DEAR EUSTACIA,--

I must obey my heart without **consulting** my reason too closely. Will you come back to me? Do so, and the past shall never be mentioned. I was too severe; but O, Eustacia, the provocation! You don't know, you never will know, what those words of anger cost me which you drew down upon yourself. All that an honest man can promise you I promise now, which is that from me you shall never suffer anything on this score again. After all the vows we have made, Eustacia, I think we had better pass the remainder of our lives in trying to keep them. Come to me, then, even if you reproach me. I have thought of your sufferings that morning on which I parted from you; I know they were genuine, and they are as much as you ought to bear. Our love must still continue. Such hearts as ours would never have been given us but to be concerned with each other. I could not ask you back at first, Eustacia, for I was unable to persuade myself that he who was with you was not there as a lover. But if you will come and explain distracting appearances I do not question that you can show your honesty to me. Why have you not come before? Do you think I will not listen to you? Surely not, when you remember the kisses and vows we exchanged under the summer moon. Return then, and you shall be warmly welcomed. I can no longer think of you to your prejudice--I am but too much absorbed in justifying you.--Your husband as ever,

CLYM.

"There," he said, as he laid it in his desk, "that's a good thing done. If she does not come before tomorrow night I will send it to her."

Thesaurus

absorbed: (adj) rapt, intent, immersed, fixed, deep, engaged, preoccupied, pensive, fascinated, enthralled, held. ANTONYMS: (adj) bored, disinterested, distracted, restless, unfocused, uninterested, indifferent, shallow, superficial, detached. appearances: (n) show, semblance, outlook, indicia. consulting: (adj) consultative; (n) consultation; (v) consult.

honesty: (adj, n) candor, justice,

candidness, probity, frankness, rectitude, faith. ANTONYMS: (n) dishonesty, wickedness, treachery, deceit, deception, deviousness, decadence, affectation, caution, evasiveness, injustice. justifying: (adj) extenuating, mitigating; (n) justification, defense. laid: (adj) layed, lay, place, placed, put, situated, arranged, determined, dictated, hardened, ordered.

fidelity, equity; (n) integrity, fairness, remainder: (n) excess, leftover, overplus, end, residue, oddment, balance, rest, surplus; (adj, n) remnant; (adv) after. warmly: (adv) cordially, ardently, hotly, genially, affectionately, vigorously, fervently, zealously, eagerly, strongly, pleasantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coolly, inhospitably, sourly, disagreeably, indifferently, frostily, roughly, rudely, apathetically.

Meanwhile, at the house he had just left Thomasin sat sighing uneasily. Fidelity to her husband had that evening induced her to conceal all suspicion that Wildeve's interest in Eustacia had not ended with his marriage. But she knew nothing positive; and though Clym was her well-beloved cousin there was one nearer to her still.

When, a little later, Wildeve returned from his walk to Mistover, Thomasin said, "Damon, where have you been? I was getting quite **frightened**, and thought you had fallen into the river. I dislike being in the house by myself."

"Frightened?" he said, touching her cheek as if she were some domestic animal. "Why, I thought nothing could frighten you. It is that you are getting proud, I am sure, and don't like living here since we have risen above our business. Well, it is a **tedious** matter, this getting a new house; but I couldn't have set about it **sooner**, unless our ten thousand pounds had been a hundred thousand, when we could have afforded to **despise** caution."

"No--I don't mind waiting--I would rather stay here twelve months longer than run any risk with baby. But I don't like your **vanishing** so in the evenings. There's something on your mind--I know there is, Damon. You go about so gloomily, and look at the heath as if it were somebody's **gaol** instead of a nice wild place to walk in."

He looked towards her with **pitying** surprise. "What, do you like Egdon Heath?" he said.

"I like what I was born near to; I admire its grim old face."

"Pooh, my dear. You don't know what you like."

"I am sure I do. There's only one thing unpleasant about Egdon."

"What's that?"

"You never take me with you when you walk there. Why do you wander so much in it yourself if you so dislike it?"

The inquiry, though a simple one, was plainly disconcerting, and he sat down before replying. "I don't think you often see me there. Give an instance."

Thesaurus

despise: (v) disdain, loathe, depreciate, abhor, dislike, detest, slight, hate; (n, v) contemn; (n) contempt, deride. ANTONYMS: (v) respect, love, adore, appreciate, cherish, like, praise, accept. frighten: (v) cow, alarm, daunt, terrify, appall, scare, affright, intimidate, terrorize, appal; (n, v) fright. ANTONYMS: (v) comfort, reassure, soothe, calm. gaol: (n, v) jail; (n) clink, lockup,

jailhouse, hoosegow; (v) lag, jug, incarcerate, imprison, immure, confine.

pitying: (adj) sympathetic, merciful, pity, pityingly, gloomy, meritless, pitiful, sorry, sorry for, humane, dreary

sooner: (*adj*, *adv*) rather, earlier, before, preferably, instead; (*adv*) first, before now, faster, previously, beforehand; (*adj*) prior.

tedious: (adj) tiresome, boring, dreary,

slow, heavy, humdrum, irksome, lifeless; (adj, v) monotonous, arid, dry. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, varied, easy, readable, lively, entertaining, enthralling, brisk, concise, exotic, pleasant.

vanishing: (n) disappearance, vanishment, dissipation; (adj) dying, fleeting, momentary, breaking up, declining, diminishing, dissolving, evanescent. ANTONYMS: (adj)

thriving, increasing.

"I will," she answered **triumphantly**. "When you went out this evening I thought that as baby was **asleep** I would see where you were going to so **mysteriously** without telling me. So I ran out and followed behind you. You stopped at the place where the road forks, looked round at the bonfires, and then said, 'Damn it, I'll go!' And you went quickly up the left-hand road. Then I stood and watched you."

Wildeve frowned, afterwards saying, with a forced smile, "Well, what wonderful **discovery** did you make?"

"There--now you are angry, and we won't talk of this any more." She went across to him, sat on a **footstool**, and looked up in his face.

"Nonsense!" he said, "that's how you always back out. We will go on with it now we have begun. What did you next see? I particularly want to know."

"Don't be like that, Damon!" she murmured. "I didn't see anything. You vanished out of sight, and then I looked round at the bonfires and came in."

"Perhaps this is not the only time you have dogged my steps. Are you trying to find out something bad about me?"

"Not at all! I have never done such a thing before, and I shouldn't have done it now if words had not sometimes been dropped about you."

"What *do* you mean?" he impatiently asked.

"They say--they say you used to go to Alderworth in the evenings, and it **puts** into my mind what I have heard about--"

Wildeve turned angrily and stood up in front of her. "Now," he said, **flourishing** his hand in the air, "just out with it, madam! I demand to know what **remarks** you have heard."

"Well, I heard that you used to be very **fond** of Eustacia--nothing more than that, though dropped in a bit-by-bit way. You ought not to be angry!"

He observed that her eyes were brimming with tears. "Well," he said, "there is nothing new in that, and of course I don't mean to be rough towards you, so you need not cry. Now, don't let us speak of the subject any more."

Thesaurus

asleep: (adj) sleeping, deceased, sleepy, dormant, numb, dead, sound asleep, snoozing, slumbering, napping, gone. ANTONYMS: (adj) up, attentive, alert, conscious. discovery: (n) detection, disclosure, breakthrough, finding, revelation, catching, revealing, invention, find, development, exploration. flourishing: (adj) thriving, palmy, healthy, successful, luxuriant, booming, verdant, lush, auspicious,

favorable, rich. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, declining, fading, poor, unhealthy.

fond: (adj) affectionate, caring, devoted, tender, loving, amorous, delicate, adoring, doting, ardent, attached. ANTONYMS: (adj) aversion, cold, rough.

footstool: (n) footrest, hassock, footboard, Ottoman.

mysteriously: (adv) enigmatically, strangely, obscurely, secretly,

uncannily, mystically, darkly, puzzlingly, weirdly, abstrusely, occultly. ANTONYM: (adv) normally. puts: (n) stocks, securities, preferred stock, common stock, bonds. remarks: (n) commentary, explanation. triumphantly: (adv) exultantly, winningly, jubilantly, elatedly, proudly, successfully, triumphally, conqueringly, gleefully, delightedly, gloriously.

And no more was said, Thomasin being **glad enough** of a **reason** for not mentioning Clym's **visit** to her that **evening**, and his story.

Thesaurus

enough: (adj) ample, adequate, competent, decent; (n) adequacy, sufficiency, fill; (adv) rather, amply, adequately; (adv, n) plenty. ANTONYMS: (adj) insufficient, deficient, wanting, scant; (adv) insufficiently, inadequately; (n) insufficiency, deficiency, inadequacy, shortage.

evening: (*n*) even, dusk, dark, eve, twilight, sunset, eventide, nightfall, sundown, night, period.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) daybreak, sunrise, sunup, morning. **glad**: (*adj*) jubilant, cheerful, gay,

glad: (aaj) jubilant, cheerrul, gay, blithe, delighted, festive, content, delightful, genial, bright, willing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhappy, apologetic, dismayed, unwilling, disappointed, sorry.

reason: (*n*) account, intellect, occasion, object, understanding, argument, purpose; (*n*, *v*) cause; (*v*) argue, debate; (*adj*, *n*) rationality.

ANTONYMS: (*n*) inconsistency, disincentive.

visit: (v) frequent, attend, call, view, gossip, jaw, inspect, haunt; (n, v) tour, chat; (n) sojourn. 7

THE NIGHT OF THE SIXTH OF NOVEMBER

Having resolved on flight eustacia at times seemed anxious that something should happen to thwart her own intention. The only event that could really change her position was the appearance of Clym. The glory which had **encircled** him as her lover was departed now; yet some good simple quality of his would occasionally return to her memory and **stir** a momentary throb of hope that he would again present himself before her. But **calmly** considered it was not likely that such a **severance** as now existed would ever close up--she would have to live on as a painful object, isolated, and out of place. She had used to think of the heath alone as an **uncongenial** spot to be in; she felt it now of the whole world.

Towards evening on the **sixth** her determination to go away again revived. About four o'clock she packed up anew the few small articles she had brought in her flight from Alderworth, and also some belonging to her which had been left here; the whole formed a bundle not too large to be carried in her hand for a distance of a mile or two. The scene without grew darker; mud-coloured clouds **bellied** downwards from the sky like vast hammocks slung across it, and with the increase of night a stormy wind arose; but as yet there was no rain.

Thesaurus

bellied: (adj) bulging, ventricous, bellying, bulbous, protuberant, ventricular, ampullated, protrusive. calmly: (adv) stilly, tranquilly, coolly, serenely, placidly, sedately, smoothly, peacefully, easily, undisturbedly, steadily. ANTONYMS: (adv) anxiously, hysterically, nervously, agitatedly, uncontrollably, histrionically, restlessly, frantically, irritably, emotionally, tensely.

encircled: (adj) enclosed, bounded, circinate, circular, decorated, delimited, ringed, wreathed, bordered, annulated, annular. severance: (n) separation, disunion, breach, interruption, division, divorce, parting, secession, rupture, breakaway, break. ANTONYM: (n) unification.

sixth: (*n*) common fraction, interval, musical interval, simple fraction.stir: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) move, bustle; (*v*) rouse,

arouse, affect, agitate, inspire; (adj, n) movement; (n) commotion, excitement, disturbance.

ANTONYMS: (v) dampen, retire, stultify, bore, steady, stifle, suppress; (n) quiet, peace; (n, v) calm.

uncongenial: (adj) unfriendly, hostile, incongenial, cold, unfit, unsuited, contrastive, chilly, cool, unsociable, distant. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, hospitable.

Eustacia could not rest indoors, having nothing more to do, and she wandered to and fro on the hill, not far from the house she was soon to leave. In these desultory ramblings she passed the cottage of Susan Nunsuch, a little lower down than her grandfather's. The door was ajar, and a riband of bright firelight fell over the ground without. As Eustacia crossed the firebeams she appeared for an instant as distinct as a figure in a phantasmagoria--a creature of light surrounded by an area of darkness; the moment passed, and she was absorbed in night again.

A woman who was sitting inside the cottage had seen and recognized her in that momentary **irradiation**. This was Susan herself, occupied in preparing a posset for her little boy, who, often ailing, was now seriously unwell. Susan dropped the spoon, shook her fist at the vanished figure, and then proceeded with her work in a musing, absent way.

At eight o'clock, the hour at which Eustacia had promised to signal Wildeve if ever she signalled at all, she looked around the premises to learn if the coast was clear, went to the furze-rick, and pulled thence a long-stemmed bough of that fuel. This she carried to the corner of the bank, and, **glancing** behind to see if the shutters were all closed, she struck a light, and kindled the furze. When it was thoroughly **ablaze** Eustacia took it by the stem and waved it in the air above her head till it had burned itself out.

She was gratified, if **gratification** were possible to such a mood, by seeing a similar light in the **vicinity** of Wildeve's residence a minute or two later. Having agreed to keep watch at this hour every night, in case she should require assistance, this **promptness** proved how strictly he had held to his word. Four hours after the present time, that is, at midnight, he was to be ready to drive her to Budmouth, as **prearranged**.

Eustacia returned to the house. Supper having been got over she retired early, and sat in her bedroom waiting for the time to go by. The night being dark and threatening, Captain Vye had not strolled out to gossip in any cottage or to call at the inn, as was sometimes his custom on these long autumn nights; and he sat **sipping** grog alone downstairs. About ten o'clock there was a knock at the

Thesaurus

ablaze: (adj, v) afire, alight, blazing; (adj) flaming, burning, on fire, passionate, bright, flushed, fiery; (v) splendid. ANTONYMS: (adj) dark, dispassionate, dull, dim, smothered, unexcited, extinguished. glancing: (adj) passing. gratification: (adj, n) delight; (n, v) content; (n) enjoyment, pleasure, satisfaction, fruition, complacency, joy, luxury, treat, fulfillment. ANTONYMS: (n) dissatisfaction,

disenchantment, dismay, discontent, anxiety. **irradiation**: (*n*) shine, beam, radiance, radiation therapy, illumination,

radiation therapy, illumination, radiation, actinotherapy, therapy, light, ray, shaft.

prearranged: (adj) fixed, premeditated, intelligence, intended, intentional, known, observer, occasional, predetermined, regular, selected. ANTONYM: (adj) changing, promptness: (n) promptitude, agility,

celerity, readiness, eagerness, expedition, dispatch, rapidity, alacrity, punctuality, speed. ANTONYMS: (*n*) slowness, sluggishness, tardiness, delay. sipping: (*n*) imbibing, imbibition; (*adj*) libant

vicinity: (n) region, district, proximity, place, neighbourhood, locality, environs, vicinage, area, propinquity, nearness. door. When the servant opened it the rays of the candle fell upon the form of Fairway.

"I was a-forced to go to Lower Mistover tonight," he said, "and Mr. Yeobright asked me to leave this here on my way; but, faith, I put it in the lining of my hat, and thought no more about it till I got back and was hasping my gate before going to bed. So I have run back with it at once."

He handed in a letter and went his way. The girl brought it to the captain, who found that it was directed to Eustacia. He turned it over and over, and fancied that the writing was her husband's, though he could not be sure. However, he decided to let her have it at once if possible, and took it upstairs for that purpose; but on reaching the door of her room and looking in at the keyhole he found there was no light within, the fact being that Eustacia, without undressing, had flung herself upon the bed, to rest and gather a little strength for her coming journey. Her grandfather concluded from what he saw that he ought not to disturb her; and descending again to the parlour he placed the letter on the mantelpiece to give it to her in the morning.

At eleven o'clock he went to bed himself, smoked for some time in his bedroom, put out his light at half- past eleven, and then, as was his invariable custom, pulled up the blind before getting into bed, that he might see which way the wind blew on opening his eyes in the morning, his bedroom window commanding a view of the **flagstaff** and **vane**. Just as he had **lain** down he was surprised to observe the white pole of the staff flash into existence like a **streak** of **phosphorus** drawn downwards across the shade of night without. Only one explanation met this--a light had been suddenly thrown upon the pole from the direction of the house. As everybody had retired to rest the old man felt it necessary to get out of bed, open the window softly, and look to the right and left. Eustacia's bedroom was lighted up, and it was the shine from her window which had lighted the pole. Wondering what had aroused her, he remained **undecided** at the window, and was thinking of **fetching** the letter to slip it under her door, when he heard a slight brushing of **garments** on the **partition** dividing his room from the passage.

Thesaurus

fetching: (adj) attractive, engaging, tempting, winning, fetch, charming, catching, catchy, taking, fetchingly, fascinating. ANTONYMS: (adj) unattractive, repulsive, ugly.
flagstaff: (adj, n) pole; (n) staff, beacon, cairn, post, hand, pointer, vane, weathercock, mast, telegraph.
garments: (n) attire, clothing, dress, apparel, raiment, outfit, costume, garb, array, gear, anything worthless. lain: (adj) artless, unsophisticated,

unaffected, naive, untutored, simple, pure, natural, native, inartificial. partition: (n) wall, bulkhead, divider, distribution, separation, screen; (n, v) part, split; (v) divide, apportion, deal. ANTONYMS: (v) join, reveal; (n) union.

phosphorus: (n) phosphor, Phosphorus paste, P, element, Lucifer, daystar, chemical element, atomic number, morning star. **streak**: (n, v) ray, dash, mark, flash; (adj, n) stripe; (n) band, beam, run, bar, groove, gleam.

undecided: (adj) uncertain, doubtful, dubious, unresolved, pending, indecisive, irresolute, hesitant, debatable, indefinite; (adj, v) undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) certain, determined, sure, settled, definite, decisive.

vane: (adj) weathercock; (n) weather vane, fan blade, cairn, staff, fan, post, beacon, hand, pointer, impeller. The captain concluded that Eustacia, feeling **wakeful**, had gone for a book, and would have dismissed the matter as **unimportant** if he had not also heard her distinctly weeping as she passed.

"She is thinking of that husband of hers," he said to himself. "Ah, the silly goose! she had no business to marry him. I wonder if that letter is really his?"

He arose, threw his boat-cloak round him, opened the door, and said, "Eustacia!" There was no answer. "Eustacia!" he repeated louder, "there is a letter on the mantelpiece for you."

But no response was made to this statement save an imaginary one from the wind, which seemed to **gnaw** at the corners of the house, and the stroke of a few **drops** of rain upon the windows.

He went on to the landing, and stood waiting nearly five minutes. Still she did not return. He went back for a light, and prepared to follow her; but first he looked into her bedroom. There, on the outside of the quilt, was the impression of her form, showing that the bed had not been opened; and, what was more significant, she had not taken her candlestick downstairs. He was now thoroughly alarmed; and hastily putting on his clothes he descended to the front door, which he himself had bolted and locked. It was now unfastened. There was no longer any doubt that Eustacia had left the house at this midnight hour; and whither could she have gone? To follow her was almost impossible. Had the dwelling stood in an ordinary road, two persons setting out, one in each direction, might have made sure of overtaking her; but it was a hopeless task to seek for anybody on a heath in the dark, the practicable directions for flight across it from any point being as numerous as the meridians radiating from the pole. Perplexed what to do, he looked into the parlour, and was vexed to find that the letter still lay there untouched.

At half-past eleven, finding that the house was silent, Eustacia had lighted her candle, put on some warm outer wrappings, taken her bag in her hand, and, extinguishing the light again, descended the staircase. When she got into the outer air she found that it had begun to rain, and as she stood pausing at the door it increased, threatening to come on heavily. But having committed herself

Thesaurus

bolted: (adj) barred, Bolten, secured, firm, barricaded, blockaded, bolted attachment, fast, fastened, latched, tight.

candlestick: (n) candelabra, sconce, chandelier, candle holder, girandole, candleholder, holder, electrolier, gaselier, girandola, luster. drops: (n) tear.

gnaw: (*v*) chew, fret, crunch, corrode, nibble, eat, erode, to bite, munch, masticate; (*n*, *v*) chafe.

overtaking: (n) passing, overtake, pass, going, expiration, loss, departure, exit. quilt: (n) blanket, comforter, duvet, bedding, cover, bedspread, counterpane, quilting, eiderdown,

sheet; (adj, v) embroider. radiating: (adj) radiate, shining, glowing, radious, burning; (adv)

unimportant: (adj) insignificant, frivolous, inconsequential, irrelevant, trifling, slight, petty, little, negligible, immaterial, minor. ANTONYMS: (adj) important, significant, major, crucial, relevant, serious, powerful, connected, central, profound, considerable.

wakeful: (adj) vigilant, sleepless, awake, observant, restless, light, wary, psychologically light, lightheaded, tripping; (v) wistful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaware, asleep, inattentive, relaxed. to this line of action there was no retreating for bad weather. Even the receipt of Clym's letter would not have stopped her now. The gloom of the night was **funereal**; all nature seemed clothed in **crape**. The **spiky** points of the fir trees behind the house rose into the sky like the turrets and pinnacles of an abbey. Nothing below the horizon was visible save a light which was still burning in the cottage of Susan Nunsuch.

Eustacia opened her umbrella and went out from the enclosure by the steps over the bank, after which she was beyond all danger of being perceived. Skirting the pool, she followed the path towards Rainbarrow, occasionally stumbling over twisted furze roots, tufts of rushes, or **oozing** lumps of fleshy fungi, which at this season lay scattered about the heath like the rotten liver and lungs of some colossal animal. The moon and stars were closed up by cloud and rain to the degree of extinction. It was a night which led the traveller's thoughts instinctively to dwell on nocturnal scenes of disaster in the **chronicles** of the world, on all that is terrible and dark in history and legend--the last plague of Egypt, the destruction of Sennacherib's host, the agony in Gethsemane.

Eustacia at length reached Rainbarrow, and stood still there to think. Never was harmony more perfect than that between the chaos of her mind and the chaos of the world without. A sudden recollection had flashed on her this moment—she had not money enough for undertaking a long journey. Amid the fluctuating sentiments of the day her **unpractical** mind had not dwelt on the necessity of being **well**-provided, and now that she thoroughly realized the conditions she sighed bitterly and ceased to stand erect, gradually **crouching** down under the umbrella as if she were drawn into the Barrow by a hand from beneath. Could it be that she was to remain a captive still? Money—she had never felt its value before. Even to **efface** herself from the country means were required. To ask Wildeve for **pecuniary** aid without allowing him to accompany her was impossible to a woman with a shadow of pride left in her; to fly as his mistress—and she knew that he loved her—was of the nature of humiliation.

Anyone who had stood by now would have pitied her, not so much on account of her exposure to weather, and isolation from all of humanity except the

Thesaurus

chronicles: (*n*) archives, history, archive, records. **crape**: (*n*, *v*) curl; (*n*) French pancake, hotcake, flapcake, flapjack, griddlecake, pancake, battercake; (*adj*, *v*) crimp; (*adj*) deep mourning, weeds.

crouching: (adj) sneaking, huddled, obsequious, squat, hunkered, cowering, hunkered down; (v) submissive, resigned.

efface: (v) cancel, erase, obliterate,

destroy, expunge, wipe out, suppress, sponge, blot out, blur, raze. funereal: (adj) doleful, dismal, dreary, somber, gloomy, melancholy, dolorous, dark, depressing, lugubrious; (v) burial. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheery, lively, cheerful. oozing: (n) ooze, leakage, exudation,

seepage, sweating, extravasation, distillation, flow, leak, discharge; (adi) seeping.

pecuniary: (adj) financial, fiscal,

commercial, economic, nummulary, sumptuary, numismatical, pecunial, crumenal

spiky: (adj) sharp, peaky, spiked, thorny, prickly, pointed, barbed, keen, peaked, pointy, jagged. ANTONYMS: (adj) rounded, blunt. unpractical: (adj) impractical, insane, abstract, chimerical, delirious, fanciful, not sane, viewy, mad, spectacular.

well-provided: (adj) replete.

mouldered remains inside the tumulus; but for that other form of misery which was denoted by the slightly rocking movement that her feelings imparted to her person. Extreme unhappiness weighed visibly upon her. Between the drippings of the rain from her umbrella to her mantle, from her mantle to the heather, from the heather to the earth, very similar sounds could be heard coming from her lips; and the tearfulness of the outer scene was repeated upon her face. The wings of her soul were broken by the cruel obstructiveness of all about her; and even had she seen herself in a promising way of getting to Budmouth, entering a steamer, and sailing to some opposite port, she would have been but little more buoyant, so fearfully malignant were other things. She uttered words aloud. When a woman in such a situation, neither old, deaf, crazed, nor whimsical, takes upon herself to sob and soliloquize aloud there is something grievous the matter.

"Can I go, can I go?" she moaned. "He's not great enough for me to give myself to--he does not suffice for my desire!...If he had been a Saul or a Bonaparte-- ah! But to break my marriage vow for him--it is too poor a luxury!...And I have no money to go alone! And if I could, what comfort to me? I must drag on next year, as I have dragged on this year, and the year after that as before. How I have tried and tried to be a splendid woman, and how destiny has been against me!...I do not deserve my lot!" she cried in a frenzy of bitter revolt. "O, the cruelty of putting me into this ill-conceived world! I was capable of much; but I have been injured and blighted and crushed by things beyond my control! O, how hard it is of Heaven to devise such tortures for me, who have done no harm to Heaven at all!"

The distant light which Eustacia had cursorily observed in leaving the house came, as she had divined, from the cottage window of Susan Nunsuch. What Eustacia did not divine was the occupation of the woman within at that moment. Susan's sight of her passing figure earlier in the evening, not five minutes after the sick boy's exclamation, "Mother, I do feel so bad!" persuaded the matron that an evil influence was certainly exercised by Eustacia's **propinguity**.

Thesaurus

blighted: (v) broken, wasted, rotten, moldering, effete, cankered; (adj) spoilt, ill-fated, bleak, blasted, bad. crazed: (adj) deranged, crazy, wild, mad, insane, crackled, loopy, non compos mentis, lunatic, demented, barmy.

grievous: (adj) bitter, dolorous, dreadful, deplorable, sad, tough, pitiful, atrocious, regrettable, sorrowful, sorry. ANTONYM: (adj) successful.

ill-conceived: (adj) crazy, half-baked. malignant: (adj) malevolent, malicious, evil, malefic, fatal, spiteful, convulsion. virulent, sinister, mischievous, pernicious, venomous. mouldered: (adj) rotten.

propinguity: (n) nearness, neighborhood, vicinity, adjacency, closeness, relationship, kinship, presence, neighbourhood, immediacy, likeness. ANTONYMS: (n) distance, remoteness.

rocking: (adj) vivacious, merry, spirited, spry, festive; (n) metalling,

soliloquize: (v) monologuise, recite, soliloquise.

tearfulness: (n) sadness.

whimsical: (adj, n) fanciful, eccentric; (adj) capricious, freakish, humorous, changeable, fickle, erratic, wayward, odd, arbitrary. ANTONYMS: (adj) reasonable, behaving, normal, serious, predictable.

On this account Susan did not go to bed as soon as the evening's work was over, as she would have done at ordinary times. To counteract the **malign** spell which she imagined poor Eustacia to be working, the boy's mother busied herself with a ghastly invention of superstition, calculated to bring powerlessness, atrophy, and annihilation on any human being against whom it was directed. It was a practice well known on Egdon at that date, and one that is not quite extinct at the present day.

She passed with her candle into an inner room, where, among other **utensils**, were two large brown pans, containing together perhaps a hundredweight of liquid honey, the produce of the bees during the foregoing summer. On a shelf over the pans was a smooth and solid yellow mass of a hemispherical form, consisting of **beeswax** from the same take of honey. Susan took down the lump, and cutting off several thin slices, heaped them in an iron ladle, with which she returned to the living-room, and placed the vessel in the hot ashes of the fireplace. As soon as the wax had softened to the plasticity of dough she kneaded the pieces together. And now her face became more intent. She began moulding the wax; and it was evident from her manner of manipulation that she was endeavouring to give it some **preconceived** form. The form was human.

By warming and kneading, cutting and twisting, dismembering and rejoining the incipient image she had in about a quarter of an hour produced a shape which tolerably well resembled a woman, and was about six inches high. She laid it on the table to get cold and hard. Meanwhile she took the candle and went upstairs to where the little boy was lying.

"Did you notice, my dear, what Mrs. Eustacia wore this afternoon besides the dark dress?"

- "A red ribbon round her neck."
- "Anything else?"
- "No--except sandal-shoes."
- "A red ribbon and sandal-shoes," she said to herself.

Thesaurus

beeswax: (adj, n) wax; (n) pursuit, occupation, animal product, trade, livelihood, employment, business. dough: (n) cash, money, batter, kale, lucre, pastry, pelf, shekels, gelt; (adj) clay, butter.

heaped: (adj) dense, cumulative, concentrated, collective, coacervate,

hemispherical: (adj) crescent. hundredweight: (n) cwt, centner, cental, doppelzentner, metric

hundredweight, long hundredweight, short hundredweight; (adj) drachma, stone, scruple, load. **kneading**: (n) massage, milling,

petrissage, rubdown.

ladle: (v) lade, scoop, dip, laden, transfuse; (n, v) shovel; (n) spoon, trowel, watch glass, vessel, thimble. malign: (v) defame, disparage, asperse, libel, badmouth, vilify; (adj)

malevolent, harmful, malefic,

injurious, evil. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, compliment; (adj) benign, beneficial, harmless.

plasticity: (n) flexibility, malleability, ductility, pliability, elasticity, give, adaptability, fluidity, suppleness, smoothness, agility. ANTONYM: (n) stiffness.

preconceived: (v) prepense, aforethought.

utensils: (n) gear, equipment, tackle, apparatus, hardware.

Mrs. Nunsuch went and searched till she found a fragment of the narrowest red ribbon, which she took downstairs and tied round the neck of the image. Then fetching ink and a quilt from the rickety bureau by the window, she blackened the feet of the image to the extent presumably covered by shoes; and on the instep of each foot marked cross-lines in the shape taken by the sandalstrings of those days. Finally she tied a bit of black thread round the upper part of the head, in faint resemblance to a snood worn for confining the hair.

Susan held the object at arm's length and contemplated it with a satisfaction in which there was no smile. To anybody acquainted with the inhabitants of Egdon Heath the image would have suggested Eustacia Yeobright.

From her workbasket in the window-seat the woman took a paper of pins, of the old long and yellow sort, whose heads were disposed to come off at their first usage. These she began to thrust into the image in all directions, with apparently excruciating energy. Probably as many as fifty were thus inserted, some into the head of the wax model, some into the shoulders, some into the trunk, some upwards through the soles of the feet, till the figure was completely permeated with pins.

She turned to the fire. It had been of turf; and though the high heap of ashes which turf fires produce was somewhat dark and dead on the outside, upon raking it abroad with the shovel the inside of the mass showed a glow of red heat. She took a few **pieces** of fresh turf from the chimney-corner and built them together over the glow, upon which the fire brightened. Seizing with the tongs the image that she had made of Eustacia, she held it in the heat, and watched it as it began to waste slowly away. And while she stood thus engaged there came from between her lips a murmur of words.

It was a strange jargon--the Lord's Prayer repeated backwards--the incantation usual in proceedings for obtaining unhallowed assistance against an enemy. Susan uttered the lugubrious discourse three times slowly, and when it was completed the image had considerably diminished. As the wax dropped into the fire a long flame arose from the spot, and curling its tongue round the

Thesaurus lugubrious: (adj) dismal, gloomy,

doleful, dark, funereal, melancholy,

grievous, somber, dolorous,

excruciating: (adj) agonizing, harrowing, painful, sharp, intolerable, acute, violent, insupportable, intense, torturing; (v) cutting. ANTONYMS: (adj) bearable, painless, pleasant, pleasing, soothing, narrowest: (n) minimum. wonderful, dull. incantation: (n) spell, magic, sorcery, enchantment, witchcraft, conjuration, magic spell, chant, wizardry, open sesame, adjuration. instep: (n) covering.

plaintive, miserable. ANTONYM: (adj) cheerful. pieces: (n) debris, trash. **pins**: (v) feet, legs, pegs, trotters. shovel: (v) dig, rake, broom, delve, mop; (n) excavator, digger, shovelful, dipper, power shovel, poker. snood: (n) corona, kerchief, crown,

chaplet, coronet, fillet, collar, cast, band, branch line, headband. tongs: (n) forceps, pincers, pliers, nippers, poker, lifter, pair of tongs, trivet, vice, ice tongs; (v) clutches. unhallowed: (adj) ungodly, impious, profane, demonic, unsanctified, diabolic, sinful, wicked, infernal, impure, unchaste. ANTONYM: (adj) workbasket: (n) container, workbox,

sewing basket.

figure ate still **further** into its **substance**. A pin **occasionally dropped** with the wax, and the **embers heated** it red as it lay.

Thesaurus

dropped: (adj) dropping, fallen, decreased, drop, fall, degraded, dead, born, abandoned.

embers: (*v*) cinder, ash, scoriae; (*n*) fire, ashes.

figure: (*n*, *v*) form, design, cast, estimate, shape, image; (*v*) count, cipher; (*adj*, *n*) appearance; (*n*) character, cost. ANTONYM: (*v*) estimate.

further: (*adj*, *adv*) farther, more; (*v*) advance, encourage, foster, forward;

(adj) extra, additional; (n, v) promote; (adv) again, also. ANTONYMS: (v) impede, thwart, discourage, damage, regress, deteriorate, prevent, hinder; (adj) near.

heated: (adj) fierce, burning, excited, ardent, fevered, passionate, hot, furious, fiery, fervent; (v) heat. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, cooled, mild, apathetic, quiet, impassive. occasionally: (adv) now and then, from time to time, accidentally, every

so often, now and again, sometimes, irregularly, uncommonly, casually, every now and then, fortuitously. ANTONYMS: (adv) regularly, usually, often, recurrently, constantly.

substance: (*adj*, *n*) subject; (*n*) body, significance, import, material, matter, meaning, amount, means, gist, core. ANTONYMS: (*n*) meaninglessness, lightness, surface.

8

RAIN, DARKNESS, AND ANXIOUS WANDERERS

While the **effigy** of Eustacia was **melting** to nothing, and the fair woman herself was standing on Rainbarrow, her soul in an abyss of **desolation** seldom **plumbed** by one so young, Yeobright sat lonely at Blooms-End. He had fulfilled his word to Thomasin by sending off Fairway with the letter to his wife, and now waited with increased **impatience** for some sound or signal of her return. Were Eustacia still at Mistover the very least he expected was that she would send him back a reply tonight by the same hand; though, to leave all to her **inclination**, he had cautioned Fairway not to ask for an answer. If one were handed to him he was to bring it immediately; if not, he was to go straight home without troubling to come round to Blooms-End again that night.

But secretly Clym had a more pleasing hope. Eustacia might possibly decline to use her pen--it was rather her way to work silently--and surprise him by appearing at his door. How fully her mind was made up to do otherwise he did not know.

To Clym's regret it began to rain and blow hard as the evening advanced. The wind rasped and **scraped** at the corners of the house, and filliped the

Thesaurus

desolation: (n) devastation, misery, destruction, depression, grief, wretchedness, bleakness, loneliness, waste, ruin; (adj, n) desertion. ANTONYMS: (n) ecstasy, joy, productiveness, fertileness, fecundity, cheer, fruitfulness, preservation, hopefulness, cheerfulness.

effigy: (n) likeness, figure, copy, idol,

simulacrum, picture, effigies,

dummy, appearance, semblance,

graven image.
impatience: (n) annoyance, eagerness, anger, intolerance, restlessness, fidget, nervousness, fidgetiness, enthusiasm, edginess; (adj) nonendurance. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, endurance, apathy. inclination: (n, v) desire, bent; (n) fancy, affection, tendency, leaning, drift, appetite, dip, proclivity, bias. ANTONYMS: (n) disinclination, reluctance, aversion, indifference,

unwillingness, antipathy, dislike, horror.

melting: (n) thawing, fusion, melt, dissolution, warming, thaw, liquefaction, fusion range; (adj) liquescent, pathetic; (adj, n) dissolving.

plumbed: (adj) sounded.

scraped: (adj) scratched, worn out, worn, threadbare, frayed, hurt,

skinned, damaged, raw.

eavesdroppings like **peas** against the panes. He walked **restlessly** about the **untenanted** rooms, stopping strange noises in windows and doors by jamming splinters of wood into the casements and crevices, and pressing together the **leadwork** of the quarries where it had become **loosened** from the glass. It was one of those nights when cracks in the walls of old churches **widen**, when ancient stains on the ceilings of decayed manor houses are renewed and enlarged from the size of a man's hand to an area of many feet. The little gate in the palings before his dwelling continually opened and clicked together again, but when he looked out eagerly nobody was there; it was as if invisible shapes of the dead were passing in on their way to visit him.

Between ten and eleven o'clock, finding that neither Fairway nor anybody else came to him, he retired to rest, and despite his anxieties soon fell asleep. His sleep, however, was not very sound, by reason of the expectancy he had given way to, and he was easily awakened by a knocking which began at the door about an hour after. Clym arose and looked out of the window. Rain was still falling heavily, the whole expanse of heath before him **emitting** a subdued **hiss** under the **downpour**. It was too dark to see anything at all.

"Who's there?" he cried.

Light footsteps shifted their position in the porch, and he could just distinguish in a plaintive female voice the words, "O Clym, come down and let me in!"

He flushed hot with agitation. "Surely it is Eustacia!" he murmured. If so, she had indeed come to him **unawares**.

He hastily got a light, dressed himself, and went down. On his **flinging** open the door the rays of the candle fell upon a woman closely wrapped up, who at once came forward.

"Thomasin!" he exclaimed in an indescribable tone of disappointment. "It is Thomasin, and on such a night as this! O, where is Eustacia?"

Thomasin it was, wet, frightened, and panting.

Thesaurus loosened: (adj) disentangled, loose,

downpour: (n) cloudburst, torrent, storm, shower, soaker, rainstorm, flood, waterspout, torrential rain, monsoon; (v) drench. ANTONYMS: (n) drought, shower; (v) drizzle. emitting: (n) emission; (adj) flowing, mittent, emissive. flinging: (n) casting, cast. hiss: (v) fizz, spit, whiz, whisper, whoosh; (n) buzz, jeer, hissing, ridicule; (n, v) hoot, taunt.

leadwork: (n) plumbage.

freed, disengaged, extricated, unsnarled.

peas: (n) beans, bean, bills.

restlessly: (adv) fidgetily,
apprehensively, agitatedly, fretfully, unquietly, sleeplessly, nervously, restively, edgily, anxiously, disturbedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) peacefully, unconcernedly.

unawares: (adv) suddenly, pop, plump, abruptly, a l'improviste,

unaware, all at once, unexpectedly, inadvertently; (adj) unwary, unsuspecting. ANTONYMS: (adj) prepared; (adv) knowingly, consciously.

untenanted: (adj) vacant, uninhabited. ANTONYM: (adj) occupied.

widen: (v) extend, stretch, broaden, enlarge, increase, spread, distend,

enlarge, increase, spread, distend, develop, dilate, amplify, flare. ANTONYMS: (*v*) contract, cramp, restrict, shrink, curtail, decrease.

"Eustacia? I don't know, Clym; but I can think," she said with much perturbation. "Let me come in and rest--I will explain this. There is a great trouble brewing--my husband and Eustacia!"

"What, what?"

"I think my husband is going to leave me or do something dreadful--I don't know what--Clym, will you go and see? I have nobody to help me but you; Eustacia has not yet come home?"

"No."

She went on **breathlessly**: "Then they are going to run off together! He came indoors tonight about eight o'clock and said in an off-hand way, 'Tamsie, I have just found that I must go a journey.' 'When?' I said. 'Tonight,' he said. 'Where?' I asked him. 'I cannot tell you at present,' he said; 'I shall be back again tomorrow.' He then went and busied himself in looking up his things, and took no notice of me at all. I expected to see him start, but he did not, and then it came to be ten o'clock, when he said, 'You had better go to bed.' I didn't know what to do, and I went to bed. I believe he thought I fell asleep, for half an hour after that he came up and unlocked the oak chest we keep money in when we have much in the house and took out a roll of something which I believe was banknotes, though I was not aware that he had 'em there. These he must have got from the bank when he went there the other day. What does he want banknotes for, if he is only going off for a day? When he had gone down I thought of Eustacia, and how he had met her the night before--I know he did meet her, Clym, for I followed him part of the way; but I did not like to tell you when you called, and so make you think ill of him, as I did not think it was so serious. Then I could not stay in bed; I got up and dressed myself, and when I heard him out in the stable I thought I would come and tell you. So I came downstairs without any noise and slipped out."

"Then he was not absolutely gone when you left?"

"No. Will you, dear Cousin Clym, go and try to **persuade** him not to go? He takes no notice of what I say, and puts me off with the story of his going on a

Thesaurus

breathlessly: (adv) pantingly, eagerly, windedly, deadly, inanimately, breathtakingly, impatiently, animatedly, hungrily, chokingly, pulselessly. chest: (n) bosom, ark, bust, box, chest of drawers, case, hutch, bureau,

caisson, casket, dresser. dressed: (adj) attired, clad, garbed, appareled, spruced up, spiffed up, covered, polished, garmented; (v) clothed, habited.

noise: (n, v) clatter, echo; (n) clamor, hubbub, racket, sound, disturbance, uproar, din, buzz, clang. ANTONYMS: (n) silence, quiet, quietness, sense.

persuade: (v) convince, coax, assure, allure, entice, influence, induce, cajole, argue, exhort, lure.

ANTONYMS: (v) discourage, dissuade, deter, restrain, force. roll: (n, v) list, wheel, curl, turn; (v) reel, enfold, revolve, wind; (n)

revolution, register; (adj, n, v) twist. ANTONYM: (v) unwind. stable: (adj, adv) firm; (adj) reliable, stationary, fixed, fast, lasting, constant, durable, secure, solid, sound. ANTONYMS: (adj) shaky, wobbly, dangerous, volatile, precarious, rickety, tenuous, temperamental, fickle, temporary; (adv) loosely.

journey, and will be home tomorrow, and all that; but I don't believe it. I think you could influence him."

"I'll go," said Clym. "O, Eustacia!"

Thomasin carried in her arms a large bundle; and having by this time seated herself she began to **unroll** it, when a baby appeared as the **kernel** to the husksdry, warm, and unconscious of travel or rough weather. Thomasin briefly kissed the baby, and then found time to begin crying as she said, "I brought baby, for I was afraid what might happen to her. I suppose it will be her death, but I couldn't leave her with Rachel!"

Clym hastily put together the logs on the hearth, raked abroad the embers, which were scarcely yet **extinct**, and blew up a **flame** with the bellows.

"Dry yourself," he said. "I'll go and get some more wood."

"No, no--don't stay for that. I'll make up the fire. Will you go at once--please will you?"

Yeobright ran upstairs to finish **dressing** himself. While he was gone another rapping came to the door. This time there was no delusion that it might be Eustacia's--the footsteps just preceding it had been heavy and slow. Yeobright thinking it might possibly be Fairway with a note in answer, descended again and opened the door.

"Captain Vye?" he said to a **dripping** figure.

"Is my granddaughter here?" said the captain.

"No."

"Then where is she?".

"I don't know."

"But you ought to know--you are her husband."

"Only in name apparently," said Clym with rising excitement. "I believe she means to **elope** tonight with Wildeve. I am just going to look to it."

"Well, she has left my house; she left about half an hour ago. Who's sitting there?"

Thesaurus

delusion: (n) hallucination, deception, cheat, chimera, misunderstanding, mirage, trick, fallacy, error, aberration, falsehood. ANTONYMS: (*n*) comprehension, fact, truth. **dressing**: (n) bandage, stuffing, fertilization, binding, bandaging, scolding, fertilizer, manure, compress, preparation, farce. dripping: (adj) wet, damp, drenched, sodden, soaked, soggy; (adj, adv) sopping, soaking; (adj, v) reeking; (n) dribble, a drop. ANTONYM: (adj)

elope: (v) escape, run off, flee, desert,

extinct: (adj) dead, deceased, defunct, departed, obsolete, extinguished, exhausted, inanimate, out, quenched, gone. ANTONYMS: (adj) alive, living, extant, active, dormant, thriving, existing, live.

flame: (adj, n) fire, sweetheart; (adj, v)

burn, glow; (n, v) flash; (n) ardour, burning, fervor, enthusiasm, combustion, sheen.

bolt, slip away, decamp, run, fly, run kernel: (n) gist, heart, essence, center, inwardness, quintessence, grain, marrow, substance, content, nucleus. unroll: (v) unfold, unfurl, open, extend, spread, wind off, unravel, uncoil; (n, v) unwind; (adj, v) display; (adj) trot out.

"My cousin Thomasin."

The captain bowed in a **preoccupied** way to her. "I only hope it is no worse than an elopement," he said.

"Worse? What's worse than the worst a wife can do?"

"Well, I have been told a strange tale. Before starting in search of her I called up Charley, my stable lad. I missed my pistols the other day."

"Pistols?"

"He said at the time that he took them down to clean. He has now owned that he took them because he saw Eustacia looking curiously at them; and she afterwards owned to him that she was thinking of taking her life, but bound him to **secrecy**, and promised never to think of such a thing again. I hardly suppose she will ever have **bravado** enough to use one of them; but it shows what has been **lurking** in her mind; and people who think of that sort of thing once think of it again."

"Where are the pistols?"

"Safely locked up. O no, she won't touch them again. But there are more ways of letting out life than through a bullet-hole. What did you quarrel about so bitterly with her to drive her to all this? You must have treated her badly indeed. Well, I was always against the marriage, and I was right."

"Are you going with me?" said Yeobright, paying no attention to the captain's latter remark. "If so I can tell you what we quarrelled about as we walk along."

"Where to?"

"To Wildeve's--that was her **destination**, depend upon it."

Thomasin here broke in, still weeping: "He said he was only going on a sudden short journey; but if so why did he want so much money? O, Clym, what do you think will happen? I am afraid that you, my poor baby, will soon have no father left to you!"

"I am off now," said Yeobright, **stepping** into the porch.

Thesaurus

bitterly: (adv) bitingly, sourly, fiercely, cruelly, caustically, harshly, poignantly, piercingly, cuttingly, rancorously, acrimoniously. ANTONYMS: (adv) harmoniously, sweetly, warmly, gladly, agreeably, kindly, friendly.

bravado: (n) boast, bluster, braggadocio, bluff, bragging, swagger, defiance, ostentation, bravery, talk, swaggering. ANTONYMS: (n) restraint, humility, modesty.

destination: (n) goal, aim, address, haven, doom, butt, destiny, terminus, target, finish, purpose. ANTONYM:

lurking: (n) ambush; (adj) snaky, backstair, backstairs, clandestine, concealed, dormant, latent, potential, skulking, sneaky.

preoccupied: (adj) absorbed, abstracted, thoughtful, lost, rapt, distracted, faraway, inattentive, deep in thought, engrossed, pensive. ANTONYMS: (adj) alert, carefree, uninterested.

secrecy: (adj, n, v) privacy; (n)concealment, silence, confidentiality, darkness, seclusion, retirement, mystery, secretiveness, privateness,

stepping: (n) steps.

tale: (n) account, narrative, narration, recital, fib, fable, report, fiction, lie, relation, yarn. ANTONYM: (n) fact.

"I would fain go with 'ee," said the old man doubtfully. "But I begin to be afraid that my legs will hardly carry me there such a night as this. I am not so young as I was. If they are interrupted in their flight she will be sure to come back to me, and I ought to be at the house to receive her. But be it as 'twill I can't walk to the Quiet Woman, and that's an end on't. I'll go straight home."

"It will perhaps be best," said Clym. "Thomasin, dry yourself, and be as comfortable as you can."

With this he closed the door upon her, and left the house in company with Captain Vye, who parted from him outside the gate, taking the middle path, which led to Mistover. Clym crossed by the right-hand track towards the inn.

Thomasin, being left alone, took off some of her wet garments, carried the baby upstairs to Clym's bed, and then came down to the sitting-room again, where she made a larger fire, and began drying herself. The fire soon flared up the chimney, giving the room an appearance of comfort that was doubled by contrast with the **drumming** of the storm without, which snapped at the windowpanes and breathed into the chimney strange low utterances that seemed to be the **prologue** to some tragedy.

But the least part of Thomasin was in the house, for her heart being at ease about the little girl upstairs she was mentally following Clym on his journey. Having indulged in this imaginary peregrination for some considerable interval, she became impressed with a sense of the intolerable **slowness** of time. But she sat on. The moment then came when she could scarcely sit longer, and it was like a satire on her patience to remember that Clym could hardly have reached the inn as yet. At last she went to the baby's bedside. The child was sleeping soundly; but her imagination of possibly disastrous events at her home, the **predominance** within her of the unseen over the seen, agitated her beyond **endurance**. She could not refrain from going down and opening the door. The rain still continued, the candlelight falling upon the nearest drops and making glistening darts of them as they descended across the throng of invisible ones behind. To plunge into that medium was to plunge into water slightly **diluted** with air. But the difficulty of returning to her house at this moment made her all

Thesaurus

diluted: (adj) thin, watery, weak, insipid, tasteless, bland, sparse, rare, cut, washy, tame. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, concentrated, undiluted, thickened, strengthened, enriched, thick.

drumming: (n) roll, drums, sound, thump, pulse, barrelling, percussion, buzzing, stress, tapping, throb. endurance: (adj, n) sufferance; (n) stamina, tolerance, courage, permanence, continuance, energy,

fortitude, tenacity, duration, toughness. ANTONYMS: (n) weakness, inconsistency, impatience, frailty, discontinuation, discontinuance, death. predominance: (n) advantage, ascendancy, dominance, predominancy, excellence, mastery, dominion, ascendance, supremacy, odds, overweight.

prologue: (*n*) preface, introduction, preamble, foreword, Prolog,

overture, proem, preliminary, beginning, prolegomena, opening. ANTONYMS: (*n*) conclusion, postscript.

slowness: (n) dilatoriness, lethargy, lateness, backwardness, awkwardness, sluggishness, stupidity, indolence; (adj, n) delay. ANTONYMS: (n) haste, quickness, rapidity, intelligence, cleverness, nimbleness, speediness, promptness, punctuality, vigor.

the more **desirous** of doing so--anything was better than **suspense**. "I have come here well enough," she said, "and why shouldn't I go back again? It is a mistake for me to be away."

She hastily fetched the infant, wrapped it up, cloaked herself as before, and shoveling the ashes over the fire, to prevent accidents, went into the open air. Pausing first to put the door key in its old place behind the shutter, she resolutely turned her face to the confronting pile of firmamental darkness beyond the palings, and stepped into its midst. But Thomasin's imagination being so actively engaged elsewhere, the night and the weather had for her no terror beyond that of their actual discomfort and difficulty.

She was soon ascending Blooms-End valley and traversing the undulations on the side of the hill. The noise of the wind over the heath was shrill, and as if it whistled for joy at finding a night so congenial as this. Sometimes the path led her to hollows between thickets of tall and dripping **bracken**, dead, though not yet prostrate, which enclosed her like a pool. When they were more than usually tall she lifted the baby to the top of her head, that it might be out of the reach of their **drenching** fronds. On higher ground, where the wind was brisk and sustained, the rain flew in a level flight without sensible descent, so that it was beyond all power to imagine the **remoteness** of the point at which it left the bosoms of the clouds. Here **self**-defence was impossible, and individual drops stuck into her like the arrows into Saint Sebastian. She was enabled to avoid puddles by the nebulous paleness which signified their presence, though beside anything less dark than the heath they themselves would have appeared as blackness.

Yet in spite of all this Thomasin was not sorry that she had started. To her there were not, as to Eustacia, demons in the air, and **malice** in every bush and bough. The drops which lashed her face were not **scorpions**, but **prosy** rain; Egdon in the mass was no monster whatever, but impersonal open ground. Her fears of the place were rational, her dislikes of its worst moods reasonable. At this time it was in her view a windy, wet place, in which a person might experience much discomfort, lose the path without care, and possibly catch cold.

Thesaurus

bracken: (n) fern, brake, pteridium aquilinum, pteridium esculentum, brush, pasture brake, tree fern. desirous: (adj) wistful, avid, ambitious, greedy, longing, eager, hungry, covetous, envious, agog; (adj, v) willing. ANTONYMS: (adj) undesirous, reluctant, undesiring, unconcerned. drenching: (adj, n) soaking; (n)

drenching: (adj, n) soaking; (n)
 wetting, dipsomaniac, sousing, dip,
 boozer, alcoholic.

malice: (n) spite, animosity, enmity, venom, ill will, hatred, malevolence, cruelty, envy, hate, spleen.
ANTONYMS: (n) goodwill, benevolence, affection, goodness.
prosy: (adi) humdrum, pedestrian, uninteresting, dull, boring, vapid, tedious, commonplace, earthbound, prosal, proposing.
remoteness: (n) aloofness, detachment,

remoteness: (*n*) aloofness, detachment farawayness, remotion, loneliness, longinquity, reserve, abstraction, separation, standoffishness; (adj, n) farness. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, accessibility, inclusion, friendliness, closeness, approachability. scorpions: (n) horseshoe crabs. self-defence: (n) self-defense. suspense: (n) doubt, expectancy, anticipation, indecision, insecurity, unrest, expectation, irresolution, suspension, tension; (adj, n) hesitation. ANTONYM: (n)

knowledge.

If the path is well known the difficulty at such times of keeping therein is not altogether great, from its familiar feel to the feet; but once lost it is **irrecoverable**. Owing to her baby, who somewhat **impeded** Thomasin's view forward and distracted her mind, she did at last lose the track. This mishap occurred when she was descending an open slope about two-thirds home. Instead of attempting, by wandering hither and thither, the hopeless task of finding such a mere thread, she went straight on, trusting for guidance to her general knowledge of the contours, which was scarcely surpassed by Clym's or by that of the heath-croppers themselves.

At length Thomasin reached a hollow and began to discern through the rain a faint blotted **radiance**, which presently assumed the **oblong** form of an open door. She knew that no house stood **hereabouts**, and was soon aware of the nature of the door by its height above the ground.

"Why, it is Diggory Venn's van, surely!" she said.

A certain secluded spot near Rainbarrow was, she knew, often Venn's chosen centre when staying in this neighbourhood; and she guessed at once that she had stumbled upon this mysterious retreat. The question arose in her mind whether or not she should ask him to guide her into the path. In her anxiety to reach home she decided that she would appeal to him, notwithstanding the **strangeness** of appearing before his eyes at this place and season. But when, in **pursuance** of this resolve, Thomasin reached the van and looked in she found it to be untenanted; though there was no doubt that it was the reddleman's. The fire was burning in the stove, the lantern hung from the nail. Round the doorway the floor was merely **sprinkled** with rain, and not saturated, which **told** her that the door had not long been opened.

While she stood uncertainly looking in Thomasin heard a footstep advancing from the darkness behind her, and turning, beheld the well-known form in corduroy, lurid from head to foot, the lantern beams falling upon him through an intervening **gauze** of **raindrops**.

"I thought you went down the slope," he said, without noticing her face. "How do you come back here again?"

Thesaurus

gauze: (n) film, curtain, blind,
bandage, mask, mantle, muslin,
screen, gauze bandage, shutter, daze.
hereabouts: (adv) hereabout,
thereabouts.
impeded: (adj) blocked, disabled,
hampered, crippled, slow.
irrecoverable: (adj) incurable,
irreparable, remediless, irreclaimable,
irremediable, unrecoverable,
forgotten, desperate, lost, irrevocable,
irreversible.

oblong: (adj) oval, elliptical, rectangular, rounded; (v) longitudinal; (n) block, quadrangle. pursuance: (n) prosecution, execution, pursuit, implementation, fulfillment, achievement, search, quest, fulfilment, exercise, chase. radiance: (n) gleam, glory, brilliance, luster, lustre, beam, brightness, effulgence, sparkle, light; (adj, n) brilliancy. ANTONYMS: (n) darkness, gloominess.

raindrops: (n) rain, raindrop.
sprinkled: (adj) scattered, speckled,
wet, dotted.
strangeness: (n) oddity, oddness,
quaintness, peculiarity, curiousness,
abnormality, weirdness, foreignness,
queerness, singularity, quirk.
ANTONYMS: (n) familiarity,
nativeness.
told: (v) related, narrated; (adj)
numbered, oral, spoken, legendary,

verbal, manifest.

"Diggory?" said Thomasin faintly.

"Who are you?" said Venn, still unperceiving. "And why were you crying so just now?"

"O, Diggory! don't you know me?" said she. "But of course you don't, wrapped up like this. What do you mean? I have not been crying here, and I have not been here before."

Venn then came nearer till he could see the illuminated side of her form.

"Mrs. Wildeve!" he exclaimed, starting. "What a time for us to meet! And the baby too! What dreadful thing can have brought you out on such a night as this?"

She could not immediately answer; and without asking her permission he hopped into his van, took her by the arm, and drew her up after him.

"What is it?" he continued when they stood within.

"I have lost my way coming from Blooms-End, and I am in a great hurry to get home. Please show me as quickly as you can! It is so silly of me not to know Egdon better, and I cannot think how I came to lose the path. Show me quickly, Diggory, please."

"Yes, of course. I will go with 'ee. But you came to me before this, Mrs. Wildeve?"

"I only came this minute."

"That's strange. I was lying down here asleep about five minutes ago, with the door shut to keep out the weather, when the brushing of a woman's clothes over the heath-bushes just outside woke me up, for I don't sleep heavy, and at the same time I heard a sobbing or crying from the same woman. I opened my door and held out my lantern, and just as far as the light would reach I saw a woman; she turned her head when the light sheened on her, and then hurried on downhill. I hung up the lantern, and was curious enough to pull on my things and dog her a few steps, but I could see nothing of her any more. That was where I had been when you came up; and when I saw you I thought you were the same one."

Thesaurus

curious: (adj) odd, unusual, abnormal, strange, peculiar, interested, quizzical, quaint, queer, inquiring, inquisitive. ANTONYMS: (adj) incurious, ordinary, apathetic, uninterested, unconcerned, typical, indifferent, everyday, disinterested, conventional, common. downhill: (adj) descending, declivous; (adj, adv) downward; (v) declivity, ascent, acclivity, bank, hill, gradient;

(adv) downwards; (n) descent.

ANTONYMS: (adj) upward, uphill. dreadful: (adj) bad, awful, alarming, atrocious, fearful, terrible, abominable, appalling, direful, grisly; shut: (v) seal, bar, fasten, obstruct, (adj, v) dread. ANTONYMS: (adj) wonderful, great, lovely, fantastic, marvelous, admirable, successful, nice, joyous, honorable, fair. **hurry**: (n) haste; (n, v) bustle, hasten, dispatch, flurry, rush; (v) scurry, dash, accelerate, expedite, run. ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, calmness,

patience, unimportance; (v) dawdle, delay, linger, crawl, amble; (intj)

lock, exclude; (adj) closed, cut; (n) shutting, end, finish. ANTONYMS: (v) admit, undo.

woke: (v) arouse.

wrapped: (prep) covered; (adj) clothed, draped, rapt, intent, absorbed, engrossed, mantled, packed, immersed; (adj, prep) cloaked.

"Perhaps it was one of the heathfolk going home?"

"No, it couldn't be. 'Tis too late. The noise of her **gown** over the he'th was of a **whistling** sort that nothing but **silk** will make."

"It wasn't I, then. My dress is not silk, you see....Are we anywhere in a line between Mistover and the inn?"

"Well, ves; not far out."

"Ah, I wonder if it was she! Diggory, I must go at once!"

She jumped down from the van before he was aware, when Venn unhooked the lantern and leaped down after her. "I'll take the baby, ma'am," he said. "You must be tired out by the weight."

Thomasin hesitated a moment, and then delivered the baby into Venn's hands. "Don't squeeze her, Diggory," she said, "or hurt her little arm; and keep the cloak close over her like this, so that the rain may not drop in her face."

"I will," said Venn earnestly. "As if I could hurt anything belonging to you!"

"I only meant accidentally," said Thomasin.

"The baby is dry enough, but you are pretty wet," said the reddleman when, in closing the door of his cart to padlock it, he noticed on the floor a ring of water drops where her cloak had hung from her.

Thomasin followed him as he wound right and left to avoid the larger bushes, **stopping** occasionally and **covering** the lantern, while he looked over his shoulder to gain some idea of the position of Rainbarrow above them, which it was necessary to keep directly behind their backs to preserve a proper course.

"You are sure the rain does not fall upon baby?"

"Quite sure. May I ask how old he is, ma'am?"

"He!" said Thomasin reproachfully. "Anybody can see better than that in a moment. She is nearly two months old. How far is it now to the inn?"

"A little over a quarter of a mile."

"Will you walk a little faster?"

Thesaurus

closing: (n) end, finish, conclusion, close, ending, shutting, finishing; (adj) ultimate, last, final, terminal. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) opening; (adj) covering: (n) cover, coating, blanket,

coat, casing, wrapper, case, concealment, awning; (adj, n, v)clothing; (*n*, *v*) apparel. ANTONYMS: (*v*) expand, extend. (prep) exactly, beneath. gown: (n) robe, clothing, cassock,

vestment, wrapper, overclothes,

outerwear, uniform, tunic, clothes; (v) abeyance, interruption; (adv) silk: (adj) silky, down, silken, velure,

velvet; (n) silks, satin, cloth, animal fiber, fabric, dental floss.

squeeze: (n, v) hug, pinch, embrace, nip; (adj, v) compress, force; (adj, n, v)press; (v) extort, cram, crush, jam.

stopping: (n) stoppage, cessation, shutdown, padding, fillet, suspension, stay, discontinuance, haltingly.

whistling: (n) whistle, sound, tin whistle, music, pennywhistle, sign, signal, signaling.

wound: (n, v) bruise, cut, harm, pain, damage, scratch, stab, sting; (n) injury; (v) offend, injure. ANTONYMS: (v) heal, appease, aid, cure, repair.

"I was **afraid** you could not keep up."

"I am very anxious to get there. Ah, there is a light from the window!"

"'Tis not from the window. That's a gig-lamp, to the best of my belief."

"O!" said Thomasin in despair. "I wish I had been there sooner--give me the baby, Diggory--you can go back now."

"I must go all the way," said Venn. "There is a quag between us and that light, and you will walk into it up to your **neck** unless I take you round."

"But the light is at the inn, and there is no quag in front of that."

"No, the light is below the inn some two or three hundred yards."

"Never mind," said Thomasin hurriedly. "Go towards the light, and not towards the inn."

"Yes," answered Venn, swerving round in obedience; and, after a pause, "I wish you would tell me what this great **trouble** is. I think you have **proved** that I can be trusted."

"There are some things that cannot be--cannot be told to--" And then her heart rose into her throat, and she could say no more.

Thesaurus

afraid: (adj) fearful, timid, shy, apprehensive, anxious, worried, scared, frightened, nervous, terrified; (adj, adv) cowardly. ANTONYMS: (adj) brave, venturesome, calm, confident, cool, courageous, eager, unafraid, valiant, bold, carefree. neck: (n) cervix, nape, neckband, neckline, isthmus; (v) make out, pet, love, cut; (adj) stricture, middle constriction.

obedience: (n) meekness, submission,

deference, obeisance, acquiescence, subordination, bow, observance, docility, loyalty, allegiance. ANTONYMS: (n) disobedience, defiance, naughtiness, resistance, divergence, chaos, wildness. **proved**: (adj) tried, established, tested, qualified, genuine, demonstrable, apparent, confirmed, reliable,

quag: (n) quagmire, swamp, mire, bog, morass, marsh.

throat: (n) orifice, pharynx, gorge, mouth, muzzle, nozzle, sucker, shaft, quarl, throat depth, nostril. trouble: (n, v) inconvenience, pain, bother, disquiet, disorder, worry, annoy, fuss, afflict, torment; (adj, n) difficulty. ANTONYMS: (v) please, help, assist, aid, placate, soothe, comfort; (n) fitness, pleasure, advantage, ease.

9

SIGHTS AND SOUNDS DRAW THE WANDERERS TOGETHER

Having seen Eustacia's signal from the hill at eight o'clock, Wildeve immediately prepared to assist her in her flight, and, as he hoped, accompany her. He was somewhat perturbed, and his manner of **informing** Thomasin that he was going on a journey was in itself sufficient to **rouse** her **suspicions**. When she had gone to bed he collected the few articles he would require, and went upstairs to the money-chest, whence he took a tolerably **bountiful** sum in notes, which had been advanced to him on the property he was so soon to have in possession, to **defray** expenses incidental to the removal.

He then went to the stable and coach-house to assure himself that the horse, gig, and **harness** were in a fit condition for a long drive. Nearly half an hour was spent thus, and on returning to the house Wildeve had no thought of Thomasin being anywhere but in bed. He had told the stable lad not to stay up, leading the boy to understand that his departure would be at three or four in the morning; for this, though an exceptional hour, was less strange than midnight, the time actually agreed on, the packet from Budmouth **sailing** between one and two.

Thesaurus

bountiful: (adj) ample, abundant, plentiful, generous, liberal, profuse, fruitful, luxuriant, lush, rich, openhanded. ANTONYMS: (adj) sparse, miserly, wanting, spare, scarce, scanty, scant, lean, lacking, insufficient, barren.

defray: (v) disburse, reimburse, clear, remunerate, make payment, cover, redeem, meet, spend, liquidate, satisfy.

harness: (adj, n) strap, tether; (n, v)

yoke, rein, couple, check; (*adj*, *v*) hitch; (*v*) wear, equip, limit, use. ANTONYM: (*v*) undo.

informing: (n) briefing, disclosure, apprisal, warning, revelation, ratting, presentation, introduction; (v) inform; (adj) intelligencing, giving information.

rouse: (v) provoke, excite, arouse, kindle, awaken, instigate, actuate, disturb, move, agitate, incite. ANTONYMS: (v) dampen, dishearten, suppress, douse, inhibit, stifle, quench.

sailing: (*adj*) nautical, at sea; (*adj*, *n*) seafaring; (*n*) departure, glide, gliding, boating, cruise, soaring, going, leaving.

suspicions: (*adj*) entertain doubts, have doubts; (*n*) doubts, misgivings, reservations, qualms, worries, fears, uncertainties.

At last all was quiet, and he had nothing to do but to wait. By no effort could he shake off the oppression of spirits which he had experienced ever since his last meeting with Eustacia, but he hoped there was that in his situation which money could cure. He had persuaded himself that to act not **ungenerously** towards his gentle wife by settling on her the half of his property, and with **chivalrous** devotion towards another and greater woman by sharing her fate, was possible. And though he meant to adhere to Eustacia's instructions to the letter, to deposit her where she wished and to leave her, should that be her will, the spell that she had cast over him intensified, and his heart was beating fast in the anticipated **futility** of such **commands** in the face of a mutual wish that they should throw in their lot together.

He would not allow himself to dwell long upon these conjectures, maxims, and hopes, and at twenty minutes to twelve he again went softly to the stable, harnessed the horse, and lit the lamps; whence, taking the horse by the head, he led him with the covered car out of the yard to a spot by the **roadside** some quarter of a mile below the inn.

Here Wildeve waited, slightly sheltered from the driving rain by a high bank that had been cast up at this place. Along the surface of the road where lit by the lamps the loosened gravel and small **stones** scudded and clicked together before the wind, which, leaving them in heaps, plunged into the heath and boomed across the bushes into darkness. Only one sound rose above this din of weather, and that was the **roaring** of a ten-hatch **weir** to the **southward**, from a river in the meads which formed the boundary of the heath in this direction.

He lingered on in perfect stillness till he began to fancy that the midnight hour must have struck. A very strong doubt had arisen in his mind if Eustacia would venture down the hill in such weather; yet knowing her nature he felt that she might. "Poor thing! 'tis like her ill-luck," he murmured.

At length he turned to the lamp and looked at his watch. To his surprise it was nearly a quarter past midnight. He now wished that he had driven up the circuitous road to Mistover, a plan not adopted because of the enormous length

Thesaurus

chivalrous: (adj) gallant, brave, knightly, courteous, courageous, gentlemanly, sublime, magnanimous, polite, thoughtful, considerate.

ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, fearful, brutish, afraid, dishonorable, cowardly, barbaric, boorish.

commands: (n) orders, instructions, information, guidelines.

futility: (n) emptiness, inanity, worthlessness, vanity, uselessness, fruitlessness, frivolity, unusefulness,

purposelessness, hollowness, insignificance. ANTONYMS: (n) importance, worth, worthiness, fruitfulness, effectiveness, competence, usefulness. roadside: (n) verge, shoulder, border, edge, margin.

roaring: (*n*) bellowing, roar, bellow, thunder; (*adj*) booming, prosperous, thriving, flourishing, deafening,

noisy, boisterous.

southward: (adv) southwards,

southernly; (adj) southbound, southern.

stones: (*n*) shingle, grit.

ungenerously: (adv) stingily, smally, basely, cheaply, parsimoniously, closely, narrowly, tightfistedly, illiberally, sordidly, meagerly.

ANTONYM: (adv) generously.

weir: (n) dam, boom, dike, dyke, levee, penetock, bergerously, level, penetock, bergerously, level, level, penetock, bergerously, level, level, penetock, bergerously, level, level, penetock, level, l

penstock, barrage, wall, block, barrier, fencing.

of the route in proportion to that of the pedestrian's path down the open hillside, and the consequent increase of labour for the horse.

At this moment a footstep approached; but the light of the lamps being in a different direction the comer was not visible. The step paused, then came on again.

"Eustacia?" said Wildeve.

The person came forward, and the light fell upon the form of Clym, glistening with wet, whom Wildeve immediately recognized; but Wildeve, who stood behind the lamp, was not at once recognized by Yeobright.

He stopped as if in doubt whether this waiting vehicle could have anything to do with the flight of his wife or not. The sight of Yeobright at once banished Wildeve's sober feelings, who saw him again as the deadly rival from whom Eustacia was to be kept at all hazards. Hence Wildeve did not speak, in the hope that Clym would pass by without particular inquiry.

While they both hung thus in hesitation a dull sound became audible above the storm and wind. Its origin was unmistakable--it was the fall of a body into the stream in the adjoining mead, apparently at a point near the weir.

Both started. "Good God! can it be she?" said Clym.

"Why should it be she?" said Wildeve, in his alarm forgetting that he had hitherto screened himself.

"Ah!--that's you, you traitor, is it?" cried Yeobright. "Why should it be she? Because last week she would have put an end to her life if she had been able. She ought to have been watched! Take one of the lamps and come with me."

Yeobright seized the one on his side and hastened on; Wildeve did not wait to **unfasten** the other, but followed at once along the **meadow** track to the weir, a little in the rear of Clym.

Shadwater Weir had at its foot a large circular pool, fifty feet in diameter, into which the water flowed through ten huge hatches, raised and lowered by a winch and cogs in the ordinary manner. The sides of the pool were of masonry, to prevent the water from washing away the bank; but the force of the stream in

Thesaurus

circular: (adj) round, rounded, rotund, meadow: (n) hayfield, lea, mead, orbicular, circinate, globular, annular, grassland, plain, lawn, sward, spherical; (n) handbill, advertisement, bill. ANTONYMS: (adj) linear, rectangular, straight. cogs: (n) teeth, moving parts, workings, works, mechanism, device, cost of goods sold. masonry: (n) brickwork, stonework, construction, bricklaying, structure, trade, dry masonry, craft, freemasons collectively.

grazing land, greensward, pasturage,

sober: (adj, v) grave, sedate; (adj) sane, earnest, quiet, solemn, moderate, modest, serene, dull, somber. ANTONYMS: (adj) intoxicated, unrestrained, drunk, playful, sensational, emotional, cheerful, frivolous, funny, muddled, delirious. traitor: (n) betrayer, conspirator,

Judas, renegade, rat, quisling, deserter, cheat, collaborationist; (adj) insurgent, mutineer. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalist, patriot. **unfasten**: (v) open, detach, release, unbind, unbutton, disengage, unbolt, separate, loose, loosen, unchain. ANTONYMS: (v) attach, lock, close. winch: (v) capstan, crane; (n, v)

windlass, derrick, wince; (n) crank, hoist, pinion, pulley, spindle, the redwing.

winter was sometimes such as to undermine the retaining wall and **precipitate** it into the hole. Clym reached the hatches, the framework of which was shaken to its foundations by the velocity of the current. Nothing but the **froth** of the waves could be discerned in the pool below. He got upon the **plank** bridge over the race, and holding to the rail, that the wind might not blow him off, crossed to the other side of the river. There he leant over the wall and lowered the lamp, only to behold the vortex formed at the **curl** of the returning current.

Wildeve meanwhile had arrived on the former side, and the light from Yeobright's lamp shed a flecked and agitated radiance across the weir pool, revealing to the ex-engineer the **tumbling** courses of the currents from the hatches above. Across this **gashed** and **puckered** mirror a dark body was slowly borne by one of the backward currents.

"O, my darling!" exclaimed Wildeve in an agonized voice; and, without showing sufficient presence of mind even to throw off his **greatcoat**, he leaped into the boiling **caldron**.

Yeobright could now also discern the floating body, though but indistinctly; and imagining from Wildeve's plunge that there was life to be saved he was about to leap after. Bethinking himself of a wiser plan, he placed the lamp against a post to make it stand upright, and running round to the lower part of the pool, where there was no wall, he sprang in and boldly waded upwards towards the deeper portion. Here he was taken off his legs, and in swimming was carried round into the centre of the basin, where he perceived Wildeve struggling.

While these hasty actions were in progress here, Venn and Thomasin had been **toiling** through the lower corner of the heath in the direction of the light. They had not been near enough to the river to hear the plunge, but they saw the removal of the carriage lamp, and watched its motion into the mead. As soon as they reached the car and horse Venn guessed that something new was amiss, and hastened to follow in the course of the moving light. Venn walked faster than Thomasin, and came to the weir alone.

Thesaurus

caldron: (*n*, *v*) alembic, crucible; (*n*) cauldron, seething caldron, matrix, kettle, vat, Leede; (*v*) retort. **curl**: (*n*, *v*) crimp, loop, kink, roll, wave; (*adj*, *v*) bow; (*adj*, *n*) lock, tress; (*v*) crinkle, fold; (*adj*) crisp.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) align, straighten, uncurl, unwind. **froth**: (*n*, *v*) bubble, spume, fizz, suds, sparkle; (*v*) boil, effervesce, ferment; (*n*) effervescence, bubbles, spindrift.

gashed: (adj) cut down, emasculated,

torn, slashed, down.
greatcoat: (n) coat, topcoat, capote,
chesterfield, surcoat, Ulster.
plank: (n) timber, beam, slat, girder,
panel, parachute, matchboard,
footbridge, hardboard; (v) flump; (n,
v) planch.
precipitate: (adj, n) hasty; (adj, n, v)

precipitate: (adj, n) hasty; (adj, n, v) deposit; (adj) impetuous, headlong, sudden, immediate, instant, precipitant; (n, v) accelerate, expedite; (v) hurry. ANTONYMS: (adj)

overdue, cautious, protracted; (v) retard.

puckered: (adj) corrugated, wrinkly, unsmooth, rough, inflated, furrowed, cockled, bullate, creased. toiling: (adj) labouring, drudging,

busy.

tumbling: (adj) falling, billowing, dropping, rolled; (adj, adv) plunging; (n) gymnastics, acrobatics, stunting, stunt flying, rumbling; (adv) headfirst.

The lamp placed against the post by Clym still shone across the water, and the reddleman observed something floating motionless. Being **encumbered** with the infant, he ran back to meet Thomasin.

"Take the baby, please, Mrs. Wildeve," he said hastily. "Run home with her, call the stable lad, and make him send down to me any men who may be living near. Somebody has fallen into the weir."

Thomasin took the child and ran. When she came to the covered car the horse, though fresh from the stable, was standing perfectly still, as if conscious of misfortune. She saw for the first time whose it was. She nearly fainted, and would have been unable to proceed another step but that the necessity of preserving the little girl from harm nerved her to an amazing **self**-control. In this agony of suspense she entered the house, put the baby in a place of safety, woke the lad and the female domestic, and ran out to give the alarm at the nearest cottage.

Diggory, having returned to the **brink** of the pool, observed that the small upper hatches or floats were withdrawn. He found one of these lying upon the grass, and taking it under one arm, and with his lantern in his hand, entered at the bottom of the pool as Clym had done. As soon as he began to be in deep water he flung himself across the hatch; thus supported he was able to keep afloat as long as he chose, holding the lantern **aloft** with his **disengaged** hand. Propelled by his feet, he **steered** round and round the pool, ascending each time by one of the back streams and descending in the middle of the current.

At first he could see nothing. Then **amidst** the glistening of the whirlpools and the white clots of **foam** he distinguished a woman's bonnet floating alone. His search was now under the left wall, when something came to the surface almost close beside him. It was not, as he had expected, a woman, but a man. The reddleman put the ring of the lantern between his teeth, seized the floating man by the collar, and, holding on to the hatch with his remaining arm, struck out into the strongest race, by which the unconscious man, the hatch, and himself were carried down the stream. As soon as Venn found his feet dragging over the **pebbles** of the shallower part below he secured his **footing** and waded towards

Thesaurus

disentangled, free, freed,

aloft: (adj, adv) overhead; (adv) up, on high, over, aloof, upwards, uphill, above ground; (prep) upon; (adj) eminent, lofty. amidst: (adv, prep) among; (adv)

amidst: (adv, prep) among; (adv) amongst; (prep) between, midst, into. brink: (n, v) edge; (n) border, hem, threshold, boundary, brim, shore, periphery, lip, margin, limit. ANTONYMS: (n) middle, interior, end.

disengaged: (adj) vacant, unemployed, foundation, status, rank, foot,

untrammelled, devoid, unreserved, detached, liberated, loosened. encumbered: (adj) burdened, burdensome, weighed down, heavy, deep, clayey, cloggy. ANTONYM: (adj) unencumbered. foam: (n, v) froth, bubble, spume; (adj, v) boil, seethe; (v) effervesce, suds, fizz, ferment; (n) lather, bubbles. footing: (n) foothold, base, bottom,

pedestal, situation, relation, root. ANTONYM: (*n*) top. **pebbles**: (*n*) shingle, grit, gravel, stones. **self-control**: (*n*) self-discipline,

patience, forbearance, abstinence, temperance, temper, composure, discipline, self-command, self-possesion, balance.

steered: (adj) directed.

the brink. There, where the water stood at about the height of his waist, he flung away the hatch, and attempted to drag forth the man. This was a matter of great difficulty, and he found as the reason that the legs of the unfortunate stranger were tightly embraced by the arms of another man, who had hitherto been entirely beneath the surface.

At this moment his heart bounded to hear footsteps running towards him, and two men, roused by Thomasin, appeared at the brink above. They ran to where Venn was, and helped him in lifting out the apparently drowned persons, separating them, and laying them out upon the grass. Venn turned the light upon their faces. The one who had been uppermost was Yeobright; he who had been completely **submerged** was Wildeve.

"Now we must search the hole again," said Venn. "A woman is in there somewhere. Get a pole."

One of the men went to the footbridge and tore off the handrail. The reddleman and the two others then entered the water together from below as before, and with their united force probed the pool forwards to where it sloped down to its central depth. Venn was not mistaken in supposing that any person who had sunk for the last time would be washed down to this point, for when they had examined to about halfway across something impeded their thrust.

"Pull it forward," said Venn, and they raked it in with the pole till it was close to their feet.

Venn vanished under the stream, and came up with an armful of wet drapery enclosing a woman's cold form, which was all that remained of the desperate Eustacia.

When they reached the bank there stood Thomasin, in a stress of grief, bending over the two unconscious ones who already lay there. The horse and cart were brought to the nearest point in the road, and it was the work of a few minutes only to place the three in the vehicle. Venn led on the horse, supporting Thomasin upon his arm, and the two men followed, till they reached the inn.

Thesaurus

drowned: (adj) prostrate, sunken; (v) drenched, drent. embraced: (adj) popular. **footbridge**: (n) bridge, pedestrian bridge, pontoon, viaduct, span, plank, steppingstone, gangboard, gangway, overcrossing. handrail: (n) balustrade, banister, bannister, railing, balusters, parapet, bar, rail, hand rail, barrier, grab rail. hatch: (v) breed, concoct, brew, design, invent, devise, cover, cook, cook up;

(n, v) brood; (n) door. **separating**: (v) parting, partible; (n)division, separation, severance, unscrambling, unraveling, removal; (adj) separated, disjoining, graduating.

sloped: (adj) slanting, oblique, sloping, supposing: (adv) admitting, inclined, aslope, diagonal, aslant, leaned, leant, colored, biased. submerged: (adj) sunken, immersed, submersed, underwater, subaquatic, submarine, covered, inundated,

flooded, semiaquatic; (pron) drowned.

sunk: (adj) sunken, undone, finished, ruined, profound, immersed, damaged, lowed, lying flat; (v) cut up, dashed.

conditionally, in case; (n)supposition, conjecture, thought, theory, assumption; (conj) although, what if; (v) suppose.

The woman who had been shaken out of her sleep by Thomasin had hastily dressed herself and lighted a fire, the other servant being left to **snore** on in peace at the back of the house. The insensible forms of Eustacia, Clym, and Wildeve were then brought in and laid on the carpet, with their feet to the fire, when such **restorative** processes as could be thought of were adopted at once, the **stableman** being in the meantime sent for a doctor. But there seemed to be not a whiff of life in either of the bodies. Then Thomasin, whose **stupor** of grief had been thrust off awhile by frantic action, applied a bottle of hartshorn to Clym's **nostrils**, having tried it in vain upon the other two. He sighed.

"Clym's alive!" she exclaimed.

He soon breathed distinctly, and again and again did she attempt to revive her husband by the same means; but Wildeve gave no sign. There was too much reason to think that he and Eustacia both were for ever beyond the reach of stimulating perfumes. Their exertions did not relax till the doctor arrived, when one by one, the **senseless** three were taken upstairs and put into warm beds.

Venn soon felt himself relieved from further attendance, and went to the door, scarcely able yet to realize the strange catastrophe that had befallen the family in which he took so great an interest. Thomasin surely would be broken down by the sudden and overwhelming nature of this event. No firm and sensible Mrs. Yeobright lived now to support the gentle girl through the ordeal; and, whatever an **unimpassioned** spectator might think of her loss of such a husband as Wildeve, there could be no doubt that for the moment she was distracted and horrified by the blow. As for himself, not being privileged to go to her and comfort her, he saw no reason for waiting longer in a house where he remained only as a stranger.

He returned across the heath to his van. The fire was not yet out, and everything remained as he had left it. Venn now bethought himself of his clothes, which were **saturated** with water to the weight of lead. He changed them, spread them before the fire, and lay down to sleep. But it was more than he could do to rest here while excited by a vivid imagination of the turmoil they were in at the house he had quitted, and, blaming himself for coming away, he

Thesaurus

nostrils: (n) naris, nose.
restorative: (adj, n) analeptic,
corrective; (adj) recuperative, healing,
revitalizing, renewing; (n) tonic,
remedy, cure, bracer, prophylactic.
ANTONYM: (adj) injurious.
saturated: (adj, v) sodden; (adj)
drenched, concentrated, sopping,
soaked, full, soggy, soppy, wet
through, pure; (v) impregnate.
ANTONYM: (adj) unsaturated.
senseless: (adj) foolish, mindless,

preposterous, pointless, irrational, absurd, stupid, insensible, idiotic, fatuous, purposeless. ANTONYMS: (adj) meaningful, wise, conscious, provoked, prudent, useful, worthwhile.

nore: (n) snoring; (v) snort, saw logs

snore: (n) snoring; (v) snort, saw logs, snooze, siesta, hibernation, breathe, doze, saw wood, coma, dream.
stableman: (n) ostler, groom, hostler, outrunner, hired man, hired hand, hand, bridegroom. stupor: (n) lethargy, stupefaction, coma, shock, insensibility, unconsciousness, trance, sluggishness, torpor, haze, grogginess. ANTONYMS: (n) alertness, awareness, wakefulness. unimpassioned: (v) unruffled, undisturbed, unexcited, unperturbed; (adj) temperate, passionless, staid, cool, dispassionate, cold, calm.

dressed in another suit, locked up the door, and again hastened across to the inn. Rain was still falling heavily when he entered the kitchen. A bright fire was shining from the hearth, and two women were **bustling** about, one of whom was Olly Dowden.

"Well, how is it going on now?" said Venn in a whisper.

"Mr. Yeobright is better; but Mrs. Yeobright and Mr. Wildeve are dead and cold. The doctor says they were quite gone before they were out of the water."

"Ah! I thought as much when I hauled 'em up. And Mrs. Wildeve?"

"She is as well as can be expected. The doctor had her put between blankets, for she was almost as wet as they that had been in the river, poor young thing. You don't seem very dry, reddleman."

"Oh, 'tis not much. I have changed my things. This is only a little **dampness** I've got coming through the rain again."

"Stand by the fire. Mis'ess says you be to have whatever you want, and she was sorry when she was told that you'd gone away."

Venn drew near to the fireplace, and looked into the **flames** in an absent mood. The steam came from his leggings and ascended the chimney with the smoke, while he thought of those who were upstairs. Two were corpses, one had barely escaped the jaws of death, another was sick and a **widow**. The last occasion on which he had lingered by that fireplace was when the raffle was in progress; when Wildeve was alive and well; Thomasin active and smiling in the next room; Yeobright and Eustacia just made husband and wife, and Mrs. Yeobright living at Blooms-End. It had seemed at that time that the then position of affairs was good for at least **twenty** years to come. Yet, of all the circle, he himself was the only one whose situation had not **materially** changed.

While he ruminated a footstep descended the stairs. It was the nurse, who brought in her hand a rolled mass of wet paper. The woman was so engrossed with her occupation that she hardly saw Venn. She took from a **cupboard** some pieces of **twine**, which she **strained** across the fireplace, tying the end of each piece to the firedog, previously pulled forward for the purpose, and, unrolling

Thesaurus

bustling: (adj) lively, busy, boisterous, buzzing, brisk, alive, vibrant, noisy, tumultuous; (v) stirring, full of incident. ANTONYM: (adj) inactive. cupboard: (n) cabinet, buffet, armoire, commode, wardrobe, locker, dresser, sideboard, chest of drawers, bookcase, storeroom. dampness: (n) clamminess, humidity, moistness, moisture, wet, wetness, vapor, dankness, drizzle, heat, mugginess. ANTONYMS: (n)

dryness, smoothness, freshness. flames: (n) fire, blaze, firestorm, hellhole.

materially: (adv) physically, substantially, corporeally, significantly, really, essentially, corporally, vitally, solidly, momentously, fundamentally.

strained: (adj) tense, labored, intense, constrained, laboured, unnatural, nervous, affected, taut, artificial, tight. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural,

calm.

twenty: (adj) vigesimal; (n) large integer, twenty dollar bill.

twine: (n, v) coil; (n) string, rope, cord; (v) lace, entwine, enlace, meander, weave, intertwine, twist.

ANTONYMS: (v) untwine, straighten, unwind.

widow: (n) woman, relict, widower, adult female, widow woman, war widow, nobbled line; (adj) widowed, additional; (v) leave behind.

the wet papers, she began **pinning** them one by one to the strings in a manner of **clothes** on a line.

"What be they?" said Venn.

"Poor **master's** banknotes," she answered. "They were found in his pocket when they **undressed** him."

"Then he was not coming back again for some time?" said Venn.

"That we shall never know," said she.

Venn was loth to depart, for all on earth that interested him lay under this roof. As nobody in the house had any more sleep that night, except the two who slept for ever, there was no reason why he should not remain. So he retired into the niche of the fireplace where he had used to sit, and there he continued, watching the steam from the double row of banknotes as they **waved** backwards and forwards in the draught of the chimney till their **flaccidity** was changed to dry **crispness** throughout. Then the woman came and unpinned them, and, folding them together, carried the **handful** upstairs. Presently the doctor appeared from above with the look of a man who could do no more, and, pulling on his gloves, went out of the house, the trotting of his horse soon dying away upon the road.

At four o'clock there was a gentle knock at the door. It was from Charley, who had been sent by Captain Vye to inquire if anything had been heard of Eustacia. The girl who admitted him looked in his face as if she did not know what answer to return, and showed him in to where Venn was seated, saying to the reddleman, "Will you tell him, please?"

Venn told. Charley's only **utterance** was a feeble, indistinct sound. He stood quite still; then he burst out **spasmodically**, "I shall see her once more?"

"I dare say you may see her," said Diggory gravely. "But hadn't you better run and tell Captain Vye?" $\,$

"Yes, yes. Only I do hope I shall see her just once again."

Thesaurus

crispness: (*n*) chill, crispiness, brevity, terseness, freshness, sharpness, flakiness, breakableness. **flaccidity**: (*n*) softness, debility, feebleness, frailty, infirmity, laxity, weakness, limpness; (*adj*) depletion, vacancy, fragility.

handful: (n) smattering, armful, mouthful, capful, containerful, lump; (adj) thimbleful, company, several, maniple, strong.

loth: (adj) disinclined, averse,

reluctant, unwilling, indisposed, antipathetical, antipathetic, not content, shy of, repugnant; (v) averse

master's: (*n*) postgraduate degree. **pinning**: (*n*) pining, pin drafting, stemming.

spasmodically: (adv) convulsively, fitfully, intermittently, irregularly, desultorily, brokenly, frequently, spastically, startingly. ANTONYM: (adv) recurrently.

undressed: (adj) naked, unclad, unclothed, bare, raw, stripped, unattired, unappareled, crude, rough, disrobed. ANTONYMS: (adj) covered, decent.

utterance: (*n*) pronunciation, expression, speech, exclamation, statement, remark, articulation, observation, language, phrase, speaking

waved: (adj) undulating, wavy, curly, not dated, undated.

"You shall," said a low voice behind; and starting round they beheld by the dim light, a thin, pallid, almost **spectral** form, wrapped in a blanket, and looking like Lazarus coming from the tomb.

It was Yeobright. Neither Venn nor Charley spoke, and Clym continued, "You shall see her. There will be time enough to tell the captain when it gets daylight. You would like to see her too--would you not, Diggory? She looks very beautiful now."

Venn assented by rising to his feet, and with Charley he followed Clym to the foot of the staircase, where he took off his boots; Charley did the same. They followed Yeobright upstairs to the landing, where there was a candle burning, which Yeobright took in his hand, and with it led the way into an adjoining room. Here he went to the bedside and folded back the sheet.

They stood silently looking upon Eustacia, who, as she lay there still in death, eclipsed all her living phases. Pallor did not include all the quality of her complexion, which seemed more than **whiteness**; it was almost light. The expression of her finely carved mouth was pleasant, as if a sense of dignity had just **compelled** her to leave off speaking. Eternal rigidity had seized upon it in a momentary transition between fervour and resignation. Her black hair was looser now than either of them had ever seen it before, and surrounded her brow like a forest. The **stateliness** of look which had been almost too marked for a **dweller** in a country domicile had at last found an **artistically** happy background.

Nobody spoke, till at length Clym covered her and turned aside. "Now come here," he said.

They went to a recess in the same room, and there, on a smaller bed, lay another figure--Wildeve. Less **repose** was visible in his face than in Eustacia's, but the same luminous **youthfulness** overspread it, and the least sympathetic observer would have felt at sight of him now that he was born for a higher destiny than this. The only sign upon him of his recent struggle for life was in his fingertips, which were worn and sacrificed in his dying endeavours to obtain a hold on the face of the weir-wall.

Thesaurus

artistically: (adv) ingeniously,
pleasingly, inventively,
imaginatively, creatively, elegantly,
originally, resourcefully,
productively, innovatively,
harmoniously.
compelled: (adj) forced, obligate,
enforced, constrained, responsible,
answerable, unwilling, destined.
dweller: (n) tenant, resident, occupant,
inhabitant, liver, occupier, citizen,
native, cottager, borderer; (v)

repose: (*n*, *v*) recline, peace, lie, calm; (*n*) composure, ease, quiet, leisure, recreation, relaxation; (*v*) lay.

ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) work; (*n*) activity, panic, agitation.

spectral: (*adj*) ghostly, phantasmal, apparitional, unearthly, ghostlike, supernatural, ghastly, shadowy, insubstantial, eerie, cadaverous.

stateliness: (*n*) loftiness, magnificence, dignity, nobility, splendor, grandeur,

greatness, grandness, starched stateliness, impressiveness, decorum. ANTONYM: (*n*) simplicity. whiteness: (*n*) paleness, ivory, chalk, pearl, bone, bleach, alabaster, frostiness, hoariness, pallor, innocence. ANTONYM: (*n*) black. youthfulness: (*n*) juvenility, adolescence, younker, youngness, young person, young, spring chicken, puberty, jejuneness, immaturity, callowness.

Yeobright's manner had been so quiet, he had uttered so few syllables since his **reappearance**, that Venn imagined him **resigned**. It was only when they had left the room and stood upon the landing that the true state of his mind was apparent. Here he said, with a wild smile, inclining his head towards the chamber in which Eustacia lay, "She is the second woman I have killed this year. I was a great cause of my mother's death, and I am the chief cause of hers."

"How?" said Venn.

"I spoke cruel words to her, and she left my house. I did not **invite** her back till it was too late. It is I who ought to have drowned myself. It would have been a charity to the living had the river **overwhelmed** me and borne her up. But I cannot die. Those who ought to have lived lie dead; and here am I alive!"

"But you can't charge yourself with crimes in that way," said Venn. "You may as well say that the parents be the cause of a murder by the child, for without the parents the child would never have been begot."

"Yes, Venn, that is very true; but you don't know all the circumstances. If it had pleased God to put an end to me it would have been a good thing for all. But I am getting used to the horror of my existence. They say that a time comes when men laugh at misery through long acquaintance with it. Surely that time will soon come to me!"

"Your aim has always been good," said Venn. "Why should you say such desperate things?"

"No, they are not desperate. They are only **hopeless**; and my great regret is that for what I have done no man or law can **punish** me!"

Thesaurus

hopeless: (adj) incurable, despondent, forlorn, disconsolate, desperate, impossible, useless, abject, despair, dismal, irreparable. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, competent, promising, optimistic, encouraging, helpful, useful, successful, practical, laudable, punish: (v) amerce, discipline,

invite: (v) tempt, allure, bid, call, entice, ask, summon, attract, receive, solicit; (n) invitation. ANTONYMS: (v) elect, repel.

overwhelmed: (adj) beaten, overpowered, vanquished, dumbfounded, inundated, flooded, overthrown, engulfed, conquered, bewildered; (v) overborne. ANTONYM: (adj) unimpressed. castigate, chasten, chastise, penalize, strike, avenge, pay, beat, execute. ANTONYMS: (v) excuse, exonerate, pardon, reward, commend. reappearance: (n) emersion,

recurrence, repetition, resurrection, homecoming, reanimation, comeback, egress, restoration, revival, reproduction. resigned: (adj) patient, acquiescent, yielding, pessimistic, abject, passive, forbearing, obedient; (adj, v)subdued; (v) bowed down, content. ANTONYMS: (adj) resentful, optimistic, intolerant.

BOOK SIX AFTERCOURSES

1

THE INEVITABLE MOVEMENT ONWARD

The story of the deaths of Eustacia and Wildeve was told throughout Egdon, and far beyond, for many weeks and months. All the known incidents of their love were enlarged, distorted, touched up, and modified, till the original reality bore but a slight resemblance to the **counterfeit** presentation by surrounding tongues. Yet, upon the whole, neither the man nor the woman lost dignity by sudden death. Misfortune had struck them gracefully, cutting off their erratic histories with a catastrophic dash, instead of, as with many, attenuating each life to an **uninteresting meagreness**, through long years of wrinkles, neglect, and decay.

On those most nearly concerned the effect was somewhat different. Strangers who had heard of many such cases now merely heard of one more; but immediately where a blow falls no previous imaginings amount to appreciable preparation for it. The very **suddenness** of her bereavement **dulled**, to some extent, Thomasin's feelings; yet **irrationally** enough, a consciousness that the husband she had lost ought to have been a better man did not lessen her mourning at all. On the contrary, this fact seemed at first to set off the dead husband in his young wife's eyes, and to be the necessary cloud to the rainbow.

Thesaurus

cases: (n) brass tacks, baggage, luggage, caseload, suitcases. counterfeit: (adj, n, v) sham; (n, v) copy, duplicate; (adj, v) mock, falsify; (adj) false, artificial, assumed; (adj, n) imitation; (v) forge, ape.

ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, real, authentic, true, actual; (n) original. dulled: (adj) dull, blunted, benumbed, duller, blunt, uninterested, rounded, jaded, grayed, colorless, deadened. irrationally: (adv) illogically,

preposterously, senselessly, silly, nonsensically, unwisely, stupidly, absurdly, imprudently, unreasonably, insanely.

ANTONYMS: (adv) lucidly, sensibly, logically, reasonably, wisely, fairly.

meagreness: (n) exiguity, poverty, spareness, leanness, deficiency, impoverishment, inadequacy, insufficiency, poorness, scantness, scantiness.

suddenness: (n) steepness, hastiness,

precipitance, precipitancy, precipitateness, sudden, craggedness, surprise, precipitousness, brusqueness, curtness.

uninteresting: (adj) insipid, dreary, tedious, bland, commonplace, flat, stupid, tame, tasteless, humdrum; (adj, n) dull. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, fascinating, scandalous, eventful, impressive, charming, brilliant, animated, colorful, lively, special.

But the horrors of the unknown had passed. Vague misgivings about her future as a deserted wife were at an end. The worst had once been matter of trembling **conjecture**; it was now matter of reason only, a limited **badness**. Her chief interest, the little Eustacia, still remained. There was humility in her grief, no defiance in her attitude; and when this is the case a shaken spirit is apt to be stilled.

Could Thomasin's mournfulness now and Eustacia's serenity during life have been reduced to common measure, they would have touched the same mark nearly. But Thomasin's former brightness made shadow of that which in a sombre atmosphere was light itself.

The spring came and calmed her; the summer came and soothed her; the autumn arrived, and she began to be comforted, for her little girl was strong and happy, growing in size and knowledge every day. Outward events flattered Thomasin not a little. Wildeve had died intestate, and she and the child were his only relatives. When administration had been granted, all the debts paid, and the residue of her husband's uncle's property had come into her hands, it was found that the sum waiting to be invested for her own and the child's benefit was little less than ten thousand pounds.

Where should she live? The obvious place was Blooms-End. The old rooms, it is true, were not much higher than the between-decks of a frigate, necessitating a sinking in the floor under the new clock-case she brought from the inn, and the removal of the handsome brass knobs on its head, before there was height for it to stand; but, such as the rooms were, there were plenty of them, and the place was endeared to her by every early recollection. Clym very gladly admitted her as a tenant, confining his own existence to two rooms at the top of the back staircase, where he lived on quietly, shut off from Thomasin and the three servants she had thought fit to indulge in now that she was a mistress of money, going his own ways, and thinking his own thoughts.

His sorrows had made some change in his outward appearance; and yet the alteration was chiefly within. It might have been said that he had a wrinkled

Thesaurus

badness: (*n*) evil, wickedness, evilness, estimate. ANTONYMS: (*n*) certainty; ill, naughtiness, disobedience, intensity, intensiveness, quality, roguishness, viciousness. calmed: (adj) composed, thankful. ANTONYM: (adj) worried. conjecture: (n) supposition, speculation, assumption, surmise, hypothesis; (v) suppose, believe,

anticipate, assume, speculate; (n, v)

(v) demonstrate, know, learn, prove. endeared: (adj) dear. flattered: (adj) pleased. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, decency, frigate: (n) gunboat, warship, sloop of war, bomb vessel, destroyer, cruiser, constitution, combat ship. humility: (n) diffidence, modesty, submission, shyness, meekness, lowliness, timidity, trait, humiliation, resignation; (adj) veneration. ANTONYMS: (n) haughtiness,

affectation, conceit, arrogance. **necessitating**: (v) necessitate. **recollection**: (n, v) mind; (n)reminiscence, recall, anamnesis, remembrance, recognition, memento, memorial, commemoration, memoir, residue: (adj, n) remainder, remains,

residual; (n) balance, rest, leftover, end, remnants, residuum, surplus; (v)

servants: (n) staff, suite.

mind. He had no enemies, and he could get nobody to reproach him, which was why he so bitterly reproached himself.

He did sometimes think he had been ill-used by fortune, so far as to say that to be born is a **palpable** dilemma, and that instead of men aiming to advance in life with glory they should calculate how to retreat out of it without shame. But that he and his had been sarcastically and **pitilessly** handled in having such irons thrust into their souls he did not maintain long. It is usually so, except with the sternest of men. Human beings, in their generous endeavour to construct a hypothesis that shall not degrade a First Cause, have always hesitated to conceive a dominant power of lower moral quality than their own; and, even while they sit down and weep by the waters of Babylon, invent excuses for the oppression which prompts their tears.

Thus, though words of solace were vainly uttered in his presence, he found relief in a direction of his own choosing when left to himself. For a man of his habits the house and the hundred and twenty pounds a year which he had inherited from his mother were enough to supply all worldly needs. Resources do not depend upon gross amounts, but upon the proportion of spendings to takings.

He frequently walked the heath alone, when the past seized upon him with its shadowy hand, and held him there to listen to its tale. His imagination would then people the spot with its ancient inhabitants--forgotten Celtic tribes trod their tracks about him, and he could almost live among them, look in their faces, and see them standing beside the barrows which **swelled** around, untouched and perfect as at the time of their erection. Those of the **dyed** barbarians who had chosen the **cultivable** tracts were, in comparison with those who had left their marks here, as writers on paper beside writers on parchment. Their records had perished long ago by the plough, while the works of these remained. Yet they all had lived and died unconscious of the different fates awaiting their relics. It reminded him that unforeseen factors operate in the evolution of **immortality**.

Winter again came round, with its winds, frosts, tame **robins**, and sparkling **starlight**. The year previous Thomasin had hardly been conscious of the season's

Thesaurus

cultivable: (adj) arable, tillable, productive.
dyed: (adj) colored, tinted, coloured, bleached, stained, painted, artificially coloured, biased, artificial, unreal, colorful.
immortality: (n) sempiternity, perpetuity, athanasia, glory, aye, force corrected in the delay of the colory and the delay of the color of the delay of the d

immortality: (n) sempiternity, perpetuity, athanasia, glory, aye, fame, everness, immortal, permanency, deathlessness, undying. ANTONYM: (n) mortality. palpable: (adj) tangible, obvious, evident, apparent, clear, transparent, indubitable, noticeable, lucid, patent, perceptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) imaginary, intangible, impalpable, doubtful, furtive, imperceptible, insignificant, obscure, unclear. pitilessly: (adv) remorselessly, ruthlessly, unmercifully, unfeelingly, heartlessly, harshly, cruelly, unsympathetically, brutally, relentlessly, unkindly. ANTONYMS: (adv) mercifully, sensitively,

sympathetically. **robins**: (*n*) finches, Passeriformes, order Passeriformes. **starlight**: (*n*) rushlight, moonlight, firelight, candlelight. **swelled**: (*adj*) big, inflated, bloated, swollen, adult, boastful, bighearted, bad, fully grown, crowing, elder. **takings**: (*n*) return, revenue, earnings, yield, take, issue, reward, haul, payoff; (*n*, *v*) income, profits.

ANTONYM: (*n*) expenditure.

advance; this year she laid her heart open to external influences of every kind. The life of this sweet cousin, her baby, and her servants, came to Clym's senses only in the form of sounds through a wood partition as he sat over books of exceptionally large type; but his ear became at last so accustomed to these slight noises from the other part of the house that he almost could witness the scenes they signified. A faint beat of half-seconds **conjured** up Thomasin rocking the cradle, a **wavering** hum meant that she was singing the baby to sleep, a crunching of sand as between millstones raised the picture of Humphrey's, Fairway's, or Sam's heavy feet crossing the stone floor of the kitchen; a light **boyish** step, and a gay tune in a high key, betokened a visit from Grandfer Cantle; a sudden **break**-off in the Grandfer's utterances implied the application to his lips of a mug of small beer, a bustling and slamming of doors meant starting to go to market; for Thomasin, in spite of her added scope of **gentility**, led a **ludicrously** narrow life, to the end that she might save every possible pound for her little daughter.

One summer day Clym was in the garden, immediately outside the parlour window, which was as usual open. He was looking at the pot-flowers on the sill; they had been revived and restored by Thomasin to the state in which his mother had left them. He heard a slight scream from Thomasin, who was sitting inside the room.

"O, how you frightened me!" she said to someone who had entered. "I thought you were the ghost of yourself."

Clym was curious enough to advance a little further and look in at the window. To his astonishment there stood within the room Diggory Venn, no longer a reddleman, but **exhibiting** the strangely altered hues of an ordinary Christian countenance, white shirt-front, light **flowered** waistcoat, blue-spotted **neckerchief**, and bottle-green coat. Nothing in this appearance was at all singular but the fact of its great difference from what he had formerly been. Red, and all approach to red, was carefully excluded from every article of clothes upon him; for what is there that persons just out of harness dread so much as reminders of the trade which has enriched them?

Thesaurus

boyish: (adj) young, puerile, adolescent, youthful, babyish, childish, girlish, kittenish, boylike, callow, immature. ANTONYM: (adj) mature. break-off: (n) halt, recess, interim,

break-off: (*n*) halt, recess, interim, intermission, interruption, pause, cessation.

conjured: (adj) invented, made up, pretended, untrue. ANTONYM: (adj) factual.

exhibiting: (n) advertising; (adj)

exhibitory, ostensive. flowered: (adj) flowering, flowery. gentility: (n) elegance, cultivation, politeness, decorum, genteelness, breeding, courtesy, nobility, aristocracy, propriety; (adj) urbanity. ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, rudeness.

ludicrously: (adv) preposterously, absurdly, nonsensically, laughably, comically, farcically, foolishly, jocularly, humorously, burlesquely, silly. ANTONYMS: (adv) solemnly, impressively.

neckerchief: (*n*) kerchief, neckcloth, scarf, shawl.

wavering: (adj, v) vacillating; (n) fluctuation, hesitation, vacillation; (adj) irresolute, indecisive, undecided, hesitant, uncertain, variable, changeable. ANTONYMS: (adj) decided, constant, resolute, stable, decisive; (n) resolution, stability.

Yeobright went round to the door and entered.

"I was so alarmed!" said Thomasin, smiling from one to the other. "I couldn't believe that he had got white of his own **accord**! It seemed supernatural."

"I gave up dealing in reddle last Christmas," said Venn. "It was a profitable trade, and I found that by that time I had made enough to take the **dairy** of fifty **cows** that my father had in his lifetime. I always thought of getting to that place again if I changed at all, and now I am there."

"How did you manage to become white, Diggory?" Thomasin asked.

"I turned so by degrees, ma'am."

"You look much better than ever you did before."

Venn appeared confused; and Thomasin, seeing how **inadvertently** she had spoken to a man who might possibly have tender feelings for her still, blushed a little. Clym saw nothing of this, and added good-humouredly--

"What shall we have to frighten Thomasin's baby with, now you have become a human being again?"

"Sit down, Diggory," said Thomasin, "and stay to tea."

Venn moved as if he would **retire** to the kitchen, when Thomasin said with pleasant **pertness** as she went on with some sewing, "Of course you must sit down here. And where does your fifty-cow dairy lie, Mr. Venn?"

"At Stickleford--about two miles to the right of Alderworth, ma'am, where the meads begin. I have thought that if Mr. Yeobright would like to pay me a visit sometimes he shouldn't stay away for want of asking. I'll not bide to tea this afternoon, thank'ee, for I've got something on hand that must be settled. 'Tis **Maypole**-day tomorrow, and the Shadwater folk have clubbed with a few of your neighbours here to have a pole just outside your palings in the heath, as it is a nice green place." Venn waved his elbow towards the patch in front of the house. "I have been talking to Fairway about it," he continued, "and I said to him that before we put up the pole it would be as well to ask Mrs. Wildeve."

Thesaurus processing plant, delicatessen, fish

accord: (n) agreement, consensus, harmony; (n, v) consent, concord, assent; (adj, v) agree; (v) give, bestow, suit, grant. ANTONYMS: (n) discord, strife, antagonism, hostility, friction, dissidence, dissension; (n, v) conflict; (v) withhold, question, oppose. cows: (n) cattle, cow, bull, ox, oxen, Bos Taurus, bullock, beef, Cowes, steer, milker. dairy: (n) farm, dairy farm, milk, laundry, greengrocer, dairy

store, supermarket, confectionery, grocery.

degrees: (n) degree, temperature, compass rose, cardinal points.

inadvertently: (adv) accidentally, heedlessly, unwittingly, unintentionally, negligently, casually, thoughtlessly, unawares, involuntarily, by accident; (adj, adv) inattentively. ANTONYMS: (adv) mindfully, wittingly, deliberately,

purposely. **pertness**: (*n*) insolence, impudence, audacity, sauciness, effrontery, perkiness, archness, cheekiness, playfulness, forwardness, cheek. **pole**: (*n*) picket, bar, magnetic pole, mast, rod, terminal, post, support, axle, beam, axis. **retire**: (*v*) resign, retreat, withdraw, leave, abdicate, ebb, depart, turn in, fall back, hit the hay, go to bed.

ANTONYMS: (v) remain, enter.

"I can say nothing against it," she answered. "Our property does not reach an inch further than the white palings."

"But you might not like to see a lot of folk going crazy round a stick, under your very nose?"

"I shall have no objection at all."

Venn soon after went away, and in the evening Yeobright strolled as far as Fairway's cottage. It was a lovely May sunset, and the birch trees which grew on this margin of the vast Egdon wilderness had put on their new leaves, delicate as butterflies' wings, and diaphanous as amber. Beside Fairway's dwelling was an open space recessed from the road, and here were now collected all the young people from within a radius of a couple of miles. The pole lay with one end supported on a trestle, and women were engaged in wreathing it from the top downwards with wild-flowers. The instincts of merry England lingered on here with exceptional vitality, and the symbolic customs which tradition has attached to each season of the year were yet a reality on Egdon. Indeed, the impulses of all such outlandish hamlets are pagan still--in these spots homage to nature, selfadoration, frantic gaieties, fragments of Teutonic rites to divinities whose names are forgotten, seem in some way or other to have survived mediaeval doctrine.

Yeobright did not interrupt the preparations, and went home again. The next morning, when Thomasin withdrew the curtains of her bedroom window, there stood the Maypole in the middle of the green, its top cutting into the sky. It had sprung up in the night, or rather early morning, like Jack's bean-stalk. She opened the casement to get a better view of the garlands and posies that adorned it. The sweet perfume of the flowers had already spread into the surrounding air, which, being free from every taint, conducted to her lips a full measure of the fragrance received from the spire of blossom in its midst. At the top of the pole were crossed hoops decked with small flowers; beneath these came a milk-white zone of Maybloom; then a zone of bluebells, then of cowslips, then of lilacs, then of ragged-robins, daffodils, and so on, till the lowest stage was reached. Thomasin noticed all these, and was delighted that the May revel was to be so near.

Thesaurus

adorned: (adj) decorated, ornate, bedecked, decked out, fancy, garnished, ornamented, decked, beautiful, inscribed, festooned. casement: (n) embrasure, casement

diaphanous: (adj) sheer, filmy, gauzy, thin, translucent, lucid, clear, hyaline, recessed: (adj) buried, concave, gossamer, dainty, hyaloid. ANTONYMS: (adj) thick, opaque, heavy, robust.

hoops: (n) basketball game, earrings,

studs, jewelry, basketball. outlandish: (adj) foreign, bizarre, eccentric, freakish, odd, exotic, alien, quaint, singular, extraneous, freaky. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, commonplace, sensible, familiar,

hollow, dug in, depressed. revel: (n, v) frolic; (v) drink, celebrate, exult, wallow, rejoice, bask, riot; (n) carousal, orgy; (adj) luxuriate.

ANTONYMS: (v) mourn; (n) mourning.

taint: (n, v) blemish, disgrace, corrupt, spot, blot; (adj, v) defile, sully, pollute, contaminate; (n) pollution, contamination. ANTONYMS: (v) enhance, right, respect, disinfect, clean; (n) perfection, cleanliness; (adv)

trestle: (n) rack, table, bench, pedestal, bridge, beam, tressel, supporting tower; (v) fragment, bit, scantling.

When afternoon came people began to gather on the green, and Yeobright was interested enough to look out upon them from the open window of his room. Soon after this Thomasin walked out from the door immediately below and turned her eyes up to her cousin's face. She was dressed more gaily than Yeobright had ever seen her dressed since the time of Wildeve's death, eighteen months before; since the day of her marriage even she had not exhibited herself to such advantage.

"How pretty you look today, Thomasin!" he said. "Is it because of the Maypole?"

"Not altogether." And then she blushed and dropped her eyes, which he did not specially observe, though her manner seemed to him to be rather peculiar, considering that she was only addressing himself. Could it be possible that she had put on her summer clothes to please him?

He recalled her conduct towards him throughout the last few weeks, when they had often been working together in the garden, just as they had formerly done when they were boy and girl under his mother's eye. What if her interest in him were not so entirely that of a relative as it had formerly been? To Yeobright any possibility of this sort was a serious matter; and he almost felt troubled at the thought of it. Every **pulse** of **loverlike** feeling which had not been stilled during Eustacia's lifetime had gone into the grave with her. His passion for her had occurred too far on in his manhood to leave fuel enough on hand for another fire of that sort, as may happen with more boyish loves. Even supposing him capable of **loving** again, that love would be a plant of slow and laboured growth, and in the end only small and sickly, like an autumn-hatched bird.

He was so distressed by this new complexity that when the enthusiastic brass band arrived and struck up, which it did about five o'clock, with apparently wind enough among its members to blow down his house, he withdrew from his rooms by the back door, went down the garden, through the gate in the hedge, and away out of sight. He could not bear to remain in the presence of enjoyment today, though he had tried hard.

Thesaurus

enjoyment: (n) delight, appreciation, gratification, comfort, relish, satisfaction, happiness, delectation, gusto, amusement, diversion. ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, abhorrence, **loving**: (adj) fond, devoted, amorous, antipathy, apathy, aversion, discomfort, displeasure, dissatisfaction, misery, repulsion,

exhibited: (adj) ostensible, avowed, apparent, declared.

hedge: (v) fudge, dodge, elude, evade, **manhood**: (n) majority, maturity,

skirt, duck, avoid, circumvent, equivocate; (n) barrier, hedging. ANTONYM: (v) confront. loverlike: (adj) loving.

kind, friendly, ardent, attached, admiring, gentle, fatherly; (adj, v) tender. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, uncaring, malicious, cruel, unloving, rough, paternal, indifferent, distant, disapproving, callous.

valor, resolution, personality, humanity, integrity, bravery; (adj) manliness, ripe age, maturity full age. pulse: (n, v) throb; (n) pulsation, impulse, heartbeat, legume, rhythm, pounding, cadence; (v) pulsate, palpitate, pound.

sickly: (adj, adv) poorly; (n) invalid; (adj) sick, ailing, pale, sallow, indisposed, morbid, diseased; (adj, n, v) infirm; (adj, v) faint. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, bitter, robust.

Nothing was seen of him for four **hours**. When he came back by the same path it was dusk, and the dews were **coating** every green thing. The boisterous music had ceased; but, entering the premises as he did from behind, he could not see if the May party had all gone till he had passed through Thomasin's division of the house to the front door. Thomasin was standing within the porch **alone**.

She looked at him reproachfully. "You went away just when it began, Clym," she said.

"Yes. I felt I could not join in. You went out with them, of course?"

"No, I did not."

"You appeared to be dressed on purpose."

"Yes, but I could not go out alone; so many people were there. One is there now."

Yeobright strained his eyes across the dark-green patch beyond the paling, and near the black form of the Maypole he discerned a shadowy figure, sauntering idly up and down. "Who is it?" he said.

"Mr. Venn," said Thomasin.

"You might have asked him to come in, I think, Tamsie. He has been very kind to you first and last."

"I will now," she said; and, acting on the impulse, went through the wicket to where Venn stood under the Maypole.

"It is Mr. Venn, I think?" she inquired.

Venn started as if he had not seen her--artful man that he was--and said, "Yes."

"Will you come in?"

"I am afraid that I--"

"I have seen you dancing this evening, and you had the very best of the girls for your partners. Is it that you won't come in because you wish to stand here, and think over the past hours of enjoyment?"

Thesaurus

pro Tem, provisional, agent, substitute; (n) drama, business, portrayal, playing. **alone**: (adj) forlorn, individual, lonely, lonesome; (adj, adv) only, apart; (adv) solely, entirely, exclusively, separately, individually. ANTONYMS: (adj) overshadowed, ordinary, mobbed, equaled, crowded, accompanied, common, grouped, surpassed; (adv) jointly; (n) foe.

acting: (adj) interim, active, temporary, coating: (n) skin, painting, facing, covering, finish, application, sheathing, envelope, mantle, overcoat, cover. ANTONYM: (n)

dancing: (n) choreography, Terpsichore, saltation, break dancing, ceremonial dance, galloping, hoofing, Pavan; (adj) morrice; (adv) adance; (v) wicket: (n) lattice, hatch, door, grille,

hours: (*n*) period, duty period; (*adv*) o'clock.

partners: (n) associates, team. patch: (v) piece; (n) plot, fleck, darn, blot, freckle, bed, maculation, field; (n, v) botch, repair.

premises: (n) precinct, terms, lemma, facts, station, starting point, principle, building, residence, house, postulate.

portal, hoop, ostiary, postern, porch, grill, vestibule.

"Well, that's partly it," said Mr. Venn, with **ostentatious** sentiment. "But the main reason why I am biding here like this is that I want to wait till the moon rises."

"To see how pretty the Maypole looks in the moonlight?"

"No. To look for a glove that was dropped by one of the maidens."

Thomasin was **speechless** with surprise. That a man who had to walk some four or five miles to his home should wait here for such a reason pointed to only one conclusion--the man must be **amazingly** interested in that glove's owner.

"Were you dancing with her, Diggory?" she asked, in a voice which revealed that he had made himself considerably more interesting to her by this disclosure.

"No," he sighed.

"And you will not come in, then?"

"Not tonight, thank you, ma'am."

"Shall I lend you a lantern to look for the young person's glove, Mr. Venn?"

"O no; it is not necessary, Mrs. Wildeve, thank you. The moon will rise in a few minutes."

Thomasin went back to the porch. "Is he coming in?" said Clym, who had been waiting where she had left him.

"He would rather not tonight," she said, and then passed by him into the house; whereupon Clym too retired to his own rooms.

When Clym was gone Thomasin crept upstairs in the dark, and, just listening by the cot, to assure herself that the child was asleep, she went to the window, gently lifted the corner of the white curtain, and looked out. Venn was still there. She watched the growth of the faint radiance appearing in the sky by the eastern hill, till presently the edge of the moon burst upwards and flooded the valley with light. Diggory's form was now distinct on the green; he was moving about in a bowed attitude, evidently scanning the grass for the precious missing article, walking in zigzags right and left till he should have passed over every foot of the ground.

Thesaurus

amazingly: (adj, adv) wonderfully, stupendously, awfully; (adv) surprisingly, astoundingly, extraordinarily, spectacularly, marvelously, fabulously, terrificly, terrifically. ANTONYMS: (adv) predictably, mildly. **curtain**: (n, v) cover; (n) barrier,

drapery, blind, screen, mantle, mask, shade, pall, shroud; (v) hide. disclosure: (n) discovery, exposure, declaration, confession,

announcement, betrayal, display, divulgence, leak, manifestation, publication. ANTONYMS: (n) denial,

flooded: (adj) swamped, inundated, engulfed, afloat, submerged, waterlogged, soaked, busy, weak, teeming, swarming. ANTONYMS: (adj) idle, clear.

ostentatious: (adj) showy, flashy, pompous, pretentious, loud, extravagant, garish, flamboyant, proud, grandiose; (adj, n) haughty. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, unostentatious, unpretentious, drab, humble.

scanning: (n) search, scan, photography.

speechless: (adj) silent, mute, dumb, dumbfounded, voiceless, quiet, tongueless, tacit, noiseless, mum, wordless. ANTONYMS: (adj) loquacious, eloquent, talkative.

"How very ridiculous!" Thomasin murmured to herself, in a tone which was intended to be **satirical**. "To think that a man should be so silly as to go **mooning** about like that for a girl's glove! A **respectable** dairyman, too, and a man of money as he is now. What a pity!"

At last Venn appeared to find it; whereupon he stood up and raised it to his lips. Then **placing** it in his breastpocket--the **nearest receptacle** to a man's heart **permitted** by modern raiment--he ascended the valley in a **mathematically** direct line towards his distant home in the meadows.

Thesaurus

mathematically: (adv) arithmetically, scientifically, punctually, algebraically, punctually, algebraically. mooning: (adj) unaware, preoccupied, forgetful, absent-minded, mindless. nearest: (adj) proximate, immediate, close, near, next, adjoining, intimate, direct, adjacent; (adj, adv) nighest; (adv) fore. ANTONYM: (adj) distant. permitted: (adj) allowed, permissible, almissible, lawful, free, approved, legitimate, legal, legalized,

venial. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlawful, constrained.

placing: (n) placement, arrangement, disposition, installation, allocation, ordering, disposal, borrowing, composition.

receptacle: (n) box, holder, case, torus, can, outlet, pocket, pyx, beehive, cuspidor, pix.

respectable: (*adj*) considerable, decorous, fair, estimable, decent, honorable, good, proper, creditable, passable, honest. ANTONYMS: (adj) bad, small, sordid, scruffy, inadequate, unrespectable, paltry, discourteous, inappropriate, sinful, unacceptable.

satirical: (adj) satiric, cutting, mordant, mocking, ironic, biting, scornful, sardonic, derisive; (adj, n) keen; (n) ironical. ANTONYM: (adj) sympathetic.

2

THOMASIN WALKS IN A GREEN PLACE BY THE ROMAN ROAD

Clym saw little of Thomasin for several days after this; and when they met she was more silent than usual. At length he asked her what she was thinking of so intently.

"I am **thoroughly** perplexed," she said candidly. "I cannot for my life think who it is that Diggory Venn is so much in love with. None of the girls at the Maypole were good enough for him, and yet she must have been there."

Clym tried to imagine Venn's choice for a moment; but ceasing to be interested in the question he went on again with his **gardening**.

No **clearing** up of the **mystery** was granted her for some time. But one afternoon Thomasin was **upstairs** getting ready for a walk, when she had occasion to come to the **landing** and call "Rachel." Rachel was a girl about **thirteen**, who carried the baby out for airings; and she came upstairs at the call.

"Have you seen one of my last new gloves about the house, Rachel?" inquired Thomasin. "It is the fellow to this one."

Rachel did not reply.

Thesaurus

disembarkment, floor, platform,

clearing: (n) clarification, clearance, purgation, purging, purge, clearmelting, correction, tract, improvement, release, freeing. gardening: (n) cultivation, horticulture, agronomy, floriculture, agriculture, husbandry, spade husbandry, vintage, landscape gardening, flower gardening, landscaping. landing: (n) disembarkation, land, dock, touchdown, debarkation, clearance, clearance,

landing place, bank, banking-ground.

mystery: (n) arcanum, enigma,
mysteriousness, secrecy, puzzle,
craft, perplexity, poser, inscrutability,
whodunit; (adj, n) secret.
ANTONYMS: (n) explanation,
openness.
thirteen: (n) long dozen, large integer.
thoroughly: (adv, v) fully; (adv)
entirely, totally, soundly,

exhaustively, carefully, absolutely,

ANTONYMS: (adv) superficially, incompletely, negligently, partially, partly, barely, halfheartedly, deficiently, inadequately, insufficiently, hastily. upstairs: (adj) upstair; (adv) on a higher floor, in the mind, in the head, up the stairs, over; (n) heaven, administration, authority, board, eternity. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv)

downstairs.

perfectly, deeply, utterly, exactly.

"Why don't you answer?" said her mistress.

"I think it is lost, ma'am."

"Lost? Who lost it? I have never worn them but once."

Rachel appeared as one dreadfully troubled, and at last began to cry. "Please, ma'am, on the day of the Maypole I had none to wear, and I seed yours on the table, and I thought I would **borrow** 'em. I did not mean to hurt 'em at all, but one of them got lost. Somebody gave me some money to buy another pair for you, but I have not been able to go anywhere to get 'em."

"Who's somebody?"

"Mr. Venn."

"Did he know it was my glove?"

"Yes. I told him."

Thomasin was so surprised by the explanation that she quite forgot to **lecture** the girl, who glided silently away. Thomasin did not move further than to turn her eyes upon the grass-plat where the Maypole had stood. She remained thinking, then said to herself that she would not go out that afternoon, but would work hard at the baby's **unfinished** lovely **plaid frock**, cut on the cross in the newest fashion. How she managed to work hard, and yet do no more than she had done at the end of two hours, would have been a mystery to anyone not aware that the recent incident was of a kind likely to divert her industry from a **manual** to a mental channel.

Next day she went her ways as usual, and continued her **custom** of walking in the heath with no other companion than little Eustacia, now of the age when it is a matter of doubt with such characters whether they are intended to walk through the world on their hands or on their feet; so that they get into painful complications by trying both. It was very pleasant to Thomasin, when she had carried the child to some lonely place, to give her a little private practice on the green turf and shepherd's-thyme, which formed a soft mat to fall headlong upon them when equilibrium was lost.

Thesaurus

borrow: (*v*) adopt, lend, appropriate, to borrow, assume, take, accept, acquire, plagiarize, cadge, get. ANTONYMS: (*v*) give, invent, loan, originate, return.

custom: (*n*) habit, convention, usage, practice, consuetude, fashion, method, mores; (*n*, *v*) use, accustom; (*adj*) bespoke. ANTONYMS: (*n*) fad, innovation, phenomenon, rage, rarity.

frock: (n) dress, gown, clothing, attire,

robe, kirtle, habit, clothes, coat, chemise, caftan.

lecture: (n, v) discourse, harangue, reprimand, sermon, rebuke, talk, censure; (n) speech, oration; (v) chide, preach. ANTONYMS: (v) praise; (n) compliment. kirtle, fabric, cloth, cape, tipp mosaic, tesselated; (adj) check unfinished: (adj) rough, rude, unaccomplished, imperfect, incomplete, partial, immature.

manual: (n) handbook, guide, guidebook, primer, brochure, textbook, text, compendium, grammar, vade mecum, enchiridion. ANTONYMS: (adj) mechanized, mechanical.

plaid: (n) check, tartan, patchwork, kirtle, fabric, cloth, cape, tippet; (v) mosaic, tesselated; (adj) checked.

unfinished: (adj) rough, rude, unaccomplished, imperfect, incomplete, partial, immature, unpolished, raw, undone; (v) uncompleted. ANTONYMS: (adj) finished, complete, complex, completed.

Once, when engaged in this system of training, and stooping to remove bits of stick, fern-stalks, and other such fragments from the child's path, that the journey might not be brought to an untimely end by some **insuperable** barrier a quarter of an inch high, she was alarmed by **discovering** that a man on **horseback** was almost close beside her, the soft natural carpet having **muffled** the horse's **tread**. The rider, who was Venn, waved his hat in the air and bowed gallantly.

"Diggory, give me my glove," said Thomasin, whose manner it was under any circumstances to **plunge** into the **midst** of a subject which engrossed her.

Venn immediately dismounted, put his hand in his breastpocket, and handed the glove.

"Thank you. It was very good of you to take care of it."

"It is very good of you to say so."

"O no. I was quite glad to find you had it. Everybody gets so indifferent that I was surprised to know you thought of me."

"If you had remembered what I was once you wouldn't have been surprised."

"Ah, no," she said quickly. "But men of your character are mostly so independent."

"What is my character?" he asked.

"I don't exactly know," said Thomasin simply, "except it is to cover up your feelings under a practical manner, and only to show them when you are alone."

"Ah, how do you know that?" said Venn strategically.

"Because," said she, stopping to put the little girl, who had managed to get herself upside down, right end up again, "because I do."

"You mustn't judge by folks in general," said Venn. "Still I don't know much what feelings are nowadays. I have got so mixed up with business of one sort and t'other that my soft **sentiments** are gone off in **vapour** like. Yes, I am given up body and soul to the making of money. Money is all my dream."

Thesaurus

bits: (n) odds and ends, scraps, debris. discovering: (adj) observant, oracular. horseback: (n) hogback, body part. insuperable: (adj) unconquerable, indomitable, impassable, invincible, unsurmountable, unbeatable, impregnable, overwhelming, formidable, inexsuperable, unassailable. ANTONYM: (adj) vulnerable. midst: (adj, n) middle; (adv) mid,

midst: (adj, n) middle; (adv) mid, between; (prep) among, amid; (n) core, center, thick, interior, heart, waist.

muffled: (adj) hushed, muted, hollow, inarticulate, faint, soft, subdued, low, quiet; (v) allusive, covert.

ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, distinct, audible, slight.

plunge: (*n*, *v*) drop, dive, fall, jump; (*v*) douse, duck, submerge, crash, dunk, plummet; (*adj*, *v*) immerse.

ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) rise; (*v*) hesitate; (*n*) improvement.

sentiments: (n) breast. strategically: (adv) intentionally, strategicly, usefully, beneficially, according to plan, favorably, gainfully, helpfully, in accordance with policy, profitably, valuably. tread: (n, v) pace, walk, rate, march, tramp; (n) gait, stride, footstep, footfall, track; (v) trample. vapour: (n) vapor, evaporation, gas,

vapour: (n) vapor, evaporation, gas, vaporization, vaporisation, boiling, clouding, mist, fog, damp, smoke. "O Diggory, how wicked!" said Thomasin reproachfully, and looking at him in exact balance between taking his words seriously and **judging** them as said to **tease** her.

"Yes, 'tis rather a rum course," said Venn, in the **bland** tone of one **comfortably** resigned to sins he could no longer overcome.

"You, who used to be so nice!"

"Well, that's an argument I rather like, because what a man has once been he may be again." Thomasin blushed. "Except that it is rather **harder** now," Venn continued.

"Why?" she asked.

"Because you be richer than you were at that time."

"O no--not much. I have made it nearly all over to the baby, as it was my duty to do, except just enough to live on."

"I am rather glad of that," said Venn softly, and regarding her from the corner of his eye, "for it makes it easier for us to be friendly."

Thomasin blushed again, and, when a few more words had been said of a not **unpleasing** kind, Venn **mounted** his horse and rode on.

This conversation had passed in a hollow of the heath near the old Roman road, a place much frequented by Thomasin. And it might have been **observed** that she did not in future walk that way less often from having met Venn there now. Whether or not Venn abstained from **riding** thither because he had met Thomasin in the same place might easily have been guessed from her proceedings about two months later in the same year.

Thesaurus

harder: (adj) serious.

disclosed.

bland: (adj) insipid, vapid, tasteless, tame, mild, moderate, flat, balmy, oily, gentle, smooth. ANTONYMS: (adj) spicy, strong, exciting, jaunty, explicit, caustic, colorful, conspicuous, delicious, bitter, dull. comfortably: (adv) easily, pleasantly, cosily, conveniently, easy, snugly, richly, advantageously, leisurely, well, wealthily. ANTONYMS: (adv) uncomfortably, awkwardly, unpleasantly.

judging: (n) judge, judgment, judged, decision making, assessment, thought, deciding, prejudgment, discernment.

mounted: (adj) equestrian, mounting, mounts, set, firm, affixed, decorated. ANTONYM: (adj) unmounted.

observed: (adj) ascertained, empirical, discovered, viewed, experimental, experiential, determined, visual,

riding: (n) ride, horseback riding, travel, hundred, tithing, soke, travelling, manege, athletics; (v) horsemanship; (adj) awheel.

tease: (n, v) annoy; (adj, v) molest, harry, worry, bait; (v) taunt, kid, pester, plague, provoke, mock.

ANTONYM: (v) placate.

unpleasing: (adj) displeasing, graceless, ungracious, unpleasant, disagreeable, wicked, not grateful, offensive, perturbed, restless, stiff.

3

THE SERIOUS DISCOURSE OF CLYM WITH HIS COUSIN

Throughout this period Yeobright had more or less pondered on his duty to his cousin Thomasin. He could not help feeling that it would be a pitiful waste of sweet material if the tender-natured thing should be doomed from this early stage of her life onwards to dribble away her winsome qualities on lonely gorse and fern. But he felt this as an **economist** merely, and not as a lover. His passion for Eustacia had been a sort of **conserve** of his whole life, and he had nothing more of that supreme quality left to bestow. So far the obvious thing was not to entertain any idea of marriage with Thomasin, even to oblige her.

But this was not all. Years ago there had been in his mother's mind a great fancy about Thomasin and himself. It had not positively amounted to a desire, but it had always been a favourite dream. That they should be man and wife in good time, if the happiness of neither were endangered thereby, was the fancy in question. So that what course save one was there now left for any son who reverenced his mother's memory as Yeobright did? It is an unfortunate fact that any particular whim of parents, which might have been dispersed by half an hour's conversation during their lives, becomes **sublimated** by their deaths into a

Thesaurus

conserve: (v) economize, keep, save, embalm, protect, husband, maintain, defend; (n) jam, conserves; (adj) conserving. ANTONYMS: (v) waste, spend, use, damage, exhaust, squander, destroy; (n, v) expend. **dispersed**: (adj) sparse, spread, distributed, scattered, diffused, scatter, outspread, disseminated, split, dissipated, separate. dribble: (n, v) trickle, drop, drool, slobber, drivel, flow; (v) distill, ooze,

trill, spout; (n) spit. ANTONYMS: (v) swamp, stream, pour, gush,

economist: (n) econometrician, economic expert, cultivator, mill, monetarist, Marxist, Malthusian, Malthus, keynesian, Keynes, engineer sublimated: (adj) ethereal, astatic, in economics.

endangered: (n) tiger, white rhinoceros; (adj) risky, vulnerable, defenseless, at risk, in danger. gorse: (n) whin, Ulex europaeus, Irish

gorse, shrub, Goss, dyeweed, bush, brush, bramble, Genista tinctoria. reverenced: (adj) revered, reverend, sacred, sublime, venerated, August, inspiring awe, emeritus, empyreal, empyrean, profoundly honored. weightless.

winsome: (adj, v) winning; (adj) charming, engaging, fetching, sweet, comely, cheerful, merry, buxom, enchanting, lovable.

fiat the most absolute, with such results to **conscientious** children as those parents, had they lived, would have been the first to decry.

Had only Yeobright's own future been involved he would have proposed to Thomasin with a ready heart. He had nothing to lose by carrying out a dead mother's hope. But he dreaded to contemplate Thomasin **wedded** to the mere corpse of a lover that he now felt himself to be. He had but three activities alive in him. One was his almost daily walk to the little graveyard wherein his mother lay, another, his just as frequent visits by night to the more distant enclosure which numbered his Eustacia among its dead; the third was self-preparation for a **vocation** which alone seemed likely to satisfy his cravings--that of an **itinerant** preacher of the eleventh **commandment**. It was difficult to believe that Thomasin would be cheered by a husband with such tendencies as these.

Yet he resolved to ask her, and let her decide for herself. It was even with a pleasant sense of doing his duty that he went downstairs to her one evening for this purpose, when the sun was printing on the valley the same long shadow of the **housetop** that he had seen lying there times out of number while his mother lived.

Thomasin was not in her room, and he found her in the front garden. "I have long been wanting, Thomasin," he began, "to say something about a matter that **concerns** both our futures."

"And you are going to say it now?" she remarked quickly, colouring as she met his gaze. "Do stop a minute, Clym, and let me speak first, for oddly enough, I have been wanting to say something to you."

"By all means say on, Tamsie."

"I suppose nobody can **overhear** us?" she went on, casting her eyes around and lowering her voice. "Well, first you will promise me this--that you won't be angry and call me anything harsh if you disagree with what I propose?"

Yeobright promised, and she continued: "What I want is your advice, for you are my relation--I mean, a sort of guardian to me--aren't you, Clym?"

Thesaurus

commandment: (n) order, command, fiat, edict, law, regulation, bidding, decree, caution, behest, prescription. concerns: (n) dealings, affairs. conscientious: (adj) scrupulous, painstaking, honest, thorough, meticulous, dutiful, close, principled, strict; (adj, v) ethical, moral. ANTONYMS: (adj) sloppy, unconscientious, immoral, irresponsible, unscrupulous, conscienceless, corrupt, dishonest,

inexact, slack, slipshod. **fiat**: (*n*) decree, edict, dictum, act, order, call, behest, bidding, rescript, enactment, mandate.

housetop: (n) roof, ceiling.
itinerant: (n) traveler, wanderer,
nomad, vagrant; (adj, n) migrant,
vagabond; (adj) errant, traveling,
journeying, migratory; (adj, v)
ambulatory. ANTONYMS: (adj, n)
resident; (adj) sedentary, settled,
fixed

overhear: (v) catch, eavesdrop, listen, overheard, understand, fold up, befool, fascinate, entrance, enchant, enamour.

vocation: (*n*, *v*) calling, profession, employment; (*n*) occupation, job, trade, business, career, line, mission, line of work.

wedded: (adj, v) marital, connubial, matrimonial, conjugal, wed; (adj) nuptial, bridal. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmarried, unattached. "Well, yes, I suppose I am; a sort of guardian. In fact, I am, of course," he said, altogether perplexed as to her drift.

"I am thinking of marrying," she then observed blandly. "But I shall not marry unless you assure me that you **approve** of such a step. Why don't you speak?"

"I was taken rather by surprise. But, nevertheless, I am very glad to hear such news. I shall approve, of course, dear Tamsie. Who can it be? I am quite at a loss to guess. No I am not--'tis the old doctor!--not that I mean to call him old, for he is not very old after all. Ah--I noticed when he **attended** you last time!"

"No, no," she said hastily. "'Tis Mr. Venn."

Clym's face suddenly became grave.

"There, now, you don't like him, and I wish I hadn't mentioned him!" she exclaimed almost **petulantly**. "And I shouldn't have done it, either, only he keeps on bothering me so till I don't know what to do!"

Clym looked at the heath. "I like Venn well enough," he answered at last. "He is a very honest and at the same time **astute** man. He is clever too, as is proved by his having got you to favour him. But really, Thomasin, he is not quite---"

"Gentleman enough for me? That is just what I feel. I am sorry now that I asked you, and I won't think any more of him. At the same time I must marry him if I marry anybody--that I *will* say!"

"I don't see that," said Clym, carefully **concealing** every **clue** to his own **interrupted** intention, which she plainly had not guessed. "You might marry a professional man, or somebody of that sort, by going into the town to live and forming **acquaintances** there."

"I am not fit for town life--so very rural and silly as I always have been. Do not you yourself notice my countrified ways?"

"Well, when I came home from Paris I did, a little; but I don't now."

Thesaurus

acquaintances: (n) associates.
approve: (v) adopt, allow, accept, acknowledge, ratify, let, agree, endorse, admit, support, applaud.
ANTONYMS: (v) condemn, censure, disapprove, veto, forbid, invalidate, disallow, disrespect, deny, desecrate, oppose.

astute: (adj) shrewd, artful, bright, sharp, quick, cunning, crafty, sagacious, wily, clever; (adj, v) canny. ANTONYMS: (adj) naive, stupid,

slow, dumb, dim, idiotic, retarded, unintelligent, foolish, obtuse, indiscriminate.

attended: (*adj*) attent, fraught, tended to.

clue: (*n*, *v*) tip; (*n*) cue, hint, sign, suggestion, signal, guide, token, indication, key, vestige. ANTONYM: (*v*) hide.

concealing: (*n*) covering, concealment, burial, stealing, stealth, screening, burying, screenings, activity; (*adj*)

suppressive.

interrupted: (adj) discontinuous, fitful, intermittent, discontinued, disconnected, unsuccessive, intervallic, episodic, gaping, periodic; (prep) interrupt.
petulantly: (adv) testily, impatiently,

sulkily, querulously, pettishly, irritably, snappishly, morosely, tetchily, crossly, sullenly. ANTONYMS: (adv) calmly, lightly. "That's because you have got countrified too. O, I couldn't live in a street for the world! Egdon is a ridiculous old place; but I have got used to it, and I couldn't be happy anywhere else at all."

"Neither could I," said Clym.

"Then how could you say that I should marry some town man? I am sure, say what you will, that I must marry Diggory, if I marry at all. He has been kinder to me than anybody else, and has helped me in many ways that I don't know of!" Thomasin almost pouted now.

"Yes, he has," said Clym in a neutral tone. "Well, I wish with all my heart that I could say, marry him. But I cannot forget what my mother thought on that matter, and it goes rather against me not to respect her opinion. There is too much reason why we should do the little we can to respect it now."

"Very well, then," sighed Thomasin. "I will say no more."

"But you are not bound to obey my wishes. I merely say what I think."

"O no--I don't want to be rebellious in that way," she said sadly. "I had no business to think of him--I ought to have thought of my family. What dreadfully bad impulses there are in me!" Her lips trembled, and she turned away to hide a tear.

Clym, though vexed at what seemed her **unaccountable** taste, was in a measure **relieved** to find that at any rate the marriage question in relation to himself was shelved. Through several **succeeding** days he saw her at different times from the window of his room **moping disconsolately** about the garden. He was half angry with her for choosing Venn; then he was **grieved** at having put himself in the way of Venn's happiness, who was, after all, as honest and **persevering** a young fellow as any on Egdon, since he had turned over a new leaf. In short, Clym did not know what to do.

When next they met she said abruptly, "He is much more respectable now than he was then!"

"Who? O yes--Diggory Venn."

"Aunt only objected because he was a reddleman."

Thesaurus

disconsolately: (adv) unhappily, gloomily, sadly, dismally, dolefully, melancholy, forlornly, dispiritedly, downcastly, glumly, downheartedly. ANTONYM: (adv) contentedly. grieved: (adj) sore, sad, sorry, sorrowful, upset, woeful, pained, affected, brokenhearted. moping: (adj) moody, gloomy, huffy, melancholy, moldy, fusty, morose, dull; (v) mopish, mumpish. persevering: (adj) diligent, firm,

determined, constant, resolute, dogged, persistent, tenacious, steadfast, industrious, insistent. ANTONYM: (adj) irresolute. relieved: (adj) alleviated, thankful, mitigated, prominent, pleased, joyful, fresh, delighted, comfortable, cheerful, happy. ANTONYM: (adj) worried.

succeeding: (*adj*) following, subsequent, after, consecutive, posterior, ensuing, consequent, successive, consequential; (adj, adv) later; (v) succeed. ANTONYMS: (adj) outgoing, preceding, unaccountable: (adj) incomprehensible, inexplicable, strange, unintelligible, unexplainable, mysterious, impenetrable, undiscoverable, undecipherable, unknowable, unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) accountable, explainable, responsible, explicable.

"Well, Thomasin, perhaps I don't know all the particulars of my mother's wish. So you had better use your own discretion."

"You will always feel that I slighted your mother's memory."

"No, I will not. I shall think you are convinced that, had she seen Diggory in his present position, she would have considered him a **fitting** husband for you. Now, that's my real feeling. Don't consult me any more, but do as you like, Thomasin. I shall be content."

It is to be supposed that Thomasin was convinced; for a few days after this, when Clym strayed into a part of the heath that he had not lately visited, Humphrey, who was at work there, said to him, "I am glad to see that Mrs. Wildeve and Venn have made it up again, seemingly."

"Have they?" said Clym abstractedly.

"Yes; and he do **contrive** to **stumble** upon her whenever she walks out on fine days with the chiel. But, Mr. Yeobright, I can't help feeling that your cousin ought to have married you. 'Tis a pity to make two chimleycorners where there need be only one. You could get her away from him now, 'tis my belief, if you were only to set about it."

"How can I have the **conscience** to marry after having driven two women to their deaths? Don't think such a thing, Humphrey. After my experience I should consider it too much of a **burlesque** to go to church and take a wife. In the words of Job, 'I have made a **covenant** with mine eyes; when then should I think upon a maid?"

"No, Mr. Clym, don't fancy that about driving two women to their deaths. You shouldn't say it."

"Well, we'll leave that out," said Yeobright. "But anyhow God has set a mark upon me which wouldn't look well in a love-making scene. I have two ideas in my head, and no others. I am going to keep a night-school; and I am going to turn **preacher**. What have you got to say to that, Humphrey?"

"I'll come and hear 'ee with all my heart."

"Thanks, 'Tis all I wish,"

Thesaurus

burlesque: (*n*, *v*) caricature, lampoon, ridicule, travesty, spoof, banter; (*adj*) ludicrous; (*n*) farce, comedy; (*adj*, *n*) satire; (*v*) mock. ANTONYM: (*adj*) factual. **conscience**: (*n*) moral sense,

conscience: (n) moral sense, Conscience money, sense of right and wrong, scruple, intention, tender conscience, small voice, principles, morals, morality, inward monitor. ANTONYM: (n) indifference. contrive: (v) plan, invent, design,

concoct, devise, cast, concert, excogitate, frame, formulate; (*n*, *v*) manage. ANTONYMS: (*v*) demolish, destroy, ruin, waste, wreck, fail. **covenant**: (*n*, *v*) contract, agreement, compact, bargain, pact, promise; (*n*) bond, arrangement, concord, deed; (*v*) you

fitting: (n) adaptation, adjustment, appointment; (adj) apt, appropriate, applicable, felicitous, just, decorous, becoming, suitable. ANTONYMS:

(adj) improper, wrong, incompatible, inconvenient, undue, unfit, unsatisfactory, unseemly, unsuitable. **preacher**: (n) missionary, parson, lecturer, clergyman, evangelist, pastor, priest, sermonizer, revivalist, gospeler, preachers.

stumble: (*adj*, *n*, *v*) slip; (*n*, *v*) lurch, fall, err, stagger; (*adj*, *v*) blunder, flounder, fumble; (*n*) misstep; (*v*) hit, falter.

As Clym descended into the **valley** Thomasin came down by the other path, and met him at the gate. "What do you think I have to tell you, Clym?" she said, looking archly over her **shoulder** at him.

"I can **guess**," he replied.

She scrutinized his face. "Yes, you guess right. It is going to be after all. He thinks I may as well make up my mind, and I have got to think so too. It is to be on the twenty-fifth of next month, if you don't object."

"Do what you think right, dear. I am only too glad that you see your way clear to **happiness** again. My sex owes you every **amends** for the treatment you received in days gone by."

Thesaurus

amends: (n) atonement, compensation, **guess**: (n, v) surmise, estimate, recompense, satisfaction, redress, damages, reprisal, indemnity, requital; (n, v) restitution, restoration. **dear**: (adj, adv) close, near; (adj, n) darling; (adj) costly, expensive, lovely, precious, affectionate, adorable, cherished; (n) love. ANTONYMS: (adj) worthless, inexpensive, valueless, despised, modest, loathed, hateful, distant; (n) rival, foe, enemy.

forecast; (v) suppose, deem, reckon, divine, believe, foretell; (n) assumption, supposition. **happiness**: (*n*) delight, merriment, ecstasy, welfare, gladness, luck, cheerfulness, blessedness, bliss, felicity, contentment. ANTONYMS: (n) sadness, despair, grief, misery, dissatisfaction, seriousness, dullness, discontent, dejection, gloominess, displeasure.

received: (adj) acknowledged, conventional, standard, accredited, acceptable, orthodox, canonical, normative; (v) receiving, current, ascertained. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconventional, nonstandard. shoulder: (v) carry, push, hold, jostle, sustain, support, assume, accept; (n, v) elbow; (n) back, flange. valley: (n) vale, gully, dale, hollow, glen, depression, dell, gap, gorge, canyon, coulee. ANTONYM: (n) hill. 4

CHEERFULNESS AGAIN ASSERTS ITSELF AT BLOOMS-END, AND CLYM FINDS HIS VOCATION

Anybody who had passed through Blooms-End about eleven o'clock on the morning fixed for the wedding would have found that, while Yeobright's house was comparatively quiet, sounds denoting great activity came from the dwelling of his nearest neighbour, Timothy Fairway. It was chiefly a noise of feet, briskly crunching hither and thither over the sanded floor within. One man only was visible outside, and he seemed to be later at an appointment than he had intended to be, for he hastened up to the door, lifted the latch, and walked in without ceremony.

The scene within was not quite the **customary** one. Standing about the room was the little knot of men who formed the chief part of the Egdon coterie, there being present Fairway himself, Grandfer Cantle, Humphrey, Christian, and one or two turf-cutters. It was a warm day, and the men were as a matter of course in their **shirtsleeves**, except Christian, who had always a nervous fear of parting with a scrap of his clothing when in anybody's house but his own. Across the **stout** oak table in the middle of the room was thrown a mass of **striped linen**,

Thesaurus

briskly: (adv) busily, energetically, vigorously, quickly, freshly, actively, sharply, rapidly, vividly, brightly, merrily. ANTONYMS: (adv) seriously, laboriously, civilly, pleasantly, languorously. coterie: (n) clique, band, faction, company, clan, ring, party, junta, pack, group, gang. customary: (adj, n) accustomed, usual, habitual; (adj) conventional, ordinary, linen: (n) fabric, flax, lingerie, doily, commonplace, traditional, average,

wonted, regular, standard. ANTONYMS: (adj) unusual, abnormal, exceptional, unconventional, offbeat, irregular, innovative, different, unfamiliar, extraordinary, rare.

knot: (n) bow, cluster, lump, gang, joint; (v) entangle, knit, bind; (n, v)tie, loop, tangle. ANTONYMS: (v) unravel, undo, unknot, disentangle. doyley, doyly, cambric, underwear,

underclothes, hemp; (v) muslin. shirtsleeves: (n) dishabille. **stout**: (adj, n) sturdy, stocky, hearty; (adj) hardy, strong, robust, obese, husky, bold, corpulent, fleshy. ANTONYMS: (adj) thin, slim, flimsy, cowardly, slight, skinny, fragile,

striped: (adj) stripy, brindled, variegated, lined, banded, virgated, zoned, paled, with stripes.

which Grandfer Cantle held down on one side, and Humphrey on the other, while Fairway rubbed its surface with a yellow lump, his face being damp and **creased** with the effort of the labour.

"Waxing a bed-tick, souls?" said the newcomer.

"Yes, Sam," said Grandfer Cantle, as a man too busy to waste words. "Shall I stretch this corner a shade tighter, Timothy?"

Fairway replied, and the **waxing** went on with **unabated** vigour. "Tis going to be a good bed, by the look o't," continued Sam, after an interval of silence. "Who may it be for?"

"Tis a present for the new folks that's going to set up housekeeping," said Christian, who stood helpless and overcome by the majesty of the proceedings.

"Ah, to be sure; and a valuable one, 'a b'lieve."

"Beds be dear to fokes that don't keep **geese**, bain't they, Mister Fairway?" said Christian, as to an **omniscient** being.

"Yes," said the furze-dealer, standing up, giving his forehead a thorough **mopping**, and handing the beeswax to Humphrey, who succeeded at the rubbing forthwith. "Not that this couple be in want of one, but 'twas well to show 'em a bit of friendliness at this great **racketing** vagary of their lives. I set up both my own daughters in one when they was married, and there have been feathers enough for another in the house the last twelve months. Now then, neighbours, I think we have laid on enough wax. Grandfer Cantle, you turn the tick the right way outwards, and then I'll begin to shake in the feathers."

When the bed was in proper trim Fairway and Christian brought forward vast paper bags, stuffed to the full, but light as balloons, and began to turn the contents of each into the receptacle just prepared. As bag after bag was emptied, airy tufts of down and feathers floated about the room in increasing quantity till, through a mishap of Christian's, who shook the contents of one bag outside the tick, the atmosphere of the room became dense with gigantic flakes, which descended upon the workers like a windless snowstorm.

Thesaurus

airy: (adj) light, windy, aery, aerial, ethereal, insubstantial, sprightly, perky, volatile, aeriform, aired. ANTONYMS: (adj) airless, hot, massive, wooden, weighty, substantial, stifling, sluggish, ponderous, musty, lumbering. creased: (adj) wrinkled, wrinkly, rumpled, lined, furrowed, corrugated, wizened, bent. ANTONYM: (adj) straight. flakes: (n) dust.

geese: (n) ducks, goose, game birds, order Anseriformes, wildfowl, birds, Anatidae, Anseriformes, family Anatidae.

gigantic: (adj) colossal, enormous, large, huge, giant, stupendous, monstrous, vast, big, immense, massive. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, tiny, little, insignificant, short, miniature.

mopping: (n) swabbing. **omniscient**: (adj) learned, knowledgeable, infinitely wise, almighty, divine, wise, infallible. racketing: (n) a short life and a merry one, round of pleasures. unabated: (adj) unreduced, unrestricted, unmitigated, unflagging, relentless, intense, unrelenting. waxing: (n) application, covering, coating, ANTONYM: (adj) waning.

windless: (*v*) breathless; (*n*) calmer.

"I never saw such a **clumsy** chap as you, Christian," said Grandfer Cantle severely. "You might have been the son of a man that's never been outside Blooms-End in his life for all the wit you have. Really all the soldiering and **smartness** in the world in the father seems to count for nothing in forming the nater of the son. As far as that chief Christian is concerned I might as well have stayed at home and seed nothing, like all the rest of ye here. Though, as far as myself is concerned, a dashing spirit has counted for sommat, to be sure!"

"Don't ye let me down so, Father; I feel no bigger than a **ninepin** after it. I've made but a bruckle hit, I'm afeard."

"Come, come. Never pitch yerself in such a low key as that, Christian; you should try more," said Fairway.

"Yes, you should try more," echoed the Grandfer with **insistence**, as if he had been the first to make the suggestion. "In common conscience every man ought either to marry or go for a soldier. 'Tis a scandal to the nation to do neither one nor t'other. I did both, thank God! Neither to raise men nor to lay 'em low-- that shows a poor do-nothing spirit indeed."

"I never had the nerve to stand fire," faltered Christian. "But as to marrying, I own I've asked here and there, though without much fruit from it. Yes, there's some house or other that might have had a man for a master--such as he is--that's now ruled by a woman alone. Still it might have been awkward if I had found her; for, d'ye see, neighbours, there'd have been nobody left at home to keep down Father's spirits to the decent pitch that becomes a old man."

"And you've your work cut out to do that, my son," said Grandfer Cantle **smartly**. "I wish that the dread of infirmities was not so strong in me!--I'd start the very first thing tomorrow to see the world over again! But seventy-one, though nothing at home, is a high figure for a rover....Ay, seventy-one, last Candlemasday. Gad, I'd sooner have it in guineas than in years!" And the old man sighed.

"Don't you be mournful, Grandfer," said Fairway. "Empt some more **feathers** into the bed-tick, and keep up yer heart. Though rather **lean** in the stalks you be

Thesaurus

clumsy: (adj) bumbling, bungling, cumbersome, unwieldy, rude, inept, inapt, maladroit, gawky, unskilled, wooden. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, dexterous, clever, skillful, deft, adroit, elegant, coordinated, expert, athletic, agile.

feathers: (*n*) plumage, fur, indument, garment, garb, fine hair, clothing, dress, apparel, attire, array. **insistence**: (*n*) stubbornness, adherence, pressure, steadfastness,

press, insistency, urgency, insisting, instancy, persistence, imperativeness. ANTONYMS: (*n*) flexibility, weakness.

lean: (*adj*, *v*) gaunt; (*adj*) emaciated, thin, bony, lank; (*n*, *v*) bend, tilt, slant, list, careen; (*n*) inclination. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) plump, rich, chubby, greasy, stout; (*v*) straighten, repel.

ninepin: (*n*) pin, skittle pin, bowling pin.

smartly: (adv) cleverly, quickly, sprucely, nattily, astutely, shrewdly, chicly, stylishly, trendily, wittily, modishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) scruffily, clumsily, untidily, unattractively, tastelessly, stupidly, messily, ineptly, slowly.

smartness: (n) cleverness, style, stylishness, brightness, intelligence, clever, elegance, quickness, swank, banter, jauntiness. ANTONYMS: (n) messiness, stupidity, untidiness. a green-leaved old man still. There's time enough left to ye yet to fill whole chronicles."

"Begad, I'll go to 'em, Timothy--to the married pair!" said Granfer Cantle in an encouraged voice, and starting round briskly. "I'll go to 'em tonight and sing a wedding song, hey? 'Tis like me to do so, you know; and they'd see it as such. My 'Down in Cupid's Gardens' was well liked in four; still, I've got others as good, and even better. What do you say to my

She cal'-led to' her love' From the lat'-tice a-bove, 'O come in' from the fog-gy fog'-gy dew'.'

'Twould please 'em well at such a time! Really, now I come to think of it, I haven't turned my tongue in my head to the shape of a real good song since Old Midsummer night, when we had the 'Barley Mow' at the Woman; and 'tis a **pity** to **neglect** your strong point where there's few that have the compass for such things!"

"So 'tis, so 'tis," said Fairway. "Now gie the bed a shake down. We've put in seventy pounds of best feathers, and I think that's as many as the **tick** will fairly hold. A bit and a drap wouldn't be amiss now, I **reckon**. Christian, **maul** down the victuals from corner-cupboard if canst reach, man, and I'll draw a drap o' sommat to wet it with."

They sat down to a lunch in the midst of their work, feathers around, above, and below them; the original owners of which occasionally came to the open door and cackled **begrudgingly** at sight of such a quantity of their old clothes.

"Upon my soul I shall be chokt," said Fairway when, having **extracted** a feather from his mouth, he found several others **floating** on the mug as it was handed round.

"I've swallered several; and one had a tolerable quill," said Sam **placidly** from the corner.

Thesaurus

begrudgingly: (adv) enviously. extracted: (v) descended, extraught. floating: (adv) afloat; (adj, v) buoyant; (adj, adv) aimless; (adj) current, loose, moving, fluid, in circulation, going about, flying, light. maul: (v) mangle, beat, batter, molest,

maul: (v) mangle, beat, batter, molest thrash; (adj, v) bruise, buffet; (n) hammer, mallet, sledgehammer, sledge.

neglect: (*n*, *v*) disregard, slight, default; (*v*) ignore, fail, overlook,

miss, forget, drop; (n) carelessness, omission. ANTONYMS: (n) development, surveillance, caution, affection, cherish; (v) do, protect, complete, remember, heed; (n, v) care.

pity: (n, v) compassion, ruth; (n) mercy, commiseration, condolence, sympathy, clemency, remorse; (v) sympathize, compassionate, feel sorry for. ANTONYMS: (n) blame, cruelty, indifference, harshness, joy.

placidly: (adv) coolly, calmly, tranquilly, peacefully, stilly, quietly, composedly, silently, meekly, impassively, collectedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) agitatedly, boisterously.

reckon: (*v*) estimate, judge, hold, compute, guess, calculate, gauge, rate; (*n*, *v*) enumerate, count, number. **tick**: (*n*, *v*) beat, mark, check; (*n*) score, credit, moment, second, minute, ticking; (*v*) tally, click.

"Hullo--what's that--wheels I hear coming?" Grandfer Cantle exclaimed, **jumping** up and hastening to the door. "Why, 'tis they back again--I didn't expect 'em yet this half-hour. To be sure, how quick marrying can be done when you are in the mind for't!"

"O yes, it can soon be *done*," said Fairway, as if something should be added to make the statement complete.

He arose and followed the Grandfer, and the rest also went to the door. In a moment an open fly was driven past, in which sat Venn and Mrs. Venn, Yeobright, and a grand relative of Venn's who had come from Budmouth for the occasion. The fly had been hired at the nearest town, regardless of distance and cost, there being nothing on Egdon Heath, in Venn's opinion, **dignified** enough for such an event when such a woman as Thomasin was the bride; and the church was too remote for a walking bridal-party.

As the fly passed the group which had run out from the homestead they shouted "Hurrah!" and waved their hands; feathers and down floating from their hair, their sleeves, and the folds of their garments at every motion, and Grandfer Cantle's **seals** dancing merrily in the sunlight as he twirled himself about. The driver of the fly turned a **supercilious** gaze upon them; he even treated the wedded pair themselves with something like condescension; for in what other state than **heathen** could people, rich or poor, exist who were doomed to abide in such a world's end as Egdon? Thomasin showed no such superiority to the group at the door, **fluttering** her hand as quickly as a bird's wing towards them, and asking Diggory, with tears in her eyes, if they ought not to alight and speak to these kind neighbours. Venn, however, suggested that, as they were all coming to the house in the evening, this was hardly necessary.

After this excitement the saluting party returned to their occupation, and the **stuffing** and sewing were soon afterwards finished, when Fairway harnessed a horse, wrapped up the **cumbrous** present, and drove off with it in the cart to Venn's house at Stickleford.

Yeobright, having filled the office at the wedding service which naturally fell to his hands, and afterwards returned to the house with the husband and wife,

Thesaurus

cumbrous: (adj) unwieldy, weighty, massive, heavy, bulky, awkward, ponderous, clumsy, vexatious, burdensome, inept.
dignified: (adj) exalted, majestic, noble, grand, lofty, respectable, solemn, distinguished, lordly, high; (adj, v) great. ANTONYMS: (adj) undignified, foolish, dishonorable, boisterous, unceremonious, unseemly, vulgar, poor, lowly, modest, base.

fluttering: (*adj*) flying, palpitating, flittering, flaring, aflare, waving; (*n*) flutter, flapping, flicker, flitting; (*adv*) flutteringly.

heathen: (adj, n) gentile, ethnic; (n) infidel, idolater, paynim, heretic; (adj) heathenish, irreligious, giaour, godless, barbaric.

jumping: (n) saltation, leaping, header, start, propulsion; (adj) moving, festive; (v) bounding, salient, dancing; (adv) leapingly.

seals: (n) Pinnipedia, key, talisman, aquatic mammal, signet, suborder Pinnipedia, sea Lions.

stuffing: (*n*) pad, filling, forcemeat, farce, dressing, filler, fill, wadding, contents, inside, tompion.

supercilious: (adj) proud, haughty, disdainful, lofty, contemptuous, contumelious, cavalier, lordly, arrogant, scornful, high and mighty. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, affable. was **indisposed** to take part in the **feasting** and dancing that wound up the evening. Thomasin was disappointed.

"I wish I could be there without dashing your spirits," he said. "But I might be too much like the skull at the banquet."

"No, no."

"Well, dear, apart from that, if you would excuse me, I should be glad. I know it seems **unkind**; but, dear Thomasin, I fear I should not be happy in the company--there, that's the truth of it. I shall always be coming to see you at your new home, you know, so that my absence now will not matter."

"Then I give in. Do whatever will be most comfortable to yourself."

Clym retired to his **lodging** at the housetop much relieved, and occupied himself during the afternoon in noting down the heads of a **sermon**, with which he intended to initiate all that really seemed practicable of the scheme that had originally brought him hither, and that he had so long kept in view under various modifications, and through evil and good report. He had tested and **weighed** his convictions again and again, and saw no reason to alter them, though he had considerably lessened his plan. His **eyesight**, by long humouring in his native air, had grown stronger, but not sufficiently strong to warrant his attempting his extensive educational project. Yet he did not repine--there was still more than enough of an unambitious sort to tax all his energies and occupy all his hours.

Evening drew on, and sounds of life and movement in the lower part of the domicile became more pronounced, the gate in the palings clicking **incessantly**. The party was to be an early one, and all the guests were assembled long before it was dark. Yeobright went down the back staircase and into the heath by another path than that in front, intending to walk in the open air till the party was over, when he would return to wish Thomasin and her husband good-bye as they departed. His steps were **insensibly** bent towards Mistover by the path that he had followed on that terrible morning when he learnt the strange news from Susan's boy.

Thesaurus

eyesight: (n) sight, seeing, discernment, vision power, ability to make discerning judgments, view, sightedness, optics, beholding. feasting: (n) carnival, eating. incessantly: (adv) constantly, endlessly, continually, perpetually, continuously, unceasingly, eternally, persistently, unremittingly, unendingly, steadily. ANTONYMS: (adv) sporadically, briefly. indisposed: (adj) ill, ailing, loath, sick,

averse, poorly, sickly, reluctant, unwilling, unwell, diseased.
ANTONYMS: (adj) inclined, willing, keen, disposed.
insensibly: (adv) imperceptibly, anotherically, purple, metionlessly.

apathetically, numbly, motionlessly, inertly. **lodging**: (*n*) abode, apartment,

accommodation, housing, hostel, residence, quarter, home, lodgement, address, hospice.

sermon: (n) discourse, oration, speech,

address, homily, preachment, harangue, preaching, exhortation, predication; (n, v) lecture. unkind: (adj) cruel, harsh, unfeeling, inconsiderate, pitiless, heartless, inhuman, hard, thoughtless, brutal, mean. ANTONYMS: (adj) kind, considerate, pleasant, friendly, thoughtful, tactful, mild, gentle, generous, flattering, compassionate. weighed: (adj) determined, deliberate, tared

He did not turn aside to the cottage, but pushed on to an **eminence**, whence he could see over the whole quarter that had once been Eustacia's home. While he stood observing the **darkening** scene somebody came up. Clym, seeing him but dimly, would have let him pass silently, had not the **pedestrian**, who was Charley, recognized the young man and spoken to him.

"Charley, I have not seen you for a length of time," said Yeobright. "Do you often walk this way?"

"No," the lad replied. "I don't often come outside the bank."

"You were not at the Maypole."

"No," said Charley, in the same listless tone. "I don't care for that sort of thing now."

"You rather liked Miss Eustacia, didn't you?" Yeobright gently asked. Eustacia had frequently told him of Charley's **romantic** attachment.

"Yes, very much. Ah, I wish--"

"Yes?"

"I wish, Mr. Yeobright, you could give me something to keep that once belonged to her--if you don't mind."

"I shall be very happy to. It will give me very great pleasure, Charley. Let me think what I have of hers that you would like. But come with me to the house, and I'll see."

They walked towards Blooms-End together. When they reached the front it was dark, and the shutters were closed, so that nothing of the interior could be seen.

"Come round this way," said Clym. "My entrance is at the back for the present."

The two went round and ascended the crooked **stair** in darkness till Clym's sitting-room on the upper floor was reached, where he lit a candle, Charley entering gently behind. Yeobright searched his desk, and taking out a sheet of tissue-paper unfolded from it two or three **undulating** locks of **raven** hair, which

Thesaurus

darkening: (adj) dark, blue, gloomy, causing dejection; (v) darken; (n) change of color, eclipse.

eminence: (n) distinction, elevation, altitude, celebrity, superiority, rank, excellence, fame, glory, prominence, status. ANTONYMS: (n) insignificance, cavity, depression, unimportance, dip, commonness, inferiority.

pedestrian: (*adj*) humdrum, ordinary, earthbound, banal, trite, tedious,

hackneyed, prosaic, dull; (n) walker, footer. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, inspired, excellent, exceptional, inspiring, original; (n) driver. raven: (v) guttle, feed, devour, gulp, harry, eat; (n) crow, plunder; (adj) black, jet; (n, v) gorge.

romantic: (adj) amorous, impractical, fanciful, quixotic, unrealistic, utopian, loving, amatory, fictitious; (adj, n) visionary, romanticist.

ANTONYMS: (n) realist, classicist;

(adj) commonplace, graphic, unromantic, unsentimental, unhappy, prosaic, disapproving, cool, realistic.

stair: (n) stage, degree, footstep, rank, stairway, staircase, corbiestep, ladder, pace, steps, support. undulating: (adj) sinuous, waved, undulant, undulatory, curly, apprenticed, zigzag, crimped, curvy,

apprenticed, zigzag, crimped, curvy, indented, intended. ANTONYMS: (adj) steep, straight.

fell over the paper like black streams. From these he selected one, wrapped it up, and gave it to the lad, whose eyes had filled with tears. He kissed the packet, put it in his pocket, and said in a voice of emotion, "O, Mr. Clym, how good you are to me!"

"I will go a little way with you," said Clym. And **amid** the noise of merriment from below they descended. Their path to the front led them close to a little side window, whence the rays of candles streamed across the **shrubs**. The window, being screened from general observation by the bushes, had been left unblinded, so that a person in this private nook could see all that was going on within the room which contained the wedding guests, except in so far as vision was hindered by the green **antiquity** of the panes.

"Charley, what are they doing?" said Clym. "My sight is weaker again tonight, and the glass of this window is not good."

Charley wiped his own eyes, which were rather **blurred** with **moisture**, and stepped closer to the casement. "Mr. Venn is asking Christian Cantle to sing," he replied, "and Christian is moving about in his chair as if he were much frightened at the question, and his father has struck up a stave instead of him."

"Yes, I can hear the old man's voice," said Clym. "So there's to be no dancing, I suppose. And is Thomasin in the room? I see something moving in front of the candles that resembles her shape, I think."

"Yes. She do seem happy. She is red in the face, and laughing at something Fairway has said to her. O my!"

"What noise was that?" said Clym.

"Mr. Venn is so tall that he knocked his head against the **beam** in gieing a **skip** as he passed under. Mrs. Venn has run up quite frightened and now she's put her hand to his head to feel if there's a **lump**. And now they be all laughing again as if nothing had happened."

"Do any of them seem to care about my not being there?" Clym asked.

"No, not a bit in the world. Now they are all holding up their glasses and drinking somebody's health."

Thesaurus

amid: (adv, prep) among, amongst; (prep) between, amidst, mid, during, in the midst of, with, surrounded by, stuck between; (n) midst. ANTONYMS: (prep) outside, separate.

antiquity: (n) ancientness, ancientry, past, relic, status quo, artefact, artifact, oldness, old age, hoariness; (adj, n) age. ANTONYMS: (n) today, newness, modernity.

beam: (n) ray, timber, balance beam;

(*n*, *v*) blaze, glow, flash, smile; (*adj*, *v*) shine; (*v*) grin, air, radiate.
ANTONYMS: (*n*, *v*) scowl; (*v*) darken, dim, dull, frown; (*n*)

blurred: (*adj*) fuzzy, indistinct, foggy, blurry, bleary, vague, out of focus, blear, cloudy, clouded, dim. ANTONYMS: (*adj*) sharp, definite, distinct, precise, certain.

lump: (*n*, *v*) heap, knot, chunk, block; (*n*) gob, tumor, hunk, bit, bulge; (*adj*,

n) clod; (*adj, n, v*) mass. ANTONYM: (*v*) divide.

moisture: (*n*) damp, dampness, wet, humid, moist, moistness, vapor, moisture content, moisten, dank, dampen.

skin: (*n*) undergrowth.

skip: (*n*, *v*) bound, leap, hop, caper, trip; (*v*) dance, bounce, prance, skim; (*adj*, *v*) miss; (*n*) omission.

ANTONYMS: (*v*) attend, trudge, include.

"I wonder if it is mine?"

"No, 'tis Mr. and Mrs. Venn's, because he is making a hearty sort of speech. There--now Mrs. Venn has got up, and is going away to put on her things, I think."

"Well, they haven't concerned themselves about me, and it is quite right they should not. It is all as it should be, and Thomasin at least is happy. We will not stay any longer now, as they will soon be coming out to go home."

He accompanied the lad into the heath on his way home, and, returning alone to the house a quarter of an hour later, found Venn and Thomasin ready to start, all the guests having departed in his absence. The wedded pair took their seats in the four-wheeled **dogcart** which Venn's head **milker** and handy man had driven from Stickleford to fetch them in; little Eustacia and the nurse were packed securely upon the open **flap** behind; and the milker, on an ancient **overstepping** pony, whose shoes clashed like **cymbals** at every tread, rode in the rear, in the manner of a body-servant of the last century.

"Now we leave you in absolute possession of your own house again," said Thomasin as she bent down to wish her cousin good night. "It will be rather lonely for you, Clym, after the **hubbub** we have been making."

"O, that's no inconvenience," said Clym, smiling rather sadly. And then the party drove off and vanished in the night shades, and Yeobright entered the house. The **ticking** of the clock was the only sound that greeted him, for not a soul remained; Christian, who acted as cook, **valet**, and gardener to Clym, sleeping at his father's house. Yeobright sat down in one of the vacant chairs, and remained in thought a long time. His mother's old chair was opposite; it had been sat in that evening by those who had scarcely remembered that it ever was hers. But to Clym she was almost a presence there, now as always. Whatever she was in other people's memories, in his she was the **sublime** saint whose radiance even his tenderness for Eustacia could not obscure. But his heart was heavy, that Mother had *not* **crowned** him in the day of his espousals and in the day of the **gladness** of his heart. And events had borne out the accuracy of her judgment, and proved the **devotedness** of her care. He should have heeded her

Thesaurus

crowned: (adj) laureled, fulfilled, browbound, incoronate, successful. cymbals: (n) piatti.

devotedness: (*n*) loyalty, dedication, consecration, ardor, constancy, love, fidelity, attachment.

dogcart: (*n*) trap, random, unicorn, tandem, Whitechapel, buggy, cart. **flap**: (*v*) flop, wave, beat, brandish, shake; (*n*, *v*) fuss, flutter, pother; (*n*) slap, disturbance, valve. **gladness**: (*n*) joy, gaiety, pleasure,

delight, bliss, glee, happiness, exhilaration, joyfulness, mirth, cheerfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) unhappiness, dismay, displeasure. hubbub: (n) commotion, uproar, disorder, din, noise, bustle, tumult, bedlam, brouhaha; (n, v) racket, brawl. ANTONYM: (n) calm. milker: (n) milch cow, dairy cow, Jersey, milcher, milk cow, oxen, milking machine, Ayrshire, holstein, cattle, kine.

overstepping: (n) invasion.
sublime: (adj, v) majestic; (adj)
dignified, grand, lofty, magnificent,
elevated, noble, exalted, glorious; (v)
sacred, sublimate. ANTONYMS: (adj)
poor, ridiculous.

ticking: (*n*) tick, cloth, fabric, ticken; (*adj*) living.

valet: (n) man, attendant, lackey, butler, flunkey, manservant, waiter, gentleman, livery servant, servant, retainer. for Eustacia's sake even more than for his own. "It was all my fault," he whispered. "O, my mother, my mother! would to God that I could live my life again, and endure for you what you endured for me!"

On the Sunday after this wedding an unusual sight was to be seen on Rainbarrow. From a distance there simply appeared to be a motionless figure standing on the top of the tumulus, just as Eustacia had stood on that lonely summit some two years and a half before. But now it was fine warm weather, with only a summer breeze blowing, and early afternoon instead of dull twilight. Those who ascended to the immediate neighbourhood of the Barrow perceived that the erect form in the centre, **piercing** the sky, was not really alone. Round him upon the slopes of the Barrow a number of heathmen and women were reclining or sitting at their ease. They listened to the words of the man in their midst, who was **preaching**, while they abstractedly pulled heather, stripped ferns, or tossed pebbles down the slope. This was the first of a series of moral lectures or Sermons on the Mount, which were to be delivered from the same place every Sunday afternoon as long as the fine weather lasted.

The commanding elevation of Rainbarrow had been chosen for two reasons: first, that it occupied a central position among the remote cottages around; secondly, that the preacher thereon could be seen from all adjacent points as soon as he arrived at his post, the view of him being thus a convenient signal to those stragglers who wished to draw near. The speaker was **bareheaded**, and the breeze at each **waft** gently lifted and lowered his hair, somewhat too thin for a man of his years, these still **numbering** less than thirty-three. He wore a shade over his eyes, and his face was **pensive** and lined; but, though these bodily features were marked with decay there was no defect in the tones of his voice, which were rich, musical, and stirring. He stated that his discourses to people were to be sometimes secular, and sometimes religious, but never **dogmatic**; and that his texts would be taken from all kinds of books. This afternoon the words were as follows:--

"And the king rose up to meet her, and bowed himself **unto** her, and sat down on his throne, and caused a seat to be set for the king's mother; and she sat

Thesaurus

bareheaded: (adj) hatless, bare, bald, unclothed, alone; (v) cap in hand, obsequious, respectful, reverential, decorous, ceremonious.

dogmatic: (adj) arbitrary, overbearing, authoritative, authoritarian, narrow, peremptory, doctrinal, doctrinaire; (adj, v) absolute, confident, formal. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, doubtful, uncertain, amenable, equivocal, indecisive, questioning, tolerant, ambiguous, polite, liberal.

numbering: (n) counting, enumeration, list, numeration, reckoning, listing, determination of the thread count, number coding. pensive: (adj) contemplative, meditative, musing, wistful, dreamy, melancholy, abstracted, broody, reflective, moody; (adj, v) sad. ANTONYMS: (adj) shallow, satisfied, carefree.

piercing: (*adj*, *n*) sharp, cutting; (*adj*, *v*) keen, penetrating, biting, bitter,

harsh, shrill; (adj) high, raw, loud. ANTONYMS: (adj) quiet, dull, soft, hot.

preaching: (n) sermon, lecture, homily, preachment, baccalaureate, speech, pulpit, exhortation, kerygma; (v) preach; (adj) hence. unto: (prep, v) to, till, up to; (prep) towards, before.

waft: (v) blow, float, drift, glide, wave, gust; (n) whiff, puff, vivda, vifda, pennoncelle.

on his right hand. Then she said, I desire one small **petition** of thee; I pray thee say me not nay. And the king said unto her, Ask, on, my mother: for I will not say thee nay."

Yeobright had, in fact, found his vocation in the career of an itinerant **open**-air preacher and **lecturer** on **morally unimpeachable** subjects; and from this day he laboured incessantly in that office, speaking not only in simple language on Rainbarrow and in the hamlets round, but in a more **cultivated** strain elsewhere-from the steps and porticoes of town halls, from market-crosses, from conduits, on esplanades and on wharves, from the parapets of bridges, in barns and outhouses, and all other such places in the neighbouring Wessex towns and villages. He left alone creeds and systems of philosophy, finding enough and more than enough to occupy his tongue in the opinions and actions common to all good men. Some **believed** him, and some believed not; some said that his words were **commonplace**, others complained of his want of **theological** doctrine; while others again remarked that it was well enough for a man to take to preaching who could not see to do anything else. But everywhere he was kindly received, for the story of his life had become generally known.

Thesaurus

believed: (adj) whispered, alleged, thought, held.

commonplace: (adj, v) trite,
hackneyed; (adj) banal, ordinary,
humdrum, common, average, plain,
mundane, dull; (n) platitude.

ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary,
unusual, exceptional, infrequent,
rare, romantic, uncommon, weird; (n)
deepness, profundity, profoundness.
cultivated: (adj) cultured, refined,
tame, educated, sophisticated,

elegant, urbane, polished, accomplished, civil, polite. ANTONYMS: (adj) wild, untamed, uncouth, coarse, graceless. lecturer: (n) teacher, professor, lector, reader, orator, preacher, speaker, tutor, coach, trainer, educator. morally: (adv) virtuously, chastely, righteously, justly, properly, decently, ethically, purely, uprightly, rightly, religiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) indecently, corruptly,

improperly.

open-air: (adj) outside.

petition: (n, v) appeal, request, desire, claim; (v) ask, beg, crave, apply; (n) application, entreaty, invocation.

theological: (adj) theologic, clerical.

unimpeachable: (adj) unexceptionable, irreproachable, blameless, unquestionable, flawless, impeccable, perfect, spotless, inculpable; (n) creditable, estimable. ANTONYM: (adj) corrupt.

GLOSSARY

- abandonment: (n) resignation, renunciation, desertion, neglect, withdrawal, surrender, exposure, forsaking, relinquishment, rejection, leaving. ANTONYMS: (n) attention, accomplishment, arrival, acceptance
- abashed: (adj, v) discomfited; (adj) mortified, sheepish, embarrassed, ashamed, confused, humiliated, afraid, shamefaced, confounded; (v) dashed. ANTONYMS: (adj) proud, undaunted, reassured, pleased, heartened, emboldened, cool, confident, composed, relaxed, unabashed
- abate: (v) bate, weaken, decline, remit, slack, slake, wane, relax, lessen, diminish, allay.
 ANTONYMS: (v) rise, grow, magnify, surge, intensify, expand, enlarge, enhance, amplify, prolong, extend
- abbe: (n) cure, father, abbot abhor: (v) hate, detest, abominate, execrate, despise, dislike, nauseate, disdain, scorn, resent, dread. ANTONYMS: (v) adore, approve, like, cherish, embrace, relish, treasure, admire
- abide: (v) endure, bide, undergo, tolerate, take, suffer, stomach, bear, brook; (adj, v) stay, dwell. ANTONYMS: (v) check, depart, disallow, disapprove, disbelieve, journey, dodge, leave, migrate, move, pass
- abiding: (adj) immortal, stable, constant, everlasting, lasting, enduring, perpetual, eternal, perennial, continuing, imperishable. ANTONYMS: (adj) ephemeral, fleeting, impermanent, temporary, passing, mortal, erratic, inconstant
- abject: (adj) contemptible, pitiful, low, wretched, despicable, sordid, base, mean, vile; (n) ignominious, dirty. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable,

- hopeful, magnificent, esteemed, proud, dignified, commendable, noble, exalted, worthy, happy
- ablaze: (adj, v) afire, alight, blazing; (adj) flaming, burning, on fire, passionate, bright, flushed, fiery; (v) splendid. ANTONYMS: (adj) dark, dispassionate, dull, dim, smothered, unexcited, extinguished
- able-bodied: (adj) strong, stout, hale, muscular, healthy, athletic, burly, well, hardy, fit, brawny
- **above-mentioned**: (adj) prior, preceding
- abreast: (adv) opposite, acquainted, off, au fait, alongside, on one side, abeam; (adj) near, aligned, knowledgeable; (prep) against. ANTONYMS: (adv) uninformed, lost. unaware
- absently: (adv) absentmindedly, missingly, lackingly, inattentively, wantingly, offly, deficiently, lostly, removedly, preoccupiedly, outly
- absorbing: (adj) fascinating, engrossing, charming, enthralling, gripping, captivating, riveting, absorbent, attractive, readable; (adj, v) exciting. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, irksome, tedious, repellent, uninteresting
- abstracted: (adj) absentminded, separate, absent-minded, abstract, distrait, inattentive, pensive, preoccupied, remote, lost, vacant. ANTONYM: (adj) alert
- abstractedly: (adv) absently, distractedly, distantly, pensively, separately, preoccupiedly, abstractly, removedly, dreamily, absent-mindedly, scatterbrainedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) carefully, clearly, calmly
- **abstraction**: (n) abstract, reverie, engrossment, extraction, withdrawal, removal, deduction, abbreviation, preoccupancy,

- theorisation, theorization. ANTONYMS: (n) attentiveness, inclusion, alertness, concentration, fact
- absurdly: (adv) ridiculously, foolishly, ludicrously, nonsensically, idiotically, silly, stupidly, inconsistently, comically, illogically, irrationally. ANTONYMS: (adv) solemnly, impressively, rationally, harmoniously
- abyss: (n) gorge, ravine, chasm, gulf, deep, purgatory, depth, hell, gap, Gehenna, pit. ANTONYMS: (n) junction, juncture
- acclivity: (n) rise, raise, incline, upgrade, climb, elevation, gradient, hill, inclination; (v) KHUDD, rising ground
- accordance: (n) harmony, agreement, conformity, unison, concordance, coincidence, accordancy, admission, fitness, consensus, concent
- accordant: (adj) consonant, consistent, compatible, congruous, conformable, agreeable, concordant, consentient, unanimous, suitable; (adj, v) congenial. ANTONYM: (adj) discordant
- according: (adj) pursuant, consonant, equal, agreeable, harmonious, conformable, consistent, corresponding, respondent; (adv) correspondingly, accordingly
- accoutrement: (n) accouterment, accessory, clothes, wear, clothing, vesture, attachment, appointment, accessary, belt, apparatus
- accoutrements: (n) accouterments, trappings, paraphernalia, equipment, gear, dress, clothes, apparel, attire
- accuse: (v) charge, incriminate, arraign, denounce, defame, criminate, indict, fault, betray, condemn, inculpate. ANTONYMS: (v) absolve, exculpate, exonerate,

- praise, support, clear accusing: (adj) accusative, accusive, inculpatory, inculpative, criminative, criminatory, critical, denunciatory; (adj, n) reproving; (n) reproachful; (v) accuse
- accustomed: (adj, n) habitual; (adj) familiar, normal, wonted, usual, natural, everyday, ordinary, habituated, common, traditional. ANTONYMS: (adj) unusual, green, unseasoned, unconventional, untrained, abnormal, uncharacteristic, exceptional
- aces: (adj) peerless, worthy, perfect, fine, fabulous, great, personable; (n) pick
- aching: (adj) sore, achy, hurt, uncomfortable, tender, hurtful, agonizing; (n) ache, pain, hurting; (v) griped
- acknowledgment: (n) admission, acknowledgement, acceptance, confession, greeting, credit, allowance, declaration, agreement, thanks, gratitude. ANTONYMS: (n) rejection, ungratefulness, oversight, snub, ignoring, invoice, blame, defiance
- acquaintances: (n) associates acquainted: (adj) knowledgeable, informed, aware, cognizant, conversant, hand and glove, intimate, thick; (adv) abreast; (v) inform, acquaint
- acquiescence: (n) compliance, consent, resignation, permission, sanction, approval, accord, agreement, submission, conformity; (n, v) assent. ANTONYMS: (n) disagreement, insubordination, rebellion, defiance, rejection
- acuteness: (n) acuity, sharpness, acumen, discrimination, gravity, insight, sensitivity, perspicacity, penetration, keenness, intensity. ANTONYMS: (n) faintness, insignificance, dullness
- adder: (n) snake, summer, computer, serpent, calculator, nadder, nedder, common viper
- adept: (adj, n) expert; (adj) skillful, able, accomplished, experienced, capable, smart, clever, adroit; (n) virtuoso, whiz. ANTONYMS: (adj) incompetent, inept, awkward, bumbling, fumbling, unskilled
- adhere: (v) abide, cleave, accede, bond, cling, attach, stick, bind, persist, sustain; (adj, v) agree. ANTONYMS: (v) separate, repel, unfasten, loose, loosen

- adjoining: (adj) contiguous, neighbor, near, abutting, touching, conterminous, neighboring, immediate, next, vicinal; (adj, v) close. ANTONYMS: (adj) separate, divided, detached, apart, far
- adorable: (adj) lovely, attractive, delightful, endearing, pleasing, glamorous, delicious, wonderful, winning, appealing, cute.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) despicable, disgusting, wicked, unappealing, repulsive, monstrous, gross
- adore: (v) worship, idolize, admire, glorify, cherish, appreciate; (n, v) honor; (adj) adoring, worshipping, worshiping; (adv) adoringly.

 ANTONYMS: (v) detest, despise, condemn, loathe, disrespect, abhor, scorn
- adored: (adj) loved, respected, precious, idolized, idolised, acclaimed, blessed, favorite, dearly loved, beloved, venerated
- adorned: (adj) decorated, ornate, bedecked, decked out, fancy, garnished, ornamented, decked, beautiful, inscribed, festooned
- adrift: (adj, adv) directionless; (adv) afloat, wrong; (adj, v) astray; (adj) disoriented, isolated, undirected, rudderless, planless, insular, in Twain. ANTONYMS: (adv) anchored, determined, purposeful, stable, moored
- adventurous: (adj) unsafe, venturesome, enterprising, plucky, audacious, bold, courageous, daring, brave, foolhardy, rash. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, prudent, careful, timid
- adversary: (n) antagonist, foe, enemy, competitor, rival, opposition, opposer, contestant, match, somebody; (adj) hostile.
 ANTONYMS: (n) ally, supporter, friend, partner, helper, assistant
- afar: (adv) off, away, far away, distantly, beyond, Afar off, in the distance, by far, apart; (adj) outlying, far. ANTONYMS: (adv) close, nearby, near; (prep) within afeard: (adj) afraid
- affectionate: (adj) fond, tender, kind, mild, devoted, ardent, warm, cordial, caring, brotherly; (adj, adv) fatherly. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, callous, undemonstrative, aloof, cool, disapproving, reserved, antagonistic, paternal, rough
- **affections**: (n) bosom **affix**: (n, v) annex; (adj, v) attach, fix;

- (v) adjoin, append, add on, fasten, join, connect, stick; (n) addition.
 ANTONYMS: (v) unfasten, remove, loosen, delete
- affixed: (adj) additional
- afflicted: (adj) miserable, distressed, stricken, pitiful, sorrowful, ill, woeful, dejected, sorry; (v) afflict, displeased
- affliction: (n, v) adversity; (n) distress, regret, martyrdom, torment, curse, trial, bane, misadventure, sorrow, agony. ANTONYMS: (n) gift, godsend, solace, blessing
- affluence: (n) wealth, fortune, amplitude, luxury, ease, opulence, prosperity, richness, afflux, plenty; (adj, n) riches. ANTONYMS: (n) shortage, neediness
- affrighted: (adj) frightful, eery; (prep)
 affright
- afloat. (adj) buoyant, floating, current, in circulation, directionless, undirected, rudderless; (adv) adrift, aboard; (v) afoot; (n) on foot
- afore: (adv) ahead, along, before, forwards, formerly, beforehand, previously; (adj) erewhile, aforehand, theretofore, preceding
- agitated: (adj) upset, excited, nervous, restive, tumultuous, distressed, tense, jumpy, overwrought, anxious, alarmed. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, lethargic, tranquil, relaxed, assured, cool, still
- agitation: (n) disturbance, excitement, tumult, stirring, convulsion, stir, commotion, emotion, unrest, shake, turmoil. ANTONYMS: (n) serenity, calm, equanimity, rest, peace, deterrent
- agonized: (adj) distressed, painful, woeful, tormented, suffering, miserable, hurt
- agonizing: (adj, v) excruciating; (adj) painful, harrowing, poignant, grievous, agonising, torturous, heartbreaking, sore, anguished, aching. ANTONYMS: (adj) restful, painless, enjoyable, easy, bearable, wonderful, unemotional
- agreeable: (adj) accordant, nice, sweet, consistent, suitable, amusing, enjoyable, affable; (adj, v) pleasant, desirable; (adj, n) acceptable. ANTONYMS: (adj) disagreeable, discordant, unpleasant, nasty, unwilling, resistant, aggressive, repugnant, averse, stubborn, unacceptable
- ailing: (adj) sickly, poorly, ill, unwell,

- bad, indisposed, unhealthy, invalid, morbid, weak; (n) illness. ANTONYMS: (adj) well, healthy, fit, robust, vigorous
- airiness: (n) buoyancy, delicacy, spirit, agility, animation, weightlessness, spaciousness, roominess, life, commodiousness, capaciousness. ANTONYM: (n) heaviness
- airing: (n, v) drive, ride, outing; (n) aeration, stroll, saunter, walk, expedition, improvement, turn, journey
- airy: (adj) light, windy, aery, aerial, ethereal, insubstantial, sprightly, perky, volatile, aeriform, aired. ANTONYMS: (adj) airless, hot, massive, wooden, weighty, substantial, stifling, sluggish, ponderous, musty, lumbering
- ajar: (v) dissentient, unclosed, unstopped, wide open, out of tune; (adj) open, gaping, partly open, not closed
- akin: (adj) near, like, allied, equivalent, alike, similar, analogous, parallel, cognate, kindred, corresponding. ANTONYMS: (adj) unconnected, alien, disconnected, dissimilar, different
- alacrity: (n) rapidity, speed, promptness, activity, preparedness, velocity, haste, swiftness, quickness, expedition; (adj) life. ANTONYMS: (n) aversion, reservation, reluctance, indifference, hesitance, dullness, disinclination, apathy, tardiness, delay
- alcoholic: (n) drunk, lush, soaker, souse, boozer, dipsomaniac; (adj) strong, spirituous, intoxicating, inebriating, containing alcohol. ANTONYMS: (adj) soft, nonintoxicating, nonalcoholic
- alight: (v) light, land, perch, dismount, get down, settle, get off, descend; (adj) ablaze, burning, blazing. ANTONYM: (v) mount
- aller: (adj) alder
- allotted: (adj) agreed, chosen, fixed, selected
- **allude**: (v) advert, refer, hint, glance, intimate, suggest, touch, bring up, mean, notice, pertain
- almanac: (n) calendar, annual, yearbook, schedule, yearbook, almanack, record, instruction book, index, address list, annual report
- aloft: (adj, adv) overhead; (adv) up, on high, over, aloof, upwards, uphill, above ground; (prep) upon;

- (adj) eminent, lofty
- aloof: (adj) distant, reserved, cool, standoffish, unconcerned, indifferent, unfriendly, frigid, arrogant, cold; (adv) afar. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, involved, approachable, sociable, outgoing, open, enthusiastic, relaxed, communicative, affable, respectful
- alps: (n) mountain range
- alternating: (adj) intermittent, recurrent, irregular, regular, every other, blinking, successive; (adv) back and forth. ANTONYM: (adj) direct
- altitude: (n) height, Alt, high, level, distance, pitch, tallness, stature, eminence, El, length. ANTONYMS: (n) depth, abyss, pit
- amazingly: (adj, adv) wonderfully, stupendously, awfully; (adv) surprisingly, astoundingly, extraordinarily, spectacularly, marvelously, fabulously, terrificily, terrifically. ANTONYMS: (adv) predictably, mildly
- amber: (n) yellow, yellowness, electrum, ambergris, gold, brown, electron, gum; (adj) chromatic
- amends: (n) atonement, compensation, recompense, satisfaction, redress, damages, reprisal, indemnity, requital; (n, v) restitution, restoration
- amidst: (adv, prep) among; (adv)
 amongst; (prep) between, midst,
 into
- amiss: (adj, adv) wrong; (adj) bad, haywire, faulty, astray, guilty; (adv) badly, poorly, awry, wrongly, adrift. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) right; (adv) perfectly, properly, suitably, appropriately, correctly, well; (adj) okay, correct, good
- amplitude: (n) affluence, width, latitude, magnitude, breadth, wideness, expanse, extent, fullness, broadness; (adj, n) mass
- amply: (adj, adv) abundantly, sufficiently; (adv) fully, well, lavishly, plentifully, richly, generously, enough, adequately, capaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) meagerly, inadequately, illiberally, sparingly, poorly
- amuse: (v) please, beguile, absorb, entertain, enjoy, disport, distract, delight, occupy, recreate, rejoice. ANTONYMS: (v) bore, dull, tire, annoy, anger, cloy, depress, weary, disappoint

- anachronism: (n) anomaly, artefact, artifact, parachronism, prochronism, timekeeping, mistiming, antichronism, misdating
- anew: (adv) again, newly, lately, recently, over again, once more, once again, new; (adj) only yesterday, the other day, just now
- angered: (adj) enraged, annoyed, angry, furious, incensed, anger, vexed, irritated, raging, exasperated, huffy
- animate: (v) inspire, encourage, quicken, invigorate, stimulate, revive, hearten; (adj, v) cheer, inspirit, exhilarate; (adj) live. ANTONYMS: (v) deaden, inhibit, kill, discourage; (adj) inanimate, dead, dull, dispirited, insentient, sluggish, spiritless
- animated: (adj) alive, lively, animate, perky, spirited, sprightly, brisk, cheerful, quick, vivacious, airy. ANTONYMS: (adj) lethargic, dull, blank, lifeless, spiritless, stiff, unanimated, bored, impassive, unexciting, dead
- animation: (adj, n) life, vivacity; (n) liveliness, vitality, activity, spirit, exhilaration, dash, energy, buoyancy; (adj) alacrity.
 ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, lifelessness, inertness, inertia, sluggishness, boredom
- annihilation: (n) abolition, death, slaughter, destruction, obliteration, extermination, extirpation, disintegration, demolition, defeat, pulverization. ANTONYMS: (n) preservation, survival, creation, protection
- annoying: (adj) galling, vexatious, aggravating, vexing, worrying, awkward, trying, bothersome, disagreeable; (adj, v) irritating; (n) annoyance. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasing, delightful, pleasant, charming, satisfying, welcome, convenient
- anointed: (adj) hallowed, divine,
 greasy; (v) anoint
- anomalous: (adj) abnormal, irregular, deviant, atypical, aberrant, eccentric, exceptional, peculiar, anomalistic, unusual, unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) usual, regular, typical, ordinary
- anon: (adv) directly, immediately, early, readily, soon, instantly, again, forthwith, promptly, shortly, rath antagonism: (n) enmity, resistance, antithesis, aversion, conflict, hate,

- hostility, ill will, hatred, aggression, opposition. ANTONYMS: (n) friendliness, accord, goodwill, harmony, agreement, calm, cooperation, friendship, gentleness antagonistic: (adj) counter, opposite, opposed, conflicting, averse, warlike, inimical, unfriendly, repugnant, contrary; (adj, v) adverse. ANTONYMS: (adj) synergistic, conciliating, peaceable, peaceful, compatible, agreeable, sympathetic
- antecedent: (adj, n, v) precedent; (n) precursor, forerunner, forebear, forefather, predecessor; (adj) anterior, past, former, preceding, prior. ANTONYMS: (adj) subsequent, after, following, later, posterior; (n) successor
- antiquity: (n) ancientness, ancientry, past, relic, status quo, artefact, artifact, oldness, old age, hoariness; (adj, n) age. ANTONYMS: (n) today, newness, modernity
- anyhow: (adv) somehow, at any rate, in any case, whatever, in any event, regardless, however, though, besides, nonetheless, one way or another
- apathetic: (adj) indifferent, uninterested, cool, impassive, perfunctory, dull, spiritless, nonchalant, casual, lukewarm, lazy. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, inquisitive, fervent, energetic, concerned, interested, keen, excited, passionate, ambitious, caring
- apathy: (n) indifference, inactivity, lassitude, inertia, lethargy, passivity, supineness, passiveness, lukewarmness, emotionlessness, impassivity. ANTONYMS: (n) keenness, energy, interest, inquisitiveness, vitality, drive, eagerness, concern, involvement, enjoyment, desire
- apiece: (adj, adv) each; (adj) one by one; (pron) all, both, each one; (adv) individually, singly, for each, for each one, from each one, to each one. ANTONYM: (adv) together
- apologetically: (adv) contritely, penitently, regretfully, repentantly, ruefully, sorrily, ashamedly, compunctiously
- apostle: (n) disciple, follower, propagandist, believer, missionary, adherent, advocate, proselyte, saint, munshi, messenger. ANTONYM: (n) opponent
- apparel: (n, v) garb, attire, garment,

- array, vesture; (n) clothing, finery, costume, clothes; (v) adorn, clothe
- apparition: (n) ghost, phantom, spirit, spectre, hallucination, spook, shade, eidolon, wraith, advent; (n, v) vision
- appendage: (n) increment, adjunct, appendix, accessory, accompaniment, annex, limb, attachment, tailpiece, extra, addendum. ANTONYM: (n) head
- appended: (adj) added, affixed, additional
- appertaining: (adj) appertinent applauded: (adj) famous, highly praised, commended
- applause: (n, v) acclaim, praise; (n) admiration, approval, eulogy, compliment, plaudit, commendation, clapping, clap, ovation. ANTONYMS: (n) disapproval, Boos, booing, denigration, hisses, hissing, rejection, condemnation, criticism, ieering
- apposite: (adj) pertinent, appropriate, opportune, apropos, suitable, fit, applicable, adequate, correct, germane, fitting. ANTONYM: (adj) wrong
- appreciable: (adj, adv, v) perceptible, noticeable; (adj) considerable, respectable, conspicuous, palpable, discernible, apparent, manifest; (adj, adv) observable; (v) measurable. ANTONYMS: (adj) insignificant, inconsiderable, negligible, unnoticed
- appreciably: (adv) markedly, perceptibly, noticeably, evidently, substantially, much, observably, obviously, plainly, prominently, sensibly. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, invisibly
- apprehensive: (adj) anxious, fearful, uneasy, alarmed, worried, timid, doubtful, shy, insecure, jealous; (adj, n) nervous. ANTONYMS: (adj) assured, unworried, calm, unafraid, cocksure, trusting, serene, unconcerned, fearless, carefree, brave
- apprehensiveness: (adj) fearfulness; (n) fear, presentiment, premonition, misgiving, foreboding, worry, concern, uneasiness, diffidence, unease. ANTONYM: (n) serenity
- approximation: (n) guess, vicinity, affinity, guesswork, estimate, idea, appearance, proximity, joining; (n, v) estimation; (adv) about arable: (adj) tillable, cultivable,

- cultivatable, predial, rural, country, rustic, earable, fertile; (n) farmland, tilth
- archduchess: (n) noble arched: (adj, v) bowed, arcuate; (adj) bent, vaulted, convex, arciform, arced, domed, hooked, hunched, crooked
- **archipelago**: (n) Oceania, Austronesia, Aleutians; (adj) Hebridean, Australasian
- archly: (adv) mischievously, sly, wickedly, playfully, waggishly, roguishly, shrewdly, wily, consummately, roundly, craftily
- ardour: (n) fervency, fervidness, fervor, fervour, fire, elan, zeal, violence, ardency, assiduity, application
- armful: (n) mouthful, containerful, capful, spoonful
- arousing: (adj, n) stirring; (adj) moving, stimulating, affecting, animating, hopeful, pitiful, poignant; (n) awakening, start, beginning
- arteries: (adj) arterial
- articulation: (n, v) juncture, hinge; (n) enunciation, junction, accent, diction, delivery, utterance, pronunciation, speech, link.
 ANTONYMS: (n) mumble, murmur
- artificially: (adv) synthetically, factitiously, affectedly, contrivedly, insincerely, unreally, feignedly, falsely, fictitiously, artfully, counterfeitly. ANTONYM: (adv) naturally
- artistically: (adv) ingeniously, pleasingly, inventively, imaginatively, creatively, elegantly, originally, resourcefully, productively, innovatively, harmoniously
- ascend: (n, v) mount; (v) arise, scale, uprise, climb, go up, come up, increase, elevate; (n) ascending, ascent. ANTONYMS: (v) descend, drop, decline, fall, lower, set, sink
- ascendency: (n) ascendant, predominance, sway, ascendance, advantage, ascendent, control, dominance, dominion, influence, mastery
- ascending: (adj) uphill, rising, assurgent, climbing, ascendent; (n) ascension, ascent, rise, advance, movement; (v) go up
- ascension: (n) rise, ascending, climb, climbing, rising, lift, raising, upheaval, Ascension Day, elevation, mount. ANTONYMS: (n)

- descending, fall ascent: (n) ascension, climb, ascending, elevation, hill, incline,
- advance, grade; (n, v) rise; (v) ascend, uprise. ANTONYMS: (n) fall, drop, declivity
- **ascetic**: (adj) abstemious, austere,
- Spartan, ascetical, severe; (n) hermit, abstinent, monk, recluse, eisel, abstainer. ANTONYMS: (adj) sumptuous, fussy, hedonistic, lavish
- ascribe: (v) assign, impute, accredit, arrogate, attach, lay, refer, anthropomorphize, blame, lay claim, claim
- ashes: (n) dust, cinders, remains, cinder, clay, earth, embers, clinker; (adj) scoriae, mother, precipitate
- ashy: (adj) wan, ashen, pale, sallow, pallid, grey, livid, gray, cadaverous, pasty, white
- aslant: (adj) oblique, inclined, slanting, diagonal, sloping, wry, awry; (adj, adv) aslope; (adv) slantingly, obliquely, athwart. ANTONYMS: (adj) level; (adv) straight
- assemblage: (n) meeting, collection, congregation, set, multitude, crew, confluence, gathering, gang, convention, convocation.

 ANTONYMS: (v) dispersal, scattering
- assent: (n) acceptance, acquiescence, approval, agreement, compliance, admission, approbation; (v) accede, accord, agree; (adj, v) acquiesce. ANTONYMS: (v) resist, disagree, disapprove, reject, refuse; (n) disagreement, refusal, resistance
- assortment: (n) set, variety, miscellany, group, selection, collection, categorization, diversity, mixture, mixed bag, category. ANTONYMS: (n) sameness, monotony, likeness
- astir: (adj) agog, lively, wakeful; (adv) afoot, abroach, about; (v) sparkling, up the qui vive, wrought up. ANTONYM: (adj) asleep
- astonish: (adj, v) astound; (adj, n, v) surprise; (adj) astonishing, surprised; (v) flabbergast, daze, confound, dazzle, stun, alarm, nonplus. ANTONYMS: (v) expect, bore
- astray: (adj, adv) adrift, off course; (adj) lost, wrong, disoriented, awry; (adv) amiss, widely, far, afield, aside. ANTONYM: (adj) accurate astronomical: (adj) vast, celestial.
- **astronomical**: (adj) vast, celestial, astrophysical, great, uranic,

- enormous, large, galactic, universal, elevated, excessive
- astute: (adj) shrewd, artful, bright, sharp, quick, cunning, crafty, sagacious, wily, clever; (adj, v) canny. ANTONYMS: (adj) naive, stupid, slow, dumb, dim, idiotic, retarded, unintelligent, foolish, obtuse, indiscriminate
- **athena**: (n) Pallas, Pallas Athena, Pallas Athene
- atlantean: (adj) cyclopean
- atom: (n) grain, speck, molecule, particle, mite, bit, mote, monad, crumb, corpuscle, iota
- atrophy: (n) withering, deterioration, symptom; (v) wither, attenuation, tabes, emaciation, waste, wane, shrivel; (n, v) marasmus.

 ANTONYMS: (n) strength,
- development; (v) strengthen **attaching**: (n) fastening; (adj) adhesive
- attentive: (adj) assiduous, diligent, heedful, watchful, observant, advertent, mindful, careful, aware, alert, respectful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfocused, negligent, neglectful, forgetful, heedless, unobservant, rude, unprepared, unconscious, uncaring, inconsiderate
- attentiveness: (n) alertness, courtesy, thoughtfulness, consideration, attention, application, care, cautiousness, regard, heed, notice. ANTONYMS: (n) inattentiveness, distraction, neglect, negligence, unconsciousness, rudeness, carelessness, laziness
- attenuated: (adj) weakened, shriveled, rawboned, marcid, barebone, tabid, extenuated, diminished, reduced, rare, decreased
- attire: (n, v) array, garb, apparel, wear; (n) costume, garment, outfit, clothes; (v) enrobe, clothe, dress up. ANTONYMS: (v) disrobe, bare, strip, unclothe; (n) nakedness
- audacity: (n) nerve, audaciousness, effrontery, arrogance, temerity, cheek, impertinence, insolence, courage; (n, v) impudence; (adj, n) presumption. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, propriety, decorum, circumspection, courtesy, fear, respect, spinelessness, reticence
- audible: (adj) plain, hearable, distinct, detectable, sounding, sharp, sonic, definite, discernible, perceptible, sensory. ANTONYMS: (adj) inaudible, unintelligible,

- undetectable, silent, faint audibly: (adv) loudly, clearly, out loud. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, inaudibly, indistinctly, silently
- auroral: (adj) bright
- austere: (adj) ascetic, stern, severe, harsh, plain, rigorous, rigid, abstemious, stark, astringent, stiff. ANTONYMS: (adj) ornate, luxurious, frivolous, hedonistic, extravagant, lush, elaborate, spending, sunny, warm, indulgent
- authoritatively: (adv)
 commandingly, imperatively,
 imperiously, peremptorily,
 domineeringly, dictatorially,
 overbearingly, officially,
 definitively, legitimately, haughtily.
 ANTONYMS: (adv) weakly,
 informally
- authorized: (v) allowed; (adj) authorised, official, accredited, competent, lawful, legal, legitimate, permissible, qualified; (adj, v) privileged. ANTONYMS: (adj) unauthorized, illegal, unqualified
- automaton: (n) robot, machine, android, mechanism, automata, zombi, zombie, anomaly
- autumnal: (adj) maturer, vespertine. ANTONYMS: (adj) summery, vernal, wintry
- **avowal**: (n) declaration, assertion, affirmation, admission, statement, recognition, acknowledgement, announcement, confession, testimony; (n, v) profession
- testimony; (n, v) profession awaited: (adj) expected, appointed, scheduled, forthcoming, prospective
- awaken: (v) arouse, wake, rouse, call, stir, kindle, get up, raise, wake up, waken, revive. ANTONYMS: (v) dampen, calm, retire, suppress, spoil, quench, douse, stifle
- **awakened**: (adj) excited, aroused, awakens, awoke, interested
- awakening: (n) arousal, waking up, revival, disenchantment, awakenment, introduction, provocation; (adj) arousing, moving, animating; (v) awake. ANTONYM: (n) suppression
- awestruck: (adj) awestricken, awed, aghast, in awe of, blank, fascinated, spellbound, enthralled; (v) moonstruck, thunderstruck
- **awhile**: (adj) in transitu, en passant; (adv) briefly
- awkwardly: (adv) gawkily, ineptly, ungracefully, embarrassingly, maladroitly, stiffly, gracelessly,

inopportunely, bunglingly, inelegantly, unwieldily. ANTONYMS: (adv) gracefully, elegantly, usefully, urbanely, contentedly, coherently, calmly, conveniently, agilely, expertly, amenably

awkwardness: (n) embarrassment, stiffness, unwieldiness, inconvenience, gawkiness, inelegance, troublesomeness, ineptitude, ineptness, gaucherie; (adj, n) delicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) gracefulness, grace, comfort, coordination, pride, urbanity, ease, assurance, liveliness, confidence, cooperation

awoke: (adj) awakened
babe: (n) infant, baby, chick, sweetie, suckling, nursling, child, newborn, chit, girl, darling. ANTONYMS: (n) grownup, adult, adolescent

backward: (adj, adv) late, behindhand; (adj) tardy, retarded, reluctant, coy, slow, laggard, dilatory; (adv) behind, backwardly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) ahead; (adv) onward; (adj) quick, developing, advanced, confident, brilliant, bold

backwardness: (n) reserve, abnormality, amentia, stupidity, arrearage, diffidence, bashfulness, shyness, lag, mongoloid, subnormality

bade: (v) bid, command, bad badness: (n) evil, wickedness, evilness, ill, naughtiness, disobedience, intensity, intensiveness, quality, roguishness, viciousness. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, decency, good

balancing: (adj, n) matching; (n) bringing into state of equilibrium, adjustment, equalization, equipoise, reconciliation, redress, wheel balancing, balancing accountancy, comparison; (adj) libratory

ballast: (n) weight, ballasting, counterbalance, substance, freight; (adj) aplomb, unperturbed; (v) stabilize, load, poise, stabilise

bandage: (v) bind, wrap, dress, envelop; (adj, n) truss, tie; (n) swathe, binding, roller, gauze; (adj) string. ANTONYM: (v) undress

bandmaster: (n) director
banging: (n) battering, flap; (adj)
humongous, noisy

bang-up: (adj) first-rate, meritorious, boss, fabulous, majesticbanns: (n) announcement

banquet: (v) junket, revel, regale; (n) party, celebration, carousal, treat, entertainment, spread, dinner, reception. ANTONYM: (n) snack

baptism: (n) affusion, aspersion, chrism, sacrament, immersion, designation, entrance, introduction, initiation, blessing; (v) baptize

baptist: (n) baptistry, baptistery, dunker, ana, Tunker; (v) baptize; (adj) Baptistic

barbarian: (n) Goth, vandal, brute; (adj) heathen, barbaric, barbarous, uncivilized, uncultured, wild, rude, foreign. ANTONYMS: (adj) cultured, refined; (n) native, citizen

barbarous: (adj) barbaric, savage, gothic, brutal, heathen, truculent, rude, fell, ferocious, fierce, uncivilized. ANTONYMS: (adj) nice, cultured, civilized, sophisticated, refined, humane

barbarously: (adv) felly, brutally, barbarically, cruelly, savagely, fiercely, ferociously, coarsely, rudely, wildly, crudely

bared: (adj) naked, unclothed, exposed

bareheaded: (adj) hatless, bare, bald, unclothed, alone; (v) cap in hand, obsequious, respectful, reverential, decorous, ceremonious

baritone: (n) brass, singer, vocalist, baritone voice, baritone horn

barred: (adj) prohibited, forbidden, barricaded, barry, banned, illicit, streaked; (v) striated, areolar, veined; (n) Bart. ANTONYMS: (adj) admissible, legitimate, eligible, open

barrenness: (n) infertility, unproductiveness, fruitlessness, poverty, poorness, sterility, dryness, aridness, bareness, quality, infecundity. ANTONYMS: (n) fruitfulness, humidity

barrow: (n) tumulus, wheelbarrow, barrowful, cart, containerful, swine, handbarrow; (adj) knoll, hummock, hillock, mole

basinet: (n) bassinet, bascinet, helmet bats: (adj) nutty, loony, crackers, cracked, barmy, batty, balmy, goofy, wacky, nuts, loopy

batter: (v) hammer, baste, break, club, slam, beat, mangle, buffet, smite, pound; (n) batsman

battlefield: (n) field, arena, battle, cockpit, tract, parcel, front line, combat zone, field of battle, Armageddon, athletic field

beacon: (n, v) guide; (n) cairn, flare, pharos, lighthouse, signal, light,

watchtower, beacon light, buoy, sign beaker: (n) goblet, bail, bowl, canakin, Billy, chalice, tumbler, cup, glass, container, jar

beaming: (adj) bright, radiant, glowing, glad, beamy, cheerful, refulgent, sunny, luminous, resplendent, incandescent. ANTONYMS: (adj) gloomy, dark, dusky, frowning, sad, sullen, tenebrous

bearded: (adj) barbate, awny, whiskered, hairy, aristate, coniform, calamiform, gladiate, pilous, shagged, echinate

bearer: (n) holder, carrier, messenger, porter, courier, envoy, traveller, griever, hamal, lamenter, mourner

beautifying: (adj) cultural, fancy; (n) decoration

beckoning: (adj) irresistible bedstead: (n) bed, berth, cot, bedframe, furniture, shakedown, pallet, stretcher, tester, stead, hatch bedtime: (n) night, gloaming, going down of the sun, dewy eve

beech: (n) Black beech, copper beech, tree, common beech, wood, beech tree, beech wood

beeches: (n) Fagus

beeswax: (adj, n) wax; (n) pursuit, occupation, animal product, trade, livelihood, employment, business

begging: (n) mendicancy, request, plea; (v) asking, beg; (adj) beseeching, entreating, mendicant, imploring, suppliant, vagabond

begot: (v) beget

begrudge: (v) envy, covet, resent, stint, hang fire; (adj, v) pinch; (adj) hold back, screw, gripe, withhold, starve. ANTONYMS: (v) congratulate, wish

begrudgingly: (adv) enviously **begum**: (n) princess, duchess, marchioness, lady

beheld: (adj) visual

behold: (v) see, view, contemplate, regard, perceive, observe, look, consider, discern, descry, watch. ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, disregard, ignore, overlook

beholder: (n) witness, looker, observer, onlooker, viewer, eyewitness, bystander, auditor, audile, passer by, watcher

beholding: (n) fusion, seeing, visual perception, look

belle: (n) beauty, fille, girl, miss, missy

bellied: (adj) bulging, ventricous, bellying, bulbous, protuberant,

ventricular, ampullated, protrusive bellows: (n) blower, lung, bellowing, blowpipe, organ; (v) air blower, air pump, fan, punkah, ventilator

bereavement: (n) mourning, loss, sorrow, sadness, privation, deprivation, death, grief, sorrowfulness, decease, demise

berried: (adj) bacciferous, baccate, fruitful

besieged: (adj) enclosed, under pressure, under attack, targeted, struggling, stressed, under fire, fraught, embattled, careworn, harassed

bestir: (v) activate, agitate, stir, actuate, turn on, arouse, provoke, move, excite, wake, awaken

bestow: (v) give, confer, grant, impart, contribute, donate, apply, award; (adj, v) accord, allow, present. ANTONYMS: (v) deprive, refuse, withhold, retrieve, withdraw

bestowed: (adj) presented, conferred, awarded, accurate

betake: (v) wend, apply, address, accost, get, obtain, refer, acquire, aim, beget, attach

betrayal: (n) faithlessness, deception, treason, infidelity, subversiveness, traitorousness, disclosure, revelation, perfidy, disloyalty, dishonesty. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalty, safeguarding, keeping, honesty, guarding, preserving, allegiance

betrothed: (adj) affianced, intended, bespoken, busy, occupied, contracted, attached, bargained for; (n) fiance, fiancee; (v) engage

bewilder: (v) astound, amaze, puzzle, bemuse, baffle, nonplus, befuddle, stump; (adj, v) perplex, confound, stun. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, enlighten, inform, sharpen

bewitch: (adj, n, v) fascinate; (adj, v) charm, attract; (v) enchant, entrance, enrapture, witch, spell, beguile, enamor; (n, v) allure. ANTONYM: (v) disgust

bewitched: (adj) enchanted, fascinated, infatuated, magical, ensorcelled, doomed, captive, rapt, enamored, obsessed. ANTONYM: (adj) disgusted

bewitching: (adj, v) charming, fascinating, captivating, engaging; (adj) attractive, seductive, lovely, winning, entrancing, enthralling; (v) bewitch

biassed: (adj) prejudiced
bidding: (n) behest, order, dictate,

charge, bid, request, call, dictation, direction, fiat; (adj) imperative

bide: (v) abide, await, endure, bear, remain, last, dwell; (adj, v) tarry, wait; (adj) tolerate, stand. ANTONYMS: (v) go, move, hurry

biding: (n) residence, habitation birch: (v) lash, flog, scourge, wipe, warm, whop; (adj) birchen; (n) birch tree, stick, white birch, rod

birthplace: (n) place of birth, place, home town, home, source, provenance, place of origin, ancestral home, spot, root, hotbed

birthright: (n) patrimony, inheritance, heritage, claim, right of primogeniture, tradition, legacy, demand, due, entitlement, heirloom

blackened: (adj) sulphured, blackening, colored, coloured, filthy, achromatic, colorful

blackening: (n) blackened, density, alkaline blackening, character assassination

blacking: (n) black-wash, polish, shoe Polish, black wash

blackness: (n) black, darkness, sable, gloom, nigritude, night, inkiness, dark, murk, murkiness, obscurity

blandly: (adv) dully, insipidly, mildly, suavely, flatly, uninterestingly, tamely, weakly, boringly, flavorlessly, oily. ANTONYMS: (adv) meaningfully, interestingly, admirably

blankly: (adj, adv) inanely, vacuously, expressionlessly; (adv) emptily, hollowly, voidly, cleanly, impassively, stupidly, whitely, inexpressively. ANTONYM: (adv) brightly

blankness: (n) void, emptiness, vacancy, nothingness, space, bareness, inanition, vacuity, vacuum, disbelief, barrenness blasphemer: (adi) scoffer

blasted: (adj) cursed, infernal, damned, goddamn, darned, damn, goddamned, blessed, deuced, blame, blamed

blasting: (adj) ruinous, blaring, cold, destructive; (n) grit blasting, burst, explosion, excavation, mining, getting, advertising

blazing: (adj) flaming, afire, burning, ardent, aflame, glaring, bright, blatant, alight, passionate; (n) blaze. ANTONYMS: (adj) freezing, quiet

bleed: (v) run, ooze, phlebotomize, leak, percolate, shed blood, trickle, hemorrhage, fleece; (n) ache, smart blended: (adj) mixed, miscellaneous, composite, assorted, alloyed, amalgamated, beaten, adulterate, conglomerate; (n) medley; (v) mingle

blessings: (n) blessing, godsend blighted: (v) broken, wasted, rotten, moldering, effete, cankered; (adj) spoilt, ill-fated, bleak, blasted, bad

blinded: (adj) blindfolded, blinder, blindly, reckless, unsighted, blindfold, dizzy

blinding: (adj) dazzling, blazing, amazingly impressive, bisson, blatant, fulgent, glary; (n) clogging, blind blocking, blindage

bliss: (n) happiness, joy, ecstasy, pleasure, paradise, blessedness, felicity, elation, beatitude, heaven, blessing. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, sorrow, agony, grief, anguish, sadness, suffering, gloom, hell, dissatisfaction

blissful: (adj) happy, heavenly, merry, joyful, delighted, glad, cheerful, delightful, ecstatic, elated, blest. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhappy, grieving, sad, sorrowful, depressed, unpleasant, down, dreadful

blistering: (adj) burning, boiling, vitriolic, caustic, scorching, acid, acrid, blazing, bitter, torrid, acerb. ANTONYM: (adj) cold

blithe: (adj) cheerful, lighthearted, breezy, pleasant, merry, carefree, buoyant, facetious, gay, happy, animated. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhappy, sorrowful, miserable, downhearted, depressed, anxious, sad, heavy, gloomy, serious, troubled

bloodshed: (n) blood, slaughter, massacre, bloodletting, murder, killing, homicide, gore, bloodbath, fighting, battue. ANTONYM: (n) friendliness

bloom: (adj, n, v) flower; (v) prosper, flourish, thrive, burgeon; (adj, v) blow, fructify; (n) prime, blush, flush, bud. ANTONYMS: (v) shrivel, struggle, wane, die, deteriorate, decrease; (n) pallor, withering

blooming: (adj) rosy, thriving, flourishing, healthy, prosperous, ruddy, booming, blossoming, cherry, verdant, green. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, pale

blossom: (adj, n, v) flower, blow; (n, v) bud; (n) blooming, heyday, efflorescence; (v) prosper, flourish, thrive, progress, unfold. ANTONYMS: (v) wither, deteriorate, struggle, shrivel, shrink,

politely

fade, die; (n) withering blowed: (n) blowen, blowzy blundering: (adj) clumsy, tactless, inept, maladroit, ungainly, unthinking, ridiculous, obtuse, oblivious, lumbering, insensitive. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, sensitive, dexterous

blunted: (adj) dulled, rounded, beaten, benumbed, dunted, duller bluntly: (adv) frankly, directly, rudely, bluffly, coarsely, forthrightly, candidly, curtly, brusquely, gruffly, openly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deceitfully, hesitantly, indirectly, guardedly,

blurred: (adj) fuzzy, indistinct, foggy, blurry, bleary, vague, out of focus, blear, cloudy, clouded, dim. ANTONYMS: (adj) sharp, definite, distinct, precise, certain

blush: (n, v) glow, color; (v) redden, crimson; (n) red, bloom, rosiness, ruddiness, redness; (adj) bashful; (adv) blushingly. ANTONYMS: (v) blanch, pale, blench; (n) paleness blushful: (adj) bashful, chromatic,

blushful: (adj) bashful, chromatic, rosy, blooming, discomposed, blush Colored

blushing: (adj) rosy, coy, blushful, flushed, red, shy, bashful, overmodest, ruddy; (adv) blushingly, ablush. ANTONYM: (adj) pale

blushingly: (adv) blush, ruddily, rosily, blushfully, redly, shily, overmodestly

blusterous: (adj) blustery, gusty, stormy, blustrous, noisy, breezy **bobbin**: (n) coil, reel, arbor, spindle, pin, axle, roll, roller, drum, winder, quill

boisterous: (adj, n) rough; (adj) furious, loud, noisy, fierce, raucous, wild, rude, vociferous; (adj, v) tempestuous, rampant. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, orderly, calm, dignified, silent, tranquil, gentle, placid

boldly: (adj, adv) courageously, valiantly, heroically; (adv) fearlessly, daringly, bravely, intrepidly, impudently, audaciously, shamelessly, brashly. ANTONYMS: (adv) discreetly, modestly, nervously, hesitantly, shyly, fearfully, meekly, submissively, secretly, respectfully, diffidently

bolted: (adj) barred, Bolten, secured, firm, barricaded, blockaded, bolted attachment, fast, fastened, latched,

tight

boney: (adj) bonelike, bone, boned bonfire: (n) fire, balefire, blaze, conflagration, firecracker, fireworks, salute, beacon, campfire, feu de joie, flames

bonnet: (n) cap, protection, chapeau, tile, wimple, beret, lid, cowling, castor, poke bonnet, sunbonnet

bony: (adj) osseous, gaunt, lean, thin, emaciated, scrawny, skinny, angular, lanky, meager, boney. ANTONYMS: (adj) plump, boneless, fat, stout

booming: (adj) thriving, roaring, flourishing, successful, loud, blooming, prospering, palmy, resonant, wealthy, deep. ANTONYMS: (adj) failing, quiet, poor, weak, shrill, thin

bordered: (adj) fringed, edged, delimited, surrounded

bordering: (adj) abutting, adjoining, conterminous, contiguous, frontier, next, neighboring, nearby, near, approximate, fringent

bosom: (n) heart, interior, boob, thorax, chest, bust, tit; (n, v) embrace; (v) cherish, hug; (adj) intimate. ANTONYMS: (n) outside, exteriority

bossy: (adj) domineering, autocratic, overbearing, commanding, dominating, lordly, magisterial, dictatorial, arrogant, superior; (adj, v) bossed. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, submissive, subservient

bothering: (v) teasing, tormenting, carking; (n) harassment, provocation

bottoms: (n) swamp, lees, residue bough: (n) arm, limb, bow, member, tigella, ramage, offshoot, ramification, spray, sprig, stem

boulevard: (n) road, path, highway, street, way, thoroughfare, Main Street, lane, concourse, parkway, walkway

bounded: (adj) restricted, limited, delimited, encircled, enclosed, confined, leap, spring, bordered, circumscribed, constrained. ANTONYMS: (adj) unbounded, unconfined, unlimited, free

bountiful: (adj) ample, abundant, plentiful, generous, liberal, profuse, fruitful, luxuriant, lush, rich, openhanded. ANTONYMS: (adj) sparse, miserly, wanting, spare, scarce, scanty, scant, lean, lacking, insufficient, barren

bourbon: (n) reactionary, Bourbon whiskey, bourdon coffee

bout: (n, v) round; (n) attack, spell, turn, competition, fight, battle, fighting, effort, game, fit

bowing: (n) obeisance, playing, gesticulation, capitulation, genuflection, scraping, submission; (adj) bowed, bent, fawning, submissive

boyhood: (n) babyhood, adolescence, youth, youthhood, infancy, girlhood, age, boyism, puberty.
ANTONYM: (n) adulthood

boyish: (adj) young, puerile, adolescent, youthful, babyish, childish, girlish, kittenish, boylike, callow, immature. ANTONYM: (adj) mature

brace: (n, v) prop, strengthen, support, invigorate; (n) strut, pair, duo, bitstock, tie; (v) clamp, bolster. ANTONYMS: (v) unfasten, sedate, loosen, flex

bracken: (n) fern, brake, pteridium aquilinum, pteridium esculentum, brush, pasture brake, tree fern

brackish: (adj) salt, saline, bracky, stagnant, nauseous, briny

brag: (n, v) bluster, vaunt, crow; (v)
pride, gasconade, blow, show off,
rodomontade; (n) boasting,
bragging; (adj) great

braid: (adj) knit, string, tie; (n, v) twine; (adj, v) embroider, lace; (v) plat; (n) tress, pigtail, ribbon, band **braided**: (adj) curled, decorated,

artful, tressed, breaded **brakes**: (n) brake system

bramble: (n) nettle, thorn, blackberry bush, briar, sting, bush, tang; (adj, n) thistle; (adj) brier, beard, porcupine

branched: (adj) bifurcate, branching, ramous, ramose, divided, biramous, branchy, prongy, bearing branches, split, pronged

branded: (adj) identified, known, proprietary, recognized bravado: (n) boast, bluster,

bravado: (n) boast, bluster, braggadocio, bluff, bragging, swagger, defiance, ostentation, bravery, talk, swaggering. ANTONYMS: (n) restraint, humility, modesty

break-off: (n) halt, recess, interim, intermission, interruption, pause, cessation

breastwork: (n) balustrade, parapet, bastion, banister, handrail, railing, rampart; (v) mantlet, redan, ravelin, curtain

breathless: (adj, adv) out of breath; (adj) panting, inanimate, breathtaking, winded, choking,

puffing; (v) all agog, aghast; (adj, n) eager; (n) in hysterics. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, expected, boring

breathlessly: (adv) pantingly, eagerly, windedly, deadly, inanimately, breathtakingly, impatiently, animatedly, hungrily, chokingly, pulselessly

breeches: (n) knickers, inexpressibles, knickerbockers, brogues, short, smalls, overalls, small clothes, pants, trousers, pantaloons

brevity: (n) briefness, shortness, succinctness, transience, terseness, abruptness, crispness, duration, economy, length, brevities. ANTONYMS: (n) lengthiness, length

brew: (n) beer, drink, concoction, blend, mixture, ale; (v) concoct, make, saturate, prepare, knead. ANTONYM: (v) erupt

briary: (adj) barbellate, barbed, thorny, bristling, bristly, spiny, burred, burry, muricated, pectinated, studded

brighten: (adj, v) clear up; (v) light, illuminate, burnish, clear, gild, glow, perk up, cheer, irradiate, enliven. ANTONYMS: (v) upset, sadden, overcast, fade, dim, depress, blacken, spoil

brightening: (n) blooming, polishing, limb, illumination, first blush, break of day

brightly: (adv) vividly, luminously, radiantly, gaily, clearly, shiningly, intensely, cheerfully, smartly, bright, lustrously. ANTONYMS: (adv) gloomily, drearily, bleakly, stupidly, dully, blankly, seriously, pessimistically

brightness: (n) luminance, light, shine, clarity, lustre, glow, glare, glitter, luminosity; (n, v) illumination, gloss. ANTONYMS: (n) cloudiness, murkiness, dimness, darkness, mistiness, softness, sadness, bleakness, dirtiness, pessimism; (adv) seriously

brilliancy: (n, v) brightness; (n) brilliance, lustre, luster, splendor, glitter, glory, radiance, splendour; (adj, n) gorgeousness; (v) gloss

brimming: (adj) teeming, brimful, brimful of, full, brimfull, brimfull of, replete, overflowing, chock-full, spilling over, packed. ANTONYMS: (adj) empty, unfilled

brink: (n, v) edge; (n) border, hem, threshold, boundary, brim, shore, periphery, lip, margin, limit.

ANTONYMS: (n) middle, interior, end

brisk: (adj) bracing, agile, alive, bright, lively, acute, alert, energetic, sprightly; (adj, v) quick, smart. ANTONYMS: (adj) soporific, sluggish, hesitant, tedious, temperate, inactive, civil, torpid, slack, serious, lethargic

briskly: (adv) busily, energetically, vigorously, quickly, freshly, actively, sharply, rapidly, vividly, brightly, merrily. ANTONYMS: (adv) seriously, laboriously, civilly, pleasantly, languorously

bristle: (n) fiber, hair, whisker; (v) teem, burn, seethe, rage, arise, fume, blow up; (n, v) brustle. ANTONYM: (v) calm

broken-hearted: (adj) despairing brooding: (adj) pondering, thoughtful, contemplative, hatching, meditative, pensive, wistful; (v) brewing, batching; (n) chick management, parturition. ANTONYMS: (adj) shallow, cheerful

broomstick: (adj) spare, meager, lanky, slight; (n) broomstaff, broom handle

brotherliness: (n) camaraderie browbeaten: (adj) afraid, timid, cowed, bullied, hangdog, broken; (v) humbled in the dust

brownness: (n) buff, caramel, umber, chocolate, coffee, puce, sepia brushing: (n) brush, slashing, hairdressing, rub, striking, combing;

hairdressing, rub, striking, combing; (adj) ripping. ANTONYM: (n) set **brute**: (adj) brutal, harsh, gruff, brutish; (adj, n) animal, savage; (n)

barbarian, fiend, creature, monster; (adv) beastly. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, refined, mild, gentle; (n) gentleman

bubble: (v) babble, foam, froth, burble, effervesce, seethe, gurgle, fizz; (n) blister, bladder, vesicle

buckle: (n, v) clasp, warp; (v) curve, crumple, distort, fasten; (adj, n) button; (n) screw, hook, fastener; (adj) strap. ANTONYMS: (v) unbuckle, flatten, smooth, straighten

buckled: (v) wreathy, frizzly, crepe; (adj) warped, misshapen, malformed, distorted, askew, deformed

bucks: (n) money, cash

bucolic: (adj, n) pastoral, provincial; (adj) rural, rustic, idyllic, country, countrified; (n) eclogue, idyl, idyll, peasant bulging: (adj) convex, bellied, bulgy, swollen, gibbous, protuberant, baggy, bellying, round, inflated, protrusive

bumblebees: (n) genus Bombus, Apidae, Bombus, family Apidae buoyant: (adj) cheerful, light, optimistic, lighthearted, airy, hopeful, floaty, bright, blithe, elastic; (adj, n) sanguine. ANTONYMS: (adj) heavy, weighted, down, depressed, somber, miserable, serious, melancholy, downbeat

burdened: (adj) loaded, encumbered, oppressed, overburdened, overloaded, beleaguered, heavy, haggard, gestant; (adv) dishonestly, unfairly. ANTONYMS: (adj) lacking, unburdened, carefree; (adv) genuinely

burlesque: (n, v) caricature, lampoon, ridicule, travesty, spoof, banter; (adj) ludicrous; (n) farce, comedy; (adj, n) satire; (v) mock. ANTONYM: (adj) factual

burnished: (adj) polished, bright, shiny, lustrous, shimmering, sparkly, glittery, shining; (adj, v) sunny; (v) meridian, orient

burrow: (adj, v) delve, dig, gouge, mine; (n, v) tunnel, earth; (n) lair, den, hole, cavity; (v) nestle. ANTONYMS: (v) fill, plant

bursting: (adj) explosive, teeming, chock-full, full, complete, paroxysmal, exploding, disruptive, detonating, crowded; (n) outbreak. ANTONYM: (adj) hungry

busily: (adv) actively, occupiedly, briskly, industriously, engagedly, energetically, assiduously, lively, officiously, fussily, meddlesomely. ANTONYM: (adv) inactively

bustle: (adj, n, v) hurry; (n, v) flurry, ado, fuss, hustle; (adj, n) stir, movement; (n) bother, commotion, disorder; (adj, v) hasten.

ANTONYMS: (n) inactivity, stillness, idleness; (v) laziness, relaxation

bustling: (adj) lively, busy, boisterous, buzzing, brisk, alive, vibrant, noisy, tumultuous; (v) stirring, full of incident. ANTONYM: (adj) inactive

butterflies: (adj) anxious, apprehensive, frightened; (n) trepidation, nervousness, anxiety

buxom: (adj) bosomy, chubby, bonny, plump, sonsy, voluptuous, curvaceous, shapely, full, crummy, fat. ANTONYMS: (adj) skinny, bony **buzzed**: (n) woozy; (adj) intoxicated, drunk

bygone: (adj) ancient, former, gone, obsolete, outmoded, previous, archaic, old, late; (n) preterite, antique. ANTONYMS: (adj) future, current, coming, modern

byroad: (n) crossroad, byway, road, route, side road

caesar: (n) dictator, Gaius Julius Caesar, Julius Caesar, king cain: (v) matador, garroter, thug, bravo, assassin, sabreur, terrorist, Moloch, cutthroat, slayer, butcher

calamity: (n) disaster, adversity, affliction, misfortune, plague, catastrophe, tragedy, blow, bale, distress; (n, v) trouble.

ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, boon, luck, joy, opportunity

caldron: (n, v) alembic, crucible; (n) cauldron, seething caldron, matrix, kettle, vat, Leede; (v) retort

calmed: (adj) composed, thankful. ANTONYM: (adj) worried

calmness: (n) calm, composure, quietness, poise, serenity, stillness, quiet, silence, placidity, peace; (adj, n) coolness. ANTONYMS: (n) anxiety, nervousness, restlessness, panic, fury, unrest, intensity, discomposure, bustle, annoyance, noise

cameo: (n) relief, relievo, anaglyph, jewelry, chiaroscuro, camaieu camping: (n) bivouac, camp, encampment, bivouacking, inhabitancy, inhabitation, habitation, campsite, camping site, tenting, campground

candid: (adj) blunt, outspoken, ingenuous, direct, sincere, open, forthright, artless, equitable, honest, guileless. ANTONYMS: (adj) scheming, tricky, artful, deceitful, dishonest, guarded, indirect, insincere, inhibited, disingenuous, evasive

candidly: (adv) openly, ingenuously, sincerely, outspokenly, honestly, forthrightly, straightforwardly, plainly, bluntly, directly; (adj, adv) freely. ANTONYMS: (adv) deceitfully, hesitantly, dishonestly, untruthfully, guardedly, ambiguously, shyly

candlelight: (adj) rushlight, firelight, starlight; (n) candlelighting

candlestick: (n) candelabra, sconce, chandelier, candle holder, girandole, candleholder, holder, electrolier, gaselier, girandola, luster **cannibal**: (n) savage, barbarian, anthropophagus, brute; (adj) anthropophagous, carnivorous

cantle: (n) piece, fragment, part, backrest, cantel, back

caps: (n) brevier, bourgeois, pica boldface

captious: (adj, n, v) critical; (adj) peevish, cantankerous, irritable, hypercritical, faultfinding, fastidious, fretful, querulous, caviling; (adj, n) exacting. ANTONYMS: (adj) praising, commendatory, complimentary, encouraging, flattering

captive: (n) convict, prisoner of war, slave, detainee, jailbird, gaolbird; (adj) confined, imprisoned, rapt, jailed, amoroso. ANTONYMS: (adj) free, uninterested, unconfined, liberated, emancipated, disillusioned; (n) guard, captor

carboniferous: (n) period; (adj) carbonaceous, carbonic

carcase: (n) body, skeleton, dead body

carefulness: (n) care, precision, conscientiousness, prudence, diligence, cautiousness, discretion, frugality, thrift, attentiveness, exactness. ANTONYMS: (n) recklessness, negligence, impulsiveness, incaution, extravagance, foolishness, neglect, messiness

carelessly: (adv) incautiously, hastily, recklessly, heedlessly, casually, sloppily, imprudently, inconsiderately, rashly, negligently, unwarily. ANTONYMS: (adv) thoroughly, diligently, carefully, warily, laboriously, thoughtfully, attentively, daintily, methodically, discreetly, economically

carelessness: (n) negligence, inattention, indifference, nonchalance, thoughtlessness, abandon, incaution, disregard, omission, forgetfulness, dereliction. ANTONYMS: (n) attention, caution, alertness, vigilance, carefulness, thoughtfulness, assiduousness, economy, regard, prudence, forethought

caress: (v) stroke, fondle, tickle, pat, pet, kiss, nuzzle, cuddle, coddle; (n, v) touch; (n) endearment. ANTONYM: (n) hit

caressing: (adj) caressive, soft; (n) petting, foreplay, stimulation, dalliance, smooching, snuggling, arousal, hugging, cuddling

carking: (v) bothering, tormenting, worrying, pestering, teasing

carmine: (adj, n) scarlet; (n) vermilion, cardinal, carnation, couleur de rose, lake, maroon, pink, redness; (adj) crimson; (v) redden

carousal: (n) carouse, feast, binge, party, entertainment, debauchery, festivity, banquet, revelry; (n, v) revel; (adj) debauch

carriages: (n) carriage

casement: (n) embrasure, casement cloth

casque: (v) helm, headpiece, siege cap, carapace, cowcatcher, hauberk, salade, scutum, morion, mask, mail **cataclysmal**: (adj) disastrous,

destructive

catastrophe: (n) disaster, adversity, tragedy, cataclysm, misfortune, bale, denouement, misery, misadventure, woe, finale. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, miracle, wonder, success

catastrophic: (adj) calamitous, fatal, harmful, ruinous, tragical, fateful, heartrending, tragic, blasting, costly, crushing. ANTONYMS: (adj) wonderful, fortunate

categorically: (adv) unconditionally, positively, absolutely, definitely, flatly, emphatically, distinctly, certainly, unequivocally, expressly, directly. ANTONYMS: (adv) partially, unconvincingly

caterpillar: (n) cutworm, larva, Aurelia, cabbageworm, armyworm, bollworm, cankerworm, worm, maggot, orphan, cocoon

caul: (n) veil, omentum, gastrocolic omentum, greater omentum, embryonic membrane, Calle, pressure equalising plate

cavernous: (adj) profound, concave, echoing, resonant, sepulchral, yawning, huge, deep, depressed, sunken, vast. ANTONYMS: (adj) cramped, claustrophobic, convex, crowded, shallow, small, tiny, confined, narrow

ceaseless: (adj) eternal, uninterrupted, constant, perpetual, everlasting, endless, continuous, unremitting, continual, unending, nonstop. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, temporary, sporadic, completed, restricted, limited, fleeting, finished, concluded, ending, inconstant

ceasing: (n) stopping, subsidence celestial: (adj) ethereal, divine, supernal, angelic, holy, sacred, astronomical, unworldly,

- superlunary, from on high; (n) heaven. ANTONYMS: (adj) mundane, secular, terrestrial, mortal
- cellaret: (n) counter, cellarette, cupboard, buffet, commode, minibar, closet, bar cabinet
- censure: (n, v) accuse, reprimand, reproach, attack, animadversion, abuse; (n) accusation, condemnation; (v) carp, condemn, berate. ANTONYMS: (v) approve, commend, allow, endorse, laud, permit, sanction; (n) approval, blessing, commendation; (n, v) compliment
- cessation: (n) pause, abatement, close, stop, respite, suspension, surcease, standstill, rest, termination; (n, v) death.

 ANTONYMS: (n) beginning, continuation, commencement, persistence
- chafing: (n) abrasion, soreness, tenderness, rubbing, resistance, roughness; (v) irritate, to chafe; (adj) impatient
- chained: (adj) in chains, enchained, bound
- chameleon: (n) Chamaeleon, chamleo, tortoise shell, lizard, peacock, rainbow; (adj) weathercock, harlequin, quicksilver, shifting sands, moon
- chancel: (n) sanctuary, Golgotha, quire, transept, vestry, crypt, nave, presbytery, choir, calvary, asylum chant: (v) cantillate, sing, recite,
- intone, intonate, utter, vocalize; (n) hymn, song, melody; (n, v) chaunt **chaps**: (n) chops, fauces, crack
- charmed: (adj) enchanted, delighted, fascinated, spellbound, entranced, captive, beguiled, infatuated, absorbed, enamored, captive hours
- charmingly: (adv) pleasingly, prettily, alluringly, attractively, fascinatingly, pleasantly, enchantingly, temptingly, engagingly, sweetly, beautifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) unpleasantly, unattractively, horribly, awkwardly
- charms: (n) trinkets, jewelry, jewels charnel: (adj) carnal, sepulchral, ghastly; (n) burial vault, cemetery, charnel house
- chasm: (n) breach, gap, hiatus, gulf, ravine, hole, abysm, vacancy, canyon, aperture, emptiness. ANTONYMS: (n) junction, closure
- chaste: (adj) virtuous, moral, virgin, modest, unsullied, austere, vestal, severe, continent, spotless, decent.

- ANTONYMS: (adj) corrupt, wanton, lewd, sleazy, promiscuous, immoral, dirty, defiled, impure, tainted
- chastened: (v) lamblike, resigned, content; (adj) refined, reprimanded, rebuked, reproved, subdued, contrite, remorseful
- chateau: (n) mansion, palace, villa, hall, place, rotunda, winery, rus in urbe, vineyard, wine grower, lodge
- chatter: (n, v) babble, gossip, prattle, gab, cackle, natter; (adj, n, v) jabber; (adj, v) prate, palaver; (v) blabber, patter. ANTONYM: (v) drawl
- chatty: (adj) gabby, garrulous, loquacious, familiar, informal, communicative, gossipy, voluble, talky, conversable, expansive. ANTONYMS: (adj) taciturn, quiet, formal, silent, laconic, reticent, restrained, reserved
- cheerfulness: (n) glee, happiness, exhilaration, hilarity, mirth, merriment, gladness, cheer, good spirits, pleasure, joviality. ANTONYMS: (n) sadness, grimness, seriousness, misery, resentment, uncheerfulness, solemnity, lethargy, bleakness, gravity, gloominess
- cheerily: (adv) merrily, pleasantly, cheerfully, joyfully, gaily, brightly, happily, mirthfully, jovially, sunnily, blithely. ANTONYMS: (adv) nastily, sulkily, seriously, miserably, sadly
- cheerlessly: (adv) gloomily, depressingly, drearily, grimly, comfortlessly, drably, darkly, desolately, sadly, joylessly, melancholy. ANTONYM: (adv) brightly
- cherished: (adj) dear, precious, loved, treasured, prized, intimate, wanted, valued, pet, valuable, close. ANTONYMS: (adj) unremarkable, hated, distant
- chestnut: (adj, n) auburn, commonplace; (n) chestnut tree, sweet chestnut, wood, anecdote, joke, banality; (adj) bay, trite, castaneous
- childish: (adj) childlike, naive, babyish, immature, simple, puerile, infantile, juvenile, silly, frivolous, young. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, old, wise, adult, jaded
- chilliness: (n) coldness, cold, frigidity, chill, low temperature, cool, wintriness, frostiness, algor, iciness, algidity. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, friendliness
- chilling: (adj) icy, bloodcurdling,

- wintry, macabre, ghastly, cold, scary, apathetic; (n) cooling, freezing, refrigeration. ANTONYM: (adj) reassuring
- chilly: (adj, adv) unfriendly; (adv) coolly, frigidly; (adj) cool, bleak, algid, freezing, frozen, icy, frosty; (adj, n) cold. ANTONYMS: (adj) hot, tropical, responsive, mild, welcoming, friendly, balmy, torrid
- chime: (n) carillon, melody; (adj) harmonize; (v) go, jingle, clang, peal, tinkle, buzz, ring, chimb
- chink: (v) jingle, tinkle; (n) cleft, crevice, Chinaman, aperture, hiatus, scissure, blunt; (n, v) clink, break
- chivalrous: (adj) gallant, brave, knightly, courteous, courageous, gentlemanly, sublime, magnanimous, polite, thoughtful, considerate. ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, fearful, brutish, afraid, dishonorable, cowardly, barbaric, boorish
- chivalry: (n) gallantry, knighthood, generosity, courtesy, knight service, courtliness, knight errantry, principle, valiance; (adj, n) heroism; (adj) prowess. ANTONYMS: (n) impoliteness, dishonor, discourtesy, cowardice
- choked: (adj) clogged, smothered, congested, annoyed, high-strung, strained, neurotic, tense, angry, anxious, insecure
- chopper: (n) helicopter, axe, cleaver, whirlybird, mincer, chop, grounder, knife, copter, hatchet, tooth chopping: (adj) jolly
- christendom: (n) apostleship, church, hierarch, priesthood, Christianism, church government, ministry, prelacy
- **chronicles**: (n) archives, history, archive, records
- chuckling: (n) laughter
 churchgoing: (adj) religious
- churlish: (adj) rude, rough, impolite, loutish, gruff, curt, abrupt, brusque, blunt, brutish, discourteous. ANTONYMS: (adj) agreeable, civil, courteous, nice, polite
- cigar: (n) cheroot, cigars, smoke, cigarette, corona, panatela, panetella, segar, cigarillo
- **cimmerian**: (adj) murky, somber, gloomy, dusky, black, atrocious
- cinder: (n) clinker, scoria, charcoal, scum, ashes, ember, dross, slag, chark, bastard
- **cinders**: (n) cinder, dust, ash, flue dust, powder, residue, slag; (adj)

- mother, scoriae, precipitate circling: (v) snaky, serpentine; (adj) rotating, spinning, circular, spiral, moving; (n) circulation, circuit, cycling; (ady) around
- circuitous: (adj) roundabout, winding, devious, tortuous, meandering, oblique, complicated, labyrinthine, crooked, collateral, circumlocutional. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, direct
- **circulated**: (adj) disseminated, diffuse, dispersed, distributed
- circulating: (v) circulate; (adj) cyclic, circulative, moving; (n) distribution circumference: (n) circuit, border,
- perimeter, boundary, periphery, outline, brim, compass, circle, edge, rim. ANTONYMS: (n) middle, inside, interior, center
- circumvent: (v) elude, avoid, evade, besiege, cheat, skirt, escape, dodge, outwit; (adv, v) surround, compass. ANTONYMS: (v) assist, confront, aid, help
- civilly: (adv) politely, respectfully, graciously, complaisantly, urbanely, polishedly, considerately, domestically, genteelly, obligingly, refinedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) abruptly, uncivilly
- clack: (n, v) clatter, bang, tick, clap; (adj, v) chatter, cackle, palaver, prattle, prate; (v) babble, cluck
- clandestine: (adj) surreptitious, undercover, underhand, underground, hidden, stealthy, underhanded, furtive, covert; (adj, v) private, privy. ANTONYMS: (adj) public, forthright, overt, aboveboard, known, transparent, blatant
- clarinet: (n) basset horn, bass clarinet clasp: (n, v) embrace, hug, grip, grasp, squeeze, clutch, buckle, brooch; (adj, n, v) pin; (v) stick, cling. ANTONYMS: (v) unbuckle, loose, unclasp, relax, detach
- clasping: (adj) tendril clayey: (adj) heavy, weighty, ponderous, strong, backbreaking, compacter, compact, cloggy, burdensome, burdened, bolar.
- ANTONYM: (adj) arenaceous clearness: (n) clarity, brightness, distinctness, perspicuity, lucidity, explicitness, sharpness, simplicity, purity, limpidity, intelligibility. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, opacity, dirtiness, vagueness, unclearness, obscureness, indistinctness, clutter, haziness,

- mustiness
- cleaved: (adj) torn cleft: (adj, n) split; (n) fissure, cleavage, crevice, rift, fracture,
- aperture, breach, chap, chink, crack.
 ANTONYM: (adj) united
- clement: (adj, v) merciful; (adj) benevolent, lenient, kind, balmy, beneficent, temperate, gentle, humane, pleasant, forbearing. ANTONYMS: (adj) barbarous, violent, wintry, unforgiving, mean,
- inclement, harsh, hard, extreme clementine: (n) clementine tree clenched: (adj) tight, clinched
- click: (n, v) clack, tick; (n) catch, chink, dog, detent, pawl, clink; (v) chatter, beat, cluck
- clicking: (n) tick
- **climber**: (n) cragsman, social climber, jock, rock climber, upstart, creeper, vine, rambler, mountain climber, trekker, hiker
- cling: (v) adhere, cleave, stick, cohere, hang, attach, grasp, adjoin, clutch, grip, hold. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, repel, unfasten
- cloaked: (adj) veiled, covered, hidden, covert, disguised, concealed, furtive, hidden away, draped, clothed, absorbed. ANTONYM: (adj) overt
- clog: (n, v) block, bar, glut; (v) choke, obstruct, foul, hinder, encumber, back up; (n) obstruction, patten. ANTONYMS: (v) free, clear, open, upblock
- closeness: (n) tightness, proximity, familiarity, parsimony, nearness, adjacency, affinity, propinquity, fidelity, compactness, meanness. ANTONYMS: (n) isolation, distance, farness, dryness, openness, space, animosity, inaccuracy, freshness, remoteness
- clothed: (adj) dressed, wrapped, cloaked, robed, covered, attired, vested, absorbed, decent; (v) accustomed, arrayed. ANTONYM: (adj) unclothed
- clotted: (n) clammy, ropy, mastic, glutenous, gelatin; (adj) thick, clogged, grumous, bloody, choked, fleamy
- **clouding**: (n) vaporization, vapor, evaporation, vaporisation, clouding up
- cloudy: (adj) dull, gloomy, nebulous, murky, dark, turbid, foggy, muddy, misty, sunless, vaporous. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, bright, sunny, cloudless

- clove: (n) syzygium aromaticum, clove tree, Eugenia aromaticum, garlic, gulch, gap, chasm, ravine, garlic clove; (v) cleave
- building, ball club, casino, cabaret clump: (n, v) cluster, bundle; (n) lump, group, clot, knot, tuft, chunk, clod, ball; (v) plod

clubhouse: (n) edifice, baseball club,

- clumsy: (adj) bumbling, bungling, cumbersome, unwieldy, rude, inept, inapt, maladroit, gawky, unskilled, wooden. ANTONYMS: (adj) graceful, dexterous, clever, skillful, deft, adroit, elegant, coordinated,
- coachman: (n) teamster, cabman, charioteer, carter, carman, Jehu, postboy, drayman, wagoner, postilion; (v) whip

expert, athletic, agile

- coals: (n) ashes, fire, residue, embers coating: (n) skin, painting, facing, covering, finish, application, sheathing, envelope, mantle, overcoat, cover. ANTONYM: (n) middle
- coaxing: (n) blarney, flattery, sweet talk, temptation, enticement, soft soap; (adv) coaxingly; (adj) ingratiatory, persuasive, oily
- cobweb: (n) web, filament, entanglement, mouse trap, tissue, fibril, pitfall; (adj) chaff, straw, cork; (adj, n) gossamer
- **coercion**: (n) force, compulsion, duress, pressure, restraint, threat, terrorism, extortion, enforcement, intimidation, violence.

 ANTONYMS: (n) wish, volition, liberty
- coffer: (n) box, chest, case, caisson, casket, trunk, safe, strongbox, treasury, crate, coffers
- coffers: (n) treasury, purse,
 exchequer, coffer, funds, assets
 cogent: (adj) weighty, powerful,
- pithy, strong, telling, persuasive, forcible, forceful, compelling, conclusive; (adj, v) convincing. ANTONYMS: (adj) confused, weak, ineffective, impotent, invalid, irrational
- cogs: (n) teeth, moving parts, workings, works, mechanism, device, cost of goods sold
- cohere: (v) cleave, cling, agree, hold, hold fast, bind, cement, stick; (adj) candy, cake, clot. ANTONYMS: (v) dispute, divide, separate, disagree
- coil: (n, v) spiral, curl, roll, circle, loop, reel; (v) round, wind, involve; (adj, v) twist; (adj) coiling.

- ANTONYMS: (v) uncoil, untwist, unwind, straighten
- coiling: (v) to coil; (adj) coiled, spiral, spiraling, whorled, sinuous, volute, voluted, turbinate; (n) twisting, convolution
- cold-blooded: (adj) emotionless, hardhearted, unfeeling, inhuman, callous, cruel, stony, heartless, ruthless, unsympathetic, savage
- colossal: (adj) huge, gargantuan, prodigious, Brobdingnagian, vast, enormous, great, mammoth, immense, massive, monstrous. ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, small, insignificant, minute, compact, microscopic, miniature, slight
- colouring: (n) coloration, painting, colour, coloring, color, tincture, tint, hue, colouration, dyeing, exterior condition
- colourless: (adj) colorless, drab, pale, neutral, wan, pallid, ashen, clear, white, washy, bloodless. ANTONYM: (adj) colorful
- comb: (v) brush, ransack, search, dress, eliminate, groom; (adj) weed; (n) crest, combing, caruncle, currycomb
- combating: (adj) militant, rival, opposed; (n) hostility
- **comeliness**: (n) charm, grace, loveliness, fairness, beauteousness, attractiveness, pulchritude,
- goodliness, blondness, mense, form comely: (adj) beautiful, good-looking, decent, fair, attractive, decorous, shapely, proper; (adj, adv, v) seemly; (adj, adv) sightly, lovely. ANTONYMS: (adj) repulsive, homely, plain, revolting, unattractive, ugly
- comer: (n) newcomer, arriver, traveler, traveller, contender, competitor, competition, visitor, whiz kid, Young Turk; (adj) fresh
- comforted: (adj) thankful, pleased, comfortable, calmed
- comforting: (adj) soothing, consoling, consolatory, satisfying, gratifying, encouraging, restful, placatory, tranquil, appeasing; (n) relief. ANTONYMS: (adj) hostile, discomforting, disconcerting, distressing, disturbing, overwhelming, surprising, troublesome, irritating, tense, upsetting
- commanding: (adj) imperative, imperious, peremptory, bossy, imposing, ascendant, compelling, magnificent; (adj, n) grand,

- impressive; (adv) commandingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) inferior, unassertive, indecisive, unimpressive, insignificant, subservient
- commandment: (n) order, command, fiat, edict, law, regulation, bidding, decree, caution, behest, prescription
- commemoration: (n) memorial, celebration, reminder, recognition, monument, ceremony, epitaph, souvenir, ovation, paean, triumph
- commencing: (adj) initial, incipient; (v) commence; (adv) startingly; (prep) starting, from; (n) start, initiation, commencement, origination, inauguration
- commination: (n) threat, denunciation, malediction, ban, curse, comminate, menace, maranatha, fulmination, prayer, petition
- commonplace: (adj, v) trite, hackneyed; (adj) banal, ordinary, humdrum, common, average, plain, mundane, dull; (n) platitude. ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary, unusual, exceptional, infrequent, rare, romantic, uncommon, weird; (n) deepness, profundity, profoundness
- communicative: (adj) communicable, chatty, communicatory, expansive, expressive, clear, frank, fluent, companionable, conversational, open. ANTONYMS: (adj) uninformative, reserved, reticent, closed, taciturn, impassive, restrained, inarticulate
- compel: (v) force, coerce, pressure, necessitate, enforce, command, oblige, require, make, obligate, press. ANTONYMS: (v) impede, deter, check, block, request, prevent
- complacently: (adv) contently, conceitedly, self-satisfiedly, graciously, arrogantly, satisfiedly, contentedly, virtuously, sanctimoniously
- **complexion**: (n, v) tint; (n) cast, character, appearance, look, hue, aspect, flush, glow, dye, fashion
- complication: (n) difficulty, intricacy, tangle, labyrinth, confusion, problem, muddle, development, complicacy, maze, mess. ANTONYMS: (n) solution, simplicity, answer, help, clarity
- compounded: (adj) combined, complex, compositive; (v) mingle comprehended: (adj) understood, apprehended

- comprehensiveness: (n) completeness, fullness, entirety, detail, intelligence, scope, range, flavor, wholeness, unity, totality. ANTONYM: (n) narrowness
- compressed: (adj) flat, condensed, dense, concentrated, compacted, tight, pointed, packed, concise, close, brief
- compromising: (adj) conciliatory, moderate, vulnerable, awkward, intermediate, flexible, inculpatory; (adv) halfway
- compulsion: (n) force, enforcement, urge, constraint, pressure, restraint, necessity, duress, obligation, requirement, oppression. ANTONYMS: (n) persuasion, coaxing, disinclination
- concealing: (n) covering, concealment, burial, stealing, stealth, screening, burying, screenings, activity; (adj) suppressive
- conceit: (n) pretension, vanity, selfesteem, pride, assumption, egotism, fancy, haughtiness, conception, caprice, quip. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, timidity, selflessness, humbleness, reserve
- conceive: (v) think, imagine, comprehend, design, apprehend, realize, discover, cogitate, appreciate, invent, catch. ANTONYMS: (v) destroy, doubt, misunderstand, question, ruin
- concentric: (adj) homocentric, unrelieved, coaxial, axial, focal, azygous, umbilical
- concluding: (adj) last, terminal, ultimate, closing, definitive, conclusive, latest; (n) ending, dying, finishing, reasoning. ANTONYMS: (adj) opening, former, first
- concourse: (n) assemblage, swarm, multitude, throng, company, merging, crowd, aggregation, meeting, gathering, legion
- condensed: (adj) concise, compressed, concentrated, succinct, compact, summary, compendious, short, shortened; (adj, v) condense; (n) tabloid. ANTONYMS: (adj) loose, uncondensed, diluted, expanded, convoluted, long
- condescending: (adj) arrogant, snobbish, superior, haughty, gracious, patronizing, supercilious, arch, benign, affable, merciful. ANTONYMS: (adj) humble, unassuming, approachable, unpretentious, friendly, admiring,

modest, respectful, deferential condescension: (n) arrogance, lordliness, disparagement, patronage, affability, disdain, pride, superciliousness, contempt, stoop, depreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) respect, acceptance, admiration

conduce: (v) go, lead, tend, concur, bestow, advance, redound, encourage, result, verge, extend

confederate: (n) accomplice, accessory, partner, collaborator, colleague, assistant; (n, v) ally, auxiliary; (adj) allied; (v) league, conspire. ANTONYMS: (n) opponent, foe, enemy, adversary

confessing: (v) confess confining: (adj) restricting, limiting, narrow, confined, oppressive, stringent, constrictive, restrictive, closemouthed; (v) confine; (n) contraction

conflagration: (n) blaze, inferno, flame, wildfire, combustion, holocaust, burning, bonfire, empyrosis, flagration; (n, v) deflagration

conflicting: (adj) repugnant, opposed, incompatible, clashing, inconsistent, opposite, contrary, divergent, adverse, paradoxical; (v) antagonistic. ANTONYMS: (adj) consistent, compatible, parallel, peaceful, harmonious, corresponding, agreeing, agreeable, congruous

conformity: (n) agreement, compliance, concord, conformance, accordance, coincidence, concordance, observance, conformation, conformism, keeping. ANTONYMS: (n) nonconformity, disagreement, incongruity, uniqueness, rebellion, nonconformance, looseness, difference, noncompliance, infidelity, divergence

confound: (v) bewilder, baffle, nonplus, perplex, astonish, puzzle, amaze, astound, mistake; (adj, v) confuse, stupefy. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, clarify, comfort, lose, distinguish; (n) understanding

confoundedly: (adj) tremendously, severely, desperately, with a vengeance; (adv) confusedly, accursedly, abashedly, bewilderedly, cursedly, puzzledly, extremely

confronting: (n) braving, facing, tackling, opposition, grappling, coping with; (adj) opposed confuse: (v) baffle, confound, muddle, jumble, agitate, disconcert, derange, obscure, blur, disturb; (adj, v) perplex. ANTONYMS: (v) enlighten, elucidate, explain, simplify, distinguish, organize, soothe, sharpen, order, straighten, encourage

congenial: (adj, v) concordant, consonant, accordant; (adj) compatible, affable, kindred, genial, kind, pleasant, pleasing, delightful. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncongenial, unfriendly, disagreeable, hostile, incompatible, despicable, abominable, unsavory, reserved

congratulate: (v) compliment, felicitate, preen, pride, celebrate, applaud, joy, salute, commemorate, approve; (n) congratulation. ANTONYMS: (v) commiserate, slur, disparage, belittle, condemn, boo

congruity: (n) accord, conformity, consonance, coherence, correspondence, consistency, congruence, compatibility, coincidence, harmony, identity

conical: (adj) pyramidal, tapering, copped, conelike, coniform, taper, cone, tapered, coppled, pointed

conjecture: (n) supposition, speculation, assumption, surmise, hypothesis; (v) suppose, believe, anticipate, assume, speculate; (n, v) estimate. ANTONYMS: (n) certainty; (v) demonstrate, know, learn, prove

conjectured: (adj) supposed, opinionative

conjuncture: (n) event, coincidence, case, condition, emergency, situation, combination, connection, accident, circumstances; (adj) crisis

conjured: (adj) invented, made up, pretended, untrue. ANTONYM: (adj) factual

conqueror: (n) champion, winner, subjugator, vanquisher, hero, superior, defeater, subduer, invader, colonist, Alexander. ANTONYM: (n) loser

conscientious: (adj) scrupulous, painstaking, honest, thorough, meticulous, dutiful, close, principled, strict; (adj, v) ethical, moral. ANTONYMS: (adj) sloppy, unconscientious, immoral, irresponsible, unscrupulous, conscienceless, corrupt, dishonest, inexact, slack, slipshod

conscientiously: (adv) carefully, thoroughly, painstakingly, faithfully, religiously, meticulously, dutifully, assiduously, closely, diligently, industriously.

ANTONYMS: (adv) irresponsibly, hastily

conserve: (v) economize, keep, save, embalm, protect, husband, maintain, defend; (n) jam, conserves; (adj) conserving. ANTONYMS: (v) waste, spend, use, damage, exhaust, squander, destroy; (n, v) expend

console: (v) cheer, soothe, quiet, relieve, reassure, encourage; (n, v) solace; (n) cabinet, allay, control console, control panel.
ANTONYMS: (v) hurt, discourage, grieve, sadden, distress, dispirit, dishearten, upset

conspicuously: (adv) prominently, eminently, remarkably, obviously, clearly, outstandingly, evidently, manifestly, plainly, strikingly; (adj, adv) noticeably. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, unnoticeably, vaguely

conspirator: (n) accomplice, traitor, confederate, betrayer, archtraitor, coconspirator, malefactor, crook, felon, outlaw, criminal

constancy: (n) allegiance, devotion, resolution, fidelity, loyalty, steadfastness, faithfulness, steadiness, firmness, perseverance, unchangeableness. ANTONYMS: (n) inconstancy, inconsistency, changefulness, instability, disloyalty, unfaithfulness, unreliability, dishonesty

constituent: (n) ingredient, factor, part, element, piece, item, member, elector, division, agent; (adj) integral. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) composite, whole; (adj) compound

constitutionally: (adv) legally, organically, naturally, innately, lawfully, inbornly, inherently, integrally, intrinsically, essentially, constituently

consume: (v) exhaust, absorb, dissipate, use, squander, fritter, expend, eat, swallow, burn; (adj, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (v) save, abstain, conserve, make, store, accumulate, produce, manufacture, hoard, gather, fast

consuming: (adj) blazing, overwhelming, burning, absorbing, corrosive; (v) grating, searching, grinding, racking; (n) consumption, wasting

consummation: (n) accomplishment, completion, fulfillment, fruition,

- performance, execution, climax, attainment, perfection, end, realization
- contemplated: (adj) intended, willful contemptible: (adj) abject, mean, base, pitiful, little, worthless, unworthy, miserable, ignoble, abominable, shameful.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) estimable, admired, deserving, worthy, honorable, respectable, respectful, noble, generous, commendable, good
- contemptuously: (adv) scornfully, sneeringly, insultingly, disparagingly, superciliously, derisively, condescendingly, disrespectfully, haughtily, contumeliously, sardonically. ANTONYM: (adv) approvingly
- contented: (adj) content, happy, comfortable, quiet, cheerful, smug, complacent, satisfied, easy, proud, delighted. ANTONYMS: (adj) discontented, unhappy, depressed, unsatisfied, sad, anxious
- contiguity: (n) contact, vicinity, contiguousness, touch, closeness, proximity, abuttal, neighborhood, propinquity, approximation, liaison
- contiguous: (adj) adjoining, close, conterminous, abutting, near, nearby, immediate, bordering upon, bordering, touching, connected. ANTONYMS: (adj) remote, removed, separated, apart
- contingency: (n) possibility, eventuality, chance, circumstance, adventure, casualty, case, incident, occurrence, condition; (adj) dependency
- continuance: (n) duration, abidance, existence, endurance, protraction, adjournment, resumption, prolongation, time, standing, perseverance. ANTONYMS: (n) discontinuation, destruction
- contour: (n) contour line, outline, form, profile, shape, line, configuration, silhouette, curve, circuit, edge. ANTONYM: (n) core
- contradict: (v) deny, oppose, belie, conflict, confute, controvert, contravene, disprove, refute, invalidate, impugn. ANTONYMS: (v) agree, match, correspond, approve, corroborate, prove, support, reinforce
- contrarily: (adv) oppositely, perversely, inversely, reversely, stubbornly, adversely, inconsistently, discordantly,

- waywardly, hostilely, opposedly contrasting: (adj) diverse, conflicting, counter, diametric, distinct, assorted, contrastive, dissimilar, incongruent, miscellaneous; (n) division. ANTONYMS: (adj) like, uniform
- contrite: (adj) apologetic, sorry, remorseful, regretful, rueful, bad, ashamed, humble, sorrowful, dreary; (adj, v) repentant. ANTONYMS: (adj) unrepentant, indifferent, hurtful, mean, proud, unremorseful
- contrive: (v) plan, invent, design, concoct, devise, cast, concert, excogitate, frame, formulate; (n, v) manage. ANTONYMS: (v) demolish, destroy, ruin, waste, wreck, fail
- controllable: (adj) manageable, navigable, tractable, restrainable, obedient, harmless, convenient, handy
- **contumely**: (n) insult, affront, contempt, scorn, indignity, discourtesy, disgrace, insolence, disdain; (n, v) invective; (v) vituperation
- conventionality: (n, v) convention; (n) conventionalism, conformity, orthodoxy, formality, unoriginality, formula, pattern, usage, beauty, decency. ANTONYM: (n) unconventionality
- converge: (v) concentrate, approach, meet, assemble, come together, congregate, join, merge, concur, collect, huddle. ANTONYMS: (v) disperse, separate, scatter, split, divide, deviate
- convergence: (n) meeting, concentration, concourse, convergency, concurrence, junction, converging, congregation, contesseration, conflux, coming together. ANTONYMS: (n) division, deviation, isolation
- converging: (n) convergency, convergence, meeting, joining, connection, coming together, connexion; (adj) concurrent, connivent, connecting, coming
- conveyance: (n) transfer, vehicle, assignment, alienation, transference, delivery, transportation, negotiation, portage; (n, v) carriage, ecstasy
- convulsion: (adj, n, v) spasm; (n) fit, paroxysm, commotion, attack, clonus, shake, seizure, upheaval, cramp; (adj, n) disturbance. ANTONYM: (n) peace

- convulsive: (adj) spastic, galvanic, fitful, paroxysmal, violent, choreic, unsteady, hysterical; (v) unquiet, restless, saltatory
- cooled: (adj) refrigerated, frozen; (n)
 cooler
- cooler: (n) beverage, freezer, drinkable, potable, drink, air conditioner, penitentiary, choky, prison, chokey, clink
- cooling: (n) freezing, refrigeration, cooler, mechanism, quenching, temperature reduction, coolant system, cooling system; (adj) caller, refrigerant, allaying heat
- coolly: (adv) quietly, composedly, coldly, collectedly, nonchalantly, placidly, serenely, chilly, steadily, frostily, frigidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) nervously, anxiously, agitatedly, expressively, boisterously, enthusiastically
- coppice: (n) copse, brush, brake, underwood, thicket, wood, spinney, underbrush, undergrowth, grove, canebrake
- coquetry: (v) captation, obsequiousness, sentimentalism, sycophancy, mock modesty, minauderie, toadeating, flunkeyism, prudery; (n) dalliance, invitation coquettish; (adi) flirtations, cov
- coquettish: (adj) flirtatious, coy, kittenish, charming, coquet, arch, fickle
- cordial: (adj) genial, warm, affable, amiable, friendly, genuine, ardent, unaffected, gracious, honest; (n) liqueur. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfriendly, stern, cold, cool, disagreeable, aloof, reserved, distant, rude, uncordial, unpleasant
- corduroy: (n) fabric, cloth cornerwise: (adv) cornerways corroborated: (adj) corroborate, substantiated, verified
- coterie: (n) clique, band, faction, company, clan, ring, party, junta, pack, group, gang
- couch: (n) bed, sofa, settee, divan; (adj, v) lie; (v) express, put, frame, lower, repose; (adj) recline
- countenance: (n) aspect, expression, brow, complexion; (n, v) face, sanction, support, favor; (v) allow, tolerate, uphold. ANTONYMS: (v) reject, oppose, discourage, disapprove, prohibit
- counterbalance, check, balance, counterbalance, check, balance, cancel, hinder, neutralize, contradict, resist, compensate, contravene. ANTONYMS: (v) help,

cooperate, assist, approve, coordinate, support, back, reinforce counterfeit: (adj, n, v) sham; (n, v) copy, duplicate; (adj, v) mock, falsify; (adj) false, artificial, assumed; (adj, n) imitation; (v) forge, ape. ANTONYMS: (adj) genuine, real, authentic, true, actual; (n) original

countermove: (n) onrush, onset, onslaught, countermovement, attack countrified: (adj) rural, provincial, pastoral, country, countryfied, boorish, bucolic, bumpkinly, Arcadian, leafy; (adj, prep) rude coupled: (adj) conjugate, linked, united, double, joined, associated, conjugated, attached, fixed, twin, paired. ANTONYM: (adj) unrelated couplet: (n) distich, verse, twosome, stanza, pair, canto, rhyme, triplet,

quatrain, deuce, two courageous: (adj, n) bold; (adj) audacious, fearless, valiant, gallant, intrepid, spirited, heroic, undaunted, manly, confident. ANTONYMS: (adj) timid, wimpy, weak, spineless, pusillanimous, fearful, fainthearted, afraid, despicable

courser: (n) shorebird, steed, hunter, thoroughbred, palfrey, nag, Galloway, blood horse, beast of burden, beast; (adj) eagle

coursers: (n) Charadrii, suborder Charadrii, avocets, genus Cursorius courteous: (adj, v) civil; (adj) affable, attentive, gracious, decorous, chivalrous, bland, thoughtful, urbane, mannerly, gentlemanly. ANTONYMS: (adj) rude, impolite, boorish, insulting, unmannerly, gruff, improper, vulgar, unhelpful, neglectful, graceless

courteously: (adv) graciously, civilly, considerately, decorously, decently, gallantly, obligingly, urbanely, suavely, thoughtfully, kindly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coarsely, uncooperatively, disrespectfully, impolitely

courting: (n) wooing, courtship, bundling, appeal, attraction, case, causa, cause, flirtation, suit

courtship: (n) courting, wooing, love, bundling, the soft impeachment, prayer, entreaty, gallantry, addresses, cause, affection

coveted: (adj) sought after, desirable, in demand. ANTONYM: (adj) unpopular

coveting: (n) longing, envy; (adj)

envious

cowardly: (adj, adv) dastardly, scared, shrinking; (adj) timid, afraid, craven, gutless, sneaky, fainthearted, faint; (adv) recreantly. ANTONYMS: (adj, adv) brave, daring, bold, courageous; (adj) intrepid, fearless, strong, determined; (adv) dauntless, gutsy, unafraid

cracking: (n) crack, break, fracture; (adj) splitting, swell, smashing, corking, bully, great, keen, neat. ANTONYMS: (adj) smooth, slow

crackling: (adj, n) crisp; (adj) snapping, crepitant, cheerful, brittle, noisy; (n) crepitation, decrepitation, crackleware, crackle China, bohemian crackle

cradle: (n) cot, birthplace, nursery, berth, crib, nest, hammock, bassinet, origin; (v) hold, groundwork

cramped: (adj) cramp, limited, close, constrained, contracted, crowded, narrow, poky, restricted, small, tight. ANTONYMS: (adj) roomy, open, uncrowded, vast, liberated

crape: (n, v) curl; (n) French pancake, hotcake, flapcake, flapjack, griddlecake, pancake, battercake; (adj, v) crimp; (adj) deep mourning, weeds

crater: (n) hole, cavity, acrasia, acrasy, collector, basin, cleft, crack, punch bowl; (adj, n) pit, well. ANTONYM: (n) hump

crawl: (adv, v) grovel, lag; (n, v) clamber, climb; (v) sneak, fawn, cringe, teem, swarm, scramble, inch. ANTONYMS: (v) fly, rush, hurry, hasten, dart, dash, lead, soothe, speed

crazed: (adj) deranged, crazy, wild, mad, insane, crackled, loopy, non compos mentis, lunatic, demented, barmy

creaking: (adj, v) creaky; (adj) squeaking, harsh, screaky, noisy, arthritic; (v) rickety; (n) screak

creased: (adj) wrinkled, wrinkly, rumpled, lined, furrowed, corrugated, wizened, bent. ANTONYM: (adj) straight

credible: (adj) convincing, likely, plausible, reasonable, faithful, specious, conceivable, persuasive, possible, probable; (adj, n) authentic. ANTONYMS: (adj) unbelievable, incredible, unconvincing, unlikely, impossible, doubtful, inaccurate, unrealistic

credited: (adj) accredited, accepted.

ANTONYM: (adj) unofficial creep: (v) grovel, sneak, steal, fawn, lurk, truckle, cringe; (n) creeping, crawling, toady, sycophant.
ANTONYMS: (v) race, dash, hasten, hurry, speed, fly

creepers: (n) Certhiidae creeping: (n) creep, crawl, locomotion, spreading; (v) lentor; (adj) reptile, slow, reptant, reptatory, serpiginous, moving

creeps: (n) fear, dread, fright, animal disease, trepidation, nervousness, anxiety

cretan: (n) Crete

crevice: (n) cleft, break, chink, cranny, chap, fissure, interstice, rift, gap, hole, fracture

crimson: (adj, n) carmine, ruby, scarlet, maroon; (v) blush, flush, redden; (adj) bloody, ruddy, cherry; (n) deep red

crippled: (adj) deformed, game, exhausted, broken, decrepit, crooked, halt, impotent; (n) limping; (v) drooping, flagging. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, functioning, fit

crispness: (n) chill, crispiness, brevity, terseness, freshness, sharpness, flakiness, breakableness criticize: (v) denounce, scold, censure, reprimand, attack, chide, comment, berate, rebuke, blame,

belittle. ANTONYMS: (v) approve, commend, admire, compliment, flatter, suppose, guess, estimate, applaud, laud, cheer

crooked: (adj) bent, corrupt, dishonest, curved, unfair, deformed; (adj, n, v) awry; (adj, v) irregular, askew, wry, indirect. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, honest, principled, even, aboveboard, lawful, level, moral, flat, aligned, honorable

crouching: (adj) sneaking, huddled, obsequious, squat, hunkered, cowering, hunkered down; (v) submissive, resigned

crowing: (adj, n) bragging; (adj) boastful, braggart, big, braggy; (n) brag, jactitation, gasconade, crows, Corvus, bravado

crowned: (adj) laureled, fulfilled, browbound, incoronate, successful cruelly: (adv) harshly, ferociously, fiercely, viciously, inhumanly, mercilessly, pitilessly, heartlessly, roughly, unkindly; (adj, adv) bitterly. ANTONYMS: (adv) kindly, mercifully, sympathetically, tamely, peacefully, humanely,

compassionately, sensitively, respectfully, innocently, genially crumpled: (adj) rumpled, crinkly, wrinkled, bent, corrugated, crinkled, disheveled, lined, furrowed, dented,

damaged

- crush: (n, v) squeeze, crunch, press; (v) beat, break, compress, conquer, stamp, overpower, squash, bruise. ANTONYMS: (v) lose, congratulate, stretch, praise, inspirit, encourage, compliment, expand, resist, submit, smooth
- crystallize: (v) clear, shape, crystallise, effloresce, clarify, clear up, interpret; (adj) candy, cake, cohere, clot
- crystallized: (adj) crystalized, candied, crystalline. ANTONYM: (adj) uncrystallized
- **cuckoo**: (n) nut, fathead, goose, jackass, zany, goof, ani, coucal; (v) chirrup, cheep, chirp
- cudgel: (n) bludgeon, truncheon, stick, staff, switch, mace, baton; (v) beat, bat, hit, drub
- cuirass: (v) breastplate, fender, armor, mask, thimble, shield, scutum, aegis; (n) coat of mail, hauberk, body armor
- culmination: (n) apex, crest, climax, peak, top, zenith, pinnacle, apogee, completion, vertex, consummation. ANTONYMS: (n) commencement, opening, prelude, trough, nadir
- culprit: (adj, n) convict; (n) delinquent, accused, malefactor, perpetrator, transgressor, prisoner, sinner, offender; (adj) guilty, felon

cultivable: (adj) arable, tillable, productive

- cultivated: (adj) cultured, refined, tame, educated, sophisticated, elegant, urbane, polished, accomplished, civil, polite.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) wild, untamed, uncouth, coarse, graceless
- **cultivating**: (adj) educating, taming, humanizing, calming
- cumbrous: (adj) unwieldy, weighty, massive, heavy, bulky, awkward, ponderous, clumsy, vexatious, burdensome, inept
- cured: (adj) recovered, corned, aged, mellow, whole, better, pickle cured, salted, vulcanised, well, vulcanized
- curfew: (n) rescript, deadline, decree, dusk, edict, eleventh hour, fiat, order, signaling, signal, twilight
- order, signaling, signal, twilight curing: (n) hardening, ageing, drying, rectification, vulcanization, preservation; (adj) curative,

- remedial, corrective, comforting, medicinal
- curl: (n, v) crimp, loop, kink, roll, wave; (adj, v) bow; (adj, n) lock, tress; (v) crinkle, fold; (adj) crisp. ANTONYMS: (v) align, straighten, uncurl, unwind
- curling: (adj) curled, curly, moving, curled up; (adv) curlingly; (n) croquet, pallone, polo, tipcat, golf, curling edge
- currant: (n) currant bush, shrub, black currant, red currant, raisin, Corinth, dried currant, bush, grape, berry
- curse: (n, v) blight, plague; (n) anathema, blasphemy, malediction, denunciation; (adj, v) beshrew; (v) swear, ban, damn, vituperate. ANTONYMS: (n) blessing, benediction, making; (v) communicate
- cursed: (adj) damned, doomed, execrable, cussed, wretched, unlucky, accursed, blamed, blasted, confounded; (v) accurst. ANTONYMS: (adj) commendable, honorable, nice, sweet, kine
- cursorily: (adv) rapidly, quickly, hastily, shallowly, speedily, sketchily, casually, fleetingly, carelessly, passingly, perfunctorily. ANTONYMS: (adv) slowly, thoroughly
- cursory: (adj) careless, passing, fleeting, perfunctory, ephemeral, superficial, slapdash, facile, evanescent, sketchy, shallow. ANTONYMS: (adj) complete, comprehensive, meticulous, long
- cutter: (n) carver, knife, clipper, cutting tool, pinnace, cutting off table, foist, yawl, diner; (adj) billhook, cleaver

cymbals: (n) piatti

- cynically: (adv) sarcastically, derisively, scornfully, mockingly, doubtfully, contemptuously, skeptically, suspiciously, negatively, incredulously, satirically. ANTONYMS: (adv) optimistically, kindly
- dairyman: (n) granger, fieldhand, husbandman, sodbuster, farmhand, farmer, milkman
- **damping**: (n) attenuation, moisture penetration, dampening, cushioning, damping of oscillations
- dampness: (n) clamminess, humidity, moistness, moisture, wet, wetness, vapor, dankness, drizzle, heat, mugginess. ANTONYMS: (n)

- dryness, smoothness, freshness dandy: (n) beau, fop, coxcomb, dude, buck, clipper, cockscomb; (adj) nifty, capital, fine, peachy. ANTONYMS: (adj) terrible, ghastly, awful, inferior
- dangling: (adj) suspended, pendent, pendant, limp, floppy, pendulous; (n) suspension, abeyance, break, abatement; (adv) adangle. ANTONYM: (adj) upright
- dank: (adj) damp, wet, moist, humid, sticky, soggy, sultry, muggy, juicy, rheumy, musty. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, parched, bright
- daring: (adj, n) bold, courageous, adventurous; (adj) audacious, venturesome, intrepid; (n) bravery, audacity, boldness, courage, adventurousness. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, timidity; (adj) timid, cautious, dull, afraid, chicken, fearful, unadventurous, wimpy
- darkened: (adj) darkens, obscured, old, obfuscate, murky, cloudy, opaque, overcast
- darkening: (adj) dark, blue, gloomy, causing dejection; (v) darken; (n) change of color, eclipse
- darn: (n, v) mend, damn, repair; (v) stitch, restore, patch, fix; (n) darning, worthlessness, euphemism; (adj) damned
- darned: (adj) blasted, deuced, damn, cursed, goddamned, aeonian, goddamn, irritating, infernal, ageless, annoying
- darning: (n) darn, repair, stitching, embroidery, needlework, restoration, tapestry, hemming, healing, renovation, needlepoint
- dart: (n, v) dash, run, flit; (v) bound, flash, shoot, rush, race, gallop; (adj, n) arrow, rocket. ANTONYMS: (v) plod, trudge, slog, linger, dawdle, dally, delay, amble; (n) tonic
- dally, delay, amble; (n) tonic darting: (adj) arrowy, moving; (v) Sally
- darts: (n) board game, game of dart dashing: (adj) stylish, dapper, gallant, showy, smart, snappy, impetuous, rakish, raffish, brave; (adj, n) spruce. ANTONYMS: (adj) boring, unstylish, dull, bumbling, bland, awkward, drab, graceless
- dastardly: (adj) dastard, craven, base, fearful, low, shameful, ignoble, sneaky, timorous; (n) coward; (adv) recreantly. ANTONYM: (adj) honest
- daybreak: (adj, n) break of day; (n) sunrise, prime, morning, light, dawning, cockcrow, dayspring, aurora, sunup, daylight.

ANTONYMS: (n) sunset, sundown, darkness, eventide, nightfall

daydream: (v) fantasize, envisage, imagine; (n) vision, revery, reverie, fantasy, air castle, castle in the air, daydreaming; (n, v) fancy.

ANTONYMS: (n) substantiality, tangibility, alertness

daze: (v) astonish, bedazzle, astound, amaze, befuddle, bewilder, dazzle; (n, v) fog, shock; (n) stupor, trance. ANTONYMS: (v) explain, clarify; (n) alertness, clarity

dazed: (adj) bewildered, stunned, dumbfounded, muzzy, stupefied, dizzy, stupid, groggy, amazed, astounded, bleary. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, unimpressed, conscious

dazzling: (adj) brilliant, blinding, splendid, glaring, vivid, stunning, dazzlingly, striking, sparkling, fulgent, resplendent. ANTONYMS: (adj) dim, ugly, uninspired, unremarkable, unexceptional, gradual, abysmal, humdrum, dark

deadened: (adj) dead, numb, numbed, without sensation, duller, unfeeling, under, frozen, insensible, insensitive, knocked out

dearest: (n) dear, darling, love, honey, lover, sweetheart, loved one, baby; (adj) precious, intimate, sweet

dearly: (adv) affectionately, preciously, darlingly, sweetly, petly, expensively, belovedly, intimately, highly, heartfeltly, lovely

deathlike: (adj) deadly, deathly, ghastly, dead, cadaverous, thanatoid, ghostly, pale; (v) awful, soft, solemn

decayed: (adj) spoiled, corrupt, dilapidated, rank, rusty, rotting, decaying, rotted, putrid; (adj, v) wasted; (v) stale. ANTONYMS: (adj) matured, restored, strengthened

decaying: (adj) rotten, decayed, rotting, stale, decadent, stinking, decomposed, smelly, shabby, seedy; (n) fading. ANTONYM: (adj) pristine

deceive: (v) cheat, circumvent, bamboozle, pretend, hoax, fool, cozen, trick, beguile; (n, v) dupe; (n) fraud. ANTONYMS: (v) guide, inform, undeceive, protect

inform, undeceive, protect deceived: (adj) mistaken, misguided decently: (adv) becomingly, decorously, fairly, correctly, seemly, fitly, courteously, justly, appropriately, rightly, right. ANTONYMS: (adv) rudely,

Return of the rative

improperly, disreputably,

inappropriately, immorally deciduous: (adj) transient, short-lived; (v) labent, undermined decisively: (adv) resolutely, conclusively, firmly, finally, fatefully, crucially, definitively, positively, absolutely, definitely, flatly. ANTONYMS: (adv) irresolutely, unconvincingly, indecisively, aimlessly, insignificantly, halfheartedly, hesitantly

decked: (adj) bedecked, decked out, ornamented, decorated, festooned declamation: (n) speech, recitation, oration, rhetoric, elocution, ranting, oratory, public speaking

declivity: (n) decline, fall, downhill, downgrade, incline, dip, slope; (n, v) gradient; (v) acclivity, ascent, bank decorating: (adj) ornamental; (n)

decoration
decorous: (adj) decent, appropriate,
conventional, sedate, correct,
modest, prim, proper; (adj, v)
becoming, seemly, comely.
ANTONYMS: (adj) impolite,
improper, misbehaving, unsuitable,
unrefined, relaxed, inappropriate,

rowdy, undignified, defiant,

unseemly decry: (v) disparage, detract, belittle, depreciate, denounce, denigrate, censure, criticize, demean, blame, run down. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, compliment, applaud, exalt, extol,

laud, puff, approve deep-dyed: (adj) dyed-in-the-wool deepened: (adj) concentrated,

gathered deepest: (adj) inmost, center, cordial, earnest, genuine, hearty, warm, sincere, innermost. ANTONYM: (adj) outermost

defense: (n) apology, fortification, justification, security, protection, safeguard, excuse, defence, shield, defend, advocacy. ANTONYMS: (n) attack, offense, criticism, violence, prosecution, destruction, aggression, condemnation, accusation, opposition

deference: (n) homage, respect, compliance, admiration, allegiance, reverence, obedience, submission, compliancy, duty, complaisance. ANTONYMS: (n) contempt, opposition, rebellion, resistance, disobedience

defiance: (n) challenge, opposition, rebellion, insubordination,

rebelliousness, disobedience, resistance, contempt, intractableness, mutiny, contradiction. ANTONYMS: (n) acceptance, surrender, deference, conformance, submission, acquiescence, cooperation, loyalty, meekness, support, agreement defiant: (adi) bold, rebellious,

audacious, resistant, brazen, stubborn, unruly, mutinous, rude, recalcitrant, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) submissive, respectful, accepting, acquiescent, compliant, conforming, cooperative, loyal, meek, amenable

defiantly: (adv) insubordinately, insolently, rebelliously, disobediently, boldly, obstinately, recalcitrantly, brazenly, mutinously, audaciously, stubbornly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) passively, submissively, respectfully, loyally, discreetly, amenably, meekly

deficient: (adj) wanting, inadequate, scanty, imperfect, short, scarce, less, lacking, low, meager, insufficient. ANTONYMS: (adj) sufficient, perfect, ample, flawless, enough, excessive, complete, present, sound, strong, confident

defray: (v) disburse, reimburse, clear, remunerate, make payment, cover, redeem, meet, spend, liquidate, satisfy

degrade: (v) cheapen, demean, corrupt, decrease, dishonor, disparage; (n, v) disgrace, reduce; (adj, n, v) abase; (adj, v) debauch, lessen. ANTONYMS: (v) honor, admire, aggrade, elevate, uplift, worship, respect, promote, praise, dignify, purify

degrading: (adj) shameful, debasing, derogatory, humiliating, dishonorable, ignominious, disgraceful, corrupting, vile, scandalous; (n) infra dignitatem. ANTONYMS: (adj) humane, reputable

deity: (n) God, godhead, godhood, godship, idol, immortal, goddess, Jupiter; (adj, n) divinity, the Deity, theology. ANTONYMS: (n) human, mortal, person

delicacies: (n) food, delices, cates, regalia

delicacy: (adj, n) weakness, fragility, tidbit; (n) finesse, daintiness, delicate, elegance, sensitivity, luxury, treat, airiness. ANTONYMS: (n) sturdiness, toughness, durability,

- frankness, inelegance, ruggedness, vulgarity, tactlessness, insensitivity, inaccuracy, clumsiness
- delirious: (adj) crazy, wild, frantic, wandering, demented, excited, insane, mad, frenetic, doting, drunk. ANTONYMS: (adj) unexcited, rational, composed, relaxed, reasonable, balanced, lucid, collected, clearheaded, calm, dejected
- delirium: (n) craze, insanity, mania, disturbance, fever, ecstasy, derangement; (adj, n) fury; (adj) furor, rage, distraction. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, dejection
- dell: (n) vale, valley, dingle, clearing, gorge, holler, ravine, hollow, glen, cove, basin
- **delphian**: (adj) delphic, Delphinian, enigmatic, cryptic, dark, oracular, prophetic
- delusion: (n) hallucination, deception, cheat, chimera, misunderstanding, mirage, trick, fallacy, error, aberration, falsehood. ANTONYMS: (n) comprehension, fact, truth
- demarcation: (n) boundary, definition, line, confine, border, partition, bound, division, limit, separation, dividing line. ANTONYMS: (n) unity, fuzziness
- demeaned: (adj) ashamed demeanour: (n) behavior, behaviour, conduct, demeanor, comportment, deportment, manner, citizenship, correctitude, carriage, attitude
- demoniac: (adj) diabolic, devilish, possessed, demoniacal, amuck, amok, berserk, violent; (n) fiend, monster, ogre
- demonstrative: (adj, v) characteristic, typical; (adj) outgoing, explanatory, expansive, demonstrable, effusive, illustrative, indicative, expressive; (n) demonstrative pronoun.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, undemonstrative, shy, unemotional, restrained, inexpressive, inconclusive, impassive, distant, cool, mysterious
- denizen: (n) occupant, inhabitant, citizen, inmate, dweller, liver, occupier, borderer, cottager, native, indweller. ANTONYMS: (n) immigrant, foreigner, alien
- denoting: (adj) significant depart: (v) go, deviate, decease, diverge, start, stray, wander, leave, die, vary, part. ANTONYMS: (v)

- stay, arrive, enter, come, abide, conform, continue, remain, appear, converge, return
- depicted: (adj) pictured, represented, graphic, delineated; (v) depict deplore: (v) bemoan, regret, bewail, mourn, wail, moan, weep, condemn, grieve, censure, deprecate.

 ANTONYMS: (v) praise, rejoice,
- delight, support

 deprecating: (adj) deprecatory,
- belittling, ironic, deprecative, slighting, deadpan, critical, captious, depreciatory, depreciative, insulting
- derision: (n) contempt, mockery, scorn, banter, jeering, disdain, scoff, insult, irony, sport, gibe.
- ANTONYMS: (n) applause, esteem, admiration, praise, approval **descend**: (v) settle, condescend,
- down, drop, deign, subside, go down, dismount, derive, get off, come down. ANTONYMS: (v) ascend, climb, float, scale, increase, level, mount
- descending: (v) descend; (adj) downhill, down, descendent, decreasing, dropping, falling, sloping, degressive, occasive; (adv) downward. ANTONYM: (adj) upward
- desertion: (n) abandonment, defection, apostasy, dereliction, withdrawal, secession, rejection, decampment, exposure, leaving, disappearance. ANTONYMS: (n) appearance, attention, preservation
- appearance, attention, preservation **deserts**: (n) desert, just deserts, due, compensation, comeupance
- deserving: (adj) meritorious, admirable, creditable, commendable, laudable, fit, good, deserved, condign; (v) deserve, worthy of. ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy, undeserving, unimpressive
- desiring: (adj) envious, insatiable, desirous, eager; (adv) fleshly
- desirous: (adj) wistful, avid, ambitious, greedy, longing, eager, hungry, covetous, envious, agog; (adj, v) willing. ANTONYMS: (adj) undesirous, reluctant, undesiring, unconcerned
- desolate: (adj, v) desert, forlorn; (adj) bare, barren, alone, bleak, deserted, cheerless, disconsolate; (v) devastate, destroy. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, inhabited, happy, sheltered, mobbed, overcrowded, ecstatic, hopeful; (v) create, construct, build

- desolation: (n) devastation, misery, destruction, depression, grief, wretchedness, bleakness, loneliness, waste, ruin; (adj, n) desertion. ANTONYMS: (n) ecstasy, joy, productiveness, fertileness, fecundity, cheer, fruitfulness, preservation, hopefulness, cheerfulness
- despairing: (adj) hopeless, desperate, despondent, forlorn, desolate, dejected, pessimistic, sad, brokenhearted, miserable, inconsolable. ANTONYMS: (adj) hopeful, optimistic, rosy, happy, confident, cheerful
- despise: (v) disdain, loathe, depreciate, abhor, dislike, detest, slight, hate; (n, v) contemn; (n) contempt, deride. ANTONYMS: (v) respect, love, adore, appreciate, cherish, like, praise, accept
- despised: (adj) scorned, despicable, hated, abject, disparaged, mean, attaching disgrace, unpopular, unloved, reviled, opprobrious
- desponding: (adj) despairing, despondent
- despondingly: (adv) sombrely destined: (adj, v) bound, fated; (adj) predetermined, sure, inescapable, intended, predestined, inevitable, prepared, foreordained, appointed. ANTONYMS: (adj) unscheduled, unlikely
- destructible: (adj) perishable. ANTONYM: (adj) indestructible desultorily: (adv) disconnectedly, ramblingly, irregularly, immethodically, erratically, indiscriminately, spasmodically, discursively, fitfully, purposelessly, capriciously
- desultory: (adj) indiscriminate, aimless, spasmodic, purposeless, capricious, superficial, cursory, random, rambling, immethodical, fitful. ANTONYM: (adj) wholehearted
- **detailing**: (n) particularization, description, recital
- detract: (v) depreciate, defame, derogate, deprecate, traduce, disparage, lose, cut, slander, subtract, damage. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, heighten, enhance
- deuce: (n) devil, couple, two, dyad, demon, duo, duet, Twain, Dickens, brace, craps
- **devoid**: (adj) empty, vacant, absent, wanting, vacuous, destitute, clear, deficient, bereft, inane; (v) quit.

- ANTONYMS: (adj) filled, supplied, replete, full
- devotedly: (adv) affectionately, lovingly, zealously, faithfully, piously, fondly, religiously, passionately, enthusiastically, eagerly, dutifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) coldly, apathetically, unfaithfully, unenthusiastically, carelessly, disobediently
- **devotedness**: (n) loyalty, dedication, consecration, ardor, constancy, love, fidelity, attachment
- devotee: (n) admirer, buff, enthusiast, fan, addict, follower, lover, adherent, groupie; (adj) convert, Christian. ANTONYMS: (n) skeptic, adversary, enemy, foe, opponent, detractor
- devout: (adj) pious, devoted, saintly, heartfelt, holy, dear, devotional, hearty, earnest; (adj, v) pure; (adj, n) godly. ANTONYMS: (adj) irreligious, agnostic, impious, irreverent, unbelieving, undevout, unholy, atheistic, secular, uncommitted
- **dewy**: (adj) wet, dank, bedewed, humid, moist, damp, fresh, new, roric, undried, rorid
- diadem: (n) crown, coronet, tiara, circlet, sovereignty, headdress, crest, power, capitulum, cap of maintenance, crown jewels
- dial: (n) face, disc, control, selector, gnomon, pendulum, hourglass, clock, gauge; (v) telephone, operate
- diaphanous: (adj) sheer, filmy, gauzy, thin, translucent, lucid, clear, hyaline, gossamer, dainty, hyaloid. ANTONYMS: (adj) thick, opaque, heavy, robust
- dice: (v) cube, cut, chop, cut up, play dice, bet; (n) die, dice box, bone,
- dictated: (adj) set, hard-and-fast, compulsive; (n) contumely, blameworthy, abuse
- differing: (adj) divergent, opposite, disagreeing, different, diverse, heretical, dissonant, dissentaneous, discrepant; (adv) differingly; (n) divergence. ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, parallel
- diffidently: (adv) modestly, timidly, reservedly, shily, retiringly, timorously, hesitantly, reluctantly, unassumingly, coyly, fearfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) confidently, brashly, arrogantly, decisively
- diffused: (adj) spread, dispersed, dim, distributed, softened

- dignified: (adj) exalted, majestic, noble, grand, lofty, respectable, solemn, distinguished, lordly, high; (adj, v) great. ANTONYMS: (adj) undignified, foolish, dishonorable, boisterous, unceremonious, unseemly, vulgar, poor, lowly, modest, base
- dilatorily: (adv) lately, slowly, slackly, sluggishly, laggardly, remissly, pokily, backwardly, lethargically, lingeringly, negligently
- diluted: (adj) thin, watery, weak, insipid, tasteless, bland, sparse, rare, cut, washy, tame. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, concentrated, undiluted, thickened, strengthened, enriched, thick
- diminishing: (adj) abating, declining, dwindling, lessening, waning; (n) decrease, shrinking, reducing, reduction; (adv) diminishingly; (v) diminish. ANTONYMS: (adj) increasing, growing, burgeoning
- diminutive: (adj) minute, Lilliputian, small, petite, tiny, bantam, baby, exiguous, short, miniature, midget. ANTONYMS: (adj) big, huge, gigantic, large, giant, tall
- dimly: (adv) obscurely, darkly, faintly, dully, duskily, vaguely, shadowily, hazily, gloomily, somberly; (adj, adv) palely.

 ANTONYMS: (adv) clearly, strongly, distinctly
- diorama: (n) cyclorama, ikon, icon, georama, illuminated poster, cosmorama, aspect
- dipped: (adj) immersed, unfit, swaybacked, lordotic, curved in, swayback
- disagreeable: (adj) nasty, offensive, uncomfortable, distasteful, cantankerous, cross, ungrateful, abhorrent, horrible, bad, painful. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, friendly, amiable, inoffensive, acceptable, desirable, easygoing, happy, pleasing, sweet, nice
- disappoint: (v) fail, defeat, balk, baffle, disenchant, betray, circumvent, bilk, mock, foil; (n, v) put out. ANTONYMS: (v) please, satisfy, encourage, fulfill, succeed, comfort, inspire
- disarranged: (adj) disheveled, disorderly, untidy, deranged, disturbed, delirious, disordered, unkempt, tousled, topsy-turvy, mussy. ANTONYM: (adj) neat discern: (v) differentiate, see,

- comprehend, detect, distinguish, make out, perceive, find, note; (n, v) descry; (adj, v) recognize.

 ANTONYMS: (v) Miss, neglect, disregard, observe, overlook
- discerning: (adj) apprehensive, perceptive, acute, shrewd, discriminating, discreet, penetrating, refined, judicious, sharp, conscious. ANTONYMS: (adj) indiscriminate, undiscriminating, disregardful, negligent, overlooking, undiscerning, unobservant, unperceptive, insensitive, obtuse, tasteless
- **disclosing**: (n) confession, communication
- discomfiture: (n) embarrassment, confusion, perturbation, discomfort, discomfit, disconcertion, discomposure, humiliation, consternation; (adj) rebuff, rout. ANTONYMS: (n) contentment, honor
- disconcerted: (adj) confused, confounded, bewildered, blank, embarrassed, disturbed, troubled, worried, ashamed, discombobulated, bemused. ANTONYMS: (adj) composed,
- soothed, unabashed, relaxed disconcerting: (adj) disquieting, upsetting, baffling, alarming, disconcertingly, disturbing, worrying, embarrassing, discomfiting, shocking, confusing. ANTONYMS: (adj) soothing, comforting, pleasing
- disconnected: (adj) abrupt, disjointed, desultory, fragmentary, confused, incoherent, unconnected, discontinuous, discrete, scrappy; (adj, prep) separate. ANTONYMS: (adj) connected, joined, continuous, legato, entire, coherent
- disconsolately: (adv) unhappily, gloomily, sadly, dismally, dolefully, melancholy, forlornly, dispiritedly, downcastly, glumly, downheartedly. ANTONYM: (adv) contentedly
- discontinuance: (n) discontinuation, ending, stoppage, desistance, intermission, interruption, pause, halt, disjunction, separation, end. ANTONYMS: (n) continuance, continuation
- discourses: (n) talks
- discourtesy: (n) indignity, rudeness, incivility, affront, contempt, contumely, insult, abruptness, brusqueness, impudence, bad

- manners. ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, civility
- disdainfully: (adv) contemptuously, superciliously, haughtily, proudly, cavalierly, derogatorily, contumeliously, sneeringly, arrogantly, insultingly, condescendingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) humbly, hopefully
- disencumbered: (adj) unencumbered, unburdened, unembarrassed
- disengaged: (adj) vacant, unemployed, disentangled, free, freed, untrammelled, devoid, unreserved, detached, liberated, loosened
- disgraced: (adj) shamed, dishonored, abashed, ashamed, damaged, dishonest, humiliated, mortified, disfigured
- disgraceful: (adj) dishonorable, scandalous, shocking, degrading, disreputable, infamous, base, ignominious, outrageous, black, ignoble. ANTONYMS: (adj) admirable, honorable, reputable, exalted, commendable, respectable, noble, glorious
- disguised: (adj) cloaked, concealed, masked, secret, hidden, veiled, in disguise, incognito, blind; (adj, v) private; (n) groggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) recognizable, unmasked, uncovered, uncloaked, revealed, open, obvious
- dishearten: (adj, v) discourage; (v) depress, daunt, sadden, deject, intimidate, deter, disappoint, dispirit, frustrate, unnerve. ANTONYMS: (v) cheer, hearten, inspirit, rouse, embolden, inspire, please
- dishonesty: (n) corruption, betrayal, crookedness, injustice, deceitfulness, treachery, deviousness, duplicity, falsehood, racket, trick.
 ANTONYMS: (n) frankness, sincerity, truthfulness, honestness, reliability
- dishonour: (v) discredit, disgrace, attaint, shame, degrade, desecrate, violate, rape, outrage; (n) stigma, opprobrium
- dishonourable: (adj) base, disgraceful, shabby, dishonest, sordid, discreditable, ignoble, shameful, crooked, opprobrious, black
- disinclined: (adj) reluctant, loath, averse, indisposed, loth, backward, not content, opposed, dubious, afraid, not in the vein. ANTONYMS:

- (adj) tending, willing, leaning, eager, bent, keen, disposed
- disinterested: (adj) indifferent, detached, fair, unbiased, objective, neutral, dispassionate, equitable, evenhanded, uninterested, impassive. ANTONYMS: (adj) biased, interested, prejudiced, eager, passionate, riveted, concerned, partial, personal
- disinterestedness: (n) fairness, disinterest, nonpartisanship, detachment, indifference, equity, aloofness, neutrality, disadvantage, unfriendliness
- dislocate: (v) displace, move, disturb, disjoint, muddle, wrench, transfer, jumble, splay, disorganize, dislodge. ANTONYMS: (v) restore, unite, join, organize, replace, wedge
- **dislodge**: (v) bump, shift, throw, extrude, banish, discharge, dislocate, expel, eject, free, move.
- ANTONYMS: (v) wedge, root, seat, replace, plant, embed, stick, restore
- dismay: (adj, n, v) appall; (v) depress, dishearten, discourage, horrify; (n) consternation, discouragement; (n, v) daunt, affright; (adj, n) terror, dread. ANTONYMS: (n, v) delight; (v) stimulate, assure, ensure, encourage, elate; (n) spirit, satisfaction, mettle, resolution, assurance
- **dismissing**: (v) dismiss; (n) acquittal, denial, dimission
- disparagement: (n, v) detraction, dispraise; (n) aspersion, derogation, calumny, contempt, depreciation, defamation, degradation, disgrace, scorn. ANTONYMS: (n) adoration, credit, commendation, acclaim, compliment, admiration, glorification, respect
- dispersed: (adj) sparse, spread, distributed, scattered, diffused, scatter, outspread, disseminated, split, dissipated, separate
- displaced: (adj) disjointed, homeless, gone, extendant, disordered, deranged
- **displacement**: (n) deposition, transfer, movement, shift, translation, motion, electric flux density, amplitude, expulsion, rejection, elocation
- displeasure: (n) resentment, discomfort, dissatisfaction, dislike, discontent, exasperation, disfavor, annoyance, offense, pique, disapproval. ANTONYMS: (n) satisfaction, pleasure, enjoyment,

- happiness, delight, contentment, equanimity, approval
- disposed: (adj) prone, apt, ready, subject, prepared, liable, game, inclined, fain, likely, minded. ANTONYMS: (adj) ailing, indisposed, unlikely, disinclined, reluctant, impervious
- disregarded: (adj) unnoticed, neglected, unseen, written off, wretchless, unvalued, unheeded, overlooked, lost, irrecoverable; (v) unregarded
- disrespectfully: (adv) impudently, insolently, rudely, irreverently, impertinently, flippantly, impiously, discourteously, cheekily, uncivilly, boldly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deferentially, politely
- dissatisfied: (adj) discontent, disgruntled, disappointed, put out, displeased, malcontent, grumpy, annoyed, disaffected; (adj, v) querulous, complaining. ANTONYMS: (adj) content, contented, happy, fulfilled, gratified, pleased, idealistic
- dissipate: (adj, v) waste; (v) disperse, squander, disappear, diffuse, consume, scatter, disseminate, break, evaporate, spend.
 ANTONYMS: (v) save, conserve, appear, collect, hoard, absorb, gather
- dissuade: (v) discourage, deter, advise, remonstrate, divert, expostulate, dehort, hinder, repress, reason, detain. ANTONYMS: (v) persuade, encourage, induce, influence
- distaff: (adj) female, rack; (v) dizen; (n) sphere, domain, area, arena distasteful: (adj, v) disagreeable; (adj) offensive, unwelcome, ugly, revolting, undesirable, objectionable, disgustful, foul, nasty; (v) unpalatable. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, tasteful, attractive, appealing, savory, pleasing, desirable, appetizing, tasty, nice,
- distilled: (adj) alcoholic distinctness: (n) clearness, sharpness, definition, otherness, perspicuity, discreteness, articulate sound, separation, uncloudedness, dissimilarity; (adj) conspicuousness. ANTONYM: (n) indistinctness
- distinguishable: (adj, adv) appreciable, perceptible, definite, visible; (adj) distinct, apparent, marked, differentiable, recognizable;

(adv) observable, noticeable. ANTONYM: (adj) inseparable distracted: (adj) demented, inattentive, abstracted, crazy, frenzied, distraught, preoccupied, distressed, confused; (adj, v) mad, disconcerted. ANTONYMS: (adj) attentive, alert, assured, calm, mellow

distracting: (adj) unsettling, vociferous, unruly, troublesome, troublemaking, misleading, embarrassing, divulsive, disruptive; (v) riveting, exciting

distressed: (adj) worried, distraught, anxious, sad, disturbed, downcast, hurt, distracted, wretched, shocked, troubled. ANTONYMS: (adj) composed, content, euphoric, happy, comforted, glad, joyful, collected, unconcerned, unaffected

distressing: (adj) sorrowful, deplorable, pitiful, painful, bad, depressing, disturbing, sore, lamentable, hurtful, worrying. ANTONYMS: (adj) reassuring, heartwarming, pleasing, unemotional, soothing, comforting, comfortable, cheerful, appealing, happy

distressingly: (adv) painfully, worryingly, pitifully, disturbingly, sorely, pathetically, alarmingly, sorrowfully, heartbreakingly, depressingly, excruciatingly

distrust: (n, v) mistrust, discredit; (n) suspicion, misgiving, disbelief, uncertainty, hesitation; (v) suspect, disbelieve, question; (adj) distrustful. ANTONYMS: (n) confidence, faith, trustingness, certainty, belief, optimism; (v) believe, entrust, depend, confide

distrustfully: (adv) suspiciously, incredulously, cynically, doubtingly, warily, dubiously, jealously, leerily; (adj, adv) doubtfully, skeptically, hesitantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) trustingly, confidently

disused: (adj) antiquated, old, outmoded, deserted, ancient, antique, neglected, derelict, unoccupied, old-fashioned, abandoned

divergence: (n) disagreement, dissimilarity, difference, deviation, contrast, departure, split, divarication, variation, digression; (adj, n) variance. ANTONYMS: (n) meeting, agreement, amalgamation, concurrence, conformity, concord, similarity divergent: (adj) dissimilar, differing, distinct, diverging, unlike, conflicting, disparate, diverse, abnormal, separate; (v) diverge.

ANTONYMS: (adj) similar, convergent, alike, parallel, agreeing, central, indistinct

diverging: (adj) branching, divergingly, centrifugal, divaricate, oblique

divers: (adj, v) sundry, various, separate; (adj) several, many, diverse, miscellaneous, not a few, varied; (v) diversified; (n) diver

diversified: (adj) diverse, different, heterogeneous, manifold, divers, varied, altered, multifarious, motley, assorted, miscellaneous

divert: (adj, v) distract; (v) entertain, avert, delight, deflect, deviate, beguile, depart, disport, digress, sidetrack. ANTONYMS: (v) bore, irritate, maintain, set, upset, stay, displease, sadden

diving: (n) immersion, dives, belly whopper, skin diving, belly flopper, belly whop, diving event, gainer; (adv) headlong, headfirst; (v) submerge

divinity: (n) God, theology, divineness, immortal, godship, godhead, spirit, demiurge, apologetics, demigod; (adj, n) the Deity. ANTONYM: (n) devil

dodo: (n) fogey, fogy, raphus cucullatus, oldster, dolt, columbiform bird, fossil, oaf, dunce, dummy; (adj) stupid

dogcart: (n) trap, random, unicorn, tandem, Whitechapel, buggy, cart

dogged: (adj) obdurate, stubborn, willful, bullheaded, insistent, obstinate, tenacious, wilful, untiring, resolute, persistent. ANTONYMS: (adj) yielding, compromising, indifferent, undetermined

doggedly: (adv) stubbornly, firmly, tenaciously, persistently, resolutely, pertinaciously, perseveringly, obdurately, steadfastly, untiringly, steadily. ANTONYM: (adv) hesitantly

dogmatic: (adj) arbitrary, overbearing, authoritative, authoritarian, narrow, peremptory, doctrinal, doctrinaire; (adj, v) absolute, confident, formal. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, doubtful, uncertain, amenable, equivocal, indecisive, questioning, tolerant, ambiguous, polite, liberal doings: (n) conduct, behavior, behaviour, deportment, demeanour, proceeding, episode, traffic; (v) act, deed, job

doleful: (adj) mournful, sorrowful, sad, disconsolate, melancholy, miserable, piteous, dolorous, somber, woeful; (adj, v) dolesome. ANTONYMS: (adj) gleeful, happy, glad, cheery, elated, euphoric

domicile: (n) dwelling, abode, residence, home, house, address, lodging, place, habitat; (v) lodge; (n, v) sojourn

donkey: (n) ass, idiot, fool, moke, dicky, simpleton, jackass, dizzard, domestic ass, donkeys, hinny do-nothing: (adj) inactive; (n)

sluggard

don't: (adv) not: (n) tabe

don't: (adv) not; (n) taboo,
 prohibition

doom: (n, v) sentence, destine, fate; (v) condemn, convict, damn; (n) destiny, day of reckoning, chance, luck, lot. ANTONYMS: (n) plan; (v) absolve

dotted: (adj) speckled, dappled, specked, spotted, dashed, stippled, scattered, spotty, dot, mottled, broken

doubly: (adv) twice, twofold, two times, in two ways, dualistically doubtfully: (adj, adv) hesitantly, distrustfully; (adv) suspiciously, uncertainly, doubtingly, tentatively, indecisively, unsurely, skeptically, precariously, shadily. ANTONYMS: (adv) indisputably, surely, trustingly, inevitably, confidently, optimistically, plausibly

doubting: (adj) doubtful, distrustful, disbelieving, incredulous, doubt, skeptical, suspicious, sceptical, wary, doubts, distrusting. ANTONYM: (adj) credulous

doubtingly: (adv) distrustfully, skeptically, suspiciously, sceptically, uncertainly, questioningly, hesitantly, cynically, apprehensively, incredulously; (adj) doubting. ANTONYM: (adv) optimistically

dough: (n) cash, money, batter, kale, lucre, pastry, pelf, shekels, gelt; (adj) clay, butter

downcast: (adj) depressed, dejected, dispirited, blue, desolate, disconsolate, gloomy, low, sad, downhearted, discouraged. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, vivacious, cheery, elated, joyous, up, positive

downhill: (adj) descending,

- declivous; (adj, adv) downward; (v) declivity, ascent, acclivity, bank, hill, gradient; (adv) downwards; (n) descent. ANTONYMS: (adj) upward, uphill
- downpour: (n) cloudburst, torrent, storm, shower, soaker, rainstorm, flood, waterspout, torrential rain, monsoon; (v) drench. ANTONYMS: (n) drought, shower; (v) drizzle
- downward: (adv) underneath, under, below, downwards, downwardly, beneath, down below; (adj) downcast, sloping, depressed, downright. ANTONYMS: (adv) up; (adj) rising
- drapery: (n) drape, clothing, dress, blind, raiment, costume, toilette, furnishings, trim, guise, toilet
- drapes: (n) drapery, attire, array, garment, long curtains
- draught: (n, v) draft, sketch, design, potation, plan; (n) dose, air current, wind, gulp, outline; (v) blueprint
- draughts: (n) solitaire, go bang, backgammon, misere chess, chess, dominos, board game
- dread: (n, v) apprehension, fear, panic; (n) anxiety, awe, consternation, alarm, trepidation, dismay, foreboding, terror. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasing, welcomed, pleasant; (v) welcome, want; (n) reassurance, fearlessness, confidence, security, ease, calm
- dreaded: (adj) awful, terrible, cowardly, causing horror, dire, direful, desperate, dreadful, fearful, fearsome; (v) drad
- dreadfully: (adj, adv) frightfully, shockingly; (adv) fearfully, appallingly, hideously, horrendously, horribly, atrociously, ghastly, tremendously, horridly. ANTONYMS: (adv) pleasantly, wonderfully, happily, hardly, superbly, well
- dreamily: (adv) languorously, moonily, pensively, sleepily, dreamfully, vaguely, visionarily, slowly, shadowily, idealistically, lethargically. ANTONYMS: (adv) vigorously, alertly, calmly, carefully
- dreaming: (n) reverie, ambition, nightmare, conception, castle in the air; (adj) absent-minded, asleep, visionary, vacant, wistful, rapt
- drenching: (adj, n) soaking; (n) wetting, dipsomaniac, sousing, dip, boozer, alcoholic
- **dribble**: (n, v) trickle, drop, drool, slobber, drivel, flow; (v) distill, ooze,

- trill, spout; (n) spit. ANTONYMS: (v) swamp, stream, pour, gush, inundate
- drily: (adv) parchedly, thirstily, waterlessly, monotonously, stalely, driedly, sharply, sardonically, tediously, hardly, plainly
- drinker: (n) tippler, drunkard, imbiber, toper, guzzler, bacchanal, bacchant, carouser, alcoholic, boozer, potator
- dripping: (adj) wet, damp, drenched, sodden, soaked, soggy; (adj, adv) sopping, soaking; (adj, v) reeking; (n) dribble, a drop. ANTONYM: (adj) lacking
- drizzle: (n, v) rain, spray, mist; (v) drip, dribble, splosh; (n) rainfall, light rain, wet, plash; (adj) drizzling. ANTONYM: (v) deluge
- drone: (n, v) hum, murmur; (v)
 whine, idler, purr; (n) dawdler,
 droning, laggard, sluggard, roll;
 (adv, n) bourdon
- drooping: (adj) flabby, pendulous, limp, flaccid, cernuous, flagging, languid, floppy, lax, tired; (n) droop. ANTONYMS: (adj) taut, firm
- drowsy: (adj, n) sleepy; (adj) lazy, comatose, somnolent, slow, lethargic, sluggish, dull, indolent, soporific, listless. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, awake, lively, vigorous, vivacious, refreshed
- druidical: (adj) druidic drumming: (n) roll, drums, sound, thump, pulse, barrelling, percussion, buzzing, stress, tapping, throb
- drunkard: (n) alcoholic, drinker, boozer, dipsomaniac, rummy, inebriate, toper, sot, bibber, lush, imbiber
- drying: (n) curing, desiccation, seasoning, dryness, ventilation, drying up, aeration, airing; (adj) desiccative, siccative, parching
- dubiously: (adv) suspiciously, uncertainly, problematically, fishily, vaguely, incredulously, skeptically, equivocally, distrustfully, questionably, undecidedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) clearly, certainly
- dubiousness: (n) doubtfulness, dubiety, uncertainness, disbelief, misgiving, incertitude, suspense, uncertainty, distrust, suspiciousness, question. ANTONYMS: (n) reliability, honesty, probability, certitude dulled: (adi) dull blunted
- **dulled**: (adj) dull, blunted, benumbed, duller, blunt,

- uninterested, rounded, jaded, grayed, colorless, deadened **dullness**: (n) apathy, bluntness,
- boredom, dreariness, flatness, tedium, obtuseness, torpor, monotony, lethargy; (adj, n) phlegm. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, intensity, brilliance, excitement, intelligence, shine, asperity, animation, gloss, clarity, variation
- dusky: (adj) dark, cloudy, gloomy, black, swarthy, dull, murky, obscure, dingy, sooty, somber. ANTONYMS: (adj) light, bright, sunny, radiant, clear
- dwell: (adj, v) inhabit; (v) reside, bide, live, stay, lodge, delay, occupy, continue, be, settle. ANTONYM: (v) wander
- **dweller**: (n) tenant, resident, occupant, inhabitant, liver, occupier, citizen, native, cottager, borderer; (v) habitant
- dwelling: (n) domicile, home, residence, house, place, accommodation, address, building, lodge, habitation; (adj, n) dwell dwelt: (v) dwell, inhabit
- dwindling: (adj) decreasing, declining, abating, diminishing, waning; (n) lessening, narrowing, dwindlement, shrinking; (v) dwindle; (adv) diminishingly. ANTONYMS: (n) growth; (adj) burgeoning, high
- dyed: (adj) colored, tinted, coloured, bleached, stained, painted, artificially coloured, biased, artificial, unreal, colorful
- eagerness: (n, v) desire, aspiration; (n) enthusiasm, avidity, cupidity, readiness, passion, keenness, ambition, fervor, avidness. ANTONYMS: (n) indifference, unwillingness, aloofness, disinterest, lethargy, listlessness, patience, gloom, reluctance
- earnest: (adj, v) devout; (adj) eager, solemn, heartfelt, diligent, studious, sincere, intense, ardent, staid; (n) guarantee. ANTONYMS: (adj) flippant, halfhearted, uncertain, insincere, unimportant, nonchalant, lethargic, apathetic, unenthusiastic, indifferent, frivolous
- earnestly: (adj, adv) seriously; (adv) eagerly, intently, zealously, solemnly, ardently, fervently, heartily, gravely, warmly, passionately. ANTONYMS: (adv) indifferently, insincerely, unconcernedly, jokingly

- earnestness: (n) seriousness, sincerity, gravity, fervor, devotion, graveness, staidness, honesty; (adj, n) ardor, zeal, intentness. ANTONYMS: (n) slackness, lightness, carelessness, frivolousness, cheerfulness, insincerity, flippancy
- earthly: (adj, n) terrestrial; (adj) carnal, worldly, conceivable, human, geotic, secular, terrene, temporal, telluric, sublunary. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritual, divine, ethereal, immortal, impossible, improbable, inconceivable, celestial eastward: (adj) eastbound, eastern;
- (adv) eastwards ebony: (adj, n) sable; (adj) black,
- dark, jet, soot, raven, smut, sloe; (n) jet black, coal black, wood eclipse: (v) darken, overshadow,
- cloud, shade, outdo, surpass, dim, transcend, outshine, outweigh; (n) disappearance. ANTONYMS: (n) rise; (v) fail, brighten, clear, disclose
- ecstatic: (adj) delighted, excited, rhapsodic, rapt, exultant, blissful, joyful, elated, happy, transported; (n, v) thrilling. ANTONYMS: (adj) depressed, down, unhappy, dejected, desolate, despairing, miserable, troubled, sad, calm
- edgeways: (adv) edgewise, sideways, barely; (adj) lateral
- efface: (v) cancel, erase, obliterate, destroy, expunge, wipe out, suppress, sponge, blot out, blur, raze
- effeminate: (adj) womanish, delicate, epicene, sissy, emasculate, tender, ladylike, cissy, easy, voluptuous; (adj, v) feminate. ANTONYMS: (adj) macho, manly, masculine
- efficacious: (adj, n) effective, effectual, efficient; (adj) potent, operative, powerful, valid, active, energetic, sovereign, successful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unproductive, inefficient, incapable, ineffective, useless
- effigy: (n) likeness, figure, copy, idol, simulacrum, picture, effigies, dummy, appearance, semblance, graven image
- effulgence: (n) brilliance, brightness, radiancy, glow, radiance, luster, burnish, glory, shine, sheen, refulgence
- **elaborated**: (adj) elaborate, careful, finished, wrought
- **elaborately**: (adv) detailedly, fancily, laboredly, complicatedly, minutely,

- extensively, flamboyantly, knottily, ornamentally, involvedly, ornately. ANTONYM: (adv) simply
- elapsed: (adj) gone, forgotten, lapsed, back, beyond, onwards, over and done
- elastic: (adj) flexible, springy, soft, pliable, resilient, limber, pliant, yielding, ductile, buoyant; (n) rubber band. ANTONYMS: (adj) rigid, stiff, inflexible, inelastic, unadaptable, intolerant, firm, hard, unyielding
- elegantly: (adv) exquisitely, tastefully, genteelly, neatly, delicately, handsomely, finely, stylishly, refinedly, polishedly, beautifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) coarsely, clumsily, tastelessly, untidily, awkwardly, vigorously
- elevated: (adj) exalted, towering, noble, lofty, grand, great, majestic, tall, elated, magnanimous; (adj, v) steep. ANTONYMS: (adj) base, lowly, decreased, humble, inferior, lessened, low, sunken, undignified, lowered
- elevation: (n) height, highness, exaltation, ascent, climb, hill, aggrandizement, raise, El, Alt, stature. ANTONYMS: (n) degradation, descent, levelness, depression, downgrading, demotion, drop, depth
- elope: (v) escape, run off, flee, desert, bolt, slip away, decamp, run, fly, run away, leave
- elopement: (n) escape, flight, running
 away
- emanation: (n) emission, effluvium, effusion, effluence, efflux, radiation, excretion, exhalation, flow, egress, ectoplasm
- embellish: (v) dress, adorn, decorate, deck, beautify, ornament, embroider, trim, bedeck, gild, garnish. ANTONYMS: (v) deface, understate, disfigure, mar, spoil, uglify
- **ember**: (n) coal, embers, clinker, fragment, glow, ashes, flash, flicker, glimmer
- embers: (v) cinder, ash, scoriae; (n)
 fire, ashes
- embodied: (adj) incarnate, corporate, corporeal, corporal, bodied, personified, incorporated, combined, tangible, associated, in person
- embodiment: (n) shape, epitome, incarnation, avatar, amalgamation, union, unification, incorporation,

- coalescence, cast; (adj) integration **embraced**: (adj) popular
- embracing: (n) embrace, hugging, kissing, taking on, implementation, espousal, clutches; (adj) twining, osculant, grasping, close
- eminence: (n) distinction, elevation, altitude, celebrity, superiority, rank, excellence, fame, glory, prominence, status. ANTONYMS: (n) insignificance, cavity, depression, unimportance, dip, commonness, inferiority
- emissary: (n) ambassador, courier, agent, spy, messenger, delegate, representative, legate, diplomat, detective, deputy
- emitting: (n) emission; (adj) flowing, mittent, emissive
- emphatic: (adj) decided, categorical, expressive, forceful, pronounced, assertive, loud, important, emphatical, insistent; (adj, v) absolute. ANTONYMS: (adj) insignificant, unassertive, understated, unemphatic, halfhearted
- emphatically: (adv) decidedly, definitely, positively, categorically, flatly, distinctly, absolutely, explicitly, forcefully, firmly, expressly
- emptied: (adj) empty, void, depleted, emptier, annulled, open, vacuous
- emptiness: (n) blankness, blank, void, vanity, vacuity, worthlessness, futility, space, inanity, inanition, hollowness. ANTONYMS: (n) richness, fullness, value, importance, clutter
- emptying: (n) evacuation, draining, discharge, voidance, drainage, remotion, removal, voiding, elimination, unloading; (adj) cathartic
- empyrean: (n) welkin, heavens, heaven, sky, firmament, celestial sphere, vault of heaven; (adj) sublime, heavenly, ethereal, celestial
- enchantment: (n) attraction, captivation, charm, conjuration, sorcery, spell, bewitchment, incantation, delight, bewitchery; (adj, n) rapture. ANTONYMS: (n) displeasure, discomfort
- encircled: (adj) enclosed, bounded, circinate, circular, decorated, delimited, ringed, wreathed, bordered, annulated, annular
- encircling: (adj, prep) surrounding; (prep) around; (adj) comprehensive, encompassing, roundabout,

- circuitous, rotary, circumferential, inclusive; (v) encircle
- enclosing: (n) enclose, inclosure, boxing, encasement, introduction, insertion, intromission, surrounding, incasement, grip, envelopment
- encompassed: (adj) bounded encrusted: (adj) crusted, crustlike, covered, smudged, dirty, filthy, peeling, grubby, soiled, flaking, curmudgeonly. ANTONYM: (adj) smooth
- encumbered: (adj) burdened, burdensome, weighed down, heavy, deep, clayey, cloggy. ANTONYM: (adj) unencumbered
- endangered: (n) tiger, white rhinoceros; (adj) risky, vulnerable, defenseless, at risk, in danger
- endeared: (adj) dear
- endlessly: (adv) incessantly, ceaselessly, unendingly, continually, perpetually, infinitely, constantly, everlastingly, boundlessly, unceasingly, eternally. ANTONYMS: (adv) briefly, intermittently
- endurance: (adj, n) sufferance; (n) stamina, tolerance, courage, permanence, continuance, energy, fortitude, tenacity, duration, toughness. ANTONYMS: (n) weakness, inconsistency, impatience, frailty, discontinuation, discontinuance, death
- endure: (adj, n, v) continue, support; (n, v) bear, suffer, stand, be; (v) accept, undergo, allow, stay, tolerate. ANTONYMS: (v) perish, die, break, fall, discontinue, crumble, end, enjoy, resign, quit, collapse
- enduring: (adj) durable, abiding, lasting, permanent, continuing, constant, hardy, immortal, eternal, stable; (adv) enduringly.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) impatient, transient, fleeting, mortal, modern, insubstantial, inconstant, fickle, erratic, unstable
- enervate: (adj, v) debilitate, weaken, enfeeble, unnerve; (v) exhaust, fatigue, break, weary, impair, devitalize; (adj) relax. ANTONYMS: (v) strengthen, empower, activate, energize, invigorate
- engender: (v) cause, breed, generate, bring about, make, bring forth, create, produce, procreate, father, bring. ANTONYMS: (v) stop, destroy, halt, finish

- engrossed: (adj) rapt, engaged, intent, occupied, preoccupied, busy, fascinated, obsessed, thoughtful, hooked; (adj, v) immersed.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) disinterested, bored, distracted, indifferent, unconcerned, uninterested, inattentive, carefree
- enigma: (adj, n) mystery, riddle; (n) puzzle, secret, perplexity, poser, question, problem, closed book, nut to crack, logogriph. ANTONYMS: (n) clearness, explanation
- enlarging: (adj) growing, augmenting, increscent, expanding; (n) amplification, addition
- enlightenment: (n) light, information, education, culture, civilization, instruction, wisdom, illumination, notice, Age of Reason; (n, v) knowledge
- enmity: (n, v) animosity; (n) antagonism, animus, hostility, aggression, rancor, ill will, antipathy, hatred, war, dislike. ANTONYMS: (n) friendship, friendliness, affinity, love, kindness, affection, adoration, amity,
- cooperation, goodwill ennoble: (n, v) dignify, honor; (v) elevate, advance, glorify, exalt, aggrandize, refine, gentle, enhance, sublime
- ennoblement: (n) status, exaltation, elevation, condition, nobility ennui: (n) fatigue, tedium, weariness, melancholy, monotony, tediousness, dissatisfaction, listlessness, apathy; (v) bore, pall. ANTONYMS: (n) variation, liveliness, enthusiasm, energy, interest
- enriched: (adj) educated enriching: (n) enrichment; (v) enrich; (adj) uplifting, educational, inspiring, elevating, edifying, artistic, enlightening
- enroll: (v) enlist, enter, draft, enrol, record, join, matriculate, recruit, list, insert, inscribe. ANTONYMS: (v) omit, withdraw, pass, neglect, disregard, discard, reject, leave
- ensconced: (v) imbedded, situate, posited
- entangle: (n, v) tangle; (v) embrangle, complicate, involve, snarl, entwine, mat; (adj, v) enmesh, embarrass, confuse, bewilder. ANTONYMS: (v) disentangle, disengage, extricate, free, unravel, untangle, explain, undo
- entangled: (adj) complicated, intricate, embroiled, complex, foul,

- confused, matted, tangled, inextricable, knotty; (v) entangle enterprising: (adj) bold, energetic, active, aggressive, courageous, vigorous, ambitious, go-ahead, brave, pushing; (adj, n) daring. ANTONYMS: (adj) lethargic, unenterprising, passive, inactive, indolent, lazy, cautious, cowardly entertained: (adj) diverted, pleased
- entertainer: (n) host, performer, comedian, actor, humorist, artist, musician, bombshell, busker, artiste, comic
- enthusiast: (n) addict, fanatic, fiend, fan, admirer, freak, aficionado, advocate, fancier, buff; (adj, n) zealot. ANTONYMS: (n) skeptic, depreciator, disparager, opponent
- enticing: (adj, v) alluring; (adj) tempting, attractive, beguiling, inviting, seductive, engaging, fetching, appealing, fascinating, enthralling. ANTONYMS: (adj) unappealing, unattractive, revolting
- entrancing: (adj) captivating, enthralling, bewitching, fascinating, charming, attractive, magnetic, glamorous, tempting, engaging, enticing. ANTONYM: (adj) boring
- entreaty: (n) plea, prayer, request, petition, adjuration, supplication, suit, demand, desire, invocation; (v) solicitation
- entrust: (v) deposit, depute, commission, commend, delegate, surrender, trust, assign, hand over, commit, confide. ANTONYM: (v) retain
- enveloped: (adj) convoluted, enclosed, cover, bounded, Byzantine, clothed, involved, misty, swallowed, vestured, emotionally involved
- environs: (adj, n) purlieus; (n) vicinity, confines, outskirts, environment, entourage, precincts, scene, surround, surroundings; (adj) vicinage
- ephemeral: (adj) passing, temporary, transient, brief, momentary, transitory, cursory, evanescent, fugacious, fugitive, impermanent. ANTONYMS: (adj) lasting, enduring, eternal, everlasting
- epicure: (n) epicurean, bon vivant, sensualist, gastronome, hedonist, glutton, gastronomer, foodie, gourmand, voluptuary, connoisseur
- epicurean: (n) gastronome, gourmet, bon vivant, sensualist, hedonist, connoisseur; (adj) sybaritic,

- voluptuary, voluptuous, luxurious, luscious. ANTONYMS: (adj) austere, humble, modest, plain, simple
- epigram: (n) aphorism, joke, witticism, expression, locution, saying, crack, wisecrack, moral, jeu d'esprit, smart saying
- epoch: (n) era, date, period, day, season, time, term, cycle, crisis, date of reference, times
- equable: (adj) equal, temperate, stable, mild, balanced, peaceful, halcyon, placid, pacific, sedate, moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) spasmodic, vacillating, variable, unequal, irregular, intemperate, fluctuating, inequable, jumpy, senseless
- equanimity: (n) aplomb, poise, calmness, calm, temper, peace, imperturbability, temperament, serenity, tranquility; (adj, n) stoicism. ANTONYMS: (n) panic, anger, excitableness, fear, hysteria, provinces excitation application application and the provinces of the provinces.
- nervousness, agitation, anxiety equinox: (n) cosmic time, celestial
- point, autumnal equinox equipoise: (v) poise, offset; (n, v) balance, counterweight; (n) equilibration, counterbalance, symmetry, counterpoise, balancing, equiponderance, equalizer
- erection: (n, v) building, structure; (n) assembly, construction, erecting, architecture, installation, creation, foundation, framework; (adj) elevation
- errand: (n) chore, mission, job, task, assignment, embassy, duty, charge, messenger, communication, work
- errant: (adj) devious, vagabond, erring, erroneous, perverse, fallible, mistaken, migrant, fugitive; (adj, n) notorious; (adv) adrift. ANTONYMS: (adj) reliable, right, pure, inerrant, correct, trustworthy, righteous
- erratic: (adj) capricious, irregular, eccentric, freakish, broken, desultory, planetary, unstable, temperamental, quaint; (adj, v) stray. ANTONYMS: (adj) consistent, constant, dependable, predictable, regular, certain, steady, unchanging, reliable, common, stable
- erroneously: (adv) mistakenly, falsely, incorrectly, faultily, inaccurately, fallaciously, wrong, inexactly, untruely, misguidedly, amiss. ANTONYMS: (adv) accurately, rightly

- escaping: (n) evasion, getaway, break, breakout, running away, running off, run-around; (adj) fugitive
- especial: (adj) extraordinary, special, specific, chief, individual, distinct, distinctive, characteristic, appropriate, peculiar, express.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) general, normal, common, unexceptional, usual
- esplanade: (n) walkway, park, parade, mall, public walk, place, boulevard, path; (adj, n) terrace; (adj) parterre, estrade
- estimation: (n) deference, assessment, calculation, approximation, appraisal, attention; (n, v) esteem, consideration, regard, reputation, credit. ANTONYMS: (n) calculation, disbelief, doubt
- estranged: (adj) disaffected, separated, confused, bitter, anomic, neurotic, lonely, homeless, friendless, foreign, factious
- estrangement: (n) disaffection, separation, rift, coolness, isolation, break, split, rupture, withdrawal, breach; (v) estrange. ANTONYMS: (n) reconciliation, propitiation, conciliation
- eternally: (adv) always, permanently, incessantly, perpetually, constantly, ceaselessly, endlessly, unendingly, unceasingly, lastingly; (adj, adv) forever. ANTONYMS: (adv) briefly, sporadically
- ether: (adj) air, elastic fluid, anaesthetic agent, steam, flatus, fume, reek, vapor; (n) divinyl ether, firmament, vinyl ether
- etna: (n) Bunsen burner, Bunsen, Mt Etna, mount Etna
- evanescence: (n) ephemerality, evaporation, occultation, volatility, fugacity, caducity, transience, transiency, fugitiveness, ephemeralness
- evanescent: (adj) passing, temporary, fleeting, transitory, fugitive, momentary, transient, cursory, temporal, intangible, short-lived
- evaporate: (v) disappear, dissolve, dissipate, dry, melt away, exhale, vaporize, concentrate, pass; (n) vapor; (adj, v) fade. ANTONYMS: (v) appear, wet, dampen, soak, drench
- evasively: (adv) shiftily, deceptively, elusively, indirectly, deceitfully, shufflingly, falsely, misleadingly, ambiguously, cautiously, carefully. ANTONYM: (adv) carelessly

- eventful: (adj) fateful, weighty, lively, important, momentous, memorable, notable, hectic, significant; (n) stirring; (v) full of incident. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, insignificant, ordinary, slow, empty
- evolve: (v) derive, work out, educe, change, build, elaborate, grow, unfold, progress, originate, extricate. ANTONYMS: (v) stop, block, halt, recede, retreat
- exaggerate: (v) boast, aggravate, amplify, dramatize, overdo, overdraw, brag, overstate, magnify, aggrandize, enhance. ANTONYMS: (v) minimize, alleviate, weaken
- exalted: (adj) elevated, eminent, noble, high, August, elated, dignified, great, sublime, grand, big. ANTONYMS: (adj) belittled, condemned, criticized, debased, humble, humiliated, low, lowly, minor, ridiculed, base
- exasperated: (adj) incensed, annoyed, enraged, angered, indignant, mad, irate, irritated, cheesed off, testy; (adj, prep) provoked. ANTONYM: (adj) pleased
- excavation: (n) mine, digging, dig, hollow, hole, ditch, shaft, bore, working, cellar, delf
- exceeding: (prep) beyond, more than, greater than; (adj) excessive, transcendent, extraordinary, exceptional, prodigious, surpassing, Olympian; (v) exceed
- exceedingly: (adj, adv) very, highly; (adv) too, exceptionally, overly, surpassingly, extraordinarily, greatly, awfully, terrifically, eminently. ANTONYMS: (adv) slightly, hardly, insufficiently, somewhat
- excellently: (adv) splendidly, beautifully, exquisitely, magnificently, finely, marvelously, goodly, worthily, grandly, primely, superbly. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, badly, terribly
- excepting: (conj, prep) but, bar; (n, prep) except for, exclusive of; (prep) aside from, besides, apart from, barring, excluding, with the exception of; (v) saving.

 ANTONYM: (prep) including
- excitable: (adj) nervous, irritable, combustible, hasty, edgy, fiery, sensitive, volatile, passionate, warm, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) unexcitable, calm, unflappable, easygoing, easy, tranquil, reliable, mild

- excitedly: (adv) passionately, feverishly, wildly, frantically, nervously, ardently, enthusiastically, eagerly, animatedly, fervently, cheerfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) lifelessly, patiently, peacefully, nonchalantly, indifferently, despondently, unenthusiastically
- exclaim: (v) call out, call, shout, cry out, ejaculate, clamor, outcry, scream, shout out, speak, vociferate exclamation: (n) clamor, ejaculation, exclaiming, utterance, whoop,

exclamation: (n) clamor, ejaculation, exclaiming, utterance, whoop, interjection, shout, expletive, deuce, Dickens, ecphonesis

excruciating: (adj) agonizing, harrowing, painful, sharp, intolerable, acute, violent, insupportable, intense, torturing; (v) cutting. ANTONYMS: (adj) bearable, painless, pleasant,

pleasing, soothing, wonderful, dull excruciatingly: (adv) painfully, torturously, intensely, unbearably, intolerably, sharply, harrowingly, torturingly, dreadfully, extremely, rackingly. ANTONYM: (adv) mildly

exemplary: (adj) model, typical, representative, classic, admonitory, ideal, warning, commendable, worthy, excellent, virtuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) awful, lousy, poor, unconventional, reprehensible, wrong, substandard, blameworthy

exhaling: (adj) expiring, ending, dying, breathing

exhaustion: (n) consumption, enervation, tiredness, lassitude, attrition, weakening, weariness, inanition, weakness; (adj, n) collapse; (adj) prostration. ANTONYMS: (n) vitality, pep, restoration, vim

exhibiting: (n) advertising; (adj) exhibitory, ostensive

exhilarating: (adj) exciting, stimulating, invigorating, thrilling, elating, moving, exhilarative, gladdening, brisk, glad, delighted. ANTONYMS: (adj) boring, dull, depressing, discouraging, dispiriting

expanse: (n) breadth, expansion, space, region, compass, extent, orbit, latitude, acreage, dilation, length. ANTONYM: (n) closeness

expectant: (adj) hopeful, enceinte, anticipative, big, gravid, eager, heavy, confident, with child, watchful; (adj, v) pregnant. ANTONYMS: (adj) uninterested, apathetic, indifferent

expedient: (adj) fit, advisable, becoming, desirable, adequate, apt, convenient, suitable; (n) contrivance, resource, artifice. ANTONYMS: (adj) inappropriate, inexpedient, impractical, futile, detrimental, inconvenient, foolish

expend: (v) disburse, exhaust, spend, dissipate, squander, use, deplete, employ, to spend, absorb, swallow up. ANTONYMS: (v) save, hold, keep

expenditures: (n) spending, outlay, expense, extravagance

expired: (adj) lapsed, deceased, invalid, dead, overdue, extinct, elapsed, out

exposing: (n) exposure, announcement; (adj) revealing, opposed

extemporized: (adj) impromptu, unarranged, unrehearsed, unprepared, unplanned, informal, ad lib, ad-lib, spontaneous, off the cuff, unpremeditated

exterior: (adj, n) outside, surface, outward; (n) appearance, skin, front; (adj) external, superficial, outlying, outer, outdoor. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) interior, inside; (adj) inner, internal, intrinsic, middle, deep

extinct: (adj) dead, deceased, defunct, departed, obsolete, extinguished, exhausted, inanimate, out, quenched, gone. ANTONYMS: (adj) alive, living, extant, active, dormant, thriving, existing, live

extinguished: (adj) extinct, out, dead, quenched, allayed, destroyed; (n) defunctness, complete annihilation, experimental extinction, extermination, extinction

extinguishing: (n) quenching, dampen out, extermination, stamp out, conclusion, extinguished, experimental extinction, ending, destruction, defunctness, complete annihilation

extravagant: (adj) wasteful, luxurious, prodigal, exaggerated, profligate, costly, expensive, lavish, immoderate, profuse, undue. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, frugal, parsimonious, plain, stingy, understated, thrifty, reasonable, moderate, cautious, tasteful

extravagantly: (adv) excessively, immoderately, inordinately, luxuriously, prodigally, wastefully, profligately, profusely, ostentatiously, improvidently, unrestrainedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) economically, stingily, reasonably, meagerly, cheaply, modestly, humbly

extremity: (n) end, member, boundary, bound, close, appendage, limit, limb, ending, fringe, conclusion. ANTONYMS: (n) trunk, average, minimum, head, leniency

extricate: (v) clear, evolve, disengage, rid, untangle, disembarrass, absolve, enfranchise, free, deliver, dislodge. ANTONYMS: (v) entangle, embroil, hamper, hinder, involve, fasten, wedge

exultation: (n) jubilation, joy, delight, ecstasy, elation, rejoicing, revelling, transport, joyousness, bliss, glee.

ANTONYMS: (n) depression, desolation, misery, sorrow

exultingly: (adv) triumphantly, jubilantly, rejoicingly, pridefully, triumphally

eyeshot: (n) sight, view, reach, horizon, range, purview, perspective, eyereach, aspect, stone's throw

eyesight: (n) sight, seeing, discernment, vision power, ability to make discerning judgments, view, sightedness, optics, beholding

facade: (n) appearance, outside, face, front, veneer, pretense, disguise, surface, guise, semblance, frontispiece. ANTONYMS: (n) interior, substance, rear, genuine

factitiously: (adv) synthetically, fictitiously, supposititiously, manmadely, unnaturally, shamly, surreptitiously

factotum: (n) housekeeper, retainer, seneschal, shepherd, servant, servant of all work, maid, drudge, croupier, agent, laboring oar

faggot: (n) fagot, queer, queen, fairy, pansy, poof, bobbing, log, fascine, fascicle, wisp

fain: (adj) willing, prepared, ready, favorable, heart and soul, prone; (adv) gladly, lief, readily, willingly; (v) optative

fairway: (n) channel, tract, site, parcel, path, route, seaway, narrows faithfully: (adv) exactly, accurately, sincerely, staunchly, precisely, truly, authentically, dutifully, literally, steadfastly, truely. ANTONYMS: (adv) unfaithfully, approximately, falsely, insincerely, carelessly, inaccurately

falsehood: (n) fable, fabrication,

deception, untruth, lie, fib, fiction, invention, dishonesty; (adj, n) deceit, falsity. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, honesty, reality

faltering: (n) falter, pause, vacillation; (adj) tentative, vacillating, doubtful, irresolute, hesitant, uncertain, unsure; (adv) falteringly.

ANTONYMS: (adj) decided, firm, eloquent, decisive, sure

familiarize: (adj, v) accustom; (v) adapt, familiarise, habituate, introduce, present, acquainted, popularize, adjust, initiate, inform

fancied: (adj) unreal, chimerical, fictional, fanciful, fictitious, fabricated, preferred, assumed, illusory, imagined, ideal

fancies: (n) stock

fancifully: (adv) fantasticly, fantastically, chimerically, unreally, imaginarily, freakishly, bizarrely, visionarily, ideally, notionally, fancily

far-removed: (adj) faraway farthing: (n) craps, faro, ante, chuck, doit, small change; (adj) bulrush, pinch of snuff, peppercorn, old son, iot

fasten: (adj, v) attach, fix, affix; (v) connect, bind, tie, tack, pin, stick, clasp, anchor. ANTONYMS: (v) detach, undo, unlock, loosen, release, open, disconnect, untie, separate, unscrew

fastening: (n) clasp, clip, buckle, attachment, lock, catch, link, bonding; (n, v) bond; (v) tie, bind fates: (adj) book of fate, Parcae, sky; (n) fortune, the fates

fatigued: (adj) tired, weary, beat, worn, tired out, jaded, spent, worn out, done in, fagged, run-down. ANTONYMS: (adj) refreshed, alert, lively, energized, energetic

lively, energized, energetic favourably: (adv) advantageously, well

fearfully: (adv) timidly, timorously, awfully, apprehensively, horrendously, hideously, anxiously, appallingly, terribly; (adj, adv) shockingly, dreadfully.

ANTONYMS: (adv) bravely, calmly, confidently, wonderfully, rationally, unconcernedly

feasting: (n) carnival, eating feather: (n) pen, feathering, pinion, nib, plumage, quill, kind, spline; (n, v) plume; (adj, n, v) fringe; (v) fledge feathered: (adj) plumy, plumelike, featherlike, plumose, plumed, plumaged, fledged, plumigerous, flighted, decorated; (v) fledge feathery: (adj) light, fluffy, plumy, soft, downy, featherlike, plumose, plumelike, velvety, creamy, tender. ANTONYM: (adj) rough

feeble: (adj) delicate, decrepit, ailing, helpless, powerless, poor, mild, lax, thin; (adj, v) faint, debilitated. ANTONYMS: (adj) strong, vigorous, hearty, tough, effective, powerful, unrelenting, robust, potent, persuasive, able

feeds: (n) feeding

feline: (adj) cattish, subtle, bovine, animal, canine, insidious, fishy, vulpine; (n) felid; (v) furtive; (adj, v) stealthy

feller: (n) chap, faller, fella, fellow, lumberjack, logger, dude, Dick, woodcutter, guy, comrade

ferment: (n) agitation, excitement, barm, tumult, unrest, disturbance; (adj, v) stew, pother; (v) effervesce, turn, brew. ANTONYMS: (v) quiet, defuse, soothe

fern: (n) maidenhair, davallia, christella, pteridophyte, fan fern, bristle fern, button fern, buckler fern, cliff brake, beech fern, canker brake

ferny: (adj) ferned, braky fertilizing: (n) fertilization, farming fervid: (adj) ardent, burning, hot, vehement, eager, passionate, impassioned, fiery, enthusiastic; (adj, v) warm, glowing

fervour: (n) ardour, fervidness, fervency, fervor, ardor, enthusiasm, eagerness, zest, elan, ardency, fire

fess: (v) confess, disclose, relate festivity: (n) feast, festival, celebration, joy, conviviality, mirth, party, gala, banquet; (adj, n) jollity; (adj) joviality

fetching: (adj) attractive, engaging, tempting, winning, fetch, charming, catching, catchy, taking, fetchingly, fascinating. ANTONYMS: (adj) unattractive, repulsive, ugly

fettered: (adj) bound, in fetters, in bonds, responsible

fetters: (n) chains, captivity, bond, restraint, irons, handcuffs, iron, enduring; (v) confine, fee, embellish. ANTONYM: (n) liberation

fevered: (adj) febrile, hectic, hot, fiery feverish: (adj) febrile, feverous, fiery, frenzied, fevered, excited, sick, fanatical; (adj, v) hot, flushed; (adj, n) hysterical. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, afebrile, collected, composed, mellow fiat: (n) decree, edict, dictum, act, order, call, behest, bidding, rescript, enactment, mandate

fiddler: (n) Fiddler's money, trumpeter, fifer, instrumentalist, musician, player, piper, violin player, twiddler, tinkerer, drummer fidelity: (n) constancy, devotion,

faithfulness, adherence, allegiance, loyalty, faith, dedication, exactness; (adj, n) honesty, truth.
ANTONYMS: (n) infidelity, unfaithfulness, disloyalty, inaccuracy, faithlessness, dishonesty, unreliability

fiend: (n) monster, devil, fanatic, brute, deuce, incubus, goblin, ogre, enthusiast, daemon, addict. ANTONYM: (n) angel

fiery: (adj, n) burning, passionate, glowing; (adj) fervent, ablaze, hot, fervid, impassioned, peppery; (adj, v) fierce, violent. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, passionless, dispassionate, indifferent, placid, gentle, cool; (adv) easygoing

figured: (adj) figurative, glyptic, conjectural, implied

figuring: (n) calculation, reckoning, estimation, computing, figure, approximation, conversion, derivative, differential, estimate, derived function

fillet: (n) band, strip, cincture, list, stripe, fascia, molding, girdle, sash, roller, lemniscus

filtering: (n) filtration, straining, refinement; (v) to filter

finality: (n) determination, decision, definiteness, decisiveness, conclusiveness, limit, final, ultimate, eventually, settlement, assuredness. ANTONYMS: (n) indecision, uncertainty, doubt, indecisiveness

finch: (n) bunting, bullfinch, brambling, crossbill, linnet, goldfinch, redpoll, grosbeak, redbird, serin, yellowbird

fingering: (n) location, placement, feeling, emplacement

finiteness: (n) boundedness, quality, finite quantity. ANTONYM: (n) infiniteness

firedog: (n) dog, dogiron, support, blackguard, Canis familiaris, click, detent, domestic dog, fellow, cad, bounder

firelight: (adj) light, rushlight, starlight

firelock: (n) flintlock, matchlock,
 musketry, musket
fireside: (n) fireplace, home, family,

- habitation, dwelling, abode, domicile, country, dwelling house, fire, habitat
- firmament: (n) sphere, welkin, heaven, heavens, celestial sphere, expanse, arena, field, vault of heaven, domain, area
- firmness: (adj, n) constancy; (n) determination, resolution, assurance, consistency, obstinacy, steadfastness, resolve, confidence, courage, backbone. ANTONYMS: (n) softness, instability, vacillation, unsteadiness, yielding, irresoluteness, droopiness, indefiniteness, indecisiveness, indecision, leniency
- **fishes**: (n) amphibians, Craniata, Subphylum Vertebrata, Vertebrata, birds
- fissure: (n) crevice, chasm, cranny, break, cleft, breach, rift, chap, chink, cleavage, aperture. ANTONYMS: (n) repair, mend
- fitful: (adj) erratic, fickle, changeable, spasmodic, uncertain, intermittent, irregular, variable, sporadic, desultory, flickering. ANTONYMS: (adj) regular, unbroken
- **fives**: (n) LA grace, battledore and shuttlecock, rackets, court game
- fixing: (n) fixation, fix, adjustment, repair, mending, altering, emasculation, castration, furniture, fastener, fitting
- fixity: (n) fixedness, fastness, firmness, fixing, immutability, constancy, inalterability, inflexibility, immobility, stronghold, fixture
- flaccidity: (n) softness, debility, feebleness, frailty, infirmity, laxity, weakness, limpness; (adj) depletion, vacancy, fragility
- flagging: (adj) tired, fading, lazy, slack, failing, remiss, pendulous; (v) lame, halting, enervate; (n) pavement. ANTONYM: (adj) prompt
- flagstaff: (adj, n) pole; (n) staff, beacon, cairn, post, hand, pointer, vane, weathercock, mast, telegraph flakes: (n) dust
- flamelike: (adj) blazing, flamy flap: (v) flop, wave, beat, brandish, shake; (n, v) fuss, flutter, pother; (n) slap, disturbance, valve
- flapping: (adj) loose, detached, baggy, streaming, flying, slack; (n) fluttering, flutter, flaps, dither, disturbance
- flare: (n, v) blaze, flame, burst, glare;

- (v) burn, glint, blaze up, burn up; (n) fire; (adj) detonate, explode
- fire; (adj) detonate, explode flared: (adj) aflare, increasing
- flashy: (adj) flamboyant, cheap, loud, gaudy, brassy, glaring, flash, tasteless, tawdry, garish; (adj, v) showy. ANTONYMS: (adj) tasteful, restrained, drab, unexceptional, understated, dull, modest, inconspicuous, muted
- **flatly**: (adv) categorically, smoothly, plainly, levelly, insipidly, evenly, firmly, monotonously, horizontally, peremptorily, directly. ANTONYM: (adv) animatedly
- flatter: (v) fawn, adulate, wheedle, cajole, soap, kowtow, blandish, grovel, butter up; (n, v) court; (n) caress. ANTONYMS: (v) insult, disparage, criticize, discourage
- flattered: (adj) pleased
- flecked: (adj) speckled, dappled, spotted, mottled, stippled, multicolored, stained, freckled, variegated, rainbow; (v) fleckered. ANTONYMS: (adj) unblemished, plain, uniform
- fleshy: (adj) corpulent, brawny, chubby, overweight, obese, heavy, stout, round, succulent; (adj, adv) plump; (adv) portly. ANTONYMS: (adj) slim, slender
- flicker: (n, v) waver, flare, blaze, sparkle, glimmer, shine, flash; (v) shake, blink, flick, shimmer
- flickering: (adj) sparkling, aflicker, desultory, capricious, glistening, shimmering, glittering; (n) twinkling, flicker, fluttering; (adv) flickeringly
- flinch: (v) cower, quail, recoil, recede, blench, shrink; (n, v) cringe, start, retreat, jump, jerk
- flinging: (n) casting, cast flint: (adj) stone, pebble, fossil, granite, marble; (n) quartz, silica, flint river, gunflint, crystal, crag
- flirtation: (n) flirt, coquetry, flirting, romp, trifling, tease, play, frolic, gambol, amour, gallantry
- flounce: (v) fling, flounder, bob, bounce, dance; (n) ruffle, frill, fringe, trimming, furbelow, frame
- flourishing: (adj) thriving, palmy, healthy, successful, luxuriant, booming, verdant, lush, auspicious, favorable, rich. ANTONYMS: (adj) arid, declining, fading, poor, unhealthy
- flowered: (adj) flowering, flowery flowering: (adj) blooming, abloom, efflorescent, flourishing; (n) bloom,

- blossom, flower, anthesis, inflorescence, efflorescence, florescence
- fluctuating: (adj) variable, unpredictable, unstable, erratic, inconstant, irresolute, mutable, unsteady, irregular, fickle; (v) fluctuate. ANTONYMS: (adj) constant, fixed
- fluctuation: (n) vicissitude, wavering, deviation, wobble, swing, undulation, variance, oscillation, hesitation, vibration, modification. ANTONYM: (n) resolution
- flue: (adj) down, cobweb, dust; (n) fluff, flue pipe, shaft, smokestack, tunnel, uptake, vent, chimneystack
- **flutter**: (adj, n, v) bustle, flurry; (n, v) beat, palpitate, flap, wave, waver, quiver; (v) flit, flitter; (n) excitement
- fluttering: (adj) flying, palpitating, flittering, flaring, aflare, waving; (n) flutter, flapping, flicker, flitting; (adv) flutteringly
- folding: (n) foldaway, plication, foldable, bend, crease, bending, flexure, pleating, collapsable, collapsible, doubling
- folds: (n) laps folks: (n) people, folk, tribe, relations, household, house, relatives, relative, kindred, lineage, kin
- fondly: (adv) lovingly, tenderly, warmly, kindly, caringly, adoringly, devotedly, amorously, dearly, dotingly, foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) coldly, ill
- footbridge: (n) bridge, pedestrian bridge, pontoon, viaduct, span, plank, steppingstone, gangboard, gangway, overcrossing
- footed: (adj) pedate
- footing: (n) foothold, base, bottom, foundation, status, rank, foot, pedestal, situation, relation, root. ANTONYM: (n) top
- footpath: (n) track, walk, path, trail, sidewalk, footway, walkway, trottoir, way, lane, pavement
- footstep: (n) pace, footfall, track, footmark, vestige, tread, trail, stride, degree; (n, v) step, action
- **footstool**: (n) footrest, hassock, footboard, Ottoman
- footway: (n) footpath, path, sidewalk, walk, walkway, pavement, ladderway
- forbade: (v) prohibit, to prohibit forbid: (v) prohibit, ban, disallow, bar, obstruct, exclude, deny, avert, frustrate, to prohibit, enjoin. ANTONYMS: (v) allow, let,

Return of the Native

- approve, authorize, stand forbidding: (adj) grim, ominous, dismal, dour, austere, abominable, ugly, hard, repulsive, redoubtable; (n) banning. ANTONYMS: (adj) alluring, inviting, pleasant, hospitable, friendly, favorable, comforting
- forcible: (adj) forceful, active, energetic, powerful, strong, violent, coercive, vigorous, effective, convincing; (prep) conclusive. ANTONYMS: (adj) weak, gentle, peaceful
- foregoing: (adj) previous, anterior, antecedent, prior, past, above, preceding, aforegoing, earlier. ANTONYM: (adj) following
- foreigner: (adj, n) stranger; (n) outlander, outsider, unknown, barbarian, gringo, newcomer, immigrant, deportee, traveler; (adj) foreign. ANTONYMS: (n) inhabitant, domestic, citizen
- foreseen: (v) foresee, long expected; (adj) envisioned, foretold, contingent, concourse, coming, casual, adventitious, accidental, predictable
- forgave: (v) to excuse forgetful: (adj) oblivious, inattentive, negligent, lax, absent-minded, casual, unmindful, neglectful, heedless, unaware; (adj, v) remiss. ANTONYMS: (adj) mindful, watchful, alert, remembering,

retentive

- forgiveness: (n) mercy, condonation, clemency, kindness, pity, remission, leniency, absolution, grace, compassion; (n, v) pardon.
 ANTONYMS: (n) condemnation, cruelty, harshness
- forgiving: (adj) compassionate, lenient, tolerant, charitable, remissive, humane, kind, magnanimous, generous, merciful, mild. ANTONYMS: (adj) unforgiving, hardhearted, impatient, strict
- forlorn: (adj) hopeless, desolate, despairing, unhappy, miserable, deserted, disconsolate, downcast, cheerless, wretched, abject. ANTONYMS: (adj) happy, hopeful, fine
- formless: (adj) shapeless, unformed, indistinct, unstructured, unbodied, nebulous, vague, indistinguishable, soft, fuzzy, rude. ANTONYMS: (adj) organized, clear, distinct forsaking: (n) abandonment,

- desertion, apostasy, exposure, defection, bolt, renunciation, surrender, leaving, acquiescence, neglect
- forthwith: (adv) directly, immediately, at once, now, instantly, straight, presently, straightaway, incontinently; (adj, adv) quickly; (adj) immediate
- fortification: (n) castle, fort, bastion, consolidation, defense, bulwark, stronghold, barrier, entrenchment, fortress, safeguard
- fortified: (adj) secure, watched over, shielded, securer, secured, carrying weapons, safeguarded, protected, fast, equipped, defended. ANTONYM: (adj) unarmed
- fortify: (n, v) brace, nerve, invigorate; (v) build up, confirm, consolidate, secure, buttress, encourage, reinforce, enhance. ANTONYMS: (v) subdue, disarm, enfeeble, demoralize, undermine
- forwardness: (adj) alacrity, readiness, earnestness; (n) precocity, impudence, presumption, cockiness, bumptiousness, impertinence, cheekiness, temerity
- fossilized: (adj) ossified, outmoded, fossil
- fostered: (adj) nourished fragmentary: (adj) broken, scrappy, incomplete, partial, fragmental, unfinished, odd, fractionary, inconsiderable, fragmented; (adj, adv) piecemeal. ANTONYM: (adj)
- fragrance: (n, v) aroma, perfume, scent, smell; (n) bouquet, odor, essence, odour, redolence, sweetness; (adj) fragrant. ANTONYMS: (n) stink, stench
- franklin: (n) frank, landowner, landholder, Benjamin Franklin, John hope Franklin
- fraternization: (adj) cordiality, good understanding, rapprochement, sympathy, response, welcomeness; (n) fraternisation, fellowship, intimacy, camaraderie, entente cordiale
- freak: (n, v) crotchet, caprice; (adj, n)
 eccentric; (n) oddity, crank, fanatic,
 nut, monster, fit, whim, fad
- frenzy: (n) fury, anger, insanity, mania, hysteria; (adj, n) distraction, aberration, alienation, phrensy, derangement; (n, v) craze. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, calm, order
- fretting: (adj) irritable, dissatisfied,

- peevish; (n) festering, friction, exulceration
- friendliness: (n) friendship, geniality, amiability, affability, amicability, affection, hospitality, cordiality, brotherhood, amicableness, accessibility. ANTONYMS: (n) cruelty, aloofness, nastiness, hostility, aggression, resistance, resentment, frostiness, formality, contention, belligerence
- frigate: (n) gunboat, warship, sloop of war, bomb vessel, destroyer, cruiser, constitution, combat ship
- frighten: (v) cow, alarm, daunt, terrify, appall, scare, affright, intimidate, terrorize, appal; (n, v) fright. ANTONYMS: (v) comfort, reassure, soothe, calm
- frightfulness: (n) dreadfulness, horror, horridness, terribleness, terror, gruesomeness, ghastliness, grimness, atrociousness.
- ANTONYM: (n) pleasantness frigid: (adj, n) cold, chilly, dull, distant; (adj) chill, freezing, icy, cool, arctic, frosty, bleak. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, hot, burning, torrid
- frigidity: (n) cold, coldness, coolness, chill, iciness, indifference, frostiness, chilliness, distance, frigidness, sang Froid
- frock: (n) dress, gown, clothing, attire, robe, kirtle, habit, clothes, coat, chemise, caftan
- frog: (n) frogs, toad, chamois, epaulet, crapaud, batrachian, anuran, aigulet, grasshopper, Frenchman, shoulder knot
- Frenchman, shoulder knot frond: (n) foliage, leaf, leafage frosty: (adj, v) icy, glacial; (adj) frigid, freezing, wintry, arctic, chill, frozen,
- chilly, bleak, cool. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, pleasant, hot, torrid, tropical, balmy, approachable froth: (n, v) bubble, spume, fizz, suds, sparkle; (v) boil, effervesce, ferment;
- (n) effervescence, bubbles, spindrift frown: (adj, v) lower; (adj, n) scowl; (n, v) pout, grimace, glower, glare; (adj) black looks, gloam, glout; (v) sulk, gnash. ANTONYM: (v)
- approve frowning: (adj) dismal, dark, gloomy, lowering, scowling, frowny, clouded; (adv) frowningly; (n) austere, boisterous, coarse
- frying: (adj) burning up, boiling, hot; (n) cookery, cooking, sauteing
- full-blown: (adj) full-grown, ripe, mature, full-scale, all-out, unlimited, exhaustive, total

- fullness: (n) completeness, breadth, entirety, abundance, comprehensiveness, ampleness, largeness, repletion, wholeness, totality, richness. ANTONYMS: (n) narrowness, incompleteness, thinness, weakness
- funereal: (adj) doleful, dismal, dreary, somber, gloomy, melancholy, dolorous, dark, depressing, lugubrious; (v) burial. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheery, lively, cheerful
- fungi: (n) bacteria, fungus, kingdom fungi, Thallophyta, fungus kingdom furnace: (n) forge, heater, blast furnace, fireplace, hearth, stove, oven, kiln, electric furnace, cupola, crematorium
- furnishing: (n) provision, fixture, fitting, installation, equipment, trimming, device, interior decoration, contents; (v) provide,
- furthest: (adj) furthermost, extreme, farthermost, remotest, ultimate, utmost, uttermost, most remote, final, outermost; (adv) most. ANTONYMS: (adj) nearest, near furze: (n) gorse, Irish gorse, Ulex
- europaeus, Needle furze, shrub, bush, bramble, dyeweed
- futile: (adj) useless, empty, ineffective, frivolous, idle, abortive, bootless, hopeless, meaningless, vain, hollow. ANTONYMS: (adj) successful, useful, fruitful, meaningful, worthwhile, promising, productive, effective
- futility: (n) emptiness, inanity, worthlessness, vanity, uselessness, fruitlessness, frivolity, unusefulness, purposelessness, hollowness, insignificance. ANTONYMS: (n) importance, worth, worthiness, fruitfulness, effectiveness, competence, usefulness
- gaiety: (n) fun, cheerfulness, exhilaration, mirth, glee, merriment, hilarity, happiness, joy, joviality, jollity. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, misery, sadness gaily: (adv, v) happily; (adv) gladly,
- jovially, joyfully, cheerfully, mirthfully, joyously, gleefully, sunnily, blithely, lively. ANTONYMS: (adv) sadly, anxiously, dully, despondently
- gait: (n, v) pace, step, tread, footstep, rate, stride, action; (n) walk, carriage, movement, velocity
- gale: (n) blast, blow, tempest, storm,

- squall, hurricane, gust, wind, thunderstorm, blizzard, fresh gale. ANTONYM: (n) breeze
- gallant: (adj) fearless, brave, daring, courageous, chivalrous, bold, manly, heroic, dashing, courteous, fine. ANTONYMS: (adj) boorish, rude, selfish
- gallantly: (adv) courageously, intrepidly, chivalrously, splendidly, valiantly, heroically, fearlessly, finely, doughtily, pluckily, courteously. ANTONYMS: (adv) unchivalrously, poorly, timidly
- gallantry: (adj, n) prowess, daring, spirit, fearlessness; (n) heroism, bravery, valor, courage, chivalry, courtesy, courageousness. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, cowardliness, rudeness
- galley: (n) cookhouse, caboose, cuddy, galleyfoist, vessel, watercraft, proof, kitchen, slice,
- galling: (adj, v) irritating; (v) aggravating, provoking; (adj) exasperating, bitter, vexatious, vexing, maddening, infuriating, bothersome, harassing. ANTONYM: (adj) pleasing
- galloway: (n) nag, beast of burden, beast, garran, blood horse, horse, Arab, cattle, thoroughbred, palfrey
- gambling: (adj, n) gaming; (n) play, speculation, recreation, vice, hazardry, bid; (adj) betting, dissipated, sporting, clean
- gaming: (n) play, game, diversion, speculation, wager, frolic, bet, gamble, recreation, vice, betting
- gaol: (n, v) jail; (n) clink, lockup, jailhouse, hoosegow; (v) lag, jug, incarcerate, imprison, immure, confine
- gaping: (adj, n) agape; (adj) vast, yawning, cavernous, discontinuous, wide, ajar, drowsy, hollow, wide open; (adj, v) oscitant. ANTONYMS: (adj) cramped, narrow
- gardening: (n) cultivation, horticulture, agronomy, floriculture, agriculture, husbandry, spade husbandry, vintage, landscape gardening, flower gardening, landscaping
- garish: (adj) flashy, loud, gaudy, brassy, blatant, meretricious, showy, flash, tawdry; (adj, v) gay, gairish. ANTONYMS: (adj) drab, inconspicuous, muted, restrained,
- gash: (n, v) slash, scratch, tear,

- wound, slit, break, rip, slice, crack, score; (n) fissure
- gashed: (adj) cut down, emasculated, torn, slashed, down
- gasp: (n, v) pant; (v) puff, blow, breathe, sigh, heave, wheeze, breathe heavily, gag; (n) inhalation,
- gasping: (adj) panting, winded, blown, out of breath, thirsty, pursy; (v) spavined, touched in the wind
- gatepost: (n) post, shutting post gaunt: (adj) lean, thin, cadaverous, desolate, bleak, dreary, meager, bony, angular, lanky, sullen. ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, rounded,
- gauntlet: (n) mitt, sleeve, wristband, gantlet, mitten, gloves; (v) corner stone, armored vest, buffer, mask, call to arms
- gauze: (n) film, curtain, blind, bandage, mask, mantle, muslin, screen, gauze bandage, shutter, daze geese: (n) ducks, goose, game birds, order Anseriformes, wildfowl, birds, Anatidae, Anseriformes, family
- Anatidae geniality: (n) cordiality, amiability, bonhomie, affability, goodness, hospitality, cheerfulness, kindness, conviviality, warmth, amiableness. ANTONYMS: (n) nastiness, frostiness, meanness, hostility
- genteel: (adj) elegant, polite, cultured, refined, graceful, courtly, courteous, fashionable, nice, civil, ladylike. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncouth, improper, vulgar
- gentility: (n) elegance, cultivation, politeness, decorum, genteelness, breeding, courtesy, nobility, aristocracy, propriety; (adj) urbanity. ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, rudeness
- gentleness: (adj, n) kindness, courtesy, benignity, compassion; (n) kindliness, lenity, mildness, sweetness, softness, benevolence, mercy. ANTONYMS: (n) severity, harshness, fierceness, cruelty, ferocity, brusqueness, abruptness, rage, callousness, sharpness, roughness
- geometrical: (adj) nonrepresentational, mathematical ghastliness: (n) gruesomeness, luridness, horror, dreadfulness, terribleness, horribleness, repulsiveness, misery, grimness, ghastness, frightfulness. ANTONYM: (n) pleasantness

Return of the Native

- ghastly: (adj) awful, fearful, cadaverous, dreadful, grisly, gruesome, macabre, hideous, appalling, atrocious; (adv) gruesomely. ANTONYMS: (adj) wonderful, lovely, attractive, delightful
- ghostly: (adj) uncanny, eerie, weird, spiritual, spectral, ghostlike, supernatural, macabre, phantasmal; (adj, adv) ghastly; (adv) spectrally. ANTONYMS: (adj) tangible, natural
- giddy: (adj, v) flighty; (adj) dizzy, faint, silly, changeable, vertiginous, featherbrained, light, fickle, capricious; (adv) careless. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, dull
- gifted: (adj) capable, accomplished, talented, able, apt, proficient, brilliant, ingenious, expert, intelligent, adept. ANTONYMS: (adj) inept, dim, incompetent, mediocre, slow, clumsy
- gigantic: (adj) colossal, enormous, large, huge, giant, stupendous, monstrous, vast, big, immense, massive. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, tiny, little, insignificant, short, miniature
- gilded: (adj, v) gilt; (adj) rich, gold, golden, deluxe, gilden, fortunate, garish, advantageous, aurated, luxurious
- gilding: (n) embellishment, ormolu, plating, beautification, cosmetics, decoration, enamel, adornment, prettification, coat, gold plating
- gilt: (n) gilding, plating, money, decoration; (adj) aureate, golden, gold, florid; (v) tesselated, ornate, rich
- gipsy: (n) Gypsy, Romany, bohemian, warping end, tzigane, vagrant, Rommany
- glacial: (adj) arctic, frigid, freezing, frosty, frozen, gelid, polar, chilly, wintry, chilling; (adj, v) icy. ANTONYMS: (adj) warm, friendly, tropical, torrid
- gladly: (adv, v) happily; (adv) gleefully, contentedly, cheerfully, fain, joyfully, jovially, cheerily, delightedly, gladsomely, readily. ANTONYMS: (adv) reluctantly, unwillingly, sadly, resentfully, miserably
- gladness: (n) joy, gaiety, pleasure, delight, bliss, glee, happiness, exhilaration, joyfulness, mirth, cheerfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) unhappiness, dismay, displeasure glazed: (adj) glossy, glassed, glazen,

- vitreous, vitrified, icy, lustrous, shiny, empty, slippery, glasslike. ANTONYMS: (adj) unglazed, alert, dull
- gleaming: (adj) brilliant, shiny, radiant, glossy, lustrous, glowing, beaming, resplendent; (n) gleam, glimmer; (adj, adv) agleam. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, dirty, rough
- **gleaning**: (n) farming, excerption, selection, crop
- glide: (adj, n, v) slide; (n, v) coast, slip; (v) float, run, fly, flow, drift, lapse, slink, skid. ANTONYMS: (v) lurch, hurtle, flounder, sink
- gliding: (adj) sliding, flying, slipping, labent, elusory; (n) sailing, soaring, flight, glissando; (v) slither; (adv) glidingly
- glimmer: (adj, n, v) flicker, twinkle; (n, v) gleam, shimmer, flash, sparkle, beam, glow, shine; (v) blink; (n) gleaming
- glistening: (adj) shining, glossy, shiny, glisten, brilliant, beaming, sleek, lustrous, sparkling, reflecting light, gleaming. ANTONYM: (adj) dull
- glitter: (n, v) flash, beam, shine, glisten, glimmer, glow, sparkle, flicker, shimmer; (v) glance; (n) radiance. ANTONYM: (n) dullness
- glittering: (adj, v) brilliant; (adj) sparkling, flashing, dazzling, glistering, glistening, glinting, shining, scintillating, splendid; (adj, adv) aglitter
- gloomily: (adv) murkily, obscurely, drearily, darkly, somberly, morosely, sadly, sorrowfully, despondently, unhappily, glumly. ANTONYMS: (adv) brightly, favorably, happily, optimistically, contentedly; (adj) auspiciously
- glorified: (adj) celebrated, holy, overvalued, puffed up, overrated, overestimated, hyped, haloed, canonised, blessed, authorized
- glove: (n) boxing glove, gloves, mitt, mitten, baseball mitt, baseball glove, handwear, wristband, sleeve, mittens, batting glove
- glowing: (adj, n) enthusiastic, cordial, passionate; (adj) burning, fervent, blazing, flaming, fiery, dazzling; (adj, v) warm; (adj, adv) aglow. ANTONYMS: (adj) pale, wan, unhappy, unenthusiastic, derogatory, dispassionate, unwell
- **glutton**: (n) wolverine, gormandizer, devourer, feeder, trencherman,

- cormorant, gourmand, eater, Gulo Gulo, mustelid; (adj) voracious. ANTONYM: (n) Dieter
- **gnats**: (n) fungus gnats, Nematocera, suborder Nematocera
- gnaw: (v) chew, fret, crunch, corrode, nibble, eat, erode, to bite, munch, masticate; (n, v) chafe
- **gnawing**: (v) corroding, biting; (n) arrosion
- goddess: (n) divinity, God, beauty, nymph; (adj, n) idol; (adj) duck, darling, angel, Dulcinea, ladylove, inamorata
- **godfather**: (n) godchild, supporter, patron, godparent, godmother, gangster, executive; (v) christen
- godlike: (adj) celestial, heavenly, seraphic, holy, angelic, godly, divine worship, deified, elysian, foreboding, divine songs
- goggles: (n) eyeglasses, spectacles, barnacles, specs, bifocals, monocle, safety glasses, goggle, swimming goggles, face mask, eyeglass
- gong: (n) bell, carillon, chime, cymbal, medal, Alexander Melville Bell, handbell, English painter, doorbell, bell shape, Alexander Graham Bell
- **good-bye**: (n) bye, farewell, goodbye, goodby, vale, adios, cheerio
- good-hearted: (adj) benign, goodnatured, kindly, kindhearted goose: (n) goof, fathead, cuckoo,
- barnacle, fool, jackass, brent, brant, goosecap; (n, v) spur; (v) serpent gorget: (n) armor plate, armour plate gorse: (n) whin, Ulex europaeus, Irish
- gorse: (n) whin, Ulex europaeus, Irisl gorse, shrub, Goss, dyeweed, bush, brush, bramble, Genista tinctoria gossiping: (adj) gabby, garrulous,
- scandalous; (n) gossipmongering graceful: (adj) beautiful, delicate, amiable, easy, fine, charming, fair, airy, becoming, lovely, lithe. ANTONYMS: (adj) inelegant, stocky, awkward, vigorous, jerky, ugly, stilted, heavy, coarse, strenuous
- gracefully: (adv) prettily, graciously, neatly, delicately, smoothly, charmingly, refinedly, lithely, easily, daintily, nicely. ANTONYMS: (adv) awkwardly, ungraciously, clumsily, gracelessly, vigorously, unpleasantly, unkindly, heavily
- graceless: (adj) inelegant, clumsy, godless, depraved, gauche, abandoned, ungracious, dissolute, ungraceful, rude, barbaric. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated,

- suave, elegant
 graduation: (n) gradation,
 completion, commencement
 ceremony, commencement exercise,
 classification, windup; (adj)
 adaption, adjustment; (v) allotment,
 apportionment, assortment
- grandeur: (n) dignity, splendor, magnitude, brilliance, glory, pomp, elegance, majesty, magnificence, grandness; (adj, n) solemnity. ANTONYMS: (n) modesty, simplicity
- **grandpapa**: (n) grandfather, grandaddy
- grapnel: (n) crampon, grapple, hook, tool, grip, grab, clamshell, crampoon, crampoons, grapnel anchor, grappler
- grapple: (n, v) grip, clasp, tackle, grasp; (v) fight, contend, grab, struggle; (adj, n, v) lock; (adj, n) hook; (n) grappling
- grasping: (adj) avaricious, covetous, acquisitive, greedy, avid, voracious, rapacious, grabby, mercenary, stingy; (n) seizing. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, altruistic
- grassy: (adj) verdant, gramineous, weedy, herby, woody, fertile, blossoming, abundant, leafy, lush, flourishing. ANTONYMS: (adj) grassless, urban, withering
- gratification: (adj, n) delight; (n, v) content; (n) enjoyment, pleasure, satisfaction, fruition, complacency, joy, luxury, treat, fulfillment. ANTONYMS: (n) dissatisfaction, disenchantment, dismay, discontent, anxiety
- gratified: (adj) glad, satisfied, pleased, delighted, happy, thankful, grateful, content, complacent, comfortable, cheerful
- gratify: (v) delight, please, appease, accommodate, satisfy, amuse, suit, indulge, cater; (n, v) humor; (adj) contented. ANTONYMS: (v) dissatisfy, displease, disappoint
- gravely: (adv) seriously, soberly, severely, solemnly, badly, staidly, momentously, heavily, earnestly, weightily, grievously. ANTONYMS: (adv) lightheartedly, mildly, slightly; (adj) soft
- graveyard: (n) burial ground, churchyard, necropolis, burying ground, burial site, site, burial place, radioactive cemetery, memorial park, morgue
- gravitate: (v) tend, slip, slide, descend, cumber, drift; (adj) load,

- press, weigh. ANTONYM: (v) rise grazing: (n) pasturage, feeding, shaving, farming, Estancia, eating, skimming
- greatcoat: (n) coat, topcoat, capote, chesterfield, surcoat, Ulster
- greaves: (n) jambeau, giambeux, armour plate, armor plating, armor plate
- greediness: (n) avarice, cupidity, covetousness, eagerness, gluttony, selfishness, avidity, miserliness, hunger, stinginess, voracity. ANTONYM: (n) moderation
- greenish: (adj) green, virescent, viridescent, fleeceable, envious, covetous, chromatic, porraceous
- greeting: (n) welcome, salutation, address, greet, compliments, acknowledgment, accost, hello, hullo, nod; (v) salute. ANTONYM: (n) goodbye
- grieve: (n, v) distress, aggrieve, afflict, sorrow, annoy; (v) trouble, lament, deplore, bemoan, fret, bewail. ANTONYMS: (v) rejoice, celebrate, encourage
- grieved: (adj) sore, sad, sorry, sorrowful, upset, woeful, pained, affected, brokenhearted
- grievous: (adj) bitter, dolorous, dreadful, deplorable, sad, tough, pitiful, atrocious, regrettable, sorrowful, sorry. ANTONYM: (adj) successful
- grimness: (n) asperity, austerity, rigor, sternness, rigour, ghastliness, strictness, bleakness, hardness, gloominess, harshness. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, pleasantness, warmth
- groaning: (adj) moaning, groaningly, inarticulate
- grog: (n) liquor, grog grain, toddy, bishop, rumbo; (v) blue ruin, port wine, purl, wassail, negus
- groove: (n, v) channel, rut, chamfer, score, crease; (v) flute; (n) ditch, cut, track, custom, notch. ANTONYMS: (n) bump, ridge
- grope: (v) fumble, finger, grabble, search, handle, scrabble, paw, mishandle; (n, v) touch; (adj) groping; (adv) gropingly
- grotesque: (adj) fantastic, bizarre, funny, antic, absurd, droll, strange, baroque, weird, ugly, hideous. ANTONYMS: (adj) lovely, normal, commonplace, attractive
- groundwork: (n) bottom, basis, base, foundation, bed, ground, footing, bedrock, fundament, background,

- substructure
- **grouped**: (adj) sorted, classified, collective, gather
- gruesome: (adj) ghastly, terrible, grisly, macabre, appalling, grim, horrendous, monstrous, forbidding, dreadful, dire. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, lovely, wonderful
- guarding: (n) surveillance, conservation, precaution, shielding, marking, civil defense, patrol, accompaniment, guardianship; (adj) preserving, defensive
- guessing: (adv) guessingly; (n) dead reckoning, guesswork, approximation, supposition, gibe, shot, blastoff, barb, estimation, dig
- guise: (n) form, dress, aspect, costume, disguise, fashion, pretense, camouflage, attire, figure, color gunpowder: (n) powder, guncotton,
- gunpowder: (n) powder, guncotton fine particles, face powder, dust, concentrate, ammunition, residue; (v) shot
- gusset: (n) inset; (v) articulation, commissure, stitch, suture, joining, joint, juncture, pivot, hinge; (n, v) seam
- gust: (n) eruption, flurry, blow, blast, puff, flare, explosion, gale, storm, breeze; (adj, n) whiff
- gusto: (n) relish, enjoyment, zest, pleasure, gust, taste, enthusiasm, delight, delicacy, flavour; (n, v) glow. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, sluggishness
- gutter: (n) groove, trough, ditch, drain, chute, trench, canal, furrow, conduit, waterway, gully
- habiliments: (n) clothes, garb, apparel, clothing, costume, dress, equipage, material, tackle, thing, apparatus
- habitation: (adj, n) abode; (n) domicile, residence, house, home, habitat, lodging, place, occupancy, inhabitation, inhabitancy.

 ANTONYM: (n) vacancy
- habitual: (adj, n) common, frequent, usual; (adj) chronic, conventional, confirmed, accustomed, natural, commonplace, everyday, ordinary. ANTONYMS: (adj) occasional, infrequent, mild, irregular, exceptional, erratic, abnormal, innovative
- hades: (n) underworld, Hel, sheol, Stygian creek, Styx, pit of Acheron, blaze, inferno, aides, Aidoneus, Avernus
- haggard: (adj) emaciated, gaunt, cadaverous, careworn, tired, worn,

lean, thin, wasted, pinched, squalid. ANTONYMS: (adj) relaxed, carefree, healthy

half-moon: (n) curve, arc halo: (n) halation, aura, glory, ring, circle, corona, nimbus, hoop, aureola, band, anchor ring

halting: (adj) halt, hesitant, broken, crude, grotesque, barbarous; (adj, v) lame, crippled; (adv) haltingly; (v) drooping, flagging. ANTONYMS: (adj) easy, firm

halves: (n) semi, share

hampered: (adj) impeded, confined, fraught, held back, in an inferior position, disadvantaged, weighed down, loaded, in a weak position, responsible, troubled

handpost: (n) signpost, fingerpost handrail: (n) balustrade, banister, bannister, railing, balusters, parapet, bar, rail, hand rail, barrier, grab rail

haranguing: (n) declamation harassed: (adj) annoyed, pestered, irritated, bothered, annoy, jittery, worried, troubled, beleaguered, obsessed, harried. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, carefree

harassing: (adj) troublesome, carking, galling, thorny, vexatious; (v) bothering, pestering, tormenting, worrying, annoy, harass

hardened: (adj) hard, callous, confirmed, tough, indurated, tempered, unfeeling, inured, habitual, enured, veteran. ANTONYMS: (adj) inexperienced, smooth, unaccustomed, untempered, feeling, mild

hare: (n) leporid, cony, puss, doe, jackrabbit, coney; (adj) antelope, courser, eagle, gazelle, greyhound

harmonious: (adj) congenial, musical, consonant, amicable, peaceful, gentle, consistent, compatible, friendly, harmonical, calm.

ANTONYMS: (adj) discordant, dissonant, harsh, hostile, bitter, incompatible, inharmonious, miserable, disagreeable, disruptive, unbalanced

harness: (adj, n) strap, tether; (n, v) yoke, rein, couple, check; (adj, v) hitch; (v) wear, equip, limit, use. ANTONYM: (v) undo

harrowing: (adj) agonizing, excruciating, painful, distressing, torturous, disturbing, tormenting, traumatic, frightful, terrible; (v) rending. ANTONYMS: (adj) heartening, pleasing, safe haste: (n, v) hurry, dash, dispatch,

rush; (n) celerity, expedition, rapidity, speed, bustle, hastiness, quickness. ANTONYMS: (n) delay, patience, forethought, caution

hasten: (adj, n, v) speed, quicken; (v) expedite, advance, hurry, hie, dash, rush; (n, v) further, forward, dispatch. ANTONYMS: (v) linger, retard, amble

hastened: (adj) careless

hastening: (n) quickening, speed, hurrying, speeding up, faster, fast, stepping up

hasty: (adj) fast, abrupt, cursory, fleet, sudden, rash, impetuous, careless, speedy, hurried, quick. ANTONYMS: (adj) deliberate, considered, leisurely, sensible, gradual, thorough, cautious, careful,

roundabout, prudent, patient hatched: (adj) crosshatched, born,

hateful: (adj) disgusting, execrable, nasty, abominable, hideous, despicable, repulsive, distasteful, foul; (adj, v) odious, obnoxious. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, kind, nice, benign, desirable

hating: (adj) loathful, abhorring, disgusting, misanthropic, vengeful; (n) venom

haughtily: (adv) proudly, loftily, superciliously, imperiously, overbearingly, scornfully, condescendingly, snobbishly, disdainfully, superiorly, pompously. ANTONYMS: (adv) humbly, modestly, feebly, meekly

haunt: (n, v) resort, ghost; (n) den, hangout, home; (v) pursue, follow, stalk, afflict, persecute; (adj) harass

haunted: (adj) ghostly, ghostlike, phantom, taken up, preoccupied, possessed, unearthly, magical, mad, infatuated, concerned

hautboy: (n) hautbois, corno di bassetto, basset horn, hoboe, serpent, basset oboe, bassoon, contrafagotto, cor anglais, corno Inglese, double bassoon

hauteur: (n) arrogance, pride, disdain, conceit, assumption, conceitedness, insolence, loftiness, lordliness, airs, elegance. ANTONYM: (n) modesty

haze: (n) fog, cloud, confusion, vapor, blur, daze, film, cloudiness, turbidity; (n, v) mist; (v) dim. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, brightness

headlong: (adj, adv) headfirst; (adv) directly, hastily, precipitately; (adj) rash, hurried, desperate,

precipitous, impetuous, sudden, precipitate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautiously, considered; (adv) carefully

heady: (adj) hot, intoxicating, exciting, keen, headstrong, strong, acute, quick, rude, vehement, brash. ANTONYMS: (adj) bored, cautious, dull, mild, weak, bland

heal: (v) mend, recover, doctor, recuperate, cicatrize, get well, fix, restore, convalesce; (n, v) remedy; (n) correct. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen, disfigure, exacerbate

healthful: (adj) healthy, hale, salubrious, beneficial, hygienic, sanitary, wholesome, salutary, remedial, good, nourishing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unhealthful, unsanitary, unhealthy

heaped: (adj) dense, cumulative, concentrated, collective, coacervate, thick

heaps: (adj, n) lots, much; (n) masses, oodles, piles, stacks, many, tons, plenty, lot, accumulation. ANTONYM: (adj) inadequate

hearken: (v) hark, harken, attend, listen, hear, heed, list, listen in, listen to, regard, look out

hears: (v) hear

heartache: (n) sorrow, distress, anguish, woe, heartbreak, dolor, affliction, pain, brokenheartedness, concern, bitterness

hearth: (n) fire, oven, fireside, stove, chimney, focus, furnace, dwelling, kiln, home, abode

hearthrug: (n) carpeting heartily: (adv) cordially, sincerely, enthusiastically, warmly, strongly, earnestly, vigorously, ardently, soundly, devoutly, eagerly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, languorously

heartlessly: (adv) mercilessly, pitilessly, ruthlessly, inhumanly, callously, unkindly, unfeelingly, brutally, unsympathetically, harshly, insensitively. ANTONYMS: (adv) sympathetically, sensitively, mercifully, humanely

heartlessness: (n) coldheartedness, hardheartedness, callousness, mercilessness, unkindness, atrocity, pitilessness, brutality, malice, meanness, coldness. ANTONYMS: (n) sensitivity, humanity

hearty: (adj) heartfelt, healthy, genial, sturdy, cheering, fervent, wholehearted, lusty, enthusiastic, convivial; (adj, n) well.

- ANTONYMS: (adj) unhealthy, frail, old, weak, sluggish, unwholesome, meager
- heathen: (adj, n) gentile, ethnic; (n) infidel, idolater, paynim, heretic; (adj) heathenish, irreligious, giaour, godless, barbaric
- heathland: (n) barren
- heaviness: (n) dullness, fatness, sadness, ponderosity, ponderousness, weightiness, weight, darkness, gloom, wideness, pressure. ANTONYMS: (n) slenderness, nimbleness, weightlessness
- heaving: (v) tremor, twitter; (adj) swelling, full, full up, jammed; (n) murmur, forcing out, groan, grumble, mutter. ANTONYM: (adj) deserted
- heed: (n, v) consideration, concern, regard, mind, attention, notice; (n) caution, advertence, advertency; (v) attend, hear. ANTONYMS: (n, v) disregard; (n) inattentiveness
- heedlessness: (n) neglect, rashness, carelessness, inattention, inadvertence, recklessness, indifference, inattentiveness, foolhardiness, disregard, temerity. ANTONYMS: (n) mindfulness, caution
- helical: (v) coiled; (adj) whorled, turbinate, volute, coiling, spiry, spiraling, voluted
- hellenic: (adj) Grecian, classical, Hellenistic, Hellenistical; (n) Hellenic language, Hellene
- helplessly: (adv) weakly, powerlessly, lostly, destitutely, shiftlessly, defenselessly, unprotectedly, ineffectively, wretchedly, incompetently, disabledly. ANTONYM: (adv) powerfully
- helter-skelter: (adj, adv) recklessly; (adj) chaotic, haphazard, capricious, reckless, upside-down; (adv) anyhow, irregularly
- hemispherical: (adj) crescent herbage: (n) herb, grass, pasture, pasturage, foliage, herbaceous plant, forage, flora, eatage, vegetable kingdom
- hereabouts: (adv) hereabout, thereabouts
- hereafter: (adv) thereafter, from now on, hence, henceforth, hereinafter, afterwards; (n) afterlife, futurity, time to come, great beyond, future life
- hereon: (adv) hereupon

- heretic: (n) schismatic, pagan, misbeliever, nonconformist, dissident, sectarian, heathen, pariah, outcast, dissenter, renegade
- heretofore: (adv) formerly, as yet, before, so far, yet, already, until now, previously, once, hereunto; (adv, n) hitherto
- hermitage: (n) alcove, bower, grotto, greenhouse, arbor, retreat, cloister, seclusion, safe house, ivory tower; (adj) cell
- heron: (n) egret, broadbill, boatbill, bittern, hern, wader, bomber, Cuban sandwich, fighter, great blue heron, champion
- **herons**: (n) Ardeidae, bitterns, egrets, family Ardeidae
- hesitating: (adj) indecisive, irresolute, undecided, doubtful, hesitate, reluctant, faltering, unwilling, hesitancy, backward, hesitatingly
- hesitatingly: (adv) indecisively, irresolutely, hesitating, waveringly, doubtfully, undecidedly, vacillatingly, falteringly.
 ANTONYM: (adv) unhesitatingly
- hideous: (adj) dreadful, frightful, fearful, ghastly, horrid, ugly, repulsive, lurid, horrible, grisly, grim. ANTONYMS: (adj) lovely, pleasant, beautiful, wonderful
- high-class: (adj) high, superior, patrician, posh, rich, cultured
- highroad: (n) main road, trunk road,
 a highway
- hillock: (n) hill, mound, rise, barrow, kopje, hammock, elevation, heap; (adj, n) knoll, hummock; (adj) mole
- hind: (adj, n) rear; (adj) after, posterior, hindermost; (n) doe, clown, peasant, roe, countryman, servant; (v) hinder
- hinder: (v) impede, resist, check, hamper, obstruct, curb, handicap, delay; (n, v) bar; (adj) posterior, hind. ANTONYMS: (v) help, facilitate, assist, prompt, encourage, promote, allow, support, accelerate
- hindered: (adj) obstructed, blocked, delayed, stalled, slowed down, slow, in an inferior position, in a weak position, impedite, thwarted, frustrated
- hinge: (n, v) joint; (n) axis, axle, articulation, spindle, crux, fulcrum, arbor, flexible joint; (v) depend, juncture
- hiss: (v) fizz, spit, whiz, whisper, whoosh; (n) buzz, jeer, hissing, ridicule; (n, v) hoot, taunt hissing: (adj) sibilant, sibilous,

- sibilatory; (n) whistling, heckling, scoffing, sibilance, taunts, sibilation, white noise; (v) fizzle. ANTONYM: (n) applause
- histrionic: (adj) melodramatic, dramatic, play, scenic, artificial, affected, histrionical, tragic, tragicomic, operatic, stagy. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, restrained
- hitch: (v) fasten, attach; (n, v) catch, limp, hobble, arrest; (n) hindrance, drawback, barrier, difficulty, check. ANTONYMS: (n) advantage, ease, help; (v) detach, undo
- **hither**: (adv) here, whither, hitherward, thither
- hoar: (n) frost, rime, hoarfrost, hoariness; (adj) gray, hoary, canescent, grizzly, greyish, frosty, ancient
- hoard: (v) amass, gather, collect, garner; (n, v) cache, store, stock, heap, bank, stash; (n) accumulation. ANTONYMS: (v) squander, disperse, spend, use
- hoarfrost: (n) frost, rime, hoar, freeze, white frost, ice, fissure, crack, chink hoarsely: (adv) roughly, huskily,
- raucously, gruffly, throatily, gratingly, stridently, gutturally, thickly, croakily, raggedly.

 ANTONYM: (adv) smoothly
- hoffman: (n) Malvina Hoffman holler: (n, v) cry, scream, call, shout, yell, bawl, hollo, shriek, bellow; (v) exclaim, screech. ANTONYM: (v) whisper
- hollowness: (n) hollow, concavity, insincerity, cavity, futility, blank, concaveness, void, nothingness, vacuum, vacuity. ANTONYMS: (n) solidity, validity
- homage: (n) allegiance, obeisance, fealty, accolade, honor, loyalty, worship, veneration, deference, devotion, compliment
- homely: (adj) plain, common, rustic, artless, home, snug, homelike, domestic; (adj, adv) ugly; (adv) plainly, simplely. ANTONYMS: (adj) sophisticated, striking, uncomfortable, bleak
- homespun: (adj) ordinary, artless, frugal, rustic, plain, russet, coarse, folksy, tweedy, slubbed, nubby. ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary, sophisticated
- homestead: (n, v) farm; (n) home, abode, farmhouse, farmstead, dwelling, habitation, estate, demesne, homestall, house

homeward: (adj) oriented, orientated homogeneous: (adj) consistent, kindred, homogenous, similar, unvarying, neat, pure, sheer, single, akin, alike. ANTONYMS: (adj) diverse, varied, inconsistent, heterogeneous, various honourably: (adv) uprightly,

worthily, honestly, creditably, commendably

honoured: (adj) esteemed, respected, worthy

hooded: (v) cucullate, encuirassed, dermatoid, squamiferous, tectiform; (adj) covered, capistrate, cucullated, draped, enclosed, kerchieft

hoops: (n) basketball game, earrings, studs, jewelry, basketball

hopefulness: (n) optimism, anticipation, hope, confidence, enthusiasm, aspiration, buoyancy, cheerfulness, condition, happiness, heart of grace. ANTONYMS: (n) despair, disappointment, pessimism

hopelessness: (n) despair, despondency, discouragement, depression, desolation, sadness, dismay, hopeless, gloominess, gloom, dissatisfaction. ANTONYMS: (n) capability, power, worth, cheerfulness, effectiveness, joy, possibility, competence, happiness

horny: (adj) corneous, hornlike, hard, hot, excited, ruttish, randy, lecherous, lascivious, aroused, cornuted

horribly: (adv) horrifically, awfully, terrifically, hideously, atrociously, appallingly; (adj, adv) frightfully, terribly, fearfully, shockingly; (adj) ghastly. ANTONYMS: (adv) pleasantly, wonderfully, kindly, sweetly

horrid: (adj) grisly, ghastly, ugly, gruesome, grim, fearful, dreadful, direful, dire, horrible, fearsome. ANTONYMS: (adj) lovely, nice, appealing, attractive, kind

horrors: (adj) pessimism, vapors, spleen, megrims; (n) delirium tremens

horseback: (n) hogback, body part horsehair: (n) material, animal fibre, cloth, fabric, hair of horses, hairpiece, toupee, animal fiber, wig horseplay: (n) play, fooling, prank, ridicule, sport, wile, monkey business, high jinks, fun; (n, v) joke;

hotly: (adv) heatedly, passionately, fervidly, fervently, pepperily,

(v) cavort

sultrily, intensely, sharply, torridly; (adj, adv) violently, vehemently. ANTONYMS: (adv) impassively, mildly

hound: (v) bloodhound, chase, hunt, follow, badger, course, bait, pursue; (n) greyhound, blackguard, cad. ANTONYM: (v) soothe

hourglass: (n) dial, horologe, gnomon, sandglass, sundial; (adj, v) neck; (v) glass, goblet, systole; (adj) isthmus, middle constriction

housetop: (n) roof, ceiling hovel: (n) hut, cot, booth, hole, cottage, hutch, shanty, bothy, shed, shack, croft. ANTONYM: (n) mansion

hovering: (adj) suspended, poised, impending, flying, high hubbub: (n) commotion, uproar, disorder, din, noise, bustle, tumult, bedlam, brouhaha; (n, v) racket, brawl. ANTONYM: (n) calm

humane: (adj, n) gentle, compassionate, beneficent, gracious; (adj) clement, kind, charitable, merciful, good, tender, benignant. ANTONYMS: (adj) inhumane, foul, harsh, selfish

humbling: (adj) humiliating, demeaning, abject, amazing, astounding, awesome, breathtaking, critical, embarrassing; (n) comedown, debasement

humbly: (adv) lowly, meanly, modestly, submissively, low, shyly, lowlily, naturally, regretfully, remorsefully, repentantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) conceitedly, haughtily, pompously, ostentatiously, unrepentantly, affluently, brashly, pretentiously

humid: (adj) wet, moist, dank, damp, sultry, steamy, watery, wettish, clammy, sticky, soggy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, cool, arid, temperate

humiliating: (adj) humbling, embarrassing, mortifying, demeaning, shameful, disgraceful, ignominious, abject, dishonorable; (v) humiliate; (n) infra dignitatem. ANTONYMS: (adj) dignified, honorable, glorious, reassuring, mild

humility: (n) diffidence, modesty, submission, shyness, meekness, lowliness, timidity, trait, humiliation, resignation; (adj) veneration. ANTONYMS: (n) haughtiness, affectation, conceit, arrogance humming: (adj) droning, zippy, reeking, bustling, grunting, stinking; (n) buzzing, vocalizing, sound, murmur, growling

humorous: (adj) comical, funny, comic, droll, playful, hilarious, jocose, farcical, jocular; (adj, n) facetious, witty. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, tragic, humorless, dull humpbacked: (adj) hunchbacked,

gibbous, humped, hunchback, crookbacked, round-backed, kyphotic, deformed, gibbose, unfit hundredweight: (n) cwt, centner, cental doppel/entner, metric

cental, doppelzentner, metric hundredweight, long hundredweight, short hundredweight; (adj) drachma, stone, scruple, load

hunted: (adj) coursed, afraid, wanted, required, sought, sought after; (n) victim

hurriedly: (adv) rapidly, quickly, swiftly, abruptly, promptly, fast, in haste, suddenly, speedily, rashly, precipitately. ANTONYMS: (adv) calmly, unhurriedly, patiently, carefully, gradually, thoroughly hush: (adj, n, v) calm, silence, quiet,

nush: (adj, n, v) caim, silence, quiet, still, lull; (n) peace; (v) shut up, gag, quieten, muffle; (adj, v) soothe. ANTONYMS: (n) noise, turmoil; (v) Louden

hushed: (adj) calm, silent, still, subdued, placid, muffled, noiseless, soft, soundless, tranquil, gentle. ANTONYM: (adj) noisy

huskily: (adv) raucously, gruffly, harshly, throatily, stoutly, strongly, roughly, strappingly, beefily, sturdily, powerfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) softly, gently

husky: (adj) hoarse, gruff, burly, big, dry, raucous, beefy, strapping, brawny, sturdy; (n) Eskimo dog. ANTONYMS: (adj) high, puny, small, smooth, soft

hypochondriasis: (n) hypochondria, hypochondriacism, anxiety, hypochondriasm, anxiousness, hypochondry; (adj) horrors, pessimism, megrims, spleen, vapors iceland: (n) Republic of Iceland idealizing: (v) idealise

idling: (n) idleness, loafing, faineance, dalliance, idle motion, dolce far niente, idling speed; (v) to slide; (adj) trifling

idly: (adj, adv) foolishly; (adv) vainly, vaguely, listlessly, forgetfully, distractedly; (adj) thoughtlessly. ANTONYM: (adv) energetically

ignoble: (adj) contemptible, abject, base, dishonorable, disgraceful, beggarly, mean, humble, degraded, despicable, caddish. ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, glorious

ignominiously: (adv) disgracefully, shamefully, discreditably, dishonorably, scandalously, dishonourably, opprobriously, infamously, basely, vilely, foully ill-conceived: (adj) crazy, half-baked

ill-judged: (adj) imprudent, impolitic, injudicious, incautious

ill-timed: (adj) untimely, inopportune, undue, inappropriate, inept, inadmissible, disadvantageous

illuminated: (adj) lit, lighted, luminous, enlightened, clear, light, shining, irradiated, lighter, Lighty, irradiate

illumination: (n) brightness, illuminance, lighting, light, explanation, elucidation, edification, luminousness, luminosity, illustration; (adj, n) irradiation. ANTONYMS: (n) education, knowledge, confusion

ill-use: (v) mistreat, maltreat, ill-treat illustrious: (adj, n) glorious, celebrated, excellent, grand; (adj) famous, bright, eminent, famed, distinguished, brilliant, well-known. ANTONYMS: (adj) unknown, obscure, ordinary, undistinguished, lowly

ill-will: (n) enmity imaginatively: (adv) ingeniously, creatively, resourcefully, originally, productively, innovatively, artistically, cleverly, tangentially,

practically, agilely. ANTONYM: (adv) logically

imagining: (n) conception, daydream, fantasy, opinion; (v) imagine; (adj) imaginant

imitate: (n, v) duplicate; (v) forge, ap, emulate, follow, feign, counterfeit, mimic, mock, assume, act

immaturity: (n) immatureness, childhood, babyhood, adolescence, puerility, crudity, youth, juvenility, callowness, state, viridity. ANTONYMS: (n) maturity, adulthood, experience

immerse: (v) douse, plunge, drench, dunk, absorb, drown, engross, bury, engulf, steep, submerge

immersed: (adj) submerged, engrossed, deep, underwater, sunk, dipped, covered, engaged, profound, rapt, riveted. ANTONYMS: (adj) detached, superficial, bored

immobility: (adj, n) fixity; (n) fixedness, stillness, stationariness, motionlessness, immovability, immovableness; (adj) vitality, stiffness, stabiliment, solidity.

ANTONYMS: (n) bustle, movement

immortal: (adj) eternal, enduring, undying, endless, monumental; (adj, v) deathless, imperishable, celebrated; (n) deity, God, divinity. ANTONYMS: (adj) obscure, earthly, forgettable, perishable, temporary immortality: (n) sempiternity,

perpetuity, athanasia, glory, aye, fame, everness, immortal, permanency, deathlessness, undying. ANTONYM: (n) mortality

impassioned: (adj) fervent, fanatical, fiery, burning, passionate, hot, torrid, vehement, keen, zealous; (adj, v) enthusiastic. ANTONYMS: (adj) impassive, indifferent, calm

impassively: (adv) apathetically, dispassionately, emotionlessly, indifferently, calmly, stoically, serenely, unconcernedly, unfeelingly, coldly, phlegmatically. ANTONYMS: (adv) fervently, passionately, expressively, animatedly

impassivity: (n) impassiveness, apathy, stolidity, lethargy, phlegm, emotionlessness, stoicism, frigidity, insensibility, unconcern, sluggishness

impatience: (n) annoyance, eagerness, anger, intolerance, restlessness, fidget, nervousness, fidgetiness, enthusiasm, edginess; (adj) nonendurance. ANTONYMS: (n) calmness, endurance, apathy

impeachment: (n) charge, accusation, arraignment, censure, impeach, indictment, prosecution, citation, instrument, blame, complaint

impeded: (adj) blocked, disabled, hampered, crippled, slow impending: (adj) forthcoming, close, future, coming, approaching, near, prospective, pending, at hand, upcoming, threatening. ANTONYMS: (adj) distant, unlikely, past

impenetrable: (adj) impassable, thick, incomprehensible, hard, mysterious, unfathomable, unintelligible, impervious, opaque, heavy, obscure. ANTONYMS: (adj) penetrable, readable, straightforward, apparent,

simple, sparse, vulnerable, accessible, transparent, understandable, open

imperatively: (adv) commandingly, imperiously, urgently, pressingly, authoritatively, obligatorily, essentially, magisterially, necessarily, instantly, critically imperceptibly: (adv) unpoticeably.

imperceptibly: (adv) unnoticeably, gradually, slightly, invisibly, gently, quietly, softly, observably, indistinctly, scarcely, hardly. ANTONYMS: (adv) obviously, visibly, audibly, conspicuously, perceptibly, heavily, clearly, strongly

imperiously: (adv) overbearingly, arrogantly, commandingly, magisterially, dictatorially, masterfully, haughtily, imperatively, authoritatively, domineeringly, insolently. ANTONYMS: (adv) meekly, feebly

imperiousness: (n) haughtiness, domineeringness, lordliness, overbearingness, tyranny, assumption

impersonal: (adj) neutral, objective, detached, cold, impartial, indifferent, aloof, personal, equitable, remote, clinical. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, friend, involved

imperturbable: (adj) dispassionate, impassive, composed, placid, unflappable, cool, quiet, peaceful, still, equable, steady. ANTONYMS: (adj) edgy, concerned, agitated, excited, nervous

impetuous: (adj) boisterous, hasty, fiery, headlong, heady, hot, brash, foolhardy, dashing, fierce; (adj, v) impulsive. ANTONYMS: (adj) considered, careful, slow, sensible, patient

impetuously: (adv) rashly, impulsively, vehemently, precipitately, fiercely, headily, passionately, intensely, fierily, spontaneously, thoughtlessly. ANTONYMS: (adv) deliberately, sensibly, patiently

implements: (n) equipment, apparatus, gear, tackle, rigging, outfit, hardware, trappings

imploring: (adj) appealing, begging, suppliant, pleading, entreating, piteous, importunate, entreating urgently; (v) supplicate, plead; (n) prayer

impolite: (adj) coarse, gruff, disrespectful, impertinent, brusque, churlish, uncivilized, rude, insolent, improper, blunt. ANTONYMS: (adj) respectful, courteous, pleasant, gracious, correct, decent, genteel, sensitive, excusable

imprecation: (n) curse, anathema, execration, cuss, blasphemy, bane, ban, oath, prayer, malison, denunciation

impregnable: (adj, v) fast; (adj) secure, inexpugnable, unassailable, unconquerable, invulnerable, insurmountable, unshakable, irresistible, strong, safe. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, tenuous

improper: (adj) false, illicit, illegitimate, unsuitable, wrong, indecent, bad, coarse, amiss, faulty; (adj, v) indecorous. ANTONYMS: (adj) suitable, fitting, polite, acceptable, sensitive, moral, correct, dignified, lawful, clean, honest

imprudent: (adj) foolish, foolhardy, indiscreet, hasty, improvident, impolitic, heedless, unadvised, injudicious, unwary, unwise. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, prudent, cautious, wise, deliberate, discreet, guarded, judicious, advisable

impulsive: (adj) capricious, hasty, driving, rash, instinctive, changeable, hotheaded, quick-tempered, impellent, headlong, passionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, considered, predictable, unflappable, prepared, sensible, gradual, overdue, patient, placid, premeditated

impunity: (n) impune, come off, freedom, immunity, permission, forgiveness. ANTONYM: (n) liability

impurities: (n) dross, bastard, scum, cinder

inadvertently: (adv) accidentally, heedlessly, unwittingly, unintentionally, negligently, casually, thoughtlessly, unawares, involuntarily, by accident; (adj, adv) inattentively. ANTONYMS: (adv) mindfully, wittingly, deliberately, purposely

inanimate: (adj) defunct, dull, breathless, inorganic, inactive, lifeless, exanimate, deceased, extinct, unconscious, spiritless. ANTONYMS: (adj) living, animate, spirited

incantation: (n) spell, magic, sorcery, enchantment, witchcraft,

conjuration, magic spell, chant,

wizardry, open sesame, adjuration incapacitated: (adj) powerless, unfit, handicapped, helpless, incompetent, out of action, impotent, unable, weak, under disability, prostrate

incarnate: (adj) embodied, bodied, material, corporeal; (v) materialize, typify, actualize, substantiate, personify, be, body forth

incendiary: (adj) inflammatory, seditious, provocative, flammable, inflammable; (n) firebrand, agitator, arsonist, firebug, firebomb, incendiary bomb. ANTONYM: (adj) conciliatory

incertitude: (n) uncertainty, dubiousness, dubiety, indecisiveness, suspense, misgiving, irresolution, indecision, disbelief, distrust, doubtfulness. ANTONYM: (n) certainty

incessant: (adj) endless, continual, everlasting, eternal, constant, continuous, perpetual, unremitting, interminable, persistent; (adj, v) frequent. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, occasional, sporadic, broken, finite

incessantly: (adv) constantly, endlessly, continually, perpetually, continuously, unceasingly, eternally, persistently, unremittingly, unendingly, steadily. ANTONYMS: (adv) sporadically, briefly

incidental: (adj) fortuitous, accidental, contingent, adventitious, collateral, chance, occasional, incident, attendant, concomitant, episodic. ANTONYMS: (adj) basic, direct, intended, significant

incineration: (n) burning, combustion, cineration, ignition, fire incipient: (adj) initial, budding, nascent, imperfectly formed, commencing, first, undeveloped; (adj, v) introductory; (v) inceptive;

incline: (v) cant, dispose, bend; (n, v) slope, bias, dip, tilt; (n) ascent, gradient, grade, inclination.
ANTONYMS: (v) indispose, level; (n) hollow, descent

(n) beginning

inclining: (adj) oblique, shelving; (n) leaning, tendency, disposition, movement, proclivity, sentiment, propensity, predilection, partiality

inclosed: (adj) confined, entrails, included, internal, intestine incomprehensible: (adj) inapprehensible, inscrutable, inarticulate, abstruse, cryptic, unfathomable, puzzling, obscure, inexplicable, inconceivable, unaccountable. ANTONYMS: (adj) comprehensible, explicable, understandable, intelligible, legible, obvious, straightforward

incongruity: (n) disharmony, contradiction, disagreement, incongruence, disparity, discrepancy, discord, unconformity, disproportion, absurdity, paradox. ANTONYMS: (n) congruity, normality, agreement

inconvenience: (n, v) trouble, incommode; (v) discommode, disoblige, annoy, disturb, disquiet; (n) disadvantage, difficulty, nuisance, unsuitableness.

ANTONYMS: (n) expediency, advantage; (v) help, please

inconvenient: (adj) inopportune, awkward, disadvantageous, bothersome, improper, unfavorable, troublesome, hard, inapt, untoward, unfortunate. ANTONYMS: (adj) convenient, suitable, opportune, timely, advantageous

indecision: (n) hesitation, irresolution, uncertainty, indecisiveness, hesitance, qualm, vacillation, hesitancy, dubiety, infirmity of purpose; (adj, n) suspense. ANTONYMS: (n) determination, resolve, resolution, confidence

indecisive: (adj) undecided, hesitant, unsure, inconclusive, weak, irresolute, dubious, indefinite, vague, precarious, hesitating.

ANTONYMS: (adj) decisive, conclusive, resolute, consistent, determined, focused, confident, sure indefatigably: (adv) persistently, remorselessly, inexorably, assiduously, insistently, mercilessly, pitilessly, inexhaustibly, determinedly, unrelentingly,

indefinite: (adj, v) ambiguous, vague; (adj) uncertain, boundless, hazy, equivocal, unlimited, doubtful, dubious, imprecise, indecisive.
ANTONYMS: (adj) definite, limited, fixed, constrained, specific, distinct, known, precise, clear, exact

unremittingly

indefinitely: (adv) indistinctly, indeterminately, unclearly, uncertainly, undefinedly, unfixedly, loosely, imprecisely, undeterminedly, unsettledly, obscurely. ANTONYM: (adv) temporarily

- indescribable: (adj) indefinable, ineffable, unutterable, vague, beyond expression, nameless, inexpressible, nondescript, terrible, intangible, termless. ANTONYMS: (adj) explainable, conceivable, concrete
- indescribably: (adv) unspeakably, incredibly, inconceivably, beyond words, unbelievably, unutterably, unthinkably
- indestructible: (adj) immortal, eternal, everlasting, undestroyable, undying, durable, perdurable, permanent, indelible, incorruptible, lasting. ANTONYMS: (adj) fragile, destructible, vulnerable, ephemeral, soft, perishable, temporary
- indicative: (adj, n) declarative; (adj) significant, suggestive, meaningful, demonstrative, significative, indicatory, reminiscent; (n) indicative mood, common mood; (v) indicating. ANTONYMS: (adj) hidden, secretive
- indifferently: (adv) carelessly, coldly, nonchalantly, listlessly, unconcernedly, uninterestedly, neutrally, middlingly, casually, unbiasedly, disinterestedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) passionately, obsessively, carefully, eagerly, energetically, warmly, anxiously, enthusiastically, sympathetically
- indignant: (adj) angry, incensed, furious, enraged, wrathful, hurt, rage, provoked, hot, anger, irate. ANTONYMS: (adj) cool, content, unaffected
- indignantly: (adv) irately, angrily, wrathfully, enragedly, sorely, acrimoniously, cynically, sulkily, hotly, exasperatedly, furiously
- indignation: (n) anger, resentment, displeasure, grudge, umbrage, rage, outrage, exasperation, choler, dudgeon; (adj, n) wrath. ANTONYMS: (n) contentment, pleasure
- indignity: (n) dishonor, contumely, humiliation, contempt, outrage, disdain, offence, disgrace, degradation; (n, v) insult, abuse. ANTONYMS: (n) honor, glory, pride
- indirectness: (n) allusiveness, obliqueness, dishonesty, crookedness, obliquity, discursiveness, characteristic, circumlocution, deviousness, dishonest practices, mediacy. ANTONYM: (n) candor

- indiscreet: (adj) careless, imprudent, incautious, ill-advised, rash, unadvised, unwise, impolitic, hasty, tactless, inadvisable. ANTONYMS: (adj) thoughtful, tactful, judicious, guarded
- rashness, inconsideration, carelessness, injudiciousness, faux pas, hastiness, indiscreetness, flippancy; (adj, n) temerity.
 ANTONYMS: (n) discretion, diplomacy, forethought
- indispensable: (adj, v) necessary, imperative, requisite; (adj) obligatory, fundamental, required, mandatory, vital, urgent, absolutely necessary; (v) needful.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) dispensable, nonessential, optional, marginal,
- unnecessary, worthless, minor indisposed: (adj) ill, ailing, loath, sick, averse, poorly, sickly, reluctant, unwilling, unwell, diseased.

ANTONYMS: (adj) inclined, willing, keen, disposed

- indisposition: (adj, n, v) ailment; (n) disinclination, dislike, distaste, aversion, reluctance, hesitation; (n, v) illness, disorder, disease; (adj, n) infirmity. ANTONYM: (n) inclination
- indistinct: (adj) indefinite, inarticulate, faint, dull, fuzzy, indeterminate, hazy, neutral; (adj, n) confused, cloudy, dark. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, slight, separate, certain, precise, audible,
- strong, definite indistinctly: (adv) vaguely, dimly, hazily, mistily, inarticulately, shadowily, obscurely, unclearly, fuzzily, confusedly, ambiguously. ANTONYMS: (adv) precisely, audibly, coherently, distinctly
- indistinguishable: (adj) identical, alike, imperceptible, obscure, undistinguishable, same, equivalent, equal, twin, like, indiscernible. ANTONYMS: (adj) distinguishable, different, clear, discernible, distinct, visible, certain
- individuality: (n) character, individualism, personality, originality, distinctiveness, identity, peculiarity, selfhood, ego, disposition, independence. ANTONYMS: (n) commonality, sameness, conformity
- indolence: (n) laziness, inaction, lethargy, inertia, inactivity, listlessness, slowness, torpor,

- sluggishness, apathy; (adj, n) sloth. ANTONYMS: (n) energy, nimbleness, activity, bustle, liveliness, vigor
- inducement: (n) enticement, attraction, cause, incitement, impulse, temptation, bait, impetus, occasion, motive, goad. ANTONYMS: (n) disincentive, deterrent
- inducing: (v) induce, remind, call to mind, suggest, bring to mind; (n) incentive, causing, causation, thought; (adj) cogent, persuasive
- indulge: (n, v) gratify, humor; (v) coddle, cosset, baby, pamper, spoil, satisfy, please, mollycoddle, cocker. ANTONYMS: (v) frustrate, deprive, stifle, neglect, deny, displease, fast
- indulged: (adj) pet, privileged, cherished, admired
- indulgence: (adj, n) gratification, delight; (n) allowance, extravagance, debauchery, hobby, tolerance, luxury, enjoyment, leniency, pardon. ANTONYMS: (n) denial, virtue, intolerance, uprightness, necessity, indifference, dismay, severity
- indulging: (n) pampering, excess, indulgence, orgy, folly, foolery, gratification
- industriously: (adv) diligently, painstakingly, busily, sedulously, tirelessly, untiringly, eagerly, studiously, laboriously, carefully, conscientiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) wearily, carelessly
- ineffectively: (adv) inefficiently, emptily, inefficaciously, futilely, uselessly, unsuccessfully, unproductively, powerlessly, fruitlessly, pointlessly, vainly. ANTONYMS: (adv) persuasively, efficaciously, fruitfully, powerfully, usefully, effectively, convincingly, efficiently
- inertness: (n) dullness, inaction, inactivity, lethargy, indifference, laziness, stupor, torpor, apathy, languor, sluggishness
- inexperienced: (adj) naive, young, callow, ignorant, unsophisticated, new, unexperienced, clumsy; (adj, v) raw; (v) green; (n) inexperience. ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, sophisticated, skilled, knowledgeable, expert, accustomed, sharp, seasoned
- inexpressible: (adj, v) indescribable; (adj) ineffable, unspeakable, unutterable, indefinable,

incommunicable, nameless, untold, beyond description, unexpressible, undefinable. ANTONYM: (adj) definite

infallible: (adj) sure, inevitable, positive, inerrable, unfailing, absolute, confident, definite, dependable; (adj, v) unerring; (n) sterling. ANTONYMS: (adj) fallible, faulty

infallibly: (adv) unerringly,
 unfailingly, inerrably, assuredly,
 certainly, firmly

infancy: (n) babyhood, cradle, beginning, birth, genesis, minority, early childhood, youth, nonage, adolescence, early days. ANTONYM: (n) maturity

infatuated: (adj, n) fanatical; (adj, v) besotted; (adj) gaga, crazy, mad, dotty, in love, obsessed, smitten, taken with; (v) illiberal

infectious: (adj) communicable, catching, pestiferous, infective, epidemic, infect, transmittable, taking, virulent, vitiating, easily spread. ANTONYM: (adj) noninfectious

infer: (v) deduce, guess, derive, conclude, construe, imagine, conjecture, gather, deduct; (adj, v) understand, imply

inferred: (adj) subtle, tacit, assumed, incidental, latent, unsaid, unspoken, understood, contingent, implied, derivative. ANTONYM: (adj) explicit

infidel: (adj, n) heathen, pagan, unbeliever, skeptic, deist; (n) gentile, idolater, freethinker, paynim, miscreant; (adj) pyrrhonist

infinitesimal: (adj) microscopic, tiny, insignificant, little, evanescent, atomic, minuscule, inappreciable, negligible, fractional, imperceptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) gigantic, enormous, huge, immeasurable

infinity: (n) infinite, immensity, infiniteness, infinitude, boundlessness, immutability, glory, greatness, holiness, forever, perpetuity. ANTONYM: (n) limitedness

inflammability: (n) combustibility, inflammableness, accendibility

inflammable: (adj) combustible, burnable, ignitable, quick-tempered, incendiary, fiery, fractious, choleric, excitable, ignitible, peevish. ANTONYMS: (adj) nonflammable, fireproof

inflammation: (n) combustion,

swelling, inflaming, fury, burning, firing, bulge, appendicitis; (n, v) ignition; (v) ignite, kindle

inflict: (v) impose, cause, wreak, force, enforce, deal, deliver, administer, foist, put, obtrude

influencing: (adj) affecting, infusive informing: (n) briefing, disclosure, apprisal, warning, revelation, ratting, presentation, introduction; (v) inform; (adj) intelligencing, giving information

infrequent: (adj) few, rare, scarce, seldom, exceptional, occasional, unwonted, sparse, sporadic, unusual, deficient. ANTONYMS: (adj) common, regular, usual

ingenuous: (adj, n) frank; (adj) naive, guileless, honest, forthright, innocent, straight, artless, downright, green, hearty. ANTONYMS: (adj) disingenuous, dishonest, cunning, sophisticated, scheming, worldly, jaded, hesitant, experienced

ingress: (n) access, entrance, entry, entree, admission, entering, admittance, incoming, door, arrival, gateway. ANTONYM: (n) exit

inhabitant: (n) denizen, resident, occupant, citizen, tenant, occupier, population, native, liver, indweller; (v) habitant. ANTONYM: (n) stranger

inhabited: (v) populous, full of people, arrayed, clothed, dressed, accustomed, habited; (adj, v) peopled; (adj) occupied, settled, housing. ANTONYMS: (adj) unoccupied, uninhabited, business

inhale: (v) absorb, imbibe, draw, suck, drag, breathe in, drink, attract, inspire, respire; (n, v) sniff. ANTONYMS: (v) blow, expire

inharmonious: (adj) dissonant, incompatible, unharmonious, incongruous, jarring, improper, harsh, cacophonous, unmusical, tuneless, inconsistent

inheritor: (n) beneficiary, heritor, heiress, successor, recipient, progeny, offspring, legatee, inheritress, inheritrix, heir presumptive. ANTONYMS: (n) predecessor, ancestor

inhuman: (adj) heartless, cruel, atrocious, brutal, cold, harsh, ferocious, remorseless, barbarous, relentless, barbaric. ANTONYMS: (adj) sympathetic, kind, humane injure: (n, v) damage, harm, impair;

(v) contuse, disfigure, maim, bruise,

blemish, wound, insult; (adj, v) abuse. ANTONYMS: (v) heal, enable, repair, protect, help

inkling: (n, v) hint, suggestion; (n) clue, allusion, idea, glimpse, notion, indication, cue, intimation, implication. ANTONYMS: (n) trust, certainty

inlaid: (adj) decorated

innermost: (adj) inward, intimate, inner, interior, close, internal, middle, center, hint, hearty; (adj, n) inside. ANTONYMS: (adj) external, outermost, outer

innkeeper: (n) victualer, landlord, Boniface, hostess, hotel keeper, victualler, padrone, emcee, horde

innocently: (adv) innocuously, ingenuously, inoffensively, naively, purely, simplely, artlessly, unsophisticatedly, blamelessly, spotlessly, cleanly. ANTONYMS: (adv) artfully, meaningfully, indecently, immorally, illicitly, intentionally, knowingly, unkindly, suspiciously, offensively, deliberately

innumerable: (adj) countless, numberless, incalculable, multitudinous, infinite, innumerous, unnumbered, uncounted, myriad, immeasurable, untold. ANTONYM: (adj) finite

inquire: (v) demand, ask, explore, enquire, inspect, research, consult, pry, request, wonder; (n, v) question. ANTONYM: (v) answer

inquiring: (adj) inquisitive, quizzical, interested, analytical, probing, intrusive; (adj, n) questioning; (v) inquire; (n) enquiry, question, examination. ANTONYM: (adj) uninquiring

inquiringly: (adv) enquiringly, inquisitively, nosily, curiously, pryingly, interestedly, searchingly, inquiring, quizzically, intrusively

inquisitiveness: (n) curiosity, nosiness, prying, appetite for knowledge, foreignness, exactness, accuracy, elaboration, eagerness to learn, carefulness

inscription: (n) epigraph, entry, dedication, autograph, epitaph, registration, lettering, writing, record, superscription, title

insensible: (adj) imperceptible, numb, unconscious, callous, dull, unaware, apathetic, impassive, indiscernible, comatose, impassible. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, conscious, sensitive, awake, alive,

compassionate, concerned, aware insensibly: (adv) imperceptibly, apathetically, numbly, motionlessly, inertly

insidiously: (adv) subtlely, craftily, treacherously, secretly, wily, sly, snakily, astutely, perniciously, stealthily, trickily

insignificance: (n) unimportance, insignificancy, indifference, immateriality, inconsiderableness, slightness, smallness, meanness, littleness, futility, inconsequentiality. ANTONYMS:

(n) seriousness, importance, gravity, appropriateness, value, fame

insignificant: (adj) inconsequential, inconsiderable, humble, poor, immaterial, trivial, unimportant, light, infinitesimal, indifferent, small. ANTONYMS: (adj) significant, enormous, major, important, huge, substantial, considerable, great, colossal, valuable, influential

insistent: (adj) exigent, pressing, emphatic, persistent, crying, importunate, instant, clamant, imperative, adamant, obstinate. ANTONYMS: (adj) satisfied, irresolute, gentle

instalment: (n) episode, installment, allotment, fascicle, part, fascicule, cliffhanger, division, programme, text, program

instep: (n) covering

instilling: (n) inculcation, ingraining, indoctrination

instinctive: (adj) inherent, inborn, automatic, natural, mechanical, spontaneous, intuitive, unconscious, gut, reflex; (adj, v) involuntary. ANTONYMS: (adj) learned, stilted, deliberate, factual, systematic, trained, spiritual

insulting: (adj) contemptuous, insolent, injurious, offensive, scurrilous, defamatory, opprobrious, rude, disgraceful, disdainful, impolite. ANTONYMS: (adj) courteous, conciliatory, polite, generous, cordial

insuperable: (adj) unconquerable, indomitable, impassable, invincible, unsurmountable, unbeatable, impregnable, overwhelming, formidable, inexsuperable, unassailable. ANTONYM: (adj) vulnerable

intellect: (n) mind, intelligence, understanding, reason, brains, head, intellectual, apprehension, psyche, genius, brainpower. ANTONYM: (n) stupidity

intellectually: (adv) rationally, intelligently, spiritually, cerebrally, intellectively, learnedly, academically, mindly, ideally, culturedly, smartly

intelligible: (adj) clear, understandable, articulate, luminous, apprehensible, graspable, simple, lucid, definite, distinct, perspicuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) difficult, illegible

intensified: (adj) intense, resonant, furious

intensify: (v) increase, aggravate, escalate, heighten, accelerate, augment, build up, deepen, raise, compound, exacerbate.

ANTONYMS: (v) moderate, decrease, reduce, satisfy, lessen, improve, abate, diminish, weaken, alleviate

intently: (adv) fixedly, attentively, seriously, raptly, intensely, closely, steadily, eagerly, absorbedly, hard, steadfastly. ANTONYM: (adv) absently

intentness: (adj, n) earnestness, zeal; (adj) ardor, empressement; (n) concentration, absorption, engrossment, intentiveness, earnest, complete attention, handsel

interdependence: (adj, n) mutuality; (n) interdependency, connection, commensalism, reciprocality, reciprocity, reliance, parasitism, mutualism, association; (adj) link

interfering: (adj, n) meddling; (adj) officious, busy, disturbing, meddlesome, nosy, busybodied, curious, overbearing, domineering; (n) hindrance

interlude: (n) intermission, interval, intermezzo, entr'acte, pause, episode, interact, adjournment, interim, recess, rest

intermittent: (adj) broken, sporadic, fitful, discontinuous, spasmodic, irregular, periodic, uneven, recurrent; (adj, v) occasional; (adv) intermittently. ANTONYMS: (adj) constant, repeated, continual, steady, regular, recurring, frequent, spasmodic, unbroken, common

interrupt: (v) disturb, break, hinder, intermit, stop, cut, break in, arrest, check; (n, v) suspend; (adj, v) pause. ANTONYMS: (v) cheer, respect, restore

interruption: (n) disruption, intermission, halt, pause, suspension, discontinuance, hiatus; (n, v) break, hindrance, impediment; (v) interrupt. ANTONYMS: (n) permanence, help, respect

intertwined: (prep) clasped together, interlocked, interfolded; (adj) related, matted, inseparable, disheveled, tangled, entangled

intervening: (adj) middle, interstitial, intervene, interposed, intermediate colors, mediate, mesne; (adj, v) intercurrent, interjacent; (v) intervenient; (n) middler.
ANTONYM: (adj) permanent

intolerable: (adj) unbearable, insupportable, painful, obnoxious, detestable, inexcusable, deplorable, undesirable, hard, excruciating, difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) bearable, tolerable, acceptable, reasonable, nice, understandable, lovable, excusable, inoffensive, manageable

intolerably: (adv) excruciatingly, unbearably, insufferably, unendurably, insupportably, unfeasibly, impossibly, horribly, unpardonably, inexcusably, unforgivably. ANTONYMS: (adv) tolerably, excusably, bearably, acceptably, pleasantly, understandably

intonation: (n) inflection, tone, expression, cadence, timbre, chanting, drone, prosody, vocalizing, singing, sound intractably: (adv) mulishly,

obdurately, inflexibly intrigue: (n, v) cabal, contrivance, scheme; (v) fascinate, connive, captivate, attract, charm; (n)

conspiracy, trick, plot
intrinsically: (adv) essentially,
naturally, internally, inwardly,
immanently, instinctively, really, in
and of itself, as such, per se; (adj,

adv) innately
intrude: (v) interfere, trespass,
encroach, infringe, impose, obtrude,
disturb, interrupt, impinge, barge in,
butt in. ANTONYM: (v) disregard

intuition: (n) insight, feeling, presentiment, suspicion, premonition, notion, instinct, sense, vision, bosom, thought.

ANTONYMS: (n) intellect, certainty inundated: (adj) swamped, awash, overwhelmed, afloat, engulfed, submerged, fuller, weak, suffused, submersed, soaked. ANTONYM: (adj) dry

invading: (adj) invade, incursive,

attacking, impertinent, abhorrent, abusive, aggressive, assailant, disgusting, disagreeable, distasteful

invariable: (adj) fixed, consistent, even, immutable, steady, unchanging, stable, uniform, set, undeviating, unchanged. ANTONYMS: (adj) changing, dynamic, erratic, irregular, varied

invent: (v) devise, form, create, excogitate, concoct, imagine, contrive; (n, v) forge, fabricate, design, coin

inverse: (adj, n) converse, contrary, opposite; (n) contrast, inversion, reciprocal, antithesis, reciprocality, reciprocity; (adv) backwards; (adj) opposing. ANTONYM: (adj) direct

inversely: (adv) reciprocally, reversely, contrarily, invertedly, reversedly, conversely, vice versa, contrary, in return

invidious: (adj) obnoxious, hateful, discriminatory, offensive, outrageous, jealous, abominable, odious, loathsome, covetous; (adj, v) spiteful. ANTONYMS: (adj) pleasant, desirable

inviolate: (adj, v) intact; (adj) sacred, sacrosanct, whole, entire, pure; (v) in petto, clandestine, auricular, close, privy

involuntarily: (adv) unconsciously, unintentionally, inadvertently, automatically, forcedly, mechanically, unthinkingly, reluctantly, accidentally, automaticly, unwillingly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) voluntarily, consciously, willingly, purposely

inwardly: (adv) inside, interiorly, innerly, within, secretly, intrinsically, intimately, privately, spiritually, incomingly; (adj) inwards. ANTONYM: (adv) openly

iridescent: (adj) opalescent, pearly, chatoyant, changeable, shimmering, colorful, shining, prismatic, pavonine, opaline, clear

irksome: (adj, v) wearisome, tiresome; (adj) boring, dull, annoying, tedious, trying, burdensome, bothersome, irritating, prosaic. ANTONYMS: (adj) delightful, pleasant, refreshing, soothing

ironical: (adj) sarcastic, satirical, dry, burlesque, wry, sardonic, satiric, derisive, caustic, quizzical; (n) humorous

ironing: (n) flatwork, household linen, flat wash

Return of the Native

irons: (n) fetters, iron, chain, shackles, fetter, manacles, gyve, bond, bonds, pinion, handcuffs

irradiated: (adj) bright, exposed, irradiate

irradiation: (n) shine, beam, radiance, radiation therapy, illumination, radiation, actinotherapy, therapy, light, ray, shaft

irrational: (adj) absurd, inconsistent, silly, unreasonable, blind, illogical, senseless, preposterous, imprudent, unsound, thoughtless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) logical, lucid, wise, sensible, worthwhile, systematic

irrationally: (adv) illogically, preposterously, senselessly, silly, nonsensically, unwisely, stupidly, absurdly, imprudently, unreasonably, insanely.
ANTONYMS: (adv) lucidly, sensibly, logically, reasonably, wisely, fairly

irrecoverable: (adj) incurable, irreparable, remediless, irreclaimable, irremediable, unrecoverable, forgotten, desperate, lost, irrevocable, irreversible

irregularity: (n) abnormality, anomaly, eccentricity, inequality, deviation, aberration, constipation, exception, unevenness, variation; (adj, n) deformity. ANTONYMS: (n) symmetry, normality, regularity, dependability, equality, frequency, evenness, consistency, predictability, smoothness

irregularly: (adv) erratically, occasionally, abnormally, sporadically, crookedly, unequally, randomly, atypically, roughly, eccentrically, fitfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) evenly, systematically, constantly, frequently, honestly, peacefully, recurrently

irrepressible: (adj) uncontrollable, uncontainable, unmanageable, wanton, inextinguishable, rampant, effervescent; (v) ungovernable, volcanic, stanchless, simmering. ANTONYM: (adj) orderly

irresistible: (adj) resistless, invincible, irrefragable, irrefutable, overpowering, overwhelming, impregnable, indomitable, charming, fascinating; (adj, v) uncontrollable. ANTONYMS: (adj) resistible, insignificant, unappealing, weak

irretrievable: (adj) irrecoverable, irremediable, irreversible,

remediless, irreclaimable, irrevocable, unrecoverable, incurable, irredeemable, desperate; (v) indefeasible. ANTONYMS: (adj) superficial, flexible, impermanent, temporary

irritate: (adj, v) incense; (v) gall, fret, chafe, harass, grate, displease, vex, goad, aggravate, anger.
ANTONYMS: (v) soothe, pacify, please, help, calm, encourage, placate

irritated: (adj) annoyed, exasperated, incensed, enraged, aggravated, furious, irate, inflamed, sore, displeased, provoked. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, pleased, patient, contented

irritating: (adj) infuriating, bothersome, annoying, exasperating, irksome, irritative, vexatious, aggravating, troublesome, irritant; (v) stinging. ANTONYMS: (adj) soothing, calming, delightful, pleasant isolate: (v) cut off, detach, divide, maroon, sequester, dissociate, abstract, disunite, set apart, separate, segregate. ANTONYMS:

(v) expose, involve, attach, unite **iteration**: (n) iterance, reiteration, run, succession, frequency, repeating, recurrence, rehearsal, backbone, stereotypy, grit

itinerant: (n) traveler, wanderer, nomad, vagrant; (adj, n) migrant, vagabond; (adj) errant, traveling, journeying, migratory; (adj, v) ambulatory. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) resident; (adj) sedentary, settled, fixed

jamming: (n) interference, electronic jamming, disturbance, obstruction, blocking, overcrowding, hole, fix, crush, canting; (adj) extemporaneous

jarring (adj, n) harsh, dissonant, inconsistent; (adj) rough, inharmonious, strident, grating, jolting, raucous, cacophonous, bumpy. ANTONYMS: (adj) soft, usual

jerk: (n, v) jump, yank, shake, twitch, jar, tug, bump, heave, pull; (v) fling, flip. ANTONYM: (v) ease

jest: (n) gag, gibe, quip, game; (n, v) jape; (v) banter, jeer, deride, gird, sneer, clown

jesuit: (n) Pharisee, Society of Jesus, Pecksniff, Mawworm, revivalist, field preacher, intriguer, Janus, sophist, propagandist, missionary

jewels: (n) jewelry, gems, wealth, hoops, Perrie, riches, studs, fortune, fineness, earrings, decoration jilt: (v) betray, balk, desert, forsake, drop, reject, walk out on, throw over, cozen, cully; (n) woman iilted: (v) crossed in love, lovelorn; (adj, v) rejected; (adj) abandoned, spurned, unloved joker: (n) comic, comedian, wit, clown, buffoon, trickster, zany, tease, wild card; (v) humorist; (n, v) wag jollity: (adj, n) glee, joviality; (n) merriment, cheerfulness, festivity, frolic, gladness, hilarity, mirth, gaiety; (adj) jocundity. ANTONYMS: (n) seriousness, misery jostling: (v) jarring; (adj) bustling; (n) elbowing journeying: (adj) itinerant, wayfaring, vagabond; (n) excursion, digression, expedition, travelling, movement, outing, passage, pilgrimage jovial: (adj, n) gay; (adj) jolly, genial, glad, festive, joyful, gleeful, merry, jocund, cheerful, blithe. ANTONYMS: (adj) miserable,

jovial: (adj, n) gay; (adj) jolly, genial, glad, festive, joyful, gleeful, merry, jocund, cheerful, blithe.

ANTONYMS: (adj) miserable, gloomy, frosty, serious, hostile joyous: (adj) happy, gleeful, elated, jolly, glad, gay, jovial, merry, festive, cheerful, jocund. ANTONYMS: (adj) despairing, joyless, miserable joyousness: (n) joyfulness, mirth, joy, oxbilastica, gaylleting, graitty.

joyousness: (n) joyfulness, mirth, joy, exhilaration, exultation, gaiety, cheerfulness, excitement, exuberance, glee, gladness.

ANTONYMS: (n) unhappiness, sadness

judas: (n) betrayer, spyhole, Judah, peephole, St Jude, snake in the grass, serpent, saint Jude, Judas Iscariot, conspirator, cockatrice juicy: (adj) fat, succulent, gamy, liquid luscious fluid rich spicy

liquid, luscious, fluid, rich, spicy, sappy, moist, racy. ANTONYMS: (adj) bland, dull, juiceless, tasteless, uninteresting, limp

disorganized, disordered, untidy, muddled, mixed, cluttered, incoherent, chaotic, promiscuous; (adj, adv) topsy-turvy.

ANTONYMS: (adj) tidy, systematic, coherent, clear, organized, sound juncture: (n, v) joint; (adj, n) crisis; (n) articulation, event, junction,

articulation, event, junction, connection, affair, point, time, conjuncture; (v) joining justifying: (adj) extenuating, mitigating; (n) justification, defense juvenile: (adj) youthful, childish, immature, puerile, young, babyish, callow; (n) youngster, child, youth, teenager. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) adult; (adj) mature, old, sensible

juvenility: (n) jejuneness, youth, adolescence, juvenescence, youthfulness, callowness, youngness, childhood, young, immaturity, early maturity

juxtaposed: (adj) close, closer, contiguous, adjoining

keenly: (adv) eagerly, zealously, piercingly, acutely, cuttingly, ardently, strongly, lively, penetratingly, fervently, avidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unenthusiastically, apathetically, faintly, reluctantly, patiently.

faintly, reluctantly, patiently, passively, halfheartedly, vaguely

keenness: (n) ardor, eagerness, enthusiasm, acumen, sharpness, zeal, acuity, quickness, diligence, fervor; (n, v) edge. ANTONYMS: (n) unwillingness, dullness, indifference, faintness, dislike, patience, reluctance

kerchief: (n) napkin, neckerchief, hood, snood, headscarf, muffler, scarf, shawl, coif, babushka, Kercher kernel: (n) gist, heart, essence, center, inwardness, quintessence, grain, marrow, substance, content, nucleus

kestrel: (n) castril, castrel, accipiter nisus, sparrow hawk, falcon

keyhole: (n) hole, mousehole, pigeonhole, porthole, loophole, free throw line, peephole, knothole, pinhole, small hole

kicks: (n) elation, thrill, excitement, fulfillment, gratification, pleasure kiln: (n) heater, drier, stove, oven, oast, hearth, limekiln, dry kiln, brickkiln, dryer; (v) dry

kindled: (adj) enkindled, lighted, lit, burning

kindling: (n) combustion, firing, ignition, lighting, tinder, fire, firewood, dismissal; (v) ignite, agitate, kindle

kindred: (adj) cognate, akin, similar, allied, related; (n) kin, consanguinity, relation, folk, folks, kin group

kingfisher: (n) coraciiform bird kingly: (adj, adv) stately; (adj) August, noble, regal, imperial, sovereign, majestic, royal; (adv) royally, majestically, regally

knap: (v) chip, rap, break off, cut off, break, come off; (adj) butte, hill alto, fell, monticle; (n) knoll kneading: (n) massage, milling, petrissage, rubdown

kneel: (v) genuflect, cringe, stoop, bob, cry for quarter, dip, duck, humble oneself; (n) kneeling, knee, movement

knoll: (n) hill, hillock, mound, hummock, mount, bank, kopje, barrow, hammock; (v) knap; (adj) mole. ANTONYM: (n) hollow

knotty: (adj) gnarled, intricate, complex, involved, gnarly, convoluted, troublesome, elaborate, hard, baffling; (adj, n) difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, straightforward, easy

laborious: (adj) hard, arduous, backbreaking, heavy, industrious, diligent, grueling, assiduous, exhausting, formidable, tough. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, effortless, undemanding, light, brisk

laboured: (adj) labored, forced, arduous, hard, strained, difficult, laborious, grievous, grave, weighty, unnatural

labourer: (n) laborer, toiler, peon, navvy, porter, docker, gravedigger, hodman, hewer, digger, drudge labyrinth: (n) inner ear, tangle, confusion complication internal

confusion, complication, internal ear, web, unit, system; (adj, n) network; (v) eel, labyrinthian laced: (adj) even, fastened, spiked,

drunk, decorated, alcoholic lacing: (n) seaming, shoelace, cord, whipping, bootlace, beating, licking, twist, lashing, flogging, string

laconically: (adv) pithily, tersely, succinctly, shortly, curtly, dryly, concisely, briefly, sententiously, summarily, compendiously

laden: (adj) burdened, full, loaded, ladened, filled, hampered, heavy, charged, encumbered; (v) lade, load. ANTONYMS: (adj) empty, lacking

ladle: (v) lade, scoop, dip, laden, transfuse; (n, v) shovel; (n) spoon, trowel, watch glass, vessel, thimble

ladylike: (adj) feminine, refined, gentle, womanly, genteel, maidenly, matronly, wifely, dainty, well-bred, mannerly. ANTONYM: (adj) coarse

lain: (adj) artless, unsophisticated, unaffected, naive, untutored, simple, pure, natural, native, inartificial

lair: (n) burrow, hole, hideaway, hiding place, hideout, cell, retreat, earth, sanctum sanctorum; (adj) sty, sink of corruption lame: (adj) crippled, disabled, halting, feeble, halt, weak, paralytic; (adj, n) game; (adj, v) paralyze, maim, becripple

lamenting: (adj) weeping, wailing, sad, whining; (adj, n) plaintive; (adj, v) bewailing, querulous; (n, v) complaining; (n) grief, sorrow; (v) dissatisfied

lance: (n) pike, javelin, shaft, lancet, assegai, fishgig, fizgig; (v) dart, impale, open, gore

languid: (adj) lazy, dull, indolent, feeble, lethargic, lackadaisical, sluggish, faint, torpid, inert, apathetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) active, lively, exciting, vigorous

languidly: (adv) languorously, listlessly, wearily, lethargically, slowly, dreamily, limply, weakly, torpidly, indolently, impassively. ANTONYMS: (adv) dynamically, vigorously

languish: (adj, v) flag, drop, fail; (adj, n, v) droop; (v) decline, die, decay, ache; (n, v) pine, yearn, wither.
ANTONYMS: (v) thrive, change

languor: (adj, n) inactivity, inertia, feebleness; (n) lethargy, fatigue, infirmity, lassitude, weakness, indifference, ennui; (adj) atony. ANTONYM: (n) energy

lantern: (n) beacon, light, dormer, tube, lighting fitting, bedside light, street light, street lamp, oil lamp, lime light, lanthorn

lapse: (n, v) decline, drop, mistake; (adj, n, v) fall; (v) expire, elapse, collapse, go by; (n) oversight, error, fault. ANTONYMS: (v) behave, start, rise, renew, improve

lapsed: (adj) fallen, elapsed, slip, defunct, forgotten, invalid, irreligious, lost, nonchurchgoing, finished

largeness: (n) size, bigness, vastness, fullness, ampleness, bulkiness, immensity, grandness, extent, magnitude, volume. ANTONYMS: (n) compactness, shortness

lassitude: (n) apathy, exhaustion, languor, lethargy, inanition, weariness, inertia, inactivity, ennui, tiredness, stupor

latch: (v) bar, fasten, grab; (n, v) bolt; (adj, n, v) lock; (n) hasp, clasp, door latch, hook; (adj) link, yoke

latency: (n) potency, suspension, waiting, potential, dormancy, delitescence, potentiality, waiting time, rotational delay, response time, reaction time lateness: (n) slowness, delay, sluggishness, timing, dilatoriness, late, slothfulness, earliness, late maturity, tarriance, posteriority. ANTONYMS: (n) promptness, punctuality, earliness

lath: (n) fillet, spline, batten, plank, list, ribbon, strip, rod, flat timber, spill; (v) frame

latitude: (n) freedom, scope, breadth, room, expanse, range, compass, climate, clime, space, reach. ANTONYM: (n) constraint

lawful: (adj) legal, just, rightful, constitutional, true, right, justifiable, licit, regular; (n, v) allowable; (adj, v) permissible. ANTONYMS: (adj) unlawful, prohibited, unconstitutional

lawless: (adj) disorderly, illicit, anarchical, illegitimate, anarchic, unlawful, unruly, illegal, mutinous, wrongful, seditious. ANTONYM: (adj) orderly

lazarus: (n) Dives, pauper leadwork: (n) plumbage

leafage: (n) leaf, frond, verdure, greenery, cotyledon, blade, bladed, entire leaf, amplexicaul leaf, dandelion green, emarginate leaf

leant: (adj) inclined

lean-to: (n) camp, house leaping: (n) jump, bounce, bound, leap, spring, saltation, bouncing:

leap, spring, saltation, bouncing; (v) jumping; (adj, v) bounding; (adj) springing; (adv) leapingly

leapt: (adj) sprung

ledge: (n) projection, bulge, jetty, board, shelf, rack, bench, hummock, protrusion, rim; (adj) escarpment. ANTONYM: (n) depression

leech: (n) parasite, bloodsucker, physician, doctor, sponger, hirudinean, freeloader, sycophant, vampire; (v) bleed, phlebotomize

leggings: (n) gramashes, pedal pushers

legible: (adj) readable, distinct, fair, plain, clean, definite, explicit, understandable, direct, cloudless, light. ANTONYM: (adj) unreadable

leisurely: (adj) slow, deliberate, easygoing, leisure, at ease, unhurried, measured, idle; (adv) deliberately, slowly, at leisure. ANTONYMS: (adj) rushed, hurried, formal, vigorous, speedy, fast; (adv) formally, quickly

lengthened: (adj) elongated, prolonged, long, protracted, expanded, elongate, longer, lingering, extensive, stretched out, lengthy

leper: (n) lazar, outcast, leprous, sufferer, pariah, refugee, mesel, invalid, castaway, derelict, diseased person

lessen: (v) decrease, abate, fall, decline, dwindle, assuage, allay, alleviate; (adj, v) abridge, curtail, contract. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, exacerbate, intensify, raise, grow, aggravate, accelerate, bolster, worsen, strengthen, rise

lessened: (adj) diminished, hurt, lower, mitigated, pointed, tapering, vitiated, atrophied, short, attenuate, attenuated

lessening: (n) diminution, cutback, alleviation, contraction, abatement, mitigation, shrinking, reduction, cut; (adj) decreasing, diminishing. ANTONYMS: (n) growth, restoration; (adj) increasing

levity: (n) flightiness, frivolity, flippancy, buoyancy, lightness, giddiness, inconstancy, frivolousness, humorousness, jocosity; (n, v) fickleness. ANTONYMS: (n) gravity, seriousness

liberally: (adv) freely, bountifully, abundantly, munificently, profusely, copiously, bounteously, magnanimously, plentifully, largely, richly. ANTONYMS: (adv) parsimoniously, carefully, stingily, meagerly, ungenerously

license: (n, v) permit, allow, licence; (n) allowance, freedom, permission, liberty, authority, authorization, certificate; (v) certify. ANTONYMS: (v) decertify; (n) restriction

lichen: (n) crotal, crottle, crottal, basidiolichen, mold, moss, arctic moss, conferva, beard lichen, beard moss, crottles

lichens: (n) fungi, Thallophyta **lids**: (n) lid

lifelong: (adj) perpetual, livelong, undying, eternal, enduring, continuing, chronic, inveterate, perennial, ongoing, old.
ANTONYM: (adj) ephemeral

lighted: (adj) illuminated, lit, light, ablaze, bright, ignited, burn, burning, ignite, kindled, lighten lighten: (v) assuage, alleviate, light, illuminate, brighten, lessen, allay, clear, mitgate rollows illuminated.

illuminate, brighten, lessen, allay, clear, mitigate, relieve, illumine. ANTONYMS: (v) darken, intensify, increase, dye, depress, aggravate, exacerbate

light-headed: (adj) dizzy, flighty,

skittish, queer, faint, lightheaded lightness: (n) brightness, buoyancy, frivolity, flightness, delicacy, airiness, agility, levity, light, nimbleness, flippancy.

ANTONYMS: (n) darkness, gravity, weight, harshness, seriousness

weight, harshness, seriousness likeness: (n) resemblance, copy, effigy, image, affinity, similarity, correspondence, facsimile; (adj, n) figure, form, semblance.

ANTONYMS: (n) difference, diversity, dissimilarity, unlikeness, contrast

liking: (n, v) inclination; (n) fancy, appetite, taste, fondness, predilection, affection, partiality, admiration, approval, appreciation. ANTONYMS: (n) dislike, aversion, hatred, indifference, detachment, dissatisfaction, antipathy

lilac: (adj) lavender, mauve, purple, violet, puce, chromatic; (n) shrub, heliotrope, ash, common lilac, family Oleaceae

limbo: (n) oblivion, incarceration, purgatory, bilboes, durance vile, entombment, coarctation, limbus, intermediate repository, obscurity,

limp: (adv, n, v) hobble; (adj, v) flabby; (n, v) hitch; (adj) flaccid, slack, flexible, drooping, flimsy, weak, loose; (v) hop. ANTONYMS: (adj) taut, firm, hard, rigid, upright, alive, strong, stiff, tight

lineage: (adj, n) pedigree; (n, v) family, house; (n) descent, extraction, ancestry, birth, stock, line, origin; (adj, n, v) genealogy

lineal: (adj, v) linear; (adj) ancestral, hereditary, straight, directly, racial, extended senses, exact

lineaments: (v) exposition, tract, length, expanse, area, extent; (n) face linger: (v) loiter, delay, dally, hover, stay, hesitate, hang around, procrastinate, dawdle, tarry, saunter. ANTONYMS: (v) hurry, end, rush, depart, lead

lingering: (adj) long, chronic, extended, dilatory, protracted, prolonged, residual, lengthy, inactive, dull; (n) delay. ANTONYM: (adj) quick

lingeringly: (adv) slowly, longly, chronically, dilatorily, extendedly, leisurely

lintel: (n) header, rafter, joist, Travis, mantel, summer, trave, transom, coping, corner stone, cope listener: (n, v) auditor; (n) eavesdropper, audience, observer, perceiver, hearkener, attender, attendee, attendant, beholder

attendee, attendant, beholder

listless: (adj) indifferent, dull,
indolent, careless, languid, inert,
inattentive, dispirited, slow,
uninterested, spiritless.

ANTONYMS: (adj) lively, animated,
energetic, strong, spirited

listlessly: (adv) sluggishly, spiritlessly, indifferently, languidly, slowly, weakly, indolently, supinely, lazily, inanimately, slackly. ANTONYMS: (adv) brightly, nimbly

livery: (adj) liverish, bilious; (n) clothing, accouterment, uniform, complexion, legal transfer, color, hue, dye, bailment

livid: (adj) furious, irate, ashen, mad, blue, gray, ghastly, leaden, colorless, angry, enraged. ANTONYMS: (adj) flushed, happy, pleased

living-room: (n) sitting room loathing: (n, v) abomination, aversion, dislike, distaste; (n) hate, hatred, abhorrence, detestation, nausea, antipathy, execration. ANTONYMS: (n) love, adoration, liking, delight, goodwill

lodging: (n) abode, apartment, accommodation, housing, hostel, residence, quarter, home, lodgement, address, hospice

lodgings: (n) digs, accommodation, domiciliation, lodging, billet, housing, quarters, residence, pad, living quarters, launchpad

living quarters, launchpad **loftiest**: (adj) uppermost, top, sovereign

lofty: (adj, v) high, elevated; (adj) exalted, eminent, arrogant, grand, tall, haughty, great, distinguished, majestic. ANTONYMS: (adj) short, lowly, base, modest, deferential, humble

loitering: (n) delay, dalliance; (adj) slow, dilatory, delaying, inactive, truant, trifling, tardy; (v) loiter; (adv) loiteringly

lonesome: (adj) lone, desolate, forlorn, dreary, dismal, solitary, secluded, gloomy, unfrequented; (adj, n) isolated, alone. ANTONYM:

long-delayed: (adj) belated, slow longing: (n, v) desire, aspiration; (adj) eager, wistful, nostalgic; (n) nostalgia, wish, hankering, urge, appetite; (adj, n) yearning. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, disinclination; (adj) satisfied, unconcerned

looker-on: (n) bystander, spectator, eyewitness, witness

loosened: (adj) disentangled, loose, freed, disengaged, extricated, unsnarled

loosening: (n) relaxation, unfastening, ease, undoing, liberalization, adjustment, alteration, liberalisation, easiness; (adj) solutive, laxative

lopped: (adj) docked, truncated, lopped off, cropped, mutilated loth: (adj) disinclined, averse, reluctant, unwilling, indisposed, antipathetical, antipathetic, not content, shy of, repugnant; (v) averse from

louvre: (n) heat Louvre, jalousie, smoke hatch, Louvre museum, ventilation flap, Little Phoebe, cinque, flippers, fivesome, five, fin loverlike: (adj) loving

lowering: (adj) heavy, dismal, gloomy, threatening, dark, glum, murky; (n) fall, drop, cut, decline lowly: (adj) base, lower, low, inferior, baseborn; (adv) meekly, meanly, modestly, poorly, softly, humbly. ANTONYMS: (adj) noble, privileged, high, aristocratic, refined, exalted, comfortable

lowness: (n) depression, baseness, tallness, meanness, deepness, sordidness, baby blues, completeness, dejection, truncation, abundance

ludicrously: (adv) preposterously, absurdly, nonsensically, laughably, comically, farcically, foolishly, jocularly, humorously, burlesquely, silly. ANTONYMS: (adv) solemnly, impressively

lugubrious: (adj) dismal, gloomy, doleful, dark, funereal, melancholy, grievous, somber, dolorous, plaintive, miserable. ANTONYM: (adj) cheerful

luminous: (adj) glowing, brilliant, lustrous, lucent, sunny, lambent, radiant, light, aglow; (adj, n) lucid, clear. ANTONYMS: (adj) dark, obscure

luminousness: (n) illumination, luminescence, glow, light, brightness, incandescence, luminance, light source, clearness, flawlessness, Christ Within. ANTONYM: (n) dirtiness

lumps: (n) repulse, deserts, due, grit, punishment

lunar: (adj) quartilunar, sublunar,

superlunar, astronomical, astrophysical, astral, lunary, planetary, cosmological

lurid: (adj) ghastly, grisly, gruesome, loud, frightful, sharp, shocking, gaudy, sensational, hideous, horrific. ANTONYMS: (adj) subtle, muted, bland, dull, modest

lurk: (v) ambuscade, skulk, prowl, waylay, lie in wait, conceal, lurch, loiter, creep, wait, sneak

lurking: (n) ambush; (adj) snaky, backstair, backstairs, clandestine, concealed, dormant, latent, potential, skulking, sneaky

lustre: (n) brilliance, gloss, brilliancy, grandeur, splendour, effulgence, splendor, shininess, shine, sheen, brightness

lusty: (adj) energetic, stout, lustful, corpulent, potent, virile, vigorous, hearty, sturdy, bouncing, dynamic. ANTONYM: (adj) feeble

luxuriance: (n) exuberance, copiousness, abundance, lushness, affluence, wealth, luxury, excess, luxuriancy, rampancy; (adj) fecundity

luxuriantly: (adv) abundantly, opulently, plentifully, richly, profusely, generously, bountifully, thickly, riotously, exuberantly, copiously

luxurious: (adj) voluptuous, costly, deluxe, lavish, sumptuous, epicurean, grand, luscious, opulent, magnificent; (adj, n) lush. ANTONYMS: (adj) meager, frugal, poor, Spartan, austere, humble, unpleasant, ascetic, impoverished

luxuriousness: (n) sumptuousness, opulence, sybaritism, extravagance, grandeur, lavishness, lewdness, lushness, effeminacy, splendor, sensuality. ANTONYMS: (n) shabbiness, bareness

madly: (adv) insanely, furiously, sorely, frantically, wildly, devilishly, deadly, dementedly, foolishly, distractedly; (adj, adv) rabidly. ANTONYMS: (adv) sensibly, calmly, sanely, carefully; (adj) slightly

madman: (n) bedlamite, maniac, crazy, loony, nut, madcap, looney, loco, sufferer, raver, nutcase

madras: (n) Tamil Nadu, formerly madras

maggoty: (adj) wormy, capricious, mawky; (v) mildewed, tainted, moldy, mucid, musty, rancid, lentiginous, rotten magnetism: (n) attraction, charisma, charm, allure, magnetics, appeal, glamour, magic, magnet, pull; (adj) gravity. ANTONYMS: (n)

repulsiveness, ugliness

magnificently: (adv) beautifully, grandly, superbly, gloriously, majestically, gorgeously, sumptuously, marvelously, wonderfully, fantastically, showily. ANTONYMS: (adv) poorly, modestly, badly, abysmally, simply, meagerly, incompetently

maiden: (n) maid, girl, demoiselle, damosel, wench, fille, lass, miss; (adj) first, initiatory, unmarried

maidenly: (adj) chaste, maidenlike, feminine, virgin, womanly, ladylike, virginal, wifely; (adv) virginly, firstly, initiatorily

majestic: (adj) grand, awesome, stately, imperial, royal, exalted, glorious, kingly, August; (adj, v) imposing; (adj, adv) regal. ANTONYMS: (adj) pathetic, pitiful, modest, lowly, undignified

malice: (n) spite, animosity, enmity, venom, ill will, hatred, malevolence, cruelty, envy, hate, spleen. ANTONYMS: (n) goodwill, benevolence, affection, goodness

malicious: (adj) evil, vicious, venomous, spiteful, unkind, cruel, poisonous, mean, mischievous, pernicious, nasty. ANTONYMS: (adj) kind, harmless, kindhearted, loving, unmalicious, compassionate, good, merciful, pleasant, provoked

malign: (v) defame, disparage, asperse, libel, badmouth, vilify; (adj) malevolent, harmful, malefic, injurious, evil. ANTONYMS: (v) praise, compliment; (adj) benign, beneficial, harmless

malignant: (adj) malevolent, malicious, evil, malefic, fatal, spiteful, virulent, sinister, mischievous, pernicious, venomous

maligned: (adj) reviled mane: (n) encolure, head of hair, crest, wool, tresses; (adj) brush, beard, ringlet, whisker, tress, moustache

manger: (n) crib, cage, bunk, gutter, rack, flume, feed bunk, bowl, container

manhood: (n) majority, maturity, valor, resolution, personality, humanity, integrity, bravery; (adj) manliness, ripe age, maturity full age

mannered: (adj) affected, unnatural,

stiff, ponderous, pretentious, conscious, ceremonial, contrived, accustomed, theatrical, thewed. ANTONYMS: (adj) unpretentious, genuine

manslaughter: (n) murder, assassination, slaying, carnage, consanguinity, blood, elimination, kinship, lineage, disposition; (v) trucidation

mantelpiece: (n) chimneypiece, mantlepiece, shelf, chimneybreast, blanket, cape, sill, clavy, curtain, drape, drapery

mantle: (n) cloak, cape, pall, blanket, curtain, blind, coat; (n, v) cover, veil; (adj, n, v) blush, flush

mantlepiece: (n) mantel, mantle, chimneypiece, shelf, drape, drapery, cape, blanket, curtain

manure: (n) compost, fertiliser, fertilizer; (n, v) muck, soil; (v) fertilize, cultivate, plough, weed, plow; (adj) guano

marbles: (n) wit, sanity, mind, reason, jackstones, jacks, cods marching: (n) walking, mar, drill;

(adj) ongoing, moving marrying: (adj) married marshy: (adj) muddy, marsh, swampy, sloughy, quaggy, miry, fenny, paludal, moist, dirty, damp. ANTONYM: (adj) dry

mart: (n) emporium, market, marketplace, bazar, agora, forum, grocery, sale, center, outlet, store martyr: (n) sufferer, victim, prey, object of compassion, wretch, shorn lamb; (v) martyrize, excruciate,

masonry: (n) brickwork, stonework, construction, bricklaying, structure, trade, dry masonry, craft, freemasons collectively

persecute, torture, afflict

mast: (n) post, foremast, column, spar, spanker-mast, mainmast, jigger, tower, aerial, ship mast, nut masterly: (adj) masterful, expert, crack, proficient, consummate,

crack, proficient, consummate, accomplished, adroit, skillful, dexterous; (adv) principally, expertly

master's: (n) postgraduate degree matchless: (adj) inimitable, peerless, consummate, unique, unmatched, unrivaled, unequaled, unparalleled, superlative, unbeatable, unsurpassed. ANTONYMS: (adj) common, vulnerable, abysmal, mediocre, worst

materially: (adv) physically, substantially, corporeally,

significantly, really, essentially, corporally, vitally, solidly, momentously, fundamentally

mathematically: (adv) arithmetically, scientifically, punctually, algebraically, algebraicly mating: (n) union, pairing,

conjugation, crossing, marriage, cross, hybridization, service, copulation, sex, crossbreeding

matron: (n) lady, head nurse, dame, housewife, dowager, woman, wife, Donna Belle, matriarch, married woman; (v) matronhood. ANTONYM: (n) patron

maul: (v) mangle, beat, batter, molest, thrash; (adj, v) bruise, buffet; (n) hammer, mallet, sledgehammer, sledge

maypole: (adj) pikestaff, pole, flagstaff

maze: (n) tangle, snarl, web, jungle, muddle, confusion, complication; (v) eel; (adj) delicacy, knot, awkwardness

mead: (n) field, metheglin, hydromel, lea, meadow, sweet wine, grassland, sward, pasture, green, pasturage

meagre: (adj) exiguous, paltry, necessitous, miserable, marginal, meagerly, gaunt, emaciated, inadequate, deficient, beggarly. ANTONYM: (adj) ample

meagreness: (n) exiguity, poverty, spareness, leanness, deficiency, impoverishment, inadequacy, insufficiency, poorness, scantness, scantiness

meanest: (adj) last, least mechanically: (adv) mechanistically, instinctively, routinely, involuntarily, industrially, unconsciously, automaticly, intuitively, impulsively, technically, technologically. ANTONYMS: (adv) manually, consciously

mediaeval: (adj) medieval, knightly, chivalric, nonmodern

mediocrity: (n) indifference, medium, balance, averageness, mean, person, somebody, someone, soul, ordinariness; (adj, n) moderation. ANTONYM: (n) excellence

meditation: (n, v) contemplation, study; (n) consideration, reflection, deliberation, thought, introspection, musing, rumination, conception, reflexion. ANTONYM: (n) distraction

meditative: (adj, v) thoughtful, pensive; (adj) wistful, reflective, broody, museful, ruminative, musing, brooding; (v) philosophical, sedate

meekness: (n) humbleness, modesty, submission, obedience, compliance, gentleness, tameness, submissiveness, docility, lowliness, tractability. ANTONYMS: (n) arrogance, ferocity, wildness

melancholy: (adj, v) dreary; (adj, n) gloom, melancholic; (adj) depressed, dejected, dismal, gloomy, doleful; (n, v) low spirits; (n) gloominess, depression. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, cheerfulness, hopefulness, optimism; (adj) happy, bright, cheery, satisfied

mellow: (adj, v) ripe, mollify, smooth, soften; (adj) gentle, luscious, mild, soft, juicy; (v) melt, ripen.

ANTONYMS: (adj) harsh, frantic, fresh, bright, strict, young, frenetic mellowed: (adj) mature, easygoing,

high, maturer, ripe

melon: (n) cucumber, watermelon,
muskmelon, gourd, dividend,

muskmelon, gourd, dividend, cantaloupes, cucumber vine, gourd vine, share, revenue, receipts melting: (n) thawing, fusion, melt,

dissolution, warming, thaw, liquefaction, fusion range; (adj) liquescent, pathetic; (adj, n) dissolving

menace: (n) threat, danger; (n, v) hazard, risk, peril; (v) endanger, imperil, intimidate, jeopardize, threaten, bully. ANTONYMS: (v) help, protect, guard; (n) pleasure

mend: (adj, v) improve; (v) correct, cure, heal, doctor, better, amend, restore, convalesce; (n, v) fix, patch. ANTONYMS: (v) worsen, tear, smash, decline, deteriorate; (n) fracture

mendacity: (n) falsehood, falsity, deception, lie, deceit, falseness, fabrication, untruth, untruthfulness; (v) perjury; (adj) untrue. ANTONYM: (n) veracity

mending: (n) fix, repair, fixing, maintenance, restoration, reparation, improvement, darning, mend, amendment, correction

mephistophelian: (adj) devilish, diabolical, diabolic, demonic, infernal, hellish, fiendish; (adj, v) satanic; (v) Stygian, fiendlike, demoniacal

merciful: (adj) humane, gracious, lenient, compassionate, kind, clement, benign, kindly, gentle, beneficent, forgiving. ANTONYMS: (adj) pitiless, merciless, unforgiving, spiteful, harsh, impatient, severe, hardhearted

merciless: (adj) brutal, pitiless, unmerciful, remorseless, heartless, implacable, inhuman, hard, grim, barbarous, unfeeling. ANTONYMS: (adj) charitable, kind, humane, soft, caring, tolerant

merged: (adj) integrated, amalgamated, unified, incorporate, united, fused, combined, interconnected, mixed, intermingled, complex

merrily: (adv) gaily, cheerfully, blithely, cheerily, gladly, gleefully, mirthfully, brightly, jovially, joyfully, gayly. ANTONYMS: (adv) sadly, anxiously, miserably, unhappily, carefully, despondently

merriment: (n) fun, amusement, cheerfulness, hilarity, glee, jollity, frolic, gaiety, happiness, festivity; (adj, n) mirth. ANTONYMS: (n) misery, gloom, seriousness, despondency, boredom

mesmeric: (adj) attractive, spellbinding, enticing, mesmerizing, interesting, fascinating, entrancing, alluring, captivating, charming, compelling. ANTONYM: (adj) boring

messenger: (n, v) herald; (n) harbinger, runner, emissary, bearer, ambassador, precursor, courier, carrier, apostle, errand

metallic: (adj) metal, harsh, metalline, metallics, hard, basic, actual, absolute, certain, chalybeate, clearly expressed. ANTONYM: (adj) soft

mete: (v) measure, allot, share, detail, cast, billet, distribute, allocate, assign; (n) boundary, border

meteor: (n) shooting star, aerolite, fireball, falling star, bolide, meteorite, meteoroid, effluvium, emanation, evaporation, exhalation

mettle: (n) heart, courage, spunk, fortitude, guts, character, spirit, bravery, valor, boldness; (adj, n) pluck

mettlesome: (adj) spirited, gritty, courageous, game, gamey, gamy, enthusiastic, fearless, fiery, spunky, racy

michaelmas: (n) Martinmas, Michaelmas Day

microscopic: (adj) minute, little, atomic, tiny, small, diminutive, subatomic, microscopical, teeny, corpuscular, negligible. ANTONYMS: (adj) gigantic, huge, macroscopic, immeasurable midmost: (adj) central, middle, middest, median; (adv) in the midst, in the middle

midsummer: (n) summer, solstice, June solstice, June

mien: (n, v) deportment, carriage, bearing, demeanor; (n) look, countenance, appearance, guise, manner, aspect, air

mightiness: (n) power, force, strength, powerfulness, potency, greatness, excellency, index, king, magnate, major power

milker: (n) milch cow, dairy cow, Jersey, milcher, milk cow, oxen, milking machine, Ayrshire, holstein, cattle, kine

millionaire: (n) nabob, millionnaire, wealthy person, rich person, plutocrat, millionairess, Croesus, Timon of Athens, affluent, dives, man of means

minatory: (adj) ominous, minacious, forbidding, threatening, sinister, ugly, baleful, comminate, grim, denunciatory, accusing

mince: (v) chop, hash, carve, dice, tone down, slice, moderate, soften, chop up, grate; (adj) mincing

minding: (adj) intent

mingled: (adj) miscellaneous, complex, indiscriminate, heterogeneous, medley, confused, eclectic, motley, different; (v) blended, blent

minuet: (n) waltz, polka, ballroom dance, ballroom dancing

minutiae: (n) particulars, trivia, facts, fine points, workings, consideration, ins and outs, information; (adj) small fry

miraculous: (adj) marvelous, astonishing, marvellous, wonderful, astounding, remarkable, magical, incredible, wonder, stupendous, phenomenal. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, mundane, unremarkable

mire: (n, v) bog, muck; (n) filth, marsh, quagmire, dirt, sludge, clay; (adj, n, v) mud; (v) involve, bog down

mirthfulness: (n) mirth, glee, gleefulness, gaiety, merriment, gloat, gloating, great merriment, malicious satisfaction

misapplication: (n) embezzlement, abuse, misemployment, misappropriation, misusage, misacceptation, defalcation, thieving, thievery, theft, stealing misapprehension: (n) delusion, mistake, misunderstanding, fallacy, misconception, misinterpretation, fault, misconstruction, misreading, illusion, false impression.

ANTONYM: (n) fact

mischievously: (adv) roguishly, badly, impishly, wickedly, puckishly, playfully, perniciously, disobediently, destructively, waywardly, hurtfully. ANTONYM: (adv) obediently

mischievousness: (n) roguery, impishness, badness, blaze, deviltry, rascality, devilry, devilment, prankishness, balefulness, wickedness. ANTONYM: (n)

misdirected: (adj) led astray, undirected, wry

miserably: (adv) pathetically, patheticly, pitiably, unhappily, sorrowfully, pessimistically, tragically; (adj, adv) piteously, grievously, woefully; (adj) miserable. ANTONYMS: (adv) happily, hopefully, brightly, affluently, enthusiastically, fortunately, profusely, contentedly misfortune: (n) accident, hardship, misadventure, disaster, calamity,

mischance, catastrophe, mishap, bad luck, misery, affliction. ANTONYMS: (n) joy, bonus, opportunity, privilege, success, happiness

misfortunes: (n) misfortune misgiving: (adj, n) apprehension, care; (n) fear, dread, distrust, doubt, hesitation, mistrust, suspicion, uncertainty, scruple. ANTONYMS: (n) confidence, certainty, trust

misgivings: (n) anxiety, doubt, misgiving, apprehension, fear, suspicion, doubts, concern, consternation, disbelief, foreboding. ANTONYM: (n) equanimity

mishap: (n) adversity, misfortune, casualty, mischance, misery, calamity, misadventure, disaster, ill, bad luck, catastrophe

mislead: (v) betray, deceive, cheat, beguile, misinform, fool, con, lie, lead astray, hoodwink, trick

mistletoe: (n) viscum album, false mistletoe, Loranthus europaeus, parasitic plant, missel, misletoe, old world mistletoe

misty: (adj) hazy, foggy, cloudy, brumous, dim, indistinct, nebulous, fuzzy, dark, dull, blurred. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, distinct

misunderstand: (v) misinterpret, misconstrue, mistake, misread, misjudge, miscomprehend, miscalculate, confuse, misapply; (n, v) misconceive; (n) misunderstanding. ANTONYMS: (v) grasp, appreciate, interpret mitigated: (adj) eased, palliate, ease,

relieved, disguised, cloaked moan: (n, v) grumble, gripe, whine, lament, cry, howl; (v) bewail, complain, mourn; (n) complaint, lamentation. ANTONYMS: (v) compliment; (n) praise

moaning: (n, v) lamentation; (adj) groaning, whining, funereal, inarticulate, dirgeful; (n) complaining, mourning

mockery: (n) gibe, jeer, irony, farce, charade, derision, parody, mock, scorn, imitation, burlesque. ANTONYM: (n) approval

moderation: (n) abstinence, abstemiousness, moderateness, abatement, measure, alleviation, sobriety, patience, restraint, soberness, easing. ANTONYMS: (n) intemperance, overindulgence, excess, increase, immoderation, strength, extremism, indulgence, impatience, harshness, abandon

modesty: (n) reserve, bashfulness, humility, diffidence, humbleness, demureness, coyness, gentleness, continence; (adj, n) decency, honesty. ANTONYMS: (n) arrogance, immodesty, spectacle, flamboyance, abandon, bigheadedness, pretension, decadence, boldness

modulating: (v) modulate; (n) modulation

moles: (n) suborder Lipotyphla, order Insectivora, Talpidae, hedgehogs, family Talpidae, Lipotyphla

mollusc: (n) shellfish, mollusk, gastropod, bivalve, lamellibranch, cephalopod, chiton, invertebrate, cephalopod mollusk, univalve

momentary: (adj) brief, fugitive, transient, short, instantaneous, ephemeral, passing, momentaneous, temporary, impermanent, temporal. ANTONYMS: (adj) lasting, lengthy, long

moneybags: (n) financier, capitalist monochrome: (adj) monochromatic, monochromous, colorful, coloured, constant; (n) painting, photo, camaieu, cameo, exposure; (v) polychrome

monotonous: (adj) dull, flat, boring, dreary, tedious, insipid, monotone,

- monotonic; (adj, v) dry, uninteresting, stupid. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, varied, stimulating, lively, exotic, enthralling, brilliant, flexible
- monotony: (n) boredom, dullness, evenness, sameness, tediousness, flatness, dreariness, tautophony, tiresomeness; (adj) dull work, humdrum. ANTONYMS: (n) variety, variation
- monstrous: (adj) huge, atrocious, heinous, monster, immense, gigantic, grievous, ugly, flagitious, dreadful; (adj, v) grotesque. ANTONYMS: (adj) tiny, minute, beautiful, good, small, lovely, attractive
- moodily: (adv) morosely, peevishly, glumly, sulkily, grumpily, capriciously, temperamentally, petulantly, saturninely, crossly, erratically. ANTONYM: (adv) cheerily
- moody: (adj) gloomy, dark, irritable, morose, capricious, glum, grumpy, fickle, petulant, dour, sullen. ANTONYMS: (adj) equable, happy, reliable, stable, calm
- mooning: (adj) unaware, preoccupied, forgetful, absentminded, mindless
- moonlit: (adj) moony, dreamy, bright. ANTONYM: (adj) moonless moorland: (n) field, heath, Moreland, champaign, plain, Morland; (adj)
- mopes: (n) low spirits, gloom, doldrums, sadness, melancholy

upland

- moping: (adj) moody, gloomy, huffy, melancholy, moldy, fusty, morose, dull; (v) mopish, mumpish
- mopping: (n) swabbing morbid: (adj) diseased, gruesome, macabre, corrupt, pathologic,
- macabre, corrupt, pathologic, unwholesome, peccant, sick, unhealthy, pathological; (adj, v) sickly
- morn: (n) dawn, daybreak, forenoon, period, prime, aurora, a, amount of time, break of dawn, break of day, break of the day
- **morrow**: (n) morning, future, mean solar day, day
- mortal: (adj) deadly, fatal, lethal, deathly, earthly; (n) man, individual, creature, person, human being, body. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) immortal; (adj) eternal, heavenly, mild, perfect, spiritual
- mortification: (n) chagrin, embarrassment, shame, gangrene,

- disappointment, disgrace, corruption, necrosis, degradation; (adj, n) vexation; (adj) grievance
- mortified: (adj) humiliated, embarrassed, abashed, gangrenous, sheepish, chagrined, feeling shame, feeling guilty, guilty, hangdog, humbled. ANTONYM: (adj) unabashed
- mortify: (v) humble, disgrace, abase, crush, embarrass, degrade, shame, demean, depress; (n, v) chagrin; (adi, v) confuse
- moslem: (n) Mussulman, Mohammedan, Muhammadan, fakeer, Sunnite, Shiite, Saracen, begum, Berber, caliph; (adj) Islamic
- moth: (n) gelechiid, bombycid, geometrid, helminth, lasiocampid, lymantriid, arctiid, moth and rust, moths, worm-eaten, lasiocampid moth
- motionless: (adj) inactive, inert, immobile, stationary, fixed, unmoving, quiescent, dead, torpid; (adj, adv) calm, at rest.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) mobile, active, alive, flowing
- mouldered: (adj) rotten
- moulding: (n, v) molding; (n) mold, modeling, mould, cast, modelling, bandelette, clay sculpture, cheoplasty, beadwork, beading
- cheoplasty, beadwork, beading mouldy: (adj) moldy, mildewy, fusty, musty, stale, trite, hackneyed, wellworn, putrid, mould, frowsty
- mound: (v) embankment; (adj, n) knoll, hillock, hummock; (n) hill, mass, grave; (n, v) stack, bank, pile; (adj) barrow. ANTONYM: (n) hollow
- mourn: (v) bewail, grieve, deplore, cry, bemoan, regret, distress, sad, wail, mourning, weep. ANTONYMS: (v) rejoice, celebrate,
- applaud mournful: (adj) sad, miserable, melancholy, funereal, dolorous, dark, pensive, gloomy, lugubrious, lamentable; (adj, n) plaintive. ANTONYMS: (adj) joyful, happy, emotionless
- mournfully: (adv) sadly, sorrowfully, glumly, woefully, unhappily, plaintively, grievously, funereally, dejectedly, dolorously, poignantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, joyfully
- mournfulness: (n) woe, grief, sorrow, distress, sorrowfulness, dejection, melancholy, ruthfulness, woefulness, blues

- mourning: (n) lament, lamentation, bereavement, gloom, woe, memorial, sorrowfulness, sadness, sorrow; (adj) grieving; (v) lamenting
- mouthpiece: (n) embouchure, spokesman, interpreter, speaker, aperture, gumshield, delegate; (v) authority, informant, exponent, intelligencer
- movable: (adj) portable, transferable, mercurial, adjustable, ambulatory, changeable, transportable, moveable, flexible, active; (v) shifting. ANTONYMS: (adj) immovable, unchangeable
- **muffin**: (n) gem, cake, jewel, gemstone, English muffin, bran muffin, corn muffin
- muffled: (adj) hushed, muted, hollow, inarticulate, faint, soft, subdued, low, quiet; (v) allusive, covert. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, distinct, audible, slight
- **multiplying**: (adj) cumulative; (n) generation, calculation
- multitude: (n) flock, horde, crowd, host, throng, concourse, mob, masses, mass, herd, swarm. ANTONYM: (n) trickle
- mummer: (n) mime, pantomimist, mimer, guiser, thespian, player, pantomime, masque, clown, dumb show, guisard
- murkiness: (n) murk, gloom, fog, cloudiness, muddiness, haziness, mistiness, opacity, dimness, haze, fogginess. ANTONYMS: (n) brightness, clarity, cleanness, light
- **murmur**: (n, v) grumble, mumble, hum, whisper, mutter, whine, babble, drone; (v) complain, bubble, breathe
- murmuring: (n) murmuration, murmur, complaint, grumble, muttering, mutter, murmur vowel; (adj) whispering, humming, droning, murmurous
- musing: (adj) contemplative, meditative, thoughtful, pensive; (n) meditation, consideration, reflection, rumination, reverie, thought, cogitation
- musingly: (adv) thoughtfully, ponderingly, meditatively, contemplatively, reflectively, ruminatively, broodingly, deep in thought. ANTONYM: (adv) unthinkingly
- muster: (v) assemble, gather, congregate, collect, convene, rally, marshal, accumulate; (n) levy, gathering; (n, v) draft. ANTONYM:

Return of the Native

(v) demobilize

myrtle: (n) Vinca minor mysteriously: (adv) enigmatically, strangely, obscurely, secretly, uncannily, mystically, darkly, puzzlingly, weirdly, abstrusely, occultly. ANTONYM: (adv) normally

naming: (n) appointment, identification, denomination, appellation, nomination, indication, delegacy, assignment, mention; (adj, n) appellative; (adj) designating

nape: (n) nucha, scruff, occiput, rear, back end, backside, chine

narrator: (n) teller, speaker, fabulist, anecdotist, narrators, talker, lecturer, narrater, orator, relator, raconteur

narrowest: (n) minimum
natives: (n) nation, populace,
community, citizens, public

natty: (adj) smart, spruce, jaunty, chic, stylish, dashing, trim, snappy, rakish, neat, elegant. ANTONYMS: (adj) messy, unattractive, scruffy, respectful

nausea: (n) sickness, queasiness, squeamishness, revulsion, repugnance, qualm, illness; (v) loathing, aversion, dislike, distaste nautical: (adj) maritime, aquatic, oceangoing, yachting, naval, marine Shells, nautic; (v) seafaring; (n) sea,

shipping nearness: (n) closeness, contiguity, vicinity, familiarity, adjacency, proximity, propinquity, presence, immediacy, neighborhood, nearby. ANTONYMS: (n) distance, farness, remoteness

nebuchadnezzar: (n) Nebuchadnezzar II.

Nebuchadrezzar, Nebuchadrezzar II **nebulous**: (adj) hazy, indistinct, dark, muddy, indefinite, vague, nebulose, dim, murky, formless, shapeless. ANTONYMS: (adj) defined, precise, definite

nebulousness: (n) mistiness, nebula, cloudiness

necessitating: (v) necessitate necessities: (n) supplies, necessity, essential, wants, support, subsistence, requirement, bread neckerchief: (n) kerchief, neckcloth, scarf, shawl

neglecting: (n) neglect, disregard negro: (n) black, darky, blackamoor, nigger, Negroid, black person, darkie, coon, moke, lightlessness; (adj) dark nervelessly: (adv) weakly, spinelessly, composedly, coolheadedly, flaccidly, powerlessly, nervously, unemotionally, nonchalantly, casually

nesting: (n) interleaving

nether: (adj) lower, inferior, down, low, chthonic, chthonian, infernal, subjacent, less, lesser; (adj, adv) under

nettled: (adj) annoyed, harried, stung, steamed, roiled, riled, pissed, peeved, miffed, loaded, huffy. ANTONYM: (adj) unconcerned

never-ending: (adj) endless, infinite, limitless, vast, unending, unbounded, everlasting, eternal, perennial, immeasurable, spaceless

never-failing: (adj) steady, sure, fixed, unfaltering, unqualified, firm, steadfast, unwavering, wholehearted

newcomer: (n) freshman, beginner, fledgeling, neophyte, recruit, immigrant, novice, arrival, entrant; (adj, n) foreigner, stranger

newest: (adj) last, up-to-the-minute, up-to-date, novel, fresh, hot, lowest, concluding, fashionable, stylish, final

newness: (n) freshness, recency, originality, innovation, inexperience, new, uniqueness, age, novity, recentness, new state. ANTONYMS: (n) mustiness, oldness

nice-looking: (adj) neat, attractive, handsome

niceties: (n) details, facts, information, ins and outs, particulars, propriety, workings, trivia, minutiae

nicety: (n) detail, exactness, fastidiousness, nuance, refinement, exactitude, justness, precision, correctness, daintiness, elegance

niche: (n) alcove, hole, bay, recess, nook, compartment, recession, opening, place, ecological niche, fireplace

niece: (n) grandniece, aunt, brother's daughter, uncle, kinswoman

nightdress: (n) nightclothes, nightie, nightwear, nightshirt, pajamas, night robe, lingerie, night clothes

nightfall: (n) dusk, evening, twilight, sunset, gloaming, evenfall, dark, eventide, sundown, darkness, fall. ANTONYMS: (n) daybreak, sunrise

nightgown: (n) nightie, nightclothes, nightwear, pajamas, bedgown, nightshirt, night clothes, night robe, lingerie nighthawk: (n) nightbird, goatsucker, mosquito hawk, bullbat, nightjar, caprimulgid, philanderer, night bird, boozer, darning needle; (adj) dissolute

nightly: (adv) every night, by night;
(n) night; (adj) nocturnal.
ANTONYM: (adj) daily

nighttime: (n) night, dark, period, nightertale, darkness, iniquity; (adj) nocturnal, nightly. ANTONYM: (adj) daytime

nimble: (adj) lively, adroit, agile, brisk, spry, alert, expeditious, energetic, clever, lithe; (adj, v) light. ANTONYMS: (adj) clumsy, heavy, stiff, slow, awkward, sluggish, unfit

nimbus: (adj, n, v) halo; (n, v) glory; (adj, n) aureole; (n) aura, rain cloud, aureola, messenger, gloriole; (adj) nimbose, honor; (v) flush

ninepin: (n) pin, skittle pin, bowling pin

nocturnal: (adj) nightly, vespertine, nighttime, nocturnals, overnight, night, autumnal. ANTONYM: (adj) daytime

nodding: (adj) cernuous, drooping, dozy, dozing, somnolent, drugged, pendulous, drowsing, droopy, annuent, flagging. ANTONYM: (adj) awake

noiselessly: (adv) silently, soundlessly, stilly, softly, mutely, delicately, wordlessly, gently, speechlessly; (adj, adv) stealthily; (adj) noiseless. ANTONYMS: (adv) heavily, audibly

noisily: (adv) clamorously, boisterously, vociferously, riotously, raucously, uproariously, loudly, blatantly, rowdily, stridently, vocally. ANTONYMS: (adv) noiselessly, silently, calmly, peacefully, softly

nonce: (n) hour, nowadays, crisis, moment, instant, epoch, present, time being, minute, day

nonchalance: (n) indifference, apathy, composure, disregard, impassiveness, equanimity, negligence, casualness; (adj, n) unconcern; (adj) insouciance, indifferent. ANTONYMS: (n) anxiety, interest

nondescript: (adj) indescribable, dull, ordinary, vague, indefinite, indefinable, unremarkable; (n) soul, someone, somebody, person.
ANTONYMS: (adj) extraordinary, distinctive, exciting, special
nook: (n) angle, niche, recess, hole,

coign, bay, compartment, oriel, cove, refuge, haven

noontide: (n) noon, midday, high
noon, summit, top, apex, zenith,

acme, pinnacle, climax, culmination northeast: (adj) northeasterly, New York; (n) NE, geographic region, neon, Nebraska, geographical area, geographic area, cornhusker state, compass point, geographical region

northwest: (adj) northwestern, Idaho; (n) nW, geographic region, geographical area, geographical region, geographic area, compass point

nostrils: (n) naris, nose noteworthy: (adj) important, notable, eminent, remarkable, significant,

considerable, distinguished, famous, extraordinary, particular, outstanding. ANTONYMS: (adj) insignificant, unexceptional, ordinary, general, dubious

noticing: (n) observation, look; (adj)
conscious

nourish: (v) foster, keep, bring up, nurture, sustain, aliment, cherish, feed, maintain, cultivate; (n, v) cradle. ANTONYMS: (v) starve, sap

novelties: (n) odds and ends **numbering**: (n) counting, enumeration, list, numeration, reckoning, listing, determination of the thread count, number coding

numskull: (n) loggerhead, blockhead, dummy, ass, bonehead, dolt, dunderhead, booby, dullard, fool, stupid

nuptials: (n) wedding, matrimony, bridal, wedding ceremony, marriage ceremony, spousal, wedding party, ceremonial, ceremony, espousal, hymeneals. ANTONYM: (n) divorce

obeisance: (n) homage, curtsy, deference, bowing, reverence, obedience, respect, courtesy; (v)

genuflexion, kowtow, genuflection objector: (n) dissenter, contestant, dissident, nonconformist, opponent, person, somebody, someone, soul, militant, whiner

oblige: (v) coerce, force, drive, constrain, make, bind, accommodate, obligate, necessitate, enforce, impel. ANTONYMS: (v) displease, request, hinder

oblique: (adj) circuitous, devious, lateral, side, roundabout, slanting, evasive, collateral, sloping, inclined, tortuous. ANTONYMS: (adj) direct, level, perpendicular, parallel, overt, explicit, straight, clear, upright; (n) nominative

obliterated: (adj) obliterate, destroyed, lost, forgotten, invisible; (v) erased, effaced

obliteration: (n) annihilation, eradication, abolition, deletion, devastation, destruction, demolition, extinction, atomization; (adj) extirpation, extinguishment. ANTONYMS: (n) construction, creation, protection

oblivious: (adj) careless, inattentive, mindless, heedless, neglectful, unaware, ignorant, unwitting, Lethean, deaf, blind. ANTONYMS: (adj) aware, watchful, mindful, careful, sharp

oblong: (adj) oval, elliptical, rectangular, rounded; (v) longitudinal; (n) block, quadrangle

obscurity: (n) gloom, darkness, shade, dimness, obscureness, night, oblivion, haze, ambiguity, shadow, cloudiness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, fame, light, simplicity, prominence, celebrity, brightness

obsolete: (adj) dead, archaic, ancient, antique, outdated, extinct, oldfashioned, disused, outmoded, dated, old. ANTONYMS: (adj) current, contemporary, modern, trendy, new

obstinate: (adj) obdurate, inflexible, intractable, determined, inveterate, disobedient, willful, stubborn, contrary, wayward, dogged. ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, amenable, irresolute, cooperative, easygoing, docile, biddable, agreeable, accommodating, malleable, gentle

obstructed: (adj) blind, blocked, congested, impeded, impedite, foiled, tight, thwarted, stymied, frustrated, impassable. ANTONYM: (adj) unobstructed

occupant: (n) tenant, inhabitant, dweller, denizen, occupier, inmate, holder, citizen, householder, dalesman, coaster

oddness: (n) oddity, curiosity, curiousness, peculiarity, strangeness, quirkiness, singularity, queerness, irregularity, crotchet, curio

oedipus: (n) Oedipus rex o'er: (adv) on, upon, across offend: (v) irritate, affront, insult, contravene, injure, disgust, infringe, displease, abuse, wound, anger. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, praise, attract offended: (adj) angry, affronted, aggrieved, pained, wronged, annoyed, insulted, shocked, vexed, resentful, injured. ANTONYMS: (adj) indifferent, proud, unconcerned

offhand: (adj, adv) impromptu, extemporaneous, extempore; (adj) casual, extemporary, careless, cavalier, nonchalant, brusque, abrupt, improvised. ANTONYMS: (adj) careful, considerate, warm, serious, civil, cautious, conscientious, concerned, caring, intended, prepared

oftentimes: (adv) frequently, ofttimes, oft, frequent, repeatedly, much, a great deal. ANTONYM: (adv) rarely

ogee: (n) cyma, curve oiled: (adj) intoxicated, oily. ANTONYM: (adj) unoiled

ointment: (n) cream, salve, balm, unguent, unction, oil, lotion, grease, plaster, embrocation, liniment

olympian: (adj) Olympic, exceptional, exceeding, imperial, lofty, proud, regal, gallant, prodigious, surpassing; (n) Olympic God

olympus: (n) Olimbos omniscient: (adj) learned, knowledgeable, infinitely wise, almighty, divine, wise, infallible

one-sided: (adj) unfair, unilateral, unjust, unequal, uneven, prejudiced, colored, doctrinaire, dogmatic, intolerant, jaundiced

onlooker: (n) beholder, bystander, spectator, witness, looker-on, eyewitness, viewer, watcher, passer by, sightseer, curious person. ANTONYM: (n) participant

onward: (adv) ahead, forwards, before, forth, onwards, along, in advance, frontward, forrader; (adv, prep) on; (adj) progressive. ANTONYM: (adv) backward

oozing: (n) ooze, leakage, exudation, seepage, sweating, extravasation, distillation, flow, leak, discharge; (adj) seeping

opacity: (n) opaqueness, obscurity, cloudiness, murkiness, indistinctness, muddiness, fogginess, opaque, dark, quality, dullness. ANTONYMS: (n) clarity, transparency

open-air: (adj) outside

ophicleide: (n) bugle, clarion, cornet, cornopean, trombone, trumpet ophthalmia: (n) pinkeye,

conjunctivitis

oppressive: (adj, v) onerous, close, burdensome; (adj) sultry, stuffy, tyrannical, muggy, despotic, dictatorial, gloomy, domineering. ANTONYMS: (adj) liberal, democratic, humane, free, tolerant, airy, freezing, libertarian

orchard: (n) park, garden, plantation, arboretum, avenue, pinetum, shrubbery, woodlet, parterre, pinery, copse

originality: (n) novelty, imagination, ingenuity, initiative, freshness, newness, invention, creativity, heterodoxy, innovation; (adj, n) individuality. ANTONYMS: (n) normality, unoriginality

originate: (v) begin, arise, initiate, commence, issue, develop, start, come, invent, grow, make. ANTONYMS: (v) terminate, kill

ornaments: (n) stuff, trim, ornamentation, equipments, dress, disposition, custom, curios, condition, clothing, gaudery

ostensibly: (adv) seemingly, on the face of it, outwardly, evidently, prima facie, allegedly, supposedly, professedly, superficially, manifestly; (adj) doubtless. ANTONYMS: (adv) genuinely, truly, underneath, actually

ostentatious: (adj) showy, flashy, pompous, pretentious, loud, extravagant, garish, flamboyant, proud, grandiose; (adj, n) haughty. ANTONYMS: (adj) restrained, unostentatious, unpretentious, drab, humble

outdone: (adj) beaten, vanquished, worsted, defeated; (v) outdo outgrow: (v) overgrow, surpass, surmount, outstrip, outmatch, outgo, become overgrown, grow over, exceed, develop, outdo

outhouse: (n) outbuilding, privy, jakes, barn, penthouse, bathroom, can, John, lav, lavatory

outing: (n) excursion, jaunt, journey, junket, ride, trip, tour, airing, drive, promenade, voyage

outlandish: (adj) foreign, bizarre, eccentric, freakish, odd, exotic, alien, quaint, singular, extraneous, freaky. ANTONYMS: (adj) normal, commonplace, sensible, familiar, tasteful

outlying: (adj) faraway, remote, far, outer, isolated, outdoor, outward, exterior, peripheral, outstanding, secluded. ANTONYMS: (adj) central, metropolitan, nearby, neighboring

outpour: (n) emanation, effusion, outpouring, effluence; (v) effuse outstep: (v) outjump, outgo, outleap, surpass, exceed, outride, outstrip, outdo, outrival

outwardly: (adv) exteriorly, superficially, apparently, outside, seemingly, without, ostensibly, evidently, extrinsically, outerly, outsidely. ANTONYMS: (adv) internally, underneath

outwards: (adj) out, over, with out; (adv) beyond, out of doors. ANTONYM: (adv) inward

outwork: (v) advance work, horn work; (n) bulwark, frontier, defence, homework, defense, defensive structure

overalls: (n) overall, inexpressibles, breeches, over-all, smalls, small clothes, boiler suit, smock, coverall, pantaloons, coveralls

overcoat: (n) greatcoat, coat, cloak, robe, topcoat, surcoat, coating, overcoating, capote, chesterfield, gown

overestimated: (adj) inflated, exaggerated, overvalued

overgrown: (adj) excessive, exorbitant, inordinate, extravagant, monstrous, covered, exaggerated, dropsical, lush; (v) turgid, tumid

overhaul: (n) inspection, service; (v) pass, renovate, renew, check, modernize, overtake, clear, fix, audit overhauling: (n) revision,

reconditioning, urban renewal, care, maintenance, inspection and repair, interim overhaul

overhear: (v) catch, eavesdrop, listen, overheard, understand, fold up, befool, fascinate, entrance, enchant, enamour

overhearing: (n) silent listening overlook: (v) disregard, excuse, omit, ignore, forget, fail, command, dominate, oversee, control, miss. ANTONYMS: (v) remember, notice, spot, acknowledge, see, accept, punish

overpowered: (adj) beaten, conquered, inundated, engulfed, flooded, routed, vanquished, subdued, subjugated, overflowing, mild

overpowering: (adj) overwhelming, oppressive, resistless, compelling, intense, heavy, strong, onerous, devastating, uncontrollable, depressing. ANTONYMS: (adj) light, subtle, imperceptible, insignificant, shallow, weak, faint, bland

overrun: (n, v) overflow; (v) invade, flood, occupy, infest, deluge, inundate, overwhelm, devastate, brim over; (n) excess. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, tidy; (v) make

oversoon: (adj) untimely, previous, premature

overspread: (v) cover, spread, disseminate, distribute, scatter, diffuse, disperse, broadcast, overlay, mantle, clothe

overstepping: (n) invasion overtaking: (n) passing, overtake, pass, going, expiration, loss, departure, exit

overtook: (v) overtake owing: (adj) due, unpaid, unsettled, outstanding, overdue, owed, payable, undischarged, indebted, fulfilling obligation, lawful. ANTONYM: (adj) settled

pacing: (n) accelerando, andante, allegro, allegretto, pace, walk, tempo, musical time, maneuvering alongside another vessel, cardiac pacing

packman: (n) chapman, hawker, pedlar, peddler, vendor, vender, drug dealer, drug peddler, drug trafficker, falconer, pitchman

paddock: (n) field, enclosure, pasture, meadow, corral, compound, pound, stall, ground, hutch, parrock

padlock: (n) bolt, bar, holdfast, rail, rivet, wall, security device, deadbolt, combination lock, closure; (v) secure

pagan: (adj, n) gentile, ethnic, agnostic; (n) idolater, infidel, paynim, heretic; (adj) heathenish, irreligious, ethnical, profane

paganism: (n) heathenism, heresy, pagan religion, idolatry, atheism, religion, faith, barbarism, ethnicism, gentilism, gentility

pageantry: (n) ostentation, grandeur, glitter, pomp, display, glory, magnificence, spectacle, show, splendor, ceremony. ANTONYMS: (n) modesty, understatement

pail: (n) bucketful, jug, tub, pailful, cannikin, pails, skeel, tankard, pot, pipkin, vessel

pained: (adj) offended, aggrieved, distressed, displeased, sore, grieved, miserable, injured, wounded, worried, upset. ANTONYM: (adj) unaffected

paleness: (adj, n) pallor; (n)
pallidness, wanness, whiteness,

achromasia, blondness, lividity, luridness, lividness, fairness, pale. ANTONYM: (n) strength

paling: (n) fence, pale, picket fence, balustrade, fencing, enclosure, bar, barrier, ring fence, quickset hedge; (adj) fading

palings: (n) inclosure, fencing, enclosure

pallid: (adj) ghastly, wan, bloodless, lurid, cadaverous, sickly, ashen, white, pasty, livid, watery. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, rosy, vivid

pallor: (n) pallidness, wanness, complexion, achromasia, lividity, lividness, luridness, pale, skin color, whiteness, sallowness. ANTONYMS: (n) rosiness,

coloration, bloom palpable: (adj) tangible, obvious, evident, apparent, clear, transparent, indubitable, noticeable, lucid, patent, perceptible. ANTONYMS: (adj) imaginary, intangible, impalpable, doubtful, furtive, imperceptible, insignificant,

obscure, unclear panes: (n) Fauni

panting: (adj) gasping, breathless, blown, winded, puffed; (v) palpitation; (n) heaving, gasp, asthma, heave, puff

pantomime: (n, v) gesture; (n) dumb show, mummery, acting, playacting, performing, playing, pantomimist; (v) mimic, roleplay, playact

pantomimic: (v) pathognomonic, symptomatic, representative, symbolic, typical; (adj) pantomime, emblematic, diagnostic, armorial

pantry: (n) buttery, store, basement, kitchen, stowage, scullery, store cupboard, covey, storeroom, stomach, stillroom

papery: (adj) chartaceous, thin, papyraceous, thinner, sleazy, paper, flimsy. ANTONYM: (adj) tough

parasite: (n) sponge, freeloader, sponger, bloodsucker, hanger-on, scrounger, ectoparasite, endoparasite, sucker, louse; (n, v) sycophant

parchment: (n) vellum, sheepskin, lambskin, diploma, testament, will; (v) foolscap, tablet, table, slate, pillar parishioners: (n) people attending

worship, worshippers parlour: (n) living room, parlor, sitting room, front room,

livingroom, room to meet guests, parlours, parlors, salon, reception room, room

parson: (n) cleric, clergyman, rector, pastor, curate, preacher, ecclesiastic, divine, priest, vicar, father

parterre: (adj) esplanade, estrade; (n) shrubbery, seats, seating, plantation, pinery, pinetum, orchard, ledge, avenue

parting: (n) adieu, division, leave, departure, disunion, goodbye, leaving, segregation, dying, rupture; (adj) valedictory. ANTONYMS: (n) joining, meeting, connection, Reunion

partisan: (n) backer, champion, friend, bigot, disciple, advocate, adherent, enthusiast; (adj, n) sectarian, partizan; (adj) biased. ANTONYMS: (n) peacekeepers, opponent, rebel, turncoat; (adj) unbiased, nonpartisan, Standard, impartial, fair, disloyal

partition: (n) wall, bulkhead, divider, distribution, separation, screen; (n, v) part, split; (v) divide, apportion, deal. ANTONYMS: (v) join, reveal; (n) union

passer-by: (n) eyewitness

passionateness: (n) fire, ardor, fervor, fervency, passion, warmth, wildness, mania, love, ardour, passion of Christ

passionless: (adj) frigid, indifferent, emotionless, soulless, spiritless, dispassionate, impassive, apathetical, unimpassioned, calm, unemotional

passively: (adv) inactively, inertly, quiescently, unresistingly, patiently, acquiescently, compliantly, meekly, tamely, dormantly, dutifully. ANTONYMS: (adv) vigorously, actively, assertively, defiantly

pastime: (n) game, avocation, entertainment, recreation, hobby, distraction, interest, fun, pursuit, amusement, sideline

pastry: (n) cookie, dough, cake, pandowdy, dowdy, pie, pastries, strudel, confection, confectionery,

pathless: (adj) impenetrable, wayless, impassable, imperviable, impervious, inaccessible, lacking pathways, roadless, shoreless, unaccessible, untracked

pathos: (v) emotion, inspiration, impression, affection; (n) poignancy, pity, ruth, commiseration, grief, poignance, sympathy

patriarch: (n) forefather, paterfamilias, father, head, chief, old

man, antediluvian, head of household, elder, founder, senior. ANTONYM: (n) matriarch

peal: (n) ding, noise, clang, dingdong, blast; (v) chime, knell, toll, echo; (adj, n) swell; (n, v) bang

pearls: (n) beads, jewelry, jewellery pebble: (n) boulder, crystal, flint, rock, scree, cobblestone, calculus, crag, granite, pebblestone; (adj) quartz

pebbles: (n) shingle, grit, gravel, stones

peculiarity: (n) idiosyncrasy, distinction, particularity, oddness, eccentricity, distinctiveness, abnormality, characteristic, attribute, difference, individuality. ANTONYM: (n) similarity

pecuniary: (adj) financial, fiscal, commercial, economic, nummulary, sumptuary, numismatical, pecunial, crumenal

pedestrian: (adj) humdrum, ordinary, earthbound, banal, trite, tedious, hackneyed, prosaic, dull; (n) walker, footer. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, inspired, excellent, exceptional, inspiring, original; (n) driver

pedlar: (n) chapman, hawker, huckster, packman, cadger, seller, coster, costermonger, vender, vendor, street vendor

peeping: (n) cheeping, tweeting, chirping; (adj) inquisitive

peerage: (n) aristocracy, baronage, nobility, peerdom, gentry, noblesse penance: (n) atonement, sacrament, confession, compunction, penalty, expiation, remorse, repentance, punishment, reparation, hair shirt

pendulum: (n) metronome, horologe, gnomon, dial, setup, pendant, clepsydra, weight; (v) flap, skirt, pony tail

penetrated: (adj) perforated, entered penetrating: (adj) astute, sharp, cutting, discerning, incisive, piercing, perceptive, discriminating, trenchant; (adj, v) biting, acute. ANTONYMS: (adj) mild, soft, mellow, low, gentle, dull, dense pensive: (adj) contemplative,

meditative, musing, wistful, dreamy, melancholy, abstracted, broody, reflective, moody; (adj, v) sad. ANTONYMS: (adj) shallow, satisfied, carefree

peopled: (adj) multinominal, multiple, manifold, multiplied, multitudinous, populous, inhabited, thick, studded, teeming, crowded.

ANTONYM: (adj) uninhabited perceiving: (n) feeling, sensing, hearing, looking at, recognition, thought, vision, lipreading; (adj) conscious, percipient, reasonable

perceptible: (adj) conspicuous, appreciable, evident, discernible, obvious, visible, palpable, apparent, detectable, manifest, observable. ANTONYMS: (adj) intangible, unclear, inaudible, inconspicuous, obscure, undetectable, invisible

perceptibly: (adv) discernibly, apparently, appreciably, manifestly, clearly, sensibly, markedly, conspicuously, recognizably, really, patently. ANTONYMS: (adv) inaudibly, invisibly

perceptiveness: (n) discernment, perceptivity, delicacy, judgment, discrimination, insight, culture, connoisseurship, appreciation, taste, perception

perch: (adj, n, v) roost; (v) light, settle, sit, alight, squat, land; (adj, v) lodge, abide, dwell; (n) pole

perched: (adj) perked, alert, on the edge, balanced, poised, on the brink, suspended, perked up

peregrination: (n, v) trip, journey, tour; (n) ramble, travel, vagabondage, perambulation, pilgrimage, travelling, jaunt; (v) excursion

peremptorily: (adv) absolutely, positively, imperatively, flatly, dogmatically, magisterially, commandingly, imperiously, authoritatively, decidedly, decisively

perfervid: (adj) impassioned, fiery, fervent, ardent, fervid, torrid, burning, keen, passionate, flaming, sultry

perforce: (n) on compulsion; (adv)
 needs

perfume: (n, v) scent, essence, odor, smell; (n) aroma, bouquet, cologne, incense, odour; (v) embalm, aromatize. ANTONYMS: (n) stink, stench

perfumed: (adj) fragrant, odoriferous, odorous, scented, sweet, honeyed, mellifluous, angelic, angelical, fresh, gratifying. ANTONYM: (adj) odorless

perfunctorily: (adv) superficially, automatically, carelessly, as a formality, involuntarily, quickly, hastily, unthinkingly, passingly, automaticly, fleetingly. ANTONYM: (adv) thoroughly peril: (n, v) hazard, risk, endanger, menace, adventure; (n) danger, jeopardy, chance; (v) imperil, expose, compromise. ANTONYM: (n) security

perilous: (adj, v) dangerous, hazardous; (adj) insecure, unsafe, parlous, precarious, risky, treacherous, dicey, critical, dodgy. ANTONYM: (adj) secure

periodical: (n) journal, magazine, newspaper, review, organ, publication, book; (adj) intermittent, cyclic, recurrent, annual

perishable: (adj) mortal, temporary, frail, corruptible, transitory, dying words, dying day, caduke, dying; (adj, v) unstable; (v) precarious. ANTONYM: (adj) durable

perished: (adj) decayed, emperished, rotting, annihilated, fallen, lost, moldy, nonexistent, putrefied, dead, decomposed

perishing: (adj) chilly, cold and damp, crumbly, starving, inclement; (n) decay

permanence: (n) constancy, stability, endurance, strength, immortality, firmness, perdurability, lastingness, duration, perpetuity; (adj, n) continuance. ANTONYMS: (n) interruption, flimsiness, instability

perpetual: (adj) incessant, continual, constant, endless, eternal, everlasting, lasting, ceaseless, immortal, continuous, perennial. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, intermittent, transitory, mortal, unstable, finite, inconstant, occasional, sporadic

perpetuated: (adj) perpetuate perplexed: (adj) confused, puzzled, baffled, confounded, doubtful, distracted, disconcerted; (adj, v) intricate, complicated, lost, involved. ANTONYMS: (adj) unperplexed, assured, clear, knowing

perplexedly: (adv) puzzledly, intricately, complicatedly, lostly, confusedly, bemusedly, bewilderedly, impassively, uncomprehendingly, vacantly, distractedly

perplexing: (adj) enigmatic, puzzling, embarrassing, intricate, complex, baffling, complicated, bewildering, knotty, troublesome; (adj, n) difficult. ANTONYMS: (adj) simple, enlightening, soothing, understandable, explicable perplexity: (n) confusion, dilemma,

bewilderment, maze, labyrinth, embarrassment, quandary, complication, enigma; (adj, n) difficulty, distress. ANTONYM: (n) understanding

persevering: (adj) diligent, firm, determined, constant, resolute, dogged, persistent, tenacious, steadfast, industrious, insistent. ANTONYM: (adj) irresolute

perseveringly: (adv) patiently, doggedly, tenaciously, persistently, determinedly, constantly, resolutely, steadily, insistently, busily, stubbornly

persistence: (n) continuity, endurance, constancy, stubbornness, durability, doggedness, continuation, continuance, patience, perseveration, tenacity. ANTONYMS: (n) laziness, indifference, flexibility, impatience, feebleness

personage: (n) person, notable, celebrity, personality, individual, bigwig, figure, somebody, human, character, being

perspicacious: (adj) acute, astute, shrewd, perceptive, wise, penetrating, keen, sagacious, sharp, incisive, intelligent. ANTONYMS: (adj) inattentive, dense, stupid

perspicacity: (n) intelligence, judgment, insight, discrimination, astuteness, judgement, discernment, shrewdness, perception, wisdom; (adj) penetration. ANTONYMS: (n) stupidity, dullness

pertness: (n) insolence, impudence, audacity, sauciness, effrontery, perkiness, archness, cheekiness, playfulness, forwardness, cheek

perturbation: (n) commotion, agitation, fuss, emotion, excitement, confusion, dislocation, discomposure, interruption; (adj, n, v) trepidation; (adj, n) flutter

perturbed: (adj) disturbed, agitated, hot and bothered, confused, uneasy, concerned, worried, unsettled, troubled, upset, distraught. ANTONYMS: (adj) untroubled, relaxed

perusing: (n) poring over, studying pervading: (adj) penetrating, general, profound, permeating, permeant, overmastering, lowly, deeply felt, intellectually deep, deep, almighty pervasive: (adj) pervading, general, ompirecent prevalent permeative

pervasive: (adj) pervading, general, omnipresent, prevalent, permeative, extensive, permeating, permeant, penetrating, widespread, rife.

ANTONYMS: (adj) contained, limited

perversely: (adv) obstinately, refractorily, stubbornly, pervertedly, contrariwise, waywardly, wickedly, badly, willfully, kinkily, naughtily

perverted: (adj) perverse, immoral, distorted, kinky, corrupt, twisted, abnormal, debauched, deviant, reprobate, unnatural. ANTONYMS:

(adj) normal, moral, unchanged pestilent: (adj) mortal, deathly, pernicious, deadly, baneful, fatal, harmful, noxious, pestiferous, plaguey, bothersome. ANTONYM: (adj) delightful

petrarch: (n) Petrarca
pettishly: (adv) testily, irritably,

crossly, tetchily, peevishly, techily, huffily, touchily, fractiously, fretfully, moodily

petulance: (n) touchiness, testiness, tetchiness, crossness, choler, fretfulness, peevishness, temper, acerbity; (adj) petulant, flippancy **petulant**: (adj) irritable, peevish,

cross, testy, irascible, cranky, fractious, fretful, pettish, touchy, choleric. ANTONYMS: (adj) easygoing, amiable, calm, affable, cheerful

petulantly: (adv) testily, impatiently, sulkily, querulously, pettishly, irritably, snappishly, morosely, tetchily, crossly, sullenly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) calmly, lightly philanthropy: (n) charity, generosity, humanity, kindness, philanthropic gift, beneficence, altruism, charitableness, humanitarianism, largesse, gift. ANTONYMS: (n) nastiness, selfishness

philosophically: (adv) calmly,
 rationally, reflectively, thoughtfully,
 wisely

philosophize: (v) think, reason, generalize, cogitate, cerebrate phlegmatically: (adj, adv) phlegmaticly; (adv) indifferently, stolidly, unconcernedly, impassively, listlessly, sluggishly, passively, inertly, carelessly, lackadaisically

phosphoric: (adj) phosphorous, phosphorical

phosphorus: (n) phosphor, Phosphorus paste, P, element, Lucifer, daystar, chemical element, atomic number, morning star

physic: (n) medicine, aperient, cathartic, medication, healing, medicament, drug; (n, v) cure,

doctor, remedy; (v) heal pickaxe: (n) pickax, mattock, option, edge tool, cream, choice, filling

piercing: (adj, n) sharp, cutting; (adj, v) keen, penetrating, biting, bitter, harsh, shrill; (adj) high, raw, loud. ANTONYMS: (adj) quiet, dull, soft, hot

pigeons: (n) order Columbiformes, Columbiformes

pigment: (n, v) color; (n) paint, coloring, colorant, stain, hemosiderin, alizarin, bole, alizarine, phycocyanin, phycoerythrin

pigmy: (adj, n) pygmy; (adj) tiny, exiguous, petty, minikin, pigwidgeon, urchin, elfin; (n) elf, manikin, atom

piled: (adj) heaped, dense, aggregate, collective, concentrated, cumulous

pilgrimage: (n, v) expedition, excursion; (v) trip, tour,

peregrination, ramble, discursion, circuit; (n) hajj, haj, career

pinafore: (n) apron, tier, pinny, jumper, bustle, panier, kilt, jupe, crinoline, farthingale, apparatus pinning: (n) pining, pin drafting, stemming

pins: (v) feet, legs, pegs, trotters pious: (adj, n, v) devout; (adj, n) godly; (adj) religious, holy, saintly, devotional, pure, hypocritical, devoted, sanctimonious; (adj, v) earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj) impious, sinful, profane, blasphemous, irreligious, uncommitted, secular, irreverent

piping: (n) pipe, pipage, conduit, line, chimneypot, drainpipe, main, edging; (adj) high, shrill, reedy

piquancy: (n) pungency, zest, tang, flavour, spice, nip, taste, galvanism, flavor, bite; (adj) antithesis

piquant: (adj) peppery, spicy, engaging, tasty, salty, strong, sharp, gamy; (adj, n) pungent, racy, trenchant. ANTONYMS: (adj) bland, dull, insipid, faint

pique: (v) nettle, insult, outrage, irritate, fret; (n) grudge, annoyance, umbrage, irritation; (n, v) anger, spite

pitiful: (adj, n) abject; (adj) pathetic, lamentable, piteous, contemptible, miserable, distressing, mean, wretched, poor, sad. ANTONYMS: (adj) generous, heartwarming, admirable, cheerful, fine, happy, impressive

pitilessly: (adv) remorselessly,

ruthlessly, unmercifully, unfeelingly, heartlessly, harshly, cruelly, unsympathetically, brutally, relentlessly, unkindly.

ANTONYMS: (adv) mercifully, sensitively, sympathetically will; (n) William Pitt, second early

pitt: (n) William Pitt, second earl of Chatham, Pitt the elder, Pitt the younger

pitying: (adj) sympathetic, merciful, pity, pityingly, gloomy, meritless, pitiful, sorry, sorry for, humane, dreary

pivot: (n) axle, axis, fulcrum, pin, hub, nucleus, pintle; (v) revolve; (n, v) swivel, wheel, turn

placid: (adj) calm, composed, easygoing, equable, gentle, quiet, pacific, tranquil, cool, peaceable; (adj, v) peaceful. ANTONYMS: (adj) rough, energetic, stormy, frenetic, excitable, agitated, unstable, bothered, harsh, boisterous

placidity: (n) peace, equanimity, calm, serenity, tranquility, calmness, tranquillity, placidness, repose, quiet, ataraxia

placidly: (adv) coolly, calmly, tranquilly, peacefully, stilly, quietly, composedly, silently, meekly, impassively, collectedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) agitatedly, boisterously

plague: (v) molest, harass, afflict, hassle, annoy, badger, pester, disturb, beleaguer; (n, v) worry; (adj, n, v) bother. ANTONYM: (v) comfort

plaid: (n) check, tartan, patchwork, kirtle, fabric, cloth, cape, tippet; (v) mosaic, tesselated; (adj) checked

plaintive: (adj) pathetic, piteous, lugubrious, doleful, sad, wistful, sorrowful, woeful, elegiac, dolorous, lamentable

plank: (n) timber, beam, slat, girder, panel, parachute, matchboard, footbridge, hardboard; (v) flump; (n, v) planch

plantation: (n) orchard, farm, garden, shrubbery, hacienda, planting, settlement, colony, parterre, grove, planter

plasticity: (n) flexibility, malleability, ductility, pliability, elasticity, give, adaptability, fluidity, suppleness, smoothness, agility. ANTONYM: (n) stiffness

playfully: (adv) sportively, jocularly, puckishly, impishly, merrily, naughtily, roguishly, frolicsomely, lightheartedly, archly, skittishly **plead**: (v) entreat, implore, beg, adjure, petition, ask, appeal, defend, invoke, sue; (n, v) allege. ANTONYMS: (v) answer, demand

pleading: (adj) importunate, imploring, beseeching, appealing, suppliant; (n) defense, replication, demurrer, defence, advocacy,

argument

pleasantly: (adv) pleasingly, nicely, cheerily, enjoyably, agreeably, delightfully, sunnily, genially, gratifyingly, kindly; (adv, v) happily. ANTONYMS: (adv) disagreeably, offensively, awfully, discordantly, dreadfully, shockingly, unkindly, irritably, harshly, curtly, nastily

pleasing: (adj, n) acceptable; (adj) amiable, lovable, amusing, attractive, gratifying, lovely, pleasant, charming, delightful, inviting. ANTONYMS: (adj) unpleasant, unwelcome, infuriating, disappointing, straight, hurtful, maddening, displeasing, discordant, harsh, frustrating

pliable: (adj) elastic, ductile, soft, malleable, flexile, susceptible, yielding; (adj, v) plastic, lithe, pliant, limber. ANTONYMS: (adj) stiff, inflexible, intractable, firm, hard, unyielding, wild

plod: (v) tramp, trudge, toil, slog, drudge, labor, pad, grind, footslog; (n, v) clump, march

plough: (v) hoe, manure, delve, dibble, dig, dress the ground, cultivate, turn over, rake, weed, to plough

pluck: (adj, n) nerve; (v) cull, jerk, gather, pick, fleece, grab; (n) grit, courage, boldness; (n, v) pull. ANTONYMS: (n) cowardice, gutlessness; (v) undercharge plumbed: (adj) sounded

plunge: (n, v) drop, dive, fall, jump; (v) douse, duck, submerge, crash, dunk, plummet; (adj, v) immerse. ANTONYMS: (n, v) rise; (v) hesitate; (n) improvement

pocketknife: (n) jackknife, knife, pocket knife, clasp knife, switchblade, jack knife

poetical: (adj) imaginative, rhetorical, poematic, figurative, inventive polaris: (n) North Star, Pole Star,

lodestar, polar star

politeness: (n) civility, courteousness, courtliness, manners, decorum, gentility, good manners, niceness, refinement, gallantry, decency.

return of the rative

ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, rudeness, incivility, neglect pollard: (v) poll, lop, crop, cut back, top, copyes, Belling; (adi) truncate.

top, canvas, Bolling; (adj) truncate, stunt; (n) bran, pollards

pollen: (n) powder

pomp: (n) grandeur, parade, ostentation, show, ceremony, glory, luxury, pageantry, magnificence, state, splendor. ANTONYMS: (n) understatement, modesty

pondering: (adj) pensive, musing, meditative, contemplative, thoughtful, reflective; (n) consideration, deliberation, cogitation, reflection, lucubration

poplar: (n) poplar tree, abele, cottonwood, hackmatack, wood, white poplar, angiospermous tree, gray poplar, flowering tree, black poplar, balsam poplar

populated: (adj) populous, thick. ANTONYM: (adj) uninhabited

populous: (adj) multitudinous, crowded, densely populated, multiple, thick, inhabited, numerous, manifold, multiplied; (adj, v) teeming; (v) closely packed. ANTONYM: (adj) uninhabited

possessing: (adj) fruitive possessor: (n) owner, holder, proprietor, householder, occupant, landowner, landholder, proprietary, somebody, someone, soul

postponement: (n) delay, extension, adjournment, deferral, suspension, pause, respite, reprieve, abeyance, detention, stay

posture: (n) attitude, condition, stance, deportment, aspect, circumstance, manner, figure, mien; (n, v) pose, place

pouch: (n, v) bag; (n) pocket, poke, mailbag, sac, pod, purse, sack, bladder; (v) bulk, bulge

powerless: (adj) impotent, unable, feeble, incapable, ineffective, ineffectual, infirm, inefficient, nerveless, weak, prostrate. ANTONYMS: (adj) powerful, strong, effective, capable, able

powerlessness: (n) incapacity, impotence, weakness, impotency, impuissance, incapability, helplessness, defencelessness, defenselessness, incompetence, ineffectiveness. ANTONYMS: (n) strength, ability, capacity

praising: (adj) praiseful, commending, praise, flattering, admiring, kind, complimentary, bestowing praise, eulogistic, commendatory, encomiastical **prattle**: (n, v) gossip, babble, chat, gab, jabber, chitchat; (adj, n, v) chatter, prate, palaver; (v) cackle, clack

praying: (n) prayer

preacher: (n) missionary, parson, lecturer, clergyman, evangelist, pastor, priest, sermonizer, revivalist, gospeler, preachers

preaching: (n) sermon, lecture, homily, preachment, baccalaureate, speech, pulpit, exhortation, kerygma; (v) preach; (adj) hence prearranged: (adj) fixed,

premeditated, intelligence, intended, intentional, known, observer, occasional, predetermined, regular, selected. ANTONYM: (adj) changing

precaution: (n) foresight, care, prevention, discretion, anticipation, caution, circumspection, prudence, safeguard, protection; (adj) precautionary

precincts: (n) entourage, arena, outskirts, neighbourhood, walk, neighborhood, proximity, surroundings, vicinity, limitations, suburbs

preciousness: (n) invaluableness, value, valuableness, pricelessness, preciosity, costliness, love, glory, fondness

precipice: (n) abyss, chasm, escarpment, gulf, steep, crag, verge, brink, abysm, ravine, drop

precipitate: (adj, n) hasty; (adj, n, v) deposit; (adj) impetuous, headlong, sudden, immediate, instant, precipitant; (n, v) accelerate, expedite; (v) hurry. ANTONYMS: (adj) overdue, cautious, protracted; (v) retard

preconceived: (v) prepense,
aforethought

predestined: (adj) fated, foreordained, certain, predestinate, intended, fatal, predetermined, ordained, meant, doomed, designed predetermined: (adj) preset, fixed, set, doomed, preordained, fated

set, doomed, preordained, fated, appointed, black, bound, bringing death, bringing ruin. ANTONYMS: (adj) infinite, uncertain, variable predominance: (n) advantage,

ascendancy, dominance, predominancy, excellence, mastery, dominion, ascendance, supremacy, odds, overweight

preface: (n, v) prelude, preamble, proem; (n) beginning, introduction,

preliminary, exordium, overture; (v) introduce, precede, premise. ANTONYMS: (n) addendum, conclusion, postscript

prehistoric: (adj) archaic, ancient, primordial, primeval, antiquated, old, antediluvian, prehistorical, antique, dated, earliest. ANTONYM: (adj) contemporary

prelude: (n) preliminary, preface, introduction, beginning, overture, preamble, foreword, inception, opening, proem, prolusion.
ANTONYMS: (n) postscript, conclusion, ending

preoccupied: (adj) absorbed, abstracted, thoughtful, lost, rapt, distracted, faraway, inattentive, deep in thought, engrossed, pensive. ANTONYMS: (adj) alert, carefree, uninterested

prepossessing: (adj) engaging, winning, handsome, appealing, lovely, captivating, charming, nice, graceful, winsome; (v) inviting

presume: (v) dare, consider, believe, think, infer, guess, expect, esteem, conclude, suppose, conjecture. ANTONYMS: (v) appreciate, despair, speculate

preternatural: (adj) unearthly, occult, outlandish, miraculous, uncanny, transcendental, extraordinary, abnormal, weird, nonnatural, otherworldly

preternaturally: (adv) supernaturally, irregularly, transcendentally, extraordinarily, occultly, abnormally, strangely, outlandishly, uncannily, miraculously

prevail: (n, v) triumph, control, govern; (v) dominate, overcome, outweigh, obtain, persist, carry, vanquish; (adj) preponderate. ANTONYM: (v) lose

prevaricate: (v) evade, palter, lie, fib, stall, tergiversate, shuffle, quibble, hedge, cavil, fence

prevision: (n) prescience,
anticipation, forecast,
foreknowledge, prophecy,
prognostication, vision, prediction,
forethought, forecasting; (v) foresee

preying: (adj) predatory; (n)
 predation, pillaging, depredation
pricking: (adj, v) keen, poignant,

sharp; (v) suffer, smart, penetrating; (adj) pointed, piercing, urchin, thistly; (n) Peter

prickly: (adj) barbed, thorny, briery, sharp, irritable, scratchy, cantankerous, spiky, biting, waspish, splenetic. ANTONYMS: (adj) easygoing, affable, easy, comfortable, blunt, calm, gentle, mild

proceeding: (n) matter, transaction, affair, procedure, lawsuit, proceedings; (v) deed, act; (n, v) measure; (adv, n) happening; (adj, adv, v) going on

prodigal: (adj) extravagant, improvident, generous, lavish, wasteful, excessive, exuberant, liberal, profuse, dissipated; (adj, n) profligate. ANTONYMS: (adj) economical, cautious

professed: (adj) alleged, declared, apparent, avowed, pretended, seeming, supposed, affected, feigned, so-called, purported

profligate: (adj) debauched, lavish, corrupt, extravagant, immoral, wasteful, abandoned; (adj, n) prodigal, licentious, spendthrift, libertine. ANTONYMS: (adj) frugal, upright, moral, economical, parsimonious, sensible, cautious, innocent

profundity: (n) deepness, profoundness, abstruseness, penetration, wisdom, obscurity, astuteness, abstrusity, erudition; (adj) profound, extensive. ANTONYMS: (n) superficiality, banality, flippancy, height, mildness, simplicity

profuse: (adj, n) generous, liberal; (adj) plentiful, ample, copious, lavish, bounteous, exuberant, excessive, full, prodigal. ANTONYMS: (adj) sparse, meager, thin, scanty, restrained, unhealthy, small

prologue: (n) preface, introduction, preamble, foreword, Prolog, overture, proem, preliminary, beginning, prolegomena, opening. ANTONYMS: (n) conclusion, postscript

promptness: (n) promptitude, agility, celerity, readiness, eagerness, expedition, dispatch, rapidity, alacrity, punctuality, speed.
ANTONYMS: (n) slowness, sluggishness, tardiness, delay

pronounce: (v) articulate, declare, affirm, say, assert, express, vocalize, proclaim; (n, v) allege; (adj, v) deliver, utter. ANTONYM: (v) mumble

prophet: (n) augur, oracle, vaticinator, seer, predictor, diviner, forecaster, visionary, foreteller, propinquity: (n) nearness, neighborhood, vicinity, adjacency, closeness, relationship, kinship, presence, neighbourhood, immediacy, likeness. ANTONYMS:

(n) distance, remoteness

priest, clairvoyant

propitious: (adj) fortunate, lucky, good, benign, happy, opportune; (adj, v) auspicious; (adj, n, v) friendly; (adj, n) promising, advantageous, kind. ANTONYMS: (adj) unfortunate, unlucky, unpropitious, inopportune, hopeless

proportioned: (adj) attemperate, shapely, regular, properly adapted, even, balanced. ANTONYM: (adj) asymmetrical

prosecute: (v) pursue, persecute, follow, chase, engage, indict, litigate, drive, execute, accuse; (n, v) sue. ANTONYM: (v) pardon

prostrate: (adj, v) prone, exhaust, level, fatigue; (v) fell, overwhelm, overcome, floor, overthrow; (adj) deject, knock down. ANTONYM: (adj) upright

prostrated: (adj) brokenhearted, exhausted, tired, enervated

prostration: (n) depression, exhaustion, kneeling, breakdown, weakness, dejection, inanition, genuflexion, curtsy; (adj) decline; (adj, n) syncope

prosy: (adj) humdrum, pedestrian, uninteresting, dull, boring, vapid, tedious, commonplace, earthbound, prosal, proposing

protector: (n) guard, guardian, patron, champion, custodian, conservator, escort, hero, paladin, supporter, benefactor

protracted: (adj, v) extended, lingering, continued; (adj) prolonged, lengthy, extensive, prolix, chronic, lengthened, slow, spun out. ANTONYMS: (adj) brief, abrupt, short, concise, easy

protruded: (adj) extant, outstanding providence: (n) forethought, fortune, fate, discretion, God, destiny, care, economy, caution, precaution, chance. ANTONYM: (n) improvidence

provident: (adj) prudent, frugal, sparing, economical, farsighted, cautious, careful, parsimonious, sagacious, wise; (v) precautionary. ANTONYM: (adj) foolish

providential: (adj) lucky, happy, divine, fortuitous, opportune, miraculous, favorable, blessed,

seasonable; (adj, v) auspicious; (v) propitious. ANTONYM: (adj) unfortunate

provocation: (n) challenge, aggravation, exasperation, incitement, instigation, annoyance, excitement, stimulation, affront, incentive, defiance. ANTONYMS: (n) conciliation, arbitration, deterrent, disincentive, pleasure prudent: (adi, v) discreet; (adi)

prudent: (adj, v) discreet; (adj) cautious, circumspect, reasonable, chary, economical, careful, frugal, deliberate, advisable, canny. ANTONYMS: (adj) imprudent, reckless, spendthrift, stupid, careless, unwise, unsafe, tactless

prudently: (adv) wisely, cautiously, judiciously, discreetly, shrewdly, sparingly, charily, sagaciously, warily, frugally, circumspectly. ANTONYMS: (adv) recklessly, imprudently, extravagantly, generously, indiscreetly, immaturely, stupidly

psalm: (n) hymn, chant, psalmody, anthem, song, Salm; (v) sing

psalmist: (n) composer
puckered: (adj) corrugated, wrinkly,
unsmooth, rough, inflated,

furrowed, cockled, bullate, creased **pulsating**: (adj) vibrant, beating, vivacious, resonant, rhythmical, rhythmic, animated, exciting, lively, pulsatile, pulsing. ANTONYM: (adj) listless

pulsing: (adj) beating, pulsating; (n) pulse, pulsation, impulse, caprice, heartbeat, impulsion, beat, nerve impulse, heart rate

punctual: (adj) accurate, exact, punctilious, prompt, timely, definite, rigorous, precise, nice, mathematical; (adj, v) regular. ANTONYMS: (adj) early, unpunctual, slow

punctually: (adv) precisely, exactly, duly, accurately, correctly, on time, regularly, timely, punctiliously, strictly, sharp

puncture: (n, v) prick, cut, stab; (v) bore, drill, perforate, pierce, penetrate, broach; (n) sting, hole. ANTONYM: (v) inflate

punish: (v) amerce, discipline, castigate, chasten, chastise, penalize, strike, avenge, pay, beat, execute. ANTONYMS: (v) excuse, exonerate, pardon, reward, commend

puny: (adj) weak, petty, feeble, frail, tiny, small, minute, measly, runty, paltry, trivial. ANTONYMS: (adj) muscular, brawny, strong, significant, fit, huge, enormous, robust, considerable

pupilage: (n) cradle, nursery, pupilarity, childhood, wardship, guardianship, pucelage, puberty

purblind: (adj) obtuse, opaque, dim, dumb, myopic, nearsighted, dense, dull, blinding, visually impaired; (v) shortsighted

purgatory: (n) limbo, abyss,
 purgation, hell, situation, imaginary
 place, living death, punishment,
 Gehenna, grief

puritanic: (adj) blue, puritanical, straitlaced, naughty, patrician, grim, exaggeratedly proper, low, gentle, gamy, juicy

purposed: (adj, v) intended; (adj) deliberate, designed, forcible, betrothed, made tense, extended, undesigned; (v) free, not accidental, voluntary

pursuance: (n) prosecution, execution, pursuit, implementation, fulfillment, achievement, search, quest, fulfilment, exercise, chase pyracanth: (n) firethorn, shrub, pyracantha, bush

pyre: (n) pile, heap, funeral, funeral pyre, stake, wake, mound, hair, fire, funeral pile

quag: (n) quagmire, swamp, mire, bog, morass, marsh

quaint: (adj) odd, funny, picturesque, comical, fanciful, curious, whimsical, strange, queer, peculiar, droll. ANTONYMS: (adj) modern, ordinary, dull

quaking: (adj) shaky, quivering, trembling, shaking, wobbly, unsteady, jarring, vibrant, uncertain, insecure; (n) fright

quandary: (n) predicament, plight, difficulty, puzzle, doubt, problem, embarrassment, hole, uncertainty, perplexity; (adj, n) nonplus

quartered: (n) quartering, quarters quartz: (adj) flint, fossil, crag, marble, pebble; (n) quartz glass, citrine, chalcedony, lechatelierite, aventurine, cairngorm

quashing: (n) abolition, defeating, peremption

queenly: (adj) queenlike, royal, noble, dignified, regal, majestic, imperial, sovereign

queer: (adj) fantastic, odd, eccentric, funny, curious, gay, peculiar, strange, quaint, fishy, outlandish. ANTONYMS: (adj) conventional, normal, well quelling: (n) crushing, suppression, stifling, quell, forceful prevention, inhibition, curtailment, appeasement, bar, prevention

quench: (adj, v) extinguish, allay, slake; (v) appease, quash, put out, destroy, assuage, annihilate, calm, chill. ANTONYMS: (v) stimulate, light

questionable: (adj) arguable, debatable, fishy, equivocal, suspicious, uncertain, doubtful, moot, controversial, disputable; (adj, v) fallible. ANTONYMS: (adj) unquestionable, indisputable, certain, irrefutable, trustworthy, acknowledged, plausible, unambiguous, conclusive, strong, reputable

questioner: (n) inquirer, interrogator, enquirer, interviewer, querist, investigator, examiner, asker, doubter, talker, speaker

quickened: (adj) hasty, rapid, passionate, intoxicated

quickening: (n) hurrying, hastening, speedup; (v) hasten, lively, flowing, having life, ignited, laving; (adj) bracing, moving

quickness: (n) celerity, expedition, promptness, alacrity, agility, speed, dispatch, dexterity, fleetness, hurry, readiness. ANTONYMS: (n) awkwardness, delay, ineptness

quiescent: (adj) dormant, calm, passive, inert, immovable, serene, immobile, latent, placid, stationary, quiet. ANTONYM: (adj) active

quilt: (n) blanket, comforter, duvet, bedding, cover, bedspread, counterpane, quilting, eiderdown, sheet; (adj, v) embroider

quitter: (n) abdicator, apostate, soul, someone, somebody, person, mortal, recreant, pessimist, human, individual

quiver: (adj, n, v) shudder, shiver, tremble, shake; (v) flicker, flutter, vibrate; (n, v) palpitate, quaver; (n) vibration, tremor

quivering: (adj, n) trembling, tremor, quaking, trepidation; (n) palpitation, quiver, vibration; (adj) flutter, quavering, shivering, tremulous. ANTONYM: (adj) steady

quoth: (v) quod

racket: (n) noise, din, disturbance, commotion, uproar; (n, v) hubbub, riot; (v) fuss, bustle, brawl, clutter. ANTONYMS: (n) silence, peace

racketing: (n) a short life and a merry one, round of pleasures

- radiance: (n) gleam, glory, brilliance, luster, lustre, beam, brightness, effulgence, sparkle, light; (adj, n) brilliancy. ANTONYMS: (n) darkness, gloominess
- radiant: (adj, v) bright, glittering, lustrous, beamy, glorious; (adj) beaming, luminous, effulgent, lucid, glowing, beautiful. ANTONYMS: (adj) gloomy, dark, pale, unhappy
- radiated: (adj) radial, stellular, stelliform, penciled, diffuse
- radiating: (adj) radiate, shining, glowing, radious, burning; (adv) radiately
- raffle: (v) raffle off, shuffle the cards, pillage, set on a cast, grove, channel; (n) lottery, draw, sweepstake, game of chance, gamble
- raiment: (n, v) dress, garb, apparel, garment, clothes; (n) costume, attire, clothing, array, habit; (v) clothe
- rainbows: (n) rainbow
- raindrops: (n) rain, raindrop
 rains: (n) wet
- rake: (n, v) tilt; (adj, v) comb; (v) hoe, harrow, graze, draw, plow; (n) debauchee, roue, slant, blood. ANTONYM: (v) glance
- rakish: (adj) dissolute, debauched, raffish, dapper, profligate, licentious, dashing, gallant, stylish, dissipated, fast. ANTONYM: (adj) upright
- ramble: (n, v) journey, stroll, saunter, wander, roam, meander, excursion, hike, tramp, walk, promenade. ANTONYM: (v) settle
- rambling: (adj) disjointed, incoherent, desultory, discursive, erratic, excursive, meandering, diffuse, loose, errant; (adj, n) wandering. ANTONYMS: (adj) coherent, abrupt, conclusive, pithy, taciturn, compact
- rankness: (n) foulness, malodourousness, overgrowth, scent, smell, exuberance, odour, odor, body odor, plenty, profusion
- rapt: (adj) engrossed, intent, ecstatic, preoccupied, spellbound, captive, enthralled, attentive, fixed, enwrapped; (v) engrossed in. ANTONYMS: (adj) detached, inattentive, uninterested, bored
- rascal: (n) villain, rapscallion, monkey, miscreant, knave, scoundrel, scamp, rogue, varlet, vagabond, brat
- rash: (adj, n) foolhardy, hasty, precipitate, eruption; (adj) imprudent, reckless, impetuous,

- heedless, audacious, sudden; (adj, adv) thoughtless. ANTONYMS: (adj) cautious, careful, sensible, wise, considered, deliberate, prudent, modest, slow, responsible, patient
- rattle: (n, v) jingle, jangle, clatter; (n) click, clang, clack; (v) bang, confuse, shake, patter, disconcert
- rattled: (adj) hot and bothered, perturbed, upset, unsettled, puzzled, disconcerted, discomposed, bewildered, beside oneself, abashed, addled. ANTONYM: (adj) calm
- rattling: (adj) lively, brisk, racy, marvelous, fantastic, zippy, snappy, spanking, merry; (adv) very, real
- rave: (adj, n, v) fume; (n, v) rant; (adj, n) foam; (v) wander, jabber, gush, storm, tear, bluster; (adj, v) boil; (adj) flame. ANTONYM: (v) criticize
- raven: (v) guttle, feed, devour, gulp, harry, eat; (n) crow, plunder; (adj) black, jet; (n, v) gorge
- ravine: (n, v) gap, cleft; (n) chasm, canyon, dell, defile, gully, glen, pass, abyss, valley
- reappearance: (n) emersion, recurrence, repetition, resurrection, homecoming, reanimation, comeback, egress, restoration, revival, reproduction
- rearrange: (v) reform, shift, reorganize, restructure, change, reorder, alter, arrange, edit, reverse, switch. ANTONYMS: (v) continue, leave, remain, scatter
- rearrangement: (n) relocation, shift, juggle, juggling, transposition, transfer, reorganization, redeployment, reshuffle, step, rescheduling
- rearward: (adj, adv) back; (adj, n) rear; (adv) astern, backwards, abaft, aback, after, rearwards, aft; (n) backside; (adj) reverse
- reassured: (adj) hopeful, reinsured, secure, confident
- rebellious: (adj) insubordinate, mutinous, disaffected, defiant, disobedient, contrary, contumacious, insurgent, stubborn, unruly, malcontent. ANTONYMS: (adj) docile, conventional, obedient, conformist, content, conforming, cooperative, loyal, meek, submissive, obliging
- rebelliousness: (n) defiance, disobedience, noncompliance, contumacy, willfulness, unruliness, obstreperousness, naughtiness,

- intractableness, intractability, insolence. ANTONYMS: (n) obedience, compliance, loyalty
- rebuff: (n, v) snub, check, cut; (v) reject, ignore, decline, repel; (n) denial, defeat, rebuke, rejection. ANTONYMS: (n) acceptance, approval, agreement; (v) welcome, acknowledge, agree
- recalcitrant: (adj) defiant, fractious, rebellious, intractable, obstinate, disobedient, contrary, stubborn, naughty, restive, unruly.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) compliant, docile, cooperative
- **recalling**: (adj) revocatory; (n) recognition
- recede: (v) decline, withdraw, retire, fall back, diminish, retreat, abate, give, draw back, decrease, lose. ANTONYMS: (v) approach, gain, proceed, surge, stay, increase, appear, level
- receding: (n) disappearance, fadeout, recession, niche; (adj) moving back, low, hairless, balding, going out, recessive, retiring
- **receptacle**: (n) box, holder, case, torus, can, outlet, pocket, pyx, beehive, cuspidor, pix
- recess: (n) niche, pause, intermission, holiday, nook, vacation, hollow, alcove, interval, interruption; (n, v) break. ANTONYM: (n) continuation
- recessed: (adj) buried, concave, hollow, dug in, depressed recesses: (n) penetralia, bowels,
- reciprocal: (adj) common, interchangeable, complementary, joint, bilateral, relative, alternate, reflexive, divisible; (adj, n) inverse, equivalent
- reciprocity: (n) reciprocality, mutuality, reciprocation, interaction, interdependence, alternation, interdependency, relation, exchange, interplay, similarity
- recitative: (n) arioso, ballad, bravura, cantata, canticle, canzonet, carol, ditty, pastoral, solfeggio, passage recklessness: (n, v) imprudence; (n)
- rashness, carelessness, desperation, extravagance, heedlessness, negligence, temerity, adventurism, audacity, neglect. ANTONYMS: (n) care, carefulness, consideration, forethought, parsimony, deliberation, discretion, regard,
- restraint, thoughtfulness
- reclamation: (n) claim, reclaim, retrieval, reformation, recovery,

- rectification, improvement, redress, requisition, renewal, rehabilitation. ANTONYMS: (n) loss, return
- recline: (v) lean, repose, lounge, loll, couch, slant, lay, tilt, lean back, recumb; (n, v) rest
- reclining: (adj, v) leaning; (adj) recumbent, decumbent, accumbent, lying, lying down, obligatory, idle, prone, prostrate; (n) relaxation
- recognizing: (v) recognize, acknowledge, recognise; (adj) conscious, respectful; (n) observation
- recollect: (v) recall, remember, recognize, call to mind, remind, mind, think, call up, reminisce, refresh, retrieve. ANTONYM: (v) forget
- recollection: (n, v) mind; (n)
 reminiscence, recall, anamnesis,
 remembrance, recognition,
 memento, memorial,
 commemoration, memoir, retrospect
- recollections: (n) memories, reminiscences, recollection, biography
- reconcile: (adj, v) conciliate, accord, harmonize; (v) accommodate, pacify, placate, mediate, adjust, harmonise, make up, propitiate. ANTONYMS: (v) alienate, estrange, provoke, quarrel, segregate, worsen reconciled: (adj) consistent, resigned,
- serene, meet; (v) made friends, affriended. ANTONYM: (adj) unreconciled
- reconnoitre: (v) explore, scout, reconaissance, investigate, examine, inspect, probe, survey, observe, make a reconnaissance
- reconnoitring: (n) exploratory survey, scouting
- rectify: (v) amend, improve, better, adjust, refine, reform, mend, emend, remedy, redress; (adj, v) straighten
- recumbent: (adj) prostrate, accumbent, lying, reclining, flat, procumbent, lying down, horizontal, prone, incumbent, idle redan; (y) curtain breastwork
- redan: (v) curtain, breastwork, banquette, bastion, ravelin
- reddened: (adj) red, ablaze, aflame, flushed, crimson, inflamed, blazing, aroused, blemished, red as scarlet, spotty
- **reddening**: (n) flush, rubescence; (v) redden
- reddish: (adj) ruddy, rosy, crimson, cherry, rufescent, rufous, rubicund, scarlet, rubedinous, ruby, colorful reddle: (n) raddle, ruddle

- redeemed: (adj) ransomed, blessed red-hot: (adj) impassioned, flaming, burning, fiery, incandescent, torrid, enthusiastic, boiling, up-to-date, sultry, contemporary
- redness: (n) red, blush, glow, crimson, carmine, catarrh, cellulitis, cerise, mastoiditis, colitis, enteritis
- reeds: (n) Poaceae, grass family, Graminaceae, family Gramineae, family Graminaceae, bamboo, Gramineae
- reedy: (adj) thin, tenuous, slender, slight, high, shrill, arundineous, calamiferous, lean, noisy, weak
- reel: (n, v) coil, roll; (v) waver, rock, stagger, totter, spin, teeter, falter; (n) bobbin, spool
- refinement: (n) culture, cultivation, purification, gentility, polish, finish, civilization, nicety, courtesy, grace; (adj, n) elegance. ANTONYMS: (n) vulgarity, adulteration, tackiness, uncouthness, tastelessness, inelegance, coarseness, clumsiness, awkwardness, crudeness
- refining: (n) purification, decontamination, cleansing, nuance, nicety, polish, processing; (v) clarify, refine, explain; (adj) educating
- reflective: (adj, v) thoughtful, meditative; (adj) contemplative, musing, wistful, brooding, reflexive, ruminative, museful, reflecting, broody. ANTONYMS: (adj) superficial, satisfied, shallow
- refrain: (v) desist, cease, fast, avoid, leave off, withhold, stop, spare; (adj, v) forbear; (n) chorus, hold. ANTONYMS: (v) participate, act, consume, persist
- refresh: (v) air, enliven, invigorate, update, comfort, regenerate, rejuvenate, cool, renew, restore; (adj) refreshing. ANTONYMS: (v) exhaust, tire, weary, stagnate, drain, kill
- refreshment: (n) bite, drink, recreation, collation, repose, relief, rest, entertainment, treat; (v) invigoration; (n, v) regalement regretfully: (adv) remorsefully,
- repentantly, sadly, contritely, apologetically, penitently, unhappily, sorrily, mournfully, sorrowfully, ashamedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unrepentantly, joyfully
- regrets: (n) regret, declination, RSVP regrets only, acknowledgement, acknowledgement, celestial latitude, excuse, Dec

- rehearsal: (n) narration, dry run, practice, preparation, repetition, dress rehearsal, repeat, description, drill, exercise, narrative
- rehearsed: (adj) prepared reigning: (adj) regnant, predominant, overruling, reign, sovereign, controlling, royal, dominant, ascendant, prevalent, chief
- rejoice: (v) cheer, gladden, triumph, revel, jubilate, gratify, gloat, please; (n, v) delight, glory, joy. ANTONYMS: (v) lament, mourn, complain
- relic: (n, v) memento, souvenir, keepsake; (n) token, trace, remainder, remains, antique, relict, vestige, remnant
- relics: (n) relic, rood, rosary, thurible, reliquary, remainder, remain, leavings, remains, remains, patera
- relinquish: (v) abandon, abdicate, leave, cede, quit, renounce, give up, discard, disclaim, yield, desert. ANTONYMS: (v) keep, accept, continue, enforce, acquire
- relinquished: (adj) forsaken, deserted, derelict, unoccupied, given, surrendered
- remorse: (n) penitence, contrition, repentance, regret, guilt, penance, sorrow, grief, qualm, ruefulness, compassion. ANTONYM: (n) shamelessness
- remorseful: (adj) penitent, regretful, apologetic, sorry, repentant, regret, sad, rueful, bad, compunctious, compassionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) glad, unremorseful
- remoteness: (n) aloofness,
- detachment, farawayness, remotion, loneliness, longinquity, reserve, abstraction, separation, standoffishness; (adj, n) farness. ANTONYMS: (n) warmth, accessibility, inclusion, friendliness, closeness, approachability
- remoter: (adj) ulterior, further, more distant
- remotest: (adj) furthest, uttermost, endmost, extreme, last, utmost
- **rencounter**: (n, v) encounter; (n) meeting, conflict, appulse, syzygy, engagement, combat, fight, contest, collision, assault
- rend: (v) pull, lacerate, break, divide, rive, tear, disrupt, mangle; (n, v) rip, split, slash
- rendering: (n) interpretation, translation, rendition, reading, representation, version, interpreting, depiction, execution, construction,

- explanation
- rendezvous: (n) encounter, tryst, appointment, meeting, meeting place, date, engagement, resort, affair; (v) meet, center round
- renew: (v) renovate, rejuvenate, restore, refresh, refurbish, modernize, revive, overhaul, reinstate, reiterate, mend. ANTONYMS: (v) reduce, kill
- renown: (n, v) fame; (n) glory, distinction, eminence, notoriety, kudos, name, popularity, prestige, prominence, honor. ANTONYMS: (n) infamy, commonness; (adj) anonymity
- renunciation: (n) denial, resignation, abnegation, disclaimer, rejection, renouncement, abandonment, waiver, desertion, defection, relinquishment. ANTONYMS: (n) confirmation, assertion, reassertion, acceptance
- repentance: (n) contrition, penance, remorse, regret, compunction, sorrow, guilt, contriteness, grief, attrition, atonement. ANTONYMS: (n) shamelessness, brazenness
- repentantly: (adv) remorsefully, contritely, sorrily, regretfully, penitentially, ruefully, apologetically, sorrowfully, diffidently, ashamedly. ANTONYM: (adv) impenitently
- replying: (adj) respondent, responsive
- repose: (n, v) recline, peace, lie, calm; (n) composure, ease, quiet, leisure, recreation, relaxation; (v) lay. ANTONYMS: (n, v) work; (n) activity, panic, agitation
- reposing: (adj) calm, asleep repress: (v) inhibit, crush, quash, control, suppress, put down, bridle, keep down, subdue, restrain, reduce. ANTONYMS: (v) declare, liberate, incite
- repressed: (adj) inhibited, suppressed, pent-up, forgotten, subconscious, inner, composed, reserved, unconscious
- repressing: (adj) inhibiting, insolent, discouraging, aggressively haughty, overbearing, arrogant, dictatorial, domineering, restrictive, repressive, overpowering
- reproach: (n, v) blame, rebuke, charge, abuse, disgrace, reprimand, invective; (v) accuse, chide, condemn; (n) condemnation. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise; (v) commend, approve; (n) compliment,

- commendation, approval reproachful: (adj, v) condemnatory, disparaging, vituperative; (adj) admonitory, opprobrious, disgraceful, shameful, reproving,
- objurgatory, contumelious; (v) denunciatory
- reproachfully: (adv) critically, abusively, admonitorily, vituperatively, disapprovingly, wearily, contemptuously, disparagingly, disdainfully, witheringly, shamefully. ANTONYMS: (adv) approvingly, hopefully
- reprobation: (n) disapproval, condemnation, blame, reproof, expostulation, remonstrance, censure; (adj) hardening, backsliding, perversion, declension
- reproducing: (adj) fruitful, fecund reptile: (n) reptilian, creeper, basilisk, sneak, wretch, mammal, bird, shellfish; (adj) abject, vile, sordid
- repugnance: (n) horror, hatred, antipathy, inconsistency, repulsion, nausea, revulsion, loathing, detestation, aversion, hate. ANTONYMS: (n) pleasantness, love, attractiveness, adoration, liking
- reputed: (adj) supposed, renowned, famous, conjectural, assumed, famed, eminent, prominent, alleged, well-known, distinguished. ANTONYM: (adj) known
- resembling: (adj, prep) like; (adj) analogous, parallel, similar, conformable, approximate, semblative, other, probable; (prep) similar to, reminiscent of. ANTONYM: (prep) unlike
- resent: (v) resentful, envy, grudge, begrudge, embittered, angry, abhor, take offense, take umbrage, take exception, loathe. ANTONYMS: (v) welcome, wish, accept
- resentful: (adj) angry, indignant, malicious, resent, embittered, rancorous, envious, jealous, offended, hurt, mad. ANTONYMS: (adj) resigned, unresentful, willing, sweet, pleased
- **resentfulness**: (v) peeve; (n) bad blood, rancour, envy, bitterness, animosity, implacableness
- residue: (adj, n) remainder, remains, residual; (n) balance, rest, leftover, end, remnants, residuum, surplus; (v) remain
- resolutely: (adv) determinedly, decidedly, steadfastly, decisively, unfalteringly, boldly, steadily,

- stubbornly, definitely, resolvedly, unwaveringly, ANTONYMS: (adv) irresolutely, indecisively, uncertainly, feebly, hesitantly, aimlessly
- respectability: (n) reputation, propriety, reputability, decorum, honesty, honourableness, gentility, dignity, repute, politeness; (adj) respectableness. ANTONYMS: (n) decadence, indecency, immorality
- respectful: (adj) deferential, mannerly, dutiful, courteous, attentive, obedient, reverential, regardful, reverent, polite, humble. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheeky, impudent, insolent, rude, contemptuous, disobedient, scornful, nasty, sneering, irreverent, impolite
- respiration: (n) breathing, breath, breathe, aspiration, respire, inspiration, wind, breathing place, periodic breathing, panting, exercising
- restitution: (n) restoration, return, reparation, recompense, refund, amends, redress, atonement, repayment, regeneration, renovation. ANTONYMS: (n) abolition, decline
- restlessly: (adv) fidgetily, apprehensively, agitatedly, fretfully, unquietly, sleeplessly, nervously, restively, edgily, anxiously, disturbedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) peacefully, unconcernedly
- restlessness: (n) anxiety, disquiet, impatience, fidget, uneasiness, disquietude, unrest, fidgetiness, agitation, insomnia; (adj, n) nervousness. ANTONYMS: (n) calm, contentment, restfulness, peace
- restorative: (adj, n) analeptic, corrective; (adj) recuperative, healing, revitalizing, renewing; (n) tonic, remedy, cure, bracer, prophylactic. ANTONYM: (adj) injurious
- restraining: (adj) binding, astringent, warning, abstemious, continuous, moderate, not interrupted, obligatory, opposing; (n) arrest, penning
- resumption: (n) recovery, renewal, recommencement, restoration, resume, resurrection, recover, repossession, comeback, regain, recapture
- resurrection: (n) renewal, rebirth, revival, regeneration, restoration,

- resurgence, reanimation, restitution, renaissance, resumption, resuscitation. ANTONYM: (n) disappearance
- retard: (adj, v) hinder, check, obstruct, deaden; (v) slow, detain, impede, arrest, decelerate; (n, v) lag, defer. ANTONYMS: (v) expedite, hasten, prompt
- reticence: (n) reserve, reservation, uncommunicativeness, taciturnity, silence, reticency, restraint, secrecy, reservedness, muteness, humility. ANTONYMS: (n) chattiness, honesty, nerve, boldness, openness, arrogance, brashness
- reticule: (n) reticle, purse, graticule, pocketbook, handbag, net, network, scrip, scabbard, socket, wallet
- retiring: (adj) humble, diffident, bashful, reserved, unassuming, unobtrusive, timid, coy, shy, sheepish, meek. ANTONYMS: (adj) assertive, bold, outgoing, forward, incoming, arrogant, brash, sociable
- retract: (v) abjure, rescind, cancel, renounce, repudiate, forswear, repeal, recoil, reverse, revoke, recall. ANTONYMS: (v) maintain, validate, enact
- retreated: (adj) withdrawn, people retreating: (n) flight; (adj) moving back
- revel: (n, v) frolic; (v) drink, celebrate, exult, wallow, rejoice, bask, riot; (n) carousal, orgy; (adj) luxuriate. ANTONYMS: (v) mourn; (n) mourning
- reveller: (n) merrymaker, roisterer, celebrant, celebrater, celebrator
- revelling: (n) rejoicing, jubilation, heyday, flush, triumph; (adj) exultant
- revengeful: (adj) vengeful, vindictive, punitive, unforgiving, vindicative, resentful, despiteful, spiteful, implacable, rancorous, vengeable. ANTONYM: (adj) charitable
- reverberated: (adj) rebounding, repellent, driven back
- revered: (adj) August, sacred, esteemed, venerated, respected, beloved, holy, venerable, blessed, celebrated, honored. ANTONYMS: (adj) secular, disreputable
- reverenced: (adj) revered, reverend, sacred, sublime, venerated, August, inspiring awe, emeritus, empyreal, empyrean, profoundly honored
- reverent: (adj, v) pious, devout, religious; (adj) respectful, holy, deferential, godly, reverential,

- worshipful, pietistic; (v) devotional. ANTONYMS: (adj) blasphemous, disrespectful, impious, irreverent
- reverie: (n) dream, fantasy, air castle, brown study, revery, trance, abstraction, castle in Spain, castle in the air; (adj) preoccupation, distraction. ANTONYM: (n) reality
- revive: (v) refresh, invigorate, quicken, renew, renovate, restore, resuscitate, animate, awake, repair, recreate. ANTONYMS: (v) demoralize, kill, slay, stagnate, abandon, die, drain
- reviving: (adj) bracing, restorative, renewing, refreshing, revival, brisk, enlivening, recuperative, reanimating, promoting recuperation, giving life. ANTONYM: (adj) soothing
- revolve: (v) consider, meditate, deliberate, ponder, circle, contemplate, return, circulate, orbit, rotate; (n, v) gyrate
- rhubarb: (n) pieplant, veggie, quarrel, dispute, wrangle; (adj, n) brawl, fracas, riot, uproar, tumult; (adj) rumpus
- **rhyme**: (n) poetry, verse, poem, song, alliteration, numbers, rhythm; (n, v) rime, measure; (v) poetize, versify
- rhythmical: (n) measured, rhythmics; (adj) numerose, cyclical, recurrent, cadenced, periodic, serial, diatonic, poetic, numerous. ANTONYM: (adj) unrhythmical
- riband: (n) ribbon, fascia, band, ribband, spill, slip, shred, strip, wreath, medal, list
- ribbons: (n) cavesson, hackamore, jaquima, lines, streamer, streamers, ticker tape, paper chain, decoration, decorations, bunting
- rickety: (adj) unstable, wobbly, decrepit, dilapidated, insecure, ramshackle, rachitic, flimsy, precarious, cranky, wonky. ANTONYMS: (adj) stable, sturdy, firm, secure
- ricochet: (n, v) rebound, boom; (v) recoil, bound, jump, kick, glance, reverberate, skip, leap; (n) carom
- riddle: (n) mystery, conundrum, puzzle, problem, poser; (n, v) screen, sieve; (v) puncture, strain, filter, sift. ANTONYM: (n) explanation
- ridicule: (n, v) laugh at, deride, banter, insult, taunt, scorn, scoff; (n) derision, mockery; (adj, n) irony; (v) jeer. ANTONYMS: (n, v) praise, respect; (v) approve; (n) approval, admiration

- rigidity: (n) firmness, inflexibility, rigor, hardness, stiffness, rigour, inflexibleness, tension, rigidness, severity, inelasticity. ANTONYMS: (n) malleability, pliability, softness, limpness, looseness, relaxation, cooperation, weakness
- rigorously: (adv) severely, strictly, stringently, carefully, harshly, exactly, austerely, closely, narrowly, stiffly, gravely. ANTONYMS: (adv) leniently, lightheartedly, negligently rigorousness: (n) rigor harshness
- rigorousness: (n) rigor, harshness, asperity, inclemency, rigour, strictness, difficulty, hardship, exactness, grimness, sternness. ANTONYMS: (n) ease, lenience, leniency, negligence
- rill: (n) channel, streamlet, creek, rivulet, run, runnel, stream, bourn, beck, arroyo, watercourse
- ripening: (n) ageing, maturement, development, mellowing, aging, maturing, mature, growing, growth, gestation, organic process
- riser: (n) base, hot top, load transfer riser, rise, rising main
- rites: (n) money, finances, wake, religion
- riveted: (adj) immovable, immobile, irremovable, rooted, wrapped up, intent; (v) wrapped in, engrossed in, rapt, absorbed, transfixed.

 ANTONYM: (adj) detached
- roadside: (n) verge, shoulder, border, edge, margin
- roaming: (adj) wandering, roving, errant, itinerant, Peripatetic, traveling, vagabond, astray; (n) ramble, journey, ubiquity
- roaring: (n) bellowing, roar, bellow, thunder; (adj) booming, prosperous, thriving, flourishing, deafening, noisy, boisterous
- **robbed**: (adj) plundered, rubato, fleeced, borrowed, bereft
- **robes**: (n) garb, fine clothes, costume, best clothes
- **robins**: (n) finches, Passeriformes, order Passeriformes
- rocking: (adj) vivacious, merry, spirited, spry, festive; (n) metalling, convulsion
- rookery: (n) lair, cell, hole, hiding place, heronry, eyry, aerie, cave, breeding ground, sanctum sanctorum; (adj) slum
- roomy: (adj, n) capacious; (adj) broad, extensive, large, commodious, ample, voluminous, expansive, big, rangy, comprehensive. ANTONYMS: (adj) small, narrow,

- airless, tiny, tight
 roundabouts: (adv) in this area
 rouse: (v) provoke, excite, arouse,
 kindle, awaken, instigate, actuate,
 disturb, move, agitate, incite.
 ANTONYMS: (v) dampen,
 dishearten, suppress, douse, inhibit,
 stifle, quench
- roused: (adj) excited, awake, susceptible, emotional, elated, interested
- rousseau: (n) Le douanier Rousseau rove: (v) gad, ramble, wander, range, gallivant, stray, stroll, tramp, drift, err, meander. ANTONYM: (v) settle
- rubicundity: (adj) rubification, ruddiness
- ruby: (adj, n) red, crimson; (adj) jewel, ruddy, scarlet, diamond, pearl, precious stone, bijou; (n) carbuncle, deep red
- ruddiness: (n) flush, rosiness, glow, complexion, skin color, rubicundity, redness, color, complection, high color, pinkness. ANTONYM: (n) pallor
- ruddy: (adj) cherry, rubicund, rosy, flushed, florid, sanguine, reddish, glowing, blooming, crimson; (adj, adv) blushing
- rudimentary: (adj) primary, basic, inchoate, fundamental, elementary, elemental, rudimental, embryonic, original, imperfect, incomplete. ANTONYMS: (adj) advanced, complex, developed
- rugged: (adj, n) rough, jagged, ragged; (adj) difficult, rocky, tough, broken, robust, hilly, strong, craggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) delicate, easy, smooth, flimsy, fragile, soft, weak, feeble
- ruminate: (v) cogitate, contemplate, muse, ponder, reflect, consider, mull, deliberate, speculate, brood, think
- rumination: (n) contemplation, musing, consideration, reflexion, meditation, introspection, thought; (v) deglutition, epulation, gulp, manducation
- rushes: (n) rush, grasses
- russet: (adj, n) auburn; (adj) tan, dun, drab, leaden, livid, pearly, dingy, brunette, bay, russety
- rustic: (n) countryman, peasant; (adj) rural, pastoral, boorish, country, bucolic, provincial, hick, agrestic, countrified. ANTONYMS: (adj) town, urbane, cultured, city, sophisticated
- rustle: (n, v) whisper; (v) lift, buzz,

- steal, pilfer, whiz, pinch, abstract, thieve, purloin; (n) rustling
- rustling: (n) rustle, whispering, whisper, larceny; (adj) murmurous, susurrous, active, soughing
- rusty: (adj) ancient, out of practice, intractable, old, corroded, deaf to reason, exceptious, cantankerous; (v) moldy, raw, mildewed
- ruthlessly: (adv) relentlessly, unfeelingly, heartlessly, mercilessly,
- unrecingly, neartlessly, merclessly, brutally, severely, cruelly, unmercifully, harshly, callously, remorselessly. ANTONYMS: (adv) gently, honestly, mercifully
- rutted: (adj) uneven, not smooth, lined, jagged, irregular, rough, furrowed, crumpled, potholed, not level, bumpy. ANTONYM: (adj) level
- sable: (adj) black, dark, dusky, sombre, murky, mournful; (n) ebony, fur, blackness, marten, pitch black
- sacrifices: (n) holocaust
- sadden: (v) aggrieve, distress, pain, grieve, afflict, sad, hurt, oppress, dishearten, trouble, weigh down. ANTONYMS: (v) encourage,
- gladden, please, cheer, comfort sailor: (n) seaman, seafarer, tar, bluejacket, gob, boatman, navigator, navy man, lascar, Panama, leghorn
- salient: (adj) conspicuous, outstanding, remarkable, signal, striking, obvious, noticeable, spectacular; (n) notable, protrusion, ledge. ANTONYMS: (adj) unimportant, minor
- salve: (n) ointment, balm, unguent, liniment, oil; (v) relieve, salvage, assuage, heal, soothe, appease
- sandpit: (n) cavity
- sandstone: (n) gritstone, bluestone, firestone, gritrock, greensand, brownstone, holystone, arenaceous rock, stonework, building material, brickwork
- sanguine: (adj) hopeful, optimistic, bloody, rubicund, confident, crimson, cheerful, buoyant, sanguineous; (adj, n) red, florid. ANTONYMS: (adj) pessimistic, gloomy, doubtful
- sapphirine: (adj) blue sarcasm: (adj, n) irony, ridicule, satire, humor; (n) gibe, bitterness, jeer, scorn, insinuation, taunt; (adj)

sarcastic. ANTONYM: (n) kindness

sarcastically: (adv) satirically, mordantly, sharply, bitingly, ironically, tartly, cynically,

- scornfully, mockingly, scathingly, derisively. ANTONYM: (adv) gently satan: (n) Lucifer, devil, deuce, the Devil, Old Nick, Belial, fiend, Prince of Darkness, Dickens, archfiend, daemon
- satchel: (n) knapsack, wallet, luggage, scrip, haversack, pouch, case, briefcase, schoolbag, suitcase, knit
- satire: (n) sarcasm, lampoon, mockery, parody, ridicule, caricature, burlesque, quip, spoof, derision; (v) squib
- satirical: (adj) satiric, cutting, mordant, mocking, ironic, biting, scornful, sardonic, derisive; (adj, n) keen; (n) ironical. ANTONYM: (adj) sympathetic
- saturated: (adj, v) sodden; (adj) drenched, concentrated, sopping, soaked, full, soggy, soppy, wet through, pure; (v) impregnate. ANTONYM: (adj) unsaturated
- saturnine: (adj) dour, moody, morose, sullen, dark, glum, gloomy, heavy, dismal; (v) melancholic, bilious
- saul: (n) apostle of the gentiles, apostle Paul, capital of Minnesota, Paul, Alice Paul, Saul of Tarsus, Saint Paul
- saxon: (adj) academical, pure, chaste, severe; (n) Englishman, Sassenach, Lowlander
- scalding: (adj) boiling, hot, torrid, burning, scorching, broiling, blistering, fiery, searing, baking, steaming. ANTONYM: (adj) cold
- scallops: (n) class Pelecypoda, Pectinidae, oysters, mussels, Lamellibranchia, clams, Bivalvia, family Pectinidae, class Bivalvia
- scamper: (v) dash, sprint, dart, scuttle, skitter, skip, bustle, hasten, bolt; (n, v) run; (n) haste
- **scampering**: (n) running **scanning**: (n) search, scan, photography
- scant: (adj) insufficient, scanty, skimpy, poor, few, inadequate, narrow, little; (adj, v) meager, bare; (v) skimp. ANTONYMS: (adj) plentiful, extensive
- scarecrow: (n) hobgoblin, bugaboo, simulacrum, malkin, frump, ogre, jackstraw, shewel, goblin, ragamuffin; (adj) octopus
- scarp: (n) escarpment, escarp, protective embankment, cliff, fortification; (v) rampart, battlement, circumvallation, vallum

- scars: (n) seams
- schemer: (n) plotter, politician, contriver, conspirator, designer, machinator, projector, deviser, intriguer, planner, angler
- scholastic: (adj, n) academic; (adj) scholarly, pedantic, school, learned, erudite; (n) pedant, purist; (v) savant, blue, enlightened
- schooling: (n, v) training; (n) learning, instruction, school, drilling, teaching, pedagogy, edification, coaching, preparation, doctrine
- schoolmaster: (n) master, preceptor, pedagogue, headmaster, dominie, teacher, principal, educator, head, Lutjanus apodus, housemaster
- scissors: (n) clipper, shears, pair of scissors, scissors hold, compound lever, edge tool, scissor grip, scissors grip; (adj, n) cutters
- scorned: (adj) detested, hated, abject, neglected, contemptuous, despicable, insolent, undesirable, unloved, unpopular, mean
- scorpions: (n) horseshoe crabs scoured: (adj) worn, windswept, wrinkled, weathered, tough, gnarled, battered, craggy
- scourging: (n) flagellation scrape: (n, v) scratch, graze, score, mark; (v) rub, pare, rake, grate,
- chafe, abrade; (n) abrasion scraped: (adj) scratched, worn out, worn, threadbare, frayed, hurt,
- skinned, damaged, raw scraper: (n) rasper, squeegee, scratcher, vane, paint scraper, knife, disc scraper, hand tool, belt cleaner,
- scraps: (n) garbage, odds and ends, scrap, bits, food waste, leftover, trash, waste, oddments, leftovers, residue
- **scratched**: (adj) hurt, abraded, sgraffito, raw, dented, spoiled, damaged, injured
- scratching: (n) scrape, scraping, abrasion, mark, scar, poor handwriting, incision, excoriation, chicken feed; (adj) hoarse, abrasive
- screech: (n, v) cry, shout, shriek, yell, screak, yelp, yowl, roar; (n) screaming; (v) squawk, pipe
- screechy: (adj) squeaky, screaky, creaky, creaking, squealing, higher, high, squeaking
- screened: (adj) covered, shielded, sheltered, concealed, isolated, select, invisible, shady, hazy, secluded, not exposed

- **scribble**: (n, v) scrawl, scratch, sketch; (v) scrabble, doodle, write, compose; (n) squiggle, cacography, scribblement, scrape
- scripture: (adj, n) gospel; (n) bible, book, Holy Writ, canon, writ, inscription, writing, Vulgate, fact,
- Holy Scripture scrubbed: (adj) deferred, clean,
- cleaner scrupulous: (adj) careful, punctilious, exact, conscientious, particular, painstaking, accurate, prudent,
- meticulous, rigorous, cautious.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) sloppy,
 unscrupulous, slapdash, relaxed,
 guilty, deceitful
- scrutinize: (v) inspect, examine, review, consider, audit, investigate, explore, search, analyze, check; (adj, v) scan. ANTONYM: (v) ignore
- sealing: (n) Spiritual wife, jointing, packing, seal, weatherstrip, waterproofing, protection, aerosol closure, leakproofing, cementation, welding
- seals: (n) Pinnipedia, key, talisman, aquatic mammal, signet, suborder Pinnipedia, sea Lions
- seamed: (adj) unsmooth, rough seared: (adj) arid, dry as a bone, recusant, parched. ANTONYM: (adj) wet
- seashore: (n) beach, coast, shore, seaboard, seacoast, coastline, shoreline, seaside, landfall, litoral; (adi) marine
- seasoned: (adj) veteran, flavoured, flavored, mature, ripe, versed, hardened, confirmed, practised, accustomed, sophisticated. ANTONYMS: (adj) green, unseasoned, inexperienced, mild
- seaweed: (n) algae, wrack, tang, seamoss, seaware, sea wrack, heed, sea tang, seagrass, ware, reit
- secession: (adj, n) defection; (n) severance, withdrawal, desertion, isolation, abruption, detachment, retreat, disconnection, separation, breach
- secluded: (adj) remote, secret, reclusive, privy, cloistered, isolated, lonely, retired, sequestered, solitary; (adj, v) hidden. ANTONYMS: (adj) nearby, near, exposed, busy, accessible
- seclusion: (n) retreat, segregation, retirement, isolation, secrecy, concealment, insulation, separation, hermitage; (adj, n) solitude, loneliness. ANTONYMS: (n)

- company, closeness, inclusion securely: (adv) surely, safely, closely, solidly, steadily, assuredly, strongly, tightly, fixly, setly, stably. ANTONYM: (adv) insecurely
- sedge: (n) rush, nutsedge, papyrus, nutgrass, chufa, galingale, galangal, weed, rush nut, nut sedge, nut grass
- sedulously: (adv) industriously, assiduously, studiously, earnestly, attentively, intently, painstakingly, perseveringly, laboriously, fixedly, eagerly
- seeming: (adj) ostensible, superficial, illusory, outward, probable, deceptive, specious; (adj, n) appearance, semblance; (n) aspect, show. ANTONYMS: (adj) actual, deep, inner
- seemly: (adj, v) befitting, becoming; (adj, adv) comely; (adj) respectable, decorous, decent, fitting, fit, appropriate; (adv) becomingly, properly. ANTONYMS: (adj) unseemly, unbecoming, unsuitable, inappropriate
- seizing: (v) seize; (n) seizure, clutches, prehension, taking, apprehension, capture, infection; (adj) catching, galling, controlling
- self-command: (n) self-control, selfgovernment, self-restraint, discipline, presence
- self-condemnation: (n) regret, penitence, guilt self-consciousness: (n)
- embarrassment, inhibition self-control: (n) self-discipline, patience, forbearance, abstinence, temperance, temper, composure, discipline, self-command, selfpossession, balance
- self-defence: (n) self-defense self-explanatory: (adj) obvious, selfevident, transparent, simple, unmistakable
- **self-indulgence**: (n) dissipation, pleasure, merriment, enjoyment, decadence, excess
- selfishness: (n) greed, egotism, greediness, meanness, individuality, opportunism, expedience, individualism, self, selfness, selfish. ANTONYMS: (n) altruism, selflessness, sensitivity, thoughtfulness, conformity, generosity
- **self-respect**: (n) pride, self-esteem, dignity, face, honesty
- **self-sacrifice**: (n) martyrdom, renunciation
- semicircular: (adj) curved,

- semicircled, crescentic, crescent sensations: (n) feelings, vibrations, ambiance
- senseless: (adj) foolish, mindless, preposterous, pointless, irrational, absurd, stupid, insensible, idiotic, fatuous, purposeless. ANTONYMS: (adj) meaningful, wise, conscious, provoked, prudent, useful, worthwhile
- sensibility: (adj, n, v) feeling, notion; (n, v) sensation, appreciation, sense; (n) emotion, sensitivity, consciousness, perceptivity, awareness; (adj, n) sentiment. ANTONYM: (n) insensitivity
- sensibly: (adv) sanely, intelligently, rationally, pragmatically, realistically, cleverly, politically, perceptibly, soundly, noticeably, wisely. ANTONYMS: (adv) foolishly, ludicrously, ridiculously, unreasonably, illogically, madly, irrationally, hastily, stupidly, irresponsibly, immaturely
- sensitiveness: (n) sensitivity, susceptibility, antenna, sensibleness, feeler, responsiveness, keenness, sensation, acumen; (adj) softness, delicacy
- sensuous: (adj) sensitive, sensual, lush, luxurious, voluptuous, epicurean, carnal, sensational, sexy, esthetic, esthetical
- sensuousness: (n) sensibility sentimental: (adj) maudlin, mushy, romantic, tender, soft, mawkish, schmaltzy, sappy, schmalzy, bathetic, slushy. ANTONYMS: (adj) hardhearted, cool
- sentiments: (n) breast
- separating: (v) parting, partible; (n) division, separation, severance, unscrambling, unraveling, removal; (adj) separated, disjoining, graduating
- sequestered: (adj) retired, private, lonely, reclusive, cloistered, recluse, quiet, withdrawn, monastic, seeking solitude, privy
- serene: (adj) peaceful, calm, quiet, placid, composed, impassive, clear, pacific, gentle, cool; (adj, v) tranquil. ANTONYMS: (adj) agitated, anxious, noisy, nervous, impatient, excitable, scatterbrained, harsh, boisterous, excited, disturbed
- serenely: (adv) calmly, composedly, quietly, placidly, stilly, steadily, impassively, peacefully, Pacifically, clearly, coolly. ANTONYMS: (adv) nervously, agitatedly, boisterously,

- manically
- serenity: (n) quiet, peace, calm, quietness, equanimity, calmness, quietude, repose; (adj, n) composure, tranquility, placidity. ANTONYMS: (n) anxiety, uproar, chaos, anger, panic, bustle, disturbance, impatience, turbulence, turmoil
- **sermon**: (n) discourse, oration, speech, address, homily, preachment, harangue, preaching, exhortation, predication; (n, v) lecture
- serpent: (n) snake, ophidian, viper, snake in the grass, reptile, rattlesnake, colubrid, contrafagotto, cor anglais, hautboy; (v) goose
- **settee**: (n) sofa, bench, lounge, divan, settle, chair, form, stall, davenport, chesterfield, squab
- settler: (n) migrant, colonist, immigrant, inhabitant, homesteader, squatter, planter, newcomer, colonizer, sockdolager, standish. ANTONYM: (n) native
- **set-to**: (n) quarrel, altercation, fray, scrap, wrangle, contention, contest, melee, squabble, row, fracas
- sevens: (n) parliament, fantan, cards, card game
- severance: (n) separation, disunion, breach, interruption, division, divorce, parting, secession, rupture, breakaway, break. ANTONYM: (n) unification
- sewing: (n) embroidery, sew, needlecraft, stitch, stitching, fancywork, mend, gather, patch, gathering, binding
- shaded: (adj) dark, shads, sheltered, shadowed, umbrageous, twilight, sunless, subdued, soft, colored, darksome. ANTONYM: (adj) unshaded
- **shadowy**: (adj) indistinct, misty, dark, faint, obscure, hazy, gloomy, vague, shady, insubstantial, dusky. ANTONYMS: (adj) clear, palpable, light, distinct, open
- shady: (adj) questionable, dark, fishy, doubtful, queer, suspicious, dim, uncertain, obscure, disreputable, dishonest. ANTONYMS: (adj) sunny, trustworthy, bright, reputable, aboveboard
- shaggy: (adj) bushy, hirsute, hairy, bearded, shagged, pilous, brushy, unkempt, hispid; (adj, n) ragged; (n) rugged. ANTONYMS: (adj) sleek, tidy
- shameful: (adj) scandalous,

- dishonorable, opprobrious, shocking, ignominious, disreputable, despicable; (adj, v) foul, base, gross, black.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) honorable, noble, dignified, admirable, faultless, reputable, glorious, compassionate, praiseworthy, commendable, excellent
- shamelessness: (n) brazenness, insolence, effrontery, boldness, audacity, impertinence, rudeness, face, audaciousness, front, barefacedness. ANTONYM: (n) restraint
- shapely: (adj) symmetrical, comely, graceful, neat, fit, curvaceous, slim, pleasing, busty, seemly, beautiful. ANTONYMS: (adj) straight, misshapen, unshapely
- shaping: (adj, n) forming; (adj) formative, molding; (n) forging, grooving, rifling, defining, form, organization, making, conformation
- **sharer**: (n) participator, participant, partner, associate, copartner, individual, accomplice, companion, comrade, guest, mate
- **sharpened**: (adj) acute, pointed, acuate, sharper, better, sensual
- **sharper**: (n, v) cheat; (n) rogue, impostor, swindler, chiseler, deceiver, cheater, welsher, sharpie; (v) shark, fraud
- sharpness: (n, v) keenness, edge; (n) severity, bitterness, asperity, acumen, poignancy, pungency, quickness, perspicacity; (adj, n) roughness. ANTONYMS: (n) dullness, haziness, softness, slowness, indistinctness, gentleness, evenness, courtesy, blandness, stupidity, kindness
- shawl: (n) wrap, mantle, cape, muffler, scarf, pall, mantlet Mantua, wrapper, kerchief, headscarf, stole
- **shears**: (n) clippers, clipper, shear, pair of scissors, snips, shearing machine, pruning shears; (adj, n) cutters
- **sheathed**: (adj) invaginated, enclosed. ANTONYM: (adj) unsheathed
- **shedding**: (n) molting, abscission, fluffing, effusion, moulting, biological process, desquamation, sloughing, emission; (adj, n) peeling; (adj) flaking
- sheen: (n, v) shine, gleam; (n) polish, gloss, light, glow, lustre, glitter, brightness, brilliance; (v) burnish. ANTONYM: (n) dullness shilling: (n) York shilling, Tanzanian

- shilling, British shilling, Kenyan shilling, Ugandan shilling, Somalian shilling, dock, cork, farthing, coin, cheat
- shipwreck: (n, v) ruin; (adj, v) sink; (v) defeat, scuttle, destroy, fail; (n) hulk, accident, wreckage, wrack, ruination
- shirtsleeves: (n) dishabille
- shiver: (n, v) shake, tremble, shudder, fragment, thrill, splinter, tingle; (v) quake, shatter, palpitate; (adj, v) break
- shivering: (adj) quivering, shaking, trembling, shaky, quaking, tremulous, shuddering, chilled; (n) chill, cold, shiver. ANTONYM: (adj) composed
- shoals: (n) shelf
- **shorn**: (adj) sheared, hairless, bald, stubbed, Shearn, Sheard, shear, clipped, not, Nott, shaven
- shorten: (v) condense, reduce, abbreviate, clip, abridge, cut, curtail, cut back, contract, compress, dock. ANTONYMS: (v) expand, prolong, extend, complicate
- **shortened**: (adj) abridged, cut, short, condensed, curtailed, reduced, cut short, scarce, unfinished, truncated, telescoped
- shortest: (adj) direct, brusk, brusque, choleric, curt, directer, hotheaded, least, irascible, lowest, most direct
- shovel: (v) dig, rake, broom, delve, mop; (n) excavator, digger, shovelful, dipper, power shovel, poker
- showiness: (n) floridness, gaiety, display, glitter, flashiness, pretension, flamboyance, splendor, pomp, affectation, pomposity. ANTONYMS: (n) classiness, modesty, tastefulness
- shrank: (v) minify
- shrewd: (adj) sharp, astute, keen, piercing, clever, cunning, bright; (adj, v) sagacious, knowing, crafty, prudent. ANTONYMS: (adj) foolish, gullible, naive, soft, candid, dim, innocent, guileless, obtuse, indiscriminate
- shriek: (n, v) screech, cry, shout, call, howl, yell, yowl, screak; (v) bellow, caterwaul, shrill. ANTONYM: (v) sigh
- shrill: (adj) piercing, penetrating, strident, keen, shrewd; (v) shriek, screech, scream, yell; (adj, v) high, sharp. ANTONYMS: (adj) low, quiet, resonant
- shrink: (adj, v) recoil; (n, v) flinch,

- wince; (v) contract, shorten, lessen, diminish, cower, reduce, quail, decrease. ANTONYMS: (v) increase, enlarge, grow, stretch, swell, bloom, rise, inflate
- **shrivelled**: (adj) shriveled, withered, wizened, shrunken, sere, sear, thin, lean, dry, shrunk, dryer
- shrubbery: (n) brush, plantation, flora, parterre, shrub, scrub, brushwood, hedge, thicket, bushes, area
- shudder: (adj, n, v) shake, quake, tremble; (n, v) quiver, twitch, thrill; (n) quivering, shivering, chill, frisson; (v) flutter
- shun: (v) evade, escape, elude, dodge, flee, refuse, shirk, ostracize, banish, parry; (adj, v) eschew. ANTONYMS: (v) befriend, invite, seek, welcome, woo, court, participate, include
- shutter: (n, v) close, shade; (n) curtain, shut, blind, window, skylight, deadlight, lid, louver, jalousie
- shutting: (n) closing, conclusion, end, closure, ending, finish, mop up, culmination, closedown; (adj) confining, claudent. ANTONYM: (n) opening
- shyness: (n) diffidence, modesty, bashfulness, humility, shame, timidity, coyness, pudency, timorousness, backwardness, timidness. ANTONYMS: (n) sociability, brashness, confidence, urbanity, arrogance
- sickening: (adj) revolting, nauseous, offensive, repulsive, foul, nauseating, noisome, obnoxious, loathsome, repugnant, abominable. ANTONYMS: (adj) attractive, pleasant, delightful, wholesome, light, appealing, wonderful
- sickly: (adj, adv) poorly; (n) invalid; (adj) sick, ailing, pale, sallow, indisposed, morbid, diseased; (adj, n, v) infirm; (adj, v) faint.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, bitter, robust
- siddons: (n) Sarah Kemble Siddons signified: (n) common sense, acceptation, good sense, horse sense, mother wit, sensation, sense, sensory faculty, sentience, sentiency; (adi) implied
- signify: (n, v) intend, mark; (adj, n, v) import; (v) imply, indicate, denote, point, stand for, express, intimate, matter
- signifying: (adj) indicative, implying,

- representative, suggestive of, demonstrating, symptomatic of, showing, indicatory, representing; (n) abuse
- sill: (n) ledge, threshold, doorstep, rung, step, round, stone, cornerstone, sole, window sill, windowsill
- silvery: (adj) silvern, argent, bright, white, gray, rich, silverish, melodious, fair, Argentine, clear
- similes: (n) imagery, images, metaphors
- singular: (adj, n) extraordinary; (adj) odd, individual, particular, peculiar, phenomenal, rare, queer, single, quaint, exceptional. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, normal, together, usual, customary
- singularity: (n) oddity, peculiarity, individuality, eccentricity, idiosyncrasy, oddness, abnormality, uniqueness, irregularity, identity, particularity
- singularly: (adv) peculiarly, uniquely, unusually, curiously, rarely, uncommonly, oddly, solely, exceptionally, individually; (adj, adv) remarkably
- sinner: (n) criminal, miscreant, culprit, sinful, trespasser, transgressor, evildoer, magdalen, rascal, villain, sinners
- **sipping**: (n) imbibing, imbibition; (adj) libant
- sitter: (n) babysitter, model, nurse, janitor, baby sitter, Willem de sitter, superintendent, keeper, guardian, custodian, caretaker
- situate: (v) place, locate, put, lay, position, posit, deposit, lodge, localize, post; (adj, v) set
- **sixpence**: (n) bender, coin, teston, testern
- **skimmed**: (v) flet, flotten **skip**: (n, v) bound, leap, hop, caper, trip; (v) dance, bounce, prance, skim; (adj, v) miss; (n) omission. ANTONYMS: (v) attend, trudge, include
- **skipping**: (n) jumping, leaping, absenteeism; (adv) skippingly, leapingly
- **skirting**: (n) skirt, edging, fringe, list, frill, frame, flounce; (adj) border, flanking, parietal, marginal
- slab: (n) hunk, chunk, bar, monument, block, layer, board, flag, floor; (adj) plate, tablet
- slain: (v) slay; (adj) overthrown, mat, fallen, dejected, cast down
- slapped: (adj) mistreated

- slapping: (adj) slapper slasher: (n) brush and weed cutter, bush knife, cylinder sizing machine, stationary slasher
- **slavishly**: (adv) obsequiously, subserviently, submissively, fawningly, menially, abjectly, cringingly
- sleeper: (n) railroad tie, crosstie, tie, noctambulist, baggage car, slumberer, dreamer, Pullman car, freight car, parlor car, express car
- sleepless: (adj) insomniac, lidless, vigilant, wakeful, awake, watchful, disturbed, alert, unquiet, uneasy, restive
- sleepy: (adj) drowsy, dozy, slow, lazy, hypnotic, inactive, comatose, dull, heavy, dreamy; (adv) asleep. ANTONYMS: (adj) awake, energetic, vigorous, clear, lively, refreshed
- slighted: (adj) hurt, injured, insulted, heedless, careless, not regarded, offended, regardless, upset
- slily: (adj) on the sly slipper: (n) mule, sandal, pump, boot, carpet slipper, bootee, slider, patten, scuffs, slipshoe, vertical
- slippery: (adj, v) precarious; (adj) crafty, glib, elusive, oily, glossy, untrustworthy, wily, unreliable, tricky; (v) questionable.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) rough, dry, reliable, straight, direct

synchronized slipper

- sloped: (adj) slanting, oblique, sloping, inclined, aslope, diagonal, aslant, leaned, leant, colored, biased
- sloping: (adj, v) oblique, slope; (adj) slanting, inclined, slanted, diagonal, leaning, sloped; (adj, adv) aslope, aslant; (v) slant. ANTONYMS: (adj) horizontal, upright
- slowness: (n) dilatoriness, lethargy, lateness, backwardness, awkwardness, deliberation, dullness, sluggishness, stupidity, indolence; (adj, n) delay.

 ANTONYMS: (n) haste, quickness, rapidity, intelligence, cleverness, nimbleness, speediness,
- promptness, punctuality, vigor sluggish: (adj) inert, indolent, inactive, idle, slow, torpid, slack, languid; (adj, n) lazy, drowsy, heavy. ANTONYMS: (adj) energetic, fast, brisk, lively, alert, speedy, industrious
- **slumbering**: (adj) dormant, asleep, latent. ANTONYM: (adj) awake **slumberous**: (adj) soporific,

- somnolent, drowsy, sleepy, lethargic, quiet, somniferous, heavy, soporiferous, sluggish, torpid
- slur: (adj, n) blot, brand, stigma, reproach; (n, v) libel, disgrace, insult, vilify; (n) affront, defamation; (adj, v) blur. ANTONYMS: (v) focus, compliment; (n) praise
- smacking: (n) smack, brisk, shit, scag, savor, beating, h, savour,
- diacetylmorphine, heroin, horse smallness: (n) diminutiveness, minuteness, slightness, puniness, insignificance, scantiness, delicacy, scantness, narrowness; (adj) meagerness, slenderness.

 ANTONYM: (n) tallness
- smartly: (adv) cleverly, quickly, sprucely, nattily, astutely, shrewdly, chicly, stylishly, trendily, wittily, modishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) scruffily, clumsily, untidily, unattractively, tastelessly, stupidly, messily, ineptly, slowly
- smartness: (n) cleverness, style, stylishness, brightness, intelligence, clever, elegance, quickness, swank, banter, jauntiness. ANTONYMS: (n) messiness, stupidity, untidiness
- smock: (n) duster, shirt, chemise, gaberdine, sark, dust coat, overalls, dress, blouse, smicket, coverall
- smothered: (adj) strangled, stifled, smothers, pent-up, covered
- smouldering: (adj) live, angry smuggle: (v) run, poach, insinuate, contraband, bootleg, sneak, mold, manage, cast, sell, shape
- smuggling: (n) poaching, importing, importation, gunrunning, contrabandism
- snail: (v) sluggard, loiterer, lingerer, pull together; (n) conch, hodmandod, gastropod, garden snail, edible snail, dodman; (adj) whelked
- snakes: (n) Ophidia, suborder Serpentes, subclass Lepidosauria, suborder Ophidia, Lepidosauria
- snapping: (adj) noisy
- snatch: (n, v) pinch, snap, catch, grip; (v) abduct, clutch, kidnap, seize, jerk, capture, pluck. ANTONYM: (v) release
- sneer: (n, v) deride, jeer, scorn, flout, ridicule, scoff, mock, leer, grimace, gird; (n) smirk
- sneeze: (n) sneezing, physiological reaction, reflex; (v) arrest, despise, loathe, act involuntarily, Neese, act reflexively
- snip: (n, v) cut; (v) slice, crop, trim,

- nip, prune, pare, pinch, lop, sever; (n) clipping
- snipe: (v) attack, lash out, round, sharpshoot, clapperclaw; (n) grouse, plover, dowitcher, rail, blackcock, jacksnipe
- snipping: (n) snippet, clipping, sniping, clip, piece
- snood: (n) corona, kerchief, crown, chaplet, coronet, fillet, collar, cast, band, branch line, headband
- snore: (n) snoring; (v) snort, saw logs, snooze, siesta, hibernation, breathe, doze, saw wood, coma, dream snowstorm: (n) blizzard, squall,
- snowstorm: (n) blizzard, squall, flurry, snowfall, tempest, tornado, thunderstorm, rainstorm, hurricane, gale
- **snub**: (n, v) repulse, insult, cut, slight, put down; (v) disregard, offend, ignore, check, humiliate; (n) rebuke. ANTONYMS: (v) accept, acknowledge, notice, boost, include; (n) acceptance
- snug: (adj, v) cosy, trim; (adj) cozy, easy, comfy, tight, close, warm, secure, homely; (v) neat. ANTONYMS: (adj) baggy, uncomfortable, unwelcoming, bleak, formal, loose
- sobbing: (adj) crying, weeping, weepy, tearful; (n) lamentation, shortness of breath, shit, prick, motherfucker, tear, lament
- sociability: (n) conviviality, joviality, affability, openness, extroversion, comradery, ambiversion, camaraderie, civility, amicability; (adj) sociality. ANTONYMS: (n) unfriendliness, hostility,
- unsociability, reserve, rudeness **softened**: (adj) diffused, muffled, muted, quiet, slow, touched, sluggish, soften, pultaceous, subdued, low-key
- softening: (adj) emollient, salving, relaxing; (v) soften; (adj, n) soothing; (n) maceration, mitigation, easement, mollification, inteneration, encouragement
- softness: (n) mildness, kindness, flabbiness, flaccidity, suavity, downiness, gentleness, tenderness, faintness; (adj, n) delicacy; (adj) smoothness. ANTONYMS: (n) rigidity, hoarseness, brightness, hardness, volume, harshness, tone, noise, heaviness, firmness, loudness
- solace: (n) consolation, relief, balm, solacement; (v) console, allay, relieve, recreate; (n, v) ease, cheer, support. ANTONYMS: (n) distress,

grief

soldiering: (n) goldbricking, slacking, shirking, soldiership, skill, accomplishment, escape, evasion,

dodging, attainment, acquisition solemn: (adj, n, v) serious; (adj, v) sober, important, sedate, devout, formal, demure; (adj) heavy, dignified, sacred; (adj, n) earnest. ANTONYMS: (adj) frivolous, cheerful, unceremonious, funny, playful, flippant, relaxed

solemnity: (n) seriousness, sobriety, earnestness, formality, ceremony, impressiveness, austerity, sedateness, display, pomp, grandeur. ANTONYMS: (n) humor, levity, cheerfulness, understatement

solemnly: (adv) earnestly, gravely, majestically, stately, sternly, staidly, thoughtfully, soberly, formally, ceremoniously, importantly. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, flippantly

soles: (n) family Soleidae solicitous: (adj) eager, attentive, apprehensive, careful, anxious, jealous, considerate, avid, thoughtful, fervent; (n) desirous. ANTONYMS: (adj) uncaring, serene,

thoughtless solicitously: (adv) considerately, concernedly, carefully, uneasily, kindly, apprehensively, attentively, caringly, politely, jealously, earnestly

solicitude: (n) care, consideration, anxiety, thought, apprehension, regard, attention, fear, disquietude, heed, fret. ANTONYMS: (n) negligence, serenity, thoughtlessness

soliloquize: (v) monologuise, recite, soliloquise

solitude: (n) desolation, loneliness, seclusion, privacy, aloneness, isolation, retirement, lonesomeness, retreat, desert, solitariness.

ANTONYMS: (n) companionship, closeness

solstice: (n) height, cosmic time sombre: (adj) dismal, dreary, dark, shadowy, mournful, morose, murky, gloomy, sober, dull, glum

sombreness: (n) gloominess, gloom, gravity, graveness, glumness, semidarkness, sobriety, soberness

somnolence: (n) drowsiness, sleepiness, somnolency, drowse, lethargy, coma, rest, stupor, hypersomnia

somnolent: (adj) sleepy, lethargic,

soporific, slumberous, slumbrous, somniferous, asleep, dreamy, lazy, slumbery; (adj, v) drowsy. ANTONYMS: (adj) awake, vigorous, refreshed

soot: (n) smut, lampblack, carbon black, grime, carbon, crock, dirt; (adj) ink, ebony, coal pitch, jet

soothed: (adj) composed

soothing: (adj) calming, soft, smooth, pacifying, quiet, restful, bland, calm, assuasive; (adj, n) softening; (n) alleviation. ANTONYMS: (adj) upsetting, disturbing, hostile, scary, worrying, stimulating, exasperating, annoying, invigorating, painful, intimidating

soothingly: (adv) softly, quietly, calmingly, lullingly, lightly, tenderly, kindly, blandly, calmly, comfortingly, sedatively

sooty: (adj) black, dark, dusky, smoky, pitchy, fuliginous, grimy, dingy, murky; (v) smutty; (adj, v) dusty

sorrowful: (adj) melancholy, doleful, sad, rueful, lugubrious, gloomy, dreary, grievous, piteous, unhappy, mournful. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, content, joyful, successful

sorrowfully: (adv) dolefully, mournfully, gloomily, woefully, unhappily, sorrily, ruefully, dejectedly, grievously, forlornly, contritely. ANTONYMS: (adv) happily, unrepentantly, joyfully, cheerfully

soundly: (adv) sound, fully, solidly, thoroughly, deeply, substantially, validly, strongly, stably, fastly, safely. ANTONYMS: (adv) harmfully, halfheartedly, fitfully, unconvincingly

southeast: (adj) southeastern, southeasterly, North Carolina, Florida, Georgia; (n) SE, compass point, geographic area, geographic region, geographical area, selenium

southward: (adv) southwards, southernly; (adj) southbound, southern

southwest: (adj) southwestern, Colorado, California, Arizona; (n) Sw, geographic area, geographical region, geographic region, geographical area, compass point; (adv) sou'west

sovereigns: (n) crowned heads, royals, royalty

sown: (adj) sowed, seeded, planted, sative

spade: (v) grub, delve, scoop,

excavate; (n) nigger, coon, nigra, jigaboo, boy, black person, spit sparkle: (n, v) flicker, flash, shimmer, spark, shine, blaze, fizz, gleam, glitter; (v) blink, glare.
ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, dullness,

sparkling: (adj, v) effervescent; (adj) bright, brilliant, radiant, glittery, bubbly, glittering, scintillating, shining, scintillant; (n) sparkle. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, dirty, lifeless, lethargic

sparks: (n) fire

lifelessness

sparrow: (n) hedge sparrow, sparrows, passerine, house sparrow, accentor, true sparrow, spur, snag, passeriform bird, incitement

spasmodic: (adj) spastic, convulsive, intermittent, erratic, broken, irregular, sporadic, desultory, sudden, discontinuous; (v) inconsonant. ANTONYM: (adj) continuous

spasmodically: (adv) convulsively, fitfully, intermittently, irregularly, desultorily, brokenly, frequently, spastically, startingly. ANTONYM: (adv) recurrently

spear: (n) harpoon, lance, pike, fizgig, prick, gig, javelin, shaft, halberd; (v) stab, spike

speck: (adj, n) point, atom, particle; (n) blot, flaw, smudge, blotch, blemish, grain, mote, dot. ANTONYM: (n) lot

spectator: (n) eyewitness, observer, onlooker, witness, audience, beholder, viewer, watcher, spectators, looker, ogler. ANTONYM: (n) player

spectral: (adj) ghostly, phantasmal, apparitional, unearthly, ghostlike, supernatural, ghastly, shadowy, insubstantial, eerie, cadaverous

spectre: (n) phantasm, shadow, shade, phantom, apparition, ghost, spook, wraith, revenant, terror, eidolon

speechless: (adj) silent, mute, dumb, dumbfounded, voiceless, quiet, tongueless, tacit, noiseless, mum, wordless. ANTONYMS: (adj) loquacious, eloquent, talkative

speedily: (adj, adv) quickly, quick, immediately; (adv) rapidly, promptly, hastily, swiftly, fast, apace, hurriedly, fleetly. ANTONYMS: (adv) later, eventually

sphinx: (adj) phoenix, hydra; (n) monitor, Tiresias, statue, enigma, mythical monster, Cassandra,

- Minotaur, mystery, mythical creature
- **spiders**: (n) horseshoe crabs, Araneida, order Araneae, order Araneida, scorpions, Araneae
- **spike**: (n) pin, barb, ear, needle, prickle; (adj, n) point; (v) pierce, nail, transfix, spear, lace
- spiky: (adj) sharp, peaky, spiked, thorny, prickly, pointed, barbed, keen, peaked, pointy, jagged. ANTONYMS: (adj) rounded, blunt
- **spindle**: (n) axle, mandrel, pivot, arbor, shaft, mandril, axis, pin, hinge, bobbin, main spindle
- spire: (n) pinnacle, minaret, top; (adj,
 n) steeple; (v) coil, hover; (adj)
 tower, column, obelisk, pillar,
 monument
- spirited: (adj) animated, frisky, energetic, racy, bold, gritty, quick, enthusiastic, dashing, peppy, brave. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritless, lifeless, feeble, cowardly, apathetic, lethargic, spineless, dull, solemn, sluggish, lackluster
- spiritless: (adj) listless, inanimate, languid, flat, cheerless, soulless, dead, depressed; (adj, v) feeble, low; (v) soft. ANTONYMS: (adj) brave, lively, happy, decisive
- **spit**: (v) drizzle, expectorate, sprinkle, spew, drool, spike, spatter; (n) broach, saliva, cape; (n, v) skewer
- spite: (n) malice, grudge, hatred, malevolence, rancour, venom, rancor, maliciousness, ill will, animosity; (n, v) pique. ANTONYMS: (v) please; (n) benevolence, goodwill, love, affection, harmony
- **splash**: (n, v) spatter, dash, plash, spot, splatter, drop; (v) spill, slop, slosh, moisten, lap
- splashed: (adj) dabbled, bespattered, besplashed, spattered, marked, unclean, dirty, splattered, distributed, showy, dotted
- splashing: (n) spatter, spattering, painting, splattering, dab, plash; (adj) liquid
- splendour: (n) pomp, magnificence, lustre, splendor, luster, brilliancy, resplendence, luxury, grandeur, grandness, brilliance
- splintered: (adj) shattered, broken, pixilated, split, soaked, blind drunk, soused, blotto, sozzled, cracked, plastered
- **splitting**: (adj) ripping; (n) fission, partition, division, schism, crack, breakup, disunion, dissociation,

- cleavage; (v) to split
- spoilt: (adj) spoiled, blighted, be stunted, destroyed, unsound, corrupt, disordered, reproduced fraudulently, defective, defiled, big
- **sportful**: (adj) frolicsome, playful, merry, sportive
- sprawling: (adj) sprawled, roomy, sizeable, untidy, straggling, expansive, sprawly, wide, extensive; (adv) asprawl; (n) attitude. ANTONYM: (adj) narrow
- spree: (n, v) frolic; (n) revel, fling, revelry, prank, orgy, bout, merriment, glee, mirth; (v) splurge
- sprightly: (adj) spirited, cheerful, alive, blithe, agile, airy, keen; (adj, v) nimble, active; (adj, n) brisk; (adj, adv) jolly. ANTONYMS: (adj) inactive, slow, clumsy, sluggish
- springy: (adj) flexible, elastic, resilient, bouncy, yielding, whippy, pliable, spongy, lively, live, supple. ANTONYM: (adj) unyielding
- sprinkled: (adj) scattered, speckled, wet, dotted
- sprouting: (n) germination, growth, shooting, ontogenesis, maturation; (adj) growing, evolving, green, embryonic, emergent, nascent
- spun: (adj) spined; (v) rotate, revolve spur: (n) inducement, incentive, impulse, stimulus; (n, v) prod, prick, incite, prompt; (v) provoke, impel, animate. ANTONYMS: (n) discouragement, disincentive, deterrent; (v) calm, delay, inhibit
- spurious: (adj, adv, v) counterfeit; (adj, adv, n) false; (adj) phony, fake, illegitimate, bogus, specious, misbegotten, bastardly; (adj, n) bastard; (adj, v) pseudo.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) real, authentic, valid
- spurn: (v) scorn, rebuff, repulse, disdain, reject, refuse, snub, kick, decline, deny; (n, v) slight. ANTONYMS: (v) admire, court, respect
- spurning: (n) disbelief, renunciation sputter: (v) spit, sizzle, crackle, expectorate, babble, fizz; (n, v) splutter, spatter; (n) sputtering, splatter, splash
- spyglass: (n) binoculars, field glass, a mirror, refracting telescope, looking glass; (v) mirror, spirituous liquors, lens, hourglass, goblet, glaze
- spying: (n) detection, spotting, espial, catching, discovery, maculation, intelligence activity, signal detection, sensing, contracting,

- intelligence
- **stableman**: (n) ostler, groom, hostler, outrunner, hired man, hired hand, hand, bridegroom
- stagnant: (adj) quiet, motionless, inert, dead, slow, still, standing, immobile, inactive, stagnate, stationary. ANTONYMS: (adj) active, moving
- **stagnation**: (n) recession, depression, stagnancy, deadlock, stasis, delay, inaction, inactivity, backwater, slump, congestion
- staid: (adj, v) serious, sedate, grave, solemn, sober, demure; (adj) calm, quiet, composed, somber, decorous. ANTONYMS: (adj) frivolous, exciting, funny, daring, playful, bright, relaxed
- stain: (n, v) spot, blemish, tarnish, blot, dye, smear, disgrace, mark, soil, dirt, defile. ANTONYMS: (v) enhance, dignify, clean
- stair: (n) stage, degree, footstep, rank, stairway, staircase, corbiestep, ladder, pace, steps, support
- stale: (adj, n) musty, moldy; (adj) old, commonplace, hackneyed, insipid, trite, corny, flat, stagnant; (adj, v) dry. ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, original, innovative, airy, new, exceptional, imaginative
- stalky: (adj) thin, fibrous
- **stamping**: (n) impression, blocking, coin, postage, stamping of rail
- **starlight**: (n) rushlight, moonlight, firelight, candlelight
- startling: (adj) wonderful, shocking, surprising, striking, alarming, appalling, marvellous, dramatic, frightful, sensational, lurid. ANTONYMS: (adj) unremarkable, soothing, comforting
- **starve**: (v) fast, crave, lust, hunger, thirst, perish, be hungry, deprive, benumb; (adj, v) pinch; (adj) gripe. ANTONYMS: (v) feed, eat
- statecraft: (n) statesmanship, wisdom, wiseness, policy, politics, statism, queencraft, delicacy, diplomatic negotiations, discreetness, finesse
- stateliness: (n) loftiness, magnificence, dignity, nobility, splendor, grandeur, greatness, grandness, starched stateliness, impressiveness, decorum. ANTONYM: (n) simplicity
- **statuesque**: (adj) shapely, Junoesque, noble, imposing, monumental, trim, tall, formal, elegant, courtly, beautiful

- staunchly: (adv) stanchly, solidly, firmly, strongly, faithfully, steadily, steadfastly, resolutely, hardily, sturdily, devotedly
- stave: (n) rung, round, pole, verse, stick, stanza, brace, lag; (v) box, justle, fib
- steadfastly: (adv) steadily, solidly, unwaveringly, resolutely, unfalteringly, unswervingly, determinedly, faithfully, persistently, permanently, staunchly. ANTONYMS: (adv) unreliably, irresolutely, unfaithfully
- stealth: (n) stealing, furtiveness, stealthiness, slyness, larceny, thievery, theft, sneakiness, secretiveness, hiding; (adj) undercover. ANTONYM: (n) openness
- stealthily: (adv) furtively, sneakily, surreptitiously, covertly, clandestinely, underhandly, underhandedly, in secret, privately, sneakingly; (adj, adv) noiselessly. ANTONYM: (adv) brazenly
- stealthiness: (v) stealth; (n) sneakiness, secretiveness, closeness
- steamed: (adj) squiffy, miffed, irritated, irate, indignant, incensed, harried, harassed, stung, sozzled, soused
- steamer: (n) steamship, boat, liner, ship, Mya Arenaria, steam engine, sports car, roadster, clam, paddle
- steamer, cruise ship steeped: (adj) seasoned, experienced steered: (adj) directed
- sternly: (adv) severely, strictly, austerely, harshly, rigidly, grimly, rigorously, stringently, seriously, relentlessly, solemnly. ANTONYMS: (adv) leniently, lightheartedly, kindly, warmly, cheerfully
- stifled: (adj) strangled, suppressed, muffled, deafened, completely covered, dead, deadened, weak, deaf corn, regardless, decayed
- stifling: (adj) close, oppressive, sweltering, stuffy, heavy, hot, torrid, sticky; (n) crushing, quelling, suppression. ANTONYMS: (adj) fresh, airy, cool, temperate
- stile: (n) bar, flight of stairs, upright, vertical, step, barrier, montant
- stillness: (n) hush, calmness, immobility, serenity, silence, quietness, peacefulness; (adj, n) calm, quiet, peace, still. ANTONYMS: (n) bustle, movement, uproar, motion, turbulence, turmoil,

- vigor, disturbance, chaos, agitation sting: (n, v) bite, hurt, con, pain; (v) prick, itch, irritate, prickle, goad, provoke, smart. ANTONYMS: (v) calm; (n) honesty
- stinging: (adj) cutting, bitter, piquant, prickling; (adj, v) caustic, acrid, piercing, poignant, biting, pungent, keen. ANTONYMS: (adj) stingless,
- stockade: (n) fence, penal institution, fortification, concentration camp, enclosure, penitentiary, prison, barricade, parapet, laager; (v) haha stocking: (n) hosiery, boothose, trunk
- hose, supplying, stocking level, tights, silk stocking, nylons, nylon stocking, rayon stocking; (adj) stockinged
- stoic: (adj) stoical, matter-of-fact, stolid, apathetic; (n) unemotional person, philosopher
- stoker: (n) Abraham stoker, guard, fire fighter, railroad man, Bram stoker, boilerman, firefighter, railway man, relief pitcher, railroader, railwayman
- stolidity: (n) indifference, phlegm, impassiveness, impassivity, emotionlessness, stoicism, lethargy, languor, obtuseness, inactivity; (adj) stupidity
- stony: (adj) rocky, hard, rough, callous, cold, pitiless, flinty, unfeeling, obdurate, bleak, icv. ANTONYMS: (adj) smooth, kind
- stooped: (adj) hunched, stoop, stooping, crooked, bended, not straight, inclined, not erect, arched, asymmetrical, droopy
- stooping: (adj) hunched, crooked, asymmetrical, not erect, not straight, corrupt; (n) patronage
- stormy: (adj, n) inclement, boisterous, rough, severe; (adj) fierce, windy, wild, dirty, foul, tempestuous, blustering. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, still, pleasant, fair, mild, relaxed
- stout: (adj, n) sturdy, stocky, hearty; (adj) hardy, strong, robust, obese, husky, bold, corpulent, fleshy. ANTONYMS: (adj) thin, slim, flimsy, cowardly, slight, skinny, fragile, weak
- strainer: (n) colander, sieve, screen, cullender, stretcher, riddle, trapping sieve, leach, percolator, sifter, screw cleaning machine
- straining: (n) effort, push, exertion, distortion, overrefinement, tension, endeavor, torture, twisting; (adj) arduous; (v) tighten

- strait: (adj) narrow; (n) pinch, pass, inlet, need, channel, crisis, poverty, difficulty; (adj, n) quandary; (n, v) dilemma
- strangeness: (n) oddity, oddness, quaintness, peculiarity, curiousness, abnormality, weirdness, foreignness, queerness, singularity, quirk. ANTONYMS: (n) familiarity, nativeness
- strategically: (adv) intentionally, strategicly, usefully, beneficially, according to plan, favorably, gainfully, helpfully, in accordance with policy, profitably, valuably
- stratum: (n) layer, bed, level, seam, floor, ply, stage, story, horizon, class, plane
- stray: (v) wander, ramble, range, digress, straggle, meander, depart, deviate, rove, drift, err. ANTONYM: (v) settle
- strayed: (v) stray
- straying: (n) digression, departure, error; (adj) errant, mistaking, containing error, incorrect, misleading, astray, mistaken, erroneous
- streak: (n, v) ray, dash, mark, flash; (adj, n) stripe; (n) band, beam, run, bar, groove, gleam
- streaked: (adj) veined, striped, streaky, brindled, lined, mottled, virgated, patterned; (v) areolar, cancellated, grated
- streaks: (n) stripes, cords streaming: (adj) flowing, flapping, detached, incoherent, baggy, slack, relaxed, loose, lax; (n) cyclosis; (v) disheveled
- strenuously: (adv) energetically, zealously, arduously, severely, forcefully, earnestly, laboriously, busily, toilsomely, forwardly, hardly
- strenuousness: (n) effortfulness, extreme effortfulness, might, difficulty, strenuity, activity
- strewn: (adj) spread, distributed, disordered, strewed, confused, covered, diffuse, disconnected, disjointed, circulated, dispersed
- stricken: (adj) smitten, struck, beaten, laid low, affected, hurt, low, impaired, dotty; (v) heavy laden, victimized
- strife: (n) discord, disagreement, dissension, conflict, competition, feud, fight; (adj, n, v) dispute, debate; (n, v) controversy; (adj, n) quarrel. ANTONYMS: (n) accord, cooperation, calm, peace
- stringy: (adj) tough, ropy, muscular,

- fibrous, sinewy, glutinous, brawny, thready, tenacious, sticky, filamentous. ANTONYMS: (adj) plump, luxuriant
- **striped**: (adj) stripy, brindled, variegated, lined, banded, virgated, zoned, paled, with stripes
- stripping: (n) baring, denudation, striping, removal, disforestation, scrubbing, strippingly, uncovering, find, back washing, cornhusking
- **strive**: (v) endeavor, contend, contest, struggle, fight, attempt, combat, strain, work, aspire, aim
- striving: (n) nisus, pains, endeavor, strife, try, strain, attempt, strive, ambition, struggle, exertion. ANTONYM: (adj) unmotivated
- stroking: (v) caress, strike, blow; (n) cam stroke, feeling, effleurage, diagonal, CVA, commendation, glide, slash
- **stroll**: (n, v) ramble, saunter, walk, amble, wander, promenade, tramp, hike; (v) roam, go for a walk, range **strove**: (v) strive
- strut: (adj, n, v) swagger; (n, v) stalk, prance, stride, support; (n) buttress, brace, prop; (v) parade, boast, cock. ANTONYM: (v) conceal
- **strutting**: (n) boasting, stiffening, bracing; (adj) boastful
- stubborn: (adj) contrary, hard, intractable, perverse, rigid, determined, persistent, refractory, tenacious, obdurate, inveterate. ANTONYMS: (adj) compliant, irresolute, flexible, amenable, docile, easygoing, malleable, agreeable, accommodating, cooperative, feeble
- stubbornly: (adv) obdurately, mulishly, persistently, doggedly, tenaciously, unyieldingly, firmly, waywardly, contrarily, pertinaciously, insistently, ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, helpfully, openly, hesitantly
- studious: (adj) scholarly, bookish, academic, assiduous, erudite, diligent, learned, careful, deliberate; (adj, v) thoughtful, reflective. ANTONYM: (adj) negligent
- stuffing: (n) pad, filling, forcemeat, farce, dressing, filler, fill, wadding, contents, inside, tompion
- **stumble**: (adj, n, v) slip; (n, v) lurch, fall, err, stagger; (adj, v) blunder, flounder, fumble; (n) misstep; (v) hit, falter
- **stumbling**: (adj) lurching, astounding, hesitant, halting, awkward, astonishing, maladroit,

- clumsy, weaving; (adv) stumblingly; (n) hesitation. ANTONYM: (adj) firm
- **stump**: (n) stub, end, pulpit; (v) confuse, stamp, baffle, perplex, nonplus, puzzle, bewilder, mystify. ANTONYM: (v) explain
- stun: (v) amaze, bewilder, shock, baffle, daze, flabbergast, stagger; (adv, v) startle, surprise; (adj, v) astound; (n, v) deaden
- stung: (adj) sting, bit, annoyed, roiled, irritated, nettled, peeved, pissed, riled, stings, thrust
- **stunted**: (adj) scrubby, little, scrawny, diminutive, puny, short, spare, weak, underdeveloped, dwarfish; (v) strangulated. ANTONYM: (adj) tall
- **stupefaction**: (adj, n) stupor; (n) astonishment, daze, amazement, shock, bewilderment, perplexity, surprise, awe, grogginess, semiconsciousness
- stupefied: (adj) stunned, amazed, astonished, bewildered, astounded, dumbfounded, stupid, confused, flabbergasted, dumfounded, groggy. ANTONYMS: (adj) precise, unimpressed
- stupefying: (adj) astounding, amazing, staggering, narcotic, miraculous, stupefyingly, inconceivable, stumbling, shocking, incredible, torpedinous
- stupor: (n) lethargy, stupefaction, coma, shock, insensibility, unconsciousness, trance, sluggishness, torpor, haze, grogginess. ANTONYMS: (n) alertness, awareness, wakefulness
- sturdiness: (n) robustness, strength, hardiness, heftiness, solidity, toughness, stoutness, solidness, hardness, resistance, stability. ANTONYMS: (n) flimsiness, frailty, weakness
- subdued: (adj) quiet, muffled, dull, restrained, muted, tame, faint, repressed, low, meek; (adj, v) resigned. ANTONYMS: (adj) enthusiastic, lively, uninhibited, unsubdued, rebellious, noisy, bright, elaborate, frivolous, upbeat
- sublimated: (adj) ethereal, astatic,
 weightless
- sublimation: (n) exaltation, transmutation, transformation, purification, elevation, paragon, alteration, change, condensation, modification, shift
- sublime: (adj, v) majestic; (adj)

- dignified, grand, lofty, magnificent, elevated, noble, exalted, glorious; (v) sacred, sublimate. ANTONYMS: (adj) poor, ridiculous
- sublimity: (adj, n) nobility, elevation, majesty, loftiness, splendor; (n) magnificence, dignity, greatness, sublimeness; (adj) solemnity, heroism
- sublunary: (adj) earthly, terrestrial, mundane, subastral, cislunar, temporal, worldly, planetary, terrene, telluric, tellurian
- **submerged**: (adj) sunken, immersed, submersed, underwater, subaquatic, submarine, covered, inundated, flooded, semiaquatic; (pron) drowned
- subterranean: (adj) underground, backdoor, profound, subaqueous, submarine, subterrene, subterrestrial, deep, hole-andcorner, subterraneous, subterrany
- **subtlety**: (n) refinement, elegance, nuance, delicacy, craft, finesse, nicety, niceness, penetration, polish, cunning. ANTONYMS: (n) tactlessness, coarseness, heaviness, vulgarity
- succeeding: (adj) following, subsequent, after, consecutive, posterior, ensuing, consequent, successive, consequential; (adj, adv) later; (v) succeed. ANTONYMS: (adj) outgoing, preceding
- suddenness: (n) steepness, hastiness, precipitance, precipitancy, precipitateness, sudden, craggedness, surprise, precipitousness, brusqueness, curtness
- **suffused**: (adj) distributed, covered, full
- sullenness: (n) glumness, moroseness, moodiness, resentment, sourness, gloominess, brusqueness, sulk, gloom, doggedness, mumps. ANTONYM: (n) cheeriness
- summon: (v) assemble, convene, demand, ask, invoke, evoke, invite, muster, page, rally, convoke. ANTONYM: (v) disband sunbeams: (n) sunshine, light,
- daylight, rays sunken: (adj) concave, depressed, submerged, empty, underwater, cavernous, recessed, gaunt, low, depression, submarine. ANTONYM: (adj) convex
- sunrise: (n) dawn, sunup, daybreak, daylight, aurora, first light, dayspring, twilight, dawning, break

of day, crack of dawn. ANTONYMS: (n) sunset, sundown, nightfall supercilious: (adj) proud, haughty, disdainful, lofty, contemptuous, contumelious, cavalier, lordly, arrogant, scornful, high and mighty. ANTONYMS: (adj) modest, affable

superciliousness: (n) arrogance, haughtiness, condescension, disdainfulness, pride, contemptuousness, condescendingness, airs, conceit, insult, loftiness. ANTONYMS: (n) humility, respect

superficiality: (n) frivolity, glibness, depth, glitter, feebleness, ostentation, showiness, disregard, slenderness, glitziness, indifference. ANTONYM: (n) profundity

superfluity: (n) plethora, redundancy, superabundance, nimiety, overabundance, overplus, embarrassment, redundance, extravagance, surplus, glut. ANTONYM: (n) shortfall

superfluous: (adj, v) spare; (adj) needless, extra, excess, excessive, unnecessary, surplus, pointless, superabundant, supernumerary, supererogatory. ANTONYMS: (adj) indispensable, important, essential, basic, pertinent

supernatural: (adj) mystical, preternatural, weird, superhuman, eerie, uncanny, unnatural, mysterious, ghostly, divine; (n) occult. ANTONYM: (adj) normal superseded: (adj) outmoded, archaic, extinct, obsolete, out of date, outdated

superstition: (n) superstitious, taboo, religion, old wives' tale, superstitious notion, lore, folklore, fanaticism, fallacy, belief, magic. ANTONYMS: (n) science, truth

superstratum: (n) exterior supplanter: (n) usurper supposing: (adv) admitting, conditionally, in case; (n) supposition, conjecture, thought, theory, assumption; (conj) although, what if; (v) suppose

supposition: (n, v) conjecture; (n) assumption, hypothesis, presumption, premise, speculation, surmise, guess, supposal, thought, imagination. ANTONYMS: (n) fact, knowledge, proof, reality, practice

supremacy: (n) superiority, domination, sovereignty, authority, command, mastery, predominance, dominion, excellence, influence, leadership. ANTONYMS: (n) inferiority, weakness, subservience,

surcoat: (n) chesterfield, capote, greatcoat, tunic, coat, great coat, Ulster, hooded coat, overcoating, raincoat, topcoat

powerlessness, subjugation

surmounted: (adj) beaten

surname: (n) cognomen, name, sobriquet, family name, soubriquet, last name, nickname, maiden name, moniker, first name, agnomen

surplice: (n) robe, Geneva gown frock, gown, pallium

surveying: (n) mensuration, measurement, investigation, triangulation; (v) inspect, examine; (adj) observant

suspense: (n) doubt, expectancy, anticipation, indecision, insecurity, unrest, expectation, irresolution, suspension, tension; (adj, n) hesitation. ANTONYM: (n) knowledge

suspiciously: (adj, adv) doubtfully, skeptically, hesitantly, unbelievingly; (adv) mistrustfully, warily, uncertainly, shadily, dubiously, watchfully, questioningly. ANTONYMS: (adv) carelessly, gullibly, thoughtlessly, certainly, confidently

swarthy: (adj) dusky, black, swart, sable, somber, dun, tawny, coloured, colored, atramentous; (n) brunette. ANTONYMS: (adj) fair, light

sway: (n, v) command, rule, control, rock, stagger, roll; (v) oscillate, reel, lurch, shake; (n) reign. ANTONYMS: (v) stay, dissuade,

discourage sweetheart: (n) dear, girl, darling, mistress, flame, beloved, boyfriend, love, steady; (adj, n) beau, admirer. ANTONYMS: (n) foe, enemy

sweetly: (adv) pleasantly, sweet, mildly, melodically, melodiously, softly, syrupily, beautifully, pleasingly, dulcetly, fairly. ANTONYMS: (adv) discordantly, horribly, sharply, harshly, unkindly

sweetness: (n) sugariness, sweet, redolence, pleasantness, fragrance, aroma, charm, perfume, amenity, niceness, kindness. ANTONYMS: (n) sourness, sharpness, unpleasantness, harshness, tastelessness, unkindness

swelled: (adj) big, inflated, bloated, swollen, adult, boastful, bighearted, bad, fully grown, crowing, elder swerving: (n) veering swollen: (adj, v) inflated, distended; (adj) bombastic, puffy, turgid, puffed, high, egotistic, bulging; (v) blown; (adj, prep) pompous. ANTONYMS: (adj) contracted, shrunken

sympathize: (v) pity, understand, condole, compassionate, feel, sympathise, identify with, empathize, have compassion, feel sorry for, feel for. ANTONYMS: (v) disapprove, disregard

tablet: (n) slab, pad, pill, lozenge, monument, capsule, pellet, dragee, abacus; (adj) plate; (v) parchment

tacit: (adj) silent, implicit, understood, implied, undeclared, unspoken, voiceless, mute, mum; (n) tace; (v) not expressed.

ANTONYMS: (adj) spoken, express taciturnity: (n) reserve, silence, uncommunicativeness, military reserve, modesty, secrecy, oblivion, substitute, pauciloquy, quietness, muteness

tact: (n) diplomacy, delicacy, finesse, address, discretion, skill, consideration, refinement, grace, thoughtfulness, tactfulness. ANTONYMS: (n) frankness, carelessness, thoughtlessness, insensitivity, clumsiness

tails: (n) dress suit, tail coat, full dress, tail, waste, evening dress, dress coat, coat, morning coat, cutaway, formalwear

taint: (n, v) blemish, disgrace, corrupt, spot, blot; (adj, v) defile, sully, pollute, contaminate; (n) pollution, contamination.

ANTONYMS: (v) enhance, right, respect, disinfect, clean; (n) perfection, cleanliness; (adv) cheerfully

takings: (n) return, revenue, earnings, yield, take, issue, reward, haul, payoff; (n, v) income, profits. ANTONYM: (n) expenditure

tame: (v) break, subdue, soften, domesticate; (adj) meek, docile, bland, domestic, gentle, slow; (adj, v) moderate. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, bright, unmanageable, interesting, untamed, inspiring, brilliant, colorful, rebellious, lively

tampering: (n) meddling, change of state, interference; (adj)

meddlesome, curious

tangled: (adj) involved, complex, knotted, intricate, complicated, entangled, knotty, convoluted, disheveled, tousled, matted.

ANTONYMS: (adj) tidy, straightforward, untangled, neat, simple

tanned: (adj) bronzed, suntanned, browned; (n) brunette.

ANTONYMS: (adj) pale, untanned tantalizing: (adj) tempting, attractive, inviting, tantalising, alluring, appealing, enticing, fine; (adj, v) appetizing; (v) provoquant, spicy

tapping: (n) draining of the furnace, paracentesis, to tap, tick, tapotement, sound, patter, drainage, clapping, casting, restriking

tardy: (adj, adv, v) late; (adj, v) slow, remiss; (adj, adv) backward, dilatory, behindhand; (adj) belated, slack, overdue, delayed, sluggish. ANTONYMS: (adj) early, punctual, premature, speedy

tartarean: (adj) diabolical, fiendish, Hadean, infernal, malicious, Plutonian, satanic, Stygian, devilish

taskmaster: (n) moderator, overseer, employer, boss, coach, dictator, disciplinarian, foreman, principal, slave driver, supervisor

tatters: (n) rags, clothing

taunt: (n, v) ridicule, gibe, flout, insult, mock, deride, sneer, twit, quip; (n) scoff; (v) bait.

ANTONYMS: (n, v) respect, compliment; (v) applaud, comfort

taunts: (n) mocking, jeers

tawny: (n) tan, buff; (adj, n) brown, auburn; (adj) luteous, golden, sallow, russet, chestnut, creamy, moderately black

teacup: (n) cup, teacupful, containerful

tearful: (adj) dolorous, maudlin, watery, weeping, teary, sad, dolourous, wet, whimpering, sorrowful; (v) mournful. ANTONYMS: (adj) cheerful, tearless

tearfulness: (n) sadness

tease: (n, v) annoy; (adj, v) molest, harry, worry, bait; (v) taunt, kid, pester, plague, provoke, mock. ANTONYM: (v) placate

tediousness: (n) boredom, dullness, monotony, flatness, ennui, dulness, prosiness, tediosity, tiresomeness, irksomeness; (adj) wearisomeness

tedium: (n) ennui, monotony, tediousness, dullness, sameness, dreariness, lifelessness, difficulty, drabness; (adj) dull work, humdrum. ANTONYMS: (n) excitement, diversion, variation, entertainment, ease

telescope: (n) scope, collimator,

setting, tube, reach, range, pipe, perspicil, oscilloscope; (v) shrivel, reduce in size. ANTONYM: (v) grow

teller: (n) narrator, accountant, paymaster, storyteller, steward, questor, liquidator, receiver, almoner, banker; (v) informant

telltale: (n) taleteller, tattletale, tattler, gossip, newsmonger, blabbermouth, check, babbler; (adj) telling, revealing, signifying. ANTONYM: (adj) secretive

tempt: (adj, v) attract, allure; (v) entice, decoy, charm, inveigle, invite, coax, seduce, fascinate, attempt. ANTONYMS: (v) discourage, appall, repel

tenderly: (adv) softly, kindly, delicately, affectionately, fondly, warmly, painfully, sensitively, caringly, sympathetically, gently. ANTONYMS: (adv) roughly, severely, disapprovingly, harshly

tenderness: (n) fondness, soreness, love, affection, sympathy; (adj, n) clemency, mildness, compassion, gentleness, softness, delicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) pleasure, dryness, hatred, strength, detachment

tending: (n) care, hairdressing, aid, treatment, attention, babysitting, incubation; (adj) apt, conducive, prone, disposed

tenets: (n) doctrine, system of belief, view, canon, code of belief, credenda, belief, ideology

tenor: (n) purport, meaning, substance, tendency, spirit, tone, mood, effect, set, temper; (adj) soprano

tenseness: (n) tension, tensity, tautness, strain, tightness, condition, intensity, accent, accentuation, anxiety, breaking point. ANTONYM: (n) calmness

tepid: (adj) warm, mild, cool, indifferent, moderately warm, hot, genial, unenthusiastic, unfrozen, warmish, half-hearted. ANTONYMS: (adj) cold, hot, enthusiastic

terminable: (adj) impermanent, temporary, finite, endable

terminated: (adj) complete, all over, over, extinct, accomplished, closed, highly skilled; (adj, adv) ended, finished, done; (adv) completed

terrify: (n, v) frighten, alarm, fright, affright; (v) panic, dismay, startle, horrify, intimidate, terrorize, daunt. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, calm, soothe, comfort testily: (adv) irritably, pettishly, peevishly, grumpily, fretfully, waspishly, tetchily, crankily, touchily, snappishly, cantankerously teutonic: (adj, n) Germanic; (adj)

German, somewhat German thankful: (adj) appreciative, indebted, beholden, obliged, contented, pleased, gratified,

relieved, under obligation, relieved, under obligation, appreciatory, welcome.

ANTONYMS: (adj) worried, unappreciative, unthankful, sorry thence: (adv) therefore, thus, therefrom, thereof, consequently,

then, so, thereafter, thenceforth, since, on account of **thenceforth**: (adv) thenceforward, thence, elsewhere, absent, not there,

then

thereabouts: (adj, adv) about; (adv) nearly, generally, around, approximately, in the region of, more or less, something like, almost, so; (adv, n) hereabouts

therefrom: (adv) therefore, thereof, hence; (adj) redundance, strictly, exact, expected, likeness, deportment, coincidence, accurate

therein: (adv) in this, in there thereof: (adv) thence, therefrom, therefore, hence; (adj) casual, intelligence, observer, occasional, prearranged, premeditated, fortuitous

thereon: (adv) on that, thereupon, afterward, at once, early, immediately, therefore

thereto: (adv) thereunto, moreover; (adj) likeness, accurate, coincidence, correct, correctness, deportment, detail, exact, expected

thereupon: (adv) hereupon, next, then, immediately, therefore, therewith, in the sequel, close upon, upon which, whereupon, accordingly

thickening: (n) thickener, inspissation, growth, lymph node, pommel, indiscerptibility, node, bodying up, lymph gland, knob, indivisibility

thinly: (adv) flimsily, slightly, slimly, slenderly, weakly, diaphanously, rarely, leanly, finely, tenuously; (adj) thin. ANTONYMS: (adv) densely, thickly, loudly, liberally

thinner: (n) dilutant, solvent, reducer, rarefied, phenylic acid, phenol, propanone, perchloromethane, resolvent, oxybenzene,

methylbenzene

thither: (adv) hither, whither, on that point, in that respect, at that place, in that location; (adj) further, ulterior, remoter, succeeding, more distant

thorn: (n) barb, prickle, bramble, spike, point, brier, pricker, needle, sticker, fang; (adj, n) sting

thoroughfare: (n) road, street, highway, avenue, passage, way, route, path, boulevard, track, roadway

thoroughgoing: (adj) exhaustive, complete, utter, total, unqualified, systematic, painstaking, absolute, very thorough, consummate; (adj, adv) downright. ANTONYMS: (adj) careless, halfhearted, feeble

thoroughness: (n) completeness, resolution, assiduousness, determination, care, caution, comprehensiveness, detail, attention to detail, resolve, meticulousness. ANTONYM: (n) negligence

thrice: (adv) three times, thirdly thrilling: (adj, n) electric; (adj) exciting, sensational, exhilarating, electrifying, emotional, rousing, gripping, stimulating; (adj, v) impressive; (n, v) swelling. ANTONYMS: (adj) boring, depressing, discouraging, upsetting, uninspiring

thriving: (adj) successful, prosperous, prospering, booming, rich, affluent, growing, lush, lucky, healthy, luxuriant. ANTONYMS: (adj) declining, languishing, arid, moribund, dying, disappearing, poor, unwell

throb: (n, v) quiver, ache, pulse, pound, thrill, tingle; (v) pulsate, palpitate, flutter, shudder; (n) pulsation

throng: (n, v) swarm, herd, mob, flock, press; (n) multitude, host, horde, mass, assembly, concourse. ANTONYMS: (n) trickle, few; (v) disperse

thrush: (n) mavis, ouzel, Whiterumped thrush, candidiasis, blackbird, bluethroat, fieldfare, merl, moniliasis, ousel, philomel

thump: (n, v) thud, bang, bump, knock, hit, strike, cuff, punch, crash, crack; (v) pound. ANTONYM: (v) tiptoe

thunderous: (adj) earsplitting, deafening, loud, booming, roaring, terrific, shrill, boisterous, unpropitious, turbulent, thriving thunderstorm: (n) storm, electrical storm, electric storm, tempest, hurricane, gale, downpour, rainstorm, shower, snowstorm; (adj) earthquake

thwart: (adv, v) cross; (v) frustrate, prevent, oppose, baffle, obstruct, hinder, impede, defeat, disappoint, bilk. ANTONYMS: (v) promote, assist, encourage, aid, help, please, permit

thyme: (n) herb, rosemary, sage, herbaceous plant, parsley, creeping thyme, common thyme, basil, aromatic plant, pot herbs

tick: (n, v) beat, mark, check; (n) score, credit, moment, second, minute, ticking; (v) tally, click

ticking: (n) tick, cloth, fabric, ticken; (adj) living

ticklishly: (adv) trickily, delicately, nicely, precariously, touchily, tenderly, unsteadily, difficultly, sensitively, awkwardly, uncertainly

tidings: (n) intelligence, information, message, report, word, advice, communication, dispute, wind, statement, tiding

tillage: (n) agriculture, farming, cultivated land, tilth, husbandry, culture, land, fallow, vintage, farmland, plowland

tilt: (n, v) slant, slope, lean, list, rock, careen, sway; (v) pitch, tip, cant, lurch. ANTONYMS: (n, v) surrender; (n) agreement; (v) yield

timeworn: (adj) hackneyed, shopworn, trite, banal, commonplace, stale, stock, musty, worn, obsolete, unoriginal

timid: (adj) shy, afraid, diffident, coy, bashful, nervous, frightened, apprehensive, modest; (adj, adv) cowardly; (adj, n) cautious. ANTONYMS: (adj, n) brave; (adj) confident, bold, fearless, resolute, forward, daring, brazen, extrovert, brash, talkative

timidity: (n) shyness, fear, bashfulness, nervousness, reserve, cowardice, fearfulness, timidness, modesty, humility, coyness. ANTONYMS: (n) confidence, boastfulness, swagger, brashness, security

timidly: (adv) fearfully, timorously, cautiously, shyly, diffidently, anxiously, nervously, shily, gingerly, modestly, apprehensively. ANTONYMS: (adv) confidently, bravely, daringly, brashly, fearlessly, decisively, brazenly

tincture: (n, v) dye, tint, taste; (n) shade, color, hue, tinct; (adj, n, v) smack, dash; (adj) spice; (v) impregnate

tinge: (n, v) color, hue, tint, dye, stain, touch, tincture; (n) shade, cast, undertone; (adj, n, v) dash. ANTONYMS: (v) whiten, pale; (n) white, information, pallor

tinged: (adj) plausible, bright, painted, fey, touched, specious, colorful, stained, tined, dyed, tinct tinker: (v) monkey, fiddle, putter, mess around, toy, tamper, vamp; (n) cobbler, mender, Scomber japonicus,

chub mackerel titanic: (adj) enormous, giant, colossal, massive, mammoth, huge, vast, stupendous, immense, titanical , titanitic . ANTONYM: (adj) tiny

titled: (adj) highborn, patrician, coroneted, aristocratic, named, generous, posh, upright, worthy, fair; (n) princely. ANTONYM: (adj) petty

toads: (n) caecilians, class Amphibia, frogs, newts, salamanders toilette: (n) dress, costume, attire,

toilette: (n) dress, costume, attire, raiment, drapery, guise, trim, John, lavatory, privy, bathroom

toiling: (adj) labouring, drudging, busy

tolerable: (adj) passable, mediocre, bearable, fair, middling, reasonable, adequate, respectable, endurable, sufferable; (adj, v) satisfactory. ANTONYMS: (adj) intolerable, exceptional, unbearable, unsatisfactory, bad, inadequate, appalling, inadmissible

tolerably: (adv) well enough, passably, acceptably, reasonably, enough, moderately, to a tolerable degree, pretty, to an adequate degree; (adj, adv) somewhat; (adj) pretty well. ANTONYMS: (adv) unbearably, intolerably, unacceptably, unreasonably, insufficiently, inadequately

tolerated: (adj) permissive, permitted, permitting, suffered, admissible

toned: (adj) pastel

tongs: (n) forceps, pincers, pliers, nippers, poker, lifter, pair of tongs, trivet, vice, ice tongs; (v) clutches torment: (n, v) tease, distress, harrass, afflict, pain, annoy; (n) agony, anguish, suffering; (v) persecute, oppress. ANTONYMS: (v) please.

afflict, pain, annoy; (n) agony, anguish, suffering; (v) persecute, oppress. ANTONYMS: (v) please, delight, placate, comfort, soothe; (n) contentment, happiness, pleasure, calm, content

- torpor: (n) lethargy, lassitude, stupor, languor, indolence, sluggishness, listlessness, torpidity, torpidness; (adj, n) inactivity, inertia. ANTONYMS: (n) energy, vigor, activity
- torrents: (n) white water, rapids torrid: (adj) hot, burning, sultry, impassioned, fervent, perfervid, fervid, fiery, ardent, sweltering, passionate. ANTONYMS: (adj) freezing, cold, cool, frigid, arctic
- tortured: (adj) anguished, suffering, agonized, excruciate, excruciated, gnarled, hagridden, miserable, woeful, hurt
- toss: (n, v) throw, fling, pitch, chuck, cast, flip; (v) agitate, hurl, shake, convulse, discard. ANTONYM: (v) catch
- tossing: (n) cast; (adj) moving touchily: (adv) grumpily, petulantly, cantankerously, crossly, peevishly, moodily, edgily, temperamentally, crabbily, sensitively, techily
- tout: (v) bluster, brag, advertise, boast, canvass, blow, gas, bespeak, gasconade, swash; (n) hotel runner. ANTONYMS: (v) conceal, understate
- traceable: (adj) trackable, attributable, derivable; (adv) noticeable
- tracery: (v) grille, lattice, gridiron, grating, plait, trellis; (n) design, decoration, molding, mesh, listel
- tracing: (n) trace, copy, design, model, chase, drafting, action of tracing, blueprint, cast, draftsmanship, ghost
- trackless: (adj) shoreless, roadless, unaccessible, inaccessible, lacking pathways, untracked, untrodden, untrod
- trackway: (n) strip road, track tragical: (v) ruinous, disastrous, calamitous; (n) sadder; (adj) tragedious, like tragedy, sad
- traitor: (n) betrayer, conspirator, Judas, renegade, rat, quisling, deserter, cheat, collaborationist; (adj) insurgent, mutineer. ANTONYMS: (n) loyalist, patriot
- trance: (adj, n) ecstasy; (n, v) coma, charm; (n) fascination, daze, dream, captivation, spell, stupor, obstupefaction; (v) capture.
 ANTONYMS: (n) loyalist, reality, alertness
- **transfiguration**: (n) metamorphosis, extreme unction, conversion, canonization, subpanation,

- impanation, invocation of saints, seven sacraments, mutation, auricular confession, viaticum
- transient: (adj) fleeting, temporary, passing, transitory, fugacious, ephemeral, momentary, temporal, provisional; (adj, n) fugitive, vagabond. ANTONYMS: (adj) enduring, lasting, immanent, long; (n) resident
- transparency: (n) clearness, clarity, slide, limpidity, pellucidness, lucidity, diaphaneity, translucency, overhead, foil, pellucidity. ANTONYMS: (n) ambiguity, opacity, dirtiness, impurity
- **trappings**: (n) equipment, rigging, caparison, embroidery, trapping, tackle, suit, skirt, accouterment, lappet, flap
- traveling: (n) travel, journey, travelling, commuting, commutation, peregrination, circumnavigation; (adj) riding, touring, nomadic, road
- traverse: (v) travel, walk, crisscross, track, thwart, contradict, deny; (n, v) journey, range; (n) crossing, traversal
- **traversing**: (n) traverse, perambulation, crossing; (adj) moving
- treacherous: (adj) unfaithful, deceitful, false, perfidious, dangerous, disloyal, unreliable, unsafe, Punic, fraudulent, faithless. ANTONYMS: (adj) faithful, loyal, honest, safe, true, genuine, forthright, stable, harmless, dependable, open
- tread: (n, v) pace, walk, rate, march, tramp; (n) gait, stride, footstep, footfall, track; (v) trample
- treble: (adj) threefold, ternary, triplex, thribble, double, dual, high, voce di testa, shrill; (adj, v) triple; (v) sing
- tremble: (adj, n, v) shiver; (n, v) quiver, shudder, thrill, palpitate; (adj, v) totter, quake; (n) throb; (v) flutter, quail, falter. ANTONYMS: (v) steady, calm
- tremblingly: (adv) quiveringly, tremulously, quakingly, shudderingly, shiveringly, shakily, quaveringly
- **tremulously**: (adv) fearfully, shiveringly, tremblingly, shakingly, quiveringly, quaveringly, fidgetily, vibratingly
- **tresses**: (n) locks, mop, head of hair **trestle**: (n) rack, table, bench,

- pedestal, bridge, beam, tressel, supporting tower; (v) fragment, bit, scantling
- trifle: (n, v) play; (adj, n, v) trinket; (v) dally, fiddle, flirt, fool, frivol; (n) nothing, triviality, detail; (adj, n) bagatelle
- trifling: (adj) paltry, slight, petty, negligible, immaterial, worthless, trivial, minor, small; (adj, v) inconsequential; (adj, n) frivolity. ANTONYMS: (adj) significant, worthwhile, major, considerable, crucial, enormous, great, mature, profound, substantial; (n) importance
- trim: (adj, v) tidy, spruce; (adj, n, v) dress; (n, v) cut, clip, garnish, lop; (adj) neat, orderly; (v) shave, embellish. ANTONYMS: (adj) scruffy, unkempt, sloppy, large, chubby, disorderly, overweight; (v) lengthen, develop, expand, lose
- trimmed: (adj) down, slashed, shortened, neat, mown, level, gelded, emasculated, demure, cunning, sly
- **triplet**: (n) three, triad, threesome, tercet, trio, trinity, trine, ternary, line, leash, stanza
- triumphantly: (adv) exultantly, winningly, jubilantly, elatedly, proudly, successfully, triumphally, conqueringly, gleefully, delightedly, gloriously
- **triumphing**: (n) boast, gloriation; (v) triumphal, celebrating victory, exultant
- trodden: (adj) trampled, damaged, beaten, compressed, packed down. ANTONYM: (adj) loose
- trombone: (n) bugle, clarion, cornet, cornopean, horn, sackbut, brass, ophicleide
- troubling: (adj) worrying, disquieting, distressing, distressful, disconcerting, alarming, perturbing, bad, annoying, sad, worrisome. ANTONYM: (adj) reassuring
- truant: (n) deserter, hooky player, nonattender, fugitive, wrongdoer, idler, absentee, absenter, offender; (v) shirk; (adj) AWOL
- **trudge**: (n, v) tramp, trek, hike, slog, ramble, march, walk, wander; (v) trail, pad, shack
- **trumpets**: (n) Sarracenia flava, yellow pitcher plant, pitcher plant, yellow trumpet
- **truncheon**: (n) stick, cudgel, Billy, nightstick, baton, mace, bludgeon, staff, bat, switch, billystick

truss: (v) bandage, bind, fasten, bundle, tie up; (n, v) pack, prop; (n) frame, stay, fagot; (adj) pinion

trusting: (adj) credulous, unsuspecting, naive, confident, confiding, simple, innocent, gullible, reliant, give, easy to fool. ANTONYMS: (adj) distrustful, suspicious, doubtful, hesitant, protective, shrewd, disingenuous, smart, jaded

trustworthy: (adj) honest, trusty, dependable, safe, faithful, sound, certain, good, responsible; (adj, n, v) credible; (adj, n) true. ANTONYMS: (adj) suspect, dubious, untrustworthy, undependable, sneaky, doubtful, deceitful, disloyal, disreputable, irresponsible, degenerate

trusty: (adj) trustworthy, honest, faithful, dependable, responsible, constant, loyal, true, authentic, solid, sure. ANTONYMS: (adj) untrustworthy, inconstant, corrupt, disloyal

truthful: (adj) honest, genuine, frank, real, candid, sincere, guileless, realistic, reliable, faithful, honorable. ANTONYMS: (adj) dishonest, inaccurate, fictional, guarded, lying, improbable, deceptive, deceitful, false, wrong, evasive

trysting: (n) appointment tuft: (n) wisp, crest, cluster, truss, knot, fagot, tassel, strand, thicket, curl; (adj, n) feather

tuileries: (n) Tuileries gardens tulip: (n) iris, rainbow, cottage tulip, candlestick tulip, chameleon, dwarf tulip; (adj) lily, asphodel, anemone, buttercup, daffodil

tumbled: (adj) disordered tumbling: (adj) falling, billowing, dropping, rolled; (adj, adv) plunging; (n) gymnastics, acrobatics, stunting, stunt flying, rumbling; (adv) headfirst

tumult: (adj, n, v) hubbub, disturbance; (n) stir, commotion, bustle, din, fuss, excitement; (n, v) clamor, disorder, brawl. ANTONYMS: (n) peace, push, serenity, order, calm

tumulus: (n) burial mound, mound, tope, grave mound, cromlech, hill, lawn cart, garden cart, barrowful, cairn

tunic: (n) tunicate, tunicle, tabard, adventitia, chiton, surcoat, tunica, jacket, robe, coat, integument turk: (n) effendi, Ottoman turmoil: (n, v) commotion; (n) disturbance, agitation, disorder, hubbub, confusion, excitement, flurry, mess, hullabaloo, disruption. ANTONYMS: (n) order, calm, peace, accord

turnips: (n) root crop, brassica, genus brassica, cauliflowers, potatoes

turnpike: (n) superhighway, motorway, freeway, expressway, road, pike, highway, hayfork, pick, royal road, state highway

tussaud: (n) Marie Tussaud twang: (n, v) flavor; (n) accent, tang,

strong taste; (v) jar, strum, play, smack, taste, smatch, savor

twelvemonth: (n) calendar year, civil year, financial year, common year, amount of time, time period, period of time, bissextile year, class, yr, period

twigs: (n) sprays

twilight: (n) nightfall, night, sunset, gloaming, evening, sundown, eventide, fall, decline, evenfall; (adj) aurora. ANTONYMS: (n) daybreak, sunrise

twill: (adj, v) curl, wrinkle; (adj) corded, crisp; (v) braid, plexus, felt, plat, plait, mesh; (n) cloth

twine: (n, v) coil; (n) string, rope, cord; (v) lace, entwine, enlace, meander, weave, intertwine, twist. ANTONYMS: (v) untwine, straighten, unwind

twined: (adj) bent, coiled, contorted, distorted, misrepresented, perverted

twinge: (n, v) pinch, sting; (n) pang, pain, stab, hurt, throb, qualm; (v) nip, prick, prickle

twinkling: (n) moment, jiffy, minute, second, flash, trice, twinkle, wink, split second, breath; (adj) sparkling. ANTONYM: (adj) dull

twisting: (adj) tortuous, winding, sinuous, crooked, zigzag, meandering; (n) distortion, turn, spin, torsion, overrefinement

twitch: (n, v) twinge, pull, yank, pluck, tug, tweak, wrench, pinch, start; (v) draw, nip

tying: (n) ligation, bundling, attachment, knotting, lacing; (adj) binding; (v) restrict

ulysses: (v) sly boots, reynard, fox, Odysseus, Machiavel

unabated: (adj) unreduced, unrestricted, unmitigated, unflagging, relentless, intense, unrelenting

unaccountable: (adj) incomprehensible, inexplicable, strange, unintelligible, unexplainable, mysterious, impenetrable, undiscoverable, undecipherable, unknowable, unnatural. ANTONYMS: (adj) accountable, explainable, responsible, explainable

unaffectedly: (adv) artlessly, untouchedly, sincerely, genuinely, unsophisticatedly, impassively, naively, spontaneously, unfeignedly, plainly, simplely. ANTONYM: (adv) pretentiously

unaided: (adj) naked, unassisted, defenseless, nude, bare, independent, unaccompanied, open; (adj, adv) alone, on your own; (adv) single-handed. ANTONYM: (adv) jointly

unalterable: (adj) constant, inalterable, immutable, permanent, invariable, firm, changeless, rigid, stable, irrevocable, unchangeable. ANTONYMS: (adj) alterable, impermanent, temporary, fluid, flexible

unaltered: (adj) unalterable, unmoved, same, unaffected. ANTONYM: (adj) affected

unambitious: (adj) ambitionless, unsolicitous, unaspiring, unattracted, undesirous, humble, unassuming, unpretentious

unattainable: (adj) impossible, inaccessible, impracticable, impracticable, impractical, unapproachable, unobtainable, out of print, not possible, unassailable, unavailable, unbeatable. ANTONYMS: (adj) vulnerable, accessible, possible, attainable, feasible

unattended: (adj) ignored, neglected, alone, solitary, abandoned, disregarded, not safeguarded, lonely

unawares: (adv) suddenly, pop, plump, abruptly, a l'improviste, unaware, all at once, unexpectedly, inadvertently; (adj) unwary, unsuspecting. ANTONYMS: (adj) prepared; (adv) knowingly, consciously

unbounded: (adj) immeasurable, limitless, endless, infinite, immense, measureless, unlimited, vast, illimitable, unmeasured, absolute

unbroken: (adj) continuous, entire, complete, continual, constant, intact, incessant, endless, whole, undivided, solid. ANTONYMS: (adj) intermittent, temporary, plowed, discontinuous, disturbed,

- sporadic, partial unceremonious: (adj) informal, familiar, casual, abrupt, uncivil, ungracious, rough, sharp, curt, unceremonial, bluff. ANTONYMS: (adj) formal, gracious
- uncertainly: (adv) dubiously, doubtfully, unsurely, unsettledly, falteringly, unsteadily, waveringly, irresolutely, undecidedly, undeterminedly, unfixedly. ANTONYMS: (adv) firmly, determinedly, decisively, steadily, indisputably, boldly, certainly, admirably
- uncivil: (adj) discourteous, disrespectful, impolite, coarse, brusque, curt, blunt, barbarous, short; (adj, n) rough, harsh. ANTONYMS: (adj) polite, courteous, gracious
- unclosed: (v) ajar, unstopped; (adj) sincere, public, plain, obvious, frank, exposed, evident, artless, apparent
- uncomfortably: (adv) uneasily, grimly, agitatedly, apprehensively, cheerlessly, disagreeably, dismally, distastefully, embarrassingly, gloomily, illegally. ANTONYMS: (adv) comfortably, calmly, innocently
- unconcern: (n) apathy, nonchalance, insouciance, coldness, detachment, impassiveness, insensibility, disregard, phlegm, carelessness, lethargy. ANTONYMS: (n) responsiveness, worry, anxiety, interest
- unconcerned: (adj) apathetic, detached, insouciant, casual, careless, nonchalant, thoughtless, easygoing, listless, carefree; (adj, n) cold. ANTONYMS: (adj) caring, eager, troubled, sensitive, uptight, craving, involved, energetic, interested, annoyed, strict
- uncongenial: (adj) unfriendly, hostile, incongenial, cold, unfit, unsuited, contrastive, chilly, cool, unsociable, distant. ANTONYMS: (adj) friendly, hospitable
- unconsciously: (adv) instinctively, unintentionally, unthinkingly, unwittingly, ignorantly, innocently, comatosely, automatically, obliviously, unsuspectingly, inadvertently. ANTONYMS: (adv) consciously, deliberately, knowingly, purposely
- unconsumed: (adj) unexhausted, undrunk, residual, odd, leftover,

uneaten

- uncontrollable: (adj) unruly, incontrollable, ungovernable, unmanageable, intractable, undisciplined, disobedient, indocile, overwhelming, boisterous; (adj, v) uncontrolled. ANTONYMS: (adj) controllable, imperceptible, orderly, biddable, weak
- unconventionality: (n) abnormality, eccentricity, anomaly, abnormity, informality, nonconformity, oddity, heterodoxy. ANTONYMS: (n) conventionality, normality
- uncouth: (adj) rough, rude, barbarous, vulgar, crude, awkward, clumsy, gross, unrefined, ungainly, common. ANTONYMS: (adj) refined, couth, polite, sophisticated, pleasant, proper, genteel
- uncover: (v) expose, disclose, discover, reveal, show, find, divulge, strip, bare, unearth, unfold. ANTONYMS: (v) cover, conceal, hide, suppress, wrap, bury, confuse, drape
- uncovering: (n) breakthrough, detection, revelation, baring, find, denudation, disforestation, espial, catching, husking, stripping
- uncultivated: (adj) savage, ignorant, uneducated, wild, fresh, uncivilized, rude, untutored, uncultured, artless, lowbrow. ANTONYMS: (adj) cultivated, familiar, refined
- uncurtained: (adj) curtainless.
 ANTONYM: (adj) curtained
 uncustomary: (adj) uncommon,
 unwonted, unconventional,
 peculiar, remarkable, unusual,
 exceptional, unorthodox
- undecided: (adj) uncertain, doubtful, dubious, unresolved, pending, indecisive, irresolute, hesitant, debatable, indefinite; (adj, v) undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) certain, determined, sure, settled, definite, decisive
- undefended: (adj) unprotected, undefendable, exposed, assailable, vulnerable, open, unguarded, undecided, unarmed, overt, opened out. ANTONYMS: (adj) secure, defensible
- undemonstrative: (adj) unemotional, calm, restrained, unresponsive, retiring, reticent, uncommunicative, inhibited, quiet, placid, mild. ANTONYMS: (adj) emotional, energetic
- undercurrent: (n) undertow, stream, tinge, cross fire, feeling, underset,

- vortex, flow, undertide; (v) indraught, reflux underhand: (adj) stealthy, furtive,
- underhand: (adj) stealthy, furtive, clandestine, sly, underhanded, sneaky, shifty, covert, crooked, indirect; (adj, adv) underarm. ANTONYMS: (adj) honest, overhand
- underling: (n) subordinate, subsidiary, man, subaltern, menial, understrapper, lout, cub, follower, gaffer, loon. ANTONYM: (n) superior
- understatement: (n) figure of speech, litote, wryness, statement, dryness. ANTONYMS: (n) spectacle, overstatement
- undesired: (adj) unwanted, unalluring, unattractive, unwished, unvalued, needless, not desired, not requested, unasked, unsolicited, unsought
- undetermined: (adj, v) uncertain, indefinite, vague; (adj) indeterminate, unsettled, indecisive, unresolved, irresolute, accidental, open; (v) ambiguous. ANTONYMS: (adj) determinate, definite, decided, specific
- undeviating: (adj) straight, unswerving, invariable, direct, consistent, stable, unchanged, unvarying; (adj, n) fixed, steady, firm. ANTONYM: (adj) temporary
- undignified: (adj) low, inappropriate, humiliating, rude, indign, impolite, demeaning, degrading, improper, debasing. ANTONYMS: (adj) dignified, distinguished, polite
- undiscoverable: (adj) undecipherable, unascertainable, unaccountable, unfathomable, indiscoverable, resisting discovery, unintelligible, undeterminable, indeterminable, not discoverable
- undisturbed: (adj) peaceful, quiet, tranquil, serene, placid, still, easy, smooth, uninterrupted, untroubled, composed. ANTONYMS: (adj) tense, anxious, agitated, bothered, disordered, disturbed, noisy, scared
- undivided: (adj) complete, whole, unbroken, total, single, integral, continuous, united, full, exclusive, solid. ANTONYMS: (adj) partial, separate, broken, imperfect, individual
- undo: (v) loosen, open, annul, cancel, separate, disentangle, untie, unfold, reverse, disconnect, nullify. ANTONYMS: (v) attach, close, do, wrap, tangle, validate, knot, lock,

- permit, unite, approve undone: (adj) ruined, unfinished, sunk, done for, finished, behindhand, decayed; (adj, v) doomed; (v) accursed, to be pitied, devoted
- undressed: (adj) naked, unclad, unclothed, bare, raw, stripped, unattired, unappareled, crude, rough, disrobed. ANTONYMS: (adj) covered, decent
- undulating: (adj) sinuous, waved, undulant, undulatory, curly, apprenticed, zigzag, crimped, curvy, indented, intended. ANTONYMS: (adj) steep, straight
- unduly: (adv) too, overly, illegally, inordinately, immoderately, unfairly, unreasonably, extremely, irrationally, over, unjustly. ANTONYMS: (adv) reasonably, sensibly, moderately, duly, justifiably, fairly
- undying: (adj) eternal, perpetual, everlasting, deathless, permanent, imperishable, endless, unending, lasting, abiding; (adj, v) indestructible. ANTONYMS: (adj) temporary, mortal, impermanent, ending, inconstant
- uneasily: (adv) apprehensively, restlessly, worriedly, nervously, solicitously, unquietly, constrainedly, awkwardly, fretfully, unsettledly, fearfully. ANTONYMS: (adv) calmly, confidently, unconcernedly, comfortably, fearlessly
- uneasiness: (n) disquiet, discomfort, inquietude, anxiety, unease, malaise, disquietude, apprehension, unrest, impatience; (n, v) agitation.

 ANTONYMS: (n) peace, calm, confidence
- unendurable: (adj) intolerable, insufferable, insupportable, excruciating, impossible, unsupportable, uneasy, teasing, passionate, not patient, intolerant. ANTONYM: (adj) bearable
- unerringly: (adv) surely, accurately, faithfully, exactly, certainly, infallibly, inerrantly, literally, perfectly, closely, inerringly
- unfairly: (adv) dishonestly, deceitfully, partially, unequally, deceptively, wrongly, wrongfully, unduly, fraudulently; (adv, v) foully, shamefully. ANTONYMS: (adv) honestly, justly, reasonably, evenly, genuinely
- unfasten: (v) open, detach, release,

- unbind, unbutton, disengage, unbolt, separate, loose, loosen, unchain. ANTONYMS: (v) attach, lock, close
- unfastened: (adj) open, movable, loose, unbuttoned, overt, opened, opened out, slack, undecided, undetermined, assailable. ANTONYMS: (adj) buttoned, fixed, shut, tied
- unfinished: (adj) rough, rude, unaccomplished, imperfect, incomplete, partial, immature, unpolished, raw, undone; (v) uncompleted. ANTONYMS: (adj) finished, complete, complex, completed
- unfolded: (adj) extended, stretched, outspread, outstretched, widely spread, stretched out, explicate, evolved, displayed, expanded, detailed
- unforeseen: (adj, v) unexpected, unanticipated, unlooked for; (adj) sudden, accidental, contingent, casual, surprising, chance, incidental; (adj, adv) out of the blue. ANTONYMS: (adj) predicted, expected, direct
- **unfrequently**: (adv) not much, not often, unoften, rarely
- ungenerously: (adv) stingily, smally, basely, cheaply, parsimoniously, closely, narrowly, tightfistedly, illiberally, sordidly, meagerly. ANTONYM: (adv) generously
- ungrateful: (adj) unmindful, unthankful, unappreciative, unnatural, ingrate, unpleasant, distasteful, displeasing, unkind, disagreeable, not kind. ANTONYMS: (adj) grateful, thankful, appreciative
- unhallowed: (adj) ungodly, impious, profane, demonic, unsanctified, diabolic, sinful, wicked, infernal, impure, unchaste. ANTONYM: (adj) holy
- unhappily: (adv) wretchedly, unluckily, disconsolately, badly, woefully, forlornly, sorrowfully, unfortunately, dismally, dejectedly, despondently. ANTONYMS: (adv) cheerfully, contentedly, luckily, willingly, enthusiastically, fortunately
- unhappiness: (n) sadness, misery, melancholy, distress, grief, regret, infelicity, woe, sorrowfulness, depression, displeasure. ANTONYMS: (n) cheerfulness, pleasure, joy, elation, contentment,

- satisfaction, cheer unheeded: (adj) unnoticed, neglected, disregarded, ignored; (v) unthought of, unseen, unperceived, unobserved, unnoted, unmarked, unmissed
- unheeding: (adj) regardless, heedless, inattentive, unmindful, unobservant, deaf to, unthinking, neglectful, inadvertent; (adj, n) careless; (n) incautious. ANTONYM: (adj) heedful
- uniformity: (n) consistency, constancy, evenness, sameness, equality, monotony, regularity, similarity, order, identity, proportion. ANTONYMS: (n) variety, inconsistency, nonuniformity, variation, dissimilarity, unevenness
- uniformly: (adv) equally, evenly, consistently, regularly, homogeneously, identically, steadily, unvaryingly; (adj, adv) ever, always, invariably
- unimpaired: (adj) unbroken, intact, clean, sound, healthy, entire, complete, undamaged, uninjured; (v) unmarred, unsinged.
- ANTONYM: (adj) impaired unimpassioned: (v) unruffled, undisturbed, unexcited, unperturbed; (adj) temperate, passionless, staid, cool, dispassionate, cold, calm
- unimpeachable: (adj) unexceptionable, irreproachable, blameless, unquestionable, flawless, impeccable, perfect, spotless, inculpable; (n) creditable, estimable. ANTONYM: (adj) corrupt
- unimpeded: (adj) free, unrestrained, free-flowing, unhampered, move without being impeded, expedite, unchecked, speedily, quick, prompt, unrestricted. ANTONYM: (adj) restricted
- unimportant: (adj) insignificant, frivolous, inconsequential, irrelevant, trifling, slight, petty, little, negligible, immaterial, minor. ANTONYMS: (adj) important, significant, major, crucial, relevant, serious, powerful, connected, central, profound, considerable unimpressionable: (adj)
- unimpressionable: (adj) unimpressible, callous. ANTONYM: (adj) impressionable
- unimproved: (adj) unkempt, uncleared. ANTONYM: (adj) improved
- uninhabited: (adj) empty, desert,

- desolate, vacant, unoccupied, unpopulated, uninhabitable, lonely, untenanted, unsettled, waste. ANTONYMS: (adj) inhabited, overcrowded, populous
- uninteresting: (adj) insipid, dreary, tedious, bland, commonplace, flat, stupid, tame, tasteless, humdrum; (adj, n) dull. ANTONYMS: (adj) exciting, fascinating, scandalous, eventful, impressive, charming, brilliant, animated, colorful, lively, special
- unite: (v) associate, meet, connect, link, blend, join, coalesce, unify, tie, amalgamate; (adj, v) fuse. ANTONYMS: (v) divide, cut, disband, disconnect, diverge, segregate, split, undo, unpick
- unjust: (adj) partial, injurious, wrong, inequitable, unrighteous, wicked, foul, wrongful, improper, unmerited, unjustified.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) just, equitable, rightful, reasonable, good
- unkind: (adj) cruel, harsh, unfeeling, inconsiderate, pitiless, heartless, inhuman, hard, thoughtless, brutal, mean. ANTONYMS: (adj) kind, considerate, pleasant, friendly, thoughtful, tactful, mild, gentle,
- generous, flattering, compassionate unlace: (v) loosen, untie, unbrace, unlash, unlashed, unloose
- unlearn: (v) forget, toss, fling, cast out, toss out, cast away, cast aside, bury, chuck out, dispose, overcome
- unlock: (v) open, unfasten, disclose, unbar, reveal, free, release, disengage, unbolt, unclose, withdraw. ANTONYMS: (v) fasten, lock, close
- unlocked: (adj) unbarred, unlatched, unbolted, not closed, loose, unsecured, ajar, wide open, unguaranteed
- unlucky: (adj) luckless, hapless, unhappy, sinister, inauspicious, unsuccessful, ominous, adverse, disastrous, unfavorable; (adj, v) untoward. ANTONYMS: (adj) fortunate, happy, auspicious, successful
- unmannerly: (adj) impolite, unmannered, uncivil, impertinent, insolent, ill-mannered, discourteous, ungracious, rustic, disrespectful, churlish
- unmask: (v) uncloak, expose, reveal, debunk, uncover, unfold, unkennel, detect, disclose, unseal, bare. ANTONYMS: (v) mask, conceal

- unmeaning: (adj) insignificant, meaningless, senseless, nonsensical, irrational, expressionless, gibberish, foolish, peanut, weetless, undistinguished
- unmistakably: (adv) undoubtedly, manifestly, decidedly, signally, remarkably, evidently, apparently, visibly, palpably, unambiguously, markedly
- unmoved: (adj) apathetic, unaffected, indifferent, unconcerned, unimpressed, uninspired, dispassionate, imperturbable, calm, undisturbed, fixed. ANTONYMS: (adj) affected, compliant, uptight, concerned, enthusiastic, tolerant, sensitive
- unnatural: (adj) affected, artificial, grotesque, supernatural, forced, abnormal, eccentric, uncanny, stilted, mannered, anomalous. ANTONYMS: (adj) natural, normal, real, unaffected, commonplace, genuine, sincere
- unnaturally: (adv) falsely, unusually, contrivedly, affectedly, extraordinarily, monstrously, manneredly, by artificial means, abnormally, peculiarly, cruelly. ANTONYM: (adv) normally
- unnoticed: (v) unheeded, unthought of, unregarded; (adj) disregarded, unmarked, hidden, neglected, ignored, obscure; (adj, v) unremarked, unobserved.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) evident, seen, noticeable, noted, obvious
- unobserved: (adj, v) unseen; (v) unheeded, unregarded, unthought of, unperceived; (adj) ignored, not noticed, hidden, unmarked, unnoted; (adv) secretly. ANTONYM: (adj) evident
- unparalleled: (adj) unequaled, unique, unmatched, incomparable, matchless, unprecedented, peerless, unexampled, inimitable, unequalled, alone. ANTONYMS: (adj) ordinary, inferior, surpassable, abysmal, unremarkable, usual
- unperceiving: (adj) unseeing, blind, blinder, inattentive, lacking perception, unobservant, unperceptive
- unpleasantly: (adv) distastefully, disagreeably, rudely, obnoxiously, bitterly, painfully, awfully, troublesomely, offensively, hardly, displeasingly. ANTONYMS: (adv) delightfully, agreeably, kindly, politely, graciously, attractively,

- sweetly, well, humbly unpleasing: (adj) displeasing, graceless, ungracious, unpleasant, disagreeable, wicked, not grateful, offensive, perturbed, restless, stiff
- unpractical: (adj) impractical, insane, abstract, chimerical, delirious, fanciful, not sane, viewy, mad, spectacular
- unproductive: (adj) infertile, fruitless, sterile, unfruitful, vain, ineffective, poor, nonproductive, useless, arid, infecund. ANTONYMS: (adj) productive, fruitful, successful, fertile, effective, conclusive, creative, efficient
- unpromising: (adj) unpropitious, hopeless, worrying, bleak, warning, bad, ominous, threatening, unattractive, unfavorable, gloomy. ANTONYMS: (adj) optimistic, hopeful, encouraging
- unpropitious: (adj) inauspicious, adverse, unlucky, unfavorable, inopportune, evil, sinister, disastrous, infelicitous; (adj, v) cross, hostile
- unreasonably: (adv) absurdly, irrationally, immoderately, unfairly, unscientifically, unjustly, undeservedly, unsuitably, without need, pointlessly; (adj) excessively. ANTONYMS: (adv) sensibly, reasonably, acceptably, sanely, appropriately, fairly, logically, rationally
- unrecognized: (adj) unacknowledged, unknown, unnoticed, thankless, incognito, not recognized, unidentified
- unrequested: (adj) unsolicited unroll: (v) unfold, unfurl, open, extend, spread, wind off, unravel, uncoil; (n, v) unwind; (adj, v) display; (adj) trot out
- unsafe: (adj) dangerous, perilous, insecure, hazardous, treacherous, uncertain, precarious, shaky, unreliable, harmful, chancy.
 ANTONYMS: (adj) safe, secure, harmless, protected, reliable, sensible, stable
- unsaid: (adj) implicit, unvoiced, tacit, understood, unexpressed, wordless, untold, unwritten, unverbalized; (v) unsung, untalked of. ANTONYMS: (adj) stated, explicit, expressed, spoken
- unseemly: (adj) indecent, unbecoming, indelicate, inappropriate, gross, impolite, unbefitting; (adj, v) indecorous; (adj,

adv) uncomely; (adv) indecently, unbecomingly. ANTONYMS: (adj) proper, appropriate, dignified, due, fitting, polite, suitable, correct, decent, sensitive

unseen: (adj, v) unknown; (adj) invisible, concealed, hidden, unobserved, secret, veiled, latent; (v) unheeded, unperceived; (n) spiritual world. ANTONYMS: (adj) seen, visible, open, famous, noticeable

unshaken: (adj) steady, firm, constant, undismayed, undaunted, unallayed, unworn, unwavering, unmoved, steadfast, calm

untarnished: (adj) unblemished, unstained, pure, stainless, guiltless, unsullied, clean, perfect, immaculate, clear, untainted. ANTONYMS: (adj) blemished, flawed, guilty, used

untaught: (adj) illiterate, ignorant, unschooled, uninformed, untutored, uninstructed, uncultivated, unlicked, unnurtured, unhatched, unfledged. ANTONYMS: (adj) trained, educated, literate, economical

untenanted: (adj) vacant,
 uninhabited. ANTONYM: (adj)
 occupied

untied: (adj) unfastened, unchained, unshackled, unlaced, unbound, unfettered, free, unsewed, open, unconnected, rambling.

ANTONYMS: (adj) tied, laced untimely: (adj) early, unseasonable, inopportune, inappropriate, awkward, immature, previous, ill timed, inconvenient, improper, belated. ANTONYMS: (adj) timely, appropriate, opportune, convenient, overdue

unto: (prep, v) to, till, up to; (prep)
towards, before

untold: (adj) infinite, incalculable, innumerable, vast, uncounted, unnumbered, unlimited, endless; (v) unsaid, untalked of, unpublished. ANTONYMS: (adj) little, minor, small, tiny, open, slight

untouched: (adj) intact, unharmed, unmoved, unscathed, virgin, whole, unhurt, new, impervious, imperturbable, impassive.
ANTONYMS: (adj) affected, touched, refined, vulnerable, used, spoiled, partial, injured, marred, tainted, impure

untoward: (adj) unlucky, unfortunate, inauspicious, unbecoming, inopportune, indecent, unfavorable, unseemly, improper, clumsy, stubborn. ANTONYMS: (adj) auspicious, suitable, lucky, acceptable, happy, fortunate

untried: (adj) raw, new, untested, unseasoned, fresh, untrodden, unsalted, young, unverified, untouched; (v) undetermined. ANTONYMS: (adj) proven, seasoned, familiar, experienced

untruly: (adv) faithlessly, disloyally, erroneously, mistakenly, falsely, inaccurately, untrue, incorrectly, unfaithfully

untying: (n) undoing, unfastening, unraveling, loosening, disentanglement, unscrambling, opening

unvisited: (adj) unwelcome, off the beaten path, uninvited

unweeting: (adj) unknowing, unaware, unapprized, unacquainted, unwitting, unconscious, unapprised

unwell: (adj) sick, ill, poorly, ailing, sickly, unhealthy, seedy, bad, diseased, frail; (adj, v) indisposed. ANTONYMS: (adj) healthy, well, fit

unwinding: (adj) moving unwise: (adj, n) silly, stupid, absurd, indiscreet; (adj) imprudent, injudicious, ridiculous, senseless, inadvisable, impolitic, unreasonable. ANTONYMS: (adj) sensible, prudent, thoughtful, sagacious, judicious, advisable

unwittingly: (adv) unintentionally, unknowingly, unconsciously, accidentally, ignorantly, innocently, unawares, unawarely,

unsuspectingly, uninformedly, obliviously. ANTONYMS: (adv) mindfully, deliberately, knowingly

unworn: (adj) unallayed, unwithered, unshaken, not habituated, not familiar, lately manifested, fresh, modern, new, new scenes, recent. ANTONYM: (adj) worn

unworthiness: (n) baseness, despicability, despicableness, badness, unworth, shamefulness, ignominiousness, disgracefulness, bad. ANTONYM: (n) worthiness

unworthy: (adj) undeserving, base, disgraceful, ignoble, low, contemptible, despicable, ugly, unmerited, unseemly, shameful. ANTONYMS: (adj) deserving, valuable, honorable, estimable, reputable

unyielding: (adj) obdurate, stubborn, unbending, uncompromising,

relentless, firm, obstinate, resolute, hard, inexorable, inflexible.
ANTONYMS: (adj) flexible, compliant, soft, surrendering, yielding, bouncy, loose, limp, unrelenting, gentle, fragile

upbraiding: (n) chewing out, bawling out, castigation, dressing down, earful; (adj) abusive, reproachful, base, expressing reproach; (v) chiding, admonish

upland: (n) plateau, elevation, moorland, table, eminence, rise, Highlands, ridge, hill, flat terrain; (adj) mountainous

uppermost: (adj) top, upmost, upper, highest, chief, maximum, supreme, greatest, major, outermost; (n) main. ANTONYMS: (adj) bottom, lowest, trivial, lower

uproar: (adj, n, v) hubbub, disturbance, tumult; (n) din, noise, turmoil, commotion, disorder, confusion; (adj, n) row; (n, v) brawl. ANTONYMS: (n) calm, peace, serenity, order

uproarious: (adj) noisy, turbulent, riotous, boisterous, tumultuous, loud, tempestuous, vociferous; (adj, v) rackety; (v) clamorous, obstreperous

upside: (n) crest, crown, poll, top side, upper side, pate, round top, acme, summit, superlative, teetotum

upturned: (adj) retrousse, overturned, upside-down, broken, disordered, disquieted, distressed, disturbed, confused, topsy-turvy, shapely

upward: (adv) upwards, upwardly, aloft; (adj) overhead, rising, upper, increasing, open, vertical, mounting, upright. ANTONYMS: (adj) descending, downward; (adv) down utensils: (n) gear, equipment, tackle,

apparatus, hardware utmost: (adj, n) maximum, extreme, uttermost, furthermost, best, highest; (adj, adv) farthest; (adj, v) supreme; (adj) last, furthest; (adj, n, v) greatest. ANTONYMS: (adj) moderate, worst

uttered: (adj) expressed, express, verbalised, verbalized, vocal, explicit, oral; (v) spoke, quoth, said

vacuity: (n) inanity, vacancy, vacuum, void, blankness, gap, nothingness, pointlessness, vacuousness, mindlessness, senselessness

vagaries: (n) whims, disposition, facetiousness, freaks, humor, ill

- humor, mood, temper, caprices vagary: (n, v) freak, crotchet, fancy, humor; (n) fad, whim, impulse, maggot, quirk, notion, prank
- vain: (adj) proud, arrogant, conceited, fruitless, idle, empty, abortive, ineffectual, unproductive, narcissistic; (adj, v) useless.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) shy, successful, possible, persuasive, selfless, fruitful, humble, useful, responsible, worthwhile, effective
- vainglory: (n) pride, vanity, boastfulness, gaudery, brag, boast, pretension, pomp, coxcombry, boasting, bragging
- vainly: (adv) uselessly, futilely, fruitlessly, conceitedly, in vain, worthlessly, abortively, bootlessly, arrogantly, unproductively; (adj, adv) foolishly. ANTONYMS: (adv) fruitfully, successfully, effectively
- valet: (n) man, attendant, lackey, butler, flunkey, manservant, waiter, gentleman, livery servant, servant, retainer
- valiant: (adj) brave, courageous, intrepid, fearless, heroic, audacious, gallant, daring, dauntless, stout, stalwart. ANTONYMS: (adj) afraid, despicable
- vane: (adj) weathercock; (n) weather vane, fan blade, cairn, staff, fan, post, beacon, hand, pointer, impeller
- vanishing: (n) disappearance, vanishment, dissipation; (adj) dying, fleeting, momentary, breaking up, declining, diminishing, dissolving, evanescent. ANTONYMS: (adj) thriving, increasing
- vanity: (n) egotism, pride, emptiness, arrogance, futility, inanity, vainglory, conceitedness, pretension, pomposity; (adj, n) amour propre. ANTONYMS: (n) selflessness, humility, importance, value, effectiveness
- vanward: (adj) front; (adv) before vaporous: (adj) hazy, foggy, vaporific, ethereal, cloudy, vaporish, steamy, airy, unsubstantial, evaporable, cobwebby
- vapour: (n) vapor, evaporation, gas, vaporization, vaporisation, boiling, clouding, mist, fog, damp, smoke
- vapours: (n) vapors, megrims, blue
 devils, blues
- vehement: (adj) fierce, intense, violent, strong, furious, passionate, ferocious, eager, hot, fervent, fervid. ANTONYMS: (adj) impassionate, indifferent, mild, calm

- vehemently: (adj, adv) ardently; (adv) violently, zealously, strongly, fervently, passionately, ferociously, fervidly, keenly, intensely, furiously. ANTONYMS: (adv) feebly, gently, impassively
- veil: (n, v) cover, hide, disguise, mask, cloud, shroud, camouflage; (v) cloak, conceal; (n) curtain, blind. ANTONYMS: (v) disclose, unveil, expose
- venerable: (adj) ancient, reverend, estimable, August, respectable, aged, distinguished, sacred, worthy, of long standing, revered.

 ANTONYMS: (adj) unworthy, unimpressive, undignified, disreputable
- venial: (adj) excusable, pardonable, forgivable, minor, veniable, small, underage, modest, nonaged
- verging: (adj) marginal, adjoining veritable: (adj, v) real, true, actual, very; (adj) genuine, authentic, bona fide, unquestionable, factual, truthful, right. ANTONYMS: (adj) false, unreal
- vermilion: (n) scarlet, vermily, orange red, vermeil, lake, redness; (adj, n) cinnabar; (v) redden; (adj) vermillion, chromatic
- vestry: (n) nave, quire, convocation, consistory, synod, choir, chapter, chancel, transept, aisle, conclave
- vexation: (adj, n) annoyance, nuisance; (n) irritation, worry, aggravation, displeasure, chagrin, chafe, anger, frustration, botheration
- vexed: (adj) troubled, irritated, angry, pestered, peeved, harassed, sore, harried, uneasy, cross, offended. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, uncomplicated
- vexing: (adj) irritating, infuriating, maddening, annoying, galling, troublesome, bothersome, aggravating, exasperating, irksome, pestiferous
- vibrations: (n) vibes, atmosphere, ambiance, premonition, undercurrent, feelings, vibraharp, vibraphone, ambience
- vicinal: (adj) neighboring, vicine victuals: (n) food, fare, viands, victual, edible, provender, grub, sustenance, support, diet, nutriment
- vigour: (n) force, strength, vigor, energy, power, potency, vim, vitality, athleticism, verve, intensity
- villainous: (adj, v) base, infamous, vile, black, shameful; (adj) heinous, atrocious, depraved, wicked, evil,

- vicious
- villainy: (n) evil, infamy, crime, villany, misdeed, baseness, enormity, atrocity, evildoing, evilness, injustice
- viol: (n) bowed stringed instrument, string, bass viol
- viola: (n) violet, Alto violin, Viola di gamba, Viola d'amore, genus Viola, bowed stringed instrument, field pansy, heartsease, herbaceous plant, horned violet, pink of my John
- violet: (adj, n) mauve, lavender; (adj) empurpled, lilac, purplish; (n) viola, purpleness, indigo, sweet violet, reddish blue, pansy
- visibly: (adv) apparently, noticeably, manifestly, obviously, plainly, perceptibly, appreciably, clearly, discernibly, overtly, conspicuously. ANTONYMS: (adv) imperceptibly, invisibly, secretly, ambiguously
- traveler, invitee, arrival, traveller visor: (n) eyeshade, peak, vizor, disguise, bill, vizard, shade, screen, armor plating, armor plate, head loupe

visitant: (n) visitor, apparition,

- vista: (n) outlook, panorama, horizon, aspect, scene, landscape, scenery, picture, alley; (adj, n) view, perspective
- vitality: (n) energy, life, animation, life force, vigor, liveliness, verve, sparkle, spirit, vigour, vim. ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, apathy, sluggishness
- vivacious: (adj) lively, animated, sprightly, vibrant, spry, effervescent, gay; (adj, v) cheerful, active, buoyant, brisk. ANTONYMS: (adj) dull, lethargic, listless, compliment, inactive, praise, languid, lifeless, serious, sluggish
- vividly: (adv) brightly, lively, intensely, clearly, brilliantly, graphically, strikingly, dramatically, colorfully, glowingly, severely. ANTONYMS: (adv) blandly, modestly, vaguely
- vocation: (n, v) calling, profession, employment; (n) occupation, job, trade, business, career, line, mission, line of work
- voluptuous: (adj) luscious, voluptuary, sensual, carnal, sybaritic, epicurean, buxom, sexy, sensuous, lascivious, erotic. ANTONYM: (adj) underdeveloped
- vortex: (n) swirl, convolution, whirl, maelstrom; (n, v) whirlpool; (v) undercurrent, storm, heavy sea,

ground swell, reflux, indraught **vowed**: (v) promised, named, benempt

voyaging: (n) traveling around, movement, travel, journey, exploration, adventure, discovery, journeying; (adj) wayfaring

vulgar: (adj) rude, coarse, plebeian, nasty, common, foul, indecent, gross, unrefined; (adj, n) low, vile. ANTONYMS: (adj) refined, sophisticated, tasteful, polite, aesthetic, muted, fashionable, decent, artistic, pleasant, clean

vulgarity: (n) indecency, vulgarism, grossness, inelegance, crudeness, commonness, obscenity, rudeness, crudity, boorishness, indelicacy. ANTONYMS: (n) politeness, purity, classiness, civility, taste, decency waft: (v) blow, float, drift, glide,

wave, gust; (n) whiff, puff, vivda, vifda, pennoncelle waggery: (n) joke, sport, jest, fun, jocularity, pleasantry, play, mischief,

waggishness, funniness, clowning wagon: (n) truck, wain, paddy wagon, waggon, lorry, station wagon, dray, car, chariot, Jagger

wagon, beach wagon wailing: (n, v) lamentation, lament, moaning; (adj) lamenting, weeping, crying, wailful, howling, sobbing; (adj, n) bawling; (n) cry

waistcoat: (n) CHUDDER, barbe, garment, jerkin, jubbah, oilskins, pilot jacket, pajamas, cardigan, singlet, talma jacket

wakeful: (adj) vigilant, sleepless, awake, observant, restless, light, wary, psychologically light, lightheaded, tripping; (v) wistful. ANTONYMS: (adj) unaware, asleep, inattentive, relaxed

wanderer: (n) vagabond, roamer, tramp, nomad, drifter, traveler, wayfarer, stranger, hobo, traveller; (n, v) rambler

wanderings: (n) peregrination warlike: (adj) military, belligerent, bellicose, pugnacious, combative, aggressive, armigerous, hostile, unfriendly, unpacific, militant. ANTONYMS: (adj) harmonizing, friendly

warmed: (adj) warmer, warm, baked warmer: (n) stove, oilstove, deicer, defroster, brasier, radiator, brazier, warming, warmed, demister, gas heater

warring: (adj) militant, fighting, hostile, opposed, inconsistent, war,

brawling, factious, opposing, oppugnant, rebellious

warrior: (n) fighter, combatant, champion, brave, gerrard, guerilla, centurion, irregular, insurgent, guerrilla, militant

wart: (n) verruca, condyloma acuminatum, bulge, tit, growth, lump, swelling, exostosis, bump, protuberance, venereal wart

wasps: (n) hymenoptera, gall wasps, sawflies, order hymenoptera, etc, ants, ichneumons

watchful: (adj) alert, observant, careful, cautious, wary, attentive, wakeful, mindful, circumspect, sleepless, awake. ANTONYMS: (adj) inattentive, negligent, oblivious, forgetful, careless, asleep, trusting, unprepared, reckless

watchman: (n) lookout, sentinel, sentry, warden, guard, watcher, security guard, keeper, caretaker, custodian, watchdog

watered: (adj) irriguous, dewy, watermarked, moist

watering: (n) tearing, sprinkle, lachrymation, lacrimation, wetting, irrigation, bodily process, body process, replenishment of water supplies, shedding tears, activity

waterline: (n) water line, water level, watermark, water table, groundwater level, line, load line

waterloo: (n) tragedy, ruin, licking, calamity, defeat

watery: (adj) moist, diluted, wet, dilute, washy, thin, damp, fluid, aqueous, weak, insipid. ANTONYMS: (adj) strong, solid, dry, soft, dehydrated, lively, dark, clear, thick, hard

wavering: (adj, v) vacillating; (n) fluctuation, hesitation, vacillation; (adj) irresolute, indecisive, undecided, hesitant, uncertain, variable, changeable. ANTONYMS: (adj) decided, constant, resolute, stable, decisive; (n) resolution, stability

wavy: (adj) crinkled, crinkly, corrugated, waved, undulating, und, rippled, wavelike, undulate, undulatory, rolling. ANTONYM: (adj) straight

waxed: (adj) resembling wax, soft,
 waxen; (v) wex

waxing: (n) application, covering, coating. ANTONYM: (adj) waning waxwork: (n) Celastrus scandens, wax figure, staff vine, puppet, model, doll, mammet, aglet, American bittersweet, bittersweet, figurine

wayfarer: (n) traveler, passenger, pilgrim, itinerant, wanderer, traveller, walker, journeyer, rambler, voyager, vagrant

wayward: (adj) contrary, disobedient, obstinate, stubborn, intractable, unruly, capricious; (adj, n) freakish, crotchety, wanton, fanciful.

ANTONYMS: (adj) controllable, good, manageable, biddable

weakest: (adj) ridiculous, suggestion, supposes, notions, plainly, irrational, incongruous, project, foolish, fatuity, inconsistent

weakly: (adj) feeble, infirm, weak; (adv) frailly, badly, softly, lightly, infirmly, effeminately, slightly; (adj, adv) sickly. ANTONYMS: (adv) strongly, confidently, powerfully, firmly, well, competently, convincingly, wholeheartedly, admirably, persuasively, interestingly

wearied: (adj) jaded, tired, spent, fatigued, weary, prostrate, limp, haggard, shattered, worn, fatigate

weariness: (n) exhaustion, tiredness, lassitude, languor, asthenopia, defatigation, grogginess, listlessness, boredom, ennui, prostration

wearisome: (adj, v) tiresome, irksome, troublesome; (adj) tedious, dull, monotonous, boring, laborious, trying, slow, annoying.
ANTONYMS: (adj) satisfying, soothing, exciting, refreshing, easy

wearying: (adj) exhausting, wearing, monotonous, tiring, fatiguing, trying, boring, dull, wearisome, deadly, effortful

weasand: (n) throat, trachea, nostril, nozzle, sucker, shaft, orifice, vent, funnel, chimney, muzzle

wedded: (adj, v) marital, connubial, matrimonial, conjugal, wed; (adj) nuptial, bridal. ANTONYMS: (adj) unmarried, unattached

wedlock: (n, v) marriage, matrimony; (n) union, wedding, polygyny, bigamy, intermarriage, exogamy, endogamy, polyandry, misalliance

weed: (n) grass, marijuana, pot, plant, fireweed, smoke, ganja; (v) eliminate, hoe, plow; (adj) pick

weekday: (n) working day, Tuesday, sat, Saturday, day of the week, feria, Th, Friday, Thursday, Monday; (adj) forial

weep: (v) wail, bawl, lament, sob, blubber, moan, howl, drip, greet,

- whimper; (n) tear
- weeping: (adj) tearful, lachrymose, dolourous, dolorous; (n, v) lament, lamentation; (v) wailing; (n) sobbing, tears, cry; (adj, n) howling.
- ANTONYM: (n) celebration weir: (n) dam, boom, dike, dyke
- weir: (n) dam, boom, dike, dyke, levee, penstock, barrage, wall, block, barrier, fencing
- weirdly: (adv) strangely, curiously, peculiarly, quaintly, uncannily, eccentrically, unusually, mysteriously, queerly, bizarrely, supernaturally. ANTONYM: (adv) ordinarily
- welcoming: (n) welcome, salutation; (adj) cordial, friendly, inviting, restful, attractive, pleasing, warm, affable, alluring. ANTONYMS: (adj) inhospitable, reserved, unwelcoming, unappealing, unapproachable, uncomfortable
- well-chosen: (adj) felicitous well-dressed: (adj) handsome well-formed: (adj) symmetrical, beautiful, shapely
- well-nigh: (adv) nearly, most; (adj) practically
- well-proportioned: (adj) classical, uniform, trim, statuesque, shapely, handsome, buxom, curvaceous well-provided: (adj) replete
- well-to-do: (adj) rich, well-off, affluent, opulent, prosperous, moneyed, substantial, comfortable, easy, fortunate
- wend: (v) go, pass, repair, proceed, cruise; (n) walk, tread, step, pace, plod, march
- westward: (adv) west, westwards; (adj, adv) westerly; (adj) westbound, western; (v) to the west
- wetting: (n) moistening, damping, watering, splash, leak, passing water, ducking, making water, immersion, dousing, leakage
- whalebone: (n) baleen, latex, caoutchouc, rubber, India rubber, dice, bone, gum elastic, horn, Indian rubber, natural rubber
- wheeled: (adj) on wheels. ANTONYM: (adj) wheelless
- wheeling: (adj) rotating, revolving, moving; (n) rolling, city, metropolis, peal, propulsion, roll, transmission service, urban center
- wheezy: (adj) asthmatic, wheezing, reedy, panting, noisy, gasping, puffing, reedlike, short of breath, winded, breathless
- whence: (adv) wherefrom, hence, because, for, why, wherefore, how,

- then, then thence so, how comes it, how happens it
- wherein: (adv) in what, in which, where
- whereupon: (adv) thereupon, hereupon, upon which, at what, at which
- whetstone: (n) oilstone, rub, friction, fault, imperfection, chance, caoutchouc, failing, hindrance, whetstone test, unevenness
- whiff: (n, v) blow, smell, drag; (n) scent, breath, aroma, odor, trace, taste, touch; (v) sniff
- whim: (n, v) fancy, vagary, humor, freak; (n) notion, impulse, fad, mood, whimsy, thought, idea. ANTONYMS: (n) plan, reality, aversion
- whimsical: (adj, n) fanciful, eccentric; (adj) capricious, freakish, humorous, changeable, fickle, erratic, wayward, odd, arbitrary. ANTONYMS: (adj) reasonable, behaving, normal, serious, predictable
- whining: (adj) whimpering, whiny, sniveling pitiful, Snively, tearful, whiney, singing, peevish; (v) fretful, lamenting; (n) sniveling
- whirl: (n, v) spin, turn, eddy, roll, wheel, twist, swirl; (v) reel, gyrate; (n) go, fling
- whirling: (adj) rotary, revolving, dizzy, giddy, lightheaded, rotating, vortical; (n) rotation, gyration, revolution; (adj, n) swirling
- whirlwind: (n) tornado, hurricane, twister, gale, tempest, cyclone, typhoon, waterspout, windstorm, flurry, dust devil
- whirr: (n, v) whir, hum, drone, buzz, birr, whine; (v) whiz, churr, hiss, emit; (n) murmur
- whirring: (n) whirr, birr; (adj) noisy whisker: (adj, n) hair; (adj) beard, shag, brush, mane; (n) moustache, sensory hair, vibrissa, bristle, mustache; (v) bewhisker
- whisking: (adj) switchy
- whispering: (n) whisper, murmur, susurration, rustle, report, stage whisper; (adj, n) rustling; (adj) susurrant, tranquil, hoarse, susurrous
- whistling: (n) whistle, sound, tin whistle, music, pennywhistle, sign, signal, signaling
- whitely: (adv) ashenly, bloodlessly, pallidly, silverly, hoarily, purely, achromatically, graily, brightly, goodly, silverily
- whiteness: (n) paleness, ivory, chalk,

- pearl, bone, bleach, alabaster, frostiness, hoariness, pallor, innocence. ANTONYM: (n) black
- whither: (adv) hither, thither, whereunto, whereto, for
- whitish: (adj) pale, milklike, fair, milk, creamy, light, colorless, not clear, achromatic, opaque, blond. ANTONYMS: (adj) rosy, dark
- whizz: (n, v) whiz; (v) whir, zoom, birr, whirr, speed, purr, rain cats and dogs; (n) magician, ace, puzzle
- whole-hearted: (adj) true, warm wick: (n) taper, candlewick, wax light, cord, candle, sleeve bearing wick, burner
- wickedness: (n) depravity, sin, sinfulness, iniquity, harm, ill, vice, evilness, corruption, immorality, crime. ANTONYMS: (n) goodness, kindness, piety, righteousness, benevolence, religiousness,
- widen: (v) extend, stretch, broaden, enlarge, increase, spread, distend, develop, dilate, amplify, flare. ANTONYMS: (v) contract, cramp, restrict, shrink, curtail, decrease

obedience, good

- widening: (n) growth, extension, amplification, change of shape, dilation, increment, output, outturn, turnout; (adj) cultural, increasing
- wifely: (adj) womanly, ladylike, uxorial, matronly, feminine, maidenly, domestic
- wildness: (n) fierceness, ferocity, savageness, abandon, rage, extravagance, ferociousness, intensity, vehemence; (v) wilderness; (n, v) waste. ANTONYMS: (n) tameness, order, meekness, gentleness, caution,
- wilful: (adj) headstrong, deliberate, intentional, knowing, designed, wayward, obstinate, willful, stubborn, studied, persistent

orderliness

- wilfully: (adv) willfully, designedly, deliberately, knowingly, frowardly, headstrongly, consciously, stubbornly, purposefully, persistently, on purpose
- willow: (n) willow tree, black willow, arctic willow, arroyo willow, balsam willow, bay willow, bearberry willow, white willow, silver willow; (adj) mourning, weeds
- winch: (v) capstan, crane; (n, v) windlass, derrick, wince; (n) crank, hoist, pinion, pulley, spindle, the redwing
- winder: (n) key, winding engine,

tonality, paint, watch key, Francis Scott key, mechanical device, Florida Keys, cay, kg, kilo windless: (v) breathless; (n) calmer windowpane: (n) window, car window, casement, pane of glass, porthole, skylight, transom windowsill: (n) sill

windward: (adv) downwind; (n) weatherboard, to windward, weather side, direction; (adj) tempestuous, flatulent, empty, airy, windy, boisterous

windy: (adj) gusty, verbose, blowy, flatulent, wordy, breezy, tempestuous, empty, airy, prolix, bombastic. ANTONYMS: (adj) calm, still, straight, uncommunicative, unresponsive, airless, pleasant, direct

winged: (adj) swift, rapid, speedy, quick, flying, alate, sublime, lofty, alated, aligerous, composed

winnings: (n, v) earnings; (n) win, prize, profits, net profit, gain, acquisition, financial gain, pickings, reward, innings. ANTONYM: (n) losings

winsome: (adj, v) winning; (adj) charming, engaging, fetching, sweet, comely, cheerful, merry, buxom, enchanting, lovable

wintry: (adj, v) frosty, glacial, freezing, icy; (adj) arctic, frigid, wintery, frozen, chilly, chill, hibernal. ANTONYMS: (adj) mild, summery, hot, vernal, autumnal, balmy, tropical, warm

winy: (adj) tasteful

wisconsin: (adj) Nebraska, Missouri, Minnesota, Midwestern, Kansas, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa; (n) Wisconsin river, Badger state

wisely: (adv) judiciously, prudently, sagaciously, cleverly, discreetly, shrewdly, smartly, learnedly, astutely, sharply, perspicaciously. ANTONYMS: (adv) stupidly, recklessly, imprudently, immaturely, illogically

wistful: (adj, v) reflective, meditative, thoughtful; (adj) contemplative, sad, melancholy, longing, plaintive, wishful, yearning; (v) anxious. ANTONYMS: (adj) alert, satisfied, shallow

wistfully: (adv) pensively, meditatively, desirously, longingly, yearningly, broodingly, reflectively, wishfully, melancholy, thoughtfully, nostalgically. ANTONYM: (adv) contentedly withal: (adv) nevertheless, notwithstanding, however, even so, all the same, nonetheless, with; (adj) likewise; (n) sufficiency, adequacy, enough

withdrawing: (adj) receding, outgoing, retiring, moving back, modest, lowly; (n) departure, privacy, seclusion, cancellation

withering: (adj) devastating, extortionate, grinding; (v) dry, sarcastic, sharp, severe, satirical, sardonic, cutting; (n) shrinkage. ANTONYM: (adj) hopeful

withheld: (adj) hidden, uncommitted. ANTONYM: (adj)

ongoing

woden: (n) chief God

womanish: (adj) tender, feminine, female, womanlike, womanly, weak, unmanly

womankind: (n) womanhood, gentle sex, people

wonderingly: (adv) quizzically wondrous: (adj) marvelous, miraculous, marvellous, astonishing, tremendous, fantastic, phenomenal, extraordinary, rattling;

(adv) wonderfully, marvellously wooing: (n) courting, suit, bundling, suit of clothes, the soft impeachment, entreaty, prayer, cause, causa, case; (adj) amatory

cause, causa, case; (adj) amatory workbasket: (n) container, workbox, sewing basket

workmanship: (n) craft, handicraft, craftsmanship, skill, accomplishment, performance, acquirement, priestcraft, trade, artistry; (v) handiwork

workpeople: (n) working class worldly: (adj, adv) earthly; (adj) mundane, secular, terrestrial, temporal, carnal, sophisticated, lay, profane; (adv) mundanely, temporally. ANTONYMS: (adj) spiritual, naive, cloistered, religious, unsophisticated, unworldly, unrefined, otherworldly, low, heavenly, immaterial

worn-out: (adj) stale, trite, threadbare, worn, hackneyed, jaded, old, run-down, dilapidated, disabled, beat

worsened: (adj) worser

wrath: (n) rage, resentment, ire, fury, displeasure, indignation, passion, madness, choler, irritation; (adj) angry. ANTONYMS: (n) happiness, love, composure, serenity

wrenched: (adj) strained, weakened wrestle: (v) struggle, scuffle, fight, strive, battle, wrench, tussle, contest, scramble, clash; (n, v) grapple wretchedness: (n) unhappiness, grief, distress, desolation, woe, sorrow, anguish, infelicity, tribulation, affliction, misfortune

wring: (n, v) squeeze; (v) twist, wrench, wrest, torture, torment, distort, extract, twine, contort, rack

wrinkled: (adj, n) rough, rugged; (adj) puckered, creased, wrinkly, wizened, crumpled, lined, gnarled, unironed, crinkled. ANTONYMS: (adj) unwrinkled, ironed, straight

wrinkles: (n) crow's feet writhe: (adj, v) distort, wrest; (v) contort, wriggle, squirm, wrench, worm, coil, wiggle, thrash, warp

writhed: (adj) crooked, writhen, distorted, twisted

wronged: (adj) upset, hurt, indignant, offended

wrongfully: (adv) unjustly, injuriously, de jure, legally, lawfully, wrongly, mischievously, hurtfully, unlawfully, lawlessly, illegally

wrought: (adj) shaped, done, worked, worked up, formed

yawn: (v) open, ope, yaw, look stupidly, breathe; (n) yawning, nod, get sleep, tedium, bore, boredom

yearning: (n) hankering, aspiration, thirst, craving, desire, hunger, nostalgia, eagerness; (adj) wistful, pining, desirous. ANTONYMS: (adj) disinterested; (n) dislike, disinclination, apathy

yielded: (v) yold, yolden youthfulness: (n) juvenility, adolescence, younker, youngness, young person, young, spring chicken, puberty, jejuneness, immaturity, callowness

zany: (adj) foolish, silly, clownish, crazy, fool, ridiculous; (n) buffoon, clown, fathead, jackass, joker. ANTONYMS: (adj) serious, normal, sensible

zeal: (adj, n) eagerness; (n) fervor, enthusiasm, devotion, passion, vehemence, fire, fervency, heat, fervour, ardour. ANTONYMS: (n) apathy, lethargy, patience

zealously: (adv) ardently, keenly, heartily, vehemently, fervently, earnestly, passionately, actively, fierily, avidly, strongly. ANTONYMS: (adv) halfheartedly, apathetically

zenith: (n) apex, peak, top, height, acme, pinnacle, summit, climax, vertex, culmination, prime.

ANTONYMS: (n) base, bottom, trough zest: (n) gusto, taste, savor, flavor, enthusiasm, piquancy, energy, enjoyment, tang, appetite; (n, v) spice. ANTONYMS: (n) lethargy, blandness, dullness, indifference zigzagging: (n) tortuousness, circuitousness, roundabout nature. ANTONYM: (n) directness